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THE KU-KLUX CONSPIRACY.

This report consists of thirteen volumes.

Volume I contains the report of the committee and the views of the minority.

Volume II contains the testimony taken by the committee in relation to North Caro

lina, and the report of the trials in the United States circuit court held at Raleigh,
North Carolina.

Volumes III, IV, and V contain testimony taken by the committee in relation to

{South Carolina, and the report of the trials in the United States circuit court held at

Columbia, South Carolina. Index to the three volumes is contained in volume III.

Volumes VI and VII contain testimony taken by the committee in relation to Geor

gia. Index is contained in volume VI.

Volumes VIII, IX, and X contain testimony taken by the committee in relation to

Alabama. Index is contained in volume VIII.

Volumes XI and XII contain testimony taken by the committee in relation to Mis

sissippi. Index is contained in volume XI.

Volume XIII contains miscellaneous testimony taken by the committee, testimony
in relation to Florida, and miscellaneous documents,
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ABERCROMBIE, ROBERT H., testimony of. 1103-1 1 13

resident of Tus-kegee, Macoii County; native of the State; a lawyer 1103

a democrat ; was in the confederate anu^
particulars of the attack on James H. Alston, and the riot growing out of it, 1104, 1105,

1108, 1109, 1110,1113
character of Alston and Bill Dougherty 1106, 1107

inflammatory speeches made by Alston 1 108

perfect quiet, peace, and harmony now prevail between the whites and blacks

in Macon County ; reduction in the number of votes since the attack on
Alston i

_
1111

a large number of democratic negroes in Macon County 1111, 111 2

reason for this change of politics ; relative party vote Ill-

Abrahams, Judge, efforts to get him out of office 1777, 1778, 1779

Abrahams, Judge, how he obtained his office 1779, 1780

ABRAHAMS, WILLIAM THOMAS, testimony of 1378-1387
resident of Mclvinley, Mareugo County ; a physician ; Avas justice of the

peace .&quot; &quot;. 1378
was president of the Loyal League of Mclvinley ; was not a republican
his object in joining 1382, 1383
his vote for Mr. Hay his only republican one 1384

the county lias always been peaceable and quiet, with the usual exceptions of

lawlessness 1378, 1379
serious disturbance of the peace of Mclvinley threatened on the 14th of Octo

ber, J87J. in connection with political meeting to be addressed by William
B. Jones 1379, 1380, 1384

steps taken to preserve the peace at meeting to be held October 23, 1871, to be
addressed by W.B.Jones 1380,1381

character and objects of Mr. Jones 1381
, 1385, 1386, 13^7

Union League existed in Marengo in 1867, and continued but a short time ; its

nature, object, & c 1382, 1383, 1384

purposes of the negroes in assembling at McKinley 1379, 1380, 1384,1385
several democratic negroes in McKinley ; had a club in 1868 numbering sixty

or seventy .&quot; 1386

general behavior of the negroes quiet and orderly 1387

Acklyu, Peter, hanging of 929
Adams, Bill, killing of negro, by 1043,1044
ADLER, EMAN UEL, testimony of 1557

resident ot Demopolis ; a merchant ;
1557

agreed to employ Mr. Neibling as book-keeper, but released him from the en

gagement at his own request ; was told that if he employed him it would

injure his business
&quot;

1557
Affidavits 1 16-153, 576, 1 185-124:3

Alexander, Jasper, taken from jail, hanged, and shot, 1578, 1596, 1604, 1605, 1624, 1627-1629,

1631,1671, 1798, 1799, 1808, 1809, 1904, 1905, 1956, 1964

Alibi, the general form of defense r 493, 539

discharged upon defense of 535,537,538,591, 1009
in case of Morris Dunn 1923-1927
Charles Bran 1933

Alldredge, Edward, shooting at 756

ALLDREDGE, ENOCH, testimony of 984-993
resident of Blount County for thirty years ; member of the legislature 984
a democrat ; sent to the legislature for twenty-two sessions 985
character of William Shepard and Samuel Horton 984, 988, 989

respecting the deformed child of Young Horton 984, 985
no difficulty in executing the law in the county ; peace and good order prevail ;

not true that Horton was driven out of the county, but that he engaged in an
anti-Ku-Klux raid, was indicted, and ran away 985

I A
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ALLDREDGE, ENOCH, testimony of Continued.
on this anti-Ku-Klux raid parties were notified to leave or they would be

hanged 985,986
names of parties who so informed him ; character of the disturbances in that

region 986

whipping
1 of Horton, and its cause 986, 937

supposes there was a Ku-Klux Klan ; character of its membership, &c.,.. .987,988, 992
no prejudice against white republicans 988
knows of no Ku-Klux brought to justice; character of Captain Berry 990
state of feeling between those who served in the Federal and confederate armies;
James Ketchum tal\en from jail and shot ; character of Thomas Nation, and

outrage upon him by disguised men 991

no necessity for the Ku-Klux organization ; shooting of Sheriff Murphy ; meet

ings for disapproval of Ku-Klux 992
:i. James H., attempt to bribe 1018

Alston, James H., character, standing, &c., oft. ..1029, 1036, 1037, 1061, 1062,1067,1068,
1106, 1107

Alston, James H., shooting of 229, 1017, 1018, 1023, 1029, 1031, 1036, 1037, 1059, 1060,

10(51, 1068, 1069, 1091, 1092, 1094, 1096, 1097, 1104, 1105, 1108-1110, 1113

ALSTON, JAMES H., (colored,) testimony of... I 1016-1022
lias been living in Montgomery for sixteen mouths, but his home is Tuskegee . . 1016

representative of Macoii County ,
1017

was appointed to canvass the third district; a shoemaker and a musician 1018
a slave, and in confederate army 1019, 1020
born in South Carolina .- 1021

had to leave Tuskegee to keep from being shot and to keep his wife from being
shot; charter from the grand council of the Uniou League of America, con

stituting him and his associates a, council at Tuskegee; council instituted;

changed to a republican club when the League died out 1 017
was shot, in June, 1870, through the blinds, by a band of men 1017, 1018

Lis wife and child struck with the shot; was offered $3,000 by Mr. Robert
Johnson to use his influence in favor of the democrats 1018

was influential with the colored people ; his club numbered four or five hun
dred; received a threatening letter from the Ku-Klux; Ku-Klux notice

posted on the bridge 1 Oil)

no one punished for shooting him 1020
waited on by a committee and ordered to leave 1021

was pursued, took to the woods, then to the swamp, where he remained ten

days ; then walked to Montgomery 1022

Alston, James H., wounding of wife and child of K)18

Amnesty, probable effect of, Hay s opinion as to 16, 21, 22

Lindsay s 200
Clanton s 237,243,249
Pettus s 390, 395

Pugh s 407, 4 J2

Speed s 425
Richardson s 822, 848, 851

refusal to grant, a cause of irritation 34, 192, 200, 437
the true policy 98
colored people favor 455

republican party favor 1 183

republican convention favors - 504, 505

granted by State legislature . 5U9

Appendix to testimony of William B. Jones 470-475

Applegate, A. J., Ex-Lieutenant Governor, charges against % 879-881

Armfield, Mr., implicated in the killing of Thomas... 1672

Arms, carrying of 75, 1 166, 1318, 1686, 1835, 1836

Arms, colored people deprived of, 683, 689, 723, 743, 779. 813, 862, 863, 914, 915, 917, 927-931
,

1162, 1165, 1167, 1195, 1233
Ars wrn, Robert, identified by Vix f 1196

Asheville, disturbance at 1 170, 1 171
, 1217-J220

. James, whipping of 722

B.

Baker, John, whipping of 1016

r, Joseph, whipping of 1016
, Mr.

,
identified by Few 1083, 1084

.Mr., killing of 721
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Barbee, Mr., (preacher, ) whipping
1 of - 715, 736

Barber, Mr.
, killing of 615

Barnes, Mr., receives Ku-Klux letters 1138

BATTLE, CULLEN A., testimony of 1059-1072
resident of Tuskegee, Macon County ; a major general in the confederate

army ; a lawyer ; has been engaged in planting 1059

five negroes arrested upon affidavit of James H. Alston, for the outrage upon
him ; their preliminary trial, and what was developed therein 1059, 1068, 1009

large combinations of negroes for the protection of xMston dispersed by witness

and his organization, acting under the authority of the sheriff IGt O

Alston waited on by a committee and advised to leave ; contradiction of Alston s

testimony 1001

character of Alston 1061, 1062, 1067, 1068
case of William Dougherty 1 0(32, 1 0(:5

he was hung in effigy 1 0(i4, J 0^5
attack on Zion church, and the cause of it 1063, 1065, 1066, li!7l

Sweet Gum church burned ; politics of Dr.W. J. Gander 106-1, 1&amp;lt; ^7
character of William Dougherty 1064, 1065, Ji-70

the negroes generally republican 1060

policy of the democrats, conciliation ; it is not very successful; cause of the

reduction in the colored vote of the county 10G7
no discrimination by juries against colored people on account of color or radi

cal proclivities .... ..! 1009,1070
does not believe a Ku-Klux organization ever existed in East Alabama 1070
character of Mr. Butler and Mr. Bowen ; general conduct of the colored people . . 107J

Baxley, Mr., beaten, cut, and stabbed by negroes 375

Beamer, John, outrage on 7iegro by 13b8

Beasl^y, Caleb, wife and child, whipping of

Bi-asley, Mr.
, raid on house of 1675

BEGGS, WILLIAM, testimony of 1953-i9.~5

resident of Livingston, Sumter County ; a farmer li 53
took the census last year ; is tax-collector 1954

whipping of negroes to drive them from the employ of Mr. Wiley; association

of citizens to suppress violence and lawlessness 1954, J955

killing of Cobleutz ; Jasper taken from jail and killed; Prater released from

jail ; shooting of George Houston lid
Bell, Davis, identified by Reynolds i ! bO

Bell, Frank, beaten with a board 1 232
Bell, Timone, taking of gun of _ 927

Belmont, riot at 1452, 15c- l
, 15o2, 1666, 1067

BENNETT, GRANVILLE, (colored,) testimony of 1731-1745
has lived in Sumter County about thirty-six years 17 M
Mr. Anderson Young s son killed in the fall of 1870 1735, 1743
Dennis Sledge and another negro killed; Enoch Sledge (colored) wounded ;

Danger Godfrey s ears cut off 1736
Coblentz killed ; George Houston shot ; Richard Burk killed ; Isaiah Hunter

killed and his house and body burned 1737

Jerry Clark and Yankee Ben killed ; a heap of colored people whipped 1738
intimidation of voters 173d. 1739, 1741, 1742, 1744

many colored people vote the democratic ticket to live in peace ; school-houses
burned ; the people getting discouraged and talking of going to Kansas ... 1739

the people are not as well off as they were in slavery ; no one to protect them ;

dangerous to vote the radical ticket in Sumter ; Leverett whipped 1740
no one punished by the courts for whipping or killing colored people ; inter

ruption of the meeting at which Governor Parsons and Smith were speaking. 1741

character, politics, &c., of Syd Porter 1742, 1743
Isaiah Hunter killed 1744

BERRY, ISAAC MARION, testimony of 769-7bO
forty years old; lives in Blount County; was six mouths in the rebel army,

and two years in the Federal Army ; a Union man 7i&amp;gt;9

took the census last year in Blount County 770

many outrages in Blount County upon loyal men by disguised bands 769
they commenced about the time of the presidential election ; their organization

kept up to the present time ; outrage upon Thomas Nation
&quot;

770
house of James Wooden raided and his colored people run off; raid on Mr. .-.

Russell s house 771

whipping of a girl in Marshall County 771, 772
Thomas Pointer driven from, home on account of having been a grand juror
and in the Federal Army ; James Austin whipped .&quot; 772
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BERRY, ISAAC MARION, testimony of Continued.

Liua King whipped; Ku-Klnxing of the Mortons ; killing of Sheriff Murphy. 773
raid on house of Judge Charlton, in Summerville, Morgan County; his repub

licanism the cause 774
number of outrages in Blount County 774, 775
no prosecutions for these outrages have been instituted ; Ketchuin taken from

jail and hung; strength of Ku-Klux in Blount County; Ku-Klux order

approved by the older people ; the order too strong for the law to deal

with ; n jury could not be impaneled without one or more Ku-Klux being
on it 775

churches burned ; no colored schools in Blount County ; republicans favor and
democrats oppose the education of negroes ; democratic opposition to fifteenth

amendment and to equal rights for the negroes 776
intimidatuD of vcters 777

killing of Judge Charlton 777, 778, 779, 780

organization of Union men against Ku-Klux, and its effect 778, 770

disarming of negroes by disguised men 779
Beville, Sheriff, character, standing, &c. t of 1815, 18J9, 1825, 1826

Bingham, Mr.
, burning of house of 1293

Binns, Mr., killing of, by Jasper Alexander 1626, 1629, 167 1

Birdsong, Mr., killing of McKee by 659
Black Cavalry , the 1126, 1130

Blackford, William T., character, standing, &c., of ..1475, 1484-1486,1490,1492-1494,
1498, 1499, 1501-1503, 1518-1520, 1523, 1524, 1588, 1589, 1855, 1856

outrage on 1272, 1475-1478, 1483, 1484, 1493-1497, 1525, 1526, 1529, 1856, 1985

resignation from office of 1477, 148C, 1487, 1492, 1498, 1503, 1504
renounces his political views 1492, 1499, 1500

BLACKFOKD, WILLIAM T., testimony of 1271-1302
resident of Greensborough, Hale County; was probate judge ; was a physician. 1271
has lived in the State since February, 1857 ; was a Union man ; after the seces

sion of the State was tried by a vigilance committee for his fidelity to the
Union ; was surgeon in the confederate army, without a commission 1271

special agent Post-Office Department 1291
was not under disabilities 1300
search made for witness by disguised men at the house of his mother-in-law,

Mrs. L. M. Nutting, January, 1871 ; his clothing torn to pieces 1272
his office also searched, and his hat and some clothes taken, by the same party ;

McCrary released from jail by them ; Mrs. Nutting s house fired into ; wit
ness escaped to the woods, through information received from a negro whom
the party had captured and afterward released 1273

was advised by a friend, a gentleman of prominence in the State, that he would
not be permitted to hold the office of probate judge any longer, and that he
had better resign for his personal security, and leave the country ; acceded,
and entered into negotiations for the sale of his property; w-as compelled to

lie out at night 1274
notifies Governor R. B. Lindsay by letter, and the sheriff sends a report of the out

rage ; who responded by asking Colonel Jones and others to organize the

militia ; no company raised 1275
was waited on by a committee of citizens, and negotiations for the sale of his

property finally effected by them through appraisers ; titles examined and
sale concluded, at $5,500 ] 275, 1276

visits Governor Lindsay; the conversation had ; fails to obtain protection 1276, 1299

lies out seven nights without shelter, three of them rainy, all very cold, and eight
or nine, part of the time in negro cabins and part in the woods ; contracted
the erysipelas in consequence 1277

finally escaped to Selma, thence to Louisville 1277, 1278
received eleven Ku-Klux notices in 1868; substance of these notices 1278
character of the speeches made by witness during the campaign of 1868 12/9, 1301
no ground of opposition to his holding office, except that he was a republican,
and held under the new constitution 1279

election statistics of Hale County &quot;. 1279, 1280
intimidation of voters 1280, 1290
details of organization, extent, &c., of the Ku-Klux 1280, 1282, 1283
debate in sub-committee on the point of requiring witness to give the name of

the party from whom he obtained this information of the Ku-Klux order 1281

attempted release of Peyton McDonald from the Greensborough jail by dis

guised men ; and of a prisoner from the Marion jail, in Perry County ; Mr.

Williams, probate judge, Perry County, compelled to leave 1283
confirmation of the truth of the statements about the Ku-Klux order 1284
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BLACKFORD, WILLIAM T., testimony of Continued.

negro prayer-meeting, August 19, 1871, shot into, and Fletcher (colored)
wounded 1284

negro killed ; Philip Green s house burned ; two negroes murdered ; negroes of

Hale County feel entirely i :; secure 1285

general reception and treatn... nt of troops by citizens 1285, 1286, 1287, 1297

Mr. Clause knocked dow*n ai.d cut by soldiers, for his activity at the election.. 1286

attempt to assassinate witness by so. diers 128G, 1287

the facts reported to the commanding officer ; nothing
1 done 1287

white people of Hale County and tke district have the same animosity to the

(Government of the United Slates that the.y had in 1861 ; the Government
cursed and denounced , 1287, 1288

they li^ve never become reconciled to negro suffrage ; if they had the power
they would repeal the fifteenth amendment and ail others, and go out of the

Government ; bitter opposition to negro schools, and their maintenance by
taxation ; a large number of school-houses and churches burned ; general
treatment of the negro by the laud-owners. * 1288

administration of justice 1288, 1289

probable effect of removal of disabilities 1288, 1289
knows not a single instance of any punishment having been inflicted on bands

of disguised men 1289
labor contracts ; took his stock to Kentucky ; resigned his office before leaving

the State ; it was accepted, and a democrat appointed in his place 1290
has visited Greesborougii several times on Saturday niht, leaving again on

Monday \
1291

was recognized and threatened while investigating a mail robbery at Loacha-

poka 1291,1292
one or two route-agents run oil : Selma and Meridian Railroad Company for

bidden to employ negro firemen ; route-agents changed ; house of Mr. Biug-
ham, postmaster at Talladega, burned ; Judge Luther Smith s house burned ;

negro taken from jail in Sumier County, and hung 1293
terrorism in Fayette ; general tone of the democratic press as to Ku-Klux out

rages, and as to carpet-baggers and scalawags ; invited an investigation into

liis official conduct ; the investigation had 12*94

copy of the. report made in his case: George M. Duskin, C. \V. Hatch, Arthur
A. Smith, received Ku-Klux letters ; Judge Luther Smith asked by public

meeting to resign. . . 1295

probate judge of Choctaw received threatening letters, and compelled to resign ;

officers of Perry County received similar letters and threats ; Judge J. Q.
Smith received a Ku-Klux leuer: has only kind feelings toward the citizens

of Hale County ;
the differeiu es altogether political 1296

presided at a meeting in 1807, of men of all parties, to support the reconstruc
tion measures 1296,1297

never heard that the attack i\pnn him was caused by his being in bed with a

nea i o woman ; it was not tin- fact 1297
did not sell his office when he s. ki his property 1298
circumstances connected with the appointment of his successor .1298, 1299
denies presenting a letter of his own to the governor recommending his succes

sor; had no understanding with anybody to receive money for resigning;
heard that John S. Keller and Mr. Barber sold their offices outright 12S9

how the sale of offices is effected ; witness took the test-oath on assuming his

office 1300
had a knife drawn on him while making- a speech 1301

BLAIR, AUGUSTUS, (colored, ) lestimony ol 674, 679
lives in liuntsville ; in December, 1868, was on Major Floyd s plantation, in

Limestone County 1 674

beating and cutting with knives of his son William 674, 676
was compelled to leave his home ; names of the parties concerned in the outrage. 676
eleven of them arrested ; all forfeit their bail but three ; these three have not
been tiled 1 676, 677

whipping of Joe Yarborough ; beating of witness s wife and daughter 677
destruction of his property . . 676, 678

whipping and shooting of Mr. Harrison ; man whipped and gashed in Lauder-
dale county 678

Blair, Dr., killing of son of 721
Blair, William, killed, mutilated with knives 134, 148,674-676,715, 1205,1208
Blair, William, whipping of 131, 148, 674-676
Blair, William S., identified by Weir 695

Blakely, Amos, whipping of 1840, 1841
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Blount County, number of colored schools in

number of outrages in 134,774,775

strength of Ku-Klux in 742, 775

list of persons outraged in, (for pages see names elsewhere ; ) Edward Alldredge,

Joseph Dinsmore, Thomas Nation 3 ; killed in : Lewis Ketchum, Sheriff

Levi Murphy 2 ; shot in : Lewis Ketchum I ; whipped in : James Austin,

Benjamin Horton, James Horton, Lina King, Lewis Ketchum, John F. Mc
Dowell, Lina McKiimey, Mrs. Kiddle 7.

Bonds, railroad . 11-193-199, 218, 1G56-1058

Bonds, State, issued since 3865 1055, 1057

Bone, Anthony, whipping of 929

Boyce, Samuel, identified by Weir 695

Boyd. Enoch, killing of 1670

Boydj Mr., killing of Mr. Hopper by 1677

Boyd, Samuel, (Alex. ,) and Brown, difficulty between 49, 266, 276, 282, 298, 31 &amp;gt;

Boyd, Samuel, (Alex.,) solicitor, killing of, 3, 7, 12, 13, 39, 48, 57-59, 63, 101, 178, 212, 213,

229, 254,258,265-267, 273, 275, 277, 279, 281, 297-299, 300, 312, 313, 318,333, 446,

528, 529,555,556, 1170, 1212-1214, 1409,1419, 1421, 1643, 1842-1844.

Bradford, James, identified by Weir 695

Bradford, Jim, outrage upon 1624

Bradford, Lewis, identified by Weir 695

Bran, Charles, identified by Fullerlove 1649

Breathitt, Lucy, rope twisted round head of 1788

Brown, Charles, whipping of 1597

Brown, Danger, whipped, and ears cut off 1595, 1596

BROWN, JESSE, (colored,) testimony of 860-861
born in Atlanta ; lives in Huntsville ; was in the Army 1 86?)

whipping of witness, and his skull broken, by disguised men 860, 861
character of the disguises worn

; Scruggs rohbed 860

Browning, Dr., killed in raid on Choutteau s house 1966

BRUNSON, SIMEON, testimony of 1999-2005
lived in Pickens County ; left there January, 1871 1999
a member of the legislature 2002
is a radical - 2003
wh at caused him to leave the State 2000

killing of Mr. Crossland and wounding of his companion.., 2000,2002,2003,2004
Mr. William Latham, a preacher whipped ; whipping of Frank Carter, a

preacher, and his son Charles 2000

whipping of Willie Hargrove, Henry Low, Samuel Low, and Bob Stocksville ;

all for their politics 2001
effect upon the colored people of these outrages ; has received Ku-Klux letters

warning him to leave the country 2002
cause of the killing of Mr. Crossland 2003
no one but republicans whipped 2004

Bryan, Mr., killing of 1677

Bryant, Mr. , whipping of 610, 931

Buchanan, James, compelled to leave home 127

Burke, Richard, killing of, 334, 335, 346, 349, 351, 998, 999, 1460, 1578, 1579, 1596, 1597,

1607, 1632, 1633, 1737, 1775, 178J, 1798, 1807, 1808, 1812, 1821, 1944,1964
Burning of school-house and churches, 23(5, 5:]:;, 754, 755. 776,.932, 1006, 1010, 1011, 1014,

1025, 1026, 1043, 1046,1064, 1U67, 1U95, 1(398, 1099, 1138, 1269, 1288, 1363, 1548, 1614,

1655,1731,1739, 1889, 1920

Burnes, Mr., killing of Mr. Strange by 658

Burnes, Mr.
, killing of 658, 659

Burton, Jeff, identified by Childers 1720

Burton, Pierce, severely beaten 5, 46, 55, 290, 1052

Bush, 1 lezekiah, whipping of 152, 931

Bush, Martin, whipping of. 862

Bush, Simon, whipping of 133, 151,152,862,931
Busteed, Judge Richard, boast of, 1155, 1156; suits for treason before 1415

BUSTEED, RICHARD, testimony of. - 320-330
United States district judge of Alabama

,
320

held first court in Alabama in 1805 324

appointed in 1863 by President Lincoln 324

dibguised men, operations of 320, 321
, 323, 324, 328

riot at Eutaw, Greene County 327
trial of Eutaw rioters 327
execution of the laws, &c 320, 324, 326, :-W7

Ku-Kiux law of Congress 321, 322,3^9
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BUSTEED, RICHARD, testimony of Continued.

murder of Judge Charlton 325
character of Rev. A. S. Lakin 325, 328

report of grand jurors of middle district of Alabama 330
article from Selma Times in relation to report of grand jury 29

BUTLER, JOHN M., (colored, ) testimony of 1091-1099
resident of Tuskegee, Macon County; a minister of the Methodist Church 109]

particulars of the attack on James H. Alston 1091-1092, 1094, 1096, 1097
church fired into ; Andrew Geary and Abram Moss killed ; Columbus Mitchell,

Felix Wright, Adam Goshe, and two others wounded J 092-1 094

two churches burned ; republicans not safe in advocating their sentiments,

1095,1098,1099
intimidation of voters 1095, 1097
no arrests for these outrages 1090
the leading colored men have left the county 1097

Cald well, Sam. , killing of.......................... 3, 6, 265, 273, 1789, 1 795, 1796, 1-b-il

Culhoun County, outrages in ............................................... 1 162, 1165

outraged in : Mr. Crook ; killed in : Tony Cliff, Caesar Frederick, William
Hall, Berry Harris, Essex Hendricks, William C. Luke, Ben Snodgrass,
Bob Thompson 8 ; whipped in : Scott Griilin, Dick Hays 2.

Campbell, Lem, shot and throat cut ............... 1334, 1361-1363, 1869, 1885, 1902, 1913

Campbell, Mike, killing of ................................................ 1334

Campbell, Rebecca, raid on house of.......................................... 947

Campbell struck on the head with gun ....................................... 947, 956

Campbell, William, killing of .....
~

...................... 133, 149, 1162, 1164, 1197-1199

Camp-meeting broken up .................................... 731,734,735,758,759,760
Card of P. J. Glover in the Marengo Journal .................................. 1344

Carpenter, James, killing of................................................. 3, 277

Carpenter, John, killing of.................................................. 277

Carpet-baggers ....... 233, 263, 746, 781-783, 887, 888. 891, 1294, 1662, 1705, J710, 1816, 1828

1860,1942, I9.-J

Carter, Charles, whipping of ................................................ 2000
Carter, Frank, whipping ot ................................................. 20tM
(.ate, Samuel, killing of&quot; ............................................ 140, 267, 428, 451

Cavalry, the Black ........................................................ 1126, 1136
Chambers County ; republicans unsafe in expressing their political sentiments ____ 10b8

killed in: America Tramblies 1 ; shot in: America Trauiblies son 1 ; outraged
in: George Moore, Robert Rouudtree 2; whipped in : Jordan Wright 1.

Chapmau, Mr., vic.ituLuud insulted .................................... J519, 1530, 1531
~!HAPMAN, REUBEN) Jr., testimony of................................... 1940-1953

lent of Livingston ; a lawyer ; solicitor of the county ................... 1940
was inTnU cuilteuerate army ; favored secession ............................ 1943
contradiction of Judge Luther R. Smith s testimony, as to the witnesses in

the Choutteau arson case being killed ............. . .............. 1940, 1941, 1953

county as quiet and oiderly, for twelve months past, as before the war; a

great deal of stealing of stock by the freedmen; no intimidation to compel
the negroes to vote tne democratic ticket

; accounts for the large number of

1941

parties elected to county offices in 1868 ; ail carpet-baggers except Daniel
Price ............................................ . .................. ]042

negro whipped by colored Ku-Klux. . .%. ................................ 1942, 1945

preparation of cases, by the solicitor, for the grand jury .................... 1943

killing of Richard Burke ..................
&quot;

............................. 1944

Jaspei Alexander taken from j ail and hung .............................. ] 994, ] L)45

Prater released from jail by a body of armed men .......................... 1 945
Zeke High taken from jail and killed .................................... 1945, 194;

killing ot Coblentz, and attack on Dr. Choutteau s house ................. 1946, 1947
difficulties &amp;gt;n detecting these bands of disguised men ...................... 1947, 1948
knows of no white man engaged in these outrages having ever been dis

covered and brought to justice. . .t .................................... 1948, 194U
negro killed by Mr. White; killing of Henderson Young s son; shooting of
Enoch Sledge and George Houston ; Isaiah Hunter killed and his house
burnt d ; killing of Jerry Clark by Prater ; Yankee Ben killed ............. ] 949

whipping of Amanda Chikiers by Mr. Jones .............................. ]&amp;lt;.5!)

steps taken for the purpose of stopping these outrages ..................... 195o, 1 951
effect upon the negrots of Ku-Klux outrages ; emigration to Kansas talked of. 1951
freedom of political opinion ............................................. 1951 li 52

Chapman, Ruth, whipping of ............................................... 931
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Chambers County, number driven from ] 046
Ku-Kluxin 1121

Character of A. S. Lakin, contained in certain letters laid before the committee by
its chairman 810-812

Charles, Orlando raid on house of 1478, 1479, 1497

shouting of wife of 1478, 1479, 1497

Charlton, Judge, character of 1 170

killing of 132,325, 610, 611, 777-780,1211
raid on house of ; 774

CHERRY, C. S., testimony of. 70-77
:

&amp;lt;&amp;gt;nt of Alabama since 1839 ; native of South Carolina ; left Alabama from
fear of his life 70

now clerk in Census Bureau 72

taught school in Alabama ; left Alabama in November, 1870 72

republican in politics 71

disguised men, operations of 77
old colored man killed 70,71
freedom of political opinions 71

republicans threatened and in danger 70-76
colored men molested 74, 75
white men generally armed, and colored men partially armed 75

Childers, Amanda, whipping to death of 1722-1724,1733,1734,1950,1960,1961
( hilders, John, struck on the head with gun 1719,1721,1897-1899
( GILDERS, JOHN, (colored,) testimony of. 1719,1728

has lived all his life, 42 years, in Suniter County ; cannot read or write 17J9
was attacked in the fall of 1870 by three men, and struck ovei the head with

a
double-bayeled gun ; nothing done in the case by the grand jury 1719

names of the r|en who attacked him 1720
/

was beaten pretty severely afterward by three men, one of whom, Mr. Lee, is

now dead ; no prosecution 1721

is afraid to testify to all he kfcows of outrages committed, as he would be
driven away ; colored man killed ; nothing ever done with the men who
killed him 1722

witness s daughter, 10 years old, whipped, July, 18/1, by Mr. Jones, and died

in ten days afterward 1722, 1723, 1724

nothing done with Mr. Jones ; all the witnesses gone except Jane Killens ;

very common occurrence for colored people to be whipped by white men,
sometimes disguised, sometimes not ; generally for politics 1724

intimidation of voters . 1725, 1726

only radicals that are whipped, &c. ; colored men who vote the democratic

ticJifA-do-it -te~buy peace 1726

Chisholm, William R., testimony before State joint committee to investigate out

rages 853, 854
Choctaw county, burnings in 51, 58, 1548, 1627, 1871, 18cO

difficulties in 16

number whipped in 1335
number killed in 1935

outraged and whipped in: Robert Fuilerlove; killed in, (for pages see names
elsewhere:) Lem Campbell, Mike Campbell, Mike Dunn, Nathaniel Edwards,
Isham Ezi ll, William Ezell, Isham, John, Abe Lyon, Thomas Rogers, N. E.
Thomas, Dud Woodward 12.

shootings in: Judge F. M. Hill, Isham, and wife 3.

Choctaw, Joe, whipping of 1 328
C houtteau, Dr., burning of house of 1595

character, standing, &c., of 1602, 1603, 1608, 1609
losses sustained by - 1669, 1693, 1 695, 1697, 1 698, 1711

raid on house of.. ..1574, 1575, 1594, 1595, 1598, 1602-1604, 1622, Iu23, 1631, 1632, 1668,

1669, 1674, 1693-1698, 1702, 1810, 1817, 1821
, J946, 1947, 1964, 1968

Christian, Mr., killing of 1971

CHRISTIAN, ROBERT, testimony of 1558-1564
resident of Uniontown, Perry County; a lawyer; was justice of the peace and

agent for the Freedmen s Bureau 1 558
native of Virginia ; was always a democrat 1559
laws executed with as much promptness as usual; many acts of lawlessness ;

chiefly confined to the freedmen ; civil officers almost exclusively republican ;

general belief that these officers sold out their places 15.~8

cites instances 1558, 1559, 1560, 1561, 1563, 1564

attempt to take a prisoner from the Marion jail and lynch him 1560, 1562
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Churches burned.. 140, 236, 533, 755, 776, 1006, 1010, 1011, 1014, 1025, 1026, 1046, 1064, 1067,

1095, 1098, 1099, 1138, 1269, 1288, 1548, 1655, 1889, 1920

lived into - -- 1173

Citizens notified or compelled to leave home 67, 126, 127, 550, 700, 724, 86l&amp;gt;, 929-932,

1012, 1047, 1097, 1126, 1127, 1172, 1230, 1283, 1328, 1362

CLANTON, JAMES H., testimony of 226-257

resident of Alabama for thirty-seven years, and of Montgomery for twenty-two

years ; member of the legislature before the war ; raised sixty-four com

panies of soldiers for confederate service; lawyer by profession ^chairman
of dejmocratic State executive committee ; Union wTug m poTittcs~uIIFiIlilter

tlieTwaFTmi . . . .Ty.Y7.~I . . . . .&quot;7. -~r .rr. 226

native of Georgia 233

disguised men, operation of, &c 229, 240, 242, 253

disguised men, people opposed to 241

disguised men, negroes whipped by 240, 242

election upon State constitution ^ 227

election laws of Alabama 239, 249, 250

feeling of people at close of war 226, 227, 246

enforcement of the laws 244

negroes hung at Tuscumbia 22J

negroes who vote democratic ticket 228, 229, 246, 247

negroes, promise of lands and mules to 238

negroes, sale of painted stakes to 238

negroes, rapes by 242

negroes, general conduct of 242

negroes, outrages upon whites by 230. 242

negroes, education of 234, 236, 249, 252

negro suffrage 226, 255, 256
colored school-houses and churches burned 236

general amnesty, &c 237, 243, 24 J

northern men, character of, &c 231, 232, J.j3

carpet-baggers and scalawags 2! V &amp;gt;

people opposed to reconstruction rj-i i

Boyd, solicitor of Greene County, shot 229, 254
Jim Alston, (colored,) member of the legislature, shot 229

Dorman, Methodist preacher, whipped 230

difficulty at Patoua 22i, ^&quot;i-l

character of Rev. A. S. Lakin -J3r, x:52

Northern Methodist Church ^;J8

contest for office of governor 23U
State administration 244
railroad legislation 232
school fuud, & c 227, 232, 240, 248
relations between the races 252

concerning Union Leagues 229, 233, 240

Clark, George A., whipped, shot, and hung- 1614, Ib45-lfc49

CLARK, JAMES B., testimony of 257-264
resident of Alabama for forty-nine years, and ofEutaw, Greene County, for thirty-
two years ; has been member of the legislature, and chancellor for middle
division of the State ; lawyer by profession 2 &quot;7

seventy-live years of age i. o4
execution of the laws -2. 7

security of life and property 203

disguised men, operations of, &c 258, 259, 200

disguised men, object and purpose of 259

disguised men, white men compose bauds of 260. 201

disguised men, present condition of organizations of 260

disguised men, public opinion opposed to 261

Boyd, solicitor of Greene County, killed 258

Suoddy killed 258
riot at Eutaw, Greene County 201
trial of Eutaw rioters 262

sympathizers witli Eutaw rioters 262, 2G3
no person convicted for Ku-Klux offenses 260
character of Judge Luther R. Smith 263
freedom of political opinions 263

carpet-baggers 2J3
Clark, Jerry, killed by Prater 10u2, 1672, 1738, 1S49
Clark, John, whipping of 930
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Clark, Mr., driven from home 1323

Clause, Mr., knocked down and ci* by soldiers 1286, 1408
Cleburne County, no election in precinct No. 1, in 1162,1193
Cliff, Tony, killing of 77
Clunn, Henry, killing of 669, 671, 930

COBBS, THOMAS, testimony of 1620-1648
resident of Livingston, Sumter County ; a lawyer ; came from North Carolina 1620
native of that State ; was in the confederate army; always a democrat . 1643
knows of no obstruction to the law in either Choctaw or Slimier County 1620, 1642
Mr. Biuns killed by a negro named Jasper 1621, 1629
the latter afterward taken from jail and hanged ; his killing had no political

significance 1621, 1627, 1028, 1629, 1631

Prater, confined in jail on a charge of murder, released.. 1621, 1622, 1629, 1630, 1631,1639
Zeke High, charged with the murder of Collins, taken from jail and shot ; it

had no political significance 1622, 1631
,

1 639
cases of Cboutteau, Coblentz, and George Houston 1622, 1623, 1631, 1632

disposition of the freedineu to live in peace and harmony wibh the whites after

the surrender ; bad feeling between them after the arrival of Rolfe, Hays, and
Price ; inflammatory address made by the latter during the presidential cam
paign; democratic negroes mobbed 1623

character of Price 1623, 1640
Adam Kennard and Jim Bradford Ku-Kluxed by Price ; Price was arrested and

forfeited his bond ; Rolfe elected to the legislature ; Hays ran away ; better

state of feeling since they left 1 624
no intimidation of voters, but the usual canvassing 1624, 1625, 1626, 1645

the demand for and the supply of labor 1 626

negroes killed 1 626, 1633

Judge Hill shot at ; the county offices burned by an incendiary ; Aleck Hill,

county treasurer, charged with the burning; house of Mr. Gilmore, county
superintendent, burned ; in both cases, money belonging to the county was
said to be burned 1627

no arrests made by the citizens or by the officers of the county for the murder
of Jasper 1629

no one arrested foi the murder of Zeke High or Coblentz 1 63 1

Richard Burk killed 1632, 1833

negro kihed in July, 1870, in Billy McCree s field ; no one punished 1633

Grattan, (white,) killed in 1866; negro on Mr. White s plantation whipped... 1634

two negroes whipped on McElroy s plantation ; negro killed

Loyal League, its extent, &c 1637, 1642, 1(545

explains what he meant by no obstruction to the law 1637, 16.&amp;gt;8

republican candidates for the legislature did not canvass the county ; one was
killed, one wounded, the other assaulted ; interruption of the meeting ad
dressed by Senator Warner and Governor Smith 1638

reasons for Major Hays, candidate for Congress, not coming 1638, 1(539

incendiary speeches 1640, 1641

general character and political preferences of the negroes 1641, 1642

mill and other property of Judge Smith burned ; a clerk killed in Greene

County; Boyd killed ; old man killed 1643
the democratic convention passed resolutions requesting Judge Smith to resign. 1644

his character as judge 1644, 1645

cause of alarm and apprehension felt by the negroes in attending radical

meetings 1645,1646,1647

explanation of Judge Abram s cause of alarm 1647, 1648

Coblentz, Mr., killing of 344, 1574, 1575, 1594, 1595, 1598, 1602-1604, 1622, 1623, 1031,

1632, 1673, 1737, 1817, 1946, 1947, 1954, 19(54, 19(55

Cockrell, Mr., struck with pistols 5, 9, 12, 19, 20, 23, 24, 40, 42, 43, 271, 281

COCKRELL, WILLIAM EV, testimony of , 42-44
resident of Eutaw, Greene County ; sixteen years of age ; was witness at trial

of Eutaw rioters ; was present when his father was attacked 42

particulars of attack on his father 42, 43

Colbert County, killed in, Mr. Kernahan; outraged in, William Henderson; whipped
in, George Taylor.

COLEMAN, DANIEL, testimony of 646-668
resident of Athens, Limestone County; county solicitor ; native of Athens... 6J6
a democrat 648, 657

case of Mr. Weir 646,647,650,651,652,653
adoption of resolution by mass meeting indorsing action of the commissioners

court in employing counsel, &c. ; tone of public sentiment as to Ku-Klux

outrages 648
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COLEMAN, DANIEL, testimony of Continued.

nature and object of the Kn-Klux 649

operation of the State Ku-Klux law of December 28, 1S68 649, 650

attempts to hang and drown Mr. Weir 653-655
he recognized Mr. Moore. Frank Gibson, George Peace, and Pink Johnson... 653,654
the stand inn- of these parties in the community- 655-65?

politics had nothing- to do with these outrages oil Mr. Weir ; killing of Mr.

Strange by Mr. Burrus and others in disguise 65.-?

killing of Mclvee by Birdsong ; operations of disguised men 659
Ku-Klux disguises, organizations, &c 660-66*2, 6G4, 665
relative narty vote in Limestone County 66*2. 663

colored men vote freely ; no prejudice against northern settlers ; they are so

cially well treated - 663

witness s view as to the truth of the preamble to the act of the legislature, ap
proved December *26, 1668, for the suppression of secret organizations 664, 665

killing of Sam. Scales by disguised men ; six or eight killed iu the last two

years 666
article from the Athens Post, &quot;The citizens meeting last Thursday

&quot;

607,608
Coleinan, Guilf. ui. killing of 13,273,277, 1460. 1766, 17e9, 1795, 1839, 1642, l?-44

Coleman, J.F.. threatened 1434,1435, 1440

COLEMAN, JOHN TAYLOE, testimony of 1046-1054
resident of Demopolis, Mareugo County; mail-agent; first on duty from Selma

to Meridian, Mississippi ; now running from Calera to Montgomery 1048
a cripple ; native of Virginia ; taught a colored school 1 051

was assaulted and threatened at Kewaunee station by a man in disguise ...1046. 1049,

1051, K 53
heard men on the train say there would be trouble at Meridian, and tha* they

were goinjr down to help out ; received a threatening message from disguised
men, directing him to stay on the east side of the Bigbee River K 4 :

.

left the route from apprehension that his life was in danger 1&quot; 50

killing of Frank Diggs, (colored,) October or November, 1670; no effort to

rind his murderer Iu50

outrage upon witness was on account of his republicanism ; received a threat

ening Ku-Klux letter 1051

received notices while teaching school ; threats against W. B. Jones and
Pierce Burton, editor of the Southern Republican, and republican nominee
for lieutenant governor ; the latter severely beaten at Eutuw ; received a
Ku-Klux warning

1 to leave in twenty-four hours, and left -three days after

ward ; republicanism the cause of the outrages 1052
a common thing for negro firemen to be whipped 1053

copy of Ku-Klux letter received by him 1 054

Collins, alleged Ku-Klux, killing of. 1357, 1569, 1570, 1579, 15bO, 15t2, 1563, 1615, 1666, 1607

Collins, Kernahau and Haughey killed by 172, 173

Colvin, Samuel, killing- of. 3, 263, 266, 273, 301
,
31 2, 313, 316, 1*214

Cook, Samuel, whipping of wife of 1304

Confiscation, views as to 1 65 1

Constitution, State, election for adoption of 2^7

Constitution, Stute, objectionable features of 07*2, 1409

Constitution, State, opposition to. .358, 364, 5*27, 551-554, 561, 878-663, 907, 1134, 1 135, 1145.

1409,1860-186-2
Constitutional amendments, popular opinion as to.. 605-607. 768, 776, 643, 844, 847, 1075.

1288,1405
Coosa County, shot in, Ben. Reusbaw ; whipped in, (for pages see names elsewhere, )

John Baker, Joseph Baker, James Dorman, Zack Goldthwaite, Dan Hurgin,
(Lushner, ) Dick Martin, Big Maxwell, Given Sturdeway, Smith Wat ley,
Jesse Watson, Jerry Webb, Wiley Williams 1*2.

Cornelius, George, guns taken from 1 162, 1 195

Cotton, seizure of _ 1410, 1414, 14-24-14-20, 1CG1

Courtland, Lawrence County ; fight between negroes and Ku-Klux. . . 1 171
, 1172, 1:223-1 226

Courts, State, powerless to control Ku-Kiux - 56, 96, 99, 132, 153, 156, 552
Cox, Jim Henry, identified by Blair 676
Cox, William W., alleged Ku-Klux, ideutiiied by Roper 688
Cox, shooting of . 43%2 690, 765, 786, 820, 874, 900
CRAWFORD, SAMUEL W., testimony of 1156-11,^3

colonel Second Regiment of Infantry and brevet major general, United States

Army ] 156
came to Alabama in April, 1669 ; headquarters at Himtsviiie 1 157
whole force in the State three companies 1 l&tj
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CRAWFORD, SAMUEL W., testimony of Continued.
bis general action in cases of outrages by disguised men, brought to bis notice,! 157, 1158
can furnish a statement of the cases reported to bim ; the first class consists of

reports of investigations by officers, with appended documents, for 1869;
second class, applications for military aid, affidavits, statements, &c., from
civilians 1 158

discussion by the sub-committee as to the admissibility of the documents sub
mitted by witness; Senator Blair objects to their reception 115i)

outrage upon Dean Reynolds, Morgan County, January, 1869 1158, 1159, 1160

outrage upon George Moore and Robert Roundtree, (colored,) Cherokee County,
July, 1869. 1160

skirmish between colored men and the Ku-Klux, Madison County ; disturb

ance at Vienna; report, by Lieutenant M. Frank Gallagher, regarding the

state of affairs in Greene County ; report of Lieutenant, James Miller, regard
ing the intimidation of voters, De Kalb County 1161

thinks Judge Dox did not make the statement attributed to him in Miller s

report 1 161 1162

report by Lieutenant Charles Keller, transmitting certificate of Judge Kunni-
cutt, certifying that no election was held in precinct No. 1, Cleburne County,
and the reason rendered by the inspector therefor; murder of a negro in Cal-

houii County ; report of Lieutenant Keller of outrages perpetrated by dis-

fuised
men, Calhoun County ; affidavit of Diana Williams, concerning

er whipping, Lauderdale County, June, 1869; affidavit of G. Cornelous ;

Ku-Klux taking arms from plantation and searching houses for money and
arms ; letter from L. M. Douglass ; civil authorities of Madison County insuf
ficient to check outrages, and asking for troops ; witness sent troops w the

point where they were required ; affidavit of Daniel Vix, concerning an
attack upon his house ; statement of Deputy Sheriff Joseph Lee, concerning
outrages in Lawrence County : affidavit of James Sanford, concerning the

murder of William Campbell by disguised men 1162
letter of Joseph P. Doyle, sheriff of Madison County, asking for military aid to

arrest certain murderers ; the men were furnished ; the civil officers rarely

reported to witness 1163

general character of the civil officers throughout the State ; frequent law
lessness 1163,1164

affidavit of E. M. Mulligan as to Ku-Klux outrage in Madison County, July .

2(5, 1869 ; affidavit of Mary CampbeM in regard to the murder of her husband,
William Campbell, by the Ku-Klux; letter from Captain G. EL McLaughlin,
inclosing statement of Isham Henry, in regard to an outrage upon his person
in March, and a second visit in August, 1869 1164

affidavit of Samuel Mastin. in regard to his being robbed of his gun, watch,
and other property 1 164, 1 105

affidavit of Moses B. Sullivan, concerning warning s and ill-treatment received

by him May 11, 1869, in Marshall County; affidavit of Henry Rivers, in

regard to his being shot by Benjamin Evans, August 23, 1869, Marshall

County; had the case investigated and troops stationed there; affidavit of

W. C. Stephens, in regard to an attempt to arrest certain parties for disguis

ing themselves and forcibly taking a shot-gun ; affidavit of Nathan Meeks,
in regard to Ku-Klux forcibly entering a house ; the case turned over to the

civil authorities ; no action taken by them ; politics of tbe officials 1135

general disarming of the negroes previous to tbe election ; riot in Huutsville in

1868 ; young white men generally carry arms 1166
affidavit of Jack White, in regard to the forcible entry of his house, and the

maltreatment of Tom Hawkins 1 166, 1167
knows of no instance where the negroes, deprived of their arms, ever obtained

any legal redress, or recovered their arms or compensation for their value ;

application for troops from thirty-three citizens of Vienna nearly all demo
crats for military protection for themselves and property ; troops were sent;

application from several gentlemen, asking a change of troops from Ed-
waidsville to Cross Plains, Calhoun County ; the ehencfewaa made; letter

of Robert Fearu, requesting military protection for the Vienna district 11C7
the troops sent ; affidavit of John Leslie in regard to his preaching being
broken up, his being shot, his house forcibly entered, his wife struck, his son

whipped, &c. ; affidavit of William Blair in regard to violence, whipping,
cutting, &c.. committed upon him, Limestone County, December, 1868; a

majority of all these cases turned over to the civil authorities; witness s

letter to the assistant adjutant general, forwarding documents regarding
disturbances in Blofcnt County 1168

character of A. S. Lakin 1168, H60
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RAWFORD, SAMUEL \V., testimony of Continued.

witness s letter to the assistant adjutant general, inclosing letter from Judge
Haralsou, asking the assistance of troops for the civil officers in Blount

County ; report of Lieutenant P. H. Flood, in reference to disturbances near

Stevenson ; report of Lieutenant Charles Harkius, on the state of affairs at

Somervillr, Morgan County 1169

thinks politics had but little to do with these disturbances in Morgan County,
but that they arose from personal and family i euds ; character of Judge
Charlton ;

witness s report in regard to affairs at Jacksonville; report of

Lieutenant Harkins, in regard to the murder of Samuel Boyd, Greene County,
and on the causes of the disturbances at Eutaw ; report of Captain G. II.

McLaughliu, in regard to disturbances at Stevenson ; report of Lieutenant

M. Frank Gallagher, concerning disturbances at Ashville, St. Clair County.. 1170

wounding of Mr. Springfield ; democratic report of the disturbances at Ash
ville; report of Captain McLaughlin in regard to affairs in Stevenson, out

rages on John McManmau ; another in which he states that his camp was
fired on, an attempt made to capture his guard, mob law in the county, &c. ;

another, regarding the state of affairs at Ashville ; another, relative to the

state of affairs in&quot; St. Clair County; another, relative to the wounding of

Captain Springfield 1171

report of Lieutenant John C. Batetnan relative to light between negroes and

disguised men, at Courtland, Lawrence County , 1171, 1172

report of Captain McLaughlin in regard to the murder of Mr. Frank Harrison,
St. Clair County ; Lieutenant Bateman s report in regard to Ku-Klux

depredations in Fayctte County, and organization of a counter party, the

&quot;Mossbacks,&quot; and their encounters ; another, concerning his operations in

capturing Ku-Klux ; report of Captain McLaughlin concerning Jesse Ingram
being driven from home, &c. ; letter from Judge Haralson, applying for

troops for De Kalb County; anonymous letter signed
&quot;

Many citizens
;&quot;

affidavits of Samuel Lawlor and Robert Barbee concerning Ku-Klux out

rages in Averyville, Jackson County ; anonymous communication in regard
to Ku-Klux outrages, and asking for guards, or arms and ammunition,

signed
&quot; Citizen ;&quot; affidavit of Frank Bell in regard to violence at his house ;

affidavits of James Bell and Joshua Harris, detailing outrages on plantation
of Houston Bell, Madison County ; report by H. G. Thomas, sheriff of Mor

gan County, relative to disturbances, dec., in that county 1 172

letter of Hon. Charles Hays concerning outrages in Suinter, Greene, and the

adjoining counties, and asking that troops be kept in Eutaw till after the

election ; letter of Judge De Berry asking that troops be sent at once to Saint

Clair County ; the troops sent ; letter from E. G. Barney, asking for one
hundred men to be sent to Patona, stating the hanging of Mr. Luke, also of

two negro men, two others being shot dead ; troops sent immediately ; ap
plication of W. S. McElvain on the same subject ; affidavit of John Mc-
Manman concerning outrage upon himself, July 1 2, I 70, Jackson County;
statements of A. D. Bailey, C. I. Sharpe, and E. L. Hesterby, concerning a
massacre at Cross Plains ; communication of S. Crawford relative to dis

turbances at Stevenson; affidavit of Lucinda Ford concerning a Ku-Klux
outrage upon herself and family, Madison County ; letter from D. L. Dalton
relative to firing upon a colored congregation ; eleven telegrams submitted

by witness ; affidavit of Willie McGregor 1173

many cases of lawlessness not embraced in this list; comities of Fayette, Pickens,
Sumter, Greene, and Choctaw the most troublesome ; the western counties
the most disturbed of all ; little in North Alabama, and none in the south ;

general character of the disturbances ; as a general rule the sentiment of the
best men has been to bring these men to justice; if they would combine
earnestly they could prevent these outrages ; their disabilities a plea why
they should not assist in preserving the peace 1 174

many outrages have been committed in order to prevent the negroes from

voting the republican ticket ; knows of no case of conviction for Ku-Klux
outrages 1 1 175

thinks troops are necessary to preserve the peace upon the approach of the elec

tion, and the reasons therefor 1176-1180
intimidation of voters ; effect of the presence and action of the military ; they
have acted as conservators of the peace 1176

republicans can advocate their principles now a great deal better than ever be
fore ; tone of the speeches at Eutaw last year conciliatory and judicious.. 1177

what is done when troops are sent to localities on the request of the civil of
ficers 1177,1178
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CRAWFORD, SAMUEL W., testimony of Continued.
no foundation for the allegation that troops are quartered upon any community,

or that its action is controlled by bayonets 1 178

inefficiency of the public officers, and their want of popular confidence 1178-1183
Union sentiment in Northern Alabama; relations of the races ; need of troops

in the Stale ; no militia raised in the State 1179
irritation caused by the election law : charges of plundering by the civil offi

cers of the Stare made very frequently 1 ISO

principal cause of discontent upon the part of the democrats of the State thtt

they have net the political control 1181
views as to disabilities 1181,1182, 1183
feeling as to the presence of troops 1 177, 1 178, 1181

republican party of the State in favor of the removal of all political disabili
ties ; general amnesty the best act that could be done whenever Congress
thinks it time to do it 1183

documents appended to his testimony, (see Documents.)
Crook, Mr., assaulted, and rope put round his neck 475, 487
Cross, Flem., killing of wife of J794

Grassland, M., killing of .. .1750, 1767, 1768,1851, 1852,1969-1971.1980-1982,1991,2000,
2002-2004

Cross Plains, riot at, (see Patona. )

Crudip, John, identified by Westbrook 1244

D.

DANIEL, SIR, (colored, ) testimony of 993-997
resident of Huntsville now ; came from Stevenson, Jackson County 993

disguised men came to his house in 1869 993,994
house of Lewis Jackson twice fired into 993, 994
witness s brother whipped ; was frequently visited by disguised men 994

frequent raids on Miles Prior s house : he defends himself 994, 995
colored man and his wife shot 995
Miles Prior, Lewis Jackson, and witness put in prison ; prison broken open by
Ku-Klux ; prisoners taken out and assaulted; their release by soldiers 995-997

Daniel, Sir, whipping of brother of u 994

Darling, Alfred, whipping of 416
Davies, Sam, raid on house of 1973
Davis, Carr, wounding of 1214

DAVIS, HUGH N., testimony of 1 897-1899
born and raised in Sumter County ; a farmer 1897
his account of the assault upon John Childers by Mr. Burton 1897-1899

Davis, Mr., identified by Childers 1720
DAVIS, NICHOLAS, testimony of 780-791

native of the State
; lives in Limestone County ; a lawyer ; was a Henry Clay

whig; a Douglas man; opposed to secession; since the war a republican,
and in favor of the recons traction policy 781

accepts it because it is the best that the subjected people of Alabama can do ;

favors negro suffrage 780
voted for Grant against Seymour ; might now vote very much the other way ;

voted for Governor Smith ; did not vote for the republican county officers ;

voted for Mr. Dox 789
is opposed to the organization of the republican party in Alabama 790
condition of the country in 1868 exceedingly wrong ; there was then a Ku-Klux

organization ; public sentiment now right ; the democratic party determined
to put down Ku-Klux 781

Ku-Klux organization provoked by Loyal Leagues 781
,
783

Judge Douglass as a carpet-bagger 781
, 782, 783

character of Mr. Shaperd as to veracity . 782, 790, 791
in the last two years there have been men who imitated the Ku-Klux to rob and

thieve, without any politics in it ; the white people of Alabama opposed to

Ku-Klux ; they despise the idea of Ku-Klux ; Union League a political as

sociation 783
character of Rev. A. S. Lakiu s speeches, and his personal character 784, 785
Ku-Klux organization ceased about the middle of 1869; its strength in Madi

son County in 1868 785
riot in Huntsville and shooting of Mr. Cox, an alleged Ku-Klux 785, 786

shooting of Judge Thurlow ; hanging of Smith 786

negro whipped 787

Davis, R. G., confesses as to raids made 544
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DAVIS, STEPHEN B., testimony of . 1428-1433

resident of Shiloh, Marengo County ; a farmer ; was a democrat ; changed his

politics in 18G9 1423

was a master in United States Navy 1430

democratic press on Ku-Klux outrages ; danger in advocating republican prin

ciples
1429

intimidation of voters 1429, 1432

killing of Robin \Vestbrook 1429, 1430

no one punished for the murder, or for the whipping of the school-teacher at

Major Glover s 1430

social proscription of witness on account of his republicanism 1429, 1430, 1431

apprehensions for his personal safety, because he is a republican and a candi

date for tax-collector: received a Ku-Klux letter; has from four to twelve

men in his house every night for protection ; William B. Jones interrupted
in a speech at Shiloh, 1870 1431

DAY, LIONEL W., testimony of 590-035
was in the Federal Army ; clerk in the United States district court, and ex

ojjicio commissioner 590

has lived in Huntsville since February \, 1866; was clerk of the court ; a

lawyer 595
voted the democratic ticket last fall; registered in October, 1870; had doubts

as to the construction of the oath embodied in the State constitution 604

his views as to suffrage (505

voted for Mr. Lincoln C09
was in the post-office in Montgomery 013

delegate to congressional convention . 618
arrests Holseapple. Lindsay, and Malone for outrage upon William Henderson ;

presents the evidence taken in the trial; the parties acquitted upon proof of

an alibi ; character of prosecutor was proven to be bad 59 1

general disposition for the maintenance of law and order 591
,
592

condition of Northern Alabama during the war 592
no trouble in procuring convictions for any offense where the case is fairly
made out 593, 598

the general sentiment opposed to Ku-Klux organizations, shared in by men of

all pol itical par ties 593, G22

general treatment of northern immigrants 593, G07, G08, G19, GJO, G21
freedom of political opinions 593, 594, 607
Ku-Klux outrages not political 594, G 1 1

character of Kev. A. S. Lakin 594, 595, 612, 613, 615-619, 624-G26
character of Calvin Goodloe, and his testimony in the Henderson case 595-597
ch aracter of the disguises worn 597, 598
knows of no conviction of a Ku-Klux 598, 017
thinks Ku-Klux organization did not exist in Northern Alabama in December,

1 8G8
;
but that it was disbanded in the summer of 1 868 598, 599, 600, 601

,
G2 1

,
622

Ku-Klux in Huutsville, and shooting of Judge Thurlow 599, (502, 614, G18
his opinions as to the charges against the Ku-Klux made by the republican

press - 601,604
and as to the objects and necessity of the organization ..602, 603, 612, G17, G22, 624, 027
democratic view of negro suffrage 605
of the fifteenth amendment G05 606, G&amp;lt;;7

General Blair s letter to Colonel Brodhead 606
and the &quot; new departure

&quot;

606,617
killing of Luke and four colored men in Saint Clair County ; attempt to drown

or hang Weir 609
raid on jail in Limestone County; whipping of William Bryant ; disturbances

in Morgan County ; killing of Fenelon Ruglen 61

killing of Judge Charlton GlO, Gil

whipping of a man and hanging of Smith in Lawrence County ill

killing of Mr. Barbee ; Mr. Lakm s house shot into 615

inefficiency of the judiciary 617,618
shooting of two men in Huntsville on the night of the riot Gl 8
John B. Callis elected to Congress by aid of the Freedmen s Bureau 620
condition of the country under military rule, and the provisional government.. 621, C-^2

origin of the Ku-Klux organization
- 622

divisions in the Methodist Church G , 3
cause of Colonel Van Valkenburg s dismissal from the Army 626, G27
Senator Warner s personal and public character G27
record uf the- evidence in the triul of H lsea.pple, Lindsay, and Mttlone G28-U35

Debt, .State 977-979,1055-1057,1411,1417,1418, M24
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De Kalb County, intimidation of voters in 1161,1191-1193
Dew, Henry, shooting of 1789, 1790, 1796

Diggs, Frank, killing of -.375, 393,394, 1050, 1325, 1328, 1329, 1433, 1439, 144U

Dinsmore, Joseph, shot at 756

Disabilities, probable effect of general removal of 560, 1181-1183, 1288, 1289, 1858
Dissatisfaction caused by bad government 817, 962, 964, 965, 968
DOCUMENTS appended to the testimony of General S. W. Crawford 1184-1242

instructions by General Terry to General Crawford 1 185

letter to Colonel J. H. Taylor, assistant adjutant general, Department of the

South, forwarding documents in the case of Dean Reynolds (colored) vs.

Ku-Klux 1185

appended : Report of Lieutenant Keller, note from Judge Ford, affidavit of

Dean Reynolds, and appeal of General Crawford to the governor of the

State; also, his excellency s reply thereto 1 185-1 167

reports regarding outrage upon George Moore and Robert Round tree, (colored,)
citizens of Alpine, Georgia 1187

appended: Affidavits of Cynthia Bryant, Rina Barry, (colored;) statement of

George Moore, (colored,) affidavit of Joshua L. Belote, (white,) and state

ment of John Hamilton, (white) 1188-1190

Captain G. H. McLoughlin reports arrival of Henry Evans, and statement

regarding skirmish between colored men and Ku-Klux 1190

Captain G. H. McLoughlin reports result of investigation of disturbances at

Vienna 1 190-1 1 9 1

Lieutenant M. Frank Gallagher reports regarding state of affairs in Greene

County, Alabama 1191

report regarding intimidation of voters 1191-1 192

appended : List of registered colored voters and votes cast in De Kalb County,
Alabama ; affidavits of John Stewart and Isadas H. Davis 1 192-1 1 93

Lieutenant Charles Keller s letter transmitting certificate of J udge Hunnicutt. . 1 1 93

appended : Certificate of Judge Hunnicutt certifying to the fact that no elec

tion was held in precinct No. 1, Cleburne County, fifth congressional district

of Alabama, and giving reason rendered by inspector therefor ] 193
Lieutenant Charles Keller reports the murder of a negro, and measures taken

to arrest the murderers 1193-1 J 94

Lieutenant Charles Keller reports outrage perpetrated by disguised men 1194
affidavit of Diana Williams concerning Ku-Klux outrages 1194-1195
affidavit of G. Cornelius concerning Ku-Klux taking arms, &c 1 J 95
letter of L. M. Douglas, judge of probate, requesting that troops be sent to

certain localities ; states that the civil authorities are unable to preserve the

peace 1195-1 196

affidavit of Daniel Vix concerning attack on his house HVG
statement of Deputy Sheriff Joseph Lee concerning outrages in Lawrence

County 1196-1197
affidavit of J. Sanford concerning the murder of Louis Campbell by disguised
men 1197

letter of J. P. Doyle, sheriff of Madison County, asking for military aid to

arrest certain murderers, &c 1197

Mulligan, E. M., makes affidavit regarding Ku-Klux outrage 1198
affidavit of Mary Campbell concerning the murder of her husband 1198-1 199

letter of Captain G. H. McLoughlin inclosing affidavit of Isham Henry .. ..1199-1200
affidavit of Samuel Mastin concerning robbery by Ku-Klux 1200
affidavit of Moses B. Sullivan, minister, concerning ill-treatment received from

Ku-Klux, (see testimony of A. S. Lakiu, page 146.)
affidavit of Henry Rivers regarding his being shot by Benjamin Evans 1200-1201
affidavit of W. C. Stephens concerning attempt to arrest W. M. Evans and

others 1201!

affidavit of N. Meeks concerning forcible entry of his house by Ku-Klux 1201-1202
affidavit of J. White concerning Ku-Klux outrage 1202j

petition of thirty-four citizens of Vienna for military protection for themselves

and property 1203J
petition of W. R. Huunicutt, judge of probate, and twelve other citizens of

Cleburne County, Alabama, for military protection 1203
letter of Robert Fearn requesting military protection for Vienna district 1204

affidavit of J. Leslie concerning Ku-Klux outrages 1204
affidavit of William Blair concerning Ku-Klux outrages 1204-1^05

S. W. Crawford s letter to assistant adjutant general, Department of the South,

forwarding documents A, B, C, and D, regarding disturbances in Blount

County 1207
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DOCUMENTS appended to the testimony of S. W. Crawford Continued.

appended : Letters from A. S. Lakin, A. B. Watson, William Shepard, and
F. W. White - 1207-1209

S. W. Crawford s letter to assistant adjutant general, Department of the South,
in regard to civil affairs 1209

appended : Letter of J. W. Haralson, in regard to civil affairs in Blount

County, requesting troops, &c 1209-1210

Lieutenant P. H. Flood reports result of investigation of disturbance at Ste

venson, Alabama 1210

Lieutenant Charles Harkins reports result of investigation of disturbance at

Somerville, Alabama 1211

S. W. Crawford reports regarding state of affairs at Jacksonville, Calhoun

County 1211-1212

Lieutenant Charles Harkins reports result of investigation into the murder of

Samuel Boyd, late solicitor of Greene County, Alabama 1212-1213

appended: Statements of Sheriff Cole, A. A. Smith, circuit clerk, S. B. Bown,
county assessor, copy of testimony before and proceedings of coroner s

inquest &quot;. 1213-1210
Lieutenant Charles Harkins reporting cause of disturbance at Eutaw,
Alabama 1216-12!?

Captain McLonghlin s report regarding disturbances at Stevenson, Alabama.. 1217

Lieutenant Gallagher s report regarding disturbances at Ashville, Alabama.. 1217-1211

appended : Affidavit of Charles A. Ritchey 121 9-1 220

Captain McLoughlin reports regarding outrage on J. McMaunan 122&amp;lt;&amp;gt;

Captain McLoughlin reports that his camp has been fired on ; civil law a dead
letter ; ex-Union soldier living in his camp for protection 1221

appended : Affidavit of Colomay Smith 1221

Captain McLoughlin reports regarding state of affairs at Ashville, Alabama. . . 1222

appended: Letter from Judge DeBerry requesting that the town be place]
under martial law. Affidavit of William Stavkey concerning Ku-Klux out

rages 1222

Captain McLoughlin reports regarding state of affairs in Saint Clair County.. 1223

Captain McLoughliu reports the shooting of Mr. Springfield 1223
Lieutenant Bateman reports regarding fight between negroes and disguised
men at Courtland, Alabama 1223-1224

appended : Statement of Mr. Baker ; joint statement of Messrs. Foster, H.
Baker, Mr. Phalen, and Mr. Simmons. Diagram of scene of action 1224-122*

Captain McLoughlin reports regarding the murder of Mr. Harrison 1229
Lieutenant Bateman reports regarding disturbances in Fayette County,
Alabama 1229

Lieutenant Bateman reports action in assisting civil Officers 1229-1 23

appended : Affidavit of F. M. Treadaway, sheriff of Fayette County, Alabama. 1230

Captain McLoughlin reports the shooting of Jessie Ingram 123&amp;lt;&amp;gt;

Judge Hnralson applies for troops for De Kalb County, Alabama 123!
S. Lawler and R. Barber, affidavits regarding disguised men 1231-1232
Frank Bell s affidavit regarding Ku-Klux outrages 1232
James Bell and Joshua Harris, affidavit regarding Ku-Klux outrages 123: .

H. G. Thomas, sheriff, reports that he rnu&amp;gt;t resign or suspend business 1233-1234
C. Hays, member of Congress, letters regarding murders, &.C., in Sinister,

Greene, and Tuscaloosa Counties, Alabama 1234

Judge DeBerry, requesting troops for Saint Clair County, Alabama 1234-1235
E. G. Barnes, requesting at least one hundred troops for Patona, Alabama. . . 1^3r&amp;gt;

W. S. McElwain, requesting troops for Patona, Alabama 123T&amp;gt;

J. McMannan s affidavit regaroing outrage on him 1235-123V
A. D. Bailey s, C. I. Sharp s, E. L. Hesierby s statements concerning dis

turbance at Cross Plains, Alabama *. J236-12&1-

S. Crawford, requesting garrison for Stevenson, Alabama 1238
Lucinda Ford s affidavit concerning Ku-Klux outrage 1239
D. L. Daltou, forwarding letter of W. B. Bowen J23 -

appended letter of W. B. Bowen concerning firing upon colored congregations . . 124&amp;lt;
:

telegrams to General Crawford from various parties 1 240-1242
Affidavit of Willie McGregor J24j

Documents referred to in testimony of John Van Valkenburg 801 -80V
Dorrnan, James, (Isaac,) whipping of 128,155,162-164,181,211,230
Dougherty, , killing of

yo&amp;lt;}

Dougherty, William, character of 10G4, 1005, 1070, 11 06. 110?

Dougherty, William, shooting of 1023, 1024, 1032, 1002, 1004, 106.&quot;.

II A
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DOUGHERTY, WILLIAM, testimony of 1022-1042
resident of Opelika, Lee County ; native of Georgia; lived at Tuskegee June,

1870 ; assistant marshal to take the census of Macon County 1022
a republican 1031

outrage upon J. H. Alston, (attempted assassination.) and its effect upon the

republican party of the county 1023, 1031

particulars of the shootiag of witness 1023, 1024, 1032

hung in effigy 1024,1037
thinks J. S. Smith was the man who shot him 1024, 1032, 1033

republican meeting in October, 1870, interrupted, and speakers insulted . .1024, 1027, 1034

, Zion church fired into; two negroes killed and five wounded 1021, 1025, 1034, 1035
no efforts made to ascertain the perpetrators 1025

nearly every colored church and school-house in the county burned in the fall

of 1870 1025,1026
relative&quot; party vote of Macon County 1026, 1028, 1030, 1039, 1040, 1041, 1042

insecurity felt by republicans ] 026
intimidation of voters 1026,1028,1035,1036, 1049

attempts to prevent republican meetings being held 1027
the democratic paper at Tuskegee reported several of these outrages, and

charged them upon republicans ; its tone as to Ku-Klux outrages 1028
case of James H. Alston, and his character and standing 1029, 1036, 1037
disclaims having made the statements testified to by Alston 1029, 1030
witness indicted and tried for murder of Timothy Davis, in 1868, and acquit

ted 1 1030,1031,1037,1039
J. H. Hodnett shot at for being a republican 1033, 1 034
has frequently received Ku-Klux letters ; their purport 1037
believes there was a Ku-Klux organization in Macon County in 1870 ; mani

festation of feeling on part of the democrats on account of his activity in

the election of 1870 1038

grand and petit juries generally composed of democrats 1035, 1 039

alleged causes for the burning of schools and churches 1039
contested-election case of Norris vs. Handley 1040, 1041

Douglass, , killing of 428

Douglass, Judge, as a carpet-bagger 781-783

DOX, Hon. PETER M., testimony of 428-462
resident of Huntsville since 1854 ; member of the present Congress and of

Forty-first Congress ; a fanner 428
reared in Ontario county, New York 454
execution of the laws 428, 453, 454

disguised men, bands of, &c 431,432,442,443,444,446,450,451,452,459
disguised men, purposes of . . 432, 444, 445, 451

disguised men, palliation of acts of 457
election laws 435, 453
freedom of political opinions 429, 430

negroes, promises made by radicals to 435, 445, 459, 460

negroes voting democratic ticket .. 434, 435

difficulty at Patona, (cross-roads) 428, 429, 445, 456
law of Congress in regard to Ku-Klux 458
no convictions for Ku-Klux outrages 458

killing of Ben. Snodgrass 428

killing of Bob Thompson 428

killing of Raglaud 428

killing of Douglass 428

killing of Cate 428,451
killing of James H. P. Wright 433,451
killing of Boyd, solicitor of Greene county 444

killing of Ned Larkin and brother 451

hanging of Luke 429, 445

shooting of Cox 432

shooting of Judge Thurlow 432, 442, 452

whipping of Mr. Harker 451

concerning Kev. A. S. Lakin, 430,433, 434,438, 439, 440, 446, 447,448, 449, 451, 458, 460

firing into house of Rev. A. S. Lakin 441

opposition to reconstruction, &c 435, 446

general amnesty 437, 455

rapes by negroes 446
taxation in A labama 461

concerning Union Leagues 432
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DRAKE, CHARLES L., testimony of 1545-1550
resilient of Demopolis. Mareugo county; register in chancery; was circuit

clerk ; was connected with the Freedmen s Bureau 1545

came to the State in April, I860 1550

was insulted at Linden by the crowd assembled to hear Dr. Jones speak ;

interruptions of the meeting while Dr. Jones was speaking 1546

character of Jones s speech ; the colored people at the meeting were quiet and

orderly 1 547

unfriendly feeling toward republican office-holders 1547, 1548
social ostracism ; unfriendly feeling toward colored schools ; whipping of

Neibling ; two school-houses and a church burned in Choctaw County : the

county, until within a year, exempt from cases of violence, but within the

year such occurrences quite frequent ; no one punished for outrages upon
the negroes ; riot at Shiloh ; Robin Westbrook killed ; riot at Linden, and

whipping of Neibling 1548

outrages common in Choctaw, Sumter, Greene, and Hale Counties; no earnest

efforts made to discover and punish offenders ; discrimination in the admin
istration of justice on account of color and political opinion; intimidation of

voters 1549

opinion as to whether the negro is fit to vote 1550

Danlap, Frank, identified by Reynolds -. 1186

Dunn, Mike, killing of 1360,1361,1365,1654,1901,1912,1913,1918
Dunn, Morris, identified by Fullerlove 1649

Dunn, Squire, driving off of negroes of 1 138

Duskin, George M., received Ku-Klux letters 1:295

ECHOLS, HOWELL, (colored, ) testimony of 957-9-10

lives in Himtsville ; presiding elder of the Methodist Church 957

details the history of the Methodist church over which he was pastor; its

building, transfer, &c 957-900

EDWARDS, DRURY RE UBEN, testimony of 1923-1 938
resident of Choctaw County 1923
statements of witness relative to his fox-hunt with Morris Dunn, accused of

whipping Robert Fullerlove 1923-1927,1930,193]
his knowledge of the Ku-Klux organization, their purpose, &c 19*27-1930,1932

Edwards, Nathaniel, killing of 102, 1919

Election laws, character and operation of 185, 166, 209, 239, 249, 250, 358, 367-3(59, 379,

380, 384, 402, 453, 503, 521-524, 555, 561, 965, 966, 972, 973, 1180, 18.-8. 18e9

Elections, character of 168] , 1 862, I 863, 1 957
for governor .... 181-184, 192, 193, 216, 217, 361

, 362, 376, 379, 396, 397, 497-501 , 511-518
frauds 1 1 50-1 1 52

,
1 462

Elkins, Wash, identified by Weir 1244

Emigration 1466,1656, 1712,1739,1951
ENGLISH, WILLIAM H., testimony of 1433-1441

conductor on the Selma and Meridian railroad for ten years 1433
native of Georgia 1436
was on the train when Diggs, a route-agent, was killed ; circumstances con

nected with the killing ; Robert Eustick tuld witness that he intended to kill

Diggs, and afterward that he had killed him 1433, 1439,1440
witness reported the facts to the post-office department in Selma, to the re

ceiver and superintendent of the road, and to the United States deputy mar
shal ; nothing done in the case 1433, 1434

the advice he gave Colemau, the successor of Diggs ; Coleman was threat

ened 1434,1435,1440
John Hardy, conductor, forced to give up his position by disguised men;

think they acted purely in the public interest 1436

negroes arrested in Sumter County by the Ku-Klux, the train stopped,

negroes put on board and taken to Livingston jail 1437
reasons for witness s discharge from the road 1 436, 1437

Loyal League and Ku-Klux organizations 1437, 1438
Meridian riot 1439

miscegenation 1441

Etheridge, J. S., shooting of 1676

Eustick, Robert, killing of Diggs by 14:53,1439, J440

Eutaw, liot at. .4, 5, 9, 10, 14, 15, 28, 29, 41
, 44, 45, 62, 80, 81, 96. 100, 101, 221, 261

, 268-271,
279, 281

, 284, 285, 296, 301. 302, 307-310, 312, 315, 317, 319, 327, 338, 340, 348,

349, 354, 423, 1 170, J784, 1964
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Eutaw, trial of rioters at 12,19,37,51,54,83,105 262,280,317,327,1410,1414,1840
Evans, Benjamin, shooting of Henry Rivers by J165
Evans, Prince, whipping of *. I45H
Evans, Willis Monroe, killing of 1 190
EzoU, Isham, killing of 1361,1364, 1655 J9I8
Ezell, William, killing of 1267,1869,1685,1901,1912,191: .

F.

FALKNER, JEFFERSON, testimony of 1114-1125
resident of Montgomery 1114
a lawyer !.. 1115
a democrat ; native of the South ; a minister of the Gospel ; was in the con

federate army Jl^l

shooting of Americus Trambles 1114, 1115, 1117, 1118
thinks diligent search was made to discover the perpetrators 1 1 15, 1 120
and that they were from Georgia 1116
Jdlling of a negro at political meeting in La Fayette, by the marshal.. 1116, 1123, 1224
character and standing of Trambles ; mixed churches 1 1 19, 1 120
no Ku-Klux organization in Chambers County; some disturbances in Talla-

poosa County, by disguised men, and their object 1121
social standing, &c,, of Mrs. Randall 1115, 1118, 1122, 1 123

Fayette County, strength of Ku-Klux in 547

negroes driven from 550
Ku-Klux operations in 1172, 1752
terrorism in 1294
convention of disguised men in 1763
whipped in : Mr. Fowler, Mr. Tidwell, Mr. Wooley 3.

outrages in : Sheriff Treadway killed in ; Rev. Mr. Johnson shot in ; Mr. Tra-
wick :

Fearon, Elliott, killing of 939
Feeling between whites and blacks . .252, 335, 353, 356, 371

, 550, 562, 909-9 11
, 976, 981, 982

1111, 1113, 1144, 1179, 1288, 1320, 1350, 1372, 1373, 1410, 1411, 1661, 1662, 1681,
1705, 1707, 1766, 1770, J995, 1960

toward northern settlers and radicals 841,842,884,936, 1374, 1422, 1542, 1547, 1548,
1858, 1920, 1979, 1980, 1992, 1993

toward United States Government 339, 353, 406, 768, 825, 826, 850, 85 1
, 1287, 1288,

1409, 1817, 1824-1827, 1850, 1859, 1864, 1865
FE NDERSON, SHEPERD, (colored, ) testimony of 1 395-1 405

lives in Marengo County ; a farmer ; killing of Robin Westbrook 1395, 1404
Mrs. Westbrook s views as to who killed him, &c 1 395-1397, 1403
character, standing, &c. ,

of Westbrook 1 397, 1 398, 1400, 1403, 1404

general opinion that the cause of his death was the beating of Dr. Smith in a

lawsuit; thinks Dr. Smith was not shot at, and his reasons therefor .. .. 1398, 1399,

1400, 1403

negroes whipped and made to confess the shooting ] 398, 1 399, 1404
cause of Dr. Smith s lawsuit ; he was believed to be in the raid upon West-
brook 140J

Richard Lewis whipped 1399, 1402, 1404

general opinion that the boys in jail for firing on Dr. Smith were innocent, and
that Lewis gave their names to save his further whipping 1402

intimidation of complainants 1404
intimidation of voters 1404, 1405

Few, Ignatius A., raid on house of 1081,1100-1102,1144,1147-1149
FEW, IGNATIUS A., testimony of 1080-1085

resident of Opelika, Lee County : a butcher; lived in Russell County ; was
a teacher there of colored schools 1 080

native of Georgia 1083
his house attacked July 19, 1869 ; twenty-two stones thrown through the win

dows, and room fired into several times ; was afraid to call upon the sheriff

and county solicitor, because he believed they weie in sympathy with the

attacking party ; thinks the object of the assault was to break up the school
and get him out of the way 1081

his republicanism the cause of the outrage 1081, 1084
thinks the citizens were opposed to colored schools ; intimidation of voters ;

was frequently threatened 1082, 1083
names of the parties who, he thinks, attacked his house 1083, 1084

they are all democrats ; left Russell county on account of apprehension of

danger . . . . 1084

charged with trying to create social equality . ! 1081, 1084, 1085
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Finances, State and county 962,963

Finley, Mr., killing of 1751, 1768,1852,1971,1072
Force, Lewis D., testimony in trial of Patona rioters as to Ku-Klux 79,9*2,96,100,465,

467, 468, 473, 474, 482, 484

Fletcher, , shooting of 1284, 1482

Ford, Lucinda and family, outrage upon 1173, 12, jJ

Ford, William, whipping of 680,681,928
FORD, WILLIAM, (colored, ) testimony of 679-686

lived in Madison County in the fall of 1868 679
was in the Army three weeks 680

whipping of witness by disguised men 680, 681

whipping of George Lawler for being a republican 681

whipping of Wesley Vincent ; no one ever punished for these whippings ;

intimidation of voters 682
colored people nearly all deprived of their fire-arms 683

Loyal Leagues, operation, teaching, &c.
,
oi 683-680

FORNEY, WILLIAM H.
, testimony of : 462-492

resident of Jacksonville for thirty-five years; lawyer by profession; counsel
for persons charged with being engaged in the murders at Cross Plains or

Patona 4C2
execution of the laws 462, 479

disguised men, bands of, &c., 462,466,471,472,474,475,476,477,478,479,480.
481, 483, 485, 486, 487, 488, 489, 490

disguised men, whippings by 475, 476

disguised men, character of members of bands of 480

difficulty at Patona or Cross Plains.
^

462-472,481-485
difficulty at Patoua, testimony of Lewis M. Force in trial of 465, 467,

468, 473, 474, 482, 484

hanging of William C. Luke 465, 470, 471
,
483

outrage upon Crook 475, 487
no punishment inflicted for Ku-Klux offenses 479

negroes in disguise committing offenses 488

negroes voting democratic ticket .1 468, 480
\ negro suffrage 492

-\lconceruiug Freedmen s Bureau 477

r.^n^p.ing T
T

} n&amp;lt;&amp;gt;ii j^-igu^ 475. 4^7

Fowler, Mr., whipping of 549

Frances, Mr., killing of 136

Frankenham, Mr., killing of 197 1

Frederick, Caesar, killing of 77
Freedman s Bureau, eifect, 5cc., of 357, 371

, 390, 477, 1 132
Friend. David, identified by Blair 676

Fuller, John, struck in face with club 1239
FULLERLOVE, ROBERT, (colored, ) testimony of 1649-1 660

resident of Choctaw County 1649
votes the radical ticket all the time 1 653
details of whipping and outrage upon witness by Charley Bran and Morris

Dunn, while on his way to testify before the committee, in obedience to its

subpoena 1649-1651. 1658,1659
his house fired into February, 1 87 1 1651

, 1652, 1 659, 1 660
details of second attack upon his house in April 1652, 1653, 1656, 1659
threats made against him ; has been lying out at nights since April 25 1653
was promised protection if he would vote the democratic ticket 1654, 16(10

Mike Dunn killed, October, 1871, and Abe Lyons 1654
Thomas Rogers killed, June, 1871 1554, 1655
Isam Ezell and another killed, September, 1871 ; school-houses and churches

burned 1 655
intimidation of voters 1655, 1656
is afraid to return home ; thinks of going to Kansas : all the people in the

neighborhood fixing to go 1656
court-house shot into in April ; the court adjourned and none held since 1657

signs a card to obtain protection 1660

Gallagher, Lieutenant M. Frank, reports of 1161, 119J

Gardiner, Amos, whipping of 862

Gardiner, Major, whipping of brother of , 864
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GARDINER, MAJOR, (colored, ) testimony of 862-864
born in Madison County 862
his house fired into by disguised men ; Martin Bush, Simon Bush, and Amos

Gardiner whipped
guns taken from the negroes ; was compelled to leave home 862, 863
ordered to vote the democratic ticket 863
several negroes driven from home ; witness s brother twice whipped 864

Gardner, Judge, shooting and whipping of 527

Gardner, Tom, whipping of 1998

GARRETT, JAMES J., testimony of 1475-1491
resident of Hale County 1475
was an old-line whig ; was in the confederate army ; opposed secession ; native

of North Carolina 1489

character and standing of Blackford, probate judge 1475, 1484, 1485, 1486, 1490

Blackford &quot;would sometimes give one account and sometimes another of his

being visited by disguised men, and assign different reasons therefor 1475, 1486

one was that the friends of Hutchinson, his predecessor, wished to drive him
from office, that Hutchinson might obtain it ; the majority of the community
inclined to this opinion 1476

Blackford administered his office for a time under the direction and advice of

witness 1476, 1477

details of the tausaction which resulted in the selling of Blackford s property,
and his resignation from office 1477

does not think the committee compelled Blackford to leave, or that he needed
to be under any apprehension of personal violence 1477, 1478

never knew any one molested on account of his politics 1478, 1483

Orlando Charles s house shot into ; his wife wounded, and he narrowly escaped

being killed ; this outrage alleged to have been done by negroes on the insti

gation of Blackford : 1478,1479
Aleck Webb, colored, killed, in 1867, by John C. Orick ; a riot followed, the

negroes scouring the country in pursuit of Orick
;
Mr. Gewer captured by

them and brought before Judge Blackford ; Orick left the State 1479

killing of Harvey McCann, colored, in Perry County ; attempt to release Pey
ton McDonald from jail by a band of disguised men 1480

attempt to take a colored man from the Marion jail 1480, 1481

Mrs. Nutting s house fired into 1481

negro found dead near Hollow Square ; Mr. Monette s house fired into ; sup
posed to have been done by negroes ; negro praj-er-meeting

1 fired into and one
of the parties wounded 1482,

the raid upon Judge Blackford 1 483, 1 484

McGrary released from jail 1484, 1491

Blackford was a disturbing element in the community, and the people sought
to get rid of him ; the main consideration in the purchase of his property
was to get him away 1486

thinks he would have staid had it been left entirely to him ; condition of the

purchase of his property, that he should resign and leave : 1 487

object, &c., of the Ku-KJux Kian 1487,1488,1489

republican officers generally in bad repute

general conduct and behavior of the colored people 1489, 1490

official conduct of Judge Blackford investigated by a committee ; their report

satisfactory 1490

Geary, Andrew, killing of 1092-1094

Gewer, Mr.
,
arrested by negroes 1 479, 1499, 1522

Gibson, Frank, identified by Weir 653, 654, 695

Gibson, Isaac, killing of 942

GILES HENRY, (colored,) testimony of 1009-iOlG
went by the name of Garrett, when registered 1009

has lived in Montgomery since Christinas ; did live in Nixburg beat, Coosa

County ; deacon in the Baptist church 1010

the white men in the beat said we were too strong republicans, and that the

church would be burned ; intimidation of voters 1010, 1015

church burned January 1, 1871, by disguised men 1010, 1011, 1014

shooting of Ben Renshaw, same date ; Wiley Williams (colored) whipped; Aleck

Sheely (colored) whipped, Tallapoosa County ; Big Maxwell whipped 1011

Green Sturdeway and Jerry Webb whipped ; all these were whipped because

they voted the republican ticket 1012

witness afraid to return home, as the Ku-Klux threaten they will kill him. 1012, 1014, 1015

all his property taken during his absence

Smith Watley whipped for being a republican 1015, 1016

Dick Martin, Joseph Baker, and John Baker whipped J016
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Gill, Joseph, whipped and shot at 812,814,918,922
GILL, JOSEPH, (colored,) testimony of 812-815

lives in Arkansas; fifty-one years old ; a slave before the war 814

whipped bv Ku-Klux two hundred lashes and shot at t^yice, in Madison county
in 18(58 ; compelled to leave home 812, 814

his house visited in 1868 and 1869 and searched for guns ; leaves for Arkansas ;

made two crops there; returned to Alabama six weeks ago to collect some

money due ; disarming of the negroes by disguised men 813
kinds of disguises worn 813
stories told the negroes by the Ku-Klux 812,813,814

GILLESPIE, JOHN C., testimony of 1602-162t

resident of Livingston, Sumter County : clerk in the probate court ; is the oldest

inhabitant, 1602 ; voted for Seymour and Blair 1620
raid upon Dr. Choutteau s house, and the killing of Coblentz 1602, 1603,1604

alleged improper influence exerted by Dr. Choutteau; his teachings and char
acter 1602, 1603, 1608, 1609

Jasper and Zeke High taken from jail and killed 1604, 160;&quot;

the community powerless to prevent these outrages 1 605
Ku-Klux organization, its extent, &c 1606, 16K!

whipping of Adam Kennard 1606

killing of Richard Burk ; George Houston shot J60?

scalawags not held in high estimation 1609
Isaiah Hunter (colored) shot and burned in his house J609, 1610

Judge Smith s character as judge, and the prejudice against him 1610-1(512

his mill, gin-house, fences, and bridges burned 161 1

the failure to convict in Ku-Klux cases arises from the difficulty in ascertaining
the parties and the danger to witnesses 161 3

Powers or Powell (colored) and an Englishman whipped and shot ; colored

school-houses burned ; general behavior of the negroes 161 4

killing of Collins in an alleged Ku-Klux raid : riot in Livingston, August, 1870,
and political meeting dispersed 1615

character of Mr. Price, who called this meeting 1615, 1616
social proscription on account of teaching colored school 1616

interruption of a meeting at Livingtou, 1870, addressed by Ex-Senator Warner
and Ex-Governor Smith i 1617

the mass of the colored people republican; no attempt to canvass the county
by republicans ; it was hazardous for the congressional candidate to come
there and speak 1618

falling off of the vote from 1868 to 1 870 ; causes thereof 1 6 ! 9

Gilmore, Mr., implicated in the killing of Thomas 1(572

Gilmorc, W. J., burning of house of 1627

Gilmore, W. J., as county superintendent of Choctaw County 1875, 1876, 1879-1881

GLOVER, BENJAMIN M., testimony of 1868-1897
resident of Mount Sterling, Choctaw County; probate judge : appointed May

10, 1871 ; was previously a lawyer; was a whig, and opposed secession 1868
now a democrat 1 876
member of the legislature before the war 1877

justice of the peace and coroner 1895
the people of Choctaw County law-abiding 1 868

resignation of the sheriff . 1868, 1869, 1891

killing of Abe Lyon in 1871 1868,1869, 1882,1883,1887, 1897

killing of Rogers, Ezell, and Lem. Campbell 1809, 1885
no intimidation of colored republican voters ; democratic negroes ; one mobbed

for voting the democratic ticket 1869, 1 879, 1888
the county and judicial officers who were elected in 1868 1 870, I88&amp;lt;

a

character of Judge Hill as to his efficiency as an officer 1871, I860

investigation of the accounts of Alexander Hill, treasurer ; burning of the

records of the probate court and of the circuit court ; universal opinion that

the fire was caused by parties interested in destroying the evidence against
them 1871, 18^0

Ku-Klux notice to Judge J. Q. Smith, warning him not to hold court .1871, 1872, 188!)

Judge Luther R. Smith s mill and gin-house burned 1872, 187 -)
&amp;gt;

witness s gin-house burned 1873, 187?
effort to discover the murderers of Abe Lyon ; resolutions adopted at a meet

ing to suppress lawlessness, and a band pursuing marauders 1873, 1883, 1886
sheriffs of Choctaw County, and their character as to efficiency 1873, 1874
character and actions of Robert Fullerlove 174, 1877, 1878, 1879
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GLOVER, BENJAMIN M., testimony of Continued.

concerning W. J. Gilmore, superintendent of schools of Choctaw County 1875,1876
1879,1880,1881

standing:, &c., of Judge Smith 1878, 1879
the holding of a plurality of offices ; negro killed below Mount Sterling 1882

killing of Mr. Thomas, and trial of Judge Morris, charged with his killing.. .1883, 1884

1885, 1895, 1890
knows of no white man having been punished for be ing concerned in the whip

ping or killing of negroes 1 886
Ku-Klux organization, its extent, &c 1887, 1890, 1893-1897
election laws and their operation 1888, 1889
church in which school was held burned 1889

opposition to negro suffrage 1889, 1 890
education of negroes 1889
Union League, its extent, &c 1890, 1895

Judge Hill notified to resign, and the shooting of him 1891
a county convention called, which passed resolutions requesting the officers to

resign 1891,1892
meeting of the bar, and its action ; resignation of the judge 1892

GLOVER, PEARSON J., testimony of 1338-1351
resides in Marengo County ; a planter; native of the State ; non-resident of the

State for nine years 1338
was in the confederate army 1348
Mr. Neibling, teacher of a colored school, whipped, April, 1871, by disguised men ;

witness resented it as an indignity to himself and issued notice to the attack

ing party, addressing it to them personally, through the newspapers, saying
that he would keep Neibling at his house ; that he should not leave, and that

any man who came to molest him would be killed 1338
received a notice that if he did not take back what he had said, he would be vis

ited ; Mr. Neibling continued teaching until July, then returned home at

the solicitation of his mother 1339
believes that Marschalk, who was afterward killed by Mr. Burney, was one of

the attacking party 1 340

county appropriation to railroad voted 1340, 134 1

question of location of co\irt-house ; charges that W. B. Jones, State senator,
was bribed 1341

reasons for Neibling s whipping 1340, 1341, 1342
statement of W. T. Neibliug, as published in the Exponent 1342-1343
his card as originally published in the Marengo Journal 1 344

political course of W. B. Jones 13^5,1346,1347,1349,1350
extract from the Tuscaloosa Monitor, and the character of its editor 1347, 1348
thinks the disturbances which exist are caused by the teachings of such men

as Jones 1349

hostility between the races 1 350
conduct of the freedmeu since the war unprecedentedly good 1351

Godfrey, Danger, cutting off the ears of 1 736

Goldthwaite, Zack, whipping of 1007

Goodloe, Calvin, character of 595-59?

GOODLOE, JOHN CALVIN, testimony of 636-64 V

resident of Colbert County 636
character of William Henderson 636
his investigations in the Henderson case 636-638

whipping of Jordan Wright and his expulsion from home 638, 639
effect of Ku-Klux outrages upon labor ; the negroes did not generally vote at

the last two elections 639
no conviction of Ku-Klux ; education of negroes ; Ku-Klux disbanded ; the

laws executed 640

Goshe, Adam, shooting of 1 092-1 094

GOULD, J. McKEE, testimony of 1637-1845
resident and native of Greene County ; assistant superintendent and civil

engineer of the Alabama and Chattanooga Railroad ; a farmer 1 837

was in the confederate army 1840
condition of county quiet and peaceable 1837, 1839

negroes voting the democratic ticket 1838

concerning Ben. Leonard s recantation of his republicanism ; no intimidation

of voters 1838,1839

great amount of stock-stealing 1839, 1844, 1845

killing of Guilfbrd Coleman 1839,1842,1844
trial of the Eutaw rioters ... 1840
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GOULD, J. McKEE, testimony of Continued.

whipping of Amos Blakely, colored, 1871 1840,1841

killing of Sam. Caldvvell ; negroes killed 1841

killing of Mr. Boyd 1842,1844
Ku-Klux organization, its extent, &.c 1842, 1843,1844
tone of the press relative to the Ku- Klux 1843, 1844

character of Ben. Leonard ; no one punished for outrages upon colored people. 1844

Government, United States, feeling toward .339, 353, 406, 768, 825, 826, 850, 85 1
, 1287, 1288,

1409, 1817, 1824-1827, 1850, 1859, 1864, 1865

Granger, Alfred, killing of 375

Grattau, Mr., killing of 1634

Greathouse, , killing of 417

Green, Philip, burning of house of 1285, 1520

GREEN, THOMAS U., testimony of - 870-871
native of Madison County ; lives in Huntsville ; member of all the grand

juries since the war, except the last ; was a member iu November, 1869, of

the jury of which Judge Charlton was foreman 870

upward of thirty indictments found by that jury, perhaps half for illicit dis

tilling, others for homicide ; the parties indicted not brought to trial 870

Greene County, outrages in
^ 1161, 1191

election, statistics oi&quot; 1461

Ku-Klux operations in 1790
free expression of political opinion in 174, 280, 281

, 304, 338

people of, not opposed to reconstruction 311

outraged iu, Lucy Breathitt, Mr. Cockrell, Carr Davis, Nelson Harris, Judge
William Miller 5.

killed iu, Samuel Boyd, Sam Caldwell, James Carpenter, John Carpenter,
Guilford Coleman, Sam Coivin, Nelson Harris, James Martin, Henry Miller,
Mr. Palmer, Samuel Snoddy 11.

*shot in, Henry Dew 1.

whipped in, Amos Blakely ; Choctaw Joe, Rev. Mr. Hill, Littleton Hood 4.

Greensiborough, interruption of meeting at 1453

Griffin, Scott, whipping of 1194

H.

Hale County, election statistics of 1279, 1280

outraged in, Mr. Blackford, Mr. Chapman, Mr. Clause 3.

killed in, Alexander Webb J.

shot iu, Orlando Charles s wife, Mr. Fletcher 2.

whipped in, Handy Hardiwick J.

Hale. Judge, raid on house of 729
HALE, SAMUEL A., testimony of 1812-1835

resides near Livingston, Sumter County, and has been in the State nearly
thirty-five years ; has been a lawyer 1812

a republican and a Union man 1813
native of New Hampshire ; a brother of John P. Hale 1820

discussion, in sub-committee, as to the admissibility of the letter of witness to

Senator Wilson on the condition of the country 1812-1814
character of the men composing the constitutional convention and of the elec

tion at which they were returned 1815, 181(5, 1819, 1826

character, standing, &c., of Sheriff Beville 1615, 18J9, 1825, 1826
causes of discontent 181(5

carpet-baggers 1816, 1828
Ku-Klux organization, its extent, &c 1816, 1817, 1820, 1821, 1822, 1823, Ib24

outrage upon Mr. Choutteau 1816, 1817, 1821

killing of Coblentz; witness shot at 1617
more hostile feeling against the North and the Government to-day tban there
was during the war 1817, 1824-1827

chaiacter. &c.,of Daniel Price 1816, 1817, 1818,18^5
character of the speeches made to the colored people 1818

character, standing, &c., of Tobias Lane, the Cecils, Major Pierce, and
Rolfe 1818,1819,1825

intimidation of officers and judges 1819, 18^0, 1829

negroes killed ; killing of Richard Burke 1821

negro whipped 1821, 1822
no one punished for outrages ; the courts a farce and a sham 1822
intimidation of voters 18J2, 1829, 1830
social proscription 1822, 1823, 1825
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HALE, SAMUEL A., testimony of Continued.
his views on negro suffrage 1822
character, standing, &,c., of Mr. Hays 1824, 1825
the State convention of 1805 was in the hands of the rebels ; that of 3867 or

1868 in those of the carpet-baggers 1820

probable effect of general amnesty ] 827

politics of Sumter County officials ; composition of juries 1828
action of the joint committee on the admissibility of his letter to Senator
Wilson 1 830

letter to Senator Wilson, dated January 1, 18G8 3830-1 834
Senator Wilson s reply 1834-1835

Hall, Isaac, whipping of 415, 4 Hi

Hall, William, killing of 77
HAMLIN. HE&-RY. (colored,) testimony of 857-859

Fives in Madison County 857

particulars of his whipping and that of three others 857, 858, 859
manner of whipping 858
the stories told them by the Ku-Klux 857, 859

they are ordered to vote for Seymour and Blair 859

Scrugg s house broken into and his money stolen 857, 859
Hardiwick, Handy, whipping

r
of 1984, 1991

Hardy, John, forced to resign his position 1430
HARGROVE, WILEY, (colored,) testimony of 1993-1996

lives on Mr. Eggleston s plantation, five miles from Columbus, Mississippi ;

is a cripple 1993

whipping of witness and wife in Pickens County. November, 1870 1993, 1994
his whipping political 1993, 1995
manner of whipping ; was ordered to leave, and left ; Samuel Lowe (colored)
w hipped ] 994

whipping of Bob Stocksville, Dock Johnson, and Henry Lowe 1995

Hargrove, Wiley, and wife, whipping of 1993, 1994, 1998, 2001
,
20UO

Harker, Mr. , whipping of 451

Ilarlan, Bud, identified by Weir 695

Harper, William, whipping of 140, 167

Harris, Berry, killing of 77

HARRIS, JOHN G., testimony of 1587-1602
resident of Livingston, Sumter County ; a lawyer 1587
native of the State ; was in the confederate army ; was a candidate for Congress

in opposition to Mr. Hays 1588
Dr. Blackford was a surgeon in the confederate army ; was tried by court-mar

tial and dismissed the service 1588, 1589
a large number of colored people voted the democratic ticket ; no intimidation

of voters on either side 1588, 1592

whipping of Adam Kennard, (colored,) alleged by him to have been done by
Daniel Price and some negroes 1589

politics of the sheriff, and of Kennard, his deputy 1589, 1590
the practice of holding a plurality of offices in the State 1590, 1591, 1597, 1598
election statistics of Sumter County 1591, 1592, 159,3
Zeke \Villiams taken from jail and killed 1593, 1594
Prater released from jail ; no earnest attempt made to arrest the perpetrators.. 1594
Dr. Choutteau s house visi ted and Coblentz killed 1594,1595,1598
burning of Dr. Choutteau s house ; shooting of George Houston 1595

Danger Brown (colored) whipped, and his ears cut off by W. R. Thomas ..1595, 1596

Jasper (colored) taken from jail, hung, then shot 1596

killing of Richard Burk 1596, 1 597
Charles Brown, (colored,) whipped, 1871 1557
Ku-Klux organization, its extent &c . 1599, 1600

outrages have been going on in the county since 1867 1599
no one has been punished for any of these Ku-Klux outrages 1600
failure to hold terms of court when appointed 1600, 1601

Harris, Nelson, killing of \ 272
Harrison, Frank, killing of 1172, 1229
Harrison, Mr., whipping and killing of 678
llarroll, R. D., information of Ku-Klux obtained from, by Taylor 1126, 1130

Hart, Dudley, killing of 1001,1002
Hartley, Monie, and son, shooting of 416,422
Hatch, C. W., received Ku-Klux letters 1295

HATTER, JAMES D., testimony of 1933-1940
resides near Pelham, Clioctavv County 1933



INDEX. XXVII

Page.
HATTER, JAMES D., testimony of Continued.

private in the confederate army
was a .slave-bolder 1939

knows Charles Bran and Morris Dunn ; neither of them were at Blade s Bluff

on Monday night last : no negro called there that night ; Robert Fullerlove

not beaten 1933,1039

geography of the country from Tompkinsville to Livingston 1933-1935, 1939

negroes killed in Choctaw County
concerning witness s knowledge of the Ku-Klux and their operations 1935, 1937

sentiment as to negro schools and negro suffrage 1938

Haughey, Thomas, killing by Collins of 173

Hawkins, Thomas, struck with pistol 1 166, 1 167, 1202

HAWKINS, THOMPSON C., testimony of 13-24-1333

resident of Greene County; a farmer; was a mail-route agent; held the

office five days ; resigned ; was a democrat until the war ; voted the repub
lican ticket in 1808 ; was ostracized entirely - 1324

killing of a route-agent (Frank Diggs) on the Selma and Meridian road. 1325, 1328, 13:29

accepted the appointment of agent after consultation with Morgan and Jolly,

lawyers in Eutaw
was threatened by Mr. Long, sub-route agent 1325, 1330, 1331, 1332

consulted Mr. Morgan and others, and was advised to give up his office, and
come outina card quitting the republican party ; did so, and it was published
with the editorial comment,

&quot; We gave a black recantation of radicalism

last week ; this week a white one ; but we fear that radicalism is a disease,

and unless the blood is all let out, the disease will remain therein&quot; 1326

Ben Lemon (colored) came out in a card and renounced his radicalism ; state

ments concerning Lemon s arrest, and his meeting with disguised men 1327

Mr. Clark received a Ku-Klux notice, and left ; Arthur Smith received on&quot;,

and left ; whipping of Choctaw Joe ;. a republican not safe iu advocating his

sentiments 132^

no one arrested for the murder of Frank Diggs, the mail-route agent 1329

Sheffield s colored school discontinued, and the cause therefor 1329, 1330

HAYS, Hon. CHARLES, testimony of J2-25, 1835-1837
resident of Greene County 12,1 835
member of Forty-first and Forty-second Congresses. -^f\ 1~

native of Greene County 15,2-1

major in confederate army 22

disguised men, operations of 13, 1(5

disguised men, leading citizens opposed to

riot at Eutaw, Greene County 1 415
riot at Eutaw, persons tried for 12,19
no punishment inflicted for KuvKlux outrages 17

difficulty iu procuring testimony 13, 16, 17, 21 , 23

beating of Mr. Cockrell IL
, 19,20,23,24

killing of Alexander Boyd, solicitor 12, 13

killing of Gilbert Coleman, (colored) 13

difficulties in Choctaw County 16

Judge Luther R. Smith notified to resign 16
freedom of political opinions 16, 20, 23

general amnesty 16, 21, 22

effect of Ku-Klux law of Congress K&amp;gt;

riot at Livingston, August 13, 1870 1835, 1836, 1837
whites and blacks both armed at the meeting at Boligee 1835, 1836

negroes were armed for self-defense only ; made no canvass of Sumter County,
because it was unsafe ; no republican in the State can make a speech in

Pickens or layette Counties 1830

Hays, Dick, whipping of 1 194

Hays, G. \Y., character, standing, c^c., of 1663, 1664, 1689, 1690, 1706, 1714, 1824, 1825,

1956-1958, 1963

HEALY, ROBERT W., testimony of 1155-1 1;&quot;6

United States marshal for the southern district of Alabama 1 155
has had several conversations with Judge Busteed relative to Ku-Klux oi;trages,

in one of which the judge said, &quot;If it were not for me, a republican could not

live in the State
&quot;

1 155, 1 156

Henderson, William, attempt to drown 540, 557, 558, 577-581
, 583, 584, 636-638

character of 636

HENDERSON, WILLIAM, (colored, ) testimony of 576-590
lives in Huntsville ; lived last August at Mr. Calvin Goodloe s, Colbert County ;

is married 576



XXVIII INDEX.

Page.
HENDERSON, WILLIAM, (colored,) testimony of Continued.

details of outrage upon him by disguised men, and their attempt to drown
him 577-581

, 583, 584
character of the disguises worn 579

recognizes three of the party 579, 580

previous difficulty with some of thorn 581
,
582

the parties arrested, tried before the United States commissioner, and ac

quitted 582, 583, 584
alibis proven 568
accounts between witness and Mr. Malone 589, 590

Hendricks, Essex, killing of 77

Henry, Isham, whipping of J 164, 1 1 99, 1200

HERE, BENJAMIN F., testimony of 1661-1719
resident of Livingston, Sumter County; has been an editor and publisher;

resident since 1865 ; born in Lancaster, Pennsylvania; removed to Missouri
in 1853, and resided there until 1861 16G1

was in the Missouri State guard 1683
entered the confederate service ; was editor and publisher of the Livingston

Journal, a democratic paper 1684
an anti-slavery man before the war ; was not opposed to slavery after he went

to Missouri t 1718
condition of the country after the surrender ; unsettled but peaceable ; cotton

seized by the Government 166 1

Captain Swift s advice to the colored people 1661, 1705
relations between the races 1661

,
J662

facts illustrating the good feeling between the blacks and whites; a perceptible

change in this feeling about the spring of 1867, caused by the influx of

carpet-baggers, and the organization of the Union League 1662, 1705

operations, &c., of the Loyal League. 1662, 1663, 1665, 1678, 1687, 1688, 1089, 1692, 1693

character, standing, &c., of Daniel Price, 13. F. Rolfe, and G. W. Hays, leaders

of the League 1663, 1664, 1689, 1690, 1706, 1714
letter of Tobias Lane, candidate for probate judge, to John B. Cecil 1664
character of George Houston 1664, J6(J5, 1688, 1690, 1691, 1703, 171 4

withdrawals from the League 1665, 1692, 1693
address of Sydeuham Porter 1665, 1666, 1691
extract from the Livingston Journal of August 5, 1870, relative to the disturb

ance at Belmont, resulting in the killing of Collins 1666, 1667
Gerard Cboutteau s version of the outrage upon him, as published in the Alabama

State Journal of December 17, 1868 1668, 1669

investigated the case with reference to the loss sustained by Choutteau, and
found it exaggerated 1669, 1693, 1695, 1697, 1698, 1711 .

details of the killing of Yankee Ben, colored 1670, 1671

killing of Mr. Binns by Jasper Alexander; the latter taken from jail and

hanged 1671

killing of N. E. Thomas, of Choctaw, June, 1868 1671, 1672, 170], 1702

Morse, Armfield, and Gilmore, implicated in the killing, tried by the military
authorities and acquitted ; Jerry Clark killing by Prater

;
Prater released

from jail 1672

killing of Dennis Pearl, colored, March, 1868 1672, 1675

killing of Cobleritz, August, 1869; verdict of the coroner s jury 1673

.testimony elicited during the inquest; wounding of George Houston 1673,1674
statement from the Livingston Journal in reference to the pursuit of the parties
who attacked Dr. Choutteau s house 1671

raid on George W. Houston 1674, 1702
Houston s threats to burn Livingston 1675, 1702, 1719

meeting of citizens called to give assurances to the negroes of protection

against outrages; a patrol organized in consequence; Mr. Beasley s house
fired into; killing of Isaac Hunter, (coloied,) April, 1870, and burning of his

house and bod} 1 675
Arnold Lee and two others arrested, and eventually dismissed 1675, 1676

shooting of J. S. Etheridge; whipping of a colored woman ; killing of Enoch
Boyd, colored, September, 1870 1676

Mr. Lovet whipped, February, 1871 ; Anthony Rogers, (colored,) killed by Harri
son Little; Mr. Stratton killed, July, 1867; Patterson killed by Mr. Bryan,
April, 1868; Mr. Scarborough killed by Mr. Morris, April, 1869; Hopper
killed by Boyd, January, 1870 ; Rogers killed by Meredith, April, J870... 1677

intimidation of voters on the part of the Union League 1678, 1682
election statistics of Sumter County 1678, 1679
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HERE, BENJAMIN F., testimony of Continued.

reasons for the falling off of the radical vote ; effect of the speeches of Ex-Gov
ernor Smith and Senators Parsons and Warner 1679

effect of A. W. Cockrell s speech 1680, 1661

presence of the Federal troops at the election precincts ; fair character of the

election ; general disposition evinced by the democratic party toward the

negroes since their investment with the rights of citizenship ; believes that

the acts of violence perpetrated against negroes or other republicans were not

instigated by the fact that they were republicans 1681

attempt to mob certain negroes for hurrahing for Seymour; disturbance in Liv

ingston, August, 1870 1682
has no knowledge of any fund being raised for the purchase of arms, &c., to

be used by a secret order, or of the existence of a secret order to suppress

supposed grievances, or of any combination with signs and pass-words to

punish offenders, intimidate voters, &c. ; enumerates the visits that he has

heard of in the county as having been made by disguised men 1685

general practice of the community to carry small-arms ; nothing in the condi

tion of society rendering the practice necessary ; it is against the law to carry
concealed weapons ; great destitution after the war 1686

a great deal of stealing was done 1686, 1717

manner in which the testimony given yesterday was prepared by witness 1689
character of Sydeuham Porter s speeches 1692
witness s investigation in the Choutteau case 1693-1698

practicability or non-practicability of obtaining evidence in case diligence and
earnestness were employed in tracking the perpetrators of outrages.. 1699-1701, 1716
1 TT 1.1 I* -I 11-111 -t.itl^ll- l-.lL--

Zeke High taken from jail and killed 1701, 171

knows of no case where even an arrest has been made
raid on Mr. Choutteau
number of homicides in Sumter County since the surrender

knows nothing of the Ku-Klux. oigauization ; does not believe there is or ever

has been such a thing- in the State.

has heard of such an organization in Tt-nnessee,

718
roi

(02

(03

ro4

ro5

707
708
709

ill-feeling engendered on the part of the negroes by their acts, such as assem

bling in aimed bodies, &c ............................................
their arming on election day ............................................ 170

reiterates his belief in the non-existence of the Ku-Klux order........... ...

carpet-baggers, and the effect of their interference in politics ; their appeals
and admonitions of a character that tended to create bad feelings between
the races ; negroes are as free to express their opinions to the white man as

a white man is to them ............................................... 1710

negroes not aggressive in character ; interruption of a meeting which Governor
Smith and others were addressing ..................................... 1711, 1712

does not think an open association with the democratic party by the negro
operates to protect him ; knows of no disposition upon the part of the negroes
to migrate, nor of any attempt to prevent them .......................... 1712

agrarian doctrines proclaimed by the leaders of the colored people ........... 1713
the inefficiency of State and county officers and the want of confidence in

them obstacles to the execution of law and a source of disorder .......... 1715, 1717
radical officers in the county and their character.......................... 3715, 1716
confidence of the people as to the integrity of the officers of the law greatly

impaired by the manner in which they obtained their offices ; colored labor

preferred to white as a general thing .................................... 17 i 8

High, Zeke, (see Williams, Ezekiel.)
Hildrtth, Reuben, whipping of ............................................. 1245, 1458

Hill, Judge F. M., notified to resign .............................. 189J, 1892, 1916-1918
Hill, Judge F. M., shooting of......... . .................. 50,103,1627, Ic91, J916-I916

HILL, FRANCIS MARION, testimony of................................... 1916-1922
resident of Choctaw county; a farmer; native of the State; was judge of

probate and county treasurer; now register in chancery ; appointed judge
by Governor Smith in 1869; held the office till May 10, 1871 .............. 1916

a whig before the war ; opposed secession till the State seceded, then went
with the State ; while in office affiliated with the radical party .......... 1917

voted for Seymour and Blair . . .......................................... ]9^2

resigned his judgeship, being threatened by anonymous letters ; shot at and
wounded in the arm, and his office shot into ....................... 1916, 19J7, 1918

character of these Ku-Klux letters ....................................... 1917

adjournment of Judge Smith s court and resignation of the sheriff: killing of
Abe Lyon. Tom Rogers, Isham Ezell, Mike Dunn, and Dud Woodward.. 1918
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HILL, FRANCIS MARION, testimony of- Continued.
killing of Nat Edwards ; effect upon the negroes of these murders and whippings 1919

intimidation of voters 1919, 1920

general feeling toward northern immigrants; negro schools and churches

burned ; public sentiment as to negro education. 1 920
Ku-Klux organization, its extent, &c 1920,1921, 1922

meeting held in the county, at which resolutions were passed calling on the

county officers to resign 1921

threatening notices posted on court-room door 1 921
,

1 922

character of Robert Fullerlove 1922

Hill, Rev. Mr., whipping and driving from home of 126,274
H imls, Dick, identified by Blair 676

Hinds, Ponv, identified by Blair 676

Hodnet, J.H., shooting at 1033,1034
HOLLEY, JOHN J. , testimony of - 11 35-1 144

resident of Dadeville, Tallapoosa County; a planter and farmer 1135

native of Georgia 1136

a republican; was disfranchised and his disabilities removed ,. 1141

sixty-two years old 1143

have had no disturbances in the neighborhood of the court-house ; has heard

of whites and negroes being whipped and of school-houses and churches being
burned by bands of disguised men, pretty much since the surrender ; first by
the Black Cavalry, then by the Ku-Klux 1136

extent, object, &.C., of the Ku-Klux organization 1136, 1137, 1138, 1139, 1142

politics had a good deal to do with these whippings, &c 1136, 1137,1139
intimidation of voters 1137,1139,1140,1142
effect upon the negroes of these visitations and whippings ; they have nearly

all been run off ; a great many good citizens desire to put the Ku-Klux down ;

no concerted action has been had ; many good men were afraid to act 1137, 1 139

Colonel Daniel Taylor s house burned, 1870 , Ii37

school-house and church burned ; Mr. Barnes receives a number of Ku-Klux
letters 1 138

Williams whipped arid killed for being a republican 1138,1142, 1143

Squire Dunn s negroes driven off 1138

lady teacher notified to abandon her school 1138, 1139, 1140

no earnest effort upon the part of the community to bring offenders to justice.. 1139

no prosecutions for Ku-Klux outrages ; more or less terrorism stili existing.. .

white man whipped 1143

Hellowell, George W., attacked and driven away by Ku-Klux 165-167,211,931,932

Holseapple, James, identified by Henderson 580

Hood, Littleton, whipping of 1789,1790, 1796

Hopper, Mr., killing of 1677

Horton, Benjamin, whipping of 119,740,741,773,986,987

HORTON, BENJAMIN, testimony of 738-744

lives in Blount County ; was in the rebel army
description of his dead-born child which resembled the Ku-Klux 738, 739

visited by the Ku-Klux 740

whipping of witness 740,741
Lewis Ketchum taken from jail, shot seven times, whipped, and then hung, by

a band of seventy-five disguised men; Ku-Klux order still in existence in

Blount County -

guns taken by Ku-Klux ; intimidation of voters and complainants

Horton, James, whipping of , 756,757,767,773

Horton, Samuel, raid on house of 729, 730, 732, 773

Horton, Samuel, character of 984,988,9-59

HORTON SAMUEL, testimony of 728-t38

lives in Blount County ; sixty-six years old ; native of South Carolina

visited by a band of Ku-Klux at house of J udge Hale
character of the disguises worn 729, 730

visited again by Ku-Klux in October, 1870 730

breaking up of a camp-meeting by disguised men; threats made against Mr.

Lakin - ....731,734,735

again visited and compelled to leave home with his family ; went to Georgia;
returned home three weeks ago ;

was again threatened

whipping of Lina McKinney ; Methodist preachers driven away
character of Mr. Lakin ; intimidation of voters

indicted for being an anti-Ku-Klux 735-738

Houses burned.... 1137, 1285, 1293 1419, 1519, 1520, 1533, 1269, 1595, 1611, 1627, 1643, 1872

1873, 1877, 1983-1985
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Houston, George W., shooting of.. .099, 1000, 1574, 1575, 1595, 1607, 1622, 1623, 1631, 1632.

1673, 1674, 1737, 1949, 1954 1964

Houston, George W, shooting of son of 999, 1000

Houston, George W., character, standing, &c*of.. . 1664, 1665, 1675, 1688, 1690, 1691, J702

1703, 1714, 1719

Houston, George W., raid on house of 1674, 1702

HOUSTON, GEORGE W., (colored, ) testimony of 997-1004

now staying in Montgomery 997

born in Alabama, and lived in Sumter County ; a member of the legislature ;

county registrar 998

a tailor; was a slave 1000

a republican 1003,1004

killing of Kichard Burke; shooting of Enoch Sledge; killing of Frank Sledge. 998,999

killing of Travis 999
details of shooting of witness, and his defense, August, 1869 ; he fires on the

attacking party ; wounding of his sou 999, 1000

eight or nine colored men killed in the county ; was forced to leave ; shooting
of Alfred Jolly, (colored ; ) white and colored population of Sumter Ceunty . . 1001

thinks Dudley Hart was the man he shot 1001
,
1002

no one prosecuted for shooting witness and son ; Jerry Clark shot dead by Mr.
Prater ; Prater put in jail and released by a mob 1002

Jerry and the others republicans ; no one punished for these outrages 1003

Hudson, George, identified by Blair 676

Hudson, Fitzhugh, identified \)y Blair 676

Hudson, Sim, identified by Blair 676

Huunicutt, Judge, statement of, relative to election in Cleburne County 1193

Hunter, Isaiah, (Isaac,) shot and burned in his house 1609, 1(510, 1675, 1737, 1744, 1949

Hunteville, riot in 599, 602, 614, 618, 785, 786, 818-821
, 834, 849, 854, 873-b75, 900-902,

910, 1 1(56

Hyman, Isaac, raid on house of 1044, 1045, 10&amp;gt;7

I.

Ingram, Jesse, drivin^ from home of : 1172. 1230
Intimidation of voters 1 ,*, 59, 310, 313, 391

, 398, 403, 419, 495, 496, 528, 534, 682^ 734,

743, 752,768, 769,777.859, 863,869, ,&quot;78, 917-919,921, 922,936,953, 955,957,1011 ,

1015, 1026, 1028, 1035, l036, 1040, 1046, 1072, 1078-1080, lOt-2, 1083, 1087, 1095, 1097,

1137, 1139, 1140, 1142, 1161, 1176, 1191-1193, 1280, 1290, 1321, 1302,1363,1404, 1405,

1429, 14:52, 1405, 1549, 1619, 1655, 16C6, 1678, 1682, 1725, 1726, 173&amp;gt;, 1739, 1741, 1742,

1744, 1759, 1763, 1775, 1779, 1782, 1783, 1790-1793, 1796, 1822, 1829, 1830, 1848, 1856,

1861,1862,1919, I92C

Intimidation of witnesses, jurors^ complainants, &c 32,3^,40,58,01,80,103,107,743,
1395, 1404, 1457, 1465, 1778, 1779, 1784, 1785, 1792, 1819, 1820, 1829, 1836

Irwin, Dr. William B. , shot Lee
Isham, shot and throat cut 1334, 1335

Ishani, (Ezell 1 ) shooting of wife of 1.335

J.

Jackson County, hundreds driven from 932
number of outrages in Io9

outraged in, Sir Daniel, John McManmau, Miles Prior, 3; killed in, Samuel
Cate. Mr. Douglass, Ned Larkin and brother, 4; shot in, Ned Larkiri s son,
Sam Lawler, 2; whipped in, Sir Daniel s brother, Mr. Harper, Mrs. Har
per, 3.

Jackson, Lewis, raid on house of 982, 983, 993-997

JACKSON, LEWIS, (colored, ) testimony of 982-983
lives in Huutsville ; had to move away from Stevebson ; was seized by the Ku-
Klux and put in the old block-house in Stevenson by Squire Burns ; block
house, broken up by Ku-Klux, and witness taken out and threatened with
death ; his release by soldiers 982

was in the Federal Army ; two outrages upon him by the Ku-Klux 983
JACKSON, SAM B., testimony of 1441-1447

a lawyer ; was judge of probate ; resident of Linden, Marengo County 1441
held an inquest over the body of Robin Westbroo.k, and took testimony as to

the cau.se of his death 1441
the testimony taken in the case 1442, 1443
no apprehensions of danger expressed by any of the witnesses ; never heard of
an instance of a peison being injured for testiiying in a case of this kind . .. 1443
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JACKSON, SAM I

1

,., testimony of Continued

disturbance at Linden while W. B.Jones was speaking 144,5, 1444, 144o

opinion as to whether the witnesses in the Westbrook case were under duress.1445, 1440

tin- persons present when the inquest ws held 1446, 1447

Jail in Limestone County, raid on
. I ;t -per, (see Alexander.)
Ji tVerson County, number of homicides in

JEFFRIES, ALGERNON SIDNEY, testimony of 1401-1504

resident of Greeusborough, Hale County ; merchant and planter 1491

a Union man 1492

a conservative 1498, 1499

details of the negotiation for the sale of Judge Blackford s property, and his

patton from office 1492,1498,1503,1504

killing of Alexander Webb by John Orick 1492

riot threatened 1492,1499

character, standing, &c., of Judge Blackford 1492, 1493, 1494, 1498, 1499, 1501,

1502, 1503

Judge Blackford pursued by soldiers ; he renounced his political views. 1492, 1499, 1500

Clause, a freedmen s agent, knocked down, and a negro ducked by Federal

soldiers 1493

knows of no instance in which the laws have not been executed 1494

raid on Judge Blackford, cause of, &c 1493,1494, 1495, 1696, 1497

raid on Mrs. Nutting s bouse 1495, 1496

McGarry released from jail 1495, 1 496

jail in Marion visited ; negro whipped 1496

attempt to release Peyton McDonald ; negro meeting shot into ; house of

Orlando Charles shot into and his wife wounded by negroes 1497

noattemprs to influence the political action of the colored people 1498

arrest of Gewer by negroes after the killing of Aleck Webb 1499

knows of no instance of the enforcement of the laws against any one concerned
in these acts of violence 15CO

Ku-Klux organization, its extent, &c.; its victims generally republicans 1503

Johnson, Andy, burning of livery stable of 1520

Johnson, Dock, whipping 1995,1998,2006
J...lmsoii, Henry, whipping of

W&amp;gt;9, 945, 950, 95:5, 954

JOHNSON, HENRY, (colored,) testimony of ? 953-9.&quot;6

lives on Mr Steele s plantation 953

whipped and shot at by the Ku-Klux 953, 954

negroes afraid to vote 955.
M is. Campbell whipped 956

JOHNSON, HENRY T., testimony of 1351-1354
lives with Major Glover ; a farmer 1351

Norwegian by birth ; was in the Federal Army 1352
details of visit by disguised men, and Mr. W. T. Neibling s whipping 1351, 1352
character of Mr. Neibling _

&quot;

13521

Mr. Glovers conduct in the affair generally approved 1353L

Johnson, Pink, identified by Weir 653, 654, 695
Johnson, Rev. William, killing of 128

Johnson, Robert, attempts to bribe James H. Alston 10 18*

Johnson, Robert, burning of work-shop of 1520

Jolly, Alfred, shooting of 1001
JOLLY, J. J., testimony of 264-297

native of Alabama, and resident of Eutaw, Greene County ; lawyer by profes
sion 264

colonel in confederate army 288*
execution of the laws 264*

disguised men, operations of bands of 265, 274, 275, 283, 284, 286, 287, 288
juised men, opposition to 284

riot at Eut aw *^, 209, 270, 271
, 279, 281, 284, 285, 296

riot at Eutaw, trial of persons for 280
opposition to reconstruction, &c 293
general amnesty 295

tor whipping negroes, & c 279
freedom of political opinions 280,281,285
negroes promised lands and mules . 282 285

i - \ i -ring i. -mot-rat ic ticket *283

difficulty
at Cross Plains, or Patona . 275 2^7

c. Mrerning Knights of White Camelia 292
concerning Union League 283,291
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negroes hung in Tuscurnbia oooouo 266

difficulty between Boyd and Bro\vn 266, 276, 282

killing of (Alexander) Boyd, solicitor 265, 266, 267, 273, 275,277, 279, 283

killing- of Samuel Colviu, (colored) 263, 266, 273

killing of Henry Miller, (colored) 265,277
killing- of Sam Caldwell, (colored) 265, 273

killing of Nelson Harris, (colored) 272

killing of Gilbert Coleman, (colored) 273, 277

killing
1 of Samuel Snoddy 265, 277

killing of James Carpenter 277
killing of John Carpenter 277,278
killing of Palmer 278
assault upon Rev. Mr. Hill 274
assault upon Cockrell 271, 281
assault noon Judge Miller 278
assault upon Burton 290

JONES, GEORGE, (colored, ) testimony of 1 388-1395
lives at Joel Lipscomb s, Marengo County ; native of the Slate 1388
colored man cut by John Beamer; pistols drawn on colored n:eu ; outrage
upon witness 1388

Rubin Westbrook killed 1389, 1391, 1 392, 1393, 1394
heard of the Ku-Klux whipping many negroes ; Sam White whipped ; colored
man beaten by Dr. Smith 1 389

Lewis, , whipped to make him confess who fired upon Dr. Smith. 1389, 1390, 1391

miscegenation 1390,1391
colored people are afraid of the Ku-Klux ; a good many left when Westbrook
was killed ; intimidation of complainants . 1395

Jones, William B., compelled to withdraw from canvass, 1304-1306, 1313-1315, 1317,1455,
1456, 1504-1509,1515, 1516

Jones, William B. , character, standing-. &c., 1315, 1316, 13id, 1339, 1341, 1345-1347,
1349, 1350, i:574, 1375, j:^l.

13&amp;gt;5, 1387, 1411, 1422, 1423, 1449, 1450, 1454, 1466, 1407,

1515, 1543, 1545, 1547
threats against 1052

JOXES, WILLIAM B., testimony of 1450-1475
a planter ; resident of Deniopolis, Marengo County ; native of the State ; in

I860 canvassed the district for Bell and Everett ; was in confederate army ;

was mayor of Demopolis 1450
his first republican vote was for the constitution in 1868; advocated its adop

tion in a public address; re-elected mayor ; is serving as State senator ; is a
candidate for the office of sheriff 1451

was chosen in 1868 as a Grant and Colfax elector; declined; advocated the

election of, and voted for, Seymour and Blair; was treated most cleverly;
came back to the republican party and free speech was denied him 1452

a slaveholder before the war : 1454
was interrupted and threatened while making a Fourth of July oration in Bel-

mont, Sumter County, 1870 1452

interrupted at Shiloh, Marengo County, and Greeusborough, Hale county,
1870 ; has appointments to fill, but is afraid to go, believing his life would
betaken 1453

particulars of the interruption at Linden October 7, 1871 ..1453, 1454, 1455, 1456, 1457,

1464, 1465
resolutions complimenting him passed bv a democratic convention, December,

1869 &quot;. 1454
facts relative to the charge of receiving compensation for his influence in the

reai oval of the county seat from Demopolis to Linden 1454, 1466, 1467

signed a card withdrawing from the canvass, and his reason for so doing.. ..1455, 1456
did not attend his appointment at McKinley, on the 14th, for the same reason

that he does not go there to-morrow, the 28th, from fear of being- killed. .. .1457, 1465
Richard Lewis whipped, to make him acknowledge shooting at Dr. Smith. . 1457, 1458
no earnest effort to find out who murdered Westbrook ; Prince Evans and

Hildreth whipped 1458
Dr. Neibling was visited a second time by the Ku-Klux ; he was prevented from

getting employment ; Robert Reid (colored) shot, Sumter County 1459
Richard Burke killed, Sumter Cor.nty, 1869 or 1870 ; Guilford Coleman killed ;

no punishments inflicted for these killings and whippings 1460
n disposition to arrest offenders ; the outrages are generally upon republicans ;

tone of the democratic, press as to these outrages ; nature, object, extent, &c.,
of the Ku-Klux organization : election statistics of Greene and Sumter Coun
ties 1 461

III A
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JONES, WILLIAM 15.. testimony of Continued.

it tiii-iv luul boon a tail ejection there the republican governor and members of

arc would have been elected ; republicans not safe in advocating
their principles publicly ; GOO republican votes lost by the polls not being

opened in McKinley .................................................. 1462

ela the charge of having made inflammatory speeches .................... 1463
:vs of witness s speeches ................................. 1463, 1464

intimidation of voters; social ostracism of republicans ; the fourteenth .amend

ment n cause of dissatisfaction ......................................... 1465

feeling oi insecurity among the colored people so great that he advised them to

migrate to Kansas ; emigration forcibly prevented ; discrimination in the ad

ministration of justice on account of color and political opinion; cases of

-; brook and Dr. Smith cited ........................................ 1466

charges of legislative corruption .................. - ...................... 1467, 1468
was tired on in Chickasabogue swamp ................................... 1453, 1468
knows now who it was. but declines to give his name ...................... 1468
afier discussion in the committee, discloses the name ....................... 1469

appendix to his testimony, being witness s letter printed in the Alabama State

.Journal, October 31, 1871 ............................................ 1470-1475
-. Mr., whipping of Amanda Childers by ....... 1722-1724,1733,1734,1950,1960,1961

Joy, .John, killing of. ..................................................... 1971,1975
Judiciary, character of the .......................................... 617, 6 18, 1411

,
141 2

J UDK1NS, OSCAR, ( colored, ) testimony of................................. 1042-1048
lives in Opelika, Lee County ; lived before in Chambers County ............ 1042
America Trambles killed by Ku-Klux, Chambers County, 1870, for boarding a

female teacher and being a republican ............................ 1042, 1043, 1047
school-house burned ; no arrests made ............................. ....... 1043
colored man killed at La Fayette, at a political meeting, by Bill Adams ____ 1043, 1044
several negroes arrested and put in jail .................................... 1044
house of Isaac Hyman shot into and a torch thrown on it by some one in a

torch-light procession, after the election of 1870 ........................ 1044,1045
John Ward s house shot into ........................................... 1045, 1046
numbers left Chambers County on account of the Ku-Klux ; whippings numer
ous the last two years ; intimidation of voters ; school-house and church
burned ; the whites opposed to colored schools .......................... 1046

schoolmistress driven off ; son of America Trambles shot ................... 1047
8, character, composition, &c., of---- 53,93,555,751, 1035, 1039, 1069, 1070, 1746, 1765

Jurors, grand, report of......................... . .............. 330,563,564,1153,1156
Justice, general administration of, 244, 257, 264, 297, 315, 320, 324, 326, 327, 331, 344, 356, 375,

107,414,428,453,454.467,479,493, 520,551, 640, 676, 677,760, 761,872,908,961-
:*73, 974, 985, 1144, 1288, 1411, 1412, 1466, 1494, 1511, 15lS, 1549, 1558, 1620, 1622,

1637, 1638, 1747

K\

Kelly, James, identified by Weir ............................... ..... (595

Keily, Job, assaulted and rope put round his neck ..................... 917
I A

,
WILLIAM L

, testimony of. ..................... .&quot; .&quot; _&quot;&quot;.&quot;&quot;&quot;_&quot;.&quot;.&quot;.&quot;.&quot; . &quot;. .&quot;1551-1557
resident of Jefferson County ............................................. 11
native of the State ..................................
knows Dr. S. D. Smith; saw him the morning after Robin Westbrook was

killed ; no steps taken to discover who had perpetrated the murder beyond a
coroner s inquest ..................................................... J55I

character of Westbrook ................................ .1551 1552
Ku-Klux organization . its extent, &c ..........................

&quot;

1553 1553
whipping of Richard Lewis to compel a confession of his firing upon&quot; Dr.

Smith .............. irco ir.r,.. .
.

...... ...... ----------...-..-__.... lOOo JOJO
Kemp, John, whipping ot ................................... Q-^J
Kenuard, Adam, whipping of .....................

-&quot;&quot;.&quot;-&quot;.&quot;.&quot;.&quot;.&quot;.&quot;.&quot;.&quot;&quot;!!.&quot;.&quot;.&quot;.&quot;.&quot;.&quot; 1589^606, 1624
Kernahan, Mr., killed by Collins .......................................... _ jjg 173
Kete muii, Lewis, taken from jail, whipped, shot, and hung... . &quot;~74*&amp;gt; 775*991
KIDD, HENB V, (colored, ) testimony of............................ .&quot;&quot;.&quot;.&quot;*&quot;.. 7 867-869

native of the State; lived in Madison County, on Henry Turner s place&quot; St&amp;gt;7

was visited by Ku-Klux in November, 1869, and twice afterward...
&quot;

867 868
intimidation of voters

&quot;&quot;

JANE, (colored,) testimony of....... ..&quot;&quot;I &quot;!1&quot;!I.~.&quot;~.&quot;. .&quot;.&quot;.&quot;

.....
1733-1734

K j,

1

,^
UUU * Ol tlU wbippto* of John Childer s daughter Amanda, by Mr. Jones, 1733, 1734

Alexander, Jasper, (colored,) Sumter County, 1868.. 1578, 1596,1604 1621 167-169
1631, 1071, 1798, 17M, 1808, 1809, 1944, 1945, 1954, 1964
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Barbee, Mr., Limestone County 721
Barber, Mr 6 !5

Blair, Dr., son of, Limestone County 721

Blair, William, (colored.) Limestone County, December, 1868..131, 148,674-676,715.
1205-1268

Boyd, Enoch, (colored, ) Sumter County, September, 1 870 107 6

Boyd, Samuel, (Alexander,) Greene County, March, 1870.. 3, 7, 12,13,39,48,57-59,03,
101, 178, 212, 213, 229, 254, 265-2(57, 273, 275, 277, 279, 281

,
297-300. 312, 313, 318, 333.

345, 351, 365, 387, 420, 444, 528, 529, 555, 556, 1170, 1212-121 4, 1409, 1419, 1421
, 1643,

1842, 1644

Browning, Dr. , Sumter County, 1869 19,6

Bryan, Mr., Sumter County, April, 1868 1G77
Burke, Richard, (colored.) Sumter County, August, 1 870 ..334, 335, 346, 349, 351, 99p,

999, 1400, 1578, 1579, !59f&amp;gt;, 1597, 1607/1632, 1633, 1737, 1775, 1781, 1798, (870, 1808.

1812, 1821, 1944,] 904

Buvrus, Mr., Limestone County 658, CC; 9

Caldwell, Sam., (colored,) Greene County, spring of 1870.. 3, 6, 265,273, 1789, 1795,

1796, 1841

Campbell, Leni., (colored,) Choctuw County, October, 1871.. 1334, 1361-1363, 1869,

1885,1902,1913
Campbell, Mike, (colored,) Choctaw County, 1871 1334

Campbell, William, (colored,) Madison County, July, 1869.. 133, 149, 1162, 1164, 1197-
1H9

Carpenter, James, Greene County 1277

Carpenter, John, Greene County 277, J?8

Cate, Samuel, Jackson County, January, 1 ^71 140, 167, 428, 45 1

Charlton, Judge, Morgan County, winter of 1 869 132, 325, 610, 611, 777-780, ivil 1

Childers, Amanda, (colored,) Sumter County, July, 1871.. 1722-1724, 1733, 1734, lir.i).

1960, ll Gl

Clark, Jerry, (colored, ) Sumter County 1 002, 1(572, 1738, liW)

Cliff, Tony, (colored, ) Calhoun County, July, 1870 . . 77

Clunn, Henry, (colored. )Madison County, December, 1870 669,671,930
Cobientz, Mr., Sumter County, August, 1869.. 344, 1574, 1575. 1594, 1598, 1602-1604,

1622, 1625, 1631, 1632, 1673. 1737, 1817, 194(5, 1947, 1951, 1964, 1905

Coleman, Guiltord, (colored.) Greene County, June, 1^70 .13,27:5,277, 1160, 1788, 17.-9,

1795,1839,1842,1844
Collins, Mr., Sumter County, 1870 1:557, 1569, J570, 1579, 1580, 1582, J;;83

Colvin, Sam., (colored,) Greene County, December, 1869.. 3, 263, 266, 273, 301, 312, 313.

318, 1214

Cross, Flem. , wife of, Sumter County, 1 7 C4

Crossland, Mr., Tuscaloosa County, November. 1868.. 1750, 1767, 1768, 1851, 1852, 190J-
1971 , 1 980-1982, 1991

, 2000, 2002-20C4

Diggs, Frank, (colored,) Kewaunee, Mississippi, October, 1870.375, 393, 394, 1050, 1325,

1328,1329,1433,1439,1440
Dougherty, Mr.

,
Madison County, 1 869 929

Douglass, Mr., Jackson County, Januarv, 1671 428

Dunn, Mike, (colored,) Choctaw County, October, 1871.. 1360, 1361, 1365, 1654, 1901,
1912,1913,1918

Edwards, Nathaniel, (colored,) Choctaw County, 1869 102, 19J9

Evans, Willis Monroe , Madison County, August. 1869 1190

Ezell, Isham, (colored,) Choctaw County, September, 1871 1361,1364,1655,1918
Ezell, William, (colored,) Choctaw County, July, 1871 .1267, 1869, 1885, 1901, 1912, 19J3

Fearon, Elliott, Marshall County, October, 1869 932

Finley, Mr.. Tuscaloosa County, 1869 1751,1768,1852,1971,1972
Francis, Mr

*

1 36

Frankenham, Mr., Tuscaloosa County 3071

Frederick, Caesar, (colored,) Culhouu County, July, 1870

Geary, Andrew, (colored, ) Macon County, October, 1870 1 092-1 C 94

Gibson, Isaac, (colored, ) Morgan County, 1808 942

Granger, Alfred, (colored, ) Dallas County 375

Grattan, Mr., Sumter County, 1866 It 2-4

Greathouse, (colored, ) Perry County
Hall, William, (colored,) Calhoun County, July, 1^70

Hairis, Berry, (colored,) Chatham County, July, 1870

Harris, Nelson, (colored,) Greene County -7J

Harrison, Fiank, Saint Glair County, August, 1870 1172, ,-J9

Harrison, Mr., Limestone County
Hurt, Dudley, Sumter County, August, 1869 1001, it-L J
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Hangber, Tlwnm&amp;lt;. Lawn-nee County 373

. . ; x, (colored,) Calhoun County, July, 1870

flopi i&quot; , Mr., Sttniter County, January, 1*70 1677

ilij,,. | Isaac,) (colored.) Su inter County, April, 1870.. 1609, 1610, 1675, 1737,

1744, 1949

Isl, :lin (Ezcll, ) (colored, ) Choetaw County, 1871 1 334, 1335

John, (colored, ) Choc-taw Comity, 1871 1335

Johnson, Etar.Mr., Fayette County, 1809 128
i .mu, Mr.. Colbert County 172, 173

mm, Lewis, Blount County. December, 1870 742,775,991
I/iikin, Ned, (colored,) Jackson County, December, 1870 451,932
Lnikiu, Ned, brother of, (colored,) Jackson County, December, 1870 451

Luke, William C., Calhouii County, July, 1870 77,223,386,429,445,609,
1173,1235

Lyon, Abe, (colored,) Choctaw County, June, 1871 1262, 1263, 1265, 126(5, 1269,
i. KJliO, 1412, 1413, 1424, 1426, 1427, 1514, 1654, 1868, 1869, 1882, 1883, 1887,

1897, 1899, 1900, 1901, 1905-1909, 1914-1916, 1913

mail-agent, Sumter County
*

14 J 9

Markbam, John, Madison County, September, 1871 920, 921
Martin, James, (colored,) Greene County, March, 1870 3, 1214
M-. l ann, Harvey, (colored,) Perry County

lr., Limestone County, September, 1870 659
Miller, Henry, (colored,) Greene County, spring of 1870 3,6,265,277,1214
Miller, Mr., Tuscaloosa County 1750, 1751, 1853, 1971, 1973, 1984, 1991, 1992

Abram, Macou County, October, 1870 1092-1094
Murphy, Sheriff Levi, Blount County, August, 1868 748,765,766,773,992
Palmer, Mr., Greene County 278
Pearl, Dennis, (colored,) Sumter County, March, 1868 1672, 1673

.Raglaud, (Baglen,) Fenelon, Morgan County 428,610
JJogers, Anthony, (colored, ) Sumter County, 1871 1077
Rogers, Mr., Sumter County, April, 1870 1677

rs, Thomas, (colored, ) diocta\v County, June, 1871.. .1654, 1655, 1869, 1885, 1901,

1912,1913,1918
Samuel, Mr., Tuscaloosa County, spring of 1870 1749, 1854, 1975
Snpp, Mr., Lawrence County, May, 1869 942, 1162,1196,1197

&amp;gt;a:n, (colored,) Limestone County, spring of 1870 666,719
Scarborough, Mr., Sumter County, April, 1869 ! &amp;gt; 1677
Simpson, Mr., Tuscaloosa County 1971,1972,1984,1985,19ft!
Sledge, Dennis, (colored,) Sumter County, 1869 1739,1949
Sledge, Frank, (colored,) Sumter County, 1869 998, 999
Smith, Mr., Madison County 611,786,893
Snoddy, Samuel, Greene County, December, 1870 2,3,6,49,258,265,277,313,318
Snodgrass, Ben, Calhoun County 4^3
Strange, Mr., Limestone County (J58

Stratton, Mr., Sumter County, July, 1867 1677
Thomas, N. E., Choctaw County, June, 1868 1671, 1672, 1701, 1702,&quot; 1883-1885, 1895,

1896
Thompson, Bob, (colored,) Calhoun County, 1870 428,967
Thuriow, Judge Silas, Madison County, 1868 115,432,442,452,599,602,614,618,

690, 786, 820, 874, 900
Tramblies, America, (colored,) Chambers County, 1870 1042, 1043, 1047, 10*7, 11J4,

1115,1117, 1118
Travis, Mr., Sumter County, 1869 999
Washington, Bill, (colored,&quot;) Tuscaloosa County, spring of 1S71..

&quot;

. . . . . . . is54, W&
Webb, Alexander, (colored,) Hale County, 1867 1479,1492,1521,1522
Y\ Wtbrook, Kobin, (colored,) Marengo County, July, 1871 1243, 1252, 1354, 1367,

13fe9, 139J-1395, 1404, 1429, 1430, 1441-1443, 1445-1447, 1511
tes, (names not given) 1409,1419,1643,1749,1750,1753,1986

\Vilhums, (High,) Ezekiel, (colored,) Sumter County, October, 1871 1356,1358.
l565-15eU671-1573, 1593, 1504, 1604, 1605, 1622,1631,1639,1701,1717,1718,1799;

,VM1 . 1808,1945,1946,1964Williams Mr Morgan County, May, 1870 134,931, 11,38, 1142, 1143
Q, Mr., Cuscaloosa County 3971

[wafd,
hud. (colored,) Choctaw County, 1868 &quot;. &quot;1904,1905 1918

Wright, James K. P., Madiaon County 433451
Yankee Ben, (colored,) Sun.ter County, H69

1670,&quot; 16*J. 1738, 1949

v .

Yo
]

tenou, son of. (colored,) Sumter County, fall of 1870 1735, 1743, 1749
King (Mckmney,) Lina, whipping of 733 707
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KINNARD, MICHAEL C., testimony of 1730-1733
resident of Livingston, Sumter County ; a physician ; superintendent of

schools 1730
examined Robert Fullerlove yesterday ; found no evidence of his having been

struck on the head, and none of anything like a person having been

whipped 1730, 1732, 1733

people very much interested in reference to educating the negroes 1730, 1731
two school-houses burned; thirty-one or thirty-two colored schools in the

county ; average attendance one thousand or eleven hundred ; about six

hundred white children attending schools; schools kept open from three to

six months last year, varying according to the apportionment of money to

the different districts 1731

progress made by the colored children in their studies 1732

Knight, Jesse, shooting of. (died in a few days) 1*27

Knights of the \Ybik- Cameiia 211,2

Ku-Klux, effect of upon labor and negroes. 07, CD, 6o9, 924, 1097, 1128, 1 137, 1 139, 1363, 139,&quot;),

1519, 10-20, 1530-1532, 1759, 1807, 1848, 1849, 1914, 1919, 1951,2002
notices 50, 52. .:), 103, 104, 108, 418, 423, 1019, 1037, 1049, 1051, 1052, 1054, 1 138,

i 151, 127-8, 1295, 129u, 13^8, 1339, 1431, 1871, 1872, 1889, 1917, 1921, 19 2, 20l&amp;lt;2

-&amp;gt;4io arrests, convictions, cVc., for outrages of 9, 17, 08, 92, 93, 98, 107, 128, 203. 200,
30 i

, 3.!3, 340, 315. 347, 3
, 411,419, 420, 458, 479, 493, 539, 540, 552, 553, 598, 617)640,

682, 724, 775, K!7. 70, 897,898, 923,934,980.990,992,1002, 1UO?&amp;gt;, 1007,1020,1043
1050,1088,1090,1140,1175, 1244,1206, 1289, 1361-1 3(53, 1368, 1373,1420, 1430,1433,
1434, 1460, 13ii. , J54-, 1577, 157s, J600, 1GJ3, 1629, 1631, 1633, 1701, 1722, 1724, 1741,

1791, 1822, 1844, 1847, 1852, 1853, 1854, 1886, 1914, 1948, 1949, 19; 5

palliation or justification of 399, 457, 55 1
,
1531

,
1 532, 1807, 1 6 i

organization and meetings against 778, 779, f83, 1873, 1883, 1886, 1950, 195,
first operations of - - 80, 432, 477, 478, 623
extent of, strength of 79, 323, :W&amp;gt;, 400, 4^9, 753, 756, 775, 1 136, 1280, 12&amp;gt;2, 1461 , 18J1
existence or iiou-existence of. 259, 274, 283, 286-288, 305, 306, 323, 356, 361

, 398, 405,431 ,

451,485,518,602,640, 1038, 1070, 1487, 1503,1685, 1704, 1842, 1920, 1963, 1967, UM8
object of 7L

, J2, 96, 171
, 260, 3-7, 4 13-446, 477, 519, 601

, 603, 624, 649, 747, 783, 840,
872, ~73, 892, 1 138, 1139, 1280, 1437, 1438, 1488, 1489,

1530, 1532, 1803, 1804, 1823, 1856, J J21
character of disguises worn by 120, 161

, 275, 385, 47 1
, 528, 529, 536, 574, 579, 597,

598, 627, 723, 8 1 3, 860, 9 19,191

origin of 450, 481, 660-662, 715, 852, S92, 893, 12c3
method of operating of 170, 258, 352, 472, 486, 490, 689, 729, 1282, 15J3, 1896
Governor R. 13. Lindsay s views as to 212,213,2^2
J. 11. Clanton s views as to 229,240,242,253
Keavis s views as to 332-3o4
Herr s views as to 3 7i 9

public, opinion opposed to 2C1

meaning of the word 3^6, 392

disbanding of 452, 600, 622, 664, 726, 785, 935, 1&amp;gt;94

composition of 457, 480, 1844

general feeling toward 479, 1 1 37

justification for organization of &77

exclusively democratic 899
no necessity for 967, 1 423, 1 843

leading cause for 90S

obligation of 1129
Ku-Klux act State, opposition to, effect of, &c 649, 650, 664, 665, 720-722, 724, 816, 835,

836, 852, 8J6

preamble to, views as to 664, 665, 835, 836, 896, 1754-1756, 1759, IK&quot; 5

enforcement of 16, 32, 93, 108, 321, 322, 329, 339, 347, 319, 354, 355, 410, 4i 1,

413,458, 1855

L.

Labor contracts 1290, 1758, 1 7f9

Labor, difficulty in procuring, &c 1312, 1318, 1626, 1718
La Fayette, interruption of meeting at 1088-1090
La Grone, Katie, whipping of - 417, 422

Lakin, Rev. A. S., character, actions, &c., of 180,219,238,252,325,328,430 594,595,
612, 613, 615-619, 624-626, 733, 757, 758. 784, 785, 791-800, 810-812, 1 168, 1 169

Lakin, Rev. A. S
,
case of. 427, 430, 433, 434, 438-441

, 446-449, 451
, 458, 460, 615, 731, 734, 735

LAKIN, Rev. A. S., testimony of 111-159
resident of Huntsville since 1865: minister of Methodist Episcopal Church;

presiding elder of Montgomery district Ill
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LAKIN, Rev. A. S., testimony of Continued.
nt of State University at Tuscaloosa, and prevented from taking

house fired iDtoimi. IM. Hi ..................................... 116,142,143,15:]
hoi-- sheared ..........................................................

\\l
fiivdat ................................................................ J3M37
house burned ...... .... .... ..-.-. .... ...... ...... .... ...... ...... ...... J oJ, J4 1

disguised men, operations by bands of......................... 112,117, 118,121, 122

.ii-i-d iiu-ii, object of bands of......... - ........................... 112, 138, 154

disguised men, demonstration in Huntsville by ............................ 114, 115

disguised m n, effect on unborn children of sight of..................... 118, 119, 120

disguised men, disguise worn by. ... ...................
:
................. 120

disguised men, operations of, commenced in spring of 1868 ................. 135

article and wood-cut from. Tuscaloosa Monitor ............................. 113, 114

whippings and shootings ............................................. 133,134,157

killing of Judge Thurlow ...............................................

killing of Samuel Gates ................................................. 140

killing of William Campbell, (colored) ................................... 133,149

killing of- Williams .............................................. 134

killing of- Francis, school-teacher .................................. 136

driving away of J. A. McCutcheou ....................................... 127

driving away of James Buchanan ........................................

driving away of John W. Tulley ....................... *. ................. 127

shooting of Jesse Knight ................................................ 127

shooting of Rev. William Johnson ....................................... 128

shooting of Judge Charlton .............................................. 1 32

shooting of Prior Turner, (colored) ....................................... 133, 150

whipping of- Horton .......
.
....................................... 119

whipping of Moses 13. Sillivan ........................................ 123,127,140

whipping of Rev. Mr. Hill .............................................. 12G

whipping of Dean Reynolds, (colored) ..... ................................ 127

whipping of James (Isaac) l)orman ...................................... 128, J55

whipping of George Taylor ......... ...................................... 128

whipping of William Blair .............................................. 131, 148

whipping of William Harper ............................................ 140

whipping of Simeon Bush, (colored) .................................. 133, 151, 152

whipping of Mrs. Riddle ................................................ 157, 158

no punishment for Ku-Klux outrages ..................................... 128

no power in State courts to punish Ku-Klux ............................ 132, 153, 156

opposition to Methodist Episcopal Church ................................ 124, 125

opposition to education of negroes ......... . .............................. 140

inilammatory speeches to negroes ......................................... 158

school-teachers outraged, school-houses burned, and churches destroyed ------ 140

Lane, Tobias, letter to John B. Cecil ........................................ 1664

Lai-kin, Ned, killing of...................................................... 451,932
Larkin, Ned, killing of brother of ........................ . ................... 41
Larkin, Ned, shooting of sou of.............................................. 932

Lassitor, Aaron, whipping of ........... . .............. .. .................. .. 5o5
Latham, Mr., whipping of................................................... 104,2000
Lawler, George, whipping of................................................ 681

Lawler, Samuel, raid on House of.................... .- ____ .................. 1231
,
1232

Lawler, Samuel, shooting of ........................................... 932, 1231, 1232
Lawrence County, outrages in .............................. ........... 1162, 1J96, 1197

killed in: Mr. Sapp, Thomas Haughey 2.

League, Loyal,-organization, extent, &c ........ 7,8,35,88,92,170,179,229,233,240,28$,
291,305, :;i:;, 357, ;u;2, 371, 381, 384, 393, 397, 398,432, 475, 4S7, (593-686,783, 818, 839,
840, 855, 872, 873, 885,886,887,894,907,962,975,1017,1382-1384,1422,1423,1437,
1438, I&amp;gt;37, 1642, 1645, 1662, 1663, 1665, 1678, 1682, 1687-1689, 1692, 1693, 1811, J890,

1895,1960,1962, 1963
1 . Arnold, charged with killing Isaiah Hunter .............................. 1675, 1676
Lee County free from disturbance ............................................ 1100

Mr.,i.|rutiiiod by Childers .............................................. 1721
W 1 1 .LI AM, (colored, ) testimony of............ .. :.. I.i . .1 . ........... 1333-1337

in Choctaw County tour years ...................................... 1333
h .s house vNiu-d by disguised ini-n, two weeks ago, and search made for him.. 1333
Lem Campbell shot and his throat cut same night; killing of Abe Lyon and

*

1334.. .........

killing of Isham. (shot and throat cut) .................................. 1334, 1335
Lsluim s wife shot ; John shot; fifteen or twenty colored persons whipped ____ 1335
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LEE. WILLIAM, (colored,) testimony of Continued.

Abe Lycn s condition in life

probable motive for all these attacks

Legislative corruption - 1411,1418,1424,1467,1468
Lemon. Ben, renounces bis radicalism

LENTZ, WILLIAM H., testimony of 722-728

resident of Limestone County ; is sheriff ; a native of the State

a republican 720, 727

ten to fifteen outrages in the county
character of Ku-Klux disguises 722, 723

general disarinment of the blacks in 1868 723

citizens driven from home ; Moore, captain of a Ku-Klux organization ; the

.strength of the order and its disbanding- ; unpopularity of the State Ku-Klux
^

law of December, 1868 ; no one brought to punishment 724

general disposition to break up the organization ; number of republicans in

Limestone County 725

object and standing of the men assuming disguises since the disbandmeut of

the Ku-K ux 720

Leonard. Ben, renounces his political opinions 1792, 1790, 1797, 1838, 18

LEONAK D, BENJAMIN, (colored, ) testimony of 1785-1797

lives in Greene County ; native of the State

a mechanic 1787

came here last Tuesday for the purpose of testifying before the committee, and
waited to be called ; what induced him to leave that day and not como be

fore the committee 1785, 1793

witness in custody of the sheriff, on a charge of murder, with others, stopped
on the way to jail by a baud of disguised men ; two of them taken from his

custody and one fired on 1780, 1788, 1794

was taken before court and discharged ; re-arrested for carrying concealed wea

pons 1787, 1795

outrage upon Lucy Breathitt 1788

killing of Guilford Coleman, colored, 1870 1788, 1789, 179,&quot;&amp;gt;

killing of Sam Caldwell, J87U 1789,1795,1790

shooting of Henry Dew ; Littleton Hood whipped 17-^9, 1790, 1790

whipping of negroes has been going on for four years ; Ku-Klux operations in

Pickens and Greene Counties
intimidation of voters 1790, 1791, 1792, 1793, 179S

does not know of a case of the punishment of a white man for whipping or

Maltreating negroes
intimidation of complainants; colored people are protected when, they vote the

democratic ticket 1792

witness renounced his republicanism by card in the Eutaw Whig ; did it to

buy peace : still a republican in sentiment 1792, 1790, 1797

murder of Mr. Flem Cross s wife 1794

Leonard. Joe, identified by Watley ^

1005

Leslie Jehu, outrage on wife of, and raid on house of 1 108, 1204

Leslie, John, shooting at 929, 1108,1204

Leverett, Mr., whipping of 1740

Lewis, John A., identified by Few 1083, 1084

Lewis, Bit-hard, whipping of 13-9-1391, 1457, 1458, 1517, 1553-1550

L1LE, JOHN A., testimony of - 939-944

lives in Morgan County ; freight agent - - - - 949

mixed democratic club at Trinity Station in 1808; Jesse Brown a member of it ;

several of the members whipped by disguised men to break up the club, and

by intimidation to prevent them remaining in it

means used to raise this club 940, 941

killing of Mr. Sapp (white) and Isaac Gibson, (colored) 942

Limestone County, party vote in 602, 663

disturbances in 901

number of outrages in , 134

outraged in: Wilie McGregor 1 ; killed in: Mr. Barbee, Dr. Blair s son,

Mrs. Blair, Mr. Barnes, Mr. Harrison, Mr. McKee, Sam Scales, Mr. Strange
8: whipped in: Mr. Barbee, Augutus Blair s wife and daughter, Mrs. Blair,

Mr. Harrison, Mr. Simmons, L. L. Weir, Joe. Garborough 8.

Linden, disturbance at.. 1304-1 306, 1313-1315, 1317, 1309, 1370, 1372, 1373. 1377, 1433, 1444,

1445, 1447-1450, 1453-1457, 1404, 1465, 1504-1509, 1514-1516, 1537-1543, 1545, ,1540

Lindsay, Mr., raid on house of 940, 947

Lindsay , Duce, identified by Henderson 579, 580
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LIN 1 &amp;gt;s A V, Governor IJOBERT B., testimony of .............................. 159-225

ab m:a; lawyer by profession
...............................

Scotland ; went to Alabama in 1849 ; elected to legislature in 1853.. 174

elect In l&amp;gt;.&quot;&amp;gt;7;
on Doug-las electoral ticket in 1860; de-

M .................................................... ^^
il

ii}).)ii
to protect people from acts of violence ...................;-; _

k

J/
~

urity n! person and property ................................... 159, 160,206, 207

disguised men, operations of bauds of..................... 161, 170, 171, 2 1 2, 2 U3, 222

T of, to counteract Union League ....................... 170, 171

.nvictioHs for acts of.................................. 203

.

,.;. lie M-ntiment opposed to .............................
L

-

disgni&ed men, counties responsible for damages by ..................... 172, 21*2, 224

n.-irrui s disguised and committing outrages ............................ 162,172,211

whipping of negroes ....................................................
: r branches of Methodist Church ........ ................... 180, 208, 218

election l:i\vs, A-,- ............................... . ................... 185,186,209
j lH ling ,:i people at close of war ................................ ... -.-.190, 191,201

opposition to reconstruction ...................... ........... 188, 189,202,214,215

opposition to negro suffrage ............................................. 191, 202

Sion contest for governor ...................... 181,182,18.3,184,192,193,216,217

general amnesty ....................................................... 1 92, 200

railroad bonds .................................................... 193-199,218
freedom of political opinions ............................................. 174,220

republican officials threatened ............................................ 176, 178

no person whipped because of political opinion ............................ 175

riot at Eutaw, Greene County ........................................... 221

character of Judge Luther R. Smith ...................................... 176, 177

character of Rev. A. S. Lakin ............................................ 180,219

killing of- Cates ................................................. J67

killing of Kernaban by Collins ................... - ...................... 172, 173

killing of Haughey by Collins .......................................... 173

killing of Alexander Boyd, solicitor ................................... 178,212,213
killing of- Luke ................................................. 223

!ing of- Larkin, (colored) ..................................... 169

whipping of Isaac Dorman ................. . ................. 162, 163, 164, 181, 21 1

whipping of Ge.orge W. Hollowell, (colored) ....................... 165, 166, 167, 211

whipping of- Harper ............................................. 167

whipping of McGregor ........................................ 168, 169,212

hanging of colored men in Tuscumbia ......... . .................... ____ .. 179, 212
concern ing Union Leagues .............................................. 170, 179

! eyton, shooting of........................................ 669, 945, 950, 952
Lll SUOM IJ, PEYTON, (colored,) testimony of............................... 951-953

was in the Union Army ; whipped in Tennessee by disguised men for voting. 951

whipped and shot in Madison County ; Washington Strong whipped ........ 952
has not vote 1 since he was whipped in Tennessee ; is afraid to vote .......... 953

Lipseomb, Si!)., io -Mtilied by Westbrook ...................................... 1244
v

Little, Harrison, killing of Rogers by ......................................... 1677 *

Liviiig.stt.ii, Interruption of meeting at ....................... 1617, 1638, 1711, 1712, 1741 *
riot at ................................. 1615, 1682, 1772, 1773, 1776, 1780, 1835-1837

Locket, Joe, whipping of. ................................................... 929
LONG, lJURTOX, (colored,) testimony of .................................. 1149-1154

lent of Russell County; was a slave ; native of Virginia ................ 1149
a

republican .................................... ...................... 1150
candidate for the legislature ............................................. 115U
disiVanchisement of two hundred republican voters at the election of 1870. .1150, 1151,^

1152
was an-f.--t( (i, charged with perjury, and confined in jail .................... 1151, 1152
ivci-ivt-i! aKu-Klux letter .............. .................................. 1151
colored people sivm on the report that he had been put in prison, and Richard

killed, and
disper.s&amp;lt;-

on order of the sheriff ......................... 1153
report of the grand jury of the city court of Montgomery, as it appeared in the

Montgomery Advertiser of October 20, 1871 ............................ 1 153-1154
LOPEE, CHARLES, (colored,) testimony of................................ 1113-1114

lives i-iglit miles from Montgomery, on the Holland Brassel plantation; a
democrat ; was a

nas by colored people for wanting to vote the democratic
ticket ; neighborhood peaceable and quiet; good feeling between the whites
and black ^p.es vote the democratic ticket

; they are not molested 1113
Lovtt, Mr., whipping of............................ , ...... _&quot; 1077
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LOW, HENRY, (colored, ) testimony of 1996-1099

formerly resided in Pickens County ; left in October. 1870 . _. 1920

his bouse attacked by disguised men ; was shot at, taken out, and beaten with

clubs ; manner of whipping; whipped on account of his politics ; would rather

not give the names of those he recognized 1 997

was iii tilied to leave, and left; whipping of Sam Low, Doc Johnson, Bob
Stocksville, Tom Gardner, Willie Hargrove 1998

-, Henry, whioping of 19115, 1 997, 2001

.V, SAMUEL,* (colored, ) testimony of 20J5-2007

lived in Pie-kens County ; voted the radical ticket 2005

was visited by the Ku-Klux, taken out, and whipped 2005-2007

whipped for his politics; was warned to leave, and left because he was afraid

to remain; whipping of Bob Stocksville, Willie Hargrove, and Dock Johnson 2000

Low Si-inuei, whipping of 1994, 1998, 2001, 2005-2007

LOWE, WILLIAM M ., testimony of 871-912

native of the State ;
lives in Huntsville ; thirty years old ; a lawyer ; elected

solicitor in JSf.5 - 871

was in the rebel army ; was a member of democratic State committee; chairman
of county committee and of congressional committee

resigned the first two when elected to the legislature
went into rebellion voluntarily

prosecuted indictments against William Shapard for hog-stealing and assa

with intent to kill ; defendant made affidavit for a continuance! 871, &amp;lt;--.&quot;&amp;gt;

character of Shapard 872, 885

the law as well enforced now as it ever has been in the State; the county

peaceable ; public sentiment decidly in favor of law and order 872, 908

ol)ieetiimd_Jmracter of the Loyal Li-agne 872, 87;*, 885, 880, 887, 894, 907

an&amp;lt;T*oT the Ku-Klux Klan.. .7. . . . ^72, 873, 87(i, S77, 885, 892, 893, 894, b99, 907, 908, 9i 9

the Huntsville riot of 18lH 8?:!, -71, 900, 901, 902, 910

killing of Judge Thurlow ;
Mr. Cox and Eoper wounded 874, 900

origin of the riot 875

attempt of witness to organize the &quot; Order of Peace
&quot; 877

intimidation of democratic colored voters fc78

dissatisfaction with the first State government imposed by act of Congress ;

the causes thereof ; character of the officers elected 878-8^3

charges against A. J. Applegate, former lieutenant governor 879-8 c- 1

meeting to denounce Ku-Klux; North Alabama, prior to the war, strongly in

favor of the Union

shooting of Prior Turner (colored) by disguised men 883, ^1-7

tone of political sentiment of the white population 883, ^ W4

no prejudice against northern settlers

defines a
&quot;carpet-bagger&quot;

bc7

Senators Warner and Spencer carpet-baggers 887, S-8

detinrs a scalawag
&quot;

names carpet-baggers and scalawags who hold or arc seeking office 639,890,891

carpet-bagger is never under any circumstances applied to a democrat 891

Huntsvillc newspapers denounced Ku-Klux outrages; Smith hung by dis

guised men ; two negroes killed 893
never heard of the Ku-Klux whipping a negro for voting the republican ticket ;

heard of a few cases of outrage in the way of whipping, taking of arms, &c.;
not two dozen in the county 895, 899

his attention called to the preamble of the Stale Ku-Klux act of December 2(5,

1808; the state of things recited therein not true, but false and exaggerated 896
does not remember a case of Ku-Klux outrage brought to trial and judgment. . 897,898
has heard of outrages in Madison County, since the Klan was dissolved, by bands

of disguised men; they do not exceed two or three; and but few in the

State ; the Patona and Eutaw affair and the Coosa riot ; character of the

negroes as to veracity 898
is opposed to negro suffrage and to their holding office 902
views as to the right of negroes to assemble and determine their political action,

&c. ; registration oath taken by witness 903

organized two negro dubs in Huntsville, in 1870 903, 904
number in the State disqualified under the fourteenth.amendment 9UG, 91 i

,
912

opposition to applying to Congress for relief; those who went into rebellion did

not commit treason 904
his views as to secession and citizenship 904, 905

organization of the republican party in the State 905, 90o

reorganization of the State government 900, 907
, %9, 9 it)
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LOWE, WILLIAM M., testimony of Continued.

object ionaMe f, niures of the constitution : behavior of the colored people since
- 907

tli.- eouise the colored people should have taken on reorganizing under the

ttionacta 908

antagonism of races 909

the two races could live peaceably if the negroes were non-voting 910, 911

relutiv. \ote, white and colored, in the State 911

iamC., killing of 77,223,386,429,445,609,1173,1235
. Corev, shooting at 930

Lvon Nl-e. killing of 12(?2, 1263, 1265, 1266, 1269, 1270, 1334, 1360, 1412, 1413, 1424,

I-l-J.i, 1 127, 1511, 10.&quot;) 1, 181)5, ISu J, 1332, 1883, 1887, 1897, 1899-1901, 1905-1909, 1914-

1916,1918

LYOX, ELIZA, (colored, ) testimony of 1262-1271

lives in 1
&amp;gt;emop;iiis

- 1262

her hnsb:ind Abe lulled June 6, 1871, in Choctaw County 1262

particulars of his killing by disguised men, their number, disguises, &c 1263, 1265,

1266, 1269, 1270

her property stolen same night 1263, 1264, 1270,1271
her life was threatened and she left; was pursued 1264, 1266, 1267, 1271

no coroner s inquest held ; no one ever prosecuted for the murder ; all the white

people in Choctaw democrats ^ 1266
&quot;NVilliam Ezell (colored) killed, and a colored man named Isaac 1267

colored woman whipped 1267, 1268
schools broken up 1268, 1269
church burned ; Judge Smith s gin-house and fencing burned 1269

thought that her husband being a witness in a case between him and Mr. Wil
liam Tucker mi^ht have something to do with his murder. 1269, 1270

LYON, TKAM is S., testimony of 1408-1428
a citizen of the State since its organization and while it was a Territory ; was

in State senate and.house of representatives; in the Congress of the United
States, and a member of the confederate congress from 1862 or 1863 to 1865. 1408

w-is Si ale commissioner /1411

agent of the confederate government for receiving subscriptions 14
;26

has no personal knowledge of the Ku-Klux order 1409

killing of Mr. Boyd, solicitor of Greene County, by disguised men 1409, 1419, 1421

negroes and a white man taken from jail and hung 1409,1419
the great mass of the people loyal to the Government since the war; recon

struction measures and State constitution objectionable 1409
cati-e of dissatisfaction with laws of the State, that they were passed by per

sons who were not authorized by the people ; the constitution not adopted- . . 1409
the tax law of 1&amp;gt;(&amp;gt;8 .1409,1415,1416,1417
the election law and the law authorizing counties, &c., to subscribe for stock

in railroads 1409
f oppression by officers of the Federal Government, viz : the seizure of wit-

cotton, and that of others ; the arrest of six or seven men of Eutaw
upon a charge of riot or assault, and sending them to the Dry Tortugas ; the
the arrest and handcuffing of Mr. Barker 1410, 1414

state of feeling between the white and colored people 1410, 1411
all civil rights are accorded to the negro 1411
character of NY. 15. Jones and his speeches 1411,1422, 1423
knows of no intimidation of voters 1411

bl at the beginning of the war, dining the war, and since; its great
ised by the loan to the Stanton Railroad, to the Mobile and Mont

gomery road, and by the indorsement of the bonds of every railroad built in
t1 &quot; Htiiti- 1411, 1417,1418,1424

y charged and believed that these loans were procured by bribery ....1411, 1418,
1424

tli laws have n&amp;lt;- been executed satisfactorily ; the judges strangers or carpet-
not qualified 1411,1412

account, of tin- killing of Abe Lyon given witness by Eliza Lyon ; Abe Lyoii s

1412,1413 1424,1426,1427
suits for treason before Judge Basteed 1415
general disposition toobey ihe laws; Judge Luther E. Smith s &quot;miil &quot;burned&quot;;

tiling of a mail-agent in Sumter County 1419
whipping of Mr. NYihlinjr ]~~ 1420

! object, &.(-., of the. Ku-Klux .&quot;!&quot;&quot;&quot;.&quot;!&quot;&quot;&quot;&quot; 1420,&quot; 1421 ,
1422

11
majoiitj BODS injure. 1 republicans : tone of the democratic press as
to Kn-Klux outrages ; no one punished for these outrages 1421
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LYON. FRANCIS S., testimony of Continued.

treatment of northern settlers ; feeling toward scalawags 1422

extent, N:c.. of Union League 1422, 1423

Ku-Klux organization, &c. 1409, 1423

inefficiency of officials 1 423, 1 424
seizure of cotton general : cases specified 1424, 1425, 142G

discussion of sub-committee as to testimony given by witness yesterday, Octo
ber 26, and the substitution of the manuscript read 1427, 1 428

action of the committee on its reception 1428

M.

Maberry, Mr., killing of Christian by 1971

Macon County, killed in: Andrew Geary, Abram Moss 2; outraged in: James II.

Alston s wife and child, J. H. Hoduet 2 : shot in : James II. Alston, W.
Dougherty, Adam Goshe, Columbus Mitchell, Felix Wright 5 ; whipped in:

Aaron Lassiter 1.

election statistics of. 1020,1028,1030,1039-1042,1112

strength of Ku-Klux iu 1038
Madison County, strength of Ku-Klux in 765, 8.21,834

election statistics of 840,841
number disqualified iu 979,980
number of outrages in 134

distm bances in ; 1161

outraged in : Peter Acklyn, Frank Bell, Timone Bell, George Cornelous, Lu-
cinda Ford and family, John Fuller, Joseph Gill, Thomas Hawkins. Job

Kelly, John Leslie, Corey Luney, Joseph Manning, Alexander Marchbanks,
Samuel Masiiu, Bill Miller, Scruggs, W. Steele, Marshall Strong, Wiley
Strong s wife 19; killed in: W. Campbell, Henry Clunn, Mr. Dougherty,
Willis Monroe Evans, John Markham, Mr. Smith, Silas Thurlow, James K. P.

Wright 8 ; shot in : William W. Cox, Peyton Lipscomb, George Roper,
Wiley Strong, Prior Turner 5: whipped in : Caleb Beasley and wife, Anthony
Bone, Martin Bush, Rebecca Campbell, John Clark, W. Ford, Amos Gar
diner and brother, Joseph Gill, Henry Hamlin, Henry Johnson, John
Kemp, George Lawler, Peyton Lipscomb, Joe Locket, Patton, Thomas Reg-
ney, Wash Strong, Wesley Vincent, \V. Vincent, Calvin Walker 22.

MAGU1RE, WILLIAM H., testimony of 166J

deputy sergeant-at-arins of the Senate of the United States 16u L

the envelope produced by Robert Fullerlove is in witness s handwriting ; issued

a subpoena for him 1(561

MAHONE, CHARLES, (colored, ) testimony of 1078-1080
resident of Montgomery ; has always voted the republican ticket 1 078
was n slave 107!)

was insulted and threatened because he was supposed to be a democrat ; general

feeling of hostility toward the negroes who vote the democratic ticket 1078
has heard Crcsar Shorter abused for so doing 1078, 1079, 1080
colored people not generally afraid to vote the democratic ticket ; thinks if a

man would vote the ticket boldly, he would be in a little difficulty 1079

Mail-agent, killing of
*

1419

Mail, United States, tampering with the 713,714
M alone, Mr., identified by Henderson 579,580
Manning, Joseph, shot at 930

MARCHBANKS, ALEXANDER, testimony of 865-867
borti in Tennessee ; lives in Madison County ; witness and Bill Miller hung by

the neck twice by disguised men in October, 1809 865, 866
left home from fear of the Ku-Klux 8(36

Marengo County, debt of 13 i I

election statistics and census of 1314, 1315, 1317
decrease of colored population 1368, 1373
killed in: Robin West brook ; outraged in: Pierce Burton, John Tayloe, Cole-

man, George Jones, William B. Jones, Tiller Reese, Seth D. Smith, Robin
Westbrook 7 ; whipped in: Reuben Hildreth, Richard Lewis, Mr. Nc-ibiing,
Sam White 4.

Marion County, murders in 1754
Marion jail, attempt to take negro from 1480, 1481

, 1496, 1560, 1562

Markbaiu, John, killing of . . . . 920,9.21

Martin, Dick, whipping of 1007,1016
Martin, James, killing of 3, 1214
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MARTIN. LYMAN W., testimony of 1144-1149

resident of Seata station, Russell County; a lawyer
, mocrat ; \vas in the confederate army

of Mr. Eew 1144,1147,1148,1149

rote unmolested; good feeling between the races ; indifferent execu-

ti. ii of th.- laws :
-- 3144

policy of non-action recommended by democratic convention on the question
of tin- adoption of the constitution 1145

(Beers; their politics 1144, 1145,1146
r.o Ku-Kliix in Russell County U*S

Mar- hall &amp;lt; ountv, number of outiages in 134

killed in: Elliott, Eearou ; shot in: Hemy Rivers; whipped in: Moses B. Sulli

van.

Mftstin, Samuel, taking of gun of 1164,1105,1200
! HEWS, WILLIAM, (colored,) testimony of 641-646

\\asawiiness against William Henderson 641

subornation of witness 641,643,644,045
recantation of witness 642,643

May, Mr.
,
ident iiied by Childers 1720

QW, J. M., identified by Vix 1196

Maxwell, Mis, v.-hipping
1 of 1011

,LL, DANIEL, testimony of 1699-1916

resident of De Sotoville, Choctaw county; a physician 1899

native of the State ; a slave-holder 1903

was with the Fortieth Alabama regiment ; \vasan old-line Whig ; favored seces

sion 1904

forty years old 1910

killing of Abe Lyou, and statement of his wife at the inquest.... 1899, 1900, 1901,

1905, 1906, 1907, 1908, 1909, 1914, 19J5, 1916

n; : eting of the citizens and the passing of resolutions 1900, 1908

killing of Ezell, Rogers, and Mike Dunn 1901,1912,1913
killing of Lem Campbell 1902,1913
no intimidation of colored voters 1902,1903, 1905

killing of Dud Woodward (colored) in 1868 1904,1905
Ku-Kiux organization, its extent, c 1909,1910,1911,1913,1914,1916
no one arrested for these outrages ; feeling of the negroes in regard to Ku-
Klux 1914

McCanu, Harvey, killing of

McClenmnd, Dr., identified by Watley 1005
d from jail 1273,1484,1491,1495, 1496,1528,1529

tcheou, J. A., compelled to leave 127

Mi-Donald, IVyton, attempted release from jail of 1283,1480,1497
Md )o\vell, John E., whipping of 749
Me( 1 1 eg. r, Wiiie, hanging of 168, 169, 212, 1173, 1242

McKee, Mr., killing by Birdsong of 659

McKinley, gathering of armed negroes at 1320,1379,1380,1384,1385
McKinley, anticipated riot at. and measures to prevent 1320, 1321, 1323, 1371, 1372, 1380,

1381

McKinney, (King,) Lina, whipping of 733,773
McMan:ii .n, .John, beaten with sticks and brush 1171,1173,1220,1235,1236
McNEILL, MALCOLM HECTOR, testimony of 1537-1545

u-si-ient of Shiioh, Marengo County 1537
an old-line whig .* J542
details of disturbance at the meeting at Linden, where \V. B. Jones spoke and

relinquished his candidacy 1537-1539,1540,1541,1542,1543,1545
disturbance ai the meeting at Shiloh 1539, 1540, 1543, 1544
radical office-holdeN not much liked 1542
abuse ot Mr. Drake and Mr. Jones at the Linden meeting 1541,1542,1543
character -f Jones s speeches 1543,1545

Meadows, Mr., threatened 11^6
. raid on house of ; 1201, 1202
.ipteii or broken up:

Minni.s .H account of
_ .531, 532,539

Dougherty s account of
&quot;.&quot;.&quot;. .&quot;.&quot;.&quot;. .&quot;!&quot;.! &quot;l024, 1027, 1034

Shorter * aecMiint of ..Iu72 1073
Wind s account of .. ..1088-1090
Black loid s account of 1284

i:lt of 1482
JihYies .s account of 1497
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Meetings interrupted or broken up Continued.

Jones s account ot 1 145*2

Moore s account of - 1581, 1582

Hen s account of 1666, 1667, 1711, 1712

Gillespic s account of 1017

Cobbs s account of 1638

Bennett s account of 174 1

Childei s s account of 1722

Meredith s account of 1772, 1773, 1776, 1780, 1784

Meredith, Mr., killing; of Mr. Ropers by 1677

MEREDITH, REUBEN A., testimony of 1771-1785

resident of Gainesville, Sumter County, about thirty-tbreo years; native uf

Virginia ; lawyer 1 77 1

was a candidate for tbe legislature 1777

a rad ical 1 778
a republican 1761

great disorganization in society in tbe last live years 1771

outrages by bands of men for tbe last tbree years, generally upon radicals,

colored and white - 1772

breaking up of a republican convention called at Livingston, by Daniel Price, on

August Jo, 1870; failure of a second meeting 1772, 1773, 1776, 1780

killing of Richard Burk, August, 1870 1775, 1781

intimidation of voters 1775, 1779, 1782, 1783

reported cases of taking prisoners from jail and killing them, and of some

whippings 1770

Hayne Richardson shot 1776, 17^1

politics of the North Sumter News, tbe Livingston Journal, and the Gaines
ville News 1777

the efforts made to get Judge Abrahams out of office 1777, 1778, J780

no member of the republican party sate in openly advocating his views in

Sumter county 1778

the candidate for Congress made no canvass, through intimidation 1778, 177!)

how Judge Abrahams obtained his oflice of probate judge 1779, 1781)

character of Judge Reavis ; precincts in which there was a large negro vote,

and not one cast for the republican party 1781

democratic negroes ; their speeches and influence 1783, 1784

Interruption ot the meeting at Eutaw, when Governors Smith and Parsons

spoke 1784

intimidation of witnesses 1784, 17s5

Meridian, not at 1439, 1964

Methodist Church, North, concerning
Lakin s testimony 124, 125

Lindsay s testimony 180,208,218
Clanton s testimony 238

Day s testimony 62o

Echolls s testimony 957-960

MICHAEL, JACOB, Jr., testimony of 1366-1378
sheriff of Marengo County 1366

a democrat 1 372

raised in Alabama * 1 373

six colored men now in jail charged with assaulting Dr. Seth D. Smith with

intent to kill; one had escaped; this one had been whipped, and another

.struck on the head with a pistol 13G6

killing of Robin Westbrook 1367

no one brought to justice for Mr. Neibliu^ s whipping; decrease of colored

population in Marengo County. 3 363, 1373

disturbance at Linden, where Jones withdrew from his candidacy 136D, 1:370, J372,

1373,

anticipated riot at McKinley 1 37 i
,

the whites well disposed toward the blacks ; no difficulty in executing pro-

murder of Robin Westbrook ; state of feeling between the races

names of white republicans in the county ; feeling toward republicans from
the North -

some republicans have left, having made money enough 1374, 1375, 37(5

Jones s political course 1374, J375

patronage to republican newspapers i 375, 1 376, 1 377

Military, strength in State of the 1 356

effect of the presence of 1176-1178, 1181, 1681
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Military, stiviiffth in State of the Continued.

,-,;,! treatment of the ..........................................
&quot;lo-a 10-0

arrests by .............................................................
Jy b 1

1
Miller, Bill, banging of..............................................

;-&quot;-;.;
.**

Miller, Ilemy, killing of............................................. 3,6,205,277,1214

Miller, Jndge William, struck with hickory stick.. ......................
;;;.;&quot;! 101 i.o&amp;gt;

MILLER, WILLIAM, testimony of........................... - ......... -----

[dent &quot;f Mol.ile : resided in Greece County from 1836 to 1869; appointed col

lector .f Mobile, My, 1-69; elected probate judge in February, 1868, and

MICC was made to his taking the office .......................... - - 1

was attacked by Reynolds ............................................... t . ^
disgu iM-d men, operations of bands of..................................... 3,8,9

disguised men, leading citizens opposed to ................................

disguised men, no legal redress for acts of.................................

republicans deterred from voting at election of 1868 ........................

opposition to republican speakers in October, 1868 .........................

colored men afraid to vote ......... .*..................................... ^

riot at Eutaw, Greene County ........................................... 4,5,9,10
freedom of political opinions............................................ 1&amp;gt;2,7, 8, 9

depreciation of real estate in value .......................................

taxes ..................................................................
railroad bonds .............. ......................................... -- H
concerning Union Leagues ........................ ---- ---- - ............. 7

5
8

killing of (Alexander) Boyd, solicitor .................................... 3,7

killing of Samuel Snoddy ................ . .............................. 2,3,6

killing of James Carpenter ..............................................

killing &amp;lt;&amp;gt;t Henry Miller, (colored) ........................................ 3,6

killing of Sam Caldwell, (colored) ...................................... 3,6

killing of 8am Colvin, (colored) .........................................

killing of James Martin, (colored) ........................................
ick on- Burton ....................................... . ........

attack on- Cockrell ............................................... 5,9
attack on witness ...................................................... 5

MINNLS, JOHN A., testimony ot ........................................ .... 527-571
resident of Montgomery ; born and raised in North Carolina; lived in Alabama

since 1866; moved to Tennessee in 1838 ; district attorney of the United
States for the northern district of Alabama ............................. 527

canvassed the second congressional district in Ib70...... ................... 531

hostility to reconstruction, the adoption of the constitution, and to the officers

elected ............................................... 527,551,552,553,554,561
injury to office, books, &c., of Judge Gardner ; his frequent whipping, and at

tempt to assassinate him ............................ . ................. 527
intimidation of colored voters ........ ... ............ .. ................... 528, 534

killing of Mr. Boyd, solicitor of Greene County .................... 528, 529, 555, 556

operations of disguised men .....528, 529, 530, 534, 535, 536, 537, 538, 539, 540, 543, 544,

547,549,550
political meetings interrupted ......................................... 531,532, 539

personal insecurity in expressing political opinions in portions of the State ____ 532

whipping of Wiley Williams and Jerry Webb ; shooting of a colored man ;

burning of a church ; nine or ten negroes whipped ____ ................... 533

whipping of Aaron Lassiter ; he identifies five of the party, who on trial proved
AI\ alibi ............. ................................................. 535

whipping of a negro in Montgomery County by disguised men ; the reason

assigned tor it... ..................................................... 536,537
whipping of Smith Watley by disguised men ; five of them tried, and discharged
upon the defense of an alibi ........................................... 537,538

old negro whipped ...................................................... 538,539
church 1 ned into, one killed and two or three wounded; no parties arrested or

punished ............................................................. 531)
uifhculty in identifying parties ; proving of alibis a general form of defense. .. 539
only republicans whipped or mistreated; attempt to drown- Hender-

s
&quot; .............................................................. 540,557,558

r.-r-e ot \\ rir ; his whipping, and attempts to hang and drown him .......... 541-543
whipping of a negro man and woman in Walker County ; negroes do not enjoy
any move privileges than before the war ................................ 543

confession of K. (.. Davis as to raids by Captain Stewart s company; dis-
tui bancc of J mlge Mudd s court ................... 544
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MINNIS, JOHN A., testimony of Continued.

]). F. Peters nominated by a convention of disguised men 544,545
Sheriff Tread way, cf Jefferson County, compelled to leave home ; charges

against him by the Ku-Klux 545-547
four companies of Ku-Klux in Fayette County, Captains Stewart s, Marshall s,

1 ly de s, and another s 547

whipping and shooting of negro men and ravishing of negro women by Captain
Hyde s company 547, 553

number of colored people killed within the last two years ; hanging and shoot

ing- of a negro man and woman ; character of Judge Mudd 548

whipping of Mr. Wooley and rape on his wife ; he is compelled to leave home ;

whipping of Mr. Fowler and Mr. Tidwell ; negro badly whipped 540

negroes shot at and run off 549, 550
violent prejudice against negroes ; many driven from Fayette County; negro

blacksmith whipped 550

whipping of two white women in Marshall County 550, 551
in many places State laws cannot be enforced in cases of outrages ajrninst ne

groes and white Union men ; palliation and justification of Ku-Klux out

rages 551
tenor of the democratic press 551, 552

opposition to the education of the negro; courts in Fayette County could not

enforce the law without the aid of the military ; salutary effect of the con
viction of Ku-Klux in North Carolina 552

no convictions as yet in Alabama 540,552, 553

whipping of a colored woman in Fayette County ; collector of internal revenue

compiled to resign ; negro killed in Sanford County 553
bitter opposition to negro suffrage 554

operation of the election laws 555, 56 1

the courts were organized under republican auspices ; manner of selecting

jurors 555

probable effect of the removal of political disabilities 560
relations between the races 5( 2
details of conversation with Judge Busteed as to legislation needed, &e., 562,503,501,

505

report of grand jurors of middle district of Alabama 503-504
views of witness ns to increase of powers of United States courts 504-566
discussion as to the admissibility of statement read by witness in further

answer to a question by Mr. Beck 500, 5 7
written statement of witness 507-571

Miscegenation 1390,1391, 1441,1512, 1524,1525
Mitchell, Columbus, shooting of 1U92-1U94
MoiH tte. Mr., raid on house of 1483

Moouey, C. C., suspected of killing a negro 1194

MOORE, ALLEN E., testimony of 1505-15*7
resident of Livingston, Suuiter County; sheriff by appointment 1565
an old line whig 1586
details of the taking of Zeke High from the jail by a band of disguised men,
and his shooting 1 1565-1568, 1571, 1572, 1573, 15/9

High was in jail on a charge of murder 1568
he had been indicted for the killing of Collins in an attempt to arrest him and

others charged with an assault 1569, J579, 1590

killing of Collins 1569, 1570, 1580, 1582, I5.-3

High made no attempt to escape 1571
no one arrested for High s murder: he was known also as Zeke Williams 1574
the Ku-Klux hunt for Dr. Choutteau at his house, guarded by Mr. Coblentz ;

Ccblentz shot one of the party ; Coblentz killed, and George Ha.ston (col

ored) shot ; it was a political trouble ] 574,
&quot;W. J. Prater, confined on a charge of murder, released from jail by a band of

disguised men J576, 1&quot;,77

.negro beaten and his ears cut off; n&amp;lt;&amp;gt; one punished for this offense 15/7

Jasper (colored ; taken from jail and hung ; no arrests made 1578
Kit-hard Burke killed&quot;! . 1578, 157J

negro killed 157;)

another killed on Billy McCree s place 1581
the Belmont riot 1 581

,
15r2

Dr. Choutteau s alleged proposition to poison the negroes ; his radicalism, and
business proscription 1583, 1584. 1 5*5

iiec.tion statistics 1586, 1587

geneial behavior of the negroes 1587
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3, George, outrage upon U60, 1187-1190

. . _r of - *
,

~
1^

i. f *vn/t ~ai

H 111

killed in: Jud^e Cnarlton, Isaac Gibson, Fenelon Ragland, Mr. Williams 3 ;

shot in: Jesse Knicht; outraged in: G. W. Hollowell, Dean Reynolds 2;

Moor--. \ u-Klnx, standing
1 of 724, 767

i.y Weir 653, 654, 659

:i County; number of outrages in 134

kille

sh(

Morrie

Morris,

. Al.raui, killing of ... .

~
.. 1092-1094

-. JAMKS M., testimony of 915-926

has lived in .Madisnii County since 1866 ; a farmer 915

a repubiiean ;
born in New Vork ; moved to Illinois, thence to Iowa and to Ala

bama 917

ch aracter of Joe Gill 916

intimidation of voters 917,918,919,921,922
Ku-Klux, political 917,919,921

outrage upon .Job Kelly ; disarming of negroes 917
visited by the Ku-Klux several times 917, 918, 924

-ill whipped 918,922
Ku-Klux disguises; has seen them six times ; they have gone by the board

long ago ; the organization degenerated into robbing 919
man robbed three times by disguised men 919, 920

killing of John Markham 920, 921
three colored men killed by the Ku-Klux ; no arrests made 923
cannot carry on bis plantation from the difficulty of procuring hands; Ku-
Klux injurious to labor 924

the people favor free schools ; they would not take away negro suffrage if

they voted the democratic ticket ; the negroes republicans 925
al proscription of northern men 926

ieks, organisation of the 1172, 1229
M! I1), WILLIAM S., testimony of. 1745-1771

resident of Elyton, Jefferson County ; one of the judges of the circuit courts
of the State; his district embraces Jefferson, Tuscaloosa, Fayette, Sanford,
Marion, Winston, and Walker Counties ; has officiated as judge for sixteen

years ; a native of Kentucky 1745
no interruption in the courts in his circuit; general condition of the circuit

quiet ; .some outrages by unknown persons, generally at night, and by dis

guised men 1745
im.st of the outrages have proceeded from other causes than political, though

generally visited upon the colored people ; grand juries generally unable to
liiid out the perpetrators ; general peace and quiet in Jefferson County.. . 1746

five homicides in Jefferson County within two years ; two negroes severely
whipped

_

1747
S

a half dozen whippings have occurred in the county ; the colored people gen
erally vote the repuiilican ticket, 1748*

killing &amp;lt;&amp;gt;f a negro in Tuscaloosa Comity, and of Mr. Samuel, an alleged Ku-
Klnx ; a white man and a negro killed .1749

a white man and three or four negroes killed 1750

killing of Mr. Crossland, November, 1808, and wounding of a young man;
Cropland s murder political 1750, 1767,1768

Mr. Miller killed 1750,1751;
a white man, Finlay, and several negroes killed 1751, 1768
fome whippings of negroes in the county ; good many disturbances in Fayette

Cotti d homicides and whippings 1751
man and wife (eolored) taken from the custody of an officer and killed 1752
two colored won.cn killed 1752,1753
the victims of whippings in Fayette uniformly colored ; whippings generally

inflicted after uignt; some parties concerned in these whippings have been
indicted and am-sted, but tke witnesses have disappeared; colo
ravish, d : one homicide in S ;uiiord County, nor by disguised

colored women
men; man

- nit-n for committing rape and murder .................. 1753
; whipping in Sttntord Comity: so;.:e murders in Marion County,

lised men; no crgani/.ation in that county; condition quiet
and orderly as .-my enuniy (inywiieiv: while man taken from jail and whip
ped ny disgnised men; no whippings or murders b disuised men in Win-
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MUDD, WILLIAM S., testimony of Continued.
ston County; they are nearly all republicans there and no negroes ; no homi
cides in Walker County by disguised men; very few colored people there ;

there have been several whippings of colored people in that county within
the last twelve months ........... . .................................... 1754

preamble to the State Ku-Klux act of December, 1868 ..................... 1754, 175f&amp;gt;

views of witness as to the facts contained therein .................... 1755, 1756, 1759
Ku-Klux organization, its extent, &amp;lt;fcc ............... 1755-1758,1761, 1762, 1763,1765
republicans generally the victims of these outrages ........................ 1757
violation of labor contracts ............................................. 1758, 1761)

the principal difficulty in rinding out who these disguised men are ..... 1758, 1759, 1760

general fear prevails in the communities in which the Klans exist ........... 1759
intimidation of witnesses .............................................. 1759, 1763

probable effect of the offerings of rewards; knows of no anti-Ku-Klux organi
zation ; what is needed is a healthy state of public opinion .............. ... 1760

better state of feeling now prevailing ; effect of congressional legislation and
reconstruction ; efforts made to induce the colored people to vote the demo
cratic ticket ; civil and political rights to the negro tended to excite a feeling
of prejudice against them ............................................. 176 1

temporary interruption last spring, at the Fayette court, and its cause. . 176:3, 1763, 1764
convention of disguised men, and candidates nominated in Fayette County.. 1763
has but little doubt that both grand and petit juries have consisted in part of

Ku-Klux; has never known a verdict of a jury that he thought was influ

enced by men belonging to the KUin ; general opinion in favor of colonizing
the negro ............................................................ 1765

cannot speak with certainty as to the party affiliations of those whites who
have committed outrages on negroes; as a general thing old slave-holders
treat the negroes kindly; in all the enumerated cases of outrage no political
cause was assigned ................................................. ] 766

not a great deal of theft and depredation upon cotton and stock in the district. 1767

jail-breaking in Jefferson, Tuscaloosa, JSauford, Marion, and Walker Countie.s. 1768
nine-tenths of the people opposed to all lawlessness ; the condition of affairs in

his circuit as quiet, probably, as before the war ; natural that there should
be great disorders in the revolution of a slave-holding community to a non-

slave-holding one ......................... ............................ 17(59

the two races cannot now live peaceably together, except upon the basis of
civil and political equality: no animosity against the colored men for enter

ing the Union Army ; the colored men remained faithful to their masters dur

ing the war .......................................................... 1770

Murphy, Sheriff Levi, killing of .................................. 748, 765, 766, 773, 992

Nation, Thomas, outrage upon 770, 791

Negro clubs, organization of 903,904,939-941, 1019, 1386

Negro suffrage, popular opinion as to :

Warner, testimony of 31
,
34

Parsons 87,88,92,94
Lindsay 191,5202
Clanton 226, 255, 256
Pettus 383, 395, 396

Pugh 405,406
Miuuis 554
Day 605
Shapard 768
Richardson 843, 844
Lowe 902
Turner 925
Wager 937
Ward 1087
Blackford 1280
Drake 1550
Sanders 1801
Hale 1822
Glover 1889,1890
Hatter 193

Negroes, democratic :

Warner, testimony of 3f

IV A
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Negroes, democratic Continued.

Smith, testimony of 59

Clanton .. 228,229,246,247

Jolly
283

Pierce 304,311

Sayre 356,362
la 402,403

Pugh 405

Dox 434,435

Forney 468,480
Rice 496

Abercrombie 1112-1113

Abrahams 1386

Harris 1588,1592
Cobbs 1623

Herr 1681

Childers 1726
Bennett 1739
Meredith 1783,1784
Gould 1838
Glover 1869,1879,1888

Negroes, education of:

Lakin, testimony of 140

Lindsay 234,236,249,252
Pierce 316

Speed 426,427
Minnis 552
Goodloe 640

Berry 776
Richardson 843
Moss 925

Wager 937
Judkms 1043
Few 1082,1083
Ward 1087
Williams 1103
Blackford 1288
Drake 1548
Kinnard 1730,1731
Sanders 1801,1802
Glover 1889
Hill 192tf
Hatter 1938

Negroes, counsels given by the white leaders to.. 131 8-1 320, 1661, 1679-1681, 1705, 1710, 1713
sale of painted stakes to 238, 314, 316
generally republicans 1618, 1641

, 1642, 1748, 1987
effect of Ku-Klux upon, (see Ku-Klux.)
rapes by 342
outrages upon 230, 242, 1 388, 1 493, 1577, 1682
disguised and committing outrages 162, 172,211,376,488, 1942, 1948, 1955, 1960,

1962, J 963
promises made to 238, 282, 285, 314, 363, 374, 385, 435, 445, 459, 460, 1 133, 1810, 1811
general character and behavior of 242, 503, 856, 907, 962, 967, 975, ] 129 1 130 1 132

1255, 1260, 1261, 1318, 1351, 1387, 1489, 1490, 1587, 1614, 1623, 1641, 1642, 171 1, 17J4,

1770, 1955, 196D
Negroes, (names unknown,) killing of 70,71,179,212,229,286,544,553,609,690 893*

U23,i&amp;gt;:), 1024, 1025, 1034, 1035, 1043, 1044, 1116, 1123, 1124, 1162, 1173, I J93, 1194,

shooting of.

whippiug
, 1268, 1335, 1358, 1389, 1398,1399, 1404,&quot; 14967isl^i^o) 1533, 1634,

1635, 1676, 1738, 1747, 1751, 1754, 1808, 1821, 1822, 1913, 1971
New Departurepopular opinion as to 606 607 769
Newspapers, articles, extracts, &c., from. . .. 113, 114, 329, 667, 668, 1347, 1348, 1470-1475,

v .,
,. 1534-1536,1666-1669,1674
r g whl

PP&quot;ig
of 1338, 1340-1342, 1351, 1352, 1420, 1459, 151 1, 1512, 1548

blmg, M., statement of, as published in the Exponent .1342 1343
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NOBLE, WILLIAM R., testimony of 1055-1059

resident of Montgomery; chief clerk in auditor s office, since July, 1868;

bonded debt of the State, September 30, 1871 ; July, 1868, when the new con

stitution went into effect; and September 30, 1870; amount of bonds issued

since 1868 ; the other indebtedness of the State July, 1868 1055

temporary loans negotiated for the payment of this indebtedness ; receipts and

expenditures for 1869 and 1870 ; rate of taxation for 1868, 1869, and 1870. . 1056

trust funds for school purposes, what they are and how used 1055, 1056

howfarshort the income for 1865, 1866, and 1867 fell of meeting the expendi
tures of the State ; condition of the treasury at the present time ; comparison
with that of last year 1056

issue of State bonds to the Alabama and Chattanooga Railroad 1056, 1057

number of railroads receiving the indorsement of the State
;
none of these

roads have made default upon their bonds ; how the State is secured against loss

by reason of the railroad bonds 1058

Norris, B. W., what the negroes have been taught by 1130, 1131, 1133

Norris rs. Handley, contested election 1040, 1041

NORRIS, Hon. B. W., testimony of 6-1-69

resident of Elmore County 64

lived in Alabama since 1865 - 65, 69

member of Forty-first Congress 65
contestant of seat in Forty-second Congress 69

served in Union Army
engaged in planting 69

disguised men, operations of bauds of 67, 68

disguised men, no convictions for acts of. 68

disguised men, democratic papers excuse acts of 69

freedom of political opinion 65, 66, 68

colored people int i undated 67, 69

teachers driven off

Norther, Bill, identified by Blair C7G

Northern settlers, general character and treatment of, (see Feeling.)

Nutting, Mrs. L. M., raid on house of 1271, 1273, 1481, 1495, 1496, 1525, 1529

Oakley, J., negroes whipped by 1249-1252

Offices, holding of plurality of.&quot;. 1590, 1591
, 1597, 1598, 1882

Offices, sale of 1298-1300, 155^-1561
, 1563, 1564

Olliver, Mr., identified by Watley 1005

Orick, John C., killing of Alex. Webb by 1479, 1492, 1521, 1522

Orr, Simeon, confesses to being captain of Ku-Klux 1126

Outrages on, (for kinds of, see individual names elsewhere)

Acklyn, Peter, (colored,) Madison County, 1870

Alldredge, Edward. Blount County 756

Alston, James H., wife and child of, Macon County 1018

Baxley, Mr., Dallas County
&quot;

375

Bell, Frank, (colored,) Madison County, January, 1870 1232
Bell. Timone, (colored,) Madison County 927

Blackford, William T., Hale County, January 1871 1272,1475-1478,1483,1484,
1493-1497, 1525, 1526, 1529, 1856, 1985

Bradford, Jim, (colored) 1624

Breathitt, Lucy, (colored.) Greene County, April, 1871 1788

Brown, Danger, (colored,) Sumter County, 1871 1595,1596
Burton, Pierce, Marengo County 5,46, 55,290, 1052

Chapman, Mr., Hale County, 1870 1519, 1530, 1531

Chi Mere, John, (colored,) Sumter County, fall of 1870 1719, 1721, 1897-1899

Clark, George A., Sumter County, fall of 1871 417,1614.1845-1849
Clause, Mr., Hale County, 1868 1286,1493
Cockrell, Mr., Greene County, April, 1871 .... 5, 9, 12, 19, 20, 23, 24, 40, 42, 43, 271, 281

Colemau, John Tayloe, Mareugo County, February, 1871 1048, 1049, 1051, 1053

Cornelous, George, (colored,) Madison County, June, 1869 1362, 1195

Crook, Mr., Calhoun County, 1868 . 475,4.87

Daniel, Sir, (colored, ) Jackson County, 1870 995-997

Davis, Carr, (colored,) Greene County, 1870 1214

Dinsmore, Joseph, Blouut County, spring of 187 1

Ford, Lucinda, and family, (colored,) Madison County. October, 1870 1173, 1239

Fuller, John, (colored, ) Madison County, October, 1870 1239

Fullerlove, Robert, (colored,) Choctaw County, October, 1871.. . 1649-1651, 1658, 1659
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Outrages on Continued.

Gill, Joseph, (colored,) Madison County, October, 1870

Godfrey, Danger, (colored,) Sumter County 1736

Hale, Samuel A., Sumter County, 1869 1817

Harris, Nelson, (colored, ) Greene County 272

Hawkins. Thomas, (colored,) Madison County, August, 1869 1166,1167,1202

Henderson, William, (colored, ) Colbert County, August, 1871. ..540,557,558,577-581,
583,584,636-638

Hodnet, J. H., Macon County 1033,1034
Hollowell, George W., (colored,) Morgan County, March, 1871 165, 166, 167,211

931,932

Jones, George, (colored,) Mareugo County, 1870 1388

Jones, William B., Marengo County, 1870 1304-1306, 1313-1315,1317, 1455, 1456,

1504-1509, 1515, 1516

Kelley, Job, (colored, ) Madison County, 1868 917

Leslie, John, (colored,) Madison County, 1869 929,1168,1204

Luney, Corey, (colored, ) Madison County, 1870 930

Manning, Joseph, Madison County, January, 1870 ^ 930

Marchbanks, Alexander, (colored, ) Madison County, October, 1869 865, 866

Mastin, Samuel, (colored,) Madison County, July, 1869 1164,1165,1200
McGregor, Wilie, Limestone County, May, 1871 168,169,212,1173, 1242

McManman, John, Jackson County, July, 1870 1171, 1173, 1220, 1235, 1236

Miller, Bill. Madison County, October, 1869 866

Miller, Judge William, Greene County, December, 1868 5,278
Moore, George, (colored,) Cherokee County, July, 1869 1160,1187-1190
Nation, Thomas, Blount County, April, 1871 770,991
Prior, Miles, (colored, ) Jackson County, 1870 995-997

Reese, Till, (colored, j Mareugo County, July. 1871 1248

Reynolds, Dean, (colored,) Morgan County, January, 1869 127, 1158-1160, 1J86

Roundtree, Robert, (colored,) Cherokee County, July, 1869 1160,1187-1190
Scruggs, , (colored,) Madison County, 1868 857,859,860
Shorter, Caesar, (colored,) Montgomery County 1072, 1073

Smith, Colomay, Autauga County, July, 1870 122.1

Smith, Seth D., Marengo County, July, 1871. ..1253, 1254, 1256, 1258-1260, 1398, 1399,

1400, 1403, 1517

Starkey, William, (colored.) Saint Clair County, August, 1870 122.2

Steele, William, Madisou County, spring of 1870 930

Strong, Marshall, (colored) Madison County, October, 1869 927

^Strong, Wiley, wife of, (colored,) Madison County, December, 1870 668,669
Tread way, Sheriff, Fayette County, October, 1870 545-547
Westbrook, Robin, (colored,) Marengo County, July, 1871 1244-1243

P.

Palmer, Mr., killing of 278
PARSONS, LEWIS E., testimony of 77-101, J M

resident of Alabama since 1839, and of Talladega since 1840; appointed pro-
visional governor ; employed by State authorities to prosecute parties charged y
with the difficulty at Cross Roads or Patona 77

one of republican speakers at Eutaw on the day of the riot 81
one of the counsel for Governor Smith in election contest for governor 83
democrat till 1868, and opposed to reconstruction 95
disguised men, operations of bauds of 79, 80, 88, 98
disguised uion, object of organizations of 79, 92, Q6
disguised men, estimated number in Alabama and Georgia of W
disguised men, no convictions for outrages by 92, 93, 98
disguised men, testimony cf Lewis M. Force concerning 79,92,96, 100
not at Eutaw

80,81, ,96, 100, J 01
not at Lutaw, trial of persons for 83
d ifficulty at? Cross Plains or Patona II 1 1&quot;. 1 1 1 1 II II 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 &quot;. 1 1 1 . .&quot;. .... 77, 78, 79
contest for office of governor 83, 84, 89*90* 91

lorn of political opinions 85 87
negro suffrage ........&quot; ..&quot;..... !!.*87,&quot; 88, 92*, 94
Witnesses threatened HO
hanging of William C. Luke 77
hanging of Tony Cliff, (colored) I _ 77
hanging of Berry Harris, (colored ) 1.11&quot;...&quot;!&quot;!!&quot; 77
hanging of Caesar Frederich, (colored) 77
i -inging of William Hull, (colored) II!&quot;!! 77
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PARSONS, LEWIS E., testimony of Continued.

hanging of Essex Hendricks, (colored)

shooting of Essex Hendricks, (colored)

shooting of Jacob Moore, (colored) 78,79
State courts powerless to control Ku-Klux 98, 99

law of Congress concerning Ku-Klux
colored men on juries

general amnesty 98

democratic party opposed to reconstruction

white people refused to take part in reconstruction 95

character of Judge Luther R. Smith Ill

concerning Union Leagues 88, 92

Patona (Cross Plains) riot at, Parsons s account of 77-79
Clanton s 229,254
Jolly s 275/287
Pierce s 30G

Sayre s 365
Pettus s 386

Speed s 428,429,445
Forney s 462-472, 481-485
Crawford s 1 173, 1236-1238
Whittieid s 1175,1176

Patterson, Mr., killing of Mr. Bryan by .. 1(577

Payton, (Lipscomb,) shooting of, (see LipsconVb) 669

Peace, Geurge, identified by Weir 654,705,707
Pearl, Dennis, killing of 1672,1(573

Peck, E. Woolsey, character, standing, &c., of 1977, 1978, 1980, 1982, 11)83

PECK, E. AVOOLSEY, testimony of 1850-18158

resident of Tuscaloosa ; in the State forty-eight years ; came to Tuscaloosa
from Jefferson County in 1833 ; chief justice of the supremo court ; was
chancellor in 1839 or 1840, or both ; a Union man ; opposed secession ; was
elected to the convention of 1865 ; president of the convention of 1867 1850

was an old-fashioned federalist ; voted generally with the whig party 1859

left New York in 1824 1864

seventy-three years old 1868
social octracism ; feeling against the Government 1850, 1859, 1864, 1805

views of those engaging in the rebellion, as to confiscation, &,c. ; the criminal

laws have not been and cannot be executed, with the present sentiment of

the people 1 851
Ku-Klux organization, its extent, &c 1851,1854,1855,1856,1857
killing of Mr. Crossland and shooting of one of his companions 1851,1852
fifty or more murders in Tuscaloosa County since the war; raid upon Tusca

loosa, and a number killed, including one of the assailants, named Finlay ; no
arrests 1852

negro taken from jail and shot ; killing of a negro near Tuscaloosa ; negro
hanged; killing of Mr. Miller; no one brought to justice ; whipping of a

negro school-teacher ; injury to his school-house 1853

killing of Bill Washington (colored) near Tuscaloosa, and of Mr. Samuel, one
of the attacking party ; no arrests and convictions ; Ku-Klux organization
paralyzes all efforts on the part of the courts to bring the perpetrators of crime
to justice 1 854

the preamble to the State Ku-Klux law of December 26, 1868, substantially

right ; a number killed in Calhouu County by a raid of Ku-Klux ; effect of

the passage of the enforcement act of Congress, and the recent prosecutions
and convictions in North Carolina 1 855

character and standing of Judge Blackford 1855, 185G
raid upon him in Greensborough, Hale County 1 856
intimidation of voters L-56, 1861, 18(52

nothing but military law will ever suppress these outrages 1?57, 1866, 1867
difficulties in the way of the suppression of the Ku-Klux ; democratic sym
pathy with the order 1 ] 857

probable effect of the removal of disabilities : politics of the county officials ;

general treatment of northern immigrants ; business proscription 1858

carpet-baggers 1 860

concerning the adoption of the present State constitution, the officers elected,
and congressional reconstruction , 1860-1862

character of elections 1 862, 1*,63

views of the people as to secession 1865
the de facto confederate State government 1865, 1866
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PECK, E. WOOLSEY, testimony of Continued.

disfrum-hisemrnt, and punishment for treason

none but republicans injured
1867

Perry County, killed in : Greathouse, Harvey McCann 2 ; shot in : Monie
&quot;

Hartley and son 2; whipped in: Alfred Darling, Isaac Hall, Katie La
Grone 3.

Peters D. F.. nominated by convention of disguised men 545, 545

I US. EDMUND W., testimony of 374-403

resident of Selma &*
native of Alabama, and fifty years of age ; solicitor of seventh circuit for ten or

twelve years, and judge of same circuit for four years before the war 375

brigadier general in confederate army
execution of the laws 375

disguised men, operations of bands of 375, 385, 336, 387, 392, 394, 398

disguised men, no punishment for acts of

disguised men, newspapers palliate acts of

opposition to reconstruction 377, 382, 383, 391
,
400

contest for office of governor 376, 379, 396, 397

election laws 379,380,384,402
intimidation of voters 30]

, 398, 403

negro suffrage 383,395,396

promises of land and mules to negroes 385

general amnesty 390, 395

democratic negroes 402, 403

concerning Freedmen s Bureau 390

negroes whipping white men 376

difficulty at Cross Plains or Patona 386

concerning Union Leagues 381,384,393,397,398
killing of Boyd, solicitor of Greene County 387

killing of Frank Diggs, (colored) 375,393,394
killing of Alfred Granger, (colored) 375

hanging of William C. Luke 36
Buxley beaten, throat cut and stabbed by negroes 375

Peyton, (Pattorv, ) Mr.
, whipping of 928

Pickens County, Ku-Klux operations in J790

whipped in: Charles Carter, Frank Carter, Tom Gardner, Wiley Hargrove and
wife, Rev. William Latham, Henry Low, Samuel Low, Bob Stocksville 9.

PIERCE, JOHN G., testimony of 297-319
resident of Eutaw, Greene County, for about twenty years ; a lawyer by pro

fession 297
member of provisional State legislature 304
execution of the laws 297, 315

disguised men, operations of bands of 300, 301, 302, 303, 304, 305, 306, 315

disguised men, no convictions for offenses by 301
riot at Eutaw 301, 302,307, 308, 309, 310, 312, 315, 317, 319
riot at Eutaw, trial of persons for 317
riot at Eutaw, sympathy with persons engaged in 305

negroes, whipping of .- 310, 3/1
negroes, intimidation of, from voting 310, 3f3

negroes, promises of land and mules to 314

negroes, sale of painted stakes to 314, 316

negroes, education of 316

negroes, voting democratic ticket 304, 311
freedom of political opinion 304

difficulty at Cross Plains, or Patona 366
feeling of people in regard to reconstruction 311

difficulty between Boyd and Brown 298, 312
concerning Union Leagues 305, 31 3
killing of (Alexander) Boyd, solicitor 297,298,299,300,312,313,318
killing of Sam Colvin, (colored) 301, 312, 313, 318
killi&amp;gt;, Snoddy 313, 318

Pike County, republicans unsafe in expressing their opinions in 532
r, SydcMiham, address of l(j(J5

j 1666, 1691
i u\Vi;i.L. ( IIAKLi.S, (colored,) testimony of

&quot;&quot;&quot;&quot;. 1845-1850
resident of Lee s Station, Suuiter County 1845
:i pr-uchi-v .&quot;.&quot;&quot;&quot;&quot;&quot;&quot;&quot;&quot;&quot;_&quot; 1846
whipping ,,f witm-ss August, 1*71 ; his shooting and attempted hangino- ; shoot

ing and whipping of Mr. Clark 1845-1849
no one punished for the outrage; shooting of Peter Stewart, (colored,) 1870.. 1847
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POWELL, CHARLES E., (colored,) testimony of Continued.

intimidation of voters ; general feeling of insecurity among colored people ;

was compelled to lie out at night for about two weeks ; Clark s school broken

up 1848

Powell, Charles; whipped and shot 1614,1845-1849
Prater, W. J., killing of Jerry Clark by 1002, 1672, 1949

Prater, W. J., released from jail 1002, 1576, 1577, 1594,

1621, 1622, 1629-1631, 1639, 1672, 1945, 1954, 1964
Preamble to State Ku-Klux act 541 896,1754,1755

views as to, of

Coleman 664, 665
Richardson 835,836
Green 896
Mudd 1754,1755,1756,1759
Peck 1855

Price, Daniel, character, &c., of, by
Gillespie 1615, 1616
Cobbs 1623-1624,1640
Herr 1663,1664,1689,1690,1706,1714
Hall 1816-1818,1825
Smith 1956-1958, 1963

Prior, Miles, outrage upon 995-997

Prior, Miles, raid on house of 994, 995
Prisoners rescued from jail by disguised men 345
Proclamation of Mayor Smith forbidding armed organizations 1957

Proscription, social and business, of

Moss 92C
Hawkins s wife 1329
Davis 1429,1430,1431
Jones 1 465
Drake 1548
Choutteau 1584
teachers of colored schools 161*J

Hale 1822,1823,1825
Judge Peck 1850, 1859, 1864, 1865

professional men 1858
Public opinion at close of war 226,227,24(1
Public press, tone of, as to constitutional amendments and negro suffrage 844,845

as to Ku-Klux outrages, (democratic papers palliating or indorsing) 69,551,981,
1028,1461,1841,1844

failure to report outrages 836, 837, 937, 1294, 1429
denunciation of 893
all outrages noticed by democratic papers 1421

PUGH, Hon. JAMES L., testimony of 403-413
resident of Eufala 403
member of United States Congress before the war and member of confederate

congress for four years ; a lawyer by profession 404
execution of the -laws 404, 407

disguised men, operations of bands of 405, 411

disguised men, no punishment for acts of 411

negro suffrage 405, 406

negroes voting democratic ticket 405
freedom of political opinions * 409, 413

general amnesty V 407, 412

feeling of people toward the Government 406

feeling of people toward northerners 416
law of Congress in regard to Ku-Kluk 410,411,413

Q-

QUINNEY, JAMES A. R., testimony of 1354-1355
lives near Spring Hill, Marengo County 1354
was at John Crudip s the night Robin Westbrook was killed ; staid all night ;

Crudip s sons were there 1354

they got up between 3 and 4 o clock and started for Greene County on a visit. 1354, 1355
does not think they left the room during the night, as he lay in the same room

with them and was awake several times.. 1355
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Races friendly relation between the ...252,335,353,356,1111,1113,1372,1410,1411,1661,
1662, 1766, 1955

Ragland, Feiielon, killing of................................................. 428,610

Raid on house of- Beasley ........................................................ 1675

Rehecca Campbell ................................................ i^o i^n **
Orland Charles ................................................... 1478,1479,1497
Jud^e Carlton ................ - ................... .................. 774

Dr thoutteau .. ..1574, 1575, 1594, 1595, 1598, 1602, 1604, 1622, 1623, 1631, 1632, 1668,

1669, 1674, 1946, 1947, 1964, 1965

court-house ........................................................... 1657

Sam Davis ............................................................ 1973

Ignatius A. Few ........................................................ 1081

Major Gardiner ......................................................... 862

Joseph Gill ............................................................ 813

Judge Hale ............................................................ 729

Samuel Horton ................................................. 729,730,732,773

George W. Houston ................................................... 1674,1702
Isaac Hyman.... ................................................. 1044,1045,1087
Lewis Jackson ................................................. 982,983,993-997

Henry Kidd ........................................................... 867,868
Samuel Lawler ....................................................... 1231,1232
Mr. Lee ............................................................... 1333

Jack Leslie ........................................................... 1168,1204
Mrs. Lindsay .......................................................... 946,947

Joseph Manning .......................................... . ............ 930
Nathan Meeks ........................................................ 1201,1202
Mr. Monette ....................... . ................................... 1482
James M. Moss ...................................................... 917,918,924
L.M. Nutting ............................... 1271,1273,1481,1495,1496,1525,1529
Miles Prior ............................................................ 994, 995
Mrs. Russell ........................................................... 771--

Scruggs ........................................................ 857,859
A.J.Steele ............................................................ 944

Wiley Strong .......................................................... 668, 672
Daniel Vix ........................................................... 1162, 1 1 96
Jonn Ward ........................................................... 1045, 1 046 .

Leonard L. Weir ....................................................... 701

Betsey Westbrook ...................................................... 1 243
Jack White ..................................................... 1166,1167,1202
James Wooden ........................................................ 771

Railroad bonds, indorsement by State of ......................... 193-199,218,1056-1058,
Railroads, alleged corruption in procuring legislation for ........... 252, 359-361, 965, 1424

State system of......................................................... 519, 520
*

State loans to ......................................................... 1411, 1418*
State compelled to pay interest on bonds of................................ 1417
relative to Alabama and Chattanooga ................................ 971,972,1057

Rapes, cases of............................................ 446,547-549,553,930,1753
Ray, Ruff, identified by Blair ............ 676
REAVIS, TURNER, testimony of........................................... 331-355

resident of Sumter County since July, 1838 ; State senator for four years dur
ing the war; resigned office of circuit judge before the war ............... 331

V

democrat in politics ...... . ............................................. 355
execution of the laws ......................................... ._ , ...... 331,344
disguised men, operations of bands of..... 332, 333, 334, 339, 340, 346~349,&quot;350, 352, 353

ised men, no punishment for acts of........................... 333, 340, 345, 347
dtagoieed mm, persons rescued from jail by ............................... 345
not at Eutaw ....................................... _. ........ 338,340,348,349,354
reeling between whites and blacks ..................... ................. 335,353
freedom of political opinions ...................... 333

Q of people toward Government ............................ . 339353
opposition to reconstruction ................ 342
law of Congress concerning Ku-Klux .......... &quot;..339*347, 349, 354, 355
combining Judge Luther R. Smith ................. 331332
killing of (Alexander) Boyd, solicitor ...........

&quot;

333 345 351
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REAVIS, TURNER, testimony of Continued.

killing of Coblentz 344

killing of Richard Burke, (colored) 334, 335, 346, 349, 351

Reconstruction policy, opposition to 34,95,101,202,215,241,293,377,528,561
republicans in favor of 106
E. W. Pettus s views as to 382, 383, 391

,
400

P. M. Dox s . 435, 436

Judge Peck s 1860-1862
the cause of much turbulence 822
distasteful and oppressive 1409

REESE, TILLER, (colored, ) testimony of 1248-1251
works at the steam-mill; sou of Betsey Westbrook 1248

killing of his step-father Robin; outrage upon witness; recognized Wash El-

kins, Georgey Crudip, and Sid Lipscomb 1248
Sid Lipscomb struck by his step-father 1248, 1251
was examined before the coroner; left Jefferson July 19, for Demopolis, from

fear ; had a fight with Watt Bradley 1249

two colored men, charged with stealing, whipped at a store in Jefferson, by Dr.

Smith and J. Oakley 1249,1250

Reffiiey, Thomas, whipping of 928

Republicans not permitted to speak
Miller, testimony of 1

, 2, 8, 9

Hays 16,20,23
Warner 28-30,42
Norris 65, 66, 68
Parsons 87

Smith 109

Clark 263

Speed 421

Chapman 1952

Republicans not free to express their political opinions

Lindsay, testimony of 220

Say re 363, 374

Puffh - 409, 410, 4 1 3

Dox 430

Day 593, 594, (507

Republicans whipped for their politics 681, 951, 1012, 1 136, 1137, 1757, 1993, 1995, 1997,

2001,2006
shot or killed for their politics 774, 1033, 1034, 1047, 1244, 1247, 1750, 1767

business proscription of 1051
,
1052

persecution of - 1081
, 1084, 1 139, 1 175

only, visited by disguised men 1421,1461,1726,1772, 1867,1991,2004

Republicanism the cause of whippings, &c 1430, 1431, 1462, 1724

Renshaw, Ben, shooting of 1011

Reynolds, Dean, beating of, with clubs and guns 127,1158-1160, 1186

RICE, SAMUEL F., testimony of 492-525
resident of Montgomery ; resided for fourteen years in Talladega ; has been a

member of house and of senate of State legislature; also judge and chief

justice of State supreme court ; a lawyer by profession ; went to Alabama in

1838 492
counsel for Governor Smith in contest for office of governor 497
was brought up a democrat 507
is now a republican 506
execution of the laws 493, 520

disguised men, operations of bands of 493, 518, 519

disguised men, counties responsible for damages by
disguised men, no punishment for acts of 493
election laws 503, 521

, 522, 523, 524
contest for office of governor 497-501,511-518
general amnesty 504, 505, 509
freedom of political opinion 494, 495, 496
colored voters intimidated 495, 496

negro suffrage 503

negroes voting democratic ticket 496
behavior of colored people 503

opposition to reconstruction 495
railroad legislation 519, 520

concerning Judge Luthur R. Smith 505, 509, 5!0

concerning Governor Parsons 506. 507
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KICHARDSON, WILLIAM, testimony of 815-856

native of the State ; thirty-three years old ; a lawyer ; was in the confederate

army ; was a Union man and made a Union speech 815

subsequently followed the fortunes of his State; member of the State legisla

ture in 18155 816

general disposition on the part of the people of Limestone, Colbert, Lawrence,
and Morgan Counties to obey the laws ; dissatisfaction with the State Ku-
Klux act of December 26, 1868 816

enumerates as causes of dissatisfaction, and the reason why the laws are not

promptly executed, the inefficiency, incompetency, and character of the men
holding office, and that they had been imposed by act of Congress 817

organization and object of the Loyal League ; thinks it the parent of the Ku-
Klux organization 818, 839, 840, 855

tli Huntsville riot of October, 1868 818-821,834,849,654
killing- of .Judge Silas Thurlow ; shooting of William W. Cox and Roper. 820
no Ku-Klux organization in Madison County now ; no difficulty in executing

the law 821

much of the disorder in the State caused by the reconstruction act; probable
effect of general amnesty 822

witness s views as to President Lincoln s call for 75,000 troops 823
secession convention of 1861 and its action 824

opposition to secession, as shown in the vote for Douglas and Bell as against
Breckinridge 825

how the United States flag, as an emblem of the Union and of the sovereignty
of the United States, is regarded by those who sympathized with the rebel

lion since and during the war 825, 826, 850
doctrine held by the democratic party of Alabama as to right of secession 826,827
witness s views as to right of secession and revolution, and as to what consti

tutes treason 827-831
of State sovereignty and citizenship 831,832,850
was twice invited to join the Ku-Klux 833, 855

strength of the Ku-Klux in Madison County in 1 868 834
the preamble to the State Ku-Klux law of December 26, 1868, untrue ; the law
was bitterly assailed by the democratic party 835, 836

reports of Ku-Klux outrages in democratic and republican newspapers 836, 837
knows of no convictions for Ku-Klux outrages 837

objects of the Ku-Klux organization 849
relative party vote of Madison County 840, 841
p-i.eral opinion as to northern settlers, and how influenced by their political

opinions _ 841
,
842

.

favors education of the colored children 843
views of the demociutic party of Madison County as to the fifteenth amend
ment and negro suffrage 843, 844

tone of the democratic press of the State relative thereto 844,845-
enumerates as sources of complaint the election law 845
the presence of United States troops 846
the inability of the leading men, the centralizing tendencies of the Govern

ment, and the political disabilities imposed by the fourteenth amendment- . . 847 *
his opinion as to whether the men subject to political disabilities are opposed to

making application for relief; favors general amnesty 848
alleged outrages by General Turchin s troops in Athens, in 1862 850, 851
the people of the South have submitted in good faith, and are sincere in trying

to restore good feeling ; they have now no hostility to the Government, or
intention to overthrow it ; general amnesty the wisest policy 851 ^

Ku-Klux introduced into the State in 1867 ; law of December 26, 1868 852*
Mn- ts ordered by Ku-Klux to cease his speeches 852,854,856

testimony of William K. Chisholm relative thereto 853, 854
the republican party of the State has urged the removal of all political disabil

ities ; general conduct and behavior of the negroes since the surrender 856
I&amp;gt;L!.. A. A. .!., testimony of 1504-1518

lent &amp;lt;&amp;gt;f McKiuley ; a planter and physician 1504

Interruption
of political meeting, at Linden, where Wiiiiam B.&quot;jo&quot;ne*s&quot;was

ting, and bis withdrawal from the canvass 1504-1509, 1514, 1515, 1516
Jones shot at m Chickasabogue swamp J507

LT against Dr. Jones .......I 1508
ling a-aiiKst republican office-lioYders! . . . .&quot;&quot; &quot;. 1510

laws generally enforced in Marengo County; killing of Robin Westbroo k&quot; 1511
whipping ot Mr. Neibling

*

1511,1512
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RIDDLE, A. A. J., testimony of Continued.

miscegenation 1512
Ku-Klux organization ; its extent, &c 1513, 1514

killing of Abe Lyon 1514
character of Mr. Jones s speeches 1515

display of the United States flag at republican meetings, but not at democratic. 1516

whipping
1 of Richard Lewis to make him confess firing upon Dr. Smith 1517

Riddle, Mrs., whipping of 157,158
Riot in Eutaw, (see Eutaw.)

in Huntsville, (see Huutsville.)
in Meridian 1439

Rioters, trial of Eutaw, (see Eutaw.)
Rivers, Henry, shooting of 1165,1190,1200,1201
Roper, George, shooting of 688-688, 694, 820, 874, 900

ROPER, GEORGE, (colored, ) testimony of 686-694
lived in Huntsville iu November, 1868 686
was in the Union Army 689
describes when and under what circumstances he was shot 686-688, 694

recognized Captain Cox as one of his assailants ; none of them were disguised- 688

many colored people Ku-Kluxed in the fall of 1868 ; a great many arms taken
from them ; witness s gun taken 689

colored man killed ; wounding of Captain Cox; killing of Judge Thurlow. .. 690
the case investigated by the military and the grand jury 692, 693

Roundtree, Robert, struck with pistol 1160,1187-1190
Russell, Mr., killing of Levi Murphy by 748,765,766,773
Russell, Mrs., raid on house of 771

Samuels, Mr., alleged Ku-Klux, killing of 1749,1854,1975
SANDERS, EDWARD CLEMENT, testimony of 1797-1812

resident of Gainesville, Sumter County ; a carpenter ; was a whig 1797
was in the confederate army 1800

killing of Richard Burke 1798,1807,1808,1812
Jasper taken from jail and killed 1798, 1799,1808, 1809
Zeke High taken from jail and killed 1799,1808
Ku-Klux organization; extent, &c 1800, 1801, 1803-1807, 1809,1810
a great many persons killed and whipped in different parts of the county ; as

many as twenty or thirty cases 1800
thinks it would be a good deal better for the negroes if they were back in

slavery ; does not believe in negro suffrage 1801
believes in negro education 1801, 1802
witness s views as to the necessary qualifications for voters ; the last election

democratic ; the negroes, to all appearance, voting without any apprehen
sion 1802

the colored men afraid of the Ku-Klux 1807

palliation of Ku-Klux 1807, 1810

shooting of Hayne Richardson, (colored ;) negro whipped in Greene County.. 1808

promises of lauds and mules to negroes 1810, 1811

Union League organization ; its extent, &c 1811
Sauford County, whipping in 1754

Sapp, Mr., killing of 942,1162,1196,1197
SAYRE, P. T., testimony of 355-374

resident of Montgomery ; a lawyer by profession 355
execution of the laws 356
election laws 358, 367, 368, 369

disguised men, operations of bands of. 356, 361
, 364, 365, 373

disguised men, prosecutions for acts of 367
railroad legislation, &c 359, 360-361

, 364, 373

feeling between whites and blacks * 356, 371

opposition to State constitution 358, 364
democratic negroes 356, 362
contest for office of governor 36 1

,
362

concerning Freedmen s Bureau 357, 371
taxes 360, 372
freedom of political opinions 363, 374

promise of lands and mules to negroes 363, 374

difficulty at Patona, or Cross Plains 305

concerning Union Leagues 357, 362, 371

killing of Mr. Boyd, solicitor 365
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Scalawags 233,746,888,1294,1422,1609,1982

Scales, Sam, killing of 666,719

Scarborough, Mr., killing of

School-bouses burned 52, 140, 236, 754, 932, 1025, 1026, 1 043, 1 046, 1288, 1363, 1548,

1614,1655,1731,1739,1920
School system and tax 970, 971

School fund, how administered 227,232,240,248,1055,1056
Schools broken up 754,1087,1088,1138,1268,1269,1329,1330,1848

Schools, outrage upon teachers of 52, 54, 67, 140, 755, 1 047, 1 138- 1 140, 1 853

Scruggs, , robbing of 857,859,860

Scruggs, raid on house of 857, 859

Secession, right of, &c 824-832,850,904,905,1865
Selma and Meridian Railroad Company forbidden to employ negro firemen 1293

Shapard, William, character as to veracity of 782,790,791,872,885,984,988,989
SHAPARD, WILLIAM, testimony of

f
744-769

sixty-seven years old ; lives in Blount County ; native of Virginia ; a farmer ;

a Union man - 744

is persecuted on account of his political sentiments 744, 745

scalawags and carpet-baggers notified to leave the country 746

objects of the Ku-Klux organization 747

killing of Levi Murphy, sheriff, by Russell, an alleged Ku-Klux 748, 765, 766
all the men killed were republicans ; cites cases of Levi Murphy, Russell Camp

bell, Lemuel Falkner, Lewis Ketchum, and Higgins ; John F. Mc
Dowell whipped for voting the republican ticket, and driven from home .... 749

Ku Klux an organized band ; their number and disguises 750, 753
character of grand jurors 75 1

intimidation of voters 752, 768, 769
schools broken up and school-houses burned 754
churches burned ; threats against school- teachers; beard Lewis Copeland make

threats 755
existence of Ku-Klux denied 755, 756
woman whipped and driven off; Edward Alldredge and Joseph Dinmore shot at. 756

whipping of James Horton 756, 757, 767
character of Mr. Lakin 757, 758

firing at camp-meeting the evening Mr. Lakin preached 758, 759, 760
exhibition on camp-ground of Mrs. Horton s monstrous birth 759, 760

frequent indictment of witness in the last twenty years 760, 761
obtained money from General Burke during his canvass for Congress 761-763
his testimony in the election case of Hines and Sherrod before Judge Busteed s

court 763

standing of Mr. Moore, alleged cyclops 767
witness acquitted on all indictments without summoning a witness; has many

enemies on account of his political principles ; intense hatred in the commu
nity against the Government ; views of the democrats of Blount County as
to the fifteenth amendment and negro suffrage 768

and as to the &quot;new departure&quot; 769
Sheely, Alex., whipping of 101 1

Sheets, C. C., notified to quit making speeches 852, 854, 856
*

Shiloh, disturbance of meeting at 1431,1453, 1539,1540, 1543, 1544

Shootings :

Alston, James H., (colored,) Macon County, June, 1870 229, 1017, 1018 1023,
1029, 1031, 1036, 1037, 1059-1061, 1068, 1069, 1091,
1092, 1094,, 1096, 1097, 1104, 1105, 1108-1110, 1J13

Charles, Orlando, wife of, (colored,) Hale County, 1870 1478, 1479, 1497
Cox, William W., Madison County, 1868 432,690,785,786,820,874,900-
Dew, Henry, (colored,) Greene County, spring of 1871 1789, 1790, 1796

*&quot;

Dougherty, William, Macon County, June, 1S70 1023, 1024, 1032, 1062, 1064, 1065

Etheridge, J. S., Sumter County 1676
Fletcher.

, ( colored, )JIale County, August, 1871 1284,1482
Gardner, Judge, Butler County, 1868 527
Goshe, Adam, (colored, ) Macon County, October, 1870 1092-1094
Hartley, Monie, and son, (colored, ) Perry County, April, 1871 416, 422
Hill, Judge F. M., Choctaw County, February, 1871 ....50, 103, 1627, 1891, 1916-1918
Houston, George W., (colored,) Sumter County, August, 1869 999, 1000, 1574,

1575, 1595, 1607, 1622, 1623, 1631, 1632, 1673, 1674, 1737, 1949, 1954, 1964
Houston, George W., son of, (colored,) Sumter County, August, 1869 999, 1000
Isham, (Ezell O (colored,) Choctaw County, 1871 1334,1335
Isham, Ezell, wife of, (colored,) Choctaw County, 1871 1335
Jolly, Alfred, (colored,) Sumter County 1001
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Shootings Continued.

Ketchuni, Lewis, Blount County, December, 1870 742,775,791
Knight, Jesse, Morgan County, 1869 127

Larkin, Ned, sou of, (colored,) Jackson County, December, 1870 932

Lawler, Sam, Jackson County, February, 1870 932,1231,1232
Lipscomb, Peyton, (colored, ) Madison County, August, 1871 669, 945, 950, 952

Mitchell, Columbus, (colored,) Macon County, October, 1870 1092-1094

Moore, Jacob, (colored, ) Caihoun County, July, 1870 78. 79

Powell, Charles, (colored,) Sumter County, August, 1871 1614,1845-1849
Randolph, Mr 1978, 1979

Reid, Ro-bert, (colored,) Sumter County 1459

Renshaw, Beu, (colored,) Coosa County, January, 1871 1011

Richardson, Hayne, Sumter County, August, 1870 1776,1781,1808
Rivers, Henry, (colored,) Marshall County, August, 1869 1165,1190,1200,1201

Roper, George, (colored,) Madison County, November, 1868 686-688,694,820,
874, 900

Sledge, Enoch, (colored,) Sumter County, 1869 998,99:)

Springfield, II. J., Saint Clair Count, July, 1870 1171,1217-1220,1222,1223
Stewart, Peter, (colored,) Sumter County, 1870 1847

Strong, Wiley, (colored,) Madison County, December, 1870 668,672,930
Trair.blies, America, son of, (colored,) Chambers County, 1870 1047

Trawick, Mr , Fayette County 1986

Turner, Prior, (colored,) Madison County, March, 1869 133, 150,883.897
Wright, Felix, (colored,) Macon County, October, 1870 J092-1094

SHORTER, C^SAR, (colored,) testimony of 1072-107H
lives in Montgomery ; votes the democratic ticket 1072
was a servant of Governor Shorter ; was a, republican; turned democrat, be

cause he was disappointed in the operations of the Union League 1073, 1074
servant now of Governor Lindsay 1077
has been frequently threatened with violence because he was a democrat ;

thinks other democratic negroes have been intimidated 1072
disturbance at a democratic meeting, and witness struck 1072, 1 073
none of the colored race fit for office 1074

is not in favor of the fifteenth amendment 1075
is afraid of his colored brethren 1076
has had no trouble in voting ; has seen in democratic papers where colored men
have been whipped by their own people 1078

Simmons, Mr., whipping of 717

Simpson, Mr. , killing of 1971
, 1972, 1984, 1985, 1991

Sisscomb, George, identified by Reynolds 116
Sledge, Dennis, killing of 1736

Sledge, Mack, shooting of 998, 999, 1736, 1949

Sledge, Frank, killing of 998,999
Smith, , killing of 611. 786, 893

Smith, Arthur A., received Ku-Klux letters 1295, 1328

SMITH, ARTHUR A., testimony of 44-64
resident ofChoctaw County,aud engaged in planting; formerly resident ofGreene

County and clerk of county court 44

resigned office of circuit clerk of Greene County 52, 53
lived in Alabama since May, 1869 53

appointed circuit clerk in October, 1869 53, 60

superintendent of education for Greene County 52, 60

disguised men, operations of bands of &amp;lt;. 48, 57

disguised men, trial of persons for acts of .. 56

disguised men, witnesses afraid to testify against 58, 61

disguised men, courts unable to punish acts of 58
riot at Eutaw, Greene County 44,45,62
riot at Eutaw, trial of persons for 51 ,54
colored j urors 53

burnings in Choctaw County 51,58
anonymous threatening letters 50, 52, 63
school-houses burned 52
teachers of colored schools driven away 52, 54

negroes voting democratic ticket 59

negroes afraid to vote - 59
whites thoroughly and negroes partially armed 64

concerning Judge Luther R. Smith 51, 53

difficulty between Boyd and Brown 49

firing at Judge F. M. Hill 50
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SMITH, ARTHUR A., testimony of Continued.

killing of Mr. Boyd, solicitor 48, 57, 58, 59, 63

killing of Snoddy 49

attack .n Mr. Burton 46,55

Smith, Colomay, knocked down and shot at

SMITH, EDWARD W. , testimonyof 1955-1969

resident u( Livingston, Somter County ; a lawyer; native of North Carolina;

was mayor of Livingston ; is a member of the legislature 1955

^democrat ; was in the confederate army 1962

relations between the races immediately after the war ; these conditions changed
in about a year, owing to the evil influence of a few white men ; disorderly

conduct of the negroes 1955, 1960

armed bands of negroes and their behavior 1955, 1960, 1962, 1963

issued a proclamation forbidding armed organizations 1955, 1956

character and actions of Price, Rolfe, Hayes, and others 1956, 1957, 1958, 1963

copy of proclamation issued ; character of the election of 1868 1957

arrest of Mr. Barker, Mr. Ennis, and five or six others by the military under

Lieutenant Ryan 1958,1959
character of the canvass of 1870 in Sumter County 1959, 1960

no attempts at intimidation of voters 1960

Loyal League, its extent, &c 1960,1962,1963

whipping of Amanda Childers by Mr. Jones 1960, 1961

Kn-Klux Klan, its extent, &c 1963,1964, 1965,1966,1967,1968,1969
riots at Eutaw and Meridian ; Zeke High and Jasper taken from jail and

killed; Prater released from jail ; killing of Richard Burke, and shooting of

George Houston 1964

Choutteau s house shot into and Coblentz killed 1964, 1965

does not remember an instance of any of the men concerned in these outrages

being punished 1965
efforts made to discover the perpetrators of the outrages on Jasper, Coblente,
Zeke High, Burke, Choutteau, and Houston 1965, 1966

Dr. Browning killed in the raid on Choutteau s house 1966

Smith, J. S., identified by Dougherty 1024, 1032,1033
Smith, Judge J. Q. ,

warned not to hold court 1871, 1872,1889
Smith, Judge J. Q., adjournment of court of 1918

Smith, Judge L. R. burning of mill, &c., of 1269,1293,1419,1611,1643,1872,1873
Smith, Judge L. R, character of 176,177,263,1610-1612,1644,1645,1878,1879
Smith, Judge L. R., notified to resign 16,295, 1644

SMITH, LUTHER R., testimony of 101-111
resident of Choctaw County ; went to Alabama in 1865 ; register of Choctaw 4

and Chickasaw Counties ; judge of seventh judicial circuit 101
mill and gin-house burned 105
called upon to resign office of circuit judge 103,106,108,109
anonymous threatening letters 103, 104, 108

disguised men, operations of bands of 101
, 103, 1 05

disguised men, no punishment for acts of 1 07
v

disguised men, witnesses afraid to testify against 107 &amp;gt;

officers requested to resign 103,106,108, 109 *

witnesses killed or driven off 103

opposition to reconstruction 106
freedom of political opinion 109
law of Congress concerning Ku-Klux 108
trial of Eutaw rioters 105

killing of Mr. Boyd, solicitor 101 &amp;lt;

killing of Nathanial Edwards, (colored) 102 ^

shooting of Judge Hill 103

whipping of Mr. Latham 104
Smith, Mr., fray with Mr. Randolph 1778, 1779
SMITH, S. D., testimony of 1251-1262

resident of Jefferson ; a practicing physician J251
native of North Carolina 1262
negroes charged with stealing from a store in Jefferson struck by witness and

J. VV. Oakley 1251, 1252

v Robin Westbrook killed ; coroner s inquest held ; no one implicated ; knows
the parties identified by Betsey Westbrook and Tiller Reese in their testi

mony before the committee ; was not called in to see Lipscomb ; never
heard of his being injured 1252

character of Robin Westbrook 1253, 1 259, 1260, 1262
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SMITH, S. D., testimony of Continued.

shooting at witness by negroes calling themselves Ku-Klux.. ..1253, 1154, 1256, 1258,

1259, 1260
much trouble in the community from thefts of stock ; crimes of the freedmen, 1255
character and standing of Elkins 1255, 1258
nine arrested for the outrage upon witness ; two were released, one escaped,
and six are in jail awaiting trial; was not at the coroner s inquest over the

body of Westbrook ; thinks there would have been no danger in the mother
and son implicating the men who killed Westbrook 1256

there were two opinions as to the parties who committed the murder 1256, 1258
character of Lipscomb 1257, 1258
and of Mr. Crudip
general behavior of the negroes 1260, 1261
no intimidation of democratic voters in his precinct ; no feeling against West-
brook because he was a radical 1 201

Smith. S. D., shot at by negroes 1253, 1254, 1256, 1258-1260, 1398-1400, 1403, 1517

Smith, S. U., negroes whipped by 1249-1252

Suoddy, Samuel, killing of 2,3,6,49,258,265,277,313,318
Snodgrass, Ben, killing of 428

Somner, John, identified by Vix 1196

SPEED, JOSEPH H., testimony of 413-427
resident of Eutaw ; born and educated in Virginia 413
teacher before the war ; officer in confederate army ; whig up to the war

;

republican since the war 414

disguised men, operations of bands of 414,415,418,419,420,421
disguised men, no punishment for acts of 419, 420
execution of the laws 414

anonymous threatening letters 418, 423
riot at Eutaw 423

concerning State University 418, 425, 427
education of negroes 426, 427
colored voters intimidated 419
freedom of political opinions 421

general amnesty 425

concerning Rev. A. S. Lakin 427

whipping, shooting, and hanging of George A. Clark 417

killing of Mr. Boyd, solicitor 420

killing of Stillings 415

killing of Greathouse, (colored) 417

shooting of Monie Hartley and son, (colored) 416, 422

whipping of Isaac Hall, (colored) .. 415,416
whipping of Alfred Darling, (colored) 416

whipping of Katie La Grone, (colored) 417, 422

Springfield, H. J., wounding of 1171,1217-1220,1222,1223
Stakes, sale of 1 134

Starkey, William, hanging of 1222
State administration, character of 244, 965, 1178, 1 180, 1715, 1717
State debt, bonds, &c 977-979, 1055-1057, 1411, 1417, 1418, 1424
State government, reorganization of 906, 907, 909, 910
Saint Clair County, outrages, in : William Starkey ; killed in : Frank Harrison ;

shot in: H. J. Springfield.
STEELE, ANTHC^Y, (colored,) testimony of 948-951

lives in Madison County, 948
was visited by disguised men ; character of the disguises worn 949
Wash Strong, Henry Johnson, and Peyton Lipscomb whipped ; the latter

shot 950
STEELE, ARCHIBALD JACKSON, testimony of 944-948

a preacher ; lives in Madison county ; seventy-two years old ; manages a plant
ation &quot;. 944

was a Union man 947, 948
is a democrat 948
was visited by bands of disguised men five or six times since the war ; on their

first visits they did not interfere with anything or anybody 944

object of the visit, on August 23, 1871, to abuse the colored people living with
him ; the negroes were taken to the woods and beaten unmercifully, shot at,

and one wounded ; their names were Henry Johnson, Peyton Lipscomb,
and Washington Strong 945

Peyton Lipscomb was the one shot 946
raid on Mrs. Lindsay s house 946, 947
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STEELE, ARCHIBALD JACKSON, testimony of Continued.

frequent raids on Rebecca Campbell s house ; she is struck on the head with a

cluuble-barreled shot-gun by Yarbrough ; no one arrested, except Yarbrough,

for any of these outrages
947

Steele, William, banging of - -

8TEWABT, NATHAN L., testimony of .- U05~8
lives on the road to Jefferson, six miles from Demopohs, Marengo County
was an overseer ; a native of the State - 1407

thinks Westhrook was killed in August ; knows Sib Lipscomb ; he was at home

when the murder was committed 1405

he was sick and witness waited on him ;
he did not leave the house that night. .

Stewart, Peter, shooting of - 1847

STICKNEY, CHARLES L., testimony of 1518-1537

resident of Hale county ; a planter ; native of the State 1518

has an interest in the manufacture of shoes, harness, &c 1519

the laws executed ; good order prevails 1518

character, standing, &c., of Dr. Blackford 1518,1519,1520,1523,1524
Mr. Chapman visited and insulted 1519,1530,1531

good efltect of Ku-Klux operations 1519, 1520, 1530, 1531, 1532

gin-house burned by a negro and he shot by disguised men 1519,1520,1533

burning of Green s house, of Andy Johnson s livery stable, and Robert John
son s workshop 1520

Aleck Webb killed by John Orick ; the riot in consequence 1521
,
1522

arrest of Gewer 1522

rnicegeuation 1 524, 1522

Mrs. Nutting s house fired into ; her character and standing 1525, 1529

raid on Dr. Blackford 1525,1526,1529
the difficulty in following and ascertaining who were the perpetrators of these

offenses 1526,1527,1528

McGrary released from jail 1528,1529
never heard of the Ku-Klux being guilty of any brutal outrage ; heard of a

negro being visited and moderately whipped ; that not an act of brutality.. 1530

Ku-Klux organization, extent, &c 1530,1531,1532

palliation of Ku-Kiux outrages -- 1531 ,
1532

editorials from the Alabama Beacon read, and comments of witness 1534-1536

Stillings, , killing of 415

Stock, stealing of 1313,1686, 1717,1767,1839,1842,1844,1941
Stocksville, Bob, whipping of 1995, 1998, 2001 ,

2006

Strange, Mr., killing by Mr. Burrus of 658

Stratton, Mr., killing of 1677

Strong, Marshall, taking of gun of. 92?

STRONG, WASHINGTON, (colored,) testimony of 956-957
works on Mr. Steele s place 956

whipped by disguised men ; character of the disguises worn 956,957
negroes afraid to vote . 957

Strong, Washington, whipping of 669, 946, 950, 952, 956, 957

STRONG, WILEY, (colored,) testimony of 668-674
lives a mile above New Market, on Joseph H. Miller s quarter 68
his house attacked by disguised men and witness shot, in December, 1870 668,672
character of the disguises ; his wife beaten 668,669
Peyton (colored) shot ; whipping of Hal Johnson and Washington Strong.. .. 069

killing of Henry Clunu 669,671
witness s fight with Mr. Caldvvell 670, 671

Strong, Wiley, wife of, struck on head with pistol 668, 69
Sturdeway. Green, whipping of 1012

Suffrage, negro, opposition to 31, 34, 191
, 226, 255, 256, 554

L. E. Parsons s opinion of 87, 88, 92, 94
Mr. Day s opinion of 605

acquiescence in 202, 395, 396
division of sentiment as to 383
mistake not to accept 405, 406

Sullivan, Moses B., whipping of 123, 127, 146, 1165
Sullivan, Moses B., affidavit of 146-148
Sumter County, number of homicides in 1 001, 1703, 1800

election statistics of 1461
, 1586, 1587, 1591-1593, 1619, 1678, 1679, 1828

population
of 1001

killed in : Jasper Alexander, Enoch Boyd, Dr. Browning, Mr. Bryan, Richard
Burke, Amanda Childers, Jerry Clark, Coblentz, Collins, Flem Cross s wife,
Grattan, Dudley Hart, Hopper, mail-agent, Dennis Pearl, Anthony Rogers,
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Mr. Rogers, Scarborough, Dennis Sledge, Frank Sledge, Stratton, Silas,

Thurlow, Travis, Ezekiel Williams, Yankee Ben, Anderson Young s son 26 ;

shot in : J. S. Etheridge, G. W. Houston and sou, Alfred Jolly, Charles

Powell, Robert Reid, Hayne Richardson, Enoch Sledge, Peter Stewart 9;

outraged in: John Childers, George A. Clark, Danger Godfrey, S. A. Hale 4;

whipped in: Charles Brown, Danger Brown, Amanda Chiiders, G. A. Clark,
Prince Evans, Mr. Lovet, Charles T. Powell 7.

Tallapoosa County, disturbances in 1121

whipped in : Alexander Shelly.

Taylor, Daniel, burning of house of 1137

TAYLOR, DANIEL, testimony of. ..1125-1135
residence has been in Tallapoosa County ; now in Opelika, Lee County ; native

of Georgia ; a planter ; a democrat all his life 1125
there was a Ku-Klux organization about a year ago : John T. Wright leader of

the &quot; Black Cavalry. and afterward drummed for recruits to the Ku-Klux ;

Mr. Meadows threatened 112(5

colored girl whipped and driven away 1126, 1127

Squire Brewer threatened ; Simeon Orr confessed being captain of a Ku-Klux
baud; a. number of negroes driven to the woods 1126

heard of other .Ku-Klux operations in Coosa County from R. D. Harroll 1126, 1130

character &c., of the membership, and purpose of the Ku-Klux.. 1126, 1127, 1228, 1129,

1130,1131
effect of Ku-Klux outrages upon the labor of the country 1 128

general conduct of the colored people 1 129

general complaint in other sections about negroes stealing stock 1130, 1 132

what the negroes have been taught by Mr. N orris and others 1130, 1131, 1133
effect upon the planters of stock-stealing ; Freedmen s Bureau 1132
universal belief amoug the negroes that forty acres of land and a mule were to

be given to each of them 1 1 33

selling of sticks 1 1 34

reasons for the whites not voting for the constitution of 1868 1134, 1 135

TAYLOR, GEORGE, (colored, ) testimony of 572-576
lives about three miles from Huutsville ; is married ; 28 years old ; was a slave ;

lived in Cherokee County 572
voted the democratic ticket to save his life 573
is a Methodist preacher - 573, 574

whipping of witness in Cherokee, Colbert County 572
manner and seventy of whipping 572, 574
is compelled to leave home 572, 573, 574
character of disguises worn 574
affidavit of witness 576

Taylor, George, whipping of - 128, 148, 572

Taxation, not heavily felt 11

comparison with previous 360, 372, 461, 963, 974, 1056

county 969,970,976-979,1304,1307-1312,1316
Tax sales 1409,1415-1417

Teiiy, David, identified by Reynolds 1186

Testimony, difficulty in procuring, in Ku-Klux cases 13, 16, 17, 21
,
23

Testimony of:

Abercrombie, Robert H 1103-1 113

Abrahams, William Thomas : 1378-1387

Adler, Emanuel . 1557

Alston, James li 1016-1022

Alldredge, Enoch 984-993

Battle, Culleu A 1059-1072

Beggs, William 1953-1955

Bennett, Granville J734-1745

Berry, Isaac Marion 769-780

Blackford, William T 1271-1302

Blair, Augustus 674-679

Brown, Jesse 860-861

Brunson, Simeon 1999-2005

Busteed, Richard 320-330

Butler, John M 1091-1099

Chapman, Reuben, Jr 1940-1953

Cherry, C. S 70-77

Cbilders, John 17 19-1728

Christian, Robert 1558-1564

V A
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Testimony of

Clanton, James H 8S~SS
Clark, James B .257-264

Cobbs. Thomas 1620-164S

Cockrell, William E 42-44

Colemau, Daniel 646-663

Cuh iimn. .Join. Tayloe
1048-1054

Crawford, General Samuel W 1156-1183

Daniel, Sir 993-997

Davis, Hugh N 1897-1899

Davis, Nicholas 780-791

1 &amp;gt;avis, Stephen B 1428-1433

Day, Lionel W 590-635

Dougherty, William 1022-1042

Dox, Hon. Peter M 428-462

Drake, Charles L 1545-1550

Echolls, Howell 957-960

Edwards, Drury Reuben 1923-1933

English, William H 1433-1441

Falkner, Jefferson , 11 14-1 125

Fenderson, Shepherd 1395-1405

Few, Ignatius A 1 080-1 085

Ford, WT
illiam 679-686

Forney, William H . 462-492

Fullerlove, Robert 1649-1660

Gardiner, Major 862-864

Garrett, James J - 1475-1491

Giles, Henry 1009-1016

Gill, Joseph 812-815

Gillespie, John C 1602-1620

Glover, Benjamin M 1868-1897

Glover, Pearson J 1338-1351

Goodloe, John Calvin 636-64 1

Gould, J. McKee 1837-1845

Green, Thomas U 870-871

Hale, Samuel A 1812-1835

Hiimlin, Henry 857-859
1 I argrove, W i ley 1993-1 996

Harris, John G 1587-1602

Hatter, James D 1 933-1 940

Hawkins, Thompson C 1324-1333

Hay, Hon. Charles 12-25,1835-1837
Healy, Robert W 1 155-1 1 56
Henderson, William 576-590
Herr, Benjamin F 1661-1719
Hill, Francis Marion 1916-1922

Holley,John J 1135-1144
Horton, Benjamin 738-744&amp;gt;

Hortou, Samuel 728-738,
Houston, George W 997-^004
Jackson, Lewis 982-983
Jackson, Sam B 1441-1447
Jeffries, Algernon Sidney 1491-1504
J ol ly ,

J . J 264-297
Johnson, Henry 953-956.
Johnson, Henry T 1351,13541
Jones, George 1388-1395
Jones, William B v 1450-1475
Judkin8, Oscar 1042-1048
Kelly, William L 1551-1557
Kidd, Henry 867-869
Killens, Jane 1733-1734
Kimiard, Michael C 1730-1733
Lakiu, Rev. A. S

]&quot;_. 111-159
Lindsay, Governor Robert B 159-225
Lee, William.... 1333-1337
Leonard, Benjamin 1785-1797
Lent/., William H

, 722-728
Lile, John A . , p % 939-944
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Testimony of

Lipscomb, Peyton 951-953

Long, Burton 1 149- 1 1 54

Loper, Charles 1113-1114

Low, Henry 1996-1999

Low, Samuel 2005-2007

Lowe, William M 871-912

Lyon, Eliza 1262-1271

Lyon, Francis S 1408-1428

Maguire, William H 1661

Mahone, Charles 1078-1080
Marchbanks, Alexander 865-867
Martin, Lyman W 1144-1 1 49

Matthews, William 641-646

McCall, Daniel 1899-191 6
McNeil 1, Malcolm Hector 1537-1545

Meredith, Reuben A 1771-1785

Michael, Jacob, jr 1366-1378

Miller, William 1-12

Miunis, John A 527-57 1

Moore, Allen E 1565-1587
Moss. James M 915-926

Mudd, William S 1745-1771

Noble, William R 1055-1059
Norris, Hon. B. W 64-69
Parsons, Lewis E 77-101,111
Peck, E. Woolsey 1850-1868

Pettus, Edmund W 374-403
Pierce, John G 297-3J9
Powell, Charles 1845-1850

Pugh, Hon. James L 403-413

Quiuney, James A. R 1354-1355

Reavis, Turner 331-355

Reese, Tiller 1248-1251

Rice, Samuel F 492-525

Richardson, William 8 J 5-856

Riddle, A. A. J 1504-1518

Roper, George 686-694
Sanders, Edward Clement 1797-1812

Sayre, P. T 355-374

Shapard, William 744-769

Shorter, Ciesar 1072-1078

Smith, Arthur A 44-64

Smith, Edward W 1955-1969

Smith, Luther R 101-1 1 1

Smith, S. D 1251-1262

Speed, Joseph II 413-427

Steele, Anthony 948-95 1

Steele, Archibald Jackson 944-948

Stewart, Nathan L 1405-1408

Stickney, Charles L 1518-1537

Strong, Washington 956-957

Strong, Wiley 668-674

Taylor, Daniel 1 125-1 J 35

Taylor, George 572-576

Tinker, M ack 1360-1 366

Turner, Henry Peters 912-915
Van Yalkenburg, John 791-809

Wager, John II 926- 939

Walker, Richard W 960-982
Ward, John M 1085-1091

Warner, Hon. Willard 25-42

Watley, Smith 1004-1009

Webb, Robert D 1728-J730

Weir, Leonard L 694-722

Westbrook, Betsey 1242-1247

Whitfield, Newton L 1969-1993
Williams, Mary Eliza 1356-1360

Williams, Wilson 1099-1103
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Testimony of

\\noif, Henry Ashby 1447-1450

Youug, James A 1303-1324

Thoums, N. S., killing of 1671,1672,1701,1702,1883-1885,1895,1896
Thomas, W. K. whipping and cutting off of ears of Danger Brown by 1595, 1596

Thompson, Hob, killing of 428,967

Thmlow, Jml-e Silas, killing of.. 115, 432,442,452,599,602, 614, 618,690,786,820,874,900
Tidwi-ll. Mr., whipping of 549

T1NKKK. MACK, (colored,) testimony of 1360-1366

lives in Choc taw County 1360

Abe Lyon killed 1360

Mike Dunn killed, 1871 1360,1361,1365
Isham K/ell killed - 1361,1364
Li-m Campbell killed; no one punished for these killings 1361,1362,1363
a great many colored people have left through fear 1 362

intimidation of voters - 1362, 1363

two school-houses burned ; has been lying in the woods for fear of the Ku-
Klux ; the riding in disguise in the county is just ruining the country 1363

Sam Cook s wife whipped 1364

general feeling of insecurity among colored people 1365, 1366

Tramblies, America, killing of J U42, 1043, 1047, 1087, 1114,11 15, 1 117, 1118

Tramblies, America, shooting of son of 1047

Travis, Mr., killing of 999

Travis, Tom, identified by Reynolds 1186

Trawick, Mr., shooting of , 1986

Treadway , Sheriff, compelled to leave home 545-547

Troops, applications for 1162,1163,1167,1169,1172,1173
Tulley, John W., compelled to leave 127

Tuscaloosa, raid on 1852
Tuscaloo.sa County, number of murders in 1852, 1970, 1971

election statistics of 1987, 1988

killing of Mr. Crossland, Mr. Finley, Mr. Frankeuham, Mr. Miller, Mr. Sam
uel, Mr. S-impson, Bill Washington, Mr. Wilson 8.

TURNER, HENRY PETERS, testimony of 912-915
lives in Meridianville ; a farmer 912
a democrat 915
contradicts the testimony of Aleck Marchbauks and Henry Kidd as to out

rages committed upon them 912
saw theKu-Klux in disguise in the fall of 1869 913,914
knows nothing about the Ku-Klux organization 914

disarming of the negroes in 1868 914,915
Turner, Prior, shooting of 133,150,883,897

U.

Union Leagues, (see Leagues, Loyal.)

V.

Van Valkenberg, John, cause of dismissal from Army of 626, 627, 799-801VAN ?ALKENBERG, JOHN, testimony of 791-809
came to Alabama in 1866 from Indiana ; was colonel of the Twentieth Indiana

Volunteers 791
was dismissed the service, charged with &quot;disloyalty to the Government, and

rtmdiu-t unbecoming an ofheer and a gentleman
&quot; 799

was raised a democrat, and expects to die one 801
churls alleged against Mr. Lakiu 791,793,796,797,798
his character and actions 791-795,797-800
ein-uni-&amp;gt;;ai:r,s connected with witness s dismissal from the Army 799-801
asks that testimonials from General Hooker and others be appended to his tes

timony 800
Aau-h:in, Piot., fray with Mr. Randolph ...1978,1979
Vienna, disturbance at

__ ngj j 190 J.191
Vincent, Wesley, whipping of (5^2
&quot;\incent, William, whipping of 928
Vix, Daniel, raid on house of ..1162 1196
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Waddell, Nash, identified by Few 1083,1084

WAGER, JOHN H., testimony of 926-939
lives in Huntsville ; agent and disbursing officer of the Freedmen s Bureau ;

came to Alabama iii September, 1865; stationed at Montgomery, then at

Athens 926

his horse s ears slit, mane and tail cut off, and throat gashed, in 1868 926, 927
threatened by the Ku-Klux ; numerous complaints of whippings made to him

by negroes ; women whipped in Lauderdale County ; guns taken from Mar
shall Strong and Timone Bell 927

Caleb Beasley and wife whipped ; names given of thirteen persons com

pelled to give up their guns in 1868; William Ford, William Peyton,
William Vincent, and Thomas Regney whipped Madison County, 1868 ... 928

names given of nine persons who, in 1809, and eleven in 1870, were com

pelled to give up their guns; killing of Dougherty; John Leslie (col

ored) shot at and driven from home ; Joe Locket and Anthony Bone

whipped ; Peter Acklyn, hung 929

Corey Luney (colored) and Joseph Manning shot at and driven away ; col

ored boy hung ; democratic papers rarely refer to these outrages ; Wiley
Strong shot ; two women ravished ; Henry Clung killed ; John Clark

whipped; William Steele hung by the neck but not killed 930
names of parties compelled to give up their guns 930, 931

John Kemp, John Jones, Calvin Walker, Ruth Chapman, Simon Bush, and
Keziah Bush, whipped in 187(1, and three colored men, in August, 1871

; one
suo t ; Williams (colored) killed 931

George Washington Holliday (colored) driven off 931
,
932

Holliday s sister whipped ; school-house burned ; Samuel Lawler shot ; hun
dreds driven from home in March, 1^70 ; Ned Larkin killed ; his sou shot but

not killed, Jackson County, December, 1870; Elliott Fearon killed, Marshall

County, Octdber, 1869 . 932
no one punished for any of these outrages ; no earnest effort on the part of the

community to bring the offenders to justice 934
views as to the disbanding and operations of the Ku-Klux Klan 935
intimidation of voters ; negroes generally republican ; but few vote the demo

cratic ticket willingly ; state of feeling toward northern settlers 936

feeling toward native white republicans ; the sentiment on iiuiversal suffrage
and negro education ; tone of democratic newspapers relative to Ku-Klux

outrages 937

Walker, Calvin, whipping of 931
Walker County, whipping in, Mr. Bryant 1754

WALKER, RICHARD W., testimony of - 960-982
lives in Huntsville; was solicitor ; twice a member of the legislature; speaker

of the house one session ; judge of the supreme court ; member of the provis
ional congress, and of the confederate senate ; now practicing^ law 960

in the fourth and fifth circuit, comprising ten or twelve counties 961
laws obeyed and peace and good order prevail in the counties named ; charac

ter of the disturbances in Limestone County, and how they originated 961

purpose, objects, organization, &c., of the Ku-Klux order 961, 966,967, 968,976
condition of the country which seemed to give a pretext for such an organiza

tion 961,962

organization, extent, &c.
,
of the Union Leagues 962, 975

enumerates as causes of popular dissatisfaction the manner in which the

present constitution was foisted upon the people, the manner in which the

present officers were installed into office, the character of the constitution

itself, and the character of the officials 962, 968
character of the administration of justice 962, 963, 973, 974
and of the finances of the State and counties under these officials 962, 963
taxation of 1859 and 1860 compared with that of 1869 and 1870. ..963, 964,969,974,

976, 977
the burden of taxation has given rise to very great discontent 964, 965

charges have been made that the officials have made away with the State rev
enues to their own benefit, and laws passed by corrupt appliances for indi

vidual gain ; cites the railroad legislation 965, 981
character and operation of the election laws 965, 966, 972, 973
a steady improvement in public order for the last three years 966

kiDing of Thompson by disguised men ; nothing political in the affair; general
behavior of the colored people since the war 967

causes of the increased taxation in the State 969, 970, 974, 975, 977, 978
school system and school-tax before and since the war . 970, 971
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WALKER, RICHARD W., testimony of Continued.

loan by th.&amp;gt; State of its bonds to the Alabama and Chattanooga Railroad, to

the amount of $16,000 a mile, the State retaining a lien on the road

difficulty encountered by the State in obtaining undisputed control of the road. 971, 972

specifies the objectionable features of the State constitution ; the voter s oath,

ilu&amp;gt; provision for an unnecessary multiplication of offices, the board of edu

cation, and the legislative powers conferred upon that board 972

section of the election law which bears on challenging, and its interpretation

and effect ------ ----- 972,973

many violations of law by colored people immediately after the war, and the

character of these violations 962, 967, 975

inflammatory appeals addressed to negroes 975, 976

the State debt prior to the war ; bonded debt of the county ; items of county

expenditure 977, 978, 979

provision is made for annual publication of the amount of State and county
taxes and their disbursement 979

number of men in Madison County disqualified under the fourteenth amend-

ment 979,980
cannot recall any convictions of disguised men for outrages committed in Madi

son County 980

knows of no effort upon the part of the press or of the leading citizens to hush up
or conceal these offenses ; tone of the democratic press 981

antagonism of races 976,981,982

Ward, John, raid on house of 1045, 1046

WARD, JOHNM., testimony of .....1085-1091

resident of West Point ; postmaster ; lived in Chambers County till Christmas,
1870 1085

was insulted on account of his politics 1085, 1086

was visited by a democratic torch-light procession and insulted 1086

means employed by the democrats to prevent colored men frormvoting the

republican ticket ; the democrats opposed to negro suffrage ; they were for

merly opposed to negro education,but have moderated very much in the last six

months ; Mr. Hyman s house attacked ; America Tramblies killed ; outrage

Tipon Mrs. Randall s daughter 1087

Mrs. Randall s school .broken up 1087,1088
the parties never arrested ; republicans not safe in advocating their principles

with freedom 1088

republican meeting at La Fayette broken up, and a negro shot by the marshal .1088-1090

Warner, Willard, character of 627

WARNER, Hon. WILLARD, testimony of 25-42
resident of Montgomery 25.
went to Alabama in LS65, from Ohio; State senator in Ohio ; elected in 1868
United States Senator from Alabama 33

disguised men, operations of bands of 35, 39

disguised men, confederate soldiers in bands of 35
witnesses afraid to testify 32,38,40*
riot at Eutaw, Greene County 28,29,41
riot at Eutaw, trial of persons for 37*

general amnesty 34*
law of Congress concerning Ku-Klux 32
freedom of political opinions 28, 29, 30, 31

,
42

negro suffrage 31, 34

concerning Union Leagues 35

negroes voting democratic ticket 35

opposition to reconstruction 34:

killing of Mr. Boyd, solicitor 39*
attack on Mr. Cockrell _ 40

Washington, Bill, killing of 1854, 1975
WATLEY, SMITH, (colored, ) testimony of 1004-1009

staying
in Montgomery ; lived formerly in Coosa County ; a farmer 1004

a blacksmith 1005
details of visit by Ku-Klux, and his whipping 1004,1005
outrage upon Jesse Watson, (colored;) kind of disguises worn ; names of par

ties recognized 1005
reason of his

whipping 1005,1006
burning of a church ; witness and family sworn to secrecy ; was forced to leave

his home 1006
Dan Sushner, or Dan Hurgin, Zack Goldthwaite, and Dick Martin whipped ;

no one punished for these whippings 1007
had several parties arrested ; they are discharged on proving alibis. ..... 1008, 1009
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Watley, Smith, whipping of 537,538,1004,1005,1015,1016

Watson, Jesse, whipping of 1005

Webb, Aleck, killing by John C. Orick, of 1479, 1492, 1521
,
1522

Webb, Jerry, whipping of 533, 1012

WEBB, ROBERT D., testimony of 1728-1730

resident of Livingston, Sumter County ; a physician 1728

examined Robert Fullerlove, yesterday, at the request of Mr. Blair ; found no
indication of any blow on the head or of bruises on his hands ; stripped him
and examined him from his head to his heels, and found no indication of a

bruise ; should say that he had not been whipped 1728

WEIR, LEONARD L., testimony of 694-722

lives in Limestone County ; is justice of the peace 694

a native of Tennessee 695

a carpenter 697

a republican and Union man 699

an old man and a cripple 715

whipping of witness by Samuel Moore, Frank L. Gibson, William S. Blair,

James Bradford, Pink Johnson, and Budd Harlan, (white,) and James Kel-

ley and Lewis Bradford, (colored, ) 695, 696, 699

manner of his whipping 695

is threatened, and leaves home / 696, 700

cause of his whipping -. - 697-699, 720

his assailants democrats ; the negroes acted under compulsion 699

social standing of Gibson, Blair, and Moore 700

raid upon his house, and his wife and daughter threatened 701

returns home after two months absence, and lies out till September 701, 702

attempts to hang and drown him , 702-707

recognized George Peace and Samuel Boyce 705, 707

chained, and compelled to write to his family to enforce their absence from

court 707,708
details of further outrage, and his return home 709-711

recognized Hiram Higgins 710,712
arrest of Moore ; recognition of Moore, Gibson, Johnson, Boyce, and Peace

engaged in second raid 71^1
Moore acted as commander; was a candidate for the nomination of sheriff;

United States mail tampered with 713,714

organization and disbanding of the Ku-Klux ; mutilation of Blair 715

whipping of Barbee and another man 715, 716

two men named Wisdom driven away from home ; whipping of a boy 716,717

whipping of Simmons, and his exile 717

Gordon forced to leave home 717, 118

whipping of a colored woman 718

killing of Scales, (colored,) 1870 ; all parties now endeavoring to restore quiet
and put down disguised bands 719

State law of December, 1868, bitterly assailed by the democratic press and

party 720,721,722
ki Iliug of son of Dr. Blair and of Barbee 72 1

Weir, Leonard L., whipping of and outrage upon ; Minnis s account of 541-543

Coleman :

s account 646, 647, 650-655

his own account 695,696,699,702-708
WESTBROOK, BETSEY, (colored, ) testimony of 124^-1247

lived in Jefferson before coming to Demopolis ; widow of Robin Westbrook. .. 1243

the house shot into ; killing of her husband Robin, July 18, 1871 1243

her sou shot at, but escapes ; recognized Wash Elkins, John Crudip, and Sid

Lipscomb ; her husband a strong radical ; coroner s inquest held ; no arrests

made
;
witness had to leave 1244

Lipscomb wounded by her husband 1243, 1247

the three men recognized were democrats ; Reub Hildreth whipped : her hus
band s difficulty with Dr. Smith 1245

outrage upon her husband by Wash Elkins 1244, 1245, 1246

testifies before the coroner ; was afraid to identify Elkins and Crudip 1246

witness threatened 1244,1246, 1247

her husband killed because he was a radical 1244, 1247

he was beaten, one Sunday, by Mr. Crudip 1247

Westbrook, Robin, killing of 1243, 1389, 1391-1395, 1429, 1430, 1441-1443, 1511

previous outrages upon 1244-1248

Whipping, manner of 572,574,695,858,1964,1997
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Whipping of

Austin, James, Blount County 722

Baker, John, (colored,) Coosa County, June, 1871 1016

Baker, Joseph, (colored,) Coosa County, June, 1871
^1016

Barbie, Mr., Limestone County, December, 1869 715,716

Beasley, Caleb, and wife, Madison County, fall of 1868 928

Blair, Augustus, wife and daughter of, (colored,) Limestone County, Decem

ber, 1868 677

Blair, William, Limestone County, December, 1868 131,148,674-676

Blakely, Amos, (colored,) Greene County, August, 1871 1840,1841

Bone, Anthony, (colored,) Madison County, 1869 929

I .rown, Charles, (colored,) Sumter County, 1871 1597

Brown, Danger, (colored,) Sumter County, 1871 1595,1596

Bryant, William, Walker County 610,931

Busli, Hezekiah, (colored,) Morgan County, May, 1870 152,931
Bush, Martin, (colored, ) Madison County 862

Bush, Simon, (colored,) Morgan County, May, 1870 133,151,152,862,931

Campbell, Rebecca, Madison County, August, 1871 947,956
Carter, Charles, Pickens County, 1870 2000

Carter, Frank, Pickens County, 1870 2000

Chapman, Ruth, Morgan County, spring of 1870 931

Childers, Amanda, (colored,) Sumter County, July, 1871 1722-1724,1733,1734,
1950, 1960, 1961

Choctaw Joe, Greene County 1328

Clark, George A., Sumter County, fall of 1871 417,1614,1845-1849
Clark, John, Madison County, spring of 1870 930

Cook, Sam. wife of, (colored) 1364

Daniel, Sir, brother of, (colored, ) Jackson County, 1870 994

Darling, Alfred, (colored, ) Perry County, February, 1871 416

Dorman, James, (Isaac,) Coosa County, 1870 128,155,162-164,181,211,230
Evans, Prince, (colored. ) Sumter County, July, 1 870 1458

Ford, William, (colored,) Madison County, fall of 1868 680,681,928
Fowler, Mr., Fayette County, 1871 549

Fullerlove, Robert, (colored,) Choctaw County, October, 1871 1649-1651, 1658, 1659

Gardner, Judge, Butler County, 1868 52/
Gardiner, Tom, (colored,) Pickens County, October, 1870 1998

Gardiner, Amos, (colored,) Madison County, 1869 862
Gardiner, Amos, brother of, (colored,) Madison County, 1869 864
Gill, Joseph, (colored,) Madison County, 1868 812,814,918,922
Goldthwaite, Zack, (colored,) Coosa County, June, 1870 1007

Griffin, Scott, Calhoun County, November, 1869 1194*
Hall, Isaac, (colored,) Perry County, May, 1871 415,416
Hamlin, Henry, (colored,) Madison County, 1868 857-859
Hardiwick, Handy, (colored,) Hale or Tuscaloosa County 1984,1991
Hargrove, Wiley, and wife, (colored,) Pickeus County, November, 1870 1993,1994,

1998, 2001, 2006&amp;lt;

Harker, Mr., Jackson County 451

Harper, William, Jackson County, April, 1871 140, 167.,
Harrison, Mr., Limestone County 678

Hays, Dick, (colored,) Calhoun County, November, 1869 1194

Henry, Isham, (colored, ) March, 1869 1164, 1199, 1200

Hildreth, Reuben, (colored,) Marengo County 1245,1458
Hill, Rev. Mr., Greene County, 1868 126,274
Hood, Littleton, (colored,) Greene County, fall of 1870 1789,1790,1796.
Hurton, Benjamin, Blount County, 1870 119,740,741,773,986,987&quot;^
Hortons .Jfim. s, Blount County, 1870 756,757,767,773
Hurgin, (Sushner,) Dan, (colored,) Coosa County, June, 1870 1007
Johnson, Henry, (colored,) Madison County, August, 1871 669,945,950,953,954
Ki-mp, .li.hn. Madison County, fall of 1870 931
Kcmmrd, Adam, (colored, ) Meridian , . . 1589, 1606, 1624
Kctrlmm, Lewis, Ml, unit County, December, 1870 742,775,791
King, (MrKiim.-y.) Limi, Blount County 733,773
La Gr..n-, Kati. ;

, (colored,) Perry County, May, 1871 417,422
LassUer, Aaron, (colored.) Macou County, 1871 417,422
Latham, Rev. William, Pickens County ....104,2000
Lnwler, George, (colored,) Madison County, fall of 1868 681
Leverett, Mr., Sumter County, 1871 .,.. ..&quot;. 1740
Lewis, Richard, (colored,) Marengo County, September, 1871 . 1389-1391, 1457,

1458,1517,1553-1556
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Lipscomb, Peyton, (colored,) Madison County, August, 1871 669,945,950,952
Locket, Joe, Madison County, March, 1 869 929

Lovet, Mr., Sumter County, February, 1871 1677

Low, Henry, (colored,) Pickens County, October, 1870 1995,1997,2001
Low, Samuel, (colored,) Pickens County, October, 1870 1994,1998,2001,2005-2007
Martin, Dick, (colored,) Coosa County, June, 1871 1007,1016
Maxwell, Big, (colored,) Coosa County, January, 1871 1011

McDowell, John F., Blount County, 1871 749

McKinney, (King,) Lina, Blount County 733,773
Neibling, Mr., Marengo County, April, 1871 1338,1340-1342,1351,1352,1420,

1459,1511,1512,1548

Peyton or Patton, Madison County 928

Powell, Charles, (colored,) Sumter County, August, 1871 1614, 1845-1849

Eegney, Thomas, Madison County, fall of 1868 928

Puddle, Mrs., Blount County, fall of 1868 157,158

Sheely, Alexander, (colored,) Tallapoosa County, January, 1871 1011

Simmons, Mr., Limestone County, 1870 717

Stocksville, Bob, (colored,) Pickens County, October, 1870 1995,1998,2001,2006

Strong, Washington, (colored.) Madison County, August, 1871 669,946,950,952,
956,957

Sturdeway, Green, (colored,) Coosa County, January, 1871 1012

Sullivan, Moses B., Marshall County, May, 1869 123,127,146,1165
Sushner, (Hurgin,) Dan, (colored,) Coosa County, June, 1870 1007

Taylor, George, Colbert County, January, 1869 128, 148

Tidwell, Mr., F^yette County, 1871 549

Vincent, Wesley, (colored,) Madison County, fall of 1868 682

Vincent, William, (colored,) Madison County, fall of 1868 928

Walker, Calvin, Madison County, spring of 1870 931

Watley, Smith, (colored,) Coosa County, June, 1871 537, 538, 1004, 1005, 1015, 1016

Watson, Jesse, (colored,) Coosa County, June, 1871 1005

Webb, Jerry, (colored,) Coosa County, January, 1871 533, 1012

\Veir, Leonard L., Limestone County, March, 1871 541,543,609,646,647,650-655,
695,696,699,702-711

White, Sam, (colored,) Marengo County, 1871 1389

Whites, (names not given) 550, 551
, 715-717, 756, 771

, 772, 927, 1 143, 1614, 1754

Williams, Diana, (colored,) Lauderdale County, June, 1869 1162, 1194, 1195

Williams, Wiley, (colored, ) Coosa, January, 1871 533, 1011

Wooley, Mr., Fayette County, 1871 549

Wright, Jordan, (colored,) Cherokee County, 1870 638,639
Yarborough, Joe, (colored,) Limestone County, December, 1868 677

White, Jack, raid on house of 1166, 1167, 1202

White, Mr.
, killing of negro by 1949

White, Sam, whipping of 1389

Whites, (names not given,) killing of 1409, 1419, 1643, 1749, 1750, 1753, 1986

Whites, whipping of 550, 551
, 715-717, 756, 771

, 772, 927, 1 143, 1614, 1754

WHITFIELD, NEWTON L., testimony of 1969-1993
resident of Tuscaloosa County ; a farmer ; has practiced law 1969
native of Georgia ; opposed secession ; was in the legislature ; identified with

the conservative party since the war 1980

killing of Mr. Crossland and wounding of his companion.. 1969, 1970, 1971, 1980, 1981,
1982,1991

number of killed in Tuscaloosa County overestimated 1970, 1971

killing of Wilson, five men, Frankenham, and Christian 1971

killing of Simpson 1971,1972,1984,1985,1991
raid in Tuscaloosa and tho killing of Finley and two negroes 1971

,
1972

killing of John Joy 197 1
,
1975

killing of Miller 1971,1973,1984,1991,1992
negroes killed in Hale County 1972, 1985
raid on Sam Davies 1973
colored man whipped and afterward shot

, 1973, 1974

killing of Bill Washington and of Mr. Samuel, one of his assailants 1975
riot at Patona, (Cross Plains) 1975, 1976
names of persons whose standing is not affected by their radical politics 1976, 1977
no attempt to influence the vote of negroes by violence 1977, 1978
character, standing, &c., of Judge Peck 1977, 1978, 1980, 1982, 1983
Ku-Klux Klan, its extent, &c 1978, 1984, 1985, 1986, 1988, 1939. 1990, 1991, 1992

shooting of Mr. Eandolph in a fray with Mr. Smith and Mr. Vaughan 1978, 1979

general standing and treatment of northern men 1979, 1980, 1992, 1993

VI A
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WHITFIELD, NEWTON L., testimony of Continued.

denunciation of carpet-baggers and scalawags - 198;,

killing of a number of negroes - --- - -

a number of negro cabins burned and their occupants driven away lireS, 1934, ItfSo

whipping of Handy Hnrdwick, Hale County 1984,1991

outrages upon Blackford -- l^c

man wounded in Bibb County ; shooting of Trawick ; man killed m r ayette

County ; one in Walker County 986

negroes are generally republican ; some are democrats ^ 1987

rk-rtion statistics of Tuscaloosa County 1987, 1988

no intimidation of colored voters

the parties outraged presumed to be republicans :

William? , killing of 134,931,1138,1142,1143

Williams, Diana, whipping of 1162,1194,1195

Williams, (High,) EzeUiel, taken from jail and shot 1356, 1358, 1604, 1605, 1622, 1631,

1701, 1717, 1718, 1945, 1946, 1964

Moore s account of 1565-1568,1571-1573

body searched for by sheriff s posse 3 594

WILLIAMS, MARY ELIZA, testimony of 1356-1360

wife of Ezekiel Williams ; he lived at Mrs. Seibels, Sumter County... 1356

her husband killed nearly two weeks now, (October, 1871 :) he was in jail when
killed, charged with killing Mr. Collins ; he had been there over a year ; had

had no trial ; was taken from jail and carried to Sucarnocb.ee, and shot ;

names of parties concerned in the killing 1356

Collins killed at her house a year ago, while Ku-Kluxing ; they shot into the

house and she ran out with her children ; it was supposed some of their own
number killed him ; her husband suspected 1 357

colored man killed ; some whipped at Livingston and Belmont ; details of the

taking of her husband from the jail
1358

Williams, Wiley, whipping of 533,1011
WILLIAMS, WILSON, testimony of 1099-1103

resident of Opelika, Lee County ; a lawyer 1099

county free from disturbance ; no violence by bands of disguised men 1 100

outrage upon Mr. Few; character of Mr. Few 1100, 1101, 1102

teaching of colored schools not odious to the citizens 1 103

Wilson, Mr., killing of 1971

Wilson, Hon. H., letter of Samuel A. Hale to 1830-1834

reply of 1834, 1835

Witnesses, list of, (see Testimony.)
Wooden, James, raid on house of 771
Woodward, Dud, killing of 1904. 1905,1918
Wooley, Mr., whipping of 549

Wooley, Mr., rape of wife of 549

WOOLF, HENRY ASHBY, testimony of 1447-1450
resident of Linden, Marengo. County ; a lawyer 1447
details of disturbance at Linden, while W. B. Jones was speaking, and where
he agrees to retire from the canvass for the office of sheriff 1447-1450

character of Jones s speeches 1449, 1450

Wright, Felix, shooting of 1092-1 096

Wright, James K. P., killing of 433,451
Wright, John T., leader of the Black Cavalry 1 126
Wr

right, Jordan, whipping of 63d, 639

Y.

Yarborough, Joe, whipping of
,.

. 67^7

Yankee 15.-H. killing of 1670,1671,1733,1949
&quot;i&amp;lt; uncr, Anderson, (Henderson,) killing of son of 1735,1743,1749
YOU.MJ. J.\MES A., testimony of 1303-1324

resident of Linden, Marengo County ; a lawyer 1303
.iiipc;:itfd special commissioner to investigate the condition of the county

tr.-asury from l&amp;gt;(if&amp;gt; to May, 1871 ; amount of taxes assessed for 1868, 1869,
and 1870; real estate since the war has depreciated at least 60 per cent. ;

live stock is more valuable, but very much less in number; reduced at least
ball or two thirds, owing to the depredations of the colored population 1303

taxation is about three times what it was for county purposes prior to the war,
and the subjects of taxation have diminished 1304

details of disturbance at a political meeting in Linden, where Mr. Jones, a
candidate fur the office of sheriff, through fear signed an instrument in writ-

ing withdrawing from the canvass 1304, 1305, 1306, 1313, 1314, 1315, 1317
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YOUNG, JAMES A., testimony of Continued.

valuation of real estate in 1861, and of slave property; relative rate of taxa
tion before and since the war ] 307

items of expenditures for which county taxes are levied 1307, 1308, 1309
reasons for the increased taxation 1310, 1311
amount of county debt 13J1

thinks there is a well-founded complaint in one respect of the manner in which
the county taxes have been expended; cause of the great depreciation in

real estate, the difficulty in procuring labor and its inferior quality 131*2

stealing of live stock; destitution of the negroes 1313
election and census statistics of the county 1314, 1315, 1317

character, speeches, standing, &c., of Mr. Jones 1315,1316,1318,1319
rate of assessment on real estate 1310
the young men generally go armed, and many of the older ones, from a gen

eral feeling that there is a disposition to hostility on the part of the colored

population toward the whites ; the colored people generally peaceable, quiet,
and orderly ; colored labor generally preferred 1318

the counsels given to the negroes by their white leaders 1318, 1319, 1320

gathering of armed negroes in McKiuley ; general sentiment of the people that

they would be better off without the negroes 1 320

petition of citizens to Judges Smith and Maupin asking that they take steps
to prevent a riot at McKinley, next Saturday 1 320, \ 321

,
1323

character and standing of the signers 1321, 1323
no intimidation of voters ; colored men threatened with death if they voted the

democratic ticket 1321

political views of the colored people, and how they are intluenced 1322

Z.

Zion church fired into . . . . 1024. 1025. 1034. 1035, 1063. 1065, 1066. 1071





TESTIMONY.

CONDITION OF AFFAIRS IN THE SOUTHERN STATES.

ALABAMA.

WASHINGTON, D. C., June 2, 1871.

WILLIAM MILLER sworn and examined.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. In what part of the State of Alabama do you reside ?

Answer. At present I live in Mobile
;
bat for many years I lived in Greene County.

I went to Mobile about the 1st of May, 1869, as collector of the port. I lived in Greene

County from 1836 up to that time, with the exception of a few months in winter in

Mobile at my office there.

Question. Give us, from your own personal knowledge and observation, a statement
of the condition of affairs in that part of the State with which you are acquainted, so

far as relates to the security of life, person, and property, up to and since the passage
of the law for the enforcement of the fourteenth amendment, sometimes designated as
the Ku-Klux bill.

Answer . I presume I might begin back immediately after the war, or perhaps from
the passage of the reconstruction laws.

Question. It is not the desire of the committee to go very far back. You can give us
a statement of the condition of things existing now and for a year preceding the pas
sage of that bill.

Ausu-er. There was a great deal of excitement at the time of the election in February,
1868, and the republicans were generally deterred from voting at all at that election.

It was the iirst election after the constitution of Alabama was framed. the election for

the ratiocation or rejection of that constitution. I was at Eutaw then, and actively
engaged in distributing tickets. The tickets were several times jerked out of my hands,
and at one time my hat was jerked olf iny head and dashed on the ground by a rowdy.
One man shook his fist in niy face and cursed me, and he was told by several persons
to &quot; shoot the damned rascal.&quot; I obtained my commission as judge of probate and
entered upon the office in 1868. When I presented myself in Eutaw to enter on the
duties of my office, the old occupant of the office, who had obtained the advice of

counsel, informed me that I could not get in without military aid. I telegraphed to

Governor Smith, and on Thursday evening some soldiers came over there. They sent for

me to the place where I lived, some distance from Eutaw, and I went down. The
court-house was near about shut up ;

there was one piece of a window open.
Question. Do you refer now to the time when you went to take your seat as judge of

probate ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Was this resistance made to your taking your seat?
Answer. As a matter of course it was.

Question. On what ground ?

Answer. That no radical should take it; that the reconstruction laws were uncon

stitutional, null and void, and that the people were not going to submit to them.

Question. Who made that statement ?

Answer. The attorneys, Mr. Morgan and Mr. Jolly, told me I could not get it
;
and

they sent up a long protest to Governor Smith in which they stated that I was illegally
elected.

Question. Was there a contest about your election&quot;?

Answer. There was no contest further than I beat the man who ran against me, the
man then in possession of the office, Judge Oliver.

Question. Was there any proceeding to test the validity of your election ?

Answer. None whatever ; none at all.

Question. You did take your seat?
Answer. Yes, sir; with the military there putting me into it. The military authori

ties put me in it, and I held it seemingly with some quiet after a few days. About the
1st of September, 1868, or near that time, I went down to Eutaw, on a Monday, about
II o clock. When I got there I found a large Hag swung from a tree opposite the pro
bate office to the tavern, with a picture on it something like the caricatures in Harpers

7

,

and the words &quot;

Miller, Yordey & Company.&quot; Mr. Yordey was there as the agent of the
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Frecdmen s T.ureau. It so happened that no tavern would board Yordey. and lie and I

and a man named I .oyd (who was acting as solictorof the county, and who was killed

after a while) rented a house and kept bachelors hall. Yordey could not get board at

an\ tavern there, but J could. On this particular Monday, about 3 o clock, there was

: i rear deal of noise, of cursing and swearing, about there among the drinking class.

1 couM hear them cursing Judge Miller, and swearing that &quot;

Judge Miller should go
back/ 1 proposed thai we should shut up the oi iiee and go home. Mr. Boyd and

myself \vent out of different doors, each locking the door he went out of. We walked

a limit one hundred and fifty yards from the house, when a man by the name of

llamhlett came np on a horse, lie had a stick and made a great deal of threatening
about killing IJoyd, but none about killing mo. He threw his stick ahead of us, but

soin. -..tie came up and took him back. Attlie same time Boyd said &quot;I think I had better

take out my pistol and kill that fellow.&quot; I said &quot;No
;
we will not do any such thing.&quot;

1 had no pistol, but 1 had a double-barreled gun at the house.

.in. For what reason was this assault made on you and Mr. Boyd?
luxin-r. No reason that could be imagined, except that we were willing to take the

others to whieh we had been elected.

&amp;lt;jni
*iion. \ &amp;gt;id yon institute proceedings against these men ?

Antwer. I went before the grand jury, when the court met. and made the statement
there that 1 make here. If anything was ever done I do not know of it.

(jinx/ion. Did you go to any committing magistrate and ask for a warrant ?

Anxicir. There was no magistrate, or sheriff, or coroner, or any other civil officer

there at that time, except myself. When they found I was not to be driven offiu any
way without killing me, they let things quiet a little, until about the middle of Octo
ber. perhaps, when Senator Warner and Major Hays came to make speeches there, and

they assaulted them and would not let them speak. They did not strike them, but
went up to them and shouted and made noises and would not let them speak. Some
of the conservative democrats and myself conferred with them, and the result of the
conference was that we concluded somebody would be/killed if the speaking went on;
p.nd the Senator did not go back and speak at all. I took him down to my house to

dinner, and he left.

(jin Ntioii. Was that because of any objection to the persons who were to speak, or

was the determination expressed that no one should speak?
.luxircr. I was really not much in the crowd

;
I conversed mostly with those who

were sent to ennfer with me. So far as I could make out, the expression was that no
damned carpet-bagger should be allowed to speak there; that was about the sub
stance of it. Mr. Oockrell, who has been beaten since, made a kind of conciliatory*
speech to them, trying to reconcile them, but they would not hear of it. In 1869 no
violence was offered to me, so far as I know. But I heard a rumor, I could not say
how true it was, that a negro was killed, perhaps in February. No one was arrested
for it. On the night of the last of February, perhaps, a negro man of the name of
Nelson Harris was ordered to jail, under a bond of a thousand dollars. I was asked to

go his security, and would have done so, but for the fact that I thought I would not
be safe if I did so. The deputy sheriff left him in charge of a constable. My house
was about two hundred or three hundred yards from where he was. About 9 o clock
that night some man came to my house and told me that Nelson Harris was taken off.

I went down to ascertain the particulars about it, but no one could tell me anything.
That same night a man by the name of rainier was killed in Entaw. On the Monday
following they had an investigation of the killing of Nelson Harris. He was carried
about three miles from Union and castrated, as was shown by the parts found, and he
was then shot and thrown into the creek. Palmer was a &quot;democrat:, and was killed
there by some of them in a kind of lawless melee. The morning after Harris was
killed Sam. ( oh in, a negro man, informed me that he saw a man put Nelson Harris
on a horse; but when he went before the grand jury he did not know, anything
about it.

. What was the reason assigned for killing Harris?
They said he had been too intimate with some white woman.

&amp;lt;

t
&amp;gt;i((.&amp;lt;:Ho)&amp;gt;. Were then; any legal proceedings consequent upon it?

Aii-iin r. Yes, sir.

(jiH-xt itni. Was any person brought to justice for the offense ?

For killing Harris?
. Yes. sir.

No. sir; no one. was arrested.
toii. What Were the legal proceeding*?

.-1 //*/&amp;lt;/. A coroner s jury sat, under the immediate supervision oft he sheriff himself.
A day or two after that, perhaps on the same day, I issued a warrant for the arrest of
the party who it was supposed killed Palmer. 1 think they knew who that was. He
was a democrat, by the by; 1 suppose that had something to do with the affidavit.
On tbq llMli of December, a year ago, a man by the name of Sam. Snoddy was at
Union. Be left there, between 8 and 9 o clock, to go home on foot The next morn
ing he was found, about a mile and a half from there, with his throat cut and his head
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cut nearly off. That is one of the occurrences I know of myself. On that day and the
next day a great deal of investigation was made, in a private way. I started for Mo
bile on Tuesday; the investigations were Leing made on Sunday and Monday. I do
not know that any result had been arrived at when I went away. A man by the nam,o
of Caldwell, a black man, with whom Suoddy had taken a cup of coffee after he left

the village of Union, was suspected of killing him. What led to the suspicion was,
that a boy named Henry Miller, who once had been my property, had reported to some
one that he saw him on Sunday washing some bloody clothes. They were both ar
rested and bound over. They got out of jail somehow. Sam. Colvin. a black man,
was the reputed father of Sam. Caldwell. Sam. Colvin was also arrested on suspicion
of being accessory to the murder of Sam. Snoddy. It is said (I do not know this of

my own knowledge) that he had said to some one

Question. Please confine your testimony, as much as possible, to your own personal
knowledge.

Answer. Very well. At any rate, after these men got out of jail that is, Henry
Miller and Sam. Caldwell Henry was found dead a few days after that; Sam, Cald
well was never found, that I know of. Sam. Colvin, who was living on my place, was
arrested, and a young man who was in my employ went with the man who arrested
him. The young man who was clerking with me left about 9 o clock. The next

morning Sam. Colviii was found hung to a tree, about three or four miles from there,
with sixteen bullet-holes in him. No one was arrested for that. This brings me to

March, 1870. Mr. Boyd. my nephew, was prosecuting attorney in Eutaw. On the

night of the last of March his room there was entered, and he was killed. It was said
he was killed because he said he had found out who killed Sam. Colvin. In fact, in a
communication to me he informed me so. James Martin was also killed the same night,
about fourteen or fifteen miles above Eutaw, and in the immediate neighborhood of
Union

;
he was a colored man. James Carpenter was killed in October, 18(&amp;gt;9, perhaps ;

nobody was prosecuted for killing him
;
he was a democrat, however, and was sup

posed to have a great deal of money ;
I presume he did have. Another Carpenter was

killed in I860, in a fracas in Clinton, and there was a man prosecuted for that.

Qucfition. Was lie convicted ?

Ansirer. I do not think he is tried yet.

By Mr. VAX TKUMP :

Question. The trial is still pending?
Answer. Yes, sir

;
those are all the murders I recollect and have a personal knowledge

of; I have heard rumors of others.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. You have mentioned the names of several persons who were killed : was
the killing of those men the mere acts of the individuals committing the crimes, or
were they traceable to any organization for the purpose of overthrowing or defying
the laws ?

Answer. So far as the murder of Harris was concerned, I am inclined to think that
about live or six persons were there to tafce him off. The parties who had him in

charge said those persons came in with their faces blacked, or were black men. As to

the murder of Boyd, I was not there, and, of course, I cannot say of my own knowledge.
But I was told that there were about twenty-seven disguised men in Eutaw. As to the
murder of Jim. Martin, which was on the same night with that of Boyd, the man at
Avhoso house Martin lived, and who run off to save his own life, said there were four or

five men, and that they shot at him several times as he run out of his house when they
came up, but he was not struck. He had on his shirt and drawers, I suppose. Njobody
was prosecuted for any of these murders, except for the murder of Snoddy, and of one
of the Carpenters, I think.

Question. What was the reason there was no prosecution against any of the others ?

Answer. I am not able to tell you, except one thing, and that I do not know to be
true

;
the want of disposition on the part of the officials there to discharge their duties.

I know if I had been probate judge there at that time, there would have been prose
cutions against them of some kind.

Question. Was there any lack of disposition in the courts to proceed, where the cases
were brought before them ?

Answer. There is one circumstance I have not told you : in October or November,
1869, I was up there attending court, and one of these men. who had been suspected of
this kind of thing, came to my store and commenced denouncing me ;

I told him he
was as guilty as I was. He was a much larger man than I am, and came up to me
and struck me two or three times, and knocked me on the counter. I made a report of

it to the grand jury myself; and I know of two other witnesses who went in and said

they swore to it.

Question. What is the general state of security for person and property in the county
of which you have been speaking ? We desire to ascertain more particularly the state

of things existing at this time.
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I am nor much then- now, and I do not know whether I ought to

tell \ou what I do not know personally.

I .y Mr. POOI.:

hid all tho^e murder-. of which you have spoken occur ii* the same county ?

I .y Mr. VAN Tici Mi :

.Hi. What is tin distance from Mobile to Greene County ?

.\l.. ut one hundred and ninety inilrs; perhaps one hundred and eighty miles

ttaw. 1 call it about one hundivd uiul ninety miles to my place, Avhich is ten or

twelve mil&amp;lt; s above Kut:iw.

By the CIIAIKMAN :

nm-xlion. Have you a sufficient knowledge of the state of things in that county now,
able U) M-eaU of the decree of security for person and property at this time?

.
j

I do not know that 1 have, only from information and a little occurrence,
happened in my presence and to myself. I will go hack again until August or

!iilier. l-r,:. My family had nor moved down to Mobile at that time; I went up
kke eonie settlements m the probate conrt that I had to make as administrator,

and t. take my famiiy down. n
; the Tuesday night that I was up there, there was a

eron-d of men about my place ; I heard them cursing and threatening to shoot; I did
n&amp;lt; t u--t up at all. but I heard my name mentioned

;
and some black uien afterward

me that they \vt-re disguised.
(
t
&amp;gt;tttxtion. That was in l.- i . .).

fc

Am -ir: but I am coming now to 1870. I happened to be at Eutaw at a

meeting that was advertised by 1 lie republicans to discuss politics; Senator Warner,
nor Parsons. Governor Smith, and, if there was room, perhaps Major Hays

to have addressed the meeting: the first three I am certain about, the/mother I am
-&amp;gt; &amp;gt;ure about. 1 went there about 10 o clock in the day ;

soon after I got there, it

. Med. either by myself. .Judge Davis, Sam Brown, Sam Cockerill, or Major
. for we Men- all together, and I cannot say positively which one the suggestion
from, that some one should go and see one of the leading conservative men there)

and arrange some manner of holding a discussion. The democrats had advertised a
meeiiii j; at the same time and place. I went with Mr. Brown to see Dr.-

,
and he

ne had no control over the matter, but would mention it to the democratic club
there. Alter some time he said the democratic club would receive a conimimicationiu
writing from us ; I \\rote the communication myself, and it was substantially this :

&quot;7c&amp;gt; the rrt-xiilrnt of tin /&amp;gt;//, ,;;, fJnb:

We propose to appoint a committee of two to confer with a committee on your part
of two, to arrange terms of discussion

to-day.&quot;

That was signed by William Miller, Charles Hays, and Sam Cockerill. That was
handed at once to Mr. Morgan, who. 1 fqpnd out afterward, was the president of tlie

democratic dab. Mr. .J. J.
.b&amp;gt;!ly

and Mr. J. G. Pierce were appointed a committee to
us in the oilier of the circuit clerk of the county. Their reply was substantially

that the committee appointed by the democratic party of Greene
&quot;County declined to

an;. arran-cMient for a di&amp;gt;eus.sion, believing that the issues as to men or meas-
.M that canvass were not debatable. About that time the democrats commenced

their discussion on the north sid-.- of the court -house, on the fence of the public square,
which is. perhaps, twenty yards from the court-house, on some steps to pass over tue
i eni-i-. I remarked then that if there was to be any discussion it would be as well^o
commence and determine where they would begin, and a box was put out on the south
Hide of the court-house.

VM /J. While you were cont; ning about holding a,joint discussion, the democrats
met and organized their meeting separately for speaking, but not for a joint discus
sion.

.b/M -T. 5Tes,8ir; a separate meeting, but not for a joint discussion. In perhaps
twenty minutes after that, perhaps a little longer, Senator Warner commenced his

L 1 hail been called over to the tavern on some boslnees, in the internal revenue
tort oilier, i-.-rliap^. I ci-iiie back through the aisle of the, court-house, which
mil of young men whom I did not know. My hat was tipped up and knocked
as I passed along through the aisle. I got 1o the circuit clerk s office and sat

down v.lie;e I could MM- and hear Senator Warner through the window.
(Jitcition. How near was the meet ing he was addressing to the other meetiii&quot;

1

?
-,&amp;lt; ./-. The rourt-hou.M- was sixty or eighty fee! wide, 1 should think: the two
DgS were, perhaps, one hundred and titty feet from each other.

(im-xtinii. One meeting was on one side of the court-house, and the other was on the
ide.

Awwer. Yes, sir. There was a considerably noisy and turbulent spirit manifested
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during Senator &quot;Warner s speech, and he was very often interrupted and ordered to go
back where he came from. Some said they did not want any damned carpet-bagger
there, find called him a damned liar a great many times. I could not say how many.
He finished his speech, however, and then Governor Parsons commenced to speak. I

remained there about an hour, when I caught sight of Major Clark, whom I had gone-
down there to see mainly on that particular day. He told me that we could not, fix

our business, and I then remarked that I would go home. I really thought the discus
sion was about over. Immediately Governor Parsons commenced speaking the demo
crats adjourned their meeting altogether, and the bulk of them went around on the
other side of the court-house.

Question. Were you there when the disturbances commenced?
Ansu er. I was not. I was going on to tell you that I left there about half past 2

o clock, I guess ;
Avent to the tavern and paid my bill, and went down to the stable

and ordered my horse put in my buggy. I had just got in my buggy when I heard the

firing commence, and my horse took a notion that he would go a little faster than I

was used to, and it took me some little time to stop him.

Question. Did you see the firing ?

Ansiccr. No, sir; I did not. I was there, again in a few days, but no attack was made
against me then. I went there again about the last of November, or the first of De
cember. I got down to Eutaw on Sunday night and staid all night, and then wont
down to Finch s Ferry to my place. I was told on the way, by a friend of mine, that
I had better look out. I said,

&quot;

1 apprehend there is no danger here nyw.&quot; About 12
o clock Mr. Smith and myself, Mr. Smith was then superintendent of schools in Greene
County, and had an order from the State auditor upon the tax collector of Greene
County for about $3,700. That was put in my hands. It was about this time that the
assault was made upon Mr. Burton, I presume? I had seen my wagon pass witli some
baggage toward the depot; when it had got about three hundred yards from the court

house, I started with a heavy valise, an overcoat, a shawl, a walking-stick, an um
brella, and a large bundle of flowers

;
I know I thought I had all the bundles I could possi

bly manage to carry. I thought I heard some man coming, and I cast my eyes
around and saw a, man by the name of Keynolds. He was up very close to

me, and as he came on he said, &quot;You God damned old rascal.&quot; Just about that time
his stick, a hickory stick, about as thick as my thumb, came down upon my shoulder
with such force that, with the load I was carrying, I was nearly thrown oil the side
walk. He followed up that blow with others. I thought there were four altogether,
but afterward I found five marks. He said, &quot;God damn you, if you ever tell of this I

will kill
you.&quot; There were several there who saw it all. I went down to the depot

and got on the cars and went away, and did not know that Mr. Burton was hurt till

sometime after I got down to Mobile.

Question. Was this assault upon you because of your political opinions, or was it

merely the act of a violent and lawless man ?

Answer. Mr. Keynolds. while he was striking me said,
; You told Reuben Weaver

that I tipped your hat.&quot; I did tell Reuben Weaver so. and I tell you now, to the beat
of my knowledge and belief, he did do it.

Question. And this assault upon you was on the ground that you had made that
statement about tipping your hat- ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
but the tipping the hat was before that.

Question. Was it from the surging of the crowd ?

Answer. There was no surging at all. There was plenty of room, but considerable

disposition not to let a republican pass.
Question. Did you institute any legal proceedings against him ?

Answer. I did not.

Question. Why not f

Answer. I did not think I would be allowed to go to Eutaw. where I had considerable

business, if I did so. I still have some business there to attend to. I did not go there
two or three weeks ago, when I had a little case in court, but let it go by default, be

lieving that it would not be safe for me to go there.

Question. What was there to justify such &quot;a belief?
Answer. The fact that such a man as Mr. Cockrell can be beaten on a steamboat,

without any protection ;
the fact that Mr. Button was knocked down and left for dead,

as they thought ;
the fact of this unprovoked assault upon myself; the fact of the

assault on me the year before, and that I we*nt before the grand jury and could get no
redress.

Question. You give those facts as justifying the apprehension that you could not.
with safety, go to Eutaw and institute a prosecution ?

Answer. I dan; say I could go there and institute proceedings, but attending to it

would be another thing.
Question. Have you attempted in any instance to institute a prosecution for offenses

of the character you have mentioned?
Answer. Onlv in the Richardson matter.
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inn. Your account lias no\v conic down to October or November. 1870.

J;;MO/-. Till December, 1-Tii.

ion. Have you since then been ill Greene County?
..ItiNictr. I have.

-lion. What is the condition of things there now?
Amwtr. 1 was there in December last, ] was there in Jannaiy last, ami I was there

on ihe t .ih day of March last. 1 was not assaulted either of those times.

ftion. U there now any o!i&amp;gt;turhance of 1 lie public peace in Greene County by law
less men. or has there been since January, IS I .

.IHXU-H: None to my knowledge. I have here a letter from Mr. Cockrell, which I

. .1 ia.-t night.
&quot;in. 1 le u ives you an account of facts within his kuo wledge ?

JMnr. \ es, sir.

niifxihm. You need not read the letter. Have you sufficient knowledge of the state

airs n..\v in that community to enable you to state whether life, liberty, and pro-

pert \ are M cure w ith the present administration of the laws ?

twer. ( )nly from hearsay. 1 am satisfied that I can go there, if I would not say a
word to any one, and should not meet one of two, or three, or four rowdies, and I might
paKs along safely. But I am satisfied if I was to meet any one of them I would not be

.

QW.S//O/-. AY hen you speak of &quot;rowdies&quot; do you refer merely to persons of a lawless

disposition, who would assail anybody where there was sufficient motive for it?

-&quot;/. I do not think they would assail anybody but a republican.
yni NtioH. Are we to understand you as wishing to convey the idea that these assaults

and murders of which you have spoken have arisen out of political causes?
.h&amp;gt;*n-&amp;lt;r. J think the bulk of them have

;
some of them I dare say have not.

(JiH xlitni. lias the passage of the bill for the punishment of these unlawful assern-
had any effect yet, to your knowledge?

r. I have no knowledge of what the effect has been there
;
none at all.

\\y Mr. ULAIU:

Qm-xdnii. For what offense was Snoddy killed ?

Mr. i !e was not a republican ;
he was one man killed not for political effect.

VtH Klioii. It was supposed that he was killed by Caldwell?
&quot;&amp;lt; / . Yes. sir : he was supposed to have been killed for some money he had.

(J.H xtlon. Miller and Caldwell, who killed him, were negroes?
4ntoer. They were negroes. The idea seemed to come out in the testimony that

Caldwell \\ as alone in the killing, but that Miller knew of it, and tried to get him away.
//. He was killed, it was supposed, for his money?

&quot;&amp;lt;/. That is what the idea was at that time.
&quot;. Those men who killed him were afterward killed themselves?

J/ s/nr. They were got out of jail somehow, after they were bound over and put in

jail.

Question. Did they escape?
-lumin: Henry Miller did not escape.
iSurxtion. How did they get out?
Answer. That is a question I am not able to answer.
(Jin-xli m. They got out somehow .

J.sr/r. Yes. sir.

(Jticxliou. And were afterward killed ?

Answer. Miller was killed; CaldwHl has not been heard of since.
;,. \Yas it supposed that they were killed because of their murder of Suoddy*
. \ es, sir.

Snoddy was a democrat?
. Yes, sir.

tlon. These others were negroi-&amp;gt;

Annirn\ Yrs. sir.

Qu*tio*. r,y svhoiu were they killed? Was there any suspicion upon any person?
-

4ftMOf /. ^ ML sir, :, nn-at deal of suspicion.
^

km. \Ylio Were suspected. (
i liere was a young man who was at my store, who said he left Sam Colviu

;m&amp;lt;l Henry Miller at t w, different times, wtihin two or three &amp;lt;hiv8 of each other, though,

ITa^of Kle?
^ 1Iia &quot; &quot; f th&amp;lt; Dame Ol Mr(ir;iVl wh&amp;lt;) &quot;v;ls ;l COI1 table, and a man of The

You say Cal.lv, ell was never heard of?
No, sir; there was a skeleton f,,und in the neighborhood supposed to be his.

QMetOo*. \\ hen last s.-,, he was in the hands of an officer of the law ?
.! (Mm . \o. sir.

QtUttion, Well. Miller was.
. Not iii the hands of an ofJicer of the law.
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Question. In the hands of a constable ?

Answer. He was a constable, bnt did not pretend to be after them as a law officer

at all.

Question. What did he pretend to be ?

Answer. Just as the others were. One man of the name of John Brown presented a

pistol to the negro man, Henry Miller, and said, &quot;I would like to kill you just shoot

you off that block.&quot; Miller was then under bond, but was out of jail somehow.
Question. You do not know how he got ou* ofjail?
Answer. No, sir; not to my knowledge.
Question. How do you suppose he got out?
The WITNESS. Would that be testimony ?

Mr. BLAIR. As much as the balance of it.

The WITNESS. I think I have told some things I know.
The CHAIRMAN. If General Blair wants an answer to his question, you can give it.

The WITNESS. Well, my impression is, that he got out through the agency of men
who did not want to allow him to come to trial.

By Mr. BLAIR:

Question. If it was supposed that they were guilty of the murder of Snoddy, and
those men wanted them killed for it, why should they not be just as willing to have
them hung by process of the law ?

Answer. That would not gratify their feeling of revenge as well, and at the same
time they might not be hanged by operation of the law. They could, not have hung
more than one of them. They certainly would not have hanged a man for merely
helping another to get away after committing the murder.

Question. WTho was this man Harris of whom you have spoken ?

Answer. He was a negro man who had been prominent in the Union League when it

got about there in 1867
;
he was put in jail in 1807, with a great many others, for what

they called in that country a violation of the Sabbath ; he was bailed out by myself
and others, as being a man that it would do to trust

;
he was never brought to trial

for it, though the oftenso was so frivolous.

Question. Mr. Boyd, you say, was prosecuting attorney?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. He was killed in his own house?
Answer. He was killed in the tavern where he boarded; he was a young man, and

had no house of his own.
Question. Was he a very vigorous prosecutor ?

Amwer. Yes, sir
;
he was a man who did his duty faithfully and honestly a man

above reproach.
Question. Was it known by whom he was killed ?

Anxwer. It never came out.

Question. Never came out judicially?
Ansiver. No, sir.

Question. Was there any,attempt to bring the parties to justice ?

Answer. I do not know what attempt was made
;
I know I would not have made the

attempt for any amount of money. A month or six weed s after he was killed, when I

went up there to take charge of his effects, some of m^ friends democrats advised
me that it would not- near do for me to go to Entaw to take charge of his effects. He
was a nephew of mine

;
I was the only near relative he had there; he was born in

South Carolina, but was raised in Greene County. I would not go any sooner than I

did, for the love of life. He was killed on the last of February or the first of March,
and I did not go there until near the first of May.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. You say that your information is that things are pretty quiet up there now.
Why do you not commence a prosecution now ?

Answer. For the very reason that if I were to commence a prosecution there now, I
would not be allowed to get away from there.

Question. That is merely your opinion ?

Answer. I think so
; yes, sir

;
that is my opinion now.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. What is the political complexion of Greene County ?

Answer. The last vote showed a majority of democratic votes there. At tho presi
dential election in 1868, there was something like 2,200 majority for the republican
party. In 1869, when Major Hays was elected to Congress, there was a still larger
majority. But the vote was very much smaller last year.

Question. You mean the whole vote cast?
Answer. Yes, sir

;
the democratic vote was very largely increased.
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r,y Mi:. VAN TnrMP:

m, What proportion of the population of that county are negroes?
Mr. A larue majority in that county are colored voters, when they come out and

vote. I .ut a great many of them told me last fall, two or three days before the elec-

hat they would not vote: that they could not vote, that they dare not vote; aud

while I myself uave out, thirty-live tickets to parties who lived in my immediate

vicinity, and mostly on mv land, there were but six of the tickets found in the box

where they voted, in the presidential election in 1808, I passed out the great majority
of the republican tickets for four counties; at onetime there were about live to two

negroes there, but I do not think there are that many now. I shduld think now there

are about four blacks to three whites.

Quotha. Are there many colored Union leagues in that county?
Aiifiinr. I did not know of a colored Union league in that county, that there were

not some white men in.

^I n^iii ii. Are there any Union leagues with a considerable proportion of negroes
in them /

AHXHTI: There were in 1867; they have been abandoned now, so far as I know. I

did know something about them in 1807 and 1868.

J .y the CIIAII:MAN:

Question. You speak of certain leading democrats in town advising you to not to go
thereafter your nephew was killed. State who they were, and the reason for such
advice to you.

Anxini: One was Philip Schoffert; another was a Mr. Cavanaugh, a preacher, who
now lives in Kentucky.

Question. &quot;NY hat. reason did they give you for that advice ?

Answer. The reason Mr. Cavanaugh gave in his long letter about it was, that he did
not think I could possibly get away from there. He said that his father-in-law, a
democrat, and a good friend of mine, advised him to tell me not to come up there.

(jntxtioii. Is there any open and avowed determination there to prevent the expression
of political sentiments on either side ?

. lMrcr. I do not know that there is any open and avowed determination, unless it

is to say that a republican shall not make a speech there, or when he goes to make a

speech, to have him assaulted and harassed.

(jiicslion. Have you heard any such statements as that made there?
Aiixu-ir. I have not heard the statement from any leading democrat. I have a great

many times heard black men say that they heard men say that no republican should
make a speech in Eutaw. About the last of April last, a delegation came down from
Eutaw, with the Eutaw rioters; and they insisted that I should go to the district

attorney aud use my influence to get the prosecution set aside.

By Mr. VAN TIUIMP :

Question. You refer to the rioters at the joint meeting last fall?

Answer. Yes, sir.

By the CHAIRMAN :

(j.KKt uHi. Had they been brought in court?
Ammr. Some of them were arrested, and under bond to appear before the United

States dist iicf court at Mobile, and a great many came down with them as witnesses.
Several of those, gentlemen called on me, and asked me to go to the district attorney*
and urge him to drop the whole thing. ^

Question. This was at Mobile?

I .y Mi. Y\\ Ti:r.Mp :

lion. &amp;gt;V;:s that on account of any peculiar hostility to you personally?
Awwer. I say me or any other republican ;

allow me to do it, or Major Hays, or any
other republican.

(JnrNfi&amp;lt;i. 1 Hd they s:i

per. They said. &quot; \Ve cannot guarantee you any such thing.&quot;
M///.S//I///. They meant you personally/

r. They meant that they could not guarantee any republican to go there and
t speech. And yet these inn, say they are opposed to all such things. I think

speak advisedly when I say that a large majority of the wealthy, intelligent, and
influential people oi &amp;lt;;rcene Comity up opposed to all this thing.

V -lion. Democrats and republicans?
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Answer. As to republicanism, except among the black men, that is about out) tnere.

President Grant did not get but eleven white votes there when he was elected, and he
would not get that many now, because the few white republicans that were there then
have been killed or have gone off.

By the CHAIRMAN:

Question. Can a republican there express his sentiments openly in conversation, or in

a public meeting, and do so with safety ?

Answer. I do not thfnk he can.

Question. Is that owing to the existence of a small minority of lawless and riotous

persons in that community ?

Answer. I think so.

Question. Then if that be the case, and if a large majority there are opposed to this

lawless conduct
Answer. I say a large majority in point of intelligence, not in point of numbers.

Question. Very well
;
if a large majority of the intelligent white people are opposed

to that, why cannot you secure justice in the courts against those lawless and riotous

persons ?

Answer. Perhaps I could not answer that better than by giving you the answer that
wTas once given to me,

&quot; It would ruin our business/

Question. I do not know that I understand your answer fully.
Answer. Well, suppose that I am a merchant or a lawyer there

;
I depend upon pub

lic patronage for my business and livelihood; if I should take a stand that would per
haps bring some of these people to punishment, a hue and cry would be raised against
me, and I would not be supported in my business.

Question. Do you mean, then, that prominent men engaged in business will not take
a stand for the purpose of bringing these people to punishment?
Answer. I say exactly that.

By Mr. VAN THUMP :

Question. For fear of loss of business ?

Answer. Yes, and of being ostracized.

By Mr. POOL :

Question. Have there been any scourgiugs and whippings there?
Answer. I have heard of a great many; I kno\v of none personally.
Question. Of what character ?

Answer. Taking both men and women out of their houses at night and whipping
fchein. I know one black man was taken out of his house on my plantation last Octo
ber. I saw him a day or two afterward

;
he had been so abused that he was not able

to work for three weeks. He said it was by disguised nieri. It wus not more than half
a mile from Union.

Question. Is there any organization in that county of men who are in the habit of

going about in disguise ?

Answer. I have no personal knowledge of any such organization ; report says there

is, and their acts would seem to indicate it.

Question. What acts?
Answer. The killing of Boyd, for one thing. Mr. Cleveland and the clerk of the tav

ern said there was a large company of disguised men who came there and killed Boyd.
Question. Mr. Boyd was the prosecuting attorney?
Answer. Yes, sir ; they said he was killed in his room by disguised men.
Question. Have there been any parades in the county of disguised men ?

Answer. I have heard of a great many; I never saw oiie. I believe, in August, 1869,
there was a raid of disguised men about Union

;
I did not get out of my bed to see

them.

Question. What is that organization called?
Answer. Ku-Klux, or White Brotherhood.

Question. Have you ever heard of an organization called the Constitutional Unioa
Guards ?

Ansu-er. I do not know that such a name as that is current among the people; if it

is, I do not know it.

Question. Do you mean to say that the reason why it is now unsafe for you in that

county is that these violations of the law can take place and no prosecutions follow ?

Aaswer. That is the reason it is unsafe, I think.

Question. And no prosecution can follow, because any man who attempts it would
become an object of vengeance?

Ansicer. Just as Mr. Cockrell was when coming back from Mobile.

Question. And in that way there is terrorism to such an extent as to prevent the due
execution of the law ?

AnsiVGr. Yes, sir
;
I think that sums it up exactly.

Question. What is the political character at present of the county officers ?
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JMVHVT. They are nil democrats, except the probate judge.
(
t
nn-*tum. Ynii have said that colored men were put in jail for violating the Sabbath?

. 1/jM/vr. Yes. sir; in 18(57.

VHfti,M. lint no white man has been prosecuted for whipping, committing mur-

Answer. No, sir; there were bills found by the grand jury last fall against some
colored men tor this Kutaw riot. Although, as I have been told, some forty or fifty

colored mm were wounded in that riot, and some were killed, while not a white man
got a scratch : yet sonic negroes were prosecuted for the riot, but not a white man.

n. How many were killed?

. I do not know of my own knowledge that any were killed.

. How many were wounded
r. I heard that some forty or more were wounded.

, (inn shot wounds?
.1 iixin r. Yes, sir.

(^itt-xiioii. All Mack men?
JH.SJW. Yes, sir.

By Mr. COBUKX :

Question. How soon after the riot did you see them ?

JJ/.MO/-. I went down on Thursday and returned in a few days; I was there on the

Monday after that ; I think I came back on Saturday. The riot was on a Tuesday, and
on the Monday after I saw some of the wounded men

; perhaps six days after the riot;
I believe I saw one or two on Thursday, two days afterward, as I passed down; and
1 saw several while I was at court several days after that; the court commenced there
on the Monday after the riot.

By Mr. POOL :

()in*t n&amp;gt;n. I understood you to say that the former republican majority of two thou
sand in Greene County had been reduced till there was a majority on the other side.

J//.SHVT. Yes. sir; I said so.

(jurxlioH. &quot;Was that a consequence or result of these proceedings?
Answer. If you want my opinion I will say that it is my opinion unhesitatingly that

it was the result of the terror and intimidation brought to bear against the voters.

By Mr. VAX THUMP:

QucKHon. If, in your opinion, there was so much terrorism there, and you felt the
danger, how came: it that you were one of the gentlemen to propose a joint discussion
in such violent times?
Annrer. From the first notice I had of the advertisement I apprehended a riot and

trouble. I conversed with a great many sensible men who thought the same thing.
Hence, in order to avoid any difficulty, if possible, I proposed that both sides should
agree to keep the peace and make a joint discussion; that each party for themselves.
should agree that their party should not commence the riot, and let both parties take
part in the discussion.

&amp;gt;

. Have you been much in the Northern States?
I have not.

(jHrxiion. You do not know then that such things occur in the North very frequently,
on&amp;lt;- party preventing another party from holding their meetings peaceably?

jH*&amp;lt;m\ 1 do not. know anything of the way politics are managed in the North. I,way politics are managed
never have been in the North more than a few days at a time.

Qm-xtioH. YVho first advertised a meeting to be held at Eutaw?
J/&amp;lt;.s/rcr. T he republicans ;

their advertisement was some eight days old, I presume,*when the other appeared.

ly the CHAIUMAX:
Is that the usual mode of having political discussions in Alabama, to have

joint discussions .

4*M00r. That was invariably the course before the war; political opponents woulds
meet and discuss questions before the people.

*

By Mr. STEVENSON :

Did the republican advertisement state where your meetingwas to be held?
Antwcr, In Eutaw.
&amp;lt;

t
&amp;gt;m-&amp;lt;H&amp;lt;n\. Did it mention the place of meeting in Eutaw ?

. It did not.
. \Vheiv -,\ as the usual place for holding such meetings?When the meeting is not expected to be a very large one, the usual place is

in the comt-house : when it is to be very large, then it would be held in the grounds
adjoining the court-house, or in some grove, the place to be selected when the meeting
Meembleo.
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Question. When a meeting is advertised to be held in Eutaw, what place is under
stood ?

Answer. As a general thing the court-house, unless it is found the court-house is not

large enough to contain the audience, when some other place is selected
; except in the

case of a large barbacue, or something of that kind, when some other place is named
in the advertisement.

Recalled and examined.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. I understand that you desire to make some statement to the committee

concerning yourself as a property holder. You can make that statement now.
Answer. I have lived in Alabama since 1836. I pay more State and county taxes in

Greene County than any other man in the county. I pay some taxes in Mobile, nearly
or quite as much as any man in Greene County pays.

Question. Are you the owner of real estate in Greene County ?

Answer. I am, and the largest one in the county.
Question. How have these disturbances affected the value of real estate in that

county ?

Answer. It has depreciated it very much ;
I should say about one-third.

By Mr. BLAIR:

Question. How do you know that has been caused by these disturbances, as you call

them f Might it not have been caused by something else ?

Answer. I know this, that when you appeal to a man to buy real estate there, he
says,

&quot;

I cannot go there, because I would not be let alone.&quot; So I answered as I did.

Question. Are there not some people there who are let alone?
Answer. Yes

;
but they are not buying real estate.

Question. Then you think a mail who buys real estate is a very obnoxious person to

the people of Greene County ?

Answer. No, sir
;
not by any manner of means. But, I think, if men who have money

could go there and buy and be treated with more respect, there would be a higher
price paid for real estate. I think that the security of life and property is a very es

sential element in the market value of property.
Question. Is not the amount of taxation a very essential element also ?

Answer. We have not felt taxes very heavily yet ;
we are going to feel them.

Question. I understand the State debt has been largely increased since the war?
Answer. Perhaps you do not understand the condition of that State debt. No taxes

have yet been levied by the State for the payment of what are known as the railroad
bonds. The taxes levied in the State for 1870 were about $1)64,000 ;

in 1868 they were
nearly as large as last year ;

and in 1867 they were nearly as large.

Question. I understand you to say that there has been no tax levied as yet for the
issue of railroad bonds ?

Answer. None, except in counties, local taxes.

Question. But a large amount of State bonds have been issued ?

Answer. I think so
; perhaps six or seven millions. I have it from report only.

Question. Is it not probable that taxes will be levied to meet those bonds ?

Answer. I think it is probable.
Question. Men who have money to invest in laud are generally aware of such things,

are they not ?

Answer. I presume they are
;
but I can hardly see why the prospect of a difference

in taxes should bring about the difference in the price of property \vhich exists. I can
not see why it should take off one-third of the value of real estate in one or two years.

Question. People probably think more bonds will be issued.
Answer. They can repudiate them if they want.
Question. Have they repudiated any?
Answer. Not that I know of.

Question. Do they contemplate it?
Answer. I do not know that they do.

Question. Do the persons who issued the bonds contemplate repudiation ?

Answer. I do not know that they do.

Question. You know that a large amount of bonds have been issued?
Answer. A large amount is reported. We had a State debt before that, as much as

that perhaps.
Question. Is it not reported that a great many bonds have been issued without con

sideration, and that they do not know how they got out f

Answer. I have heard something said about more bonds being issued than the road
was completed for

;
but when the road was completed it would cover all the bonds. It

was said that bonds were issued*n advance of the completion of the road.

Question. And that increases the debt of tho State!
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Answer No more than the legislature agreed that it should be increased when the

road was finished. The railroad, under the law of the legislature,
was to receive so

many dollars per mil.- wbB finished. I have heard it said that in some cases bonds

\\ere i&amp;gt;Mied in advance of the completion of the work.

(Jm-xtinn Von an-, a lar-v property-holder, and as. a matter of course you think ot

these thin-s. Now, is it not a matterof course, that when the State debt is so largely

iiM-n-iM-d and when it is believed by many persons that it was improvidently increased,

that is to Bay. that the bonds were issued even before the roads had complied with the

conditions for their issue, would not that naturally have the effect by the increase of

taxation heivai trr to Lessen the value of land?

!//.sinr It would have the rfiect of depreciating property to some extent perhaps.

I m when the road is completed to the extent the bonds issued call for, I do not see

that that, should change the aspect of affairs at all. If I should agree to pay you a cer

tain sum of monev when yon had done a certain piece of work, and then should pay it

to yon before the work was done, still when the job was completed it would be all

even. Now, I think t he price, of property thero would have been increased, only for the

effect produced by terror and ostracism. Men who would perhaps buy property, if

wise treated, are ostracized, and the influence of terror is brought to bear on the

laboring classes.

By Mr. COBUJJX :

Question. How many miles of railroad have been constructed in Alabama since the

war .

: I do not know exactly; perhaps four or five hundred miles.

By Mr. VAN THUMP :

Question. Do you know that mere agricultural lands in the North are decreasing iu

price ?

Auwcr. I know very little about the North
; my property of every kind has always

been in the South.

WASHINGTON, D. C., June 2, 1871.

Hon. CHARLES HAYS called and examined.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. You are a member of the House of Representatives of the present Con
gress, 1 believe .

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. In what part of the State of Alabama do you live ?

AnKiccr. In (Jreene County, in the fourth congressional district.

QiHxtitm. Please state to the committee as succinctly as you can your knowledge of

the condition of affairs in Alabama, so far as regards the safety of the lives and prop
erty of citizens and the execution of the laws. We desire information more particu
larly in reference to the state of things at the present time, and within the last

year.
A n nicer. So far as the present state of things is concerned, there is more quiet now

than there has been for some time. I know of no outrages committed within my dis

trict, except the beating of Mr Cockrell, who was summoned as a witness before the
United States court at Mobile, in reference to the Eutaw rioters. I have heard of 110

out rages i here, except that since I went home from here this spriiig. Previous to that
time there had been a great many disturbances.

Question. Ho\v recently was that occurrence?
Aumn-r. About three weeks ago, I think; I only know of it from hearsay, from what

is the general talk in the country.
Question. You say he was a witness ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
before the United States court at Mobile.

Question. Was it upon his journey -to or from Mobile that he was assaulted ?

rpon his return.
. Have you seen him since then ?

1 have not.

Question. What other facts can you state to the committee that would tend to show
the degree of security for person and property that exists in the county in which you
live, or, so far as you know, within the district, for the last year ?

AfUtotf. 1 can only givr. you the facts as I have heard them in reference to the mur
der of a Mr. IJoyd. who was the solicitor for the county of Greene. I know the cir
cumstances only by hearsay : but 1 am satisfied the facts are true.

Question. Do you live iu the town where Mr. Boyd was murdered ?
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Answer. No, sir
;
I do not. I live about nine miles from there in the country, on a

plantation. He was the county solicitor for that county ;
some negroes had been Is

this testimony to be published now ?

The CHAIRMAN. There has been no decision yet of the committee in regard to the

immediate publication of the testimony. We have concluded to take testimony, allow

ing only the person testifying to be present in the committee-room, holding over the

question of publication.
The WITNESS. I ouly wish to make this suggestion so far as I am concerned : I think

it would be far preferable for our section of the State not to have this testimony pub
lished at this time; that is merely a suggestion to the committee. If the testimony
should be published, I think it would be necessary to send troops there

;
and we want

to get along without them if we can possibly do so.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. What eifect would the publication of this testimony have there, in refer

ence to the witnesses giving it, or the persons who might be named?
Answer. I think it would have pretty much the same effect upon them that the testi

mony that Mr. Cockrell was expected to give in reference to the Eutaw rioters had
upon him.

Question. You mean that the witnesses would not be safe in testifying to their knowl
edge of facts ?

Answer. I think they would not
;
I judge so from the demonstration made against

Mr. Cockrell after his return as a witness in the United States court at Mobile.

Question. The committee will doubtless consider your suggestion. You will proceed
with your statement in regard to Mr. Boyd.

Answer. I was in Washington in Congress at the time, and one morning received a

telegram from Mobile stating that Mr. Boyd had been murdered at Eutaw. A short
time after that I received some letters stating that the county solicitor of Greene
County had been murdered in Eutaw, at Mr. Cleveland s hotel, by men in disguise.
It seems -there had been some difficulties that originated near the town of Union, in

the northern part of Greene County, in reference to the holding of political meetings
there among the negroes. The white men of that portion of the county determined
that they should not hold them

; they went to where these negroes were holding the meet

ings, I suppose, and told some of them. This is only what I heard; I do not know it

positively, myself, but I heard it generally reported in the county.
Question. Give us only what you have examined into and are satisfied is a correct

statement of the facts.

Answer. I give you the statements as I heard them. These negroes had been hold

ing some political meetings, and the white men of the county determined to break
them up. They went there to stop them from holding the meetings ;

a difficulty
occurred in which some negroes were shot, and a night or two after others were car
ried oil&quot; and whipped. The circuit court was coming on in a short time, and Mr.

Boyd, who was the solicitor of the county, said to some citizens at Eutaw that he
intended to commence prosecutions before the grand jury to find out the parties who
had shot and whipped these negroes. While the court was in session, I think, a body
of some thirty or forty men rode up to the hotel, about 11 o clock at night ; they were
disguised, and went into the hotel, took Mr. Boyd out of his bed, and killed him right
in the passage, or on the porch of the hotel

; they killed him by shooting him. That
is one occurrence.

Question. Were anyproceedings instituted for the purpose of discovering and arresting
the perpetrators of that offense I

Answer. I think not
5
there never has been anybody arrested

;
I think that probably

they had the matter before the grand jury, but I do not know that they did anything
at all.

Question. Were any of the perpetrators known ?

Answer. Not that I know of.

Question. Being a citizen of that county, and interested in the good order and secu

rity of the county, have you taken any steps to discover and bring to justice the

perpetrators of that outrage ?

Answer. I do not think any steps have been taken.

Question. Have you any knowledge of any other occurrence of that character within
the last year f

Answer. There was a colored man by the name of Guilford Coleman, who lived in
that county, and who was a delegate to the State convention that nominated the gov
ernor, and also a delegate to the convention that nominated me. Upon his return
from the convention that assembled at Deniopolis, some two or three nights afterward
he was taken out of his house by parties in disguise, and has never been heard of
since.

Question. Was that in Greene County ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
in the town of Eutaw.
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Question. When was that?
1 think it was in the last of June. I am not certain as to the exact time.

I .y Mr. UI.AIJ;:

A year ago.
About a year ago.

Ily tin- CIIAII:MA.\:
&quot;&quot;

. Were you at a political meeting held in Eutaw in October last?

J/iMrr. Yes. sir.

QiicxtioH. Were you present at the time the riot occurred there 7

war. Yes. sir ; I was on the stand at the time,.

(JucxlioH. (Jive us as nearly as you can an account of how that riot originated, and
what occurred while you were there.

4Mn r. A public notice had been given by the State executive committee that Gov
ernor Smith, who was then a candidate for reelection, Senator Warner, Governor Par-

. and myself, would speak on a certain day at Eutaw. Shortly after that notice

was given, handbills werestruck off at Eutaw, I suppose, and put up all over the county,
announcing that a democratic meeting would be held at Eutaw at the same time. I

went up hi Eutaw on the day named for the meeting. There were some United States

troops there, under the command of General Crawford, about a half a mile from the

court-house. I had been raised in Eutaw, and had lived there all my life. As soon as

there, 1 said to General Crawford, &quot;General, I think it would be better for you
hi consult with Governor Smith, and arrange measures to preserve order here

;
I think

the demonstrations look a little ugly, and I am afraid we are going to have a row.&quot; I

said to him that the democrats having a meeting at the same time that the republicans
were to hold their meeting, it would be best upon the whole to address a note to the

leaders of the democratic party there, in order to inform them that we proposed to

have peace and quiet and order here, and to discuss the questions before the whole

people. I said that, so far as I was concerned, I did not propose to speak at all
;
that

tio\. nior Smith and Senator Warner would speak, and that the democrats could select

their orators, some arrangement be made for dividing the time, and it could be gen
erally understood that both parties would preserve order. He replied that he thought
that was a good suggestion. Mr. Miller, Mr. Cockrell, and myself were appointed
the committee on the part of the republican party to confer with the democrats. Mr.
Miller addressed a note to Colonel Jolly and Mr. Pierce, who were appointed on the

part of the democrats, informing them that we proposed to have a public discussion,
and to guarantee peace and quiet and order while the speaking was going on, pro
vided they would unite with us in doing so. We were then in the office of the circuit
clerk. Colonel Jolly and Mr. Pierce, on the part of the democrats, came over and said
that they did not propose to discuss at all these questions, either as to men or measures

;

I think that was their language in substance. In other words, they ignored entirely
the whole thing. In the mean time the meeting of the democrats \vas going on at the

opposite side of the court-house; their candidate for the legislature, a man by the
name of Smith, a JJaptist minister, and a very good man, made a speech. In a short
time the republican meeting was called to order upon the opposite side of the court
house. As soon as the republican meeting was called to order, a large crowd of those
who had gathered where the democrats, were speaking left there and went around on
the other side of the court-house, where Senator Warner was speaking. As soon as
this crowd had deserted the democratic meeting, a great many, some of .them from
Mississippi, ot hers from Snmter County, and some from Greene County, came around and
commenced hallooing, and making a noise, and hooting at Senator Warner, telling him
that he was a damned liar, and interrupting him, so that he could hardly goon.
Finally, after a great deal of trouble, he, concluded his remarks, and Governor Parsons
got up to speak. lie commenced by telling them that he had voted for Seymour and
Blair, that he had been a democrat, always a conservative man, and thought that the
best plan lobe pursued now was for the defeated democracy to accept the situation,
&c. ( )n- man in the crowd said,

&quot; Let him go ahead, he is making a good democratic
Speech, and as long as he is making that kind of talk, don t interfere with him.&quot;

About the time the governor was coming to the point of his argument, there was a

general
row and shouting, and a great many would curse at him and hoot at

him. lie got along badly, and finally ended his remarks. I had determined be-
beioie I went dine not, (,, speak. I got up for the purpose of moving an adjourn-
nir &quot; &quot; lllr &quot;&quot; ting. There was a table just outside of the court-house window,
and I got up on the table for the purpose of making that motion. Just as I did

man caught me by the sleeve, and pulled me oil the stand, and two men, one on
either side of the table, tilted it over. Just as that was done, some persons who had
got into the office of the circuit clerk commenced a rapid firing from the window
upon the negroes in trout, firing over the heads of Governor Parsons, Senator Warner,
mySelf, and others. There were two men who commenced shooting at me, but one
was immediately sei/.ed by the sheriff. In the general incite the negroes retreated, and
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bhe crowd pursued them, firing rapidly upon them. The negroes broke down the

court-house palings and ran oft . I stood there until the tiring had stopped, and then

started along over to the hotel with Senator Warner -and Governor Parsons. As I did

so. a man stepped out just in front of me and said,
&quot; I want to kill him anyhow.&quot; He

pulled out his pistol and shot at me; I suppose he was as far from me as it is from here

to the window. In the mean time an old sheriff of the county, who was a very warm
personal friend of mine, although a very bitter democrat, came up and took hold of

this man, and knocked the pistol out of his hand, or took it from him. I turned around
and quietly walked into the court-house door. The troops had got there about that

time
;
General Crawford had ordered them there. A great many persons had gone into

the stores in the place, and seized double-barreled guns, and were pursuing the negroes.
I did not see any of them tire these double-barreled gnus, and I do not believe they did

;

they were shooting the negroes with pistols. In the mean time the negroes had re

treated down the street some distance, and the troops went down there, and halted

the white men who were pursuing the negroes, and there the thing stopped.

Question. Were there persons from Mississippi and adjoining counties in Alabama

engaged in making this attack ?

Answer. Yes, sir; there were some men there from Mississippi; there is only one

county between the county in which I live and the Mississippi line.

Question. How many persons were killed f

Answer. 1 do not know; I heard that live men had died from their wounds. I saw
two lying in the court-house that evening after the row was over, who looked to me
as though they were going to die.

Question. How many altogether were wounded ?

Answer. The report was that there were lifty-ibur wounded.

Question. Was there any motive avowed for making this attack? If so, state what
it was.

Ansu-er. None whatever that I know of, except that I think the purpose was to

break up the meeting.
Question. Was there any personal hostility to either of the gentlemen who were

Speaking ?

Ansurr. You must know that there is a very great hostility to every man in that

section of the country connected with the republican party.

Question. What I want to get at is, Avliat was said showing the motive for the attack,
if there was anything said to that effect?

Answer. Every man in that section of country who is in favor of the policy of Con

gress and of the reconstruction acts is regarded as an enemy of the country.

By Mr. COIHTKN :

Question. Was there any other motive for the attack than a political one?
Answer. None that I know of.

By the CHAIRMAN:

Question. Were there any sentiments of that kind expressed there on that day sen
timents of I he. chnracter of those to which you have just referred; that is, that the

republicans Avere enemies of the country ?

Answer. Yes, sir; I heard several men say that they should not make any speeches
there, and that there should be no more radical meetings held there, and things of that
kind. I heard one man say. after the row was over, &quot;Well, you sent for your United
States Senator, and for your governor, and for your United States officer, and for your
member of Congress to come here, and, God damn you. we have cleaned you all out/

Question. Who Avashe?
Answer. I do not know; I Avas told that he Avas from Mississippi, and I tried to find

out who he AA*as, but I did not learn his name.
Question. Are you a native of that county ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
I was born and raised where I am now liA ing.

Question. You have an acquaintance in that entire district ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. How many counties compose your district ?

Answer. Fourteen.

Question. Have yon any knowledge of the existing state of things in the other coun
ties of your district ?

Answer. Only from what 1 have heard and seen published in the neAvspapers, and
what has been reported to me by my constituents.

Question. Have you traveled OA er the entire district ? Have you canvassed the dis

trict ?

Ansim: Yes, sir
;
I have cauA assed it. so far as I could

;
I could not go farther than

Eutaw during the last election.

Question. Have there been disorders in other portions of your district affecting the

security of person and property?
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Antnrer. I understand there h.ivo boon some difficulties within the last year in Choc-

taw County. Ju&amp;lt;I&quot;e Luther H. Smith, who is the circuit judge, I understand has

recent ly h:&amp;gt;d his gin-hooM burned. I myself saw some resolutions published m a paper

in Livin&amp;lt;-,ton requesting him to resign, and notifying him that it would not be safe

well I a pi not certain about that part of it; I heard that, but I do not think it is in the

resolutions that were published in the paper. I heard that he had been notified not to

go t. Livingston to hold court. He had been notified not to go to Eutaw, and he con

sequently did not go there.

QuMffOft. He is the. presiding judge of the circuit?

Mr. Yes. sir. Judge Tellium held the last court at Eutaw for him. Judge Pelliam

i&amp;gt; :n active republican, and is living at Talladega.

QttCKiion. Is .Judge Smith a native of the State?

Answer. No, sir
;
he is a northern man.

(Jm-xtion. Is he a republican, and was he elected as such ?

Anxicfr. Yes, sir.

tlnixtion. You have said that there was now a better state of affairs in your portion
of the State

;
to what do you attribute that ?

Anwr 1 do not know, unless, perhaps, it is the passage of what is known as the

Ku-KIux bill, and also the publication of the democratic address that went out from
here some time ago. I think that had a very good effect

;
and I think it probable that

the pas.sage of the Ku-Klux bill has had a good effect. I think if we had passed a gen
eral amnesty bill, it would have had a still better -effect.

Question. Have you sufficient information in regard to the existence of any organiza
tion for the purpose of committing these outrages, to enable you to testify on that

point ?

Answer. I have no personal knowledge ;
I have only heard of frequent instances of

negroes being taken out and whipped, but I never saw a Ku-Klux in all my life
;
I have

heard of them frequently.
Quest ion. From the information which you have obtained as to outrages which have

been committed, can you state whether they were committed by organized bands?
Answer. There is no doubt about that. *

ijixxtion. Of persons in disguise?
Ait-iwer. I understand that they are sometimes disguised, and sometimes they are

not very particular whether they have their disguises on or not..

(Jnt xtion. Have any persons who have committed offenses of this kind, in bands of

disguised men, been tried and convicted in your district, so far as you know ?

Ansicer. Not one that I ever heaVd of.

(Jtu-Htion. Do you yourself feel a sense of personal security there?
Answer. I did not at one time.

Question. AVhy .

Answer. I felt very insecure, indeed.

Question. On what ground?
slnxinr. Because I had been a very active republican, engaged in building up the re-,

publican party, and consequently was under the odium that generally attaches to*
members of that party.

Question. Has this species of terrorism and outrage had the effect of preventing a free

expression of political sentiments to any extent in your State ? ,

Anvnr. Yes. sir. 1 do not suppose you could get a man, in that part of the country,
to go to that district and make a republican speech. It was only by the most strenuous
efforts that I could get Governor Smith and Senator Warner to go there. I had myself
to goto the committee and tell them I intended to go home, and make no speech in tho:

campaign, for it would cost me my life, and I did not propose to do it unless I could
get some one to go along with me ; consequently I got them to go over there, and then
this row was organized for the purpose of breaking up the meeting and stopping the
canvass.

%
i)uf*ti&amp;lt;i. To what extent i.s this sentiment shared by the leading white inhabitants ?

Answer. I think the leading men of the country, the good citizens, who are property-,
holders, are opposed to this tiling. I think that &quot;in the beginning they winked at i tj,
because they thought it would ultimately result in the breaking down of the republi
can party ; hut the thing has got too big for them now, and they cannot control it. I
think they now regret this, about as much as anybody does, with the exception of a
few men, who are young men, and went into the confederate army, and have lost all
their property.

(&amp;gt;&amp;gt; (, tlnn. If a sub-committee were to go into that portion of the county where these
outrages have been committed, would the leading white men there give 1 hem such aid
and assistance as would enable them to ascertain who were the guilty parties?

Anxn-cr. I think that extremely doubtful.

Quixtion. Would there be any difficulty in procuring testimony of persons on the
ground, who had been victims of these outrages?

. I think there would be.
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Question. From what cause ?

Answer. Because they know very well that if they were to go before a sub-cornmittee

there, aud testify, the very inomeut that committee left they would be killed.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP*

Question. You say,
&quot;

They know.&quot; Do you not mean that is your opinion ?

Answer. Of course, sir, that is what I mean.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Can proceedings be instituted there, with any reasonable prospect of suc

cess, against the parties who are committing these outrages in that portion of your State,
for the purpose of discovering and punishing them ?

Answer. I do not think they can be in Greene County, in Sumter County, or in

Pickens County; I think that probably they might in some other counties.

Question. Are there any other counties, in your district, in \vhich the state of things
is as bad as you represent it to be in Greene county?

Answer. I &quot;think not, although the feeling is very bitter, and I have heard of outrages
that have been committed in Pickens County, but that was two years ago.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. When you speak of &quot; other counties,&quot; do you mean counties in your dis

trict or in other parts of your State ?

Answer. In. my district.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Have any threats been made against you which led to the feeling of inse

curity on your part, of which you have spoken?
Answer. I cannot say that there have been any threats made against me directly. I

have been notified by gentlemen, who were 1 riends, that I was in an unsafe situation

tin-re. I have been notified by members of the democratic party that they thought it

would be better for me, at certain times, to go out of the county for a while. I have
a large family connection in the county, very large ; nearly half of those living in my
immediate neighborhood in that county are related tome, and they are about all dem
ocrats.

(Question. How recently have any notices qf that kind been given to you?
Answer. I received a letter of that description before I left here in the spring, though

I did not give much attention to it. The writer of the letter stated that it was thought
it would be very unsafe for me to come back to that part of the country. I thought
then that the man was exaggerating, though not intentionally, and I think so now.

Que^Ho it. You did return ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Have you experienced any molestation ?

Ansiccr. No, sir, not a particle. Iain of the opinion that the country there -will be
net ; 1 hope so. I believe the country will now quiet down. I think the determina

tion is to desist from any further whippings or burnings or murders
;
I think that is

the determination. But I believe that there are men there who are perfect desperadoes,
who have nothing to do except to go about, and who think it is a popular thing to hound
a man because he is a republican. I think a republican is frequently in danger of

being attacked by them.

Question. Is it your belief that the tone of public sentiment upon that subject among
the white population is changing ?

Answer. I think it is.

Question. Ami that they will assist in preventing these outrages in future?
Answer. I think so. 1 know I havo received letters from some of the ablest men

belonging to that party, some of the most prominent men in my State, since I have
been home, in which they say that these things shall stop ;

that they shall go no fur

ther; that they will use&quot;every effort they can possibly bring to bear to put a stop to
these tilings.

Question. Was that the case six mouths or a year ago?
Answer. No, sir, it was not.

Question. What was the elicit of this riot in Eutawupon. the attendance of voters at

the last election?
Answer. I carried the. county of Greene by 2,600 votes when I was first a candidate

for Congress. There were then in that county about 2,600 negro voters, and about 800
white voters

;
some few of the whites voted the republican ticket. At the last elec

tion that county went democratic by 43 votes.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. The whites did not vote at all at the first election, did they?
Answer. Yes, sir, a great many of them did.

o
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By the CHAIRMAN:

Question. Yon say t here wore about 2,GOO rcpnblicau voters and about 800 democratic
vut ers in that county : that would make about 3,400 voters in the county? .

; .

Auxin r. Yes, sir. *
&amp;lt;

t
&amp;gt;u&amp;lt;!inn. What was (he total vote cast at the last election?

JttiMr. I reity much the same as at the previous election, but the character of the

rote wa -

changed.
Qm*rnm. Was that done by the ordinary method of appealing to the reason of the

people, or was there any nit imidation and violence to produce that effect ?

r. A great many negroes in the county did not vote at all.

By Mr. VAN Ti:rMi:
,

i. 1 low came it then that there was no falling off in the aggregate vote?
m r. 1 .ecause t hey had arranged all that thing previous to the election.

({iitxiioii. You say there were as many votes in the aggregate at the last election as at

the previous election.

A nxirn-. Yes, sir ; and I will say that at Union there were 248 republican and 54 demo
crat ic votes in one oi the boxes at the iirst election, and at the last election there were
in the box, I believe, 12 or 15 democratic majority. The negroes did not vote at all,

and yet the same number of votes were there. I have no positive proof of it, only I

have heard so.

l!y the CHAIRMAN:

Question. You mean that the returns were made as if tiie full number of votes had
been cast ?

A*8V*r. Yes, sir. precisely; I mean that there was nothing but fraud in the election;
that the whole thing was fraudulent. Now, to show the difference between the two
lections : In the box at the town where I live, Boligee, there were at the last election,

I think, 474 majority republican votes. That box and the box at Falkland and at
Mount Hebron were Vhe only boxes in the county that gave a majority of republican

9. The probate judge of that county stated to mo before the election came off
that he did not take any interest in it

; that he thought the election was already held.
lie was one of the supervisors of election.

Question. How are they appointed?
Aitxx cr. I lider the law the circuit clerk, the probate judge, and the sheriff are

supervisors of elections. The sheriff, I think, made out the list of officers to hold the
elections, and appointed as such all democrats iu the county; there was no republi
c-ail appointed at all. The democrats held the elections themselves and made the
returns.

Question. How many members of the State legislature are elected from that county?
ir. Two members.

I5y Mr. BLAIR:

Question. Who appointed the sheriff?
AIIHIUT. The governor of the State. *

Question. Who was the sheriff?
Anaii-cr. A Mr. White, and a very good man.
Qucxtiun. Was he ;i republican? ,

An*ir&amp;lt;r. No. sir, a democrat.
intention. Who was the probate judge?
Answer. Hon. A. II. Davis.

&amp;gt;

Question. Was he elected or appointed?
Anttwer. lie. was appointed.

&amp;lt;&amp;gt;n. Who appointed him?
Answer. Governor Smith.

Was In? a democrat .

Auxin,-. No. sir, he was a republican.
^r.x//&amp;lt;H. Wli.) was the other supervisor?

I think it was a Mr. Smith, the circuit clerk; he was appointed by the govj
s a republican. But I understood from Judge Davis that these matters were

submitted to him or to the circuit clerk, but the sheriff made out the appointments and sen! them ont. without consulting with them.*
Kim. I I:;d lie authority to do that under the law ?
er. I think not.

STOU say then- was a trial in Mobile of these rioters?

;.
V !!

-
v Si 1 try 1h( U1 ou ^-couutof t-he absence of some witnesses.

etUon. I IK- trial was to have been had t
A, ,r, ,-. \ eg* sir.

ion. Who put &amp;lt;;ii tlie trial?
dnwtr. I think it was put off by the United States Government.



ALABAMA. 3 9

Question. For want of witnesses?
Answer. Yes, sir

;
I think that was the reason.

Question. And no trial was had ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Who were indicted ?

Answer. I do not remember their names; I never saw the indictment. I did not
make any affidavit myself; I did not propose to have anything to do with it. I was
summoned before the grand jury as a witness, and went before the grand jury, but I

did not testify.

By Mr. VAN THUMP :

Question. How many were indicted ?

Answer. I do not know how many ;
I have understood that about twenty were in

dicted.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. Was Mr. Cockrell one of the witnesses ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Do you say he was beaten ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Where ?

Answer. At Finch s ferry, about three miles from Eutaw, on his return from Mobile
;

he eaine up the Warrior River on a steamboat.

Question. On his return from Mobile ?

Aimwer. Yes, sir
;
I have not seen Mr. Cockrell myself, but I understand that w;is

the case
;
I suppose everybody in the county will admit that.

Question. Where does Mr. Cockrell live .

Answer. In Eutaw; he was a lawyer there.

Question. Do you think we could send a part of this committee down there and get

testimony in this case
Answer. I do not know as to that

; probably you could; that is a matter you must
determine for yourselves.

Question. Would we not have a better opportunity to obtain the testimony there than
here ?

Answer. Yes, sir; I think so. I do not know that sending a committee down then?
would do any good in the world.

Question. Would it not do as much good as having a committee here ?

Answer. I do not know that it would do much good anywhere ;
that is my opinion.

Question. The question I wanted to present to your uiind distinctly was, whether,
in your opinion, we could not go there and have a better chance to get an exact id. a

of the state of things there than we could get here, or in anyplace distant from here !

Answer. I think you could.

By Mr. POOL:

Question. Why did not these witnesses go down to Mobile ?

Answer. I do not know the reason
;
I suppose the main reason was because they did

not wish to appear against these men.
Question. Do you think they were afraid to go ?

Answer. I do not know that they were afraid
;
but I think a great many there

thought it would do no good to have these men convicted
;
others thought it would

probably be better to let the matter rest where it was
;
the country was quiet, and

they thought it would be better to let it remain so.

Question^ Did the great bulk of witnesses for the United States decline to go 1

Answer. 1 think only two declined to go ;
Mr. Brown and myself.

Question. The rest went ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
the reason I declined to go was this : I was summoned before the

grand jury of the county immediately after the liot. I went there and they asked mo
some questions ;

I said to them that I had been a candidate there at the time the row
had occurred, &c.

;
that everybody was familiar with it; that there were plenty of

witnesses without me, and I did not desire to give any testimony at all in reference
to it. The grand jury determined to make me answer, and I declined to answer : they
then sent me out to Judge Smith, who was holding the court. I told the judge that I

thought it best for the peace, quiet, and order of the county that I should have noth

ing to say in reference to that riot, and that I did not propose to say anything in refer

ence to it. T told him that I wanted him to excuse me from testifying before the grand
jury. The solicitor of the county united with me in that request, and the judge ex
cused me. I wish, however, to make this remark : it was said that I tired the first,

.shot. I say that I did not tire at all. It was published in the papers that I had fired

the first shot, and that there were five or six men who would swear that I did so. T

will simply state that that was not correct
;

I did not fire a shot at all.
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By the CHAIRMAN :

*. What was the result of the inquiry before the grand jury?
. I do not know

;
I have never ascertained what the result was.

m. Were any bills found against anybody?
Mr No sir: and prob:il)ly for this reason : the United States raarsha. appeared

there diivcily after the elections and arrested these men, and the case was transferred

from the court there to the United States court at Mobile. I presume that was the

on \vhv tin- matter was dropped in the State courts in the county.

ttion N i lii-re any difficulty in your county in the administration of the law in

the case of ordinary criminal offenses, such as assault and battery, larceny, and offenses

Of that kind, which arise in every community ?

-oueral thing there the law is administered so far as one class is con-

d. I do not know what they did with those men who whipped Mr. Cockrell. I

do not know t hat they were arrested or that anything was done about it. As a general

thins:, though, when two negroes fall out and have a fight, or when two white rneii

fall out amfhave a fi#!it, they are taken up and tried.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. Did Mr. Cockrell know the men who beat him ?

Yes, sir, very well; I presume he does; I understand he does.

I .y the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Is there any difficulty in the administration of the law in the case of crimi

nal offenses where they have no connection with politics ?

J//MC&amp;lt;T. I think not.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. Who is this man Brown, the other witness who you say failed to attend at

Mobile?
Au*inr. He is a young man who was in the confederate army, and lost his leg at

Malvrrn Hill. He is a republican and a native of that county.
Qmxtimi. You say all the other witnesses appeared?
.-}.svr. Yes, sir.

(Question. Could there not be any number of witnesses obtained there as to the facts

of the case?
.h/.sim-. Any number, I presume.
(Question. Then why was it necessary to postpone the case simply on the ground of

the absence of two witnesses ? 4

.liixinr. I presume it was on account of some testimony which Mr. Brown could give
i:i reference to this matter, and that no one else could give; I presume so; I do not
know.

(^u ^lion. Is there any difficulty at all in trying these rioters in the court at Mobile ?

J/f.s/ar. I think not.

Question. Or executing any decree of the court?
J /&amp;lt;//&amp;gt;/. None whatever, I think.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Qurxi nm. Then the trial was not put off on account of the absence of witnesses

generally, but simply because of the absence of two witnesses?
J.sicer. I think so. &amp;lt;

By the CHAIRMAN:
tum. I understand you to say that it is your impression if things are left to time

:.!:! th operation of the laws now in existence, the strong probability is that there
v. ill !) no further disturbance in your State ?

JM&amp;lt;vr. That is my impression I hope for that
;
I think they are all tired of these

things; I know 1 am. &amp;lt;

. When you say that, are we to understand you to mean that men can go on*

heretofore,
violence ?

any man could go there and
iMakr a rrpublican speech without there being a riot.

lion. Then dors the future peace and security of the State depend upon rcpubli-
appressinff their sentiments and keeping entirely quiet?

I think that has a great deal to do with it. I will explain more fully what
: mean. Then- will be no elect ion there in the, State for nearly two years. I think the .

ktieri wants rest. I think if we just keep the military away from there and let
;s alone as they are for the present, the people will probably see that it is better

.1 have peace and order all over the country
;
and I think that is what they intend to

do
;
at least I hope so.

nid express their political sentiments there asYreely as at any time he
v : i hout bring railed to account for it, or without inearring any danger of viol

.IW.MW. No. sir, 1 do not. mean that. I do not think an man could o th
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By Mr. COBURN :

Question. Do you mean to say that the quiet of the country depends upon not arrest-

in^- these offenders and not talking politics?
Answer. I think that has a great deal to do with it. These men have already been

arrested and carried to Mobile.

Question. You mean that the prosecution should not be pressed ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. It depends upon those conditions ?

Answer. I think so.

Question. In your opinion, what evil would result from the detection, trial, and con

viction of the perpetrators of these political outrages ?

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. I thought you expressed the opinion that general amnesty would do more
to quiet the country than anything else ?

Answer. I think so.

By Mr. COBURN :

Question. I would like to have you answer my question. What evil would result

from the arrest, trial, and conviction of the perpetrators of these outrages ?

Answer. I could not tell you. I have heard men say there that threats had been
made, that if these men were interfered with in Mobile, the witnesses would be paid
up in cash account; that was about the expression used. That is, if they went to

Mobile and these men were convicted and sent to the penitentiary, they were given to

understand that the witnesses could not live in the country.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Then I understand you as saying that the future security of the State

depends upon granting immunity and amnesty to these men who have committed out

rages in the past, and upon the entire silence of the republicans in the future?
Answer. I cannot say that. I say that I think the best course now, as things are

quiet there, is to let them remain so
;
and probably by the time the next election comes

off, in two years, republican views may be tolerated there, and men may be allowed to

make speeches wherever they please ;
that is the idea I wish to convey, that they may

be allowed to express their sentiments wherever they please at the expiration of that
time.

(Question. Does that convey the idea that there should be no proceedings against the

perpetrators of these outrages; that they should be allowed to go unpunished \

Answer. I do not go that tar, because I think the guilty ought to suffer punishment.
Question. What would be the result of proceedings against them ? I do not mean

that you think that ought not to be done. But 1 wish to know whether I am to

understand you as saying that if prosecutions are carried on against these offenders

and they are brought&quot; to justice, the result will be
Answer. More trouble in the county ?

Question. Yes. sir.

Answer. I think so.

By Mr. VAX TRUMP :

Question. I understood you to say that you thought there was a general determina
tion on the part of the people there, except a few roughs, to have these things stopped.
Do you mean to say that is upon the condition that none of these offenders shall be

prosecuted ?

Answer. I do not say that. I think the prosecution of these men, the conviction of

them, and the sending of them to the penitentiary, would stir up a bad feeling in that
section of the country.

Question. Do you mean that the public opinion there in regard to having peace here
after is based upon the condition that no prosecution should be had against these
criminals ?

Answer. I think so.

Question. Have you any evidence or facts upon which you base that belief?
Answer. None, except that I believe the general sentiment of the people is in favor of

having these cases dismissed.

Question. That might be the general sentiment and yet not be a condition ?

Answer. I do not say they make any such bargain ;
but I think it would be best

;

these are my views.

By Mr. BLAIR:

Question. I desire to ask you in reference to the opinion you expressed of general
amnesty amnesty for the offenses of the war, I presume you mean ?

Answer. Yes, sir.
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Question. Would it do more to quiet the country than anything else ?

Answer. 1 think so.

(Question. Upon what do you base that opinion ?

Mr. There we a great many aairiag men in Alabama, as there are everywhere
else. Tln-y have been kept do\vu under disabilities. They want tn have a chance to

occupy Official positions : that is something that is in the human heart, it is the senti

ment of ambition. Tlies: mm think if they could get back into Congress hi other

\vords. they wish to bo placed upon an equality with all the people of the country.

Quotum. Is not that a very natural sentiment?

Answer. I think so.

Question. Is it not a very unnatural thing to hold men responsible for that about

which they have nothing to say .

J/i.s/n /. They do have something to say.

Question. How ?

Answer. They have a vote
;
there is not a single man disfranchised from voting.

Question. They are disqualified.
Answer. From holding office under the Government of the United States.

Question. And laboring under this disqualification, they are not on an equality with
their fellow-citizens ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Therefore they cannot take any position in politics, and ought not to be
held responsible for those who may take a position in politics.

Answer. Do you mean to say that they ought not to be held responsible for outrages ?

(Juottion. Ought to be held responsible for their own acts, but not to be called upon
to exert an influence, when they are not allowed to hold a position.

Answer. I think it is the duty of every citizen of the Government of the United
States to do what he can to suppress violence in any community in which he lives.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. Would you not consider the mere right of voting as a very poor compensa
tion for a disqualification from holding office ?

Answer. I was a major in the confederate army ;
I went into the war and fought the

best I knew how
;
I came out and accepted the situation, and I think I can live under

the Government.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. But you had your disabilities removed ?

Answer. After I came out of the war.

Question. And you found yourself in a condition to accept office ?

Answer. No, sir, I did not desire any office.

Question. I am not asking you as to your desire; but you found yourself in a condi
tion to accept it ?

Answer. I did not ask for the removal of my disabilities
; they were removed under .

a general bill.

Question. Was there any general bill removing disabilities from the people of
Alabama?

Answer. There was a general bill removing disabilities from all persons in Alabama
.

who took part in framing the convention under the reconstruction acts.

Quexiion. Removing the disabilities from certain persons ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And you were among that number ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Is it the opinion of those men who nro disqualified by the constitutional
amendments that their disqualifications can best be removed by disregarding the
rights of other people?

Answer. No, sir
;
I do not say that.

Question. How do you connect these.proceedings, then, with the existence of those
disi|iiali!ications?

I think the people of the State desire these disqualifications removed.
&amp;lt;nn. Those who were under disabilities ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

By Mr. BLAIR:

Question. Do not the mass of people of the State desire that to be done ?
Answer. Of course they do; I do not think there is anybody in the State of Alabama

01 any party opposed to the removal of political disabilities
;
there are but very few, at
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By tho CHAIRMAN :

Question. Has the existence of these political disabilities anything to do with the

causing of these outrages ?

Answer. I think it has.

Question. Do you mean that the men laboring under these disqualifications prompt
these outrages as a means of bringing about amnesty to themselves?

Answer. No, sir.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. You mean that if their disabilities were removed they would exert an
influence which they do not now feel called upon to exert?

Answer. I think if these men were relieved from their disabilities they would make
better citizens of the Government than they are with the disabilities resting upon them,
because they would then feel that they were upon a political equality with all their

fellow-citizens.

By Mr. VAX TRUMP :

Question. And they feel it particularly severely when the colored race is put over
them politically ?

Answer. I think they have had a great deal to do with that thing themselves.

Question. Originally they had f

Ansiccr. They refused to have offices under the Government, and allowed these men
to come in and take them, and now they are mad because they cannot get them.

By Mr. POOL:

Question. Do you mean to say that if conviction were had upon the testimony of wit

nesses, and punishment should follow the conviction, the friends of those convicted
would retaliate upon the witnesses, and in that way produce disturbances ?

Answer. I can only say what I have heard, and that is that the rumor in the country
generally is that if men go before that court and testify in regard to these rioters, and

they are convicted, vengeance would be wreaked upon witnesses. I judge that from
the very fact that Mr. Cockrell did go there as a witness, and was beaten as soon as he

returned, and nearly killed.

Question. With such a sentiment existing in the community as that, is not the pro
gress ofjustice retarded f

Ansii er. 1 think so.

Question. That applies to these political offenses
;
I understand you to say it does not

apply to ordinary offenses, such as assault and battery, cScc.

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Could a republican meeting be held in Eutaw for the discussion of political

questions in quiet ?

Answer. I think not.

Question. If an election should be ordered by your legislature for any purpose, within
the next six months, and a canvass should begin, is^ it likely that the present state of

quiet would continue ?

Answer. You could not get a man to be a candidate on tho republican side of the

question in Greene County.
Question. He would be afraid ?

Answer. Of course he would.

Question. And your hope is that the two years without an election will work a change
^n public sentiment ?

Answer. That is my opinion.
Question. That is, if all that is past shall be allowed to rest, and nobody be punished

for it ?

Answer. I think so.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. You say that this man Cockrell was beaten because he went down to Mo
bile as a witness ?

Answer. That is the general impression in the county.
Question. There was an examination here last winter, and some seventy or eighty

witnesses were examined before this committee. There was an examination of wit
nesses in regard to Tennessee a year or two ago in Congress. I believe there has been
for the last four years a sort of chronic examination of witnesses about affairs in the

Southern States. Now, have you ever heard of any other witness but Cockrell being
injured for testimony that he has given?
Answer. For testimony that he has given before Congress ?

Question. Did you ever hear of any witness in any examination that, has taken place;
while you were in Congress I suppose there must have been four or live hundred wit
nesses altogether have you heard of any one of them being injured

Answer, There were none of them from my State
;
I have never heard of any being
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tered v,-ith in North Carolina, or in any other State from whence witnesses have
immoned hen-.

i
t
*iicxtiuii. Do you not know that there was a great point made in both Houses of Cou-

- laM y-ar, and threat apprehension expressed by Senators and Representatives that
our proceedings should ho kept secret lest these witnesses should bo disturbed?

An*ic&amp;lt;r. Yes. sir.

(jinxtitHi. That pretext was set up ?

Anxinr. .\t-&amp;lt;. sir.

inn. You recollect that F

. ln\;i-t ,-. ^ es, sir.

QHI^ HIII. Nn\v, tlie testimony has been published by the authority of Congress, and
it has gone hack home where these witnesses live. Have you ever heard of any wit-

U-ing disturbed for what he has testified to?
Annper. 1 have never heard of it

;
I have not paid any particular attention to North

Carolina.
And this is the solitary case of a witness being disturbed?

r. This happened but shortly since.

15y Mr. POOL:

Question. I understand you to say that the bare fact of a witness coming into court
and testifying would not call retaliation upon him; but if the offender should be con
victed and punished upon that testimony, then retaliation would follow?
Anxim-. That is my opinion.
(Jufxti&amp;lt;m. The mere investigation would not call retaliation upon a witness, while

the punishment of the offender would?
Ansin-r. Yes, sir

;
and the simple fact that Cockrell went to Mobile as a witness,

although he gave no testimony, brought down upon him a sound beating as soon as he
got back.

r\ Mr. BLAIR:

Question. How do you know that ?

J//.s&amp;lt;n r. 1 judge so from what I have heard.

Qut xtion. You do not know that from your own knowledge you do not know that he
was beaten from your own knowledge ?

Aiiwtr. No, sir; but it is generally conceded by every one there, democrats and
republicans.

By Mr. POOL :

Question. Have you ever heard it denied ?

Anxwcr. No, sir.

By Mr. VAX TKUMP :

Question. Are you a practicing attorney?
Anmctr. No, sir; I am a planter.
Question. Have you never heard, in regard to cases in courts, of witnesses havin-

been maltreated and injured for the testimony they have given ?
Answer. No, sir

;
I think not. I am a planter by occupation, and have had very little

to do with law.

By Mr. STEVENSON :

Qiicxiion. 1 understand you to say that you are a native of Alabama?
Amtwer. ^ es, sir; 1 was horn and raised within a mile of where I-now live.
QiMrffcm, Yon were in the confederate army?
Anmn-r. I was.

f,&quot;&quot;*/ &quot;/j. Did you hold any office before the war?
A iimn r. Xo, sir.

&amp;lt;.

,,/;-,. Then you were really under no disabilities?
Answer. No, sir. .

.

Quorum. I see it stated here in the &quot;

Congressional Directory that the vote in your -

n!?,&quot;

1

/, :

:

\o
h^;^ C(m-n

;

;*ional election was fo* yourself, 18,373, and

lat was about

I do not think there was.
ton. The number of republicani voters was about the same in both elections ?

&amp;lt; .

^es
sn ahour Khesaine. In the first contest a great many there would not

;

,,, V V vV v &quot;I

11 &quot; uomiua
)
c
?

as their candidate one who had been a
&quot;. 1 Army, hnt many of the people would not vote for him. I had

I;;&quot;;, L^^;^ m*&amp;gt;* &m ^h J nominated by the republicans, a

MM, 1 lie Kutaw riot occurred during the last election ?
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Answer. Yes, sir. I know that a republican speech was not made in Pickcns County.
I think Senator Warner made a speech of about half an hour in Tuscaloosa County. 1
think no republican speech was made in Bibb County. I think Governor Smith made
a speech in Shelby County. The counties of Tuscaloosa and Pickeus were not can
vassed, for the simple reason that we could not canvass them.

Question. How was the vote in those counties?
Answer. It was a very large democratic vote.

Question. Was there much change from the republican to the democratic side ?

Answer. I think there were 168 republican votes given in all Pickeus County ;
while

at the hist election I carried it by about 400 votes.

Question. You carried Greene County in 1868 by a large majority ?

Ansieer. Yes, sir
;
about 2,200.

Question. And in 1870 it went democratic ?

Anxwer. Yes, sir.

Question. Do the democrats there still express their political sentiments; do they still

electioneer freely ?

Answer. Of course they do.

WASHINGTON, D. C., June 3. 1871.

Hon. WILLARD WARNER sworn and examined.

By the CHAIKMAN :

Question. In what part of the State of Alabama do you reside ?

Answer. I reside at Montgomery, the capital of the State.

Question. Have you within the last year or two been through any considerable por
tion of that State? If so, will you go on and give us the facts that have c.ome under

your observation so far as they relate to the execution of the laws, and the safety oi

the lives and property of the citizens of the State?
Answer. I have within the past year been pretty generally over the State. During

the campaign of last fall I was through the whole of the northern and middle regions
of the State. I was in some twenty-live or thirty counties of the State. At other
times I have been all over the State. I believe I have been in every county in the
State. Your question is a very general one, and somewhat dillicult to answer.

Question. You say that during the last year you were through the western and north
ern counties of the State ?

Answer. The western, northern, and middle counties. I was in Selma, Talladega.
Huutsville, Decatur, Tuscuinbia, Florence, Moultou, Courtland, Demopolis, Livingston,
Eutaw, Tuscaloosa, and other important towns.

Question. If, during that time, any facts came under your observation which will

throw light upon the question I have put to you concerning the execution of the laws
and the security of life and property, please state what they are.

Answer. I will say, generally, that up to about the 20th of October last the canvass,
so far as I was engaged in it or saw it, Avas a very quiet and peaceable one. 1 saw
nothing during my canvass in North Alabama but what was peaceable and quiet. In
all that region of country, although many of the places I then visited for the Jirst time,
I was treated with as much courtesy as I could expect or wish. The meetings were all

quiet and peaceable; at most of them we had disctiSvSions
;
we invited discussion al

ways. I was canvassing, of course, as a republican, and for the republican State ticket.
I was accompanied part of the time by Judge Rice, and part of the time by Governor
Smith sometimes by both. We everywhere invited discussion ; we invited our demo
cratic friends to bring forward their representative men, such as they would be respons
ible for, to discuss the issues before the people. At very many places they did so, and
the discussions in the meetings were all friendly and kind, with nothing more of sharp
ness or acerbity than one would witness in any Northern State, or sometimes here in

Congress. Until I reached Demopolis I saw no exhibition of violence or of unusual

feeling. When I reached Demopolis I made a speech there to a very quiet audience.
After the meeting was over, as I was passing from the stand across the street, a gen
tleman whose name I do not recollect, a lawyer there and a democrat, whom I had
met and been introduced to in the morning, and with whom I had had a very pleasant
conversation, mounted 011 a box at the corner of a store, or on a porch, and called to
me by name, to stop and hear him make a democratic speech. I replied,

&quot;

Certainly, I
will be very glad to hear you.&quot; He hat! his hat on, and began by saying that he did
not take oii his hat to anybody except to his God and to the legitimate governor of the
State

;
that he did not take it otf to his carpet-bag and scalawag inferiors. I thought

that was not a very inild response to my acceptance of his invitation to stop and listen
to him

;
but I did not take any notice of it, and started to pass on. OIK? of the party

who was with me, the republican senator from that county, at once made a pretty tart
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::d There seemed to be a chance for a difficulty. I said to him that he had bet-

and held a meet ing. Governor Smith spoke first. He was a great deal interrupted,

-real many insulting remarks \vere made, -but no violence was done him, ho\v-

llc spoke from the door of the court-house. While he was speaking, a man
oame up and stood by him a portion of the time with a large knife in his hand, drawn,

other men came in with revolvers on their persons. One man in particular several

times pa^ed out by him, and pushed out through the crowd in front of him, although
t here were other doors of the court-house open through which ho could have gone. Ho
eame in in tlu- same way, very much to the interruption of the governor; he walked up
to him while speaking, and took up the glass of water which was on the stand, and

a&amp;gt;ked him if he did not want a drink of water. The man who stood in the doorway

my diair up close to him, so as to be within reach of him, and gave him to understand

that 1 was \vatrhing him. He then moved across on the other side of the hall and sat

down. I walked across the hall, intending to give him to understand that I was

watching his movements. I took out a cigar and asked him for a match, which he

i^ave me. Directly two or three more men came in immediately behind the governor,
and sat there, armed with revolvers in sight, and interrupted him by remarks, though
they did not offer any violence. I walked back to one of them the ugliest looking
customer there offered him a cigar, and asked him if he had a match. He took the

cigar, gave me a match, and after awhile sauntered out. After Governor Smith got
through, Governor Parsons followed. He was interrupted a great deal, but no violence

&amp;gt;;ieivd to him. I spoke after him, and was not insulted or interrupted. It began
to vain, and we adjourned the meeting and went over to the hotel. After we had been
there a little while four or five young men came over and inquired for Burton, the re

publican candidate for lieutenant governor, who was with us. One man walked up to

him and wanted to know if he was the editor of the Demopolis Republican, and he
answered that lie was. It was evident, from the man s manner, that he was in liquor,
and intended sonic, violence

;
his comrades there seemed to understand that. I stepped

up by the side of Burton, when a comrade of the man I was told that his name was
L t -no came up and took him away. Burton then went into the house, and went up
si airs. I went into a lower room the office or reception-room of the tavern. Perhaps
twenty of these young men came in after me. I remained there alone with them, for

Governor Smith, Governor Parsons, and Mr. Burton had gone up stairs. I remained
with them some time. They made some slight remarks, and I walked around among
them and looked at them. They said that they thought candidates ought to treat.

Finally they dropped out one by one, and went off. After awhile four or five came,
back, and again inquired for Burton. The landlady came up stairs and said that some
men wanted to see Mr. Burton. She was crying, and said,

&quot; I hope you will not go
down

;
I think they want to kill you, or do you some violence

; they are in liquor, and
I wish you would not go down.&quot; I said to Burton,

&quot; You stay here, and I will go down
and see them.&quot; The landlady said,

&quot; No
;
if anybody goes down there will be trouble.&quot;

She said that she would tell them that Burton was not there. Finally the young men
went oil . I was unarmed

; my usual habit is to go unarmed. I asked Burton if he,,

was armed, for I was satisfied that they meant violence to him. Ho said he had aeon- .

pie of Derringers in his pocket. I said to him,
&quot;

They may assault you as we go to the
*

depot ; you had better give me one of them.&quot; He did so, and I put it in my pocket.*
Toward evening wo went to the depot without being disturbed at all. From there we
went over to Eutaw, in Greene County. Governor Smith, Governor Parsons, and my
self were advertised to speak there at a republican meeting. The next morning we
saw posters railing a democratic meeting for the same day, announcing that several of
the leading men of the State, the democratic candidate for governor, the chairman of
the State committee, I think ex-Governor Watts, and I think one or two others of the;
Leading men, would speak there. I knew very well that they were not there, but were

engaged
elsewhere ; that it was impossible for them to be there. I told several of my

friends that that was unfortunate
; that it was a very significant fact that they should

call a democrat ie niee! ing on the same day with the republican meeting in a county
like that, and in the then excited state of public feeling. I said I thought it was in
tended to make difficulty, or if not intended, that that would be the effect of it. I

expressed that same opinion to the sheriff, and said that I thought no prudent, well-
meaning man, however devoted to his party he, might be, would call opposing political
aeetmgs in a county like (Jreene upon the same day. I noticed by the posters that

temocratfl trom all the adjoining counties were invited to come in. But Governor
Smith sent to,- the &amp;gt;lieriff and for General Crawford, who was in command of the troops
in the State.

r

l lit- State was made into a military district, and General Crawford was
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m command of the district, and was there iii Eutaw at the time. The- governor, the
sheriff. General Crawford, and myself had an interview together. Some of the older

citizens, like Judge Miller, who was before the committee yesterday, and Governor
Parsons, who knew the people there very well, stated that there was going to be diffi

culty. I replied that I hoped not. They said they knew the people better than I did
;

that there was a riot in contemplation there
;
that the intention was to break up our

meeting. We expressed these fears to the sheriff. He said there were a great many
young men there, and that they had been drinking. I noticed, as I walked about, a large
number of young men all armed, most of them showing revolvers in plain sight ; they
were gathered about the saloons. The sheriff said that ho could keep the peace. Gov
ernor Smith asked him if he wanted the troops to assist him

;
there was one company

of United States troops, under the command of Major Leighton, encamped in the out
skirts of the town. The sheriff said he did not want them to assist him. Some one of
the party said that there were evident indications of a disposition to m;&amp;gt;ke trouble
there that day, and asked the sheriff if he had not better have the troops. The sheriff

said,
&quot; No

;
the bringing of the troops in here might be construed into a provocation-^

might irritate the people ; keep the troops out of sight, and I will be responsible for
the peace. I will keep it, or die in the attempt ;&quot;

that was his language.
&quot; I have a

hundred men here that I have sworn in as deputy sheriffs; they are sober men, and I
can depend upon them.&quot; It was evident from his conversation, from the fact that he
had sworn in a hundred men, that he himself was apprehensive of difficulty. It was
decided not to bring in the troops. We then concluded to invite the democrats to a
discussion. A committee was appointed to wait upon their leading men, inviting
friendly discussion. Judge Miller, Congressman Hays, and S. W. Cockrell were desig
nated as our committee.
The CHAIRMAN. We have had a pretty full statement from Judge Miller in reference

to that invitation.
The WITNESS. I have here the original note of invitation, together with the reply

from the democratic committee.
The CHAIRMAN. You can go on and state it.

The WITNESS. The invitation, signed by Judge Miller, Mr. Hays, and Mr. Cockrell,
was as follows :

&quot;

EUTAW, Odder 25, A. D. 1870.
&quot; To the President of the Democratic Club :

&quot;We propose to appoint a committee of two to meet a committee of two from your
party, to arrange the terms of discussion for the day, to meet immediately at the cir

cuit clerk s office.
&quot; WM. MILLER,
&quot; CHARLES HAYS.
&quot;

S. W. COCKRELL.&quot;

To that invitation the following reply was sent :

&quot; GENTLEMEN : In answer to your note of this date, we, the committee appointed
by the president of the Democratic and Conservative Council of Greene County, are
instructed to say, that we do not consider the questions in the present political canvass

debatable, either as to men or measures
;
and that we, therefore, in behalf of the

democratic and conservative party of Greene County, decline any discussion whatever.
&quot;&quot;J. J. JOLLY,
&quot;J. G. PIERCE,

&quot; Committee.
&quot;

EUTAW, October 25, 1870.&quot;

Receiving that reply, we then proceeded to the court-house. The democrats had
organized their meeting on one side of the court-house, speaking from a stile there
was there. Upon consultation with the sheriff&quot; of the county, who was a democrat,
we concluded to go to the other side of the court-house, entirely out of their way, and
organize our meeting. I suggested to the sheriff that he had &quot;better clear the court

house, and either .guard or close all the doors but that from which we spoke. I was
really apprehensive of difficulty, of danger, of extreme violence. He said he would clear
the court-house and give us possession of it, and let us speak from the doors, so that
we would be in no danger except from the front. He failed or was unable to do so.

A party of these young men were in the court-house, and he could not or would not
clear them out. These young men were about us and urging us to peak. They
seemed to think that we would abandon the meeting. They got around me and said,
&amp;lt;% Go on. General, and

speak.&quot; We set a table out in front of the window of the office

of the circuit clerk, Captain Smith, who was a friend. We told him to lock his door
and ket-p it locked, and to stay inside, so that whatever danger thero should be would
bo in front. I got upon the little table (it was about three feet square) and com-
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meneed speaking. I spoke, I suppose, for an hour. I made, I think, such n speech

as 1 always make kind, conciliatory, with nothing in it that would give of-

10 any one. I was interrupted a great deal, and insulted many times.

And her.- all)w me to say t hat the town of Eutaw is the only .place in the State where I

have been seriously interrupted or insulted. Except there, I never received a personal

iiisnh in t he St ate : in fact, I never had an individual come up to me and make insulting

remarks at any ot her place. J never was interrupted in a meeting in any other place in

the State except by some drunken man on the outskirts of the crowd, who might cry
out &quot; That is a damned lie,&quot;

or something of that sort. But here there were about 2,000

men, I suppose : of that number I suppose 1,800 were colored men. Perhaps 10 or 15

of the whites were republicans, and the rest of them were democrats, mostly young
men. and all armed ; you could see the arms on most of them. They gathered on the

! lulu and left of the stand, at the corners of the court-house, and made a great deal of

hrterrupt ion. so i hat it was very difficult for me to speak. I kept my temper, however,
and linally concluded my remarks. While I was speaking one of these young men
climbed up on (he table beside me, sat in the window right behind my back, almost

touching me, and, finally, got into Captain Smith s room. I felt quite apprehensive
during The time I Was speaking that some of these men might attempt some violence;
but no violence was ottered. Alter I got through Governor Parsons spoke; he was
treated in about the same way. He made a very kind speech; I remember that he ex

tolled General Lee very highly. After he got through, the white men there, the demo

crats, mad: a call for Hays, who is the member of Congress from that district and
lives in that county. He was present with his little child five or six years old. It had

previously b-m understood between Mr. H*ays and myself that he should not speak, as

the feeling against him in the county was stronger than against any of the rest of us;
he said he did not desire to speak. But when Governor Parsons got oft the stand, a

number of the young men, democrats, called out for Hays by a general shout. I said to

Hays I do not know that he heard me, there was so much noise &quot;Do not get up
there.&quot; He got up on the stand

;
I was sitting with my hand resting on the little

table
;
he said afterward that he got up there simply to thank them and to adjourn the

meeting. When he got up there these young men raised a tremendous ho\j
r

l, almost

deafening. He stood there, with his hat behind him in his hand, perhaps half a minute,
waiting ior the howling to subside. The republicans, the colored men, were standing
btill, not saying a word. I sat inside on the table. Suddenly a man standing there

icached up and caught Mr. Hays by the arm or by the coat and jerked him violently,
either pulling him off the table or obliging him, perhaps, to jump oft the table to save
himself from falling. Thereupon the sheriff seized the man, caught him by the

shoulders, and took him rather violently into the court-house hall, as I thought in good
faith. As he went into the court-house these white young men disappeared from both
sides of the stand

;
those on the left ran into the hall, and those on the right ran into

the court-house
;
I thought at the time it was for the purpose of rescuing this man.

lint within a moment shots were fired; perhaps it was hardly a moment before the
iii -i -hot was lired. I heard them from the left, just over my shoulder from the window. ;

The, table was standing by the window
;
the shots were fired just over my shoulder. I .

had not got out of my seat, but turned around and saw a man come out of the court-
house hall and level a pistol at the negroes, who had turned and iled at the first fire.

Jie fired and cocked and fired again, at a distance perhaps of fifteen feet from the

negroes. I caught up the papers in my hands and walked very deliberately to the

i.-ight ,
in order to get out of the wr

ay of the firing. There came around from the right- %

hand side of the court-house a pretty good line of men, thirty or forty, I should
think. They came around all together, and formed a tolerable line across from*
the corner of the court-house to the fence, and commenced firing on the negroes,*
who had broken down the court-house fence and were fleeing away as fast as they
could. These men cocked their revolvers and fired upon them as rapidly as they
could. I looked at them for a moment, and then wralked up to them as they were
Jiring. J saw some colored men falling on the grass and then scrambling up and
moving off. I walked up to these men and held up uiy hand in a deprecating manner,
and .-aid.

&quot; For God s sake, stop this.&quot; One of them who was nearest to me turned &amp;lt;

around and cast a kind of defiant but yet somewhat surprised look at me. One of*
them leveled his pistol upon us, Governor Parsons, Mr. Brown, and myself; he was
Standing about the length of this table distant from us. He leveled his pistol at Gov
ernor Parsons. The Governor said,

&quot; For God s sake don t shoot at me; I have done
you no harm.&quot; The crowd stopped firing and turned their attention to us. Just at
that instant the sherilf came around wit h his arms spread out and said,

&quot;

Stop this ;

stop this!&quot; The man stopped for a moment and seemed to be deliberating whether he
should shoot Parsons, lie then saw Mr. Hays on my right; turning a little to one
side to avoid me, he threw his pistol down upon Hays andMr. Brown, who were both
together, and tried to shoot them. They both sprang behind me; I f*aw them getting
behind me, and syiiatting on the ground to avoid his fire. By that time the negroes
had been driven out of the court-house yard and across the street, where they had
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stopped and turned, and began to fire back
;
a few were firing back. Just at that

moment I heard somebody call out,
&quot;

Boys, hold your fire !&quot; The firing then ceased. I

started and walked out through the crowd right among them. I suppose there were
forty or fifty of them all standing there with their revolvers in their hands, smoking,
as they had been firing.

Question. Did you understand that cry to be addressed to the negroes or to the white
men ?

Answer. To the white men
;
the negroes were too far off; it was addressed to the

thirty or forty white men in the court-house yard. He cried out,
&quot;

Boys, hold your
fire.&quot; I walked out through the crowd deliberately. Just as I was getting out of the
crowd somebody from behind struck at me and knocked inyhatoif; 1 just felt the
blow on my head, but I could not tell who it was, for when I turned around his hands
were dropped, whoever it was. I guess it was pretty lucky I did not know, for the
blow aroused me a great deal and I am afraid I should have lost my self-possession. I

turned around to pick up niy hat, when another man kicked it
;
then another kicked

it : and then the whole crowd one after another played foot-hall with it, and kicked it

across the yard. I started back to get it, when a man by the name of Dunlap, a dem
ocrat, who seemed to be in accord with the party there, walked up to me and took me
by the arm in a friendly sort of way, and said,

&quot;

General, you had better get away from
here, or you will get hurt.&quot; I said,

&quot; I want my hat first.&quot; I turned back to get it,

when somebody brought it to me. Dunlap walked by my side half way across the
street, and then left me, and I went to the hotel. In a few moments I saw the troops
come on to the ground. However, before I got to the hotel, as I walked across the

street, I heard a man say, I saw him. &quot;Boys, form a line across the street.&quot; They
turned and formed a line across the street at right angles to the impromptu line which
they had formed when they first fired on the negroes. Just as I got to the hotel the

troops came up between the negroes and these men who were firing, and there the
matter stopped. That was all that I saw of the affair myself, excepting that as we
were walking away from the hotel to go down the street with Mr. Cockrell for the pur
pose of staying at his house that night, I saw some negroes hauling away a wounded
man on a dray. That is, I saw one man within the shafts of the dray, and there \yas a
wounded man lying on the dray, which this man was pulling down the street. 1 was
walking down with Governor Smith and Governor Parsons. I stepped out into the slreet
and asked the man what was the matter

;
he said the man had been shot in the riot. I saw

a bullet-hole in his thigh; his thigh was broken. I asked him if he could not get any
body to take him away ;

he said no, that all were afraid to help. I gave him $10, and
told him to send for a physician and to hire somebody to help him oil. We then went
down and staid all night with Mr. Cockrell. We left in the morning and took the train
at 5 o clock to go down to York, on the Selma and Meridian Railroad, intending to go
back to Selma. We had been advertised to speak at Tuscaloosa on the second day
aftttrward

;
but we had all concluded that it would be very dangerous to go there

;
that

it would be at the most imminent risk of our lives to do so, and that we had better not

go. I adhered to the idea of going for awhile, but they finally prevailed upon me to

give it up, and I went with them as far as York station. When I got down there I

changed my mind, and told them I was going back to Tuscaloosa whatever the conse

quences might be. I went back alone
;
none of our party went with me. I went back

to Eutaw the day after the riot, and took dinner there. I saw this man Dunlap sitting
across the street in front of a saloon, and recognized him as the man who had come up
to me the day before. I walked over to him and asked him if his name was Dunlap.
He said it was. I said,

&quot; You came up to me yesterday and took my arm and asked
nie to come

away.&quot; He said, &quot;Yes,&quot;
and seemed to be somewhat surprised. 1 said,

&quot;I recognized that as a friendly act, and I want to ackowledge it as such.&quot; He said,
&quot; You were in great danger.&quot; I said,

&quot; I suppose you thought so
;
at any rate I recog

nize it as a friendly act, and want to thank you for it.&quot; I went to Tuscaloosa and we
held a very quiet meeting there the next day.

Question. How many persons were wounded at that Eutaw meeting?
Answer. We have no means of knowing ;

the crowd scattered at once and the
wounded men were carried off. I have no means of knowing certainly; I only know
what I have heard from others. Mr. Hays has told me that from the best information
he could get, picking up information from negroes and others there, there were some
fifty-four wounded, of whom some three or four, I think he said, had since died. This
man whom I saw with his thigh broken I understand afterwards died.

Question. You say you had a peaceful meeting at Tuscaloosa ?

Answer. Yes, sir. I may say here that two years before I had been at this same town
of Eutaw, and had been prevented by a mob from speaking. I began making a very
quiet speech upon old whig points, and was interrupted by a lot of armed men in my
front, who said that no damned Yankee should speak there. One man said, &quot;God

damn him, his coat-tail is too short
;

&quot; another man swore that no man who wore a plug
hat should speak in Eutaw

;
another man said that no damned Yankee should speak

there. After trying to reason with them, I finally had to give it up. It v/as the lirst
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time I had ever been obliged to yield my freedom of speech, and I felt that I would
rather be killed right there on the stand than to abandon it

;
I felt it was very much

unniii&quot;- away from battle in time of war. Finally I satisfied my own self-respect.

by savin&quot; that I was in the hands of the local committee, and would abide by their

decision.
&quot;

They agreed to give up the meeting. In Eutaw the mob expressed their

willingness in hear Hays, who was a resident of the county, but said they would not

hear me. That was in 1868. 1 went to Tuscaloosa a day Or two afterwards, and there

the famous Ryland Randolph, who was the editor of a celebrated paper there, with

sonic others, interrupted Hays while he was trying to speak, and prevented him from

doing so. They said they were willing I should speak, for they did not expect any
thing better from me than to be a republican; but for a native Southern man to be a.

republican was more than they would stand. I declined to speak unless they would
let I lays speak also. Some of the citizens, among others the president of the Seymour
ami lil aiv club, came to me and said,

&quot; Our people want to hear you speak.&quot; William
R. Smith, who was at one time a member of Congress, and Mr. Jamison, both came to

me and said.
&quot; \Ye want you l.o speak here

; you can do so.&quot; I will say that while they
were interrupting Mr. Hays this president of the Seymour and Blair club got up and

appealed 1o (he mob to let Mr. Hays speak. He said,
&quot; He has a right to speak ; you

are doiiiL: your cause more harm by acting in this way than he can do it.&quot; But they
would not allow him to speak. They came to me to speak, for they did not want it to

go abroad that a United States Senator could not speak there. I said to them,
&quot; This

mob is as much your master as it is mine
; you cannot control it. If you will get up

here and say that I have as much right to speak as you have, that you will stand by
me, and that the man who insults me insults you, I will speak.&quot; They would not take
ihat stand. Finally, however, I said I would speak if Mr. Hays had no objection ;

but
The sheriff of the county sent up word not to speak, for they would kill me on the
stand, and 1 finally gave it up. The last time I went over there I was alone, and spoke
for perhaps two and a half or three hours. Mr. Randolph was there at that time, and
some twenty or thirty leading democrats, who remained there most of the time, and
listened attentively to my speech. Mr. Randolph remained there a part of the time,
and listened very attentively to me. After that, during the remainder of the canvass,
so far as I saw, it was very quiet.

Qtu Nlion. Was this the only portion of the State of Alabama, in which persons were
not free to express their political sentiments on either side, let them be what they
may ?

Answer. I may say that I never have been interfered with at any point except Eutaw.
I have canvassed the State three times, and have never been interfered with at any
other place. But there are a great many counties in the State, and always have been,
where it has been regarded that any republican coming there to make speeches does it

at personal peril. I think now that any man any republican who should go into
the counties of Greene, Sumter, Choctaw, Pickens, Fayette, or Washington to malie a

republican speech would do it at great personal risk of his life.

Question. Upon what do you base that belief?
Answer. From personal observations in Greene County, in Sumter County, and in

Pickens County, of the temper of the people there
;
from the many outrages which I

am satisfied from the testimony of others have been committed
;
from the tone and

temper of the papers published in those districts
;
and from the uniform testimony of

republicans who have been in those counties, and who live in them.
Question. Does that result from the general intolerance of republican sentiment

among the mass of the people, or is it because of the fact to which you alluded in
leference to Tuscaloosa the inability to control the mob element in those counties?

ru . 1 think the, newspaper editors and the democratic politicians are mainly re

sponsible for the extremely bitter and intolerant feeling which prevails toward repub-
* ^ Oi~4-,&amp;gt; . .-,! j-i ^- ., -i. i* xi, ... ._ ,-i - i. _i_ _ i* IT -i j i . __

tied, is entirely under the control of the mob, where the law is as powerless as it possi
bly can be to punish anybody for offenses of this character I think that even in that
county there is a large body, perhaps not fi majority, though possibly there may be a
majority, of the. solid people of the county who disapprove of these things, and would

;he law rigorously enforced and these desperadoes brought to punish
ment, r.nt they are.as much afraid of the mob as we are. Many of their men, men
f character, \\ill sit down and talk with me, and deplore all this. They will some-

08 traveling. A young lawyer of Shelby County, a man of ability and edu
cation, whom 1 had met. came and sat down by me. Ho expressed a feeling of kind-

tomc personally, but speaking of Governor Parsons, he said,
&quot; Damn him; he
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ought to be hung,&quot; I said to him. &quot;See here, young man, you have character and po
sition and office in your county ; you do not believe what you have just said, aud you
would not be one of a party to hang Governor Parsons

;
but you make that remark,

and the mob. when they get drunk, go and carry it into execution
;
that is the way the

thing is done.&quot; He replied,
&quot; I know that is wrong.&quot; Now that is a fair illustration

of it. I will give you another one. I heard the chairman of the democratic State
committee last fall, when Governor Smith was making a perfectly legal contest for his

place as governor, and thought he was in danger and called for some troops, I heard
the chairman of the State committee, who was a man of ability and a lawyer, say, in

a speech which he made right under my window at the hotel, &quot;Governor Smith is in

no danger ;
he need not call for the troops, but he knows he ought to be killed, and

therefore he is afraid.&quot; Now, when leaders make such remarks as^those, the mob, when
they are inflamed with liquor, will carry them into execution and think they arc doing
right.

Question. Have there been any prosecutions in any of these counties, of which you
have spoken, against persons for offenses of this character ?

Answer. I do not know that there has ever been a man indicted for it. An attempt
was made in Greene County to find out who were the murderers of some negroes there
some time ago. The solicitor was very vigilant and earnest in his work

;
but a band

of disguised men came to his hotel and killed him, and that was the end of it.

Question. You have spoken here of the proportion of whites to colored persons who
attended that meeting at Eutaw : I think you said that out of the two thousand per
sons present there were eighteen hundred who were colored men, and that of the whites
there were probably fifteen or twenty republicans, while the remainder were demo
crats. Does that proportion in regard to party relations hold among the white and
colored persons throughout the State of Alabama j)

.

Answer. We have no means of knowing exactly what is the white vote in the State.
It has been variously estimated. Last year we polled for Governor Smith, I think,
about 78,000 votes, if I recollect aright: but we have no means of knowing what pro
portion of them were white. There is quite a difference of opinion about that. We
can only judge by the number of votes that we poll in counties where there arc no
colored people comparatively, for we carry cVmnties that are all white, with scarcely
any negroes. I suppose that of those 78,000 votes somewhere between 10,000 and
18,000 were cast by whites.

(Question. I put the question to you with the view of following it up with the in

quiry whether the hostility of this mob element to the negro race is not au.element of

these disturbances, as well as political hostility ?

Answer. Undoubtedly ;
the hostility is largely caused by the fact of negroes voting,

and voting the republican ticket.

Question. Are the counties named by you the only ones in the State in which you say
this insecurity exists in reference to free discussion ?

Answer. Judging by the latest test, the campaign of last fall, I should say that so
far as my knowledge and observation went, there was no violence except in the coun
ties which I have named, although in some of the southern counties of the State every
republican who goes there feels that he does it at great personal risk. I would say that
even in a large portion of the southern counties it is so.

Question. Can you name some of those southern counties ?

Answer. I do not remember all the counties that I have already named over; I might
enumerate them again.

Question. You spoke of some of the southern counties.
Answer. Republicans would generally feel that there was more or less of personal

danger and risk in going into a portion of Russell County, for instance
;
into parts of

Conecuh and Baldwin Counties
; perhaps into some others which I do not now remem

ber the geographical position of.

Question. You have spoken once or twice of Dcniopolis; is that the name of ji

county?
Answer. No, sir : it is the county seat of Marengo County.
Question. Have there, within your knowledge, been instances of whippings and

scourgings of individuals in the State of Alabama arising out of the same causes which
led to the riot of which you have spoken ?

Answer. I cannot testify to anything of that kind of my own personal knowledge,
only as I have heard of them.

Question. Have there been any such whippings or scourgings in that part of the
State in which you live, near Montgomery ?

Answer. No, sir
; that has always been a very peaceable and quiet region. Mont

gomery and Autauga County, and the region round about there, during the time I have
lived lucre, have been as peaceable and quiet as any portion of the country. I have
lived as a planter in Montgomery ar.d Autauga County for the last live years, and I

have always said that I have been treated by my neighbors with as much kindness and
cordiality as I would expect in the State of Ohio or anywhere else.
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Has your attention been directed to the effect of the riot at Eutaw upon
the vote of (ireene County .

Auxin ;. Yes. sir : we c;:n calculate iu regard to the votes of the counties pretty well

bv t lie number of colored inrn in the county and the number of white men in the county.

GreeneCounty gave General Grant over 2,000 majority, though I think no large repub
lican meeting \\ as held in the county ;

there may have been some local meetings. Wo
havrabom 2,500 majority in the county ;

we expected to have 2,500 votes there last year.
Yi-t the county \veiit democratic, it was reported, by 35 votes. When the report was
first received nobody believed it; everybody thought it was not so. And there can be

no question among democrats or republicans, among intelligent, candid men, that it

\\ ing to violence, very largely to the riot, that voters were intimidated and kept
away from the polls or Led to vote the democratic ticket. I have no sort- of question,
1 think no candid democrat in the county or in the State but what would admit, that

it every man in Greene ( ounty was left free to vote just as he wanted to, just as you
would vote in Pennsylvania or in Missouri, the county would give from 2,000 to 2,510

republican majority.
Qinatum. What has been the effect in the State of Alabama of the passage of the law

for the
]i Hi-pose of punishing these lawless outrages by persons in disguise?

AHwr. 1 think upon the whole the effect has been good. While the law has been

very severely denounced by the members of one party, yet I think upon the whole the
effect has been to diminish, if not to suppress, violence. What I have said of Greene

County i think is true of the whole State
;
I think that a majority ofthe white people of

Alabama desire that these acts of violence shall be suppressed, desire peace and quiet.
I lind no one in either party who, in talking with me, does not denounce such acts-

The fair-minded ones admit that such things exist, and deplore them. I think when
you get away from the politicians and get among the substantial men, the planters,
the business men of all classes, you \vill iind them opposed to these acts of violence

;

and they would be glad to have any measures taken by the Government that would

suppress this mob violence and give peace and quiet and security to the people of the
State : give freedom of political action

;
I have no doubt of that. But the matter has

come to this point, that everybody is afraid of the mob. No one man wants to set
himself up against it, or attempt to array power against it, lest he be made a victim.
It has come to this point in those districts where this mob element most effectually
rules, that simply to be a democrat is not a protection, if you speak against the mob.
You dare not condemn these parties lest you be marked as a victim.

({m-xtioH. .If a sub-committee were to visit the portions of your State affected by these

troubles, would they receive aid from the wrhite population there in discovering who
are the leaders of this inobj and who gave encouragement to these lawless acts?
Aiimm: I think that would depend a great deal upon this fact: if they were con

vinced that the Government was determined to suppress these acts of violence and
(rush out the mob, and that they would be secure from personal harm, I think you
would get all the help and aid you would need. But so long as they are in doubt as
tot hat they would be afraid to testify ; they would be afraid lest after you went away,
and it should become known that they had testified to facts within their knowledge,
they themselves wTould be singled out to be murdered, or have their property destroyed,

&quot;

or something of that sort.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. Would those individuals, who would be willing to testify under the circuin-
stnnces you have indicated, be any more alarmed or afraid about testifying there thair

here, if the evidence they might give here should be published. ? i

Answer. I think there would be a little difference, though I think there would not bcu
much difference. The only difference would be this: the testimony they might give
here would not be known there for a long time afterwards. But should you go there,
the fact that they went before you would be known, and the knowledge of their testi

mony might be, immediate. The danger would be of a sudden ebullition of passion
against them. You can best understand this, perhaps, by a little illustration. I met
the other day a gentleman, whose name I do not mention from regard to his personal.
safety. He is an old citizen of the State and a leading democrat

;
a man with whomt

I have had j.olii ical discussions upon the stump. He gave me some information since
1 have been in Alabama this last time, but he cautioned me that I must not use v his
name nor let it be known that he gave mo that information, for if it should be known
Ins life would not be worth anything to him. Now that man is as heartily opposed to
this violence, and as heartily deprecates it and desires it suppressed, as i do, or any
body rise docs.

By the CHAIRMAN:

&amp;lt;;
i (urn. Are the persons who committed these acts of violence organized?

[have no doubt of
it, though I have no. personal knowledge that I could

t ily to oi such an organization. But from all the information which I have obtained
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the conviction in my mind is perfectly clear that these parties are organized ;
that the

organization exists throughout the State
;
arid that they rely upon that fact for their

protection.
Question. Is it your helief that the exposure of the persons who control that organ

ization would have a tendency to break it up ?

Answer. I think it would. They now depend upon their organization, upon theii

numbers, upon their intimidation of Avitnesses and judges and juries, for iininunitj
from punishment.

By Mr. VAN
Question. That is your opinion ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
I am expressing my opinion. Whenever you shall convince them

that there is a power which can take cognizance of their crimes and punish them, you
wr

ill put a stop to them. And you will nnd a very large body of people at once ready
to rally to your support. It is a great deal down thero as it was in Ohio when mob
violence against abolitionists prevailed some years ago.

Question. The same, as mobs between the two political parties ?

Answer. Only in those times in the North they resorted to eggs and rails, while in

the South they resort to the scourge and the pistol, the bowie-knife and the halter.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. When did you go to Alabama to reside ?

Answer. In the fall of 1865.

Question. Were you not at that time a State senator in Ohio ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Had your term expired then ?

Answer. No, sir. You asked me when I first wet t to Alabama. It was in 1865, but
I did not then take up my residence there. I was elected a senator to the Ohio legis
lature.

Question. For how long a time ?

Answer. For two years.
Question. You served during the term.
Answer. Yes, sir; I served during the last session, until April, 1867

Question. When were you elected to the United States Senate as a Senator from
Alabama ?

Answer. In July, 1868.

Question. You had been a resident of Alabama then how long ?

Answer. Something over a year.
Question. You served as a senator in the Ohio legislature until the fall of 1867 ?

Answer. The last session of that legislature expired in April, 1867, although my term

legally did not expire until the 1st of January, 1868. My term as senator in the legis
lature of Ohio began on the 1st day of January, 1866.

Question. You were elected in Alabama a United States Senator in July, 1868?
Answer. Yes, sir

;
in the latter part of July.

Question. Was not that a source of a great deal of prejudice against you in Ala
bama ? Was not it much spoken of there that you were in fact a State senator in
Ohio, at the time that you were elected a United States Senator from Alabama ?

Ansicer. I think so.

Question. 1 do not mean that the fact was so, but I think I have seen that statement
made. Was it not so ?

Answer. I know this : I think I may say very safely that there has been a little more
attack upon me since my speech in the Senate last winter, detailing the account of
this Eutaw riot, than before. And I think there is some feeling there because they
think I have been instrumental in making some opposition to Mr. Goldthwaito taking
his seat. But apart from that and I think all the democrats in Alabama will bear
me out in saying so there is less prejudice against me there than against any other

leading republican in the State.

Question. I do not speak of it as a matter of personal prejudice against you, but as a
fact that you were, as it were, recent among them, and was so very recent among them as
to have been a Senator in the State of Ohio within a very brief period before you
were elected United States Senator in Alabama. That I think would indicate that you
had perhaps gone there for the purpose of availing yourself of their condition at that
time to get an office. I think the prejudice against you, so far as I have seen anything
in regard to it, grows out of that fact, without any reflection upon your character as

an individual.
Answer. I think I may say and as my testimony is to be made public, I will rely

upon the democrats of Alabama to make my statement good I think I may say that
if I had gone there with the view of seeking office I should have taken up my resi

dence there at once
;
I would not have been there for two years incapacitated from

holding office in Alabama, by reason of retaining my residence in Ohio. I think that

3
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is ;x pretty -rood answer to that suggestion. In the next place, I think it is very well

known in the county of Antanua and in Montgomery, where I live, that I did not take

anv active part in politics, except to talk to my neighbors, who came in to see me.

Known as a republican, and in favor of amnesty for the past, so far as the rebellion

wae concerned. I did not attend tin- county convention, I did not look for a nomina

tion, I did not try to get into the constitutional convention, I did not try to do anything,

except to &quot;ft the people there to make a decent ticket in my county. And when they
made one which I did not think was either decent or respectable, I got on my horso

and went up to the court-house, and told them that I could not support it, and- urged
them to make one that was respectable. When I became interested in the admission

of the State in ISC,.;, 1 told them very frankly that if they expected to succeed in Ala

bama they must make a better ticket in the county where I lived than they had done.

So lay as l am concerned, I bought property there in 1866; I invested what little I had
in land there. The leading democrats of the State, among others General Clautou,
chairman of the democratic State committee, have come to me and said: &quot;General,

when we talk about carpet-baggers wo want you to understand that we don t mean

you ; yon have come here and invested what means you had in property here, and you
have the same interest here that we have.&quot; I think I may say further that if the

choice had been last winter between me and any other republican in the State I should

have received the democratic, vote.

Question. 1 do not think that is at- all improbable; but I was not pressing the inquiry
to thai point. In reference to this riot at Eutaw which you have described, I was ask

ing these quest ions because of their bearing upon that narration.

Answer. \ do not think that was personal to me at all.

Question. Yon say you were there; that you made a speech which you characterized

as a conciliatory speech ?

Answer. Yes : I never made any other.

Question. We do not know exactly what a conciliatory speech means; it may have
embraced ideas that were quite obnoxious to the persons present. However, my ques-
tion was move especially to the point of whether they did not regard you as a person
who had been clothed with the office of United States Senator for Alabama, without

having been a resident of the State for such a time as would entitle you to become a

Senator; as having been elected by the votes of negroes alone, for their votes, of

course, carried the State for the republicans. My question was directed to the point of

eliciting from yon whether you were not regarded as an obnoxious person on account
of your very .short residence in the State.

Answer. 1 do not think that is true. Of course the fact of negro suffrage, the whole

system of reconstruction, through which and by which I came to the Senate, all that
is obnoxious to a large body of the white people of Alabama; there is no question
about that. But that being the case, that being fixed, and somebody to be elected, I

think 1 may say without egotism, that the white people of Alabama would be at
least as willing, if not more willing, to have me represent them in the Senate as any.
other republican in the State, whether he be native-born or new-comer. I have had
very little to complain of personally ;

there has been scarcely a personal attack upon
*

IMC, as I have said, while a great many people, nearly all the people, let me alone

socially very severely, yet I have always been treated courteously. During my live

years residence in the State, canvassing the State several times, I have never oven
been interrupted, except in one or two instances. I have had a great many men as

they stood around me look surly and ugly, and bad
;
but I have never had any personal:

insult ottered me. I think that is due in fact to my being open and above-board
; the.Vi

never have caught me stealing anything, and I do not believe that they now think I,
will steal. 1 have- been open and square in the expression of my opinions ;

I have not
seemed to be afraid of any one or two men

;
if I am they do not know it. I have been

sincerely desirous to let the past be past. When the war ended I took ground in favor
of general amnesty ;

I maintained that against my own party, honestly and sincerely
all the way through.

(jutniitw. I )o yon think the refusal to grant amnesty has been a cause of irritation to.
*

the people of Alabama. . v
Jj/x/nr. Yes. sir

; 1 think that has been a mistake, and that it has tended to increase
the difficulties there.

. Suppose the result of the war had been different, if you can imagine such
a case, ainl the State of Ohio had been reconstructed upon the same principle as the
South has been, do you not think that people there would have been bitter and hostile,
and have made a noise at meetings, if they had had such a condition of affairs forced
upon them as has been forced upon the people of the South ?

.IMXII-II: It the people of Ohio had been reared and educated just as the people of
the South have in fact, if they had been Southern people, trained to their ideas and
iiiHtitut ions

i. I do not ask that question. But simply take the people of Ohio as they
are, and reared as they have been. If they had had a government forced upon them
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by the Congress of the United States, one so entirely opposed to their views and wishes,
ami Southern men had come up there and offered themselves as candidates, being prob
ably the only persons who were qualified to take office under the government forced

upon them, the rest of the people of Ohio being disqualified, do you not think it

would have been a cause of considerable irritation ?

Answer. Well, if Ohio had gone into a rebellion against the General Government and
had got whipped, I think the people whipped would have felt bad and sore. But I

would be very sorry to believe that they would have resorted to assassination and vio
lence. I would rather believe that the people of my native State, after they had been

whipped in a fair fight, would have given up and accepted the situation.

Question. Well, they might have done it if it had stopped there, and they had not
been gouged after they were down.

Answer. I will say that I have never met a fair, square, honorable soldier I could not
talk to. Still there are a great many confederate soldiers who have been drawn into
this organization which has committed these acts of violence.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. That is your impression ?

Answer. That is my impression. I know it from such information as I can gather
that the instruments of the organization are confederate soldiers. But so far as my
observation goes of the men who commit these deeds, they are of the worst possible
class of confederate soldiers

;
worse even than the bummers of our Army ;

a great many
of them are men who never were confederate soldiers, never were in the army at all.

These editors, who are stirring so much bitterness, who. I think, are responsible more
than anybody else for the extreme bitterness that prevails, are almost without excep
tion men who did not do any lighting.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. When was this organization formed, that you think is in operation there?
Answer. I do not know that I have a distinct idea when it was formed, from any

personal knowledge. I know nothing more about it than you know from your inves

tigation, and from what you have seen in the papers, but I should think it was started

pretty early after the war closed.

Question. Do you not know that organizations of negroes were made prior to the
existence of any of these organizations? Do you not know t-hat the negroes were
organized in what are called Loyal Leagues ?

Anmcer. Negroes were organized into Union Leagues or Loyal Leagues after the

adoption of the reconstruction policy ;
that is the first knowledge I ever had of them.

I never belonged to a league myself.
Question. Do you not know that the Union League organization preceded the other

1

?

Answer. No, sir; I do not.

Question. Is it not the impression through the South that the Union League organi
zation was anterior to the other organization ?

Answer. No, sir
; my impression is to the contrary, that what is called the Ku-Klux

organization, or something like it, was prior to the organization of what is called the
Union Leagues. The Union League organization was simply a political organization ;

there was nothing military about it
;
no arming, no drilling ;

it contemplated nothing
in the world but voting. I know of its operations very well, just as I knew of Know-
nothingism in Ohio, though I belonged to neither organization. I was not a member
of the League, though it was a political organization.

Question. In speaking of the result of some of your elections, you spoke of the intim
idation of voters, the intimidation exercised by the Eutaw riot, &c. Do you not
know that the negroes were in the habit of using intimidation upon people of their
own color, in order to compel them to vote the radical ticket ?

Answer. No such cases ever come under my observation, nor do I remember ever to
have even heard of any case of violence within my State, of anything more than per
suasion and perhaps personal denunciation. I have heard of cases of personal denun
ciation, of saying to a man that he was a traitor to his race. I never have heard of

any case of violence. I know that in our town of Montgomery we had one colored

man, a hack-driver there, named Levi Floyd. I noticed the announcement in the
democratic paper there that &quot;Levi Floyd, a colored man, drives hack No. 4

;
he is a

good democrat and is deserving of all patronage.* He never Avas molested that I know
of. Of course the pressure is very strong upon the colored people to all vote one way.
Yet, I know that in the Grant campaign there were two or three colored men making-
speeches all over the State for the democratic ticket. I met one or two of them in my
canvass who were making speeches for the democratic presidential ticket.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. Did you know that any of these negroes were armed there at Eutaw when
you, among others, proposed to have a joint discussion ?
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. . No. sir.

ttkm. They were armed, iu fact, as I understand you to say?
. A tew ni thrm were armed : J saw one man who had a revolver.

Mffcm. I understood you to say that when the negroes got across the street they
Hi:. iH -d and tin-d some shots.

JH.SIW. I did not see any of the firing, but I heard some shots irorn that direction.

1 could not, where 1 stood! sec a negro ;
that is, where I stood speaking to the crowd

inn men \\lio \\civ tiring upon the negroes. I did not see any guns or pistols in

the possession of the negroes.
Oitcxtion. Do you not know that at the very moment that this white man took Mr

h\- the sleeve and dragged him down, some one in the crowd ordered the negroes
to lire?

rr. No, sir.

(Jncxtion. Is it not the public opinion in Greene County that such is the fact ?

ar. I do not think that anybody believes any such thing; it is charged so, I

li now. 15ut t he idea is so ridiculous
; everybody knew that the negroes were in terror

;

ili;i; all they wanted was to hear the speeches and go home quietly. They were in

tenor from the very moment that we went there. We were merely anxious to make
iccches and have the crowd go away. I was praying every moment that they

miii ht be able to get away without difficulty.
&quot;Hon. It was your impression, and the impression of the white republicans with

you on that occasion, that there was danger of trouble that day ?

Antncer. Yes, sir.

^lii. Did I understand you correctly awhile ago as saying that right iu the
midst of that crowd Mr. Hays had a child of some four or five years of age i

Answer. Yes, sir.

. A girl, or a boy ?

A boy.
. With him at the time ?

Yes, sir.

. Was Mr. Hays one who had expressed fears of an outbreak prior to the in-
:u: Duration of the meeting?

.inxn cr. I do not remember whether ho had so expressed himself or not. He lived
iu the country some ten miles from there and did not come in until pretty late in the

morning, a little before the committee was appointed to which I have referred. I do
not remember now what he said, although niy impression is that he anticipated dif-

lieulty, and that he so expressed himself.
s/ion. That, as I understand, is the only instance of direct and distinct trouble at

iv political meeting in all your experience in Alabama?
&amp;lt;r. At any meeting where I have spoken myself. I have heard from the reports

f other speakers of other meetings being broken up.
One* t ion. That little scene at Demopolis did not strike you as very remarkable ?

Auxiccr. O, no.
(
t

-}i&amp;lt; xlio)i. Have you not seen worse scenes in Ohio, time and time again, between the&quot;

iwo political parties?
I do not know that I have.

(Jtu tion. You were not there during the memorable campaign of 1863?
r. No, sir

;
I was in another campaign at that time.

-tion. You do not know that all over Ohio political meetings were broken up ? &amp;gt;

Jwwr. No, sir, I do not know that
;
I was in the Army at that time. I have had

rotten eggs thrown at me in Lincoln County, Ohio.
tion. You say that you do not know that there is any great prejudice against

you among the white people of Alabama on account of the shortness of your stay in
Alabama before your election to the Senate ?

.IHNHTI-. I do not think there was.
ji i-xtfaii. Do you not know that there was very general comment in the press of

;lu- State in regard to that fact ?

Jw.vifvr. Yes.

,

/&amp;lt; Km. Pretty severe, too ?

.himn-r. Yes.
&quot;/ . And opposition made to you on that ground?

&amp;lt;&amp;lt;
&amp;lt; / Yes, I think it was a point that they thought they could make political capi-

n ^ws^nT.
1

!-

1

^ &quot;f

i bC a P int calculated to excite the people, whatever the object

* about asfreo in
Ohio&amp;gt; among my democratic

It has not be, n usual, in .vgard to so high an offcer as United States Sena
te elected from a State within a few mouths after he went there, has
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Ansiver. I suppose not.

Question. And it has produced some excitement against you in Alabama ?

Answer. Still I do not see the pertinency of that, for I have been treated more kindly
there than any other republican in the State. I never have had a personal indignity
offered me, except what I have here stated. Of course they could have killed me in

that crowd. And during my last contest, I have it from the very best authority, indeed
the chairman of the democratic State committee sent me word, that although they
should elect a democrat if they could, still if they were obliged to have a republican,
they would rather have me. I know that General Chiltou, formerly a confederate gen
eral, and now of the supreme court, was openly in favor of my election

;
he said, &quot;Let

us elect Warner anyhow : he will do as much good for us as a democrat.&quot;

Question. If I understand you, however ridiculous it may be in your opinion, it is

still the fact that it is claimed in Greene County that an order was given to the negroes
to fire at the time that Mr. Hays was pulled down from the stand ?

Answer. I never heard that there was an order given to fire. The story charged in
the Eutaw Whig, a democratic paper there, and which I understand was sworn to be
fore the grand jury there, was that Mr. Hays fired the first shot. I have seen that in

the papers ;
I have heard it talked about. Now, Mr. Hayes was all the time as close to

me as Senator Blair now is, and it would have been as impossible for him to have fired

a shot without my seeing it as it would be impossible for Senator Blair to do so now.
Question. Are you not mistaken as to that particular fact? Is it not possible that

Hays gave the order to fire, although he did not fire himself, as he was pulled off the
stand I

Aimcer. No, sir. Judge Miller told me yesterday
Question. I will merely say that that was the information which I have received since

Mr. Hays was examined yesterday.
Answer. I never heard that any order was given to fire. I have indeed heard it said,

and seen the statement in the newspapers, that Hayes fired the first shot. When we
were at Mobile, during the last mouth, I was summoned a,s a witness to attend the trial

of these rioters. The district attorney of the United States, as he told me, postponed
the trial because of the absence of Mr. Hays. He sakl the reason was that he had
found out that they had evidence to offer that Hays fired the first shot, and he
wanted Mr. Hays s testimony on that point.

Question. There was an attempt at an investigation of this affair, I believe ?

Answer. I think some nineteen have been indicted before the United States court.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. And their trial is now pending?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And was recently postponed ?

Answer. It was postponed last month.

Question. Because of the absence of Mr. Hays ?

Ansiccr. That was the reason given by the district attorney ;
there were one or two

other witnesses absent also.

Question. You have made the statement several different times in your testimony,
that one of the difficulties in this matter was to get people to testify on account of their

apprehension of danger from this organization. That idea has been made to figure very
largely not only in your testimony, but, as you know, in the debates in the Senate and
in the House of Representatives. It was given as a reason why this committee should
take this testimony in secret, the fear that the witnesses would be injured upon their
return home. I recollect very distinctly that that point was made during the debates
of the last Congress, while you were a member of the Senate. I think it was also made
in reference to other investigating committees. Yet there has always been some
committee going on ever since the war was over. Now, I want to know if you have
ever heard of any one who testified before one of these committees being injured after
his testimony was published ?

Answer. Do I know of any one who has been punished by these people for the testi

mony that he may have given here tf

Question. Yes, sir.

Answer. I do not know of any case.

Question. You have not heard of any such case ?

Answer, No
;
I do not know that I have. I do not know that any witness has ever

been summoned here from my State.

Question. I speak of all the testimony that has been given during the last Congress
and the Congress preceding the last. Testimony was taken here before investigating
committees in reference to the condition of the. Southern States. An attempt was made,
at least in. the other House, to reconstruct Tennessee. Testimony was also taken in

reference to Georgia. Then there was the late North Carolina investigation. All that

testimony has been published, I believe, and has gone to the country.
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Answer. I do not remember that I have heard of anybody being harmed for that

reason.

Qn,xfwn. Under the circumstances, would you not conclude that it was not quite so

dangerous a business after all to give testimony ?

Answer. None of these witnesses have come under my personal knowledge; there

has been no one summoned here from my State, that I know of. Of course I know
nothing about what has occurred in North Carolina and Georgia.

I .y Mr. COBURN:

Question. Has your attention been called particularly to this question of outrages upon
witnesses .

Anxteer. No, sir; I have not within my recollection now the name of any person who
has been summoned here.

By Mr. VAX THUMP :

Question. I would .like to have you give your opinion I think that would be proper
as to what would be the most efficient mode of arriving at the true state of affairs in

the Southern States, comprising as they do eleven States, with a geographical area
almost equal to the half of Europe, and a population of eight or ten millions. Would
it be better to go there directly as a committee, and look into the affairs there, or stay
hen- and examine comparatively a very few witnesses?
Answer. My advice would be to go there. AVhat I would like to have would be for

this committee to go right to Eutaw, where these very acts I have been testifying about
occurred. What I want are the facts, and I think that would be the better way to get
them

;
I want the exact truth. If I could photograph the condition of affairs at the

South precisely as the Lord sees them I would do it.

Question. I do not mean particularly in regard to Eutaw, but generally in regard to
this whole investigation. Your opinion is that the best way is to go South ?

Answer. I think so.

By Mr. STEVENSON :

Question. You spoke of the apprehension of danger on the part of witnesses. Is there
not a difference between aii investigation like this, a mere inquiry, without any judicial
consequences to follow it, and the case of prosecuting a man for a crime, which prose
cution might involve his imprisonment or execution ?

Answer. Undoubtedly there is.

Question. All these investigations that have taken place here have been mere inqui
ries, not followed by any personal consequence to anybody.

Answer. They amount to not more than a speech.
Question. Mr. Hays is a native of Alabama ?

Answer. Yes, sir, of Greene County.
Question. Is he not a largo landholder there?
Answer. Yes, sir

;
I understand from him that he has some ten or twelve thousand

acres of laud there. *

Question. Is the sheriff there, of whom you have spoken, the same sheriff who after
wards appointed the officers of election?

Ansicer. Yes, sir, as I am informed; his name is White.
Question. You spoke of the prosecutor of Greene County, or the solicitor, whatever

you called him.
Answer. County solicitor. ,

Question. Did you know him ?

Answer. I had met him, and had been introduced to him.
Question. He was afterwards killed there?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Qixxiion. Was he a native of the South ?

Answer. Yes, sir; an old resident of the county.
(Question. Was there anything about him, that you know of, to make him personally

obnoxious to the people there? ^
Answer. No, sir

;
he was a man of good character, of fair ability ;

a reputable man
in every way.

By Mr. BLAHS :

Question. You know Judge Miller, who testified before the committee on yesterday ?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Qufxtin,,. Is he the United States collector for the port of Mobile ?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Qiiextion. He holds that office now ?
Answer. Yes, sir.

question. And he was hero in reference to that office : there was some effort to dis
place him, and he was here to countervail that effort ?

Answer. I have understood that to be the case.
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By Mr. STEVENSON :

Question. You spoke of the arras which members of the crowd had at that meeting ;

what arms were they?
Answer. Revolvers.

Question. Did they seem to be new or old, so far as yon saw ?

Answer. I did not notice that point very carefully j
I saw they shot pretty well.

Question. Were they revolvers of much size t

Answer. Those I saw I should think would be what are called six and eight-inch
revolvers

;
I think I observed some of both sizes.

By Mr. POOL :

Question. What was Governor Lindsay s majority at the last election ?

Answer. He did not have any majority.

Question. I mean his majority as counted.

Answer. It was 1,400 and something, as counted. He did not have a majority of the
whole vote of the State.

Question. You mean that was what his partisans claimed for him ?

Answer. That was the result announced by the lieutenant governor.
Question. Less than the former republican majority in Greene County alone ?

Answer. Yes
;
less by 600. His majority was declared to be 1,400 and some odd.

Russell County was not returned at all
;
there never has been any returns from that

county, although it gave Smith 1,400 republican majority. Washington County was
not returned for some reason or other

;
it gave Lindsay GOO majority. And in other

counties, of the votes that were cast some were thrown out, more than his majority, on
the ground that they were illegal for some reason or other.

Question. I speak of the majority claimed by Lindsay s friends. Was any white per
son hurt in that Eutaw riot ?

Answer. Not that I ever saw or heard of.

Question. If the order had been given to the negroes to fire, would you have
heard it ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Could it have been given without your hearing it?

Ansicer. I think not, unless it was given on the extreme borders of the crowd. It

could not have been given anywhere about the stand, where the firing began, without

my hearing it.

Question. The sheriff, who took an active part in trying to suppress the disturbances,
was a democrat ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Do you know anything about the burning of any school-houses or churches
in your State ?

Answer. Only by report ;
not from personal observation.

Question. Have you heard that they have been burned to any extent ?

Answer. I have heard from others, and I have seen the statement in the newspapers,
that several had been burned

;
I cannot tell how many.

Question. What sort of school-houses and churches were they that are reported to

have been burned ? Those of colored people ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did you ever hear those reports denied ?

Answer. I do not remember to have heard much conversation about it. I presume
there has been less of it in our State than in many other States. In fact, I cannot re

call now any particular church or particular school-house that has been burned. But

my recollection is distinct that I have heard of such cases. There has been nothing of

that kind in the section where I live.

Quest ion. You stated that you believed there was an organization, a secret organiza
tion, at the foundation of &quot;these disturbances. WT

hat is that organization called in

Alabama ?

Answer. It is commonly known as the Ku-Klux organization.
Question. Do the persons committing the acts of violence of which you have heard,

go in disguise ?

Answer. Generally. The parties at this meeting were not in disguise. But generally
the acts of violence are done by men in disguise.

Question. Have there been any attempts at investigation of any of these disturb

ances, by the local tribunals in Alabama ?

Answer. Yes, sir; an attempt was made in Greene County, by the county solicitor,
Mr. Boyd, to ferret out the murderers of some negroes who had been killed there.

Boyd went to work with a determined purpose to find out the murderers
;
and the

governor sent over a lawyer to assist him.

Question. The object was to punish the offenders if convicted ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
whoever they might be. Boyd was killed while the matter was

pending, and that was the end of it.
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Question. While the investigation was going on ?

Aiimrrr. Yes, sir.

Question. Were any of tho witnesses summoned on that investigation Jinrt T

Anxinr. 1 do not know; I cannot s^y.

QH&amp;lt;*:
,&amp;lt;&amp;gt;H. Have you ever heard of any witness being injured because of his testi-

Annoer. 1 heard of Mr. Cockrcll being beaten, who was summoned to testify with

me at Mobile. 1 le is a lawyer of Eutaw and was present at the meeting when the riot

occurred.

Question. Should the county authorities attempt an investigation for the purpose of

indicting and punishing tin- persons committing acts of violence in the disturbed dis

tricts, do you suppose the witnesses would feel safe to testify there

Answer. No, sir.

Qm-Hium. Suppose that, whether safe or not, they should testify, would they be in

danger .

Answer. I have no doubt they would be in danger of personal violence, and of their

lives. I have no doubt that in the counties I have mentioned, particularly in the

counties of Greene, Su inter, and Pickens, any witness who had information of one of

these outrages, and who should testify to that effect, would be killed.

Question. Suppose that a witness, or a half a dozen witnesses, should disclose, upon a

preliminary examination, that they had knowledge and proof sufficient to insure a con
viction beiore a petit jury whenever tho trial should take place their being men of

character of course would be an element of weight in the testimony would those wit
nesses be safe in the county during the time between the investigation and the trial

afterward to take place f

AiiKircr. I think not, in the counties I have mentioned.

QJ-.S//OH. Do you think they would ever be allowed to appear at that final trial f

Anmrer. I think not.

Question. Is that the reason why justice cannot be obtained against these men ?

Answer. That is one very strong reason.

Question. Do you, from your own knowledge of the people in the community there,

suppose that these turbulent people rely upon that fact ?

Answer. I have no doubt of it. I would say that this young Cockrell, who I believe
is to testify here, was brought out of the county and to Washington, as I heard, to save
his life. The district attorney, Mr. Southwick, said that it was important that young
Cockrell should be got out of the country and kept safe as a witness.

Question. Suppose a section of this committee were to hold a session in the town of

Eutaw, and summon a number of witnesses, who should appear and testify clearly as
to the guilt of several individuals in that county of these Eutaw murders, then sup
pose that that fact should become known, would they be safe in the county after the
committee left ?

Anxwcr. 1 think if they testified as to individuals having committed specific crimes,
if they furnished information that might lead to their prosecution and possibly con
viction, and that should become known there, they would not be safe; but if they tes
tified generally as to the commission of crimes, without designating any individual

they might not be disturbed.

Question. You think as long as they testified about no one by name they might get
along in safety ?

AHxicer. Yes, sir.

Qawl ion. But if they should name individuals they would be in danger ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. Some questions have been put to you based upon suppositions ;
now do you

know of any ease ever having occurred in those counties where men have been prose
cuted for their lives and witnesses have been killed ibr testifying against them ?

Answer. 1 do not know of any case of prosecution.
Question. Tlu-n it is simply a matter of supposition with you?
siiiHin r. It is. and of opinion founded upon threats made, and upon at least one out

rage upon a wiinrss which has come under my personal observation, and of which I
have information.

You have heard of one witness having been struck and beaten ?
iccr. Yes, sir.

QucxUoii. That is the amount of it
;
that witness is now living in Eutaw, is ho not

ifflUiMr. At the last accounts which I heard he was living, although in a critical con
dition.

Qm-xlhn. Do you not know that it is stated that he was not beaten because ho was a
wta&amp;lt;

I never have heard it so claimed.
. Was it not so claimed in the Eutaw Whig
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Answer. I do not see that paper ;
I do not know it was so claimed.

Question. I have here an article copied from that paper in which that statement ia

made.
Answer. I have not seen it.

Question. Then that one instance, occurring in one of these counties, and threats that

you have heard of in other counties, lead you to suppose that witnesses would not be
safe?

Answer. That, and the general opinion of everybody living in those counties with
whom I have conversed. Even Mr. Hays, who lives in that county, when he wrote me
an account of this Cockrell affair, begged me not to use his name, as he was living there
in momentary danger of attack. I know that is the case with parties in all sections.

They send letters without signing their names, but giving means of identifying them in

other ways.
Question. May not that be just exactly the same sort of pretense which is made in

Congress here about summoning witnesses here ? In the debate in the Senate that
was made a great point ; yet a week afterwards the report was made public, disclosing

everybody s name who testified. Is not Mr. Hays s letter, and the reports of other per
sons there, equivalent to these Congressional speeches ?

Answer. I do not know.

By Mr. VAX TRUMP :

Question. In your examination-in-chief you said that this company of United States

troops, under the command of Major Leightou, came up about the time the negroes had
been firing, and stopped the whole thing.

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. How long a time had intervened from the commencement of the firing to

the time when the troops came up ?

Answer. Under such circumstances, in a scene like that, which was the wickedest one
I ever saw, it is impossible to estimate time.

Question. Was it a short time?
Answer. Yes

;
I should say ten or fifteen minutes.

Question. How far was the camp of the troops from the court-house ?

Answer. I should say about three-fourths of a mile.

Question. Then the troops must have been stationed somewhere near the meeting, so

as to be in readiness for a difficulty ?

Answer. They were, I suppose, within a half or three-quarters of a mile. Troops on
the double-quick would come that distance in a short time. I walked out there in the

morning, and suppose that it was from a half ^o three-quarters of a mile from the
court-house.

Question. Was it pretty generally known to the people that yon had taken General
Crawford into consultation in regard to holding these meetings ?

Answer. I do not know that they knew it; that was not the fact. The meeting was
called without my knowledge.

Question. Either you or Judge Miller, on yesterday, stated that General Crawford
was in consultation with you about holding the meeting there.

Answer. Pie had a consultation with the sheriff about preserving order.

Questiott. The sheriff knew that he had been talked with upon the subject ?

Answer. The governor, General Crawford, the sheriff, and myself, talked together
there. The governor and the general both asked the sheriff if he needed assistance in

preserving order.

Question. Then the probability is that the crowd more or less had cognizance of the

fact that the general had been consulted about keeping order there with his troops.
Answer. I do not know

;
I have no information upon that point ;

the sheriff may have
told them.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. You mentioned an instance in which one prominent member of the demo
cratic party had given yon some information, and requested that his name should be

kept secret. Have any others of the same party made the same request of you ?

Answer. Not at that time.

Question. At any other time ?

Answer. I do not recollect any other instance. That impressed me at the time as a.

noble example of an old citizen.

Question. Did the manner of his information, and of the circumstances, satisfy yon of
his apprehension ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;

the circumstances were these: the circuit judge of the circuit,
who is a republican, and a very good man, wrote to this man to know whether it would
be safe for him to come to his town and hold court. This lawyer, who is well known
all over the State, wrote to him that it would be. This is what he tells me himself.

He said that after he wrote that letter he- thought perhaps he might be mistaken, and
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he coin liulcd that ho would go round town a little and make inquiry among the boys,
and sec it there was any surli frrling .is would render it dangerous for Judge Smith to

ro thriv. II i said that when lie came to inquire he was satisfied that it was not safe

?r Jmlgo Smith to come there, that his life would bo in danger. It was in that con

nection thai In- hedged that, his name should not be used, or that the matter should not
lc made public ;

for he said that his life would be in danger, if it was known that he had
stated that much.

By Mr. COBURN :

Qufxtion. You have said that it would have been unsafe or impossible to make a re

publican speech in certain localities. Would it be equally unsafe to make any sort of

a political speech ? If not, will you state what kind of political speech might be made
in safety?
Answer. A democratic speech could bo made anywhere, at any time.

WASHINGTON, D. C., June 3, 1871.

WILLIAM E. COCKRELL sworn and examined.

By the CHAIRMAN :

QiHNtion. Where do you reside ? , .

Answer. In Eutaw, Greene County, Alabama.

Question. How old are you ? .

Answer. I .ITU sixteen years old; going on seventeen.

Question. Were you with your father as a witness in the United States court, in Mo
bile, a few weeks ago ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. In what case were you taken there as a witness ?

Answer. In the case of Robert Hamblctt and others.

Question. For what were they to be tried ?

Answer. For the riot at Eutaw that prevented Mr. Hays from speaking.
Question. Was your father there as a witness in the same case ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. When was it that you went to Mobile as a witness ?

Answer. The last time was in April last, I believe
;
I am not certain as to the time.

Question. Were you returning homo with your father ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
on the steamboat Cherokee.

Question. Tell us now whether that boat was visited by any persons, and whether
they beat your father; tell us what they said, and all that occurred at that time.

Answer. We went up on the Cherokee, and when we got to the Eutaw landing, where
we had intended to get off, the water was all over it, and we could not laud there

;

we then went on up to Finch s Ferry ;
as the boat was going to stop there all night,

we concluded to stay on the boat till morning; it was three miles, from there to town,
where we lived

;
while we were sitting there in the cabin a crowd of men, some seven

or eight, came in
;

I did not know but one of them
;
Jo Reynolds wag one that I knew ;

we sat there while they came in
; they passed by us, and asked for Judge Smith

;
no

one answered them, and they went up to the clerk s office, but they did not find his^
name there

;
while they were in the clerk s office pa got up and went back into the cell

or berth, where he slept ; they then came out
;
I was standing by the clerk s office

when they came out, and they asked where my father was
;
I told them I did not know

where my father was; I knew they were up to mischief; I left them then and went
around to the back door of the cell or state-room to tell pa about it

;
the back door was

fastened; he had it barred; I called to him, but he did not answer; I then went out
011 the upper part of the boat, and was looking out, when all at once I heard a great
noise

;
I ran right in, pa was out of the state-room, and a man was striking him ; the;

fellow Waddell was striking him; I did not know him then, but pa told me who it

was : Waddell was the one striking at him; I never had seen him before, and did not
then know him

; and Jo Reynolds struck him on the back of the head with a pistol as
he was backing back.

Question. What did they say?
Answer. Waddell, every once in a while, would say, &quot;You drew your pistol on me.&quot;

Pa said to him,
&quot;

I did not do any such
thing.&quot; Then we come on right out of the boai

and left, and went up home.
Question. Did they give any reason for making this attack on your father?
Answer. No, sir.

Question. Did you hear any reason given by them on the boat?
Answer. No, sir

;
I did not.
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By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. You heard this man charge your father with drawing a pistol on him ?

Answer. I have stated that.

Question. You heard him charge your father with drawing his pistol on him ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
and pa told him he did not.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. Did your father have a pistol ?

An-swer. If he had, I did not know it.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. When they asked where your father was, did they say why they wanted
him ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Was Judge Smith expected on that boat ?

Answer . Yes, sir.

Quest ion. What for ?

Answer. To come up there and hold court.

Question. Was there a court in Eutaw that week?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Who held the court?
Answer. Judge Pelhani came up in his place.

Question. To what extent was your father injured ?

Answer. He was badly hurt where Reynolds struck him on the back of the head with
his pistol ;

he bled a great deal.

By Mr. VAX TRUMP :

Question. I thought you said Waddell struck him ?

Answer. Waddell was before him striking him; and when he was backing back

Reynolds struck him on the back of the head with his pistol.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Was he wounded and bleeding ?

Answer. He bled pretty freely.

Question. Was he confined to his bed from his injuries?
Answer. He staid in bed one day afterward.

Question. Were you present in Eutaw at the time the riot occurred there ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And that was the reason you were called as a witness ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Is this all you know about the transaction on the boat at the time your
father was hurt ?

Answer. Yes, sir; all that I recollect.

Question. Do you know whether your father had a pistol or not ?

Answer. I do not know
;
I did not see him with any.

By Mr. COBURN :

Question. You were with him after the transaction ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. You saw no pistol?
Answer. No, sir.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Were there other witnesses on the boat ?

Answer. There were two men on the other side
;
I do not know whether they were

witnesses or what they were
;
but they came down to attend the trial.

Question. Were they returning on the same boat with your father ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. If witnesses, were they for the Government or for the defendants ?

Answer. For the defendants.

Question. Was this Reynolds one of the party who had been indicted ?

Answer. I do not know whether he was indicted or not.

Question. Had he been down at Mobile f

Answer. Yes, sir; but he left before we did, and went to Eutaw.
Question. Was Waddell one of the party to be tried at Mobile ?

Answer. No, sir; he came over from Eutaw with a hearse bringing a body to be
buried

;
and the river rose so high that he could not go back the way he came, and

had to go down by the boat.

Question. Have you any knowledge of the reason wky they beat your father?
Answer. No, sir.



44 CONDITION OF AFFAIRS IN THE ^SOUTHERN STATES.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. Your father has recovered ?

Answer. Yes. sir
;
now.

Question. Is he at home in Eutaw ?

Anxwu: Yes, sir.

By Mr. STEVENSON :
. , s

Qi .xfi&amp;lt;i. How old is your father ?

Answer. He is forty-six, I believe.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Why did you come to Washington ;
were you subpoenaed to come here as a

witness ?

Answer. No, sir
;
I received a telegram to come.

WASHINGTON, D. C., June 3, 1871.

ARTHUR A. SMITH sworn and examined.

By the CHAIRMAN:

Question. Where do you reside ?

r. My residence is now in Choctaw County, Alabama, about six miles from

Mount Sterling, and about eight miles from Powell, the county seat.

(Jiuxtion. What is your occupation ?

Jamoer. I am carrying on a plantation now. *

Question. Did you formerly reside in Greene County?
Answer. I did.

(Question. Up to what time ?

AiiNim-. I have not been there since about the 20th of December last
;
I cannot now

give the exact date when I left there.

Qc.s/&amp;lt;o.
^ i-re you in Eutaw on the day when the two political meetings were held

there in October last ?

Answer. I was.

Question. We have already had some descriptions of the riot that occurred there, and
do not wish to encumber the record with much repetition of testimony. If you know
any facts which show that there was any preconcert of action for the purpose of pro
ducing a riot there, will you state what they are ?

Answer. Nothing more than the posting of the handbill for a democratic meeting
there after the handbill for the republican meeting had been posted, together with tlie

manner in which it was posted. At the time it led us to believe that it was for no

good purpose. The poster was signed by no one, and it was posted in conspicuous!
places during the night. My office was in the court-house. We had a place in the

passage-way of the court-house ibr posting bills. When I .left there at night, about

sundown, there was no bill posted there; when I came back therein the morning,
about seven o clock, there was one posted there, and also one in the probate office.

Question. Were you the clerk of the court at that time, with your office in the court
house ?

Answer. Yes, sir. ^

By Mr. STEVENSON :

Question. Do you refer now to the night before the meeting ?

Answer. No, sir
;
I remember that Major Leighton arrived there with some United

States troops on the 13th day of October, and this was the night before he arrived.

By the CHAIRMAN:

Question. Wc-iv any declarations made, during the progress of the meeting, which
showed an anticipated disturbance? If so, state what declarations were made and
who made 1 1n-ill.

Anmm . I was in my office while the speaking was going on
;
the stand was right in

front of my office: 1 was sitting en a table something like this, in the (.-enter of the
room

;
a deputy sheriff, named Hugh L. White, eanie in there while Governor Parsons

was speaking; he said.
&amp;lt; ; Smith, you Avill see the damnedest row here in a little while

that you ev,T saw in your life.
1

I said,
&quot;

I ^uess not.&quot; After the affair occurred I

tboognt that, perhaps, indicated thai it was an understood thing. And other thingswent to show that ii was a preconcerted plan. Afterward n friend of mine, said that if
lie had thought Iliad heeu in any danger, briny there in my ol iice when the iiring
commenced, hr would have sent for me and had me come. away.

Question. Were there any other tacts to show a preconcert?
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Answer. None, of my own personal knowledge, more than the day previous to the

meeting I saw a man by the name of Perkins fixing up his gun in his store. I do not
know that that would bo regarded as any indication.

Question. Did he take any part in the proceedings of the next day?
Answer. I could not say, of my own personal knowledge, that he did.

Question. Did you hear any one advise to wait before firing, that the time had not
arrived yet ?

Amu-cr. That was a man named Robert Hainblett, who drew a derringer when Par-

sous was speaking, and said,
&quot; Let me kill the God-damned old son of a bitch.&quot; That

was his language. Three or four grabbed his arm and held it up, and several of them
said,

&quot; Don t shoot yet; it is not time.&quot; And that quieted him down. After the first

shot was fired, then I heard a man say distinctly,
&quot; Go in, boys ;

now is your time.&quot;

Question. Who was he?
Answer. Colonel J. J. Jolly. And let me say hero now that he was sitting with his

back to me
;
he was sitting in the window, and there were one or two men between

him and me. I could not swear to him, only from his voice, which I knew very well.

I believe it was his voice that I heard make that remark. Immediately upon that the

general firing commenced.
Question. What relation did he hold to the meeting was he a republican or demo

crat ?

Answer. He was supposed to be a democrat
;
he spoke in the democratic meeting.

Question. Was this at the republican meeting ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. The democratic meeting had then adjourned?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Can you state any other facts, within your knowledge, to show that vio
lence was premeditated there, or have you stated all that you know ?

Answer. There was a man who came from Hale County, an adjoining county, the

day after, and said that he met some men coming from Entaw and going back to

Greensboro
;
he met them at the river, and heard theril say they had &quot; been over

there and made the radicals jump once, and would again if they had a meeting.&quot;

Question. Were you summoned as a witness to attend the trial of the parties at Mo
bile f

Answer. I was subpoo?uaed at Demopolis, upon the examination before the United
States commissioner. That examination was postponed, on account of the absence of

important witnesses, until the 5i(3tli day of December, at Mobile, the time the grand
jury were to meet. I was subpoenaed to attend there. The examination was waived
before the United States commissioner, and I was summoned to servo on the grand
jury in the United States court.

Question. Having been summoned once as a witness, did any of the parties charged
with the riot make any threats to deter you from attending ?

Answer. When the warrants were issued for these parties I think there were twelve
of them affidavits were made before the United States commissioner and warrants
issued for their arrest

;
that was prior to the election some time, when the circuit court

was in session. A deputy marshal came there expecting to arrest the parties. I, being
the clerk of the court, they made known to mo who were the parties. No others in

the county knew for whom they had warrants. I assisted them as much as I could in

identifying the parties. The grand jury of the county was in session at the time, and

they investigated the case somewhat. I Avas summoned as a witness before the grand
jury. Having on a former occasion been before the grand jury of the county in a very
aggravated case, I did not like to go before them this time. I told my brother, who
was the judge of the court, that, if it was possible, I wished he would assist me in

keeping away from the grand jury. He said very frankly that he could not do so
;
that

if I was subpoenaed I would have to go before them. I was subpoenaed to go before
the grand jury on the last day of the session of the court to give evidence in regard
to this riot. Before giving my testimony I told the grand jury that I had given testi

mony in the case of the assassination of Boyd ;
that they had taken a solemn oath not

to divulge anything that transpired within the jury-room ;
and yet not three days

had passed when my testimony was known all over the county. I told them I would
rather go to jail than give my testimony there, unless it could be kept secret. They
assured me that it should be as secret as the grave, and I gave my testimony. About
three days after that, immediately after I came back from Demopolis the court ad

journed on Saturday, I went to Demopolis on Monday and returned on Tuesday upon
my return, word was sent to me from one of the parties against whom I had given tes

timony that he intended to shoot me on sight. He was bailiff, acting for the court at that
time. After three were arrested a great many fled and went into the woods, this bailiff

with the rest. Some arrangement was then effected by which these parties could come
back to town. This man came into my office to get me to certify for his pay as bailiff,

I was in there by myself; I said to him, &quot;John, I understand that you said you were

going to shoot mo on. sight; now, this is the first time we have met, &quot;and this is as good
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a chance to do it ;s any : .and if yon can shoot- quicker than I it is all right.&quot; He said

that perhaps he had sa id so; but he was drunk. &quot;

But,&quot; said he,
&quot; there is one thing,

YOU will not be permitted to -testily before the United States grand jury.&quot; I replied.
: - Y\Y ill see about, that. I told him that his kind of men, when they came face to

far.- with a man. did not seem to do very much. I talked to him in that Avay I do not

remember exactly what 1 said to &amp;lt;rive him to understand that I vas not particularly

afraid of any one of t hem. That was the only threat made to rue personally. Of course

I heard rnniors that ! would be assassinated, &c.

ni. Were yon at Mobile.

J//MW. I was: I served on the grand jury.
nmxtitw. Wen- yon there at the time Mr. Cockrell was there as a witness T

.J;/Mnr. Yes. sir.

ijiti-xtion. } )o you know anything about his being beaten on his return home T

^MiMr, Only from hearsay.
nuc*tin)i. Were you present in Eutaw at the time the assault was made upon Mr.

Burton, the candidate for lieutenant governor?
J//.VIH r. Yes. sir.

(Jiu Klhn. State the circumstances of that assault.

.Inwcr. That was after the election, some time. Mr. Burton was the editor of a

republican paper in Demopolis. By an act of the legislature he was designated as tho

count y printer, not only for.the county of Marcngo, in which Demopolis is situated,

but also for such other counties as the probate judge might designate. He did the

county print ing for (ireene County. He came to Eutaw on some business connected
with the probate judge, some collections. The train arrived at noon on Saturday. As

Judge Davis, the probate judge, was not there, he (Mr. Burton) waited till Monday.
On Monday morning I went to my office. I boarded with Judge Davis. Mr. Burton
and Judge Davis came to my office

;
ho went into Judge Davis s office first. There

was a great deal of restlessness on the part of several men outside. That was some
where about ten o clock, I think. Mr. Burton carne once to my office. I saw a great
many men whom 1 knew to be desperate characters walking about, and apparently
watching for him ; I saw them on the streets, with their revolvers buckled on. I told

Mr. Burton that I feared there would be trouble, and asked him to keep Avith me. I

told him I was going across the square, to the office of Mr. Cockrell, who was a lawyer,
and a -iked him to go with me. We walked along down there, and, after doing my
business there. 1 told Mr. Burton I had some business with Judge Miller, who was at

the probate office at that time, and if he would wait at Mr. Cockrell s office until I

could go over there and attend to my business, I would come back and go down with
him to take the train at 1*2 o clock. &quot;He said he would do so, and I \vent up to Judge
Miller s of lice. I was a little longer than I expected to be doing my business. In the
mean time Mr. Burton started back alone. What I am telling you now about the first

attack upon Mr. Burton is what he told me himself; I did not see it. As he was going
along a man came up with a large stick and asked him if his name was Burton; he-

replied
&quot;

yes ;&quot;

he then asked him if he was the editor of the &quot;Republican,&quot; and he
said

yes.&quot; Upon that he deliberately struck at him with the stick with all the power&quot;

he possessed. Mr. Burton dodged the blow, and the force of it turned him around.
Mr. Burton had a little derringer in his pocket, which he then pulled out and cocked.
The man pulled out a revolver. Burton said to him,

&quot; Who are you, and what do you
want .

&quot;

lie replied,
&quot; I want you to put up your pistol.&quot;

Burton said, &quot;Put up yours,
and I will put up mine.&quot; He put up his pistol, and Burton put up his. They therr-

separated and walked off. After Burton had walked a little distance, this fellow rain

up behind him and struck him over the head and knocked him down. Burton says,
that is the last he remembers of what took place then. An old negro, who was stand
ing there; and saw it all, told me that after the fellow had knocked Burton down with
his stick he pulled out his pistol and snapped it at him, but it did not go off. He then
clubbed him with the pistol, inflicting wounds which I afterwards saw. The fellow
then ran otf with a hoot, saying,

u
I ve finished him.&quot; As I came from the probate

office back into the court-house there was a passage-way through the court-house; I.

came in :ii the inrlli door, my office being on the south side I met Mr. Burton comings
into the door, reeling and staggering, his face all bloody, and head all cut. There
were two meu there, and 1 asked who had assaulted him. They said they did not
kno\v. Mr. I .urton was not conscious what he was about at the time. He was bleed-
in- very badly. After he had sat in my office a few moments, I saw that he was growing
taint. Then- were perhaps fifty people in the street. I took Burton by the arm to

help him to tin- house, which was about half a mile distant. I walked with him down
over tin- same ground over which he had come; wo went right through the angle of
two street*. As I was walking along there were on each side of the street men with
revolvers in their hands, and I heard several voices say,

&quot; Let us finish him, the damned
son of a bitch.&quot; I stopped mid pulled out my revolver, and told them that I would

11 the first man that approached us. They then stopped. We went down home, I

having to carry him a great deal of the, way. When I got to the house he could not



ALABAMA. 47

stand. I immediately sent for the doctor. Ho came there and said Burton was in a

dangerous condition/but he thought that perhaps he &quot;would get over it. A negro was
sent for some plasters, and a man named Hardway sent word back by the negro that

if Burton did not aie, the doctor should give him something to kill him.

Question. How did you learn that?
Answer. The negro boy said so. Then Judge Davis told me in the evening that a

former judge and some other men had told him to say to me that they intended to come
down to the house that night and kill Burton, and that if I resisted them they intended

to kill me also
;
I sent back word to those men that I was prepared for them, that I

should resist them, and if they camo there I intended to right them to the last; they
did not come. Burton had a sister living at Mobile

;
I telegraphed to her and to some

of his friends, and she came up two days afterward with a gentlemen friend to take

care of him and get him away as soon a*a possible. Going up 011 the train some man
from Eutaw, John D. Steele, asked him if ho was going to Eutaw; he said &quot;yes ;&quot;

he
then asked him if he was going there to get Burton away ;

he said he was
;
the man

then said that he had better not do it, because they did not intend to let him get away
alive.

By Mr. VAX TRUMP :

Question. This is hearsay I suppose.
Answer. The man himself told me so.

I

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. What was the motive for the attack?
Answer. I cannot tell.

Question. What did the man say to Burton ?

Answer. All the conversation was this: The man asked him if he was named Burton,
and if he was the editor of the Republican.

Question. Do you know the man who assaulted him ?

Answer. Yes. sir.

Question. Who was he ?

Answer. He was a man connected with the printing of the paper published in Eutaw
called the Whig and Observer; I do not know what he was doing on it.

Question. How soon was this after the election

Answer. I think it was from the 5th to the 10th of December; I will not be certain

as to the exact time.

Question. Had Mr. Burton been particularly obnoxious in any way, politically or

personally?
&quot;*

Answer. No, sir : there was nothing objectionable in the articles published in his news

paper. He never used the name of the man who assaulted him to my certain knowledge.
It was always supposed that Mr. Burton did not know the man.

Question. Was the man arrested .

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Was any information laid against him ?

Answer. It was done right in the face and eyes of the sheriff; I know the sheriff was
right in town; I do not think there was any affidavit made against the party ; I re

member that Mr. Burton said to the judge of probate, Judge Davis, that if he would
issue a warrant he might consider it sworn to by him; but he never made an affidavit

against the party not a regular affidavit, signed ;
I do not think there ever was a

warrant issued for his arrest.

Question. Did the assault occur in one of the principal streets of the town ?

Answer. Right by the court-house square.
Question. What is your system of administering civil justice : have you subordinate

magistrates to take information ?

Answer. The probate judge is also the county court judge; he has criminal jurisdic
tion.

Question. \Vas his duty to issue warrants originally ?

Answer. It is his duty or the duty of any magistrate to issue a warrant. But this

was a case of that character that it involved felony, and the county judge had no juris
diction for trial. His jurisdiction extends only to cases of petty larceny, misdemeanors,
and affrays. In this case the party would have to be bound over to answer an indict-

by the grand jury.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP:

Question. In another court?
Answer. Yes, sir

;
in the circuit court.

Question. The probate judge had power to examine and commit?
Answer. Yes, sir.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. W^as this case ever examined by the grand jury ?
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Answer. The caao occured in December. A court was held there a short time since,

ami 1 have been int.. i inrd by young CockreLL, who is here, that this man is still at large;

I tlo not know from my own personal knowledge.

Qur*fin. What wen- tin- parly relations of this man who assaulted Mr. Burton; was
he a democrat ?

Answer. Oh, yes; he is noted as a very desperate character.

Question. Was he one of the parties engaged in the riot there ?

AiiHtrtr. Yes, sir.

Question. One of the defendants ?

AiiMin-r. Yes, sir.

Question. Has Mr. Burton recovered from his injuries?
Anmrcr. Not wholly.
Question. What knowledge have you derived from persons who have made complaint

to you while you were the circuit court clerk of whippings and scourgings that have
occured in Greene County ?

Ax^ircr. My position there is circuit clerk, before whom by the laws of the State no

complaints could be made, and I could not issue warrants. Several persons came to

me and asked me to show them where they could make complaints ;
a great many have

told me of scourgiugs and whippings, though not all that occured, I suppose; I know
that at the commencement of the court last fall three parties came to my office, from
the northern part of the county, and said they had been badly beaten

; my brother
was there at the time, and the grand jury was in session

;
he immediately called the

attention of the county solicitor to the case, and had them subpoenaed before the grand
jury ; nothing was done, however, in regard to the matter.

Question. From information thus derived will you state how many whippings have
occurred in that county ? I do not ask you to give the details, but to state generally
the number of whippings that have occurred.

Answer. There was the ease of those three persons; then a man by the name of Cave
Davis

;
I do not think I can recall more than six cases within the last year.

Question. Have any persons been convicted in the county for any offense of that char
acter ?

Answer. No, sir
;
not up to the time that I left there.

Question. How were these whippings represented to have been inflicted
; by persons

in disguise ?

Anmcer. Yes, sir.

Question. By any number of persons ?

Answer. All the way from five or six up to 25. These three men, or two men and a
woman, who came to my office, said that there were some 20 persons came to their
house..

Question. In the day-time or at night?
Answer. At night.
Question. How long have you lived in Choctaw County ?

Answer. Since about the 1st of January.
Question. Have you any knowledge of the assassination of Mr. Boyd in Eutaw ?

Answer. I was there at the time
;
I know that he was killed, but I have no personal

knowledge of the manner in which he was killed. I saw him in the morning before
lie was laid out

;
I was among the first to see him in the morning. I did not know of

it during the night when it occurred.

Question. At what time was that?
Answer. It was on the 31st of March, 1870. The sheriff told me that he saw the par

ties ride into town.

Question. Did he arrest any of them?
.In ;&amp;gt;!&amp;lt;,. Xo, sir.

Question. Did he make the attempt to arrest them ?

Anwr. No, sir.

Qiirxtion. How many did he say there were?
4fUwr. 1I-. told me. that there must have been forty ;

I think that was the number
he estimated them at.

Did the sheriff understand why Boyd was assassinated?
Auxin i: 11&amp;lt;- ne\er told me, if he did.

Question. Did lie say why he did not arrest the parties?
InsVH r. He said that it would have been folly for him to have attempted it.

Question. Wen- they armed 1
II said they were armed to the teeth. I asked him why he did not let

Judge J )a\i&amp;gt; a ii.l myself know it. He said that he did not know why. The fact of the
isinesa was he let a lew men know of it who would be the last to do anything like

jHirsmn- at Qight, Immediately after it occurred. Judge Davis and myself, and Squire
i ockrell. who wen- the only white republicans there, or who professed themselves to
be such, did not know anything of it until the morning.

Question. About what time of the night did it occur i
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Answer. The sheriff said it was fifteen minutes before 11 o clock

Question. What is the population of th.it town ?

Answer. From 1,500 to 1,800.

Question. If there were any disposition to arrest men of that kind in a town of that

size, could a posse have been summoned at that hour of the night sufficient to have ar

rested some of them ?

Answer. I think so
;
I remember that one old citizen there, Chancellor Clark, a prom

inent lawyer, asked the sheriff why he did not summon a posse. The sheriff said ho
could not have got anybody to have gone with him. The old chafrcellor said,

&quot; I would
have gone myself.&quot;

Question. Is Chancellor Clark living there now?
Answer. Yes, sir

; although he is a very old man, still he follows his profession as a

lawyer.
Question. How old was Mr. Boyd ?

Answer. I should think he was in the neighborhood of thirty years of age.

Question. Was hi a native of Alabama?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Was any reason assigned for his murder ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
there were several reasons assigned for it. One reason was that

some fifteen years ago he and another man, a son of Judge Miller, got into a difficulty
with a young man by the name of Charner Brown, and Brown was killed. Mr. Boyd
was arrested and convicted for the killing of that man, and sentenced to the peniten

tiary for a number of years ;
I canTiot say exactly how many. After he had been there

a short time the jury who sat upon his trial, with other persons, petitioned to the ex

ecutive for a commutation of his sentence, and he granted it. I think the governor at

that time was Governor Winston. Instead of holding Boyd to his sentence they re

leased him after twelve months in the jail. During the war Boyd served in the; con

federate army, not voluntarily I think; I think he remained out until he thought he

would be conscripted if he did not go. He went into a sort of home guards. He was
elected or appointed, I am not certain which, as solicitor of the county. It has been
claimed by some that his murder was in retaliation for the killing of Brown fifteen

years before; although the jury who tried him had petitioned to the governor and got
his sentence commuted. Another reason given was this : prior to the Hist of March,
some time during the first part of the year, a man by the name of Snoddy was killed ;

two negroes were arrested for the murder, and had a preliminary examination and
were committed to jail to await the finding of the grand jury. A short time after they
were committed to jail ;

whether they escaped or were taken out I cannot say pos

itively they were out of jail. One of them I think was found dead not long after,

and soon after that the father of one of those men who had been committed to the jail,

an old man, against whom there was no evidence implicating him in the murder, was
found hanging to a tree. Mr. Boyd, being the, county solicitor, had taken extra pains
in the case, and had shown a great deal of earnestness in obtaining evidence to convict

some parties of the hanging of this old man.

By Mr. VAN THUMP :

Question. Were these parties white or black ?

Answer. The man who was hung was black
;
the man whose body was found was

black. Snoddy, who was killed, was a white man. The persons committed to jail

were negroes, .and the father of one of the men committed to jail was found hanging to

a tree. Mr. Boyd being a man very eager in everything he undertook to do, if he had
the least idea of success, could not keep it to himself. He did not hesitate to say that he
had evidence sufficient to convict certain parties of the hanging of this old man, and
that ho intended to keep the grand jury in session for six months but that they should
find an indictment against them. He told this to me as clerk of the court. I said to

him,
&quot; If you have such evidence as that you had better keep it to yourself.&quot; The land

lord of the hotel where he boarded said that Boyd told him the same thing in the

hotel, in the presence of some of the very parties against whom he had evidence, and
in a short time after that he was killed.

By Mr. POOL :

Question. Was the grand jury in session when he was killed?

Answer. No, sir.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. You have heard those two causes assigned for his being killed ?

Ansu-er. Yes, sir.

Question. Has any one been arrested for his murder ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Was the subject investigated by the grand jury ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

4
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Question. Was there any identification of persons connected with tho murder?

Jjw.r. N&amp;gt;. sir. In their report to the court, the whole idea they conveyed was that

e parties came from an adjoining county. They did not deny that he was killed bythe
Kn-Klnx. or disguised persons, but they conveyed the idea that the persons came from

an adjoining county.

Qu&tio*, Where had this man Urown lived?

J.xir&amp;lt;r. In (Jreene County, sonic twelve miles from Eutaw.

];&amp;gt;
Mr. VAN Jk-UMP:

Qm-xt nm. Did yon say the grand jury reported as a reason for-not finding an indict

ment that the parties came from another county?
J//.s/nr. They conveyed the idea that the parties came from outside of tho county.

;DH. Was that the reason assigned?
jMNinr. 1 suppose they could not find an indictment against parties out of the

county.
Qui-xihu. N\jt for a crime committed in the county?
Aiixurr. Not if the parties lived out of the county.

Qiuwlion. Did they give that as a reason for not finding an indictment?
Anxinr. No, sir; not as a reason, though it was a reason. They could not identify

any of the parties; but all they said was, that in their opinion they came from an ad

joining county.

Question. What was the reply of your brother, the judge, to that ?

] \ nuin-r. lie had the report ofthe grand jury file&amp;lt;fand put upon record, and, of course,
he had no reply to make to it.

Question. You think not?
Answer. He did not make any reply.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Will you state what you know about the state of affairs in Choctaw
County ?

Answer. I was there after January, on my plantation ; my brother has a plantation
there of some four thousand acres; he is also a judge of the circuit court. I was there

at the time the judge of probate was shot
;
I did not see him until the next morning ;

he said he was shot at about 3 o clock on a Saturday afternoon. I saw him the next

morning ; I can only give you his story; I can state that he was woiyided in the arm.

Question. What is his name ?

Answer. F. M. Hill. I had seen anonymous letters that he had received
;
I have seen

one since then warning him that if he did not Vacate his office he would be killed.

Question. Did he make any statement to you on the next morning after that occurred ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Qmstion. What was his statement?
Annwer. He has a plantation some ten miles from the county seat; he is- in the habit,

on Saturday nights, of driving out there to spend Sundays; he- went through a little

village, of the name of Mount Sterling, and was going down a little hill, sitting in his

carriage, driving with his left hand
;
he is a large, portly man. As he got near tho

bottom of tho hill he heard the crack of a rifle and felt a little sting in the arm, and,
turning his eyes, saw a man behind the fence, with his rifle sticking up through tho
fence. He could not identify the man, though he could see that there was a man there,
and could see the rifle. Ho had no weapons with him, and immediately drove over the
creek and went to a doctor, and had his wound dressed. The bullet made a flesh-
wound

;
I saw him the next morning.

Question. Was there anything to show that that attempt at assassination was con
nected in any way with the discharge of his duties as probate judge, or with his

political opinions?
Ansiver. Nothing that I know of. He had had previous warnings to vacate his office

or he would be killed.

Qu&amp;lt;-KtioH. What is there to show that that was more than an ordinary attempt at

highway robbery or murder? v
Answer. There is nothing in the thing itself, unless you connect it with tho warnings

which he had had.

Qutxtlon. Is that all you know of that case?
Aiixinr. It was investigated before the grand jury, but no indictment was found.
Question, lie could not identify the man ?

Annu-cr. No, sir.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. That is tho reason no indictment was found?
Anxwer: Yes, sir.

By tho CHAIRMAN :

Question. What other occurrence do you know of in that county bearing upon the
lihjrct oi our investigation as to the security of life or property?
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Answer. Immediately after my brother and myself left the plantation to go to Mobile
to attend the trial of these Eutaw rioters, my brother s gin-house, engine he had a very
fme one grist-mill, press, about five thousand bushels of cotton seed, intended to be
converted into rneal, the bridge which crosses the creek which divides our plantations,
a very large creek, and about half a mile of fence, were burned. The bridge was not
burned entirely ;

it was set on tire but put out before it was entirely destroyed. When
I came up from Mobile, I went to the plantation to investigate the facts of the cast 1

.

The men on the place said that they tracked lour men to the gin-house from across the

bridge ; also, that from that point they tracked fifteen horses and mules up to what
is called the cross-roads, some eight miles from the place. They also said that there
was an old negro man who saw and counted fifteen men passing up there just about

daylight, going on north towards Sumter County. Whether those men did this or not,
we cannot say. But we know that the buildings were set on fire, because they were
burned on a Thursday night, and the engine had not been used since the Saturday pre
vious, and there was no tire anywhere about the buildings.

Question. Have there been any whippings in Choctaw County ?

Anstoer. No complaints have been made to mo personally, except in one ca.se. A man
on our place was summoned to appear before the court. I sent a note by him to go by the

way of Mount .Sterling, and get our mail on his return. He went tor the mail, and
his report and that of others to me was there were two other colored men with him
that he was set upon and beaten by about twenty-live men in the place.

Question. Were they masked or in disguise?
Answer. No, sir.

Question. That was his statement about it?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Have there been any proceedings in the county to compel the resignation of

officers?

Answer. I was not present at any meeting for that purpose, because I had just gone
to our home, at the time of the resignation of the sheriff and adjournment of the
court when my brother was holding it. Perhaps I should say something about that.

My brother commences his court in Choctaw County. Prior to the meeting of the
court the sheriff told my brother that lie intended to resign ;

that he did not think, he
could hold court there, the people were so excited. He was urged not to resign, and

finally persuaded not to. The court was commenced and held the first week with good
success and in quiet. The court was held on the Monday and Tuesday of the second
week. Tuesday evening there was a great deal of disturbance in the town. A
great many men came in there, and there was a great deal of boisterousuess about the
town.

Question. What was the cause of this excitement or disturbance ?

Answer. I cannot tell you; it was the intention probably to break up the court. This
was on Tuesday. The judge sent the sheriff out to stop the noise, and if the parties
did not stop the noise to bring them into court. The sheriff went out and they were
quiet. After the court adjourned they were about town cursing the damned radicals,
and very noisy most of the night. Wednesday morning the sheriif handed in his resig
nation to the court, saying that he was no longer sheriff, thereby blocking the wheels
of the court, and the court had to adjourn.

Question. Was the sheriff a republican or a democrat?
Answer. Ho was a republican. The judge asked the reason for his resigning, and he said

that he had very reliable information that they intended to break up the court, and he
could not keep order

;
so he would resign. Immediately after the court adjourned, an

indfguation meeting, as they called it, was held. The chairman of the meeting, as he
took the stand, stated that the object of the meeting was to pass resolutions re

questing the officers of the county, of the circuit court, and of the district, to resign,
and if they did not resign to take them out of their offices. One man there by the
name of Wiley Coleman, a lawyer and a democrat, and a very good man, came into the

meeting and made a speech there. He told them that they would be sorry for that

day s work
;
and he introduced some resolutions, which were adopted, a copy of

which I have in my pocket.

WASHINGTON, D. C., June 5, 1871.

ARTHUR A. SMITH, examination continued.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Was the proceeding narrated by you, at the close of your testimony on

Saturday last, followed by the resignation of any of the officers of that county 1

Answe) . I do not know that it was the result of that meeting it might have been
because of an anonymous letter that ho received but the tax-collector of the county
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resigned his office. That was the only one, I think. I ain not advised as to whether

th probate judge has resigned; he told me he should resign.

(Question. Aiv you at present clerk of the circuit court in Greene County?
J/i.swr. No, sir.

Qnr*tinn. I las your term expired, or did you resign?
J;*.vir//\ 1 resigned.

Question. For what reason ?

Amnrr. For the reason that I could not live there in safety.

Qucxtion. What pi evented you from living there in safety ?

J/omr. Violence.

Qiicxliou. Were any threats made against you ?

4nitMr. Thero have been several anonymous letters sent to me. About the first of

;r. al ter I left there, several people, who were friends to me as far as they could

1),-. told my wife by no means to allow me*to go back there, because I would not be

permitted to go from the train to my boarding-place without being assassinated.

QHcxt uHi; Was that on account of your being a witness, or having participated in

that meeting? ,

Answer. I have been told by several lawyers, particularly by Chancellor Clark, who
is a leading lawyer there, that, so far as my official conduct there was concerned, there

was no complaint against me. It may sound a little egotistical on my part, but he
told me to my face that I made the best clerk they ever had there

; they had nothing
against me that was before I was a witness

;
that they had nothing against me, only

that I belonged to the usurping party.

Question. Did he communicate to you any desire that you should resign ?

Answer. Not at that time; no, sir.

Question. Do you know of any school-house having been burned in that county?
Amicer. I do. I was county superintendent of education for that county. I not only

know of school-houses having been burned, but of men having been driven from the

county because they were teachers in the colored schools.

Question, When did that occur?
Ansim: That occurred in the last of 1869, and during the year 1870.

Question. Did you, in your official capacity as superintendent of schools, make any
investigation into those cases ?

Ansti er. I called the attention of the grand jury to them, and gave the names of sev
eral witnesses to be subpoenaed. I know there was no result of the invest igation, so
far as any one being even indicted or arrested.

Question. How many school-houses were destroyed in the county ?

Answer. I now recollect five that were destroyed.
Qiicxtion. By what means were the teachers to whom you refer driven away ?

Answer. I had teaching there two young men from the North, and one who was not
a northern man. Not only were threats made to them personally, as they reported to

me, but they were given So long a time to leave the place where they were
;
and one

man, who came from Circleville in Ohio I think that was the place told me that he ,
would have to leave for fear of personal harm ;

and he did leave.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. What was his name ?

Answer. His name was, I think, S. E. Hayiies. He was from Circleville in Ohio
;
I

think it was in Greene County.
Question. Circleville is in Pickaway County. i

Answei . The other man was from Indiana. His school-house was burned, and
a&amp;gt;,

note was left, telling him he must leave there within a certain time, or he would be
harmed.

-/tow. Are you as distinct in your recollection that it was Circleville, Ohio, that
this man Haynes came from, as you are that it was from Greene County ?

Aimrer. I will not be positive as to the name of the town
;
I am sure that it was in

ne County, Ohio, and I think it was Circleville. I have letters in my possession^,
which would give the information. His name was S. E. Haynes, or S. A. Haynes.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Qnt-Htion. How are your grand and traversb jurors selected?
J//KHVV. The probate judge, the clerk of the court, and the sheriff meet on the first

Monday in January of each year, I think, and select from the registered list of voters
the names &amp;gt;f those who are competent to serve as jurors. Those names are registered

..in on (He in the, judge of probate s office, and duplicates of those names are
put into a box. Twenty days before each court there are drawn from the names in the
t.-ox a sufficient number for the juries. As they are drawn a list is made of them, and

name* are put in another box. Two terms are held in a year, and they are drawn
from that registered list. At the commencement of the next year a new list is made,
and those of the old list who have not been drawn are put back into the box.



ALABAMA. 53

By Mr. POOL :

Question. How many names do you put in the first box?
Answer. I do not think there is any specific number ; my impression is that they put

in what is supposed to be a sufficient number.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. In drawing your grand and traverse jurors in Greene and Choctaw Counties,
are there a fair proportion of colored men on the juries ?

Answer. Yes
;
it was a good, fair drawing, with a fair proportion of each.

Question. Were the colored jurors notified, and did they attend ?

Answer. We had a great many cases where they did not appear, and of course a de

fault or forfeiture was entered against them. In their explanations or excuses, when
the sclre facias was issued to them, in a great uiauy instances they said they were not
notified

;
that was the case particularly in Greene County. My acquaintance in Choc-

taw County is not sufficiently extensive to enable me to tell
;
I have been there but a

short time. But that was the ease in Greene County. In regard to those who were
notified two instances of which I remember they said that they were threatened if

they served on the jury.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. How long have you lived in Alabama?
Answer. I have lived there since May, 1869.

Question. When were you made clerk of the court there ?

Answer. I was made clerk in October, 1869.

Question. You became clerk of the court within five months after you went to Ala
bama to live ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. You were appointed clerk ?

Answer. I was.

Question. By whom ?

Answer. By the judge of the circuit.

Question. Who was the judge of the circuit?

Answer. My brother, L. R. Smith.

Question. How long has he lived there?
Answer. I think he went there in 1865.

Question. Where from ?

Answer. I think he went from Michigan.

By Mr. VAX TRUMP :

Question. Are you sure he went as early as 1865 ?

Answer. The war closed in 1865. After he was mustered out he came east, and then
went to Chicago and Detroit. When he entered the Army he went from Detroit. It is

my impression that it was in the fall of 18G5 that he went to Alabama
;

I will not be

positive about that, but, I know he was there during the first of 1866.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. When was he made judge of the circuit?

Answer. He was elected by the people at the same time that they voted upon the
new constitution of the State, and when the other State officers were elected.

Question. That was in 1868, when the constitution was voted down by the people ?

Answer. It was at the time that Governor Smith and others were elected
;

it was in

February, 1868, 1 think.

Question. At that election, or at the first election there under the reconstruction laws,
the constitution was voted down

;
a majority of the people voted against it, I believe.

It was at that same election that Governor Smith was elected
;
but the constitution,

nevertheless, was declared by Congress to have been adopted. Who had been clerk

previous to your appointment ?

Answer. A man by the name of Sidney Wormack, who died.

Question. How long did you retain the clerkship ?

Answer. I resigned in January or February last
;
I forget the exact date.

Question. Was any violence ever offered to you while .you were in that office ?

Answer. There was no particular violence ottered to me, except once; a drunken
man came into my office and commenced to abuse me and threaten me somewhat, but
I very soon got rid of him.

Question. Then the reason for your resigning was simply the anonymous letters you
say you received ?

Answer. That, and communications made to me through others, and then the general
feeling there.

Question. Was any violence offered to these young men from New England, whom
you appointed to teach school ?
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Answer. They were not from Now England.
(titixlioH. Well from tin- North.

Intwer. Yes sir ;
one of them reported to me that some meiicame to the place where

be TOM living, in disguise, in the night, with pistols, and threatened that if he did not

Iruve there within a certain time they would kill him or harm him.

.//. Were you one of lh&amp;lt;

v

supervisors of election in 18?0 ?

Yes. sii- : I was a member of the board of supervisors. The board is consti-*

luted of the probate judge, the clerk of the circuit court, and the sheriff of the county.

Qiitst nm. Each InisVipia! authority in that board ?

J H* if /-. Yes. sir.

Qmxtion. Did yon assist in appointing the officers of election for that year?
Aiixictt: 1 did not.

ion. You did not perform that part of your duty ?

. h/.smr. Xo, sir.

(jiit-xtiuu.
Who did it?

Answer. The probate judge and the sheriff, I suppose ;
the laws say that any two of

the hoard can perform the duty in the absence of either member.

Question. Yon :nv now living in Choctaw County?
Aiuwer. Yes. sir.

n. With your brother, the judge ?

. Yes, sir.

n. Is he sj ill judge of the circuit
l

?

er. He is; that is, he was at last accounts.

Question. You were in Mobile recently, on the trial of tke Eutaw rioters ?

Answer. Yres, sir.

Question. As one of the witnesses ?

J;/.s*w. Yes, sir.

Qm-xiion. The trial was postponed ?

Answer. Ye%, sir.

Qm-xtion. Do you know the reason of its postponement ?

Anxircr. It was postponed on account of the absence of an important witness on be
half of the Government.

. Who was that Avitness ?

Auxwer. Major Charles Hays.
Question. Were there many other persons there as witnesses on the part of the United

States?
Aiixiccr. My impression is that there were several there; everyone who was sub-

pn-micd to be there was there, I think, with one exception.
Question. How many persons were indicted for that riot?
AuNwer. There were twenty persons indicted.
nitration. Were they in custody or on bail ?

AuKU cr. I think ten were on bail
;
the others were at large.

Question. They had never been arrested ?

Answer. No, sir; I think there were ten at that time
;
I do not know whether there

have been any arrested since then, or whether any have come in and given bonds.
Question. Did you see Mr. Hays there on the day of the riot?
Answer. I did.

Qm xtion. Had he his little sou with him ?

Ansirer. Yes, sir.

Qin-xtinu. Was he on the stand with his father?
Aiixinr. I cannot say ;

I did not see Major Hays when he got upon the stand. It was
*

not his son, it was his nephew who was with him; I cannot say whether he. was on&quot;
1

1 1n- stand with him or not. I know he was right there in front of the ofiice, while the
others were speaking, and his little nephew was with him.

Qiu xtinu. How old was he .

Auxin r. Perhaps nine or ten
;
I do not know.

i. Mow many white republicans are there in the county of Gree.ne?
-. How many are there now .

Yes; how many are there there altogether ?
.l//s,r.r. Well, sir, that is a hard question for me to answer. -

&amp;lt;hn-:inn. Is tin-re a large number of them ?.

Anxirn: Oh, no, no; according to my standard of republicanism, there area very
few there.

l!y Mr. VAN TUUMP :

inn. Well, take as a test those voting the republican ticket.
4*MMr. Well, tliry might not vote at all, and still pretend to be republicans. At

the last election there were four white men who voted the republican ticket to my cer
tain knowledge.

*
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By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. You were one of them
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Mr. Cockrell was one of them ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Who were the others ?

Answer. Judge A. R. Davis, probate judge, aud Major Hays.
Question. Does Mr. Cockrell hold any office?

Answer. No, sir, I think not now; he did hold the office of guardian ad Utem to the

tounty, an appointment made by the probate judge.
Question. You spoke of a man, Burton, who was maltreated. You say he was the

county printer f

Answer. Yes, sir.

By Mr. VAX TRUMP :

Question. Not in that county.
Answer. His paper was printed at Deuiopolis, Marengo County, twenty-eight miles

from Eutaw.

By Mr. BLAIR:

Question. I understood you to say Saturday that he was made county printer by act

of the legislature.
Answer. The act of the legislature authorized the probate judge of each county to

designate the paper for the county printing; and the county judge of Greene County
designated his paper.

Question. Did that law allow the judge to designate a paper printed out of the

county ?

Answer. Yes, sir, anywhere.
Question. It allowed the probate judge of any county to designate a paper anywhere

in the State ?

Answer. I will not be certain about that
; my impression is, that it was a county

adjoining or a near county.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. In what year was that law passed ?

Answer. I think it was passed in 18CS.

By Mr. BLAIR:

Question. I understood you to say that the party who assaulted Mr. Burton was in

some way connected with a newspaper.
Answer. A mere employe&quot;, that is all.

(Question. Had that newspaper formerly enjoyed the county printing, before it was

given to Burton?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Was it ever intimated that the quarrel grew out of that business out of

the loss of that business?

Answer. That was never intimated that I know of; it may have been that that was
the motive \vhich induced it

;
but this man, who has no pecuniary interest in the

printing, who is a mere employe in the office, would seem to have been a mere tool in

the hands of some one else, if the quarrel grew out of the fact that the printing was
taken from that paper and given to another.

Question. The man might himself have lost employment by it. The papers selected

for this work were generally radical papers, were they not, the papers selected by the

probate judges ?

Answer. They were papers which supported the constitution bf the State of Alabama,
and the Constitution of the United States. I cannot say whether you would call them
radical papers ; they were republican papers. There was one exception, I think, to

that rule, in the adjoining county, Hale County; the probate judge designated a

paper published in the county which was a conservative paper.

Question. Was the probate judge himself a conservative?
Answer. He was a republican.

By Mr. VAX TRUMP:

Question. In your statement in regard to the place from whence this man Hayues,
the school-teacher, came, you said that he came from Circleville, Ohio, and from Greene

County. Was it not Cedarville instead of Circleville?

Answer. Yes, sir, that was the place.

Question. What was the character of this man Haynes ;
I mean what were his politi

cal sentiments
;
did he believe largely in the divinity of the negro ?

Answer. No, sir, he did not : he was a very conservative young man: he said he had

nothing to do with politics ;
he never registered or voted in the county.
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Question. Or mingle much with the negroes ?

.lnMnr. No. sir, not to my knowledge, no more than his duties as a teacher required.

He h;ul a little house where he lived by himself.

J .y Mr. POOL:

Quettio*. How many white republicans were there in Greene County in 1868?

Answtr. I cannot say ;
I was not there.

Quixthn. How many were there when you first went there?

.-1/i.sinr. There must have been twelve, at least.

Qmxtiun. Twelve who voted the republican ticket?

AiiKinr. Yes, sir.

Qucxiion. Y..n said that there were some there who said they were republicans and
did not vote : how many of them were there?

Anxinr. There were two or three; the State senator from that district did not vote,

Mr. Mehitosh ; he told mo he did not vote. Mr. Hawkiusdid not vote the ticket. The

county treasurer, a son of A. It. Davis, did not vote, or did not vote the republican
ticket.

Question. Do you know the reason why they did not?

Anmer. They told me it would be dangerous to do it. The son of Mr. A. It. Davis,
who lives up near Union, said that he could not stay there over night if he had voted
The republican ticket.

By Mr. BLAIR:

Question. Was he not understood to be a republican ?

Answer. Not an active republican.

Question. Active enough to hold an office under a republican administration ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. That was pretty generally known, was it not?
Answer. Yes, sir.

By Mr. POOL:

Question. Do the grand jury find bills against persons there for committing ordinary
crimes?

Answer. They find bills pretty freely against negroes for ordinary crimes.

Question. What character ot crimes?
Answer. Petty larceny and misdemeanors.

Question. Do you suppose that an ordinary proportion of such petty crimes are in
dicted in the county, such as was the case before the war in other counties?

Answer. I think so.

&amp;lt;

t
&amp;gt;uexiion. The law is executed there as well as elsewhere in regard to those crimes ?

Anwer. Yes, sir.

Question. Has there ever been any man indicted in that county, or in the court, for
v ommitting a crime in disguise ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. No indictment been found at all ?

Answer. Excuse me
;
I think that in the last fall term of court there were three par

ties indicted.

Question. For what ?

Answer. The form of the indictment was for lynching.
Question. Were the parties white or colored?
Answer. They were white.

Question. Was the charge that they were in disguise ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir.

Question. And an indictment was found against them in your court?
Answer. They found an indictment.

Question. That is the only case you know of?
Answer. The only case since I have been connected with the court.
Qiu-xt um. Has that case been tried ?

Answer. No, sir
;
the parties had not been arrested when I left there.

Question. Why?
An*w&amp;lt;r. Well, it could not have been for want of knowledge as to their whereabouts,

for they were in Eutaw several times to my certain knowledge, arid in the presence of
the sheriff, anil were not arrested.

Question. Did you issue a capias f

Answer. I did.

ijucxtwn. Did you put it in the hands of the sheriff?
. INM/VT. Yes, sir.

Question. There was no arrest?
Answer. No, sir.
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Question. Is there any organization in that county, any camps of these men, or any
thing of that sort ?

Answer. Not that I know of.

Question. You have no personal knowledge of them ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Did you ever see them riding in disguise ?

Answer. I never have.

Question. Do they frequently ride in disguise, as you learn from others?
Answer. I am told so.

Question. How often?
Answer. I cannot tell.

Question. At stated times?
Answer. When I was there I used to hear of it every week.

Question. On what day of the week ?

Answer. It was mostly Saturday night that they rode.

Question. In what numbers ?

Answer. All the way from three to twenty-five. I think on the occasion that Boyd
was killed, the sheriff estimated that there were more than forty or fifty of them.

By Mr. BLAIR:

Quc&lion. You mean the solicitor, Boyd*?
Answer. Yes, sir.

By Mr. POOL :

Question. Have any scourgings occurred recently ?

Answer. Not that I know of personally ; only by hearsay, from other parties.

Question. I mean, of course, as you learn from others; you could not have been present.
Answer. A. prominent man in Eutaw, a democrat, a Mr. Taylor he goos by the name

of Kit Taylor ;
I do not know what his name is a very large land-holder, said that it

was reported to the authorities that one Flem Cross, wife, and family had been poisoned ;

that the wife had died
;
that warrants were issued for the arrest of several negroes ;

that the sheriff took a posse and went down and arrested the negroes, and was going
to Eutaw with them, when he was met by a party of men in disguise, who immediately
put a .guard over him, and took the negroes away from him and beat them very badly ;

cut one man and one woman nearly to pieces, but did not kill them.

Qucst^n. When was that f

Answer. That must have been in March last.

Question. Now, return to the indictments that were found
; upon what parties was

the lynching committed by those who were charged with committing it ?

Answer. Upon some negroes. The indictment was for lynching ;
it was under an act

for the purpose of suppressing lynching. Do not understand me to say that these per
sons were lynched, but the indictment Avas found under an act which was passed to

suppress lynching. It was charged that they did go upon a place in disguise, and beat
and whip certain parties.

Question. That was the charge in the indictment?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What is the politics of the paper published in Greene County ?

Answer. Democratic.

Question. What is the tone of that paper in its editorials in regard to these outrages ?

Answer. It is rather quiet ;
it does not say much.

Question. Does it denounce them at all ? .

Answer. I never saw a piece in it denouncing them that I recollect of, except that

upon one occasion it called upon the people to refrain from violence.

Question. Who is the editor of that paper?
Answer. Joseph W. Taylor.
Question. Is he a member of this organization ?

Answer. I cannot tell you.
Question. You do not know ?

Answer. No, sir. ^

Question. Has it been the custom in Alabama to give patronage public printing,
&c. to papers that support the party in power ?

Answer. Do you say,
&quot; Has it been the custom ?&quot;

Question. However, you have not been there long enough to answer that question.
Is that the custom in Michigan ?

Answer. I do not know
;

I never lived in Michigan but one year.
Question. From what State do you come f

Answer. From Massachusetts.

Question. Then I will ask you the question in regard to that State.
Answer. I think it is the custom there.
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Quf*tion. Would witnesses be safe to go into one of your courts and testify to a state

of tarts that would lead to the convict ion of one of these marauders?
J//.s&amp;lt;r&amp;lt;r. I do not think they would.
iiiiixtinii. Suppose that, upon a preliminary investigation,

a witness should show by
his testimony that he knew enough to convict one o&quot;f them

;
would he bo safe during

the time between the investigation and the linal trial .

J&amp;gt;/N/rrr. I do not think he would: and perhaps I might right here substantiate that

ing that a man who was beaten there* and an indietment found against the par-
t i es. was run out of the county. I issued several subpoenas for him to appear to attend

&amp;gt; :n1. and he did not come. I issued an attachment for him upon an order of the

court, and he &amp;lt;;iive
bond lor his appearance; but he did not appear, and the bond was

forfeited. He said that if he came there he would be killed. Furthermore, another

party, who was a witness in behalf of this man in the same case, told me, as a reason
lor his not appearing, that he was told if he appeared there he would be killed. The
witness forfeited his bond, and an attachment was issued for him at the last court

;

whether he came or not I do not know.
i^/ti^iun. Who went his bail?
JH.S-HT/-. Some man in ( Jainsville

;
I forget the name now. The man who was beaten

was a negro named Sol Mobley. The man who went on his bail was, I think, Greene
I . Mobley. sr. He is now dead. The attachment was issued, and put in the hands of

the sherill of Sumter County.
niHxfioH. What chance is there for the State courts to suppress this violence, if no

indictments are found .

A)i*ircr. No chance
;
I look upon the State courts as a farce, so far as that is concerned.

(n&amp;lt;-xti&amp;lt;)H. They are totally incompetent ?

Aiixirn-. Yes. sir ; I think I can speak very confidently of the circuit court of Greene
County, that it is utterly powerless to convict these men, or any parties guilty of these
crimes.

^Hc.v//ow. First, because the grand jury will not find a bill
; and, secondly, because

you cannot get witnesses ?

AH.--ICII: Yes. sir. When the witnesses come np en the preliminary examination and
are bound over, judging the future by the past, it seems to me that it is almost impos
sible to enforce the law.

Question. Have you ever known anything of the Union League in the county ? .

AHHWO: I never have.

Qiu-xHou. Have they had any Union Leagues there since you have been there ?

A nxicn\ No, sir
;
or if they have, I never have known anything about them. I never

did know anything about them any way.
,&quot;&quot;

*
&quot;&amp;gt; . W hat has been the conduct of the colored people in that county orderly

or otherwise?
. iict i: Very orderly, indeed.
i. xtion. Have there been any barn-burnings there ?

xim: Not that I know of. I think two or three gin-houses have been burned, and
negroes arraigned for burning them

; but they never have been convicted of it. Ne- .

groes have been arraigned for the murder and killing of persons, and for burning a
store there

; some twenty or thirty of them
;
and one man, one of the negroes, in order

to have them committed to jail, was pressed to iperjure himself, as he afterwards con
fessed. The\ now have him under an indictment for perjury. I think three or four
colored men were committed to jail upon a preliminary examination before a justice.

(Jncxtion. On the testimony of this man?
J/.-.Njr/r. Yes. sir.

(.
in -Hon. Yon say he. has been indicted for perjury? *

.I/war. Yes. sir
;
and notwithstanding he came the second time before the grand

jury, and said that lie had told them a lie, they still found an indictment against the
other negroes, and they were kept in jail until this last court, when they were put
:p MI trial, and, as I am informed, all were cleared except this man who perjured hirn-

V&quot;
/ &quot;. You mean that he perjured himself in swearing against the others ?

4*MW. Yes, sir; he swore that he was one of the party, and implicated the others&quot;

in it.

um*twn. How long were, the defendants kept in jail?
4M0er. The burning of this store, and the murder and burning of the clerk in it,occurred not long after the assassination of Mr. Boyd, which was on the 30th of March,

1370. Those negroes were arrested, examined before a justice, committed to jail, and
out once on a writ of habeas corpus before iny brother, and he discharged two of

i;.v Mr. VAN Tur.Mi-:

Qn,x1ln. Whose store was burned ?

Doctor Anderson s.
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Question. What was his politics?
Answer. He was a democrat, I suppose.

By Mr. POOL :

Question. Has the community ever been able to find out who were the guilty parties ?

Answer. No, sir
;
the case was decided in favor of these parties only a few weeks

since, except the man who perjured himself.

Question. You say the store was burned not long after the assassination of Mr. Boyd?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did it have any connection with that?
Answer. This man, Dr. Anderson, at one time told me that he himself thought it

was merely retaliation for the murder of Mr. Boyd ;
that is, Avhen he supposed that

the negroes were guilty of the act.

Question. Is the doctor supposed to have been connected in any wav with the murder
of Mr. Boyd ?

Answer. No, sir
;

I do not think lie was one of the parties ;
I cannot tell. about his

knowing anything about it.

Question. Was he an active democrat, so as to have notice attracted to him ?

Answer. No, sir
;
he was a very conservative man, only when he was drunk ; then he

was very active as a democrat, denouncing everybody that was ever loyal to the Gov
ernment, or who sympathized with the republican party.

Question. Has there been any fear in that community that there would be retaliation

by the negroes ?

Answer. I think there was, at the time of the assassination of Mr. Boyd.
Question. Have you known of any other acts of retaliation ?

Answer. Other acts of retaliation ?

Question. By the negroes there?
Answer. No, sir

;
I have never known of any acts of retaliation at all.

Question. What is the relative proportion of white people and of negroes in that

county ?

Answer. 1 think it was estimated at onetime that there were three to one.

Question. Three negroes to one white man ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Is the number of negroes in that county diminishing any ?

Answer. I think it is, very fast
;
after the last election a great many left the county

Question. Did all of the negroes vote at that election ?

Answer. No, sir; I do not think they did.

Question. In your judgment, what proportion of them did vote ?

Answer. I could not give you any deiinite statement
;

I know that in some precincts
many of them did not vote. In one precinct scarcely any negroes voted

;
and in

others, as it appeared from the poll-list, a great many negroes voted the democratic
ticket.

Question. A great many of them voted the democratic ticket ?

Answer. Yes, sir; in 1S69, I think, the republican majority in the county was nearly
2,200 ;

in Ie70, the majority was 43 democratic.

Question. How many negroes voted the democratic ticket 1

Answer. I cannot tell.

Question. I do not ask you to give the exact number, only to approximate to the
number.
Answer. I should think there were, perhaps, 1,500.

(Question. How many did not voto at all?

Answer. I do not know
;
there might have been two or three hundred or more

;
I am

not well enough acquainted all over the county and with the negroes to give you the
exact number.

Question. Did the negroes who voted the democratic ticket do so willingly, or did they
do so from terror ?

Answer. I know a great many who did not vote it
; they made affidavit they did not

vote the democratic ticket
;
but I say that it so appeared from the poll-books.

Question. Do you mean to intimate that there was fraud in the count ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
I do.

Question. When you spoke of 1,500 negroes having voted the democratic ticket, you
mean that it so appeared from the count ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. In your judgment, to what extent was that fraud carried ?

Answer. It was carried to the extent that, as I tell you, there were 43 democratic
majority, while in the election before that there were 2,200 or 2,300 republican major
ity.

Question. Do you mean to say that the whole of that result was obtained by fraud ?

Answer. Not the whole of it ; there were a great many additions to the democratic

party, and perhaps some negroes voted that way willingly, in order to protect them-
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selves. But tho great proportion of thorn did not do it willingly, if they did it at all
;

and a portion of them voted the republican ticket, as they supposed, when they voted
;

but when the votes came to be counted, they were democratic.

Question. Were all tho poll-keepers democrats ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir
; every one.

Question. Were they appointed by the sheriff?

.ln*wrr. They were appointed by the sheriff and judge of probate; the board of

supervisors consists of the probate judge, the clerk, and the sheriff, but I was not pres
ent when the poll-keepers were appointed.

(Jncxtion. Who is the probate judge ?

. l.x(rer. A. R. Davis.

Question. What is his politics ?

Aiwwtr. Republican, or he was.
&amp;lt;hn xtion. Is the sheriff a democrat ?

J*HVT. Yes, sir.

Question. And they appointed no republican poll-keeper in the county ?

Answer. No, sir.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. How many republican poll-keepers could there be if there were only four
white republicans there ?

Answer. There are several colored republicans in that county.
Question. Do you mean to say that the whites there would not electioneer with the

negroes in that county ?

J//.SMYT. I do not say that.

Question. Do you mean to say that that had no influence with them ?

Answer. No, sir; I do not.

Question. The whites there were mostly the former masters of these negroes, were
they not ?

Answer. Yes, sir; but I mean to say this: that the negroes, if left to their own free

choice, and if they felt that they would be protected in doing what they wish, would,
almost to a man, vote the republican ticket.

Question. That is your opinion ?

Answer. That is my opinion ; yes, sir.

By Mr. POOL :

Question. Are you sure that Judge Davis had anything to do with the appointment
of thi-se poll-keepers ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. He certainly had the right to do so ?

Answer. He did; the law expressly says that two of the board shall be present to
make appoint ments ;

I was not there, and I know lie did appoint them.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. I understand that you are from Massachusetts.
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And your brother, the judge, was from Michigan ?

Answer. He was from Michigan when he went into the Army.
Question. He was originally from Massachusetts ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. How did you happen to go to Alabama in 1869 ? Did your brother write to
you to go ?

Aimwer. Yes, sir.

Question. And that he would give you an office ? ,

Anxwer. No, sir.

&quot;&amp;gt;ii. Are you sure that was not in the letter?
4MM0r. Yes, sir; I am sure. I went there with the expectation of going upon a

plantation.
QiHxtion. But you got the office shortly after you got there ?
J//.s//vr. Y,. s , sir. I was appointed by the State superintendent as county superin-tendent &amp;lt;t education for Greene County before I was appointed clerk.
Qn,*lmn. Your brother lived in another county ?
An*ir&amp;lt;i: Yes, sir.

nni. And within four or five mouths after you went there, while you were hold-
in- another office by appointment, your brother appointed you clerk of the court?
4MW0r. ^ M, sir ; after 1 was there live months.
Omttion, Did that give satisfaction to tho people of the county?
Antwer. It gave satisfaction to the bar.
QiH*ti(,n. You have said that you believe no person could safely testify as a wit-

this riot case; you instance that as a particular case; that was a pretty strong
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case
;
I understand you to mean in the county of Greene that no man knowing fully

the circumstances connected with the riot could go there and safely testify against
these parties. Would it make any difference whether he testified in the county or in

Mobile, if, after he testified, he went back to that county ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Then, in your opinion, no witness could testify injthe case with safety if his

testimony would tend to convict the party ?

Answer. I say so.

Question. Judging from the facts which you have detailed here of your personal
knowledge of that riot, would you not, in one way or another, be a very thorough
witness ?

Answer. I would.

Question. You were summoned as a witness at Mobile, but did not testify there ?

Answer. I testified before the grand jury.

Question. The people of Greene County knew that you were summoned there ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. In fact, you knew more about that case than Mr. Cockrell himself even?
Ansiper. Very likely.

Question. How many witnesses were summoned from Greene County to go to Mobile?
Answer. Major Hays, Mr. Cockrell, his sou, and myself; four of us.

By Mr. POOL :

Question. Have you been threatened because of being a witness there ?

Answer. Not directly since then. As I said to you Saturday, a man threatened me
in my dffiee, and said that he would be damned if I should ever be permitted to testify
before the grand jury. I will say this, and if Mr. Cockrell ever appears ho will tell you
the same. To show the feeling in this case, I will say that one of the parties in going
with him to Mobile they knew I had gone from Greene County and probably would
not return there

;
but my brother still holds his court there one of the men, a leading

member of the bar, said that if I testified against these parties, nry brother would not
be permitted even to hold court in Greene County.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. Ho told you so ?

Answer. No. sir; he told Mr. Cockrell so.

Question. Who was he ?

Ansiver. A son of Chancellor Clark.

By Mr. POOL :

Question, Having testified, would you nowT
feel safe in Greene County ?

Answer. I would not. And allow me to say still further in regard to Mr. Hays ;
from

his account to me, I think he feels that he is not safe in testifying, and he has been
informed as much

;
that if lie went there and testified, not only would his property bo

destroyed, but he would be killed.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. I believe he testified here himself that he felt very safe at present.
Answer. He has not been before the court to testify.

Question. Do you pretend to say that is the reason why Mr. Hays does not go and
testify f

Answer. I do
; yes, sir.

Question. He alleged here himself that he had a very different reason for not going.
You assert he had that reason and not another reason.

Ansiver. I do not know what reason he gave here. I know that Major Hays told me
that he was not only told, but written to, that in case he did go there and testify, it

would jeopardize his family and himself.

By Mr. POOL:

Question. You mean to express it as your opinion that that, at least, is one of his
reasons?

Answer. Yes, sir.

By Mr. BLAIR :

^
Question. As you observe, we are taking testimony now in regard to this Eutaw riot.

You have been asked your opinion about a great many things. Now, is it not your
opinion that this committee could go to Eutaw aud ascertain the exact facts of the
case much better than we can do sitting here?

Answer. No, sir; not better the exact facts. You might obtain a knowledge of the
different pos^ions which they occupied, and all that, much better than I have explained
it to you.
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Qni!ion. Arc there not other people there besides yourself who are able to throw

hJ upon tliis matter .

J//M/T/-. Yes. sir: perhaps so.

o,u ^iiun. Would we not be likely, by going there, to get hold of all the men who saw
this riot in all of its diU ci-enl aspects!

AH*H\T. You might possibly gel them; I do not say that you could not; I do not

know.
Question. We certainly could get them there as well as here ?

Auwr. Yes. sir.

Eton. And probably better, because we could reach more witnesses?

Perhaps. As I understood your question, it was whether I did not believe

that you could get at the exact facts better on the ground than here. I answered that

I did IK. i think \ on could any better. But yet I did not mean to have you understand
that I did not think it would be a good idea for you to do so, or that you would not

get at any f;:&amp;lt;-t&amp;gt; by going there.

By .Mr. VAX TRUMP:

Qnt*ti:i. You mean that if we would stay here long enough, and go to the expense
oi summoning all the witnesses that know anything about it, we might possibly do as
well here as there; that is what you mean, is it?

Answer. Yes, sir.

By Mr. POOL :

Question. Who recommended you as clerk of the circuit court ?

Answer. The republicans of Greene County.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. How many were there then ?

Answer. 1 mean the white republicans.
Question. I supposed you mean the white republicans ;

I asked you how many there
were?

AiiNwei . I might say that more than the republicans of Greene County recommended
me. Judge Miller formerly lived there, but then lived in Mobile; and the solicitor,
Mr. Boycl; Judge Davis, Squire Cockrell. I think Major Hays was not there at the
time.

r.y Mr. POOL:

Question. Any members of the bar?
Answer. Squire Cockrell was a member of the bar.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. How many white members of the bar? I say &quot;white,&quot; because there may
be some negroes. How many white members of the bar, besides Mr. Cockrell, arc there
in Greene County?

Anxirer. I think there are twelve. Several have come in recently. I do not know &quot;

that there are any colored members of the bar.

By Mr. POOL :

Question. Was any other person pressing an application for the office?
Answer. No. sir; not at that time.

Question. No colored man ?

Ansicei . No, sir.

By Mr. STEVENSON :

Question. You have spoken of a gentleman by the name of Jolly. Is there more than
one person of that name there ?

Answer. Not in the town of Eutaw, I think. He is a member of the bar; Mr. J. J
Jolly.

Question. Is he a prominent democrat ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Quexfin,,. Mad he been addressing the democratic meeting on the day of the riot ?
A*9Wer. Yes. sir.

Qni:t;,,n. You spoke of a deputy sheriff who was in your room, and who said that
there would be a row, or something to that effect. Is he a democrat ?
Mtwer. Yes, sir.

Question. Was ho a special deputy, assigned for that day !
.h/Mr, r. No, air ;

he was deputy sheriff of the county and also marshal of the town.
//. \ &amp;gt;id yon sec him do anything to stop the riot ?

AIISU; r. ( &amp;gt;ue p.-jxui by the name of Perkins was talking rather loudly, and he went
To him and told him he must be quiet.

- At what time was that ?
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Answer. During the first part of the speaking.
Question. Did you know of any of the persons whom the sheriff had. sworn in as spe

cial deputies ?

Answer, I did not see any acting in the capacity of deputies. I do not know that I

ever heard that he swore any in.

Question. Can you tell me why the colored people of that county, being largely in the

majority I understand that there are seven or eight hundred white voters there, and
over two thousand colored voters why did they not retaliate?

Ansicer. At that time ?

Question. Yes
;
and generally, when imposed upon ?

Answer. They were told to come there without their arms
;
and as far as I have been

concerned, and I think that is generally the case there, the republicans have counseled

peace and submission, and have guarded against anything like retaliation or disturb
ance on the part of the freedmen.

Question. How with the republican leaders generally ;
have they advised submission

to these outiages ?

Answer. They have
;
and let me here remark one thing. Boyd was killed on Thurs

day night |
on Saturday the negroes came into town by hundreds, with their guns on

their shoulders, exasperated and ready for retaliation at any cost. They came to my
office, and asked me about it. I said to them,

u no
;

that I would go as far as any man
to punish the assassins of Boyd, and that I would go as far as any man to punish them
if they touched a torch or fired a pistol. The remark of one old man to me was,
&quot;Captain, I tell you these people have never surrendered yet; and the only way to

stop this is to burn them out.&quot; And he wanted to go and burn the hotel right there
in daylight on that Saturday. 1 told him that it would not do: that they must not do
it ;

and I got them to go home, and they went off without making any disturbance.
That was right when the people there feared that they were somewhat in danger from
insurrection or rebellion. At night, when I went home and went past the post office,
I took out an anonymous letter, that I must leave within a certain time. On the fol

lowing Monday I showed this letter to some of the members of the bar, and they called

a meeting in my office of the members of the bar in Eutaw, and assured me that this

letter, whoever it might be written by it was signed,
&quot; K. K. 1C. was written by

some man who wanted my office, and took that way to try and frighten me. They as
sured me at that time that they liked me as an officer, had no fault to find with me. and
that they hoped that I would still use my influence to keep things quiet. I told them
plainly that I would do so

;
that I was in favor of law and order. 1 had petitioned to

the governor for troops, and they knew it
;
that was one reason why the members of

the bar came to me. They wanted to get me to go to Montgomery and have that
order countermanded, or to sjgn a petition not to have them sent. I told them I would
not do it

;
but that whenever they would call a meeting irrespective of party, and

pass resolutions denouncing all such things, and stating that there was no need of

having troops, then I would do so
;
but until they did that, I thought it was better for

the safety of the colored men and of the whites to have troops there.

Question. Did they ever hold such a meeting?
Answer. No, sir.

Question. It was generally known among the democrats that you had advised peace!
Ansicer. Yes, sir.

Question. And had done, all you could to prevent retaliation ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir.

Question. Do you not believe that if the colored people in a county like that, where
they are so largely in the majority, would stand squarely up and light for their rights,
they would be let alone and left in peace f

Ansicer. It would take some time.

Question. Do vou not think you have taken the wrong course down there in submit-

ting?
Ansicer. I think now, the thing has gone so far that they could not do it

;
that it

would be annihilation to the negroes if they should undertake such a thing.
Question. Why ? They nre in the majority.
Answer. They are in the majority in certain counties.

Question. What would happen ?

Answer. They would, if necessary, send in five thousand men there from other regions.
That thing was tried last summer down there, where they attacked a negro, and the

negroes defended themselves and killed a white man. They went from Eutaw down
there, and hunted them out.

Question. What was the effect ?

Answer. They killed a couple of negroes and disbanded
; they called troops there

immediately to keep quiet.
Question. Do you know whether that is the view taken by the leaders among the

negroes, the .preachers, who are generally leaders, are they not ?

Answer. Yes, sir; generally a sort of leaders.
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. Do they counsel resistance, or peace and submission, so far as you know?
. L know that, at (lie time I speak of, the leading colored men in the county

urged retaliation.

QMtto&amp;gt;r.
At liiat particular time .

.Inxn-ir. Yes. sir; lnt since that time, while they dared not retaliate, in many instances

they say, &quot;Wliil-- ihe ( Jnvernment, either State or national, does not protect us, we must
protect ourselves in the way of voting.&quot;

Quotum. That is, protect themselves in the right to vote?
.1 *!&amp;lt;( r. Yes, sir.

Question. What I want to get at is, what is the tone and general course of the leaders

among the colored men as regards advising retaliation or not?
.Inxii- -r. That was the only time I can speak of in my own county, when there was

any open disposition expressed for retaliation.

Quettio*, YVhut has heen the general advice of their leaders?
.Inwcr. It has been to keep peace ;

and it has not only been the advice of their leaders,
but it has been handed down to them by the republican leaders white men.

fjination. Suppose collisions were to occur, who would have the advantage so far as
arms are concerned the colored men or the white men?

. In that county of Greene?
Yes, sir.

-cr. 1 do not think the colored men have a great many arms.
Question. What kind have they, if any?
Answer. IVi haps some single-barreled guns; a few double-barreled shot-guns ;

some
of them may have some pistols.

Question. How are the whites armed usually?
Answer. To the teeth with pistols and double-barreled shot-guns.
(JtH stion. Revolvers ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. How do they wear their revolvers?
Answer. If it is a large pistol, you most always see them with a belt buckled around

them.

By Mr. POOL :

Do they carry them outside?
Answer. Under their coats.

I .y Mr. STMVEXSOX:
. lias there been any special influx of arms since you have been there?

. Not that I have noticed.
Are the white men generally armed, more or less?

. Yes, sir
; hardly a countryman comes into town but has his pistol buckled

around him.

Question. Does he usually go into town that way, or only on court-days?J/wrr. lie usually goes in in that way.

T.y Mr. POOL:

Question. Comes in exhibiting his pistol ?

Jwxi/vr. He has it buckled around him.
Qwxtion. So that it can be seen?
Anwtr. You cannot see the pistol ; you can see the belt

;
I know the decision of the ,

judges is that the iact of showing the belt does not shelter from the law against ^concealed weapons; the pistol is not seen under the coat.

By Mr. STEVENSON :

Quention. The judges hold that to be still a concealed weapon ?

dumper. Yes, sir.

Question You generally infer, when you see the belt, that there is a pistol?

Sbowillg thc bclt was a sufficient notice, and the

An*wrr. Y^. MV.

H 11 n \v vArT?ia WASHINGTON, D. C., June 6, 1871.U &amp;lt;n. I,. Y\ . HOKKI8 sworn and examined.

By the CIIAIK.MAX:

tion. In what
j.ari

of the State of Alabama do you reside?
C (&amp;gt; &quot; Countv fo rteeii miles from Montgomery, the capital of the
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Question. How long have you lived there?
Anmver. I have lived in Elmore County since August, 1865

;
I have lived &amp;lt;c the State

of Alabama since June, 1865.

Question. Have you been a member of Congress from that district ?

Answer. I was a member of the Fortieth Congress from the third congressional district

of Alabama, the district in which I now reside.

Question. Have you traveled much over the district ?

Answer. I have canvassed every one of the ten counties in it.

Question. What are the names of the ten counties in your district-?

Answer. Elmore, Coosa, Talladega, Clay, Tallapoosa, Chambeis, Lee, Russell, Kan
dolph, and Macon.

Question. What opportunities have you had of observing the state of affairs in that
district within the last two or three years ? Give us as briefly as you can the facts
that have come under your observation.

Answer, i visited several of the counties in that district prior to the opening of the

campaign in August, 1870, and after the nomination of the republican state ticket I

canvassed all the counties in the district. I was myself nominated for Congress in
that district. I visited Macon, Talladega, and Lee Counties certainly not long before
the nominations were made, addressing the republicans of two of those counties, Talla

dega and Macon. After the nominations in August, I spoke quite extensively through
the district, some five or six times in several counties, and I think not less than twice
in any one county. I thus had a very good opportunity of ascertaining the feelings
and wishes of the republicans, and to some extent the feelings of the democrats toward
the republicans, in regard to the issues involved in the campaign.

Question. So far as your observation enables you to speak, to what extent can per
sons express their political opinions in that district without molestation

;
and if they

are molested, how are they disturbed ?

Answer. I addressed gatherings of the people in most of the counties in the district

without much interruption. \Ve found it difficult to get notices of our meetings through
out the district. Fosters advertising republican speakers were sent extensively through
the district, but in my canvass of several hundred miles I do not think I saw six re

publican posters, while posters announcing democratic meetings were to bo seen at

every cross-road, and on almost every grocery everywhere through the district, posters
put up several weeks before the meetings. Our posters were torn down and destroyed,
or so mutilated that it was very difficult to make known to the people the fact that a

republican meeting was to bo held in any particular locality. In many instances we,

had to send men through the various precincts colored men to inform the colored

people that meetings were to be held. In several counties of that district, but
for the presence of those authorized to keep the peace, as lor instance the sheriff and
his deputies, at some of those meetings I would not have been allowed to speak; I

could not have spokeYi because of the interruptions and the purpose of persons, as I

know, who came there to break up our meetings. At Salem, in Lee County, wlie.ro L

spoke two or three weeks before the election in November, 1 was told by the colored

people assembled there that I had better not speak there, that white men contemplated
violence in case I should do so; or, to use their own language, perhaps, there would bo
a row. I replied that I went there for the purpose of speaking and did not propose to

be prevented by any threats of that kind. I did speak; but I was interrupted fre

quently during my short speech. There were exhibitions of violence
;
men would

come on the. platform with their hands on their revolvers, evidently with the purpo.se
of getting up a ditiiculty, involving me in some dithculty, for the purpose of breaking
up the meeting. Several white men were sitting just before me exhibiting their revQl-
vers. And I was followed after the meeting for some time by one or more white men,
who evidently meant to get me into a difficulty with them. They followed me to the,

cars, for I took the cars on the arrival of the train from Columbus to Opelika. As I

entered the cars several of these men drew their revolvers. I immediately took my
seat among the passengers who had come on from Columbus, and they could not iiro

upon me without endangering the lives of the other passengers. I suppose that for
that reason they failed to discharge their revolvers at all. I had spoken in a very
conciliatory manner

;
I had said nothing offensive to democrats or to the democratic

party. I .gave, as well as I could, an exposition of the republican theory, and was not
aware that I gave the slightest occasion for offense. The white men there who were
republicans were afraid to identify themselves at all with the party there, or to give
me even a friendly ieocption. 1 have that from their own lips. One man. Avho is a

postmaster, told me that he was tolerated there only because he was an old resident
and kept quiet &quot;minded hi* own business,

7 to use his own language and wa:s a good
postmaster; that he did not dare to uttec his political sentiments; and that it would
not be safe for him to do so.

Question. In what county was that ?

Answer. In Leo county, at Salem. I spoke during the canvass at Tuskegee, in Macon
County, with Judge Rice, formerly chief justice of the State, an old resident of the

o
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State ami a nat ive of the South. I spoke at that time without interruption ;
but Judge

Rice was interrupted throughout the first part of his speech, till he paused and re-

ny - .

, which is already taken, in the contest that I have made with my competitor.

\ft.-r the adjournment 01 tin- meeting I was very grossly insulted by men who I have

no doubt intended t&amp;lt;&amp;gt; draw me into ft difficulty, with the purpose of inflicting violence

upon me. They were there, as they said, to keep the peace. I went down from the

platform, having spoken a few words, just before the adjournment of the meeting,
after .Indue Ricehad left town. They made their nominations forthe county ticket, and

I congratulated t hem on the harmony with which they had concluded the proceeding?

crats were anxious to dcvide the republican party at the time of the election, and I

urged the republicans hero not to let them do it. I made 110 allusion to your presence.
and I .shall not take it back.&quot; On my resolutely contradicting what they said, they
tinally withdrew

;
I gave them no occasion for that demonstration at all. It was seen

and known
l&amp;gt;y

colored men and the white republicans present that they evidently
wanted a difficulty, that they had been anxious for it all day. But by great caution, by
remarks, both on my part and on the part of Judge Rice, to which they could not take

exception, we avoided it. That night a religions meeting was held at the Colored
Methodist Church, on one side of the town a business meeting which was held quite
late. I was sleeping not far from the court-house

;
I heard a large number of men gal

lop by, and in a little while a large number of shots were heard to be fired
;
I did not

hear them, for I had fallen asleep ;
but the gentleman with Whom I was stopping came

to me and asked if I had heard the pistol-shots; I said I had not; he sajd, &quot;I heard

thirty or forty of them in the direction of the Zion Church. &quot; In the morning I learned
that the church had been fired into, one of the officers of the church killed, and an
other mortally wounded, so that he died a day or two after. It was thought that they
supposed a political meeting was being held in the church. No political meeting had
been held in that county between June and August, for the reason that some promi
nent republicans had been shot in June for holding a meeting in that same place :

they lad not dared to have a night meeting during the summer. When the county
mcet;.ig was held for the purpose of selecting delegates to the congressional and State
conventions, it was held at a placeonesido of the county, from the fact that the repub
licans did not dare to hold a meeting at the court-house. At this time the repub
licun party was making an effort to reorganize, and a meeting was held at Tuskegee,
when Judge Rice and myself spoke. It is thought they supposed a political meeting
was held in that church on that night, and the inference is that these men went there
to attack it and break it up. The church was fired into by white men, because they
were seen, as I have shown in the testimony taken in my contest. Judge Rice spoke

&quot;

after that at. Opelika, where he was so much interrupted by white men that he could
make no connected speech; I heard him make that statement under- oath, that he
was so interrupted that ho could not speak there. I spoke at Socapatoy, in Coosa
County, which is reputed to be a very rough place. AVheii Judge Helliu spoke there,
th&quot; year before, in August, 1869, he was drawn into a difficulty, and a republican was
killed, cut to pieces by white men, in a.difficulty brought about by white men, who were
the:ctorthe purpose of bringing on a difficulty. When I spoke there last year, the sheriff &amp;lt;

of the county was present with one of his deputies. There was quite a large number of
im-.i. fifteen or t went y, from the adjoining county of Tallapoosa, from Youngsville, who
told the sheriffthey were there for the purpose of preventing me from speaking; in the
conr-e of the meeting they desired him to leave the ground, so that they might break
up the meeting, and do violence to my person ;

that the sheriff has stated under oath.
But be maintained order, although I was frequently interrupted while speaking, as I %.

think other speakers were. There were two others who spoke, one colored man and 1*

our white man. I was frequently interrupted during the meeting; but on account of
,

the prrnrner ,,f the sheritf no disturbance took place. He stated that he was there to
kt (T tlir

1&quot;

&quot; ;1II(l he should do so at all ha/ards. I do not think I was interrupted
anywhere ebe throughout the district; I do not now recollect to have been. Geiier-
aih democrats were present at most of the meetings, and gave respectful attention.

QttMfiOft, Did these
interruptions consist of threats of personal violence, or were

they simply the ordinary hoot ings of impolite people?
MT. They were not threats, as a general thing. They were contradictions, such

:IN
-

*..u lie. &quot;Yon don t tell the truth!&quot; &quot;That is a damned lie !&quot; and all that sort
J.nt these men. in some cases, had their fire arms about them, and their

demonstrations were such as to show, I think, that they were ready for trouble, if 1
could be drawn into it.

*
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Question. What knowledge have you of injuries inflicted in the night in your district

by armed persons in disguise?
Answer. I know in regard to them only by general report, and by the testimony I

nave taken in my contest
;
I examined a large number of witnesses.

Question. You say you have taken testimony upon the subject ?

Answer. I have in nearly all the counties of the district, and have examined a large
number of witnesses.

Question. Without going into a detailed statement of the different cases in which
such injuries have been inflicted, can you state what number have been testified to as

having occurred in ynir district 1

Answer. In MacJn &amp;lt;Jounty two men were shot, as I have already said; in the same

county, in June, a man and his wife were shot as they were retiring at night a colored

man, and the leader of the republican party in that county, it being a heavy colored

county. He was a member of the legislature, and the president of the republican club
ust organized.

By Mr. VAX TRUMP :

Question. Club or league ?

Answer. Club; I do not know that there are any Loyal Leagues in the Sta.te at the

present time. It was a club to which both white and colored men belonged. In Chambers
County, just before the election, there was a brutal murder of an aged colored minis

ter, who had as good a reputation as any man in the county, and was respected by all

Who knew him. He was murdered in the night by disguised men. I think another
colored man was murdered in another part of the county ;

I think that appears in the,

testimony I have taken, but I will not be positive about that. In Tallapoosa County
there were a great many whippings, and one mail was shot and another was killed just
before the election, or just after I am not positive as to the exact time. But about
the time of the election there was a brutal murder of a young colored man in one of

the precincts of that county. There is a Ku-Klux organization on the line of Talla

poosa and Coosa Counties; and the Ku-Klux were riding through different precincts
in those two counties before the election, making threats that H thP colored men voted
the republican ticket they should be punished or driven out of the county, and refused

employment; and immediately after the election quite a number of colored men were

whipped by persons in disguise, because they voted the republican ticket, and were
run out of the county, and are now living in Montgomery and Elmore Counties. There
is a complete reign of terror in Tallapoosa County, so that in most of the precincts in

that county not a republican, white or black, voted. In the western part of the

county, where this organization exists, there was a reign of terror prior and subsequent
to the election. The condition of the colored men in that county now is really

deplorable, by reason of their fears, their feeling of insecurity, their \vant of protec
tion, and their constant liability to outrage at the hands of this organization. I will

state that I examined outside of the district, in the city of Montgomery, some sixteen

witnesses, many of whom had been run away from the district, and who did not dare
to testify in the counties from which they had been driven. Four of the most promi
nent white republicans of Chambers County were driven away immediately after the

election; two clergymen, one revenue assessor, who I understand will be before you,
and one deputy revenue collector, who now lives in Opelika, Lee County. The
Ku-Klux came upon the collector, and ho came very near losing his life; it was by a
mere accident that he did not. He happened to be a few rods away from his house
when they came, and in that way escaped. One of the clergymen was a school

teacher, and they both left immediately after and went to Florida. Several colored
men were run off from that county, and testified in another county, ami have not
dared to go back there since the election. From the county of Macon nearly all the

prominent republicans, both white and black, have been driven away.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. By what means ?

Answer.- By threats. A leader of the party was shot in June, as I have already said.

The republican party was really broken up before the election, and it was with great
difficulty that it could be reorganized. All the prominent republican men in that

county were driven away by threats and by violence, and those who remain have been

thoroughly silenced. They would not dare to-day to go on the streets in Tuskegce
and proclaim their sentiments; they could not be induced to do so : and they could
not be induced to testify to what they knew before the officer who took the testimony
in my case. I knew they were intimidated

;
various witnesses admitted that they

were. Democrats were heard to say that when certain men in that county could
oe disposed of they could control the negroes.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. What 1 democrats?
Ansicer. I cannot give their names.
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By the CHAIRMAN :

. Do you know their names?
I do not

By Mr. BLAI*:

How do you know they said so?

1 have heard responsible men say that they heard them say so.

I .y Mr. VAN TKIMI&amp;gt;:

Question. Who did you hear say so?
.

JiMiMr One was Colonel G. A. Harmount, of the legislature ;
I do not think of anj

other now. He said he heard some Tuskegee men say that when William Dougherty
ui.l William Alley WTO disposed of they could control the negroes; and that they

added, &quot;They must be driven away/
7 or &quot;

They must be driven off;&quot; something like

that.

Question. Were those men natives there I

A 11 Hirer. I cannot say.

Question. Do you know where they came from originally ;
or were they natives of

Alabama ?

Answer. I do not know.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Have you stated all the cases of whippings and other injuries that came to

your knowledge through the testimony you have taken ?

Answer. I do not recollect how many there were. I know that they occurred, in

Tallapoosa, in Coosa, and in Macon
;
and there have been some in some of the other

counties since then
;
some in my own county of Elmore.

Question. Taking the district through, can there be in that district a free and volun

tary expression of political opinion without encountering danger to life or person ?

Answer. I think there would be danger at the present time.

(jiifxtiitn. I lave tlfere been any prosecutions there against any persons for the offenses

of which you have spoken ?

.Ittxim: There have been in Talladega County, I think; I have not spoken of the

outrages eommitted there. There were some outrages committed there, and I was
informed by .Judge Pelhani and some others that some prosecutions were had there at

the. last term of the court; but no convictions.

Question. There was a trial there?
JJ/.SMV/-. There was a trial, but the jury acquitted in every case. There is a Ku-Klux

organization on the line of Talladega and Calhouu Counties, and I believe there were
.sonic outrages committed there.

Question. Have you any means of knowing the extent of that organization in that

part of Alabama .

Answer. 1 have not, further than what appears in the testimony I have taken. There-
is an organization in Macoii, in Coosa, in Tallapoosa, and on the line of Talladega and^
Calhouu Counties. There is also an organization in Chambers County, because there*
was a murder commit led there by disguised men; I do not know how extensive the

organization is in that county. I know this old colored man, named Trammel, was
killed by some eight or ten disguised men, showing that an organization exists in that

county. I do not know that the organization has existed in Russell County, but there

.Lreat reign of terror in that county among the colored men, and the only promi
nent while republican in that county has been driven away since the election. From*
-cine tour 01- live rouuties in the district prominent republicans have been run off since*,
the, election.

(^iiexi ton. Is there any obstacle to holding democratic meetings there, and the expres
sion of political sentiments by members of that party?

Anxi&quot;&amp;lt;r. I never knew a democratic meeting to be interrupted in any way ;
I never

heard of such an instance in all the State of Alabama
; by republicans, I mean.

Question. Can other than political questions be freely and publicly discussed through-^,
out the State without danger . &amp;gt;.

.liixirn-. There is no doubt that religious questions, and all others outside of politics,
can be discussed. I have never heard of any difficulty.

&amp;lt;l/i&amp;lt;xti&amp;lt;&amp;gt;.
1 lave you had occasion to hear any excuse or justification offered for these

Whippings, Vc.? If so, what excuses have been given?
.liixin-r. Where the facts are known, the general excuse given is that the parties

upon whom (he violence 1ms been committed are disreputable persons ; perhaps they
are northern men, who, it i.s said, have used incendiary language to the negroes; have
excited the colored people against the white people; or they may be native republi
cans who have dour tin; same thing; or they may be disreputable persons.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP:

Question. Who are the persons who make these excuses?
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Answer. If you will read the democratic papers of the State you will find in them a

full answer to that question. The democratic papers and the democrats of the South
make those excuses

;
in many cases they palliate and excuse the outrages, and say they

are justifiable. After I had spoken in Lee County, although it has never been charged
that I used incendiary language in any case in the three or four campaigns I have been

engaged in, the Opelika paper justified the treatment I received at Selina; and the

Montgomery Mail, a prominent democratic paper, quoted approvingly the article from
the Opelika paper.

Question. 1 do not understand you to say there was any violence there. I was asking
you who made excuses for killing men. You say you went to Alabama in 1865 ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. From where did you go ?

Answer. I went from this city, in the service of the Army. Maine is my native
State.

Question. To what part of Alabama did you go ?

Answer. I went first to Mobile, and then to Montgomery.
Question. You were a member of the Fortieth Congress from Alabama ?

Answer. I was.

Question. When were you elected?
AtiNu-cr. I was elected when the constitution was voted on, after the term of the

Fortieth Congress had commenced.
Question. You served for only a portion of the term ?

Answer. Yes,&amp;lt;sir.

Question. You have stated here that there were disturbances at political meetings in

your district. Was that a new thing in your experience ?

Answer. It was entirely new to me.

Question. Have you ever been in Ohio or any other of the Western States ?

Answer. I have never been there during a political campaign. I never knew such

tilings in Maine
; republicans and democrats are tolerated there.

Question. In what business did you engage when you first settled in Alabama ?

Answer. I purchased a large plantation, which I now own, and have worked since
that time. 1 will add that when I first went 1 here I had no purpose to take any part-
in politics. I advocated the ratification of the fourteenth amendment, under which
the State at that time would have fallen under the control of the old reyime. I advo
cated it in the interest of peace, and not because it was all I wanted.

Question. Yon thought that was the best way to restore peace f

Answer. At that time I thought it was the best way.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. You are now contesting a seat in the House of Representatives of the Forty-
second Congress f

Answer. I am.

Question. Against whom ?

Answer. Mr. Hamlley is the sitting member, who is returned as having been elected

by some 3,100 majority. I have no doubt that in a fair election there the republicans
would have from 1,500 to 2,000 majority in that district. There were several precincts
where not a single republican vote was thrown, yet the colored vote there is equal to
the white vote, and almost all republican, while there are many white republicans
there.

Question. Were there not large numbers of colored men who came over from Georgia
and voted the republican ticket in Lee County ?

Answer. I think not.

Question. In several of the counties?
Answer. I think not.

Question. Is there not evidence to that effect in this contest?
Answer. No evidence from reliable men at all. I know what the evidence is, and I

know the men who gave it.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. Is there such testimony ?

Answer. I admit there is such testimony ;
men have stated that a certain number of

colored men came over and voted; but we have shown that that is not so, that there
is not a shadow of truth in it. Republicans are not in the habit of voting in that
way ;

we do not act on that principle.
Question. You speak of your district, of course

; yon have not heard of the border
raids in Ohio ?

Ansiver. I have not been in Ohio much during elections.

Question. You think the republicans are perfect ?

Answer.
&quot;No,

sir
;

I think a great many are not.
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WASHINGTON, D. C., June 8, 1871.

C. S. CHERRY sworn and examined.

. .- CH \IKMAN:

(fret
. Have you lived in Alabama recently; and if so, in what part of the

&quot;

Answt r. I lived in Chanihers County, Alabama, up to the 12th or 13th day of Novem-

Qni-xtioH. How long had you lived there before that ?

. f //.- r. I lived there all my life.

ftm. Ar- you a native of Alabama?
Answer. Xo, sir; I am a native of South Carolina, but my father moved to Alabama

in 1 -: .&amp;gt;. when I \vas a small boy, Miree or four years old.

ilm-xiiiH). What caused you to leave the State of Alabama?
Answer. I left there three or four days after the election, for the reason that I waf

satisfied, if the democrats had carried the State, that if I attempted to live there, 1

would not live three days longer.
&amp;lt;)ni-*rinn. What led you to that conclusion?
Answer. It would, perhaps, be a long story.

Question. Give us the facts as they occurred, whatever they are.

Answer. I knew that if the democrats had carried the State and that congressional

district, no republican who had taken an active part there for several years past, par
ticularly a white republican, could live in the immediate neighborhood in which
I live.

Question. What facts came to your knowledge, or within your observation, that justi
fied you in forming that conclusion?

Answer. I would have formed that conclusion anyhow ;
but I received intimation?

through a relative of mine, who is a democrat there, and a man of some prominence
perhaps the second day after the election the election, I believe, was on Tuesday, and
this was on Thursday evening, I think that if the figures bore out the opinion they
then hud, that the democrats had carried the State, it would not be safe for me to be

seen in town another day. That was in the town of West Point, right thereon the line

between Georgia and Alabama. My office was in a little town called Blufftown, ad

joining the town of West Point, and the State line is between the two.

Question. Had there been, in that neighborhood in Alabama, any acts of violence
toward republicans ?

. I iixin r. Not in that immediate neighborhood for some months. Some ten miles above
there a colored man had been killed, a preacher, and a man somewhat prominent in

the county as a republican. He had been killed some ten or twelve days before.

(Jui-Ntion. Were any threats made against you, or any attempts made against you,
justifying you, in the belief you have expressed, and in leaving there for that reason i

Answer. There was no attempt made upon my life just at that time. But we num
bered about three white republicans, though our beat was largely republican.

. Your beat?
4nswer. Yes, sir; our precinct. It was known to the republicans, and democrats ae

*

well, that what few white republicans were about there would be in danger of their
lives.

Question. What produced that impression upon your mind ? Did anybody say so tc

you ?

.liixwcr. I received intimations from a friend, who is a relative of mine by marriage/
and a democrat. He came out to my house, I think on Thursday evening, about,
sunset.

lim-il ioii. Was that the only intimation you had?
Answer. No, sir; several colored men told me that if the democrats had carried the

State I could not live there three days. They were prominent colored men, who I
knew were well posted, and had heard things I could not hear.

(Jut-Htion. Had you taken any part in the canvass?
Answer. Yes, sir; an active part.
Question, In what way?

*

Answer. i;\- doing all I could for the ticket.

Question. Jn traveling through that part of the State, were you molested in any

Answer. N&amp;lt;, sir; I did not make any speeches ;
I went with our candidates through

the county. I was assistant assessor of internal revenue, and had been for some
yean.

&amp;lt;jin-*i
um. Had any threats i,,.,.n made to you personally, while vou were traveling in

I do nut remember, there were so many threats thrown out; I do not remem
ber whether any were thrown to me personally or not. I think I have had it said to
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mo personally that if the democrats should succeed in turning the tide there and

taking the State out of the hands of the republicans, none of us could live there.

Question. Were the reasons you have given, your only reasons for leaving the State,
or did you leave for other reasons ?

Answer. Principally for the reasons I have given you. A little difficulty occurred 011

the evening of the election between myself and a young democrat
;
not a difficulty

exactly ; only a few worlds were said. He was registering, and I was sitting by, and
asked him if he was twenty-one years of age. I knew he was, for I had known him
almost since he was born

;
I said it only as a jest. I saw that he took exception to it,

and shortly after I called him outside and told him that I intended it only as a joke,
and thought I had known him long enough to joke him a little

; but, as he did not
seem to like it, I was sorry I had done it. lie said the thing had got too serious for

joking that it had got past where it would bear any jokes. He seemed not to like it,

yet he said,
&quot; Never mind, just let it drop ; say nothing more about it.&quot; He was one

of a large family of brothers. There were some seven or eight of them, some three or

four of whom were younger than he, who put out some threats which, from the char
acter of the men, I knew they would execute. I called one of them one side on the

day after the election, and told him of the circumstance of the day before, and said to

him that I was never more surprised at anything than that his brother should have
taken exception to my remark

;
that I meant nothing by it but a joke, and had apolo

gized for it. I saw that he was not satisfied and was determined to have a difficulty .

I knew that if any difficulty started, in the state of public sentiment there, it would
most probably end in my being killed.

Question. Was it the personal difficulty between you and that young man, or the ap
prehension growing out of the existing state of public sentiment there, that led you to

leave ?

Answer. It was mostly on account of my apprehension from the existing state of pub
lic sentiment.

Question. What was that existing state of public sentiment to which you refer?

Answer. I do not know exactly what answer your question would require.

Question. Was it safe on either side for men to utter their political sentiments there?
Ansiccr. It was perfectly safe so far as the democrats were concerned for them to ut

ter their political sentiments, and they did it very openly and publicly ;
but it was not

safe for republic-ins to do so.

Question. Upon what facts do you base that statement?

Answer., I have seen so many of them grossly insulted just for simply saying they
were republicans, or something to that eftoct. If they had retorted in the same man
ner they would have got into serious difficulty. I have seen that so often, for so many
years, that I know it. There were very few men, even of those white men who some
times voted the republican ticket, who dared to come out openly and declare them
selves republicans.

Question. Had there been, in the county in which you lived, any whippings or

sopurgings by men in disguise?
Answer. No, sir

;
I do not think there had been for some months previous to the elec

tion. The murder of this old colored man, some eleven or twelve miles above where I

lived, I think was the only assassination for some months previous to the election.

Question. Was that done by disguised men ?

Answer. No, sir
;
as least so said an old white lady, who was teaching school there at

the time, and who made her escape. She said she knew three of them, young men
living in the neighborhood. I think she said there were eight of them in all.

Question. Was there any political reason connected with that assassination ?

Ansiver. The colored man was a man of some prominence as a republican. He was a
man of character, and had been a preacher then? ever since my earliest recollection.

This old white lady was teaching a colored school in the neighborhood and boarding at

this old colored preacher s house
;
that is, she had a room there, and they prepared her

meals and sent them to her room, so I suppose you might say she was boarding there.

She could not go anywhere else to board
;
that is, with any white family in the neigh

borhood, I think she said. The school had been under way about a month, I under

stood, when this crowd went to the house at night and called out this old parson,
Trammell, and killed him. The old lady said she was satisiied they would have killed

her if she had not made her escape as she did, in her night clothes.

Question. Was any other explanation given of that murder?
Answer. None were given to the friends of the party ;

we all knew what it meant.

Question. Wore any of that party arrested or tried ?

Ansioer, I think none were arrested. A coroner s jury was summoned and held ail

inquest on the body ;
so I heard a man say who acted as the foreman of the coroner s

jury. I think the finding of the jury was, that he came to his death by the hands of

some persons unknown to the jury.
Question. Did you live in the county town ?

Answer. No, sir
;
some eight or ten miles from the county town.
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Question Were :my persons arrested for that offense, do you know ?

Answer. I know tin -re were not.

(Jiifxtioti. Have yon stated all that you know concerning the existing state of things
in Hi at portion of Alabama.?

I have answered just such questions as you have asked me.
. Does what you have stated comprise all that you l^now about the existing

Ktate of things there ?

*

Anxiirr. I might remark, in this connection, that after I left there I learned from the

deputy collector, who had an oi iice with me, and had had for four or five years, that a

few day8 after 1 left, a raid came to his office, but he managed to escape. They destroyed
his papers and tried to set lire to the house in which the office was, but some colored
women who were in the back part of the house put out the fire after they left. The
other man who is living there, tin; only other white republican, thought that an attempt
was made to injure him, for they threw a rock through the window of his house in the

day-time, and struck one of his children while, they were sitting at the dinner table;
but if did not hit him. We were the. only white republicans, three of us, in that pre
cinct

;
that is, well-known republicans. There were some other men there who per

haps voted a part of the republican ticket voted for some of the members of the leg-
islal ure

; there were perhaps one or two who did that.

. Have, you been back in Alabama since you left in November last ?

: No. sir, I have not, and I do not expect to go back, if I can help it, until
there is a dilVercnt state of affairs there.

Qucxtiott. You hare no personal knowledge of what has transpired there since you
left, or what is the state of things there now ?

Atmccr. No, sir.

By Mr. VAN THUMP :

o//r.v/wH. Where do you live now ?

Answer. In this city ;
I am a clerk in the Census Bureau.

(
t
hiclni. When did you get your appointment there f

Answer. In the latter part of February,! think it was.

(Question. Did you know, when you came here, that you would get that appointment ?

J;i.snr. I did not.

{mention. What business did you follow in Alabama?
Aiixicer. 1 was a school teacher, and taught school.

Question. The only intimation to you that there was danger in your staying there
was from that relative of yours ?

Jw.sirtr. No, sir
;

I had other intimations.

Question. What other intimations ? .

Answer. I had other intimations from two or three colored men.
Question. I was referring to intimations from white men.
Aiwcer. That was all.

Question. What is his name ?

A twicer. I would rather not give it.

. I would rather you would give it.

. I would rather not give it; he still resides in that neighborhood.
Question. According to your theory there is not much danger to him, is there ? You

say he is a democrat.
Atwwir. Yes, sir. v

(
t
)nc8tion t I want his name.

Amn-t r. I Ie would not like iue to give it, I know. It was told to rno confidential^,
very confidentially.
The CIIAIKMAX. I think the question is a proper one. We want all tho information

that will throw any light on the subject of our investigation.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. What relation is ho to you?
Answer. A great -uncle.

n. How old a man is ho?
Anxwu-. He is some seventy-lbur or seventy-five years of a&amp;lt;*e

(NMrfOM, What is his post-office address?
Antwer. Bloffton.

. In what county is that?
ir. In Chambers County

unction. \ want his name.
Tin- Wn.M.ss. I would like to ask the chairman if the evidence I give, or that wit

nesses are in the habit of giving here, is to be published?
( ii AIKM AN. \\ e do not expect topublish it at once, but the testimony will all be

reported to Congress, and I have no doubt that the testimony of every witness will
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eventually be made public ;
that is our expectation. In the judgment of the chairman.

the question put to you by Mr. Van Trump is a proper one.

The WITNESS. I will answer it if you say I must.

By Mr. VAX TRUMP :

Question. It must be as evident to you as to anybody else that the fact that your great-
Tincle did communicate to you what you say he did, does not reflect upon any individual

person there.

Answer. No, sir ;
but all these things are picked up and read with avidity there.

Question. You have said, in your examination-in-chief, that this relative of yours
came to you and told you that you had better leave, if the democrats had succeeded

there.

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Was that all he said ?

Answer. I do not know that that was all.

Question. Did he say that any particular persons there would injure you?
Answer. I do not remember whether he spoke of particular persons or not.

Question. Do you not know that he did not ?

Answer. I cannot say that I know he did not.

Question. What is your best impression now
;
that he said generally that if the

democrats had carried the State you had better leave ? was not that what you have
stated here, and was not that about all he did say ?

Answer. That is not all that he did say ;
but that is what I stated.

Question. Did he name any persons who would interfere with you?
Answer. I cannot remember, to say positively, whether he did or not call over the

names of particular men. It was pretty well known there, though, who were the men
to do that kind of things when they concluded to do them

;
it was pretty well known

to him and to me both.

Question. The actual persons, you mean ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
the men put forward to do things of that kind

;
those who were

generally charged with it.

Question. Give us the names of some of those gentlemen, or of those men, if you do
not consider them gentlemen.

Answer. They might [pausing.]
Question. They might whatf
Answer. It might not be very proper to give their names, because they did not com

mit the overt act. But I say it was pretty well understood who would be the men to

do that kind of things, if done at all.

Question. Then it was a public thing there, if &quot;pretty well understood;&quot; give us

the names of some who would be likely to do those things.
Answer. I would not like to do it.

Question. You say you do not intend to go back there until things are settled ?

Answer. No, sir
;

I do not.

Question. What danger, then, in giving us their names now ?

Answer. I shall have to go back there some day.
Question. You say you hope to go back there when things are settled

;
what is your

opinion of settled things?
Answer. It might still be attended with some danger to give people s names.

Question. I will not insist upon their names, as you do not make any specific state

ment that they have done anything, but I want the name of the gentleman who told

you that you had better leave there.

Answer. I am very loath, Mr. Chairman, to answer that question, to give his name
;

I am very loath to do it
;
I do not like to do it.

Question. What were your politics before you were appointed assistant assessor in

Alabama ?

Answer. I was a Union man before there was any republican party organized in the
State.

Question. I mean before the organization of the republican party there.

Answer. That is what I mean
;
I was a Union man before the organization of the

republican party.
Question. Was there any party before that time, known as the Union party?
Answer. There was in our county ;

there was no party known by the name of re

publican party until 1867, that I remember.
Question. You say there were only three white republicans in your precinct ?

Ansicer. That was all.

Question. What was the population of the precinct?
Answer. I think the white voting population of the precinct was one hundred and

sixty and odd, and the colored voting population, I think, was some five hundred and
twenty-five.

Question. Who manages the negro vote there ?
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Answer. They have some prominent men among their own number
;
men of some

prominence among themselves who can read and write.

(jut-sHon. And notwithstanding that preponderance of political power on the part of

the ncgn population tin-re, you say you have known of but one negro attacked for

BBVenTyean past in all Hie excitement of all the elections there.

Answt r. 1 did not s ;iy that?
thuxtion. That is what I understood you to say; you gave the instance of the old

nci^ro man who was killed.

J //MH r. } Ie did not live in our precinct.
n. He lived out of your precinct ?

. Yes. sir; some ten or eleven miles off.

n. Have there been any negroes molested in your precinct?
Answer. Yes, sir; there have been a number of molestations there.

(Jiit-xtion. Why did you not give them in the first instance, when the chairman
asked you the question?
Answer. I thought he was asking me about events that occurred just about the time

of the last election
;
not what had occurred during several years past.

Question. I mean the last election and the election before the last.

Answer* I was not asked the question ;
that is the reason I did not allude to them.

The CHAIRMAN. You did not understand my question ;
I asked you what cases of

that kind had taken place before you left there.

The WITNESS. I thought you meant immediately in connection with the last elec

tion.

The CHAIRMAN. In regard to the name which Judge Van Trump has asked you to

give, it is proper I should read to you the act of Congress on the subject of witnesses

before committees. The act provides
&quot; That any person summoned as a witness by the

authority of either house of Congress to give testimony, or to produce papers upon
any matter before either house, or any committee of either house of Congress, who
shall willfully make default, or who, appearing, shall refuse to answer any question
pertinent to the matter of inquiry in consideration before the house or committee by
Avhich he shall be examined, shall, in addition to the pains and penalties now existing,
be liable to indictment as and for a misdemeanor in any court of the United States

Having jurisdiction thereof, and, on conviction, shall pay a fine not exceeding $1,000
and not less than $100, and suffer imprisonment in the common jail not less than one
mouth nor more than twelve months.&quot; Now, Judge Van Trump has put a question to

you, and it is for the committee to determine whether it is a pertinent one. I have
already expressed my opinion that it is.

The WITNESS. I do not wish to be contumacious about it
;
I am ready to answer the

question if it is insisted on. I will qualify the part of my statement in regard to the

gentleman being a democrat, for that perhaps is going too far. He is not understood
^o be a republican ;

he has not taken part in politics since the war. I do not think ho
lias ever registered or voted since the war. He certainly is not a republican. If you .

want to know his name, and say that it is a pertinent question, I will give his name,
though I say I dislike for various reasons to do so. He is a relative of mine.
The CHAIRMAN. I have already said that I think the question is a pertinent one. It

is a question for the whole committee to determine.
Mr. POOL. I think the question is a proper one, and that the witness should answer

it if Judge Van Trump insists upon it.

Mr. STEVENSON. I suppose, as a matter of practice, that every question should be^

regarded as admissible and pertinent, unless objection be made to it and the objection .

sustained,
The CHAIRMAN. I think that would be a very good practice.
The WITNESS. His name is Colonel George Reese. I will also state in that connec

tion that his advice to me was given with particular respect to the difficulty I have
mentioned as having occurred between myself and a young man on the evening of the
election.

By Mr. VA^ TRUMP :

Question. Why did you not state that before ?

Answer. I did.

Question. You mentioned generally that he advised you to leave.
Answer. It had a political connection, too, at the same time. He knew that any dif

ficulty I should get in there at that time-
f
t
&amp;gt;Mfx/je&amp;gt;/i. You can make any explanation you wish.

Answer. That is what I wish to do.

Option.
Did you not say, in the first place, that this relative came to you and said

that if the democrats had carried the State you had better leave ?
Answer, Yes, sir; that is my impression.
frettfoB. And you wish now to say that ho advised you to leave because of your dif-

Realty with that young man?
Anmver. I say that had some connection with it.
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By tlie CHAIRMAN :

Question. If yon misapprehended my question to confine your answer to events that
occurred at the time of the last election, I will state that that was not my intention.
You can state your knowledge of events occurring during the last year.

Answer. I do not think we had any election before that during that year.

Question. State any events occurring during any election, showing the state of feel

ing in the community affecting the security of person and property.
Answer. I do not particularly remember any event of the kind occurring within the

year. At the previous general
election there was some disturbance, at the time of the

presidential election. Borne negroes were knocked down, I think, or something of the
kind

;
I can hardly recollect what. There was a great deal of disturbance.

Question. On the day of the election ?

Answer. On the evening of the day of election, a great deal of disturbance. What
has occurred in the mean time I have forgotten.

By Mr. VAX TRUMP :

Question. Are you old enough to recollect scenes at elections before the war?
Answer. Yes, sir

;
I can recollect something about them.

Question. Were there not frequently knock-downs on the day of election ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Were they not common in the South as at the North ?

Answer. I do not know whether they were common there or not.

Question. Had you any trouble in the execution of the duties of your office as assist

ant assessor of revenue ?

Answer. No, sir.

By Mr. TOOL :

Question. Are there any organized bands of men in that county who go about neigh
borhoods in disguise ?

Answer. I do not know whether there is or not. I have never seen any band of men
in disguise there. As I say, on the evening of the Grant election I was not at that

precinct ;
I was at the Cusseta precinct, about nine miles from there. A band of dis

guised men rode through the little village in which our precinct is situated.

Question. While the election was going on ?

Answer. It was about sunset in the evening, and the polls were closed about sunset.
I do not know whether the polls were closed then or not. I

dijl not see the band
;
I

heard of them.

Question. Have there been any whippings in that county ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;

there have been whippings there at different times, but I can

hardly recollect now at what times they occurred. The most of the acts of disorder
there were soon after the close of the war.

Question. Have there been any whippings in that county within the last twelve
mouths ?

Answer. I think there have been. There was a case of whipping there right in our

neighborhood within twelve months, I think.

Question. Who did it f

Ansiver. Some young men about town there. They whipped a colored man.

By Mr. VAN THUMP :

Question. Were they disguised I

Ansiver. I think not.

Question. Was it in the day-time or at night ?

Answer. It was in the night-time I heard them talking about it
; they had the parties

up before some officer of the corporation and inflicted some fine, I think.

By Mr. POOL :

Question. Do you know of any other whippings within the last twelve months?
Answer. I do not recollect any at this time none that excited any notoriety or talk

;

there generally has to be something outrageous, something pretty bad, to excite any
talk or comment.

Question. You do not know that within the last twelve months there have been men
in disguise in the habit of occasionally riding through portions of your county?

Answer. No. sir
;

I do not at this time recollect any within the past year.
Question. What county is that ?

Answer. Chambers County, in the eastern part of the State.

By Mr. COBURN :

Question. Do the people in that country, either white or black, carry arms ?

Answer. I reckon most every white man keeps a gun about his house, as also do a

great many colored men, I think
;
but I have rarely seen anybody going about on the
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road with a gun on his shoulder
;
if ho had a pistol I did not know H

;
it was concealed

j

but almost every head of a family has a gun about his house.

By Mr. POOL:

OiMtfiCM Have YOU had any personal indignity offered you within the past year?

l/i&amp;gt;-nr. I !&amp;lt;&amp;gt; not remember; I think it has been about twelve months that I was in

the lower corner of my division, which was also in my county ;
there was an old man

th. ic, who had l.een drinking, however, and when I called by there to attend to my
business he took occasion to curse me as a damned radical, and all that sort of thing,

and to ask what kind of tax would the damned Yankees put* on us next; I paid no

particular attention to him, as I saw he had been drinking; he had cursed me once or

twice before, and had some grudge against me ; something about looking into his dis

tillery a year or two before.

By Mr. VAX THUMP:

Question. He offered you no personal violence ?

Ansu-cr. He did not strike me.

Question. \\Yie there others around there?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Was there any attempt to get up a row ?

Answer. No, sir; he had it pretty much all to himself; he said he knew my family
and where I was born, and that I was of too good a stock to be a radical

;
he cursed

me until I left
;
there were but two or three little business houses in the place, and I

was not there long; he was not more violent in that way than the rest of his party;
he showed it a little -more when he had been drinking.

By Mr. POOL :

Question. Have you heard any threats made against the colored people within the last

year?
Answer. No, sir

;
if any had been made against them I would not have been likely to

hear them
; they would not bo likely to make them in my presence ;

a number of colored
men have told me of threats made against them.

(Jiiixtion. What was the character of the threats ?

Answer. That they would be killed or taken off and whipped ;
that they would be run

off the plantations they were living on, and all that sort of thing ;
I know quite a

number of prominent ^colored men who did not sleep in their houses there for more
than a month after the election

;
I do not know that they all sleep in their houses yet.

Question. Did they sleep in the woods ?

Answer. I suppose so
;
off somewhere other than at home.

fQuestion. Have their houses been visited?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Within the last year ?

Answer. Yes, sir
; right after the election

;
I do not believe I have heard from any

of them since the last of December, or the first of January. .^

Question. Visited by whom ?

Answer. They did not know, or at least they did not say who.
&amp;lt;

t
h-Kli&amp;lt;n\.

]&amp;gt;y
men in disguise ?

Answer. I do not remember whether in their communications they said they were
disguised or not; perhaps in one instance they were disguised ;

I am riot sure of that,
however.

Question. Were any of their houses broken open ? *

Answer. I do not know whether their houses were broken open or not
; they did not

&quot;*

mention it
;
I suppose not, or they would have mentioned it.

Question. Were those visitations frequent, or only in one or two instances?
Answer. I cannot say how frequent they were, for I have received letters from only

two or three of them.

By Mr. VAN THUMP :

Question. You have received letters, then, since you have been here ? ^
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. From negro men in Alabama ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
and some I hear from through white men mentioning the circum

stances.

By Mr. STEVENSON :

Question. Did they attribute these things to Ku-Klux
;
was there anything said

about Ku-Klux ?

Answer. The term Ku-Klux there is sort of understood to coverall political outrages,
all these political disorders. They are sort of called Ku-Klux whether men are in dis-

guise or not
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By Mr. VAN TRUMP:

Question. Is there not something going on in this city now called Ku-Klux?
Answer. I have seen something about it in the papers; I saw the heading &quot;Ku-Klux&quot;

in the paper this morning.

By Mr. STEVENSON :

Question. I want to know if that term is mentioned there?

Answer. It is common among the colored people there to say they are afraid of the

Ku-Klux. But I do not think there hnvu been but few bands of men in disguise going
through there committing outrages.

Question. There has been but very little regular Ku-Kluxiug ?

Answer. If that is what you call Ku-Kluxing.
Question. That is what is understood by the term &quot;

Ku-Klux;
&quot; secret societies of men

going about in disguise : that is a part of the proper definition of &quot;

Ku-Klux.&quot; You

say the term was commonly used there, and that there was a general apprehension of

them among the colored people.
Answer. Yes, sir.

WASHINGTON, D. C., June 9, 1871.

LEWIS E. PARSONS sworn and examined.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Please state to the committee whether you reside in the State of Alabama
and if so, in what part of the State.

Answer. I reside at Talladega, Alabama.

Question. Hmv long have you resided there?
Answer. Since 183 (J

; and I have resided where I now live since April, 1840.

Question. What public positions, if any, have you held in Alabama since the close of

the war !

Answer. I have held none except that of provisional governor.
Question. Please go on, and state whether you have been called upon in any capacity

to make inquiry into any disturbances or murders alleged to have occurred in the

State; if so, to what extent did you make inquiry, and what was the result of that

inquiry .

Answer. The governor of the State employed my firm to prosecute on behalf of the
State certain persons charged with the murder of William 0- Luke, a white man and
a school teacher, and four colored men named Tony Cliff, Berry Harris, Civsar Frederick,
and William Hall. In the course of the investigation it was proven that on the same

night, and by the same band of disguised men, another colored man by the name of
Essex Hendricks was put to death by hanging and shooting, for he was both hanged
and shot, about four miles from where these others were put to death.

Question. Please give the date of those occurrences, and the date of the investigation.
Answer. The murders were perpetrated on Monday night, the llth of July, 1870, near

a little village called Cross Plains, in the county of Calhoun.

(Question. At what time did you proceed to make this investigation ?

Ansm-r. The governor convened a court, or requested a judge of the supreme court,

who, under our constitution, has jurisdiction coextensive with the State, as a conserv
ator of the peace, to go to that county and hold a court of investigation under our
State law. He went there on the 8th of August, 1870, about a mouth after the murders.
The governor also attended; General Crawford came also, at the request of the gov
ernor. When we got there we found that it was necessary to make an investigation
in the best marner we could for the purpose of ascertaining who were probably con
cerned in the murder. For some reason, the white inhabitants, with one or two excep
tions, neither came and offered any information, nor, when called upon, expressed any
willingness to develop anything that they did know. Such information as could be
obtained led to the arrest of nine persons, upon warrants duly issued, on affidavit, by
Judge Peters. Do you wish the names of the parties arrested ?

Question. You will please give them.
Answer. Their names were William Estes, Thomas I. Estes, Samuel Slaton, John

Farmer, Shields Keith, Patrick Craig, John W. Neighbors, George Dempsey, and one
other whose name I do not now call to mind. These men were arrested upon warrants

charging them with having been concerned in the murder of these live men, Luke
and others. The five men, to wit, William C. Luke, and the four colored men
whose names I gave, were in the custody of the sheriff; Luke and three of the
colored men upon the charge of having been concerned in shooting at some people
returning from church, ladies and gentlemen, perhaps some children, on Sunday night,
the 10th of July, the Sunday night previous to their murder. William Hall was not

charged with any fault, except that on Monday night, after dark, he was taken from
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his home, while sitting upon his door-step, and while his wife was engaged m prepar-

in&amp;lt;- supper by a body of armed men, who carried him off, because, as they said, he had

riven information to some other colored men they wanted to arrest, on the ground
Flint they hud also been en^ed in the shooting the night previous, and that informa

tion bad enabled those men to get away. His wife testified on the trial that she begged

were in the keeping of the sheriff and his deputy, and was taken off by the crowd of

dis.niised men, and put to death along with the others, and at the same time. William

C. Luke, Tony Cliff. Berry Harris, and Caesar Frederick were arrested on Monday during
the day by virtue of a warrant, issued by a justice of the peace, named Neighbors. He
and another justice, named Steele, held an investigation a little before sundown on

Monday evening, and they decided to commit those persons to the custody of the

sheriff for- safe-Tveeping, until the next morning at 9 o clock, when the court would
a-ain assemble. The justice said that the evidence on the part of the defense had

been closed, but that there was other evidence on the part of the State. For that reason

he adjourned the court, and directed the sheriff to summon a strong guard, and to

keep the prisoners safely until the next morning. During the day of Monday, early in

the morning, in making the arrests of these persons, a negro named Jacob Moore was

arrested, but he attempted to escape. They had not taken out any warrant for him
at that time; did not obtain it until later in the day. .When he was attempting to

escape they ordered him to stop, and he not obeying the order, one of the crowd shot

him in the rear, and he was wounded so badly that the physician said on Monday
evening, when the other prisoners were committed to the sheriffs keeping, that he
would probably die before morning. They accordingly left him in the school-house,
where the examination had been had, without any guard, except that a couple of negro
men were detailed to watch him and wait upon him.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. The negro was arrested and shot by the State authorities ?

Answer. No, sir; the arrest was made in the morning before the warrant was ob
tained.

(Jncation. It was done by authorities representing the law ?

Answer. No, sir ; it was simply a voluntary arrest on the part of the citizens. They
said they thought there was danger of the negroes getting off on the train going south,
so that they could not be arrested when the warrant should be obtained. They obtained
a warrant for this man and the others at as early an hour as they could get the justice,
Mr. Neighbors, to come into town and issue it. This negro, Jacob Moore, was examined
as ;i witness on the trial. He testified that during the night, while he remained in the

school-house, various persons who were unknown to him came to the house, and also
one who was known to him, to wit, Patrick Craig ;

that he did not himself think that
he should die, but that he made out that he was very badly off, because he was afraid

that, if he did not, they might take him off with the others, and he thought he was
safer to remain where he was, under the impression that he would die before morning
any way. This man identified the man who shot him

; my recollection is that he said
Shields Keith was the man who shot him when he attempted to run.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. At the time of his original arrest ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
when he was arrested in- the morning about daylight, by a party

of men who at that time had no warrant, but subsequently, as soon as it could be done,
got a warrant and had him duly arrested. He was returned as arrested under the war
rant, though up to that time they had no warrant.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Qitt-Htion. These are the facts, as disclosed upon the examination ?
A Mtoor. Yes, sir. The court commenced this investigation on the 8th day of August,

but ftrresta could not be made for a number of days, in consequence of not having the
necessary information upon which to base affidavits. But finally the information was
obtained, affidavits wen: made, the arrests were made, and the trial proceeded, the evi
dence, as required by our statute law, being taken down in writing. Some one hun
dred and thirty or one hundred and forty witnesses were examined, and the investiga
tion finally closed in October, about the 12th or 13th. This was an investigating court
lor the purpose if deciding whether there was probable cause for believing, first, that
an Offense bad been committed, and, secondly, whether there was probable cause for
believing that these parties were guilty, and ought to be held for trial. When the
&amp;lt;onit adjourned in October, i he grand jury of Calhoun County was in session, and,as the law rrr, uires, the testimony was sent to the clerk of the circuit court, to belaid
efore the grand jury, and the witnesses were all recognized to appear there to
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testify. But the grand jury of Calhoun County declined to find any bill against any
of these parties, but they did find a bill against Jacob Moore, for assault with intent

to kill.

Question. Was Jacob Moore the man who was shot ?

Answer. Yes, sir
; early in the morning of Monday, by a party of men who came

down from Cross Plains to Peytona, to make arrests, because, they said, they feared the

negroes would go off on the train that morning, before warrants&quot; could be obtained.

Question. Please state whether that investigation disclosed the existence, iu that

county, of any organization known as the Ku-Klux ; if so, to what extent did it dis

close the organization and the manner of their operations ?

Answer. The State examined a witness named Lewis M. Force, who proved that he
had been a member of the Ku-Klux Klan. lie stated that the organization in Alabama
numbered from eight to ten thousand members, and that it had from ten to twelve
thousand members in Georgia, where he was initiated, with headquarters at Atlanta

;

that the object of the organization was to control the negro vote, and to defeat the

republican party iu obtaining offices.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. What has become of Force ?

Aitsircr. I do not know where he is now
;
I suppose he is in that section of the

country. I asked him how he came to join that order, and, having joined it, why ho
withdrew from it. He said that he joined it for the purpose of obtaining aid from the

organization to procure the arrest of a man who had committed a rape on his little

daughter, about eleven or twelve years old, if I remember correctly ;
that he succeeded

in arresting the man, after a very long and tedious pursuit of him.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. Was he a black man ?

Answer. No, sir; ho was a white man. He had him arrested and lodged in the jail of
Cherokee County, Alabama. The witness further testified that shortly after this man
was put in jail I am giving what he testified, not what I know myself, except
as he stated it he was called on by the klan to aid in liberating this man

;
that the

reason given for it was that the man and his friends had, during the previous year, I

think it was, aided in liberating from jail the head man of the order, who was in jail
iu Chattooga County, Georgia ;

Summerville is the county seat, I think.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. Did lie tell the name of the man ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; but it has escaped my memory. I can ascertain it, if desired, by
referring to the notes of the evidence

;
I think I have it. That circumstance being of

such a character as to be of publicity, I learned from the United States officers, then
present, that the thing had occurred

;
that the liberation of that man had occurred at

Summerville, iu Chattooga County, as the man Force said, and the very man that he
said. Mr. Force was not known prior to that time, and I did not know how much
weight ought to be accorded to his evidence.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Did he disclose the,manncr of their proceeding when ho was initiated, and
how they proceeded on their raid .

Answer. He described it very much as it is generally understood
;
that he took art

obligation, of which he gave the substance
;
that he went out the same night he was

initiated, and was present when a negro man was called out of his house and whipped
by the gang then present ;

that they whipped him after having made him dance some
time, and admonished him to behave himself better in the future.

Question. Were the defendants represented by counsel at that examination ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
a firm of very able gentlemen, General William Henry Forney and

Chancellor Foster, who were then practicing law in partnership, represented them.
Question. Did this man disclose the names of other persons who were members of that

organization ?

Answer. He gave the names of those known to him, but they were residing just across
the line in Georgia, not within the reach of the subpoenas of the court

; only a few
miles distant, however, compared with the distance from which some of the witnesses
were summoned.

Question. Were any of them produced to contradict or corroborate his testimony ?

Answer. No, sir, we did not obtain any of them, and the defense did not offer any
evidence iu regard to the existence of the klan, pro or con. 1 believe they did not eveii
cross-examine Force; I think they declined to ask him any questions.

Question. Did he go on and state whether he had released that man from prison who
was charged with the rape of his daughter ?

Aimcer. No, sir
;
he came down to this court to obtain the necessary force for the safe-
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keeping of the man, and ho was taken from that jail by order, and placed in the jail

-if JackaonviHe for safe-keeping, is my recollection.

UiH-xtioii. He declined to assist them in liberating him?

iMx/fvr. Yes, sir; and he s.-iid that lie told them that if that was their purpose, to

lelease men charged with stirh offenses as that, he would have nothing further to do

with the organization. The man was subsequently indicted at the fall court in Chero

kee County for tin- rape : he obtained a continuance of the trial of his cause until the

1-isl
s]&amp;gt;rin&amp;lt;&amp;gt;

:

t.-riii. I have never learned what was done with him.

Question. Did Force stale the. strength of the order in the county in which these mur-

den took place of which yon have spoken?
AHXH-IT. I do not think he did.

nnt xlimi. What is the political character of that county?
JfMtMT. Tin- county of Calhoimf
Om-xtion. Yes ; the connty in which you say the grand jury declined to act?

4*0trar. In HliO the comity voted, I think, by two thousand votes, or two thousand

majority, for P.ivckinridge and Lane. It has always been a very decided democratic

nuinty. and I suppose is more so of late, aside from the colored vote.

(Jtii
xtion. What is the proportion of white and colored population in the county ?

AMUHT. The white population outnumbers the colored; the exact
proportion^Jiow-

e\ er. I am unable to state
;
but it outnumbers it largely.

(jin ^t ion. Does your statement embody the result of the examination, so far as this

question of organization and crime is concerned, in that county ?

JM.VHY.V. What I have already stated is all the information Ave had of the general
organi/.ation of the Ku-Klux Klan. But the proof in the progress of that trial, in re-

gard to the operations of that klan, or of persons who were wearing the disguises,
which it is understood the klan generally wears, showed that they had been operating
all through that county and Cherokee County, at various points, and some up iu North
ern Alabama, ever since the year 1868. During the election in 1868, there was some
manifestation by the klan in Huntsville, where a man was killed while standing on his

door-step ;
not the man, however, that they intended to kill, as was subsequently shown.

lint in regard to this immediate vicinity of Calhouu County and its surroundings, the

proof slums that in repeated instances colored men had been taken out and whipped
wit h hickory withes ; sometimes beaten very severely with canes not a fair whip and
with other instruments; that they had been shot, in some instances seriously wounded,
in others killed

;
and some had been otherwise outraged. In one instance there was

proof of rape by a party of these fellows, who went into a negro man s house, drove
him out, and raped his wife, threatening to kill her if she did not submit to their
demands.

. How recently had any of these occurrences taken place?
. They covered a period commencing some time in December, 1868, running

through 1800, and down to the time when Mr. Luke and the four colored men were put
to death in July, 1870. The proof showed that no raiding of the klan, that was known,
had taken place since that time and up to the time when the court was sitting, which,
was in August, September, and October, 1870.

ijiustion. Have you any knowledge of there having been any occurrences of a simi-
lar character in the county since that court Avas held ?

AiiKnrr. I have no knowledge of any of these things, except as developed on that
examination.

OiicxtioH. Have you any knowledge, derived from your observation and intercourse
with the people of that region, of any occurrence since October last, the time wheu
your court of examination closed there?
A us re)-. A copy of two letters, or of notices, warning certain witnesses white men

on behalf of the State in the trial to leave the country, or they would be whipped un.tr!

their backs were &quot;cut as lino as dogs hair,&quot; were sent to me.
ii. Do you know whether that notice was actually served on the witnesses?
. Not of my personal knowledge.
n. Have there been any whippings and scourgiugs that have been reported to

you upon credible information, as occurring in that region of the State, or in any other
region, since that time?
J.s7T. No. sir.

(Jiu-xiion. Were you present at a political meeting held in Eutaw iu October of last

year ?

JNNJ/YT. I was present at one wheu General Warner spoke.
nm-xt mH. We have had the statements of General Warner and Mr. Hays, who were

present at that meeting.
J/wnr. They were both there.

(Jucxliou. Wifhout desiring ;r,iy repetition of general facts, will you state as brielly as
you can your recollection of what occurred there?

Answer. .My recollection is substantially this: that notice had been given that Gov
ernor Smith and General Warner would speak there. They invited me to go there and
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speak also, as they said, at the request of a number of old whigs in that section of

country. We were to speak first in Livingston, in Sumter County, ami then at EutaAv
on the&quot; following day. At Livingston we were interrupted by a number of persons,
and no opportunity was given for a fair or connected speech. Governor Smith was
interrupted from the moment he rose to speak. A young man came and stood beside
him with a knife drawn, open in his hand, and brandished it about in a very threaten

ing manner, striking his leit hand on his breast, brandishing his knife, and standing
up close beside the governor as he commenced to address the crowd, which was com
posed, so far as I could judge, of about live-sixths colored men and a body of white
men standing oif by themselves a little on the right. From what was said by numbers
of them I supposed they were opposed to the discussion being had.

Question. This was in Livingston ?

Answer. Yes, sir. A portion of the men who interrupted the meeting went up that

night on the same train with us to Eutaw
;
others that I did not see on the train I

saw at Eutaw the next day ; they were present and took a part in the violence which
occurred there. Just after I had finished my speech, or rather got down from the

stand, for I did not have an opportunity of making anything like a speech, as I stepped
down from the stand at Eutaw, Mr. Hays got up, as he said subsequently, to adjourn
the meeting, not intending to make any speech. A gentleman approached me from
the left, who knew me, and called me by name, and said that he thought it best Mr.

Hays should not speak there or attempt to speak : that he was very unpopular, and
the people were very much incensed, and it might lead to disturbance. He requested
me to tell him so, but not to use his name in connection with it. I had never seen Mr.

Hays to know him personally until that morning. I turned around and whispered to

General Warner what had been said to me. and suggested that he should speak to
Mr. Hays. Just as I rose up from conferring with him Mr. Hays struck the ground
near the table he was standing on. I did not see, anybody jerk him off the table, but
I heard his feet strike the ground, and saw him standing there apparently somewhat
excited. Mr. Hays said nothing, but in an instant a pistol was fired a single shot
either from the room of the clerk of the circuit, which was just back of us, or from the
door of the main entrance to the court-house just beyond : I cannot tell certainly which.
Then, about as quick as men could draw their weapons and commence firing, a general
shooting commenced at the crowd of negroes that were in front. There was a very
large concourse there, I suppose somewhere between two and three thousand. I ought,
perhaps, to state that, as Mr. Hays was pulled from the stand, or as he struck the

ground, I saw several negro men start and move up toward him, and I saw one or two
of them commence getting out their knives and about to open them. I put OUT my
hand and said,

&amp;lt;k Don t do that: put up your knives; there must be no disturbance
here.&quot; Just then the pistol shot was fired, of which I have spoken.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. &quot;Just then, you say; did you see the knives before you heard the shot ?

Answer. I think I did
;
but the negroes put up their knives, as I requested them to

do, and did not make any demonstration with them. They were moving up as it to

protect Mr. Hays.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. From what direction did the shot come ?

Answer. Out of the court-house, either from the door of the main entrance or from
one of the windows. I do not know that any one saw the attempt to draw the knives

except myself.
Question. Had. Mr. Hays any weapon ?

Answer. Not that I saw, and I had pretty good reason for noticing. He may have had
some small pistol, but he certainly had none of the weapons which were had by ilie

great body of men around me.

Question. Did you see him have any ?

Answer. I did not
;
but he has told me since that he had a small pocket derringer

in his pocket, but I did not see any signs of it. My reason for looking at him was, that
I had heard a great deal of the danger Mr. Hays was in, and I further understood that
he would not be able to come there that day. When he did come, I saw him dressed in
the ordinary dress of a gentleman, and I took particular care to look over his person
and see if he was armed. I supposed he would be armed; but I could not see any
signs of it. He says, however, that he had a small pocket derringer. He did not use

any sveapon that I saw, or make any attempt to use any.
Question. Did you take any part in the preliminary attempt to have a joint discus

sion there ?

Answer. I think I did
;
at least I knew of it ; I do not remember whether or not I signed

the paper. There was a proposition of that sort made, but the answer returned was
that they would not recognize either the speakers or the cause; I think that was the
substance of their answer.
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Question. Was that effort made for the purpose, if possible, of preventing a collision ?

So far as I knew it was with a view to have a peaceable meeting there
;

it

v a&amp;gt; in if,- interest of peace and order.

qmythn. From what you saw there that day, and from your observation at that

Tim--, in traveling through othor counties, were people free to utter their political senti

ments \vitliont incurring danger f

f //*&amp;lt; r. No. sir : I t hink not. In fact, I am very certain they were not. Nothing was
said there that day that could be just ground of offense

; nothing was said by Senator

Warn-r or by inyself, so far as 1 am conscious of what I said
;
and I think I know- pretty

well what he sa id and what I said. My whole effort was to conciliate the old Union
s-ntinient c.f tl&amp;gt;&quot; State : to conciliate all, in fact, but I hoped to obtain a more candid

hearing from the old Union sentiment of that community, which, in old times, was

largely whig : and of course my speech, as far as I could make any there, was shaped
in Fha t way? But I was constantly interrupted, in the most offensive manner; I will

not say constantly, but repeatedly, so much so as to prevent anything like a continuous

and connected present at ion of any one feature of a political question.
n&amp;lt;n-tiini. Had yon frequently spoken in Eutaw in former times?

Answer, No, sir; I had never spoken in the town before. But Iliad been a whig
elector in the State, and had held various other positions, which made me known to

the people of the State.

Quant ion. Were you well known there ?

. I supposed I was; at least I knew a great many persons there.

. How many persons were wounded there, according to your observation ?

I never saw any scene of that kind before. I saw a great many fall as the

shots were tired, and at the time I supposed they had stumbled and fallen, because they
got np again and went away. But I have understood, from those who have had ex

perience in such scenes, that unless a man is so severely wounded as to render him
unable to rise when he is hit, the effect of the bullet frequently is to cause him to fall,

and lie rises again. The papers reported that there were some fifty-four persons
wounded there, and that four of them died from their wounds. Whether that is true
or not I am not able to say.

Question. Were, any white persons wounded there?
A nwer. Not that I heard of; I certainly saw none. I saw one colored man lying on

a dray that night about sundown. His thigh was broken; it had been splintered and
vd he was lying on a dray in the street of tho town. He told me that he was up

there at the meeting and had been wounded there.

Question. Judging from the facts that came under your notice, from the fact of per
son- coming from the one county to the other, what was the conclusion at which you
arrived as to whether that attack was premeditated, preconcerted?
Ansim: My conviction, from what I saw in the morning before the speaking began,

was that there would be trouble 1 here that day, and I so advised Governor Smith and
General Crawford. And I advised General Crawford to bring his entire force up to the
town and have them in readiness for immediate action, believing that by so doing he
would overawe the disposition to make trouble

;
that the presence of the troops would

prevent any trouble. I told General Crawford that I knew the people well enough to
understand the signs. The general did not seem to coincide with mo. At all events,
h&quot; did not bring his troops up. He had a small detachment stationed about two
squares away, so that when the tiring did commence they were not at hand to protect
the colored people, and could not be got there in time to do any good at all.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :
*

Question. Was this squad of troops within sight of the meeting ? m .

Anxmr. No, sir
; they were two squares away. The rest of his troops were out about

half a mile distant. My conviction is that if the Government had shown, by the
pn-euce of its troops, a determination to prevent violence, there would have been
none.

^Mrx/ioM. Is it not a problem whether their presence would prevent or irritate ?

Answer. That is a problem, it is true. But my conviction is that men will not resort *

to loree when i hey know there is an equal or superior force to meet them. When the
*

troops came np, as the detachment did, the whole thing was at an end; and for them
to commence tiring then would simply have been to make an assault in turn. If they
had been there, and these men had attempted to lire just as they did, then force could
have I.een repelled by force.

I .y the CIIAIKMAX:

Question.
Is Iheie anything further you would state as evidencing the state of public

sentiment there m reference to offenses of this character, these disturbances?
Anwer. There is one other fact I should state in connection with this matter. We went

down the next morning, on the train, to York station
;

in fact wo went down to Meri
dian, Governor Smith, General Warner, and myself. General Warner, however, turned
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back after we had gone some distance
;
I do not remember bow far. He met a train

going up on which were some friends, and he concluded that be would go back and

keep an appointment at Tuscaloosa. On the train with ns was a portion of those men
who bad been at Sumter on the day of the speaking there, and who were at Entaw
the day before. As they went down, whenever the train stopped people came up to

them and asked them the news. Replies were made indicating what had happened,
and in one instance the expression was made, so loud as to be heard by numbers of

persons, to this effect :

&quot; We have cleaned out the damned radicals-, and are going
home.&quot; I heard that expression myself.

Question. Did you direct your attention to the subject so as to ascertain whether the

public sentiment of the town of Eutaw disapproved or upheld this lawlessness ?

Answer. I cannot doubt but that it is disapproved by some of the people, by a very
considerable number, knowing as I do the general character of the population there.

But, so far as I know, no manifestation of that disapproval was made, and I doubt

very much whether it dare manifest itself just now.

Question. Has there been any manifestation in favor of upholdingsuch lawlessness f

Anwo: Not to my personal knowledge. I have understood that there have been
manifestations of a very decided character, in defending these men who were subse

quently indicted at the district court of the United States, at Mobile, and whose trial

was set for last May ;
I think it was May ;

at all events it was during the late spring
court.

Q neat ion. Were those demonstrations of a public character ?

Anxn-cr. I understood that they were
;
I understood that there was a fair held in the

town for the purpose of raising funds to meet the expenses of the men who were in

dicted there ; that, however, is merely upon information.

Question. You do not know that personally ?

Answer. Xo, sir
;
because I do not live in that county.

Question. Are there any more recent events than those of which you have spoken,
which indicate the extent to which the laws can be executed in the State, or life and
person be made secure ?

Answer. The question is somewhat changed, I think, since the recent legislation of

Congress. The manifestations on the part of the Federal Government, as shown by
the recent enactment of Congress, and the action of the United States courts in giving
force and effect to that enactment, and to the act of the :Jlst of May, 1870, have, it

seems to me, from what I see and hear, produced an effect on the pubXc mind. What
will be the iinal result I cannot say ;

but I think the tendency has been to give them
pause. Heretofore I have known of no instance in which a man charged with having
killed a negro has been brought to trial and convicted, scarcely ever to trial even. Qn
the other hand, whenever a negro commits any offense there isno trouble in obtaining a
conviction upon reasonable proof, and sometimes when, the proof is not so clear. That
sentiment, however, has been, according to my observations, always the case, more or

less, in the South, with reference to any white man. If popular prejudice sets in

strongly against a man, I have found in my practice as a lawyer that it is almost impos
sible to offer evidence enough to acquit him. If popular prejudice sets in his favor,
it is almost impossible to secure the conviction of a man, no mutter what his color may
be. It is, as my experience shows, one of the weaknesses of our system of trials.

By Mr. VAX THUMP :

Question. Do you mean the system of trial in the South, or generally ?

Answer. Generally ;
I see by your papers in the North that if a man is a popular man,

there is always a strong influence made, if he is convicted, to obtain a respite or com
mutation of sentence.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Were these acts of violence calculated to have, and did they have, any
effect upon the result of your elections, by deterring men from voting, and thereby
producing the contest which subsequently ensued in your legislature ?

Ansu-o: In my judgment they did. After a careful examination, as one of the counsel
of Governor Smith, the then governor of the State, he became satisfied, as did also his
counsel, that a great many men had been prevented from voting who would have voted
for him, and also for other republican candidates, had it not been for the fear of con
sequences to them personally; also that a great many votes had been thrown out
which ought to have been received. In that way lie was reported to have lost the
election by some 1,329 votes, if I am not mistaken

;
I may be wrong in regard to the

exact number. We advised him to file a bill. However, I will state that ever since
1819, when the State was lirst organized, the constitution of the State has provided,
that an election to the office of governor may be contested before the general assembly
in such manner as may be provided for by law. The legislature of Alabama has never

inadc^provision
of law for any such contests, either prior to the war or subsequent to

it. The existing constitution adopted in 1868, put in operation in 1868 rather, was in
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tint respect the same as the constitution of 1819, with this addition, that this right of

contest W made to extend to other St ate officers, secretary of state, treasurer, comp
troller attorney genera], A-e. Tpon an examination of the facts, and ascertaining m a

verv satisfactory manner what he could prove, the governor determined, under the

advice of his connsel. to til,- a bill and obtain an injunction staying the declaration of

then-suit of the election as to governor until the legislature could provide bylaw
the mode of contest in&quot; that election as secured to him under the constitution. He
believed that, as he was the incumbent of the office, if he had received a majority of

the le--al votes cast, he was not bound to give up that office to a man who had not

received a majority of the Legal votes, and permit him to bo inaugurated, and then

: i,, some remedy by wh ich to turn him out, such as a quo warranto, or anything of

that sort. He made out a case in the estimation of his counsel and in the opinion of

the fudge to whom it was presented, duly certified to by affidavits, amply sufficient to

authorize the injunction which was prayed for; a temporary injunction until, as the

constitution required, legislation could be provided, and which, under the constitution,

it became &amp;lt;he sworn duly of the legislature to provide ;
for it was as much theirduty to

{any out the constitution as it was the duty of any one else.

I .y Mr. VAX TRUMP:
(hHxtitm. Were you the counsel who advised that?

Anmtrr. I was one of the counsel
;
there were two others, Judge Rice, formerly chief

justice of the State for many years, and Mr. Alexander White, both of whom are very

prominent lawyers in our State.

By the CHAIRMAN :

(Question. Was such an injunction issued ?

Anxwer. Yes, sir; the injunction was prayed for against the presiding officer of the

senate, whose duty, in the language of our constitution, it is to open, count, and declare

the vote for governor ;
I think that is the language. The then presiding officer of the

M-nate respected the injunction, and declined to declare that vote. The incumbent of

the office of lieutenant governor having died, the office of lieutenant governor was
not contested, and the person elected being clearly entitled to have his seat, and if

not properly elected it could only be inquired into by a quo warranto, the vote as to

him was declared by the presiding officer of the senate, and he was sworn into office, I

think. Thereupon the lieutenant governor said he would pay 110 attention to the in

junction.
Qucxtion. Under your constitution he became then the presiding officer of the senate ?

Answer. Yes, sir; by virtue of being inaugurated lieutenant governor of the State,
lie berime presiding officer of the senate ex-officio.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. Have you ever seen or heard of any precedents authorizing an injunction
against the supreme legislative authority of any State government?
Answer. This was not against the supreme legislative authority, but against a presid

ing officer performing a mere ministerial duty, without any discretion being vested
in him. We examined that question very carefully, and of course with reference to
that particular phase of it.

Question. Did you find any authority ?

AHKH-H: Yes, sir; we found a great many, and according to the authorities, if the
functions were of a judicial character, or if there was to be in the premises any exer
cise of any discretion, then an injunction will not issue, for the authorities say the
court will not undertake to control the discretion of an officer. But when the duties
ff an oiiicer are clearly ministerial, as the counting of votes and declaring the result of
:IM election, the authorities are numerous going to show that the court will interfere

;

that where the right to office and the right to contest it are united in the same incum
bent, and the legislature have not provided the means whereby he can do so, the court
would grant a temporary injunction until that legislation was furnished.

yni-xtitm. I do not wish to make any argument, merely to obtain the facts.
J &amp;gt;/*/// r. 1 merely wish to state the ground on which we advised our client. The

lieutenant governor having 1,,.,-n inaugurated, sent to the office of the secretary of
for the returns of the votes, opened the seals, and declared the result. From that

time (Jovernor Lindsay claimed that he was entitled to the office, and demanded it of
(Joverm.r Smith. A public, meet ing was called by the friends of Governor Lindsay,
and speeches wen- made in which the people were advised to disregard the injunction
Of the supreme court judge, and to disregard the whole proceeding, but to do it with
.is tittle violence as possible. The popular mind became very much exercised, very
touch disturbed, A great many people came in from a distance

; they were seen to
arms on t heir persons ; nearly every one was armed with a revolver, a belt around

him, and in a sheat h suspended to the belt the revolver was carried, or it was carried in a
pocket so as to be plainly visible. I saw a great many persons wearing them in that
way. V\ e have a provision in our code in Alabama by which a man, who, as an officer,
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claims that he has a right to certain books and papers, may take a summary proceed
ing for the purpose of obtaining the books and papers that belong to the office. Gov
ernor Lindsay, under a process issued at his instance and in his name, I believe by ono
James Q. Smith, who is an acting circuit court judge in our State, required William H.
Smith to deliver up certain books and papers and furniture in the two rooms occupied
by the executive of the State of Alabama, and also the two rooms in one of the wings
of the capitol.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. The executive chamber and its furniture ?

Ansu-er. Yes, sir, two rooms. The governor was required to appear in person before
this judge at the court-house in Montgomery County and make answer, within a very
brief space of time, a few hours only. Judge Kice appeared for him, but the presiding
judge said he would not hear him, unless his client appeared. His client accordingly
went down there. The court-house was densely packed. The trial proceeded, but no
dicision was arrived at at that time. It was then late in the afternoon. The case came
up again the next day, and the result was that Governor Smith, as he said in a card
which he caused to be published, for the sake of preserving the peace of the community
and avoiding serious troubles, abandoned the office of governor, withdrew from the
contest and permitted Robert Burns Lindsay to take possession of the office, which he
did immediately. The card of Governor Smith was published at the time in the

newspapers.
Question. What was there, so far as you know yourself, to give rise to any apprehen

sion of violence ?

Answer. I Avas not in the court-room myself, and therefore cannot speak from per
sonal knowledge. But I understood from Governor Smith and from others that the

rfjourt-room, particularly in the rear of Governor Smith s seat, was densely packed by
a body of men who were strangers in the community, and who had arms on their per
sons, as I have described, revolvers, who quietly took their seats on each day when the
court met. The Governor felt that if he persisted in asserting his right before the
courts to the office, there was great danger that there would be a popular outbreak of
some kind; the extent of which, and the character of the violence which might result
he did not know. But he wished, at all events, to avoid violence and bloodshed

;
that

is the reason why he actually gave up the contest.

Question. Did you yourself see persons in town armed as you have described ?

Answer. Yes, sir; many persons.
Question. Did the proceeding end there?
Answer. -Yes sir, so far as I know

; my functions in connection with it were at an end.

Question. Has there since been made in the legislature of Alabama any provision to
enable him to contest the election ?

Answer. Not that I am aware of.

Question. Has there been any session of the legislature since ?

Answer. The legislature was in session at that time, and remained in session for a long
time afterward. The treasurer of the State was also a candidate for reelection at the
last fall election

;
he had also iiled a bill and obtained an injunction. When Governor

Smith decided to abandon his case the treasurer also abandoned his case, and his oppo
nent took possession of the office, notwithstanding there was a similar injunction
against the counting of the vote for treasurer.

Question. Then, with the allegation made, whether well founded or not, that an elec
tion has been carried by means of violence and fraud, you have no means provided of

determining whether that allegation is true or untrue .

Answer. Not in the case of the office of governor or any other officer elected by a
general vote of the State

;
no provision has yet been made. These injunctions were

obtained for a temporary purpose, in order to enable the provision to be made which
the constitution required.

Question. Was any motion made in the legislature to provide a mode for contesting
the election in that case ?

Answer. I am not able to say how that was.
Question. What eftect has this had upon the sense of security enjoyed bv the peoplo

of the State ?

Ausiicr. I think the democrats profess to feel very much more secure; I think (he

republicans feel decidedly less secure. If it had not been for the legislation of Con.
gress to which I have referred, I think their insecurity would have been clearly man
ifested before this time.

Question. From your own knowledge of that case, derived from your examination of
it as counsel for the governor, will you state here as a witness, without regard to your
professional opinion, whether it is your belief that good ground existed for making
such a contest on his part ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;

I believe there was good ground for it
;

I believe the violence that
was practiced in the counties of Greene. Sumter, and Mareugo was sufficient alone to

change the result of the election in that State.
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inn. The result as to governor ?

.f/f*t&amp;lt;Yr. As to governor and others.

By Mr. VAN THUMP :

(&amp;gt;v(*ti&amp;lt;i. What was the nominal majority for Lindsay as governor?
Answer. I think, as reported, it was about 1,329; I may be mistaken as to the exact

number. In tin- county of Russell, on the eastern side of the State, there was a ma
.

jority of thirteen or fourteen hundred votes in favor of the republican ticket. That
vote , however. was thrown out entirely; that is to say, it was thrown out in this way :

do so, but, as I mulerstand, the other two officers declined to do so.

i;\ the CHAIRMAN:

Question. So that there was no return at all from that county?
Answer. None, in making up the vote. The rejection of that vote, its being left out

entirely, was one of the allegations in the bill, if I .am not mistaken. Then in another

county, at one poll, where several Ifundred republicans attended to vote, frecdmen, the

poll was not opened.
(liuxlhti. Without going into details, I will ask you to state if you believe, from your

examination, that sufficient ground existed to entitle Governor Smith to claim that the

subject should be investigated and a contest made?
Ansn-tr. Yes, sir; I state here as a witness, not merely as counsel, that I believe there

was full ground for investigating that election, and that it should be done.

QiH xtion. If the ground taken by you had been sustained, what effect would it have
had upon the majority in the legislature ?

J/i.sicer. It would have changed that as a matter of course.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. Outside of any provision of your constitution, for I do not know what that is,

is not the ordinary way of contesting an election of governor upon the question of

counting out before the&quot; legislative body of the State?
Answer. We have no mode of contesting au election to the office of governor at all.

(jitixtioH. Do you mean in Alabama, or in other States ?

J//*/r&amp;lt;r. In Alabama. The provision of our State is that an election to the office of

governor shall be or may be, I do not recollect which word is used, contested
before the general assembly iu the manner provided by law.

{jut-Niton. That is in your constitution?

^ \ //.sim-. Yes, sir, and has been since 1819. The only difference in that respect, between
the existing constitution and the first one, is that the right to contest is extended to
the secretary of state, treasurer, comptroller, &c., because they are now elected by a

general ticket system, whereas heretofore they were always elected by the legislature.
(JucKlioH. Now, having made that statement, and that is in accordance with my

recollection, I would ask, as a matter of curiosity merely, where you find authority,
under such a constitutional provision as that, to goto the courts for an injunction to
set aside the proceedings of a legislative examination and declaration of the vote for

governor 1
Answer. Where did we find the authority?
(Jin-niton. Yes, sir.

J.v//vr. I speak now from memory ;
if I had my brief I could give my authorities to

you in detail. One case will be found in Barr s Pennsylvania Reports, on the power
of the courts to protect every citizen in his rights, whether he be a natural or an arti
ficial one.

*

By the CHAIRMAN :

. Do you remember the name of that case?
1 cannot recollect the name of that case, but it was in 47 Barr s Reports.

r.y Mr. V.\\ TIM-MI-:

Did it apply to this case ?

r. 1 think it did in principle ;
I will state the facts of the case.

Question. I do not Wish to consume the time of the committee by a detailed state
ment of the ease.

Answer. We found cases of this sort, authorities in various States of the Union; if

you will permit me to state the references as I recollect from memory, they will be
found in some work on constitutional limitations; I cannot recollect now the name of
the author, but the work is in the library of the Supreme Court here. The authorities
on the subject are pivtty well collated in that work.

Question. Did you find any case where the Supreme Court undertook to stay the
action of the supreme legislative power of the Government?
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Answer. If you mean by that whether we found a case in which the courts claimed
the right to stay the action of a party claiming the office until the party in possession
can have the benefit of legislation, such as the law contemplates, to enable him to

contest it, the nearest we came to it is a case in which a corporation was required to

do certain things; and the supreme court of one of the Northwestern States held that
the court had that power.

Question. I have no doubt they have in regard to corporate bodies or local authorities
;

but I would like to see the authority, the constitution providing a mode of contesting
a governor s election by the supreme legislative authority, where you find the power
given to a court to interfere by an injunction, so far as the supreme sovereign legisla
tive authority of *he State is concerned.

Answer. The language of our constitution is to the effect tha-t it is made the duty of

the presiding officer of the senate to open, count, and declare the votes for the election

of governor in the presence of a majority of the members of the two houses of the legis

lature; that is the very language used*; the legislature, as a legislature, has nothing
in the world to do with it.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Taking into consideration the tone of public sentiment as prevailing in the
State of Alabama, or in portions of that State, I will ask you if persons are free to go
into those portions of the State and express their political opinions and advocate them
freely, or is there proscription ?

Ansiocr. They are free to do so if they are willing to risk the consequences.
Question. What I mean is, may they do it with personal security?
Answer. I think not.

Question. To what portions of the State would you apply that remark?
Answer. I could not undertake to designate any particular locality in the State of

Alabama in which a man would be safe to get up and give notice that he wished to

advocate republican principles, and where he would be safe from insult and perhaps
violence. If it was known that a distinguished man from abroad was about to visit

the State for the purpose of speaking in behalf of the republican cause, it is probable
that he would be unmolested now. I do not know certainly that any man would be

molested, but I do not think a man could announce a speech at Mobile. Montgomery,
Tuscaloosa, or even in my own town, in behalf of republican principles, without its

producing very great excitement. I think there is very little freedom of discussion.

Question. Can a man, either a native of the State, a long resident, or one who lias

removed from the North and settled there, publicly advocate the right of the negro to

suffrage and to protection in his civil rights, and still preserve in the State his social

and political status ?

Answer. His doing that would affect him to some extent, but how far I cannot say.
There are a great many men who would feel, such is their detestation of negro
suffrage, especially of negro suffrage and the right of the negro to sit in the jury-box,
and to hold offices, and even seats on the judges bench, that they cannot have any
toleration for a man who entertains those views, whether he advocated them in the

beginning or n.ot ;
if he acquiesces in them now, and proposes to advocate acquiescence

in them as a republican, in my judgment he is bound to feel the effect of that upon
himself, more or less, in his personal and social relations.

By Mr. POOL :

Question. How about his business relations?

Answer. To some extent it would have its effect upon them also, just in proportion
to men s necessities. Sometimes it is more marked than at others. I have heard
several gentlemen in my State say tfeat it has affected them very seriously.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. Does this arise from a conviction that the institutions of the country are
unsafe in the hands of an ignorant class of people, easily led by a few demagogues ?

Answer. I think that has a great deal to do with it.

Question. The people there see that this class of persons who have been enfranchised

by act of Congress, affirmed, by an amendment to the Constitution, are really unfitted

by their condition of life, their want of information and knowledge, to exercise those
franchises?

Ansiver. They think all that.

Question. Do they not have good reason to think so ?

Answer. I think so ; I thought it was unwise to make the negroes voters, particularly
in mass. My own conviction was that in a popular government where two races exist

who are so different, from any cause, that they cannot mingle in marriage and become
one. the exercise of political power must be confined to one or the other of those races,
if we wish to have peace and security; that when political power is placed in the

hands of races who cannot in that way become one, all history shows that the dividing
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very njit to continue in sucli a marked way as to render it difficult to preserve
the peace, and have anything like u .systematic policy of government.

By Mr.

Hnn. Now if yon add to that clear, philosophic, political statement the fact, if it

i- .1 tact, that the ri jjit of sutlYa.uv has 1 it-en forced upon the people, would not that

tend still more to :iggi avotion ;
forced upon them by some superior power like the

Federal (Jovernment .

.liixiri r. If. tor instance, the people of Alabama had themselves conferred suffrage on
the nt-gro tln-y would have had no right to complain, except of their folly in doing

iTiev found it did not work well. The fact that negro suffrage was made, by
1h -

&amp;lt; Jovernment of the United .States, a condition of political reconstruction, has cer

tainly not tended to reconcile the people to that state of things.
f nni. Would yon not l&amp;gt;e better satisfied with the converse of the proposition : that

it has really provoked and irritated the people?
J.s&amp;gt;nr. My o\vn judgment is that it has. But the thing has been done, and the

question is now, how shall we get along with it! How it may be in other States I will

not undertake to say. But with reference to our own State, so far as I understand it,

we think that as it is settled that the negro is to be a voter, and is free, and free cer

tainly by our own act, for in Alabama we indorsed his freedom in the convention of
\ liich was a white man s convention, entirely based upon white man s suffrage,

no negro voting in the election, nor was he invited to vote
i. We are not hero to enter into an argument as to what would be the better

policy, but to find out the cause for the existing state of things in the country.
Answer. The negro was made a voter in Alabama against the consent and views of

what is best of the great body of the white people of the State. Now that he is made
a voter, the republican party wish to educate the negro as well as the white child, and
lit him for the duties of his new position. As I understand it, the democratic party is

bit terly opposed, not only to the negro s voting, but to his education. There are some
reasons why they might oppose education on such a liberal basis of expenditure grow
ing out of our poverty, which reasons are peculiar to our present condition. But the

great difference between the two parties, as I understand it, is this: The one proposes
to educate the negro and make the best of his capacity, whatever it may be; the other
is not in favor of doing so.

I5y Mr. BLAIR:

^ Kittion. In addition to the facts you have stated in reference to the hostility of the
white race as a general thing, in your State, to negro suffrage, is it not true that these

negroes have been banded together in leagues by men, as a general thing, of very little

character, for the purpose of obtaining office for themselves Is that not another rea
son for the hostility felt by the white people at large against negro suffrage as it, is ?

. \ ameer. So far as I know personally, the negroes have not been so organized. I have
understood that there were Union leagues, and that colored men were members of
them

;
but I only know it from hearsay. I am not a member of one, and never have

been.
You know it upon evidence that is quite as good as that upon which you

stated the existence of the Ku-Klux oranization?
No, sir; because that was the sworn testimony of a witness, who, as I have

since learned, was very fully corroborated by other witnesses in what he said; other
witnesses who were then being examined before the judges of the supreme court of
North Carolina, which court was then investigating the murder of a man by this or-

ganixation. At the time this witness, Force, gave his testimony, I did not know how
much weight and credence to give it

; but I havasince become satisfied that he told
the truth in respect to that organization.

Hon. Do you believe, from what you have heard and what you yourself have
olei ved, that there is such an organization as the loyal league among the negroes?

i-. From what I have heard I do.
. You do believe it .

JHNJIVT. I believe it, simply because I have heard it so stated; that is, the Union
. QOl tin- loyal league. The Union league is the one I refer to

;
I never heard

particularly about a loyal league. I have understood there was a Union league.
&&amp;gt;*. Do the negroes, as a general thing, act together compactly upon political

matti-rs. as i-.ien would who had been organized for the purpose

my observation, the negroes
their old masters, with regard to any matters of business, just as implicitly as

e man can trust another; l mt when they come to politics they generally seem not to
have much faith in us; they think we did not set them free or give them the right to
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\ ote, but did all we could to prevent them from being free and having the right to
vote. I certainly opposed their having the rig/ht to vote, not for the purpose of crush

ing them, but to prevent them from crushing us. They do not think we are sincere,
aiid we have never been able to convince them that we are sincere in our professions
of friendship for them in regard to political matters

; they have the idea that they are

free, and voters, in spite of all we could do to prevent it. Naturally, if left alone, they
will vote with the republicans. If they are told, &quot;You shall not have this land unless

you vote the way I want you to vote,&quot; or, &quot;If you do vote that way the Ku-Klux will

get after you,&quot;
it will influence some of them.&quot; Some of them, too, are influenced by

the kindness of their former masters and present friends; for I do not pretend to say,
and I do not say, that there are not as many evidences of kindness on the part of the
former master toward the man now free, who was his former slave, as you could

reasonably expect, when you take into consideration his impoverished condition and
theirs also. I think we have had bad white men

;
I do not know any community in

which there are not bad white men; and bad white men in both political parties. But
I am glad to believe that there are good men in both political parties. I think the

general reason why the negro chooses to vote the republican ticket is because he knows
that the republican party set him free, gave him the right to vote, and wishes to edu
cate his children in order to lit them for the duties of their new condition. General
Grant, in his proclamation declaring the adoption of the fifteenth amendment, quoted
from Washington s Farewell Address on the importance of educating the children of the
land.

By Mr. VAX THUMP :

Question. Do you suppose that General Washington had in view particularly the black
children when he wrote that part of his address, or that Hamilton had when ho wrote
it for him ?

Answer. I do not know
;
but if it is necessary to educate white children, with all the

advantages they have of family descent and surroundings, it certainly is necessary to
educate the negro child, if you wish him to be a good and industrious citizen.

By Mr. POOL :

Question. You suppose that Washington had reference to all voters ?

Answer. I think so.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. You made the remark in your testimony that if this decision in reference to
the governor s election had been obtained, and was* such as you contended for, it would
have changed the majority in the legislature&quot;?

JNSUYT. It is proper that I should explain what I meant in this way; as the returns

show, it was a little doubtful which party had the majority in the legislature. The senate
was largely republican ;

there were no senators elected at that election
;
the only mem

bers of the legislature then elected were members of the house. It was exceedingly doubt
ful which party had the majority. The democrats, however, when they got the organ
ization, proceeded at once to contest out two republicans from Talladega, and a dem
ocratic member was permitted to take his seat from Kandolph, I think it was; at any
rate they got the majority. But if the returns had come in from all the counties, I
think that instead of democratic members from several counties there would have been
republican members returned

; provided all the legal voters in the county who wanted
to vote, and who attended with a view to vote, had been permitted to vote, and their
votes had been certified according to law.

Question. Does not your constitution provide that each house shall be the judge of the
election, returns, and qualification of its own members J

?

Answer. Yes. sir.

Question. If Governor Smith had been declared by the legislature entitled to the office

of governor had there been a law in reference to it, by throwing out certain votes and
counting other votes, how could that possibly have affected the result in reference to the
election of members of the legislature, except, perhaps, by producing evidence which
would have been acted upon by the legislature itself, each branch of it for itself?

Answer. My understanding is this, that the allegations of the bill being proven, it

would have shown a state of the polls which would have entitled several republicans
to seats in that body, who did not get seats there, but in whose places democrats did
obtain seats. Whether they would have obtained them or not is another thing. That
is the idea which the facts of that bill present very fully.

Question. You say that there were no elections of senators in that election. What was
the reason for that? Does not your constitution provide that senators shall be classi

fied and a certain number go out every year? And was that constitutional provision
observed in the senate?

Answer. The senate say they did observe the constitution.

Question. You say there were no elections for senators?
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J/i*ir*r. The senate is the judge of the election, returns, and qualifications of its own

Qiuxt ntH. In the same sense, the house was the judge of the election and qualification

of its o\vn member-* .

AiiNit a . Yes. sir.

nutxiio,,. Ami yet you undertake here, as a witness, to say that there were several

republicans who ought to have been seated in the house, and who were not allowed

tn take their scats .

Anther. I say that if the allegations of that bill had been proven, that evidence

would have shown that several republican members were entitled to seats who did

not obtain them, and in whose place democrats did obtain seats.

Qn,-*iii&amp;gt;n. Notwithstanding the fact that the house, which was the judge of the elec

tion, ivturns. and qualification of its own members, determined otherwise?

Aiixinr. Yes. sir; that is my judgment.
Question. Now, what was the provision of your constitution in reference to the elec

tion of senators?
Anynrr. I cannot give the exact language; but my recollection is that the senators

were to be classified after the apportionment ;
that then a certain number were to go

out every two years, I think
;
I am not now very clear as to the time they were to go

out
j
but the classification was to take place under the next apportionment. Those

who held that the senate ought to have made this classification so as to have brought
on an election for a certain portion of the senators at the last election

Question. One-half of them?
Anxurr. One-half of them, I believe. Those who held that, say that the apportion

ment referred to in the provision of the constitution was the apportionment which was
then made; those who took the other view, as I understand it, held that the appor
tionment referred to was an apportionment to be made under the census, which was to be
taken in the State, as provided for by the State constitution, and which is to he taken,
I think, every ten years.

Question. Did not the constitution of the State provide that the term of a senator
should be four years ?

Answer. Yes, sir, I think so.

Question. If the apportionment and the classification do not take place until the time
contended for by those who refuse to make the classification, will there not be certain

senators who will hold their seats for six years?
A n mccr. I think so.

Question. Is not that a palpable violation of the constitution, one which will enable
one-half of these senators to hold their seats for six instead of four years ?

Ansircr. Ordinarily it would be, but the constitution of Alabama did not go into

operation immediately, on the election by the people of Alabama, even if the people of
Alabama had voted in favor of it by a majority.

Question. Which they did not do?
Auxin/-. They did not do that. In any event that constitution was to be submitted

to Congress, and the vote in regard to it also was to be submitted to Congress. And,
when Congress decided, and not until Congress did decide, was that constitution to go
into operation. Congress did not make that decision until some time in May, I think,
some time prior to the 20th of July, 1868. The military authorities under whose auspices
and authority, or rather protection and supervision, the election under that constitution
w;is held, reported a vote of some thousands less than a majority of the registered
voters in the State. The act of Congress provided that a majority of the registered
voters of the State should vote at that election : the military authorities reported that
a majority of registered voters had not voted at that election. During all this timd,
the constitution and the officers elected under it were in abeyance, or a^t least not in
active operation. There is an ordinance of the convention of Alabama which framed
this constitution which went on to provide how the officers should hold their offices,
and at what time the terms should begin to run. That ordinance was of equal dignity
with the constitution itself, so tar as the authority from which it emanated was con
cerned, if I recollect it correctly, that ordinance provides that the terms of office of
most of the officers therein named should commence to run from the next general
election.

Ily Mr. POOL:
n. The next ^vneral election provided in the constitution ?

Answer. Yes. sir: the provision in respect to senators, it is contended, does not fall
within that classification, because in that ordinance certain officers are named

;
and

in the Inclusion of some and ihe exclusion of others that rule is held to apply.
Qvesttoft. Von spoke of the uncertainty about the majority in the legislature; and

yon said that the ma.jority in the house depended upon certain districts. Did you not
intend to he understood as meaning that it required the addition of those members
to give a majority of the legislature on joint ballot; that is to say, to enable the ma-
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jority which the democrats bad in the house to overcome the entire body of the senate,
which I understand is republican ?

Answer. The-senate is not entirely republican, there are some few democrats.

Question. Was that not the understanding which you intended to convey ?

Ansiccr. I meant to say simply what 1 have said
;
that if the allegations of Governor

Smith s bill were proven, as we had reason to believe we could prove them, it would
show such a vote in several counties in various portions of the State as would entitle

republicans instead of democrats to seats in the legislature.

Question. A certain number of them?
Answer. I cannot say the number, but several of them.

Question. The fact is that the democrat majority in the lower house was large enough
to overcome the republican majority in the senate on joint ballot, that the entire- senate
held over and there was no election for the senate.

Answer. It is the fact that the entire senate held over, and there was no election for

senators.

By M r. VAX TRUMP :

Question. Did the prayer of the bill require a reorganization of the legislature?
Answer, No, sir.

Question. You spoke of that as evidence.
Answer. Showing that in regard to the election of governor, would necessarily show

if violence and intimidation were exercised to such an extent as the bill charged, and
men were deterred from voting for him as governor; showing that would necessarily
show that a number of thousands of votes were lost to the State for the republican
party. Whether that could have been proven is, of course, a question.

Question. Was there any contest in the house of representatives as to those members
who have been affected by these votes ?

Answer. No, sir; there was no chance for it, and two members from Talladega who
.were in could not retain their seats.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. In giving an account of this contest for governor, I think you omitted to

mention, what I have seen stated as a fact, that Governor Smith attempted to maintain
himself in ot lice by the use of troops, and that he occupied the capitol building with

troops. Is that the fact?

Answer. What I know about it is this: Governor Smith received a notice from Gov
ernor Lindsay, through Colonel J. J. Jolly, if I am correctly informed, calling on him
for the office and claiming it as his right. Governor Smith, as he said, saw a-gathcring
there toward night, the object of which he could only surmise, lie and his private
secretary, and one or two others, perhaps, were there alone. He called on the sheriff

of Montgomery County to take such steps as might be necessary to prevent any dis-

tubance there. I think his bill, to which I have referred, had already been filed. The
sheriff of Montgomery called on the military who were there to aid him as a posse in

that behalf; and such soldiers as were there were there in obedience to that call by
the sheriff, and for the purpose of preserving peace and preventing any violence of any
kind.

Question. Did they occupy the capitol building?
Answer. They were in the basement of the capitol, or in that portion of it where the

executive office is.

By Mr. VAX TRUMP?
Question. Were they Federal or State tooops?
Answer. They were Federal troops, not State troops. Governor Smith has persistently

refused to organize State troops.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. Was there not an order from Washington for those troops to withdraw from
the building ?

Answer. I do not know; I heard that there was such an order.

Question. The troops retired ?

Answer. They retired; they were there as a posse. At all events, there never has
been any revocation of the general order, so far as I have heard, which authorizes the
sheriff of the county to call upon a military officer for the aid of his troops as a posse.
At the same time that I heard this order had bee&quot;ti sent to the troops to remove from
the capitol, I heard that it had been sent under the impression that the military com
mander had acted without any request or authority from the sheriff

;
but I do not

know that from any knowledge of my own.

By Mr. POOL :

Question. You say there were strangers in the court-room when Governor Smith was
requhed to go there?
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Answer. I did not go in the court-bouse at all, but I was so informed.

Question. Speaking about tbo majority in tbe lower bouse, if tbe allegations in tbo

bill had been proven, would it not have shown enough republicans entitled to seats in

i hi- lower lions.- to have given a republican majority!
Anmctr. That was the opinion I bad upon tbe evidence

;
I may have been mistaken

OmMtian. You say you think the allegations of tbe bill could bave been proven?
Annoer. It they had been proven and the men permitted to take their seats

(jucxtiiin. It wiiuld have given a majority in tbe lower bouse?

JWMH r. Such a vote in tbe lower bouse as to bave secured a majority on joint ballot.

yiu-*t u)ii. Not a majority in tbe lower bouse?
A iimn r. No. sir.

(jiu-xf uHi. Have you beard of any Union Leagues in Alabama lately ?

Jw.Mttr. I dout think I bave beard anything about tbe league even as late as 1868;
it was a Ion-- the last of 1867 or tbe first of 1868.

(Jiuxtivn. Von have not beard of auy Union Leagues since 1868?

JH.N//Y/-. Not in operation; I bave beard them spoken of as things that had been. There

may be Union Leagues there now, but I do not know anything upon the subject, pro
or &amp;lt;-ii, from my own knowledge.
QwuHon. Judge Van Trump asked you if the fact that negro suffrage, the right of

negroes to sit in the jury box, and other privileges which they enjoy, having been
forced upon t he people of Alabama by the Federal Government, was not a source of

irritation, and one of the causes of this resistance, and you said you thought it was?
An*im\ I think it was one of the causes.

(Question. You said that those rights had been conferred without the consent of the

white population of Alabama.
Anxu-cr. Yes, sir.

(Attention. Is this Ku-Klux organization, in your judgment, intended to resist by
intimidation the free exercise of those rights on the part of the colored people?

A*ic&amp;lt;r. That is the conclusion I bave formed, from what I have seen and heard.

The testimony of the witness Force was direct that it was intended to control the vot

ing of the negroes.
(JncHtion. To prevent the free exercise on their part of the rights which the Federal

Government bad conferred upon them ?

Anxim: That was tbe idea bis testimony stated with distinctness.

Qneation. Yon stated that was your opinion ?

Anmm: What I have seen has tended to confirm me in the conviction that he told
the truth about it.

(Jiu-*ti:m. That is, that this organization of Ku-Klux was for the purpose of resisting
the iegiiimate consequences of the conferring of those rights on the colored people?

nswer. I do not know that I could answer on that point. The idea was that they
to control by this means the negro vote, and also to control his labor.

. To control his labor?

Yes, sir; amd I intended to state so before, if I did not. *

Question. Without wages ?

Anmccr. They meant that he should work only for such persons and upon such terms
as they sanctioned.

Question. You then look upon it as simply a resistance to the free enjoyment of equal
rights on tbe part of the colored people ?

AnxH a: lean come to no other conclusion than that, upon the evidence which he
gav&amp;lt;-

and upon evidence I have obtained in various other ways.
Question. Is it not a fact that the majority of those who voted upon the adoption oi*

rejection of the constitution of Alabama voted for its adoption?
Anmccr. The act of Congress provided that at least a majority of the registered voters

of the State must appear to bave voted in the election. In Alabama the entire vote in
the election did not make a majority by several thousands of the registered voters of
tin- State. The great body of the white people, I cannot state the exact number, but
the great body of the white people, nine-tenths of them certainly, I reckon, were
n; icily opposed to making the negro a voter in his then condition.

Question. Have yon ever known any one convicted of any of these outrages which
are attribute d to, or done by men in disguise?

No. sir.

Question. Have there been any indictments by tbe grand juries?
Answer, There was a prosecution* at the last spring term, in th

.,

live; but the parties were acquitted, not withstanding the direct testimony (

and his wife, 1 was not concerned in the trial, but I was informed that the
ot the colored man and his wife was positive as to the identity of at least

the county in which I

of the man
he testimony

, one of the
parties.

- ion. Upon what testimony did they get clear?
Amwtr, Upon testimony that was satisfactory to the jury.



ALABAMA. 93

Question. Did it goto prove an alibi?

Answer. Yes, sir; the alibi is the great resort in cases of violence, and insanity in

cases of murder, I believe, as a general rule. That was the defense in the trials in Cal-

houii County, an alibi.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. Were the juries mixed juries?
Answer. I do not remember whether the jury was a mixed jury that tried those

alleged Ku-Klux who were tried last spring in our court
;^but

we have had mixed juries
there.

Question. Is it not the rule that persons of color are equally entitled to sit 011 the

jury with whites?
Answer. Yes, sir; they have to sit there, though incompetent. Many times the poor

creatures feel they are utterly unfit for the duties of the place, and, as I am told, they

say to the white jurors : &quot;You fix up this verdict, and we will agree to it.
7 That is

not because they are corrupt, but because they do not feel capable of doing anything
in the premises.

Question. It is not their fault then?
Answer. No, sir; politics has been forced into the question, but we never would have

had it forced on us if we had done right in 1^65. We had, in 1865, a white man s gov
ernment in Alabama, as there was in every other Southern State, but we lost it because

certain men in the South were dissatisfied.

Question. Was it not rather because certain men in the North insisted that negroes
should be allowed to vote because they would vote the republican ticket ?

Answer. I do not know about that
;
but I felt very well persuaded that the true pol

icy for us was to have at once taken the negro right under the protection of the laws,
as we do our wives and children. When they became free they had no master to take

lip their defense, and if the law did not protect them there was no protection for them.
We did not do that, however, but undertook to make negro codes, and while admitting
that they were free, practically undertook to so reconstruct them as to make their

freedom a curse rather than a blessing. That is the great blunder we made.

Question. Is it not more of a curse now, where the power of the State is put in their

hands ?

Answer. It is a great evil
;
but when the thing is done and made, a part of the law of

the land, it seems to me that it is the part of wisdom to educate their children so as

&amp;gt;
to tit them for the new sphere of lite to which they are called. In old times the moral

persuasion of the negro was the whip. We said, If you do this, I will wh ; p you ; or,

&quot;If you do not do that you will be punished.
1 The law as it then stood did not per

mit the cultivation of the moral sense of the negro child, and the grown-up negro
man was only educated morally as he obtained it by contact with the superior race

with which he mingled. The negro child did not receive the training which we give
our own children, and which we iiud it necessary to give our own children, and with
out which they would fall into vice and crime, and even with which it is not always
certain that they will not do so. But the certainty is far greater when they do not
have that training The negro was controlled by means of the whip and the lash in

slavery times. When slavery was abolished the negro was not thereby transformed
into an angel of light. That negro who was a good servant while in slavery, as a gen
eral rule, was a good man when he became a freedman

;
and the negro who was idle

and vicious before, still remained so. You must make allowances for them now. I was
born and raised in New York, but I went to live in Alabama immediately on coming of

age, and have lived there all my life since. I think I know something of the southern

people ; they are a warm, generous-hearted, and impulsive people ;
but they were ac

customed to having their own way, and to be obeyed when they gave an order. This
sudden transition of the negro race from slavery to freedom, without the consent of

the white population there, and without preparation on the part of the negro race,

gave a. great shock to the people, as you may well understand. The consequence was
that men naturally fell back into their old way of dealing with the negro with the
lash. It was not safe to do it openly, but this secret organization furnished a way to

do so. It was not organized in the first instance for this purpose, as I learn, but for a

very different purpose ;
I do not know what it was

;
but it came to be understood that

in this way negroes might be made to toe the mark again, to do the bidding of the em
ployer, to come up to time a little more promptly, and do more work than they would
otherwise do. It also soon became apparent that in this way the negroes could be de
terred from voting, as they naturally would be. As I said awhile ago, the negroes will

trust their old employers about any matters of business just as implicitly as one man
can trust another, but they will not trust them in politics. They have no faith in our

speeches unless they see that we act with the republican party.

Question. Have they now full faith in those fellows who promised them forty acres of
laud and a mule each in order to get their votes ?

Answer. I do not think they have. Although I have heard a great deal said about
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that I bavo never distinctly known it to be proved that any such promise has ever

been made to them. Still, I have heard so much said about it that 1 have always
thought then was some foundation for the statement. But, after all, the great under

lying sentiment in our Southern States, so far as I comprehend it, grows out of the dif

ference of opinion in regard to the constitutional powers of the Federal Government.

Men have hern educated, and have grown up in the belief, which they entertain as

honestly a&amp;gt; mm ean entertain any sentiment, that the States had a right to secede,

and that in the last resort they were the sole judges as to when and how to exercise

tiiat right. They honestly believed that, and it is not worth while for us to shut our

eyes to thai conviction. In the next place, they believed that before the war the

Union operated prejudicially upon the interests of tlie South; that if the South was
out of the 1 nion, she, by means of her staple productions, especially cotton, eould form

relations \viih other governments much more advantageous than her relations with

the Federal ( iovernnient, and that it was better for them to go out of the Union. That
W*B their need, and they honestly believed it

;
and in the effort to put it in practice

they periled everything men hold dear life, fortune, the institution of slavery itself,

ami all else were put upon the issue. There was another large class of our people who
entertained different views. They did not believe in the right of a State to secede

;

they had still less faith in it being wise and politic to attempt it. They believed that
so long as the Union could bo maintained it would save us from great standing armies
and navies, and from the taxes which inevitably follow in the train of such establish

ments ; that it would save us from the conflicts which for the last hundred years have
deluged Europe with blood, and of which we now see a terrible example. The area of

the United States is not larger than that of Europe. Yet prior to the war we had only
thirteen thousand men as a standing army, while in Europe, in consequence of their

many separate nationalities, there were standing armies of from five to seven millions

of men. While we preserved the Union we were relieved from these establishments
and from taxes to support those establishments. Under the Union we had a uniform
standard of weights and measures; our commercial intercourse was free and unre

stricted; we had a uniformity of post-roads and a uniform currency. In the opinion
of this class of our people, in the language of Washington in his farewell address, the
Union was the palladium of liberty. But in the opinion of men educated in the other
school, the Union, even before the war, and of course it is much more objectionable
now, was the means of sapping our very life-blood, drawing our resources from us, and
giving nothing in return. These men entertained their opinions with honesty ;

and
so far as that is concerned matters stand now as they stood then. With individual

exceptions here and there, men who then believed that the States had a right to
secede believe it still

;
men who were not in favor of the Union then only regret now

that they did not make their movement a success
;
the advantages of the Union do

not, in their opinion, afford any sort of compensation for the losses entailed upon us.
The state of things now is to them beyond expression horrible and distasteful. In my
judgment these men are not enraged against this Government because they are dis- -

franchised, but because they have not been permitted, since the war at least, to man
age their own affairs. They feel, therefore, that they have a continual ground of&quot;

grievance against the Government.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

({next
ion. Do they not feel the immeifse pressure of this fact, the parallel to which I

believe does not exist in all history, that those who were formerly their slaves are now ,

really placed over them as their superiors?
.lit^irer. Of course they feel it.

By the CIIAIUMAX : %
fjitcxtioii. Taking this view of it which you have given us, are not these acts of out

rage and cruelty upon the negro race and upon those who support their rights, simplywar upon the part of people who hold one set of opinions against those who uphold
another s.-t ?

Answer. There are acts of violence.
i. War carried on with arms?

Anvwar. If the circumstances are such as to make it amount to war, the committee
ge. I here is an organi/at ion, but it does not come in the daytime with music

and banners, bui m the night-time, in silence and in disguise, as I am told by those
who have seen them, and as was shown by the proof in the trial. They have often
been seen in that section of country. It is a spectacle calculated to make men s blood
run cold when they sen what they do. It is an organization of the most dangerous

IM SHI.V country,
and especially in a country where the causes of dissatisfac-

reaJ or imaginary, are as numerous as the people of the South think they
(.overnment permits that organization to goon.it is in effect surrenderingthe peace and eood order of the community, ami everything which men hold dear, into

the hands oi a lawless, irresponsible, and violent set of men.
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Question. If these sentiments of which yon have spoken are at the bottom of these

proceedings, is it possible to control the community in which these things occur by the

force of civil proceedings in the courts ?

Ansircr. I hope it is
;
I hope and trust we shall have a sober second thought in regard

to what course to take, and not have to fall under military discipline before wre come
to our senses. What I have said in regard to the division of sentiment among the peo
ple is for the purpose of showing, so far as my opinion and the reasons for it may be of

any value, first, in what way and to what quarter the Government must look for a
movement in behalf of law and order

;
and then, in the next place, that the Govern

ment may know how to judge of the real sentiment of these people. They ought not
to be regarded in the light of great criminals that is, men who have a malicious pur
pose toward everybody. They are men who feel, and no doubt honestly feel, that their

rights have been trampled under foot, as they regard it. They may claim rights they
are not entitled to as a free people; but notwithstanding that, they feel just as much
outraged as if those rights were ever so clearly theirs. The facts are there

; they are
dissatisfied.

Question. In the returns for 1863 it is stated that the vote cast for the adoption of the
constitution was 80,318 ;

the vote for the Grant electoral ticket was 76,360, and for the

Seymour electoral ticket, 72,060. I find no vote stated as having been cast against the

adoption of the constitution; but finding about 4,000 more votes cast for the consti
tution than is cast for the Grant electoral ticket, I wish to ask you what vote among
these returns would fairly represent that part of the vote of the State which declined
to express itself upon the question of the adoption or rejection of the constitution?

Aiimccf. The vote of the entire body of the white people of the State, if it had been

registered, would have amounted to something between 90,000 and 100,000 ;
but the

great mass of the white people of the State refused to vote at all upon the question of
the adoption or rejection of the constitution, myself among the number. And in regard
to the election for President, they became satisfied before the election was over that
General Grant would be elected, and a great many did not go to the polls and vote who
would have gone otherwise, probably.

Quculion. Was the refusal to vote upon the constitution largely upon the ground that
the whole reconstruction policy was void and worthless ?

AHxirtr. Yes, sir, so far as I know. I did what I could to prevent that constitution

being adopted, or any action being taken upon it
;

I urged the people of the State to

take no action in the election at all. But in the presidential election I urged them to

vote, for I thought that was our only salvation to get clear of negro suffrage ;
I thought

if the democratic party succeeded that we should be able to get clear of it. I thought
then we would be enabled to inaugurate in Alabama a system, as I trusted they would
111 other States, by which the white and the colored race would be able to get along to

gether as peaceably and properly as in the nature of things we could expect.

By Mr. Cor.ur.x :

Question. You acted with the democratic party in 1868 ?

Ansn C) . I did then; but when the election was over I came out and said that, having
voted against the republican party as long as it was worth while, it would be better
to make terms with them, work along with it, and in that way acquire their con
fidence. As long as we opposed them they were suspicious of our intentions in regard
to the negro and the perpetuity of the Union. I think now, looking back over tho

past, that I committed a great error in not urging upon the first convention of 1865
the addition of a qualified negro suffrage. I believe if we had done that we should have
been accorded a recognition as a State in 1865 and 1866, and that Alabama would have
been admitted to representation in Congress, 110 matter who were to take seats as

Representatives and Senators.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. While on the subject, I will ask you if it is not your opinion that had tho
Southern States accepted the fourteenth amendment to the Constitution, they would
not have retained this question of suffrage in their own hands ?

Answer. At that time I was entitled to claim a seat in the Senate of the United States,

having- been unanimously electedto that office; although I could not take the iron-clad

oath, I endeavored to ascertain whether we would be admitted if we accepted the
fourteenth amendment.

By Mr. BLAIK :

Question. In other words, as a supplement to the question of the Chairman, if the
whole southern people had turned republicans at that time, it would have been all

right ?

Answer. I did not understand them to make that condition. They did not feel cei-

taiu that we could be relied upon in regard to two things : first, in regard to the negro,
who must be in a great degree committed to our charge ; and, second, they did not
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have entire confidence in regard to our implied submission to the Union. But they
feared that .-.-roml less. because they knew they had the physical power to put us down
if tin- issue should ever again come.. But they feared that we would not deal fairly

with the negro, if the question was put beyond the control of Congress. Let me add

one word about the fourteenth amendment. I could not ascertain that Alabama would
In- admitted and ivcngni/ed as a State, even if we did adopt that amendment. On the

contrary I did not get it from Mr. Sumner himself, but I got it in such a way as to

lead me to believe it-- 1 was led to believe that Mr. Sumner and Mr. Stevens had still

further purposes, which wen; not communicated, as to us. Therefore, we could not

see any tiling to be gained by adopting an amendment which was only to be made a

Stepping-stone to some other proposition.

By Mr. COBUHX :

Qmntiint. Was there anybody really who had authority to make a bargain ?

r, /-. I suppose if 1 he leaders of the party had said so it would have been all right.
Mr. \Yuile himself would not say for a long time what they would do. I think he said

in New Orleans, in a speech he made there, that if the fourteenth amendment was

adopted by any State he should feel bound to vote for the admission of that State.

But it was then too late
;
most of the States had acted on the amendment.

By Mr. TAX TRUMP :

Question. Do you know anything of the character or standing of this man Force,
whose testimony you have referred to ?

Answer. Only from an inquiry I instituted with reference to him after he appeared
there, asking that the man who* had outraged his daughter should be secured. He then
communicated to me that he knew something about the Ku-Klux. Before I put him
on the stand, I made some inquiry about him, but the result was not very satisfactory.
I did not get an opportunity of satisfying myself until I met with Judge Haroldson,
the judge of the circuit court in which Cherokee County is included. From him I

learned that Force was a man who could be relied upon for the truth of what he might
state.

Question. Does this Force still live there?
Ansteer. He stated that he had been compelled to go armed ever since he made the

issue with the men of the organization; that in fact he had had a fight writh them
right on the spot, when he told them that he would go with them no longer; and that
he had wounded one of them.

Question. One question in regard to the Eutaw meeting ; you said there was a large
meeting?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What was the relative proportion between the whites and the blacks ?

Anxwcr. The preponderance Was very largely on the side of the blacks.

Ques! ion. Were there more than one or two hundred white men there ?

Answer. I cannot state what number were there
; they were there in considerable

numbers
;
the town itself is a pretty large town.

Question. What is your impression about the negroes being armed ?

Answer. I saw only two or three armed, with an ordinary pocket-knife, such as men
generally carry ;

I saw none armed with arms of any other kind; their conduct was as

peaceable and orderly as ever was seen at a meeting, until the fuss with Mr. Hays,
when two or three stepped forward from my right, but immediately desisted when I

&amp;gt;

spoke to them.

Question. Do you remember about the negroes forming a line across the street?
AiiNirer. No, sir, I did not see it

; they got away as quickly as they could.
Qnextion. Did you hear them lire from across the street?
Answer. No, sir, I did not. As soon as I could get away, after the firing, I went across

to the hotel, and went up to the room of Governor Smith. It was his chill day; he
Had not spoken that day, though he spoke the day before.

r&amp;gt;\ Mr. POOL :

H tn. The right to vote, to sit upon the jury, &c., conferred upon the colored
man, sin- all embraced in the general expression, &quot;reconstruction policy of Congress.&quot;Do you consider ihis Ku-Klux movement a resistance to that reconstruction policy ?

Answer. Well, I cannot say that I have any definite opinion on that point that is,
one which is satisfactory to myself; the inclination of my mind is that it is a resistance
to that policy. lam inclined to believe there is a general dissatisfaction. If you
include in the &quot;

reconstruction
policy&quot; the making of the negro a voter, then I think it

is. It i* his bring made a voter that has given point and efiect to this whole business.
Question. It the Government of the United States should reverse that policy, should

abolish the reconstruction laws, should rescind the constitutional amendment, do you
think it would have any tendency to restore quiet and peace there?

Answer. It would make those who are dissatisfied on that ground better satisfied,
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&quot;but it would make a dissatisfaction on the other side. For one. I am opposed to any
rcscisiou, ibr I think now that it is adopted, we had better do the be-tit we can \vitli it,

In a lew years these things will pass away, and the Government is of far more import
ance than these temporary things.

(Question, if the Government will not retrace its steps, then what policy should the
Government pursue .

Answer. I am certain of one thing-, that we cannot do anything without having law
and order; there must he that security which comes from the maintenance of law and
order by means of the courts, before there can be any real peace and prosperity in any
country.

Question. What can the General Government do to secure that ?

Jmmvr. I think it is taking the right course by adopting these measures which were

passed last winter. K our people will only learn wisdom, and goto enforcing the law
in our .State by the State, courts as wo ought to. give protection to the people, no
matter what Iheir political sentiments may be, so long as they do not violate the law,
it will be all right, ir is no crime Ibr a man to think the republican party is entitled

to Ins coniidence and support ;
when it becomes a crime let him be- punished for it.

These men are emboldened to go on in their course, from ih. fact that they believe
that such is the general sentiment no jury would indict them,orif an indictment
was found, none would convict them. Since the- Congress onacred these laws it has

given, them very decided pause, especially when they read the proclamation of the
1 resident, warning the. people that if it becomes necessary, he will exert all the powers
with whica Congress has clothed him; that has set them thinking.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. How much does this repressive policy of Congress differ from the policy
which exists in Ireland ?

Answer. This is no such repressive policy as that, for the simple reason that the cases

are not similar. The repressive policy in Ireland is a very di Ifevent aft air. In tho
first place, the Irish were conquered by invasion, and they have been settled, as they
term it there, about three times.

Question. How were those people down south conquered /

Ansu-er. Yon ought to know, for you helped to do it, and I was mighty glad to see

you when you were doing it.

Question. Was it not by invasion ?

Anan-cr. By putting down armed rebellion.

Question. Was not ihat the same thing in Ireland ?

Answer. No, sir; Ireland was free and independent.
(JnexHon. Were I hey not conquered by invasion .

Answer. Yes, .sir; but they were a free people when their country was invaded, and
they owed no allegiance to the government of Great Britain.

Question. Were not the people of the South a free people I

Answer. Yes. sir, but they owed allegiance to the Constitution of the United States.

Question. They owed allegiance to their Government.
Answer. They owed allegiance to tho Government of the United States; there is no

denying that, ibr if they did not, then the Government of the United States is a mere
myth.

Question. I will not go into that matter &quot;with you, for we may not differ much on that
head. What I want to know is, in what do the repressive measures adopted by Con
gress toward the South, differ from the repression which for three centuries has been

adopted by England toward Ireland ?

Answer. It differs in this: in Ireland there was no race of people to be set free and
to be provided for

;
all were free.

Question. Does not that make it more difficult in the South ?

Answer. Our difficulties are very great ;
I have not gainsaid or denied that

;
I admit

it. But Ku-Kiuxism only aggravates them : it aggravates the evils and does not mod
ify or improve anything.

Question. Is it not the outcropping, rather, of oppression find tyranny, exactly like

the outbursts in Ireland .&quot;

Answer. In the lirst place, the Irish people were a separate and independent nation;
they were under no obligation whatever to the British government. They wore sim-

ply invaded and subjugated, and naturally they resisted it. That was not the case in

the South. Our forefathers formed this Union of their own accord
;
in the convention

little Delaware and Rhode Island had equal power with Virginia, Pennsylvania, and
New York. Those men had never fought each other

; they had never shed each other s

blood, nor had their forefathers done so. They met as equals ; they formed the Con
stitution, and said they did so. among other tilings, &quot;to preserve the blessings of lib

erty to themselves and their posterity.&quot; The sword of Brennns was not thrown into

that scale. They met as equals; they made the ilag upon which each star was equal.

They were bound by the Constitution they formed
;
their children were bound by it.
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It was our duty to stand by it, in view of the immense benefits which it conferred, and
of tin- evils that would resr.lt from destroying it. I bless God that it was supported
that ethers did stand hv it : I could not de it; I would have done it if 1 could. 1 in-

ti ::d n.-ver again to he placed where I cannot stand by it, and, if need be, die for it.

My Mr. VAN Tin MI- :

( nuntioii. We wii i not differ on those propositions. I admit the great error, and political

. pci haps, which the Southern States committed in seceding; they had no consti

tutional right to sec. -de. But when we look at it in the general aspect ;
when wecoine

to consider that the diilicultie.s that now surround us surrounded the men that formed

that Constitution : that the battles which were fought between the confederate soldier

ami the Federal soldier were fought in these very halls; that at last the battles that

were fought in these halls culminated in an appeal to arms by men on both sides, with

honest convict ions taking all these things into consideration, do you not think that

tin* true policy of the Government is amnesty, mercy, and the equal administration of

J,;.s;nr. For political offenses, for all connected with the past, I think it is. I say
amnest v lor the past with respect to political offenses; but I say the law and its pen
alties. where a proper ease is made out, fof assassins and murderers.

Right there we do not differ again. The purpose of this investigatiRight there we do not differ again. The purpose of this investigation is to

ascertain whether there is a band of lawless men organized generally in the South.

Answer. I am aware that is the object of the investigation, and I am glad it is in the

hands of men who intend to discharge their duty impartially, as I can plainly see from
what has transpired here this morning, as well as from reports of what has heretofore

l&amp;gt;een done, so far as they have come to my knowledge. I trust I am really grateful
thai this is to be investigated. If these things are all false, let it bo known, and let

those of us who have been under this impression, and willfully so, be held up to pub
lic execration as we deserve. On the other hand, if these things are true, in the name
of good government, law, and order, let us by every just and proper means maintain
the supremacy of the law.

(Jiifxtion. Is it your opinion that in any of these southern States, with, perhaps, the

exception of South Carolina, this organization, if it exists at all, as a general proposi

tion, is so strong that the State courts and the State authorities cannot control it with
out the aid of the military power of the Federal Government?

Aiixica: I cannot speak with regard to South Carolina, or any other State, so well as

of my own. My opinion is that in the heavy negro counties, as we call them in our

State, there is a state of public opinion which completely overrides the law, which re

fuses to enforce it with respect to a certain class of offenders and a certain description
of offenses.

{hu ulion. How many counties of that kind arc there in Alabama ?

J/ixMvr. In my opinion, a great many of these negro counties. I say so because I

have no information of all the murders that have been perpetrated, but they arc nu
merous. and I have never known an instance in which a man has been convicted of

killing a negro.
. Has it not been impossible to find out the perpetrators ?

In some instances it has, in others it has not. There is this to be said for

our people : They have always been disposed to make allowances for killing and shoot

ing each other in what they call a fair fight ; juries would always go as far as they
could to excuse a man for that, and when they had to convict him would punish as

lightly as possible. But if a man lay in wait for another, stood behind a tree and shot.

him, or laid poison for him, resorted to any of those secret modes of assassination, f*

have never known of any country where they would punish a man more readily for
such a thing than in tic- South. But in regard to a &quot;fair stand-up fight,&quot;

as they call

ii. they would make all tile allowances they could, because they did not know how
soon they might get into one themselves. In regard to punishing other crimes, such
as theft, burglary, arson, &c., in old times our courts and juries were as fair and impar
tial and faithful as the courts of any other States, and 1 think our records will prove
it. Bui since the war, since this state of things has occurred, a different sentiment^

prevailed. Men have gone in numbers and whipped and beaten and outraged col-
ored people, taken their arms away from them, and in other ways have done them
wrong, not to speak of the murders that have been committed. &quot;But yet no one of
them has been punished t hat 1 know of. I think there is a sentiment in our State
which only needs to fed that there is a power that, in the last resort, can be relied on
to uphold law ;Mid order, which will come up and perform its duty; because we have
wives and children, homes and firesides, and we belong to the English-speaking race,
lt least to a eivili/ed race, and we wont the protection of the law and order, peace
and quiet, around our homes, and security there. I think it is only necessary for the

inmeiit to show that it is determined to put this thing down, and the work will
at once he largely accomplished. It is only upon the idea that they can go scot-free
that men are disposed to commit crimes. If a man knows that he will certainly be
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overhauled and punished, that the chances will bo ninety-nine out of a hundred that

he will be, he will hesitate long before he commits a crime.

Question. All your ideas about the extent of the offenses committed are mere opin
ions?

Answer. I never saw one of them committed.

Question. In the state of feeling in the South is it not probable that very exaggerated
accounts of these things will get into the newspapers, and be circulated in that way ?

Answer. Yes; and it is very natural that men should feel dissatisfied. Our great
mistake; is that we have allowed our feelings of dissatisfaction to take a wrong direc

tion. It certainly is not right for men to shoot and whip and kill in the manner they
have been doing there for some time past.

By Mr. Coisur.x :

Question. Something was said in relation to the invasion of the South and the con

quest of that region. Do you regard the marching of the Union armies through the

South, during the war, as an invasion, or the restoration of law and order there a con

quest of the South ?

Answer. In one sense the marching of an army anywhere is an invasion
;
but in a

political sense I do not regard the inarching of the Army in the South as an invasion

of the South
;
neither do I regard the restoration of law and order there a conquest,

except over crime and violence. I wish it to be understood that lam heartily in favor

of that sort of conquest.

By Mr. POOL :

Question. I did not catch your answer to Judge Van Trump s question in regard to

the power of the State courts to deal with these Ku-Klux crimes.

Answer. I think this: That in the present conditional things an attempt on the part
of the State, right at this time, to enforce the execution of the hny, would, perhaps,
lead to conilicts. It might not in Alabama, if the governor organized companies of

white men. But I do not think our people would submit, quietly to have companies of

negroes organized for the purpose of arresting them and enforcing the law. 1 think

they .would light them. On the other hand, 1 think if the Government of the United
States will furnish its troops to aid the civil authorities to uphold Ihe law, they will

not light the United States troops. I think in that way we could avoid collision and
bloodshed. I have been all the time opposed, and so was our late governor, to the or

ganization of colored troops, because 1 thought it would only aggravate our condi

tion.

Question. Could you find white men upon whom you could rely ?

Answer. I do not know that we could.

Question. You were asked if the accounts of these outrages in the newspapers were

exaggerated. State whether there has been exaggeration, or whether the truth has

been entirely told.

Answer. I would not like to indorse all the newspaper reports, nor would I like to

condemn them. So far as any transactions have come to my knowledge, from the infor

mation 1 have received. I know of no exaggeration in regard to the affairs ofour State. I

think afl airs there have equalled, and more than equalled, all that has been represented
of them.

By Mr. STEVENSON :

Question. I understand yon to divide the white population of your State into two
classes those who were originally and who are still of opinion that the State had a

right to secede from the Union
;
and those who adhered to the Union.

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. If the original Union element, which I understand to have been the old

whig party
Answer. A great many democrats were Union men.

Question. So much the better.

Answer. And General Jackson was a mighty popular man down in our part of the

State.

Question. If the original Union element be added to the negro vote, is there not In

Alabama a majority of adherents to the Union f

Answer. Yes, sir
5&quot;

if the whole Union element could be got to act with the whole
colored vote, there is a very large majority for the Union.

Question. Is not that a very hopeful circumstance ?

Answer. That is my foundation to build upon.
Question. That distinguishes your case from that of Ireland?
Ansur.r. Yes, sir; indeed, I do not think the two^cases are analogous ;

we are a part
of this Government; Ireland was not part of England.

Question. And a majority of the actual voters in Alabama now prefer the Union and
this Government, if they could be brought to act together ?



100 CONDITION OF AFFAIRS IN THE SOUTHERN STATES.

[thinki : I think if we could have a fair canvass upon the issue of Union
-union now, we should YOU-, now against secession. Ikuowthat in I860 wo would

have vot.-il against Lt overwhelmingly, if the issue had been fairly made. But they
ID that we were in any danger of disunion; they said they only wanted to

hinn s Jixed up a little better.

Question. Your idea is that the friends of the Government should be got to cooperate
her!
wer. Yes. sir.

. And MI oidt-r to do that the authority of the United States should be exerted
TO preserve the peace .

AiiNtnr. Yes, sir ; I do not think any man can object to the authority of the United
\ at ion of law and order, when the condition of things is as it is in

ma and some other States. That authority does not trample down our rights,
i nits us in a condition where we can uphold them.

-linn. You
&amp;gt;:iy

this witness Force spoke of a purpose ou the part of the Ku-Klux
Klan to restrain the iVeedinen as to their labor ?

ncer. That is my recollection of what he said.

/ion. Was it apart of their plan to require him, so far as it was practicable and
hi* old master wanted him, to work for his old master?

:r&amp;gt;&amp;gt;: 1 do not think he said that; I have no recollection of his saying that.

&amp;lt;&amp;lt;

, &amp;lt; s//V&amp;gt;/&amp;gt;. Did he describe to you how the whipping was done when men were

whipp
wer. He described the manner in which the particular person was whipped that

they dealt with the night he was admitted into the organization.
(hfxtion. How was that ?

wer. Just in tho ordinary way ;
ho was called out from the house and compelled

. to dance a while for their amusement, and then they whipped him with hickories.

Question. Did he speak of any orders being given, or of any formalities observed on
that occasion .

Answer. I do not think he did.

QiH-xtion. Did you preserve notes of his testimony?
Answer. The testimony was all taken down in writing by a clerk appointed for that

purpose.
Question. And became official ?

AHWCI: It was filed in the office of the circuit court clerk of Calhoun County.
Quenli n&amp;gt;. You spoke of a gentleman by the name of J. J. Jolly as serving a notice
Ansu cr. Delivering a note from Governor Lindsay.
(,

in Niion. Demanding of Governor Smith the office of governor ?

r. That was my understanding; I did not see the note.

QmxlioH. That was after the injunction had been issued and served ?

Anxinr. That is my recollection.

Question. Is that the same Mr. Jolly who resides at Eutaw ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. A leading lawyer there ?

Ammr. Yes. sir.

Question. A prominent democrat ?

- r. lie is said to be.

Question. Is there any other man of that name there ?

Auxin r. Not that I know of; I have no recollection of ever having seen this man, ,

ough I may have done so, nevertheless.

Qm-xtion. There is no other man of that name at Eutaw?
Anxinr. Not that I know of. ^

t&amp;gt;&amp;lt;ni. You spoke of the fact of violence in the counties of Greene, Sumter, and
go. Do you know what the effect of that violence was on the vote of Greene

County .

/. The riot and shooting occurred some short time before the election in No-
f. not many days. The election was on the 8th of November, I think; and I
the shooting occurred about the middle of October, aa near as I can now.recol- *

\\ hile J cannot say that men did not go to the polls and vote, or when they did*
,LM&amp;gt;

and voted lor the democratic ticket that they did not do it of their own accord, I
can -ay that this occurred there : there were some twenty-live hundred to three thou-

rtored people there, and when I closed my frequently interrupted remarks to
i called upon them to hold up their hands and Signify how many would attend

- and vote, not the republican ticket, but vote at the next election day;
here was a general response, so far as I could see; everv colored man in the crowd

I hi* hand, and most .&amp;gt;r ih,.,n put up both hands.
rfibn. 1 see by th- returns in lsG{) that Greene ( nunty &quot; avo, for Mr. Hays for Cou-

votes, and lor his o )M &amp;gt;onent, Mr. K ead, i&amp;gt;?r, votes. In 1R7U Grtjenfe County
or Mr. Hays only 1.7DU votes, whil.- it gave for Mr. llavs s opponent L^2f&amp;gt; votes

making a change iroin one side to the other of about a thousand votes
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.-tiwccr. If that was the voluntary action on their part, then why the necessity of

tiring into th:it crowd of negroes and putting them through such a course of discipline
as that shooting must have been ? If they were, going to vote for the democratic
ticket anyhow, why should they be facilitated in that manner? Tlmt is the

&quot;,vay
the

thing presents itself to my mind.

Q&amp;gt;n*:!ion.
Iii other words, why should they shoot their friends ?

Jusiccr. Yes, sir.

Question. By the returns, Mr. Hays, in 18f&amp;gt;9
;
in Sumter County, received 2,300 votes

;

his opponent, Mr. Road, received 470 votes. In 1870, in Sumter County, Mr. Hays
received hut 1,437 votes, while his opponent received 2,055 votes, making a change
there of about 000 votes from one side to the other. Then, assuming that this change
was brought about by violence, those two counties alone- would have been sufficient to

change the result in the State.

Ansicer. That, I thi;;k. is very clear; but there were also other parts of the State in

which there were changes.

By Mr. VAX Tifi Mr:

(Jiicviion. You say you advocated the democratic ticket in 1868?
Answer. Yes, sir.

QtiL tiioH. You are now a thorough republican, as I understand it?

An*&amp;gt;c&amp;lt;r. I act with the republican party for the reason stated: that I see no use in

any fnrthcr opposition to the reconstruction policy which the Government lias

adopted.

By Mr. STEVKXSOX :

Qi&amp;lt;(*
i:t. You understand that the democratic party is opposing reconstruction ?

Ai:--:irc} . Yes, sir; and especially opposing the education of the colored child, which,
in my judgment, is the only way in which we can remedy the evils, or, in short, lit

any one- for the exercise of political duties.

WASHINGTON-, D. C., JnncW, 1871.

LUTHER R. SMITH sworn and examined.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Qtn&amp;lt;*1ion.
In what p-irtion.of Alabama do you live?

AiiKtfcr. In Choetaw County, in the southwestern portion of the State.

Qi .r:&amp;lt;t;(H}. How long have you resided there ?

Answer. Since Xoveinhev, 1&amp;gt;

&amp;lt;&amp;gt;5; permanently since December, 1365.

Qttc^i nni. What oiiicial positions have you held from that time to the present, ar.d

what opportunities have you had of knowing the existing condition of tilings there as

alfecting the execution of the law and the security of liie and property in the part of
the State in which you live ?

Auxiccr. I was appointed registrar of Choetaw and Washington Counties by Gen
eral Pope in 18:57; that was the first ofuce I held there. After registering those two
counties I was elected judge of the circuit court for the seventh judicial circuit, com
posed of Choetaw, Greene, Marengo, Sumter, and Pit-kens Counties, and entered upon
the duties of the olhce at the time the State government was formed under the recon
struction act of L-Y&amp;gt;8, and have, been performing those duties since that time. If you
will designate what particular line of inquiry you wish me to embrace in my testi

mony, I will endeavor to do so.

Question. The duty imposed upon us by the legislation of Congress is to ascertain
the extent to which the laws are executed, and life, person, and property are secure in
the late insurrectionary States.

Answer. The manner in which the laws have been executed?
Question. Both have been and are being now executed.
Answer. I entered upon the duties of my office on the 13th of July, 1868, I think,

at the time the State government was organized there. No term of the court was
held that fall on account of the political excitement there, and in one county on ac
count of my personal sickness, so that 1 was unable to attend. In the spring^ of 1869
the courts were held regularly without any obstacle or obstruction at all; also in the
fall of 1869. In the spring of 1870, the first organized opposition to the law that mani
fested itself was the taking from his room at the hotel in Eutaw the solicitor of one of
the counties composing rny circuit, by a band of sixty men, as was reported, and the
shooting him in the hotel.

Question. In what county was that ?

Answer. In Greene County. I charged the grand jury especially in reference to that
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act urnn upon them the importance of investigating the matter and punishing the-

parties! aiid t;itiii&quot; ti&amp;gt; them that they owed it to the citizens of that county to do so.

1 appointed from outside of the circuit an able lawyer, Mr. F. P. Snedicor, who was in

attendance uncn ihc --rand jury all the time. The grand jury was in session two

weeks the time fixed
l&amp;gt;y

law. They reported that they were unable to find out any

parties connected with liic murder, but from the evidence they had obtained they had

traced the kind as coming fromPiekens County, an adjoining county; that they came
from and returned in the same direction.

iiiitxt nni. From your knowledge of the circumstances connected with that case, is it

opinion that his murder was in any way connected with the discharge of his

al duties .

. ! nyn-rr. 1 i was : at least it was so reported. The reason why he was killed, as stated,

was this: There had been three negroes murdered some time before, and the solicitor

; that he thought he was on the track of the murderers and intended to indict

. if he had to keep the grand jury in session for six months. I think that was the

charge made against him.

Question, Proceed with what you were going to say in reference to Pickens County.
Juxinr. I went to the next county, and daring the term of the court a party of some

:;:en. I think, in disguise, waited upon the solicitor there and told him that they
-rood lie was anxious to sre a party of these men, and they came there for the

ose of showing themselves to him, and they advised him not to be too anxious

Mving them. I charged the grand jury particularly in reference to this organ-
::. and also called their attention to the report of the grand jury of Greene County,
h traced tin; party to Pickeiis County. I urged upon them the importance of

; i ^a tin;; that matter, in order that they might clear the skirts of their county from

having anything to do with the matter, That grand jury, after a session of nearly two
weeks, reported that they were unable to find any trace of any party of men from that

county Pickens County. I &amp;lt;lid not hold the last court in Greene County, but exchanged
AY: ih smother judge; but, so far as I know, there has not been any investigation or any
hniictment against the murderers of that solicitor.

&amp;lt;

t
hn xti&amp;lt;&amp;gt;n. That solicitor Avas named Mr. Boyd?

Jj/xiar. Yes, sir. Several outrages were reported in Pickens County hymen in dis-

. such as whipping various parties, but from lack of testimony they Avere unable
r lind out or to indict the parties connected with them. That was in the spring

of 1860. There was no difficulty during the fall term of 1869. Indeed, there never had
li 11 any difficulty in the county in Avhich I reside; everything had been very quiet..
I do not know that a felony had been committed there in the tAVO years I presided in

unity until the fall before the last election there. Then there was an old man,
&amp;gt;, aihaniel Edwards, a negro man, who A\

ras murdered by some men I do not know how
many there were. The grand jury could not find and did not indict the murderers,
although they, the grand jury, Avere particularly charged Avith reference to that case.

n. Was that murder committed by persons who were armed and disguised?
r. They Avere armed, but I could not find out, nor did the grand jury find out, .

that they Avere disguised at nil. In Sumter County, last fall, there Avere some reports
*

that it would be impossible for me to hold court there. Reports of that character came
e. I placed no reliance upon them, because they could not be traced to any relia-

urce. I Avent to Sumter County, and was told by one of the leading lawyers there
.

be did not know Avhether the court could be held
;
that there Avas great political

men! Uieiv. But I went on and held the court there Avithout any particular dif-&amp;gt;

ficulty, except certain manifestations of resistance to the orders of the court by certain

: men, and the frequent expression that there Avas no law there any Avay but the^
law of nature.

(jitrxtioH. You speak of opposition to the orders of the court. In what manner was
that opposition manifested?

..NMfYT. I saw scA-eral men the first day bringing into the court-room their pistols
d around them, and I could hear their pistols strike the benches as they sat down.

I called t he sheriff and told him that, while the court recognized the constitutional right .

ery person to bear arms in self-defense, it did not recognize the necessity of any^
man defending himself wit li arms before a court of justice. I told him that persons must
not bring their pistols into court; that he Avould so notify them

;
that the court was

willing and thought it was able; to protect every man Avho had business before it; and
t. after h - had notified the persons, they still attempted to bring their pistols into
he would arrest them and bring them before the court. In the afternoon some par-

: ought their pistols into court . I furthermore told the sheriff that I would hold
ersonally responsible, for the enforcement of tho order. I received a. note from one

of the lawyers stating that, if I Avould pass over that occurrence iu the afternoon, fhey
AV .ald tak - measures to have the order carried out. There was considerable excitement
manifested, Articles wen- published in the paper there intimating that it was a trick
of the court to bring abont a co:iilict between the court and citizens tin-re, and claim
ing that the citizens had a constitutional right to bring their pistols into the court-
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bouse. But the bar held a meeting, although I did not know it at the time, and used
their influence to prevent it, and everything passed off quietly there.

QiicxUon. Was the order of the court obeyed after that ?

Ansiccr. Yes, sir, except in one case; and then, as soon as the party was made ac

quainted with the order he obeyed it. I forgot to state that in that county, in Sumter

County, in the spring a house had been attacked. An old man by the name of Chot-
teau had been notified to leave. An Irishman was at his house guarding it; I do not
recollect the name of the Irishman. A party came there that night disguised, and
fired into his house; this man tired back at them and one of them was killed. At the

spring term of the court one or two parties, I do not now recollect which, but one party I

know was indicted for the crime of arson. I learned from the solicitor at the next term
of the court that every one of the witnesses except this man, Chotteau, who had left the

county, had been killed in the county within six months after tin? indictment was
found. The sheriff resigned just before the fall term of 1809, and there was no court

held there at that time. Under the law the court has no authority to appoint a coro

ner or a sheriff, the appointing power resting with the governor. There was no trou

ble at any time in executing the laws there until the spring of 1871. Reports came to

my ears, about a week before holding court in my own county, that it would be im

possible for me to hold court there; that a body of armed men from Mississippi would
come there and break up the court; that they did not intend that any one holding office

under the reconstruction acts should continue longer in office. I went to the court

house alone, that is, on horseback, (I lived about 8 miles from the court-house,) and

opened court as usual. I had 110 difficulty at all
;
I charged the grand jury, and the court

passed off very quietly the lirst week, and business was dispatched as satisfactorily as

ever. That was also the case on Monday of the second week. On Tuesday of the second
week there was some nbise outside and some drunkenness. I directed the sheriff to send
the bailiff out and to put a stop to that noise or bring the parties into court. He went
out and quieted the disturbance. It being nearly four o clock, the hour for adjourning, I

adjourned the, court. I afterward heard several pistols fired; and there was a great deal

of drunkenness in town. Previous to this, that is, during the lirst week of the court, the

sheriff had informed me that he had information it would be impossible to hold court in

that county ;
that he could not maintain order, and could not carry out the orders of the

court, and therefore he would resign. The probate judge, Judge Hill, and myself urged
him not to resign, and told him ifhe resigned it would be impossible to get another sheriff

appointed, ami the court would have to give up that term. He concluded not to resign.
The probate judge of that county, Judge- Hill, had previously received letters, which I

have seen 1 do not recollect their dates purporting to have been written by the Ku-
Klux, (so signed,) ordering him to vacate his office, on the ground that lie was a re

publican. To those letters he paid no attention. He has a plantation some eight miles

from the county seat. One day as he was riding along, about 3 o clock in the after

noon, within a quarter of a mile of Mount Sterling, a flourishing little village, a man
lying in the corner of the fence, twenty-live yards away, I should think, iired at him
as he was going through a little piece of woods. The judge is a very large man, and
was holding the reins in OIK; hand, and the ball passed through his arm. He. was un

armed, and did not stop at all, but drove on for about a quarter of a mile, to the house
of a physician, where he had his arm dressed. The physician said he had heard the

report of the gun or rifle, whichever it was. About a week after that, I should think
it was, he received still another notice, ordering him to vacate his office, stating t hiio

he had been warned twice, that he had been Iired at once, and the, next time his life-

would be taken. He did not resign then. The day the sheriff handed in his resigna
tion, on the Wednesday morning of the second week, the people there held a meeting.
A part of them were in favor of calling upon all the officers the republican or radical

officers to resign. Another portion, whose counsels prevailed, were in favor of post

poning such a call until the whole county could be heard from. The next convention
was to meet on the first Saturday of May, I think, and the meeting adjourned until

that time. Before that time, however, the sheriff resigned, and stopped the court
;
and

the probate judge resigned before the last meeting. This meeting came together and
reaffirmed some &quot;resolutions passed at a previous meeting, held in Sumter County, call

ing on the circuit judge and all the radical officers of the county to resign.

Question. Were those meetings called as party meetings, or were they meetings of

citizens without respect to party ?

Answer. They purported to have been called by the people. The democratic party
held a meeting the same day for the purpose of putting. out nominations for those
offices. The first meeting in Sumter County was called for the purpose of nominating
a county superintendent a party meeting called by previous notice the meeting that

passed the first resolutions in reference to the circuit judge. Those resolutions stated

the reasons why they called on the circuit judge to resign. The first resolution stated

that they were in favor of lav/ and order and the enforcement of the laws, and pro
tested against any violation of the same. The second resolution stated that they be
lieved that the Hon. Luther E. Smith could not enforce the laws in that circuit, first,
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and that tin-
jve:&amp;gt;le

looked upon
on that account they asked tiu-ni to resign. The probate ;,udgo resigned; indeed, all

the republican officers in thai county have resigned. In Pickena County tlio probate

iudce and the circuit clerk last summer received notices ordering them to vacate their

They immediately shut up their offices, but a meeting of somu citizens was

&amp;lt;rlled there and they took ground on the side of the officers and told them to go ahead.

When I held the conrt in Greene County last fall, there were troops sent there; that

AVIS -il ter the jjfiVav known as the Eutaw riot. There was no disturbance at all during
the holdiii-- of the court there. When I arrived in Pickens County, I found the circuit

elerk in tlTe barracks, or rather with the troops, lie had gone to the command for

safety.

[r. VAX THUMP:
:n. Troops were stationed in Pickens County also?

Answer. Yes. sir; during the election. I did not see the clerk before I held court;

and I inquired of the sheriff if the deputy clerk was there, and he s::id he was. I sent

for him and asked him if he was still deputy clerk, and he said ho was. I said, &quot;Wo

will open court. 7 I then opened the court. The .clerk afterwards came in. He told

mo that he h;d been afraid to st;;y in his house
;
that he had been warned that his life

would be taken if lie did not [live up the office; and that he really thought of going
away with the troops who were about to remove. The troops moved away on the

third day of the iirst week of the session of the court. The court was in session two
weeks, l jK i.-uaded the clerk to remain and take charge of the duties of his office. I

said that I thought the sheriff would be able to protect him; that I thought there

would be no trouble about it. The charge against him was that during the election

lie had distributed republican tickets, and thereby had made himself obnoxious in that

county. There was another case in that county which was brought to my attention.

A man by the name of Latham, I think, a minister, was taken out and whipped.

By the CHAIRMAN :

(Jnt HiioH. Was he white or colored ?

Jj/.siar. 1 r e was a white man. He was taken out and whipped, and his money taken
from him at tii&quot; same time. The charge against him was, that in his locality the no-

had received republican tickets, and he was.suspected of having furnished them,
although he, did not vote, and was in Columbus at the time of the election. I do not
know that there is any other instance in that county that I can relate now.

(Jncxtioi:. Dees that embrace all the counties in your circuit ?

Anxim . Yes. sir. 1 did not hold the court in Suniter County after the breaking up of

the court in (. hoc-taw County, by reason of the resignation of the sheriff. I called in

the juries and grand jury and told them tliat the sheriff having resigned, and the court

having no po\ver to appoint an executive officer, it would be impossible to continue
the court longer ;

that while their duties as jurors would cease, yet their duties as citi-

/ens would not. I told them of the importance of obeying the laws, of the evil effects *

of anarehy, and then dismissed them. I then got on my horse and immediately rode 5j

home to my plantation, about eight miles from Butler, the county scat of Choctaw.
As I was riding home, when I was about a mile from Butler, I mefc eight negroes from

my place with their double-barreled guns on their shoulders. They were coming down
with a, man by the name of Seymour, I think, who had been beaten the day before at
Mount Sterling. I asked them what they were doing, and they said they were going
to la!:- him before the. grand jury. I told them they were doing wrong; that they
ought not to go along the public highways with their guns in that way ;

that the man, *

if he li;nl been assaulted, could have gone before the grand jury and made his report ;

but thai they \vere doing wrong in their excitement to act in that way. I directed
them to L;;O back home. One of the number, the leader, who was formerly the foreman
on I IK- place, stated to mo that they had no intention of going into town with their

^-:MIS. but as the man had been badly beaten the day before, they were coming down
merely to protect him until he could get near the town to go before the grand jury.
The day before, this boy, who was a witness in a case, had taken some whisky, I
learned. It was customary for mo to send for my mail as he went to Mount Sterling.
While there a young man, a white man, who was somewhat intoxicated, beat him, and,
as the boy stated, said to him that he was anxious to find the man who had been car
rying Judge Smith s mail. The boy got away from him, and going off a little distance
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nped some profane language against parties who lived in Mount Sterling. Upon that,
sonic you;;:; men, school-boys. I think, (there is a school there.) set upon him and beat
him very severely : cut him badly, lie came iip to the plantation and reported to the
freedmen there that he had been beaten because he wanted to get my mail. That was
his .story, and one reason that exasperated the freedmen somewhat. Ai ter the court I

v. as unwell, threatened with pneumonia, and physically unable to go to Sumter county,
where the next court was to be held. And I was told by parties that I could not go
to Sumter County ;

that if I attempted to go there I would be assassinated on the way.
Being sick I did not attempt to go there.

Question. When was that /

A)i*im\ That was this last spring. I left on a Wednesday, with my brother, for Mobile.
I have been engaged in planting there ever si nee 18o5: commencing in l&amp;gt; oi&amp;gt;. 1 had built a
steam mill for the purpose of grinding, and for ginning cotton, not only for tUo plantation,
but for the neighbors. On Thursday night after I left, a party of men came in there,
set lire to the mill, to the bridge, and to about two miles of fence inclosing my crops.
That was while I was away. 1 went to Mobile, to Montgomery, and toTalla.de/ga-, and
then went bad: to Mobile on Monday, where I learned what had taken place on my
plantation. The court in Marengo County came on the next Monday. I met a man in
Mobile named Crcer, I think, an old citizen of Demopolis, who told me that he thought
I ought not to go to Marengo County and hold court there; that while there might not
be any disturbance by the people in Marengo. he was satisfied that there would be a
band of men who would come in thereto breakup the court: audit would rellect very
severely upon the people: of Marengo County. I told him that under the law the only
excuse I had for not holding court was the sickness of myself, or of my family, or the
existence of an epidemic; that nothing of that sort then existed: that I had ever
been treated kindly in Marengo County, and considered the members of the bar there

my personal friends, and that I
rwould not put- them in the position of not being able

to have the civil courts held until I went there. He uiged that if I did go, instead of

getting oil at the nearest point, to go to Demopolis and he would take his horse and
go with me to the county seat. Linden, some twenty miles. I went to Dcmopolis, but
\vhen 1 got there this man was sick, and his son went down with me. I held the court ;

had no difficulty at all; everything passed off as -pleasantly as ever, and tlu&amp;gt;ro was
nothing to mar the pleasure of the court or to interrupt the dispatch of business.
Ai ter that I went to Clay County, exchanging with .Judge Pelham, of tire ninth judi
cial circuit, and he went to Cireene County. 1 first, went to Randolph County : the

Randolph court was only one week; everything passed off pleasantly, and there \vas
no difficulty in enforcing the laws then . As I learned theiv, there had previously been.
a raid, by what is known as the Ku-Klux oig-anizaiion. upon some negroes who had left

one part of the county and been employed in another portion known asCornllou- O

Creek, I think: that after the raid mcr. a man by th&quot; name of La\v:vi -e. from a; .;&amp;gt;rh&quot;r

county, who had been brought up there, as they said, to regulate the labor ;;f|&quot;r

he had conn 1 there a band of men had come in ami run off a frei dmrin from a planta
tion owned by ;: lady. I think : I do not remember hv&quot; name. Soon after that this man
Lawrence was sin ing in the house of a minister by the name of Toles, and he was s ir.t:

at, the load passing just over his forehead. There had not, at that tim . been any fur
ther demonstrations in that county. I charged the grand jury in reference to those

matters, and said to them especially, that if they knew of any violations of the la\v

ami failed to discharge their duty, if the evidence was sufficient to satisfy them Avh.o

were the persons who had perpetrated the offense, then they themselves would be lia

ble, in the opinion of the* court, to indictment under the enforcement bill of Con.u re-ss.

The grand jury worked faithfully, and. 1 think, they found indictments against cer
tain offenders in that county. I was told by prominent citizens there that so far as
these outrages were concerned the people did not need any protection, cither from the
State or from the United States.

Question. That was in Randolph County?
Answer. Yes. sir. They said they had told these parties that if they commenced their

work again they would consider it an act of war: that they would take measures, and
they did take measures, to form companies of the best citizens there to defend them
selves. That is in the countv which furnished the most soldiers for the/First Alabama
Regiment, I think, in the Federal service. In Clay County, which was the next county,
there was no difliculty in holding the court. I was told that there had been, and&quot; I

think the records so show, some eight murders in that county, of white men, Avithin
the last twelve; or fourteen months. Some of the parties charged with the offenses
were under indictment, and some had escaped. I know of no difficulty in enforcing
the laws in that county. The paper published in my county, in speaking of the burn
ing of my mill, said that from the best information they had it was insured for double
the amount of its value. The fact is, that it was not insured for a dollar. Statements
M ere made in that paper, in one issue that I saw, that republicans, that radicals could
not hold office there: that the people would not tolerate them. When I was appointed
registrar of my county, and chairman of the board of registration, before I took the
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position of circuit judge, I went to one of my neighbors, who had boon a member of

th- secession convention, and who was a physician and a very talented man, and stated

to him that L did not want to take the position of registrar; that I came there to raise

cotton and not to lake any official position. He told me that ho thought I had better

take it; thai I had l.een there planting and knew the negro better than strangers
would know him. and that if I did not take it some stranger would come in and take

it. 1 did so, and then it was necessary to appoint some colored man on the board;
that was the law. or rather the order of General Pope. I went to the probate judge
of tin- oounty, Judge Dailey, told him what the order was, and asked him to recom

mend sonic L.OOI! colored man to me. He recommended Daniel Wilson, wlio, he said,

wa- as good a negro as 1 here was in the county. He stated further, as a recommenda
tion of the negro, that lie had for some twenty years been a member of the same
church v, iih him, In going over the county and registering, I always told the people
the object of the registration, and I always urged upon the freedmen to become good
citi/eiis, and io be faithful to their contracts. 1 also told them, both in public and in

priv. itc, that they could never expect to get homes for themselves until they had
worked and earned money to pay for them. We had no difficulty in registering the

counties, going over both counties. After the registration I sentthisman Wilson, under
orders from the superintendent, with the notice for the election. lie went up to a little

town called IVlham, about nine miles from where I live. There were some parties
there, white men. who persuaded him to drink with them, as he aftsrwards said; I

k:io\v not the truth of it. He thinks they drugged the liquor, for when he had got
about a mile from there TWO men accosted him, a white man and a colored man, and
one of them lived at him and wounded him, the bullet just passing through his coat.

He fell and then they attempted to cut his throat, and ho was saved only by a very
heavy beard i hat he had. I sent for him and took him on my place. I kept him there

at work. There was intense bitterness of feeling against the constitution in the elec

tion for the adoption or rejection of the constitution. I held the election in Choctaw
County. There was a. sergeant with seven soldiers there. I then thought, aud I still

think, that there would have been an attempt to break up the election there if there
bad not been an arrival of a reenforcemeut of United States troops, consisting of a
lieutenant and some seventeen men. There was some drunkenness there, although ib

was contrary to orders, and one old man attempted to go into the office with his knife

drawn, stating that if there was to be a difficulty he wanted to have a fair tight.
That bit terness. however, wore away very much. During the first two years I held
court there, there was no bitterness manifested there, none at all so far as I was per
sonally concerned.

(Jncxiion. In your judgment and belief, out of what has grown this bitterness and op
position to the exercise of the official duties of the persons in those counties? What
is your belief on that subject ?

^Inswir. I think the bitterness has grown- out of the fact that we were republicans,
and in favor of the reconstruction acts of Congress.

. l. pon what do you base that belief f

I base it upon the fact that in conversation with those men, prominent men
of my own county, in speaking of those reconstruction acts when the constitution
was formed there was an oath in which it was required that every man should swear
that he would accept the political and civil equality of all men

;
and that he would

not injure or attempt to injure any person in his amiation with any political party-
one man, whom I now have in my mind particularly, asked me if I thought any white
man could take such an oath? I remarked to him that I not only thought so, but be-
lieved that in less than one, year they would do so; and in less than one year every one
did take that oath. I had heard men, when speaking of certain persons against whom
there was great bit terness manifested, say that they had no objection to them except
on account of their political principles. And I have noticed furthermore that this hos-

tility has not been confined to men of bad character
;
but it has been against men no

matter what their character generally the better the character the more bitter the
hostility.

i
t
&amp;gt;nixHoH. You have, spoken of some resolutions passed in Choctaw County requesting

yon bo resign, and giving the reasons for that request.
&quot;

J;c-/fM-. f irst iu .Sumler County.
/inn. Will yon state, whether the democratic members of the bar there had given

you any private expression of their belief in your qualification.? for the discharge of
your duties.

Answer. A former judge of the court, Judge Cobbs, who was appointed by Governor
Parsons under the provisional government, and afterwards elected, in the fall of 1868,
alter I had qualified, published, in theKutaw Whig, a notice, which I have in this city,
stating that he no longer considered the order. No. 100, (I think that was the order,)
binding upon him, and that he should go on to hold court there as usual.

Qvation. What was the order yoa refer to ?

9f, An order installing officers.
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By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. A military order ?

Answer. Yes. sir.

By the CHAIRMAN:

Question. Issued by the military commander, after the adoption of the constitution?
A.)i*icer. Yes, sir; it was under that order the State government went into operation.

The election occurred in March, and it was not until July that the State government
went into operation. When I held the court there iu the spring I had a conversation
with the judge; he was very friendly with me

;
indeed every member of the bar was.

I stated to the judge, jocularly, that the reason why I did not hold the courts the fall

before was, that I saw the notice in the papers that he was going to hold them, and I

did not think it necessary to have two judges to hold the same conn. He then re

marked that in case the democratic ticket had bee*i elected lie proposed to try the con

stitutionality of those acts, and it was with that view he had given notice that he
would hold the courts. 1 ought to state that last fall, when I went to Greene County,
I had a note handed me, signed by three members of the bar, Chancellor Clark, Mr.

Morgan, I think, and Mr. Coleman, stating that they wished to meet me in Chancellor
Clark s ofiice. I went there immediately and met them. They said they had had a.

meeting before, in the morning, and had come to the conclusion that it was not best
to have the court held that fall. I asked them why, and they said that a white man s

house, Flem. Cross, I think the name was, had recently been fired into, and there was
great excitement. One gentleman stated that he doubted whether parties and wit
nesses would leave their liomes. I stated to them frankly that the law gave me only
three excuses for not holding court : one was, sickness of myself; another, the sickness
of my family, and the third, an. epidemic, and that neither of those causes existed. I

furthermore stated to them that I would hold the court from 10 o clock in the morn
ing till 3 o clock in the afternoon ; and that then if parties would go home and stay
there I thought there would be no disturbance

;
that if there was violence and crime

in the county, that was only an additional reason why the- court should be held, and
grand juries should be organized; but that if they, representing the members of the.

bar, would put their names to a paper stating that the condition of Greene County
was such tilat the court could not be held there, so that I could forward it to the gov
ernor of the State, or to the President of the United States, I would then act upon it.

Tlie chancellor said, We will do no such thing. He then agreed with me that the
court had better lie held. We went on and held the court, and then; was no difficulty
at all. and no manifestation of an outbreak.

Question. Was there anything in the character of the eases to be tried at the ap
proaching term of that court, calculated to give rise to any such feeling in the commu
nity .

A)i*irer. There was only this occurrence that had happened before, in reference to tin*

speaking at a political meeting at Eutaw
;
that had occurred before the. court.

Question. That had happened before this interview you are now speaking of with
Chancellor Clark and others?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. 1 am speaking generally of your district. Was there anything in the cases
that wen expected to be tried, or that were tried in your courts, calculated to call forth
such frelings 1

Answer. I do not think there was; I do not know that there was.

Question. Have you known of instances in your district in which there have been
convictions of persons charged with the oifense of whipping or shooting persons, when
they were disguised?

Answer. No convictions that I know of; I do not know of a single case.

Question. Have, there been any trials?

Answer. Xo trials, and I think no indictments in my courts. This indictment, to

which I have already referred, in the case of arson iu Sumter County ;
there has been

no trial in that case 1

yet in that county.
Question. Were there any trials in either Clay or Randolph County when you were

holding court there as the judge of that circuit ?

Answer. There was one trial there, where two parties pleaded guilty: but in that
case it appeared that they were not disguised. It was a case of lynching, where one.

man persuaded four other young men to go with him and whip a negro woman, for the,

purpose of driving her out of the county. It was stated that she had had a white child,
and had stated that the uncle of this young man was the father of the child. That
appeared in the testimony. The young man who plead guilty stated that after lie was
made nearly drunk this young man told him he would give him 5 if he would whip
that negro woman, and he did so.

Qiu. iiliox. In either of your circuits were there jury trials for crimes ordinarily occur-

ing in a community f

Answer. There were.
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Question. Was there any difficulty in administering justice in those cases ?

Answer. No difik-nlty n t all.

Utnxtioii. \Yas there any difficulty in identifying, apprehending, and bringing to .ins

. your district persona charged with such oftenses?

r. 1 do not think there was where there was no political bearing.
So far as you have boon informed, what number of offenses have occurred

throughout vour &amp;lt; -Liviiit, of the character to which I have referred; offenses committed

by Turn anncd :iiid in disguise, who rode at night? Have you had occasion to look into

That mat;.
m . 1 have not had occasion to do so; I could not state iroui my personal knowl-

J ,y Mr. VAX TurMr:

ft. Do yon mean that no crime committed in that region, growing out of polit-

ica l mat iv-rs. committed by bauds of men, has been prosecuted and punished 1

Anxim: 1 do not. mean that.

Qncxlion. Well. committed by men in disguise?
Answer. I do not mean that.

By the CHAIRMAX:

Question. In the administration of justice, then, is there practically any obstacle in

ai.v eases other than those of offenses committed by armed bands of disguised men ?

Annn-cr. I think not.

on. Have they been, or can they be, brought to justice ?

:rcr. They have not been
;
I doubt very much whether they can be now. Although

I can say that in the county of Pickens, when I last held court, there had been a very
marked improvement in the sentiment of the community in reference to the enforce

ment of law and order.

Question. To what do yon attribute that improvement ?

Anxiro: To the fact that men in disguise have gone outside of the political scope of

offenses, have gone to parties who had affiliated with themselves in politics, and have

endeavored, for mercenary motives, to drive them out of the country. One case that I

have iu my mind particularly is that of a man by the name of Moore, in Pickens

County. He had advanced money largely, and taken mortgages; he received a no-

ordering him to leave the county within five days; he consulted a lawyer, and

published a card stating that he would not leave, and that they could find him. He
told me himself that for some time after that he had twelve men with shot-guns
guarding him. Another case that occurred in Marengo County was the case of a man
from Ohio, who was engaged in teaching a school upon a plantation owned by a prom
inent citizen there Mr. Glover. Mr. Glover was opposed to the republican party, and

always had been; he was one of the trustees of the county, and had hired this man to

teach there, and had him to assist him in keeping his books. Not long since a party
of ten men came and took him out, stripped him, beat him, and ordered him to leave.

lover published a card in the paper denouncing the thing, and told the young
man to stay with him, and he would protect him.

&amp;lt;

k
&amp;gt;it&amp;lt;Hfion. Has the legislation of Congress in reference to this class of offenses had any

on public; se-. .tiuient, or public action in reference to them?
Anfurcr. I think it has had a very favorable effect. In conversation with certain

gentlemen in the different counties they have stated to me that while there was a

great deal of clamor against it outside, yet really very large numbers of people were
in favor of it. for the reason that if the State government could not reach such char
acters, i hen they wanted the United States Government to do it. In regard to this

convention, I omitted to state--

liy Mr. VAX TitUMP :

QncHlivu. Which convention?
AiiNivcr. The convention in Sumter County, which passed some resolutions to which

the chairman referred a few minutes since. Those resolutions were sprung upon the
meeting without any previous notice. One of the members of the convention pub
lished a note stating that the meeting was not called for that purpose, and that he was
opposed to it. At tiie lime I went to Mobile a rumor was started that I hid resigned
and had gone to Washington ;

a former judge immediately had a petition signed for
his appointment, and scut it to three of the most prominent men in his own county,
one of whom, Judge Reavis, had been formerly judge of the court, and is the author
of a digest; those men refused to sign it; and there were members of the bar, in the
other counties, who stated that no amount of partisan feeling would permit them, or
would force them, to consent to the change.

By the CiiAiiiMAN:

Question. Do you believe that, upon the whole, there is an improvement in the tils-
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position of the people to submit to the law, both State and national, and to assist in its

proper administration ?

Auxwtr, I think there is.

QncaHon. You think there is a better state of feeling now thaii there was some months

ago .

Answer. Yes, sir.

By Mr. POOL :

Qnes!i )!i. Do you mean in all the counties?
Answer. In the counties in which I have been.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. In the. counties of your circuit ?

Answer. In the counties of my circuit. I cannot speak particularly of Greene County,
for I have not been there lately. In niy county there are divisions among the parties
who have been using- these illegal means of getting officers out of office, which tend to

disconcert them, lor instance, at this meeting in which they resolved that all the

republican oihcers should resign, one of their number got tip a petition to obtain the

appointment of probate judge. There were several other candidates, and they were
incensed because, lie did not submit his claims to the convention; and to-day they

propose to have a convention to pass resolutions that he shall resign. On the day the

court adjourned for the reason that the sheriff resigned, it was stated in Choctiiw

county that if the radical officers. did not resign by the first day of May they would be
murdered.

By Mr. POOL :

Question. Last May?
Answer. Yes, sir.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Is that improvement in public sentiment to which you have referred such
that a man may now express and advocate his political sentiments through that dis

trict without incurring personal danger?
Answer. I do not think he can do it now.

Question. ] &amp;gt;o you mean by that that no man of either party can do so?
Anxwtr. Xo; I do not mean that, no man of either party can do so. I mean that a

republican cannot do it with safety at the present time.

(juextion. 1 am speaking of tho present time.

Answer. And yet 1 would not say that a majority of the people would be in favor of

any of tho.-e violent measures. I do not think they are.

Question. Do they assist in repressing them, either by the force of their influence, or

in compelling legal measures against them ?

Answer. They have not taken any active part thus far, except in the one county I

have mentioned. I only judge of the etiect of their influence by the results, basing my
inference upon the supposition that the grand juries reflect the public sentiment.

Question. Does this condition of political feeling to which you have referred inter

fere with the civil rights of parries in the administration of justice, for instance, in

cases arising upon contracts, or where there is a contested title to land, or anything of

Answer. I do not think it does.

By Mr. POOL :

Question. Suppose a colored man is a party in such a case?
Answer. I think that would make a difference.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. What would be the difference ?

Answer. The difference would be in favor of the white man. The same degree of
evidence would not secure a verdict for a colored man that would for a white man :

nor would it take the same amount to convict a colored man that it would to convict
a white man.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. Do you mean the same degree of white testimony or of colored testimony ?

Answer. White testimony.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question, lias there been, or is there now, any attempt at violence to interfere with
tlie due administration of justice in cases other than those to which you have referred,

requiring the officers themselves to resign ?

Answer, i do not think there is.
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Question. Has there horn anything done bearing upon individual cases to prevent the

trial of particular rases !

jMxtm 1

. There was one case in Pickeus County, where a man came to have a con

tested judgment set aside which had been rendered at the last term \&amp;gt;f the conrtfor

his failing to In there. He staled that the reason lie had not been there was because

an armed band of disguised nion came to him and told him that if he came there his

life would lie in danger.
Oii -ition. Was that because of anything connected with the case, or irom its rela

tion to other events !

Anxin-i . I think it was from something connected with the case.

Unction. How far is your residence from the town of Meridian, in Mississippi?
About thirty-eight miles.

])y Mr. POOL:

fjniNlhn. You said there was something connected with the case to which you have

just referred which aileeted the presence of the party. What was it ?

JHNNVT. I think this party was a defendant in the case. A man had been prosecutor
and had secured an indictment against that party and another. From the statement
made to me at (lie last court, I judged this party did not want that defendant to come

there; and I judged so also, not only from his own testimony, but from the fact that

the prosecutor was not there himself, and the case was dismissed as to this party, and the

prosecutor was taxed wiiih the costs. I do not know that in that case there was any
political significance, of my own knowledge.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Recurring now to the question I put to you, as to the distance you live

from the town of Meridian : have any of the- parties who took part in the proceedings
tin re. from your county, or from any of the counties in your district, been identified

as pei-sons who went over into Mississippi and participated in the riot at Meridian ?

AitKtri)-. 1 do not know that any parties in my county have been identified, nor do I

know, of my own knowledge, that any have been identified from any of the other
counties in my circuit. . .,

Oin-Hthii. Did a man by the name of Ecnfro take part in any of the proceedings
there?

Ansiccr. I was approached by this man, Renfro, during the last fall term of the court
in Sumter County. I was approached by him and another party. I learned before I

wrnt there that I would be approached by somebody, I did not know the name then,
and required to make an explanation of certain statements that had been made to me:
The previous summer the circuit clerk had been forced to resign in that county; at
least he sent me his letter of resignation, in which he stated that it was necessary for

him to resign in order to save his life. His name was Price. I was a delegate to the
State convention. When I went there I had a conversation with Colonel Herndon

;

J do not recollect the particulars of the conversation, but it was in reference, to there-

publican meeting held in Livingston and the manner in which it had been pre-
vented. He made a statement that some person had placed a pistol at Bob Reed s

breast Reed was a prominent negro and connected with the convention and had
driven him out of the town.

(Suction. I only wished to get at the fact whether this man Reufro had taken part in

any of the violent proceedings at Meridian,.
per. J have been informed that he was connected with the proceedings at Merid-

ian
;
but 1 do not know that.

What is his first name ?

AHwet: 1 cannot tell
;
I might remember it if it was suggested to me, but I cannot

call it to mind now.

By Mr. VAX TRUMP :

inn. In order to get at a correct and full statement of the condition of affairs in

irom the South i

AnKim-. So fur as the expense is concerned, I do not know that I could answer.
i
&quot;in. Well, so far as getting at the truth is concerned ?

I0er. 1 think you would be. quite, as likely to get at the truth to have the witnesses
ci.nie here; I judge, so from the fact that in certain localities witnesses who know
would be afraid to testify.

&amp;lt;

t
m&amp;gt;.tion. Why would they bo more afraid to testify there than here?

I &amp;lt;lo not know, unless because the danger there would bo more immediate.
-hat in ilio investigations there there were witnesses who had previously made

certain statements, and when they came before the grand juries they did not make the
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sr.me statements : and they afterward stated that the reason was that they were afraid
to do so. I do not know, though, that that would be the case now.

Question. You think, then, the only difference would be that whatever danger there

might be would be more immediate there. If the fact was known to the witnesses
that whatever testimony they gave here would be published, would it make any dif

ferent /

Anwcr. I think at that time it would; if the testimony was to be published imme
diately, perhaps it would not make much difference.

WASHINGTON, D. C., June 12, 1671.

LEWIS E. PARSONS recalled ami -examined.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Judge Luther R. Smith, in his testimony, made the statement that some
public meetings held in his district had adopted resolutions requesting him to resign,

giving as one of the reasons for making that request that he was incompetent. Will

you state whether you are acquainted with Judge Smith, and with the reputation he
bears in the profession and in the community where he resides ?

Answer. 1 never saw Judge Smith on the bench until our courts just passed ;
he held

a court in Clay County, in our State. That is a county in which I practice regularly.
I saw him during the entire week, and had an opportunity to observe closely his bear
ing as a judge

1

,
and the manner in which he transacted the business of the court ; and

I had a pretty fair opportunity, from the character of the cases before him, to judge
something of his knowledge as a lawyer and as a judge, and I state, with no small de

gree of confidence, that he is a very able man as a judge, and, I think, impressed (&quot;very

one at the bar with that diet, and with his impartiality and promptness in his decisions,
as well as with his general accuracy. Of course, the counsel that loses takes exceptions,
but the general sentiment was tluit he was a fair and impartial judge, as well as an
able one.

Question. Do you know what his reputation is in the profession in the district where
he resides ?

Anxtcer. I do not know personally, because I do not practice in that part of the

State, but I liave heard it said that it was very good. I have seen the proceedings of

public meetings requesting him to msigu, because of his incompetency and general
unpopularity.

}&amp;gt;y
Mr. VAN THUMP :

Question. Do you know whether Judge Smith, while on the bench, has mingled pretty
largely in.the political affairs of the State there ?

Anmci-r. Not of my personal knowledge. I understood, in fact I heard him admit,
that he presided as ehairman of the State republican convention, at Selma, in 1^70.

Question. While he was on the bench?
Aiixiccr. While he held the omce of circuit judge.

WASHINGTON, D. C., June 13, 1871.

Rev. A. S. LAKIN sworn and examined.

By the CnAIRMAN :

Question. In what part of Alabama do you reside, and how long have you resided
there ?

Answer. I reside in Huntsville. in the northern part of Alabama
;
I have resided

there five years and about eight months.
Question. What is your profession
Answer. I am a minister of the gospel.
Question. Of what denomination ?

Answer. Of the Methodist Episcopal church.

Qucxlion. Will you now proceed to give us your knowledge and observation of the

organization and operations of what is known as the Ku-Klux Klan in Alabama during
your residence there ? Give us as succinct a statement as yon can of such occurrences
as have fallen under your own observation.

Answer. In the fall of 1867 I was appointed to the Montgomery district.

Question. As a preacher or as presiding elder
Answer. As presiding elder. We were then a missionary conference

;
but our reports
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were obstructed, our drafts Avere abstracted, and our preachers Avcrc in suffering cir-

irdered by Bishop Clark to go out on a roving commission, with

the names and amounts due each presiding elder and each preacher in each of the

pn-sidin&quot; elder district:-. The ilrai ts were forwarded to me and I cashed them, and, in

.ddTe. I traveled six hundred and iifty miles, through the mountains andvallevs,

permeating almost every portion of Northern Alabama. lu my travels I put up Avith

some of tlie leading men of the State, and learned from them this fact : that they never

Avonld s!:l)i::il : that they never would yield; they had lost their property, their repu
tation; aud, last and worst of all their eniicrings, their slaves were made their equals,
or were likely to be, and perhaps their superiors, to rule over them. In. extended con-

versations with them I inquired how we would help ourselves, They said there Avas

an organization :dready very extensive, and that would spread over the Southern

States, that Avould Ha them of this terrible calamity. I stated that wo would be
d and punished ;

that tin; Government would visit upon us probably heavier

ind^-mrni- /(&amp;gt; hud experienced. They said they could rule {fiat and control

asked how, and they replied,
&quot;

Why, suppose a man drops out here&quot; meaning
lh:it , kill him &quot;while that is being investigated, another will drop out

nder, until the cases are so frequent and numerous that Ave will

overwhelm the courts, and nothing can withstand the omnipotence of popular senti

ment and public opinion.&quot; I gathered these facts from various sources; they seemed
to be patent. On my arm al at Hmitsville, after this long and tedious tour, I learned
of the organization of the Ku-Klnx Klan. It answered precisely the description, and
.seemed to answer precisely the design expressed by these leading men. In the.autumn
or in the summer of the year 1868 I Avas elected president of the State University.
Kai ly in the month of September myself and Dr. N. B. Cloud, State superintendent of

public instruction in Alabama, went to Tuscaloosa to take charge of the State Uni

versity, which had been in a condition of controversy and
&amp;gt;*ery

much disconcerted.
On the following day I saw notices Ku-Klux notices, several of them warning cer

tain men living in the town to leave the country. As we passed along the streets we
heard unearthly sounds.

By Mr. VAX TRUMP :

(Jucxtion. In the day-time ?

A u Hirer. Yes, sir; in the day-time; men screaming, and groaning, and grunting, evi

dently intended as iiings and insults to the doctor raid myself. Professor Wyman, the

acting president, refused to .surrender the keys of the uimr

ersity. Everything indicated
i&quot; me fliat it vv as not safe to remain in the town. I ordered my horse and droA o rapidly
eight miles toward Huntsville, and reached my quarters after night, the same place
Avherc I had stopped three nights .before. My horse was placed in a new position and
my bugu;y moved out of sight. While seated on the veranda, about 9 o clock, I heard
the footsteps of numerous horses; my host said tome &quot; Sit still

;&quot;

and they SAvcpt past,

j.rohahly twenty-live horsemen, the men disguised, and a rope around the neck of one -

of the horses.
9

By the CHAIRMAN :

Qt CHtion. Did the men carry arms?
Ansircr. Yes. sir

; they seemed to have pistols belted around them. In the morning
the gentleman directed me by a by-road around this point of danger ; they supposed I
Avould stop at a public house four miles further on.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP:
Oitwiion. Who do you mean by

&quot;

they?&quot; You say &quot;they supposed&quot; you would stop
*

at a public house.
AHXICO: The band that Avas pursuing, and I Avas sent around. In the morning this

gentleman and another man told me that they saAV and heard enough in the town to
know that I was !o be Ku-Klnxed that night, to bo hung. And in the morning there
were three colored men in the hack veranda, with pistols aud guns, for my protection.

or two after there, was an issue of the, Tuscaloosa Monitor that Avill illustrate the
*

i o which I i ef: &amp;gt;r. I hold in my hand a copy of the Cincinnati Commercial, of Sep-
tember 1!, l-

i8, in which is copied the article from the Tuscaloosa Monitor, which I
sent to them. It contains a fac simile of the cut, which Avas published broadcast with
the reading matter of tin-, issue.

By tin- CnuK.M.vx:
(hi,- r&m, Y-:i say that cut and that article appeared in the Tuscaloosa paper?

. Acs, sir: two days after I left that city.
i desire to have Ihat incorporated into your testimonv .

ir; I do. The person represented in the, Vnt, h:r,iging from thelimh of
a tree, with a carpet-bag in his hand, on which is the word

Ohio,&quot; is intended to rep-
mysclf. A mule, with the letters &quot; K. K. K.&quot; on its side, is walking a,way from
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under me. The tall man represented as hanging there with me is intended for Dr.
Cloud. And there is space oil the limb for all Ohioans after the 4th of March.

By Mr. VAX TRUMP :

Question. How do you know that is intended for you ?

Ansiccr. The reading so represents.

[The following are the extracts referred to by the witness :

[From the Independent Monitor, Tuscaloosa, Alabama, September 1, IBfiB.]

A PROSPECTIVE SCENE IN THE CITY OF OAKS, 4TH OF MARCH, 18G9.

&quot;

Hang, curs, hang !

* * * * Their complexion is perfect callows. Stand fast, jrood
fate, to their hanging !

* * It they be not bom to be hanged, our case is miserable.&quot;

The above cut represents the fate in store for those great pests of Southern society
the carpet-bagger and scalawag if found in Dixie s land after the break of day on the
4th of March next.

Tin fjont* carpet-bagger is a man with a lank head of dry hair, a lank stomach, and
long ](.gs, club knees, and splay feet, dried legs, and lank jaws, with eyes like a iisli and
month like a shark. Add to thi$ a habit of sneaking and dodging about in unknown
places, habiting with negroes in dark dens and back streets, a look like a hound, and the
smell of a polecat.

&quot;Words are want ing to do full justice to the
g&amp;gt;

mix scalawag. He is a cur with a con
tracted head, downward look, slinking and uneasy gait; sleeps in- the woods, like old

Crossland, at the hare idea of a Ku-Klux raid.
Our scalawag is the local leper of the community. Unlike the carpet-bagger, he is

native, which is so much the worse. Once 1 he was respected in his circle, his head was
level, and he would look his neighbor in the face. Now, possessed of the itch of office
and the salt rheum of radicalism, he is a mangy dog, slinking through the alleys, hunt
ing the governor s office, defiling with tobacco juice the steps of the eapitol, stretching
his lazy carcass in the sun on the square or the benches of the mayor s court.
He waiteth for the troubling of the political waters, to the end that he may step in

and be healed of the itch by the ointment of office. For office he &quot;

bums,&quot; as a toper
bums*&quot; for the satisfying dram. For office, yet in prospective, he hath bartered respect

ability ;
hath abandoned business and ceased to labor with his hands, but employs his

feet kicking out boot-heels against lamp-post and corner-curb while discussing the
question of office.

It requires no seer to foretell the inevitable events that are to result from the coming
fall election throughout the Southern States.
The unprecedented reaction is moving onward with the swiftness of a velocipede,

with the violence of a tornado, and with the crash of an avalanche, sweeping negroism
from the face of the earth.

Woe, woe, woe to the inhabitants of Alabama who have recently become squatter-

8
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sovereigns, carpet-bags in hand, and they filled -with dirty electioneering documents!

And twenty times woe to those so-called southrons who have turned their narrow

beads, infinitesaimal hearts, and filthy hands against the land of their nativity!

Hereafter, when future generations shall contemplate the fate that these white-

skinned wretches had in store for us they will wonder at the extraordinary degree of

forbearance manifested by us of the present dark day.
But i IK- happy da.v of reckoning with these white-cuticle scoundrels approacheth

rapidly. Each ami every one who has so unblushingly essayed to lower the Caucasian

to a decree even beneath the African race will be regarded as liostis sui generis, and be

deal! with areordingly if found hereabout when the time isfipo for action.

Tin- carpet-bagger already begins to snuff the coming ill-wind, and is sneaking out of

the country, &amp;lt;t to Harrington, of Mobile. But we hope some boreal stragglers may be
left far from their &quot;

Imms,&quot; to swing alongside of their meridional coadjutors in infamy.
We candidly believe that the picture, given to our readers ut supra, correctly repre

sents the attitude and altitude of all foreign and domestic foes of ouf land who shall

have t he folly to remain &quot; down South&quot; after the ides of March. The contract for hang-
in- will be given to the negro, who, having mounted the carpet-bagger and scalawag
on the mule that he didn t draw at the elections , will tie them to a limb, and, leading
the said mule from under them, over the forty acres of ground that he also didn t get,
will leave the vagabonds high in mid-air, a feast for anthropophagous vermin.

p. g. it will be seen that there is room left on the limb for the suspension of any
bad Grant negro who may be found at the propitious moment.

[From the Independent Monitor, Tuscaloosa, Alabama, September 1, 18G8.]

Scalawag Cloud, of Montgomery, and Carpet-bagger Lakin, of Nowhere, arrived here

Thursday. Cloud, the radical jocky, conies as trainer of Lakiu, the negro-loving jack
ass. The one is a long, slim creature of the natrix kind; the other is a stout, pursy
reptile of the genus batracMa. Both would make first-rate hemp-stretchers. For fur

ther information, they may regard the wood-cut elsewhere. Next week we will give a
more elaborate description of the varmints. We would not take a good deal for this

fresh game.
LATER. On Friday afternoon Lakin incontinently departed, by way of the Hunts-

ville road. On Saturday morning Cloud also &quot;made tracks,&quot; in direction of Mont
gomery. It seems that these fellows had come here to take formal possession of the

university premises. Professor Wyman, however, who is the real president of the insti

tution, so far objected to their proposed impudent procedure as to positively refuse to

give up the keys. The two pretenders then opened their peepers as big as saucers, in

wonder, and were sorely perplexed. We think Professor Wyman did exactly right in

pursuing this bold course
;
for he has thus saved the university from the everlasting

stigma of having once been polluted by the obnoxious presence of a nigger-worshiping
faculty, and of black and white spotted alumni.]

By the CHAIRMAN:

(JiTxtioH. What was the ground for refusing to surrender the university to you ?

JwN/rrr. Professor Wymau was elected by the board of regents president of the uni

versity : he refused to accept the position on the ground that it was a radical, negro-
loving concern, and he would have nothing to do Avith t. I was elected to take charge
of the university and put it upon its feet again, and upon that Professor Wyman re
fused to give up the keys.

(Jiicxtiou. How was he in possession ? By virtue of that previous election ? .

.luxictr. No, sir; by virtue of the former faculty. The president had left, and ho
cauie into possession nominally, and then usurped the keys, and held on to the prop
erty and refused to surrender it.

&amp;lt;

t
&amp;gt;H&amp;lt;-*Hon. Was this university a State institution, under control of State regents?
Answer. A State institution exclusively, and under the auspices of regents elected by

the State.

. Had he been a professor previous to his election to the presidency by the
hoard of State regents? ;

.titxwr.r. Yes, sir, and acting president. They elected him president, and he peremp
torily refused to accept, and then he refused to surrender the keys.

yui xlion. Go on now with your narration of facts after you left the house at which
you stopped that night.

Answer. About two weeks before the presidential election a band of Ku-Klux, nine
ty-live in number, passed my house, blowing their whistles

; they made no hostile
demonstration.

(jin-xfinii. Was that in Huntsville?
A*9**r. That was in Huntsville; I had reached home then. On the Saturday night

preceding the presidential election there was a republican mass meeting in the court
house at Huntsville; distinguished speakers, our Senator and Conereflsman, wero
present.
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By Mr. VAN THUMP :

Question. What Senator ?

Answer. Senator Spencer. At about 10 o clock about one hundred* and fifty disguised
men rode into the public square, from the southeast corner, and made a circle around
vhe square. They were followed by numerous persons on foot, undisguised. The
disguised men had each a double-barreled gun or a carbine, lashed to his saddle,
and each had two navy revolvers, carrying one in the right hand, as they passed
around the square. The four gates were picketed by very strong forces of undisguised
men. There is a tall iron fence there, with sharp pickets on the top. As the column
passed around to the point of entrance, tiring commenced at the north gate. I should

judge, from where I stood, that there were probably from seventy-live to one hundred
or one hundred and twenty-live pistols discharged. The Ku-Klux, by order of the

cyclops, wheeled into line of battle with the adroitness of veteran cavalry, and stood
so fora few minutes, until the man who commenced the firing, who was undisguised
and on foot, was wounded in the head, when he ordered the firing stopped ;

and in a
few minutes after the Ku-Klux wheeled into line or into column and rode oil . It was re

ported that there were one hundred and fifty in reserve at the railroad foundery, and
one hundred and fifty at the Pinhook bridge. The foundery is about a quarter and a
half a quarter of a mile from the square, and Pinhook bridge about half a mile, prob
ably a trifle over. Judge Silas Thurlow, judge of probate of the adjoining county of

Limestone, was wounded in the bowels, ami died three days after. A colored man was
killed instantly, and two others very severely wounded in the me Ice. The military
were ordered out for the protection of the people. Four Kn-Kluxes, or persons, were
arrested with their disguises in their saddle-bags, and with all their arms. General

Enger disarmed them, and handed them over to the civil authorities, taking charge of
their disguises and arms. The civil authorities let them loose; they were rearmed by
persons unknown to me, and went to the livery stables and forced the men there to

give up their horses, and then they disappeared.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Was Judge Thurlow in attendance at that meeting?
Answer. Yes, sir.

By Mr. STEVENSON :

Question. Was a public meeting being held in the park at the time ?

Answer. In the court-house.

Question. Is the court-house adjoining the square?
Answer. The court-house, is in the center of a square ;

it occupies a whole block,
with streets and rows of houses all around it.

Question. Did the Ku-Klux fire upon the people there in the court-house ?

Answer. The Ku-Klux did not fire at all; the persons undisguised on the streets

did the firing, and the Ku-Klux were there as a reserve or a defense. It was rumored
through the streets and all over the city, and it seemed to be the general opinion, that

they intended a general massacre. All the leading men went to the military head

quarters for protection, and remained there while they were in town. As one instance
1 will state that after the wounding of Judge Thurlow he was a member of my
church and a very near and dear friend he sent a messenger to my door requesting
me to go and see him. I hastened to the street. My next-door neighbor and a neigh
bor across the street, and a young lawyer, were standing on the sidewalk. My neigh
bor said,

&quot; Mr. Lakin, where are you going?&quot; I replied,
&quot;

I am going to see Judge.
Thurlow.&quot; Said he, &quot;Don t you do any such thing; go back into the house; you
will be murdered if you go on the streets. 7 lie was seconded by another, and by a third

party, and I returned and remained in my room.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Did you yourself take any public part in politics there ?

Answer. Not a word
;
never opened my head on politics ;

and I had never been in the

meeting at all, for I was notified that there would be trouble.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. Then all this description you have given of the firing there has been from
hearsay ?

Answer. No, sir
;
I walked up to the square. I lived within about a block of the

square, and when I heard the cry of &quot;

Ku-Klux,&quot; I walked up on the square and saw
the whole thing.

By Mr. STEVENSON :

Question. Could you see against whom the firing was directed?
Answer. No, sir; from my stand-point I could not see. I have a document here that

will describe minutely the parties who were present.
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By the CHAIRMAN :

Qin-tlion. What document is that ?

It is an investigation by the State senate of the outrages m Alabama,

l;\ Mr. VAN TKCMI- :

QiUBfMm. By the senate separately, or by a joint committee of the two houses?

tntnver. I \ a joint committee of the two houses, I think. The evidence I referred

that of Senator Sibh-y. and also of the lieutenant governor of the State, Mr.

A&quot;pleuate, who is now deceased. That is a full description of it by persons who were

fiv and saw the tiring and the man who commenced the firing. I only give what
1 saw. On Sunday I determined that I would go and see my friend, Judge Thurlow,
who had sent a second messenger for me, and it was reported that lie was dying. On
my return home three men were standing on the corner, facing me, and as I passed
them one of them exclaimed, calling my name,

&quot; God damn him, he ought to have had
! radical heart shot out of him last night.&quot; They were quite jocular over the

-ion ami seemed to enjoy it. I passed on. Oil the 10th of the same mouth I

ii i u seated by a front window during the evening, writing all the evening. It

was a la r;e bay-window, the only one in that part of the house. At 7 o clock wo were
called to supper; I left my lamp sitting in the same position, and my wife drew the

curtains, which were very thin
;
the shutters were a little detective, so that the light

could be seen from the street. After supper^
at about 8 o clock, after snapping three

caps, a gun, loaded to excess, exploded, and sixteen buck-shot passed through the shut-

he window, and the curtains, and struck on the wall immediately over the heads
of myself and my family, bet ween the ceiling and our heads. After a few minutes
lull the colored people came iii from the quarters and said there were two men in the
reai with guns at present arms. There were two passages out, the house standing on
the corner. The men jumped over the fence and ran olf in the direction of the parties
that did the tiring. Within thirty minutes it was announced in the northwest part of

ity that old Parson Lakiu was killed,&quot; and the report went quite extensively
over the country that I had been shot.

I .y the CHAIRMAN :

QiH xtiou. AVere those men disguised whom the negroes saw ?

Jj/.s-jm-. The parties who were inside of the yard were not.

.. They were not disguised ?

No. sir : the colored people stated that they were not.

. Was that the direction you would have gone to have escaped from the
house, and away from the direction the firing came from ?

Answer. Yes. sir; that was the only way of escape, except in the direction of the

firing. About the 14th of the same month I was notified by a personal friend of mine
that my life was in danger, and that I must leave the town

;
that lie hud been notified

by moderate^ friends of the opposite party that I would be assassinated, and as they
did not want the thing to occur, they had come to him to notify me to leave the place. :

He was one of the most reliable men in the State, and one of my best friends.

Question. Perhaps you had better give us his name ?

Answer. Hon. Joseph C. Bradley. I tied to the mountains and was a refugee for two
months. My family kept me posted about the state of affairs. The second night after
I left, about 1 J o clock at night, there was a company formed on each side of my house,
supposed by the family and others to consist of about fifty disguised men ; they drew
up in line on each side of the house. After they saw the lights passing the windows
and some stir in the house, showing that they were discovered, they ordered a retreat
and left. While in Winston County, during iny refugeeing, I held a quarterly meeting -,

at the cross-roads. On Sunday, at the close of the service, two men, known to be
among the worst bushwhackers of the country in the time of the war, and then said
to be among the leaders of the Ku-Klux, and desperate men, each with two navy
revolvers lashed around him, inquired if Parson Lakiii was about the yard.
Qm xtioit. Can you give their names ?

-liixn i-i: No, sir; 1 cannot give their names now.
ion. ] )o you know them v

No, sir; I do not.

I .y Mr. VAN TIM-MI-:

Then how do you know they were the most noted bushwhackers ?

ar. I said that was the report hUhe neighborhood : they knew them there.
non, People about there knew them f

n r. Yes, sir.

Question. Von never ascertained their names notwithstanding that fact ?
Answer. I ascertained their names then ; I did make a minute of them at the time,

but I do not remember them now.
km. You considered it important enough to make a minute of them?

ttter. I did: but since then mv house has been burned, and many of mpmost
valuable books and papers have been lost, and it has not been convenient for me since
then to secure their names.
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By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Go oil -with your statement.
Answer. They inquired who that man was getting into the buggy; they were in

formed by persons standing around that it was Parson Lakin. They inquired if I w;ia

going to hold a meeting in the afternoon or evening anywhere in the place, and they
were told no. They inquired where I was going to spend the night, and were told

that I would stop at Mr. Maybnry s. The men took a short cut down the road orf the
mountain. Before dark a special messenger came to me and informed me that those
men stated they would get me as I left the place. Mr. Maybury and his three sons
were in the Union army ; they were each armed with rifles and pistols, and their house
was well provided for defense. The impression was that I was the object of their

search. In fact that was stated to others, though I did not hear it
;
but the indications

were, very threatening. In the autumn of 1870 I was stopping at one of my friends

for a day or two, to get a little repairing done to my buggy.
Question. Where was that ?

Answer. In Blouut County, thirty-two miles south of Huntsville. About 11 o clock
a man called upon my host, wishing him to go to the gate, and he declined.

By Mr. POOL:

Question. Do you mean 11 o clock at night ?

Answer. Eleven o clock at night. There was a stir from the cabinet shop on the

opposite corner. Three wagons had hauled up there to spend the night; it looked
like it would be a rainy night, and my host had admitted them into the cabinet

shop. They made a stir, and the persons went out into the road. They reported
about twenty-live disguised men in the road near the house, who consulted some
little time whether they should make an attack or not. But, I suppose, fearing
these men stopping there, supposing they would be friendly to their host, they rode
oil . There had never been any Ku-Klux there before, and there has never been

any there since that I know of. That was on the Sand Mountain. In the

fall, in the month of September, I traveled from De Kalb County to Guntersville. in

Mai-shall County; left my horse on fclie bank, and went on board of the boat to take

passage down the river in the morning. About 9 o clock there were two volleys of

pistols iired within about two hundred yards of the boat. The captain and myself
were siting on the deck chatting, In a lew minutes, the deck hands, the mail boy and
his son came running to the boat out of breath, greatly alarmed, and sa id they had
been attacked by the Ku-Klux. In the morning I found my horse sheared, and word
left with two or three parties there that old Parson Lakin ought to be very thankful
that he had lost nothing but his horse s mane and tail, for if lie had not been upon.
Captain Spiller s boat he would have had his damned old radical neck broken. The fol

lowing day, as Captain Spillerfelt very much chagrined and that the reputation of his

boat was impaired or might sutler, he investigated the matter and reported to me, and
two gentlemen who were present, that forty disguised men had crossed the bridge a
little above Guntersville and come down in the direction of the boat, about 11 o clock.

I did not see them. I knew nothing of it till morning, only that I was minus a horse s

tall and mane, and the word left for me, and the report given me by Captain Spiller of
the forty Ku-Klux, or disguised men, who crossed the bridge in the direction of the
boat.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. How was that word left for you ?

Answer. With some ferry-men, who were on the bank of the river. They were up at
a late hour, ferrying across the river

;
it is quite an extensive ferry. About the middle

of October I held a camp meeting in Blount County, about three miles southwest of

Summit.
Question. Last October ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
last October. On Saturday night three men searched the congre

gation while they were singing, and while the seekers were coming forward. The
congregation were in a great state of excitement. Those men searched the congrega
tion for me, and inquired of my host where I was. They had their bowie-knives in

their hands, and said they would cut out my damned old radical heart would cut my
damned old radical throat.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP:

Question. Were you in the desk of the church at that time ?

Answer. No, sir
;

I had been preaching, and being very warm and very much worn
out with my previous labors, after calling the, seekers forward and the singing had
commenced I stepped out and went to my quarters.

Question. You mean by
&quot;

quarters&quot; the house of the person with whom you were
stopping ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
a private house, about a hundred yards distant. On Monday even-
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ing I was in .titled by a personal friend of mine that an attack would bo made upon me
that iii-lit. I called a council of my preachers, and selected one of the preachers to

conduct the services, and I staid in my private quarters. About midway of the

sermon thirty-live or forty men, armed with guns and pistols, simultaneously sur

rounded the arbor ami stood sentinel around the arbor while three men, with revolvers

in hand, searched the congregat ion for me and inquired where I was. calling my name
;

and then they searched the ladies side of the congregation. After diligent search,

finding that I \\.-is not there, they fired some three or four heavy guns, a volley of

pistols, blew their whistles, gave a most terrible yell, and went off, requesting that old

Parson Lakin would preach for -them to-morrow night, for they wanted him to pray
for them.

By the CHAIRMAN :

. Were those men in disguise ?

No, sir; with this exception, they were all dressed in white pantaloons.

By Mr. VAX TRUMP :

. It was in the summer season, and you were holding a meeting out of doors?
An*inr. It was about the middle of October.
(&amp;gt;nrxlion. It was warm weather in that country?
Answer. It was comfortable there.

(jncxlion. You spoke of an arbor
;
I should infer from that that the meeting was held

out of doors, and not in any building.
AiiKircr. It was a building all open underneath, and would probably seat six hundred

persons. It was built up very strongly, had a barn roof, and was a very comfortable

place for a meeting.
Question. You say these men were not disguised. Were there any persons there who

knew any of them?
4*mMr. Yes, sir

; they knew them well, a great many of them. They were all dressed
in white pantaloons, and it was reported (I did not see them) that there was quite a

large reserve, some fifteen, twenty, or twenty-five outside of the encampment. There
may have been an exciting cause for a part of thft.

(jHCHt uni. You mean on that day?
Answer. On that night.

By tke CHAIRMAN :

Question. What was it ?

Answer. It is rather a delicate matter
;
but I might give it as a palliation, if it would

bear that construction.

Question. Give us all the facts that bear on this.
u-ir. Well- .

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

. Do you have any hesitation in giving any explanatory fact ?

Answer. Not at all, though it is a little delicate.

By the CHAIRMAN :

(
t
tiit-xtion. If it will throw any light on this investigation, go on and give it.

Answer. A lady, whose father, mother, brothers, and sisters were attending on the
ground, the lather a local preacher, and all of them members of our church-

By Mr. VAN TRUMP: *

(hirxtioH. White persons?
Anttwir. Yes, sir

; they were all white; there were no colored persons on the ground
at all : were not during the meeting, that I now remember of. This lady, on Sunday
morning, ;a \ &amp;lt; birth to a

1

child that was a perfect representation and fac-simile of a dis
guised Ku-KIux.

(
t
hu-xli&amp;lt;ni. In a tent on the ground ?

. I iixirt r. No, sir
;
at her home, about a mile and a half from the ground. The head o

the child was about three t iu.es the size of an ordinary child s head, with a soft, spongy,
iungous growth over the skull.

ijni-xtntn. Are you describing now from your own observation ?
4MMr.

^
e.s. sir; I examine,! the child very carefully and very minutely. The fore-

1 was I at and square, and about perpendicular, about three times the height of the
on bead &amp;lt;&amp;gt;t an ordinary child. In a straight line from the crown of the head to the

it ot the forehead, commencing at each cheek bone, there was a sort of fringe,Harm- very little to near the ,,,, and then full around the top. It was about an inch
wide and about halt ai, inch thick at the base ; a gristly fringe of a dark purple color.
At wo

points near the temples were two gristly horns of the same consistency, about siu
=&quot;&quot;1 - ball or an mch and three-quarters long, projecting out from the forehead.

Meshy horns?



ALABAMA. 110

Ansirer. Gristly. The eyes and moutli were about one-third smaller than those of an

ordinary child. ^The face was nearly Hat, with but little nose. The eyes and mouth
were of a scarlet red. The chin sloped off on a plane with its body. Around the neck*
was a scarlet red baud

;
and from the point of each shoulder, extending down each side

to about the center of the abdomen, was all a scarlet red. The child was brought on
the camp ground and exhibited to from a thousand to fifteen hundred persons.

Question. By the mother ?

Answer. No, sir; by the friends of the family. It was demanded by the people ; they
seemed to clamor for it to be seen.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Was it living ?

Answer. No
;
dead.

By Mr. VAX THUMP :

Question. Dead then ?

Ansicer. Yes. sir. The mother was a member of our church, a very delicate, pious
lady, of very strong sensibilities. Her husband was an outspoken man, and the Ku-
Klux had visited them. They had forced her husband into the Ku-Klux ranks, and
they had stopped there at an improper time. And she fearing for the. safety of her
father, the child was marked in that way. They seemed to be perfectly wild and exas

perated at the exhibition.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Who ?

Answer. I suppose the persons who had made the demonstration on Saturday night,
and who also made it on Monday night.

Question. Was it after this exhibition of the child that the occurrences which you
have described took place in the camp meeting ?

Answer. The child was born on Sunday morning, and exhibited on Sunday on the.

ground. And it was on Monday night that they made an attack on me. Since then
I learned this from competent authority on both sides since then they have whipped
the man. Mr. llorton, the husband, within an inch of lu s life twice; once for exhibiting
the child, and once for abandoning the Ku-Klux Klan.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. Do you say you consider that state of facts a palliation ? I understood
you to say that you had a statement of facts to relate, although of a delicate nature,
that was palliative of this .attack.

Answer. It may be considered so.

Question. Do you consider it sof You said so.

Answer. No, sir
;

I cannot say it is. They regarded it as a palliation; I do not my
self regard it as a palliation, but they did.

Question. You stated that it was a palliation. You seemed to feel yourself bound
I should judge from the expression you made use of, and your manner to state facts
on the other side as a palliation for this attack, this searching for you ?

Answer. They offered it as a palliation.
Question. That is the form you put it in now, is it ?

Answer. I meant to put it in that form
; they urged it as a palliation, that they had

been outraged and insulted.

By Mr. STEVENSON :

Question. It tends to meet the charge, if made, that they visited your camp meeting
from mere political motives f

Answer. Yes, sir.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Does this description you have given of the appearance of that child cor

respond to the disguise or uniform ordinarily worn by the Ku-Klux there as you
saw them f

Answer. Yes, sir; perfectly.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. Has there ever been any report in tiie medical books of that extraordinary
case?
Answer. No, sir.

Question. No physicians were there, and heard of it, and saw it ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
one physician there heard of it and examined it.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Who was he ?
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Anncer. I will tell you his name in a few moments
;
I know him very well, but I

cannot recollect his name just at this moment. I wrote a description of it, and it was

published in the Methodist Advocate at Atlanta.

By Mr. VAN THUMP :

Question. I I\v long was the body of the child kept from the time of its birth t

Aninr. It \\as buried the same day.

Qntntinn. Tin- day of its birth?

Anairer. Yes, sir; it was born about 2 o clock iu the morning, and buried that

night.

IIy the CHAIRMAN:

Question. At whose instance was it brought on the camp ground, where you saw it?

AHXHTI: It was brought from the place of their residence, and where it was born, a

distance of a mile and a half or two miles to the camp ground. It was in a coffin on
tin- ramp ground, and everybody had an opportunity of seeing it.

Que*Hon. You have stated in general terms that the appearance of that child as you
have described it, corresponded to the uniform of the Ku-Klux. Did they wear a

scarlet band in their uniform at the time you speak of?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
on some portion of the person. They sometimes differ; a klan will

put on one garb at one time, and then they will change it, and put on another. The
klans do not all wear the same uniforms at all times and in all places; it is not always
exactly the same.

Question. You say you have yourself seen the klan riding on several occasions. Was
their appearance calculated to inspire terror?

Ansirer. Yes, sir; they were very hideous. They generally wear very high caps of a
conical form, very tall and running up to a point, and without brim

;
with eye and

mouth holes, heavy mustaches and Jong beards painted ; generally with long black

gowns. Their signals are given by means of whistles, common hunting whistles, simi
lar to those you will hear for starting street cars.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. You believe, do you, in these extraordinary dispensations of the Creator in

regard to innocent, unborn human beings ?

Answer. I do not know that I have any particular opinion upon that subject.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Was the child born living or dead, according to your information?
Answer. It was born dead.

Question. Was that the only instance of the kind occurring within your knowledge
there ?

J//.v/r/r. It was within the knowledge of parties present from the various counties,
as was stated and current on the ground, that there were six other cases

;
one I saw,

the child living.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. That is, each county produced such an affair as that?
Answer. No, sir

;
I say that there were persons present from different counties

;
and

within the knowledge of persons on the camp ground, there were other cases, as they
represented. They spoke of some six or seven, some seven instances of sucli marking.
They were nearly all living, but not marked to the extent of this one. This was the
most marked of any that had been born.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Marked so that the resemblance to the uniform or disguise of the Ku-Klux
could be, ivcogni/ed *

Anmnr. Yes, sir; I saw one child, a negro child, that had a fierce, wild look, with a
head somewhat in the form of the Ku-Klux caps, and a very unnatural chin.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP:

Qncxlion. How unnatural?
. ///Mr, ,-. Thick and heavy underneath, as though something had been thrown over it.

QlMttb*. That was yonr supposit ion, from the shape of the chin and face, that it

represented something that was ordinarily thrown over their faces?
AiiHicer. Yes, sir; it had that appearance.

By the CHAIRMAN:

Question. Did the mother give that account of it? Do you know anything about

J,/Mr,T. I did not inquire; I was simply passing by and they told me there was a Ku-
Klux child there, and I called and saw it.
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Question. Had the parents &quot;been visited by the Ku-Klux?
Answer. Not that I know of.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. You may give all your information on that subject.
Answer?. I

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Go on and state any other actual facts that have come within your knowl

edge as to the operation of the Ku-Klux Klan in that State.

Answer. In the month of February last, late in the month, I started out or a six

weeks circuit or tour of quarterly meetings.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. A moment, before you go on with that. I do not recollect the location of

this camp-meeting at which this child was exposed. Where was it ?

Answer. I think I stated that it was in Blouut County, near the towns of Summit
and Brookville.

By Mr. VAX TRUMP:

Question. What was the name of the church there ?

Answer. It is called Gum Camp-ground.

By Mr. POOL :

Question. When was it ?

Answer. About the middle of October.

By Mr. STKVKXSOX :

Question. You say you published an account of the appearance of that child?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Have you a copy of your publication ?

Answer. Xo, sir; 1 have, not.

Question. Do you remember the date- of the paper&quot;?

Answer. I do not; but it was about that time or a few days after.

By Mr. BLAIR:

Question. You say this band of men who came to the ground were recognized. They
were not disguised, then ?

Answer. Quite a number of them were recognized.

Question. Do you know the names of any of them, the most prominent among them?
Answer. I could not give them now; but after a little time, if it is needed, I can fur

nish the committee with several of the names. We have been so hemmed in and
crushed down, the least information given would so peril a man s life, that we have been

compelled to be exceedingly and extremely cautious in all that we have done or said.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. You were proceeding to state what occurred in February.
Answer. I attended a quarterly meeting in Blouut County, in the Marshall circuit.

During the service, on Sabbath, there were indications of hostile movements. On Sat

urday night I was sent to stay with a man whose house was barricaded and armed, as
a point of safety. On Sunday those indications alarmed the people, and I was guided
by four men some six miles and put on a road, when I had reached what they
considered a point of safety. The second Sabbath in March nothing occurred that was
unfavorable. The third Sabbath I was notified of danger great danger, great peril.
I was notified on Friday night. From that point I traveled live miles away in the knobs
between two valleys, and held quarterly meetings. The people became alarmed; mes
sengers were running in different directions. Saturday night I was sent away out to

a private house, some four miles from the site of my quarterly meeting. My horse
was hid; my saddle was hid, and I was put in a loft to sleep. On Sunday night the
alarm was increased. I stopped at a house on the main road ; a little after night some
ten men came in some from one part and some from another with their guns and
pistols and axes, and barricaded the doors. I was placed in the loft, and the men lay
down in the room. There was a tierce thunder-storm of some four hours, and it raised
the stream over which the attack was expected to be made, so that there was no in

jury done me. There was no alarm that night.

By Mr. VAX TRUMP :

Question. Do not these frequent deliverances, so many of them, look a little like you
had been miraculously preserved ?

Answer. Well, I have by practice, as well as by theory, reached the conclusion that
man is immortal until his work is done.
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Ouettioti. Well, go on.

l*nr 1 was notitied that a largo force of disguised men came to the stream, and,

foiling to g-t aeros.-. they returned. I was sent a different road from the one I had

traveled through the mountains. I swam two streams that I could not head, and

which were not bridged, and after a wet, tedious ride of forty miles in the day, late at

jjiuht 1 reached quarters that were considered safe.

(
t
ntcxiion. 1 did not catch the time when this was.

AnWr. This was the third Sunday in March.

Question. March last?

Jwwinr. Yes, sir. From thence I went to Do Kalb County. There was a mistake m
Due of my quarterly meetings, or the streams were in such condition that I could not

ford thein. and I passed over and went on to my quarterly meeting in De Kalb County.
I put up at the house of Judge Haroldson, the judge of the circuit court, which was
ilicii in session in Lebanon. Immediately on arriving I was notified by his wife that

1 \\.-is in danger; that the Kn-Klux were threatening me.

. How far was that from your home I

About eighty miles.

. Could they possibly know you were to be there at that time?

Answer, They had opportunities of knowing, because the meetings had been published
for four weeks. All the quarterly meetings all over the circuit were published for four

weeks preceding.
Question. How did this lady know that you were threatened on that occasion ?

J//.s-rr. She said she heard it from competent authority in the neighborhood. Her
relatives had been in the rebel army, but they were very much devoted to their sister.

Question. And consequently to you ?

Answer. Not particularly to me, I do not think. But she thought I would be safer

there than at any other point.
()n&amp;lt; xiio)}. I inferred from what you said that her confederate relatives had informed

her of the danger to you.
J/.-sjm . I think not; I think she had gathered it from the current reports of the

neighborhood. On Saturday night the judge came home. The meeting was on top of

Lookout Mountain, about one and a quarter miles from the judge s house
;
he lived in

the valley.

Question. The scene of the battle of Lookout Mountain ?

Answer. It was on that range of mountains, about fifty miles from that point. On
Saturday we returned to Judge Haroldson s, and on Saturday night he came home.
About 11 o clock we heard a very great outcry of the dogs, right across at Holloman s

Station, about three-quarters of a mile on the lino of the Chattanooga and Alabama
road, and the firing of several pistols. We went out and watched and looked and waited
for a while. Matters became quiet and we retired, but every time the dogs barked I

heared the judge s door open, as though he was in fear and alarm. The next morning
one of my preachers, who staid at the Widow Holloman s, informed me that some eight .

or ten men came into the room where he was sleeping and passed around, talked with
others outside, and went up on the side of the mountain and whipped a white man
dreadfully. When I arrived there he was said to be in his bed, unable to get out.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Eight or ten disguised persons ?

An^irti: Yes. sir
; they came into,the room where he was sleeping one of niy preach-

ers, who went there at night and stayed during the quarterly meeting. (

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Qui-xthni. What was their object, as manifested in any way, in going into the room
of the- preacher .

Answer. He said they did not disturb him or interrupt him.
QiH ntion. Did they inquire for you ?

.1 )&amp;gt;*&amp;gt;!&amp;lt; r. No. sir.

Qm-xtinn. They went into the room?
. Yes, sir.

. And walked around and went out again ?
. Yes, sir. The inference of the whole thing was that they were after me, but

found I was at Judge ILaroldson s. He is one of the most popular men in Alabama.
is mining t lie Lookout Mountain for coal, and has a great maiiy men in his employ

ment, and his friends are in the ascendency there. His wife s friends, on the other
Bide, are greatly devoted to her, and would be likely to resent auv insult made upon
any ot her gn.-sts. Finding that 1 was there

i&amp;gt;in-xitnn. That is an inference
; you do not know?

Answer. Yes, sir; that was the inference there. I state the fact that it was the cur
rent inference

;
I do not know that to be the case.
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By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Have you any thing further to state of your own knowledge?
Answer. Yes, sir.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. You say that was in Lebanon?
Answer. Yes, sir; the county seat of DeKalb County.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Go on with your statement.
shmcer. I have designedly passed over one case, the case of Moses B. Sullivan, a

white man. who was appointed to what is called Big Cove circuit. All valleys in our

roimtiy are called
&quot;coves,&quot;

and tins is called Big Cove, in contradistinction to all the

others, because it includes the valley of the Flint and the Paint Kock IJivers. On the

night of the 10th of May, 1868, he was sleeping at the house of Mr. Henry Stevens.
He Avas taken out of his bed at about 11 o clock by disguised men, beaten with rods,
his sknll fractured, and struck across the breast with a whip or a bludgeon, so that he
was felled by the blow. He has never recovered from his wounds and injuries : he is

now an invalid and will probably remain s* during his life.

Question. You say he was appointed to that station ;
was he a preacher of your

denomination ? .

Answer. He was a preacher, one of those in my district, and appointed to the Big
Cove circuit, and was then in the prosecution ofhis ministerial avocations. His quarterly
meeting was toT ome off on the following Saturday and Sunday, on the Feeren planta
tion, on the bank of the Tennessee Uiver. I was to have met him at Paint Rock

;
fail

ing lo meet him, I went to a friend of mine, Dr. Parker. As I rode up, said the Doctor:
Have you heard the fate of Sullivan ?&quot; I said I had not. Said he: ; Ho has been

whipped by the Ku-Klux, and I think they have killed him.&quot; He said :
(i

I live within
four miles of the place, and I was at the house the next morning, and have been there
two mornings since visiting a sick patient in the house; I think they have killed him.&quot;

And lie also said: &quot;Your life is in danger ; they threaten to kill yon.&quot; After a hurried

supper he, told me he would convey me to a point of safety on a bluff. Some four fam
ilies, among them the brother and the brother-in-law of Mr. Stevens, at whose house
M . Sullivan was whipped, lived there. We turned through the woods, and he con-
v ryed me to Mr. Stevens, reaching there late in the night. A council was held as to
whether I should proceed with my quarterly meeting. It was decided that if I could
stand it they could, and that we would proceed. On Saturday night three colored men
were whipped, within three miles of me. On Sunday I sent my messenger on my
horse in search of my preacher. We had been to several fords and could not find that
he had crossed. The report of the Doctor alarmed me, and I put a messenger upon
my horse and hurried him to the house of Mr. Sullivan, ki Marshall County, across the

liver, about thirty miles distant.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. Was that another Sullivan ?

Answer. No, sir; the same.

Question. I thought the Sullivan who was whipped lived within four miles of Dr
Parker s ?

Answer. He was stopping four miles from there, at Mr. Stevens, when he was whipped.
On Tuesday, another class of colored persons were whipped and disarmed. The Feerren

plantation is a very large plantation. On Wednesday, the church where I held the

quarterly meeting was burned. And 011 Thursday I was notified that I would go up.

By Mr. STEVENSON :

Question. You say
u another class of colored persons were whipped.&quot;

Answer. Another number.
Question. Another set ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. You do not mean an association in the church, known as a class?
Answer. No, sir

;
I mean some three or four more negroes were whipped.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. Let us understand you as you go along ; you say the church was burned on
Thursday night ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. When did the quarterly meeting commence ?

Answer. On the Saturday and Sunday previous.
Question. And you preached every day if

Answer. No, sir; I preached Saturday and Sunday, and closed out the meeting. I
laid mit two nights under the trees and under the rocks, fearing that they would make
uu attack upon me. I was notified by my friend, Dr. Parker, through a special ines-
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M-ii- or not to return to Huntsvillc by any road leading out from that point. The

messenger and my horse h;ul been recognized, and the roads were picketed behind him.

]! vraa sent around through the country, and was detained, so that I could not leave.

Fiuallv inv bii&quot;&quot;y
was taken do\vn the mountain, and also my horse after he arrived.

J found Mr Sullivan was alive, that he was not killed, and that he had crossed at a

iiriviti ferry above. I took passage upon the boat, went down the river to Whites-

burg, a point of safety, and returned home. I have Mr. Sullivan s affidavit, stating

the facts in the rase as 1 have given them.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Qnpifam. Have you a knowledge of other facts showing the condition of society

Answer. It appears from this affidavit of Mr. Sullivan, that when they were whipping
him they said they would kill his presiding elder; that he must preach for the

Methodist Episcopal Church South; that there should be no church south of Mason
and Dixon s Mm-, except the Methodist Episcopal Church South.

Question. By whose direction did you go to Alabama to organize the church there?

Jw.sirrr. By direction of Bishop Clark.

By Mr. VAX TRUMP :

Question. Of what State ?

Answer. The State of Ohio. I was sent from the Cincinnati conference, as that was
in session. I was transferred from Indiana

; my home was in Indiana.

Question. Was the Methodist Church South represented in that Cincinnati conference ?

Answer. Not at all.

Question. Altogether northern preachers and bishops?
Answer. There are two separate organizations.

Question. And have been ever since the suit in the supreme court, before the war?
Anxicer. Yes, sir.

By Mr. STEVENSON:

Question. There is no Methodist Church North ?

Answer. No, sir.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :
I

Question. You are not disposed to call yourselves by that name?
A it* in i . No, sir.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. You were sent there to organize a church in Alabama ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Qurxlhni. And these persons represented that there should be in that State none but
the Methodist Episcopal Church South?
Answer. None but that south of Mason and Dixon s line. The church divided in

1844, and the southern wing that split off assumed the ecclesiastical title. of the*
Methodist Episcopal Church South. The Methodist Episcopal Church has never

changed its name.

By Mr. COBURN :

Question. What is the number of members in Alabama of the Methodist Episcopal
Church proper ? i

J &amp;gt;/*//&amp;lt;/-. We have there now about 15,000 members, a fraction over three-fourths
of^whom are white.; we have six presidiug-elder districts, seventy circuits and stations,

seventy traveling ministers, and about one hundred and fifty local preachers.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Qiii-xihni. Let me ask you, in what character were you sent there; as a missionary
to the Sonth) 01 were you sent there by the Cincinnati conference to take charge of
that elmreh south?

AxtWCr. We had no organization there.

Question. Did the ( in&amp;lt; iiniati conference claim that they had a right to go there and
organize a church ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir.

Quorum. As against the Southern Methodist church?
Answer. Not against the Southern Methodist church

;
we regarded the whole world

our paiish.

Question. Having no organi/.ed church there you went in the character of a mission
ary to found a church there?
AHHIW. I was sent thereto organize the Methodist Episcopal Church, and build up

lu-r interests, and in that capacity I have labored therefor years, and have raised that -

showing which you see there hi live years and eight months.
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Question. Are wo to understand that all this concatenation of attacks upon you Las
come from the Methodist Episcopal Church South ?

Answer. I have said no such thing.

Question. What is your belief? Does it spring from a difference in regard to reli-

gioiis matters ?

Answer. I think there is a bitter feeling on the part of the Methodist Episcopal
Church South against the Methodist Episcopal Church, and the affinities of that

church are with the party that is opposed to our organization.

Question. Just as the affinities of the northern members are with the northern church ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Is there any difference ?

Answer. I think it is a very similar state of things ;
I regard it as a politico-religious

feeling and bitterness. We drew out the loyal element and concentrated it, and it

seemed to assume proportions and dimensions that were a little alarming.

Quest ion. What do you mean by drawing out the loyal element ? Do yon mean that

your efforts were directed to that portion of the Southern people and not to the others?

Answer. Not in the least. I never advanced a political idea in the pulpit, North or

South.

Question. Then what do yon mean by drawing out the loyal element of the South?
Answer. 1 mean by that that as I commenced and continued preaching there, and

thev understood the antecedents and general principles of the Methodist Episcopal
Church, from which they had formerly been severed, they decided to return

;
and as a

natural consequence the loyal element gravitated toward us.

Qnexlion. Did you not go there to organize the loyal element in the Methodist Church ?

Ansirer. No, sir
;

1 had no such purpose and no such design. My orders were per

emptory not to mingle in the political arena at all
; my charge to my preachers was

peremptory
(Jiie.slion. From what part of Ohio did you go ?

Answer. 1 resided in Peru, Indiana; but was transferred over to the Cincinnati con

ference, that being in session at Troy.
Quvxtion. Troy, in Miami County?
^ 1 iimcer. \ es, Mr.

(Question. Yon never lived in Ohio ?

Answer. No, sir.

(JiK stion. Have you been a pretty strong politician in your time?
, AnxH cr. No. sir.

Question. Von have taken no part in politics ?

Answer. I would not say that.

Question. Did you ever preach what is called a political sermon ?

An.sn cr. Never in my life
;

I never introduced, North or South, a political idea in inv
sermons

;
never have and never expect, to.

Question. Are \ on not somewhat ri an exception in that respect to Methodist Episco
pal Chin ch preachers generally ?

Answer. 1 do not know that I am.

Question. Do yon not know a great many that are of that class?
Answer. I know a great many who are warm in their political feelings.

Question. Did yon ever hear a political sermon ?

Answer. No, sir
;
I do not think I ever have.

Question. Where were yon during the war .

Answer. I was chaplain of the Thirty-ninth Indiana Regiment.
Question. Yon were in the conflict then .

Answer. Yes, sir, for four years I shared the fortunes of that regiment in all their

bloody battles and terrible marches,, and with Sherman went around to the sea.

By Mr. Cor,ri;x :

Question. Yon were stating something about the charge you gave to your preachers ;
I

wish you would continue what you were going to say. What was your charge to
them?

Answer. My orders from the bishop, and through me to the preachers, were not to

mingle in the political arena, but to devote themselves entirely and exclusively
to the work of the Christian ministry; and as a class. I do not believe; there is

an equal number to be found in the United States that have^adliered more closely to
the duties of the ministry than the pieachers of the Methodist Episcopal Church in
the State of Alabama. 1 will say farther, with permission, that we have had some
very severe and some very hard conflicts. I may be compelled to look at my list, in
order to give all the facts.

Question. In reference to the particular point you were on a moment ago, I wish you
would state whether this opposition to your work is organized, or is it incidental in its

manifestations, as you understand it?

Answer. I cannot say whether it is a systematic organized opposition ;
I do not know

that.
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Question. What would the manifestations lead you to suppose ?

Answer. The manifestations indicate such a state of feeling.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. A moment before you leave that subject ; you have stated in
reference^to

the character 01 i he membership that came to your church in Alabama, that it was

principally from the loyal element.

An*&quot; -r. Fee, sir.

(Jursiinn. Did yon, when you went there, find that element ready to be organized
into your church : and did you find it existing there to any great extent?

Answer. I found it to a very great extent. Wo did not create the necessity or the
demand

;
we simply supplied it. By their feelings and views, and their knowledge of

the Methodist Episcopal Church, they naturally came to her as their choice.

(jHixtioti. That being the case, do you attribute the hostility of those disguised per-^

sons, of those bands who attacked you, in any degree to the fact that there were so&quot;

many loyal men in your branch of the Methodist church in Alabama?
.Itixirt-r. Yes, sir. The loyal men in the State of Alabama as a general thing, or the

majority of them, are not among the leading men of the country ; they are what we
would call the middle classes, the working classes, poor men who had no interest in

maintaining slavery.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. Has anybody any interest in maintaining that institution now ?

Answer. I think Mr. Davis has an interest in &quot;the lost cause;&quot; he seems to have.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. In traveling through the State of Alabama and supervising the interests
of your church there, have you made any examination into the number of your
preachers who have been visited by these bands of disguised men, and the number
of persons who have been whipped and outraged in the different counties through
which you have passed? If you have, state what was the result of that examina
tion.

Answer. (Referring to memorandum-book.) Rev. Mr. .Hill, of Eutaw, was whipped
land driven from the State in 1867, and is now in Illinois.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. Did you commence making that record in 1867 ?

Answer. No, sir.

Qtn-Nt!(n&amp;gt;. \Yhen did you commence that memorandum-book ?

Answer. I drew up this from a former scrap-book.
fjncxtion. You kept a scrap-book, then ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did you commence it in 1867 ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

By Mr. STEVENSON :

Quextfan. Who was Mr. Hill, and where was he from ?

Answer. He was a native Alabamian. We have not had a northern preacher there
except one to assist me, for about three months. I have raised all these men on the
ground native Alabamians.

Question. Was the Mr. Sullivan to whom you have referred a southern man ?
* Answer. Yes, sir.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Qin-niion. How many preachers have you under your charge ?

Answer. In the conference?
Qm xtion. In your Alabama organization : do you not preside over the Alabama or

ganization I

I MM r. No, sir
;
I preside over only one district

;
we have six districts.

Question. You are a presiding elder, as known in the Methodist Church ?
inswer. Yes. sir; but I have had the supervision of the whole work.

^Question. Then, A\heu you speak of all your preachers but one being native
Alahaimans, do you meftn that remark to apply to your district only or to the entire

I mean that to apply to the whole conference in the State.
, How many preachers are there of that sort?

Answer. Who have been maltreated?
,&quot;&quot;*

. No: \vlui arc. native Alabamians.
.hifiinr. They an- all native Alabamians.
Question. How many are there?
Answer. Seventy.
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By Mr. COBURX :

Question. Native Alabamians or resident Alabamians?
Answer, Resident Alabamians. and I suppose all native Alabamians

;
and there are

one, hundred and fifty loeal preachers. The first I named, who was maltreated, wns
a Mr. Hill ; he has some three initials to his name, F. B. L., I think, but I do not now
remember exactly what they are. The parties who whipped him were arrested and
tried by General Shepperd, by military commission, adjudged to have their heads
shaved and sent to the Dry Tortugas, one class for one year and the other class for two

years, at hard labor. Mr. President Johnson pardoned them all. J. A. McCutcheou,
presiding elder, was driven from the Demopolis district in 1868.

By Mr. STEVENSON :

Question. Who was he ?

Ansu er. A native Alabamian, and subsequently chaplain of the senate; he was
chaplain for two years. James Buchanan was driven from the Tuscaloosa circuit; lie

\vas fired upon, in his house and upon the highway, and notified to leave on pain of

death. He lias gone to Texas.

Question. Who was he ?

Ansu-er. He was a native Alabamian born and raised in Blount County. Alabama.
John W. Talley, a native Alabamian, an old traveling minister in the Methodist Epis
copal Church before the division, fell into the southern division

;
but when the Meth

odist Church came there ho came to her. He was the presiding elder of the Talladega
district, but is now in Missouri. Moses B. Sullivan, as I have already stated, was
whipped, and is now in Florida, sent out of the State.

By Mr. Conuitx :

Question. Who is Moses B. Sullivan ?

Answer. The man who was whipped, whom I named before, and whose affidavit I

presented.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. At what place was Mr. Sullivan whipped? %
Answer. In Madison Couufy, twenty-two miles from Huntsville.

By the CIIAIKMAN :

Question. Do you desire this affidavit of Mr. Sullivan s case to be incorporated with

your testimony I

Answer. Yes, sir; with one exception. There are two names I wish to strike from
that affidavit, for I am convinced that Mr. Sullivan was in error in regard to two
names of persons whom he attempts to identify as among his punishers.

By Mr. VAN THUMP :

Question. By what authority do you assume to strike out anything from an affidavit

made by another person?
Answer. Well, 1 will record it as a note; for since then these men, who are personal

friends of mine, have given me reason to believe that they were not the guilty parties.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. State who they are, if you wish that statement to accompany the affidavit.

Answer. Colonel James Sheffield and Mr. Ferguson James Ferguson, 1 think.

Question. You think the reference to them in the affidavit is erroneous?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Quistion. \Yith that exception you desire the affidavit incorporated in your testimony ?

Answer. Yes. sir. [See &quot;A,&quot;
attached to testimony of this witness, page 14b.] Dean

Reynolds, colored man, local preacher, beaten and left for dead, with both arms

broken, one of them in two places.

By Mr. STEVENSON :

Qucsti-on. Was he a native Alabamian ?

Answer. A native Alabaniiau, and a colored man.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. Where was that ?

Ansu-cr. In Morgan County, on the Tennessee River
j right on the line between Mar

shall and Morgan.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. When was that?
Answer. It was in 1868. I do not remember the exact time. I sent him over the

river to take charge of the colored people on those large Tennessee bottom plantations.
Jesse Knight, local preacher, shot in his own house, in Morgan County, in 18G9, and
died in a tew days after.
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By Mr. STEVENSON :

Ontxtion. Who was he?
I* M v&amp;gt;- A native Alabamian ;

had lived all his life in that place, and owned a grist-

mil! and a saw-mill there, He was a steady, sedate, virtuous, intelligent man. 1 held

a quarterly meeting in his neighborhood, and stopped at his house.

l.y Mr. COBUUN:

QMttfM. How long was it after you held a quarterly meeting there and stopped at

his hoiisr. that thai outrage was committed?
Atiwtr. About fifteen months. Rev. Mr. Johnson, local preacher, of 1 ayetteville,

shot dead in the pulpit while preaching, in 1868.

15y Mr. ^TEVENSON:

Qucxlinn. Who was he?

Answer. \ native Alabamian, living in the place; a local preacher.
unt-xiion. Do yon know anything about the circumstances of that case?

j//.s/r, r. Not part ienlarly ;* only that a man from the congregation shot him while he

was preaching.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

&amp;lt;)iirtion. A single man ?

.hixti tr. No, sir; ho was a man of family.
&amp;lt;&amp;gt; it ful in H. 1 mean the man who shot him was not supported by others around,him.

Yon say a man arose in the congregation and shot him.

Answer. He was sitting in the congregation and drew his pistol and shot him.

By Mr. STEVENSON :

Question. Was there any punishment for that that you have heard of?

Answer. I have- never heard of a man in Alabama being punished for any outrage of

the kind.

QiH xtion. Were the military there then?

J//.sir&amp;lt;jr. They were in Himtsville.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Qucxtion. When was that ?

In 1H69.

. The State government was organized then ?

Yes, sir.

By Mr. COBURN :

Question. At what time in .18691
J*HVT. In the summer of 1869. James Dorraan, a member of the conference, at We-

tumpka, was brutally whipped on Sunday .after service, and run from the circuit in 1870.

By Mr. STEVENSON :

(
t

if *tion. Who was he?
J//.s/rr/\ A native Alabamian; a nephew of the celebrated and distinguished Dr.

Dorman, of the Georgia conference; the presiding elder of that conference. I failed to
look over the minutes

;
I was secretary of the conference, and have not here the name

of a man who joined the conibrence last fall at our session; and in a few weeks after
lie and his son were shot dead on the line of the West Point and Montgomery road.

(Jiitxtion. Was he a preacher? ^

.liiNiccr. lie was a member of the conference; a colored man. He joined the con
ference, \vent to his circuit, and a few days after reaching the place he was shot. It
was between West Point and Opelika, on the line of that road. His presiding elder,
Dr. Franklin, wrote me the facts of the case. George Taylor, local preacher in 1869,
in t he count y that was taken off of Florence and Lawrence. If you have the map here
I can recall the name.

By the CHAIRMAN :

niH xii.Ht. When was it taken off? Perhaps the map here will not show it.

J//.s/rr. 1 think it will;%it was in Tuscumbia, Colbert County. I have an affidavit
here which I will present to he incorporated with my testimony. (See &quot;B&quot; attached
to this testimony, page 148.) I was in the neighborhood, and know the facts. He
waa taken from his bed by a band of disguised men and whipped; laid upon his face,
with men upon his arms and legs, and whipped till his back was scavilied

;
he was

punched in the head with their pistols until his hair was clotted with coagulated blood;
and then, witli a knife, his body and legs and thighs were punctured all over, and then
they would slit them out with the knife. They ordered him to leave ; his wife carried
him out and fed him; he wras taken to one of iny traveling preachers there.
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Question. Did you sec him?
Answer. Yes, sir; at Old Uncle George Merrill s

;
ho was kept concealed in their loft

for about three mouths, and then he was able to travel, when he left.

By Mr. POOL :

Question. Was he stripped when they whipped him ?

Answer. I did not ascertain; he had nothing but his night-clothes on when they
whipped him.

By Mr. STEVENSON :

Question. Who was he ?

Answer. A colored man
;
born and raised in that neighborhood ;

one of the most

meek, humble, devoted boys I have ever knowiyuuong the colored people. About the
same time they hung three men from the bridge.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Three colored men ? .

Answer. Yes, sir
;
from the bridge across a large creek. The leading man s name was

Johnson, a member of the Methodist Church. Two others were hung with him from
the bridge by disguised men.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. Was that at Tuscumbia?
Answer. Yes, sir; I have another case that I wish to present, and then I will submit

the whole of their allidavits.

By Mr. COHURN :

Question. In regard to the men hung from a bridge, do you mean that they were hung
until they were dead?

Answer. Yes, sir; and they were taken down and buried by the colored people.

By Mr. STEVENSON :

Question. Was any notice pinned upon their bodies ?

Answer. Not that I know of.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Does that complete the list of clergymen you have referred to as having
been subjected to outrages ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Were all these men you have mentioned men of good character and stand

ing in your church ?

Answer. I was personally acquainted with every man of them but Johnson, and he is

reported to have been a man of excellent character. All the rest I can vouch, for as

being men of sterling integrity and piety quiet, peaceable, aud unobtrusive.

By Mr. STEVENSON :

Question. What has become of Taylor ?

Answer. He is in Iluntsville, working on a plantation within about three miles of the
town.

Question. Has ho quit preaching?
Answer. He is a local preacher.&quot;

(Question. lie is still preaching ?

Answer. Yes, sir; he has never been a traveling minister.

By Mr. COBURN :

Question. Have you any information of the arrest, trial, and punishment of any
persons who perpetrated these outrages upon these preachers ?

Answer. I have of but one; and that was the punishment in the Dorman case. I

have this item of information that I will give to you. I see now the importance of

things that I did not think of at the time.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. Was that Dorman the man who was killed in the pulpit ?

Answer. No, sir; that was Mr. Johnson. Mr. Franklin, the presiding elder of Mr.
Dorman by the way, he was under me for one year; and I have known him ever since
we have organized our conference there. Mr. Franklin wrote me that at the investiga
tion a lawyer of Watumpka denounced him as a renegade, thief, liar, and heaped every
epithet upon him that could be thought of, and it seemed to meet with a very general
and hearty response from the great crowd that had assembled to hear the investigation.
The whole matter was laid over, or quashed, or broke down. There was nothing done
the whole thing passed away.

Question. You say the lawyer denounced Dorman ?

9
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Ansiccr. Yea, sir; in the investigation a lawyer from Wctumpka was employed.
i. Who \vas that lawyer!
I do not remember his name.

By the CHAIRMAN :

. How many were arrested at the time that investigation took place?
I do not know

;
he did not state.

1 ; v Mr. BLAIR :

(
t
hicxt n&amp;gt;n. They were tried and released?

.Inxttrr. That ia the report; that the proceeding flashed out.

By the CHAIRMAN :

({iu-xti&amp;lt;ni.
Is that the only case in whieh yon know of an arrest being made?

. IMSMVT. The only instance of arrest that I know. I have onecase I wish to present,
and ln-rc is tin- affidavit. I will state the facts : a young man by the name of Blair, a

colored man,

By Mr. STEVENSON :

. Is that case connected with the church?
. No, sir; it is not.

&amp;lt;jii&amp;lt;

xti&amp;lt;&amp;gt;H. Before you go on with that case, I wish to ask you some questions ;
was there

any evidence brought to your knowledge that the people who gathered around you in

organizing the Methodist Episcopal Church in Alabama were people who had been con
strained into the separation; was there any extensive feeling of that sort that you
observed .

.liiKim . On the part of old men there were men. who had lived under the old
chnivh and had been taken out without their knowledge or consent. They felt a

longing to return to the old church and became centers of influence
;
and the people,

as a general thing, the loyal people, were very much displeased and dissatisfied with
t IK- Methodist Episcopal Church South. Some of their best ministers were expelled for

disloyalty, or because they were suspected of disloyalty to the Confederate States, and
they were very much oppressed, and they hailed the opportunity of going to the old
church when she went there.

(Jiu NlioH. I notice that Mr. Sullivan in his affidavit states that on one occasion he
was told that the people at the church where he was preaching did not want to hear
him

;
that he took a vote of the congregation and all but three voted that they wanted

to hear him, and three voted that they did not, and that the crowd who was outside

cursing and swearing agreed with the three
;
did you hear of that circumstance?

-f//.st&amp;lt;YT. Yes, sir; I heard it talked of.

(jncxtioH. Currently spoken of?
.Intticer. Yes, sir.

Question. It was also charged against him by the crowd who were whipping him that
he had not been true to the South. Had he been an old preacher ?

r. No, sir.

. Did you have any communication with Methodist Episcopal preachers in
other Southern States any general knowledge of how they were getting on? Was
the work going on in other Southern States also?

ir
;
and pretty general, for this reason : the last general conference es

tablished a paper located at Atlanta, Georgia, called the Methodist Advocate. It has
become the organ of the South, and I am one of its corresponding editors

;
I have had

a pivtty extensive correspondence with the preachers and leading men of the Churcl^
and especially with the, editor of that paper.

(Jncxtion. I do not want to go into details, but I want to ask you the general ques-
tiim, whether from your knowledge of the affairs and proceedings of the Church in other
Southern States, engaged in work similar to that you were engaged in, there was any
general or violent opposition ?

.liixirir. I think there is very general.
Oin*tion. Do you mean to include the past in that; to say that there has been, aiifl

that there is, very general opposition?
Anxin-r. I mean to say there has been and is.

ym-xUnii. Has it been manifested more or less in the same way by acts of violence ?

JMMr. To some considerable extent.

By Mr. COBURN :

nnr*Hn)i. Is there any radical difference, and if so, what is it, between the disci
pline and doctrines of the Methodist Episcopal Church South and the Methodist Epis
copal Church ?

I/,*/r,r. There j s no difference in the doctrines and in the general economy of the
Church

;
there may be some little changes adapted to the different sections of the conn-
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try. The Methodist Episcopal Church retained the opposition to slavery ;
the Meth

odist Episcopal Church South obliterated it from the discipline.

By Mr. STEVENSON :

Question. They differed merely on the question of slavery ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
that was the ground of the split.

By Mr. COBURN :

Question. Is there any difference now that slavery has been abolished ?

Answer. No, sir. The doctrines and discipline, and very generally the usage and

economy, are the same some verbal differences.

Question. Have they restored the old article in relation to slavery ?

Answer. The Southern Church 1

Question. Yes.

Answer. No, sir.

(Juestion. What is, then, the difference between the churches now; is it a question
of loyalty or disloyalty, or democracy or republicanism ? Is it political, or is it relig

ious, in other words
;
that is what I want to bring your mind to ?

Answer. I think it is both
;

it is a mixed question. At the general conference, after

the surrender, of the Methodist Episcopal Church, the general conference requested
the bench of bishops of the Methodist Episcopal Church to confer with the bishops of

the Methodist Episcopal Church South, and propose terms of union. The bishops of

the Methodist Church South threw themselves upon the old issues and rejected the

overture. At the last session of the general conference of the Methodist Episcopal
Church a commission was appointed to meet the general conference of the Methodist

Episcopal Church South, and again propose formal terms of union. Bishop .Jaynes and
Dr. Harris were the commissioners. They met the general conference in Memphis; they
were received very cordially, but the announcement was made and concurred in by the

general conference that it was essential for the existence of the Methodist Episcopal
Church South to have two separate organizations.

By Mr. STEVENSON :

*

Question. That was in the conference of the Methodist Episcopal Church South?
Answer. Yes, sir.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question, Had they not, before the war, had a very great and excited controversy in

the courts, and in the Supreme Court of the United States, in regard to the division of

the property between the two organizations f

Ansu cr. Yes, sir. As soon as the general conference of the Methodist Episcopal
Church South was organized they instituted proceedings in the courts for their por
tion of the funds of the church, and they had to prosecute in the States where the

property was held.

Question. I merely want to show that there was a controversy between the two
churches before there were any political troubles. Was that not really the first blow

against the arch of the union that occurred in the whole history of the matter I

Answer. It was a very heavy blow.

By Mr. STEVENSON :

Question. You were going on to make a statement in regard to the case of Blair.

Anfiim: Yes, sir. Here is the affidavit in that case. (See
&quot;

C,&quot;
attached to this testi

mony, page, 148.) He was taken from his house from Ids father, mother, brother, and
sisters and whipped ;

his legs were slit open on three sides on his thighs ;
the calves

of his legs were slit open on two sides; the bottoms of his feet were slit open ;
and

then there were cuts made across both legs.

By Mr. POOL :

Question. Cuts with a knife ?

Ansicer. With some sharp-cutting instrument.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. Where did he live?
Answer. In Madison County, near the little town of Vienna, on the Tennessee River.

It was done by disguised men.
Question. Was he a preacher ?

Answer. No, sir; he was a laboring man. He was thrown into spasms. He was
brought into Huntsville on a stretcher, carried into the grand-jury room, and exhibited

to the grand jury. He was subject to violent spasms, and about three months after

he died in one of those spasms.

By Mr. STEVENSON :

Question. Had he been subject to spasms before ?

Anatver. No, sir
;
he was a healthy boy.
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By Mr. BLAIR :

Quezon. What wae he whipped for ?

///.vim- I do not know; there was nothing alleged against him. The parties were

all identified by the family, and they were all sworii to before the grand jury.

By Mr. POOL :

OiH xtioH. Did they indict them ?

A HKH-tr. It was reported that they were all indicted. It was before the United States

court, under the civil-rights bill.

By Mr. STEVENSON :

(hiextion. Have they been tried yet I

AHHicrr. No, sir. There never has been one of them tried in that court. I think

thru- were some thirty-three indictments, as I learned from the foreman of the grand
jury, and from one of his colleagues; and seven of those indictments were for man-
slau&amp;lt;-hter and murder in the first degree. Judge Chadton, the foreman of the grand
jury came to Himtsvillo to investigate, and told me he would go to the bottom of the

affair, as but two had been arrested, and they were illicit distillers. Before Judge
Charlton reached his home in Summerville he was clandestinely murdered, in Decatur,
in the night, seven buck-shot entering his body.

By Mr. VAN THUMP :

Question. Did you say that difficulty arose out of some illicit transactions in distil

ling .

Answer. No, sir. I said but two of the party had been arrested, and they were illicit

distillers.

By the CHAIRMAN :

(Question. Two of those against whom indictments were found ?

A //.Nicer. Yes, sir, of the thirty-odd.

By Mr.*PoOL:

Question. Plave any of those parties who were indicted at that time been arrested at

all?

Answer. No, sir. Their names are not on the marshal s books at all. There have
been no capiase s issued, and consequently no arrests and no trial.

By Mr. BLAIR:

Question. This was in the United States court ?

JMMCIT. Yes, sir.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. How long ago ?

Answer. A year ago last fall.

(jiH-Niion. Do you know the reason why they have not been prosecuted ?

Answer. I think our courts in Alabama are a farce; not only a farce, but a mockery.
Question. The United States courts ?

Jx.sicer. I think all of them put together are.

By Mr. POOL:

Question. Was it in the district or the circuit court of the United States, or do you
.know ? What judge was on the bench ?

Answer. Judge Busteed.

Question. Was any other judge sitting with him?
Anxn-cr. No, sir.

Question. Then it was the district court ?

Anwar. Yes, sir. I think there are three judicial districts, Mobile. Montgomery,
and Huntsville.

Question. You mean three places of holding the United States court?
Annwer. Yes, sir. I hold in my hands written statements of outrages sworn to.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Qurxtion. Do you know the parties ?

Answer. I know a large number of them.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. State what cases you know.
Ansn-rr. lid-- is

&amp;lt; he affidavit of Mary Campbel (see
&quot;

D,
&quot; attached to this testimony,

page 111),) in the ease of William Campbell, her husband.
Question. Do you know the facts of the occurrence there set forth ?
Answer. Yes, sir.
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Question. State them.
Ansiver. He resided in this Big Cove that I have referred to, in Madison County. Ko

was shot in the night, five times, by disguised men ;
once in the presence of his wife, and

once the pistol was redfehed around her to shoot him.

By Mr. VAX TRUMP :

Question. Let us understand. You say you know all these facts. Of course you can

give the information you have got. How do you know of this transaction ?

Answer. I was in the neighborhood, and passed through.
Question. You were not present at the shooting ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. You know what you have heard others say?
Answer. I was not an eye-witness of it.

Question. What yon know about it is from information from others ?

Answer. I was in the neighborhood ;
I saw the widow of the murdered man; I was

in the neighborhood, and I heard the people who buried him talk of the occurrence.

(Question. As you proceed with each case consecutively, it will save time if you will

state what you are testifying to of your own knowledge, and what on information
from others.

Answer. This man Campbell was shot and murdered.

By Mr. STEVKNSON :

Question. Who was he ?

Answer. A colored man ;
an industrious, hard-working man. living on a plantation.

Question. Was he prominent in any way ?

Answer. Quite so; he was killed just before the election.

Question. Was he prominent as a republican ?

Answer. Yes, sir; as a republican among the colored men. Prior Turner, of Hunts-
vine, was shot. I did not see the shooting ;

I saw the man, and saw his wounds, and
I saw the case as it was brought before tin- grand jury.

Question. Who was he I

Answer. A citizen of Himtsville
;
a very hard-working, industrious colored man.

Question. Had he any prominence ?

Answer. Quite considerable.

Question. As a republican ?

Answer. Yes. sir
;
as a republican and as a man.

By the CHAIRMAX :

Question. When did that occur ?

Answer. The date is in this paper. (See
&quot;

E,&quot;
attached to this testimony, page 150.)

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. You do not yourself recollect ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
I recollect the year ;

it was in 1868.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. In regard to all those cases in reference to which you have submitted

affidavits, have you made such investigation as to satisfy you that the statements made
are substantially correct ?

Answer. Yes, sir; I am perfectly sanguine of that.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. In whose handwriting are these affidavits ? I notice that they are all in

one hand writing.
Answer. They are in the handwriting of Mr. Wager, the Bureau agent i?,t Hunts-

ville. Here are two cases that occurred on one plantation. (See
&amp;lt;%

F,&quot;
attached to this

testimony, page 151.) I had the statement from the gentleman himself, two morn
ings after they were whipped, and I saw one of the men. Seven were whipped in one

night on the plantation of Mr. David Bush
;
seven were whipped, three were shot, and

one was murdered. I was taken to see him; ho was lacerated all over, and his body
punctured with some four or five bullets. He was living when I saw him, but died a
fowr

days after.

By Mr. COBURX :

Question. Did he make any statement to you while in this dying condition?
Answer. I talked with him.

Question. What did he say I

Answer. He said there were some thirty or forty disguised men who came into his

house, took his gun and broke it, took him out one side and beat him, and then shot

him, and persons on the plantation carried him in.

(Question. At the time he made this statement was he in ilie prospect of death ;
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Answer.
\&amp;gt;3, sir; right in the jaws of death.

()m*lion. Ho made that statement with the understanding that his wounds were

J sr . Yes, sir; and it was concurred in by Mr. Bush, who saw some of the parties

whinpe-&amp;lt;. They were all on his plantation and they scattered in every direction.

By Mr. POOL :

Question. How many do you say wore whipped at the same time?

Answer. Then- were seven whipped, three shot, and one killed, named Williams.

Qiii-xtion. Did Williams identify any of the men who did it ?

wer, No, sir
;
ho did not know any of them.

By the CHAIRMAN :

. Does this embrace the number of persons whose affidavits you are in pos-
&amp;lt;&amp;gt;t . and which cases you have examined so as to be satisfied that these state

ments are correct?
.In.siccr. Yes, sir.

(Jiicxtion. State whether your attention has been directed to the number of persons
in various counties who have been subjected to these outrages, and if you have made
a summary of how many they are, including those you have mentioned in your
testimony.

.iiixwer. It would be very difficult for me to tell, as I have traveled over nearly every
county north of Montgomery, in my saddle

;
with the cares of my church resting on my

mind, it would have been very difficult for me to have recorded all the numerous iu-

stanees that came to my knowledge. I was careful to keep a record in my diary of what
1 regarded as authentic, and to put down none that I regarded as doubtful.

Question. Taking the various counties, give us a summary of what you have so re

corded; you need not give the names.
Answer. I have taken down Madison, Jackson, Limestone, Morgan, Blount, and

Marshall Counties.

QncKtion. Give a summary of the result of your examination, beginning first with
Madison County.
Answer. At the time I was getting out of the way I got into the creek and got my

book wet, so that the entries are somewhat blurred
;
in Madison County there were

sixty-one cases.

Question. Between what dates?
From 1868 to 1871.

By Mr. COBURN :

Question. Do you mean including 1871 up to this time?
Answer. Yes, sir.

By Mr. POOL :

Question. Have there been any in 1871 ?

Anxicer. Yes, sir; they are going on now, or were when I left home. They were
raiding constantly. In Jackson County were forty cases.

By the CHAIRMAN :

(Jm Nlion. Between the same dates ?

Aiixu-cr. Yes, sir; there were seven killed in Madison among the sixty-one cases. In
Limestone County were thirty-six cases, of whom six were killed. *

Question. The six are included in the thirty-six? *

Yes, sir.

By Mr. POOL:
. How about Jackson?

Answer. There were thirty-one punished and six killed there. In Blotuit County
seventy-one were punished; six killed; in Marshall County there were seventy-six i

iahed and seven killed; in Morgan County fifty-seven were punished and eight
*

I5y Mr. BLAIR:

Qiu xlidii. Have you tho names in that memorandum-book
Answer. Not all in all the counties; some have been blurred or obliterated so that I

have been compelled to transfer them.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

V ti&quot; How came you to state awhile ago that there were forty cases in Jackson

. 1 made a mistake.
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By Mr. COBURX :

Question. Were these more violent cases of outrage perpetrated by what are called

Ku-KIux or disguised men ?

Answer. In every instance I have recorded there it has been by disguised men; I have
recorded no other instances.

By Mr. VAX TRUMP

Question. Is this your original memorandum-book or a transcript ?

Answer. I have had some of my manuscripts burned, when my house was burned, and
I had to take some of these from scraps as I gathered them or had them in my possession.

Question. Then this is but a transcript from the original memorandum ?

Answer. Yes, sir; and some additions made here.

Question. How does it happen that this all appears to be written at one time ?

Answer. I stated that I drew it from rough memoranda and manuscript.
Question. Then there is no part of this bx&amp;gt;k which is original memoranda?
Answer. No, sir; but I assert that it is a true copy of what I gathered as I traveled

through the country.
Question. Did you take down the first case of all that you heard of when you went

to Alabama ?

Answer. I did not take them down for some little time.

Question. After how long a time
;
how many cases had occurred and come to your

knowledge before you began to make a record of them ?

Answer. On my return from my refugceing in the mountains
;
I then began to keep

a memorandum in regard to certain localities.

Question. In what year did this refugceing condition of things occur?
Answer. It was a few days after the presidential election.

Question. When did you go to Alabama ?

Answer. In the autumn after the surrender; but there was no Ku-Klux then.

Question. There was no disturbance of any kind ?

Answer. Not at all.

Question. You went there as a- gospel minister ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

(Question. And from 1865 to when was there entire harmony and peace ?

Answer. Up to near the presidential election, or during the spring and the summer
preceding.

Question. And it was at that period that you were a refugee ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
after the presidential election I was two months in the mountains,

and after that I commenced making a record, and then I recorded the facts.

Question. How long prior to that presidential election did these things begin to
occur ?

Answer. They commenced about March and April.

Question. Seven or eight mouths prior to the presidential election, then ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And you did not commence to make memoranda or to keep any record of
these things until two or three months after the election ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Nearly a year passed, then, before you began to think it was your duty to

keep a record of the state of things in Alabama ?

Answer. Not that length of time.

Question. Well, some nine mouths ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did these things occur frequently prior to the presidential election ?

Answer. Quite frequently.
Question. Why did it not strike you that you ought to keep a memorandum of those

things ?

Answer. I do not think of any particular reason
;
men do some things without any

particular reason for them
;
but it began to occur to me that they were so frequent that

I would look after them and keep a memorandum of them.

Question. That is, two or three months after the presidential election, and after all the
excitement which that election would naturally produce everywhere in the country
had begun to pass away, you then began to think it was time to make a memorandum
of these things ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
I will sav this: that I regard that as a very moderate estimate for

the State.

Question. It does not come up to the facts, then ?

Answer. I think it a very moderate estimate for these reasons: I heard of whippings
and hangings in different places, many that I have not recorded there.

Question. In these special counties?
Answer. O, yes, sir.

Question. Murders which you have not recorded ?



136 CONDITION OF -AFFAIRS IN THE SOUTHERN STATES.

Answer. Yes, sir; one inau hung by the name of Smith.

ti. How many more murders?
. There was a Mr. Francis, a school-teacher, and a blacksmith, and several

others.
Om-xthn. Why did you not put them down in this record?

Answer. I could not testify to them, and by some means or other they escaped me.

and I would not make any fresh entry.

-Hon. You cannot testify positively to the facts in most ot the cases on the list

tower Xo, sir, I cannot positively; but they are well-attested cases that occurred

in neighborhoods through which I have traveled, and of which I have no earthly doubt.

Then there is this fact : there is such terror on the people that many are whipped and

dan- not name it
; they are threatened to be murdered,.to be burned up, to be outraged,

it they mention it.

Question. That, is the reason why you think this list is a moderate one F

JM.VHVT. Yes, sir.

plication. How often have you held church services in Alabama, religious services?

Anxircr. 1 cannot tell you.

Qiirxtion. Is the number almost beyond your recollection, innumerable ?

AnMoar. Where I have held churches ? .

(Question. Yes, religious services, publicly?
Anxurr. 1 have been a very industrious laborer.

(&amp;gt;ncxtion. Has it been as often as once a week?
Anxn-cr. I should think so.

Question. During these live years and eight months ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Qiirxtion. Were any of your services, your public meetings, ever broken up ?

Anxinr. No, sir
;
in several instances I have been notified that it would not be safe,

and I have not gone to my appointments.
i&amp;gt;nt-xHon. I know you have testified so

; now, if these men were so persistent and delib

erate in seeking your life, have they not had a number of opportunities to accomplish
that result ?

Anmw. Yes, sir.

(Jiu-xtion. At the times they have come to your meetings there has always been some

interposition of Providence, or something else, at least a remarkable array of circum
stances by which you have escaped ?

A UN ict-r. Yes, sir.

Qncxlion. You are holding meetings there yet, are you not?
Answer. No, sir.

Question. How long since you ceased!

Anxwer. On my return from the March and April tour I determined never to make
another tour on the circuit; niy presence in the neighborhood was a matter of terror
and alarm.

(Question. Then, if I understand you, there is more terror and a more desperate state
of things in Alabama at this moment than there has been at any previous time during
the five years and eight mouths you have been in Alabama?

A.ixirn: I did not say that. At the time I ceased my labors, when I made my last

tour around my district, I was in more peril than in any other I have ever made there.

(Jm stion. That was how long ago ?

. I iixmr. I closed out in April. I wish to name three other circumstances that escaped
me. I have been very ill. I have not been so ill before for twenty years as I have been
since I have been here, and my memory does not serve me as readily as it would under
other circumstances. I may get tilings a little out of place. In the month of August,

! was 1 raveling through along piece of woods when a rifle-bullet passed by niy ear,
rut ling through my whiskers, which were a little longer then than they are now. I
.xi \v lli.- smoke of a gun from behind a large oak tree. I wheeled my horse and rode
7i]), and found a man there who was trembling and shaking.

QiH-xtiim. Were you alone ?

/. Yes, sir.

Question. Tuarmed?
Anxm-r. Yes. sir. I came rapidly on him as lie was trying to reload his gun. He

thought he was going to be killed. He knew that ho deserved it, and begged piteously
for life. 1 made him go down to the road.

Qni xl nni. Von had him completely under your control?
Ansim: Yes, sir. I carried him with me about a mile and a half, until I came into

an open k&amp;gt;1 so that 1 knew he could not hurt me, and then let him go. He gave me
his name, but it was a tiet itious one.

(jin-xi iiHt. I low do you know that?
Antwer. I described the man to people who knew him, and a week after that he left

he country.
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Question. Was he disguised then ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Had lie any pistol or bowie-knife about him ?

Answer . Not that I know of.

By Mr. STEVENSON :

Question. He was disguised by the tree when he fired ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. Why did you not take him before an officer of justice ?

Answer. I did* not know that I should ever live to get there with a prisoner, and I

have no confidence in the courts of justice there. I would not prosecute a man; I

would not complain of a man to a grand jury, whatever he might do.

Question. You say you have several other cases. Before I go to another point you
can state them.

By Mr. POOL :

Question. Before you leave this case, what did that man s real name turn out to be?

Answer. I do not remember hi& name now.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. Did you know him before that ?

Answer. I had never seen him before.

Question. Could he possibly have known you?
Answer. Yes, sir

;
I think he did; he had been to my meetings.

By Mr. TOOL :

Question. Was he a white man ?

Answer. Yes. sir, he was a white man; a slim, long-haired, hollow-eyed, sallow-look

ing fellow, lie was said to have been a very bad man through the war.

By Mr. COIJURX:

Question. How far from there had you preached ?

Anvwer. About live miles.

By Mr. POOL :

Question. What reason did he give for shooting at you ?

Answer. He said he shot at a squirrel, did not shoot at me. But that was a very open

piece, and you could see a man for two hundred yards. I was in sight at least two

By Mr. BLAH: :

Question. Where was that ?

Answer. In Blount County. In the month of November following I was riding

through a piece of woods, and a man fired on me from a point of rocks, at an angle of

about four degrees: the ball just clipped over my shoulder, xip! I saw him get up
from behind the rock and go over across the ridge and run off.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. Did you not begin to think that if there was any time when it was prudent
to stop your travels it was just about that time, two years ago ?

Answer. I thought it Avas time to say my prayers.

Question. Still you kept on two years longer, or a year longer?
Anmoer. Yes, sir. In the mouth of December, 1868, 011 a Friday, it was intensely

rainy, and I was unable to travel. I had twenty miles to go to reach my quarterly

meeting. I started the next morning, a little before day. The moon was shining.
About a mile from the house, at a causeway in the pike, a cap was snapped within five

paces of me, and a man ran off like a deer through the woods with his gun in his

hands.

Question. These are the three instances you wanted to state?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Now, to go back for a few moments to where you started. You say quite a
number of leading men told you that they would never submit to the Government,
because their slaves had been made their rulers. That is about the substance of what
you said, I believe. When was that ?

Answer, .That was in the last of winter and in the spring of 1867.

Question. Were those gentlemen republicans or democrats?
^insicer. I judged from the general tone of their conversation that they were demo

crats.

Question. Were you not acquainted with them ?
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Answer. No, sir; I had never seen them before.

Question. How many gentlemen of that sort, prominent leading men, spoke to you in

that wa\ .

Inxin i: I should suppose, scattered over the distance I traveled, a dozen.

Question. Was it on any particular trip that you were making in your religious
vocations, or was it on several trips?

Answer. It was on a trip for one single purpose, to distribute the moneys belonging
to rtie diflerent presiding elders and the preachers under them.

Question. Then it was on that trip, for that purpose, that these men told you these

things?
A&amp;gt;tir&amp;lt; r. Yes, sir.

Qin-xtion. In what county or counties did it occur?
Anxim: I should suppose, as I was traveling through the country, (I made no par

ticular record of it,) that it was in Calhouu, Tallapoosa, Talladega, and various other

counties. I do not know that I could name them all, for I was traveling zigzag over

the country.

QMtJfam. These men were strangers to you as you were passing through there?
Anxtrer. Yes, sir; total strangers.
Qin-xtion. How did you happen to stop and get into conversation with them ?

Anxu-er. I was traveling and put up with them over night; introduced myself as a
Methodist preacher, and during the conversations we had these matters were spoken of

very freely, as they were uppermost in their minds.
(imxtion. Do you say that you do not know the name of a single man of all those

who made that declaration to you?
Anxwer. No, sir; I do not now know the name of one of them

;
I made no record of

their names.

Question. Did it not strike you with surprise that they should make such declarations ?

Anxwcr. Somewhat so.

Question. Why did you not keep a record of that state of facts as you did of these
others? You had your book with you?
Answer. I had a diary.
Question. You did not make that record ?

Auxu-er. No, sir.

Quixtion. You did not know their names?
Answer. I knew their names at the time, but in the crowd of matters that have come

up in the years since then their names have been crowded out of my memory.
Question. You knew their names at the time ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. How many instances of that sort occurred?
Answer. I should suppose in the neighborhood of a dozen.
Question. And not a single name can you recall now?
Answej-. There is this to be said : I should hesitate some time before I would give a

name under the circumstances, though I state positively that I do not remember a .

name. But if I did I should hesitate a little, because I might embarrass the position
of those men if this evidence should come out.

(Question. You would fear for those men ?

.insu-cr. I would fear for those men.

By Mr. POOL :

Question. You do not expect to go back there? *

Answer. I have virtually resigned my relation to that district, and so notified myn
bishop, and he has virtually released me, though I still hold the relation to my confer
ence and district.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. I understood you to say that, notwithstanding those gentlemen were stran
gers to you and you to them, they said there was an organization that would regulate .

this whole matter? ;
Anxirn: Yes, sir.

QiH-xtion And that you asked how it was to be done, and they said that a man would
I here and another there, atid so numerous would be the cases of that sort

Id overwhelm and overawe the judiciary of the country. That was about
the substance of what you said ?

Anxin-r. Yes, sir
; that is about the substance.

..

&quot;
*

&quot;&quot;. .

Alul wllen
.
y u got back to Himtsvillo from that same trip, you first heard

ot tin- Kn-K lux organization?
. lxie&amp;lt; r. Yes, sir.

Q,,,*Hun.
-\ndyonheardwithamazementofanorganizationthat corresponded ex

actly with what those men said was to bo?
Auxteer. Yes, sir.

QiHxiioi,. How long were you on that trip ?
rer. I traveled six hundred and fifty miles in my saddle, overbad roads.
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Question. You were not on a preaching tour, but stopped to distribute documents ?

Answer. To distribute funds.

Question. Did you get back in the course of five or six weeks ?

Answer. I cannot state the time. I was busy during the whole time. I do not re

member the exact time. I was very active.

Question. Have you any idea of about what time it was ?

Answer. No, sir.

By Mr. STEVENSON :

Question. Can you give us the date when you started on that trip?
Answer. It was about the middle of February, 1867.

Question. You are distinct in your recollection about that ?

Answer. I am pretty distinct about that.

By Mr. POOL :

Question. How was your house burned ?

Answer. It was burned with lire, and very rapidly, too.

Question. Who burned it ? State the circumstances.
Answer. I was not at home at the time. It was reported to have taken fire by acci

dent, and yet it was very mysterious.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. In the city of Huntsville?
Answer. Yes, sir

;
no assistance was rendered, and my family reported to me, and so did

the teachers. I obtained assistance from the church, and some aid from the bureau,
and built a very line seminary of learning, which cost about $10,000, for the education
of teachers

;
a normal school iu Huntsvillo. My house had been the house of the

teachers, and they informed me, when I got home, that the people would laugh and

jeer, and not lift a linger to help, and said that all they regretted was that the whole
damn nest of nigger preachers and teachers was not burned up with the house.

Question. This is the information you got after you got back ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

By Mr. STEVENSON :

Question. Who said that ?

Answer. The crowd that came around

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. What time of day?
Answer. Early in the morning.
Question. After the people had all arisen from their slumbers?
Answer. Yes, sir.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. Your family were at home?
Answer. Yes, sir.

By Mr. POOL :

Question. Was it the seminary that was burned ?

Answer. No, sir; a private house.

By Mr. VAN THUMP :

Question. Was there any fire-engine in Huntsville?
Answer. Yes, sir; but they did not get there in time.

Question. They did come?
Answer. Yes. sir; but the building was too far gone.
Question. You thought they were rather slow coming? That is your general impres

sion ?

Answer. Yes, sir; that is my impression. I will state one fact more. There have been
six churches burned in my district by incendiaries, and four of them three colored and
one white within the space of four weeks preceding the congressional election last
summer. Here is a description of the shooting into my house, of which I spoke. [See
&quot;(4.&quot; attached to this testimony, page 153.] And here is a notice of the action of
Governor Lindsay. I merely name it.

By Mr. STEVENSON :

Question. Does that relate to the shooting into your house ?

Answer. No, sir.

The paragraph is as follows :

&quot; From the Huntsvillo Advocate, May 27, 1871.

&quot;The governor at last has offered $200 reward each for Howell Jones and Gco. Blan-
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cett charged, as disguised men, with whipping Wm. Harper in Jackson County about

on, inontE ago. Also S-OU each fur Jamoj and Preston Lewelien, H. C Lawless, Geo

Wann. and Burn Barber, charged (as disguised men) with killing Sam l Cates on 25th

January.
11

]

By Mr. VAX THUMP:
inn. How does that relate to the testimony you have given ?

Anxurr. I only showed it to you, as I thought we were about closing out my testi

niony. t&amp;gt; show how matters are going on in Alabama.

Question. If you want to have it in your testimony-
Answer. 1 do not know anything about it.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. You know nothing about it?

A)t*ira: No, sir.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. You do not admire Governor Lindsay very much.
j//.s&amp;lt;nr. lit- is a very gentlemanly, fair-minded man. I showed that to show that

Governor Lindsay is making some efforts to stop these things.

Question. 1 understood you to offer it in a very different light.

. 1 Ho H cr. No, sir.

Question. You said you handed it to mo to show how things were done. I supposed
it was a sort of criticism on Governor Lindsay s acts.

. No, sir; I intended it the other way entirely.

By Mr. STEVENSON:

Question. What is this paper, the Huntsville Advocate?
Jwxjnr. It is a republican paper, and a very prudent, cautious sheet. I introduced

this to show that Governor Lindsay was taking some pains and making some efforts to

out and arrest this state of affairs.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

I merely misapprehended your object.
Anmccr. That was my object.

By Mr. STEVENSON :

(Jutxiion. What knowledge have you from general information as to whether any
school-houses have been destroyed or attacked in Alabama during the time covered by
your testimony?

Aiixircr. I have passed the ruins of probably a half dozen colored school-houses that

have been burned.

Question. In your district?

Answer. In my district
; yes, sir.

qiH xfitm. Have yon heard of any others being burned ;
I mean have you been crediblj

informed so by persons in the neighborhood ?

Answer. I think that has occurred in almost every portion of North Alabama; I am
not so well acquainted in South Alabama, but I think it has occurred pretty generally
throughout North Alabama.

Question. How was it understood that these school-houses had been burned ?

.li/x/rer. By incendiaries; by persons opposed to the education of the colored people*
&amp;lt;

t
hn*t!on. Did it appear whether any of the persons who burned them were in di$

guise .

JM.S/W. It was not known; they were burned in the night clandestinely.
^&amp;gt;

;&quot;:&amp;lt;! inn. Was that the case with the churches ?

. b.-xicrr. Yes, sir.

Qin-*Hfin. Was there any marked hostility exhibited toward school-teachers ?

JN.S-/HT. Very great hostility.
Question. In all the eases you have mentioned, I believe you have specified one or tw&amp;lt;

instances of outrages committed upon school-teachers
;
were any of the others school

teachers, so far as you know?
.liixir T. None of those I liavo named. A white man in Morgan County was beatei

and driven oil .

(Jiu-sHoH. When was that ?

Answer. That was in the fall of 1868. I think there has been a very deep-settle*
opposition and hostility to the education of the colored people; but I think we an
Improving in that respect; I think that opposition is greatly weakened, and that then
i^ a better fueling on that subject.
Qm ttioft. What is your ()pinlon of other portions of the State in regard to the dcstruc

lion of churches . I believe you have spoken upon that point exclusively in regard t(

your own district.
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Answer. I have heard of a great many others; I have no evidence of it except from

newspapers and from general report.

Quest ion. From your^comrnunications with the church ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. How were those churches generally built ?

Answer. Some of them were built preceding the division, and belonged to the old

Methodist Episcopal Church, and by the division fell to the Methodist Episcopal Church
South.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. How did you get possession of them ?

Answer. In many instances the whole congregation came over to us, and as they were
not occupied by anybody else, we occupied them.

Question. Was there any conflict between different congregations in regard to getting
possession of churches?

Answer. Not one of those which has been burned in my district. The white church
I referred to, as one of the four burned last summer, was built by the citizens within
the last three years.

By Mr. STEVENSON :

Question. By the congregation after it was organized ?

Answer. Yes, sir; and so with regard to all the colored school-houses. You will have
to make a little allowance

;
our churches there are sometimes very crude affairs.

They are built up of rude, crude logs ;
and what they would call boards we would call

staves.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. Clap-boards, we call them in Ohio?
Annum: Yes, sir : and from $40 and $50 to $75 would build one of them. And the

colored people would put up very crude log-pens for school-houses, that would bo
worth $25 or $30 ;

but they would answer their purpose.
Question. The colored people put them up themselves ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. All the houses down there, as a general rule, are not very substantial ?

Answer. They are very crude.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. Does it not happen occasionally in that wild country that these churches
are used at night by travelers passing through ?

Answer. Not there
; they are not on the roads traveled. What you have said is the

ease to a very great extent, but not in regard to the colored churches
;
J have never

known travelers to put up in them. In the South they have no public houses in the

country, and those engaged in teaming generally go prepared to camp out, carrying
their own provisions, which they prefer, and stop nowhere at private houses, unless it-

is ;i stormy night, or something of that sort.

QiKttlion. In such cases, I suppose, they frequently avail themselves of the shelter of
the churches ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
if in the neighborhood of them.

Question. And in that way their destruction occasionally occurs ?

-Inswcr. That was not the case in either of these instances, because they were not on
roads where they traveled.

Question. There must be travelers all through the country ?

Answer. There were no travelers there when they were burned.

By Mr. STEVENSON :

Question. Did you ever hear their destruction, in any case, attributed to that cause
by anybody ?

Answer. Never.

By Mr. POOL:

Question. Were any churches burned of any other denomination ?

A)iswer. No,, sir.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question^
While on the subject of burning, let me inquire of you with regard to the

burning of your own house. You said the tire in your house occurred in the morning ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. About what time ?

Anuwer. I am not positive whether it was at 12 o clock or soon after breakfast
;
it

was either soon after dinner or soon after breakfast.

Question. After people were all up and at their business ?
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Ansicer. Yes, sir.

r hM ition. What members of your family were there T

An. in,-. I think l&amp;gt;ut two members, my wife and only daughter, and the teachers;

probably four teachers were stopping at the house.

Qmxti m,. Where did the fire occur; in what part of the building? Some of the

members of the family must have noticed.

J/rs/nr. It was lirst seen breaking out of a window; the fire had extended so far

they could not tell exactly where it, began.

Qut (Jim. It was a very rapid conflagration from the first moment it was discovered ?

Auxin r. Yes. sir.

Qurxlion. Was it a wood or a brick house ?

.hixicer. All of our buildings there are principally of this fat pine; there was a wind

l&amp;gt;lo\\-in&quot;-, and it went like tinder.

Qiirxiion. Will you state here as a witness that you have any idea that house was

flred by an incendiary?
Anxirrr. 1 have no settled opinion myself upon that subject. There were suspicious,

but I give the best construction
;
I do not believe it was.

Question. Hnntsville is quite a largo town ?

Antwer. Yes, sir.

(Jui xtion. Did you live in a thickly-populated part of the town ?

IftMMr. No, sir
;
I was near the square, where there were but few buildings: there

were vacant lots around me.

(Jin xtioii. Nobody could have got up into the upper story of that building and set fire

to it that morning without some member of the family knowing it ?

Answer. They might have come in from the rear, but I do not regard it probable.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. You give it as your opinion that it was not burned by an incendiary ?

AMtwer. I give it as my opinion that it was not.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. I notice in this account in the paper [&quot; G,&quot;
attached to this testimony,

]&amp;gt;a-e
15.?,] of the shot fired into your house, that &quot;one of the upper panes of the upper

sash of the bow window was broken &quot;

by the shot
;
was that so ?

Answer. The window was on a line with the street, and the firing was in a direct

line with the fireplace in the room. The shot struck over the center of the window,
covering the whole window down to the center.

Question. None of the shot were lower down ?

Answer. I think there was one about six inches below the center, and then from that

ranging up to the top of the window.
Question. That would all be above the head of a person standing, would it not ?

Answer. No, sir
;

it would have struck me standing.
Question. If you had been directly at the window ?

Answer. If I had been directly at the window, and standing, it might have struck me.

Question. They ranged up, did they?
Answer. Yes, sir

; they rather ranged up and struck in the wall rather high ;
I think

but one struck the ceiling above the wall.

Question. The shot ranging upward ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; the house was a little up above the level of the street.

Question. The statement in the paper goes on to say that this shot evidently was not
intended to kill, because of its being fired at such an elevation. ^

Answer. You will have to take that description with some grains of allowance.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP:
&amp;gt;on. Why?

By Mr BLAIR :

Quotum. What I want to get at are the actual facts of the case, because those facts
fell under your own observation, as you were there in the room, and saw where the shofr
struck, and the course and direction they took. It was impossible to have struck a per^
8:&amp;gt;n with that shot, unless ho was standing directly at the window, because they struck
high on the window and ranged upward?

J//.VKVT. Yes, sir. ,

Question. Now, in arguing from that fact, this newspaper says that it was either fired

by a very had marksman-
Anmrer. Yes

;
or that ho did not intend to kill. There is another paper, I think, that

lias an account of it.

. That is a fact to which I wish to draw your attention. You say there was
a light in the window, and from the description which you gave of it, it is evident
that a pei M,n could bo seen through the window although the blinds were closed. Did
you not say thafr?
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Answer. No, sir
; yon could not see a person ; yon could see the light.

Question. What I wanted to get at was whether it was a natural inference, to be
drawn from all the surrounding circumstances, that the shot was calculated rather to

alarm you than to injure you.
Answer. The fact that persons were in the rear with guns at &quot;

present arms,&quot; the
aim of the gun fired, and the report they circulated subsequently that I was killed, all

forced the conclusion upon my mind that the intention was to kill mo. It is a well-

known fact with all marksmen perhaps you are not so well acquainted with hunting
as some are that in shooting in the night, all men, unless they are experts, always
shoot over. In shooting at a deer in the night, or at a turkey, or at anything of that
sort, a marksman is pretty sure to shoot over unless he is an expert, and allows for the
darkness of the night. I account for the shooting over in that way.

Question. You think it was intended to take your life?

A ti nicer. I believe it was intended to take my life
;
and from the subsequent fact that

I was notified to leave the place.

Question. Now, do you think it is a rational thing in a man who really had any design;
to take your life, to shoot simply where he saw a light, and where lie could not see!

your person ?

Answer. I had been seated there until? o clock until after night-fall.

Question. The shot could not have hit you where you had been seated ?

An.iicer. The marksman shot over.

(Question. You assume that a man who really designed to take your life would shoot
where he had seen you some hours previously, simply because he saw a light there ?

Anxwer. Not some hours .

Question. How long before ?

Answer. Not exceeding sixty minutes.

Question. That is an hour ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Do you think that a person, who had any serious design to take a man s

life, would act in that way ?

Answer. I do not wish to argue the subject* but, as you argue the question, I will say
that the fact that I had been seated there until after dark, that my light remained
there, the same after the curtains were drawn, they could not see me, but they could
see the light ;

the firing of the gnu after those fruitless attempts, and snapping three

caps, the position of the men in the yard with guns at u
present arms,&quot; the only points of

egress from the house being guarded, the announcement made that I had &quot;

gone up/ all

that to me was evidence that they were making an attempt on my life.

Question. I simply want to get your opinion of the matter under the circumstances ?

Answer. One remark; that statement in the paper is not a faithful statement of the
facts. Mr. ( lay, the editor of that paper, is a very heated, strong partisan ; remarkably
so. You see he makes a remark there not favorable to me. lie has been a most mortal
and bitter enemy of me and my friends, and several very scurrilous and low-down
articles in regard to me and my family have appeared in his paper.

By Mr. VAX THUMP :

Question. You still say he does state the facts ?

Answer. He states facts, but he throws in the remark that the man who fired the
shot was a bad marksman, or had no design to kill me.

By Mr. STEVEXSOX :

Question. How wide was the street there?
Answer. I suppose the space between the house and the street is three feet, and from

the appearance and position of the man who fired the shot, he was about the middle
of the street. The soiled wadding of the gun was found at a point that indicated that
he was in the middle of the street.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. Did you hear the caps snapped?
Answer. Distinctly.

By Mr. STEVEXSOX :

Question. Suppose you had been seated at the window, where you had before been
sitting, judging from the position where the man was, and where the shot struck, how
high above your head would the shot have passed ?

Answer. About three feet ?

Question. He would have missed you, then, by about three feet ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. Is it very rational to suppose that a man would continue to sit at the win
dow when he heard three caps exploded in the street, in that way 1
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Ansiccr. I was not sitting at the window.

Question. \Vell. arguing from the real occurrences as you suppose them to be;
hen- is a man deliberating murder; lie snaps three caps at a closed window. Is it na
tural to suppose that the man would believe that his victim would remain seated or

standing at a window at which he was attempting to fire his gun ?

Anmoer, I do nut know how that is. The first cap startled me.

/j o/i. What did you dot
AiiNicei: 1 hesitated; I was conversing, and I did not wish to show any alarm to my

family. The second cap snapped, a very short space of time afterwards, as soon as a
man could re-cap a gun. I remarked,

* That is the crack of a whip ;

&quot;

boys very fre

quent Iv crack whips on a street they are traveling upon. Not hearing any footfalls or

any wagons passing, my mind was agitated. The third explosion was a faint one; the

cap seemed to l&amp;gt;e a littfe defective. &quot;OPsaid I, &quot;it is nothing but the crack of a

whip.&quot;
The family was all anxious, looking at me; there were several persons pre

sent
;
and then the gun exploded.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Upon the supposition that the shot discharged at your house would not
have effect, was it not reasonable to suppose that you would go either to the front

door or to the back door of the house ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;

it would be very reasonable to suppose so.

Question. You say there were two persons at the back door, with guns. Had the per
son in front any confederate with him, did you learn ?

Auxin)-. Nothing more than vague report; it was reported that there was quite a
little crowd of them, and they ranpff up the street. But Ihave no knowledge of those
facts, for I did not go to the front or to the rear.

(Question. Had you appeared at the front door, you would have been in range of a gun
in the street?

Yes. sir.

By Mr. POOL :

Question. Did it never occur to you that the purpose of popping those caps was to
draw you out of the house ?

Anwcr. They reported, with an oath,
&quot; that the damned old fusee woulcVnt go off.

&quot;

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. Would a man know beforehand whether the thing would go off or not ?

Anxicer. No, sir.

By Mr. POOL :

Question. Did it never occur to you that the popping of those caps was for the pur
pose of getting you to go to the door, or to the window, to draw aside the curtains and
disclose yourself?
A iiKiccr. I think they intended to fire the first time, but they missed every time until

the fourth cap.

By Mr. STEVENSON:

Question. Is it not true in regard to shooting, that if a man makes two or three fail

ures, it affects his nerves, and is apt to make him shoot wild ?

Answer. Always.
Question. How did the ground lie outside ?

Anvu-er. Perfectly level from the house to the street, and the street was on a level
*

with the sidewalk.

By Mr. BLAIR :

jin-niion. You could iell pretty accurately where the man stood by tracing the line
and range of the shot

;
that is, an ordinary sized person? In fact, that would bring

you to the exact spot, would it not?
Answer. I think I ascertained the exact spot where he stood when he fired.

Qiit-xtion. How far from the window was it?
Anxwer. About twenty paces.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Qmxt uHi. I do not know that it is very proper, and I am not very willing to ask a wit
ness his own opinion of his own mental or moral organization; but right here I will
ask. do you not think that you are a man of very hasty and strong suspicions?
Answer. No, sir

;
I think I am the very opposite.

Question. You say you think the intention was to kill you, because directlv afterward
it was bruited through the town that you had been shot?
Answer. Yes, sir.
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Question. Do you mean to say that these men ran out and said they had killed you ?

Answer. I do not know who told it.

Question. From your position in the community, from the very fact that it was known
that you had been shot at in your house, it would he said that you had been killed ?

Answer. I do not know who reported it.

Question. You say that the reason why you believe it was intended to kill you was
that it was reported that you had been killed.

Answer. I merely referred to that as only one circumstance.

Question. Do you mean by that to infer that these men said they had killed you ?

Answer. I do not know that I intended such an inference as that.

Question. Then what connection has that report with the matter ?

Anwcer. Tbe probabilities are that there were no other reporters there than the par
ties who fired the shot and their coadjutors.

Question. I see that is your impression that they went out and reported that they
had killed yon ;

is that natural for criminals to do?
Answer. A great many things are natural in Alabama that would not be elsewhere.

Question. These were not disguised men?
Answer. I do not know

|
I did not see them.

Question. Somebody saw two men I

Answer. They were not disguised ;
I stated that.

Question. The inference is that those two were companions of these other men?
Ansu er. I should suppose they were accomplices.
Question. And if it was so, it was as necessary for them to be disguised as for the men

who fired. Then your mind does run in this suspicious line, that these men announced
that you were killed, and, therefore, you thought it was intended by them to kill you.
Is not that the current of your mind on this subject ?

Answer. 1 stated this: that in view of all the facts, what occurred then and what
followed afterward, my being warned to leave the place, all led me to believe that an

attempt was made on my life. That was the light I put it in
;
and I do not know that

1 have any reason to change it.

Question. I do not know that you are unreasonable in supposing that they
to take your life.

Answer. That is my view of it.

By Mr. STEVENSON :

Question. I see by the account in the paper that this occurred November W
}

.

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Was that the night of the political meeting ?

Answer. No, sir
;
the meeting occurred the 30th of October, I think.

Question. Did they fire on your house on the day of election ?

Answer. A little after the election.

Question. While the excitement of the election still prevailed ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. From the state of feeling in the community at that time, is it your judgment
that if the Ku-Klux had succeeded in killing you, they would have considered it a mer
itorious act or otherwise

;
would they have been likely to brag about it ?

Answer. I think it would have been an event of exultation and pleasure to them,
Question. A question on another subject: I waiit to know whether it is your im

pression that these acts of hostility toward the Methodist Episcopal Church in Alabama
have been committed by members of the Methodist Episcopal Church South ! Your
testimony here might possibly be subject to that inference, and I want to know
whether you intend that.

Aimcer. I have made no such statement.

Question. I know you have not
;
but I want to know if you intend to convey that

impression.
Answer No, sir

;
I say this, and I mean it, that the Methodist Episcopal Church

South is intensely bitter and hostile toward the Methodist Episcopal Church.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. A little unchristian feeling on both sides ?

Answer. I do not think there is on our side.

Question. It is perfectly right on your side ? ,
Answer. So far as I know.

By Mr. STEVENSON :

Question. Have there been, so far as you know, any such acts committed upon their
houses or persons?
Answer. Not an instance that I know of or ever heard of.

Question. By nobody there ?

Answer. No, sir.

10
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STATE OF ALAHAMA, dmniyof Madison :

On this IHth day of August. 1869, personally appeared before me, Lewis M. Douglass,

indue of probate in and for the county and State aforesaid, M. B. Sullivan, minister of

Methodist 11. ( lunch, resident of Marshall County, State of Alabama, who, being- duly
sworn, deposes and says that, on or about the 23d day of February, 1869, while attend-

in- to the duties of my office or ministration, in traveling from Mr. Cooper s, near

Deposit, in Marshall County, State of Alabama, to Mr. Willis Stephens s, in the same

rounty, on road from Mr. Cooper s to Fearen s Ferry, I was met by a man who was

walking, a str.-mgrr to me then and since, who spoke to me, saying,
&quot; Are you the min

ister \\lio preaches in this settlement? I replied,
&quot; I am.&quot; He then stated to rne

he was in search of me, to tell me that my life was in danger ;
that on the third Sunday

in the month the Ku-Klux had watched the road leading from Fearen s Ferry to McHar-
drn s for me : also, (&quot;hat Rash Furgerson had watched the road leading from the church
to the ferry to see which way I did go, to inform the Ku-Klux of it. He would not tell

his name : said he was a friend of mine, and if it was known that he had warned me
his life would be in danger. He left me then. After going about one mile and over, I

met a colored man who said his name was Burton, and he gave me the same warning
that the unknown white man had. When I reached Mr. Willis Stephens s house, I there

repeated that which the two men had told me, and Mr. Stephens said that the colored

man was believed to be truthful, and that they could not tell certainly who the white
man was, but that I must be careful of myself. Mr. Stephens said he had seen the
man Kash Furgerson riding by his house, going and coming to and from the direction

of the church on that Sunday ;
that he had stopped and talked with him.

About Friday, 9th of April, 1869, while traveling on the Warrenton and Gadsden
road, near Warrenton, in Marshall County, Alabama, I heard the explosion of a guu-
cap. on the right-hand side of the road, in the bottom, which was a marshy thicket. I

tried to see who was there, but could not get in there, the ground was so marshy ;
I

could not see who the party was.
I further swear that on May the 9th, 1869, the second Sabbath of the month, I was

keeping my regular appointment at the church in the settlement of Wright s, near
Flint River. I was in the church a few minutes before the services commenced.
Three men came to me, saying they wanted to speak privately to me. We walked out
from the church about thirty yards. Mr. Giles, Wm. S. Sliuger, and I think the other
one s name is Mr. Moon. Mr. Giles said, &quot;We are your friends,&quot; and that they had
come there to tell me it was dangerous for me to preach there that day or at any other
time. If I did preach, it would cause blood to be shed; that the white citizens were
opposed to my preaching there; and Mr. Wm. S. Sliuger said that if he was to have me
to go home with him, before he was a week older the Ku-Klux would visit him and
drag him through the ponds and whip him. I told them that I would iill this appoint- .

ment, and leave it to the people to say whether I should return again. We all then
went into the church, and I commenced services. During the services there was quite
a crowd of men and boys outside, who, by their loud tones of conversation and profane
language, givatly annoyed and disturbed myselfand my fellow-worshippers. At the close
of the services I told the congregation that I had been informed that they were opposed
to my preaching in the church, and desired to know their feelings about the matter. I

took my seat. The congregation then took a vote upon the matter. The result was ,

communicated to me that the greater number wished me to continue my regular ap- ^

point ments with them. &quot;Then they took a vote to see who was opposed to my preach
ing there, and three (one young man and two young ladies) voted that I should not&quot;

preach t here, after which Mr. Giles said in a speech that he was opposed to my preach
ing there, as the church I was a minister of had caused the war, and that if I did, it

would cause had times and bloodshed in the country. The crowd outside cheered him,
some saying, That is

right,&quot;

&quot; God damn him, do not let him come here.&quot;

1 further hw-ar that on Tuesday night following, the 10th of May, 1869, while I was
at Henry Stephens s, four miles from Vienna, Madison County, State of Alabama, I was-;
aroused from sleep by 1 lenry Stephens, who called my name. When I raised up in bed,

; saw it vas surrounded hymen in disguise, faces masked, and persons covered with
black gowns, having pistols in their hands pointed towards my body. Three were
there at hrst and two more, came in my room. One of them said they had come to see
me, speaking evidently in an unnatural tone of voice. One told Mr. Henry Stephens
to g.-.t my saddle-bags, when Mr. Stephens told one of his. daughters to get them.
Whereupon one of the disguised men followed after her, pointing his pistol at her,
v uch. she seeing, turned hack, and refused to go. Henry Stephens then went for them,Mowed by the man, who pointed a pistol at him. When Mr. Henry Stephens re-
irned, his daughter, Miss Nancy, rangiitom- of the men by the arm, saying, &quot;Father,
is one is Mr. John, I think, but Van I am sure.&quot; Thereupon two of UK: men pointedthen- pistols at her, saying,

&quot; Hush
;
John Van is not in the crowd.&quot; One had left the
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room in the mean time, while two were examinining my saddle-bags. They took out
of my saddle-bags two pistols and some papers, and these two men said to Mr. Henry Ste

phens they would hold him responsible for anything that was said by him or his family.
Another one had gone out, leaving three in the room. During all this time one of them
kept a pistol pointed at me. They then came all toward me, saying,

&quot; Yon must go
with us,- pointing their pistols at me. Mr. Stephens said,

&quot; Do not hurt him. I have
found out, on inquiry, that he is a gentleman ;

if it had not been so I would not have
entertained him.&quot; One of them said,

&quot; We will bring him back to stay all night with
yon.&quot; They drove me out before them, threatening to shoot me if I did not go aloi^g
quietly. When we got to the gate, they led out seven horses, covered with white
covers, to the road by me. Five got 011 their horses, two walking in front and making
me go before them. When we had gone about two hundred yards or more, they had
what they called a trial, charging me with being in favor of negro equality, of being
hired by the United States Government to preach to the negroes, and that I had not
been loyal to the Southern States during the war

;
that my connections were tories to

the South. Then they held a consultation, and one said, &quot; lie is head leader of the
Northern Methodist Church

;&quot;

he had known me for sixteen or seventeen years ; I had
a great deal of influence where I lived. He thought it best to kill me, and get me out
of the way. xYnother said,

&quot;

Colonel, if you think it best, we will do it.&quot; I think that
the one called colonel to bo Colonel .James Sheffield, as I recogni/ed him by his voice,
size, and from the statements he had made there. After leaving Mr. Henry Stephens,
they spoke in their natural tones of voice. One then said, &quot;You are a man under bad
character/ 7

I replied, &quot;My neighbors would not say that.&quot; One said,
&quot; Who are your

neighbors?&quot; I culled over the names of several, when one said to another in a&quot; low
tone,

&quot; God damn him, they are the very ones who first reported him to us.&quot; Then one
said, &quot;Sir, one of your neighbors is here; we will call him up, and let him tell your
character.&quot; One then left, returning with another disguised man, and the man said I

was a traitor. When he came up, these men said,
&quot; There is your neighbor,&quot; but did

not mention his name. I think his name is Dr. Dean. I knew him by his size, voice,

me to take my coat off, which I refused to do. He then struck me twice with the

stick, and caught me, pulling off my coat. One said I was so stubborn,
&quot; we ought to

&quot;beat him to death.&quot; Another said, &quot;Go and bring Parson Phelps.&quot; On the parson
coming, they said,

&quot;

Parson, we decided upon killing this man,&quot; but that as they con
cluded I was a good man, it would be wrong to kill me, but I should be whipped. The
parson said for them to give me forty licks with a club. They replied,

&quot; If you say so
we will do it.&quot; The parson said, &quot;Go ahead, I will count the licks.&quot; Then they com
menced hitting me with the stick. I defended my head by throwing up my arms. I
do not know how many times they hit me. The parson at last told them to stop, and
the one who had beat me said, &quot;I gave him that for you ;

now this one for
me,&quot; hitting

me over the shoulders. One of the strokes with the stick hit me on the right side,
above the forehead, breaking the bone and knocking me down on my knees. Then
anotherman said to one who was on a horse to give him the name I did not hear. He
received it, and struck at me with it. I grasped at it with my right hand, but the blow
was given with such force I could not resist it. It struck me on the breast and stom
ach, knocking me backward some distance, and from the blow I am injured internally
very seriously. They then said if I did not start home at daylight, if what they had
given me did not kill me. they would then kill me, and that any quarterly meeting should
not be held, for they intended to kill my elder, Rev. A. 13. Lakin, so ho could not hold
it; that I must preach for the Methodist Church South; work for my family weeks

;

(that they lived as close to my home as they did here, and that they inhabited the
moon;) they would kill me. They then started as if to leave me, but returned and
told me they wanted me to understand that no Methodist church could exist south of
Mason and Dixon s line but the Methodist Church South. They asked if I wanted them
to go with me back to the house with me; I replied,

&quot; You can do as you please.&quot; They
then said,

&quot; We will kill you if yon do not acknowledge that what we have done is per
fectly right. I replied,

&quot; Christ has decided that offenses must needs come, but woe unto
them by whom they come.&quot; They left cursing, saying,

&quot; You have preached your last
sermon.&quot; I got back to the house with much difficulty and great pain, sufferino- from
the treatment and whipping they gave me, reaching there ten minutes of 1 o clock; a
tine rain falling all the time. I left the family next morning for my home, about sun
rise, and, after riding about seven or eight miles on the road to Guutersville, I saw a
man walking ahead of me ; before I got to him, he turned to the left, and went to the
woods. After I had passed him I heard the report of a gun or a pistol on that side of
the road, and another one on the same side

;
then a shot on the right the bullets of the

two latter passing close by me.
I reached home that day, and suffered so much from the maltreatment I had received
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I was compelled to remain in bed on Thursday and Friday. On Friday night I heard

tl.,- steps of horsrs and mm walking; it was so dark I conld not see them. They were

lhi-ru about half an hour, around my house. I left my, home 011 Saturday morning,
though suffering intensely, for I wa.s afraid to stay there any longer. I was gone from

home three days, compelled to lay down nearly all the time. On my arrival, any wife

told me that the men had been there one night while I was absent.

I further swear that Mr. Samuel Wallace came to my house and told me that Colonel

James Sheffield and Rash Furgersou had sent him to tell me that they wanted me to

go to Colonel Sheffield s, and that they would satisfy me if I would not do anything
more in this case, and would not cross the river again. I did not go, fearing it might
be a trap to catch me, and do me more injury.

I have been told repeatedly by my friends that it would not be safe forme to remain

there, and I have not been back since they beat me. I have not been able to attend

to my duties, as I have not recovered sufficiently from injuries received on the llth of

Slav.* 1809, even if my life was not in danger there.
MOSES B. SULLIVAN.

Subscribed and sworn to before me, this 18th day of August, 1869, and I certify that

the foregoing declaration was carefully read to him before signing.
LEWIS M? DOUGLASS, m

Judge of Probate.

B.

STATE OF ALABAMA, Madison County, ss :

On this 29th day of May, A. D. 1871, personally appeared before me, James H. Bone,
clerk of the circuit court in and for the county and State aforesaid, George Taylor,
resident of Madison County, late of Colbert County, State of Alabama, who, being duly
sworn, deposes and says that in January, 1869, he was living with Mr. George Duncan,
near Cherokee, Colbert County, Alabama, where he had lived ten years before

;
about

the middle of the month, about 2 o clock at night, he was aroused from sleep by some

persons breaking down the door of his house
;
after the door was broken down some

six men, dressed in disguise, their heads covered with a white-cloth sack, and their

bodies with black gowns ;
these men came to my bed where I was, and took me up and

carried me out of the house from my wife
; they &quot;took me about fifty or sixty yards, and

laid me down on my back, but I fought them so they turned me on my face and
stretched my arms and legs out, a man holding each. When I came out of the house
I saw some more of these men. I counted twelve in all. While in this position these
men whipped me, first one and then another, relieving each other. They hit me about
live hundred times. They also struck me on the head with a pistol two or three times.

They told mo not to move or grunt or halloo
;
and I held my breath, and did not move

when they hit me. When they shook me and I did not move, they stuck me with soniti

Hharp instrument in back, legs, and rump ;
all over these parts they stuck their knives.

Then they raised me up, and one said,
&quot; He is dead.&quot; He then rubbed his hands over my

face. I could not hold my breath any longer. And then they all pointed their pistols
at my head, and said,

&quot; Yon must leave this county by Monday night.&quot;
One ofthem said

he could not get away ;
he cannot get ready by Monday night. Then they said thev

would give me until Tuesday. Thi.s occurred on a Saturday night, and if I was found
there after that I would go up. On Tuesday night I left, leaving everything, and losi

my labor. ^J

his

GEORGE -|- TAYLOR.
mark.

Witness :

JOHN H. WAGER.

Sworn to and subscribed before me this 29th day of May, 1871
;
and I hereby ccrtifV

the foregoing affidavit was carefully read over by me to the affiant before he
1 and made oath to the same.

JAMES H. B. ,E, Clerk.

C.

STATE OF ALABAMA, Connly of Madison, ss:

On this 27th of October, 1869, personally appeared before me, a clerk of the circuit
(Murt, Eliza Jane Blair, late resident on Mr. John Floyd s plantation, Limestone Counif-
btftto of Alabama, but now resident of Madison County, State of Alabama, who, bein ;
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duly sworn, deposes and says she was asleep in the same house with her brother, William

Blair, on the night of December, 1868; was aroused from sleep by some one break

ing open the door, and I saw two men, who came into the house
; they went to her

brother s bed, caught him by the arm, and told him to comealoug with them. I know
these men to be Dick Hines and Ruff Wray ;

he not moving, Rulf Wray hit him over
the head with a pistol, saying, Get up, God damn you.&quot; They pulled him out of the
house

;
I followed him out of the house, and saw him surrounded by Fouey and Burt

Hines, Bell Not-then, Dave Trieud Hugh, George Cute and Sim Hudson, Jim Henry
Cox

;
these men all had over their persons white gowns, but their faces were not

masked, and I was able to recognize them all
; they beat him with their pistols, and

dragged him off some distance from the house
;
I did not see them after they went over

the hill. I further swear that, about an hour afterward, I heard a noise, and my sister

went out of the house to see what caused it
;
she came back, carrying in her arms my

brother, William Blair
;

I saw his clothes were covered with blood, and I examined and
found his back, arms, and legs were all cut open, first one way and then across

;
the

bottom of his feet were cut open, his thighes, and calves of his legs were split open,
and deep gashes cut across them again. Since then he has not been able to do any
work, being almost constantly in bed, and under the care of the doctor. These men
came back to the house before my brother had returned, and said that if Gus Blair and
his family did not leave, they would kill all his family, and burn every house up on the

place.

ELIZA JANE + BLAIR.
mark.

Witnesses :

JUSTIN ROUGHS.
JOHN H. WAGER.

Sworn and subscribed to before me this 27th day of October 1869
;
and I hereby

certify that the foregoing was carefully read to the affiant before she signed her name
by making her mark.

JAS. H. BONE,
Clerk Circuit Court.

D.

State of Alabama, County of Madison, *&amp;gt;*:

On this 4th day of August, 1869, personally appeared before me, a clerk of the cir
cuit court in and for the county and State aforesaid, Mary Campbell, of the county of

Madison, State of Alabama, who, being duly sworn, deposes and says that on Saturday
night, the 24th day of July, 1869, while she and her husband, William Campbell, were
asleep in their bed in a house on the plantation of Mr. James Sanford, we were aroused
from sleep by the report of a pistol-shot, and I saw that my husband had been shot in
the left side

;
I saw the blood running out of his side

;
it ran on my clothes

;
he cried

out,
; O Lord!&quot; and I saw six or seven men in the room around our bed, which was on

the floor
; they had their faces covered over with black masks, and their bodies were

covered with black gowns; these men said, &quot;You are the damn rascal who has been
keeping up all the fuss in the cove,&quot; and one of them reached around me and shot my
husband in the side of the head with a pistol-ball ; they told my husband to go out of
the room, saying, Go out of this room, God damn you; you are the one that has been
keeping up all the fuss in the cove;&quot; he went out with them, and leaned up against the

fence, and I saw and heard some three or four of them shoot at him
;
he was hit in the small

of his back by one of the shots
;
he fell on the ground, and the men shot at him again

while he was lying 011 the ground ;
I saw some others outside of the yard, about three

or four that I could see
;
after they tired the last shot, one of them said, &quot;Come, let s

go,&quot;
and they left; I helped to carry my husband into the house, and found that he had

been shot some six times : he died in about an hour after he was shot
;
I am about

seven months with child
;
I could not tell any of the men.

I further swear that about three weeks before that, on. a Sunday morning, Mr. James
Sanford c- ie down to our house

;
I was not there when he iirst came in

;
was at my

brother s, ,&amp;gt;olow it, and I saw he had a pistol in his hand
;
then I went to my house&quot;;

my husband was sitting in a chair, but sat leaning against the house near the door
;

Mr. James Sauford was leaning against the fence around the grounds on which our
house is situated

;
he had in his hands a pistol, resting on the fence pointed toward

my husband; he accused my husband of stealing his chickens, which my husband
denied doing ;

Mr. James Sanford wanted him to pay for the chickens
; my husband

refused to do so
;
then Mr. James Sanford said if he did not he would shoot his black

infernal heart out of him
;
he continued to curse and abuse my husband. When I got

,to my house I sat down in the doorway, and my child was by my side; Mr James Sau
ford told me to take my child away from there { that he did not want to shoot the child

;
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I took mv child in the house ;
then my husband told him he would come to town, anA

report Mm for saying he would take his life, and lor drawing his pistol over him
;
Mr.

James Santbrd said if he did come here and report it, he would have to leave the

county: Mr. Sanford left for his house ; my husband left our house Sunday evening
for town to report what Mr. Sanford said.

her
MARY -f CAMPBELL.

murk.

Witness :

JOHN LKE ROGERS.
JoUN II. W.\GER.

Sworn and subscribed to before me this 4th day of January, A. D. 1869.

JAS. H. BONE,
Clerk Circuit Court.

I hert-by certify that the foregoing affidavit was carefully read to the affiant before

the signed her name by making her mark.
JAS. H. BONE,

Clerk Circuit Court.

E.

STATE OF ALABAMA, County of Madison :

On the 13th day of September, 1869, personally appeared before me, John Lee Rogers
notary public in and for the county and State aforesaid, Prior Turner, resident of Giles

County, Tennessee, formerly ofHuntsville, Madison County. Alabama, who, being duly
sworn, deposes and says that on the night of 13th day of March, 1869, while; 1 was

resting and waiting for my supper in the house of Rufus White, at Madison Station, on
the Memphis and Charleston Railroad, in Madison County, State of Alabama, I was
aroused from sleep by two men, who, pointing their pistols at me, ordered me to go
with them out of the house, which I did

;
as soon as I reached the door I ran away

from them
; whereupon they fired four shots at me, one hitting me in my right shoulder,

causing a severe wound, and another hitting my coat on the right side above the hip
bone. I have had two men arrested, but could not make my case good against them.
Since then I have called on the solicitor (Mr. William Weedeu) of Madison County,
State of Alabama, five times, to bring suit against the said county, as the law requires.
On each and every application he has refused point-blank to do so, saying, the first

time, it was the law, but the law was not worth a damn, and I could not recover any
thing. The second time he said he would not do it, and bear the responsibility of col

lecting money from the county for acts done by disguised men; that I must get some
one or two lawyers to bring the suit

;
that they must write the papers ;

he would
neither write them nor plead the case

;
the same the third and fourth time

;
and again,

on this 13th day of September, 1868, I called on him, asking whether he would bring
the suit; he replied he would not do it

;
the law did not require him to do it

;
that ifJ

had been killed, the law required him to bring it for my widow, but not for me.
his

PRIOR + TURNER,
mark.

Witness :

JUSTIN ROUAGHE.
H. N. ROBERTS. *

JOHN H. WAGER. ^

At the same time and place personally appeared before me, this 13th day of Septem
ber, 1869, Calvin East, resident of Madison County, State of Alabama, who, being duly
sworn, deposes and says that he accompanied Prior Turner to the oftice of the solicitor

of Madison County, Alabama, Mr. William Wceden. When we reached there Prior
Turner asked Mr. Wceden whether he was going to bring s,uit against the county for
him for what the disguised men had done to him. Mr. Weeden said he would not dt&amp;gt;

it; that Prior Turner must get one or two lawyers to write the papers and plead the

case, then he would go on
;
that the law did not require him to do it

; only, if Prior had
been killed, it required him to bring suit for his widow. This was said on the 13th

September, 1869.

his

CALVIN + EAST.
mark.

Witness :

JUSTIN ROAUGIIE.
II. N. ROBERTS.
JOHN H. WAGER.

Sworn to and subscribed before me this 13th day of September, 1869
;
and I hereby
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certify that the foregoing affidavits were carefully read to the affiants before they signed
their names by making their marks.

JOHN LEE ROGERS,
Notary Public and ex officio Justice of 1he Peace.

F.

STATE OF ALABAMA, County of Madison :

On this 16th day of .May, 1870, personally appeared before me. a clerk of the circuit

court in and for the county and State aforesaid, Simon Bush, late a resident on Mr.

James Gardner s plantation, two miles southeast from Whitesburg Ferry, Morgan
County, State of Alabama, who, being duly sworn, deposes and says : That on the night
of the 13th of May, 1870, (which was Friday night,) I was aroused from sleep by hear

ing the dogs bark. I got np to the door, opened it, and saw eleven men at the fence
;

some of them pulling it down. I saw they were disguised, with white sheets on their

horses and masks on their faces, and gowns on their bodies, different colors. 1 shut
the door, and looked through the holes between the logs. I saw live of these men going
down to the house in which Hezekiah Bush lived; then some one hit on my door, and
a voice said,

&quot; Make up alight.&quot; I did so. They said, &quot;Make it up damn quick.&quot;

They said,
&quot;

Open the door. I said,
&quot; Who is there?&quot; They said, &quot;God damn you,

open the door.&quot; I then opened it, and three of these men came in the house, two of

them punching me in the breast and stomach with guns in their hands. They told mo
&quot; to get my gun.&quot;

I said,
&quot;

I did not have any.&quot; They said,
&quot; I was a damn liar.&quot; I

said, 1 had sold mine to brother John. They said,
&quot; What did yon do with the one

Mr. Waris sold to you ?&quot; I said,
&quot; That is the one I sold to John.&quot; They told me to get

my pistol, and I replied I did not have any ;
then one of them ran to my bed, pulling

the covers off my wife and child, saying,
&quot; Who is here ? O, it is only a damn wo

man and child.&quot; Then they mad,e me go out of the house with them, and np the road
south from the house to where the other of these men were. One of these men who
came into my house said, &quot;We came from hell before to make you behave, and you
did tolerably well after we went back, but now you have got to behaving bad. We
have come back again to make you behave right.&quot; One said, &quot;Who are you working
for?&quot; I said, &quot;I am working Reed Bell s land.&quot; He said. &quot;God damn you, that is not
what I asked you; are you not working for yourself f&quot; Then they told rue to go down
the road to the end of this lane. I started. One said,

&quot; We an going on the road to

hell with you.&quot;
One of these men was hitt ing me all the time with rod out of his gun,

and when we got to the end of the lane, he said, Say your prayers, or I will shoot you ;

say them loud, so lean hear them.&quot; I said, &quot;Lord, have mercy on me.&quot; He hit me
with his gun-rod, saying,

&quot; Do you believe in the Lord f I said,
&quot;

Yes, sir.&quot; Then the
others came up, and two with sticks they had just cut from the bushes. The man
who had been beating me with the gun-rod told me lay down on the ground, on uiy
face. I laid down, and he stood on my feet, and one of those who had the horses sat

on my head, and two began to beat me with sticks. I struggled and tried to get away.
The man who was sitting on my head said,

&quot;

Keep still.&quot; I tried to defend myself from
the MOAVS with my left hand. One of them caught hold of it, and I got loose. Then
the man who had been sitting on my head said, &quot;God damn him, I can keep him still.&quot;

He kicked me then on my stomach, and one of them said, &quot;You kick him too hard.&quot;

He said, &quot;No; get np from there, God damn you.&quot;
He told me to get up. I said, &quot;I

cannot.&quot; He asked one of the others to give him a gun, which he took and pointed at

me
;
then said, &quot;Get np, or I will shoot you.&quot;

I got np on my feet. He said,
&quot; Take the

road and go to the house, and quit saucing white people.&quot; 1 said -I had not sauced
white people. One of those who had the sticks ran up to me, hitting me. two licks,

saying, &quot;You are a damn liar; do not say it any more, or I will kill yon, dead,&quot; and
told me to take the road and go to the house

;

&quot; run every step there, and stay until

morning, and go to your work, and when you hear us coming, do not get up and open
your door until you hear us call.&quot;

I do not know any of these persons to a certainty, but from Avhat they said I believe

they are the people from the neighborhood. There are some white men working on
this plantation, who come there on Monday morning and leave Saturday nights.
Those men left Friday evening on the same road these disguised came on to my house,
and on Saturday morning I heard a crowd of horses going the same road. This was
before day, and&quot; after daylight I saw these white men come down the same road to

their work.
Ins

SIMON -f BUSH.
mark.

\Vituess :

J. II. GILL.
JAS. H. WARE.

Sworn to and subscribed before me this 16th day of May, 1870, and I hereby certify
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that I Lave read over this affidavit to the affiant before lie signed the same by making
bis mark to the.,,,,,,,

JAMES H. BONE,
Circuit Court Clerk.

STATE OF AIJIBAMA, Madison Cointti/ :

On this Kith da.i of May, 1870, personally appeared before me, a clerk of the circuit

court in and for the county and State aforesaid, Hezekiah Bush, late a resident on the

plantation owned by Mr.&quot;James Gardner, two miles southeast from the Whitesburg
Furry. Morgan County, who, being duly sworn, deposes and says that between the hours

of 12 and and 1 o clock on Friday night, the 13th of May, I was asleep in my house on the

.said plantat ion ; I was aroused from sleep by hearing my dog barking furiously ;
then I

heard a voice calling me by name; I asked who was there
;
the voice replied Nelson, whom

I knew to be a neighbor. I got out of bed and opened the door, and saw this man
Nelson standing at the lcft-h;id side of the door of my house

;
also five other persons

with disguises on, white hoods over their heads and dark gowns over the other parts of

to the others, saying had not this gun better be shot off? They replied, yes. He said

to me,
&quot; Come out here and shoot it off.&quot; I tried, but could not get it to go off. He then

said give it to him, which I did
;
he then stepped back, and taking it in both hands

struck me over the head with it, which blow knocked me up against the house, when
he said something to one of these other disguised men which I could not hear. The
man he spoke to took out from under his gown a cow-hide whip, with which he hit me
on my shoulders and back some ten times or more, when he gave it to another one,
who hit me as many more licks, and each one of the others hit me one after the other

;

in all, the live men whipped me. The one Avho hit me with the gun was the first one
to hit me with the whip. When they all had whipped me, they told me to go into my
house and sleep and rest, and asked me if I ever would go hunting after squirrels again.
I said no. They left me, carrying off my gun. I also saw five other men dressed in dis

guise on horses in a field close to the house, who I believe belonged with these men
who beat me. I did not recognize any of these men, but think they are from the neigh
borhood. The man I live with, Mr. Gardner, and John Reed Bell, left the plantation
that day, Mr. Gardner saying he was going to see his mother, who lived on the north
side of the Tennessee River. On my getting into the house I found there this man
Nelson. He had on only his shirt and drawers. He said these men had made him go
with them

;
that he was nearly frozen, and wanted me to give him a pair of pants.

Both of us were so worried and frightened we did not talk any about the doings of
these men. I gave him the pants, and he left at once for his home.

his

HEZEKIAH + BUSH.
mark.

Witness :
*

J. H. GILL,
JOHN H. WAGER. .

Sworn to and subscribed before me this 16th day of May, 1871, and I hereby certify
that the- foregoing affidavit was carefully read over to the affiant before he signed the
same by making his mark.

JAMES II. BONE, *

Clerk Circuit Court. *

I, Hezekiah Bush, further state that about the middle .of April Mr. James Gardner
eame to my house in the evening, and said I had taken more cotton seed than belonged
to me, and turning to my wife, Adeline, he said,

&quot; 1 want you to send those clothes of
mint- hack to t lie house.&quot; She said, &quot;They are all wet, and out on the line.&quot;

&quot; It makes no
diticrence

; yon send them.&quot; She said, &quot;All I want is you to square up for what I have .-

done. &quot; He said,
&quot; If you talk about squaring up, I will kill you.&quot; She replied that she *

expected In- would have to kill her. Then he went into the house. I heard him say,
You run take your choice either to shut up, or I will kill

you.&quot; I was on the fence at
this time. II. then came out of the house. I went in the house, and found her sitting
iiown with her head in her hands and the blood running from two wounds on her head.
one on the lefi side of the forehead over the eye, the other side of the head behind
right ear. Mu- said 1 hat .lames Gardner had hit her with a pistol. We were afraid to
have him arrested, for I heard he said any negro who had him arrested he would kill.

his

HEZEKIAH H- BUSH.
mark.

Y\ it ness:
JOHN H. WAGKR.
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[From Huntsville Daily Democrat, Thursday, November 10, 1868.]

SHOOTING INTO A DWELLING. On Tuesday night, about 84- o clock, some twelve or

fifteen buckshot were fired from a double-barreled shot-gun, or a musket, into the dwel

ling (known as the Saroni house) occupied by Probate Judge Douglass and family, Cir

cuit Clerk Bone and family, A. S. Lakiu, appointed, president of the State University,
A. W. Smith, justice and notary, and possibly some others of the radical &quot;new-comers&quot;

or carpet-baggers. The shot were fired into^the bed-room of Parson Lakin, where he,

his wife and daughter, and Rains, a clerk of the Freedman s Bureau, were sitting. One
of the upper panes of the upper sash of the bow-window was broken, and the shot

passed through the window-curtain and over the heads of the occupants, and struck

the ceiling aiid two walls of the room. It is believed the person who shot was stand

ing near the middle of the street fronting the house, as the paper wadding, blackened

with powder, was found between the middle of the street and the pavement fronting
the lot. The shooter must -have been a very bad marksman, or he only intended to

frighten and not to kill; otherwise he would have shot through the lower sash.

Again, if his object was to kill, he showed bad judgment or cowardice in not getting
nearer the house. He exploded two or three caps before his gun went off, which were
heard by inmates of the house and one or more of the neighbors.
Mr. Lakin says a negro boy, who Avas in the back yard, stated that after the gun

fired he sa\v a man run from the southern side of the house and hand something (a gun,
the boy thought) to a man standing in the street, and then jump over the fence into

the street, and both run off.

The fact that the occupants of the house are obnoxious to the community furnishes

no excuse for such outrageous, lawless conduct. All good citizens must condemn it,

and all should endeavor to prevent a repetition of it. The whole community sutlers in

reputation, and in all its moral and material interests, when such violations of human
and divine law occur, and human life is apparently regarded as a cheap thing, and
taken or threatened with impunity.

WASHINGTON, June 14, 1871.

Rev. A. S. LAKIN recalled and examined.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. You have expressed a wish to me to make an explanation of a statement
which

&amp;gt;

on gave in your testimony yesterday regarding the courts of Alabama. You
may now go on and make whatever explanation you wish on that subject.

Answer. I wish to say this: I intended, in what I said, no rellectiou upon the judges
of the courts. I am not a lawyer ; but on mature reflection I am of the opinion that,

in legal parlance, what is meant by the term &quot;court&quot; is the presiding judge. I had
no intention of casting any reflection upon the judges of the courts. I know most of
the judges in Alabama, and am very intimate with some of them. I regard them as

above suspicion, men of.iine legal abilities, and I know the earnest and persevering
efforts they have made to bring criminals to justice. My remark was based upon this

fact : That in regard to all of the murders and outrages that I have known in Northern
Alabama I have not known of one person brought to justice and punished. The judges
have delivered very a.ble and pointed charges to the grand juries, but somehow crimi

nals have slipped through the courts unwhipped of justice. When I said that our
courts were a farce I had no reference whatever to the judges; I simply meant that

there was a system of influences, or something of that sort, which has enabled crimi

nals to escape unwhipped of justice ;
that is my meaning exactly.

&amp;lt;

t)ue-slion. That is the explanation you wish to make?
Ansicw, Yes, sir.

By Mr. VAN THUMP :

Question. How many cases do you know where crimes have been openly committed,
where the perpetrators of those crimes are known, and they have failed to be prosecuted
in Alabama

;
in other words, do not your remarks in regard to the inefficiency of the

courts there relate to the fact that the perpetrators of these crimes and abuses of the
law cannot be ascertained ?

Answer. Many of them have been arrested and brought before the courts; but they
have been bailed and have, slipped out.

Question. Please mention the instances and the localities in Alabama where that state

of things has occurred.
Ansicer. There is no exception to the general rule.

Question. Is that your answer ?
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Ansirer. That is my answer.
Ouextion. Well, then, please state tin- cases of the character I have indicated to you

where the courts have failed to prosecute. You say there is no exception ;
name the

cases and tli&quot; c. .unties in which they occurred.

Jwx/m-. So far as 1 know, they have all failed.

nm-stion. I w;mt to see what particular instances you recollect where they have failed.

You say they have all failed. I do not expect that there are a very large number of

Oases \\hii-h yon will be able to state; but state some of them.

.|//.V,T ( , . I have not charged my mind with names and with dates.

Qiuxtion. Name the enmities, then. That is more accessible as a general proposition.
A)i*icir. I reside in Madison County.
Qmxtion. Well, how many of that sort do you know in Madison ?

Anxicer. I know of frequent murders there.&quot;

Qmstion. Secret murders or public, known murders?
Answer. Generally known as murders committed by disguised men.

QiH-xtion. Those disguised men were unknown, I suppose!
Atmwcr. In some instances, and in other counties, many of them have been arrested -

and brought before the courts.

Question. Name any of the parties in your own county of Madison who have been
arrested.

Answer. I do not know that I could give you the names.

Question. How long have you lived in Madison County?
Answer. I have lived there five years and eight mouths, with the exception
Question. All the time you have been in Alabama you have lived in Madison County ?

Answer. With the exception of about nine or ten months, when I was absent and

stopping at Montgomery. But my family has resided in the city of Huntsville ever
since I located in the State.

(jnexiioH. Now, in all the long period of time during which you have resided in Madi
son County, with the exception stated, you cannot name a single person who has been
arrested for a murder who has escaped in consequence* of failure of the authorities to

prosecute him. Do I understand you correctly to say that ?

Answer. Yes, sir; I know of souie whose names were brought before the grand jury,
and who were reported to have been indicted, and bail given.

Question. How long ago was it that they were indicted and bail given ?

Answer. Some two years ago,
Question. Who was the prosecutor of that county?
Answer. Mr. Day.
Question. A democrat or a republican ?

Anxn-tr. I do not know what his political status is.

Question. Who is the judge?
Anxirer. Judge HaroMsou.
Question. Is he a democrat or republican ?

Anxu-er. He is a republican.
Question. Were the witnesses recognized by the court to appear after the grand jury .

indicted those parties?
Answer. I have not been very conversant with the courts; I have seldom ever

attended them. I hear what is going on when I am in the neighborhood, and in the
place : but it has never been my business to follow up the courts. I know from general
information the general fact the single factthatl have stated that numerous murders
have been committed.

(Jnexiion. In Madison County?
*

Answer. In North Alabama
;
several in Madison County ;

and I have never known or&quot;

heard of an instance of conviction and punishment.
Qnr.itmn. That being the general fact, as you state, that you have heard of several

murders in Madison County, and never have known a prosecution successfully carried
on to conviction or acquittal, you therefore infer that there is some inefficiency in the
administration of the law there

;
is that the state of your mind?

. liixin-r. Yes, sir. i

.&quot;&quot;*
&quot;&amp;gt;&quot; And you cannot recollect a single instance of a murder committed there,

*

either secret or public, where the parties were arrested, and there has been a failure to
prosecute ?

Aimwcr. I do not know any such instance
;

I have, no personal knowledge.
Question. I am asking you 1H)W a i )out your opinion?
Answer. The general opinion is that no man has been convicted and punished.
Question, That is the general idea you have got?
Answer. That is the general idea.
QH.-xfioit. You have had a night s rest, and probably have been thinking over the tes-
lony you gave yesterday ; have you been trying to tax your memory in order to

recollect some &amp;lt;&amp;gt;t those prominent men democrats you met in traveling your circuit
there, who told you of the existence, or the proposed formation, of the Ku-Klux Klaii ?



ALABAMA. 155

Answer. They did not name the Ku-Klux Klan.

Question. Well, they described it as you stated ; they did not give it a name, but they
described what you understood afterward to be the Ku-Klux ?

Answer. I have not taxed my mind in that direction.

Question. Will you please do so now ?

Ammr. I do not know that I could give you a name.

Question. You say these men knew you were a northern Methodist preacher ?

Answer. No, sir
; they did not know that.

Question. I understood you to say that they understood you were a traveling preacher f

Answer. Yes
;
but I did not name of what denomination; I said that I was a Method

ist preacher.
Question. You stated that ?

Aimcer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did they not ask you whether you belonged to the Methodist Church South
or North f

Answer. No, sir.

Question. They made no inquiry of that sort ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Did you not know that they knew, some way or other, that you were a
northern man, and a preacher of the Methodist Episcopal Church ?

Answer. They may have detected it from my conversation.

Question. At
any&quot; rate, you informed them that you were a Methodist Episcopal

preacher f

Annu er. Yes, sir.

Question. And they did not inquire whether you belonged to their side or the northern
side ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. And of these dozen prominent democrats you do not now recollect the name
of one ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Have you ever met them since ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. You have traveled in the same neighborhood since?
Answer. No, sir ;

not in the direction of those persons with whom I put up at that
time. That was in a section of the State not included in my district since, and I have
not traveled through that part of it.

Question. Have you ever heard of those men since ?

Answer. Not that I know of.

Question. You never heard their names mentioned by anybody ?

Answer. I do not know that I have.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. You spoke of a man by the name of James Dorman, who was from We-
tumpka, who was whipped and run off in 1870 ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Was he a preacher?
Answer. Yes, sir; he was a member of the Alabama conference, and ha.s been for sev

eral years.

Question. Did you know him personally?
Answer. I knew him personally and intimately.
Question. What is the character of the man ?

Answer. He is a very quiet, patient, peaceable man, so far as ever I have known.
He traveled under me one year. He is a man of irreproachable character, and of a

very mild, quiet disposition.

Question. He is a man of good character, you say ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Was he badly beaten ?

Answer. From his own statement in the paper, and from the report of his presiding
elder in a private letter to me. I learned that he was badly beaten.

Question. By disguised men ?

Answer. I do not know whether they were disguised or not.

Question. Was there a number of men engaged in the outrage ?

Answer. I think there were about nine; I think he so stated in his publication of it.

Question. Where did that occur?
Answer. It occurred in Tallapoosa County, on the Tallapoosa River, near the factorv

of Tallacy.
Question. Did he know any of the parties who were engaged in committing the out

rage upon him ?

Answer, I have not seen him since that.
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Question. You say you had au account of it in some way^from
his presiding elder?

Answer. Yes, sir.

nm-xiion. Did ho not state by whom it was done ?

Amwcr No. sir; but I judged from the letter which I received irom his presiding

elder thai fehe parties were recognized by him from the fact that they were arrested

and had an examination, and the presiding elder was present at that examination. I

presume tin- parties Vere recognized and arrested.

(hnxtion. Did the presiding elder give you any account of the result of that mqm-

Anxtni: No, sir; he left the trial before any verdict was rendered, and I have not

.since hoard what the result was.

Question. How many persons were arrested ;. did he tell you?
Amnoer. 1I&amp;lt;- did not say.

Hon. You spoke yesterday of three negroes who were hung on the bridge at

Tn.-fiimhia. among whom was a man by the name of Johnson, a leading colored man
There.

AnxuT): Yes, sir.

niHKtion. Do you know the crime for which they were hung ;
what was the allega

tion. if any. against them?
Aiinifi i: They wcro suspected, so it was reported, of a conspiracy to burn the town;

that statement was made in palliation.

Qucxtion. Do you know whether the burning actually took place, or whether any
part of the town was burned?

AIINICCI: No part of the town was burned or fired, and no effort that was known by
any one was made on their part to fire the town.

QMtttioft. Do you not know the fact to be that they were hung for burning the female
school building ?

An meet: In Tnscuinbia ?

Qurxtion. Yes.

Aiixirn: No, sir
;
I do not know that fact.

tjucxlion. Do you not know the fact to be that the large school building there was
burned ?

Anxicu: No, sir, I do not know the fact that it was burned at that time; if it was
burned at any time, I have no knowledge of it.

By Mr. POOL :

Question. How long do you say you have lived in Madison County?
Anmcer. Five years and eight months; that is, my family have lived there all that

time
; part of one year I was absent in Montgomery, but my family have resided in

Hnntsville ever since I entered the State.
(itHxlion. How long have you resided there yourself?
A it.urn: All of that time, with the exception of some eight or nine months.
Qnction. Have there been any murders committed in the country other than those

committed by disguised men or bands of men
; any such murders as are ordinarily com-

mitted in other communities in the North ?

An mrcr. I do not know of an instance; I do not remember an instance.

(JiK xIiou. You do not remember an instance of a murder committed in that county
during that time except by disguised men, or men in bauds ?

Anaicci: No, sir.

^nicHtion. Then, of course, there could have been no conviction for such a murder.
You stated that there was no conviction for such murders; and if they have not
occurred, there could have been no conviction. Has there been any laxness in prose-
outing men for ordinary crimes, such as thefts, assault and batteries, &c., in the
courts of the county?

Anxirn: I should think there has been; I think the ordinary amount of arrests and
convictions and punishments-

. 1 lave occurred for ordinary crimes ?

Yes, sir.

. Then you did not understand my question. What I meant was, has there
been any remissness in the courts in punishing ordinary crimes outside of the political
crimes ?

AiiKinr. I do not know that there has been
; I have not heard of any complaint in

that regard.
fhnxlitni. Thru, when yon say that the courts have been remiss in enforcing the

laws, yon mean to be understood as applying that remark to that class of crimes com
monly known as Kn-Klux offenses?

.IH.SMVJ-. That is my meaning.
- Not as to others?

Answer. No, sir, not as to others, nor as to civil suits.
Question. Areolored men prosecuted for crimes which they commit ?
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Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Have there bee*h any large number of instances of prosecution against
them ?

A nswer. I should think there had been quite a number.

Question. Are ordinary oifenses against colored men, such as assault and battery upon
them, and offenses against their property, prosecuted in the courts with any vigor f

Answer. I should think so, about ordinarily.

Question. You mean then to apply your remark only to the class of crimes commonly
called Ku-Klux crimes.

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Do you know whether it is the habit of these Ku-Klux denominating
them by that general name to allege crimes against men whom they mean to attack

;

to put out false reports against them*
Answer. The colored people claim that, but whether it is true or false I do not know.
Question. You hear that sentiment expressed by the colored people ?

Answer. Yes, sir; that is the pretext.

Question. That when they mean to attack a man they lirst begin to accuse him of

something falsely ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Have any of your preachers been thus accused and slandered ?

Answer. No, sir, not that I have known of.

Question. You have not heard of them?
Answer. No, sir.

By Mr. STKVENSOX :

Question. In regard to this extensive journey of which you spoke, which you made in

1867, I believe you did not state fully why you made it or how you made it. Why was
not that business done by the ordinary communications through the mails ?

Answer. It was a time of great excitement and great confusion, about the time of the

adoption of the State constitution. The mails were obstructed, and it was next to im
possible to get any communication through the mails to our preachers. If drafts were
forwarded in many instances, or in several instances, they were abstracted, and the

money lost, or our pieachers were subjected to great trouble. No money could be
received by them without a tabular report from each presiding elder in regard to his
district. I was sent out on a roving commission, with the moneys of the conference, to
distribute it to the presiding elders if they could bo found, or to the preachers if the

presiding elders could not be found. Hence I traveled widespread, zigzag, over the
State.

Question. How did you go?
Antwer. I dressed in very plain costume the costume of the country and rode a mule.

My appearance was not very prepossessing as I traveled through the country.
Question. You did not travel then openly, except to those you had business with

;
that

is, not openly in your capacity as a minister of the Methodist Episcopal Church ?

Answer. I traveled only to those points where duty called me, and did not appear in
the character of a minister, except that, where I staid at night, I represented myself as
a minister of the gospel.

Question. What was your dress?
Answer. Common jeans.
Question. The domestic jeans of the country there?
Answer, Yes, sir.

Question. And you rode a mule ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What kind of a hat did you wear?
Answer. A soft slouch hat.

Question. With a wide brim ?

Ansu er. Yes, sir.

Question. You have spoken of an apprehension, 011 the part of persons, of danger in

informing against the Ku-Klux. Do you know of any instance where persons have
been punished by the Ku-Klux for any information they have given them?

Answer. There was a case
;
it must have been one of credibility, though I did not know

it myself; I did not see the parties ;
I did not know anything about it

; but traveling
through the country I heard it from various points that persons were in danger, and
that in the case of almost every whipping they were threatened with summary punish
ment or hanging, if they reported their being whipped.

Question. You say there was one*case; what was that case ?

Answer. A lady in Blount County was whipped very severely, and the cause reported
was, that she had informed of persons whom she saw dressing in Ku-Klux disguise, had
uamed the parties, and they beat her on that account.
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By Mr. BLAIR :

g
(Jucxifan. What was her name?
AnKU-cr. 1 think her name was Mrs. Riddle.

Question. In what part of Blount County did she reside?

Aiixn-tr. On Sand Mountain, in Blount County, not far from the line of Marshall

County. That is my information.

. By Mr. STEVENSON :

inn. Was she badly beaten
;
what was the effect of the whipping ?

Mawer. My information was this: She was thinly dressed, and they whipped her

with hickory withee, and the gashes cut through the abdominal wall; and she was

thrown in a ravine in a helpless condition.

&amp;lt;

t
hic*tion. Did she die?

Anxu-er. That is the report, that she died of her injuries

(hicxHon. When was that?

Ilimn r. I think that was in the fall of 1868.

Onetlion. Has there been, to your knowledge, any retaliation, or any attempt at

retaliation, against the Ku-Klux in Alabama, especially on the part of the colored

Answer. Nothing that I have known personally. I learned, from what I suppose to

be competent authority, that in one instance they did retaliate, and drove a man from

his premises ; probably burned his out-houses, or some portion of his buildings.

Question. Was that at the time when they were attacked or afterward ?

Answer. Afterward.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

QttcHtion. Why do you say
&quot;

probably they burned ;&quot;

do you not know the fact whether

they burned or not .

Answer. I say probably they burned
;
that was the report.

By Mr. STEVENSON :

(jiH-xti-on. Burned some of his out-houses ?

A H*HY r. Yes, sir
;
I say &quot;probably&quot;

because it is a report ;
I do not know it personally.

nm-tftiou. Are not the colored people in the majority in some of the counties in Ala
bama .

Anwer. I think not; in the town of Huntsville, I believe the census gave 7,000 as

the iiumbc.r of inhabitants, and there is a fraction of a white majority.

Question. In Northern Alabama I suppose it may not be the case ?

Answer. Did you say Southern Alabama?
(Jiu-xlfan. 1 spoke of Alabama generally.
Answer. I believe there is quite an excess of colored population in some of the south

ern counties, and in the middle belt of Alabama.

Question. Do you know why they have not attempted retaliation, or made some effort

at general resistance ?

Anxwcr. I think I do. The friends of the colored people, in every instance where

they have had any intimation of their design or purpose or threat to retaliate, have
held them in check and advised them otherwise.

(Jwxtion. Has that been the course of the Methodist Episcopal ministers there ?

. 1 H.iu-cr. In all cases. I have myself in all instances urged them to industry, economy,
fidelity, and especially (and that I have enforced with all my power) to courtesy and
kind treatment of their old masters.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. Have you never heard of any inflammatory or incendiary speeches being
made to negroes in Alabama by white men from the North; have you never heard of
Kuch things .

Anmw. I have; but 1 have always repudiated such things, and every honest, true
man has dune so. and (hey have predominated and held them in check.

(Jin-xlion. Have yon heard of any negro outrages in Alabama within the time about
which you have been testifying.

Anxira: I have not known of any. Oh ! I have known of petty thieving, and that
class of misdemeanors, eommou to the colored people, but no outrage.

. Not hing more than that?
Nothing more, than that.

. When yon say you returned to Huntsville after this journey in which you
had UK conversation with these prominent democrats, you ascertained that there had
erii formed j! society that corresponded with the remarks made by these men?
Anmrcr. Yes. sir.

ftm. Had yon heard of any outrages committed by them at that time?
AKinr. No, sir.
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Question. Well, it struck you as remarkable, did it not I think I understood you to

gay so thc coincidence between the remarks made by these men and the form of the

Ku-Klux-Klau, which you heard of when you returned home struck you as something
remarkable ;

was not that a subject of remark between you and your friends there ?

Answer. At the time?

Question. Yes, si 1
&quot;.

Answer. I do not know that I ever gave utterance to the sentiment until a number
of years afterward.

Question. Never mentioned the fact ?

Answer. From the fact that I kept myself very close and careful.

Question. You had private and coniidential friends there republicans, ministers, &c.,
had you not ?

Answer. Yes, sir; but I do not know that I ever named the fact or communicated it.

Question. Why, you were not afraid to communicate that fact to those men ?

Answer. No, sir;&quot;
if it had occurred to me, and if it had been the subject of conver

sation, I do not know that I should have hesitated.

Question. You are certain now that you never talked with any body about it at that

time ?

Answer. Not at that time, that I have any recollection of.

Question. You have since that time?
Answer. I may have named it to a few individuals.

Question. Do you know whether you did or not ?

Answer. No, sir
;

I do not know now that I have.

Question. How long ago was it that it took place ?

Answer. In 18(57.

Question. If I understood your description of the general state of affairs in Alabama,
there would be as much danger in communicating these facts now as there would have
been then ?

Answer. When I left home the state of feeling was no better than it has been at any
time since I have been there.

WASHINGTON, D. C., June 1C, 1871,

Governor ROBERT B. LINDSAY sworn and examined.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. You are at present governor of Alabama?
Answer. I am.

Question. Please state the knowledge which you have, as acting executive of that
State and also as a citi/en of the State, of its condition, so far as it relates to the exe
cution of the laws and the security of life and property there.

Answer. Well, sir, my information as a citizen is somewhat extensive. Prior to my
election as governor I was a practicing attorney in the northern portion of the State of

Alabama, my circuit extending over five or more counties. I have thus been enabled
to ascertain what I conceive to be the true condition of that section of the State,

particularly.
Question. What are those counties ?

Answer. They are the northern tier of counties, comprising Lauderdale, Colbert,
Franklin, Lawrence, Morgan, Limestone, and also Madison, where I have practiced in
the Federal court. As the executive of the State of Alabama my information I conceive,

to be very considerable, derived from all portions of the State, not only voluntary in

formation, but information solicited by myself from leading citizens in the different
sections of the State. The peculiar condition of the country, its political condition,

prompted me to make my inquiries very thorough and very general. Upon that in

formation I am prepared to say that in regard to the security of life, person, and prop
erty, the State of Alabama to-day will compare favorably with its condition in any
year or any period since its formation as a goverruuent.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. Which government?
Answer. The government of the State of Alabama.
Question. Under the late constitution of the State?
Answer. No, sir

;
since 1819. I have made inquiries of the leading members of the

bar, and of the oldest citizens of the State from various portions of the State, men emi
nent in their profession and of large and extensive practice ;

and they have invariably
concurred with me in that regard. I will not say that the peace and good order of
Alabama is Utopian, at all

;
that I do not mean to say. There are violations of the law



pror

any

160 CONDITION OF AFFAIRS IN THE SOUTHERN STATES.

there crimes of the most aggravated character have been committed within the limits

of the State. Human Avickedness is there just as it is everywhere, from the highest to

the lowest grades of civilization. But when I speak as 1 do; I speak with regard to the

entire State and the aggregate amount of crime within the State. .In the portion of

the State HI which I live, our criminal docket will show not only fewer crimes, but

niarvelously few, within the last two or three years. The people of what we call the

white regions of North Alabama have been less addicted to the use of liquor than they
were prior to the late Avar. There have been fewer personal feuds; there have been

r !i&quot;hts: le\ver assaults and battery; fewer murders, killings, homicides, than at

flme before during the eighteen years I have practiced at the bar there.

B the CIIAIKMAN :

iH. What part of Alabama do you embrace within the &quot; white regions?&quot;

. We have three belts of Alabama. What is called the northern belt, bounded

OB the north by the State of Tennessee, and of a width of one hundred miles, perhaps
of one hundred and twenty miles, to the southern slope of the Cumberland Mountains

;

1 hat we call the mountain, or white, region of Alabama. Subsequent to the war, when ,

the armies were disbanded, there were in the mountain regions of North Alabama many
men without occupation, to a great extent lawless and well, I do not know precisely
how to express it without any object whatever in view. And although not per

sonally cognizant of any of the facts, yet from hearsay I have no doubt that at that

time there were many outrages committed. In other words, they took the law in their

own hands. When they had a personal quarrel or a personal difficulty in regard to

property or anything else, they took the law into their own hands and sought their

revenges in that way. That condition of things has passed away, I think
; happily so

for the State of Alabama. I think that peace and good will to a great extent prevail
in Alabama. I thiuk it has greatly improved, from a, variety of circumstances that

perhaps it would take too long to enumerate.

Question. Whatever general statement you wish to make in answer to the general

question which I have put, I would prefer, and so doubtless would the other members
of the committee, that yon would go on and complete it before any other questions
are put to you.

Answer. I can only speak in general terms. I think that for the last two or three

years the supremacy of the law has been gradually growing upon the minds of the peo
ple ;

that lawlessness, in whatever form it now appears, is very promptly condemned by
the leading and influential citizens of the country. That, I think, has had a very happy
effect upon these wild, reckless, wicked men who had neither the fear of God nor mail
in their hearts

;
such men as appear in all countries. They were few, comparatively

few, in Alabama, but still they existed there. I would say that no man who is an hon
est man need have any fear but he will have protection there, not only the protection
of the law, but the moral and social protection of the people of Alabama. I Avill say
further, that I care, not where he may come from, I care not what political creed he may
entertain, his industry and his energy will receive encouragement from the people of

Alabama; he will be welcomed in their midst, and they will defend him as readily as^
they will defend one of the oldest citizens of the State. But on the other hand, neither*
a man who is a native, nor a man who is an immigrant into the State, who is there as
a disturber of the peace, neither of them can be welcomed socially or in any other

way by the people of the State of Alabama. I am not now speaking from mere theory ;

I am speaking from personal observation upon this subject. We have settlers in the
northern section of Alabama of all political parties and from every State in the Union ;

we have active republicans, and we have active democrats; they are men of industry ;

they brought means with them, they are men of families, and I have never heard ofj
a hair of the head of one of them, although a republican, being touched. I have seen
them come into court, at my request, and go the bail of colored men who were working
for them

;
there was no objection to it

; they were rather commended for it. There are
men, however, who have come there, and the very moment they set their feet upon the
soil they became disturbers of the peace. Those men received no countenance what
ever

; they were men without fortune, some of them without families, and thty seemed^
to have no object in view but an expectation of being able to live upon the political*
changes that were going on in the country. While I say that there have been not to
my personal knowledge, but I have heard of them occasional insults and assaults
made by men upon new comers, I cannot deny them, for: I have heard them, though
1 have never seen one personally, yet they have never, to my knowledge, received the
sanction of the good part of the community, but have always received their condem
nation. Those assaults and insults have been perpetrated by young men, regardless
of consequences to themselves, and entirely regardless of the welfare of the commu
nities in which they live. That condition of affairs, however, has to a great degree
passed away ;

I may say has almost entirely passed away. I think the committee are
as well aware as I am of the condition of feeling among the people immediately after
the war; they were afloat to a certain extent. The committee are also aware of the
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feeling that was aroused at the time of the passage by Congress of the reconstruction
measure. But that has all passed a Tray, and the people are now, both young and old,

beginning to recognize a stable condition of affairs.

(Question. Does that complete the general statement you desire to make ?

Answer. Yes, sir; unless questions are put to me upon particular points.

Question. You think, then, that in the courts of the State of Alabama the civil rights
of all persons, without regard to race or color, can be adequately protected and secure ?

Answer. I do, sir.

Question. You think that in all cases of prosecution for crime justice can be admin
istered against all offenders ?

Answer. I have no hesitancy in saying that the juries of that State will render ver
dicts according to the law and the evidence with as much honesty and fidelity to-day
as they would have done at any time in the history of the State. And I may add here
that in my section of the State the colored man has been especially the recipient of
care and watchfulness on the part of the circuit judges in that country.

Question. Have you any knowledge of the existence, either heretofore or at the pres
ent time, of the organization popularly known as the Ku-KJlux Klan, and of the offenses

alleged to have been committed by that organization?
Answer. I have no personal knowledge of any organization of Ku-Klux

;
I have no

personal knowledge either of that order or any other organization of that character,
further than the rumors that prevail with regard to them. I saw but once five dis

guised men ; I saw them on the streets of my home.

Question. What town was that ?

Answer. Tuscumbia. They passed through the town one night ; they were on horses,
and they rode through the streets without stopping ;

and that was the first and last I

-ver saw in disguise. That was, I think, sometime in 1868
;
I will not be positive with

regard to the year. Beyond that, personally, I have no knowledge of them. All that
I know with regard to the Ku-Klux organization has been from hearsay.

Question. As you saw those men, please describe what was the appearance of their

disguise ?

Answer. Really I paid very little attention to them
;
I cared very little about them.

I think they had on black gowns of some kind
;

it was in the night ;
I could not really

describe them with any accuracy, I do not remember whether they had white masks
or black ones. My recollection is that they were dressed in some black stuff.

Question. Were their faces masked ?

,
Answer. My impression is that they were

;
but I paid very little attention to them.

Question. And they had loose gowns on their persons ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Were they on horseback ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Were they armed ?

Answer. Not that I saw
; they were at some distance from me, some thirty or forty

yards. I repeat that I paid very little attention to them.

Question. Were their horses also covered with a covering?
Answer. I think not.

Question. At what time in the night did they appear?
Answer. About an hour after dark, 7 or 8 o clock. Really we thought it was a lot of

wild boys of the town, who had got themselves up in this way, and hence I paid very
little attention to them.

Question. Did you hear of any violence committed at that time by persons in disguise I

Answer. No, sir.

Question. That is the only instance in which you have seen any persons in disguise?
Answer. That is the only instance.

Question. Is your information such as to satisfy you that there was an organization
of that character, in that part of the State, or in any other, which did inflict chas
tisement or injury upon persons ?

Ansicer. I have heard that they existed as an organization.
Question. Did you make such inquiry as to satisfy yourself whether they did or not ?

Answer. Well, &quot;no;
no special inquiry, further than general conversations on the

streets. I never inquired of any one, I will say that I never knew any one, that I

could identify as belonging to the organization. No one ever communicated to me the
fact that he belonged to it.

Question. What was the result of such examination as you made, or such informa
tion as you had; did it satisfy you of the existence of such an organization ?

Anfficer. My impression at the time was that there was an organization of some kind
;

what it was I did not know.
Question. What was the mode of operations of that organization, so far as your in

formation went?
Ansim\ i am entirely ignorant of that. I will state here as explanatory of that, per

haps, that at a very early day, when the reports got out that there was such an organ-

11



162 CONDITION OF AFFAIRS IN THE SOUTHERN STATES.

ization, I took st 1-0115 ground of opposition to it, publicly expressed myself against any-
tliiii&quot; like a political organization. I conceived that I had to fight the same kind of

fight against ihat organization that I had fought against Know-Nothingism in the

Olden times. Hence they never communicated any facts to me.

Question. I am not speaking offsets communicated to you by members of the organ-
i/ut ion, but of information derived by yon in your official capacity, or as a citizen,

which led to a conclusion in your own mind as to whether offenses were committed by
an or^ani/at ion of that kind.

Aii m-i /-. Tin- -eueral report was that the Ku-Klux of that time committed outrages.

Ovation, Of whal character, and upon whom were they committed?

1*01* ,: As L say, I do not know anything further about them than by general report.

It was sometimes reported that they had whipped a negro; sometimes that they had

whipped a white man. I think, according to the information, it was about equal as to

th.- two races. 1 remember that there was a report that they had taken out a white

man and whipped him. I do not know what his name was
;
and then there was a

report that they had taken out a colored men and whipped him.

Question. How early, or at what time, did you hear reports of that character?

Answer. That was back in 1867 and 1868; I think it was in 1867.

Question. .How recently have you heard of any offenses of that character being com
mit ted?

.himccr. The last offense I believe that was the last that I heard of in my section, I

defended them.

Question. When was that ?

Answer. That was about two years ago. There were four colored men who disguised
themselves and whipped one of their own race nearly to death. I defended them and

got them off on the plea that they were ignorant of the laws of the State of Alabama
with regard to Ku-Kluxism, or going in disguise ;

I got them off with a small fine.

Question. You refer to the district in which you practice professionally?
Answer. Yes, sir; that was all my personal knowledge of that case, that I defended

them.

Question. What is the last case of that character, in point of time, of which you have
heard as occurring in the State?
Answer. The last case I think was in Elmore or Coosa County.
Quexlion. How recent was that ?

A ntiictr. About two or three months ago.

(Question. In the intermediate time between 1867 and the occurrence of that case in

Elmore or Coosa County, whichever it was, were there frequent reports of the occur
rence of similar cases I

Answer. If you please, I would prefer to make a statement in regard to that case

Question. Certainly ; proceed.
Answer. Because I took official cognizance of it. That was the case of Isaac Dorman

As governor of the State I received a notification that an outrage had been committed
by Ku-Klux. or disguised men, upon this Dormau, in Elmore County. Whenever I re

ceived any reports of that kind, and I was satisfied that such things had taken place,.
I sent my recording secretary to investigate the matter. I sent him in this instance
for the purpose of instituting an inquiry as to the real facts of the case. As the ac
count had reached nie it was somewhat horrifying, and much to be lamented by the
executive of the State as by every other citizen. I have with me the report of my re

cording secretary upon that case; I will either state the substance of it to the commit
tee or I will submit it to the committee for their examination.

Question. You may as well give us the substance of it, as you remember it, and wd
can take that report also. ^

Answer^ The report states that Mr. Howe, an old citizen and planter, and a member
of the church, had learned from one of his employes that this man Dorman was in the
habit of coming to his plantation at night, stopping at the cabins of the negroes, and
instilling into their minds all sorts of erroneous ideas with regard to their rights, their

superiority, &c. Mr. Howe went to Dorman and requested him, when he visited his

plantation, to come to his house and he would treat him as a gentleman ought to be
treated. Dorman agreed to do so. Some two weeks subsquent to that, however, Dor*
man again mine on the plantation. While ho was eating supper with one of the ne
gro, s, one of the employes, a negro man, went to Mr. Howe and told him that Dorman
was there, and said that if IK; did not come down he would not have an employe on
his place. The old gentleman went down, with his two sous, the oldest about eleven

yean old. ami found Dorman at the table. Dorman got up, with a knife in his hand,
and moved towards Mr. Howe, who was at the door. Mr. Howe, with his walking
cane, struck the knife from his hand, and then turned in and gave him a very good
thrashing. Dorman the next morning repaired to the town of Wetumpka, made an
aliidavit before a justice of the peace, which is our court of inquiry there, that he had
been assailed by Mr. Howe, and Ku-Kluxed by disguised men; and charged Mr. Howe
and his sons with assault and battery, and also charged other citizens with being ac-
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cessories, and demanded a posse comitatus of forty men to go with tlie constable to make
the arrests. .The constable absolutely refused to take a posse, stating that he could
take all the parties named in the warrant. But, no

;
he must take a posse and go by

a circuitous route to make the arrests. Mr. Howe came down there and an examina
tion was instituted. It was proposed to abandon it if Mr. Howe would pay the costs.

That ho would not do, and insisted upon an examination. But instead of being Ku-
Kluxism the court of inquiry determined it to be just as I have stated. He was bound
over in the sum of $1,000. This man Dorman was a very infamous character. It was
stated in the court that he was the son of a Methodist minister, and a fugitive from

justice for attempting to commit a rape upon his own cousin. I mention that, not

only upon the report of the court of inquiry, but upon information generally known all

over that country.
Question. Was Dorman a preacher?
Answer. Yes, sir

;
he professed to be a preacher.

Question. Did your secretary make any examination of the parties, under oath /

Answer. No, sir
;
he had no authority to do so. The case was tried, however, before

a court. I have another case that was sent to me by General Crawford, the command
ing general of the United States forces in the State of Alabama, at Huntsville. Imme
diately on receiving information of that case, as was my wont, I sent my recording sec

retary to inquire into it.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. Give us the date of that case.

Answer. It is dated the 27th day of March last, and indorsed &quot;

respectfully forwarded
for the information of the governor.-&quot; This is such a curious document that, with the

permission of the committee, I will read it. It is one of the last cases of which I re-

ceived any information.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Before you proceed with that, you say there was a trial in the case of Dor-
rilan. Do you mean that the case went into court against Mr. Howe, and that he was
tried ?

Answer. Yes, sir; Mr. Howe was tried.

Question. What was the result of that trial ?

Answer. I think the case was dismissed, but I am not positive in regard to that
5

it

did not amount to anything, however.

Question. Was there any verdict in the case ?

Answer. Perhaps there was a verdict for simple assault and battery.
Question. A verdict of guilty f

Answer. O, yes, sir; he did not deny it; he confessed that he had whipped him.
There was no disguise about it; it was on his own plantation ;

the old man and his little

.son.

Question. Did the evidence as taken disclose the fact Dorman had been making nso
of any incendiary influences with the negroes ?

Answer. That is my understanding.
Question. What had he done ?

Answer. This paper will give it more in detail than I have done; I endeavored to

speak succinctly in regard to the matter. I can read you what the report is.

Question. I only wish the general facts.

Answer, This is the report : The said Isaac W. Dorman is employed by the Northern
Methodist Church to preach to the freed men, and in compliance with his engagements
went to the plantation of Mr. J. W. Howe, without first consulting him, harangued the

negroes not upon religious topics, but advising them to arm and assert their political
and social equality with the whites, stating that he was ready and willing to assist

them.&quot;

Question. To arm and assert their social and political equality ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Was there any allegation that he had incited them to commit any aggres
sions upon the whites ?

Answer. All my information is from this.

Question. What is the inference ?

Ansiver. This is all my information : I know nothing further about it than as I got it

from the report of my recording secretary.
Question. And Mr. Howe denied his right to go upon his plantation and speak to the

negroes upon these subjects ?

Answer. He asked him to go to his own house, and he would treat him like a gentle
man, and he could preach to the negroes.

Question. He refused him the right to speak with them upon other subjects ?

Answer. I cannot tell
;
I only know from this.
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By Mr. BACK:

. IVrhaps it would be better to read the whole report

It. is as follows:

&quot;STATE or ALAIJAMA, EXECUTIVE DEPARTMENT,
^Lontyomcry, February 17, 1871.

DE\R Sin : Pursuant to instructions received from your excellency on the 15th iu-

I proceeded lo Klmore County, to inquire into an alleged
&quot;

outrageous attack, by
a band of outlaws, upon the person of Isaac W. Dornian, on Sunday, the 29th ultimo.&quot;

From the testimony of many prominent citizens, comprising members of the bar, &nd
others. tin- first citizens of the county, I find the following to be the facts in the case :

&quot;The said Isaac W. Dorman is employed by the Northern Methodist Church to

preach to Ihe fiecdinen, and in compliance with his engagement he went to the plan-
tut ion of Mr. J. W. Howe, without tirst consulting him, harangued the negroes not

ui)oii religions topics. but advising them to arm and assert their political and -social

equality with the whites, stating that he was ready and willing to assist them.

&quot;These facts were reported to Mr. Howe by his freedmen, who thereupon went to

said Dorman and told him that when he came to preach on his place to come to

his house, and lie should be entertained as a gentleman, but that he should positively

object to his proceeding in the manner above stated, and, furthermore, would not allow

it. Dorman promised to comply ;
but on a subsequeut visit again fraternized with the.

negroes, ignoiing the kind invitation of Mr. H. Mr. Howe, being apprised of this,

went to the house of the negro with whom Dorman was stopping, and found him eat

ing at the table with the negro family.

Upon Mr. Howe s entrance into the room Dorman rose from the table, knife in hand,

accosting Mr. Howe in very insulting language, and, fearing an assault, Mr. Howe,
with his walking-cane, struck the knife from Dormau s hand and gave him a thrash

ing. All this occurred in day-light, and Mr. Howe was the only person engaged in the

assault.
&quot; Dorman immediately went to Wetumpka and swore ont a warrant of arrest

against Mr. Howe, his two sons, the eldest of whom is only eleven years old, and sev
eral other gentlemen in the neighborhood, as instigators and accessories. When the
order of arrest was handed the constable, with instructions to summons a posse of

twenty men, and not to disclose the names of the parties to be arrested, he ottered to

go alone, pledging himself to bring all the parties named in the warrant, but his

orders were peremptory to take the posse and go by a circuitous route to Mr. Howe s

home. The gentlemen who accompanied the officer were not aware who were the par
ties tu be arrested, until they were halted at the house of Mr. Howe, who, upon learn

ing their object, immediately surrendered himself without resistance, as did all the

parties named in the warrant, and proceeded with them to Wetumpka, where they were
bound over to appear at the next term of the county court, in the sum of $1,000 each, the
most substantial merchants of the place voluntarily placing their names on the bond.
The case will be tried on Monday next, if the prosecutor appears, which, I am assured, is.

unlikely, as the county solicitor, Mr. Delong, proposed to Mr. Howe s attorney to com
promise the matter, agreeing to dismiss the suit if Mr. Howe would pay the costs.

Numbers of the best citizens proffered to make affidavit that Mr. Howe was a most
worthy Christian gentleman, a prominent member of the church, and one of the most
substantial citizens of Alabama ;

and at the same time asserted that it could be sub,-
Mantiated by good radical authority that Isaac W. Dorman was a man of no standing
in society, and that, furthermore, he was a fugitive from justice, an indictment

beingnow pending in Georgia against him for attempted rape on his own cousin; hi*
father, a worthy minister of the gospel, positively refusing to recognize him after the
offense above stated. Dormant is notorious among the negroes as being a lewd, licen
tious man

; and Mr. Brogden, when called on by Mr. Delong to avouch his character
(though belonging to the same party) refused, stating that every one knew Dorman to
be an unprincipled rascal.

Mr. Delong, the solicitor, was selected by many with whom I consulted as beingthe probable author of the letter to Senator Spencer, giving an account of the ont-
and he \vas known to be drunk on the 29th ultimo, the day and date of said letter.

&quot;I am, very respectfully, your obedient servant,
&quot; W. V. CHARDAVOYNE.

His Excellency ROBT. B. LINDSAY,
&quot; Governor of Alabama&quot;

By Mr. VAN THUMP :

(,&amp;gt;n&amp;lt;

H/i&amp;lt;&amp;gt;n. Please give us any information you have as to what Dormau stated in his
affidavit in regard to his assailants being disguised?

-&amp;lt;r. I cannot speak with any accuracy upon that.
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By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Had any of these charges against Dorman s character been made known in

that community before this transaction occurred ?

Answer. My impression is, from information I received subsequent to this, that he
was known to be one of these disturbers of the peace.

Question. I am speaking of the charge made there about his conduct before leaving

Georgia. Were those charges, about his offense there, and the indictment pending
against him, known to Mr. Howe when he invited him into his house ?

Answer. I do not know.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. Did Mr. Howe belong to the Methodist Episcopal Church South ?

Answer. I do not know.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Having stopped to give the details of that case, if you have other cases to

which you wish to refer we will hear them. I will again ask you Avhether, from 1867

down to the time of the last case brought to your notice, have there been frequent
occurrences of this character reported as having taken place in the State ?

Answer. Yes, sir; I heard of frequent occurrences.

Question. I refer to offenses committed by persons in disguise.
Answer. Yes, sir; but it was only by report.

Question. Having stated that, if there are other cases to which you wish to refer I

understood you to say that there were some you can now go on and state them.
Answer. I will qualify my statement, however, by saying that up to the present time,

and until these cases were brought to my knowledge, reported outrages by Ku-Kluxor

disguised persons had ceased for the last two years. Occasionally, during that time,
it was reported that men had disguised themselves. I will refer to soino particularly.
I stated that 1 had heard, and from hearsay had reason to believe, that there was an

organization known as the Ku-Klnx organization ;
I only speak of that from hearsay.

But I also heard, and had as much reason to believe, that that organization was dis

banded in the State of Alabama upward of two years ago. And in this connection I

may as well say that it is my solemn belief that there is no such thing to-day as a Ku-
Klux organization within the limits of the, State of Alabama. That occasional infrac

tions of the law occur by men in disguise, I have been informed, and have no reason

to doubt. But upon every inquiry 1 have made, from investigations I have insti

tuted, I have invariably found tljat the disguise was not of an organization, but for

the purpose of enabling the perpetrators of the crime to escape the vigilance of the
law ofricers. In every instance to which my attention has been called, not only as a

citizen for the past two years, but a,s the executive of Alabama for the last six mouths,
I have invariably found that to be the case : that the disguise was not a part of a per
manent Ku-Klux, but a temporary expedient to enable the villains to escape. It would
be impossible for me to refer to each and every case that I have heard of; I can only
instance those I have investigated. Among them is the one I hold in my hand, re

ported to me by General Crawford.

By Mr. VAX TRUMP :

Question. Where was he stationed when you got that, at Eutaw ?

Answer. At Huntsville.

Question. He had been at Eutaw ?

Answer. Yes, sir. This is the case of George W. Hollowell, who, in his affidavit,
states that he was a southern slave, and got into the Northwest in company with Mor

gan s command.
Question. Morgan, of Kentucky ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
the confederate General Morgan ;

and that he escaped there. The
facts are stated here.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Is that the report of the case to you ?

Answer. This is the affidavit of the party himself.

Question. If you wish to submit it in connection with your testimony it had better

be read.

Answer. It is as follows :

&quot; STATE OF ALABAMA, County of Madison, ss .

On this 27th day of March, 1871, personally appeared before me, a clerk of the cir

cuit court in and for the county and State aforesaid, George W. Hollowell, resident

Marshall, Calhoun County, Michigan, who, being duly sworn, deposes and says that he
was carried into the rebel armv by his former owner, WT

. D. H. Hollowell, major, from
Panola County, Mississippi; was with General Morgan s raiders, captured near Cinein-
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nati, Ohio, liy tin- Federal forces, and sent to Camp Douglas, Chicago; there released,

and went taCalhonn County, .Michigan: while there I was drafted and attached to the
,,im!red and second United States colored infantry, company K;

7 after mns-
t ei-out of command I returned to Calhoun County, Michigan, and I left home on Feb

ruary 1.1-71. to see my mother and sisters, who were Living in Morgan County, Alabama.
1 arrived there, and while staying with them on the plantation of Robert Adkersou, try

ing to help tlieiu and better their condition, on Saturday night, 25th of March, 1871,
1 was aroused from sleep by hearing some persons calling Wash. I said, Who is there?

Tin- voices replied. It does not make any difference
;
come out

;
we want to have a civil

talk with yon. As I was get ting out of bed I said, Gentlemen, if you want to have a civil

talk \\iih ine come in and sit by the lire so I can see who you are. One said, You strike

a linht and I will blow your damned brains ont. I went to the door anH put myself

against it : they pushed with such force against the door that it came open ;
I stepped

back : the door was opened wide; a man dressed in disguise came pointing a double-

barreled mm at me: he had on an India-rubber coat belted around him; on his head
he had on an old cap, over his face a piece of red flannel, reaching from his head to his

knees. I saw about seven men there, all disguised, some in white gowns ;
one of these

other men came in ; they told me to come, there was no use in staying back, they were

going to have me; You have been lighting in the United States service; you area Yan
kee. YOU black son of a bitch, and we are going to cutrout your stones and skin you
alive. I saw that I could not resist or defend myself with any success, so I said I would
go out. and did so. As 1 reached the door one of themen grabbed my right arm ;

I kicked
him on the side of the head and knocked him down. While this was occurring another

caught me by the right leg; I struck him with my left fist, and over he fell. 1 then ran
and they after me, for about one hundred yards, but I got away from them. I ran up
into Mr. Adkerson s yard, and then went over into a little thicket near the house, and
there got into an old seed- house, near the kitchen. While I was there these men came up
to Mi-. Adkerson s house, and there were about sixteen men then in the yard; they called to

him. but I could not tell what they said. They stayed about half an hour and left, and
then returned to the house I had been staying in and watched it until daylight. They
then told my mother and sisters, who were there, that they wanted all m-y clothes and
satchel and &quot;all my sister Maria s clothes. I had just returned from Valamossa Springs,
where I had purchased some clothing for her; these things were given to them, and they
carried them away, also !$25 in greenbacks. They said they would be back there at 10
o clock Sunday morning, and then give me twelve minutes to get out of the State. I

returned, and my mother and sisters told me that they said they would return, and I

left, after gathering the things they had left me. They threatened to beat my sister

Maria on Monday next, so we both left there and came to Huntsville, Alabama.
&quot;GEORGE W. HOLLOWELL.&quot;

&amp;gt;trn and subscribed before me, this 28th day of March, A. D. 1871.

&quot;JAMES H. BONE,
&quot; Clerk Circuit Court&quot;

&quot;A true copy : *

&quot;M. FRANK GALLAGHER,
&quot;Second Lieutenant and Adjutant Second Infantry, Post Adjutant&quot;

On receiving that I immediately sent, from a distant part of the State, from Mont
gomery, my recording secretary to investigate it. His report is as follows :

&quot;To his Excellency R, B.LINDSAY, Governor, &amp;lt;fc.
:

&quot; Dr.Ai: Srn : Pursuant to instructions received from your excellency, I proceeded to*

Morgan County, in this State, for the purpose of inquiring into an alleged assault on
one Cenrge \Y. llollowell, colored, by disguised men, on the night of the 25th March
last, near Draper s Ferry, on t lie Tennessee River. After due inquiry, I learned from
responsible gentlemen that the following were -the facts in the case, as near as could
he known by those not personally engaged in the matter :

The said &amp;lt; Jeorge W. llollowell. colored, is, or was, as he stated, a resident of Michi*
an. and came on a visit to his relatives in Morgan County. As soon as he reached
[organ County he began to assume offensive airs toward the white persons he met,

and boasted loudly and often of having married a wealthy white lady in Michigan,
with whom he was then living, assorting his equality with any white man, and utter
contempt for them generally, at the same time giving it as his mission to convert the
colored people of Alabama to the same belief. He was remonstrated with frequently,
and told that he would not bu allowed to remain in the community so long as lie con
ducted himself in that manner. His brother-in-law, a respectable and intelligent
colored man, told him I hat he should not stay at his house unless he behaved more prop
erly. In spite of t he remonst ranees of the whiles, and advice of his own kin and color,
he continued to render himself offensive to the community, until waited on, the night
above-mentioned, by several gentlemen, who ordered him peremptorily to leave, and at
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once. It is needless for me to assure your excellency that the wonderful feats related

by the said Hollowell, as performed by himself in his escape, as well as the charge that
he was robbed, and that the party was disguised, are utterly and positively false, as
sot forth in his affidavit to the circuit clerk of Madison County. I am assured by gen
tlemen whoso veracity I will indorse that there is not a more orderly, quiet, and peace
able community of men, both white and black, in this or any other State.-than the one
in which this occurred, and that this was resorted to simply as a peaceful method ot

disposing of a noisy, turbulent, disturber of the public peace, with 110 desire or inten
tion to do the negro bodily harm.

&quot;

I have the honor to be, your excellency s obedient servant, &c.,
&quot; W. V. CHARI^AVOYNE,

Recording Secretary.
&quot; APEIL 20th, 1871.&quot;

Qi,e&tion. Did your secretary examine the negro himself?
Anmctr. No, sir; he had left there, and had gone to Hnntsvillc. I was in Huntsville my

self afterward and made inquiry for him, for I wanted to have an interview with him
myself; but he was not to be found.

Question, lias anybody been identified as being with the party charged with this

offense ?

Answer. .1 know nothing further than is reported by my secretary.

Question. Have you any knowledge, then, that the very persons charged with the
offense were not those from whom your secretary got his information ?

Answer. I have, no knowledge further than this : I live in that section of the State;
my family have been in Huutsville for some time

;
but this was unknown to the peo

ple at large ;
it was not considered an aggravated affair at all. It simply appeared in

the form I have it here. I received reports from the county of Jackson that a man by
the name of Cates had been killed, and that a man by the narne of Harper had been
whipped. Upon that information I offered rewards for the discovery and arrest of the

perpetrators of the crime. They were known, and were indicted for the murder of
Cates

;
but they lied to another State. I learned that Cates had been killed accident

ally, although the parties were upon a criminal mission.

Question. The parties who killed him ?

Aimver. Yes, sir; some difficulty had arisen in that locality in regard to a married

woman, and these parties had gone there; for the purpose of whipping, or doing some
thing to a man whose name was associated with this woman scrape, as I may call it

;

I do not know the name of the man. Mr. Cates was absent at the time, but he came
up to the house with a torch in his hand at the time these outlaws were about the

house; I call them outlaws. They sent a young lad to halt Mr. Cates.

Question. Is that the usual mode of travel in the night by the people in the country,
with a torch ?

Answer. I think it is a very common thing with people, when passing from house to
house in a dark night, to carry a torch or pine-knot. Mr. Cates would not halt, but
was shot and killed. The young man sent to halt him has escaped ;

three or four per
sons have been indicted and have given bail ; but they say the gun was fired, but how
they do not know. At all events, Cates was killed.

Question. Were the parties in disguise.?
Answer. That I do not know

;
I think that I heard they were

;
I am almost pos

itive that I was informed they were in disguise. Harper was whipped. I offered a
reward for the perpetrators of that crime

; they lied, however. He was whipped lie-

cause he had given testimony against one or two outlaws that frequent that portion of
the State of Alabama. The county of Jackson is a mountainous region, and lies in a

corner between the States of Georgia and Tennessee. It is the resort of almost every
villain that Hies from justice, in the three States of Tennessee, Georgia, and Alabama,
for the mountains on both sides of the Tennessee River are almost inaccessible. It

seems that Harper had given testimony before a grand jury which led to their indict

ment, and they whipped him for that
;
that is the information reported to me.

Question. You say he was whipped for giving testimony against some outlaws?
Answer. Yes, sir

;
about setting lire to a house.

Question. Were they persons who had been charged with having committed offenses
while iu disguise ?

An nicer. No, sir
; they had burned a house. When I use the term &quot;outlaw&quot; I do not

use- it in a technical sense, but I mean a man regardless of both human and divine laws.

Question. I put the question because you had termed outlaws the other persons who
had killed Cates.

Answer. My recording secretary, whom I had requested to go and ascertain any fur
ther information OH the subject, telegraphs me, under date of June 12, 1871, as follows :

Saw solicitor of Jackson. Harper and Cates both democrats : private feud, not poli
ties, cause of assaults.&quot;
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By Mr. VAX TRUMP:

Question. What ;uv the politics of the solicitor?

Answer. Ho was appointed by my predecessor ;
I do not know what bis politics really

arc how he atiiliates now.

By Mr. BECK :

Question. What A\ as your predecessor s politics ?

Amtwtr, He wa* a republican. I would not like to locate a mail in politics without

knowing.

By Mr. VAX TRUMP :

Qutxtion. Was it the habit of your predecessor, Governor Smith, to appoint dem
ocrats!

Answer. Not much.

By the CHAIRMAN:

QucxiioH. Those two cases, Cates and Harper, were the two-cases in Jackson County
complained of to you?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Have the offenders been arrested ?

Anxu-er. Those who whipped Harper have not been arrested
;
those who are charged

with the killing of Gates have been arrested, and indictments have been found against
them lor murder. They have been prosecuted for four weeks in succession, the resi

dent lawyers aiding in the prosecution. The solicitor telegraphed to me to allow him
a detective, because he thought that with the aid of a detective he could discover the
offenders. That was before he did discover the parties; however, I had no power to

allow him a detective.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

QufxiioH. Which, party has the majority in Jackson County?
Answer. The democrats are largely in the majority.

By the CHAIRMAN:

(Jucxtion. By
&quot;

prosecution&quot; do you mean a preliminary inquiry, or a trial before
a jury .

Answer. There was first an examination by a court of inquiry, and then an indict

ment found by the grand jury of the county.
Question. They have not been tried before a traverse jury ?

Answer. I believe they have not been tried before the circuit court.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

QiifMtion. Are they in prison ?

Anxwer. Yes, sir. As I stated before, the prosecutor is a man of great energy and de- -

termination, and he is sustained by the editor of the newspaper in that county, a man
ef moderate politics.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. Is Stevensou the county town?
Answer. No, sir

;
Stevenson is in the county, but Scottsboro is the county town.

The next case that was brought to my official notice was a case in Limestone County. ,

By the CHAIRMAN : *

Quextion. Please; give the date if you can.
Answer. I think it was within the last three weeks. I do not remember the date.

I was in the town of Hunts ville when my attention was called, by the probate judge
of Madison County, in the presence of Joseph C. Bradley, to what was termed a Ku-
Klux outrage in Limestone County.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP:
Huntsville is in Madison County?

. It is. On invitation of the judge of probate I called at the probate office the
next morning, to get more accurate information from an assistant of his in that office,
who had heard the statement made of the outrage. A man by the name of McGregor
was said to have been the victim.

Quotum. White or colored?
4ftMMr. Whin-. I learned from the assistant of the probate judge these facts : This

man. IfcGreOT, had bought a horse from another citizen of Limestone County, for
which he paid him, perhaps, a hundred dollars. After the trade they repaired to a
still-house, as Ihe.v call it there, a place where they make, whisky, ami there they got
drunk. M.(;,.M (| |- was rhurged with stealing the hundred dollars, and getting the
horsr too. That night some lour or live men went to McGregor s house, took him out,and threatened to hang him if he did not give up the hundred dollars.
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Question. Were tliose men disguised ?

Answer. I do not know whether they were or not, and I must confess that I do not

remember whether that was stated or not.

Question. The reason I ask is that you characterized the transaction as a Ku-Klux

outrage.
Answer. Yes, sir ; the reason why I am not certain in my recollection will be ex

plained. Not content with that information, however, I ordered my recording secre

tary to repair to Limestone County for the purpose of investigating the facts and send

ing&quot;
forward a detailed report. He telegraphs me, under date &amp;lt;*f

the 13th instant, as

follows :
&quot;

Investigated fully Limestone case. All democrats
;
drunken spree ;

no poli
tics.&quot;

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Have you any other cases to which you wish to refer ?

Answer. Some three or four weeks ago I addressed a communication, in the form ot

a circular, to the district attorney of the United States, at Montgomery ;
also to the

solicitor of Montgomery County, Robert Knox
;
to a gentleman of the name of Speed,

who is a man of intelligence, and the school superintendent of Perry County, one of

the largest negro (counties in the State of Alabama, and to several other gentlemen,
whose names I now forget, requesting them to furnish me with a statement of any
outrages or crimes committed within their knowledge or information. I received no

reply from any one of them, except from the district attorney of the Uuited States,
who expressed some surprise that I should have asked him. I stated in my communi
cation that I wished to investigate the matter so as to ascertain the facts as they
really existed. He stated that there was a case which had occurred the day before in

Montgomery County.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. Is that the cotmty in which the capital of the State is situated ?

Answer. Yes. sir. I have his letter at my room, but I have it not here. I forget now
the names of the parties or the facts

;
at least I could not undertake to make an accu

rate statement of them. But it was charged that disguised persons had whipped ti

negro man. All of them were arrested and brought before the United States commis
sioner. The palliation that they gave was that this negro man had committed an

outrage upon the person of an idiot white girl, and that the idiot girl was discovered

to be pregnant; that was the palliation that they alleged. That is stated in the letter

of the district attorney himself. I had not time it was the day before; 1 left to insti

tute any inquiry |
but the parties were bound over before the United States commis

sioner in the sum of $1,000 each. That is the most recent case that I know of; there

may be others, but it is impossible for me to remember them all.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Qw.s /io?*. These are all you remember at present ?

Anmcr. Yes, sir
;
these are cases I have endeavored to ferret out. If there is any

particular
case to which you desire me to direct my attention, I might be reminded of

it by reference to it.

Question. You have spoken of Jackson County; was there a case in the county in

which a man named Larkiii was involved; a colored man, who was taken out and shot

on a stump, or alleged to have been ?

Answer. What time was that 1?

Question. About the 1st of January, I think.
Mr. BLAIR. At Fayetteville, it is said.

The WITNESS. Yes
;

I think I heard of the case of some negro at Larkinsvilie.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. The negro was named Larkin, was he not ?

Answer. I think 1 heard of that case, but I do not know the particulars.

Question. Was it called to your attention. ?

Answer. Xo, sir, not officially ;
it was only by rumor that I heard it. I remember to

have seen some account of it in the newspaper published at Scottsboro, a paper which
I receive at my ofiice.

Question. Have you a recollection whether it alleged that the offense in that case
was committed by persons in disguise ?

Answer. I cannot say ; my memory is indistinct in regard to that. If I were required
to state my best impression&quot;, I should say that they were disguised.

Question. That the persons who committed the oifense were in disguise?
Answer. Yes

;
that is the best impression I have in the matter, but iny attention was

not called to it officially.

Question. Was this Larkiii a colored man ?

Answer. My recollection is that there was an outrage of that kind committed
;
but I

have no personal knowledge whatever of the matter.

Question. Instead of directing your attention at present to particular offenses which
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have been committed, there are one or two other questions I wish to ask you. You
have ulri-ady given it to us :is your belief that there was an organization of persons in

the State of Alabama publicly known as Ku-Klux, which organization ceased some

V7-s : my in formation was that there was such an organization, but I had no

knowledge of its existence or of its operations.
n. Had you that information from any persons who professed to know the

form and tin- purposes of the organization ?

Answer. No. sir
; on^v from those who had seen them in disguise.

Mtfe*. Were they uniformly represented as committing their offenses at night in

disguise, in military order?

J/ww. My information was that they went in bands; but as to military order, or

the particulars of their organization, I never had any accurate information.

Quextinn. Your information is that these offenses were committed at night by men in

disguise, and in organized bands ?

A&amp;gt;mu : That was my information.

QiH xtion. Have 1 here not been offenses committed in the same manner, and generally

Upon republicans, within the last two years ?

~.i.sin /. Well, no, sir. I will here state as my belief that I do not think the Ku-Klux
ever selected a victim because he belonged to auy political party.

Question. I do not wish to get at that point yet, if yon please, but to another point,
r, ! understood you to use the word republicans.

Question. Perhaps I put more in my question than I ought to have done. Have there

not been offenses, without regard to whom they have been committed upon, committed
within the last two years, at nighf, by persons in disguise and in organized bands ?

Jwsinr. 1 have not heard of any.
Question. Have none been reported to you within the last two years ?

Answer. None; unless those I have mentioned in Jackson County; the Gates ease.

I may have heard of others, and if I were to reflect a little perhaps I might think of
them.

Question. You give it, then, as your testimony that, according to the best of your
information, there have been no offenses within the last two years committed in Ala
bama at night by men in disguise and in bands I

,

Answer. Oh ! no
;
I do not give that testimony.

Question. What is your testimony, then
;
that there have been suchoffenses committed

within the last two years?
J.s&amp;gt;&amp;lt;vr. Yes, sir;- that offenses have been committed at night within the last two

y-ars.
Question. By men in disguised bands ?

Answer. I do not know about that; I have understood that they were. I believe

that those bands were got up for temporary purposes ;
but I state my belief that, so

far as th is Ku-Klux organization is concerned, it has been disbanded over two years
Question. The Kti-Klnx organization having pursued its operations in this way, a

night and in disguise, you say there have been offenses committed within the last two*

years by men in disguise at night and in organized bauds. I want you to give your
reasons for believing that the Ku-Klux, as such, have been disbanded.
Answer. I can give no other reason, except the very same reason which I gave for its

exist enee ; general information, and the fact that they have never been seen in anything
like organized bands.

QHtxtioii. What was your information as to the difference between the purposes o

these organized bands during their existence and the purposes of those combination^
that have committed these offenses within the last two years; what is the distinguish
ing difference between them f

J/wvr. 1 will give you what I conceive to bo the difference. The origin, as it is

generally understood, the prime moving cause of the existence of the Ku-Klux, was
the result of Union Leagues. Union Leagues were organized in cverylittle village and
hamlet and town throughout North Alabama, composed principally of colored inen x

with a sprinkling of whites. Those Union Leagues were supposed I am speaking no\&amp;lt;

trom general information upon this subject as upon the other these Union
I Ognefl were supposed to have not only a political object, but to a certain extent an.
(I .iject oiCrime; that, they were banded together lor the, purpose of committing depre
dation^ upon the whites. 1 say that was the impression; I do not say that it was the
hiet. because 1 was never iu one. During the process of reconstruction there were no

ta in the state of Alabama, either competent or active in the administration of the
iii\\s. Everything to a certain extent waschaotic. every man and every part of society
were

entirely
at sea. And this band of Ku-Klux was said to have been organized to

counteract the ohjcets and acts of the Union Leagues, and to punish crime where the
failed to administer justice. 1 am sp-aking now of what was the general impres

sion of the country at that time. As soon as the reconstruction measures became ope
rative, and the govenuueiU was organized under those measures, and the courts of



ALABAMA. 171

justice were reopened, that organization was disbanded, or certainly it cea.sed to exist,
s:&amp;gt; far as the general information of the country went. Unfortunately, under the re

construction measures in Alabama, we had placed in power a great many incompetent
officers, men who were not capable of discharging the functions either of judge or

prosecuting attorney; men who were totally unlit either by their moral or their mental
character to administer the laws. I am speaking now what my experience as a lawyer
bids me to speak. The old system of prosecuting attorneys was abolished; that is,

what we called the district system, where a prosecuting attorney had a jurisdiction,
if I may use that expression, of five or six counties, or rather coextensive with a judi
cial circuit ; that office of prosecuting attorney was abolished, and in its stead was
established a multiplicity of solicitorships, one for every county ;

thus reducing the

dignity of the office and the emoluments of the office to such an extent as to forbid
the possibility of obtaining talented men to lill them. A few boys, who had just come
to the bar. striplings who had no experience, and who, perhaps, had never read a law
book through, were the only ones who ran for such offices, and rilled them. They
were not only incompetent, but were living in the very midst of the iniluences they
ought to have put down. They thus became timid in the administration of the laws;
they were too young and timid. Fortunately that is now somewhat passing away ;

they are getting more experience, and to a certain extent are becoming more capable
of discharging their duties, and are now bringing men to justice that otherwise escaped
formerly, partly from ignorance and partly from indisposition on the part of the prose
cuting officers. When that unfortunate condition of affairs passed away, it was gen
erally understood that the Ku-Klux organization had disbanded; ami 1 repeat that I

am satisfied that for two years past, since the presidential election which elected
General Grant, there has been no such thing as airy organized bands of depredators or
of Ku-Klux in ihe State of Alabama. I think that I am in a position to gain general
information on that subject. I repeat, however that small organized bodies of mefl
have perpetrated crimes, but not pursuant to an^ rules or laws of an organization, but
simply to cover up their villanies.

Question. That is the answer you make to the inquiry I put ?

Annicer. Yes, sir.

Qttcxtion. I do not wish to interrupt you if you are not through. Is that the full

answer you desire to make ?

Ansii (i . That is all I desire to say now that is pertinent.
Qm-ntlon. 1 do not wish to interrupt you unless you are through.
Answer. I believe I am through.
QiiCHtiun. I desire to follow that by this inquiry ;

I will, however, premise with an
other inquiry. 1 understand you to say that the l

T

nion Leagues were first established
there as a political organization ;

and that, as you understood it and as you believe it

wus understood by others, some arrangements were made for committing depredations
upon the while population f

Answer. That was the impression of the country.
Question, And that the Ku-Klux organization followed it for the purpose of counter

acting its political operations, and also to counteract its depredations by violence
also ?

Answer. No
;
I have never understood that the Ku-Klux organization had any politi

cal significance whatever.

Question. Did I understand you correctly, then, if I understand you to say that it

was organised in opposition to the LTniou Leagues for both purposes, or was it only for

the purpose of counteracting violence ?

Answer. To counteract violence, and to administer that justice which the laws failed

to administer. I will not say administering justice, but to punish crimes which the
laws failed to punish.

Question. Whether intended or not, did it follow that persons who entered that Ku-
Klux organization were opposed to the republican party that they were of the demo
cratic party ?

Answer. 1 could only give my impression.
Question. What is that?
Amwer. In my section of the country the whites are nearly all democrats.

Question. Then, whether intended as a political organization, or not, did it result as a
matter of fact that those who composed it were of the democratic party ?

Answer. 1 could not answer that, from the simple fact that I do not know one man
who belonged to it.

(l&amp;gt;icf&amp;lt;i;on.
So far as your information goes, did you ever hear anybody charged with

belonging to it who was not: of that political organization ?

A twicer. I do not know that I have.

Qne*Hon. These questions have been preliminary to the one which I deem of the
most importance. That question is, let these offenses, committed by these disguised
bar.ds. have been committed for a political purpose or not, have the depredators been

brought to justice and punished, as a rule, or have the laws failed to reach them, be-
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cause of tin- ditt ii-iilty of identifying the offenders or proving the offenses against

I//.SHVT. I do not think that I know of any yes. I think there were some in Lau-

derdale County, perhaps, who were discovered and prosecuted; that is my present

ivcollection, but that is the only instance I have known of any discovery of the Ku-

Klux, with tin- exception of the four disguised negro men who whipped one of their

own race. That was itbout two years ago ;
and I will say in connection with that,

that there were some disguised men who took out the negroes who had been disguised,

and whipped them for whipping the negro. As I stated before, those disguised ne-

UToes were dismissed at my earnest solicitation, because of their ignorance of the laws

ot Alabama and of the heavy penalties attached to Ku-Kluxism.

(jHfxtitni. Then that ease and the case in Lauderdale County are the only ones

which yon remember of disguised men having been brought into court and prosecuted
for their olVenses .

JW.SMVT. I think so; that is my recollection. I will state, in this connection, (it

may be sued for a penalty ranging from $1,000 to $5,000 ;
and it is the duty of the pros-

&amp;lt;_&amp;lt; nting attorney of the comity to institute suit for and in behalf of the victim or the

relatives of the family. I think that in Lauderdale County several suits, or one or two

suits, have been instituted for the purpose of recovering the penalty ;
in one instance

for whipping a man by the name of Rogers, and in that case I think he himself is the

witness.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. What is the fact as to whether these kinds of suits are or are not brought
in other parts of the State ?

Answer. They are; it is the duty of the solicitor to bring them.

Question. Do you know of any case of the kind?
Answer. I cannot specify, but I know it is generally understood that the solicitor

will do so.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Has there been any recovery, that you are aware of, against any county
under that law ?

Anxurr. Not yet; I do not know of any recovery. There was a case carried to the

supreme court of Alabama the other day, under which there had been a recovery in

the court below, but the supreme court decided against the recovery.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. On a question of law ?

Answer. It turned out that the parties were not disguised, but they were hid behind
some bushes. The county, however, was at iirst successful in the suit

;
the penalty

was inflicted upon the county in the court below, but in the supreme court it was re
versed. That is the only case that I know which has come to a termination.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. You have no knowledge of any case in which there has been any recovery
against the county?

Answer. I do not, unless it is that one. That case was from the city of Mobile, I be
lieve; I will not speak positively on that point.

Question. Have you any recollection of a case occurring in Lawrence County in 1869,
in which a man of the name of Sapp was hanged ?

Answer. No, sir; the name is unfamiliar to me. If I were to hear anything about
the circumstances I miht recall it.

observation
Lawrence County

prisoners who were
rescued. Von have no recollection of that case?

1 have: not.

. Have y.n any recollection of a case in which a man named Collins was ar-
reMed and imprisoned, and then escaped?

.In^ii-i r. Ves, sir
;

I recollect that.

Question. How recent was that case?
Anwcr. How long since?

Question. Yes.

JH.SHVT. It was some twelve months ago. I think Collins settled in my county, tl.e

county ot &amp;lt; lolberl : engaged in planting, and engaged in politics. Where he came from
I do not know: lie was a stranger to us

;
he came from some Northern State. He

Jailed at planting, however, and got into the courts, which enabled me to become

jm-xtion. 1 am endeavoring to recall cases which have fallen under my
in muling. My recollection of the case is that Sapp was hanged in Lawr
in l^tiJ, and that an ofiicer named Garrett arrested a number of risoner
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pretty well acquainted with his history. He was elected one of the board of education
ibr that congressional district, the district represented now by Major Sloss. Before

that, however, or about that time, he was insulted by a man of the name of Keruahau,
at the hotel table in the town of Tuscumbia. They got into an altercation, and the
result was that Collins killed Kernahan. Kernahan vras a native of Alabama, I be

lieve; a drinking man, and exceedingly offensive. Collins and he in the altercation,
however, both tired at the same time, and Collins killed him, at the hotel table. Col
lins was tried, prosecuted with a great deal of zeal on the part of the family of Kerna
han, which was a wealthy family, but the jury acquitted Collins.

By Mr. VAX THUMP :

Question. Was it a mixed jury?
Answer. No, sir; it was not a mixed jury. A jury of the best citizens of that country

acquitted Collins. And I must confess that there is perhaps no instance that would be
more illustrative of the fairness of an Alabama jury than that case, because there was
no man in that section of the country, drinking man though he was, who had a higher
character for generous impulses than Keruahau. He was beloved through all that

region of country. Collins was a man who was, I may say, most odious, so far as his

political movements with the colored race were concerned. He was chief in the

organization of Union Leagueism ;
he was a speaker on every stump, to colored men,

where politics was concerned. Yet that man was triumphantly acquitted by the jury,
without live minutes consideration. A year or more elapsed, when there was a contest
for Congress. Haughey, who was a representative in the Fortieth Congress, I believe,
was a candidate and very obnoxious to Collins, who espoused the cause of Hinds. In
the town of Courtlaud, Collins and Haughey got into an altercation and Haughey was
killed.

By Mr. BLAIK:

Question. Haughey was a republican, was he not ?

Answer. Yes, sir.
*

Haughey was killed by Collins, who was arrested, brought before
n court of inquiry, and committed to stand his trial in the circuit court. During the
time of his imprisonment he was taken out of jail, it was-said, I Itslieve, by some dis

guised men.

By Mr. VAX TRUMP :

Question. Can you state right there- whether Haughey was a favorite among the

negroes, or not, as a republican candidate&quot;?

Answer. Haughey was most decidedly the favorite candidate with the negroes.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. That is your recollection of that case ?

Answer. Yes, sir. Collins escaped, and it is said that he has gone to New Mexico,
with his father-in-law, General Smith, who was appointed revenue collector or revenue
assessor in New Mexico.

By Mr. VAX TRUMP :

Question. Was he bailed out?
Answer. No, sir

;
he escaped. He was committed for murder in the first degree, which

is not bailable. There are various impressions in regard to his guilt; I have my own
impression.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. I understand you to say that he was taken out of jail by disguised men.
Do you mean rescued by them ?

Answer. Yes, sir. My law partner, Major Sloss, was his attorney, and received letters

from him after he escaped and went out of the country. There is no question about it

that he was taken out by his friends.

By the CHAIRMAN:

Question. Out of the jail?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Is it your impression that they were disguised when they took him out, or
met him after they got him out ?

Answer. I am not positive. The reason why I think they were disguised is that it

was reported all over the country that the Ku-Klux had taken Collins out and hung
him.

By Mr. VAN TPXUMP :

Question. He has been heard of since ?

Answer. My law partner was his attorney ;
we have dissolved partnership now; but

Major Sloss told me that he had received communications from Collins, and everybody
knows that he is with his father-iu-law in New Mexico.
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r,y th&amp;lt;&amp;gt; CHAIRMAN:

Option. Statements have been made, and I want to inquire of your knowledge of

their truth. &amp;lt;&amp;gt;f railroad trains having been stopped by men in disguise, taken control

of and run from one point to another, while they inflicted whippings upon some

aeoroes in your State. State if you have any information upon that subject.

Jj/Mor. l have never received any official information upon that subject. I have

h.-ard of it. and upon hearing of it I attempted to institute an investigation; but diffi

culties with ivgard to Hie railroad, the stoppage of the trains, has prevented me from

accomplishing my object. 1 suppose you allude to the occurrence upon the Alabama
and Chattanooga Eailroad, at some iron-works at Attala.

(Imxtimi. I do not wisli to allude, to any case in particular. Statements have been

made u-enerallv. and 1 wish your general information upon the subject.

Answer. That is the only case I know of, the one on the Alabama and Chattanooga
L ailroad. My information was general, that a railroad train, or an engine, was fired

up and carried down from a station on the Alabama and Chattanooga Railroad, by a

party, to a little town called Attala, and there they whipped some negroes. But I un-

derMood that it was by some employes of the road who had taken offense at some

negroes who had been working with them. 9
Qu&lion. How long ago was that?

Anxicer. It was within the last five or six weeks, I think; but am not positive

about it.

Question. Did you institute any investigation as to that ?

JHKHVT. I gave orders to have it investigated, but the railroad has gone into

bankruptcy, and the trains have stopped^ and there was no easy way of getting at the

facts.

Question. Was it your information that a teacher of a colored school was whipped at

that time?
Answer. No, sir; I did not hear that.

Question. Was it your information that the whipping was confined to the negroes
working on, the road?
Amwer. That is my recollection, and the only recollection I have on the matter. No

body communicated the facts to me at all. It has often been my request to citizens to

correspond with me, and advise me with regard to these matters. But I have received
no communication upon that subject from Mr. Stanton, or from any other party con
nected with the road. My understanding was that it was an outrage committed by
one part of the employes of the road upon another part of them.

Qiu-xtion. Have yon information of a case occurring in Do Kalb County, in which a
man named Henry Smith was hanged at Hickory Bark ?

J.s-&amp;lt;r. 1 have not; this is the first time I have heard of it.

&amp;lt;jiK*ti&amp;lt;ni. Allegations have been made before the committee that in certain portions
of the State of Alabama, republicans were not at liberty to freely express their political
sentiments without danger of personal violence

;
that has been said with regard to

Greene County, Marengo County, and other counties. If you have any knowledge of
the public sentiment there, as bearing upon that question, please give it to the com
mittee.

Answer. I am entirely ignorant, personally, of it. I have never been in Greene
County but once, and that was during the war

;
I have not been there since. I have

spoken freely with leading citizens of Greene County, and they all seem to think that
t lie disposit ion of the people is not only peaceable, but exceedingly tolerant. I believe
that any man can go into the county of Greene and express his political sentiments1

.

Judging from my experience in the late canvass in other counties, and my knowledge
of the people generally, I would say that, as a general tiling, there would be no diffi

culty encountered by any man of auy political party expressing his sentiments.
Qm-xliou. You canvassed the State at the last election *

J)/*i(vr. I canvassed some thirty or forty counties of the State.

Question. Were you interfered with or interrupted at auy of your meetings by any
person ?

JjjM&amp;lt;vr. No, sir, not at all. *

&amp;lt;,&amp;gt;&amp;lt;n-xtimi.
No obstacle was presented to the free expression of your sentiments?

.n/Mor. 1 would have to take a general view of the feelings of the people of the State
of Alabama I think that I know, if any man has a right to know, the peculiar char-
aci . 1 1st ics of t he people of Alabama, My political career has been a long and peculiar
one in Alabama. 1 am not a native of the South, nor am I a native of the United
States.

By Mr. VAX THUMP:
.

&amp;lt;
&amp;lt; *//&amp;lt;;. What is your nativity ?

.!//&quot;, r . I am a native of Scotland, and went into the State of Alabama in 1849. In
I-&quot;.: . 1 was elected to the legislat are of Alabama, after a short residence thereof four
years. 1 went to Alabama from the good old State of North Carolina. Senator Pool
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commenced his manhood with me, in his old county. I went from a good old whig
county into a democratic one. In four years I was elected.by one of the largest major
ities given to any one. I was a foreigner ;

I was a stranger. Again, in 1857, I was
elected to the State senate. I mention these things in order to come to the point. la
1^60 I was an elector on the democratic ticket. After the Charleston convention I re

signed my electorship, and, in my letter of resignation in the public prints, declared
tliat I could have no affiliation with any party that aimed at the dissolution of the
Union. I was then placed upon the Douglas ticket as an ejector; I canvassed the

State, at least the northern part of the State. I met Mr. Yancey, and denounced seces

sion. The feeling then was ten times warmer than it has been at any time since the
war. But I never received an insult, because the people are a generous people ;

I have
a right to say so. I opposed secession on every hill and in every valley in North Ala
bama. In May, 1861, 1 came out in the same paper that published a speech delivered

on the occasion of the presentation of the first flag to the first company that went to

Fort Morgan; and in a parallel column with the speech upon the occasion of the de

livery of that flag appeared my letter, stating that I had opposed secession : that I

had not changed my mind, and that I did not think, from the action of the confederate

congress, there was any good reason why I should change it. Yet I was tolerated, -and

no man ever attempted to insult me, or thought of insulting me. I mention this to

show the freedom of -opinion permitted and recognized in Alabama. I say what took

place in 18(51 is as prevalent to-day in Alabama. There is no man, I care not how ob
noxious he may be in the political history of the country, if he will go into the State
of Alabama and express his opinions, not attempt to arouse ill-feeling between the

races, but can express his opinions anywhere he pleases. But, as a matter of self-pro

tection, the, people of Alabama require that tlujre shall be peace and harmony audcyu-
cord existing between the two raees

;
that is all we want. In that connection I will

say that I know of no feeling in Alabama against the colored race or against republi

cans, more than existed in olden times between whigs and democrats. In olden times
I have met with more opposition and more insulting flings than republicans to-day

get in Alabama. In old election canvasses, when men got on their sprees, they would

say,
&quot; You know you lie

;
&quot;That is a lie.&quot; That was a common thing back in the

hills and mountains in the olden times. But we knew how to take that
; perhaps the fel

low who did it would turn around and vote for us4he next day ;
I have known them

to do it. The same thing, to a certain extent, in- the State of Alabama prevails now,
and always will prevail in this country. But as for opposition to a man merely because

khe is a republican there may be instances
;

I do not mean to say that there are

not.

Question. In the case where a public meeting is composed largely of the negroes them
selves, do you gi\e it f.s your belief and opinion that there is no disposition to inter

fere with the free expression of opinion in instructing the negroes as to wrhat their

civil and political rights are in the new relations which they now sustain ?

Answer. I say there may be an isolated case; but as a general thing there is not.

By Mr. VAX TRUMP :

Question. Are you aware of any such isolated cases or not? if so, you can state them.
Do they not frequently occur in the North V

Answer. I never lived in the North, but I take it for granted they occur everywhere
under a republican government. I will say here, in this connection, that the feelings
of the people of the State of Alabama are advancing. You are aware, as well as I am,
that the reconstruction measures were not by any means acceptable to the people of the

South
;
that is too patent a fact to be controverted. But that has passed away, and

we are beginning to recognize not only the fact of right and the practical workings of

the right, but the democrats are beginning to electioneer with the colored men just
like old times, and we are trying to get all the votes we can down there.

By the CHAIRMAN:

Question. Do you believe that the whippings of the negroes, of which you have heard,
had anything to do with the effort to nullify the reconstruction laws in Alabama, and
to deter them from the exercise of their political rights?

Aitxu-er. I put it upon record, without any hesitancy whatever, that I do not believe

there has been a man whipped in the State of Alabama, during the last two or three

years, if ever, certainly not in the last two or three years, on account of his political

principles; not a man, black or white.

Question. Or with the purpose of deterring the negro from the exercise of hi: political

rights ?

Answer. Or with that purpose ; personally I know nothing of that sort. In my
county we have nine hundred negro voters, and they are divided into parties just as

the whites are.

Question. I desired to call your attention to these points for the purpose of obtaining
your views upon them. It has been alleged that in many instances republican officers
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in the sani&quot; port ion of the State to which I have referred have been threatened, and

compelled to resign their oflu/es for fear of encountering this personal violence. Give
to tl- committee your knowledge ami belief upon that allegation.

dnswsr. Smee 1 have been in (be government of Alabama, there have been one or two
instances in which jinnies themselves communicated that fact to me. One of them
\\as a Mr. Blaektbrd. of the county of Hale. Ho said that he was compelled to resign
from fear of bodily consequence.

By Mr. POLAND :

What office?

Judge of probate.

By Mr. BLAIU:

()tn N i&amp;lt;i. lu what part of the State is Hale County?
Answer. \\ was a part of Greene County. Mr. Blackford came to me at Montgomery,

:nid in (-on\ ersation said that he felt that his personal safety required that he should

resign. I replied to him that I would not accept his resignation for that reason
;
that

1 did not think he was in danger; and that I would not be a party to encourage the

resignation of any officer on account of such apprehensions, or on account of threats.

J !&amp;lt; returned. I heard no more of him for two or three weeks, when he came to Mont
gomery in company with a gentleman from that county, tendered his resignation, and
a? the same time presented a letter recommending a party to succeed him. I accepted
his resignation, with the belief that he had entered into an agreement with his suc

cessor, a man of very good standing, a democrat, but of moderate views. About the
time I aeeepted his resignation, another party came up and pressed upon me to give
tb appointment to him.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. The same man he had recommended?
Js?nr. Xo. sir ; his own appointment; recommended by the leading citizens of Hale

County ot both parties. Upon inquiry, I discovered that the appointment of either of
them would not restore harmony to the people, and I therefore refused to appoint either
of them, and selected and appointed another man; I tendered the office to him

;
he did

not know I was going to appoint him. Heistheson of Judge Pearson, of North Carolina ;

1 tendered the appointment to him; he was not aware of it until I sent it to him. I

gave offense to the other parties, but I received the approbation of the best citizens of
t he county for my selection. He was a man who perhaps did not participate in politics
at all. 1 apppoiuted him because it was a republican county ;

and although I appointed
a democrat, I wanted one as nearly acceptable to all parties as I could get. That is one
case. I will say, however, that nobody ever hurt Blackford. He kept his fine race

horses, his line stud, and did everything in the world any citizen could do, and no one
ever hurt a hair of his head.

By the CHAIRMAN:

Question, Was there not a communication in the papers that a party had written to
him requesting him to resign ?

.Inxiru: Yes. sir; I heard it from him; all I know about the matter I obtained from
Mr. Blackford himself.

How many other counties were there in which officers tendered their resig
nations to you ?

.lumen: Well, sir. a gentleman came up from Choctaw County a few weeks ago with
t he resignat ion of t he judge of probate ;

in tendering that resignation, of which he was
the bearer, he solicited the appointment for himself, and I gave it to him.

&amp;lt;

t

&amp;gt;m-xtnm. Had the officer who resigned been threatened ?

.liiHirrr. That is what I understood
;
but it is only hearsay.

(JiicHtiini. Are those the only instances of which you have heard the instances from
Hale County and Choctaw County f

.luxirn: I think there was a public meeting held in Sumter County, requesting
Luther Smith, who is a citizen of Choctaw County, to resign.

(Jut-Hl tim. He is the judge of the circuit f

^

Anxu-tr. Yes, sir.

I .y Mr. VAN Tur.Mi-:

This county of Greene is also in his circuit ?
-. Yes, sir ; there, have been some resignations, but they are few.

Question. \\ hat. is Judge Smith s standing there as a lawer?.

Really I do not know his standing ;
I never saw him but once

;
he seems to

be a man ol energy.
ijHi-Htinu. Was there any other reason given for his resignation than the fact of his

party relations /

I do not really krow what the cause of it was; I really do not know; I
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could not speak with any accuracy at all upon that subject. I will say that I know
nothing at all against his personal character

;
Inever heard It allegedthat hewas guilty

of any crime.

Question. Or that he was incompetent ?

Ansuw. I do not know whether I have heard about his iacompetency or not.

(Question. Were you thrown in contact with him in the circuit ?

Answer. No, sir. I will say that I think I have heard, perhaps, that he was incom
petent, or something like that. I paid very little attention to it, because the question
oi competency is a matter of opinion among men.

Question. In how many counties have you been called
u;&amp;lt;on

to render protection
against outrages and violence ?

Answer. I think I was called upon from the county of Coosa.

Question. Please name the counties, and afterward give the. details in regard to each

county. Was there any call from Hale County T

Answer. Well, no, sir
;
there was no direct call. There never was a direct call at all

upon me but once, and that was from Coosa County. Blackiord wrote me one or two
letters stating the condition of things in Hale County, and I think the sheriff of Hale
vvi ote to me.

Question. Have you taken any steps, or are you about to take any, for the organiza
tion of State militia for protection f

.Answer. Yes, sir
;
I issued a circular to Greene County, asking them to organize a

company, subject to my orders, to aid the civil authorities. I also addressed a circular
to Jackson County, asking them to organize a company. The laws with regard to the
militia v^ere very imperfect. There is a provision made for volunteer militia, a provi
sion as lengthy as those for the armies of the United States. It was impracticable to or

ganize the entire militia of the State. 1 received replies from the different counties,
stating that they did not think there was any necessity for the organization of the uii-

iitia; that the public sentiment against lawlessness was becoming so strong that they
thought in a short time it would be entirely overcome.

Question. What have been the facts laid before you, or of which you have informa

tion, which induced you to take the initiatory steps for organizing the militia in those
counties ?

Answer. Blackford s letter and a communication from the solicitor in regard to the-

killing of Cates, in Jackson County. I never had any necessity presented to me with
regard to any other county in the State, from any party, to organize any body of men

&quot;to aid them.

Question. Were the facts such as to induce you to suppose that such a step was ad
visable ?

Answer. I thought that an organization of the leading citizens of the respective
counties would have a tendency to overawe those who were disposed to lawlessness. I

was exceedingly anxious to signalize my administration by the overthrow of crime
and lawlessness everywhere through the State. I thouglijb if I could get such an or

ganization as I speak of it would have a good influence.

By Mr. VAX TRUMP :

Question. In those counties .

Answer. Yes, sir.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Did a judicial officer resign in Perry County ?

Answer. Yes, sir. He sold out, I presume.
Question. He resigned.
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Was any cause given for it ?

Answer. None at all, but the $5,000 which his successor gave him. He came up with
a Mr. Howe to my office, and tendered his resignation.

Question. Is that a case to which you have already referred*?

Answer. No, sir
;
I have not referred to that case. Mr. Howe succeeded him, and no

cause whatever was assigned for it
;
nor have I heard of any except that one. I do not

know that he got $5,000, but subsequent to the appointment I heard that Mr. Howe
paid him $5,000 for the office. It is a very profitable office, worth 10,000. a year.

Question. Did you know of any threats against those officers who handed in their

resignations ?

Answer. The probate judge of Perry stated none. Mr. Blackford in his letter says
that the good citizens of his county always treated him well, and that he thought that
a party who desired the office was the cause of the offenses to which he was subjected.
The party that he charged was one of the applicants for the office

;
I withheld the ap

pointment for a week or ten days, and then learned that that charge was entirely
groundless ;

that the party he had charged with the offense was a high-toned Christian,

gentleman, entirely free from suspicion of a disposition to injure any man. Inasmuch,

12
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however, as the charge was so made, I refused to give him the appointment, although
he was the one turned out under the reconstruction acts.

Question. Have you any information of threats used against the officers of Choctaw

County, cither auainst the sheriff or the probate judge ?

J/I.SNV/-. Yes. sir: 1 have understood that they had been threatened only from them,
howev&amp;lt; i .

Ont-KtiuH. Were they threatened on account of their political opinions ?

Amsinr. I do not know anything about it further than what they told me.

ion. Was that the information you had ?

. a: From them.ye.s, sir.

nitwHon. Was there any attempt made against the judge ol the seventh judicial cir-

one of the circuit judges of the State ?

Jwxinr. Who is the judge of that circuit?

;&amp;lt;&amp;gt;n. What is the number of Judge Smith s circuit?

Aitxmr. I do not myself remember ; they have been so recently made.

Qtettio*, In connection with that subject, was complaint made to you in any in-

Btance, or had you information which led you to believe that there was any attempt
made to prevent holding the court?

An nicer. None.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP:
f luxtion. Right there we may as well know how long the governor has been in office.

How long have you been governor of the State of Alabama ?

Answer, Six mouths
;
I went into office the latter part of November.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. &quot;When the probate judge of Choctaw County resigned, do you remember
what reason he gave ?

J//SUTT. He did not give any reason
; simply sent in his resignation through Judge

Houston, whom I appointed. I did not wait a moment, but appointed him, although
I had a communication asking that the appointment should not be made until other

applications could be made.

Question. Was it not Judge Glover?
J/iwcr. Yes, sir; it was.

Queiition. It was he who brought the resignation ?

Answer. Yes, sir; I was thinking of another judge.
Question. Did he give any reason for the resignation ?

iuwcr. No, sir
;
not that I recollect.

Question. Was any step ever taken, either before your term or since, to investigate
the murder of Mr. Boyd, the solicitor of Greene County ?

Answer. I know very little about that case
;
in fact, nothing but hearsay.

Question. That occurred before the commencement of your term ?

-Inxircr. Yes, sir
;
some time before

;
I was at home when I heard of the murder.

QtiMtion. How far do you reside from Greene County, where that murder was com- .

mittedf
Answer. About one hundred and fifty miles.

Question. Was any political motive attributed for that murder ?

Antnoer. The only thing I overheard about it, that I now remember, was that he was
prosecuting some parties, and they thought the parties prosecuted were implicated in

%

the murder.

Question. Was not that murder, according to your information, committed by men in
*

disguise in the night ? *

Anawer. Really I do not remember any particulars about it.

Qucxlion. Do you remember reading the accounts of it ?

-&amp;gt;rcr. 1 suppose I read the accounts of it, but I do not remember the particulars.
Quntion. The account given was that some 75 or 80 men in disguise, or a large num

ber of tin-Hi, rode into a large town during the session of the court and murdered a
:i the hotel. How do you distinguish that case from offenses committed by the -

Kn-Klnx, before the time when you say they disbanded ?

Answer. I do not know. I think a special case may bo distinguished from an organi-
. : I. j. .1 11 i / ii /* . j i ^_- .

bt from my information, that such has been the case. But when I say that, I am
lied from my information, and I believe that, within the last two or two and a

Jjalf years, or since the presidential election, there have been no crimes committed by
Mccrtcd action I will not say preconcerted but by a permanently organized

. Now, having taken you over the ground indicated by previous examina
tions here, as far as I can. and our object being to ascertain all the information with
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regard to your State in Delation to the execution of the laws and the safety of life aiid

property, if there are any other facts bearing upon that subject which you have not
stated, give them fully to the committee.
Anwcr. In justice somewhat to myself, I would say that, in regard to particular in

stances, unless they have occurred during my administration, I am not able to speak
with any accuracy, for my information of them was obtained through the medium of

lloatin.tr rumors and newspaper accounts
;
accounts sometimes in one newspaper, some

times in another, of different political complexion.; and my mind was not riveted to
them as it has been since I have been in office. I can only speak with regard to the

p lieral character and condition of the country.

By Mr. BLAIK :

Question. Your residence is in Tuscumbia ?

Ansircr. Yes, sir.

QucHtwn. There was a colored man by the name of George Taylor, said to have been
whipped in your town in Hf&amp;gt;9. Did you ever hoar of such a person ?

Ansiccr. Never heard of his name, nor of his being whipped; it may have occurred,
but I do not recollect it.

Question. And, about the same time, it was reported that three colored men were
hung froui a bridge at Tnscumbia, a leading colored man of the name of Johnson said
to have been one of them. Do you recollect the circumstances of these men having
been hung IVom the bridge?

Anxicer. Yes. sir. I have no personal knowledge of the fact, but I have no doubt of
t i.e three men having been hung.

Question. For what often se ?

.Inwer. I was not in Tuscumbia at the time
;

I had my family at the springs in tho
mountains.

Question. &quot;What was the offense charged against them ?

An-wer. They were, Inn:.&quot;.;, us alleged in fact, I am not only satisfied, bat may say
that I know that they were hung for burning the female academy of the town of Tus-
cumbia. They were considered to be the leaders of the conspiracy. Five others were
prosecuted under indictments for arson, for the same burning. 1 was tho volunteer

attorney, with one of the oldest attorneys of the, State of Alabama, to defend the live.

One of them was the husband of a negro girl that belonged to me while shivery existed,
a girl whom I raised. They were convicted, and sentenced to tho penitentiary for live
r seven years I forgot now which. We took an appeal to tho supreme court

irom the ruling of the judge, and the supreme court decided the appeal well taken.
Their sentence was suspended in tho interim. Before the appeal was decided
in the supreme court they escaped, and the news was circulated all over the country
among the colored people that those live had been taken out of jail and hung. That,
however, was not the fact

; they escaped, by the aid of some of their own race, and got
into the States of Tennessee and Kentucky. I speak now of what I know, because
the wife of one of them was my cook

;
she received a letter from her husband, which

I read to her
;
and she went on to the State of Kentucky, where she now is, and cor

responds now with my little girls. She is a yellow girl, and a very faithful servant.

They all escaped, and tho general sentiment of the community was that it was a Very
good thing that they did escape, the three leaders having been punished. I Avill state
further that those negroes were the body and life of a Union League in the town of
Tnscumbia. I had the whole confessions of the defendants. By some chance they
received advice from a negro man from Memphis to use the torch

;
that they were at

Avar with the white race, and they should use the torch upon them. That was over
heard in the town of Tuscnmbia. This negro man from Memphis was a porter upon
the sleeping-car of the Memphis and Charleston Railroad. They met together upon
the night of the burning, divided themselves into squads, three for an advance guard,
three to carry the coal-oil and matches, and the balance to remain behind while the

building was set on tire. They first agreed that they would set fire to the whole town
;

but this colored man suggested that this one was a good man, and another suggested
that that one was a good man, and they finally burned only the female asylum. These
three negroes were taken out by disguised men and hung on the public bridge at

Tuscumbia, so I was informed. It was considered, however, by the community as a
great violation of law

; notwithstanding their crime \vas great, still the best part of
the community was very denunciatory of the proceedings.

Question. Was the academy occupied at the time ?

Answer. It had just been repainted and re-covered. This was on a Thursday evening,
and, I think, the school was to be reopened on the Monday following.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. Was it a mere local village school or an academy?
Answer. An academy.
Question. Was it a valuable building?
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Answer. Yes, sir, as valuable as most any in our county. It was the only one we had,

and we have had none since. It was burned, I think, in 1868.

By Mr. BI.AIK:

Question. Do you know a Methodist preacher who has been living in HuutsviUe for

some time
l&amp;gt;y

the name of Lakin?
J//MOT. 1 only knew him by reputation.
om-xtioH. Wh*t is his reputation?

lie is a very .xhivwd, sagacious, cunning mail, a man of strong mind and
.

. What is liis reputation as to veracity ?

J nxin r. 1 cannot speak with regard to his veracity, except from general information
;

I know nothing about him myself. As for his veracity, I can only judge from what
1 have heard about his romancing and wonderful tales of one thing and another. I

know nothing about the person at all. If I were called in a court of justice and were
asked if I knew his character for veracity and truth in the neighborhod where he

lives-
(,
Mfw/ioM. You say he has a repution for romancing r

Anxirtr. Yes, sir ;
I do not know exactly how to designate it. It is ray understand

ing of the man that he looks at everything through a jaundiced eye, with a magnify
ing rye; small events that would not be noticed by other men his imagination and

fancy work into terrorism.

QttMtioft. Is he an enthusiast in his character as to religion ?

A nsn-o: That has been his reputation. I knew his reputation long before I saw the
man. He is considered to be a zealot in his cause, the establishment of the Northern
Church in the South. He and others came down there to work upon the colored popu
lation in order to get them to abandon their connection with the Methodist church
conference South, and unite themselves with the Methodist conference North, assign

ing a variety of reasons why they should do so. I have been an eye-witness in our
town to the fends and disturbances that have arisen from these efforts. There are two
churches there, and there is a very bitter feeling existing between the two sections of
the church the Northern Church and the Southern Church.

By the CHAIRMAN:

Question. Both colored?
Anxirer. Yes, sir. There are distinct colored churches there. The colored people

since their emancipation are all forming themselves into separate and distinct colored

congregations ;
before that, while slavery existed, they attended the churches of their

masters.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. Do the colored people some of them belong to the Methodist Church South,
and some of them belong to the Methodist Church North, and do they have separate
congregations ?

Answer. They have separate congregations.
Question. And you say there is a great deal of bitterness of feeling between the two

churches ?

^
Answer. Yes, sir; so much so that it has taken a political turn. In my county the

Northern Church belongs to the republican party, and the Southern Church to the
democratic party. There were one hundred and twenty-five voters in my precinct who
belonged to the Northern Church.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. Yon say there is a great bitterness of feeling between these two churches
North and South

;
it is mutual, is it ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Quorum. If anybody should say that that bitterness of feeling was all upon the
democratic side and none on the other, that would not bo the truth ?

.liixict-r. No, sir. The fact is that in our town it is about equal. They have separate
public meetings to get up subscriptions to advance their interests; they have two

ite churches; the Northern church is within one hundred and fifty yards of my
nee. and one of our oldest colored men is the minister of it

;
I think it was this

man Lakin who converted him.

J .v Mr. BLAIR:

Qncxtion. Do any of Hie white people in that region of country belong to this North
ern division of the church?

:
1nx&amp;gt;nr. None in my immediate section. I understood that on the line between

Winston and Walker, or Winston and Blount Counties, there were some two or three
churches composed principally of whites whc, through Lakin, had associated them
selves with the Northern conference. When I was in the canvass Lakin preceded me
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a few days through a part of the mountain region of North Alabama. But I have
understood that those churches have abandoned their connection with the Northern
conference

;
\vhether it is so or not I do not know

;
I have heard that they are what

they call biokeii up.

Question. Have you ever heard of the destruction of any of those churches, the burn

ing of any churches and school-houses of colored people, belonging to this Northern
conference?

Ansicer. I do not know that I have
;
I cannot specify the burning of any church 011

cither side; there may have- been instances of that kind, and I may have heard of

them, but I cannot locate them now.

Question. A person by the name of James Dorman has been spoken of here, Avho was

whipped and run off in Wetumpku. Is that probably the same man to whom you
have referred ?

Answer. That is the same man.

Question. You called him Isaac Dorniau ?

Annicer. That is what I called him.

Question. There could not have been two instances of that kind, of persons of the

sune name .

Answer. No, sir; this is the same one Isaac W. Dorman.

Qu&Hoii. Have you ever heard anything of a man named Jesse Knight, a preacher,
who was shot in Morgan County in 18G9?

Answer. I do not recollect such a name. I may say that there was a very ill feeling

existing about that time in Morgan County. There were several homicides and assas

sinations in Morgan County ; they were the result of personal feuds. The first killing
was that of a young man of the name of Kagland, a lawyer. He was shot while sit

ting by the side of his wife in his own house. It was charged that a man of the name
of Cbarlton, who was a probate judge there, was the ringleader of a party opposed to

liaglaud. Several other assassinations and killings took place, but I do not remember
the names of the parties. Finally Cbarlton himself was killed as he was stepping off

the cars of the Memphis and Charleston Kail road. liagland and Cbarlton both being
killed, the feud terminated, and there has been peace and quiet in the community ever

since. Kagland was an impulsive man ;
what his offense was I do not know. Cbarl

ton I knew, and he always appeared to me to be a very decent and well-behaved man.

Kaglaud was a democrat, and Charlton was a republican.

Question. Did you ever hear anything in regard to a man by the name of Blair being
taken from his house in Vienna, in Madison County, and beaten and mutilated / 1 think it

was stated that the parties who were identified were indicted under the civil rights
bill.

Answer. I do not know anything about that case, When did it happen?
(lui sliGn. it was under the civil-rights bill

;
I do not know exactly when it occurred.

Aiisii cr. I do not recollect anything about such a case.

Question. It has been stated in evidence here, that there were thirty-three indict-

nunts, seven for murder and manslaughter, pending in the United States court at

Huntsv ille in the fall of 1870
;
and that of all these parties under indictment, only two

were arrested, the others being at large. AVere you a practitioner at that time in the

United States court ?

Answer. Yes. sir. I know nothing about the number of indictments, nor have I ever

heard anything about the failure to arrest the parties.

QiKvtion. As you are a practitioner in the court, would not such a condition of affairs

probably have beeft brought to your knowledge, and have arrested your attention?

The statement is that there were thirty-three indictments, seven of them for murder
and manslaughter, and only two arrests were made.

Answer. I think I should have known of them, because the civil-rights bill and the

powers of the court under it were matters of general discussion among the members
of the bar, and I think I would have heard of such enormities had they existed.

Question. Ul course that was an assumption ofjurisdiction which had never previously
heiouged to the i- eder.il courts, and such a state of things would have attracted the
attention of any lawyer practicing at that bar

Answer. 1 am&quot;very &quot;intimate with all the members of the profession there.

Question. You never heard of the circumstance
Answer. I m-ver heard of it, or anything connected with it. The record, however,

would show
; it might have escaped me.

Quexiivii. &quot;vViis there opposition made to your assuming your duties as governor after

-, ;.u were dechu ed elected ?

Anxtcer. Yfss, sir; there was bitter and persistent opposition.

Qui istivn. In what form and in what shape did the opposition exhibit itself
;
I sup-

poise it was generally known that vou had a majority returned for you as governor
of the State /

yl/.s (;../. \es, sir.
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Question. I believe your constitution requires that the presiding officer of the senate

shall declare the result of the election?

It^ini . The returns of the, flection are made from each county to the presiding offi

cer of the senate. The presiding officer of the senate is required to count them out

ilurin&quot; the first week of the session of the legislature, in the presence of the two houses.

Withregard to myself and my election, it was determined to defeat this provision of our

constitution : and a bill was filed, praying an injunction to restrain the presiding offi

cer of the, senate from counting out the vote for governor and treasurer.

By Mr. VAX TRUMP :

&amp;lt; { am. Were other State officers elected at the same time ?

l*&amp;lt;r,r. Yes, sir; I will come to that. No opposition was raised against the lieu

tenant governor, the secretary of state, or the attorney general ;
it was confined to the

Bovernor and the treasurer. Before the election the lieutenant governor, Mr. Apple-
r~it c, had died

;
and the presiding officer of the senate was a man by the name of Barr.

The injunction was served upon him, and he obeyed the injunction. He counted the

votes for lieutenant governor and declared the one receiving a majority of votes as re

turned, duly elected lieutenant governor; but he would not count the votes for the

governor or for -the treasurer. He had not, however, made his calculation sufficiently

sti-on g and accurate, for the verymoment that the lieutentant governorwas declared duly

elected, he qualified, according to the constitution, and counted the votes for governorand
for treasurer, right there and then, in compliancewith the requisition of the constitution.

It was alleged, or rather it has been alleged, that I had not a majority of the legal
votes cast

;
but at that time it certainly was not contended tjiat I had not. Governor

Smith himself, on the day after I reached Montgomery to take my seat, entered into a

conversation with me, and sympathized with me upon the responsibility and annoy
ances to which I would be subjected in that office, and said that he had no doubt that

I had a majority of the votes of the State ;
those were his words. I remarked to him,

&quot;

Governor, I am very glad to hear you say so, because it is rumored that you intended
to resist my inauguration.&quot; He went on, however, in a sort of equivocal way, stating
that he had a right of course to contest any election if he thought fit to do so

;
but he

left me with the impression, and I so told my friends, that he would raise no opposition
to my inauguration. In the mean time, however, this injunction was being prepared.
It was charged that there was fraud in the election. If there waS fraud I certainly
had no knowledge of it directly or indirectly. No friend and partisan of mine ever
intimated in the remotest manner that there had been any unfair dealing, or that a

single vote had been counted to me to \sihich I was not legally entitled. They charged,
however, that on a fair count they would have a majority, assigning as a reason that
the box from Russell County had not been counted, which gave Governor Smith 1,125

i applica-
were the

county of
L ussell, there were two boxes opened ;

one a box pursuant to the statutory provisions
of the law

;
the other box was opened by a man named Hook, on a bridge that runs

from Columbus, Georgia, to Girard. At 2 o clock in the day the sheriff, a republican,
went to Hook and told him that he must close that box or he would put him in jail.
He closed the box and carried it immediately to the county seat and took a receipt for
it from the probate judge. About midnight the legal box, which really had 22f-

majority for Smith, was taken up there, and the probate judge refused to receive it,

stating that he had already given a receipt for a box.

i r. BECK :

Quefilion. Were there any votes for you in the box which was on the bridge ?

AHHirvr. There was not supposed to be one. On the next day the judge of probate,
the circuit clerk, and the sheriff, whoso duty it was made to compare the poll-list with
the registration lists and count the ballots, met there. They were all three repub
licans, faiihful republicans ;

but two of them happened to be honest men, and they re-
fuiM-d to count the spurious box. The sheriff and circuit clerk would not count that

itating that it was a perfect outrage. I am speaking of what I know, because
some of the parties themselves told me. We were in this dilemma: the box could not
be certified to the officer at Montgomery. They sent immediately for the other box,
the cue \v ith the -J , .&quot;) majority, but it was not to be found; this was about the second
or third day perhaps, Of course the box upon \vhjcli they claimed 1,1*25 majority was

Applegate was then m his grave ; but the letter came into his widow s hands, and she
carried the n-nmi to a leading republican of Montgomery, asking him to cany it to
the capital But instead of carrying it to the capital he told her three days afterward
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that ho had scut back the return to Washington County. So 600 majority for me was

gone there.

By Mr. VAX TRUMP :

Question. That was not counted ?

Atmrcr. They were counted afterwards.

Question. 1 mean at the time of the declaration of the vote in the legislature.
Answer. No, sir. The return from Covingtoii County was mailed, but it never reached

Montgomery. 1 sent a young man to get a,duplicate, which he brought, and that

showed 500 and odd majority. A return from another county was not forthcoming, and
it is not known whatever became of it

;
that was 200 and odd majority.

Question. A majority for whom f

Aimver. For the democratic ticket. My majority, as counted, was about 2,500.

Question. As counted in the legislature^
Answer. I mean the count including Washington, Covington, and the other county.

By Mr. STEVEXSOX :

Question. Vou mean if all had been in that should have been in?

Ansicer. Yes, sir. In that election there were 925 illegal votes given upon the Alaba
ma and Chattanooga Railroad

;
votes by transient hands working upon that road, from

Virginia, North Carolina, and Tennessee. The superintendent of the road marched them
;;p to the registration office, had them registered, and had them pass before them, and he
handed them tickets to vote

; they voted for William H. Smith for governor, and for the
lieutenant governor on the democratic ticket. There were 925 of them who had no more
right to vote there than a man in Africa

; they were transient workmen there. These
votes were counted against me, and not against the balance of the ticket. That is the
road in regard to which there has been so much difficulty in relation to bonds. Then it

was charged with regard to Snmter County that men were intimidated there, and that
Greene County had gone democratic because of the riot at Eutaw. Now I am pos
itively informed, and so believe, that the riot at Eutaw injured us in Greene County not
fewer than 500 votes ; I ;mi satisfied that the majority for the democratic ticket in

Greene County would have been 500 more had the riot not occurred. The question
then occurs why, in a colored county, should this democratic majority exist? Tho
answer is simple : Hays, the present member in Congress, had become exceedingly un

popular, and we calculated to carry that district in the congressional race. It was our
calculation for weeks, yes, for mouths, that we would carry that district over ll;iy&amp;gt;.

And I have no doubt that when the race is run again by any democrat that Charles

.Hays will he beaten in that district.

By IMr. BUCK:

Question. Is Hays unpopular with the white or with the colored voters .

Anmi-cr. Will) the colored voiers. In S imter County, where the great change took

place, I expected a change. By marriage, I am related to nearly every large planter i?r

the county ; and the negroes i &quot;had owned had relations in Smuter County. For two
years alter the, war I had control of three hundred negroes in Sumtcr County, every
one of whom would have traveled from the Gulf of Mexico to the Tennessee line to do
me a favor. I had control of one of the largest plantations in Sumter County; I
allowed them to occupy three thousand acres of land for three years, without charg
ing them a cent. I expected to carry Sumter County; I would do it to-morrow. In
those two counties is where they charged we were disappointed; that is a mistake

;

to-day I would carry the county of Greene by 2,500 majority; I am perfectly willing;
that it- should go upon record here that I believe so. In Greene County there could
not have been any terror or intimidation. The military forces of the United States
were there, at every leading precinct in the county, protecting them. I will tell you
that the colored population in Alabama are not so easily deterred from the exercise,

of their franchises; they are not very easily deterred
; you may persuade one, but you

cannot deter them in bodies. Strange, that in Dallas County, with a large city in its

center, and men of powerful influence there, the same reasons should not exist that
did in Greene County, or in Sumter. Butler is a large negro county ;

Madison has 800

negro voters, but I carried it by GOO majority. We have 850 voters in my county, and
I did not lose but 125 of them, and was perfectly astounded at losing one of them. I
never in my life asked a negro to vote for any one. The negroes of Alabama, as well
as anywhere else, know their political rights, and will exercise them. They will tao

like The whites in that respect; they will get discontented and change, vote for A.

to-day, and B. to-morrow.

By Mr. VAX TRUMP :

Question. Change more on men than ou measures ?

Amicer.^ Yes, sir. Then there is another reason; I have intimated it before. The,
democratic party now is beginning to electioneer pretty strongly with the colored.
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people we are beginning to meet them at least half way ;
and it is a fact, undeniable

in regard to the election in Alabama, that I got 8,000 more votes than Mr. Seymour got,

and William II. Smith got 2,000 more than General Grant. How terror could exist in

Alabama under such circumstances, I must confess I do not know. William H. Smith

got 2,000 votes more than General Grant, and I got 8,000 more than Seymour and Blair.

13y Mr. BLAIR :

Qwa&O*. That shows that there was a larger vote than in the presidential election ?

Answer. Yes, sir. ,

( Question. You say that this bill in chancery was nied, enjoining the presiding officer

c .1 t lie senate from counting the vote
;
were any other means taken by the incumbent

of the office to prevent your inauguration ;
was there any use of troops f

Ansicer. Yes, sir; he asked the commanding officer at that time to furnish him with
:i guard at the capital, which he did.

Question. Was there any unusual concourse of people at Montgomery, the capital, of

your adherents, armed, at the time of the contest f

Answer. I never saw an armed man during the whole contest. I myself was not
armed. We did not propose to use any arms

;
we intended to pursue the law, which

we did ultimately.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. You had some sort of a trial ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

(Question. Was there, at that trial, any unusual number of strangers ?

Ansicer. No, sir
;
there were a great many strangers in Montgomery, from the simple

fact that the grand lodge of masons held a meeting there at the time, and there was a
conference of the church there at the time

;
but everything was quiet and peaceable.

I went up and had an interview with Governor Smith when he resigned his office, and
no unkind feeling or bad feeling existed, further than I intended to have the office and
he intended to hold on.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. You instituted legal proceedings before one of the judges in, order to obtain

possession of the books and papers of the executive office, and the decision was in

your favor, as I understand ?

Answer. Well, the governor did not wait for a decision, he gave it up.

By Mr. VAX TRUMP :

(Question. In regard to this conversation with governor Smith, of which you have
spoken, was it about that time when he surrendered?

Answer. An hour after he surrendered he sent the key down to me.
Question. Did he state that the reason he surrendered was in order to preserve the

peace ?

Answer. No, sir
;
he did not say anything about it

;
but he afterwards wrote a letter,

which was a surprise to the parties who were the intermediates in the matter, assign
ing that as a reason.

Question. He did not assign it in the conversation with you ?

Answer. No, sir; the only conversation before he left was one in which he asked me
to appoint a justice of the peace for his town, which I did. That is the only time that
I did not inquire whether the one to be appointed was a democract or republican.
And he also asked to take some records with him.

By Mr. BECK :

Question. It has been stated before the committee that the clerk and sheriff of Rus
sell County were democrats. You stated that they were republicans. What reason
have you for believing that they were republicans?

Answer. I never understood them to be anything else : all mv information has been
to that effect.

By Mr. BLAIH :

Question. Do you know them personally ?

Aurora-. I do not.

By Mr. BKCK :

Q lixtiou. By whom worn they appointed, or how did they get into their offices ?
Answer. I uo not know whether they were appointed or elected at the time the con-
litution was submitted to the people. Russell County is a republican county.

/&amp;gt;. How :nv the officers appointed, or elected, who had control of the election
itween you and your predecessor ;

and what was the political complexion of the ma
jority ol those officers, so far as you understood!

r. ITie officers of the election precincts are appointed by the probate judge,
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tlie sheriff, and the circuit clerk of the respective counties. Those three election offi

cers aiicl the returning officer for each precinct have, I believe, the right to select a
clerk.

Question. How were those judges of probate elected?
Answer. They were elected, I suppose, if not all, nearly all of thorn, at the time the

constitution was submitted for ratification.

Question. Is it or not the fact, that at the time of the ratification very few democrats
voted at all 1

Aitsurr. There was an almost universal abstinence from voting on their part.

Question. Was it or not the policy of the democrats at that time to defeat the ratifi

cation of the constitution of Alabama by abstaining from voting, because the act of

Congress required that an actual majority of the registered voters of the State should
vote at that election ?

Answer. That was the policy promulgated from the central committee.

Question. And it was so defeated .

Amico: It was so defeated.

Question. So that the men who are judges of probate are men who were elected by
the republicans, in opposition to the democratic policy of staying away ?

Answer. I know of but one or two exceptions; one was in my own county.
Question. What I want to get at is this : in a very large majority of cases, the officers

controlling the election were men who had been elected, at least, as republicans ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir; nineteen out of twenty.
Question. Have you, in Alabama, any power 6r right, under your laws, to challenge

the right of a man to register or to vote
;
if so, how do you urge it?

Answer. We are absolutely prohibited from challenging at either the place of regis
tration or the place of voting. And if a foreigner, who had arrived on the shores of
America only yesterday, should present himself at the ballot-box to cast his vote, no
man can challenge his right to vote.

Question. If you, a citizen of the State, knew the fact to be that ho was a foreigner
who had arrived only a day or two before, or was just from Georgia, Virginia, or Ten
nessee, yon would lay yourself subject to arrest if you should challenge his vote?

A^nswcr. I would, for it is made a penal offense.

Question. So you have absolutely no means, under your election laws, of preventing
illegal votes from being cast, if men choose to cast them ?

Answer. That is the law; there is no law on the statute-book to punish illegal vot-
, ing.

Question. Have your lawyers investigated that question and determined that you
cannot reach illegal voting .&amp;lt;

Answer. They have.

By Mr. POLAND :

(Question. You have no law against illegal voting?
Answer. It is the general opinion of the profession, upon an examination of the crim

inal law. that there is no law on the statute-books of Alabama to punish illegal voting.
We did think that under the broad, comprehensive character of the common law it

might be made a misdemeanor.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. And you are liable to punishment if you attempt to challenge an illegal
vote ?

Answer. I think so.

By Mr. POLAND :

Question. To challenge a man s right to vote who has not a vote ?

Answer. You cannot challenge at all. A boy of sixteen might come up to the ballot-
box and deposit his vote, and no man can challenge him.

Question. And you say there is a punishment provided for a man who objects to such
a vote ?

Answer. I think it is made a misdemeanor.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. What is the public impression in Alabama as to the object of that law
;

was it to prevent any challenging of illegal votes ?

Answer. We thought so; I alluded to it in my message, and asked its repeal.

By Mr. STEVENSON :

Question. Has it been repealed ?

Ansivcr. Xo, sir
;
I asked the repeal of it in my message in January last.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. So theje is no law against illegal voting, but there is a law making it a
criminal offense for a man to challenge a vote?
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Answer. My impression and belief is that it is made a misdemeanor. I would rather

see the law. I know that you cannot prevent a man from voting.

By Mr. POLAND :

Question. Have you no triers, no officers to determine a question of that sort ?

Answer. No, sir; not at all. I make the broad statement, which I know to be the

fact that in the case of a boy whom you might know to be but sixteen years old, or a

man whom you might know to be a foreigner, you cannot prevent either of them from

casting his vote.

Question. You have a registration law ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

n. Are your registration officers obliged to register everybody that offers ?

. Yes, sir
; they have to swear them.

m. Have they no discretion or judgment in determining who has a right to

register f

Answer. My understanding is that they have none. It is a marvelous law, so much
so that I called the attention of the legislature to the fact in my message, and asked
them to repeal the law.

Question. Do you understand that provision is in the constitution or in the statute ?

Answer. In the statute ?

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Here are the acts of the legislature of Alabama for 1S63. Will you turn to

the act to which you refer ?

Answer. It is the act of October 8, 1868. Section 34 of that act provides: &quot;That

there shall be no challenging of electors offering to vote at any election hereafter held
in this State, and any registered voter offering to vote at any election in this State shall

be allowed to do so without question, challenge, or objection by any person ;
and any

person who questions, challenges, or objects, or who unlawfully hinders or delays any
person offering to vote shall be guilty of a misdemeanor, and on conviction shall be
lined five hundred dollars, and on failure to pay the same shall be imprisoned in the

county jail for six months.&quot;

Question. Is there a provision against any citizen challenging the right of a. voter to

be registered ? May any citizen go before the registrar, and contest the right there,
when a voter offers to register ?

Ansii er. My impression is, that he has no right there, but I would prefer to refer to

the law. I see by reference to section 4, of the &quot;Act to provide for the registration of

electors,&quot; that it is provided
&quot; that it shall be their (the registrars ) duty to enter, or

cause to be entered, in a book, the name of every person qualified to vote under the
constitution of this State and the acts of the legislature thereof; and before entering,
or causing to be entered, such name, they shall require the person applying to be regis
tered to subscribe to the oath prescribed in section 4, article 7, of the constitution of
this State.&quot; That is the only provision that I see, directory as to the registration.

By Mr. STEVENSON :

Question. The oath referred to covers the qualifications ?

Answer. I believe so
;
I do not remember the language of the oath.

By Mr. BECK :

Question. Under the law of Alabama, have not the registrars the right to keep opeii
the registration of voters up to and during the day of election ? *

Ansicer. That is my recollection. S

Question. Have they the right, or do they exercise the right, of keeping the registra
tion open near the same place where the voting is going on, so that a man could regis
ter his name, and in a minute, or by going twenty steps, give his vote if he sees fit ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
I have seen that done.

By Mr. STEVENSON :

Qm-xl .on. You say the bar of the State have not been able to find any law nudes
which they believe they can punish a,man for illegal voting. Is these not a law under
which ho can be punished for illegal registration ?

; there is a very heavy penalty for that.

WASHINGTON, D. C., June 17, 1871.

Governor ROBERT B. LINDSAY, examination continued.

By Mr. BECK:

.Attention. Will you state whether the legislature that passed the election laws now in
existence in Alabama was the legislature that was elected at the time the constitution
was declared adopted ?
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Answer. It was the same legislature, composed of the same members.
Question. State how maiiy in that legislature, if any, were democrats, or claimed to

be democrats.
Auwcr. In the senate, composed of thirty-three members, there was one democrat:

in the, house, composed of one hundred members, I think there were perhaps ten or
twelve who claimed to be democrats. I was thinking that perhaps I could name them,
but I do not think I can.

Quwtion. All except ten or twelve of the honse of representatives were republicans ?

Answer. That is my recollection; I may be mistaken about the number, but that is

about the proportion.
Question. What was the provision of law or of the constitution with regard to the

senators elected under that constitution holding their seats? And please state, with
out any further questions, how that senate have acted with regard to holding or giv
ing up their seats, in reference to the constitutional provisions upon that subject.

Ansictr. I do not recollect the precise language of the constitution. But my recol
lection is that it provided that the representatives should be elected for two years, and
the senators for four years ;

that one-half of tho seats of the senators first elected should
be declared vacant at the end of two years ;

thus providing, just as in tho United States

Senate, iijr a continuation of a certain number of members of the senate
;

in other
words, providing that one-half only of the members of the senate should be newly
elected at any one session of the senate. An election was ordered for representatives
last November.

By Mr. BLAH; :

Question. In accordance; with the constitution
AnHim . In accordance with the provisions of the constitution. At the legislative

session before the last, or prior to the election of November last, tho question was pre
sented, discussed, and voted upon as to whether the senators should draw for tho long
and the short terms, according to the spirit, if not in accordance with the letter of the
constitution. The senate decided not to draw, but to hold over, which they did. In
accordance with that conclusion, the senate remained and acted as a senate at the last
.session of the legislature, and will do so at tho next session.

Qnt xiioii. That will give a portion of the senate six years for their term?
Jw&amp;lt;r. No, sir, not six years yes, I believe about six years ;

in fact, all of them.
Q&amp;gt;.

*!iu}&amp;gt;. If llu-y draw no\v, those who draw the short term will go out at the end of
four years, and the other half will hold over for a term of six years; and if they do
not dra\v for seats now all of them will hold over 1

AiiH&amp;gt;r&amp;lt;-): The senate hold, under their peculiar construction of the constitution, and 1

think that the letter of the constitution is susceptible of that construction. I have no
hesitancy of saying that the spirit of the constitution and the other provisions of the
constitution are all adverse to that decision. If I had the constitution here I could

point out the peculiar phraseology of it. If their construction of the constitution wa&amp;gt;

correct, which we practically now have to admit, they having held over under it, the
entire senate goes out in IHT J. Their construction and that construction must stand or
fall together.

Question. That is to say, the prohibition of a limitation of the term of four years must
control their construction ?

Aiwu er. Yes, sir; and the drawing- of the senate shall only take place after the next
election of tho entire senate. It was upon that construction that they held, for the
constitution says, as I remember, that an election for senators shall take place in 1872;
hence that construction they put upon it.

By the CHAIRMAN, (Mr. POLAND:)
Question. They held that all of the first senate hold for four years ?

Ansirer. Yes. sir
;
and I have no hesitancy in saying that the letter of the constitution

is clearly susceptible, to my mind, of that construction
;
and that all go out in 1S72, if

that construction is correct.

By Mr. BIX:K :

Quexiio)). Will or not the fact whether they will go out or not be determined upon
their own decision, hereafter to lie made, whether they will go or not /

Ansircr. It has been intimated that they are determined to draw at the next session
of the legislature.

Question. Have they not the power, as a matter of fact I do not speak of tho right,
but the power to adopt that course ?

Ansirer. I do not know how muclxpower usurpation of that character would be
;
but;

it certainly would be contrary to the letter and spirit of the constitution for the senate
to hold over, some of them, for nearly seven years, when they were elected only for
four years, according to the strict letter of the constitution. I must say that I do not

, apprehend anything of the kind. I believe all the senators will be elected, and all the
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members of the house will be elected at the next election. I will not anticipate one of

those usurpations until it comes.

By Mr. BLAIII:

Question. Among the members of the senate, who was the presiding officer before the

new lieutenant-governor was inaugurated?
JN.-MTJ

1

. Immediately preceding that the presiding officer was a Doctor Bur, a sen

ator from Wilt-ox County.
Question. Are any of t lie present senators holding office under the United States?

Answer. Yes, sir, several. The senator from Washington and Choctaw Counties is a

district revenue assessor or collector, I do not know which; but he is a revenue officer

of the United States Government, with his headquarters at Mobile. I think at the last

mi of the legislature, near its commencement, he appeared in the senate for a day
o, but his official duties kept him away for the balance of the session.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. Is there not a Mr. French a senator and a federal officer also ?

Ansu-cr. No, sir
;
Mr. Yordey, the senator from Sumter County, is also an officer in

the custom-house at Mobile, and, as I understand, his home is in Mobile. I asked some
of the citizens of Sumter County if they knew Senator Yordey, and they saidThat they
had never seen him in the county, and did not know whether he had ever been in it.

By Mr. POOL :

Question. How many counties does he represent f

A nswcr. Sumter alone. Sumter is a large county. There is another senator however,
he is not an officer of the Government

;
he is a mail contractor, which is recognized by

our laws. Our constitution positively prohibits

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. The holding of any office of profit and trust uuder the Government of the
Tuited States by a member of the legislature ?

Answer. Yes, sir; with the exception of mail contractor, and, I think, postmaster.
Question. Are there senators who are disqualified by reason of non-residence within

their districts?

Answer. The senator from Jackson County is not a resident of the State at all.

Question. Who is he ?

Answer. His name is Whitney. He resided in Jackson County for a short time, at or

about the time when the election took place. Since then he has been a resident of

Chattanooga, Tennessee. That I know, for I intimated that I would issue an order for

an election to supply the vacancy, and he came to see me about it. I would have done

so, but I was satisfied that the senate was the judge of the qualifications of their own
members. His business is all in Tennessee

;
he is building a little town of his own

there, on the line of the Alabama and Chattanooga Railroad.

By Mr. VAX TRUMP :
*

Question. Is he a Northern man?
Answer. Yes, sir

;
he is a very sharp, energetic fellow. I think that he was a telegraph

operator once.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. Does he represent the county by telegraph ? .

Answer. He represents Jackson County. Some of the citizens of the county spoke tp
me in regard to it, and asked me what could be done. I told them I did not know
anything that could be done, that the senate was the judge of the qualifications of its

members, and that I had no power over it.

By Mr. BECK :

Question. Are these all you think of? If so, I will ask you another question.
Answer. I do not know any others that lean name at present; these are withiji

my knowledge.
Question. Did or not the people of Alabama, after having defeated the adoption of

the constitution in the mode prescribed by the reconstruction acts of Congress, and
after Congress had on application refused to impose it upon them, feel, when it was
imposed upon them subsequently, by the passage of the omnibus bill, that they had been
more harshly treated than any other State in the South; and did or not that aggravate
your people more than the people of any other State ?

Answer. Well, as to the comparison between the people of Alabama and other South
ern States, that 1 am not prepared to answer, lint with respect to the simple fact of
the people of Alabama feeling aggrieved, I cau say that they were. They believed that
they had quietly and peaceably complied with the strict letter and spirit of the recon
struction un-usun-s. The constitution was obnoxious to them in many respects, but
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especially the disfranchising portions of the constitution. They believed that the

policy to be adopted, in order to secure its defeat, was to keep away from the polls ou

the day of election. There was a great deal of sorrowful feeling on the part of the

Question. You remember that that constitution was first rejected by Congress, upon
motion of Mr. Stevens himself, because it had been defeated by the people of Alabama,
and it was recommitted to his committee ?

Answer. Now that you speak of it, I think I do; I cannot speak accurately.
The CHAIRMAN, (Mr. POLAND.) I believe it was recommitted on my motion.

Mr. BECK. I believe it was
;
but you made that motion after Mr. Stevens had said

that Tipon that expose he wouM not support the constitution.

The CHAIRMAN, (Mr. POLAND.) It was on my motion, in concurrence with Mr.

Stevens.
Mr. BECK. I believe it was.

Question. What I want to get at i.s,
whether after defeating the adoption of the con

stitution in strict accordance with the reconstruction acts, the people of Alabama did

not feel seriously aggrieved that the members of the first State legislature and other

State officers should be imposed upon them afterwards, as they were by the -omnibus

bill?

Answer. That last fact which you state was the cause of the greatest annoyance and

feeling to the people of Alabama. If they had anticipated such action on the part of

Congress, they would have pursued a different policy ;
would have run their candidates

for office, thereby softening the obnoxious part of the constitution through the admin
istration of the laws and the constitution. But they entirely abstained, with one or

two exceptions, from running candidates
;
and the offices were filled by default, by

every Torn, Dick, and Harry who saw lit to announce himself as a candidate.

Question. Is it the fact that many of the State officers, members of the legislature
and senators, would and could have been defeated, if it had not been believed that
under the reconstruction acts they would be defeated by staying away from the polls ?

AnsH cr. I am satisfied that the house of representatives would have then been demo
cratic

;
the senate might not i.ave been, from the simple fact that the senatorial dis

tricts were set forth in the constitution in a manner which we understand by the term

gerrymandering. They would give one county a senator, and to four other counties,
with nearly three times the population, only one senator.

Question. Do you remember whether or not, to give you a special case, that at least

one member who came to Congress from Alabama, General John B. Callis, after the
constitution of Alabama was rejected in the spring, went on to Jackson, Mississippi,
with his command, and was there serving as an officer of the Army when the omnibus
bill was passed, and he then came hero and took his seat as a member of Congress
from Alabama ? In other words, he was not a citizen of the State at all ?

Anxinr. I know nothing about the movement of Callis to Mississippi ;
but I do know

that he was in command at lluntsville, Alabama, subsequent to that time, because I

was in correspondence with him relative to a difficulty that arose in connection with
the Freedmen s Bureau.

Mr. BECK. I do not know how far this is competent ;
here is Callis s own testimony

in the Mississippi case, in which he swears that in the June succeeding the February
when the coustitution*was voted upon, ho was in command at Jackson, Mississippi. I

may perhaps be permitted to show it to you.
The WITNESS. What is the object of submitting this to me?
Mr. BEC% My object is to ask what you know as to whether General John B. Callis,

member of Congress from Alabama in the Fortieth Congress, who took his seat because
of his election at the time of the vote upon the adoption of the constitution, was in

fact not a citizen of Alabama at all, but an officer in the Federal Army, and as such
under the command of General Gillein. The witness can say that General Callis has
himself so sworn, as he sees by reference to this document.
Mr. POOL. I do not wish to be understood as objecting, but I simply make the point

as to how much testimony taken before committees of the House of Representatives
shall be incorporated into our report.
Mr. BECK. If this is to be the effect of it, I do not wish to do so.

The CHAIRMAN (Mr. POLAND.) I understand that Mr. Beck desires only to show this

to the witness for the purpose of refreshing hs memory, so that he may be able to state
whether such is the fact.

Mr. BECK. That is what I desire.

Mr. POOL; I understood Mr. Beck to say that he wanted the witness to testify that
General Callis had sworn so and so.

Mr. BECK. That is what I want.
Mr. POOL. That certainly opens up the question to which I refer.

Mr. VAN TRUMP. This is a legal document, and as such is as competent as any legal
document would be offered in evidence in court.
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The CHAIRMAN (Mr. POLAND.) To the extent that Mr. Beck offers it now I do not

think there cuu bo any objection to it, merely for the purpose of refreshing the recol

lection of the witness.

Mr. C6BUKN. 1 understand that Mr. Beck disavows that purpose.
Mr. UFA K. 1 stated that I wanted to go a step further than to refresh his memory :

however, 1 will withdraw it.

By Mr. BECK:

Question. Do yon know whether several persons who took offices, because of the so-

eaHed election at the time the constitution was voted upon, were in fact non-residents

of the State at the time Congress, in the June following, passed what was known as

the &quot; omnibus bill,&quot; admitting thft State of Alabama along with others? And dc you
know whether, after the- vote upon the constitution, they actually left the State, and

returned to it when they found that the omnibus bill had passed, and then claimed their

offices f

Answer. I have no personal knowledge of the locality of any one of them
;
but I have

heard it again and again charged that many of them returned from their homes in the ^
North to take offices after the adoption of the constitution of Alabama by the Con

gress of the United States.

Question. After the passage of the omnibus bill f

A twicer. Yes, sir, I suppose so.

Question. Will you state whether or not that state of things produced a great deal of

feeling, and an impression of bad treatment, on the part of the people of Alabama ?

Answer. Well, the people of Alabama did not approve of it, by any means
;
and the

feeling toward those parties was certainly not of a very kind character. Hence the term
.

that was applied to them, especially at that time, of &quot;

carpet-baggers.&quot; They came
down there just merely for the purpose of holding the offices, and for no other pur
pose.

Question. In that connection state to what class of persons the term &quot;

carpet-bag

gers&quot;
is applied.

Answer. Just precisely to that class I speak of; and hence I used it in that connec
tion. It was applied to those men who returned to take possession of the offices ;

men without any interest in the State of Alabama, mere adventurers who had no in

terest and no feeling with the people of the State. It did not apply to the genuine
settlers in the country.

Question. No matter where they came from?
Answer. No matter where they came from; whether from the shores of Lake Supe

rior, the shores of Lake Michigan, the State of Massachusetts, or the State of Vermont.
We have such settlers scattered all over my section of the State, and they are treated

kindly : and, by the by, they seem to have taken very kindly to us, a great many of
them. On the other hand, we had men who came there, as is well and, significantly
&amp;gt;t;:ted,

with nothing but a small carpet-bag in hand, to hunt office, which they got by
the non-action of the people of Alabama. To that class the term &quot;carpet-bagger&quot; is.

confined. *

By Mr. VAN TRUMT:

Question. I wish to submit this proposition to you, governor, for your consideration :

While this committee was organized for the purpose of investigating and reporting
upon the disorders which are supposed to exist, and the unpunished crimes which are

alleged to have been perpetrated in the Southern States, as a correlative of the duty,

imposed upon us, we are, as I think, also authorized to inquire into the causes which
have produced this state of things, if such is the fact. Now I wish to know you?
opinion, from your long residence among and intimate connection with the Southern
people, and as the chief executive magistrate of one of those States, whether or not,
after the Southern people in arms submitted to the supremacy of the Federal power, if

the spirit of the terms of capitulation between Sherman and Johnston and Grant and
Lee had been observed in the subsequent Federal legislation, the Southern people, as a
general thing, would not have cheerfully, or at least quietly and honestly, assumed;
heir old status in the Union, even with slavery abolished

;
and outside of the social

and inevitable demoralization which belongs to civil war, common to the North as well
as to the South, would not law and order have been the rule, and individual crime the
exception as in all civil conim unities ? This is a long and, perhaps, theoretical question ;

but 1 want your full and deliberate views in answer to it.

Answer. The question is a lengthy one, and a very pertinent one. I will answer it as

briefly as possible, and givo my views, based upon my experience, both as a citizen and
as an office-holder in the State of Alabama. My opportunities of knowing the senti
ments of the people of Alabama I conceive to have been exceedingly good. I was
elected, immediately after the war, to represent a portion of North Alabama, in the
State senate, and there had an opportunity to ascertain the feelings and sentiments of
the people, not only of the section I represented, but of the various sections of the
State. And I may say now, what I thought then, that the readiness and willingness
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of the people of Alabama, as well as of the other Southern States, to submit to the order

of things that ensued subsequent to the war was marvelous beyond conception, and
certainly without a

parallel
in the history of any nation I evel read of. I looked upon

were a few exceptions, I will not deny, a few Hotspurs who were reluctant to acknowl

edge defeat, a few men wild and crazy enough to think that something might turn up
that would yet bring them victory ;

but they were few and isolated exceptions. The
body of the people, according to my conception I am speaking especially with regard
to North Alabama

;
I speak also with regard to South Alabama, but especially with

iegard to North Alabama, my own section the body of the people readily realized the
condition of things and willingly submitted to it. And I have no hesitation in saying
now, what I have said upon the stump, that at the end of two years the Union feeling
of the country had become strong. I was in the legislature for two sessions and knew
what that sentiment was. The constitutional amendments came upon the legislature,
;;nd first aroused opposition subsequent to the war

; especially that amendment, and
in fact that only, that imposed disabilities upon and disfranchised a large portion of
&amp;lt;ur citizens; the fourteenth amendment I believe it was called. I was in the legisla
ture at the time that amendment was submitted. That legislature comprised a ma
jority who had been anti-secessionists. Of the senate, of which I was a member, prob
ably one-third of the members were those who had supported the Bell and Everett
ticket before the war

;
one-third had supported the Douglas ticket, and perhaps one-

J

.hird had supported the Breckinridge ticket. Fully two-thirds of the senate had been
anti-secessionists. That amendment was not only objectionable to, but it was promptly
. ejected by the senate, because it imposed disabilities upon two-thirds of the senate,
and that two-thirds persons who had opposed a dissolution of the Union. It was the

general sentiment, I know it was iny own, that wo would never be instrumental in im
posing upon ourselves political degradation. I remember an expression that was used,
hat &quot;we would not commit political suicide to save others from committing political

murder;&quot; that was the expression. 1 mention that to show the feeling that animated
iliose who rejected the fourteenth amendment. I do it to show that it was not a feel

ing of opposition to the Government of the United States, nor to the Union, nor to the

Constitution, but simply because it was an odious measure of degradation upon the

very parties who had striven against a dissolution of the Union. Nine out often there
who had opposed secession had been oflice-holders under the old democratic govern
ment of Alabama, while the leading secessionists were new men, who had never held
.

-Slice, or who, to a great extent, had never held office in the State of Alabama. Mr.
Yuncey, their leader, had been elected to Congress only once, and could not gain that

position the second time. He and his followers had not been cilice-holders, and conse

quently did not come within the purview of the disqualifying clauses of the amend
ment. Hence the odium, I say, that attached to it among the very men who had tried
lobe faithful to the Government .and Constitution of the United States prior to the
war. A feeling friendly toward the Union was gradually growing up ;

the recollections
and asperities of the war were rapidly passing away, when that amendment, and then,
the reconstruction measures which rapidly followed, came upon us. I think those
measures had a very unhappy and unfortunate effect at the time upon the people of the
South.

Question. Now, superadded to this general legislation of Congress, commonly known
as the reconstruction policy, and, indeed, as a prominent part of it, was not the manner
in which negro suffrage and negro equality was forced upon the Southern people one
of the most torturing instruments of degradation which could have been inflicted upon
them by a conquering power, actually placing them under the political control of an
other race, their former slaves, in numerous localities of the South

;
and looking at this

unparalleled condition of things, as far as we can, from their social and political stand
point, is it not a marvelous fact, outside of these enumerated cases of local outrage and
lawlessness, that the southern people, as a proud-spirited and even haughty political
body, have been so patient and enduring?
Answer. The investing of the negroes with the political franchise and the right to

hold office, all this to a people whose slaves those negroes had been, was necessarily a
measure fraught with very unpleasant consequences, to say the least; but when taken
in connection with the fact that while the negro obtained the right of voting and of

holding office, hundreds and thousands of the leading men, of the trusted citizens of the
State, were disfranchised and disabled from holding office the two taken together, I

say, were well calculated to arouse the feelings of the Southern people and cause
them to attribute to the Government of the United States a design to degrade them,
instead of elevating the negro.

Question. Whether that was the intention or not, was not that the result?
Answer. That was the result. For example, notwithstanding my political antece

dents, at the first ejection after the adoption of the reconstruction measures four negro
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men whom I had in my employ -walked out of my yard and spent the day in a political
carnival and had the. right to vote, while I had to remain at home powerless to aid or

to defeat by my vote any man or any measure that was to be decided upon by that

election. That was not well calculated, I say, to harmonize my feelings to the meas
ures that deprived me of the right of voting ; and it was writh others as with me.

Question. One other question ;
even no\v, would not general amnesty and an equal

participation in the blessings, as well as the obligations, of civil government vouch
safed to the Southern people have a strong and happy tendency in restoring fraternal

relations between the North and the South ?

Answer. The people of the South are an impulsive people ; they are an exceedingly
generous people. They are quick to be offended, but they are as ready to forgive. My
experience has been that rarely do the people of the South, and the farther south the

BO, cherish implacable hate or obstinate animosities. They will strike and forgive
in almost the very same instant of time. Hence every kind act, every generous and

benignant act on the part of the Government of the United States, has never failed to

meet a quick and ready and thankful response from the people, within my knowledge.
The very fact that it has been retained long from them absolutely increases the enthu-
hiasm which which it is received when given. Hence I believe that universal amnesty,
placing all the white men of the South upon an equality with all the white men of
the North, would be not only the most gracious measures that Congress could adopt,
but I believe it would go further in receinenting the old ties of Unionism in this coun

try than anything else I could imagine. You cannot get human nature to hug its own
chains. I know myself that when my disabilities were removed, through the influence

of Senator Spencer, I felt a new man. I know what I felt I felt new ties binding me
to the Government of the United States

;
I felt that I had an interest at stake; I felt

that I could walk into any State of the Union as a citizen, rehabilitated with all the

privileges and immunities of a citizen. But until then, I must confess, I did not see

what special interest I had in a Government that did not allow me to have a voice
in it.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. Is it not a source of dissatisfaction to all the people .

Answer. Allow me: in that connection, for it is a very important one, I would like

to say one thing. I mentioned the readiness with which the people of the South for

get and forgive. As an instance of their readiness to accept the condition of things,
as imposed upon them by Congress, I may mention that in December, 1868, I wrote a

letter, which was given to the public, reviewing the entire situation that, I think,
was in December, 1868 reviewing the entire situation, referring particularly to the
manner in which the amendments to the Constitution had been adopted, and the re

construction measures passed ;
but at the same time urging upon the people of Ala

bama to accept the situation, to honestly accept the situation, and go to work, and
work out both their material and political salvation under the Constitution as it was.
In that letter I urgedupon them the absolute necessity, not only on their own account,
but on account of the colored race, to do everything in their power to educate and
elevate their minds. That letter appeared in December, 1868, or in the beginning of
1869

,
and it was canvassed and discussed throughout the entire State of Alabama,

and upon that letter I received my nomination for governor of that State. The people
of Alabama are willing now to take things as they are

;
reclothe us with full-fledged

citizenship, and there will be no difficulty. No doubt there will be crimes committed
there as everywhere ; however, I do not think that is necessary.

Question. Those disabilities attach to prominent citizens, whose prominence is due to
the confidence that their fellow-citizens had in them prior to the war and during the
war ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Is it not a source of dissatisfaction to the entire community that the men in

whom they have placed their confidence, and who still have their confidence, should bo
under disabilities ? Is not that sentiment a common sentiment, and one that extends
to the entire white population of the State ?

Answer. There is no question of it.

Question. This feeling of discontent on this ground is not confined to those who are
themselves under disabilities, but it extends to their fellow-citizens, who dislike to see

men, and all the men, who have had their confidence, placed under disabilities?

Answer. It extends to all the citizens, especially when they come to select men to fill

offices. In a
^reat many instances they have to take inferior men, because of the im

possibility of finding men capable of holding office under the Constitution and laws of
the country. .

Question. In your testimony yesterday, in speaking of the contest made for governor
at the time of your own election, you alluded to a number of men along some line of
railroad who were not residents of the State at all

;
I believe you said some nine hun

dred were taken up and voted by the contractors on the road. What 1road was that ?
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Answer. The Alabama and Chattanooga Railroad.

Question. Yon mentioned that there had been some difficulty in regard to some bonds
to be given to that road, which induced this action on the part of the contractors. I

want yon to explain what was that bond matter which induced those contractors to be
so active in their efforts to reelect Governor Smith ?

Answer. During the canvass we suspected that there was some collusion between Gov
ernor Smith and J. C. Stanton, the superintendent of that road, to secure Smith s re

election at all hazards and at any expense. It was believed that the special effort of

Stanton was to cover up the malpractice of Smith in the issuance ofbonds
;
tlu .t was firmly

believed by myself and by the citizens generally. Since my election that belief has
been entirely confirmed.

Question. What was that malpractice ?

Answer. Under our railroad system, all railroad companies in the State are entitled

to $16,000 a mile of their bonds indorsed by the State; or rather to have their bonds
indorsed by the State to the amount of $16,000 a mile.

Question. For the construction of new railroads ?

Answer. Yes, sir. Alter the first twenty miles are finished, and not before, they are

entitled to a State indorsement of $3*20,000 of their bonds, and then to the indorse
ment of $80,000 of their bonds npoii the completion of every live miles thereafter,
until the road is finished.

Question. Are the roads entitled to this benefit designated in the law ?

Answer. No, sir; it is a general law.

Question. Applicable to all railroads ?

Answer. Yes, sir. The Alabama and Chattanooga Railroad, ! have since discovered,
when completed, would be entitled to the indorsement of $4,720,000 of their bonds, but

only when completed : it is two hundred and ninety-five miles long. At the time that
Governor Smith went out of office they did not profess to have finished but two hun
dred and titty miles, forty-live miles being still unfinished. 1 know that they had not
finished that number of miles. Yet, notwithstanding the fact that by their own ac

knowledgment forty-five miles of their road were unfinished. Governor Smith had in

dorsed the entire $4,720,000 of their bonds, and also $500,000 of bonds the indorsement
of which they never would be entitled to.

Question. And had delivered those bonds to the contractors ?

Answer. Had delivered them to the contractors, signed by his name and with the

great seal of the State attached thereto. I have seen some of the bonds.

Question. Hence- the activity of the parties in interest to secure the reelection of
Governor Smith?

Anstcer. That is what we thought.
Question. And hence they resorted to this large number of illegal votes ?

Answer. That is what we believed. Stantou was said to have furnished the means
for election purposes.

Question. Has the road been completed since?
Answer. It has not.

Question. It is not finished now ?

Answer. No. sir.

Question. And the State indorsed bonds are all issued ?

Answer. They are all issued.

Question. Are there any other instances in your State of similar transactions by the
officials in illegally indorsing railroad bonds ?

Answer. That we do not know, from the simple fact that no other railroad has made
default in the payment of interest on the bonds.

Question. No other road?
Answer. No, sir. It was only through the default of the Alabama and Chattanooga

Railroad Company that we were enabled to discover it in that case.

Question. Is there not kept a record of the bonds in the proper State offices ?

Answer. No record: not a line of a record has been kept.
Question. Does not the law require that such a record should be kept ?

Answer. I cannot say that ii does. The law was all penned for the benefit of the
railroad companies, not for the benefit of the State.

By Mr. BI:CK :

Question. When was that law passed ?

Answer. A law was first passed in 1867, while I was in the legislature, with very
strict provisions, providing for the indorsement of $12,000 a mile. At the subsequent
session of the legislature, in 18(33, the amount was increased to $16,000 a mile, and in
the case of one road to $2,2,000 a mile.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. You say trie law of 1867 allowed the indorsement of these bonds, but under
very strict provisions ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

13



194 CONDITION OF AFFAIRS IN THE SOUTHERN STATES.

Question. Were those provisions done away with by the .subsequent legislation ?

Answer. It would be hard to tell what were the subsequent amendments; they were
so mixed and so susceptible of this and that construction that it would be hard to tell

what they wen- without reading the law just as the occasion required one to investi

gate it.

&amp;lt;

t
&amp;gt;u(xti&amp;lt;&amp;gt;n. I understand you to say that there were at first strict provisions in refer

ence to the issuance of these bonds; and you also say that the law as it now stands

iiot require even a record or register of the number of bonds that have been
issued .

.liiKinr. I do not think it is required in regard to the indorsed bonds.
&amp;lt;

t
hn*tiun. Was it ever required f

Annicer. I do not know whether the law of 1867 required it or not; I do not think it

did. 1 do not think such a requirement is necessary ;
I think it was a part of the ex

ecutive s duties to keep a record of his own official acts.

(jticxlinn. It is impossible, then, for you, as the chief executive of the State of Ala
bama, to ascertain now the actual liability of the State on bonds that have been thus
indorsed f

Answer. I can only approximate their number from the number of miles of road built.

But that would not be a certain guide, from the simple fact that Governor Smith, in

his message, upon his retirement from the office of governor of the State, positively and

unequivocally declared that he had indorsed only $4,000.000 for the Alabama and Chat

tanooga Kailroad. That was on the last, or nearly the last, day of his official life.

Question. And you have since ascertained that he had indorsed $1,300,000 more for

that one railroad than he stated in his message ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
there is no question of that

;
that is certain.

(jHCKiioit. What Mas the amount of the State indebtedness at the end of the war?
Aitxwer. It was between three and four millions, exclusive of accumulated interest.

That accumulated interest was funded, by the issuance on the part of the State and
the acceptance on the part of the bondholders of new bonds for the unpaid interest.

By Mr. POOL :

Question. How much did that funded interest amount to ?

Answer. All the indebtedness incurred up to the time of reconstruction I use that
limit of time because money had to be borrowed to carry on the government immedi
ately alter the war the whole amount of what we call the direct indebtedness of the
State of Alabama was $5,300.000, or thereabout.

Qm-Ntion. Including the funded interest?
Answer. Yes, sir; the principal and funded interest.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. What is the debt now, as near as you can approximate to it?
Answer. The direct debt of Alabama has been increased by only about $3,000,000,

making between eight and nine millions of dollars.

Quexlion. Au&amp;lt;1 the liabilities ?

Answer. The liabilities, I suppose, will amount to about .$12,000,000 more.

By Mr. POOL :

Question. What do you mean by liabilities?

Answer. Liabilities by indorsements. Under the present indorsement laws of the.

State, the liabilities, by the time the roads are finished and they become entitled to*

the State indorsement under the law, will amount to $30,000,000; the completion or
the roads now entitled to indorsements will increase the liabilities of the State to some
where in the neighborhood of $30,000,000.

By Mr. STEVENSON :

Question. You mean when the roads are finished?
Answer. Yes, sir

; they are entitled to it and getting it every day. ;

By Mr. BLAIR :

Qiii xfioH. Is there any security given to the State for these liabilities?
Jliimrer. Under a general law the State is entitled to a statutory lien, or a statutory

first mortgage, I may designate it; in some, instances, upon default by the railroad

Companies in the payment of the interest or the principal of the bonds, it would have
the right to seixe the roads.

Qiu-xl ntn. Is that the ease in regard to Stanton s road ?

Anxicer. That is I he ease \\iih regard to Stanton s road; but it may be mentioned
fchat Stanton s road extends into tour States, commencing in the State of Tennessee,
and terminating in the Slate of Mississippi. Our statutory lien is certainly valid to
the extent to which the road runs in the State of Alabama.



ALABAMA. 195

By Mr. POOL :

Question. What extent is that, in number of miles ?

Answer. Really I could not speak positively with regard to the exact number of miles
;

I should suppose about two hundred and fifty miles ;
that is my impression.

By the CHAIRMAN, (Mr. POLAND :)

Question. This $16,000 a mile is not guaranteed for any part out of the State ?

Answer. Yes, sir; for twenty miles outside, at their terminus. With regard to ill*

Alabama Railroad there is an additional security, and that is a deed of trust inado

directly to the bondholders.

By Mr. STEVENSON :

Question. To the holders of the bonds indorsed by the State?
Answer. Yes, sir: a deed of trust conveying to trustees all the property in the road

from Chattanooga to Meridian. That deed recognizes the priority of the lien of the

State of Alabama. I think that if the property is there the security of the State is

valid.

By Mr. BLAIR:

Question. But inasmuch as many of those bonds were indorsed for which there was
no road built, and there has been none built, the property is not there ?

Answer. It is not there. I will further state that, in addition to this sKi.OOO a mile of

indorsements, the legislature of Alabama authorized the issue of two millions of the

direct bonds of the State and gave them to this road.

Question. Without any security?
Answer. None upon the road, but upon the lands. That law, authorizing the issue of

$2,000,000 of the direct bonds of the State, required the governor of Alabama to

issue them &quot; from time to time &quot; that in the language of the law * from thru; to time,
as the road was completed.&quot;

Question. Completed by sections?
Answer. No, sir; the word u

sections&quot; was not used: &quot; from time to time, as the road
was completed.&quot; I have no doubt that &quot;sections&quot; was contemplated, because it pro
vided that the issuance and delivery of the bonds should cease in the event that the
road was not completed by a certain time. (Jovernor Smith, however, regardless of

that provision, issued all of those bonds upon one day, the entire $2,000,000 of bonds,
and placed them in the hands of the company in the latter part of March, 1K70. The
result has been nothing but disaster to the road and to the State. There are a thousand
men to-day on that road in a starving condition, without a mouthful to eat, the
road in bankruptcy, and in the hands of the custodian of the district court; all

from the fact that these bonds were issued prior to the time when they should have
been issued. It they had been issued as the road was completed there would now be
means in the hands of the parties to pay their employes.

Question. Then, as I understand it, you conceive that those bonds were not applied to

the construction of the road?
Anwer. No, sir ; not at all; the party built a fine hotel in Chattanooga, and laid che

foundation of an opera house.

Question. Like Fisk, of the Erie ?

Answer. Precisely, upon a similar scale. He is a man of wonderful energy, that
Stanton.

By Mr. POOL:

Question. What is the security for that $2,000,000?
Answer. A first mortgage upon all the lands granted to that road by the United

States.

Question. Is it ample ?

Answer. I think it is, if we can ever realize on it.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. Are the lands contiguous to the road?
Answer. They are confined within a limit of ten miles on either side of the road.

Question. And if the road had been completed the bonds would have been of much
more value than now ?

Answer. Yes, sir.
.,

Question. Then, if I understand you, had the bonds been issued in accordance with
the law, and the road had been completed, the security to the State would have been
much better ?

Ansirer. Certainly. If the bonds had been issued according to law, the road would
have been completed to-day, and been one of the finest enterprises on the continent.
As it is, it is in ruins, and may prove disastrous to the State of Alabama.
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By Mr. STEVENSON :

Question. How many of those bonds would be now issued if they had been issued as

von claim they should have beeu, only as the road was completed .
;

*

liiKiin: From my information, I think there are fifty miles of the road uncompleted,

according to the requirements of the law.

thnxtion. About one-sixth of its entire length!
JWMH /. Yes, sir

; they are running over it, but there is only a temporary track.

Qm-xthn. Thru about live-sixths miles of the road, two hundred and fifty out of two
hundred and ninety-live miles, have been completed?

An*n-&amp;lt;r. Yes. sir.

Question. That proportion of the bonds would now be issued if the issue of them, had
been made strictly according to the law?

. Yes, sir; I paid the interest on the bonds.

By the CHAIRMAN, (Mr. POLAND:)

Question. The other portion is so far built that they are running trains over it?

Auxiccr. Yes, sir
;
as governor of Alabama I have recognized bonds for two hundred

and fifty miles.

IJy Mr. STKVKNSON:

Question. When you say
&quot;

temporary track,&quot;
do you mean that the track is not laid

as it should be ?

J.v/ivr. A part of it is only temporary, carried around the cuts, &c.

Question. The fifty miles which you say is unfinished is well finished, except in

regard to the difficult parts, the cuts, &c. ?

Ansiccr. No, sir, it is not. About fifty miles is not finished at all permanently; that

is what I understand, for I have not been on the road.

Question. Is that fifty miles on the direct route of the road, except in regard to the

cuts and fillings?
.hixiccr. I think it is.

Question. The road has not been fully ballasted on that part?
Answer. I think it has not.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP:

Question. Is Governor Smith a native of Alabama?
^ \nsicer. I understand that he is a native of Georgia.
Question. He is not a carpel-bagger, in the proper sense of the term?
Answer. He is not. I sat in the legislature of Alabama with him eighteen years ago,

I think.

GBy Mr. STEVENSON :

(Question. You do not call a man a carpet-bagger if he goes from Georgia to Alabama?
-Inswer. No, sir; we do not call a man a carpet-bagger if he comes from Massachu

setts to Alabama. I would be a carpet-bagger myself under such a rule. The term
&quot;

carpet-bagger&quot; is not applied to a citizen who makes his permanent residence in the
State.

By Mr. POOL :

Question. You spoke of your inability to find out the number of those bonds that had
been issued. You mean, I suppose, that you cannot find out from the records. Might
you not find out by calling the officers before you, Goveruor Smith and others, and
having an investigation, putting them upon oath?

Answer. No. sir.

Qncxlion. Wiiy .

J

JH.SMVT. Because no officer in the present government knows anything about them.
On discovering that there was no record of the number of tae bonds, or of their char
acter, indorsed and signed by Governor Smith, I telegraphed to his private secretary,
who went out of office with him, asking if there was any record of said bonds. His
reply was, &quot;None other than the certificates of the railroad presidents on file.&quot; Upon
examination of the files I discovered that the certificates of the presidents afforded no
information. I found one in somewhat of this style: &quot;This is to certify that five
in-.rc miles [of the road named] has been finished.&quot; That was the certificate on file, and
it afforded me no information. I do not believe that Governor Smith really did know
th exact number of bonds he signed.

i)Hex!inn. Suppose yon were to summon, before an investigating commit-too or any
oilier tribunal, Governor Smith, the railroad presidents, and all others likely to know,
and put them upon oath, would you not be able in that way to approximate the
amoun! .

rr. There was nn investigating committee appointed by the last legislature.
tion. For that purpose?

Answer. Yes, sir.
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Question. Have they reported?
Answer. Governor Smith was not before them, nor was Stautou

;
neither of them was

in the State of Alabama at the time.

Question. Was any effort made to secure their attendance ?

Answer. I really do not know what effort was made.

Question. Has that law- been repealed authorizing the issuing of bonds?
Answer. It has not; it expires by its own limitation in November next, I think.

Question. Yon say the law was passed in 186? ?

Answer. The first railroad law was passed in 18G7.

Question. You are not aware that any of the restrictions contained in the first law
were repealed by any subsequent law ?

^Insn cr. I think the iirst law was modified, but not materially, and it was enlarged.
Question. You do not know of any other malpractice in the issuance of bonds, except

to this road of which Stauton has control ?

Answer. Not positively : I have my suspicions that there were more bonds issued to

the South and North road, a road contemplated from Montgomery to the Tennessee
River at Decatur. I have so charged it upon the president of that road. He denies,

however, that he has received more. I discovered that he had got bonds numbered up
to 2100 and odd, while I was satisfied that he was only entitled to bonds up to No. 11)00,

I gave him notice that he must have the intermediate bonds forthcoming before I

would sign any more bonds for him. lie has not come to me for my signature. That
is only my suspicion, however ; I could not swear to it positively. I will say further

that the commissioners appointed by myself to examine and report 111:011 the character
of the road before indorsements were given I instituted a commission for that pur
pose reported that the road known as General Forrest s road had on hand $60,000 of

bonds for the five miles of road that they examined. I have not had a personal inter

view with the commissioners, andscarcelyknow what that means
;
whether they have

examined five miles of the road that Smith issued bonds for. or not. I do not know. I

suppose, however, the fact is that General Forrest has got $60,000 of bonds for live

miles of the road that really were not completed according to what I conceive to be
the requirements of the law, but what Governor Smith assumed to be according to the

requirements of the law, for he never appointed a single man to examine a single, mile
of road for which he issued bonds.

Question. You mean so far as you know ?

Answer. I instituted inquiries whether commissioners had been appointed according
to law, and I ascertained that they had not been.

Question. Governor Smith had issued the entire amount of bonds for Stanton s road
before the election !

Answer. So we supposed : before he went out, or afterward.

Question. Could he have done it afterward
Ansicer. lie could have signed them afterward. The $500,000 of bonds were not put

upon the market, I understand, until January of this year.
(&amp;gt;&amp;gt;(estion. They might have been signed by Governor Smith even after he went out of

office f

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Do not those bonds require the great seal of ^he State ?

Answer. No, sir; the direct bonds require the great seal of the State, but not the in

dorsed bonds. The indorsed bonds are the bonds of the company, not of the State.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. Do you recognize the indorsement of that $500,000 of bonds ?

Answer. No, sir
;
I have positively repudiated it.

By Mr. POOL :

Question. You spoke of nine hundred men voting on the Alabama and Chattanooga
road for Governor Smith, at the instance of Staiitou. Were they registered ?

Answer. My information is, from the member who represents the county, that Stanton,
on the morning of election, carried up those men in a body, walked them before him
to the registration office, had them registered, and then as each announced his name
he took out a ticket and placed it in his hand, and they passed on 111 regular line to iho

polls and voted ; that is my information.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. Do you mean to say, or to have us understand, that by any provision of law
a governor of Alabama out of office could legally have indorsed those bonds *

Answer. No, sir. I was asked the question whether he signed them before he went out
of office, and my reply was that I could not say whether he did or not!

By Mr. STEVENSON :

Question. I understood you to say that you thought Governor Smith did not know
of this over-issue, or did not know how many he had signed ?
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Anmcer. You misapprehended me if you understood me to say that he did not know
oi the over-issue.

Question. You said that you supposed he did not know the exact number he had

signed .

-
/ . Y.

a,
sir

;
but I am satisfied he knew of this over-issue.

By the CHAIRMAN, (Mr. POLAND :)

()iirt nni. Are those bonds numbered?
Anxwcr. Yes, sir.

thuxfhn. Sofh.-it if then; has been an over-issue it is easy to determine where the

rightful issue should have stopped?
An-irtr. Certainly.

QmxtioH. And what would be the illegal excess?

Auxin r. Yes, sir. By that means I ascertained the number of bonds that the State

i&amp;gt; legally liable for from No. 1 to No. 5300 inclusive.

By Mr. STEVENSON :

Question. I would like to ask one question further in regard to these railroad bonds.

You say the law fixed the limit of time within which these roads must be all finished ?

Answer. No, sir.

ijurxtion. Well, within which they are legally entitled to State indorsement of their

bonds .

Answer. The law is that no road can obtain the benefit of State indorsement after its

expiration in 1871.

(jiuNlioii. The force of the law expires in 1871 ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
but the roads who are the present recipients of this benefit can go

on, under the law, and build ibr years; bul no new road can come in and claim this

benefit.

(Jm xtion. Then in making your estimate of the limit of the liability of the State on
these indorsements, .you took into account the probable number of miles to be con
structed by the roads up to that time ?

. I &amp;gt;i*wcr. For instance, a road has received an indorsement of $320,000 of its bonds,

representing twenty miles of road. It is a road of a length of two hundred miles
;
that

would make the amount of total indorsement about $3,200,000.

iji i-xtioit. What was the political character of the legislature that.passed the original
bill, establishing the railroad policy of the State?

Anxurr. I do not think there was any politics in it; they were all Alabamians
;
that

is the most of politics I know about it.

(^uoil ioii. You have already spoken of the senate as having been composed one-third

of old whigs, one-third of Douglas democrats, and one-third of Breckinridge democrats.
Were there any colored men in the senate ?

A/iKiccr. No, sir.

i&amp;gt;&amp;gt;it xtion. Were there any carpet-baggers in the sense in which you used that term ?

Answer. No, sir; they had not come there then; they did not swarm down there
until reconstruction.

By Mr. COBURN :

Question. You say that you certified to a certain amount of bonds in order that the
interest might he paid on them. Were any other bonds presented to you in order to

obtain your certificate besides the amount you certified to ? *

Anxinr. Perhaps 1 will meet your question by stating the facts. V
&amp;lt;hxtion. That is what I want, in relation to any other outstanding bonds, the inter

est upon which has not been paid.
Anxictr. 1 authorized Duncan, Sherman & Co. to pay the interest upon four thousand

bonds, the number Governor Smith stated in his message had been signed by him ;
that

was the number I conceived the road to be legally entitled to at that time.
&amp;lt;ttu-xl\on. What length of road did that cover?
AHNII-CI: It covered two hundred and fifty miles. Iliad reason to believe that thero

wci-c other bonds in excess of the four thousand; and in my advertisement, published
in the New York Herald and other papers, I required that such bonds in excess should
he presented at the counting-house of Duncan, Sherman & Co. for inspection and for

registration. After that announcement I received information from different parties
that there- were bonds in excess of the four thousand, and up to fifty-three hundred.
None of them were presented to me at all, because I had nothing to do with the pay
ment of the interest

; Duncan, Sherman & Co. are the financial agents of the State. I

asked tor one of the bonds in excess, which was submitted to me for inspection by a

gentleman from Boston.

ijm-xtion. What are the number of those bonds upon which the interest has not been

paid .

: From No. 4000 to the end of the list.
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By Mr. BLAH? :

Question. From No. 4000 to No. 5300?
Answer. Yes, sir, if that is the terminus of the indorsement.

By Mr. COBUHN :

Question. What evidence have you that No. 5300 is the end of the list ?

Answer. After I had discovered it by a very diligent investigation, William II. Smita
called upon me at the St. Nicholas Hotel, and half acknowledged it .himself; and tity

next day D. N. Stanton himself acknowledged it in toto.

Question. Who holds those bonds, so far as you have ascertained ?

Answer. I think that from No. 4000 to No. 47^0 are in the hands of European houses,

partly in the hands of Erlaiiger & Co.; ss0,000 are placed in the hands of the first

trustees under the deed of trust, held and retained by tlxnn because they believed the
road was entitled to but $4,720,000, while $4,800,000 had been issued ; that $*0,000 has
not been sold at all. Between $300,000 and $400,000 are in the hands of a house in

Philadelphia, and ,$30,000 are in the hands of a house in Boston. I do not know
Avhether the balance has or has not been disposed of by the railroad company. I think
the $300,000 is in the hands of Drexel & Co., of Philadelphia, if that is the name of

the house.

By Mr. STEVENSON :

Question. Being in the legislature when this law was passed, do you recollect how you
voted on it !

Answer. I was not present at the final vote
;

I was called home on account of sick
ness in my family. If 1 had been present 1 should have voted for it.

Question. Yon do not object to the policy of the law, then, but to its administration ?

Ansioer. I object to the policy of $16,000 a mile, because I think that is too much;
but I did not, at the time the bill was up, object to Ml J.OOO a mile. The State is rich
in mineral resources

;
the people had become impoverished; and I voted for the hill

notwithstanding my democratic prejudices against internal improvements by the

Government, because I thought it would tend greatly to develop the resources of the
State.

Question. When, and by what legislature, was the amount increased .

A)t*u er. The law was changed variously from the time the reconstruction measures
placed the new government in power.

()ue*tion. The im-rease was made under the reconstruction government ?

A)isirer. Yes, sir.

Question. Was it a party question under the reconstructed government in the legis
lature ?

Answer. I believe all the democrats who were in the legislature voted against it ;

there was only one in the senate, and he had no power. 1 do not think there was any
party question about it.

By Mr. VAN THUMP :

Question. The party in power carried it ?

Answer. Yes. sir.

By Mr. STEVENSON :

Question. Did the democrats make any opposition to it ?

Answer. They voted against it.

Question. In both houses ?

Answer. I think so. I was present and witnessed the scene: I remember very well
I was there as a spectator, and did not leave the senate until 3 o clock in the morning,
trying to defeat the S J,000,000 clause.

Question. That was the land proposition ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. I am speaking now of the increase to sir,000 a mile.

Answer. I do not recollect the position of any particular member.
Question. It is your general impression that the democrats opposed if ?

Answer. Yes, sir; I know the feeling of the State generally is opposed to it.

Question. You referred to one road as General Forrest s road; is that N. B. Forrest ?

Answer, Yes, sir.

Question. He is the president of that road ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Of course if tin-re is any over-issue or any improper practice in regard to
that road, he would have known it?

Answer. Yes, sir, I suppose so. I

By Mr. POOL :

Question. Was there not a general feeling among the people of Alabama that there
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ought to be general internal improvements undertaken in order to get them out of

their generally impoverished situation ?

Aimtnr. I think that was the general feeling.

&amp;lt;hi,*ti,i. That it was the best means to encourage immigration and capital .

Answer. It certainly was.

question. It was because of that general feeling among the people that these rail

road projects wen- undertaken?
A nxin r. Yes, sir.

(hicxiimi. Arc not even the colored people of Alabama in favor of the general re

moval of political disabilities by Congress?
Answer. Yes sir. I will say here that the colored people of Alabama, as a general

thing, are not desirous at all&quot; that the white people there should be their inferiors in

anything. They are ready and willing, and if they had a direct vote upon the question
at ihe ballot-box, would vote for general amnesty to-morrow.

t
t

&amp;gt;in xli&amp;lt;ni. Is that the case with most of the white republicans?
AiiKinr. I do not think it is.

(Jncxlion. You do not think it is?

Atixinr. I do not think it is. I will state the fact that during the pendency of the
rT. -u^truct ion measures I once addressed a colored audience

;
I told them that we

could not support this constitution, and we did not want them to support it, from the

Dimple tact that it was disfranchising some of their best friends, and amongst them
myself, for example. There was a single shout that they did not want any man to be
disfranchised. I will say that the colored people of the State of Alabama have acted,
with some exceptions, of course, admirably in this matter; they are not to blame if

they could be let alone.
&amp;lt;

t
&amp;gt;ti&amp;lt; xtion. You think the fact that disabilities have not been removed has led to dis

satisfaction, and that if they should be removed there would be less disorder?
Answer. I think there would be a great deal more satisfaction. But, as I said before,

the disorders of the State of Alabama are now passing away; they have been frowned
down by the very men whose disabilities are still resting upon them. I do not think
the removal of disabilities would effect much change in that regard.

{Jncvlion. You would uot say, then, that any of the outrages, such as scourgings and
outrages of a more heinous character, committed by organized bauds of disguised men
upon colored people, was the result of the policy of imposing political disabilities upon
the people ?

Anstcer. I do not think that had anything to do with any outrage that has been
committed upon a colored man. And I will further say, that I do not think there ever
was a political motive in any outrage committed upon a colored man; of my own
personal knowledge I know of none.

Question. Have you ever canvassed the southern portion of the State of Alabama ?

AHNnrr. I have spoken in some ofthe counties ofSouth Alabama, but in comparatively
few of them. During the last canvass I did not penetrate the

%
southern portion of

Alabama, what we call the Black Belt, and for this simple reason: We tried to avoid
^

political discussion as much as possible; we did not think it was necessary, and we
*

wanted as much harmony and peace to prevail during the canvass as could be
obtained. We wanted to leave the people to their own free will to vote just as they
thought proper. Hence, on the day of this Euta\v affair, I had been invited to speak
there

;
the invitation did not reach me, however, but I would not have been there had

it reached me. We were determined that in the election it should be proved to the

country that every man in Alabama could have the right to vote and think on poli-
cal matters just as he pleased, and we wanted to test the result upon that principle. 5
1 never met Governor Smith in the canvass.

Question. Have you had any superior opportunities of knowing the sentiments of the

people, of Alabama other than that of having been a State senator ?

Answer. Well, as the executive of the State, and as a citizen, I have been in various

portions of the State, time and again, from Mobile to the Tennessee line
;
I have had

a .ureat many business transactions in Mobile, and in Sumter County in West Ala- ^

bama
;

I have been in Montgomery ;
and my opportunities have been rather extensive&quot;*

1han otherwise
;
more extensive than most gentlemen have had in the South.

Question. Were your opportunities any more extensive than those of Governor Par
sons .

Answer. I should think they were ; I think that Governor Parsons s movements were
conlineil rat lu-r to his own localities than to the State .at large. I met Governor Par
sons in Mobile in 1H(58, when he made a celebrated speech then , I never knew him in
our section of the State, in North Alabama, at all. During the last canvass he was
confined to n trial at Paytona, and did not speak at all.

Question. Is he in the middle belt ?

No, sir
;
he is in the mountain belt.

. I thought you were in the northern belt of the State.
1 am.
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Question. And that he lived in a different section.

Answer. He does; but the northern belt extends from one hundred to one hundred
and fifty miles, and he lives on one side of it and I on the opposite side.

Question. Have you ever been in the county of Greene ?

Answer. Only once; during the war.

Question. Have you been in any of the adjacent counties ?

Answer. Sumter is one of the adjacent counties
;
I know that very well.

Question. You say that, in your opinion, when the war closed, there was a general
disposition on the part of the people of Alabama to accept the situation upon the terms
of the capitulation ?

Answer. I think there was.

Question. What did they understand those terms to be, and how different from the
reconstruction policy of Congress ?

Answer. They understood those terms to be that the State governments should move
on and be conducted in their operations precisely as they were prior to the war: that
the States would have the right, the same as prior to the war, to regulate their own
political affairs

;
that the electors of the States should have their character given to

them by the State legislature, saving and excepting those included in President John
son s proclamation, in which, I believe, there were eleven classes of exceptions. They
were willing to accept that condition of affairs, hoping that time would change and
remove the disabilities imposed upon those exceptional classes. The legislatures met,
and, as I can say, legislated entirely in accordance with the spirit of freedom to the

negroes, at least, so far as Alabama was concerned. In the Alabama legislature we
endeavored to establish such an. order of things as would harmonize with that freedom.
Of course, there were many provisions of our laws which were crude: those, time cer

tainly would have changed. But I believe that the spirit which animated the legisla
ture was a desire to give to the negro race all the rights and privileges that they be
lieved the liegro at that time was capable of exercising. Of course, the negro race

having just come out of a system of slavery, the views of the white race were neces

sarily narrowed upon that questian. But it was astonishing how great an advance
ment was made in that regard during the brief session of three months. Men who, in

December, went into the legislature, in February came out with views greatly ad
vanced with regard to the proper legislation in reference to the negro race.

Question, (live us some, of the items of that legislation in reference to the police, reg
ulations of the negro, their labor upon plantations, fcc., adopted by that legislature.

Answer. It is almost impossible for me to speak upon that point with any accuracy,
from the simple fact that a great many laws were changed by subsequent legislatures,
which changes have never been called to my attention.

Question. The laws have since been made more liberal to the negroes?
Answer. Yes. sir; because, in the first place, under our legislation the negro has no

vote. I may say here that I do remember one law that was enacted; we gave
them the right to testify in courts. That was a subject of long and earnest discussion,
and it was in connection with that law that the change manifested itself, to which I

have alluded. There was great opposition to allowing them to testify; but finally it

went on until there, was no opposition at all. That was one law. Then there was a.

restraining law, called the vagrant law.

Question. Tell us about that.

Answer. I do not remember the provisions of that law
; however, they were very

stringent.

By the CHAIRMAN, (Mr. POLAND :)

Question. Was the law which you passed allowing the negroes to testify a law giv
ing him an unrestricted and general right to testify in all cases, the same as white men
had /

Answer. More so, it allowed them to testify in their own cases.

By Mr. POOL :

Question. You passed the recent English provision upon that subject&quot;?

Answer. Yes, sir ; it was an advancement upon the rights which the whites had pos
sessed. The vagrant law was a strict vagrant law, and applicable to both white and
blacks.

Question. State some of the provisions of that law.
Anaicer. I do not think I could state any of its provisions; I only remember the gen

eral tenor of the law; I have never examined it since the day it was passed.
Question. Is it in the statutes of Alabama ?

Answer. I think it is in the code of Alabama
;

it was incorporated in the code adopted
at that session of the

legislature.
Question. As the people of Alabama understood the terms of capitulation, was any

one disfranchised from holding office ?

Answer. No, sir.
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Question. They considered that feature of the reconstruction acts a violation of the

terms of capitulat ion .

Aiixu-tr. 1 do not think that I have ever heard that provision mentioned in connec
tion with a violation of the terms of capitulation ; they considered it a violation of the

constitutional rights guaranteed under that capitulation.

(Jiti-xfioH. Then I understand you to express the opinion that it was the reconstruc

tion policy &amp;lt;f Congress, embracing the constitutional amendments as well as the re

construct ion acts, that gave the general dissatisfaction that was manifested in the

1 think the fourteenth amendment and the reconstruction measures together

gave universal dissatisfaction. The amendment to the constitution emancipating the

negroes gave no dissatisfaction, for the simple fact that by the convention that met
in l&amp;gt;-i

;.&quot;&amp;gt;,
under the proclamation of President Johnson, emancipation was incorporated

into the constitution of the State of Alabama.

(Jucxlion. You think it was the fourteenth amendment, together with the reconstruc

tion acts of Congress, what is generally embraced in the term reconstruction policy of

Congress, that gave ilissat isfactiou.

Aitaiccr. It gave great dissatisfaction.

(Jiu stion. Would the white people of Alabama ever have consented by their suffrages
to nave accepted the reconstruction policy of Congress?
Arnica: I think it would have taken considerable tiuie to have got them to do so.

(jiH-slion. Could Congress have put its reconstruction policy into operation without
the negro vote ?

AH nicer. If Congress had passed the law, I believe there would have been no resist

ance to it, but there would have been a very dogged submission.

(Jncxlum. A part of the reconstruction policy was to submit it to the people for their

adoption?
Amiti iT. If it had been submitted to the white people of Alabama, the reconstruction

measures would have been defeated beyond all question.
QucaHon. By a large majority ?

Answer, I do not think they would have voted in its favor 5,000 votes.

Qui-xtion. So the only mode Congress had of putting that reconstruction policy into

operation, under the forms of election^ and laws, was by admitting the colored people
to the ballot-box?

AitxH-t-r. I cannot say that, from* the simple fact that they were admitted to the ballot-

box. and it was then defeated.
. It could not have been put into operation by the white people of the State.

No, sir
;
the white vote was almost a unit against it.

. Whatever the opposition then was, whatever is the opposition now, or has
been, it has been on account of the reconstruction policy of Congress, directed to that
and not the Government itself.

I do not think there is any hostility to the Government of the United States
on the part of the people of Alabama

;
when I say that I speak in general terms. I

think there is rather a desire that the legislation of Congress should be such as to

remove the causes of unkindly feeling on their part towards the Government. And, as
I said before, whenever a measure of a kindly character has been passed by the Con
gress of the United States, it seems to have lifted a load from the people, to have

brought them towards the Government of the United States with more affection for it.

That has been my feeling, and it has been the feeling of those immediately around me,
so far as I have observed, and the feeling generally of the people of the State. I think

that, take the week before the reconstruction measures became the laws of the country,
and the week after, there was a very decided difference in the feelings of the people.
I really believed, at the time the reconstruction measures came upon us, and I so stated,
that in two years the Union feeling in the State of Alabama, and in all the Southern

States, would be greater than in Massachusetts, such was the growth of it then
going on.

Question. Is not the negro suffrage feature of the reconstruction policy the main
thing which they dislike .

Aiixim: I must confess that there is a great change in that regard. We are getting
to think that perhaps our representation in Congress needs that sort of thing; we
are beginning to think that negro voting will not be such a bad thing after all; we
may get one or two members of Congress in Alabama by it, and thus offset Massa
chusetts. Allow me to make a remark here: there is the very kindliest feeling
exist ing bet ween the two races; lam glad to bear testimony to that fact. There is

occasionally a disturbance, got up, but the negro race are not to blame for it, and the
White people of Alabama know it. I know of no man in the State of Alabama to-day
who has not a kindly feeling toward the negro. They

c^&amp;gt;

not charge these disturb
ances against t hem.

]Jy Mr. VAX TRUMP:

Question. Against whom do they charge them ?
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Answer. Against designing men who have come among them for the purpose of

manipulating the negro vote for their own aggrandizement, and that alone. I believe

that if a half a dozeii men would take a notion to leave the State of Alabama, there

would not be a hard feeling, nor the report of one in the State. I believe that the

negro race would just vote as they pleased; and I believe they would vote the repub
lican ticket to a great extent.

By Mr. POOL :

Question. Could you name that half a dozen men?
Answer. I would rather not name them.

Question. I will not insist upon it.

Answer. I do not desire

By Mr. VAX THUMP :

Question. To make more difficulty ?

Answer. I do not wish to make special cases at all, because there is not a man in the

State of Alabama, that I know of, toward whom I have an unkindly feeling.

By Mr. STEVENSON :

Question. Do those half a dozen of men belong all to one part}*, the same party ?

Ansiver. &quot;Well, the half a dozen that I refer to, do.

Question. Would it not do the State some good if some men of the other party should
leave also ?

Answer. I think it likely that both parties could spare some. But when I spoke of

those half a dozen men, I spoke in connection with the question of raising feuds be
tween negroes and white men.

By Mr. POOL :

Question. When colored men in the various localities of the State are whipped and
outraged by these disguised parties, do the white people rise up and ferret out the
offenders ?

Answer. Well, as to ferreting them out by the people
1 at large, I cannot say that they

do. That matter is always intrusted to our courts of justice : we have a justice of the

peace in every precinct, and constables, and. as courts of inquiry and conservators of
the peace, it is their duty by the statutes to bring offenders to justice. But, in regard
to my immediate home, I will say that I have never known an injury done to a negro
man, I have never known an injustice done to a negro man, that was not condemned
by the people. And I have never known a negro man nor a negro woman to fail to

receive 4 strict and exact justice in the courts.

Question. I understood you to say that you had never known one of these disguised
men to be convicted in the courts.

Answer. Did I not say with the exception of Lauderdale County ?

Question. You spoke of some disguised negroes in Lauderdale county.
Answer. No; they were in my own county.
Question. What was that case in Lauderdale County ?

Answer. I could not name the parties; but there were some parties prosecuted in
Lauderdale County and bound over. I think I mentioned Lauderdale County yes
terday.

Question. With that exception, then, you have not known the courts to take up and
bind over these Ku-Klux ?

Ansiver. I have no recollection now of any Ku-Klnx or disguised men being con
victed.

Question. The courts, then, do not interfere and protect the negro people against such

outrages; they have not done so; and you have not known -of any general uprising of
the white people to protect them against such outrages?

Answer. The popular sentiment is very strong against thorn. And our judge of the
circuit court is not only very severe in his charges, and in his denunciations of them,
but he is absolutely bitter

;
he is neither sparing in his language nor in his instruc

tions to the jury to ferret them out and bring them to justice.

Question. Notwithstanding which they have not been ferreted out ?

Answer. I have said that 1 have known none of them convicted.

Question. It would require a. public sentiment to enable the courts to discharge their
duties efficiently in that regard, would it not?

Answer, il believe that public sentiment is the great administrator of justice.
(Question. And notwithstanding the stringency of your judge s charges, that public

sentiment has been wanting to such an extent that not a man of them has yet been
convicted?

Anxicer. The public sentiment against disguised men in the State of Alabama, so far
as I know, and 1 think I know the sentiment of the entire State, is not only earnest,
but openly and publicly avowed by the leading and substantial citizens of every sec

tion. Our newspapers are at this time, and I think generally have been, unequivocal
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in their denunciations of outrages by disguised men, or by any other lawless body of

(jin-Htion. If a band of negroes should go to the house of a white man, a member of

tin- democratic paiiy, Jit night, and take him from his bed, and strip him and scourge
him. would there or would there not be a general outcry and rising up of the com

munity to bring the offenders to justice?
Answer. It depends entirely upon the character of the white man. . f he was a bad

man, or charged with crime of an aggravated character, I do not think they would put
themselves to any trouble about it. I think that the same effort would be made as

with regard to a colored man. I say this from the simple fact that I have myself seen

a difficulty between a white man and a colored man
;
the colored man was the more

honorable man of the two; and there was not a man in the crowd of iifty but what
was on the side of the colored man.

Qm-xtion. Then I understand you to mean to say that if the white man was charged
with crime, and a body of colored men should go to his house at night, take him from
his bed, scourge him with whips, after stripping him, it would not produce any great
rising up of the community, and an endeavor to ferret out the offenders?

Answer. 1 have said it would depend entirely upon the character of the man.
innx/ion. I have said &quot;

charged with crime.&quot; You think that a man in Alabama

charged with crime might be subjected to such an outrage without any general rising

up of the community in his defense ?

AHKICCI . Understand me, the people are not in the habit, as a body, of taking the

laws into their own hands, neither when a man commits a crime, nor where he is offens

ive : they intrust that to the officers of the law. And I do not think they would do

anything more in regard to good white men than they would in regard to good colored

men
;
that is my belief. I have a colored man who has lived with me for years ;

I be
lieve there are some men in the town of TuscuniUia who would protect him, as many
men who would protect him in his rights to-day as would protect any white man
within the limits of the community, simply because he is a high-toned, honorable
colored man, and a good man, as I have known him to be for twenty years. It is true
that a lawless white man might rise up and seek revenge.

Question. Have you ever heard of any body of colored men going to the house of a
white man, taking him from his bed at night, stripping and scourging him, because he
was accused of crime and generally supposed to be guilty of it ?

Answer. I never knew of such a case.

Question. You never knew that to occur in Alabama?
Answer. No, sir

;
as a general thing the colored men have behaved pretty well.

Question. I understood you to say that the first legislature that assembled after the

war, under what is called President Johnson s policy, refused to accept the fourteenth
amendment ?

Answer. They refused to accept it.

Question. By how large a vote ?

Answer. I do not believe it ever reached a vote in the house
;
I think we rejected it in

the senate, with about five, perhaps, voting for it
;
I cannot speak precisely as to the

number.
Question. You gave the complexion of the legislature approximately as one-third old

Bell and Everett men, one-third Douglas democrats, and one-third Breckinridge dem
ocrats ?

Answei . That was about the proportion, I think.

Question. Was it understood that the Breckiuridgo democrats were original soces-

sionists, and the others not ?

Answer. No, I cannot say that they were original secessionists, because during the
contest in the election which resulted in the election of President Lincoln, the ques
tion of secession was not the main question in the canvass. Many voted for Mr.
Breckiuridgo who afterward were opposed to secession. But 1 was speaking in regard
to the complexion of the senate when I stated that.

(Jin xtiuii. Then you mean to say that all the Breckinridge democrats in the legisla
ture were not in favor of the secession movement?

. J//M(vr. I could not speak accurately upon that subject ;
I do not remember.

Question. Were any of the Douglas democrats who were in the legislature in favor
of secession ?

1 do not think they were.
. &quot;Were any of the Bell and Everett division in favor of secession 1
My impression is there were none.

. Then, under that showing, how did the State secede?
How did it secede? We had various reasons at the time how it seceded.

. Were 1lie majority of the people of Alabama in favor of secession ?

We did not think so; the anti-secessionists charged that a majority were
not in favor of secession

;
but there were two or three counties counted out. At all

events, the State seceded.
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Question. Now tell rue how many Douglas democratic members of the legislature
went heartily into the rebellion after it commenced, upon the idea that they must go
with their State, or upon any other idea?
Answer. I expect that all pretended they went in.

Question. Were there any who did riot?

Answer. I do not know of any.

Question. You do not know of any in the legislature who did not go into the rebel

lion
;
how about the Bell and Everett portion ?

Answer. I expect they all sided with Alabama in that contest.

Question. You think all went into the rebellion ?

Answer. I do not know whether they all went in; a, great many of us did not go
far in.

Question. Were a great many of them active and earnest during the progress of the

rebellion, taking prominent parts, holding prominent positions ?

Answer. No, sir; none in the legislature occupied any prominent position during the

rebellion, except there was a Colonel Jackson, and a Colonel Powell
;

I believe they
&quot;were secessionists.

Question. Could you in 1864 perceive any difference between the earnestness of the

Breckinridge men and the earnestness of the great body of the Douglas men and the
Bell and Everett men in their aid to the rebellion ?

Austcer. Well, really, I cannot speak as to that, because we were in an excited state
at that time, and I do not think we thought anything much about Bell and Everett
men or Douglas men, or Brcekinridge men, at Uiat time. Some of the leading Douglas
men were charged at Montgomery with entering into a combination to put an end to
the war and to get back into the Union.

(Question. Then I understand you to mean that the three classifications given by you
indicated the degree of earnestness ui the participation of the respective members of

those classifications during the progress of the rebellion ?

Answer. No, sir; I do not mean to indicate that.

Question. You spoke of four of your negroes going to vote on an occasion when you
could not vote ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And that you felt bad about it ?

Answer. Well, not so very bad
;
I felt a little sore.

Question. Why could you not vote /

Answer. The reconstruction measures prohibited me from voting.
Question. Why f

Answer. Because prior to the war I had been a member of the legislature, and I took
a slight part in the rebellion.

Question. What part did you take?
Answer. Not much

;
I was never much of a soldier; it did not suit me.

Question. You were prohibited from voting because you took part in the rebellion f

Answer. Yes, sir
;
I considered that I had done enough in the rebellion to come within

the purview of the reconstruction measures, and of course I could not take the oath.

Question. You say that at one time you wrote a letter giving a general review of the
condition of things in Alabama, and advising the people to accept the situation. At
what time was that ?

Answer. It was in the beginning of I860.

Question. You said that letter was generally discussed all over the State ?

Answer. It is discussed to this day.
Question. And you think it was because of that letter that you were selected from

among the great number of democrats in Alabama as their candidate for governor?
Answer. I will not say that was the cause of it

;
but I will say that that letter was

discussed by the democracy at the time of the nomination; and although at one time
it had been assailed, yet upon general examination they believed that it expressed the
sentiments of the people of Alabama

; they believed that upon doctrines such as were
contained in that letter I could run the race successfully.

Question. They thought that letter gave you perhaps a better chance of election than
other democrats had ?

Answer. I think it had some influence in that respect.
Question. Was it because it was supposed that it would bring to you republican votes,

or the votes of moderate men ?

Answer. No, sir; it was because they did not think that a man who had been iden
tified with extreme opinions could receive the votes of the democratic party in Alabama.

Question. You were somewhat distinguished above others in 18G9 by the publication
of such sentiments ?

Answer. That was the first letter upon that subject from any man who had been, iu

public life.

Question. And some denunciation was heaped upon you at that time on account of it ?

Answer. One or two newspapers assailed me because I had written it, and because of
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the inan to whom I wrote it, who was rather obnoxious. I addressed it to a republi
can. and they began to think that I was going over to the republicans. That was the

iviiM.n that i was somewhat assailed ;
but I did not go.

(nxxlioit. When you spoke of the people of Alabama being opposed to the reconstruc

tion policy of Congress, and having been indignant at it, you used the phrase
&quot;

people
of Alabama.&quot; What do you mean by people of Alabama

j
do you mean the colored

people .

Aumnr. No,- sir
;
I mean the white people ;

I mean the electors of the State under the

laws existing ttl the time of the passage of the reconstruction measures, the voters

under the old system.
Qm xiioH. You spoke of the disfranchising clause in the constitution of Alabama as

being-obnoxious : what is it?

Aiixinr. li was an embodiment of the reconstruction measures; under it I could not
hold office.

Qiuxl on. Was it anything more than that ?

Answer I think not, but I forget now the particulars; it was an embodiment of the

reconstruction measures.

Qiicxtion. 1 1 imposed no disabilities beyond what the reconstruction measures imposed ?

Auwir. That, and the fourteenth amendment.
Qm-xtioH. The fourteenth amendment is a part of the reconstruction policy ?

A n*ic&amp;lt; r. Yes, sir.

Was there any disfranchisemcnt in your constitution outside of and beyond
that imposed by the reconstruction policy of Congress ?

r. 1 do not remember all the provisions ;
I would have to examine them before

I could speak accurately upon that subject.

(Jm-xlion. You do not remember any of them ?

Aiixn-t-r. I do not remember them. .

(juixilnn. If there Iiad been any beyond that, would it not probably have specially
attracted your attention.

Answer. I think it would; they were afterward removed by legislation.

Question. What is the senate basis of representation in your State ? Is it taxation or

population ?

J//.SH-CT. It is population. The constitution limits the number of members of the
senate to thirty-three, each one representing a certain number of population.

nucxlion. Do you mean to say that in districting the State they gave one of those

thirty-three senators to a less number of population than was entitled to a senator ?

JWtr. The distribution Avas unequal.
(Jnextion. To a less number of population than one- thirty-third part of the popula

tion of the State?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Including the colored population also ?

JM.SMW. Including everything.
Oticxlion. That was a clear violation of your constitution, was it not ?

Answer. It is sometimes impossible to distribute them precisely equally, on account
of the counties

;
but it was a clear violation of the spirit of the constitution.

Question. It being impossible to make an exactly equal distribution, was there not a
provision of your constitution to carry over the excess from one district to another ?

Answer. The constitution provided what should be a senatorial district. For exam
ple, the county of Madison was to be a senatorial district ; the counties of Franklin
and Lawrence constituted a senatorial district; the counties of Lauderdale and Lime-
si OIK- constituted a senatorial district; the county of Sumter was a senatorial district.
That is provided in the constitution until a new apportionment is made.

tJiH xtion. That runs through all the counties f

Answer. Yes, sir
;

all the districts were designated by the constitution itself, until
fui u iv. legislation, based upon an enumeration of the people.

Qncxtion. I thought it was by legislative enactment, as in my own State.
JHMHT. No, sir

;
not yet.

(Jiiixtton. 1 now come more particularly to the subject of our general inquiry. I un
derstood you to say that the dockets of your State, so far as you have seen them, show
a marvelous! y small number of crimes at this time.
Anxn cr. Yes, sir.

(
t
nn.-&amp;lt;!nni. And you accounted for that because you thought the people were less ad

dicted to liquor : you gave that as one reason that there were fewer feuds and fewer
personal difficulties.

Amtnr. I stated, if I recollect rightly, that during the last twelve months there were
iewer crimes commit t ed in the Slate of Alabama than during any twelve months since
the formation of the State government in 1819. That conclusion is the result of my
own observation, as well as of information derived from other sources* I have called
the attention to that fact of many leading lawyers and citi/ens of the State, who have
invariably agreed with me. I think I stated that a reference to our criminal dockets
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would show that to be the fact. In my particular section, of which I have a more
accurate knowledge than any other, I know that to be the fact. I may say that I have

never known a section of any country so entirely exempt from crime, and especially

crimes of a higher nature, than my own section. I thiiik there are various reasons

which have produced this good effect. Among other things, the people are better off

in our mountain region* than they ever were at any time before. Their labor has been

more remunerative
; they perform their own work in the fields; they do not employ

labor. Cotton selling at from 8100 to $150 a bale remunerates the man who does his

own labor to the amount of three times. While it is advancing the comforts of the

white laborer who cultivates his own lauds, it is, to a certain extent, impoverishing the

man who employs labor, simply because the expense of provisions, of implements, and
of mules has all increased in a greater ratio than the increased price of cotton. For

example, before the war you could buy bacon at 10 cents a pound ;
now yon have to pay

22 cents; and the white&quot; man who labors in our section of the country raises his own
meat. In other words, his expenses are increased, while the increase of the price of his

products of labor are trebled.

By Mr. STEVENSON:

Question. And the result is a tendency to equalize the fortunes of the people ?

Aiimccr. Yes, sir. Hence the people are more industrious, because, their industry is

better compensated. Being more industrious, there is more sobriety, more pride of

character, more disposition to be kindly toward each other. Instead of those old-

fashioned southwestern feuds and personal rencounters that took place before the war,

you rarely ever hear of them now.

By Mr. POOL :

Queslion. Before the Avar all petty crimes committed by the slaves were punished by
the master?

JMNHYT. Yes, sir; all crimes below a felony.

QitcxttoH. Now all that class of crimes come into the courts ?

Anxicer. Yes, sir.

QucHtion. And you still say that, notwithstanding that addition to the criminal dock
ets of the State, those dockets in the aggregate show a less amount of crime than
when only the white men were indicted, as before the war ?

Aiixim: Yes, sir.

Question. Does not that speak volumes for the colored man ?

Aiimccr. It speaks volumes for the white man. too; for 1 believe there, have been fewer
colored men whipped by white men during the last two years than in any two years
during slavery, unless by their masters. I believe that what I may call outsiders have

whipped fewer colored men within the last two years than were whipped during that

same length of time while they were; slaves and under tin? protection of masters. I

have known very few colored men whipped. There is the kindliest feeling existing
between the races. It does seem to me that those prominent cases that are brought
before the public eye are only indications of the non-existence of others. They are iso

lated, and become more prominent on that account. As I say. there, have been whip
pings; my information is that there have been. But as to its being a general thing, I

think I am in a condition to deny it, and to say that there is the kindliest feeling be
tween the white race and the black race. It is very rarely that you will hear of a
disturbance between a white man and a black man. But, I repeat, an isolated case will

occur, and particularly when it can have given to it a political tendency and intluence

it is made so much the more prominent; especially when you go away from home it

becomes more prominent.
(Jtu-xtioH. That question was preliminary to one which I now desire to ask. Is there

anything in the conduct of the colored people in the State of Alabama, any misbehavior
or &quot;turbulence, that, would invite such outrages as are charged against the Ku-Klux, or

these organizations of disguised men, or that would make such things necessary for the

well-being of society ?

Answer. There have been some very bad and turbulent negroes,,who have undertaken
to assume social rights and privileges which the whites would not accord to them;
nor could it be expected that they should accord them to theui. But take the colored

population of the State of Alabama generally, they have been exceedingly well-

behaved, and are at this day exceedingly well-behaved. The turbulent negroes, just
like turbulent white men, will bring disrepute upon communities and upon races.

But I am very glad that I have an opportunity of saying that, so far as my information
and knowledge and personal experience go, for the last two years especially, the con
duct of the colored people, as a whole, has been excellent. During the pendency of
the reconstruction measures, at the time they were about to be clothed with political

rights and political equality with the white man, and under the intluence of men who
wanted to convert tjiem into instruments for their own advancement, the negro popu
lation in towns was disposed to be exceedingly insolent. They had been told that the
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white man of the South was naturally their enemy; this I know to be the fact. They
were told that having been the property of the white people of the South, and having
been freed out of their hands through the power of the United States Government,
they Avert- naturally their enemies; that antagonism to the white race was their only
salvation, and especially was it the only security of their political equality. Under
influences of that character the negro race at that time became exceedingly insolent.

They banded together in Union Leagues; I have seen them in their marches and

parade*. They were disposed to be insolent
; they were disposed to get into a drunken

disposition I use that expression not in its literal sense to assert their rights, think

ing that such assertion was necessary to their maintenance. But that all passed away
in a short t inie, and they now go to the polls and vote there, and get into their political

squabbles and frolics just as the whites do. I can say that the negro race of Alabama
are at this moment, as a body, a well-behaved people.

&amp;lt;

t
&amp;gt;ntN(ion. \\hatwerethosesocialrightswhich you say these few turbulent negroes

propose to assert, the right to do what?
Answer. Really it would be hard to tell; there is as much in the manner as in tho

fact. For example, I have known instances where they would rush right into a church,
without any change having taken place, where the white people were sitting ;

not

that they had no place to sit in, but simply to show their equality. They would curse
the poor white trash, and one thing and another. It is a very hard question to answer
in detail. But I have known such instances as this: A negro woman would go into

the body of a white church, take a seat in a pew that did not belong to her, and she
v as allowed to sit there and not be turned out. They would curse the white children

;

they would assume rights about the house they had not been accustomed to. But, as
I have said, that has all passed away, and to-day the feelings between the races I

think are very good.
Question. When you spoke of northern men, some of them being disturbers of the pub

lic peace, what did you mean by that ?

Answer. My last anawer would indicate somewhat what I meant.

Question. That is the reason I asked you the question in this connection.

Antwer. Prior to the war, it is my recollection that the Methodist Church had estab
lished a system of colored churches in the South, and had licensed colored preachers,
although slaves. Missionaries from the northern church, professedly so, came to the

South, and used their influence and persuasion to divide the southern colored church.

By Mr. VAN TKUM? :

Question. Came since the war ?

Answer. Yes, sir, under reconstruction.

By Mr. POOL:

Question. You mean during the time of reconstruction ?

Answer. Yes, sir
; they came there and endeavored to induce the colored people to

separate from the southern conference, and to unite with the Methodist Church North.
As I stated on yesterday, I believe, there was a very signal instance of that in my own
town. There are to-day two churches there, one belonging to the Methodist Church
North and the other to the Methodist Church South. And the feud is still existing
among them

;
not a violent feud leading to any violation of tho peace, or any personal

conflicts, but still a feud. As I understand, and as it was generally understood, these

missionaries, in order to seduce them from their allegiance to the southern church,
inspired them with a hate toward the people of the South, or endeavored to do so,

alleging, as I have already said, that the people of the South were their natural ene
mies. They went so far as to say that whenever the time should arrive that the dem
ocratic party would come into power they would put them back into slavery. They
told them that they had better unite themselves with the northern church as a meas
ure of safety, not only for their religious, but for their physical freedom. We consider
them disturbers of the peace, as persons endeavoring to get up antagonisms between
the races which would result in great injury both to the social and the material inter
ests of the country. Whenever such a man came among us we endeavored to frown
him down. I never knew, however, of one being physically maltreated; personally
1 know of no instance of that kind. In fact, they have had wonderful liberties, and
the people bore with them, I think, to a marvelous degree; to such a degree that I
have no idea iiiat a single community in the Northern States would .for one moment
permit a southern man to go there and express such opinions as they expressed in our
midst and endeavor to get up a hostility between two classes of people. Hence, if

there is a dislike to carpet-baggers, it has its origin in that.

By Mr. VAN THUMP :

Quctflion. Whether political or religious ?

Answer. Whether political or religious.



ALABAMA. 209

By Mr. POOL :

Question. You have spoken of the election laws of the State, under which this uni

versal franchise is exercised, requiring the registration
of all voters prior to their de

positing their ballots. Is there any penalty against registering contrary to law ?

Answer. 1 think there is a very heavy penalty; there is a heavy penalty for false

swearing.
Question. That embraces the proposition that he is qualified under the Jaw to regis

ter&quot;?

Answer. I think so.

Question. There is a heavy penalty attached to that ?

Answer. I think it is made a penitentiary offense. He is required before registering,
and that is the only qualification, to subscribe to an oath. If he swears falsely he is

subject to a criminal indictment as for a felony, I think.

Question. But when he is registered, he then has a right to vote without being chal

lenged ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. No man can challenge him, because the only question at the ballot-box is,

has he registered? Have there been any prosecutions for illegal registering I

Answer. I know of none.

Question. Has that provision of the law in regard to registering and voting been re

pealed ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Has there been a bill introduced into your legislature to repeal it ?

Answer. I cannot say whether there has or not
; my impression is that one was intro

duced into the house of representatives.

Question. Was it ever voted on ?

Answer. I do not know what its condition was.

Question. Has your legislature adjourned .

Answer. It has adjourned.
Question. 1 understand, then, that the distinguishing feature of the election law of

Alabama is. that a man is punished for illegal registering, but having registered, he is

not punished for illegal voting, and cannot be challenged ?

Answer. He is punished for swearing falsely that he is entitled to register.

Question. It every voter might be challenged, and his right to vote not be settled by
the fact of his registration, but had to be inquired into upon the spot, while the elec

tion was going on, might it not delay other voters who desired to deposit their ballots

while the investigation was going on in the case ?

Answer. That would depend greatly upon the mode prescribed by law for contesting
the challenge.

Question. Who decides the challenge, the judges of election?

Answer. There is no challenge 111 our State.

Question. Who did before the war I

Answer. The judges of election.

Question. Could they receive ballots while deciding upon a challenge and hearing the
evidence ?

Answer. I do not remember how they used to do
; I remember there used to be chal

lenging before the war, but I never knew any serious injury to result from the power
of challenging at the ballot-box.

Question. How long does your election continue ?

Answer. One day.
Question. How long does the registration continue ?

Answer. Yon can register at any time, before the probate court

Question. At any time ?

Answer. That is my recollection of the law.

Question. Suppose that in an ordinary precinct in your State one hundred men were

challenged upon the same day, and the old law was in operation, by which the judges
of election who received the ballots had to stop and inquire into those challenges,
would it not break up the election ?

Answer. I have no doubt it would interfere very seriously with it.

Question. It would prevent other men from voting who had a right to vote?
Answer. I think the challenge of one hundred men would be a very serious impedi

ment.

Question. Persons having the physical force at a precinct might, by challenges, break

up an election under cover of law f

Answer. That is a possibility.

Question. There has been no effort to repeal that law ?

Answer. In my message to the legislature I recommended its repeal.

Question. But the legislature did not follow your recommendation ?

Answer. They did not pass any law pursuant to the recommendation, from the simple

14
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reason, as I understood at the time, that the senate which passed the law was the

serial e to which my recommendation was sent.

nutxthn. I understand you to say, then, that in Alabama there is
^a very stringent

Law against registering falsely 1 .

Answer. My recollection is that if is made a felony,

Qucxtfaii. And a penitentiary offense?

J.svr. Felony under our statute law is confined to penitentiary offenses.

Qui-xtinn. So that a man who would illegally register and illegally vote in Alahama
would be Hal&amp;gt;le to very severe punishment!
Answer. It he registered illegally.

(Jitrxiion. Whether ho voted or not?

Answer. He might vote without registration.

QncxlHDi. Would he do it ?

Answer, lie might.

By Mr. STEVENSON :

Qu&amp;lt;*tivn.
And there is nothing to prevent him from doing so?

Ant/war. No, sir.

By Mr. POOL :

Question. You cannot challenge a man who is not registered?
Answer. You caimot challenge at all. The language of the law is this : &quot;That there

shall be no challenging of electors offering to vote at any election hereafter held iu

this State, and any registered voter offering to vote at any election in this State shall

be allowed to do so without question, challenge, or objection by any person; and any
person who questions, challenges, or objects, or who unlawfully hinders or delays any
person offering to vote shall be guilty of a misdemeanor, and on conviction shall be
fined five hundred dollars, and on failure to pay the same shall be imprisoned in the

county jail for six months.&quot;

Question. The term &quot;

registered voter&quot; is used in a portion of that sentence.

Answer. Our understanding of the law is, and the practice is, that no man dare chal

lenge another at the polls under any circumstances.

Question. Is a man an elector unless he is registered ?

Answer. I do not think he is.

Question. This section provides against the challenge of electors.

Answer. It says in one place
&quot;

any person attempting to vote.&quot; The practice is, that
no man is challenged. In my message to the legislature, I stated that a foreigner or a
minor could vote at the polls without being challenged. And, as an evidence of what
that law is, I will say further that a man is not allowed to go within a certain number
of feet of the polls, unless when he goes up to deposit his ballot; I think it is within

thirty feet of the polls. The practice is, that no man, whoever he may be, minor, for

eigner, alien, or non-resident, can be challenged at the polls in Alabama, without sub

jecting the challenger to the penalty of the law.

Question. Suppose you were to challenge an unregistered man, and give as a reason
for your challenge that he was not registered do you believe you would be liable to
an indictment for misdemeanor under this act of the legislature ?

Answer. That is a legal question.
Question. Well, that is the question we are now examining.
Answer. I think, under the letter of the statute, I clearly would be liable to indict

ment.

Question. Whether the man wus an elector or not ?

Ansiccr. I do not care who he is. *

Question. Do you suppose that that law will be repealed? You say that you have
recommended in your message that the legislature should repeal it.

Answer. I do not think it will be repealed at the next session of the legislature.
Question. Are the nine hundred men who are said to have voted upon Stauton s road

upon an illegal registration liable to be indicted, assuming that their registration was
illegal ?

A.iswtr I think they are.
x

Question. Have they been prosecuted?
Annwcr. No, sir.

Question. None, of them ?

Answer. Not that I am aware of.

Question. Suppose .they were convicted, would the penalty bo imprisonment in the
penitentiary !

Answer. I think so, for two years. Here is the law
;
section 11 of the law in regard

to registration provides:
&quot; That any person who shall knowingly and corruptly take

the oath required in section four of this act shall be deemed guilty of a felony, and
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npon conviction be imprisoned in the penitentiary for not less than two nor more than
tea years, at the discretion of the court.&quot;

Question. Would Mr, Stanton be held liable as an accessory to that felony ?

Answer. It is a statutory election crime; Ido not know to what extent the law in

regard to accessories would apply; I do not know whether the law would apply to

him or not. The section I have read is conrhied to those who take a false oath. He
might be held guilty of misdemeanor.

{illation. I think that a man who procures another to commit a felony would be
indictable under the common law.

Answer. If it had been made the crime of perjury, then I think he would legally have
been held an accessory : but the simple fact that the statute designates the crime and
prescribes the punishment I think makes it doubtful.

Question. You spoke of an instance in which you defended some colored men who
went in disguise and whipped one of their own race. Did you suppose them to be
members of the Ku-Klux organization ?

Answer. No. sir
; they were just simply in disguise. I do not think there was any

Ku-Klux organization at that time.

Question. Did von have any idea that the Dorman case was an act perpetrated bv the
Ku-Klux ?

Answer. The report from my recording secretary states that the parties iu the case
were not in disguise.

Question. You do not consider that a Ku-Klux case ?

Ansirer. No. sir.

Question. Was the affidavit of Mr. Dormau in writing?
Answer. By our statute it was required to be in writing.
Question. Did you not say that he stated in that affidavit that they were in

disguise ?

Answer. I cannot say what he stated in the affidavit. I think I stated that all I

knew Was what I obtained from my recording secretary.

Question. It was stated in the report of your recording secretary that leading mem
bers or the bur and leading citizens came forward and testified iu regard to the Dor-
man case.

Anxu cr. They testified only as to the Christian character and respectability of Mr.
Howe ; I understand that to be the statement of the recording secretary.

Question. I understand it much more broadly: but it will show for itself.

Answer. That is my recollection. I do not know who testified in the court : I think
I was absent from Montgomery at the time t he trial took place.

Question. In the case of Hollowell it was stated in the report of the secretary that
several witnesses said that Mr. Hollowell was not robbed

;
were any persons identified

who we re present at the time the outrage was committed upon Hollowell .

Answer. 1 know nothing of the matter further than is stated in the report of the re

cording secretary.

Question. How are you able to understand that men can testify that Hollowell was
not robbed, when they were not there to know ?

Answer. I can give no explanation further than by reference to the report of the sec

retary.

Question, You stated that when you sent that circular of yours to the district attor

ney he expressed some surprise upon receiving it. I would like to know the ground
of his surprise.

Answer. He was the district attorney j
his office was within a couple of squares of the

capitol. My private secretary, who copied the circular, transmitted it to him through
the post office. In his reply to me he alluded to that fact. I do not know of any other
reason why he was surprised ;

I cannot search all the windings and sinuosities of his

imagination. I will state why I addressed the letter to him I regret very much that
I have not a copy of my letter here

;
I thought I had. I was desirous of bringing all

the facts before this committee that I could obtain; I was desirous of getting at the
truth in connection with any outrages that had been committed within the knowledge
of the persons to whom I addressed that circular. I believed that the district attorney,
the solicitor of Montgomery County, and other men, whose names I now forget, would
be able to furnish me with a statement of the facts in regard to any instances within
their knowledge. And I also said that 1 would immediately send my recording secre

tary, who has not much other work to perform, to investigate arid report in regard to
the facts, just as I did in the Dorman case.

Question. What is the name of that district attorney ?

Answer. 1 think his name is Judge John Miimis.

Question. What is his address 1

A ns-wer. Montgomery.
Question. Do you recollect whether lie assigns as a reason for his surprise that yon.

should have been ignorant of the existence of such outrages iii i&amp;gt;reat numbers in the
State?
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Answ-er. I do not think lie expressed any surprise of that kind. The fact is, I waa

surprised ai his expression of surprise. 1 neglected to bring the letter with me
;
1 have

it put on record, and I shall be glad to furnish it to the committee.

Question. Yon said that the Harper Case was the result of A private feud. Do you
consider that ;i Kn-Kl:;x crime .

.Inxircr No. sir: it is not so considered.

Question. Did you consider the McGregor case a Ku-Klux crime ?

Answer. No. sir ; the Ku-Klux had nothing to do with it, so far as I am informed.

Question. You have not, then, named any case to us that was properly a Ku-Klux
case ?

.litswer. Then 1 was one case I was asked about; that was the hanging of the three

i) -roes in Tuscimihia; they were hung by disguised men.

Quextion. For burning a school building ?

Annum: Yes, sir
;
that was my information

;
I did not see them either before or after

they were hung.
Question. That is the only Ku-Klux case you know of?

JW.SHYT. I have heard of others, but I cannot locate them now. That case occurred
in my own county.

(jitcxtion. You say there is a stringent law on the statute-book of Alabama, now,
against this parading of men in disguise ?

Answer. Yes, sir
; very stringent.

Question. Has that kiw been repealed?
Answer. No, sir; it is on the statute-book still.

Question. Has there ever been a conviction under it ?

Anmcer. I mentioned one case, from some of the lower counties of Alabama, which
was carried up to the supreme court and the decision reversed.

(Question. The decision was reversed because the men were not disguised ?

Answer. Because the men were not disguised.
Question. In that law there is a provision for a recovery against the county ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Has any such recovery yet been obtained?
Anxivcr. None, with this exception. I know of one or two cases prosecuted by the

solicitor of Lauderdale County ;
he is prosecuting them with a very great deal of

energy : a confederate soldier, and a hot-headed democrat at that
;
he says he will re

cover
;

1 heard him say so myself.
(Question. Did you ever talk with . B. Forrest upon the subject of these Ku-Klux

outrages?
Ansiocr. No, sir

;
I do not think I ever had a conversation with General Forrest with

regard to Ku-Kluxism. He was a resident of the. State of Tennessee up to within the
last eighteen months, when he removed to Alabama to superintend the buildiug of his

road. I have spoken. frequently to General Forrest upon the subject of lawlessness,
and he has universally condemned it.

Question. Have there been any cases of the kind upon the line of his road?
Answer. None unless the difficulties in Greene County ;

that is upon the line of his

road.

(Question. You do not know of work on his road being disturbed by bands of disguised
men attacking his workmen ?

Answer. I think not; I do not think they would venture upon that sort of field.

Question. Did you ever hear, before the war, of crimes committed in Alabama, at night,
&quot;by disguised men, such as are now alleged to have been committed by Ku-Klux orgait-
izations? *

Answer. 1 do not think I remember any.
Question. Yon do not remember to have heard before the war of men going in dis

guise to people s houses, and taking them out and maltreating them?
Ansiver. I have no recollection of it.

Q.ucxiion. It is something that has sprung up since the reconstruction acts?
Answer. I do not know when it sprung up; I cannot fix the time when I first heard,

of it. It has been since the war.
Question. Then it is not an old mode of proceeding with Alabamians ?

Answer. I think not
;
I am positive not.

Question . Do you know anything of a district attorney who was murdered, Mr.
Boyd I

Answer. A county solicitor; I know nothing about him.

QvmiiOH. Yon do not know whether he was a man of good or bad character?
Answer. I do not know anything about his character.

Question. You stated that yon did not believe the disguise now used was a part of
the Ku-Klnx organization. What did yon mean by that .

Answer. I meant simply this: As I understand the charge with regard to Ku-Kluxism
it is that it is a regularly organized body of men, operating over a large extent of terri

tory, under rules and leaders and officers; that has been alleged generally as the character
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of the organization; and that their acts were pursuant to orders from headquarters, or

head-centers, or cyclops, whatever they called them; that I understand to be alleged
as the character of tho. organization. I stated that these disguised bands, or bodies, or

numbers of men, who have committed outrages for the last two or three years have
not been actuated at all* by any rules of any organization, but that they were got up
for a special and immediate purpose ;

for personal revenge, or the commission of crime
;

I might say extemporized for that purpose, in order that they might be more secure

from the penalties of the law. I stated that they adopted that means because there

was no other means at their disposal for the commission of crime so safe as that of a.

disguise ; they adopted the disguise simply to evade the law officers.

Question. You mean, then, that the Ku-Klux organization did adopt a disguise?
Answer. It is charged that they adopted a disguise; I know nothing about it further

than that. As I said before, I never saw but four or live men in disguise in my life
;

they passed along the streets of my town
;
I did not know where they came from, nor

do I know Avhere they went; but there was no crime committed at that time.

Question. Then do I understand you as expressing the belief that the introduction of

this disguise as a cloak for crime is attributable to the Ku-Klux organization ;
that it

did not exist before ?

Answer. I should say it was an offspring of the original adoption of the disguise.

Question. 1 understand you to say they were the first who did adopt it?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
and it is now adopted by very bad men who have at stake neither

the interest of communities nor of individuals, nor of themselves. There is to-day not
a man in Alabama who does not rejoice when one of them is shot, not a respectable
citizen. I know that from occurrences said to have taken place in the State of Missis

sippi. One or two of them were shot who went over there in disguise and committed

crimes, and the general expression was,
&quot; We are glad of it; if one or two more were

shot it might put a stop to it.&quot;

Question. Do you know anything of a party of men having gone from Alabama over
to Meridian, Mississippi, to take part in the riot there ?

Answer. I do not.

Question. Has there been any investigation of that matter?
Answer. None;; further than what 1 understood Governor Alcorn instituted

Question. I mean in your State.

Answer. Meridian is twenty miles from our State.

Question. Are 5-011 aware that it is charged that a deputy sheriff from Alabama went
over there?

Answer. I never heard of that before.

Question. Do you consider the colored people and white people of Greene County as

being on terms of kindly feeling ?

Aiisu-cr . 1 really have no personal knowledge of tho matter inquired of. I have heard
that the feeling existing there between the races was very good now, much better than
it had been.

Question. You have heard of the assassination of Mr. Boyd, the county solicitor?

Answer. I have heard of it.

Question. Have you investigated that case ?

Answer. No, sir
;

it occurred before I came into the office of governor.
Question. Did all those cases which you have ordered your recording secretary to in

vestigate occur since you came into office ?

Answer. Yes, sjir, and my attention was drawn to them. Whenever I received any
notification of an occurrence of the kind alleged. I have invariably sought to investi

gate it where it was practicable. There are one or two instances that I have only in

directly received information of that I have not been able to investigate. I allude to

that mentioned by Judge Minnis in his communication. I was sick in bed for two
weeks under medical treatment before I left for Washington ;

but I shall investigate
that case when I return. And in this connection I may say, that the administration
of the criminal laws of Alabama is intrusted entirely to the judiciary, from the court
of inquiry up to the supreme court. The power of the executive to enforce the laws
is only where there is a combination to resist the government and the laws. The mere

bringing of criminals to justice is entirely beyond the duties of the executive: it is

intrusted to the sheriff and the constables^ of the county, and to the courts. Still, as
a general supervisor of the entire affairs of the State, I feel it to be my duty on every
occasion to ferret out crime where there is any dereliction of duty on the part of tho
officers. 1 have addressed a very peremptory letter to some of the solicitors. I havo
recommended in my message to the legislature a return to the old system of circuit

attorneys, with a view of being able to command the services of men not only of respect
able talent, but of weight and standing in the community; sd that by the influence of

their talents and their social respectability they would overawe the desperadoes and
lawless men of the country. The legislature, however, did not adopt that recommend
ation, simply because there was an antagonism between the senate, which held over
and the house of representatives, upon those matters pertaining to legislation whicfc

had occurred in a former legislature when that senate was a part of it.
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By Mr. CORURX :

Question. Do you know how many of these young and inferior attorneys there are in

your Stut e .

An*w&amp;lt; r. One in every county.

Question. They are a ll young and inferior?

Her. There arc exceptions; but as a rule they are young men; the tees oi tho

office would not pay their board.

Question. Are you acquainted with them ?

Anwr. 1 am acquainted with a great many of them. The one in Franklm County
I do not Mippo.st- knew the first principle of law; however, I believe he has resigned.

IJy Mr. POOL:

rtfon. Would you not consider it your duty as governor, where the local authori

ties \vere remits, or supposed to be in complicity with lawlessness, to send some judge
or other officer there to make an investigation ?

Anxircr. The law divides our State into circuits, and assigns a judge to each circuit
;

that judge is only cogui/ant of the criminal cases within his circuit
;
his jurisdiction is

limited to his circuit.

Question. Cannot :v district judge in Alabama issue a warrant against a criminal, to

run in any county of the State ?

Aimcer. Yes. sir; any judge can issue a warrant.

Question. To run in tiny county ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
and I suppose a judge of the supreme court could also do so.

Question. A local magistrate could not do it ?

Answer. I believe his jurisdiction is confined to his own county. As soon as an affi

davit is made of the commission of a crime within the jurisdiction of a magistrate ho
can issue his warrant, and that warrant can go to any part of the State.

By the CIIAIIIMAX, (Mr. POLAND :)

Question. And the party can be arrested anywhere on that warrant?
Annoer, Yes, sir.

By Mr. Pool- :

Question. Upon the warrant of a magistrate?
Answer. Yes, sir, if the offense has been committed within his jurisdiction ;

that is

my recollection of the law
;
the warrant is addressed to any sheriff in the State.

By Mr. BECK :

Question. You were asked by Senator Pool if the disqualifications imposed by the
constitution of the State of Alabama upon white men in Alabama were not limited to

those imposed by the fourteenth article of amendment to the Constitution of tho
United States. I will ask you whether or not those men were prevented by the con
stitution of Alabama not only from holding an office, but also from voting ;

I mean those*

men who were disqualified from holding office alone by the fourteenth amendment to
the Constitution of the United States ? Does not your constitution disqualify them
from voting, as well as from holding office, and thereby does it not go further than tho
fourteenth amendment ?

Answer. I understood Senator Pool s question to bo whether tho disqualifying clauses
of the constitution of Alabama were similar to those contained in the amendment to^

the Constitution of the United States and the reconstruction measures, and iny answer
was that I thought so.

Question. Now I ask you whether or not the disqualifications in your constitution do
not go beyond the disqualifications imposed by the fourteenth article of amendment
to the Constitution of the United States?

Answer. Yes, sir
; they go beyond the fourteenth amendment of the Constitution of

Uie United Stato.

Question. IJy disfranchising men from voting, as well as by preventing them froin^

holding ot lice .

;

Anxirer. Yes, sir
;
and that was the fact under the reconstruction measures.

Question. Let, me read from the constitution ofAlabama, the qualification of persons for

voting ami holding office :
&quot;

It shall be the duty of the general assembly to provide, from
time tot imc. lor t he registration of all electors

;
but the following class of persons shall

not bepermitted to register, vote, or holdoffice: 1st. Those who, during the late rebellion,

inflicted, or caused to he inllicted, any cruel or unusual punishment upon any soldier,
sailor, marine, employd or citizen of the United States, or who in any other way violated
the rules of civili/cd warfare. 2d. Those who may be disqualified from holding office by
the proposed amendment to the Constitution of the United States known as Article

XIV, and those who huvo been disqualified from registering to vote for delegates to
the convention to frame a constitution for the State of Alabama, under the act of Con
gress to provide for tho more efficient government of the rebel States/ passed by Con-
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gress March. 2, 1867, and the act supplementary thereto, except such persons as aided in

the reconstruction proposed by Congress, and. accept the political equality of all men
before the law : Provided, That the general assembly shall have power to remove the
disabilities incurred under this clause,&quot; &c.

Answei . Let me read also a portion of the oath prescribed by the constitution of Ala
bama. It is as follows: &quot; That I will never countenance or aid in the secession of this
State from the United States ; that I accept the civil and political equality of all men,
and agree not to attempt to. deprive any person or persons, on account of race, color,
or previous condition, of any political or civil right, privilege or immunity enjoyed by
any other class of men

;
and furthermore that I will not in any way injure, or counte

nance in others any attempt to injure, any person or persons on account of pastor-
present support of the Government of the United States, the laws of the United States,
or the principle of the political and civil equality of all men, or for affiliation with any
political party.

Question. What I want to get at is this : Did not the people of Alabama seriously ob

ject to and protest against having a constitution that they had rejected forced upon
them by Congress in spite of that rejection I That constitution went even beyond the

proposed fourteenth amendment, and made those who took that oath agree forever af
terward not to attempt to deprive any person or persons, 0:1 account of their race,

color, or previous condition, of any political or civil right, privilege, or immunity en

joyed by any other class of men. Was not that a serious objection they made to it, at
a time when political rights had not been conferred upon colored men .

Ansicer. That article and section embraced ihe chief and almost the only ground of

objection to the constitution as proposed by the convention that framed it
;
the people

of Alabama were very bitterly opposed to it on that account.

Question. I will ask you whether or not that very clause that bound them to agree
never afterward to attempt to deprive any person on account of his race, color, or pre
vious condition, of any political right enjoyed by any other class of men, was not

regarded as especially obnoxious, as binding them to do things in the future that no
other State was bound to do 7

Answer . I do not know whether they dwelt especially upon that or any other clause of
that article. But I may say that as a whole I knew of no white man of intelligence in

the State of Alabama that did not object to that clause of the constitution in all its

features, and that upon that clause in all its features they made the contest.

Question. Did or not the State of Alabama immediately after the war, when the thir
teenth amendment was submitted to her, repeal her ordinance of secession, and also
vote for the ratification of the thirteenth amendment .

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And was not the State of Alabama counted as one of the States voting for

the thirteenth amendment when its ratification was proclaimed
Ansu er. Yes, sir. I was on. the committee of federal relations that reported that

amendment.
Question. That was before any negro vote ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Has not your legislature so changed the laws as to allow those under politi
cal disabilities now to vote in Alabama ?

Answer. Yes, sir; all men are now allowed to vote.

By Mr. POOL :

Question. The legislature put that matter right about voting?
Answer. They did.

By Mr. BECK :

Question. You were asked as to the comparative knowledge of yourself and Governor
Parsons in regard to the state of feeling in Alabama

;
I will ask you whether or not

Governor Parsons Lewis E. Parsons, I mean would not himself be more likely to have
the cold-shoulder turned towards him than any other political man in Alabama to-day
in consequence of his past course ? or I will put it in this form: is he not specially
odious to the people of Alabama ? you can answer the question in that form.

Answer. I can answer it in any form.

Question. Well, answer the question.
Answer. I think that Lewis E. Parsons is the most unpopular man to-day in the State

of Alabama.
(Question. Regardless of race, color, or previous condition ?

Answer. I do not confine his unpopularity to the democratic party or to the repub
lican party, but 1 take the State at large. Perhaps I may be permitted to give a reason,
as this is to go on record.

Question. Before you give your reason I will ask you whether or not Lewis E. Parsons,
was not one of .the most bitter and denunciatory men in the State against the repub
lican party and all its measures until Andrew Johnson went out of power and General
Grant was inaugurated ?
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Answer. Tin- democratic party to-day consider that Lewis E: Parsons was one of the

rliiet agents iii leading- them into dil licuil ies by bis counseling non-action and the with

holding of candidates in the contest when the constitution was voted upon ;
that he

was a xealot in his opposition, and par excellence a leader of the democratic party in

opposition to tlie ivconst ruction measures; that he was one of the strongest advocates

ot tin- democratic ticket in the presidential contest; that ho counseled by telegraph
from Washington the rejection of the fourteenth constitutional amendment, as I under

stand : and did many other things that the democratic party at that time, as I con-

eeived. unfort unatelv accepted. When lie had got them into that condition he suddenly
turned around and became one of their most bitter adversaries.

i h&amp;lt;, *tion. Was he not the chairman of the Alabama delegation in the New York demo
cratic convention in Isi- .

Auxin r. He was
;

1 was not present, but that is my understanding.

&amp;lt;jin-*li&amp;lt;&amp;gt;n.
Was he not as denunciatory of the acts of the republican party up to the

time of (ieMeial Crant s election as any man you heard of in the Shite of Alabama?
.liixn-tr. lie was : 1 heard him make a speech in Mobile to that effect.

()n&amp;lt;*l nni. l&amp;gt;o you know whether or not he remained here in Washington during the

time of the attempted enforcement by Congress of the constitution of Alabama upon
the people, as one who was urging and leading the opposition to it in every form he

could ?

J/wr/r. 1 do not remember anything with regard to his movements at that time.

IJncxllon. Is it not generally believed by the people of Alabama (I do not ask you for

your own opinion) that his conversion to republicanism, after General Grant came into

power, was for the purpose of enabling him to put money into his own pocket ? I do
not want your own opinion, but what is the belief of the people of Alabama?

.li&amp;lt;Hi&amp;lt;-ir. The belief of the people of Alabama is that he was actuate.d by interested

and selfish motives.

I .y Mr. VAN TRUMP:

Qucxtion. Can you give us a few points of his Mobile speech ?

.litmri r. I do not remember the points of his speech ;
the general point was denuncia

tion of the action of the republican party toward the South.

(Jm-ftinii. What was the date of that speech ?

.Itixinr. My impression is that it was in February, 1868, but I will not speak with
posiiiveness about that; it was in February or the beginning of March, 1868. I am
guided by another recollection which satisfies rue that it was prior to the presidential
election, from the simple fact that I dined with Mr. Forsythe, himself, and others. I

said .-something laudatory of Andrew Johnson, and I remember he got up with a great
deal of enthusiasm, caught me by the hand, and thanked me for the expression of my
sentiments; and I do not think he would have done that when Johnson was out ot

power.
(Jm^tion. Were you present at the trial which was brought for the recovery of the

books and pa] ters of the executive office in Montgomery?
.liisirrr. i was.

(Jin.ft ion. Governor Parsons says here that he was not present, but he understood
from Governor .Smith that during that trial from day to day, immediately in the rear
of Smith s seat, was densely packed a&amp;gt; body of men, strangers iii the community, and who
had arms on their persons.

J;, .s/nr. There is not a word of truth in that.

(jiHxliiHi. If I understood your examination yesterday, you said that at that time
there were certain meetings in.Montgomery that brought an unusual crowd of stran-

gers there.

r. A meeting of the grand lodge and the Methodist conference.
ion. Was the legislature in session also ?

r. Yes. sir.

. Ordinarily there would have been a large collection of strangers?JNVT. No, sir; I do not think there was an armed man; none in tlie court-house.
There was very little excitement

;
the court-house was not crowded. I know of no

arms being seen or used, or threatened to boused, during that contest, with one excep-
i inn. and that was by an ally of ( Jo^vernor Smith, who walked with his pistol under his little
cloak behind General Clanton. General Clantou suspected him because of his former
reputation, and went up to him in the secretary of state s office, took hold of his cloak,
threw it off, and took his pistol from under his arm, and then cursed him; he then
handed his loaded pistol back to him, telling him that he was too cowardly to shoot
anybody. That was the only thing of the kind that occurred during the whole excite
ment, as they called it, in Montgomery.

By Mr. COBIJUN :

(Jitcxfidti. Are you on good trims with Governor Parsons ?

Anxim: \ have not seen Governor Parsons to speak to him since this affair.
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Question. Was lie the principal counsel in that lawsuit to prevent you from taking
the office of governor ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Was he not one of the counsel?
Answer. He was one of the counsel

;
but he was oif at Washington trying to get an

injunction.
Question. At Washington ?

Answer. It was reported he was at Washington ;
he may have been in Savannah.

Question. You have had no personal altercation with him?
Answer. Not in my life.

Question. Are you on good terms with him ?

Answer. No more than to-day.

Question. Have you been on terms of friendship with him?
Answer. Never met him to speak to him since the contest.

Question. How near to him do you live ?

Answer. Montgomery is one hundred and twenty miles from my house.

Question. Have you ever met him?
Answer. I do not think I ever met him. But to settle the matter I will say that I

would not speak to him if 1 did meet him.

Question. Have you any feeling against him ?

Answer. Not a bit.

Question. Why not speak to him ?

Answer. Because I do not think ho is worthy of being spoken to.

Question. Something has been said about the repeal of the law disqualifying certain

persons from voting ?

Answer. If you will allow me I regret to speak of these things, but the question has
been put to me if you will allow me to explain my reasons.

Question. If you desire, certainly.
Answer. I desire to say that Lewis E. Parsons was the chief counsel in all this oppo

sition on the part of Governor Smith to my admission to office. I believe if it had not
been for him William H. Smith would not have hesitated for one moment to acknow
ledge my election. Therefore, as a public man, and representing 76,000 votes, I do not
consider that I ought to speak to Lewis E. Parsons, or recognize him as being worthy
of being spoken to.

Question. You testified as to the repeal of certain provisions, disqualifying persons
,!xom voting ?

Answer. The legislature repealed that disqualification.

Question. What was that legislature ?

Answer. It was a republican legislature ;
the same that was elected when the con

stitution was adopted.
Question. How long ago was that repeal ?

Answer. I think it was in 1601); I do not remember the date. At all events
,
it was

before the last election, and we were very glad of it, and thanked the legislature for

doing it.

Question. You say that the people of the South, of Alabama, are a very generous,
impulsive, and forgiving people. Do you think they have ever forgiven the Union
people of this country for defeating them in the rebellion ?

Answer. Entirely.
Question. They have got over all that ?

Answer. Pretty well.

Question. You say they are a very grateful people. Do you consider they have been

very grateful because they were not punished when the war was over?
Answer. That is a very Aristidean question.
Question. I want to know what they are grateful for, whether it is for that or for

their having got exactly all they wanted.
Answer. I spoke of them in that connection

By Mr. VAX TRUMP :

Question. You spoke of that as their general characteristic ?

Answer. I said they would be grateful to you for a. Jtindly act. What I meant was
this, that whenever the Government of the United States removed the disabilities of
the people of Alabama, they would feel a gratitude that would bind them still stronger
to the Government of the United States. If you will remember, that was the connec
tion in which I used the phrase.

By Mr. COBUIIN:

Question. So much was said that I do not recollect all of it. My recollection is, that

you testified that they were grateful for what had been done, or what would be done.
I wanted to know what they Were grateful for so far; whether they were grateful for

anything so far in connection with their treatment by the Government.
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Answer. I will illustrate : When Andrew Johnson issued his last proclamation of

amnesty, we were grateful and welcomed it. If the Government of the United States

would to-morrow pass a law removing all disabilities, and place all the citizens of the

South upon an equal footing with all the citizens of other sections of the Union, they
would be exceedingly grateful. And I now repeat, that not only would they be

jraiHul, but that grat it ude would have a tendency to bring us all closer together. I

believe it would remove any remaining barriers to that harmony and concord of

feeling that should bind together the people, not of one section, but of all sections of

tin- United States.

Qiu*H&amp;gt;ni.
How many people in Alabama do you suppose are disqualified by reason of

tin- fourteenth amendment to the Constitution of the United States?

AuKicer. I do not think I could approximate the number
;
the number is very large

in Alabama, for the simple reason that the tenure of office there was much shorter

than in most of the Southern States.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. The tenure of office before the war ?

.IMNHVV. Yes, sir. For example, the governor is elected for only two years in that

State, while in some of the other States he is elected for four years.

By Mr. BECK :

Question. How long is the term of your justices of the peace?
Answer. It has varied; I think it is now for one year. Our circuit judges are elected

for six years, and our members of the legislature before the war were elected for only
one session.

Question. How many justices of the peace have you in Alabama?
Answer. I cannot approximate ;

I reckon there are 1,500 or 2,000 ;
I should say 2,000

was an underestimate.

By the CHAIRMAN, (Mr. POLAND :)

Question. You have spoken in reference to the legislation of your State concerning
railroads, and also in regard to some alleged misconduct of Governor Smith under that

legislation. Has either that legislation or the action of the governor under it ever
been made the occasion, or ever been made the pretext, for any lawless acts in your State,
to your knowledge ? Have there been any acts of violence or disorder growing out of

those things ?

Answer. No, sir
;
I know of no act of violence arising out of the bond question.

Question. Nor in relation to the legislation on that subject ?

Answer. I know of no act of violence growing out of legislation in regard to railroads.

Question. So that whatever acts of violence or disorder may have been committed in

your State, they are not traceable to that ?

Ansu er. No, sir.

(Question. Now, in relation to this Methodist phase of the subject ; you are aware
that a considerable number of years ago that portion of the Methodist Church in the
South went off into a separate organization, and called itself the Methodist Episcopal
Church South ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did that division of the church grow out of any difference at all in refer- &amp;gt;

ence to religious questions ;
was it any theological difference ? ;

Answer. I am not conversant with that subject.

Question. What was the subject that divided the Methodist Church into two parts at
that time ?

Ansicer. I must confess my ignorance upon that subject. The only difficulty that
ever I knew connected with it was through the law, and that was in regard to the Book
Concern.

Question. Do you not know, as a matter of general history of the time, that it was
in reference to the subject of slavery ? ^

Answer. Oh, yes, sir
;

I know that that was a cause of contention and disagreement.
Question. And it was upon that matter that the church divided into two organiza-

tions i You have never understood, have you, that there was any difference between
the Methodist Church North and the Methodist Church South as to their theology, or

religious doctrines and opinions ?

Ansirer. J confess my ignorance upon that point.
Question. You have never understood that there was any difference between them

except growing out of slavery ?

.liiHirt r. I know, being reminded of if now, that slavery was a cause of difference,
and in all likelihood the cause of their separation.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. Was it not the fact that in the general conference a resolution or ordinance
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was adopted by the Methodist northern members ostracizing a southern bishop for

owning slaves ?

Answer. I do not recollect that.

By the CHAIRMAN, (Mr. POLAND :)

(Question. Since the war, the Methodist Chnrch North, or the Methodist Episcopal
Church, as they call themselves, have undertaken to set up their organization in your
State ?

Answer. That is my understanding.
Question. And to induce Methodists in your State to connect themselves Avith the

northern organization, or the general organization, as they call it
5
and this Mr. Lakiu,

of whom you have spoken, and who has been a witness here, went down there to super
intend the movement in your State on the part of the Methodist Episcopal Church?
Answer. Ho came there, as I understand for the purpose of establishing the Northern

Methodist Church, but whether to superintend it or not I am not able to say.
Question. Did you not understand that he was the leading man in that movement ?

Answer. I do not know anything about his position. I know he was considered a

leading man in his activity in furthering that object.

Question. Do you know, or have you ever heard, anything against the character of
Mr. Lakin as an earnest Christian man?

Answer. Well, I have heard somany things about him that sounded so unchristian .

Question. What have you ever heard about him that was derogatory to his Christian
character ?

Answer. So far as his personal character is concerned his freedom from the commis
sion of crime I have no reason to make any charge.

Question. What have you ever heard of his saying or doing in your State that was
derogatory to him as a Christian minister ?

Answer. In the communities in which I have been, and heard him spoken of, I have
generally heard the expression that he was a very bad and dangerous man ;

that he
was fomenting disturbances between the races in his efforts to establish this Northern
Methodist Church. That is about the extent and substance of what I have heard about
him.

(Question. Can you give anything more specific than that ?

Answer. Nothing at all, further than general hearsay. I am not acquainted with the
man further than a passing introduction.

Question. Have you heard anything more said in reference to him and his efforts

than this: that he was assiduous and earnest in endeavoring to get Methodists in your
State and Methodist churches also, to attach themselves to the northern organization?

Answer. That is alleged to be his chief object.

Question. Have you ever heard anything about his efforts there beyond that ?

Answer. Not separated from that.

Question. Have you ever heard of his saying or doing anything in furtherance of that

object that was derogatory to his Christian character, unless the object itself was
derogatory ?

Answer. Well, Christian character is a conventional term. The manner inwT

hichyoti
put your question requires that I should be a little more lengthy in my reply.

Question. Take all the time you want.
Answer. We consider it derogatory to a Christian character, even for the advance

ment of the church, to raise antagonism in communities
;
to advance the church at the

expense of social peace ;
to advance Christianity at the expense of harmony between

the two races that existed in the South. We consider that entirely contrary to Chris
tian character, no matter what the object, even the advancement of the Cross. We
consider Mr. Lakin was fin unchristian man, because he used his zeal and all his efforts

to advance his church by persuading the negroes of the South that the white men of
the South were their adversaries.

Question. Do you know, or have you heard, of his trying to foment any differences
between the races ? Were his efforts any more to get colored men to attach themselves
to the Methodist Church North than to get white men to do so ?

Answer. I cannot speak specially upon that subject.
Question. Was it not a general effort to attach Methoflist churches arid Methodist peo

ple of your State to the northern organization instead of to the southern ?

Answer. Judging from his success I should conclude that his efforts Avere directed
not only principally, but almost exclusively, to the colored race. I must confess that I

know of no white congregation, nor of any white person, in the entire valley of the
Tennessee and there is a large population there that belongs to the Northern Metho
dist Church. There may be-in Huntsville

;
if there is, I am not aware of it. I stated

yesterday that I understood that he had established three churches in the mountain
regions of North Alabama, somewhere between Blount and Winston Counties, but that
those organizations had subsequently dissolved, within the last six months

;
but that

is only hearsay.
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Question. I think Mr. Lakin stated here that there were seventy circuit preachers and
our hundred ;in&amp;lt;l fifty local preachers under him.

JJ/.SHV/-. In that State?
OH, */;//. Yes ; and that many of the local preachers were colored men ?

AnWHT. 1 have no doubt of that; one of the best colored friends I have in the Stato

of Alabama is a local preacher of tho Northern Methodist Church.
&amp;lt;

&amp;gt;u; -:ihni. \ lave you ever heard of any Methodist ministers who had attached them
selves to tbis northern organization, or were preaching for that organization, being

subject to any acts of violence, except the Mr. Dorman to whom you referred?

JH.SHVT. 1 know of no others.

( ho siinn. I f t here were any acts of violence committed upon any others than this Dor-

nia n, so far as you know, it was not on account of any bad character of theirs?

./H.s/r&amp;lt;r. 1 know of none having been mistreated at all
;
there may have been, but I

do not recollect them.
(
t
&amp;gt;iiiKtion. This Mr. Lakin represented to us that several attacks, or several attempts,

and persistent attempts, had been made to take his life. Do you believe that, because
of an effort i establish this Methodist organization in the South in connection with
the .Methodist Church North, the people of Alabama, to any extent, or anybody there,
would undertake to kill him ?

Anxinr. I do not. I live in Mr. Lakius s section, and I never heard, until I read it

in print, hero in the papers, that any effort had ever been made to take his life.

ihii-xiion. Where is the State University located?
Aiixtca: At Tuscumbia.

Question. Mr. Lakin was at one time elected president of that university ?

J//.N *. I understand he was.

Question. Do you know that he went there to undertake the duties of president of

that university ?

Answer. My understanding is that instead of undertaking to assume those duties, he
refused to accept the position. I cannot state positively about that.

Question. Did you never hear that he went there to undertake to assume the duties
of that position, and was driven away ?

Aiixirer. I do not recollect anything of the kind.

Question. You never saw an account of anything of the kind in the newspapers?
Anxwer. No, sir.

Question. You never saw a newspaper with a cut representing him hanging on a tree,
with a rope around his neck?

Answer. I never saw it.

Question. You say that a nu:n from any other State who goes into Alabama and set

tles there and behaves himself, no matter what his politics is, is received with favor
and well treated by your people in every part of the State

;
and that unless he does

something to disturb the peace, no objection is made to him on the score of his politics.
Is that substantially the statement you made ?

Answer. My belief, based upon my experience and knowledge, is that a man may
come from any portion of this continent to settle in the State of Alabama with the
utmost impunity ;

and that his honesty, his energy, his industry, will be the meas
ure of his respect, and not his politics.

(Question. And you believe that a republican may make a republican speech there in
entire safety ?

Anwcr. Yes, sir; I have heard hundreds of them of tho worst sort, and not a man
.

raised an objection.
Question. Let me put a case. Suppose that a republican, and especially a republican

from the north, before a general congregation of people of all colors and all politics in

your State, should go on and argue to the colored people that the democrats had always
been in favor of slavery and the republicans opposed to it

;
that the democrats were

opposed to tho negroes voting, and tho republicans had always favored it
;
and that

they owed their freedom from slavery and their right to vote to the efforts of the re

publicans, and that, therefore, they ought to bo the friends and supporters of the re-*

publican party, do you believe he could do it with perfect safety and impunity in any
portion of your State ?

Answer. I have heard it done with impunity, and not only that, but I have heard a
speaker, a member of Congress, Mr. Ilaughey, say that he was there to address the
colored men, and to ask their votes, and that he did not want the votes of the whites.
]le spoke in &quot;i-eat deal harder terms than you seem to signify.

(lucxtiiHi. I am merely putting a case.
Aiiwn-. Von are putting words in the moufli of some other person ;

I am aware of
that. But 1 put it in stronger terms than you presented. You would be astonished if

yon eon Id listen to speeches I have listened to, and you would conclude as readily as I
do that any man can go there and express his opinions upon any political subject and
not be interfered with.

Qucntion. Do you think that has been the case for the last two or three years ?
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Answer. I have never known it otherwise. I Lave seen less disturbance at political

meetings when such speeches as you are imagining were made than I used to see in

the old times of whigs and democrats. Nearly twenty years ago I was prevented from

speaking in Alabama by drunken men, simply because I was a democrat and they were
whigs. I do not see that there is any change at all unless it is for the better.

Question. Did you hear of some riot or disturbance at a political meeting in Eutaw
last October ?

Answer. Yes, sir. I did not hear of anything else for a longtime.
Question. Did you understand that, during a political meeting there, a ^arge number

of pistol-shots were fired into a crowd, and a great many persons injured?
Answer. O, yes, sir. I have heard of the Eutaw riot in all its phases.
(Question. What were the circumstances attending that riot, as von understood

them ?

.inswer. I was not present. I have heard it described again and again, and of course
with variations. Do you wish that I should tell all that. I have heard, or only the

general result ?

(Question. State, from all the information you have about it
; what, in your judgment,

was the cause of it.

Answer. I understand that there were two political meetings held there upon that day,
one by the democratic party, and the other by the republican party, on opposite sides
of the court-house perhaps; and that at the republican meeting the difficulty ensued

;

that it arose at the time that General Warner and Mr. Parsons had perhaps addressed
the crowd, and Charles Hays, the republican member of Congress, was about to address
them

;
that somebody interfered with him, pulling him or shoving him from the table

on which he was standing ;
and that at that time the firing commenced. There are

various and conflicting accounts as to who commenced the liring. A gentleman of the
name of Mr. Pierce was present, and perhaps in conversation with Mr. Parsons at the
time it occurred. He was shot somewhere about the leg, the only white man who was
shot there. The iiring was then continued by both parties, as I understand so I am
informed and a general riot took place, and that there were two negro men wounded.
Everyone with whom I have conversed have all been certain of the fact that in the
riot there but t\vo negro men were wounded

;
that none were killed, and none have

died. It is generally believed that the negro men were not shot by white men at all
;

that the white men tired into the air. The fact is generally known and believed in

that section, and everywhere throughout the State, that there were but two negro men
wounded in the riot, and that neither of them died.

By Mr. STEVENSON :

Question And the supposition is that they were shot by negroes ?

Answer. It is believed by parties that they were shot by negroes who fired upon the
white men.

By Mr. VAN THUMP :

Question. Unintentionally ?

Ansicer. Of course.

By the CHAIRMAN, (Mr. POLAND :;

Question. Was anybody else wounded besides those two negroes f

Answer. No, sir, except that Major Pierce received a flesh wound. I met Major Pierce
some six or eight weeks ago in Montgomery, and asked him to give me an account of

that difficulty. I understood him to say that we went up to Mr. Parsons and requested
him to suggest to Mr. Hays not to speak ;

that they wished both meetings to go off

without any disturbance; and that Mr. Hays had some personal enemies among the

young men at Eutaw, and a disturbance might result from the unkindly personal feel

ing that existed between the parties; that at the time he was speaking to Mr. Parsons
some one tired and shot him through the leg. I maybe mistaken, but, as I understood

him, that was the first shot fired.

Question. Of what politics is Mr. Pierce ?

Answer. He is the present mayor of Eutaw, and a democrat. He is now in the city of

Washington. I have not conversed with him about the riot at this time, but that is

my information, that there were but two wounded there. During the canvass it was
reported that some fifty-four or five were wounded and killed there.

Question. Your information is that only two were wounded?
Answer. That is my information.

Question. And that is your belief?
Answer. I have only that information upon which to fcfuud a belief. There was a

universal regret at the occurrence. I believed, and it was generally believed, that it

had a- very detrimental influence upon the result of the election.

Question. In that county ?

Answer. No, sir
;
in the State. Wr

e believed the colored population would have voted
much more largely for the democratic ticket if that had not occurred. It was repre-
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eented to them that fifty-four of their race had been killed and wounded, so that in the

adioinin&quot; counties of Perry, Dallas, Mareugo. and other counties they voted against us
adjoining
on that account.

S, /H. Von stated in your testimony yesterday that you believed this Ku-Klux or

ganization, \vhat.-v.-i- ii h:ul IHVII, was now at an end as an organization?

Antwcr. Its existence, SO far as I knew it, was from rumor and general reputation ;

and the same authority justifies me in saying that it was disbanded years ago. And in

this connection L may be permitted to say that when I said I had learned that such an

organization had rxistrd in Alabama, I did not wish to be understood as saying that it

had existed throughout the State of Alabama, for I never heard at any time of the Ku-
Klux organi/atiou having an existence in South Alabama; in what we call the Black

Belt of Alabama.
Vm-xtion. It was in North Alabama?
Answer. It was confined by rumor to the northern part of the State, adjoining the

State of Tennessee.
Ouextion. You have never happened to hear any man, who professed to have been a

member of it, state that it was disbanded or disorganized ?

Answer. I never heard a man acknowledge that he was a member of the Ku-Klux

organization.
Question. Either existing or disbanded ?

Answer. No, sir.

By Mr. STEVENSON :

Qucation. I understood you to say, in regard to the county of Greene, that Mr. Hays
had become very unpopular there, and for that reason you had expected, but for this

Eutaw riot, to have carried that county by a much larger vote ?

Answer. I am judging from information. I have been informed by a gentleman who
ought to know that we would have carried the county of Greene by a much larger

majority had this riot not occurred. Personally, I know nothing of the popularity of

Mr. Hays, nor of the political condition of Greene County.
Question. Are you aware of the fact that Mr. Hays received in Greene County pre

cisely the same number of votes that Governor Smith did?
Answer. I suppose it was about the same.

Question. Each received exactly 1,790 votes?

Answer. Ye3, sir.

Question. You received 1,825 votes; and Harris, Hays s antagonist, received 1,825
votes ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. So that there is no indication from the poll there of any unpopularity on
the part of Mr. Hays ?

Answer. No, sir. But let me state here that I am well aware, as you are all well

aware, that in an election of that kind one candidate may give character and expression
to the result in regard to the entire ticket, and that by working upon the unpopularity*
of one of the candidates you may drag all the balance associated with him upon the
ticket down to the same result.

Question. Greene County gave Grant over 2,000 majority, while you carried the county
last year ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And the total vote was smaller last year than in 1868 ? A

Answer. I do not know whether it was or not.

Question. The figures show that the total vote was several hundred less than in 1868,
and yet the entire vote of the State was increased ?

Answer. I question very much whether the vote was very much smaller; if it was
any it was but a trifle smaller. There was a great change in regard to the negro vote

throughout the State, with the exception of Montgomery and Dallas Counties. I will
refer to Madison County, where there was no disturbance or interference

;
it has a ma

jority of (JOG negro voters. Have you the record of what was the vote for Seymour ? ;
&amp;lt;

t
&amp;gt;&amp;lt;icxtion. It went for Seymour by over 600 majority.

Answer. I think my majority there was from 800 to 900
;
and yet there is a majority

of 600 registered negro voters.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP:

Question. Majority over the white vote ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

By Mr. STEVENSON :

*

Question. Are yon aware that it was claimed that there was violence there
;
not riot

ing, but Kn-Klaxingf
Answer. 1 never heard of it.

Question. I observe by the returns that last year Smith carried the county of Macon
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by about 500 majority, while in 1868 Macon was carried by Grant by about 1,300 ma
jority ;

so that there was a falling off there?
Ansivcr. In answer to that I may say that the last election was the first since the

passage of the reconstruction acts when the democratic party entered into the contest
with an earnest wish to work and gain, because they believed it was the first time when
they could triumph, and triumph upon the unpopularity of the party that had been in

power during the, past two or three years. Therefore, the vote of 1868 is no criterion

by which to judge the vote of 1870.

Question. Were there more voters in 1868 than then voted ?

Answer. About 10,000 voters more.

Question. How in Macoii County ?

Answer. I cannot speak with regard to that county particularly ;
but I say that in

1870 was the first time when we believed we could carry the State, and therefore We
went to work with earnestness, using all the persuasion in our power to get both white
and colored votes. And it is upon the files of the War Department that in no election
that ever took place upon the continent of America did more order prevail than in that
election in Alabama

;
not in those words, perhaps, but that is the substance of Gen

eral Crawford s report.

Question. You say that in Sumter there were several reasons why you should get a

larger vote there than any other democrat in your State could get ;
are you aware of

the fact that in Sumter County you ran precisely with Mr. Harris ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
or about the same.

Question. You and Mr. Harris each received 2,055 votes, while Mr. Smith received

1,438 votes, and Mr. Hays received 1,437 votes.

Answer. I think Mr. Harris s influence, he being a citizen of Sumter County, had a

great deal to do with regard to the majority in that county. He was from that county,
and is a very popular man ;

and up to the day of election we certainly expected that
if he did not, beat Mr. Hays in the district he would run him very close.

Question. Yet there was a falling oil of 500 votes in the county of Sumter from the
vote of 1868, as the figures show ?

Answer. I do not know how that is.

Question. The aggregate vote of that county in 1868 was 3,965, while in 1870 it was
3,493. Can you account for the falling off in those three counties of Greene, Macon,
and Sumter, of over 1.000 votes in 1870, as compared with the vote of 1868, while
there was, in 1870, an increase in the aggregate vote of the entire State?

Answer. 1 cannot. 1 have not the data to determine what was the increase or the de
crease in any county. The vote in some of the counties was increased, and in others
it decreased.

Question. But there was an increase in the aggregate vote of the State ?

Answer. Yes, sir
; my county gave about the same vote last year that it did in the

presidential election; it gained, perhaps, some 150 votes
;
we gave Seymour and Blair

all the votes in the county but 45, I believe, while last year the republicans got 180
votes.

Question. You have several times expressed your opinion that the Ku-Klux Klan has
been abandoned. Have you examined the testimony taken last August and September
in Calhouu County, before one of the supreme court judges of your State f

Answer. I never saw it.

Question. It was an investigation of some acts of violence there
;
are you not aware

of the fact that it was proven there by a number of witnesses, perhaps forty, that that

county, and several of the adjoining counties, had been the scene of Ku-Klux outrages
from some time in 1868 down to the acts of violence which were then investigated f

Answer. I do not believe it was proved by any such number of witnesses.

Question. Do 3*011 believe it was proved by any witnesses ?

Answer. I think it likely it was proved that disguised men had committed crimes
;

but I would not believe that any such thing existed if forty thousand witnesses were
to swear it, for Calhouu County is remarkable for its good behavior. It lies on the

Georgia line, and on the Coosa River. I understood at the time that this man Luke re
ferred to was killed by some disguised men, but that he was killed by Ku-Klux, as
Ku-Klux are generally understood, I do not believe it.

Question. Are you aware of the fact that it was testified there on that examination
by a man who professed to have belonged to the Ku-Klux Klau, a man by the name of

Force, that the organization did exist in the State of Alabama, and also in the State
of Georgia, and that he gave an estimate of the number of the organization in each
State ?

Ans-wer. I do not know what he testified to.

Question. Do you know that such a man did testify, and also that he testified to such
facts ?

Answer. I do not.

Question. This is the first you have heard of it ?

Answer. I think it is.
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Quwtion. You 1m vo power to institute such examinations yourself, have you not?

That was done by Governor Smith, requesting a judge of the supreme court of the State

to go then- and Institute ;iu examination; that is in your power?
Anmm: I have n&amp;lt;&amp;gt; right to institute any legal investigation, nor to swear witnesses.

not the right to request a judge of the supreme court to instituteHave you
an investigation ?

.limim-. I have just such a right as any man in the State of Alabama has.

Qiu*lhin. Have you made any such request ?

Anxinr. I have not, and would not be likely to do so, because wo could find a justice

of the peace in the precinct whose duty it is to do that, and there are circuit, courts

Uieie. I would certainly ask the circuit judge, who has the same power as a judge of

tin- M-.pivme court in that respect, to sit upon such cases. That was the first time in

the history of the State of Alabama, I believe, when a judge of the supreme court pre
sided over a court of inquiry ;

so much was it the first time that the question of his

right to do so was very seriously raised by the legal profession.

(jin-xtinn. You spoke of an act under which proceedings are now being had, in some
of the counties, to recover damages for Ku-Klux outrages ;

that is an act. approved De
cember 26, 1868. Has that act had a good effect, a good tendency, so far as you have
observed .

.liisiro: I think that in some respects it has deterred well, it has had but very little

influence, because it was passed at a time when, as I have said, but very few oi these

acts had occurred.

(Jiu xlion. There was no great occasion for it ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. But you think the tendency of it is good ?

J&amp;gt;/Mnr. 1 cannot speak about the provisions of the act.

Question. But the general provision of holding the counties responsible ?

Ansicer. I think the holding the counties responsible is a pretty good stretch of legis
lation for the crime of an individual.

Question. I mean the effect of the law in regard to deterring acts of violence ?

Ansiver. I do not know whether it has had much effect.

Question. You spoke of one officer, who is a democrat, who is prosecuting these cases
with a great deal of vigor ; may it not be that the fact that he is to receive ten per
cent, on the amount he recovers has something to do with his zeal ?

Anmer. I know the person, and I do not think there is a man en .this continent less

disposed to do anything for money than he is.

Question. He is fond of spending it 1

Ansicer. Ho is a man of very great generosity, but as for men s motives I cannot say.
Question. I do not ask you to judge him specially. There is such a provision in the

act ?

Answer. I will answer you generally, that I do not think that would influence any
solicitor.

Question. The title of the act is,
&quot; For the suppression of secret organizations of men

disguising themselves for the purpose of committing crimes and outrages ;&quot; approved
December 26, 1868. Did you at the time, as a citizen of the State, approve of the pas
sage of that act ?

Answer. Yes, sir; I approved of everything that was calculated to put down dis

guised men.

Question. You think it was justified under the circumstances?
Answer. I think it is justifiable, at all times and under all circumstances, to pass laws

to put down men in disguise. I do not think any law could be too severe for a man
who would put on a disguise and perpetrate a crime.

Question. The preamble of the act is as follows: &quot; Whereas there is in the possession
of this general assembly ample and undoubted evidence of a secret organization, in

many parts of this .State, of men who, under the cover of masks and other grotesque
disguises, .armed with knives, revolvers, and other deadly weapons, do issue from the

places of their rendezvous, in bands of greater or less number, on foot or mounted on.
horses, in like manner disguised, generally iu the late hours of the night, to commit&quot;

violence and outrages upon peaceable and law-abiding citizens, robbing and murdering
them upon the highway, and entering their houses, tearing them from their homes and
the embrace of their families, and, with violent threats and insults, inflicting on them.
the most cruel ;nid inhuman treatment; and whereas this organization has become a
wide-spread and alarming evil in this commonwealth, disturbing the public peace,
ruining the happiness and prosperity of the people, and in many places overriding the
civil authorities, (1, -lying u\\ law arid justice, or evading detection by the darkness
of the night and with their hideous costumes: Therefore, be it enacted,&quot; etc. You
were nominated for governor in the summer of last year ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Qucxthn. You made a speech at Mobile shortly after your nomination?
Answer. Yes, sir.
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Question. Ai?d that speech was published in the democratic papers in Mobile t

Answer. What purported to bo my speech was published.
Question. Was it not taken down in short-hand and published in the democratic

papers ^

Answer. I do not know how it was taken
;
I heard it was taken down and reported

by the republican reporter of the Louisiana legislature.

Question. Do you remember saying in that speech something in substance like this :

&quot;

Only fourteen men in my beat voted for Grant, and they voted before breakfast
;
but

if we [meaning the democrats] had known that the polls were to be opened so early
there would not have been any votes for Grant.&quot; Do you remember that ?

Answer. I remember saying in that speech that we had voted forty-five votes, I think,
for Grant.

Question. That i* in your county ?

Answer. Yes, sir: and some thirteen o:% fourteen iu my beat
;
that tlio polls had been

opened earlier than usual, and but for that fact those men who had been misled (I
think I named the parties who misled them) would not have voted for the republican
ticket.

Question. These fourteen ?

Answer. These fourteen
; that is about the substance of what I said, and I do not believo

they would have voted that ticket but for that. There was an effort made (it is not

necessary to explain it. however) by one or t\vo men of notorious character at that
time.

Question. Was that a very unusual vote for your county, Colbert
;
was forty-five votes

for the republican ticket an unusual republican vote there?
Answer. We did not expect to give any. I could give reasons why that county is in

that political condition, but it is not necessary.
Question. You were mistaken in the number given for Grant

;
it was thirty-nine.

Answer. I said forty-five.

By Mr. BECK :

Question. Was there any intention to prevent them by force from voting ?

Amicer. None whatever; I never knew a man in the county of Colbert undertake to

prevent a colored or a white man from voting as ho pleased, or of any design to do so.

I never asked a colored man how he intended to vote. I know I have been an active-

politician in that county, and I never asked my negro men. to vote any particular
ticket.

By Mr. STKVF.XSOX:

Question. You live in that county ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Grant got thirty-nine votes in 1366
*

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. How many votes did Smith get there last year?
Answer. I think he got one hundred and sixty or one hundred and seventy.
Question. The returns give him one hundred and eighty-two ;

and yet you claim that

your party gained there from 1868 to 1870 ?

Answer. If you will look at that county you will find that my vote is precisely that
of Seymour and Blair, or nearly so

;
and the increase of votes for Smith over Grant

were the votes of persons who did not appear before.

Question. You did, then, substantially, make this remark in your speech about the
fourteen voters, in your lieat ?

Answer. I made it with that explanation.
Question. What part did you take in the rebellion ?

Anm er. I opposed secession.

Question. You have already spoken of that.

Answer. After the State of Alabama went out I published a letter in May, 1861,
stating that I had opposed secession

;
that I had seen no reason why I should change j

but that as the State of Alabama had declared her independence I would cast my for

tunes with her.

Question. What part did you actually take in the rebellion ?

Answer. I was appointed adjutant of militia for North Alabama, but they were dis

banded, and my otnce fell to the ground. I afterward went in, sometimes as a private
and sometimes as a lieutenant. But I would rather not tell my military history, for
there was very little glory about it. I can say in a few brief words that the military-

part I took in the rebellion was by no means a distinguished part.
Question. You did perform military service ?

Answer. I was on the side of Alabama,
Question. You did your duty as a soldier ?

Answer. I tried to do it : I do not know that I can say much about my soldiering,
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WASHINGTON, D. C., June 19, 1871.

.JAMES II. CLANTON sworn and examined.

By Mr. BLAIR :

(Jncvtion. How long have you lived in Alabama ?

.ln*iccr. Thirty-seven years.

(jm-xtion. Are you well acquainted with the condition of affairs there ?

Answer. I think so.

fJurntioH. What are your means of knowledge?
JJ/NHVT.. This is

my&quot;twenty-second year at the capital of the State, where not only
th legislature but the supreme court and the grand lodges meet, and conferences of

tin- different churches are held. I was a member of the legislature before the war. I

raised sixty-four companies for the confederate service during the war, from every part
of the State. For four years since the war I have been chairman of the democratic

executive committee of the State. I practice law there.

(Jncxtion. What are your political antecedents?

Antvxr. I was a Union whig until after the war. I was a Bell and Everett elector

in the Yamvy district in 18(iO. Since the war I have been the only chairman of the

democratic executive committee. I am now the chairman.

(Jnt-ftlion. Give us a brief summary of political events in Alabama since the war.
Answer. When the war closed we were very much disheartened and dispirited. The

people saw that there was no alternative but to make the best of the situation to go
to Avork

;
and they supposed they would get back to just where they were in I860,

except with the abolition of slavery and the right of secession surrendered by those
Avho believed in those rights. They thought that the rights of the State in every other

respect would be the same. They accepted the situation in good faith, and were very
much disposed to forgive and forget. They elected delegates to the State convention-
such men as Ex-Governor Fitzpatrick, who was president of the first State convention
held after the war. The vote to make the abolition of slavery constitutional by the
State was almost unanimous; I know of but one member who opposed it Alexander

White, a leading republican in Alabama to-day. He turned over since Grant s admin
istration. He was for white supremacy until lately, when he has told the people, in
his addresses, that in his opinion they committed an error in abolishing slavery, and
they had better take his advice for the future. Now he is a republican. He lives at

Selma. If there was another member of that convention that opposed the abolition
of slavery I do not remember it

;
he must have been a man of no prominence. I my

self went to the State-house and advocated it in person. Afterward the question of
the status of the negro before the law came before the legislature, and I went there in

person and advocated the right of the negro to be placed precisely in the condition of
the white man before the law

;.
that there should be no distinction as to their testimony

in the courts.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

(Question. Including suffrage ?

Answer. No, sir
;
that question came up afterward. When the thirteenth and

fourteenth amendments were presented, Governor Patton, elected since the war,
advised the legislature to accept them. Some of us, claiming to be representative men
to a limited extent, went before the legislature and urged them to reject the amend
ments. I did so myself. We succeeded in having the fourteenth amendment rejected,
on two grounds. Congress left it to us to accept or reject it, and in the exercise of
that privilege we rejected it. What influenced us mostly to do so was this : We
knew we were pow

Terless
;
the Government could do what it pleased with us. We had

followed the lead of General Lee, who, when the war commenced, declared to his sister
that he would not draw his sword against the Government nor against his native

Many of us were opposed to secession, and were not responsible for the war,
and Congress called upon us who followed General Lee, to brand him as a traitor by
our

voluntary act to place upon his brow, and upon the brows of our soldiers, the
brand of inferiority. Therefore, we thought that self-respect demanded we should

the amendment. We knew that Congress could do it, and we did not wish to
become tin; voluntary instruments of doing it ourselves. So the amendment was
rejected by the legislature. Then came the question of negro suffrage before our
N-gislj .t ure. It was an exclusively white legislature. Mr. Brooks, a prominent member
ol the boose, and a cousin of the late Preston Brooks, of South Carolina, advocated
qualified negro suffrage. He had a respectable minority with him.

(Juc*rnni. I !y property, or what?
Answer. By education or property. Judge Goldthwaite advocated it, and the

governor proclaimed
that ho would compromise upon it. I differed with someofuiy

ii lends, and would have been willing to take almost any northern laws as to suffrage,
as they existed before the war. The proposition, however, failed to receive a majority
in any shape in our legislature. After that the question of the adoption or rejec-
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tioii of the constitution under which we now live came up. Congress provided
that if a majority of the registered voters voted for it it was accepted ;

if they
failed to vote for it it was rejected. Well, the last democratic State convention which
met left the question as to policy entirely in the hands of the executive committee,
of which I was president. This question had to be met, and it was a grave one,

involving more responsibility than I wished to take. So I called together a council
of about one hundred leading men in the State, embracing every ex-member of

Congress and ex-jndge in the State. We met and deliberated, and we concluded
to vote against the constitution, with the hope of rejecting it. But for fear it

might be adopted, we were at the same time to take care of ourselves by electing
officers under it. Having agreed upon this, we were about to adjourn, when wo
received a dispatch from Governor Parsons, who was the accredited agent of the dem
ocratic party here in Washington, -saying, &quot;I am on my way to Montgomery ; will bo
there to-night. Don t adjourn your convention

;
don t act till I get there.&quot; He came.

Some few of our men had left. He made a speech in which he used this language:
&quot; So far as the reconstruction measures are concerned and this constitution, touch not,
taste not, handle not, the unclean tiling. He frequently used that language after

ward in his democratic addresses throughout the State. Governor Parsons, Alexander
White, then a leading democrat, who prepared the aduress*b:i that occasion, but now
a leading radical, and Samuel IJice, a man who has been a secessionist lor thirty years,
as he boasts, and witli whom I have had many a passage at arms these three men
caused the council to reverse its action. They are now three leaders on the other side
in Alabama. At thi-; time the negroes were very much excited. The right of suffrage
had been forced on them by Congress. They were all armed. They had half a dozen

league rooms, I suppose, in our city several at least and they were under the control
of very bad men adventurers. A great many had got hold of muskets, and had organ
ized in companies and battalions. This was another reason urged for not going to the

polls, that it might lead to a war of races. The election came on. The white people did
not go to the polls, or passed resolutions not to go. The consequence was there was but
one democratic senator elected in the State, and he ran contrary to our policy. There
is but one now in the State senate. AVe knew we could defeat the constitution without

voting, and we thought if we defeated the constitution Congress would not go back on
itself and force it on us. Hence the intimidation was all a myth. The democratic

party resolved not to go to the polls, and we did not go. But the negroes marched to
the polls by battalions, armed with muskets and stepping to the beat of drums. They
stacked their arms around the polls, some standing guard. There was great confusion,
and in the evening, in Montgomery, they got on the rampage and commenced tiring
their guns, the balls whistling through the houses and lots. They continued it in the

night until Colonel Crittenden, the Federal commander, being afraid of the results, dis

armed them as far as he could reach them. But many remained in the outskirts
of the town tiring their guns. The balls ilew around my house pretty thickly.
General Meade appointed the managers of the ele tion. They were all radicals or

nearly so. Ho received their returns and counted the vote. He reported that the

constitution, according to the form of law prescribed by Congress, had fallen short a

good many thousand votes of the majority of the registered vote. We thought then
that we would continue on under our own officers elected by the people. In that we
were mistaken. Every one of those officers, so far as I know, was removed, and the
men who had been voted for by the negroes under the constitution which General
Meade said was rejected were installed in the places of those elected by law installed

by the bayonet. They are in office to-day, with few exceptions, having held over six

years instead of four as prescribed by the constitution. We have been ever since under
nfficers that we never voted for, except those we elected at the last election and
where there have been removals. It lias been very galling, but we have borne it.

The first legislature after the war imposed a tax on our people of one-fourth of one

per cent, for State purposes, which was sufficient. The very next legislature, which
was radical and came in under the present constitution a legislature composed of men
elected from districts where they never lived trebled the taxes, raising the rate from
one-fourth to three-fourths of one per cent.; and now the funds are insufficient for the
State government. The school-fund is in arrears about $150,000 and the public schools
are in danger of stopping for want of money, as I am informed by the superintendent.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. Notwithstanding these circumstances what is the animus of the white

people toward the Government of the United States?
Anmrcr. It is very friendly. It is the mal-administration of the Government of

which they complain. I can give you no better evidence of the attachment of our

people to this republican form of government than to say, that however heriiotis the
jtfense of secession may have been in the eyes of you, gentlemen, when we formed a
government for ourselves we made it almost a/ac simile of the United States Govern
ment. We are strict constructionists and State-rights men, whether whigs or demo-
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crats. The old Alabama State Journal, tlio organ of the Whig party for twenty years,

-&amp;lt;iitr.l bv a Connecticut man, a eon of the late president Bates of one of the New Eng
land colleges, had flyiug at the masthead &quot;

Organ of the State-rights Whig party.
77

Though wo wore Union men wo were strict constructionists and belonged to the Jef-

fereonian school of politics, and wo established a government as nearly like that of tho

United State* as we could when wo seceded.

Qiuxtion. I.s (hero freedom of speech in your State at present to persons of all polit

ieal parties?
Mr. No, sir

;
there Ls freedom of speech for republicans, white and black, and Jor

white democrats ;
Jmt there is none for colored democrats.

By Mr. VAN THUMP :

H. Why?
J/Mf T. They are mobbed.

(Dilution. By whom?
JMXIW. By the republican party.

Question. By colored or white men!
. .nwcr. By colored men set on by whito men who would not bo recognized North or

South by yourselves. I have seen it done. Colonel Qrittenden saw it done and with

his federal cavalry dispersed them.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. On what occasion ?

.Inwer. A colored speaker by the name of Williams, of Tennessee, was making a

democratic speech to the colored people.

Question. When was that?
Aiuwer. I think it was in 1867 or 68.

Question. WUH it after the constitution was adopted ?

Answer. Yes, sir, I think it was. Ho commenced by telling them ho was a captain ir.

tho Federal Army and had fought for their liberation
;
that he was a democrat and they

had most to expect by making friends of their late masters
;
when a negro by the name

of Abe Breck raised a disturbance to keep Williams from speaking hooted and hal

looed. When Williams came down from tho stand they made a rush at him and hi.s

traveling companion, also a colored man, to mob him. Some ten or twelve of us whito
men held them at bay and got Williams in the house until the adjutant of tho post,
who witnessed it, got his cavalry up and they dispersed the mob. That is only one of

many instances. There is a body servant of Governor Shorter, named Cesar, who has
been in danger of his life for years a very sober, quiet, industrious man, but a democrat.

Question. Where does he live?

Answer. He is now a porter about the State-house at Montgomery.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. Does he vote with tho democratic party?
Answer. Votes with it every time

;
but he has to be mighty shy about it, he tells me.

They chased him one iiight into his yard for voting the democratic ticket so he told

me. Bob Barrington, another negro I know, was waylaid a month or so ago, and they
tried to kill him.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. Is he a public speaker?
. 1 ?; wer. No, sir; neither of them.

Question. They not only will not allow them to speak for the democratic party, but
will not let them vote?

Answer. No, sir; and when one of them tells you he is a democrat, he asks you to say
nothing about it. At the last election they waylaid a negro coming from the polls, and
nearly boat him to death

;
it was published in the Evergreen Observer. These out

rages are very common. On tho night of this row at Montgomery, they not only went
for these negroes, but knocked whito men down. A man by the name of McKay lay
insensible in a ditch all night. There is constant intimidation at the polls. They go
there very early and form a *y&amp;gt;lid mass, so that you can scarcely get in to vote. They
form a line, and put their sewtries at the gate to examine every negro s ticket as he
comcH in. At the last election I saw tho captain of a negro volunteer company in Mont
gomery stand at tho steps of the court-house and look at every ticket as it passed him ;

we all saw it, and could not challenge him. It is $500 fine and imprisonment to inter
fere with voting. They vote as often as they please, and brag of it. There are three
negroes to ono whito among us; they all look alike, and it would bo like hunting for a
needle in a hay-stack to identify them. They had to run the gauntlet as they went to
vote

; as they passed by this colored captain he took their tickets and examined them ;

if it was a democratic ticket ho would take it and give them a republican* ticket for it-

He would not ask a question but take their tickets and open them. The man in tho
line would have to pass on or be stamped to death. I called the attention of General
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Allen, the sheriff, to it. Major Randolph told me be saw a negro start to vote the dem
ocratic ticket, amt they gathered around him and told him they would take his life;

they said he belonged to their party, their color, and they had a right to kill him. I

saw boys vote
; you cannot challenge them as to age or residence.

Question. Is this intimidation carried on by any organization ?

Answer. I cannot say ;
I never belonged to the Union League, but common rumor

charges it to the machinations of the Union League.
Question. Did you hear any one of the negroes themselves state this to be the fact,

those who desired to vote the democratic ticket ?

Answer. Numbers have told me they would like to vote with us, but were afraid.,

and if they did vote they did not want anything said about it.

Question. Why; did they know there was an organization to prevent it :

Answer. They spoke in that way; that their party would get hold of them ;aid they
would be in danger.

Question. Is there now, or lias there been heretofore, an organization m your State

known as the Ku-Klux organization
Answer. I do not think there ever has been. There have been some outrages by

bodies of disguised men in two or three localities. All I have ever heard of, or can call

to mind, are three. Governor Lindsay told me he saw some disguised men one night
in Tuscumbia, who hung some negroes for burning a female academy, or threatening
to burn it. He is the only man who ever told me he saw any. I have heard of dis

guised men killing a fellow in Greene County, I think by the name of Boyd ;
and 1 have

heard of SOUK? outrages I do not know whether it was by Ku-Klnx or not in Jack-

s,on County. I have also heard of the aiVair at Patona. I did not hear of the men
being disguised in Jackson or Patona. I have heard of other outrages, but mostly by
negroes. I can give names and places. In the county of Macon, where I was raised,
Jim Allston, a colored republican member

&amp;lt;|f
the legislature, was shot in his bed as he

and his wife were retiring, just after a league meeting in a church called Old Zion, in

the town of Tuskegee.- He charged a colored rival in the legislature and two accom

plices with shooting him. He had them arrested and put iii jail. I think they were

acquitted. He was so certain it was these negroes that ho sent for white citizens to

come and stand guard over him, and they &amp;lt;-id so all th;:t night, old citizens of Tusk
egee, and democrats. I was up there the, next day, and Governor Smith was there.

The negroes commenced coming into town. The postmaster, named Armstrong, had
sent word to them to come to town armed, and they came pouring hi. They did not
know who shot Allston, and were tUreaterii .g to bur:-, the town.

By Mr. VAX TKUMI- :

Qwstion. Was it understood that they shot him in disguise .

Answer. Oh, no, sir. They came pouring into town perhaps under the belief that
some white man had done it, and they threatened to burn the town. Many women
and children ran oil to Montgomery. As I was going to the place I overtook this

volunteer negro company on the pike going also to the scene of excitement. I knew
it would not do it would perhaps lead to a war of races. I jumped out of the hack
and drew my pistol on the lirst lieutenant

;
some of them cocked their muskets and

one drew a pistol, but I stood there and said,
&quot; You cannot go to Tuskegee.&quot; By tha-t

time the sheriff came up. I asked him if he was responsible for this, and he said &quot;

No.&quot;

I asked if Governor Smith was, and lie said &quot;No.&quot; I then told the men to go back or

they would get hurt. They did so. The military went up ou the train. When I got
to Tuskegee

Question. What was the distance?
Answer. About forty miles. When I got there, I found a great many negroes armed

;

houses were surrounded, and it was reported that every road leading to the town was
guarded. I found one hundred and fifty white men under arms to protect the place.
The three negroes were arrested, and the postmaster had run away that night to Mont
gomery. The officers of the county Avere all republicans, and are so now. They are can
didates for reelection. Governor Smith made the negroes a speech, and I made a speech.
He came up and indorsed what I had said to the negro company. All the negroes
in the company had come there with arms. A few nights before they had shot two
white men one by mistake for another man. A few ^ :eks before they shot a man in
his house. Governor Smith made a speech and e.ounsole-&quot;! moderation. I did the same.
I reminded them that all the judges and nearly all tha legislature were of their pol
itics, and they ought not to resort to arms, but to the law. I told them if any were
too poor te prosecute a man for an outrage upon them I would volunteer my services.

Well, we induced them to disperse, and then, as soon as the danger was over, the
&quot;Into men dispersed and the women and children who had iled to Montgomery returned,

Question. What became of the case of the men who were arrested ?

Answer. They could not make the proof, and they were acor.itted. Allston left there
for Montgomery and is now livinc; there.



230 CONDITION OF AFFAIRS IN THE SOUTHERN STATES.

By Mr. STKV::NSN :

(JlU iii liHI. Wild! VMS tills I

AiiNim: Last year 1870.

liy Mr. liLAiR:

- &amp;gt;n. What Congressional district is that ?

4ff8NWr. Mr. Norris s district.

Oin^io.i. How alxmt the aii air in Coosa County ?

Answer. In Klmoro County, formerly Coosa, all the county officers are republicans.

A lew months ago it was reported at Montgomery that a Northern Methodist preacher
had been whipped up there. The governor, I believe, sent up and had an old man
charged with it arrested.

, What was his name ?

A*SWt r. I cannot call it. It is the only case of the kind in Coosa County that I ever

heard of. This old citizen gave bonds for his appearance, was tried before Judge El

liot t. a republican, at the last term of the circuit court, by a mixed jury, white and
black ; subpoenaed by a republican clerk and sheriff, the prosecuting attorney being
also a republican, and he was acquitted of any otfense whatever.

IJy Mr. STEVENSON:

Question. Do you know whether the prosecuting witness was present at the trial ?

Anawcr. He was on the stand, the man himself. The facts were about these, as stated

to me by the sheriff: This preacher w
rent there holding negro meetings and eating and

jsleeping with the negroes on this old gentleman s premises. The old man lieard that

they were holding meetings. The negroes had come to church with their guns, 1
&quot;

ing religious or political meetings one or both, I do not know which. The old
holcl-

man
Learing^what this man was doing reprimanded him for his conduct, and told him to

cease. lie said,
&quot; If you wraut to do the negroes any good I shall be happy to enter

tain you ;
I own the place, but I do not like to have the negroes assembled with arms

to worship God on Sunday. Come to me and I will treat you well.&quot; But they got
into a quarrel. The old man s witnesses say the preacher jumped up with a carving-
knife from the table, whereupon the man &quot;knocked him down with a stick and dis

armed him.

By Mr. POOL :

Question. What was the preacher s name ?

Answer. I cannot give it.

By Mr. BECK :

Qnntion. Was it the case of Howe and Dorman ?

. I n*wer. I do not know.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. How about the case in Winston County ?

.ln.iu-er. My best information about that is that it is. the only white county in the
8tate that voted for General Grant, and that it is the only county where the white

there

_ . f -w ~~ against the
JU groes in those regions than elsewhere. I heard about a reported embezzlement in
.Jeliersou County. Just before I left the superintendent of education said that a man
by the name of Lovell ran away from that county with the school funds, and his secur-
Jties. who were republicans, had been down to Montgomery to try to compromise their
liabilities with (lie State. He told me if it was necessary he would furnish a certin-
-ate to that eilect.

QmntiuH. Did he report that ho- had been run away?
J//MHT. Yes, sir

^
that he had been driven away by the democrats.

-Hon. What face m- p:-,rty is it in your State which furnishes the greatest number
of criminals relatively?

Aiiwrr. 1 could not say, with any degree of accuracy, what the proportion is, but
taking the town of Montgomery, I think the average in our jail is about forty blacks
to three or live whites. ( )ur l ;uv firm does almost all the criminal practice there

;
there

an- three of us in Mi,- linn. I am satisfied that in the State of Alabama there have
,been two white men shot by negroes where there has been one negro shot by a white
man. 1 give that as my opinion ;

I may be wrong. At least I could safely say that
re are t wo outrages by the blacks to one by the whites. We cannot raise a turkey,

chicken, or a hog. Planters of Montgomery, who before the war used to raise bacon
&amp;gt; cents a pound, have actually had to kill their shoats, and in some instances, every

$ow they had, in consequence of the stealing by the negroes : and we now have to
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pay 25 cents for bacon. We dare not turn stock out at all. Oue niau, -within a mile of

Montgomery, had either three out of five or five out of seven cows killed.

Question. Are you pretty well acquainted with the radical leaders in your State, black
and white ?

Answer. I reckon I have the best knowledge ;
it is impossible to know most of them.

Question. What is your information in regard to them ?

Answer. As a general rule they are very bad stock. Lieutenant Governor Applegate,
I believe, was from Ohio. He held a position in the custom-house at Mobile. He is

dead, and it is generally understood that his last request was to be taken home to be
buried. Ho was taken home. The speaker of the last house of representatives of Ala

bama, Mr. Harrington, came to Mobile very poor, from the Northwest somewhere. He
was never a soldier that we know of. He is now very rich.

By Mr. VAX THUMP :

Question. How long ago since he went to Mobile ?

Answer. Since the war. Just after the war he was charged with running free negroes
into Cuba. I do not know whether it was true or not. The present sheriff of Mont
gomery County showed me a reward offered for him, from what purported to bo a
northwestern paper, on a charge of bank robbery.

By Mr. POOL :

Question. What are his initials ?

Answer. I cannot call them.

By Mr. STEVENSON :

Question. What is the sheriff s name .

;

Answer. Barber. He requested me to say nothing about it lest Harrington should get
away. He said he was going for him that night ;

that he had his accomplice in jail
and the accomplice said Harrington was the man. The description he showed me was
life-like.

By Mr. BLAH: :

Question. Could not be mistaken .

Answer. No, sir; a man of marked physique. I did not give this information at the
time to any of my law partners, but they smiled when I told them that Harrington
would pay more reward to Barber, and we would never hear of it again. And we never
did hear of it till we published it in the last campaign, to which Harrington, who still

lives there, made no response whatever. I have published a good deal about him and
I am confident that was included in it. Colonel Thomas II. Herudou, a prominent law
yer of Mobile, said to me that a friend of his. a reliable man, told him that

By Mr. STEVENSON :

Question. His name ?

Answer. I cannot call his name now; he will give it. He says his friend saw Har
rington, during the last session of the legislature at which he &quot;presided, take a crowd
off to drink champagne at a bar-room known as the Rialto, in Montgomery, and when
remonstrated with for his extravagance he ran his hand in his pocket and pulled out
seventeen $100 bills, with the remark that he could afford it as he had made that much
in one day in engineering a bill through the house.

By Mr. VAN THUMP :

Question. Did you make that charge in your paper ?

Answer. Yes, sir; I think it is all there. I will send the committee the papers. Mr.

Eugene Beebe, of Montgomery, whose father is a Methodist preacher in the State of
New York, stated to me that he paid Harrington either $300 or $6001 believe it was
$600 to advocate a lottery charter before the house of which he was speaker. He said

r

furthermore, that he approached a great many, if not every republican in the house,
and there was but one man that hesitated about a bribe in that same measure, and he
was a negro from Mobile, now dead, but that he finally took $50. But he said there
was one old white fellow who, when he took the $50, said :

&quot; I will pay you this back, this
is borrowed money ;&quot;

but he never paid it back. That is the nearest approach he found
to honesty in any member of that legislature.

Question. Did the bill pass ?

Answer. Oh, yes ;
and they have made a great deal of money under it grown rich.

Mr. Beebe has lived there over twenty years. Well, that is the speaker of the house.
A large majority of the entire body are as destitute of moral character and social posi
tion.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. Were many measures of that description passed?
Answer. Yes, sir. There was one huge swindle which has been published to the world
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Ex-Governor Patton, a Douglas man, whoso disabilities I believe have been removed f

published, just before the last election, that while in Boston some of the parties to the

Alabama and Chattanooga Railroad, known as the Stanton road, upbraided him for

allowing their charter to cost the company $200,000.

By Mf. STEVENSON :

Question. Reproached him for allowing it while he was governor ?

Answer. No; I am not sure that Smith was governor. But they made Patton a

director and vice-president, I believe, but he being an honorable man quit them.

Question. At any rate they claimed that that is what the charter cost them ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

By Mr. BLAH: :

Question. Through what legislature ?

Ansicer. The radical legislature, before the last. George Holmes, banker of the firm

of Holmes & Goldtwaito, says that the night either the charter or the appropriation of

bonds for the Stanton road was pending, the president of the North and South road

from Montgomery to Decatur called on him for $10,000, saying that John Hardy, a

republican senator from Dallas County, formerly Marshall of the United States for Al

abama, since the war, had agreed to put his bill through, or to let his road off with

25,000. It was a sort of omnibus bill, and the rascal now demanded $10,000 more
that he would have to pay out, and ho loaned him the money. This fact was also pub
lished by me in the last campaign between Lindsay and Smith. J. P. Stowe, pro-
sent republican senator from Montgomery, says and this has also been published
that from his best information John Hardy carried off, the night the legislature ad

journed, $150,000, but that it was not all his ; that he had collected some for the men
which had not been paid over.

Question. The judges of all your courts, I believe, were elected at the time the present
constitution was voted down ?

Answer. Yes, sir, very generally ;
the circuit judges Avere elected and every one of

them is a republican. The supreme judges are elected by the legislature.

Question. These judges were elected at the time the majority of the people refrained

from voting?
Answer. Well, I cannot say all of them were; the supreme judges and chancellors

were chosen since by the legislature.

Question. By the legislature chosen at that election ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Hence they are all republicans?
Aimccr. Yes, sir, all that I know. Where vacancies have occurred in the counties

they have put in democrats.

Question. In all cases ?

Ansicer. Where they have had the majority. There ar,e very few democratic officers

of any kind in Alabama, except the lieutenant governor, secretary of state, and treas
urer.

Question. How are the probate judges and county clerks elected ?

Answer. By the people, when they voted on the constitution.

Question. The probate judge, sheriff, and clerk of the circuit court, in each county,
had the appointment of the election officers ?

Answei . Yes, sir.

Question. All these officers were elected in 1858, at the time the constitution was
rejected ?

Answer. Yes, sir, all the county officers were elected at that time, I believe.

Question. So that the officers who appointed your judges of election, at the last elec

tion, were generally republicans ?

Answer. Nearly every one of them.
Question. Who appoints the registrar of the votes?
Answer. The judge of probate I, believe. The republican party appointed all at tho

last election.

Question. So that the machinery of the election was all in the hands of the republican
party at tho last election !

Answer. Yes, sir, and the machinery of the counties is now; tho chancellors, circuit

judges, sheriffs, judges of probate, county commissioners, are nearly all now republi
can, notwithstanding we have a democratic majority. Their terms have not expired.

Question. Have the school superintendents power to assess taxes for school purposes ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question^
How is tho school fund raised?

Ansicer. There is, 1 believe, a three per cent, fund, that tho schools got before the
Avar. Then tho constitution provides that one-lifth of the entire revenue shall go to
the school fund. But tho late superintendents of education have, in many cases, em
bezzled it, and some have run off both sons of tho former superintendent of education
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at Montgomery (Dr. Cloud) Lave run away. Colonel Hodgson, present superintend
ent, says there are $50.000 or .$60,000 in the hands of the republican superintendents
that have been embezzled or not accounted for, and he spoke to our firm about suing
for it. A school-teacher in Montgomery came to me and said thata former superin
tendent in Montgomery had his money, and would not pay it over. Then, Mr. Lovell
Las run away with the funds, and Lis bondsmen have been trying to compromise their

liabilities.

Question. Is there a*ny plan by which the negro vote is controlled by the repub
licans ?

Ansicer. Well, I think the Loyal Leagues and tLeir counselors resort fo all sorts of de

vices, according to circumstances. For instance, tLey Lave commenced tLe campaign
in Montgomery for the election of sheriff and tax collector in November next. Last
week I was informed that Sheriff Barber and Mr. Coffin both republicans went out
to a negro-baptizing about live miles from town, took a bottle of whisky, let the ue-

groes drink iirst, and then they drank. They go around to all the negro picnics culti

vating the negro. They Lave them at their Louses, and tLey Lave music so it is re

ported and not contradicted. TLe wife of one of them performs on the piano for politi
cal effect, it is said. TLe prospective candidate dines them at his house, and they re

sort to secret councils.

Question. Is there any sentiment in your State among the wLite people- against set

tlers from otLcr parts of the country .

Answer. No, sir; wo are very much in need of good men from all parts of the world;
wo offer every inducement to get them, and when one comes in we take him by tlio

hand and encourage him treat him well. I have never heard of one in the county of

Montgomery being interfered with by a neighbor. We need population and capital,
and our people are trying to form copartnerships with people at the North wlio have
capital. Instead of being prejudiced against their coming we are in favor of it.

Question. How is tLe epithet carpet-bagger, wLicLis so odious, applied, and to whom
do you apply it ?

Answer. If a man should come tLero and invest $100,000, and in ILe next year should
seek tLe Lighest offices, by appealing to tLe basest prejudices of an ignorant race, we
would call him a political carpet-bagger. But if he followed his legitimate business,
took Lis chances witL tLe rest, behaved himself, and did not stir up strife, we would call

him a gentleman. General Warner bouglit land
;

I fixed some titles for him, and I as
sured him that wLen men came tliere to take tlieir chances with us for life, wo
would take them by the Land. But we found out his designs. Before his seat in Ohio
had got cold, lie was running tl:o negro mat-Line among us to put Limself in office.

Alienee- we call tliat carpet-bagging, where a person comes among us and tries to do
something which he could not do in the North before the Avar. If I had gone to the
North and set myself up as a candidate for United States Senator, I would Lave been
ridiculed. I. could not Lave attained tliat position in twenty years. It is worth the effort

of twenty years to attain. But ho came just after, if not before, his senatorial term in
Ohio expired, and, by ringing in with the negroes, attained that position. Our present
governor, Lindsay, is from Scotland, and has been among us about twenty years. He
married Governor Winston s sister. Judge Goldthwaite was born in Boston, and his
wife is a near relative of Mr. Wallach, of this city ;

his mother was English, and his

brothers and sisters are Northerners. We long ago made him supreme court judge, and
now we have made him senator.

By Mr. STEVENSON :

Question. How long has Mr. Goldthwaite been there .

Aimcer. Thirty-rive years, I reckon.

Question. Before tLe war tLero was no sucL term as carpet-bagger ?

Answer. TLero was no such character before the war. Wo were States with equal
rights and privileges, regulating our own institutions, and nobody could have carpet-
bagged over us in that way.

Question. You are not a native of Alabama ?

Answer. I ;;m a native; of Georgia.
Question. Does the term carpet-bagger apply to a man coming from Georgia to Ala

bama ?

Answer. Yes, he would be a Georgia carpet-bagger, if Le came in tLe same way. We
set down our own people wLo act tLat way as the meanest.

Question. You call tLein scalawags
Answer. Yes, sir

;
we Lave less confidence in them than in carpet-baggers.

Question. If a man should come from Georgia and act badly, would you call him a
scalawag or carpet-bagger ?

Ans-wer. Scalawag ;
southern men wo call scalawags. The name originated in a fel

low being kicked by a sheep so that he died. He said ho didn t mind being killed, but
he hated the idea of being kicked to death by the meanest wether in the whole- flock
the scaly ^heep. We mean by scalawag a meaner man than a carpet-bagger.
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Question. The superlative ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

lly Mr. ULAII::

Question. You Know Governor Parsons ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Ho was at one time acting with the conservative party ?

Amnoar. H i was an old-line whig up to Buchanan s election, when he joined the demo
crats, M\in&amp;lt;

- as his reason that as the whigs could not elect their candidates they

ought to help defeat the black republican party. I believe he voted for Buchanan. In

the next race he voted for Douglas. He was in the Alabama legislature, and either

introduced or voted for resolutions, the substance of which was this : Invoking the

&quot;blessings of Heaven on the head of Jefferson Davis, and praying that God would spare
li iin to consummate his holy purposes. Both of his sons were in the confederate army
oe before he was liable to conscription, if not both. Jabez L. Curry charged Parsons
with being a reconstructionist or disloyal to the Government toward the close of the

war. Young Parsons, who is a spirited boy, was so indignant at the charge that he
shot Curry and wounded him. Afterward Dr. Ware, of Montgomery, an old man,
said he believed Parsons was a reconstructionist

;
that was the last year of the war.

Mr. POLAND, (Chairman.) Is there any necessity of going into this?

WITNESS. I can close in a minute by saying that when Mr. Norris was in Congress,
Governor Parsons told Mr. Barnes, of Alabama, that it was necessary for him to go
over to the other side

;
that he had heavy claims against the Department, and it was

necessary to go over to the party in power to get them through.

By Mr. BECK :

Question. Did he give that as a reason for becoming a republican 1

.-l.sirer. Yes, sir; that is what Mr. Barnes told me.

Question. Is it not generally understood to be the fact in Alabama ?

Answer. I have heard it spoken of.

Question. Is there not great prejudice against him, owing to the fact that they believe
he has changed his politics for mercenary purposes ?

Answer. Yes, eir.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. What is the position of the democratic party in your State on the subject
of the education of the negroes ?

Answer. They are most decidedly in favor of it. The superintendent of education,
Colonel Hodgson at this time, is a democrat, and he is laboring with a great deal ot.

zeal. We have separate schools, but he gives to every child in Alabama alike, making
no distinction. Just as I was leaving he sent me a programme of the State educa
tional convention, which I here submit to the committee, in which I am announced as
one of the speakers on the occasion.

On motion of Mr. Van Trump, the programme was ordered to be incorporated in the

testimony as follows :

&quot;Alabama State educational convention, to l)e held in Montgomery. Alabama, July 18. 19. and
20, 1871.

&quot; The committee of arrangements have decided upon the following programme of
exercises for the Alabama Sta?te educational convention, which convenes Tuesday.
July 18th :

PROGRAMME.

&quot;FIRST DAY Tuesday, July 18, 1871.

&quot; 10 a. m. Convention assembles at the hall of the house of representatives, Mont
gomery. Temporary organization. Committee appointed to report permanent officers
iind committees.

&quot; 10.30 a. m. Address by Rev. B. F. Peters, superintendent of Fayotte County. Sub
ject :

&amp;lt; The public school system of Alabama, Debate : How shall our system of public
instruction be improved? 7

&quot; AFTERNOON SESSION.

&quot; 3 p. in. Report of committees and miscellaneous business.
4 p. in. Address by Rev. Dr. E. Wadsworth, of Montgomery :

&amp;lt; Education of morals.
Debate : How are morals best taught in the public schools, and to what extent should
they form a part of public instruction ? _
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&quot;EVENING SESSION,

&quot; 8.30 p. 111. Address by Hon. John \V. A. Sanford, attorney general. Subject : Iii-

iluence of literary studies upon a people. Debate : What should be the relative scope
of classical and scientific studies ?

&quot;SECOND DAY H ctincxday, JiilyVJ.

&quot;

Qonvention meets. Address by Hon. Jasmes L. Tait, commissioner of industrial re
sources : The necessity of technical education in Alabama. Debate : How far should
the State provide for education in the applied arts and sciences ?

&quot;11 a. in. Address by Gen. James H. Clauton, of Montgomery : The education of
our colored people. Debate: What is our duty to the colored race in. the matter of
education ?

&quot;12.30 p. m. Miscellaneous business.

&quot;AFTERNOON SESSION.

&quot; 3 p. m. Reports from committees and business.
&quot; 4 p. m. Address by Hon. Martin V. Calvin, of Augusta, Georgia, commissioner of

public schools : Geography : when it should be commenced, and how taught. Dis
cussion of this and kindred subjects.

&quot; EVENING SESSION.

&quot; 8.30 p. m. Addres.^ by General John B. Gordon, of Georgia. Subject : Educa
tion at the South. Debate : How can the southern people be aroused to the necessity
of public instruction ?

&quot; THIRD DAY TJnn-iidat/, July 20.

&quot;9 a. m. Report of committees and miscellaneous business.
v &quot; 10 a. m. Address by Jos. Win. Moses, esq., of Montgomery. Subject : The Jew
and education. Debate : Should the public school fund be apportioned the religious
sects?

&quot; 12 m. Address by Dr. Jerome Cochran, of Mobile, professor of chemistry, medical

college of Alabama, &c., &c. Subject: The medical school as a branch of our uni

versity.
&quot;

1 p. m. Unfinished business.

&quot;AFTERNOON SESSION.

&quot; 3 p. m. Business. Address from Captain N. C. Cross, Selma. Subject : The public
schools of Selma, and their success. Debate : How can the school fund be best sup
plemented .

&quot; EVENING SESSION.

&quot;8.30 p. m. Address from Colonel W. T. Walthall, Mobile : -Shall we follow or lead.

Discussion and final remarks as to the labors of the convention.
&quot; The meetings of the convention will be held at the hall of the house of represent

atives, (capitol.)
&quot; The hospitalities of the citizens of Montgomery will ba extended to the members

of the convention. The names of those who propose attending should be sent in ad
vance to the superintendent of public instruction, so that the committee upon reception
may provide for their accommodation.

&quot; Free return-tickets over all the railroads will be furnished as usual to all members
by the secretary.

&quot;Not more than ten minutes arc expected to bo occupied by each speaker in debate.
-JOSEPH HODGSON,

CJtalnnan of Committee of Arrangements.
&quot; J. J. LANG HAM, Secretary.&quot;

Question. You say you arc announced to speak on the occasion ?

Answer. Yes, sir. I attended the iirst examination they had and examined the classes

in person. Since then I have received no invitation to examine the classes publicly
myself. I made a speech in reply to Senator Wilson, of Massachusetts, when he was
there.
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By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. Who gives out the invitations for the examinations I

Answer. The republican superintendent invited mo at the first examination. Since

then I have had no invitation, though I wanted to do the negroes good ;
but they have

kept, as shy of mo as they can. I have subscribed to build their school-houses, and
other democrats generally do it.

By Mr. BECK :

Question. The subscriptions are not limited to you ?

J .&quot;&amp;lt;(&amp;lt;:/. Oh, no, eir; subscriptions for churches and school-houses are going around all

the time. I helped build the first Baptist church, and when it was dedicated to be

turned over to the colored people a white minister preached the sermon, and a number
of white ladies went to attend the services. Now that the negro is a voter we would
rather have him educated and intelligent. Wo do not think he will steal as much.
Ami if we do not educate him he will go back to barbarism. In the interior they have

got snake bones and such things.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. These are objects of worship f

Answer. Yes, sir. In Lowndes County about two months ago they killed a negro boy
about twenty years old for bewitching somebody that was sick. The tendency is to

go back to barbarism, and but for contact with the white people they would do so in

any country in the world.

Question. Was the minister who preached at the dedication and installation of his

negro successor, a democrat or republican ?

.Inxwcr. A democrat; a chaplain of a confederate regiment.
Question. What denomination?
Answer. Baptist.

By Mr. BLAIR .

Question. There has been some testimony before tLo committee in reference to the

burning of negro school-houses and churches
;
do you believe there are any respectable

number of white people in Alabama who would countenance such things f

Answer. There is not a gentleman in the South, or lady, who would do it.

Question. Have you ever heard of any such occurrence ?

Answer. I can call to mind only one. Just after the war two men were charged with

burning a negro school-house in Lowndes County. They were put in the Montgomery
jail and sent for me to defend them. I recollect expressing myself very bitterly against
them, if guilty. They told me they were innocent. I was absent at the trial, but they
Avere acquitted. I have never heard of any negro church being burned, or if I have it

bus escaped my memory. We have bad white boys who, as in old time, want to quit
school, and would burn the school-houses.

Question. Do you believe public opinion in any county in your State would tolerate*

such a thing ?

Answer. There is not a county that would not disgrace a man who would own or

acknowledge it.

Question. Would not the act be punished ?

Answer. Yes, sir; it would bo punished. A great many confederate soldiers are teach-:

ing these schools. An orderly sergeant of mine is teaching ;
a school-mate of mine

also, and a cousin of my step-mother. The widow of a soldier who fell as color-bearer*
came to me to know what to do

;
she was weakly, and had children to bring up. I ad-1

vised her to take a negro school. She consented, and I got a school for her to teach.
1 did not consult anybody as to the propriety of it, because I knew it was right. The
next day I met twelve prominent men and stated the fact to them, and eleven of the
t \\vlvo said I had done exactly right ;

the other was a man of pretty strong prejudices.
A Catholic, who had been teaching a Catholic school in Mobile, came to me for some
thing to do. Said I,

&quot; Go and teach a negro school.&quot; He went off, and the next time*
I saw him ho had a negro ^chool. The teachers are responsible for what prejudices*
there has been against negro schools. For instance, there is a negro college that I sub
scribed money to help inclose, and I understand Judge Goldthwaite gave $500 worth
of land for its location. I tld the mother of a little yellow boy living on my lot to
send the boy to the school, and if she could not pay I would pay for him myself. I at
tended t lie examination. I was told by people that they had all sorts of caricatures to

prejudice the negro against the white man pictures of tho negro as a slave and as a
freeman. A radical delivered an address reciting tho wrongs against their race. The
school was under radical regime, the teachers were strangers to us, and it was a politi
cal nui scry to prejudice tho race against us. As tho negroes number three to one
white person among us it is a very serious question. What prejudice there is has been
created in that way creating the impression that we arc their enemies, Every effort is

made to prevent our harmonizing with them. Just after tho war there was a large bar-
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becuo got up of whites and blacks. There were no candidates then
;
the object was to

harmonize and prevent a war of races. There was a mean Southern white man who
had turned radical. Before that I had had as a military officer to protect the negroes

against this very man. He told the negroes that the whites had got them to go there

to poison them. Wo had two long tables
;
the ministers of the gospel were there, and

the whites were go.ing to march in to one table and the negroes the other. But the

negroes did not conic, and I had to go back up town among them and make a speech,
in which I denounced this fellow for getting up this feeling. After awhile we got one
and another to the tables. That was all done in the interest of peace. This worthless

scamp said ho was in favor of their rights.

Question. What policy would be best, in your judgment, to be pursued by the Govern
ment to benefit both races, and renew the good feeling of the Southern people toward
the Government ?

Answer. A generous policy. If we felt that we enjoyed all the rights and immuni
ties of Massachusetts we would vie with that State in devotion to the Government.
But when we are slaves we cannot love the Government. We cannot love a malad
ministration which measures a man s political rights by his political opinions. I

believe this is the only Government that does so. For instance, Judge Rico has been
a secessionist

;
I have&quot;fought him on it again and again. Now he finds me a democrat

and I find him a radical. Ho is a citizen
;
I am not. He did all he could to break up

the Government
;

I to save it, It just amounts to this. It is the only country in the
world where a man s rights as a citizen depend upon his political opinions, If I say
I am a republican my shackles fall from my limbs very soon. He said he was a repub
lican and the3

r fell from his limbs. We cannot bo expected to love an administration
that treats us thus

;
that puts ignorant negroes over us and tramples under foot virtue,

intelligence, and morality; that forces on us a constitution and law-makers. Very
few of those who are over us have a military reputation, but they are the offscouring
of creation political and. military squaws from all parts of the habitable globe,

including the Canadian negroes.
Question. What would be the effect of such a policy ?

Answer. When General Grant made his Southern trip both parties were speaking
of him for the Presidency. Ho went as far as Memphis, reported all quiet, and advised
mild measures. That waked a. very cordial response in our hearts. And when General.

Sherman wrote his letter the other day, men whoso houses had been burned by his sol

diers said,
&quot; Let us go for Sherman

;
he will carry the Government back to the old track,

and do justice.&quot; If a generous policy was pursued these foreign intermeddlers would
leave us, and the two races would get along very well. It is a mistake that the negro
would be oppressed. It is to our interest to keep his confidence. We have no other
labor. If you do not pay him this year for his work, he will not work for you another

year, and he will prejudice every other negro against you. Our interest is mutual.

They need our superior guidance and direction, and we need their labor. Wo would get

along well if we were let alone. But there are a few men who say to him, Now
you watch these conservatives; they will put you back into slavery if they can

; they
are only doing you kindnesses to get your votes.&quot; That influence renders us power
less, exasperates the negro, keeps up strife, and perpetuates antagonism, which is

against our wishes and interest. The disabilities are very galling to our people. Not
that our leading men want office

; very few of them do. There was no scramble of our

leading men after the war. We want to build up our waste places, and retrieve our
lost fortunes. But the people demand the services of our best men, and cannot get
them. It not only makes tho men who are under disabilities, but those who are not,

complain and chafe that they cannot send good men to the legislature or Congress.
(Question. You lose the services of your best men ?

Answer. Yes, sir; the House is composed almost exclusively of young men without

legislative experience. There was not one old leader, not one experienced directing
mind in that body, though there were some very promising men. Heiice the interest of

the State sutlers.
&quot;

And let me say in this connection that if there should be a foreign war
it would 1)0 a very singular proposition to call upon a man to fight for his country while

you keep him in chains and do not allow him tho privileges of his former slaves. It is

not animosity against tho Government, but to make a man love his country you rnusf

g ;a him the&quot;rights of every other citizen of tho country. If that was done and there
should be a foreign war, our people would respond with alacrity ;

would vie with the
North in patriotism, as they did in the revolutionary war, the war of 1812, and tho
Mexican war. But they wou d not want to go into battle as inferiors. This is a con
stant source of irritation .

By Mr. BECK :

Question. I will ask you wbetiier or not, as chairman of the democratic central com
mittee of Alabama, it was either required, or was the habit of the people, to send to

you reports of such outrages as wore alleged to be committed in different parts of the

State, fio a to get at the facts *
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Anwcer. Yes, sir; they did not do so in all cases, out that was the rule. Several

t imes we were written to. For instance, in Elmore County there would be some slan

der published, and they would write to me, saying, &quot;Tell Governor Smith (or Parsons)
to pay no attention to it.&quot;

(jiuxtion. The habit was to report the facts?

O ln xt in ,,. Do you consider that you are as fully advised in regard to the condition of

the State ;.s any other person in Alabama?
Inxwcr. Without arrogating anything to myself, I think I know more about it than

any man in Alabama. I have lived there thirty-seven years, and have been a most
active man : In-longed to the old whig party, and belong now to the democratic.

OHMffoft. What lias been the effect of the action taken by the Northern Methodist

clinrch preachers upon your population, in regard to the church or church govern-

Ansu-cr. Well, sir, I could not go into particulars further than I have. They go there

in a twofold capacity; they-profess to be emissaries of Christ, and they seem to be
emissaries also of the radical party; they preach their religion and their politics at

the s:nn- time. That is the general belief there. There are not many of them, how
ever.

(JuctstioH. Do you know a man by the name of Lakin
;

if so, what is his character so

far as you have heard it spoken of?

Answer. He is a man of very bad character. I would not know him if I were to see

]iim. He was notorious there as a mischief-maker and a stirrer up of strife.

Question. \ man of notoriously bad character?

Anwer. I would say so. 1 never knew of his stealing anything or killing anybody,
but I speak of his general reputation as a mischief maker.

Question. What has been the effect upon the negro population of the political excite

ments warnings, threats, and promises, made to them? . What lias been the effect

upon their labor and their advancement as a people ?

Answer. It has been, to a certain extent, to paralyze their labor. There are great
droves of them in every city and village attending political meetings. It is a wonder
how they live. But they are now losing their confidence in their leaders very much ;

gradually their leaders are losing their hold on them.

Question. What do you know about promises made to them of land, mules, and other

property, if they voted the republican ticket, and of threats to be put back into slavery
if they did not? How far have they been influenced by such promises and threats ?

Answer. They have been influenced greatly by threats and promises. The general
impression among them unmistakably Avas that if the democrats get into power they
would be put back into slavery. The more ignorant believed this, but they all be
lieved that they would be deprived of the right of voting. That accounted for their

voting in such a solid body.
(Question. Were there any promises made to them of land ?

Answer. Oh, yes.

Question. What was the general character of that promise ?

Answer. Forty acres and a mule. A man went to a big meeting with a lot of painted
pegs which he offered for sale at a dollar a piece. He said all they had to do was t
stick them down and get them forty acres of land.

Question. United States pegs?
Answer. Yes, sir

; they were to pay $4 for four pegs, select their land, walk so many.
^teps east, west, north, and south, put down the pegs at the four corners, and they got
a title from the United States Government to the forty acres. In one place he sold two
hundred of these pegs. We heard of this in more instances than one. Major Pierce
told mo he witnessed it.

By Mr. STEVENSON :

(,
infttKon. Did you hear the politics of the man who sold the pegs ?

No, sir. I have heard of their getting halters to take their mules home.

By Mr. BECK :

These promises of course proved false; what was the effect upon the negro
of these broken promises!
Anaim: Many of them say they will not trust them any longer, and when they want

ladgtaacfl they come to Southern white men. In Alabama there are not to-day 3,000
.. publican whitr men of all sorts, in my opinion. General Grant got about 8,000 white
votes, but I do not think Governo. Smith got that number. There is a great change

i on. The democrats own 999 acres out of every 1,000. They are the only men
that can help the negro much ; they are assisting them, and when the negroes come
for help they worn greatly mortified.

Qui xtion. Is it not a well-known trait of the negro character that when you make
promises and break them, he will not trust you thereafter ?
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Answer. Yes, sir
;
ho learns slowly but surely, and when he loses confidence in you,

you cannot easily restore it.

Question. Something was said about the falling off of the vote of the negro in Eutaw,
for Major Hays ;

do you know of any reasons -why that should bo otherwise than by
force, fraud, or intimidation ?

Answer. 1 can tell you why it fell off in several cases : Major Hays was known in

Alabama as the most cruel master that ever lived in that country before and during
the war

;
and it is common reputation that he gave orders to the negroes for their ser

vices upon men who never paid them.

Question. Did not this account sufficiently for their refusal to vote?
Answer. Yes, sir; these things were known and our party circulated them over tho

district. And another thing, the radical attorney-general, Joshua Mowers, went into

the jail and whipped a negro on suspicion of having wr

aylayed and whipped his wife s

brother. I published that all over the State last campaign, and it is known to every
body. The case came up before the court, and it was proved that he took a common
handsaw and whipped him, and then salted him down. When he ran for attorney-

general and was elected, that wras not generally known among the negroes, but in the
last election he was beaten, and Hays s majority was reduced. The radical marshal of

Montgomery was professionally a negro hunter made his living by it. The present
radical chancelor in Montgomery voted for a bill to make every free negro in Ala

bama, before the war, a slave or leave the State. Negroes that I tried to defend were

put into slavery, and had to choose masters. I was opposed to the bill
;
I do not know

whether I voted upon it or not. I told this upon him in a speech which was published.
Here are these cruel men, every one of them was in the confederate army, and after

The war they just went in for the spoils and good offices. These things 1 published;
the negro cannot read, but as far as I could

get&quot;
his* ear I sought to make them known.

Question. These are the causes for the falling off of the vote I

Answer. That was one of the prime causes.

Question. Whatever may be the law of Alabama as to the right of a man to challenge
a voter, what is the practical effect of it ? Does anybody dare to challenge a man ?

Answer. I uever have seen one challenged. It is #500 line and imprisonment, I think,
for interfering in the elections, and we have negro juries, radical sheriffs and clerks.

J addressed one jury of eleven ignorant negroes and one white man. If that party
could get any hold upon a man for violation of the election law, they would certainly
convict him.

Question. The practical operation of the law is, as I understand it, that a man
dare not open his mouth, and the vote goes unchallenged ?

Answer. Yes, sir: it does go unchallenged.
Question. Have you any security at all in your elections from a man voting just as

often as he pleases
Answer. No, sir; it is even held by the best lawyers of our State that if you catch a

man voting four times or more you cannot convict him. In Mobile they stuck fish

hooks in the coat of every negro that voted, and when he came to another poll witn
the fish-hook in his clothes there was a fellow to recognize him and threaten to nab
liirn. The negro would see that he was known and expect some punishment. But,
after an examination of the law, it is the opinion of the best lawyers that it was framed

purposely so that you cannot convict.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. You were in Montgomery at the time legal proceeding was instituted on
behalf of Governor Lindsay to recover the books ami papers of the office I

Answer. I was; was an adviser of Governor Lindsay and was present at the trial.

Question. The trial occupied several days I

Answer. One day and part of another,

Question. What was the demonstration at the court
;
was there a great crowd there ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
but as orderly and quiet as you ever saw. The crowd was not

brought there for violent purposes, for every good man counseled moderation. There
was no preparation for violence.

Question. It was a matter of great interest ?

Answer. It was; and it was a matter of surprise that they should claim the office.

Question. Were you a close observer of the proceedings
Answer. I was.

Question. Did you observe a large number of people armed ?

Ansicer. No, sir; on the contrary, I saw but one pistol during the entire proceeding,
and that, in my opinion, was to assassinate me in the back. Braiuerd, the radical cir

cuit clerk, w ho paid me $400 to defend him for killing his brother-in-law, took a seat

just opposite me as I sat on the steps, while the lieutenant governor was counting the

(
vote 011 the speaker s stand. I noticed that as I changed about he changed. I went
down into the secretary of Stated? office

;
there a gentleman came to me and said,

&quot; You
watch Brainerd. he is following you about all the time.&quot; I started to go back: as I
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did BO I met him again. He had a cloak around him. From the way he held his hand

and arm I thought he had a pistol. I jumped and jerked his coat open, and there under

his arm was a revolver, in fact, outside of his coat.

Question. If there was an unusual crowd of strangers on that occasion, what was the

cause of that influx
;
was there any public meeting ?

Answer. That was an exciting time, but there was no demonstration whatever and
no disrespect shown to Governor Smith.

Question. Nobody armed?
Answer. Nobody ;

if there were, I should have seen them. I do not recollect seeing
but this one, who denied it when I took the pistol from him. I told him if I caught
him following me again I would shoot him.

Question. What would bo the best means of arriving at the facts in this wide-spread

examination; for this committee to go South and make the investigation in the several

localities, or to hold their sittings here?

Answer. It would be much better to go South, because there you could take up charge
after charge in the dillereut localities.

By Mr. POOL :

Question. You say your taxes were increased for school purposes ?

Answer. Yes, sir } in part for schools, but not for schools alone. We had a school

fund before, but it was increased so as to make it one-fifth of the entire revenue. That
would treble our taxes.

Question. There is a considerable appropriation for railroads ?

Ansiccr. No, sir
; they did not do anything for railroads out of this fund. The rail

road companies pay interest on the bonds, except $250,000 paid by Governor Lindsay.
and I think he issued new bonds to pay that.

Question. Your State has paid nothing, then, for railroads up to this time ?

Answer. I do not think she has paid anything out of the taxes
;
she has in bonds.

Superintendent Hodgson told me the school-fund was $150,000 behind, and he was
afraid he would have to suspend his schools if he could not arrange to raise the money.

Question. The tax-bill proper is much less in amount than it was before ?

Answer. It was one-quarter of one per cent., now it is three-quarters.

Question. What was the tax before the war ?

Answer. I do not think it was one-quarter of one per cent.

Question. Do you know the aggregate amount raised now ?

Answer. I do not.

Question. You had a provisional governor after the war?
Answer. We had Provisional Governor Parsons

;
then we elected Governor Patton

and a white legislature. That legislature made the tax one-quarter of one per cent.

The next legislature increased it to three-quarters. Our county tax in Montgomery
has been nearly quadrupled in three or four years.

Question. Your supreme court is a court of appeal, is it not ?

Answer. Yes, sir; it sometimes exercises jurisdiction in liabcas+corpus cases.

Question. What is the character of it for capacity ?

Ansiver. It is fair. Chief Justice Peck stood high as a lawyer ;
the other two are

men of good personal habits.

Question. Is the Union league in existence now in Alabama?
Answer. We think it is

;
I do not know. I heard the sheriff of our county ask a

negro, who was being tried for stealing, if he had given the jury the sign, and he told
him he had.

Question. You mean league .sign?
Answer. I suppose so.

Question. Is there any counter organization opposed to this league ?

Answer. None under heaven that I know of. I have heard of disguised men, but I

have no evidence that anything like a league exists. To the best of my information, I

swear that I do not believe there has ever been an organization in the State, further
than perhaps in a county, with direct reference to some particular case, that would act
in disguise, ttut I do not think they had any connection with bodies of men in other
sections of the State. I have received two or three letters from strangers who wanted
to know if there were any Ku-Klux Klans in the State.

Question. You think there never was any ?

Answer. I have no doubt men in some counties have banded together for unlawful
purposes; but that they were organized in different counties, with signs, pass-words,
&c., I do not believe it.

Question. You have heard of negroes being whipped by men in disguise?
Answo: Yes, sir; I have heard of a few cases.

Question. Of course, you think such proceeding is wrong ?

Answci . Certainly; I condemn it. In the longest speech I ever made in the court-
bouse in my life, I took over two hours against some white men who were charged with
whipping another white man; and the men were blacked or in disguise. Moreover,
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they were democrats, and the man who was whipped was a republican, though poli
tics had nothing!; to do with it.

Question. You have never heard the fact of the legislature taking bribes, &c., given
as an excuse for the whipping of negroes by disguised men ?

Answer. No, sir
;
never.

Question. The fact of the legislature being corrupt, and composed of carpet-baggers
and scalawags, was never given as an excuse for these outrages ?

Answer. Oh, no, sir
;
the men who do these things would not let it be known. I do

not know who they are
;
I have neverknown one who was concerned in it, so help me

God
;
but I infer they are irresponsible, reckless characters.

Question. Never heard of a case coming before the courts ?

Answer. Yes, sir; I defended five myself three weeks ago charged with whipping a
colored man

;
but they proved by colored and white men that they were not there.

Question. Whipped by men in disguise?
Answer. Yes, sir

;
in Macon County. The United States commissioner discharged

them without bonds. The negroes who testified to an alibi have been since run off by
their own color.

Question. Would you not think the frequent recurrence of Ku-Klnx outrages upon
colored men would be a very serious injury to the southern people in the present state

of affairs ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
the men who perpetrate them are the worst enemies of our people

011 God s earth, and every decent man there says so. These outrages are not very fre

quent, but whenever they occur we know they will be magnified and furnish material
for our enemies to keep up this warfare upon us; and we would punish them to the
extent of the law without any aid from the United States if we could get hold of them.
But these things are not common, and they occur just as often to one party as the
other.

Question. It would be greatly to the advantage of the two parties and to the good
men of the State to have them put down?

Answer. Well, we are putting them down as far and as fast as we can both parties.
It is some private prejudice! it is not often political, though sometimes it is. Our
governor says (and we have so advised him) he will put them down and go to any
length, if necessary, in doing so. When the word of the outrage in Coosa (or Elmore)
County came, Governor Lindsay dispatched one of his secretaries to see about it and
make a report.

Question. Your people well understand that the frequent recurrence of such things
endangers their relations with the Federal Government, and keeps back friendly legis
lation f

Aimcer. Yes, sir, understand it perfectly and act upon it. Every press in the State
almost takes that ground. The Advertiser, the organ of our party at Montgomery,
takes that ground. I read the northern papers. There are not as many outrages or
mobs among us as there are in the Northwestern States. That is my opinion. They
have women mobs and*men mobs at the North

; they take men from jail. I see just,
as many outrages in Massachusetts as in other States.

Question. The reconstruction policy of Congress yon understand to embrace not only
colored suffrage ami equality before the law, such as giving testimony, sitting on

juries, &c., but also the disfrauchisement of some white men; was there opposition,
to the feature of it giving colored suffrage among your people?
Amwer. The question has never come up in Alabama in that shape whether there

should be colored suffrage since just after the war. Here is the way we look at that^

question : with us the question is, Shall Congress prescribe universal suffrage, or shall

Alabama do it ? My own opinion is, if that question had been left to Alabama, sh-*

would have pursued a very liberal policy toward the negro given him every right he
had the intelligence to exercise.

Question. The white people of Alabama would not have accepted voluntarily the
reconstruction policy of Congress as a whole ?

Ansicer. No, sir.

Question. They would have voted it down ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. There was no way, then, for the Government to put it upon the people of?

Alabama under the form of a popular election without permitting the negro to vote ?

Answer. That is to say, so far as universal suffrage is concerned, Congress could not/
have done it in any other way. It had either to force it upon us or leave it to us

;
it

chose the former. It had the power to put upon us anything it pleased.
Question. I said, under the form of a popular election could not have done it? in any

other way ?

Answer. Congress could not have done it in any other way ;
Alabama could. I do not

think she would have done it, however.
Question. Is there still a feeling against the manner in which reconstruction was put

upon Alabama?

16
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Answer. Yea, sir.

Question. Is the feeling general?
Answer. Yes, sir ; and the manner in which it was done will always be regarded as

odious. But 1 IK- people quietly submit to it, and protect the negro in every right con

ferred 111)011 him by Congress.
omxtion. lias the general conduct of the negroes of Alabama been good or bad since

reconstruction ?

Answer. Except -where influenced by bad white men and a few bad negroes, it has

been good.
Que-x1i&amp;lt;ni.

Has it been good to an extraordinary extent?

Anxw&amp;lt;r. Yes. sir
;
where removed from this baneful political influence tending to

array them again&amp;gt;t
the white race, so far as being quiet and peaceable, it has been very

**

Question. Have these influences been exerted more or less in all parts of the State ? ,,

Anxu-er. Yes, sir; the whole State has been thoroughly canvassed again and again by
radical speakers ;

but the negroes have behaved best where they were furthest re

moved from these influences.

Question. You said the proportion of the criminals was about forty negroes to fivo

white men ?

Answer. In our jail it is in about that proportion.

Qtiexiion. You have reference, then, simply to Montgomery County ?

J//-strrr. Yes, sir.

Question. Not to the rest of the State ?

.-limner. Yes, sir; I will add that I think that would be a pretty fair average in the

State at large.

Question. What is the character of the bulk of the offenses charged against the

negroes ?

Answer. The most of thepi are petty offenses.

Quextion. Of what character?
Answer. If you may call it a petty offense, adultery is very common. Petty larceny is

frequent ;
next comes mule-stealingnot so many ;

then rape.

Question. Committed on white women ?

Answer. I defended a negro in Tuskegee for rape.

Question. Before reconstruction ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Any since?
Answer. A negro was tried for rape on a young girl in Montgomery recently. They

also attempted a rape on a respectable white married woman. Then comes murder.

They kill one another frequently. There have been, in my opinion, more white men
killed by negroes than negroes by whites more shot.

Question. Have you ever known a case where a company of disguised negroes went at

night to a white man s house, took him from his bed, stripped and scourged him ?

Answer. I have heard of cases, and I know of one case in Macon County in which they
went and shot a man

; he jumped out of the window and got away.
Question. Were they disguised ?

Answer. I do not know
;

it was dark. They were put in jail, but afterward escaped.
Question. My question is whether you know of negroes doing these things iud*isguise.
Answer. I do not recollect. The deputy sheriff of Macon County was taken by

negroes, beaten, and left for dead.

Question. Were they disguised?
Answer. Not that I know of. I have been informed that the only Ku-Klux killed in

disguise in the State of Alabama proved to be a radical. I know a negro was arrested
as a Ku-Klux, and brought by the military authorities to Montgomery about six or

eight months ago. And in Tallapoosa a negro was charged with assaulting a white
man, and depriving him of his rights under the fifteenth amendment. There is not a

respectable white, woman in the Negro Belt of Alabama who will trust herself hardly
outside of her house without some protector.

Question. Did you ever have a case reported to you, as chairman ofthe executive com
mittee, of a colored man being taken from his house at night by a disguised party and
whipped f

Answer. Yes, sir
; the case I referred to, of five white men charged with taking a

negro from bin house and whipping him. But it was very plain they had nothing to
do with it.

Question. Have you had any case reported to you, as chairman of the executive com
mittee?
Ansu er. Yes, sir

;
I have, had several letters from Elinoro County, explaining the

case, to which I iei nl, about the Methodist preacher; also from Coosa County, in
reference to the same atl air

;
then in regard to those five men, it was reported to me in

person. I may have had, in the course of four or five years, several other cases
;
for

instance, in reference to the affair in Eutaw.
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Question. You do not recollect any case in which men in disguise have gone to the
houses of colored men, and stripped and whipped them ?

Answer. I cannot recollect any cases of that kind. There may have been some
letters.

Question. You say the negroes believe that if the democrats got into power, they would
take away their right to vote ?

Answer. Yes, sir; they all believe they would be deprived of suffrage ;
and the more

ignorant, that they would be put back into slavery.

Question. Do you believe the white people would be in favor of depriving them of the

right of suffrage ?

Answer. I think if they had the power, as far as they would go would be to qualify
the right in some way. The exercise of the right of negro suffrage, Mhink, will always
exist in Alabama to some extent.

By Mr. STEVENSON :

Question. Would the qualification be extended to both races ?

Answer. Well, our constitution, as it stands, is imperative ;
we had to take an oath,

before we could vote under the constitution forced upon us by Congress, that we would
never discriminate in futiire in regard to race, color, or previous condition. We could
not discriminate under these circumstances.

Question. You are supposing if you had your own way about it ?

Answer. lt Sufficient unto the day is the evil thereof.&quot; If negro suffrage works well
in the South, it increases our representation, and we are all going democratic next
time. Hence, it is a question for us to consider whether we shall have our represen
tation decreased or not.

Question. Suppose you should make a property or intelligence qualification, I wish to
know if you would extend it to both races.

Answer. Under the present constitution it would have to be so extended
;
but I do

not know what the people would do about it.

By Mr. POOL :

Question. What do you mean by saying the Government should act generously ?

Answer. Why, keep the Federal hands off the throat of Alabama, as she does off

Massachusetts. We sprang from as good stock as any other State. We can boast of
a revolutionary ancestry as good aS that of any other State. We gave this country
most of it* territory. We gave it Washington, Jefferson. Madison, and Monroe

;
we do

not feel ourselves inferior to anybody, and we do not love anybody who claims that we
are.

Question. In what particular has the Federal hand been put upon you since tho re

construction acts ?

Answer. We can complain of what the colonies did : that you have imposed foreigners
and laws upon us, and taken our people away from the civil courts to the Dry
Tortugas.

Question. Not since reconstruction ?

Answer. You substitute the military officer, now, for the justice of the peace and the
constable

; you send the military to arrest men
; you do not allow the governor nor the

civil officer to call for a posse. We would all respond, as I have again and again in

formed the radical sheriff, with a posse to execute any law
;
but in the contest for

governor, you put the military at the capital.

Question. You do not mean to say the Government now substitutes military force ?

Answer. Yes, sir; whenever it suits its purpose it does.

Question. The granting of general amnesty, you think, would be one act of generosity ?

Answer. Yes, sir. A proclamation to the people of Alabama of a kind, salutary char

acter, appealing to them to observe law and order, would not affect the conduct of the
better portion of the community, for they are all right, anyhow ;

but it would have a
most happy effect just as if it was issued to Massachusetts; it would be worth a
thousand force bills.

Question. Is there any condition of things in Alabama calling for such a proclamation
now ?

Answer. None at all, and nothing calling for additional legislation now. The evils

complained of in Alabama are such as every other State, as far as there is just such
crime in any other State, might complain of.

Question. Can you indicate any other act that the Government ought to do ?

Ansicer. All we ask is for the Government to trust us and let us alone. We are a.

State
;
we carry the mails and do everything else which pertains to the province of

the General Government ; but in regard to our local State affairs, we ask to be let

alone.

Question. How about the payment of losses during the war ?

Ans-icer. We do not expect a cent; never have asked for a cent
;
I have never done

it, and I do not know anybody else who does ask for it, unless it is somebody whjo pro
tends to have been loyal during the war widows and orphans.
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Question. You think, then, on a general view of the whole condition of Alabama, that,

o far as the enforcement of law and order is concerned, it is on the average as good as

that of any other State!
Answer, xee, sir; as good as any other State.

Qucxlion. And as good MS before the war?
J//XMVV. Yes, sir

; just as good. Judge Busteed has held two or three Federal courts,

and has had grand juries of loyal men. At the last term they found but one true bill
;

that \vas against a hoy about eighteen years old for counterfeiting altering a one dollar

bill. If another bill &quot;of indictment was found, I have not heard of it. And the term
befmv the last he discharged the grand jury both in Huntsville and Montgomery, I be-

, &amp;gt; t hey had nothing to do.

Qucxlion. Do you give your judgment from your acquaintance among the people or

from tlif state of the docket?
Aiixirer. Both.

Question. You think crimes are ferreted out and pursued as promptly as before the

war ?

AnKurr. Entirely so
;
there is no disposition to screen a man unless he is a favorite

of one of the radical judges ;
then they will throw out a bill. I have denounced them,

and called upon the court to discharge the grand jury. If you had seen them you
would take them for jail birds the most vicious characters. One of them was himself

indicted at that very term of the court for perjury.

Qnention. At that same term ?

.-hi.v/nr. I had that grand jury discharged, and I think he was indicted for perjury.
He had a son in jail for horse-stealing afc that very term. u ., .

Question. You were a general in the confederate service?

Aimcer. Yr

es, sir.

Question. In what part of Alabama did you have command?
Answer. 1 fought cavalry under General Bragg at Shiloh and Pensacola; commanded

a. brigade of cavalry at Boonville
;
afterward commanded the eastern department of

the Gulf, South Alabama and Florida; afterward North Alabama; fought Rousseau
;

was with Johnston at Dalton and Marietta
;
I crossed that gentleman s [General Blair s]

track several times with cavalry.
Aitxirtr. Whatever feeling exists in Alabama grows out of the reconstruction policy ?

Answer. Not that alone, but the maladministration of the State government in the
hands of radicals. If we had had the soldiers who fought us to deal with, we would never
have had this trouble. If the two armies could have intermixed when Lee surrendered,
and the Government of the United States had accepted the treaties, there would have
been perpetual peace.

Question. You think the Government of the United States showed bad faith in not

standing up to the capitulation ?

Answer. Yes, sir; private men offered us generous terms, but they did not control the

Government, unfortunately for us. So far as our State governments is concerned, we
are in the hands of camp-followers, horse-holders, cooks, bottle-washers, and thieves.
There are some exceptions.

Question. You don t except Warner and Spencer ?

Answer. I make some exceptions. I presume they played their part very well, but
t hey were not great soldiers. We have passed out from the hands of the brave sol

diers who overcame us, and are turned over to the tender mercies of squaws for torture,
a* is sometimes done by savages. We have been tortured and robbed by men from dif
ferent parts of the world, and treated in a way that brave soldiers of the North would
not have been expected to treat ns.

Question. Did you not commit a very great political mistake in declining to vote
upon the convention question ?

.IH.NHYT. Yes, sir
;

I think now we would better have elected officers. That was my
policy at the time, and I had a telegram from the executive committee here to vote,
and send some good men to Cougress. But badly as we had been treated by Congress,
wo did not believe that, after we had rejected the constitution according to the terms
of the law, Congress would force it upon us any way.

Question. Congress had not done the same thing to any other State ?

Anuwtr. No, sir. Alabama was made an exception, with the sanction of Thaddeus
Stevens. I do not believe there is a Northern State that would have submitted as
quietly as we have to these usurpations and tyranny.

Question. You think it is rather remarkable that the people of Alabama should be as

quiet as they are?
.i)i Hirer. Yes, sir; it is wonderful. It required a higher degree of courage and hero

ism than to light the, battles of the confederacy. I know it has been so to my feelings.
Question. That is the general feeling among the white people ?

Ansioer. Yes, sir. I see negro police great black fellows leading white girls around
Ihe streets of Montgomery, and locking them up in jail.

Question. They don t lock up respectable white girls ?
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Answer. They lock up any that fall into their hands. I have never known them to

lock up any of high character. A negro policeman brought one to my office a sewing

girl begging me to pay the fine for her for throwing.some slops in the street.

By Mr. COBURN :

Question. You say at the clos^ of the war all the people expected, as the basis of set

tlement the abolition of slavery and the surrender of the right of secession ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And that they were to have restored to them all other rights the same as if

they had not fought against the Government ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
such was Lincoln s proclamation ;

and Congress had often gone
further, and said it would guarantee slavery if the States would come back to the

Union.

Question. But you did not accept those terms.

Answer, No, sir.

Question. And so the armies had to settle it ?

Answer. No, sir
;

I did not say so
;
but how much better it would have been if Con

gress had executed the behests of the two armies.

Question. How do you know it would have been better ?

Answer. I give it as niy best judgment. The majority of the men who fought us

were kindly disposed toward us after the war.

Question. You think it was safe to trust the Government in the hands of a set of men
who had been fighting it for four years ?

Answer. Certainly ;
when they were done fighting, what harm would they have

done?
Question. You would give all the political power into their hands ?

Answer. &quot;Where does it belong, except to the States?

Question. I will not have an argument with you. You would not trust Governor
Parsons as a democrat now ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Suppose you had beaten him in the political field
;
would that be any cause

for having confidence in him ? ,

Answer. No, sir.

Question. The rebels surrendered only when they were defeated
;

is that any reason

why we should trust them ?

Answer. Certainly, every reason in the world. You can trust a man who is in your
power ;

he cannot harm you. But we never have deceived you ;
we fought you boldly,

and when we surrendered we meant what we said. We are too brave to be treach

erous.

Question. You say you were once a whig ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did you ever turn democrat ?

Answer. Not till since the war.

Question. You were once a Union man ?
,

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And then turned rebel ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And fought the Union ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
when the Government undertook to coerce the Southern States.

Question. Don t you think it rather hard to denounce Governor Parsons for changing
his party ?

Answer. He says he changed his to make money ;
I did not.

Question. Do you know he said that ?

Answer. I have given you as responsible a witness as I know.

Question. Do you know it yourself?
Answer. No, sir.

Question. Without any evidence of ft yourself, don t you think you are treating him
with a great deal of uncharitableness in denouncing him for want of principle ?

Answer. I never said he wanted principle; I said that William H. Barnes told mo
that Governor Parsons told him it was necessary to get his claims through.

Question. Is he personally a man of integrity f

Answer. I have always found him so.

Question. Do you believe he is sincere now in his support of
th^e republican party ?

Answer. No, sir
;
I do not.

Question. That he does it from purely mercenary motives?
Answer. I do

;
I did not want this question put to me.

Question. You said that about the close of the war you advocated the principle that
the negro should be on an equality with the white man before the law ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What do you mean by that ?
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Answer. That the same laws and same rules of evidence should govern him, and that

ho should have every right under the law as the white man.

Question. What law do you refer to ?

Annwn: The laws of the land
;
that the law should be so changed as to give every

111:111 in the South the same right in courts of justice.

Qm S/JOM. The same protection ?

Ansu-cr. The same protection.

Question. Then you were in favor of every right except that of suffrage ?

Ansmr. Yes, sir; except that I was not in favor of giving them the right to marry
among the whites.

Qiu-xHoii. Give them the right to serve on juries?
Anmrtr. Where they have the intelligence.

Question. You had a barbecue that you alluded to, to which the negroes were invited;
when AYas that?

Aiiwtr. I think it was in 1867.

Question. Did you make a speech at that barbecue?
Ausu-cr. I did

;
but not till I went out and told the negroes it was a false report that

they were to be poisoned.
Question. Did the white men and negroes both eat at the barbecue ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
but not at the same table.

Question. You spoke about Senator Warner running the negro machine and electioneer

ing with the negroes ;
was that barbecue for electioneering purposes ?

Answer. No, sir
;
I do not think I heard politics mentioned at all. A few fellows like

Clark, who had killed three men and had tried to shoot another in the dark, had got
up a bad state of feeling, and the moral portion of the community wanted reconciliation,
so they got up this barbecue. My best recollection is, there was no. campaign and no

political speaking.
Question. In talking about the attachment of the people of Alabama to the Govern

ment, you say the best evidence of it was the fact that they adopted a confederate gov
ernment almost precisely like that of the United States

;
is that the best evidence ?

Answer. I did not say that was an evidence of their attachment to the Government
of the United States, but to a republican form of government. They were very much
dissatisfied with the United States Government.

Question. Do you know of any republican that is proposing a monarchical form of gov
ernment at this time ?

Answer. So far as the South is concerned, this is like the Roman republic ;
it has sur

vived constitutional liberty in the South.

Question. How do you propose to get along with that
;
do you propose to resist it ?

Answer. $To, sir.

Question. You say it was like the government over the colonies; do you propose to
use the same means the colonies used to redress your wrongs ?

Anxirer. No, sir.

Question. What do you propose ?

Answer. Heroic endurance is all that is left.

Question. That is all you propose to do f

Answer. Except to change it according to the forms of law
;
to aid the national

democracy in doing it.

Question. You say there is no freedom of speech in Alabama for colored democrats ?

Answer. Not much. *

Question. How many colored democrats are there ?

Antwer. Not a great many, but there would be many more if they were not intim
idated.

(Question. How do you know ?

Aimurr. I have seen them
; they have talked to me.

Question. How many have talked to you on the subject ?

Answer. I suppose, in the last five years, from one hundred and fifty to three hundred.
Quetfoft. How many colored speakers are theiyj in your State?
J//.s-/ivr. Very few.

Qm si ion. Is there one who lives in your State, or ever did live there ?

Yes, sir; we have had several make democratic speeches,
. Is there one there now?
Tin rr are several

; they are not in the habifc of going around speaking.
Question, Win-re does this man Williams live?
AtiHini . He is from Tennessee. I met him in New York during the democratic con

vention.

Qmstjuii. How many democratic votes do you think you can get among the negroes
as long as there is opposition to the fourteenth and fifteenth amendments in the dem
ocratic party ?

Am/war. With opposition to negro suffrage you could not got many.
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Question. Have you made the &quot;new departure&quot; in Alabama, and gone for the four
teenth and fifteenth amendments ?

Answer. We are submitting to those amendments, but have never approved of the
manner they were put upon us. We do not propose to resist them.

Question. Not by force of arms ?

Answer. ]To, sir
; according to the forms of law the ballot-box.

Question. You propose to change them ?

Answer. No, sir
;
we have not got the power.

Question. It is not now a question of power ;
but what do you propose to do when

you get the power ?

Answer. We do not propose to do it, for Alabama would not have the power to do it.

If the national democracy should be successful, we propose abiding by what it does.
We are a small fragment of the national democracy, and would have very little power.

Question. You say you were present at an election where a negro captain inspected the
tickets

;
how was that ?

Answer. He fixed himself in a position where everybody had to pass ;
a negro could

not slip through without handing him his ticket, and he would inspect it, and if it was
a democratic ticket he would take it and give him another.

Question. Did he make the negroes give him their tickets, or did they give them
willingly ?

Answer. He did not ask them just reached out and took them without ceremony.
Question. Did a single negro refuse to give him his ticket ?

Anmver. No, sir
;
ho was a town negro, and they were laborers who did not know but

he was governor.
Question. Did you see him take one democratic ticket in his hands ?

Answer. I saw him change tickets.

Question. Do you know whether he changed a democratic for a republican ticket ?

Answer. I could not see that, but they were changed, and that was my inference. I

saw twenty or thirty do that.

Question. Did you see the tickets taken by force ?

Ans-wer. No, sir : the negroes did not resist at all. The negro was led up like a child
and thought he had to do wha-tever was to be done. In most cases they were republi
can tickets, very few changes ;

it was a very rare case for a negro to vote the demo
cratic ticket.

Question. Are you prepared to say there was any considerable number of negroes that
wanted to vote the democratic ticket, but were intimidated /

Answer. Yes, sir; I cannot know it positively, but I believe that quite a number were
intimidated in that way. There are some very sensible negroes, very favorable to the
white people, and on very good terms with them, who have been advised by their old
masters and friends that these adventurers were misrepresenting them, voting against
their interest, and increasing the taxes

;
and I believe there would have been more col

ored democratic votes if they had been let alone by these adventurers.

Question. In Winston County something was said about resolutions being passed to
allow no negro to live in the county ;

were you there at the time the resolutions were
passed;?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Do you know anything about the fact ?

Ansu cr. Nothing of my own knowledge.
Question. You say pigs, cows, chickens, &c., are stolen, and that bacon has risen from

5 to 25 cents a pound ?

Answer. It has been as high as 25; it is now from 20 to 22. Last year I paid as high
as 28. The county of Montgomery supplied itself pretty well before and during the
war.

Question. You say that you published something about Mr. Harrington in the news
papers and he made no response; therefore, you say, he must be guilty of what you
accused him 1

Answer. I did not say that therefore he was guilty. It is possible a man may be
innocent in such a case

;
but the inference, I should say, is, that it is a strong prima

facie case of guilt.

Question. You take the position that a man is bound to answer what any one pub
lishes about him ?

Answer 1 think, occupying the position of speaker of the house of representatives,
and this charge having been published by me, he ought to have replied to it. I cer

tainly should.

Question. When was that bank robbery of which you charged him ?

Ansicer. I know nothing in relation to it.

Question. When did it purport to be ?

Answer. Some years ago. Sheriff Barber showed me what purported to be a copy of
an advertisement from a Northwestern paper, and said, &quot;That answers to the description
of Harrington ;

don t say anything about it.&quot;



248 CONDITION OF AFFAIRS IN THE SOUTHERN STATES.

Question. That is what you published?
Answer. 1 think I did.

(hnwtion. Did yon publish the fact that you had had a conversation with the sheriff,

or did y on charge him directly with the robbery of the bank?
Aitxwn: Oh, no; it was a political article, and my best recollection is, I published aH

1 have said about him here.

&amp;lt;ht( tion. Did yon pn*: his name in ?

Anxwi-r. I did : and many others like him.

QntxtioH. Was his name in the advertisement ?

Answer. I will not be positive, but it seems to me it was a different name. It pur
ported to be a description.

tjwxtion. It did not call for the name of Harrington in it?

.-IM.S/W. 1 do not think it did, but the sheriff said he had the other fellow in jail, and
the other fellow said it was Harrington ;

and it was very like him. ,

Qmxthn. So yon ventured to put that in print?
Anxirer. 1 did.

Qm-xtion. Didn t you consider that a very unfair way of dealing with a man s char
acter ?

Anxtrrr. If he had had a very good character I would have had much doubt about it,

Lilt knowing him to be such a villain I had no hesitation.

(Question. Yon said that one Cloud embezzled some thousands of dollars?

Answer. I said that Cloud was a superintendent, and that General Hodgson said that
the superintendents in the different counties had embezzled from $40,000 to 60,000. I

said, furthermore, that the Clouds, sons of the radical superintendent, had fled the
State. That fact I have seen in the radical paper at Montgomery. I have stated
that one of the, Clouds embezzled money.

(Juwtion, How do you know that?
Answer. The superintendent of education and officials about the capital informed me

of it.

Question. How much did the superintendent say Cloud had embezzled?
Answer. I think it was about $1,500. I don t know how much more.

Question. How about the $60,000 ?

Answer. Superintendent Hodgson said he wanted us to collect of these different super
intendents from s JUXIO to $60,000 that they had embezzled or not accounted for.

Question. Did ho give you the names of the men who embezzled the money?
A iimm: No, sir; not one.

Question. How did he expect you to bring suit?
Answer. He went, afterward, I suppose, to my partners. I think he has made a

statement to them. It was about a month or two ago.
Question. Were these unsettled balances of these officers, or was there positive evi

dence of embezzlement ?

Answer. It was money, I understood, that they had drawn to pay the teachers with
;

the superintendents had not appropriated it in that way, but had kept it. I know one
colored teacher in Montgomery come to me to sue the superintendent for money he
owed him.

Question. Is it not possible that these were merely unsettled accounts writh the Gov
ernment?

Answer. I cannot say what the evidence would disclose, but the time is past due for
their settlements. For instance, the superintendent of Montgomery has gone out of
.office.

Question. Can you bring an action for embezzlement?
Answer. No, sir; that is an indictable offense.

Question. Do you propose to indict?
Answer. You can sue them on their securities and indict them at the same time.

Question. Do yon propose to indict?
JH.SHYT. If the superintendent requests it. He said sue for the money.
(Jm-xtion. Then that is all you have been employed to do ?

Answer. That is all he spoke to me about.

Uy Mr. STKVKNSON:

Question. This State superintendent is a democrat elected last fall?
Answer. Yes, sir. Eight of the regents are republicans and four democrats.
(Jmxlion, lie is the man who came to yon .

Anmrcr. Yes, sir
; but I got some of this information that about Superintendent

Cloud from the editor s office of the republican paper.

By the CIIAIKMAX, (Mr. POLAND :)

Question. Each of the county superintendents has to give bonds, with sureties, for
the proper appropriation of all the public money he receives?

Answer. Yes, sir; that is my understanding of the law.
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Question. And you suppose they did?
Answer. I suppose they did.

By Mr. COBURN :

Question. Is the democratic party in favor of educating the negro the same as the
white man ?

Ansicer. They are.

Question. The same length of time during the year ?

Ansicer. I have not heard them express themselves on that point.
Question. How long do you educate the children in the free schools ?

Ansicer. The free schools are a new thing. They go from six to nine months in the

year, I think.

Question. Is that a general system pervading the State f

Answer. Yes, sir
;
there is a superintendent in every county.

Question. Can you give an idea of the number of scholars?
Answer. I cannot.

Question. You take some interest in the system?
Answer. I do

;
a great interest.

Question. You said something about replying to Senator Wilson
;
what was that ?

Answer. He passed through Montgomery and made a speech to a large assembly of

negroes ;
he was bitter toward southern whites, and challenged anybody to reply I

replied ; my speech was published not only in the South, but in the North, and that
part of it was approved by the Boston papers in which I took the position in favor of

educating the negroes. I stated that I had received my education from their labor and
would aid to educate them.

Question. You say there is not a gentleman in the State that would counsel the burn
ing of school-houses ?

Answer. I do.

Question. What do you mean by a &quot;gentleman?&quot;

Answer. An honest man.
Question. Do you suppose any man, honest or dishonest, would counsel it ?

Answer. He would be a bad man to do it.

Question. Speaking about labor, you say you have no other labor but the negro ?

Ansicer. I mean none except the original white people, in contradistinction from
other countries that bring in white labor from abroad. Our people in the hills who
are accustomed to work do better than almost anybody.

Question. Don t all your fanners work ?

Answer. Yes sir
;
some old fellows do not work.

Question. Your men ot vigor work?
Answer. Yes, sir

;
a man is not respected that loafs, unless he is a man of means or

devotes himself to humanity.
Question. You say your best men are under disabilities ?

Answer. Yes, sir
; many of our best men. ,

Question. Not all of them ?

Answer. Oh, no
; certainly not.

Question. Have not a good many of them been relieved of their disabilities?
Answer. There have been a few, by begging for it, I suppose.
Question. Has every man been relieved who has asked to be?
Answer. I do not know; I do not think so.

Question. Are there not a good many men relieved who are democrats now ?

Answer. Not many ;
our governor is one.

Question. Don t you know a great many have been relieved who are democrats ?

Answer. No, sir, I do not; I think there are a few.

Question. Are you acquainted outside of Alabama ?

Answer. I do not know about other States
;
there are very few among us.

Question. What change would come in the minds of those men who are under disa
bilities if they were relieved ?

Ansicer. It would not change their politics, but it would increase their attachment to
the Government very much.

Question. You were asked if you had any security in Alabama against illegal voting;
how did you answer?

Answer. I do not think wo have any.
Question. Are your officers not sworn ? -

Answer. Yes. sir
;

if you call that protection. I say it is the opinion of many of our
best lawyers that there is no redress for illegal voting.

Question. Are not your voters required to be registered ?

A-nswer. Yes, sir
;
I think so.

Question. If a man registers illegally is he not liable to punishment?
Answer. In the opinion of the best members of the bar a man cannot be punished for

voting illegally.
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Question. Does not every raan who is registered take an oath as to liis qualification ?

Answer. I did not bear any oath prescribed.

Question. But bo has to take an oath ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
I suppose so.

Question. Does not your law prescribe that if a man swears falsely he must be

punished ?

Answer. Our statute law does.

Question. So, then, he is liable to punishment for false swearing ?

Answer. In that way he might be punished.

Question. You say if is not safe to challenge anybody who offers to vote ?

Answer. There is a law against it.

Question. You said, in answer to a question, that a man could vote as many times as

he pleased, and nobody could object ?

Answer. Well, they do not object, and they do vote often.

Question. Suppose a man who is legally registered and entitled to vote comes up and
votes once

;
do you mean to say that if he offers to vote again at that or another poll,

and a man objects to his voting on the ground that he has voted once, the man thus

objecting would be, by your law, subject to punishment?
Answer. It reads that way ;

and our people are so much afraid of it that they do not

challenge.
Question. Do you mean to give it as your judgment, as a lawyer, that he could legally

be convicted ?

Ansu er. I believe that is the object of the law.

Question. Do you say, as a lawyer, that under the law a conviction could be sustained

by your courts ?

Answer. That would depend very much upon the complexion of the jury who tried

the case, and of the court.

Question. I want your judgment as a lawyer?
Answer. On that state of facts I should say he could not be convicted

;
ho ought not

to be convicted.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. Yet you do say such is the influence of this law that it prevents men from

challenging ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

By Mr. COBURN :

Question. Did Governor Lindsay recommend the repeal of this election law ?

Answer. I do not recollect
;
nor do I recollect whether any change was made at the

last session of the legislature.

Question. I know it to be the fact that it did not change it.

Answer. I did not say it did
;

it could not have well done it, for it was a republican
law and the republican senate holds over, and any bill that passes the house that the
senate does not like cannot get through.

By Mr. POOL :

Question. Was any bill introduced to modify the law ?

Answer. I do not know.

By Mr. COBURN :

Question. Is there any secret political organization in the State of Alabama ?

Answer. None that I know of; I do not belong to any myself, and I have no knowl
edge of any, except that the negroes say they belong to the Loyal League.

Question. Did you ever take any obligation upon you in any political association in
secret ?

Answer. Never in. my life.

&amp;lt;

t
&amp;gt;urti().. You know of no society no band of men that has any organization of

that kind?
Answer. None

;
hence I have doubted the existence of any such.

Question. Have you no knowledge of any plan to intimidate negroes or republicans
from voting ?

Answer. None.

By Mr. STEVENSON :

Question. On the question of the election law, I find it reads as follows. (Acts of
1868, Alabama, pp. JIKJ ami 276:)

&quot;SEC. 4. And be it J nrllur enacted, That it shall be their [the board of registrars !

duty to enter, or cause to be entered, in a book the name of every person qualified to
vote under the constitution of this State and the acts of the legislature thereof; and
before entering, or causing to be entered, such names, they shall require the person
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applying to be registered to subscribe to the oath prescribed in section 4, article 7, of

the constitution of this State.&quot;

&quot; SEC. 11. And be it further enacted, That any person who shall knowingly and cor

ruptly take the oath required in section four of this act shall be deemed guilty of a felony,
and upon conviction be imprisoned in the penitentiary for not less than two nor more
than ten years, at the discretion of the court.&quot;

&quot; SEC. 32. And be it further enacted, That whenever any registered voter offers to vote,
his ballot must be received, and one of the inspectors must call his name audibly and

distinctly ;
and the name of each elector whose ballot has been so received must im

mediately be taken down bj each clerk on separate lists, which are headed Names of

voters, and called poll-lists and the number and order in which such elector votes

must at the same time be entered by each clerk against his name, the first elector

voting being number one, the second number two, and so on to the last elector voting.&quot;

Don t you consider that an adequate provision against unlawful registration ?

Answer. For perjury ?

Question. The person registering must take the oath, and if he takes it falsely lie

must be punished?
Answer. Yes, sir

;
but they go and register, and then they go to different voting-

places and repeat ;
and I said in the outset of my testimony that it was like looking

for a needle in a hay-stack to hunt these negroes up.

Question. That is what you think ought to be provided for a law against repeating?
Answer. Yes, sir.

By the CHAIRMAN, (Mr. POLAND:)

Question. In your code I see it is provided that if any person votes more than once at

the same election he is guilty of misdemeanor, and upon conviction must be lined not

less than $200, and imprisoned not less than three nor more than twelve mouths in

the county jail. Is that now the law of your State ?

Answer. It may be
;
I have not examined it.

Question. Are you aware that this article 405 of the code of Alabama has ever been

repealed f

Answer. Of the late code? I cannot say whether it has or not.

Question. Is it claimed by anybody that there is any law repealing this section of the

code?
&amp;lt; Answer. I recollect none. The difficulty, as I said in the outset, is in hunting up
these men.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. Is not voting more than once only one of the many modes of illegal voting?
Ansicer. Yes ; sometimes they vote duplicate tickets.

By Mr. STEVENSON :

Question. In what year was the election to adopt or reject the constitution of Ala
bama?

Ansicer. I believe it was in 1867.

Question. Do you remember what the vote was for the constitution ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. It was 80,318. What was the registered vote ?

Answer. I do not know.
Question. The vote cast was not half the registered vote. Do you remember what the

vote for Grant was f

Answer. I do not.

Question. It was 76.000. The whole vote cast at the election last year was 154,005, and
the majority for Governor Lindsay was 1,400 ; adding this majority to one half of the

whole vote cast makes Governor&quot;Lindsay s majority 78,403. So that the vote cast for

the constitution was larger than any vote in favor of any political party since re

construction, and although the original act of Congress required that the constitution

should receive a majority of the registered vote, yet the vote cast for it was practi

cally a majority ofthe people actually voting in Alabama. I do not mean at that particular

election, but the 80,000 votes then cast would have carried the State at any election

you have held since. ~

Ans-icer. You must recollect this, that the constitution contains this oath which is

odious to our people ; pledging ourselves never to change it so as to discriminate in the

future on account of race, color, &c. Hence, at the next election the vote was not so

large.

Question. But at the last election, in 1870, the vote was 154,000 ?

Answer. That oath kept a good many from voting then.

Question. Did it keep as many away as would have voted originally ?

Answer. I cannot say. *
Question. This Mr. Harrington, has he ever been interfered with by violence ?

Ansicer. I never heard of it.
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Question. You spoke of &quot;having
advised a widow to teach a colored school, and also

a Catholic teacher to do the same
;
how are they treated by the community, now that

they are teaching these schools ?

Ansirer. Treated as well as they always were, so far as I know.

Question. They are not banned socially, because of their employment ?

Answer. Not at all.

Question. How have the white teachers of colored schools who have come from the

North been treated generally by the white people of Alabama ?

Answer. So far as I know or have heard, they have never been maltreated. They
have not been taken into Southern families, and there has been some little prejudice

against them, for the reason that it was understood that they came there as political

emissaries
;
that they were teaching the negro children to look with distrust upon the

white people of the South, their former owners and masters. It is understood by some that

the whole affair was calculated to excite and arouse these prejudices, and not knowing
who these teachers were at home, they have not been received cordially. But they have
Dot been interfered with at all, that I am aware of.

Question. Before this state of things, how were they received and treated ?

Answer. Very well, so far as I know.

Question. Is it not the fact that white people have refused to receive them in their

families to board, so that they have had to board in negro families ?

Answer. I have never heard of such a case ; it may be the case.

Question. Do you not know that many ladies who went South to teach schools were
ladies of the highest accomplishments, and went there as missionaries&quot;?

Answer. It may be so, but I have not discovered

Question. You have not discovered the fact ?

Answer. It may be so.

Question. What are the relations generally between the two races, other than politi

cal. Are they friendly or otherwise on all other than political questions?
Answer. There is a pretty good understanding on all other questions.

Question. Do the negroes confide in their masters and other white people on other

questions ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
whenever they want assistance, or are in trouble, they generally go

to them.

Question. This Mr. Lakin, I understand you know nothing against him, except that
he was an agitator and mischief-maker?
Answer. Such was the common report. I could not tell the particular acts, but I

have heard him spoken of, and know the repute in which he is held in Huntsville and
North Alabama.

Question. You got that report from the white men you saw in that region ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Members of your own political party ?

Answer. Almost exclusively.
Question. You don t mean to say ho had such a reputation among the republicans

of the State of either color?
Answer. No, sir

;
I do not say so.

Question. In speaking of the falling off of the vote in Greene County, in Mr. Hays s

district you gave some special reasons for it
;
do those reasons afiect him alone, or

the others on the ticket as well ?

Answer. All others that were vulnerable, I suspect, would be affected somewhat by-

running such a man. ^

Question. Would it be likely to affect Governor Smith to some extent?
Answer. No, sir; I should think it would not affect Governor Smith much.
Question. How does it happen, then, that in the county of Greene he and Governor

Smith ran with precisely the same poll ?

Answer. I cannot account for it. The cause I have mentioned may account for it,

and may not. I think Hays s treatment of his negroes, when he was master, prejudiced,
him with the negroes, and as that information was disseminated, I think it lost him*
votes.

Question. Was not that known all through his district ? Didn t you take great pains
to publish it ?

Anstcer. I did not publish that at all.

Question. But it was published in his district ?

Answer. I think so.

Question. And it was a lirst-rate point on him ?

Answer. I think so. *

Question. 1 low docs it happen that his vote fell off only in one or two counties ?

Answer. I do riot know
;
1 only give the reason why it did fall off.

Question. His vote actually increased in his district at the second election about
2,000 or more ?

Answer. It may have been so
;
I was not in his district.
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Question. He got negro votes ?

Ansicer. I do not suppose be got 100 white votes.

Question. These charges would afreet him among the negroes particularly ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Yet he got iii his district more than he got before ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
I should think it would affect the negroes.

Question. You used to live in Macon County, outside of Mr. Hays s district ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question . Would the charges against him account for the falling off in Macou County ?

Answer. No, sir; I should think not.

Question. And yet the falling off in Macon county was greater than in Greene. How
can you account&quot; as an old-experienced politician, for the material falling off in Macon,
Greene, and Suuiter Counties, while the aggregate vote in the entire State was largely

increased, by some eight or ten thousand;
Ansu cr. I know of no cause except those I have given, unless it was a growing want

of confidence.

Question. Why should this want of confidence apply in those three counties only ?

Answer. Votes vary in different counties. I do not know any special reason, unless

the negroes were more influenced by the whites than previously, or unless the whites
electioneered and were more successful there.

Question. It is a curious fact, is it not, that while the whole State increased in its

aggregate vote, and while the republican vote was larger in the whole State than in

1808, in these three counties the republican, vote decreased?
Answer. I do not know of any intimidation in Macon County, any Ku-Klux.

Question. Yet in that county tin; republican vote in 1868 was ^,3J7, and in 1870 it was
only 1.711 : and the entire vote in the same county in 18G8 was 3.402, and in 1870 it was
2.045

;
so that while tho entire vote foil off the democratic vote increased from 1,075 in

1868 to 1.234 in 1870.

Ansicer. There may have been negroes who got tired of the excitement of politics in

one county, and the same influences might not have been brought to bear. The negro
runs into religious excitement, and then loses his interest. It may have been the same
with political excitement in that county.

Question. They are afraid of the Ku-Klux too
;
curious about that, are they not ?

Answer. I do not know ot ^iny Ku-Klux in my part of the State, and I do not think
the negroes in Alabama believe there are any.

Question. Don t you ?

Answer. There may be in a few localities men banded together, but I do not think
there is an intelligent negro in Montgomery who believes it.

Question. Don t you believe there were Ku-Klux in 18(38 ?

Answer. No. not throughout the State.

Question. Don t you know that in 18G8 there was a parade of Ku-Klux on horseback
in Hnntsvillc a full parade?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Was not that calculated to make the negroes believe there were Ku-Klux
in the State 1

Ansu-er. Yes, sir.

Question. Don t you think there were Ku-Klux then?
Answer. I suppose those were what you call Ku-Klux, but I do not believe they

belonged to any general organization in Alabama.

Question. They may not have extended over tho State, but is it not your best impres
sion that they did exist in 1868 ?

Answer. They might have existed in a few localities.

Question. You don t know how far they existed
; they had too much respect for you to

let you know it
; but, then, such demonstrations as that are certainly calculated to make

men think
Answer. That they were around Huntsville. If I had been there that day I should

have thought they were there.

Question. Don t you know that in the upper part of Alabama there were parades of

Ku-Klux, and men were attacked by bodies of disguised Ku-Klux ?

Answer. No. sir
;

I cannot call to mind now but two or three places that I have heard
of since the w.ar where any disguised men appeared. One was at Huntsville, and
Governor Lindsay told me lately that he saw some in Tuscumbia; aud then there were
the boys I spoke of. The only other case I can think of was a boy who went to a grave
yard one night to scare some negroes.

Question. He went to play Ku-Klux ?

Answer. He went with a mask, and I told him to be cautious.

Question. The idea was that the Ku-Klux came out of graveyards ?

Answer. He was a very foolish boy.
Question. How far is Tuscumbia from Huntsville ?

Answer. About eighty miles.
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Question. Which way ?

Answer. Due west.

(Question. How far is Greene County from Huntsville?

Anxwtr. It is southwest about oue hundred and fifty miles.

Question. Then you have heard and are satisfied in your own mind that disguised
men have appeared in bodies at different times in the State at those three points ?

J/I.VJOT. Yes, sir; those three times.
i

t

*m-Ntion. When did they appear at Huntsville? about the time of the presidential
election ?

Answer. I do not know when it was.

Question. When did they appear at Tuscumbia?
Answer. I cannot tell. ,

Qucxtion. I think it was in 1868. When did they appear in Greene County ?

Answer. It seems to me it was one or two years ago.

Question. It was when Boyd was killed ?
r

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Have you ever taken the pains, as chairman of the democratic State com
mittee, to make an examination into the facts of these appearances of armed bands at
these different points, or any of them ?

Answer. No, sir
;
nor anywhere else; I never heard of their appearing anywhere else.

Question. Did you ever institute close inquiries of your fellow-democrats as to what
they knew of the Ku-Klux Klans ?

Answer. Only in a general way ;
most of my friends denounced these things.

Question. Denied that they belonged to them ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Don t you know it is a part of their regulation to deny it ?

Answer. I do not; but I believe if there had been an organization any way general in

Alabama, I would have been informed of the fact. I am confident of it.

Question. Yet they did appear at these three places.
Answer. I believe they did.

Question. How does it happen that you do not know more about it except that they
appeared there ?

Answer. Because I was not there, and nobody communicated to me anything about
them.

Question. Is not that a curious circumstance that you, who have such confidential re
lations toward the rebel element, and such a position in the democratic party, should
know so little about these things ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. How do you suppose they have succeeded in keeping it away from you ?

Answer. It has not been about me.

Question. The knowledge of it, I mean ?

Answer. I have the same knowledge you have
;
I have read about it.

Question. It does seem to me, if I had been in your position, I would have found out

something.
Answer. That is what satisfies me that the organization never existed. I would have

found it out.

Question. If it existed in your State, they must have kept their secret marvelously
well to prevent you from finding it out ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Were you apprised of the examination in Calhoun County into the proceed-
ings of disguised bauds ?

Answer. Yes, sir. I spoke of it as the Patona affair; but these men were not dis

guised. I understood it was the negroes firing upon people coming from church, and
they retaliated.

Question. Don t you know the investigation extended itself into general acts of vio
lence, and covered Ku-Klux operations in that region ?

Answer. I do not know that fact. I know they had a lengthy examination examined ^

many witnesses, but I do not now recall the testimony ; only I recollect one man said
there was a Ku-Klux examined from Georgia.

Question. Did he not say also Alabama?
Auwcr. I believe he did

;
but that did not satisfy me there was one.

Quefttion. Didn t that put you on inquiry? .

.liixwer. I did not make any particular inquiries, but I was satisfied then and am now
that if there, had been such an organization in Alabama to any extent, I would have
known it; that if any of my friends had known it, they would have communicated it

to me.

Question. Did you ever make any effort to see this man ?

Answer. No, sir.

Quest ion. Ever see his testimony?
Answer. Yes, sir

;
extracts from it.
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Question. Did you ever make any effort to see his testimony ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. It is a matter of public record ?

Answer. It is in the county ;
but it is not customary for us to go and get testimony

on a preliminary examination.

Question. You have seen it in republican papers ?

Answer. Seen allusions to it.

Question. Couldn t you have got a transcript of it?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
I did not regard it as Ku-Klux, only an ordinary trial. I never heard

them charged with being Ku-Klux.

Question. You condemn the Ku-Klux?
Answer. I do.

Question. You would regard it as a great calamity if they should get up any general
organization.
Answer. Yes, sir. If they should undertake to control the State, it would be a

calamity, and I hope one will never put his foot on the soil of Alabama.
Question. Still they have done it.

Answer. If they are there, I hope they will abandon it. In my speeches I have de
nouneed all sorts of mob-law.

Question. Perhaps that is the reason they have not come to tell you about it.

Answer. I think ifmy friends had any knowledge of it, they would have told me about it.

Question. They are not in the habit of consulting those who are opposed to them ?

Ansu-cr. No, sir, I should not think they would; but bodies ofmen cannot meet with
out our observing them. How could a body of men carry on their operations, with
their uniforms and passwords, and not be seen or known ?

Question. You have not been all over the State ?

Answer. I have been over most of it.

Question. At night ?

Ansirer. No, sir.

Question. They generally move at night?
Answer. That is what is said of them.

Question. Have you been where you would be likely to see them parading at night?
Answer. I go almost all over the State.

Question. At night ?

Ansicer, Yes, sir. I never saw them parading, nor a man that saw them parading. I

have heard men speaking of the occurrences at Huntsville and Eutaw, but not that

they saw them.

Question. At Huntsville they paraded in presence of thousands of people.
Answer. I do not think they pervade Alabama.
Question. You believe these circumstances on the testimony of intelligent witnesses

who saw them f

Answer. Yes. sir.

Question. You would not hesitate to believe persons who saw them elsewhere ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. You would only think it was still more wonderful that you had not known it ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

By the CHAIRMAN, (Mr. Poland:)

Question. You say when negro suffrage was first proposed in Alabama, it did not meet
with favor ?

Anvicer. No, sir
;
not with the majority.

Question. The great majority of the white people were opposed to it ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Is there any change in sentiment 011 that subject now ? Are the majority
of the democratic party in Alabama now in favor of it ?

Answer. I do not think the majority are in favor of universal negro suffrage. The ma
jority believe the negro, as he exists there now, is not qualified for the ballot.

Question. You say you do not propose to make opposition to it except in a legal and
constitutional way ?

. Ansicer. Certainly not.

Question. Now, suppose the democratic party should come into power in the nation,
and have such a controlling majority in Congress as to submit an amendment to the
States for ratification, striking out that provision that has been put into the Constitu

tion, giving suffrage to the negro, and that amendment should be submitted to the

State of Alabama to vote upon, and the democrats in that State were in power, how
would they vote upon it ?

Answer. Well, if, after trying negro suffrage, they thought the increased representa
tion, by virtue of the negro vote, would counterbalance the evil of such an ignorant
mass voting, they might vote to continue it

;
but I do not think the temper of the dem-
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ocratic party now in Alabama, if the question were to be left to them, would go fur

ther than qualified suffrage or partial suffrage.

Question. Suppose Congress should be so constituted as to propose an amendment to

strike out of the Constitution the extension of suffrage to the blacks, leaving it just as

it was before, to the States, and that amendment should be submitted to Alabama to

vote upon.
Ai vu-er. Well, sir, they would vote to strike it out, and then, I think, they would turn

around in tin- exercise oV their power and prerogative as a State, and would adopt a

liberal policy toward the negro. To what extent they would grant suffrage, I cannot

say ;
but one thing I do know, they would confer upon him every right he has the in

telligence to exercise.

Question. They would give him all they thought ho ought to have ?

which he had the intelligence to exercise.
. Yes. sir ; and

Question. Now, suppose your party should have the strength to elect an entire con

gressional delegation of democrats, and the question were to come up in Congress
whether such au amendment should be submitted to the people, how would that dele

gation vote upon it ?

Answer. I cannot say ;
it would depend upon whom they sent here.

Question. Suppose they sent those who represented the opinion of the majority ?

Answer. Then my opinion is that they would vote in favor of the amendment to

strike out negro suifrage ;
and then, I believe, the State would be as liberal as the con

dition of the negro would permit.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. That is, if I understood you, they would adopt qualified suffrage?
Ansivei . Yes, sir.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. What do you think would be done, then, in case northern men should get
possession of pretty much all the property, as they have done in this District of Co
lumbia? Do you think there would be any danger of their following the example of

Congress in taking away the privilege of suffrage from the negro and from the white

man, too ?

Answer. I cannot say.

By the CHAIRMAN, (Mr. Poland :)

Question. In regard to Mr. Harrington, when was it that the sheriff told you he had
that advertisement about the bank robbery f

Answer. .1 think it was after the first session at which Harrington presided as

speaker between the two sessions of the legislature.

Question. That legislature was not elected till 18G8. &quot;When did the advertisement

purport to say the robbery happened?
Answer. 1 cannot say whether I read in the paper where the robbery happened, the .

whole story, or whether it was just the description of the man.
Question. Was it a robbery which had just taken place ?

Ansicer. O, no, sir
;
some time before.

Question. Some years before ?

Answer. I cannot say; he did not speak of it as a recent event. My recollection is,,

it may have been some old robbery before he came to Alabama.
Question. When did he come to Alabama?
Answer. I think just after the Federal army landed in Mobile, after the surrender, in

1

*

1865.

Question. What was the idea from what you learned about it that the robbery oc
curred before Harrington came to Alabama, or that he went up from Alabama to the
northwest and robbed the bank ?

Answer. The sheriff gave me no particulars. The court was in session, and I was
going up, when the sheriff stopped me, and showed this thing to me.

Question. The advertisement described somebody as having something to do with it?
&amp;gt;

Answer. Described two men. He said, &quot;I have got one of the fellows in jail; and
he says, Harrington is the other man

;
did you ever see a better description f I was

in a hurry, and I did not believe he would arrest Harrington anyhow ;
I thought Har

rington had too much money for him.
Question. Did the description apply so specially and peculiarly to him as to smg e

him out from all the men in the United States f

Answer. It was very much like him
;
but I do not know if I had read it I should have

thought it was he.

Question. Was he marked so dissimilarly from others?
Answer. O, no; but he is a man with rather a marked face; you would not mistake

him for another man.
Question. Your opinion, if you had any, was more influenced by the fact that the
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sheriff told you that the other man in jail said it was Harrington, than from any con
currence in the description ?

Answer. The description confirmed, in my mind, what he said.

Question. The description would have been a good one of Harrington ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And it would have been a good description of several thousand other men ?

Answer. Well, I do not think I ever saw a man that I recollect to whom it would
have answered so well.

Question. Was there in fact a man in prison on that charge ?

Answer. I suppose so: he said he had a fellow.

Question. Do yon know what became of the man in jail ?

Answer. I do not know.
Question. Never heard of him afterward ?

Answer. Never. I do not think I saw in the description Harrington s name at all.

Question. You don t remember the State ?

Answer. A western State.

Question. Do you remember the bank ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. What was the name of the sheriff?

Answer. Barber
;
he is not sheriff now; he resigned about two months ago

Question. He/ would have been sheriff if he had not resigned ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
he got into some pecuniary troubles, got drinking, and then resigned.

He spoke of leaving, but did not. I wish to state that I got a dispatch on Monday
last, (one week ago,) at 11 o clock, to appear here, and left the following morning at 7
o clock for Washington, and have been too busy during the time to refresh my memory
in regard to facts. I may have been inaccurate as to dates and details. I have given
the substance of what I saw, heard, and believe, according to my best recollections.

WASHINGTON, D. C., June 20, 1871.

JAMES B. CLATiK sworn and examined.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. In what part of Alabama do you reside?
Answer. 1 reside in Eutaw, Greene County, Alabama.
Question. How long have you been a resident of that place ?

Answer. I have been a resident there for thirty-two years.
Question. How long have you resided in the State ?

Answer. I have resided in the State for forty-nine years, lacking two or three months.
Question. What public positions have you held in the State ?

Answer. I have been a member of the State legislature several times, some years
since. I have occupied the office of justice of the peace, and of solicitor. The last

office I occupied was that of chancellor for the middle division of the State of Alabama.
Question. Will you please state whether you are still a practicing lawyer at the bar,

and in intercourse with the people of that section of the State in which you live ?

Answer. I am a practicing lawyer; I resigned during the war my position as chan
cellor and returned to the bar.

Question. Do you practice in the district, or circuit as you term it ?

Answer. I practice in a few of the circuit courts of the State
;
I have never practiced

in the United States courts
;

I have practiced in the supreme court of the State.

Question. State to the committee your belief in regard to the efficiency of the execu
tion of the law in that part of Alabama with which you are acquainted, and in tho
whole State, if your information will enable you to do so

;
and also in regard to tho

security of life, person, and property.
Answer. I think that at this time the law can be administered there without any

difficulty whatever. Our courts are held regularly ;
our circuits and the courts of

common law
;
our chancery court, as a matter of course, is a court of peace, and is

held regularly. The- juries, I am inclined to think, do their duty.
Question. The purpose of our inquiry, as set forth in the resolution appointing tho

committee, is to ascertain whether the&quot; laws are executed in the late insurrectionary
States, and whether life, person, and property are secure in those States.
Answer. I consider that at this time life, and person, and property are secure. There

have been times there when I did not think they were secure
;
but I think they are at

this time.

Question. When was that time, and from what causes did that insecurity arise ?

Answer. Well, after the war everything was in a state of confusion in our country;
but that has gradually improved. l do not know that there was any attempt to pre
vent the execution of the laws

;
but there were excesses by persons, sometimes by

17
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secret combinations. I merely say there were excesses by secret combinations; I do

not know personally. But I think that has all passed away ;
that is my impression.

Question. At what time did those secret combinations exist, and what was their char-

act er. tn tin- extent of yonr information ?

tn*im: I think they extended down to within the last eighteen months. Their

character was that wMch is generally known by the name of &quot;

Ku-Klux.&quot; I cannot

say that 1 ever saw a Ku-Klux in my life
;
I only speak from information derived fr&amp;lt;mi

Question. What was the mode of proceeding by that organization, as you were

1

J//.SJHT. Well, sir, as I have understood, they collected in bodies of more or less,

rom ten to twenty and thirty, and went about the country in the character of what

you iniulit term regulators; in some instances there were great excesses committed, as

might Be supposed.

Question. Did they go in disguises and armed?
A nswer. O yes, sir

; disguised and armed, and on horseback.

Question. To what extent did those excesses go in the county in which you reside,

in the county of Greene ?

Answer. Some time since, last March was a year, there was a body of these men,
amounting, I should suppose from what I learned, to about twenty-five ; they were

variously estimated from ten to fifty ;
but according to the best information I could get,

they were about twenty-five in number. They came into our place at a late hour of the

night and entered the room of a young man at the hotel, and killed him in the most
atrocious manner. That is the greatest excess that I know of or have heard of, as

having been committed in that county.

Question. Was that young man Mr. Boyd, the prosecuting officer of that county?
Answer. Yes, sir, it was Mr. Boyd.
Question. Were you in the town at that time ?

Answer. I was in my residence, in the town, at that time.

Question. Did it occasion any alarm or excitement in the town ?

Answer. Not much, very little. So far as I could learn, from those who knew most
about it, it took place about 11 or 12 o clock at night, and the parties left immediately
after

;
there was not much alarm and very little excitement. A young man who

boarded at my house came up in the morning and told me that Mr. Boyd had been
murdered.

Question. Was it during court week ?

Answer. It was during a large meeting of the presbytery of the Presbyterian Church,
which was in session in the place at the time. There was no court in session at the
time.

Question. At that time of year would the people of your town generally have retired

to rest at the hour the offence was committed ?

Answer. I think so
;
as far as I could learn the most of them had retired to rest at

that hour. There were a few young men about the hotel, who had not
;
but most of

the people of the town had retired.

Question. Was any effort made to alarm the town that night, for the purpose of ar

resting the perpetrators of the act ?

Answer. I do not know that there was
;
I was under the impression that there was

not. I have understood that the sheriff was called on, but I did not understand that
he raised any body of nien vto pursue them. It would have been a very dangerous effovt

to have done so, for our active male population is not a very large one
;
the whole pou-

ulation ot our place, white and black, amounts to from 1,200 to 1,500, 1 suppose, includ

ing men, women, and children.
(
t
&amp;gt;ncNlioH. Were there a great many strangers in the town attending the sessions of

the presbytery ?

Answer. There were many ministers and elders of the Presbyterian Church attending,
but they were all oil at private houses, not about the public house at all.

Question. Was the murder of Boyd traceable in any way to his connection with tle
administration of justice there?

Anxim-. If was thought that it had some connection. There had been a man killed

by the, name of Snoddy, a short time previous, in a most atrocious manner, while ho
\\as going from tho village to his house. I understood that his horse had left him and
he was walking home. He was found the next morning with his throat cut from ear
t ear, and robbed of some, money. Suspicion rested on a couple of negroes, who were
taken up and put in jail after an examination. They subsequently broke jail, as I un
derstood, and were pursued and taken, and some persons said they were slain, or one
of them was

;
1 know nothing about it, though. . As I learned, Mr. Boyd, upon the ex

amination of those negroes, showed very little interest to have them* committed, and
other compel were employed and had them committed. When they got out of jail an
old man, who was connected with one of them, was suspected of aiding them to get
away, or in some way being connected with them I cannot speak very distinctly
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about that. At any rate, this old man was tak^n and hnng, and Mr. Boyd showed a

great deal of interest to have that matter inquired into, although it was supposed that

he showed very little interest in the investigation into Snoddy s death. Mr. Boyd, as

I learned, made some indiscreet threats that he knew who the persons were who had

hung the old man, and he intended to keep the grand-jury there six months but what
he would have the matter probed to the bottom. This was a short time before the

court was to sit, and I suppose, and I think that is the public opinion, that Mr. Boyd
brought himself to his death by his indiscretion in telling what he was going to do.

Those persons who had hung this old man did not intend that it should ever be known
who they were. That is the opinion I have formed. I believe that is the public opin
ion of both parties in my place.

Question. Do we understand you to say that it is the public opinion there that the

same persons who had been engaged in hanging the old man also murdered Boyd?
Answer. The same persons who had been engaged in hanging this old black man were

the same persons who murdered Boyd. That is the impression. That is mine, so far

as I could learn anything about it.

Question. Do you give that as the most recent instance of any offense of that charac
ter committed in your county that you have heard of?

Ansivcr. Yes, sir; I do not know of any killing by any secret body of men. I have
heard since of bodies of men in disguise passing through the county and causing per
sons who were obnoxious to leave the country, but that is the only certain case that I

could state distinctly that is, a well-defined case of killing.

Question. How recent occurrences of that kind have there been, which you were sat

isfied did occur ?

Anstci r. I do not know that I have any that I am satisfied fully did occur. I heard
that there was a case of that kind during last March or February; but I do not think
it was well ascertained. There was a man who, by his conduct in many ways, was
obnoxious to the people; he had once been our tax-assessor. He came there and left

suddenly after being there two nights, and I understood that a body of disguised men
had come about his place at night, and he was not seen afterward, but left. Whether
it was so or not, I do not know

;
I do not pretend to advance any certain statement

about it. Those reports frequently get out when there is really no foundation for

them.

Question. Have there been any cases of that character tried in your courts?
Answer. No, sir; no cases of that character. When Boyd was slain the grand jury

were enipanneled at the next term of the court, and it was proposed by some of my
friends that I should be the prosecutor, as lie had been the .solicitor; and 1 would not
have refused, but the circuit judge appointed another gentleman, who, I think, was
much better qualified than I was, because, my age and other circumstances would have

prevented me from being a satisfactory prosecutor. The grand-jury were kept together
for two weeks, the entire term. One of my sons, who is ;L lawyer, was during the time
associated with the prosecutor as assistant. The grand-jury were kept there two
weeks, but they were unable to get any evidence to prove who had slain Boyd. I

conversed occasionally with the prosecuting officers, and learned from them that they
could get no evidence on that point. The grand-jury made a report that they could

get no evidence of who the parties were, but that from the best information they could
obtain they were of the opinion that the parties came from an adjoining county. That

might have been so, or it might not
;

I was satisfied that the party did not belong to

our town.

Question. From which adjoining county?
Answer. From Pickens County.
Question. Have there been in Pickeus County violations of the law of a similar char

acter ?

Answer. I am not certain. There had been reports that bodies of disguised men
were there, and that they had threatened the solicitor, but 1 do not know that fact.

Still, I am inclined to think that it was so
;
that there had been bodies of disguised

men in that county.
Question. From the information which you derived in the practice of your profes

sion, and as a citizen, from your intercourse with the people had you any doubt as to

the existence of that organization in those counties?
Answer. I have 110 doubt myself that such an organization has existed in that sec

tion of Alabama; but other gentlemen, in whom I have confidence, have doubts, and
say that it never has existed there; that there have been only there occasional collec

tions of men, and that there never was a Ku-Klux organization there. My own opin
ion has been, and for a very considerable time, that there was such an organization.

Question. From your information, derived in that manner, please state to the com
mittee what you understand to have been the purpose of that organization, and its

mode of operation.
Answer. I think the first purpose of the organization was to counteract these Loyal

or Union Leagues, as some call them. There were collections in our section of conn-
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try (I presume the committee have been informed of them) night after night, or, if

not night after night, week after week, of large bodies of negroes, with some bad white

men among them to control and manage them. I think this Ko-Khtit organization
wa-; set on foot for the purpose of scaring the negroes, as its members went in dis

guise, and their appearance, as I am told, was not very prepossessing, but rather cal

culated very much to alarm. The object was to scare the negroes, and prevent those

organizations of them. But I think they went further than that. If they had stopped
all hat, perhaps it might have been well enough ;

but I think they went further than
that.

(hH xtion. Did they go so far as to intimidate negroes by violence, by whippings, and
in some instances by murder ?

Anxwcr. I think that the negroes were intimidated by that organization ;
and it was

said that some negroes were slain; some were missing, but I cannot speak with any
decree of certainty ; only I know that in regard to one negro he was missing. He
lix ed near me, and never was seen afterward.

Qm-xtion. Assuming now that the Ku-Klux was organized for the purpose of counter

acting the political organization of the Union League, and that it passed from that

purpose to the commission of acts of violence, was there any organized effort, or any
pronounced public sentiment brought to bear for the purpose of preventing that kind
of violence ?

Answer. You say &quot;organized effort
;&quot;

I suppose you mean public expression of senti

ment.

Question. Yes, sir.

Answer. I do not think that there was any public expression of sentiment on the

subject. That the larger portion of the population of the community in which I live

was decidedly opposed to everything of that kind, I have no doubt.
*

But there never
were any meetings, or anything of the kind, held for the purpose of putting it down.

Question. What prevented that sentiment, which you say existed, from finding pub
lic expression ? Was there any terror on the subject ?

Answer. I do not know ; there might have been some cause
;
these men traveled in the

night ; they were unknown to us
;
we might be conversing with one of them in the

street and not know it. But I am inclined to think that the public, the orderly men,
did not like to come into any contact with that class of men, for they were generally
the reckless and lawless part of our community.

(
t

&amp;gt; motion. Did not that understanding, which you say existed, that the Ku-Klux was
organized in opposition to the Union League, give to its existence a political char
acter ?

Answer. Well, it did to some extent.

Question. And did not men divide, to some extent, according to their political opin
ions, as to whether they condemned, or justified, or excused the operations of the Ku-
Klux ?

Answer. No
;
there was no such division, or, I might say, very little. There was no

body of people to divide
;
we were all of one way of thinking ;

we had no white republi-
*

cans there, or only three or four
;
not half a dozen in the county.

Question. \Vas it understood that the Ku-Klux was composed of white men ?

Ansu-er. Yes, sir
;
it was understood that it was composed of white men.

Question. And therefore, whether designed or not as a political organization, all its

members acted with the democratic party ?

Answer. Well, whenever the democratic party acted they acted with us
;
when I say .

&quot; with
us,&quot;

I mean that I belong to that party.
* *

v,

Question. Has that feeling rendered it difficult, even Avhen members of the demo
cratic party condemned the proceedings of that organization, to bring them to justice ?

Answer. I do not know whether it has or not. I can only tell you that there have
be&amp;lt; -n parties indicted that I know of, and that vigilance has been exercised by officers
of the law and grand juries, so far as* I could learn, without bringing any one of that

organization to justice.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. Because they could not discover who they were ?

Ansicer. They could not discover them
;
that was it; they could not find out who

they were.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Qm.Htion. What is your opinion as to the continuance of that organization; do you
understand that it still exists ?

Answer. The impression is that it does not. I conversed with several persons before
I left home, and the impression is that the organization does not exist, and could not in
our section of the country at this time.

Question. What led to its disbanding f
Answer. I do not knew. It is exceedingly unpopular with the respectable white men
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of that section of country, and those men belonging to that organization must know
that fact. Some of the white men have expressed themselves publicly in the streets

against it
;
I have myself for one. And I am satislied that these young men for it is

principally the young men who compose this organization are beginning to be satis-

lied that it ought not to exist; and consequently we have had no appearance of that

organization for a considerable time now, within my knowledge.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. You think the public opinion of the country has put it down ?

Answer. I think the public opinion of the country is decidedly opposed to it.

Question. And you think that is the reason why it has ceased to exist

Answer. I think that has had its influence upon them. I suppose, without knowing
it, that a great many of the persons belonging to this organization are young men of

respectable families
;
and of course they luive heard the organization denounced in

their own houses, and have become satislied that our situation as a people requires that
no such organization should exist.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Is it your belief that that public opinion against it is strengthening .

Answer. Yes, sir; strengthening every day.
Question. Are you satisfied that that public opinion brought to bear upon it will have

the effect of suppressing the organization ?

Answer. Eventually I am satislied it will, if it exists at all now. Now no man would
have it understood if you were to tell a man now that he belonged to the Ku-Klux
you would insult him no man would have it understood that he ever belonged to such
an organization.

Question. Are we to understand, then, that heretofore public opinion has been rather
in sympathy with it than against it?

Anxwer. No
;

I do not want you to understand me in that way.
Question. Or was it silent ?

Answer, leather silent.

Question. Were you in Eutaw at the time a public meeting was held there? I believe
it was last October.

Answer. Yes, sir, it was last October.

Question. It was during the political campaign of last year ?

Answer. I was in my house then
;

I had been crippled a few days before, and was not
at the meeting.

Question. \Ve have had some statements made here, by some gentlemen in regard to
what occurred at that meeting. We want your knowledge of that occurrence, if you
will give it to us.

Answer. I have very little knowledge about it. Certain gentlemen came there for

the purpose of making speeches to the colored people, because their party lu\d no oth
ers to make them to, or at least bat very few others. There was a meeting called at
the same time on the part of the democratic party ;

I was absent in an adjoining
county when it was called. I had heard some intimation that it would be called, but
I did not know that it would be until I received a handbill at the place where I was
attending court, advertising a meeting on the part of the democratic party. My under

standing is that they did meet on one side of the court-house and the republicans on
the other side, and that the company gradually passed from the democratic side over
to the other to see what was going on there

;
that in that manner an excitement arose,

and there was some shooting and some few negroes wounded
;
that is my understand

ing about it, but it is all an understanding, because I could not be present at all.

Question. You were not there ?

Ansicer. No, sir
;
I could not get out of my own house at that time.

By Mr. VAX TRUMP :

Question. How many negroes did you understand were wounded on that day ?

Answer. I have heard it represented on the part of some that there were iifty-four

wounded, and that three or four wei e killed. I have satisfied myself, in taking very
great pains to ascertain the precise number, that no negro was killed on the occa
sion.

Question. How many wounded ?

Answer. Not more than three or four at the furthest were wounded. A gentleman
who has already given evidence before the committee, General Warner, says that the

paper in my town stated that there were thirty or forty who were wounded. The Gen
eral may be right, but the paper was wrong ;

there never were thirty or forty wounded
at that time. I think if there had been any considerable number wounded it

would have been known. They all mention one old man who had his thigh broken,
and, as I told General Warner yesterday, we would hear of that very often.
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By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Did any of thoso who were wounded afterward die ?

Answer. I do not think there were any who died.

1 y Mr. BLAIR :

Question. Would you not have heard of it, in such a small community as that ?

slnxwer. I think if any had died I should have heard of it. This old man who had
his t hi i^h broken, and whom they always bring up on every occasion, did not die; and
the boy that had belonged to me, and who was wounded, I know did not die.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Were any white men wounded then ?

J&amp;gt;/*for. 1 do not think there was.

Qtitxiiim. What is the name of the democratic paper in your town
;
the Eutaw Whig ?

Answer. The Eutaw Whig and Observer.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. Was there not one white man wounded in the knee ? What is your recol

lection about that .

Answer. I do not think there was any white man wounded. There was one gentle
man who I understand had a shot through his pants ;

but I do not think there was any
white.man wounded. In regard to the boy who had once belonged to me, I inquired
of a respectable young man who was present, but did not participate in it, and he said,
&quot; I saw him myself draw a pistol to shoot, and some one shot him down.&quot;

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. I have an article here taken from a Meridian newspaper of the date of Oc
tober 27, 1870. The article is headed thus :

&quot; The Eutaw Whig will to-day publish the

following full and particular account of the exciting affair of .Tuesday, by Colonel Joe

Taylor, the clear-headed and reliable editor. We return thanks for using it in advance
of the mails.&quot; I suppose that is the same article that appeared in the Whig 1

Answer. I remember now that the Meridian paper got it all wrong.
Question. The part of the article to which you refer, I suppose, is this :

&quot; Two white
men were wounded, and many received bullet holes through their clothes during the

light. Many narrow escapes from brick-bats, pistol and gun-shots were made. From
twenty-five to thirty negroes were wounded, of whom two have since died of their

wounds.&quot; That, I suppose, is the mistake to which you refer I

Answer. I do not believe a word of it
;
I do not believe twenty-live or thirty negroes

were wounded; I do not believe a single negro died of the wounds he received. I

understood that the negroes rallied and turned after being driven; starting down the
street they rallied and then they shot, and threw brick-bats and everything of the
kind. I only say I understood that.

Question. I suppose this occurrence gave rise, as it naturally would, to a very*
excited political feeling on both sides in your town ?

Answer. Some
;
not a great deal, no.

Question. Is it correct that a fair has been held in your town to raise money for the

purpose of assisting in the defense of the men who are indicted for that riot f

Answer. I think that our ladies, some two months ago, did have, a tableau for the&quot;

purpose of raising money to pay the expenses of the young men who were carried to
Mobile. Most of them were young men without means, and the ladies did have %
tableau for that purpose, and while some of us did not exactly approve of it, still it was
their business, and we did not interfere with it in any way. Others of us furnished
the money, which we will again in the fall, when they are carried to Mobile.

Question. Did you investigate this occurrence sufficiently to satisfy yourself who
commenced the shooting there?

Answer. No, sir
;
I did not investigate it. There are two views of that

;
I have un

derstood from others that it will be shown, or attempted to be shown, that the negroes
commenced it. But I did not investigate it myself.

(JiHxtioii. They ran^did they not? Was it not your information that they ran when
the firing commenced ?

*

J//.SNVT. They ran, and then rallied and returned the fire, is the information I have.
Question. Are any gentlemen from Eutaw present in this city who were at that meet

ing .

Answer. Yea, sir
;
there are two gentlemen in my company, Colonel Jolly and Major

Pierce ; they were both at the meeting.
Qiu-Kl ;on. They were at the meeting /

.iiixinr. Yes, sir
;
and can give much better information in regard to the matter than

I can.

Question. The sympathy of the town itself was strongly in favor with tho white
men who were engaged in that shooting, was it not ?
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Answer. I think the sentiment of the town was in their favor. We have a southern
sentiment that pervades the whole country, and I think that sentiment was in their
favor. Although T disapprove anything of the kind, and of any attempt to set tho
laws at defiance, still I cannot say that my sympathies were not 011 the side of the
white men, and opposed to the radicals and the carpet-baggers.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. Is it not claimed by men who were there that, before any firing was done,
there was a rush of a set of negroes with knives brandished ?

Answer. No, I think not
;
I have not heard of that.

By the CIIAIKMAN :

Question. Has not that sentiment you spoke of been so strong that traveling shows
there have advertised concerts to be given in aid of the men who were indicted for
that riot f

Answer. I have heard that they have. I do not remember to have seen any ;
not in

aid of the riot, but in aid of the men who were indicted.

Question. I have here a paper which some one has forwarded to me by mail, and
which reached me this morning. It is a copy of the Eutaw Whig and Observer

;
will

you look at the article that is marked there, and say if you know anything about such
an exhibition of &quot; The Queen Sisters,&quot; as they are called ?

Answer. I attended a meeting of &quot; The Queen Sisters, but I do not think it was on
account of this affair; but I think that subsequently they did have such a meeting.
[Reading from the paper.]

&quot; The company (Queeu Sisters) gave one of their concerts
in Gueensboro for the benefit of those citizens of our county now on trial in Mobile
before the United States court, and propose to give one in this place, some eight or ten

days hence, for the benefit of our Ladies Greene County Memorial Association.&quot; The
Greene County Memorial Association is of a different character entirely. Upon reflec

tion, I do not think they ever gave any concert in Greene County for the benefit of
those men. They did gi,ve one for the benefit of the Greene County Memorial Asso

ciation, which is an association to keep in remembrance the death of our soldiers.

Question. The statement in that paper in reference to the concert given in Gueens
boro for the benefit of the young men of your county on trial at Mobile relates to the
men indicted for the riot?
Answer. Yes, sir ; but that was in an adjoining county.
Question. Who is the present judge in your circuit?
Answer. Luther K. Smith.

Question. Have there been any complaints in your county, of a general character, of
the inefficiency or incapacity of Judge Smith as a presiding judge.

Answer. I do not think there have been. Judge Smith did not hold our last term.

Question. What is your own belief as to his capacity as a lawyer and as a jurist ?

Answer. I think he is a very fair judge ;
I think that he is a man of very respecta

ble talents, and a clear and discriminating mind.

Question . Is there any other fact within your knowledge, or that you would desire to
communicate to the committee, as throwing any light upon the subject committed to
them for investigation ? If there is, state it fully to the committee.
Answer. I do not wish to state anytiling, unless questions are asked me, except that

if there is any impression on the part of any one that human life is not safe there now,
and gentlemen cannot travel through that country as safely as they could do so in

the city of Washington, I wish to express niy dissent from any opinion of that kind.
I believe gentlemen can travel through the county of Greene, it is immaterial where
they come from, with as much safety as they can travel through the State of Pennsyl
vania or any other part of the UiiiteYl States.

By Mr. BLAIII :

Question. Can any per son express his opinion upon political subjects there with im
punity ?

Answer. I do not know
; perhaps an open-mouth man who should go there might get

a light on his hands, if he commenced to express his opinions. I think it very likely
some of those open-mouth men might get their mouths slapped. That is a sort of

privilege men in the West and South claim, slapping the mouth of a fellow who does
not please them.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. To what extent does that feeling go, in regard to the expression of political

opinions to the negroes, instructing them as to their rights, and the right to the exer
cise of suffrage in particular; does it amount to absolute hostility or violence ?

Answer. Well, I do not know whether it does. I think myself that persons would not
be entirely safe to go there aaid call a meeting for the purpose of addressing the colored

people; that is the opinion I have; others differ from un?, and say it would be perfectly
safe for them to do so. We are a sensitive people ;

and while we are willing to respect
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other people, wo do not want them to interfere with onr matters. The negroes and
we are getting along remarkably well just now; the negroes are our operatives or

laborers; and the two races are necessary to each other. There never was a kinder

feeling between the negro and the white man in our section of the country than there

is at this moment.
Quintal. Take the case of negroes who have been whipped, or subjected to any other

acts of violence by these armed bands of disguised men; if a white man, any white

man, were to say to them publicly that they had the same right as white men have to

Ihr protection of their persons and property, and that they ought to stand up for them
ami di l end them, would that be considered as an interference with the rights of the
southern people?

An*u-( r. I think not. We tell the negroes about their rights. I have told those negroes
who ouce belonged to me that they were free, and have rights as free men and free

women, and I lia\ e no doubt others have said the same thing to them. I never tried

to influence but one negro to vote on my side of the question, and he would not do it.

I said to him,
u
Why, you are going to vote for a man who is a drunkard, a trifling

scoundrel, and no manner of man
; you are a Presbyterian and I am a Presbyterian,

and why will you vote that ticket ?&quot;

&quot;

O,&quot;
said he,

&quot; I must vote that ticket, because

my party votes that way ;&quot;

not that the ticket he was going to vote for was right, but
that his party was going to vote that way. That is the only colored man I ever tried to

influence; I stopped at that. I have never attempted to influence those I &quot;have had
about me. Sometimes I have asked them,

&quot; Are you going to vote ?&quot; and the reply has

been,
&quot;

No, I don t care about voting.&quot; I would say to them,
&quot; If you want to-day to

go and vote, why go and vote.&quot; I have never asked them how they were going to vote.

Question. Could expressions of the character which I indicated a moment ago be used
with safety to the colored people in public meetings ?

Answer. If public meetings were allowed to be held at all, they could.

Question. Do you think that it is dangerous to call public meetings of the colored

people in your State for political purposes, in the present state of feeling there ?

Answer. I do not speak of any county but the county I am in, because I do not know
the public sentiment in other counties.

Question. Well, as to the county in which you live ?

Answer. I am inclined to think it would not be entirely safe. Other gentlemen, I

say, think differently from me ; they think it would be safe.

By Mr. STEVENSON :

Question. What is your age ?

Answer. I shall be seventy-five years of age to-morrow night.

WASHINGTON, D. C., June 20, 1871.

J. J. JOLLY sworn and examined.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Do you live in Alabama ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. In what part ?

Answer. In Greene County, in Eutaw.
Question. How long have you resided there ?

Answer. All my life.

Question. What is your occupation ?

Answer. I am a lawyer.
QiHxtion. Do you practice in the circuit there ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Quotum. Have you such information of the existing state of things in that judicial
circuit as will enable you to- testify in Vegard to tho.execution of the law.s and the se
curity of person and property within those limits?
Answer. I think I have.

Question. Go on and state to the committee your views upon that question in yourown manner.
Answer. The condition of the country is as quiet and peaceable, now as I have ever

known it to be, either before or since the war. The laws are executed without trouble
and without difficulty. The condition of the country at this time is very quiet and
peC6ftble. and the laws bc-lter observed and better enforced than they have been at
any time before or since the war.

Question. Is that so in all classes of cases, both civil and criminal ?

Answer. I think so.
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C^fion. Hfivc yon any knowledge of the existence in the State of Alabama of any
secret organization, commonly know as Kn-Klux, or by any other name f

Answer. I have not. I will state that, so 1ar as my information goes, and it is pretty
general throughout that section of the country, I do not believe that the Ku-Klnx

organization, or anything that assimilates to the character given to that organization,
has ever existed in that section of country, or does now exist there.

Question. Have you ever understood that it is one of the obligations of that organiza
tion to keep its existence secret ?

Aumcer. I do not know anything about that.

Question. Is that the general reputation in that region, where it is alleged to exist ?

Answer. I have heard such reports; I have understood from newspaper accounts that

they did keep their counsels secret.

Question. Have you any knowledge of any violations of the law having been com
mitted in the county of Greene by bands of armed men in disguise, and in the night &quot;?

Answer. Yes, sir, I have known of a few
;

I knew of the killing of a man by the
name of Boyd ;

I believe it was in March, 1870. I was not at home at that time ; I

was in Mobile. I understood he was killed by disguised men ;
and I have heard of one

negro being killed by disguised men; though of these matters I do not know anything
personally. I was not at home at that time

;
I have simply heard that they were

killed by disguised men. I think it was rumored that the negro, whose name was
Sam Colvin, was killed by disguised men ;

and so was Mr. Boyd. I believe I know of
no other cases, even from rumor, of persons who were killed by disguised men.

Question. In that county of Greene ?

Answer. There have been several cases of killing there besides those, but they were
not killed by disguised men that I have heard of.

Question. You referred to a negro man who was killed by disguised men ;*was that
the case of Caldwell ?

Aimccr. No, sir; it was Samuel Colvin, the father of Samuel Caldwell. Sam Cald-
well and Henry Miller were accused of killing a young man by the name of Suoddy.
I defended those two negro men

;
I was their counsel. On the preliminary examina

tion it was concluded by the magistrate that they* were guilty, and they were put in

jail to await an investigation before the grand jury. Before, the grand jury assembled,
however, some month or two after they were put in jail I suppose, they escaped from

jail. We heard that Henry Miller was caught, and that in the catching of him ho was
killed in some way; exactly how we never understood. Sam Caldwell, we under

stand, has never been caught, has never been heard of since he got out of jail. I was
present during that investigation; I defended the prisoners by all means in my power.
The evidence was pretty clear; at least sufficient cause was shown to put them in jail
for a hearing before the grand jury.

Question. That is not the other case to which you refer as having been committed by
disguised men ? That is not one of the other cases

J

?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. What was the other case ?

Answer. The case of Sam Colviu, the father of Sam Caldwell, who was put in jail
with Henry Miller, for the killing of Suoddy.

Question. Was Suoddy killed by men in disguise ?

Answer. No, sir ; I did not say that.

Question. I wish to get an understanding of the other case besides Boyd, to which

you refer.

Answer. It was the case of Sam Colviu, the father of Sam Caldwell
;
Colvin was also

charged with complicity in the murder of Suoddy, but I defended him on the exami

nation, and he was discharged. After the escape of Caldwell and Miller from jail, we
understood that old man Sam Colvin, the father of Caldwell, was caught and hung by
disguised men.

Question. The father of Caldwell was called Colvin ?

Answer. Yes, sir
; they take different names there according to the families they live

with.

Question. These are the only two cases you know of in the county of Greene of mur
ders being committed by disguised men ?

Answer. The only two&quot; I have heard of; I do not know of any.

Question. Was the appearance of those men who murdered Boyd accounted for in any
other way than on the supposition that they belonged to that organization ?

Answer. Well, sir, niy recollection is that the grand jury said in their report that it

was a band of disguised men. and from the evidence that was before them, that they
reported to the court that the men came from, or at least were traced to, an adjoining

county.
Question. That occurrence took place in the town in which you reside ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. A man having been murdered at 11 o clock at night in the public hotel,
when you returned did you investigate the particulars for your own satisfaction ?
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Answer. I inquired about it as any citizen would do.

Question. What was your belief as to whether those men who committed that act in

ill, manner iu which you aseeil ai ned it had heeii committed, were members of an or^

gani/aiion .

Answer. Members uf an organization?
(hi, slum. Yes, of an organized body.
Answer. I think they were a crowd of men who associated themselves together for

that spinal purpose. I have no reason to say, and indeed I do not believe, that they

belonged To any uvnrral organi/ation.

Question. Did your investigation disclose whether they came in military order ?

J.sinr. 1 am iold that they came up the road two and two, on horseback.

(J in si ion. Did it disclose the fact that they were halted in front of the hotel by com
mand ?

.liixwcr. They were halted, but whether by command or not I do not remember.

Question. Does it disclose the fact also that a certain number of them were com
manded to go into the hotel while the others stood guard ?

.liixinr. I understood they did go in, whether by command or not I do not remember.

(^tti xfion. A certain number went in, while the others stood on guard ?

Anmcci. Yes, sir.

Question. And those who went in murdered Boyd ?

Answer Yes, sir ; it was so stated.

Qm-xlion. Now, upon the examination you have made, is it your belief that the whole

organization was gotten together simply for that one purpose, and never had any pre
vious existence?
Answer. That is iny opinion. I can say further

By Mr. BECK :

Question. Give me in full your reasons for that belief.

Answer. My reasons for it are these

By the CHAIRMAN : .

Question. I would prefer you would give your reasons in full.

Answer. About fifteen years ago, Mr. Boyd, who \vas killed, killed a young man in

the neighborhood of Union, about ten miles above Eutaw, by the name of Brown. He
was tried and convicted of murder in the second degree, and sentenced to the peniten
tiary for ten years. After he was sentenced an application was made for his pardon ;

or
not for his pardon, but an application was made for executive clemency. The governor,
on the petition, commuted his punishment to one year in the county jail. He staid in

the county jail until his time expired, and he then went off to another State, Louis
iana or Arkansas, .1 do not remember which. After the war closed he came back to

Greene County.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Qnextion. Had he been back in the mean time?
Answer. I do not know that he had

;
if so, I do not know it. He came back to Greene

County, and shortly after he came back there he was either appointed or elected to the
office of county solicitor. Those people who were related to the young man Brown,
who was killed by Boyd, disliked Boyd very much, as a matter of course, and were
irritated against him very much all the while. He was very obnoxious to that class of

Eeople,
and to the people of that community particularly. After the killing of Snoddy

y these two negroes, he stated on the street, perhaps to one or two different persons,
as I understood, that he knew the parties, and I think ho gave to one the names of
some parties who he said were guilty of the hanging of Aid man Sain Colvin. The rea
son given for the killing of Boyd was that he gave the names of individuals who hung
Sam Colvin

;
that is generally said to be the reason in our community why he was

killed; that is believed to be the reason why he was killed; that is what I believe,
that is what my investigation led me to believe.

I .y the CHAIRMAN:

Question. Had this occurrence any connection with the killing of Brown iifteen years
before ?

Answer. I never understood positively that it had
;
but it was understood that cer

tain names were given.
Qm-xtioH. I lad t he, killing of Brown, then, anything to do with the killing of Boyd ?

Answer. Only as it. connected itself in this way, that the relatives and friends of
Brown were very hostile toward Mr. Boyd, and it was supposed by us, by me and others,
without knowing, that perhaps some oi those names he inentionad were the names of
some of the other parties.

Qin-Kthit. Have you had any conversation with any of Brown s relatives upon the
subject ?

Answer. Since the killing of Boyd ?
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Question. Either before or since.

Ansirer. Some years ago I heard the family speak of Boyd.
Question. I mean now in regard to the killing of Boyd ; had yon any conversation

with any of Brown s relatives either before or since the killing of Boyd, in regard to it ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Had Boyd left there immediately after his respite by the governor?
Answer. That is my impression, but I am not positive on that point.

Question. That would be about 1856 or 1857 ?

Answer. I will not be positive on that subject ; my impression is that he left very soon

after ho served out his time.

Question. In what year did he come back ?

Answer. The latter part of 18G7, I think.

Question. And he lived there from 1867, till March, 1870?
Aimcer. Yes, sir.

Question. Had there been any attempt upon his life, or to do him any injury, by any
of Brown s relatives, in the time from 1867 to 1870?

Answer. None that I ever heard of.

Question. Is it your belief, then, that vengeance for Brown s death was any part of

the motive that led to the killing of Boyd ?

Answer. That, in connection with the charge which he made publicly that certain,

men were connected with the hanging of Sam Colvin; I believe that was the cause.

Question. Did you get the names of the men charged with that f

Anwcr. I do not know them.

Question. How do you connect the two cases ?

Answer. It was simply a matter of belief on the part of the people.

Question. Is that your belief?

Answer. That is my belief.

Question. That the threat whicli he made of bringing those persons to justice for the

killing of Colvin was the cause of his being killed .

;

Answer. That was the immediate cause of his killing, in my judgment. I will state,

however, to the committee that Mr. Boyd was very obnoxious generally ;
was regarded

by our people more in the light of a persecutor than a prosecutor in his office; he was
obnoxious generally to our people.

Question. Do you mean that he prosecuted too vigorously ?

Answer. I do not mean that. I mean that he prosecuted with more of venom than of

firmness. He was not a man of great capacity ;
he was of very small capacity, but of

very strong feelings and prejudices.

Question. Were any means taken before the grand jury met to asceriaiu who were
the persons engaged in killing Boyd f

Answer. Well, man} inquiries Avere made
;
no legal proceedings were instituted, for

the reason. I presume, that no one knew where or how to begin ;
there was 110 such

information, so far as I know, as to be acted upon for an investigation.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. The grand jury inquired into it ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. How long was that after the killing ?

Answer. It was about a month or so.

Question. Did the sheriff offer any reward for the arrest of the persons?
Answer. I do not remember whether he did or not.

Question. Did you understand that he was present and saw the persons?
Answer. I understood the sheriff was there, at least very soon after the killing;

indeed he told me so himself, when I was conversing with him upon the subject.

Question. Did he make any effort to raise any posse and to pursue them ?

Answer. He told me that he did not, for the reason that it was at too late an hour of

the nii^ht ;
there were very few persons on the street

;
the number of disguised men

were- said to be about twenty-live ;
and with the few who were on the street he could

not possibly have made an arrest, if he had made an effort, and therefore he did not try.
Our town is scattered over a considerable space of ground ;

the people live some dis

tance apart, and at that hour of the night it would have been a very difficult matter

certainly to have arrested them before they could get away ;
indeed they could not

have done it at all.

Question. Would the people have responded to a call of the sheriff if he had made it ?

Answer. They would.

Question. Was any effort made the next day to arrest them ?

Answer. None that I know of
;
and for the very good reason that nobody knew where,

or when, or whom to arrest.

Question. And no effort was made to follow the offenders ?
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Answer. None from the town of Eutaw, that I know of.

nin-xtion. Were you present at the meeting in October last at which the riot was said

to have occurred ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

QuentioH. 1 lease go on and give to the committee in detail, without farther question,

your history of that occurrence as you saw it?
*

Aiifwi-r. l.oth parties, the democratic and the republican partias, had announced

meetings for that, day ;
their notices were stuck up, informing the public of that fact.

On the morning of the 25th of October some gentlemen, authorized by the republican

party, addressed a note to the president of the democratic council of that county, propos

ing a joint discussion. Our council was called together to pass upon the propriety of a

joint discussion ; and we agreed not to hold a discussion, and so notified them, for the

reason, in the iirst place, that we did not consider there was anything to be discussed
;

and in the next place, for the purpose of avoiding even the probability or the possibility

of a difficulty, if it could be avoided
;
those were our reasons. I was one of the commit

tee which was instructed to iuform the committee of the republican party of that fact,

and the note is in their hands. We addressed them just such a note as we were in

structed to address them by the democratic council
; Major Pierce and myself. After

we declined the discussion the democratic party immediately assembled their meeting
on the north side of the court-house square.

Question. The discussion was declined before either party had commenced their

meetings ?

Answer. The democratic meeting was called together just about the time that we
declined to enter into a joint discussion. The meeting on our side, the democratic

side, passed over very quietly. After the meeting had closed

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. Right there state how long the democratic meeting lasted, and how many
speeches were made ?

Answer. I think there were three speeches made, and, I suppose, it lasted about two
hours.

By Mr. STEVENSON :

Question. Did you go right on with your meeting after the council resolved not to

discuss
;
did you proceed to organize ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Simultaneously with sending the notice?
Answer. Yes, sir

;
and when we returned, our meeting had assembled and one of the

speakers was on the stand. After our meeting closed, several of our young men,
young men from the democratic side of the square, went around to the republican

meeting. Senator Warner and Governor Parsons made speeches. During Governor
Parsons s speech the noise became a little louder than we thought it ought to be.

There was simply a fusillade of questions going on
;
and one of our old citizens came

to my office and asked me to walk around with him and see if there was any prospect
of trouble, and to aid in stopping it. The sheriff also asked me to do so. We went
around there and saw one or two young men who had been drinking. We took them
away and carried them to my office. Governor Parsons concluded his speech, and at
the conclusion of his speech Major Hays attempted to speak, or got upon the stand

;

whether his intention was to speak or not, I do not know
;
I have understood since

that he did not intend to speak; but he got up on the stand. Just at that time there
was a colored man who was a democrat trying to get up on the stand also to speak.
He was among his colored friends, and, I suppose he thought he had as much right to

speak there as anybody else. During the rush for him to get up on the stand, and
immediately after Major Hays got upon the stand, there was a rush from the crowd of
colored people in front, (there were about a thousand there,) and in the rush he was
either pulled off or he fell off the stand

;
I do not know which for I did not see him.

Question. Who was pulled off ?

Answer. It was said that Major Hays was either pulled off or fell off the stand. I did
not see it, and I do not know it, for I was not in a position to see it. Just before that
occurred, however, Major J. G. Pierce, knowing that Major Hays was extremely ob
noxious to our people there, as he is, and wo think deservedly so, went up to Governor
Parsons and requested him to try and persuade Mr. Hays not to speak, for he feared
it might lead to trouble. Just at that time, when he was talking to Governor Parsons
on the subject, and Major Hays was upon the stand, Major Pierce was shot at from his
rear by a negro in the crowd to his rear

;
ho was shot through his pants, and then the

firing became general.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Were you in a position to see that ?

Answer. I saw the smoke from the pistol. I did not see the man who shot it, but it
was in the crowd of colored people very near the main entrance, or door which goes
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into the main entrance of the court-house building, just to the right of the door.

Then, of course, the firing became general. There was firing from our side, and after

a little, after the immediate stampede was over, there was firing back from the colored
side. The Federal troops were then called on. They came into town, and being seen

by the negroes and the white people, too, the difficulty was over, soon stopped, almost

instantly.

By Mr. VAX TRUMP :

Question. Was the smoke from this pistol you speak of from that part of the crowd
composed entirely of negroes, or was it a mixed crowd, white and black?

Answer. There were no white people at that point at all; the white people were in the
door of the court-house, and in the clerk s office. The clerk s office Avas immediately
behind where the stand was placed.

By Mr. BECK :

Question. That was the first fire ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Where were you at that time ?

Answer. I was in the clerk s ofjice. I had gone there at the request of Mr. Kirksey, a

good citizen of the place, and soon after I got in the office the pistol was fired.

Question. You say it was fired at Major Pierce when he was in the act of speaking to
Governor Parsons f

Answer. Yes, sir
;
with a view to persuading Mr. Hays not to speak.

Question. Where was Hays at that time ?

Answer. lie was in a place where I could not see him very well. I understand from
Major Pierce that he was on the stand, had just got on it, I believe.

Question. Was Hays called for by any person in the crowd before he got upon the
table occupied as a stand ?

Answer. Not that I remember.
Quest ion. AVero you there at the close of Governor Parson s address ?

Answer. I got. there just as he closed.

Question. And went immediately into the circuit clerk s office ?

Answer. Yes, sir; there were quite a number of white men there.

Question. How many f

Answer. A good many; I suppose there were ten in the clerk s office.

Question. Were they armed?
Answer. I did not examine them; I suppose some of them were.

Question. Did you not see whether they were or not ?

Answer. I think I saw one pistol.

Question. Were those white men in the clerk s office men who had come from the

meeting on the other side; of tho court-house ?

Answer. I do not remember whether they were at the other meeting or not. The man
I saw have a pistol was drinking, and was just exhibiting the weapon there, as we fre

quently see drunken men do on public occasions.

Question. Which meeting was called first ?

Answer. My recollection is that the republican meeting was called first.

Question. And the democratic meeting was called for the same day /

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And at the same place ?

Answer. Yes. sir. I wish to state, however, in that connection, that the calling of
the democratic meeting had no reference to the republican meeting. We desired that
Mr. Lindsay, who was then our candidate for governor, General Clanton, and others,
should address our people. It was a short time before the election, and in a meeting
of the council, or of the executive committee and other advising friends of the party,
we agreed upon that day for our meeting. I was a member, and present myself; we
agreed upon that day without any reference to the other meeting at all.

Question. With a knowledge that that meeting had been called for that day ?

Answer. So far as I am concerned personally, 1 do not remember whether I had any
knowledge of it or not ; I presume, however, we did.

Question. The handbills announcing the meeting were up in the court-house, were
they not ?

Answer. I understand they were.
Question. Did you not see them i

Answer. Not prior to putting up ours
;

I did not see any.
Question. You think you had knowledge of the fact ?

Answer. I think the meeting was called before ours.

Question. Did not a large number of people come there armed that day?
Answer. I do not know.
Question. What is your impression ?
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Answer. That a great many had pistols ;
and I will state another fact, that I know

that a large number of DOgCOea came armed with double-barreled guns and pistols oil

the same da\ .

. On the same day?
Yes, sir

;
and my information from some of them was, that they were or-

to go there armed.

I .y Mr. BLAIR:

Question. Is it not the general custom of people in that country, in coming to the

towns from tin- country, to carry arms with them ?

. They very frequently do.

By the CIIAIIJMAX:

. Is it your belief that the persons at both meetings who were armed were
then merely following the general custom, or was there a design in arming?

.himrcr. So far as the democratic party was concerned, there was no design to bring
about a difficulty ;

I know personally there was not. And I know every effort was
made that day by the quiet men of the community, and by the leaders of the dem
ocrat ir party of that county, to prevent any disturbance whatever.

QncxtioH. At whose instance did the colored man endeavor to get on the stand, of

whom you spoke ?

Anxwer. At whose instance?

Question. Was he called for by anybody?
Anxiccr. I understand I do not know that it is the fact that there was a young man

there, 1 think he was a Georgian, who had been stopping there, and who had been on
the Alabama and Chattanooga Railroad; he had been drinking on that occasion, and
seemed to be the principal man managing this colored man, trying to get him upon
the stand.

QuextioH. Was he a democrat ?

Anttwer. I do not know that; I presume he is, as pretty much all the white men there
are.

Question. Had you been consulted about the colored man s speaking?
Answer. Had I been consulted ?

Question. Yes.
Answer. I had not

;
I had no communication from the republican party but the one

about the meeting.
Question. I understand you to say that a colored man was trying to get upon the

stand ?

Annwer. Yes, sir.

Question. Had you been consulted upon that subject, or did you receive any informa
tion about it ?

Answer. No, sir; the only advice I ever gave in that democratic council, of which I

was a member, was that our people should stay away from there, and not interfere
with the meeting at all. We used every effort that we could to get our young men
a\vay from there. The reason I was there was to prevent any difficulty.

Question. Do you locate the origin of the difficulty in the effort of this colored man to

get upon the stand?
Answer. I state the fact

;
I do not attribute it to any particular cause. At that time

this colored man, in the hands of Reynolds, who was a Georgian, made an effort to get
upon the stand as Mr. Hays was trying to get upon it. There was a general rushing or

pressing together of the colored people in front to get toward the stand. There was
considerable excitement produced at that time

;
Mr. Hays was either pulled from or

fell from the stand.
&amp;lt;

t
&amp;gt;ii&amp;lt; xtit. Tliis Reynolds was a Georgian?

- \ nxwcr. Yes, sir
;
came from Georgia down to the Alabama and Chattanooga Railroad,

and for a short time had been living in and around Eutaw.
Question. Is he the same Reynolds who has been identified as having been engaged in

the troubles at Meridian?
Anvwer. The same man; an irresponsible man.

By Mr. STEVENSON :

. How long has lie been about Eutaw ?

er. About three, or four, or five months altogether, and on the railroad.
. How long before that time?

. Perhaps two months before the difficulty; he left there some time since.

I5y the CHAIRMAN:
Were any colored men wounded at that riot ?

A n men-. Yes, sir.

Qiu.xfiou. Any white men ?

A iwcer. Yes, sir.
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Question. How many of each ?

Answer. Two white men were wounded
;
I do not know how many colored men were

wounded; I have heard of as many as ten, but I do not know how many.
Question. Had you anything to do with the preparation of the account that was pub

lished in the Eutaw Whig afterward ?

Answer. Nothing.
Question. Did you read it?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Does that give a correct account of the numher of men who were wounded
on that day ?

Answer. No, sir; I think it is exaggerated.
Question. How many were wounded there, or did you make such investigation as to

satisfy you on that point ?

Ansn-er. I inquired of physicians who generally attended them, and from the hest

knowledge I could get, I am satisfied there were not over fifteen or twenty, at the out
side.

Question. Did any of them die from their wounds ?

Answer. No, sir; not one.

Question. You say, then, that there was no design on the part of anybody to bring
about a difficulty on that day, but, on the contrary, your, design was to avoid one ?

Answer. Yes, sir : the design expressed and felt by us all was to prevent any trouble
whatever.

Question. Had you no apprehension of trouble from calling the two meetings on the
same day ?

Answer. Well, sir, I do not know that we had, except in the excited state of the pub
lic mind. Our impression about the matter was that the best way to prevent a diffi

culty was to have our meeting in a different part of the town and apart from the

republican meeting, and we endeavored to hold all of the democrats, the young men
particularly, away from there, and keep them at our own meeting and apart from the
others. Our people, the white people, are not exactly satisfied with the condition of

things there, and we thought it was best to keep them apart.

Question. Did you think the best way to do that was to call the two meetings on the
same day ?

Answer. I do not know that there is any more reason for supposing indeed, I do not
think there would be any less probability of a difficulty with a republican meeting-
called in Eutaw alone than there would be to have two meetings in different parts of
the town, and an effort made to keep them apart; I think there. would be more reason
for difficulty.

Question. Why did you not keep them in different parts of the town?
Answer. We did; we called ours together first, and on the north side of the court

house
; they had a right to hold their meeting where they pleased.

Question. &quot;The two meetings were held with only the court-house between them*?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did you not advertise for that meeting as speakers gentlemen Avho you
knew could not be there 011 that day ?

Answer. No, sir; we did not.

Question. Were they not engaged elsewhere on that day ?

Answer. We have understood since that they were.

Question. Did ydu not advertise them without knowing that they could be there ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. You did not know whether they could be there ?

Answer. We knew they were to be at different places during the campaign.
Question. Did you not advertise them before you knew whether they could be there

or not ?

Answer. We did as is sometimes done
;
we advertised the meeting without knowing

whether we could get all the speakers there.

Question. As a matter of fact, no one you did advertise was there?
Answer. None from abroad.

Question. Have you any knowledge of the whipping of Mr. Cockrell, a member of the
bar of your town f

Answer. From hearsay I have.

Question. Had that any connection with his being a witness in the case at Mobile ?

Answer. I do not know. A young man by the name of Waddell, from Marion, Perry
County, Alabama, and this same young man, Reynolds, I have been speaking of, went
upon the boat as he came up from Mobile, as we are informed, and whipped him.

Question. Have you any information, from Reynolds or any one else, as to whether the

whipping was inflicted upon him because of his having goiie to Mobile as a witness?
Ansicer. I have never seen Reynolds since

;
he was indicted for the offense, and has

left the State.

Question. What was Mr. Cockrell whipped for, according to your information ?
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Answer. My information is that they went upon the boat and inquired for Mr. Cock

rell, this young man from Perry County.
Overturn. 1I inquired for him ?

AiiKwcr. He i 11*1 ui red for Mr. Cockrell, asked where he was; his room was pointed
out by some one, and Waddoll went there and commenced beating him, and alter the

difficulty had progressed somewhat Reynolds struck him with a pistol on the back of

the head. I ha\ r heard since the difficulty that he was told by young Waddell that it

v. as because he went to Mobile as a witness. But I wish to state here that it was a

matter which our people universally regretted a thing for which we wanted the

parties indicted, and for which they were indicted.- Wo all discountenanced it, and
regret it as much as any people can. It was not done by the consent, approbation, or

authority &amp;lt;&amp;gt;f anybody. &quot;But we heartily wish to-day that they both maybe punished,
.severely punished, lor the act.

Qutttio*. What connection had Waddell with that case?
. I nxwer. None in the world. Ho had gone over to bring the corpse of a young man

who had died at Marion.

Qi . &amp;lt;tion. Where was he from ?

Answer. Perry County.
(JiH slion. He was in company with Reynolds?
Answer. Yes, sir,

Question. Was Reynolds one of the defendants in the case at Mobile ?

Answer. No, sir
;
not that I know of.

Question. Is he the same Reynolds who tried to get the colored man to speak on the

day of the meeting at Eutaw ?

Answer. He was.

Question. And the same Reynolds who was identified as having been at Meridian ?

Answer. The same.

Question. He never was indicted at Mobile ?

Answer. No, sir
;
he is not a defendant in the case at Mobile, but he is indicted for

the assault upon Mr. Cockrell, in the supreme court in Greene County.
Question. My impression is that some one has stated that he was indicted at Mobile.
Answer. That is a mistake, I think; if so, I have never been informed of the fact.

Question. Has any other reason been assigned for beating Mr. Cockrell than that he
was a witness in that trial ?

Answer. I have heard of no other
;
but I do not know of my own knowledge that

that was the cause, though I have heard it stated that it was so stated by this young
Waddell.

Question. Is Mr. Cockrell a member of the bar ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. A respectable member of the bar?
Answer. He has not a very high standing as a member of the bar.

Question. Is he a man of respectable habits and character ?

Answer. He has been
; yes, sir, tolerably.

Question. Is he a republican?
Answer. He has passed for a moderate republican some year or two.

Question. These other men who are charged with whipping him are democrats ?

Answer. Not that I know of. I do not know what the politics of Waddell is, or of

Reynolds. One thing I do know, that Reynolds is a man our people would be very
glad to get rid of, and we neither know nor care what are his politics.

Question. Do you understand that either Waddell or Reynolds is a republican ?

Anxwcr. No, sir
;
I do not know what they are.

Question. Have not these difficulties, lamentable as the fact may be, assumed alto

gether a political character ?

Answer. I think not. I have no doubt that excitement in politics has had something
to do with trouble there. But most of the murders, most of the whippings, most
of the difficulties that have happened there, have grown out of personal matters, not
connected with politics at all. For instance, there was a man in the neighborhood of

Union, by the name of Wilson no, the iirst man killed in Greene County, that I

remember, was a negro man, who was castrated and hung to a tree by some men,
because he committed a rape upon a respectable white lady there.

r.y Mr. BLAHS:

Qin-nlion. Was that Nelson Harris?
Answer. That is the name; he committed a rape upon a lady and was killed for it.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Was there any investigation to show that he was guilty?
Answer. He was caught in the act, so I understood, and identified by the lady

afterward.

Question. Did they take him and hang him when he was caught in the act ?
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Answer. No, sir
;
he was not taken then

; only a young man, or boy, who was not able
to arrest him, saw him, and notified some of the neighbors and friends of that lady, and
I suppose they caught him.

Question. How long afterward was he hung ?

Answer. About the next day; he made an effort to get away, and was pursued and
caught.

Question. That is one case you refer to?
Answer. That is one case.

Question, In what county ?

Answer. In Greene County. Then there is the case of Sam Colvin, to which I have
referred.

Question. Those were not disguised men who hung Harris ?

Answer. No, sir. Sam Caldwell was said to have been connected with the murder of

fSnoddy, and that was the cause of his being hung.

By Mr. VAX TKUMP :

Question. What was the public impression and the fact in regard to the conduct of
Boyd in being very active, or otherwise, in ferreting out the persons that killed Snoddy f

Answer. He was not very active. *

Question. Was that the public impression there, that he was rather lax?
Answer. Yes, sir

; indeed, he had nothing to do with it, or did not take any part in it
;

counsel were employed ;
I defended the negro myself.

Question. When Sam Colvin was dealt with, was Boyd particularly active in trying
to get up a prosecution against those who did that ?

Answer. It was never investigated, for the- reason that Mr. Boyd was killed very
-shortly after Colvin was hung. There have been no arrests, and no investigation
brought about.

Question. Did you state that the public impression and public idea was that he had
made some indiscreet declarations in regard to prosecuting those men?

Answer. It was said there that he perhaps stated to one or two persons that he knew
the parties ;

I think that one said he went so far as to name the parties, though I never
heard the names. He said he knew the persons who had hung old man Sam Colvin.
and he intended to keep the jury in session six months but he would get them indicted.

Question. So the people contrasted his manifestation of interest in regard to that as

compared with his laxity in regard to the other ?

Answer. I do not think there was anything of that kind
;
there was no anger against

his energy. But the particular parties whom it was thought he accused of that crime
were mad with him because he made that accusation, and it was thought that was the
reason he was killed.

By Mr. UKCK:

Question. Was it assumed that his politics had anything to do with his being killed f

Answer. None in the world. Mr. Boyd had lived there from the time he took posses
sion of the office up to that day. No person had ever interfered with him, had ever
insulted him so far as I ktiow. His politics had nothing to do with it, in my judgment,
and in the judgment of our people generally.

By the CHAIRMAN:

Question. There has been some confusion in regard to the time that the murder of

Boyd occurred. My recollection is that some witness has stated that it was during the

tsittiug of the court, but Chancellor Clark says to-day that it was during the sitting of
some ecclesiastic court there, or some ecclesiastic body.

Answer. It was during the session of the presbytery.
Question. I think that some witness has stated that it was during the session of

the court.

Anwcr. That is a mistake
;
I was absent at the time, and I would have been there

had the court been in session.

By Mr. STEVENSON:
. Question. Was the court about to sit ?

Ansicer. This was about the 1st of April, and I think the court assembled about the
last week of April or the first week of May. Our court assembles the fifth Monday after
the fourth Monday in March and September. Boyd Avas killed about the 1st of April,
and our court assembled either the last week in April, or the first week in May.

Question. It was about the time that lawyers begin to prepare their business for the

approaching court?
Ans wcr. Yes, sir.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Did you hear of a man named Guilford Colernau injured in that county !

Answer. Yes, sir.

18
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Question. Was that traceable to a private quarrel, or was it done by a baud of dis

guised men ?

Ansicer. I do not know; I do not tbink I ever did know how Coleman was injured.

Question. Was he murdered ?

Answer. It was supposed he was.

Question. Was his body found ?

Anincer. Not that I have ever*heard of; if it ever has been I do not know it.

Question. Was it the impression that he was murdered?
Answer. That is the impression, that he was killed.

Question. For what cause ?

AnnMT, There have been some causes stated
;
I do not know anything of their relia

bility at all
;
in fact I do not know what the cause was

;
I do not think anybody else

does.

Question. Was he a republican ?

Answer. I suppose he Avas
;
I think so; he was a very good old negro, though, and

he was not a noisy man in politics, any way.
Question. He was a man of good character for a colored man ?

Answer. A man of very good character, yes, sir.

Question. Do you know of the case of Mr. Hill, a preacher?
Answer. Yes, sir

;
that happened a great while ago, a long time ago.

Question. Within the last two years ?

Answer. I think it was about tho first of 1868.

Question. Was he not whipped by men in disguise ?

Answer. No, sir
;
not at all.

Question. What was that case ?

Answer. He was struck in the head, right in the middle of the street, in broad day,
open day time.

Question. Was he compelled to leave the county and the State ?

Anstver. Not compelled, but he did leave.

Question. What was the cause of the attack on him?
Answer. I do not know

;
I cannot tell you.

Question. Was he teaching colored school at the time ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Was there any other cause than that for it ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
I think I know the immediate cause of the difficulty. He had been

buying some wood from the young man who struck him, young Pettigrew, and he
would not pay him for it; Pettigrew told him if he did not pay him for it he would
whip him

;
and I think he whipped him because he would not pay him for his wood.

Question. It is your impression that that was the origin of the difficulty ?
.

Aimver. Yes, sir
;
that is what I have heard, and I am satisfied that was the origin of

it. Some young men were taken up and punished and sent to the Dry Tortugas for a
riot

; they were pardoned afterwards, however.

Question. That was during the time the State was under military government ?

Answer. Yes, sir
; they were tried before a military commission.

Question. I understand you to say, then, that you do not believe there ever was an

organization of Ku-Klux ?

Anstvcr. There never was in my section of the State that I know of; I do not think
so. I think that youug men have sometimes committed outrages, but they have grown
out of immediate circumstances around them

; they did it without any general organ-,
ization, and with reference to particular offenses and particular excitements ;

that is my^
impression.

Question. How do you account for their riding in disguise and having the same dis

guises in different parts of the country ?

Answer. I do not know that they do
;
I never saw a disguised man in all my life.

Question. Never saw any of them ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Have you not had sufficient information from the public press to state^
whether they do ride disguised in the same way in different parts of the country ?

Answer. I have information from the prints that they ride in disguise in different

parts of the country ;
but I do not know that I have information that they ride in tho

same disguises.

Question. Have you any information on that subject so as to express an opiniou
whether they are of the same organization ?

Ansicer. My opinion is that no such organization exists at all.

Question. Nowhere?
Answer. Nowhere in our State, and particularly in our section of tho State.

Question. Have you ever heard their disguises described?
Answer. I do not think I have

;
I have sometimes heard of their riding with white

gowns and sometimes black gowns ;
I have heard that as a matter of rumor.
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Question. Did you hear how the men were disguised who rode into Eutaw and mur
dered Boyd at the Cleveland House ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
I have heard that they had different disguises. Some had hats of

peculiar shape. As to the particular color of their masks, I do not know that I heard

especially. Some had shorter aud some had longer gowns.
Question. Some had high hats on their heads ?

Answer. One of them.
Question. Any horns or such ornaments on their hats ?

Answer. I think one of them was said to have something like that.

Question. Any masks on their faces so as to conceal them?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. With loose gowns over their persons ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. That was the way the disguise was descrihed to you ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Have you seen any description similar to that of Ku-Klux in different por
tions of the country ?

Answer. I do not remember that I have seen any particular description of Ku-Klux
disguise at all.

Question. No\vhere?
Answer. No, sir; I have seen the fact stated that men rode around in disguise; but

as to the peculiar shape and style of their clothing, I do not think I have seen any
description ;

if so, I (io not remember it.

Question. Have you never asked this man Reynolds whether he was a member of the
Ku-Klux organization ?

Answer. No, sir
;
I never had anything to do with Reynolds; I do hot know that I

ever spoke to him half a dozen times in my life.

Question. Is it the impression there that he was a member of the organization, what
ever it may be ?

Answer. I do not know whether it is or not. The impression is that he is a very ba&amp;lt;l

young man ;
that he is one we want to get rid of.

Question. Have you never heard that he was a member of the organization
Answer. I do not know that I ever did.

Question. You never had any conversation with any one you .suspected of belonging
to this organization, whatever it may bo? .

Answer. I never had any conversation with any man in my life, that I know of, who
could give me any infornultion of this organization.

Question. Did you ever make the inquiry ?

Ansu-er. I suppose, like other citizens, I have inquired of people if they knew any
Ku-Klux

;
had ever seen any ;

I suppose I have made those general inquiries like other

people have.

Question. Have you never seen one who was charged with belonging to the organiza
tion ?

Answer. I never have.

Question. You never talked with any one who was charged with belonging to the

organization?
Answer. I never have

;
I have never seen any man charged with being a member of

this organization, that 1 know of. There may be men whom I have talked to who may
be charged by some people with belonging to it

;
but I do not know of anybody gen

erally charged with belonging to the organization.
Question. Did you ever read any account of the proceedings in an investigation or

dered by the governor at Paytona ?

Answer. I have not ; I have heard statements about it, but I have never read it. 1

think I have a paper at homo which contains the account, but I never took time to

read it.

Question. There is in that account the testimony of a witness who professed to have

belonged to the organization ?

Answer. I believe so.

Question. Did you ever read that article ?

Answer. Xo, sir; I have only heard of that man s testimony.
Question. Notwithstanding that testimony, you still do not believe the organization

ever existed in Alabama ?

Answer. No, sir, I do not.

Question. Arc causes tried in your circuit courts generally to the satisfaction of the

people ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir
; they are tried as they always have been tried in our courts, under

the same rules and in the same way, so far as I know. There have been some chaugeH
since the war as to the materials oi the courts and juries, &c.

;
but so far as the ad

ministration of the law is concerned, it is conducted in about the same way that i

always has been.
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By Mr. POLAND :

Question. Where do the relatives of this man Brown live, the man whom Boyd
killed sonic fifteen years ago ?

,-lnxu-er. Near Union, Greene County.
Question. How far from Eutaw ?

Answer, About ten miles.

Question. In which direction ?

Answer. North.

Question. Had he a large circle of relatives a great many of them ?

Answer. No, sir; I think not a great many.
Question. You do not know, from any thing you have ever heard, that Boyd claimed

to have any evidence against them in connection with the death of Colvin ?

Answer. No, sir
;

I do not know of my own knowledge ;
that was a mere matter of

general supposition.
Question. You say that you understood that Boyd claimed and stated, so that it was

known, that he had some information as to who the parties were who hung Colvin ?

Answer. Yes, sir, I did.

Question. Was it generally known who it was that Boyd claimed to have evidence

against?
Answer. No, sir

;
I have never known

;
it was not generally known j

I suppose it is

not known except, perhaps, to the one iie told it to.

Question. Then there was no general information as to whom Boyd had evidence

against ?

Answer. No general information
; no, sir.

Question. He merely let it be known that he had evidence against somebody ?

Amicer. Let it be known to two persons, so I understand.

Question. You do not understand that there was any general rumor in the community
as to whom Boyd had evidence against ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. But your idea is that in consequence of his letting it be known that ho
claimed to have information against somebody, that it was that which led to his

death ?

Answer. That was generally believed.

Question. You say the grand jury reported to the court that so far as they could get
any information about it, the persons who killed Boyd came from another county ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
that was their report.

Question. Do you believe that to be true ?

Answer. At least that they traced them to another county.
Question. Do you believe that that baud of men who killed Boyd did come from an

other county ?

Answer. I have no reason to say that a grand jury, performing their duties, made a

report of facts that were untrue.

Question. I am not asking this question with any view to impeach the action of the

grand jury. But is it your own belief that the men who killed Boyd came from an
other county ?

Answer. From the information which I have and all I have is the report of the

grand jury I ain compelled to accept their conclusion as the true state of the case.

Question. You say you took some pains to inquire into this matter, to ascertain your
self what the facts were ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
I made some inquiries about it.

Question. Is it your judgment, from all you could ascertain about it, that the men
who killed Boyd did come from another county ?

Answer. I never arrived at any particular result in my individual investigation ;
but

looking at the report of the grand jury they made a very searching examination
;
we

had some of the best and most reliable men in our county upon the grand jury I be

lieve, from their statement, that their conclusion is the correct one.

Question. So that really your own opinion is that the men who killed Boyd came from
another county ?

Answer. My opinion, based upon the report of the grand jury, is that that was the
fact; I have no reason to come to any other conclusion.

Question. What had any body of men up in Pickeus County against Boyd ?

Answer. I have no idea; I do not know.
Question. Could any body of men in Pickens County, to your knowledge, have had

any ill-will against Boyd, growing out of this killing of Brown, fifteen years ago, or for

any other reason ?

Answer. Not that I know of; they may have had.

Question. You say you had something to do as counsel with defending the men
charged with killing Snoddy?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. You had occasion to look into the case, to learn something about the death
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of Colvin. Now, have you any reason to believe that any body of men up in Pickeus

County were the men who killed Snoddy, or killed Colvin, or had anything to do
with it ?

Answer. No, sir
;
the two negroes I defended killed Snoddy.

Question. If it be true that Boyd was killed by a number of men from Pickens County,
what does the story about Brown and about Colviu have to do with it ?

Answer. It has just this to do with it do you mean with the killing of Boyd?
Question. If Boyd was killed by a body of men who came from Pickens County, what

motive could they have had, growing out of the killing of Brown, a great many years
ago, or the more recent killing of Colvin 2

Answer. No connection in the world except the general impression, as I stated, that
the killing of young Brown, years before, by Boyd, was supposed by the people, gen
erally, to be the main cause that led to the death of Mr. Boyd ?

Question. Had Brown any relatives up in Pickens County ?

Answer. I do not know whether he had or not
;
I cannot tell.

Question. You never heard of any ?

Answer. I never heard that he had or had not; I never heard anything on the sub

ject.

Question. Well, all the relatives you know anything about that he has are in your
county ?

Answer. Yes, sir; all the relatives he has, that I know, live in Greene County
Question. In which direction is Pickens County from you ?

Answer. North.

Question. How far is it from your town to the line of Pickens County ?

Answer. I suppose about fifteen or sixteen miles
; perhaps more: I do not know the

exact distance.

Question. Have you ever made any calculation yourself as to how many persons have
been killed by violence, by unlawful violence, within the hist three years, in your
county ?

Answer. I presume I have heard of every death that has occurred there, but I have
not kept such an account of them as would enable me to give you correctly, perhaps,
the number of deaths that have occurred in that time.

Question. Have you such an idea about it that you can state, with any degree of
detiniteness, how many men have been killed in your county by unlawful violence
within the last three years 1

Answer. I will give the names of all that I now remember, if you wish that. Nelson
Harris was the tirst one that I know of; then Samuel Suoddy, Henry Miller, Sam
Colvin, James Carpenter, John Carpenter, Guilford Coleman, and Mr. Boyd; those are
all that I can remember at this time.

Question. Has anybody ever been punished for killing any one of these men ?

Answer. The person who killed John Carpenter has been indicted, and has been tried

once, but there was a mistrial; the case is now pending. A brother of Mr. Carpenter
was killed, it was supposed, for his money, but his murderer has never been found
out. They were both very clever gentlemen and good men.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. Who was susposed to have killed Carpenter ?

Answer. The one killed for his money ?

Question. No, sir
;
the other.

Answer. The other was killed by a man named William T. Eatman. The other Car

penter was supposed to have been killed by a colored man, who has left the country
the one killed for his money.

By Mr. POLAND :

Question. Snoddy was supposed to have been killed for his money?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. It was understood that his body was rifled of some money that he had in

his possession ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Is this man who was indicted for killing one of the Carpenters the only per
son who has been indicted for any killing in your county?
Answer. I was thinking; the two negroes who killed Snoddy were indicted; and

they are all that I now remember who have been prosecuted for these offenses. The
others, however, have not been prosecuted for the reason that they have not been
found out.

By Mr. BLAIR:

Question. There was a Mr. Miller, who formerly held the office of probate judge in

your county?
Answer. Yes. sir.



278 CONDITION OF AFFAIRS IN THE SOUTHERN STATES.

Question. It seems lie was obstructed in taking Ms office
;
do you know anything

about the circumstances of that case ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
I thiuk I know all about it. At the election in February, 1868,

Mr. Miller was elected probate judge, at least he received a majority of the votes cast

at that election in Greene Comity for probate judge. Judge Oliver, the incumbent of

the probate office, contended that he was the legal occupant of the place, and desired

to contest the matter legally as to whether Judge Miller or himself was the proper in

cumbent of that office. Judge Oliver came to advise with our firm, Morgan and Jolly,

and we advised him that while we thought the law would authorize him to hold on to

the place, yet we, wen; satisfied he would be compelled, to give it up. He contended,

however, that he ought not to give it up, and he informed Judge Miller that he would

not, unless he was put out of his office by legal means. He did not propose any vio

lent resistance to Judge Miller taking possession of the office, but simply to test the

matter in the courts, as to who was the proper incumbent of that office
;
at least that

was the only advice we gave him, and I presume that was the advice he acted upon.
A few days after Judge Oliver notified me of that, some Federal troops came down from

Tuscaloosa, I think it was, or some other locality, and turned Judge Oliver out, and
installed Judge Miller, giving possession of the place to Judge Miller. No resistance

was made
;
it was done in that way. Judge Oliver held on to the place simply because

he desired to have the matter legally decided as to whether Judge Miller or himself
was the proper occupant of the office.

Question. Miller says that he was told by Morgan and Jolly that he never could get
the office ?

Answer. We never told him any such thing ;
at least I did not, and I am satisfied my

partner did not.

Question. On the contrary, it was your opinion that he would get it?

Answer. It was our opinion, and we so informed Judge Oliver, that while his legal

right was to hold on to fhe office, we were satisfied he would be compelled to yield it ;

that was our advice to him. No resistance whatever was made to Judge Miller taking
possession of the office

;
he could have gone in without troops just as well as with troops,

and taken possession of the books and papers of the office.

Question. Speaking of the killing of Carpenter by Eatman
;
what was supposed to be

the ground of that homicide?
Answer. That was a personal difficulty between the parties ; they were both democrats

and neighbors; it grew out of some sale of corn, some difficulty between them as to the

quantity of corn.

Question. There was a man spoken of by Judge Miller, a Mr. Palmer?
Answer. Yes, sir; I did not name him/for it escaped my memory ;

he was another

person killed. There was a young man, a stranger in Eutaw, who had a difficulty with
Home other young man, and threw a brick-bat at him. It missed the young man, and
struck Mr Palmer and killed him ; Mr. Palmer was just coming out of the door, and the
brick-bat struck him in the head and killed him. That was*a personal difficulty; it

had no reference to politics at all, but was a mere drunken spree or frolic, I suppose.
Question. Was that case examined judicially in any way?
Answer. A warrant was issued for the young man, but he fled; he was never over

taken, and never arrested.

Question. Judge Miller testified to his having been assaulted by some person there
;

do you know anything of that ?

Answer. I only know from hearsay, for I was not at home on that occasion. This
same man Reynolds assaulted him, it was stated, and I have been informed that it was
on account of so\ne statement that Judge Miller had made about Reynolds to a man by
the name of Weaver. Reynolds attacked him in consequence of that statement to

Weaver; it was so stated, and I think Judge Miller himself told rne so.

Question . Miller says that he is afraid to go to Eutaw, on account of that assault and
of threats that have been made against him ;

do you know of the fact of his having
been there recently ?

J//.SKVT. Yes, sir; he has been there once or twice during the present year. He is in
business in Mobile, and occasionally goes up there on business. Judge Miller expresses
himself very freely on any subject whenever he conies there. I have never seen him
manifest any alarm, or excitement, or fright, when he has come these, and that is the
only time I know of that he has been attacked in the town. I know of no reason why
he should be alarmed, and I am satisfied from his conduct that he is not afraid to give
tree expression to his sentiments there.

Question. You say he expresses himself freely; does he do so offensively?
.luNwcr. He is a very extreme partisan, and expresses himself excitedly, and to somo

people his manner is offensive, though it has never been offensive to me; it is moro
excited than offensive to me.

Question. Smith, who was the circuit clerk there, testified before the committee, and
said, among other things, that at the riot which has been described here as the riot at
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Eutaw, he saw you in the crowd, and heard you exclaim, Go in, boys now is your
time !

&quot; That is, about the time the fighting commenced.
Answer. That is false, sir, and he knew it to be false when he stated it. He knows

better than any man in the world that I never said so. He was close to me, and he
knows my effort wras to stop any difficulty ;

and he knows that I aided greatly in

stopping that whole difficulty. He knew when he stated that that I never made that

declaration
;
he knows it.

By Mr. STEVENSON :

Question. It is but fair to state that Smith says he did not see you, but heard a voice

which he was satisfied was your voice.

Answer. He saw me, and he ought to have heard everything I said ; he knows from

seeing me and hearing me; he knows that I did not say it
;
he knows that I did not

say it.

By Mr. BLAH; :

Question. But on the contrary, he knows that you tried to stop the difficulty ?

Answer. Yes, sir; and that so far as that portion of the difficulty is concerned, I did

stop it on the part of the white people.

Question. He also states that no persons have ever been convicted in Greene County
for whipping, tfcc.

Answer. That is untrue.

Question. Do you know of persons who have been convicted there ?

Answer. Yes, sir; I know of a number of instances in the courts of that county of

persons I have- myself got convicted persons who have been convicted and lined

for assaults and batteries, and whippings of negroes, i have t\vo cases pending there

for lynching. I do not remember the exact character of the cases. A number of

parties have been convicted in the criminal court there for whippings and scourgings;
I have defended some of them myself, and some of them I have prosecuted; they have
been convicted, lined, and punished.

Question. He stated that the sheriff made no effort to arrest the parties who killed

Boyd ;
how is that ?

Answer. The sheriff made no effort that night, for the, reason that it was so late at night
that persons were all off at their different homes, and he could not get together a posse in

time to make the arrest. He was alone when he went to the hotel, and of course he could

not undertake to arrest them. And before he could have assembled a posse the men
would have been gone, for they were there but a few minutes after the. killing. Ho
made no effort to arrest them without a posse, for it would have been folly to do so

;
and

he had not time at that hour of the night to summon a posse; at least that is what
the sheriff himself stated to me. He is a prompt and good officer, and discharges his

duties faithfully. He said that from the fact that they left immediately, and persons
were all at home and in their beds and asleep, he did not summon a posse and did not

make any arrests.

Question. Could they have been arrested if it had been possible to have aroused the

people in time ?

Answer. Yes, sir; if it had been in the day-time they would have been arrested.

Question. The people discountenance these outrages ?

Answer. Yes.

Question. How is it in regard to the jurors in your county ;
are the colored men will

ing to serve on juries and do they serve; on juries ?

Answer. Yes, sir; they serve willingly, so far as I know; I never have heard of any
unwillingness on their part; indeed there is rather an anxiety and desire on their part
to serve.

Question. And do they serve ?

Answer. Y
r

es, sir.

Question. Are all your juries mixed juries?
Aiwvcr. Yes, sir; that is generally the case; a pretty fair proportion of white and

black.

Question. Dfd you ever hear of any colored man summoned to serve on a jury who
refused to serve on account of intimidation or threats /

Answer. No, sir; no such excuse* was ever made in the county in any court. I have
been present at all the courts, and I have seen them servo; I have known them to be

absent a few times, just as other jurors are, and in those cases forfeitures were taken.

But as to rendering any excuse of that sort, no such excuse was ever made.

Question. Smith, the clerk, has resigned his office ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. He alleges that he did it on account of his being threatened and alarmed

Do you know any tiling in regard to that?
Answer. No. sir; I never heard of Mr. Smith being threatened; I do not think 1

ever did. At all events he staid there a great while in perfect safety, and no effort
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was ever made to hurt him. I have always had my doubts about his ever being threat

ened ut all. I have never seen a man who did threaten him, and I never heard a man s

name mentioned who threatened him at all. I do not believe lie ever was threatened.

Question. What was the reason of his resigning, do you know f

Aiixircr. In my judgment the reason for his resigning his office a groat deal

was said at the time he went to Mobile and made a statement similar to that which

you have given here in regard to him. There was a very general expression on the

j*art of our people of discontent at that testimony, for they knew it was not true,

those that were there; and their feelings towards him were not pleasant or kind at all.

He was informed of that fact, and that it was in consequence of telling that which he
knew to be untrue, which everybody in the town knew to be untrue. That fact Avas

communicated to him, and he never came back. That was supposed to be the reason

why he left, on account of the general obnoxiou stress he was held in on the part of our

people, in consequence of his perjuring himself.

Quextion. It appears that at the last election in your State the vote was increased.

Do you know what was the cause of the general increase of the vote at the last elec

tion ?

An.wer. In my county we made very great efforts to achieve success for the demo
cratic party. The negroes had become tired of their former leaders, expressed them
selves so, quit them and openly voted for the democratic party, and desired to do so.

Mr. Hays has been the leader of the negroes in that county, indeed in the district, ever
since the war. He was before the war and during the war a very crnel master

;
and

they disliked him for that, in the first place. Since the Avar he had hired numbers of

them and has generally given them a promise to pay, and has never paid them any
thing. They were tired of him for that. And they got tired of their leaders generally
because they were of that character and class of men which even negroes do not like

to associate with
;
and they quitted that party and associated themselves with re

spectable people, and voted the democratic ticket.

Question. Is that the cause of Hays s unpopularity with the colored population ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
his false promises to them his promise to pay them for their ser

vices and not doing -it
; that, in connection with his former cruelty to his slaves, which

was well known and Avell understood by all the colored people.

Question. What is the comparative condition of the country before and since the last-

election ? Give the difference, if there is any, in the relations of kindness and friend

ship that exist between the two races now.
Answer. The condition of the country is much better than before the election. The

negroes are much more contented and happy ;
and the relations between the two races

never were better in the world before. The utmost kindness and good-feeling exist on
the part of both races toward each other. Indeed, the condition is very greatly im
proved in every respect.

Question. There has been testimony given before the committee to the effect that rad

icals, or republicans, cannot express their opinion safely in that county. What is the
fact in regard to that matter ?

Answer. I am satisfied they can
;
I think that is all a mistake. A trouble or two has

occurred there, but it has grown out of excitement produced on the occasion by some
man who was very obnoxious. But people have gone there and made speeches ; repub
licans have made speeches there whenever they saw* fit. John C. Keffer has made
speeches there; and he is one of the most offensive men in &quot;the republican party in the
State to our people ;

I think he made two speeches. Mr.Warner has made speeches there
;

Governor Parsons has made speeches there
;
numbers of republicans have made speeches

there, and never have been interfered with. Mr. Hays, though, is not liked by our

people at all. While I think he can go there to-day and make a speech without inter

ruption, he is disliked to such an extent by all of us, by all of the people there, that
we Avould rather he Avould not speak there. But, in my judgment, he or any other

republican, or any man, can go there to-day and express his sentiments freely.

Question. It was stated that Hays declined to go to Mobile as a witness on account
of threats. Do you know anything as to his real motive in not going ?

AiiKiccr. I know the reasons he gave to me in a letter which I now have. He stated
that the reason he did not go Avas that he did not desire any prosecution to be carried
on against those gentlemen; he thought it was Avrong, and he did not desire to appear
as a Avitness against them, and would not

;
that ho never intended to go there, because

his judgment was that they ought not to lie prosecuted. He wrote ine that in a letter
as the reason why he did not go. And since he came home from Washington, and
since the court met in Mobile, he has told other parties that that was the reason that
he did not see any good to come of that prosecution, and never intended to aid in it.

Mr. STEVENSON. That Avas the general Ariew which- Mr. Hays expressed here.
Mr. IJi.Mi:. Smith said that Hays did not go because he had been threatened.
The WITNESS. Mr. Hays is at home now; he is not in any fear.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. Is Mr. Cockrell at home ?
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Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Was he severely injured ?
-^

Answer. I think he was confined to his room for a day or two.

Question. Was anybody engaged in the attack upon, him except the two persons you
have named ?

Ansicer. No, sir; not that I have heard of.

Question. Both of them have left?

Answer. One lives in Perry County ;
I do not know what has become of him. Rey

nolds, who has been temporarily living in our county, has left the State. lie was in
dicted for that, and in this other case besides

; and, very much to the gratification of
ns all, he left.

By Mr. BECK :

Question. Do you know any person in your region of country who has been killed or

whipped because of his political opinions, or the expression of them ?

Answer. No, sir
;
I do not think that any man has ever been killed in Greene County

for the expression of his political sentiments.

By Mr. BLAIII :

Question. Or whipped ?

Answer. Or whipped for his political sentiments.

By Mr. BECK:

Question. In your opinion, can any man who behaves himself reasonably well express
any political sentiments he may entertain anywhere without molestation?
Answer. I have no doubt of it in the world.

Question. Why did you locate your meeting at the particular point in the court-house

yard on the day the republican meeting was also held at Eutaw, if you did not want
the two meetings held together ? Was your meeting organized first ?

Answer. Yes, sir; about a half or perhaps three-quarters of an hour first.

Question. Was there any necessity for the other gentlemen to have located their meet
ing so close to you, or were there any other places in the town where they could have
held it equally well ?

Answer. There were plenty of other places, and we had been informed that their

meeting would be held about a quarter of a mile distant from the court-house, at the

depot.

By Mr. STEVEXSON :

Question. Who told you so?
Answer. It was rumor, not positive information.

By Mr. BECK :

Question. Was their meeting organized with full information of where your meeting
was going on ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. When you organized your meeting, did you know where they were going to

hold theirs?
Answer. No, sir; I did not.

Question. The question of proximity of the two meetings depended upon their action,
not upon yours ?

Answer. Entirely upon theirs.

By Mr. COBURX :

Question. Which party first gave notice of their meeting ?

Answer. My understanding is that the republican party first piit up their posters and

gave the notice in the paper of their meeting.
Question. Where were public meetings generally held in that town ?

Answer. There about the court-house and in the court-house square.

By Mr. BECK :

Question. Was the report of the grand jury, in regard to the1 men who killed

Boyd, that they lived in Pickens County, or that they went in that direction ?

Answer. I stated awhile ago that the grand jury reported that they were traced to

that county ; they did not state whether they lived there or not.

Question. They did not undertake to say where they lived
3

Answer. No, sir.

Question. They said they were traced to that county?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. I would ask you your judgment, from your experience of men, whether, if

a body of men who lived in Union had disguised themselves for the purpose of con

cealment had endeavored to take the necessary steps to continue that concealment is



282 CONDITION OF AFFAIRS IN THE SOUTHERN STATES.

it likely they would have ridden directly to their own doors, from the place of a mur
der committed by them? Is that the way men would ordinarily act?

Answer. It does not look reasonable.

By Mr. STKVKNSON :

Question. Is it likely that they would ride toward their own doors ?

JNNHVT. 1 do not think they would.

Question. Well, would they not, in order to get to Pickens County, have to ride to

ward their own doors ?

Answer. In going to Pickens County, the direct road is through the town of Union,
where the friends of these parties lived.

By Mr. BECK :

Question. They could go that road on their horses and get to Pickens County?
JH.SIHT. Yrs. sir.

Question. Whoever they were, they were traced past the town of Union to the line of

the county of Pickens?
Answer. Yes, sir

;
across the bridge into Pickens County.

Question. Was it reported to you that Mr. Boyd, in naming the men to the one or two
friends to whom he had spoken of the matter, had implicated some of the connections
of Brown ?

Answer. That has been a matter of rumor that part of it.

Question. Has that been reported to you ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
and the general impression of the community has been uniform

that he was killed for that reason.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Can you give us the names of those friends of Brown, so reported to have
been implicated by Boyd ?

Answer. I have said that I do not know
;

it was merely stated that he had given the
names of the parties to one or two friends

;
no names were ever given to me.

By Mr. BECK :

Question. But at the same time that the names were given to you it was also told to

you that the persons whose names he had given to those friends of his were relatives of

Brown ?

Answer. That was supposed, more than stated
;
I do not know that it was ever stated

positively, but it was supposed that they were the names given. Whether the intima
tions were given out by the persons whom he told or others, I do not know

;
I suppose

they were. And upon that intimation, from whatever source it came, the general im

pression of the community was that that was what led to his death.

Question. Was there a very bad state of feeling existing on the part of the relatives

of Brown against Boyd after he returned?
Answer. Y es, sir, always after the death of young Brown, up to the day of Boyd s

&quot;

death.

Question. Did any one suppose that Boyd s politics caused his death, either directly
or indirectly ?

Answer. No, sir, no one. Boyd was not a noisy man, and never made public speeches ;

never expressed himself very often. His political opinions were very little canvassed,
very little thought of. We are all satisfied that they had nothing to do with his

death. There were men there much more obnoxious than he, who have lived through ^

it all. Judge Miller had expressed himself very loudly and very often there, up to the
time of Mr. Boyd s death. Mr. Hays has also expressed himself very freely. Mr. Mc-
Intosh, the State senator, has expressed himself very freely ;

and the representative to
the legislature has expressed himself very freely. They have all lived through it not
been hurt. Mr. Boyd was much less noisy in his politics than any of those men, yet
he was killed. And from these facts we are all perfectly satisfied that politics did not
enter into his killing at all. *

Question. You have stated to General Blair that the unpopularity of Mr. Hays had
much to do with the falling off of the negro vote.

Answer. A great deal.

Question. I desire to ask this further question : whether or not promises had been
made to negroes of lands and mules and other things, if they would vote the republi
can ticket, and if they have not also been told that they would be put back into slavery
if they voted the other ticket

;
and whether the failure to keep those promises to them

had not much to do with their distrust of the republican party in the last election ?

Answer. Yes, sir; those statements were made, and in my judgment that has had a

great deal to do with the fact of their abandoning that party and uniting with the
democratic party. The argument that they would be put back into slavery if they
did not vote for the republican party, was pretty generally and extensively used down
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there
;
that was the strong point of republican speakers and -wire-pullers ;

and tho

negroes for a long time were persuaded that it was true
; they thought it was true. In

deed, I myself had a servant to whom I frequently talked, and in whom I had gr^at
fauh

;
he stated to me that the reason why he and a number of others did not vote

with our people there was, that they were assured that they would be killed if they
did, and that their wives and children would be put back again into slavery ;

and he
said that whenever they could be convinced that that was not true, they would unite
with and support the white people. And the most intelligent colored people in tho

county have done so.

Question. They have also had promised property to them if they voted the other
side ?

Answer. O, yes; it was generally understood that they would get forty acres and
a mule.

Question. That was their general understanding ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
but there never has been any mule, or land either, given into their

hands.

Question. And you think tho failure to get what was promised them has had a great
deal to do with it?

Answer. Yes, sir, a great deal to do with it
; they have lost faith in the promises of

their former leaders.

Question. Do you know whether, in your part of Alabama, negroes who have pro
posed to vote tho democratic ticket have been threatened or maltreated by negroes
and others belonging to loyal leagues, because they offered to do so ?

Answer. Yes, sir; it is a matter of verj- frequent, everv-day occurrence in that dis

trict.

Question. Has it been safe for a negro to avow a disposition to vote the democratic
ticket among a crowd of his own color?

Answer. They have always thought it very unsafe to do so, and some of them have
been whipped for voting the democratic ticket.

Question. lias there been as much intimidation practiced upon any other class of
men as has been practiced upon democratic negroes by republican negroes ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. That has been the greatest intimidation cxercised in your State, upon the

v negroes who de-sired to vote with the democratic party f

Ansu-er. That has been the intimidation
;
that is what it was aimed at in a great

measure.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. Do you know of any organization for that purpose ?

Answer. It has generally been operated through the Union, leagues, so it is supposed.
I do not know anything about tho Union League, except that it is supposed that such

organizations have existed, and that tho negro people had been very severely discip
lined and controlled by that means.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. Has it been understood that they have been sworn in those associations?
Answer. They all say they have been sworn

;
the negroes all say so.

By Mr. BECK :

Question. You have given your opinion in regard to the action of men in disguise ;
I

want to ask you this question: whether or not men who have committed outrages in.

disguise have adopted the disguise as an additional means of preventing their per
sonal detection for the particular crime, and not as part of any organization systemat
ically carried on between them and others not connected with the particular crime?

Answer. That has always been my belief, my view of it; that they disguised them
selves to prevent detection in the commission of the immediate offense, without any
relation or connection with any general organization. Indeed, I will again state, as I

have stated heretofore, that I am well acquainted throughout that district
;
there are

few people there but what I know
;
and I am perfectly satisfied that no such organiza

tion exists in the county, or in the district.

Question. Do you or not believe tho fact that disguised persons in other parts of the

State, or in other States, have escaped detection because of their disguise, has per
haps induced men who had private grudges of their own to assume those disguises for

the individual act
;
instead of having any organization, they have assumed the dis

guises because of the additional security they had found it had given in other cases 1

Answer. Very likely, the precedent having been set, that has been the cause of their

assuming that sort of disguise.
Question. Without any sort of connection with the others from whom they perhaps

borrowed that form of disguise ?

Answer. I think so.
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Question. That is, you think, the extent to which Ku-Kluxisra, or whatever name it

is known by, has prevailed in Alabama ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
that is the extent of any organization of that description I know of.

Qucntitin. What is the general state of feeling among the law-abiding men of your
community in regard to the outrages committed in that way?

Answer. They are very much opposed to it
; very much opposed to it indeed

;
all of

our best people- and w i have but very few of a lawless disposition or character all are

opposed to violations of law, or lawlessness of any description.

Question. Do you believe that to-day they would aid the courts and the juries in

punishing any person who in disguise committed an outrage upon any man, white or

black ?

Answer. Unquestionably, yes, sir.

Question. It is only those who are so disguised, and so manage as to be protected,
either by their disguise or cover of the night, who evade the law

;
if a man was brought

up for that, he would certainly be punished t

Anxwer. That is all.

Question. And, as I understand you to say, that feeling is strengthening all the
time ?

Answer. Yes, sir; the feeling against lawlessness and violence of every description is

universally entertained by all our people. The universal desire is to see the laws

enforced, and to do all in their power to assist in preventing lawlessness and violence.

Question. Do you believe that any interference by the Federal Government, through
its military authorities, would aid in any way in the preservation or protection of life,

liberty, and property in the State of Alabama ; or can it be better managed through
your own State authorities and civil tribunals ?

Answer. I do not think the United States troops are needed at all. I am satisfied

that we have the ability to enforce the law and protect life, and liberty, and property
in our own courts and under our own laws.

Question. And the disposition to do so ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

By Mr. STEVENSON :

Question. If you have both the ability and disposition, why do you not do it ?

Answer. I think we do.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. I think we have some testimony upon a point in regard to which you have
not very distinctly stated your information to us in regard to the relative numbers of
the two political meetings held in Eutaw in October last.

Answer. I suppose that the democratic party numbered from two to three hundred
persons; at the republican meeting there were from one thousand to twelve hundred

;

I suppose that would be about a proper estimate.

Question. Were the democrats pretty generally aware, or did not some of them at
least know, that the republican committee had called into their counsel General Craw
ford, of the Federal army, in command of the troops stationed there that day ?

Answer. We did not know it until we saw General Crawford there that morning ;

we did not know he was expected there at all.

Question. You knew there was a military force there ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. How near there ?

Answer. About a quarter of a mile from the court-house.

Question. Did you know that, during the progress of the meetings, a squad of troops
were detached from the main force, and stationed near the town ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
I think they were brought down toward the court-house, about

half way from the quarters they occupied.
Question. So far as you could observe, did the negroes seem to be quite as well armed

as the whites ?

Answer. Yes, sir
; they were armed

;
I saw numbers of them with pistols, and I saw

them shoot frequently.
Question. What is your opinion in regard to an investigation like this into the social

and political condition of so wide-spread a people as the Southern people, and the diffi

culty we have, hero of knowing any of the facts, as well as the expense of getting the
witnesses here

;
what is your opinion as to the best mode of investigating this matter,

whether here in this room, or by committees sent South to the different localities ?

Answer. 1 think a committee sent South, right to the spot where the disturbance is

Baid to have happened, is the best way to get at the truth of the case.

Question. The Southern people are perfectly willing that a full investigation should
be had there?
Answer. They are not only willing, but anxious.
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By Mr. STEVEXSOX :

Question. Do you think we could ascertain who killed Boyd, if we went to Eutaw ?

Anm er. I do not know whether you could or not
;

I think it very doubtful. A
thorough investigation of the matter has been made by the grand jury, who I appre
hend discharged their duty.

Question. Do you suppose we could ascertain who killed the old negro man ?

Answer. I do not know; you might lo so; investigations frequently develop facts.

Question. Has there been no investigation of that case?
Answer. There was a coroner s inquest held there, I think; that is about all tho

investigation I know of.

Question. Was the matter investigated before the grand jury ?

Answer, The matter was investigated by the grand jury, but no result was reached
at all

;
the grand jury summoned a number of witnesses, not only in that case, but in

others.

Question. They have never ascertained who murdered the old colored man ?

Answer. There has been no result yet, as we understand.

Question. You say that Governor Parsons and General Warner spoke in Eutaw?
Answer. When; on the 25th of October ?

Question. Yes.
Answer. They spoke there then.

Question. That did not result in very great harmony, did it?

Answer. Their speeches ?

Question. The meeting.
Answer. It resulted just as has been described

;
it did not end pleasantly.

Question. You spoke of one other gentleman who made speeches there ?

Answer. Yew, sir : Mr. Keffer.

Question. When was that ?

Answer. In 18C8.

Question. Was it in the day-time or at night ?

Answer. It was in the day-time.
Question. Was it at a county meeting or a local meeting ?

Answer. A general meeting. and I suppose that the negroes numbered about the same
that they did at the meeting in October.

Question. At what time in 1808 ?

Answer. I do not remember the exact time.

Question. At which election ?

Answer. I think the presidential election.

Question. Are you sure it was tho presidential election, and not the constitutional
election ?

Answer. Perhaps it was the election on the constitution
;
I will not be positive about

that.

Question. Those are tho only republican speakers you now remember who have spoken
iu Eutaw ?

Answer. Local speakers have spoken there
;
Cockrell and Brown have spoken there

frequently ; they live in town.

Question. At neighborhood meetings ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. I refer to general county meetings.
Answer. They have frequently spoken in the county.
Question. When ?

Answer. During 1868, 1869, and 1870.

Question. Do you mean to say that the republicans held any other general meetings
in Eutaw in 1870 except the one where the riofc occurred ?

Answer. 1 do not pretend to say so
;
I say that at general meetings during those years

they have made speeches throughout the county. I think that was the only public

meeting at Eutaw held by them during that year.
Question. Eutaw is the place for general county meetings ?

Answer. They have had general county meetings at Hays s Mound, down near where

Hays lives. It is there that they nominated their candidates for the legislature and the

various offices in the county. They have had just as general meetings there as at

Eutaw.
Question. They do not take their conventions and county meetings away from Eutaw,

do they ?

An&tver. They have held them there and at Hays s Mound, too
; they have held meet

ings and conferences at both places.
Question. In regard to the promise of land and mules to the negroes ;

what repub
lican leader ever made such promises ?

Answer. I never heard one make it in ray life.

Question. What knowledge have you that such promises ever were made ?

Answer. General rumor and the statements of negroes.
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Question. Made to you?
Answer. Yes, sir

;
1 have heard some of them say so.

Qiuxtioti. 1 las it not come rather through democratic channels as a joke ?

Ansin-r. I have heard it from negroes and through democratic channels; I have no

question that it was a promise made.

Question. I want to get your information.

Answer. It has been through negroes; that is the information I rely upon. I have
seen it stated in the democratic papers.

Question. As a matter ofjoke and taunt ?

Answer. Not so much a joke in our section as you might suppose.

Question. What is it? ^
Answer. A very serious matter.

Question. A matter of abuse toward the republicans? .

Auswer. It lias been a very great instrument in their canvasses throughout the State;
the promise of laud and mules, and also their assertion that the democratic party
would put them back into slavery, and that they would be killed if they did not vote
the republican ticket; all these things were used with powerful effect.

By Mr. POLAND :

Question. When did they first begin to hold out these promises?
Answer. Particularly in&quot; the presidential campaign, and generally in State elections

since that time, and before that, too, I think, in the constitutional election.

By Mr. STEVENSON :

Question* Did you ever hear any republican speaker hold out any such inducements
make any such promise?
Answer. I never did in my life.

Question. Did you ever hear that any leading republican had done so?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
I have heard negroes say that republicans had told them so

Question. That who had told them so ?

Answer. That Major Hays told them so.

Question. What negro ?

Answer. A negro by the name of Jack Jolly, Avho belonged to me, said so.

Question. What did he say ?

Answer. Just that; that he was afraid to vote our ticket, for the reason that he had
been told ho would be killed if he did, and that his wife and children would be put
back into slavery.

Question. What did he say about the promises ?

Answer. That he would have forty acres of land and a mule.

Question. Did he say that Hays had made such a promise ?

A \ nxwer. I have no doubt of it.

Question. When did he say so?
Answer. Who?
Question. Your negro.
Answer. During the presidential canvass, inside my own room.

Question. Were you laboring with him to get him to vote the democratic ticket f

Answer. I was talking with him upon the subject, as I suppose every American citizen

has a right to do.

Question. Undoubtedly. These are the reasons he gave for not acceding to your
wishes ?

Ansiver. These are the reasons.

Question. You say you do not believe the Ku-Klux have ever existed in Alabama ?

Answer. I do not.

Question. Did you ever hear of their appearance at Huntsville, Alabama ?

Answer. I do not remember that I ever did.

Question. Did you not hear of their grand parade there in the fall of 1868, about tho
time of the presidential election ?

Anxwer. I do not remember
;
I may have heard it

;
if I did, I do not remember.

Question. You have 110 recollection of having heard it?
Ansiver. I have not.

Question. Did you hear of their hanging some negroes in Tuscumbia on a bridge
there ?

Ansiver. I have heard that negroes were hung in Tuscumbia.
Question. By a band of disguised men ?

Ansn-i r. I t liink 1 heard that they were hung by disguised men.
Question. Where is Tuscumbia?
Answer. In the northern part of the State ?

Question. In the northwestern part of the State, near the Mississippi and Tennessee
line?
Answer. Yes, sir.
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Question. Have you beard of the investigation in Callioim County, in which it was
shown that Ku-Klux operations had prevailed for several years prior to 1870. and in

portions of that year, in Calhoim and Cherokee Counties &quot;?

Answer. The investigation at the town of Paytona?
Question. Yes.
Answer. I have heard of that investigation.
Question. Did you hear that that fact appeared in the investigation ?

Ansicer. I heard that there was a statement by a person who said that he belonged
to that organization.

Question. Did you not hear that it was proven that these Ku-Klux operations in that

region extended over that time ?

Answer. I heard that this witness stated that he had belonged to the organization,
and that it had existed during those years.

Question. Did vou not hear that other witnesses were examined and proved the same
fact ?

Answer. Xo, sir
;
I heard that this one witness did.

Question. This one witness swore that he belonged to the organization. Did not other
witnesses testify to the existence of the organization ?

Answer. I have never read the proceedings in the case.

Question. Were you not satisfied in your own mind, from the information you got
from that investigation, that there had been Ku-Klux operations in that region ?

Answer. I drew the inference from that examination that bands of disguised men
had committed offenses.

Question. In the form of Ku-Klux?
Answer. I do not know in what form

; disguised men. I do not know what the form
of Ku-Klux is

;
I am satisfied that disguised men have committed offenses there.

Question. Operating somewhat in the manner of Ku-Klux ?

Answer. They operated with disguises, so far as I know from that investigation.
Question. Was it not your opinion that that is the way Ku-Klux operated&quot;/

Answer. That is the statement made by the papers. And persons who commit of
fenses at night in disguise are generally called Ku-Klux.

Question. You do not believe there are any such thing as Ku-Klux anywhere, or have
been such at any time ?

Answer. I have stated that I do not know of any such organization in our section of

country, and I do not believe there is.

Question. Or anywhere else ?

Answer. I do not know
;

I state that.

Question. What is your opinion ?

Answer. I have no opinion on that subject.
Question. You could not form an opinion as to whether Ku-Klux have existed in any

State?
Answer. I am satisfied from what I have seen in the papers, and from rumors which

I have heard, that bands of disguised men have committed offenses in various parts of
the country.

Question. I am speaking of the organization of the Ku-Klux ?

Answer. I say I know nothing of the organization of the Ku-Klux in my section or

anywhere else.

Question. My question is, whether it is or is not your opinion that there is anywhere,
or has been anywhere, since the war, in any of the Southern States, any such organi
zation as the Ku-Klux as an organization f

Answer. I have no information that wouhl enable me to give a correct opinion upon
the subject, so far as the Southern States generally are concerned. Only from news
paper reports would I know anything.

Question. Is there any association of planters in your county, or in any adjoining
county that you know of ?

Answer. There is an agricultural association in our county.
Question. In what form?
Answer. In the ordinary form of agricultural associations

;
it has its president, its

Arice presidents, secretaries, committees, lair ground, &c.

Question. Is there any other association of planters ?

Answer. None that I know of; I think not.

Question. Have you ever heard of any other association of planters ?

Answer. I do not know of any at all in ray county.
Question. Have you heard of

&quot;any
association or effort on the part of planters to reg

ulate labor ?

Answer. To regulate labor ?

Question. Yes.
Answer. No, sir

;
I have not

;
none at all.

Question. Or to regulate in any way, or to affect in any way, the relations between
the colored tenantry and the owners of land ?
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Answer. It lias by common consent among our planters been desired and acted upon
that they .-should have uniform rates of wages for laborers, for it is greatly desired,
when a person employs hands by the year, that his neighbors shall not induce them
to leave his service during that time

;
and I think our people have generally conformed

to that.

Question. How uid they reach that rule f

Answer. By common consent; I do not know that I have heard of a meeting for the

purpose.
Qucxtion. You have never heard of any meeting for that purpose ?

Answer. I think none has ever been held for that purpose; I have never heard of

any.
Question. What is the form of the democratic organization in the county?
Answer, We have what we call a democratic council for the county, and then beat

clubs in the various precincts. The democratic council is supposed to be the head of

the democratic party in the county, the regular democratic organization that exists

throughout the country.
Question. You have a council, as you call it, for the county?
Answer. Democratic council

; yes, sir.

Question. Then there are sub-councils for-the different beats?
Ansiver. We call them beat clubs.

Question. When was this organization formed?
Answer. It has always been our form in Greene County ever since the war, and be

fore the war, I think. We have a democratic executive committee or council, a presi
dent of the council, who receives public documents and distributes them in various

parts of the county, for the purpose of influencing elections, as all political parties do.

It has existed there ever since I have taken any notice of politics.

Question. How long is that ? What is your age ?

Answer. I am thirty-three years old.

Question. Were you there during the war ?

Answer. I had my home there
; my family was there

;
I was in the army myself.

Question. Were you in the rebel army ?

Answer. I was in the confederate .army.
Question. As colouel ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Were you never in politics before the war ?

Answer. Very little.

Question. When was your first knowledge of this organization of the party ?

Answer. Especially during the presidential campaign.
Question. The last presidential campaign ?

Answer. Yes, sir, or the election for the constitution
;
we were organized then not to

vote at all, and we did not vote. But in the presidential election we organized in this

way, and our people voted.

Question. You organized in the presidential election fully throughout the county,-
and had these clubs all over the county ?

.Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. Is it not possible, barely possible, of course, that these Ku-Klux operations
may have been committed by these clubs, by bad boys or bad young men who were
using your club organization for that purpose?

Answer. I think that is a stigma upon the organization and the democratic party in.
our section of the country ;

I do not think they did it. There may be bad men in the*

organization.
Question. Nobody is attributing it to them

;
I asked if it is not barely possible ?

Answer. I suppose it is barely within the range of possibility that some men claim

ing to be a democrat ic club may have committed these offenses.

Question. May they not have associated themselves together in clubs and committed
these offenses

Answer. No, sir
;

it never was done.

Question. Not to your knowledge ?

Ansiver. It never was done at all. I have a pretty good knowledge of the operations
of the democratic clubs in my county, and they never did any such thing.

Question. These tilings are done by somebody there?
Answer, What things ?

Question. These operations by bands in disguise.
Anxwa-. I suppose, when these acts are committed they are committed by somebody;

but I am satisfied that they never have been committed by any organization of the
democratic party.

Question. You think they have not grown out of it in any way?
Ansiver. I think not

;
I am satisfied of it. The democratic party, through these clubs,

have exerted themselves very hard to overthrow the republican party, and I am very
glad to say to you that in my State we have succeeded in doing so.
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Question. You have been exceedingly successful in Greene County ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
we have been quite successful there.

Question, In 1868 the republicans of Greene County had a majority of about 2,000
over you?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And last year you carried the county ?

Answer. Yes, sir. I want to state, in that connection, in regard to threats and intim

idations, or anything of that description, if that is the intimation

Question. I have not stated that at all.

Answer. The Federal troops were there
; they were stationed at the boxes of that

county, within full view of the polls, with their accouterments on and their arms
stacked. The day passed off like a Sunday ;

there was no disturbance, no effort to pre
vent any one from voting, and voting went on quietly in full view of the Federal

troops.

Question. When was that ?

Answer. On the day of the election.

Question. What good does it do a man to be protected on the day of election, if he
may be shot the night after the election by bands in disguise f

Answer. It would not do him a great deal of good.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. A great many of them did vote who were not killed ?

Answer. Yes, sir
; nobody has been killed for voting that I know of.

By Mr. STEVENSON :

Question. You do not know what they are killed for ?

Answer. None have been killed in my county since that election.

Question. You have no need to kill any one for political purposes, if you have carried
the county ?

Answer. I suppose we would as soon kill after we had carried the county as before, if

we killed them for politics.

Question . You say that violent and lawless men who killed on account of politics
would be as likely to kill when they had won an election as when they had lost it ?

Answer. I did not say anything about violent and lawless men
;

I say our people
would be just as apt to do so after an election they had carried as after one they had
lost. But I deny that we would do it at all.

Question. You say the relations between the races are very satisfactory now ?

Answer. Yes, sir; I have never known our people to get along better than they are

doing now ?

Question. Are they more satisfactory in Greene County now than they were before
the war ?

Answer. No, sir
;
about the same.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. You mentioned something about Judge Oliver claiming the right to retain

his place as against Judge Miller, who was elected at the election in 1868. By what
tenure did Judge Oliver hold his office as probate judge ? Had he been elected or ap
pointed ?

Answer. He was elected by the people to the office.

Question. At what time?
Answer. I think he was elected in 1865, or in the fall of 1864

;
it was in 1864 or 1865.

Question. Was he elected at the election pursuant to the proclamation of President

Johnson ?

Answer. I think so.

Question. Are you certain of that ?

Answer. I am not certain.

Question. Do you know whether he was elected before the close of the war or after ?

Answer. I cannot state positively, but my impression is that he was elected after the

close of the war. He had been elected before the war
;
but I think he was again

elected after the war. I may be mistaken about that
;

it may have been during the

war.

Question. When Judge Miller was elected in pursuance of an election under the recon

struction act he claimed the office
;
and your iirm gave to Mr. Oliver the opinion that

he was entitled to continue to hold the office, though you did not believe he would be

permitted to hold it. Now, upon what ground did you give that opinion ?

Answer. Our ground was this,that according to law a majority ofthe people of that State,
in the elect ion of 1868, must vote in order to carry the constitution which was then pro

posed to them. A majority of the people did not vote at that election,and we therefore held

that the constitution was not adopted. At the same time that the vote was taken upon
that constitution these various officers were elected, the probate judge among others.

There having been, in our opinion, no election in accordance with the law, no coustitu-

19
&quot;
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tion having been adopted, the officers who were voted for could not hold the positions
to which they had been elected at that election

; there was no election which iu any
sense could be considered a legal one, the constitution having been defeated. We
therefore gave to Judge Oliver our opinion that as he was the Incumbent of the office,
the judge de facto, if not the judge dejure, he could, according to the law, hold over.

Question. That was the view you expressed to him, and in pursuance of that he
claimed to hold the office?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
we told him at the same time, however, that we had no question of

the fact that he would be compelled to give up his office.

Question. Is that the same view you have inculcated before your people in reference
to the existing State government?
Answer. The present government ?

Question. Yes.

Answer. No, sir
;
not at all. Our people are obedient to the law.

Question. I understand you are obeying it at present ;
but your view is that the peo

ple obey because they cauuot help it ?

Answer. No, sir; we advise our people to submit to the government as it existed.

We have never believed that, according to law and fact, the present State government
was properly and legally organized.

Question. You have inculcated that opinion ?

Answer. No, sir
;
we inculcate the opinion of submission to it.

Question. You inculcated obedience. But you say that the government was not

legally organized ?

Answer. We did not inculcate any particular view on that subject ;
that is the gen

eral opinion of the bar.

Question. Judge Miller, then, did assume the office, and discharged the functions of

judge of probate in the community ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Until when?
Answer. I do not remember exactly ;

I think until the beginning of 1870.

Question. Was his successor elected, or did Judge Miller resign, and his successor was
appointed?

Answer. His successor was appointed.
Question. How did Miller go out ?

Answer. He resigned.
Question. On what ground ?

Answer. He was appointed collector of the port of Mobile.

Question. He held the office until that appointment ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Who was appointed in his place ?

Answer. A. R. Davis.

Question. Is he the judge there now ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Have any threats been made against him ?

Answer. None that I have heard of.

Question. Where you in Eutaw on the day that Mr. Burton, who was a candidate for
lieutenant governor, was assaulted there?

Ansicer. No, sir; that was the same day that Judge Miller was assaulted; I was not
there

;
I was attending court in an adjoining county.

(Question. Has there been any trial of the person who committed that assault on Mr.
Burton ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Was lie arrested ?

Answer. I think he was arrested
;
I understood he was.

Question. Has there been any term of the court since then, and has there been any
proceeding against him ?

-ln#wer. The- court has met since that time, and the grand jury has assembled. The
capias had not been issued when I left home; I do not know whether there is an indict-
i::- :it against him or not

;
I think there is.

(Jucxiion. You made a remark in reference to Mr. Hays, that even the negroes were
unwilling to associate with men like him, and were leaving the republican party and
associai ing with decent people.

Answer. I did not say that Mr. Hays was not a decent man. But the white people
who generally belong to that party there are of that class that the people desire to be
si-pa rated from.

Is that the mode in which the republican party is spoken of by gentlemen
of the democratic party (I understand you are one of them) in the presence of their
adherent* there, and at public meetings ;

that it is composed entirely of men who are
entitled to no respect?
Answer. Unquestionably the class of men-
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Question. I am not speaking of the fact, but whether you speak of them in that way.
Answer, If we speak of them at all we speak of them as men without character, as a

general rule. It is generally true in our section of country that the class of persons
who belong to the republican party I allude to the leaders there and the white people
generally who belong to that party down there are of a low class of people, and not
of the class of persons generally respected by our citizens.

Question. Do you not think that that mode of expression in public, before men of the
class of this man Reynolds, for instance, is calculated to encourage violence against the

republican party ?

Answer. I think if a speaker understands his business he ought to make his speech
so as to attack the principles of the party, and if he attempts to make use of any ex

pression as an illustration, I think he has a right to do it.

Question. I am not discussing the right of speech ;
but the effect of that tone of

speaking in reference to the whole party.
Answer. The effect has not been there to excite them against the republican party

any more than was done by the fact of such a class of people having been engaged in

carrying it on in our county. They could not be outraged and offended to any greater
extent than by those facts.

Question. You have stated the fact that Hays is a decent, respectable man. Is there

anything urged against him there as making him obnoxious except his connection with
the republican party ?

Answer. Yes, sir. While Mr. Hays has lived in respectable society, he is not consid
ered a man who has a very great regard, a very high regard, for veracity. That is one

thing. It is thought by our people that he has advised the negroes there to do things
that were very wrong and very bad.

Question. That has arisen out of his political connection with the negroes ?

Answer. He has used his political position, I have no doubt, to give them bad advice.
All our people generally think he has given them very bad advice, and that much of
the trouble that has come upon us, in the way of labor, has grown out of the advice
Mr. Hays has given, and he has become very unpopular on that account.

Question. Is it not the fact that any white man associating himself with the repub
lican party, and advocating their doctrines there, is spoken of in just the tone you
used here in characterizing the republican party, before your attention was called to

it?

Answer. We do not like them.

Question. And you take that mode of expressing your dislike ?

Answer. We do not admire them
;
we think our own people who go into that matter

go into it for office or plunder, or something of that sort, and we cannot have any
great regard for them.

Question. You have never been a member of the Union League ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. You have no doubt of its existence ?

Amices. From information, I think it existed. I did not have any knowledge of it

at all.

Question. On what facts did you base your belief of its existence?
Answer. From general rumor and statements made by colored people that they be

longed to Union Leagues.
Question. You have no doubt that it is a political organization ?

Answer. I think so, from what they stated.

Question. What evidence have you to satisfy you that they ever countenanced any
violence, as an organization ?

Answer. Only one instance I know of that happened. lean give one instance; I

have heard of them frequently.
Question. What was that instance?
Answer. There was a democratic colored man in the neighborhood of Clinton, Greene

County, Avho, it was stated, was severely whipped by some of his colored friends be
cause he voted the democratic ticket. I did not see it myself.

Question. Who told you that
;
the colored man ?

Answer. No, sir
;
various persons told me

;
white people told me.

Question. You have it upon rumor that that was done ?

Answer. Upon statements of other persons.
Question. Then, upon that one fact stated to you, which you believe, you draw the

conclusion that the Union League, as an organization, countenanced violence ?

Answer. I say I am satisfied they encouraged it frequently, and pretty generally prior
to elections, for the purpose of keeping negroes in the ranks.

Question. Now, do you not consider the sworn testimony of this one man, who be

longed to the Ku-Klux organization, as satisfactory evidence of the existence of an

organization of that character, as the statements and rumors you have heard about

the existence of the Union leagues?
Answer. The one statement of a man with regard to the Ku-Klux is not so general as
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the statements and rumors I have been speaking of in regard to the Union League. If

I Itclirvrd that man s testimony, I would be satisfied there is a Ku-Klux organization.

But from being well acquainted with my people, and in my section of the State

(JiH-yliou. Do you believe his testimony ?

Answer. So far as relates to my part of the State, I do not.

Question. Did you ever read it ?

Answer. I have not.

Question. You say, then, that you do not believe it to be true f

Anmnr. I say that, so far as our section of the State is concerned, I do not believe

such an organization has ever existed, or does now exist.

&amp;lt; hicntion. Were you ever approached and asked to join any secret, political organiza
tion in the State of Alabama ?

Anxu-er. No, sir; I never was. I have opposed secret organizations of every descrip

tion, except the Masonic order.

Question. Did you ever hear of any organization known as the White Brotherhood?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Or the Invisible Empire ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Or the Constitutional Union Guards ?

Answer. No, sir
;
I never heard of that.

Question. Or the Knights of the White Camelia ?

Answer. I have heard the name of the Knights of the White Camelia.

Question. Did any one ever speak to you on the subject ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Where did you hear the name ?

Ansicer. I think I have seen it in the newspapers.
Question. Was there such an organization as that in the southern part of the United

States ?

Ansiver. I have heard through newspapers that in Louisiana such an organization
existed

;
I think it was an organization of that name.

Question. Did they ride in the same manner as what are called Ku-Klux are said to

ride?
Answer. I do not know whether they did or not.

Question. You did not follow that out ?

Answer. I only know that it was said such an organization did exist in the State of

Louisiana.

Question. You have no knowledge of the existence of any secret, political organiza
tion whatever in the State of Alabama ?

Ansiver. I have not.

Question. Were not the persons who composed the republican meeting in Eutaw, at

least a majority of them, assembled in the court-house before you organized your meet

ing on the opposite side of the court-house ?

Answer. I think a great many of them were about the court-house ? &quot;

Question. Was not a majority of them there waiting for the organization of the

meeting ?

Answer. There were a great many there listening to our speakers while we were

speaking. They were about town generally, and perhaps a number of them were in

the court-house yard.

By Mr. COBURN :

Question. In regard to the shooting of a man of the name of Pierce
Answer. He was shot at.

Question. From what part of the crowd did that shot come ?

Answer. Mr. Pierce was speaking to Governor Parsons who had been addressing the

republican meeting ;
he was shot from the rear, from behind him.

Question. Was it while Parsons was speaking ?

Aiixwn: No, sir
; just after he had concluded and about the time Hays had got upon ;

the stand.

Question. How near was he to Mr. Parsons?
Anxiccr. Two or three feet off, I suppose ;

I do not know the exact distance.

Question. Did you see the man who shot at him ?

AiiKim&quot;. I saw the smoke of the pistol ;
I did not see the man.

Question. How closo was he to where Pierce stood?
Answer. It was in front of the main entrance of the court-house; Mr. Pierce stood at

the window of the oifice of the circuit clerk, perhaps some eight or ten feet from there.

Question. Was Mr. Pierce at the window, outside?
Answer. Right at the window, outside.

By Mr. STEVENSON :

Question. Was the man who shot close to the court-house, or out from it ?



ALABAMA. 293

Answer. Perpaps the same distance from the court-house as from Mr. Pierce, eight or
ten feet.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. I wish to ask you whether or not prior to the war, when there were con
tests between the whig and democratic parties, there was not quite as much violence
and disturbance at political meetings as there is now in Alabama?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
I have known meetings to be broken up before the war by excite

ments of that sort. I do not know that I have ever known any fighting or shooting
grow out of the meetings ;

but I have known meetings to be broken up by these politi
cal excitements.

By Mr. BECK :

Question. In regard to Judge Smith s right to his office, was he elected in February,
1868?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Some three mouths before Congress even recognized the constitution of
Alabama as valid ?

Answer. Yes, sir; I ought to have stated that additional fact
j
it was before Congress

recognized the constitution of Alabama.
Question. Did or not even the Congress of the United States itself refuse to ratify that

constitution, upon full proof being made that a majority of the registered votes had
not been cast for and against it at that election ?

Answer. I think it did.

Question. And Congress allowed you to remain under military government from Feb
ruary until June, until you were admitted by the passage of the omnibus bill ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Was it or not in consequence of your having defeated the constitution, and
the officers elected under it having fallen, in strict accordance with the reconstruction
law, that you advised the incumbent that his position was good as against an outsider ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Do you not remember the fact that even Mr. Stevens himself, the chairman
of the Reconstruction Committee, or Judge Poland here, had the constitution of Ala
bama recommitted to that committee upon the ground that you had defeated it, and
you so remained for three months ?

Ansiver. I recollect it was so recommitted t6 the committee.

Question. Therefore, was it not the opinion of all you lawyers, as it was the opinion
of the legal profession generally throughout the State, that that was the correct posi
tion ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

By Mr. POLAND :

Question. When was it that Miller took possession of the office?

Answer. I think it was in June, 1868.

Question. Before or after the omnibus bill was passed?
Answer. I think it was before

;
I do not remember positively about it. The proposed

contest by Judge Oliver, and the opinion which we gave him, were along between the
election and the time when Judge Miller took his office. I do not remember the exact
date of his taking possession of the office.

By Mr. BECK

Question. Before the omnibus bill was passed ?

Answer. Yes, sir
; my recollection is that it was.

Question. You have been further asked whether or not your acquiescence in the con
stitution imposed upon you by the omnibus bill was not rather an acquiescence than a
cordial consent. Has it not been the opinion of all the men of Alabama that that om
nibus bill, by which the constitution was imposed upon you after you had defeated it

Congress itself having admitted that you had defeated it in strict&quot; accordance with the
reconstruction laws was it not regarded by you all as an outiage upon the part of

Congress ?

Answer. It has been
; yes, sir.

Question. Have you heard anybody, republican or democrat, volunteer the opinion
that Congress was warranted, even under its own reconstruction acts, in imposing
a constitution upon Alabama after you had defeated it in strict accordance with their
own orders ?

Answer. I have never heard anybody say it was right.
Question. State whether or not the effect of imposing men upon you as officers, mem

bers of the legislature, county officers, &c., after they had been defeated at the polls by
the refusal of the democratic party to vote or to run officers, was not to put in, in a great
majority of cases, men unknown to you, and who had no interest with you, except to

obtain office ?
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Answer. Yes, sir; mostly incompetent men.

Question. Is not that the class of men who have held office until the late election ?

Answer. Yes. sir.

Q next ion. Did not those men hold all the offices in very many of the counties, whore,
if a vote had been taken, democrats certainly would have been elected?

Auxin-) . Yes. sir
;

I am satisfied that is the fact.

Qnextion. And therefore the imposition upon you of that constitution, and of officers

who were fairly defeated, who would not have been elected if the full vote had been

cast, created a in eat deal of dissatisfaction and feeling against the action of Congress?
Answer. Yes. sir; a great deal of discontent and dissatisfaction.

Question. And you say that you never heard a republican say that that constitution

was properly imposed upon you?
Answer. I &quot;never heard any one contend for one moment that it was properly imposed

upon us.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. You claimed the right, by staying away from the polls, to prevent the

organization of any State government, as long as the government was not what you
wished ?

Answer. We claimed the right to do so then, and we did so.

Question. You claimed the right to defeat any organization of a State govarnment ?

Answer. We claimed the right to defeat that constitution by any legal means.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. And you thought you saw the legal means to do so ?

Answer, Yes, sir.

By Mr. STEVENSON :

Question. Do you believe you could have defeated it by going to the polls and voting ?

Answer. I do not know how that would have been.

Question. Was not a larger vote given for it than has since been given for any ticket

run by either party in Alabama ?

Arwvei: I think there was.

By Mr. COBURN :

Question. Did I understand you rightly to say that the most intelligent negroes have

gone over to the democratic party ?

Atmrer. A large number of them have.

Question. How many ?

Answer. I cannot tell, except from the vote that was cast in the last election. They
seein to be about equally divided on the subject in our county not so much as that

perhaps, but a large number of negroes voted with us
;
I cannot tell exactly how many.

Question. You know that a large number of negroes voted the democratic ticket ?

Answer. As a matter of course they must have done so, or the election could not have

gone democratic in the county.
Question. How many have you heard say they voted the democratic ticket ?

Answef. I do not remember the number
;
I have heard a great many say so.

Question. Do I understand you to say that this was occasioned by the distrust of the

negroes of the republicans, 011 account of certain promises ?

Answer. They lost faith in their leaders
;
I think that had something to do with it.

Quetjlion. Do you think the negroes believed those promises which you say were made
to them ?

Answer. I think many of them did for a great while; I do not think they do now.
Question. What negroes believed those tales?

Answer A large majority of them.

(Jitf.stion. Do you think the most intelligent negroes believed them ?

.luxirer. Well, a short time after the organization of these leagues I am satisfied the
negroes began to learn better and did not believe them.

(Question. You are willing now to swear that a large majority of negroes turned over
to the democratic party for that reason&quot;?

illin toI am willing to swear that the county of Greene went democratic at the last

lection, and it could not have done so without a great number of negroes voting the
democratic ticket. I am satisfied they voted that ticket, and am willing to swear that

they did.

Question. Are the democrats there in favor of negro suffrage ?

Aiixwer. We consider that a settled question now.
Question. Do they tell the negroes they are in favor of negro suffrage ?

Answer. They tell them that they have a right to vote.

Question. They know that without being told by the democrats.
dnswer. Yes, sir

; they have been informed of that some time ago.
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Question. I want to know if you say it is severe discipline and terror that keeps th

negroes in the republican party ?

Ansuer. I think it did up to a year or two ago ;
I think their discipline is not so rigid

now and the negroes are becoming more divided in their political views than they were.

Question. You think, then, that the negroes would naturally go with the democratic

party, except for terror and intimidation?
Answo: I think if the negroes were let alone and left free to exercise their own

choice and to act according to their interest and feeling they would act with the white

people they have lived with
;
that is what I think. I think they have more coniideuco

in them and more respect for them.

Question. You think the negroes have more confidence in the democrats than in the

republicans ?

Answer. More confidence in those persons with whom they have lived.

Question. Confidence in them as politicians?
Answer. I mean as men, and I think they are rapidly getting to have confidence in

them politically.

Question. I would like to have another opinion from you. Do you believe the negroes
have any idea that any of the democrats have organized as Ku-Klux for the purpose of

intimidating them and to keep them from voting the republican ticket?
Ansu cr. I think some of them have.

Question. How large a body of them?
Answer. I do not know

;
I cannot tell. I have never had a great deal of conversa

tion with them on that subject. I think, though, they have some idea of the oxisteuce
of such things.

Question. You think a few of them have ?

Answer. I do not know how many ;
I think the negroes have an idea of that sort.

Question. A word or two about Major Hays. You say the democrats have a great
contempt for Major Hays men who have been in the rebellion

;
do they know that

Major Hays has advocated general amnesty for them here on the floor of Congress ?

Answer. They have understood so; they have heard that. ho did so during the last

session of Congress.
Question. But still they entertain these feelings of bitter hostility toward him ?

Answer. Yes. sir. Hays is perfectly safe at home; our people do not wish to hurt
him

;
I mean to say that they have not a great deal of respect for him and confidence

in him.

Question. I want to know if I understood you correctly as saying that they enter

tain bitter hostility toward Major Hays?
Answer. I do not think I said - bitter hostility;&quot; they have a great contempt for

him, I think. In other words, }hey consider him not a man of much capacity ;
a man

who has lloated to the surface by the mere force of circumstances, and a man in whom
they have very little confidence, as a general thing. That is the way our people regard
him.

Question. Is he not a respectable planter there ?

Answer. He is a planter there
;
he used to be a large planter ;

but at this time I think
he owns no property in his own name at all.

Question. Had he &quot;a respectable standing in the confederate army?
Answer. I do not know really that he had much standing of any sort in the confed

erate army ;
I never heard of Major Hays in the confederate army except about Eutaw

;

I never heard of his doing any fighting.

Question. Did he not lose his respectability in your community just about the time
he joined the republican party ?

Answer, He never had any very decided character in our community at all
;
he was

of respectable parentage and moved in respectable circles
;
he was considered a respect

able man
;
but his conduct in reference to the advice he has given to the negroes has

been such that our people think he has brought about much trouble in the community,
and for that reason he has lost their confidence and respect.

Question. Do the negroes generally go to him for advice ?

Answer. They used to
; they have quitted it to a great extent now.

Question. To whom do they go ?

Answer. They take their own counsel to a great extent.

Question. Do they go to the democrats now ?

Atmver. Sometimes they do, and whenever they do they generally get good advice.

By Mr. STEVENSON :

Question. Did not Major Hays get his title of major in the rebel army ?

Answer. I am satisfied that Major Hays never received a commission as major in the

confederate army.
Question. What commission had he?
Answer. I do not think he had any. Hb was quartermaster in his brother-in-law s

regiment ;
I do not think he ever remained there long. I think I have heard Major
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Hays state himself that he never did receive a commission from the confederate gov
ernment. I think that statement is contained in the application which he made to

tins (loveniment lor pardon.
Question. Do yon not think that the Eutaw riot had some effect upon the election?

Answer. Yes, sir
;

I think it did.

Question. What effect?

Aiixurr. To lose votes for the democratic party.

Question. You think, then, that the firing by democrats of volleys of pistols at a

crowd of negroes, and the wounding of fifteen or twenty of them, would aid the repub
lican party f

Anxwrr. I think it embittered the minds of many colored people who were otherwise

inclined to vote with the democratic party; I think it inclined them to hostility and
bitterness against the democrats.

Question. Do you think it might not have made them afraid of the democrats ? .

Answer. Possibly it might have done so, I do not know
; they went to the polls pretty

generally and voted.

(Question. There were three or four hundred who did not go to the polls, for there was
a falling off in the aggregate vote of the county ?

Answer. I do not know.

Question. There were several hundreds of votes less than in 1868 ?

Answer. I do not recollect how many.
Question. Whatever falling off there was, do you think it was traceable in any degree

to that riot?

Answer. I do not think so.

Question. You think, then, the only effect of that riot was to injure the democratic

party ?

Answer. I think so. I have so stated to our people, and have spoken of it regretfully
on that account.

Question. Suppose that instead of the democrats routing the negroes, the negroes had
routed the democrats

; suppose the riot had just reversed itself; what would have
been the effect then ?

Answer. It would have outraged the white people to a very great extent.

Qm.stion. What political effect would it have had?
Answer. I do not know that it would have changed a single vote anyway; the white

people would have voted together just as they did.

Question. How many pistols were fired?

Answer. A great number. I do not know hovf many.
Question. How many do you suppose?
Answer. I heard several shots, I could not state howjnany ;

I have no idea as to the
number.

Question. How many pistols did you see there ?

Answer. I saw numbers of persons have pistols.

Question. About how many ?

Answer. Eight, or ten, or fifteen during the entire me!6e.

Question. Where were you at first?

Answer. I was in the circuit clerk s office in the court-house.

Question. Did yon go outside ?

Answer. I went back through the court-house and went out as far as the west opening
of the court-house square with Governor Parsons on his way to the hotel.

Question. You did not see the main part of the riot?

Answer. I did not
;
in the first place I was in the clerk s office, and then I went out

the other way, and came out at the west opening of the court-house square, to which
point I went with Governor Parsons.

Question. You were not in as good a position to see the riot as Senator Warner, for
instance ?

Answer. He left there about the same time I did.

Question. Ho was outside of the window ?

Answer. Yes, sir, and I was inside, and all I saw of it I saw through the window.
Question. And looking through the window, you saw ten or fifteen pistols fired ?

Answer. I saw eight or ten.

Question. What were they, revolvers?
Answer. They seemed to bo.

Question. Were they fired more than once ?

Answer. I could not tell whether any one pistol was fired more than once or not.

Qui-xtion. 1 low many shots did you hear fired ?

Answer. 1 suppose I heard twenty-live, or fifty, or sixty, or seventy, perhaps; I can
not give a definite idea about the number, for pistols were popping all around the
house.

Question, They were popping from both corners of the court-house ?

Amwci-. From that neighborhood, and from the negroes all shooting generally.
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Question. A sort of general engagement ?

Answer. After the difficulty commenced, yes, sir.

Question. You think you may have heard as high as seventy shots?
Answer. I think so

;
I cannot tell.

Question. What effect had the first volley by the whites upon the negroes ;
what did

they do?
Answer. They broke.

Question. They rushed over the fences stampeded, as you call it ?

Answer. Yes, sir, they stampeded for a short distance and then rallied.

Question. When they came to the soldiers they rallied ?

Answer. There were no soldiers there.

Question. Were they not met by the soldiers ?

Answer. The soldiers had not come over there from the place where they were sta
tioned.

Question. The first effect of the firing was a stampede?
Answer. That was the first effect tke immediate effect.

WASHINGTON, D. C.
?
June 21, 1871.

JOHN G. PIERCE sworn and examined.

By the CHAIRMAN:

Question. Where do you reside ?

Answer. In Eutaw, Greene County, Alabama.
Question. How long have you lived there ?

Answer. Ever since it was a town
; probably about twenty years. I was a boy there

Question. What is your occupation ?

Answer. I am an attorney at law, a practicing lawyer, there.

Question. Do you practice in that county alone, or in Hie circuit ?

Answer. I do not practice all through the circuit
;
I practice in Greene, Tuscaloosa,

Pickens, Sumter, and sometimes in Marengo.
Question. From your observation and travel on the circuit, and your knowledge as a

practicing lawyer, what can you say as to the execution of the laws in that portion of
the State with which your practice may have made you familiar, and as to the security
of life, person, and property there ?

Answer. From what I know about it, (and I think I have enough opportunity, as good
an opportunity as anybody else, of knowing the condition of that people,) the laws at
this time in that circuit can be executed, and are being executed. There is no dispo
sition in that circuit to evade the law in any way, to avoid bringing to trial culprits
or to screen culprits in any way, that I know of.

Question. Can the civil rights of individuals be secured through the medium of civil

suits in the courts ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
I think they can. Suits are brought there constantly in all that

circuit. The courts are open ;
the judges and jurors all seem disposed to administer

the law so far as they are able
;
and I think they are able to do it.

Question. Is there any obstacle in your courts, so far as you are aware, to the admin
istration of justice against criminal offenders?
Answer. No, sir

;
none. Criminals are tried at every court convicted or cleared at

every court.

Question. In the part of the State with which you are acquainted are there any or

ganizations, of which you have any knowledge, either to interfere with the rights of

persons by violence, or to obstruct the administration ofjustice in any manner?
Answer. No, sir

;
none that I know of.

Question. Have you any knowledge of any organization existing in that State which
has inflicted violence upon citizens ?

Answer. No, sir
;

I have not. I know of no organization that is inflicting any vio
lence on citizens.

Question. Were you in Eutaw at the time of the death of Mr. Boyd ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
I was.

Question, How was his death brought about ?

Answer. Well, sir, I can only tell what I understood. Mr. Boyd was murdered on
the public square, at the tavern. I live about half a mile from the public square. I

saw him next morning. I went up town the next morning after, and he was laid out.

I saw shot-holes in his forehead, and know from what I heard that he was killed by a
baud of disguised men.

By Mr. STEVENSON :

Question. Shot-holes or bullet-holes?
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Answer. Bullet-holes. They had the appearance of being made by pistol-bullets or

pistol-shot.

Question. How many were there ?

Answer. Well, he was dressed and laid out when I saw him in the morning. I think
in his forehead there was one large bullet-hole, about the middle or center of his fore

head, and one a little higher up. I do not think there were but two, as I remember
now. 1 understood there were several others through his bpdy; but he was dressed,
and I did not see them.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Quextion. When did you receive the first knowledge of his death ?

Answer. I did not receive it until I got up town that morning. I was down town,
and went up town; I do not recollect for what purpose ;

but I did not hear of it until
the morning. It was on the 1st of April, and almost everybody thought it was un

&quot;April fool,&quot; and I thought that somebody was trying to &quot;

April-fool&quot; me. I stayed in

town some time before I went up to see him
; but I concluded I would be willing to

bo &quot;April-fooled&quot; on that occasion, and run the risk of going up; so I did go up, and
looked at him.

Question. Was the matter spoken of in such a jesting manner as to lead you to believe
it was an &quot;

April-fool&quot; story f

Answer. Not by those who really knew it; only by those who did not believe it.

There are tricks like that played on the 1st day of April in every community, and we
all supposed it was a trick. It was not spoken of in that way when the fact was really
known.

Question. Did you ascertain whether that murder was committed by one individual,
or by two, or a dozen ? Did you ascertain the manner in which it was committed ?

Answer. Well, I understood that the murder was committed by disguised men who
came to town

;
some estimate them at from twelve to fifteen, some say twenty, and

some say even more than that. About six or eight of them went into the house, which
was a tavern, closed the door, made the clerk show them the way to his room, as I

heard the clerk assert, and the.ro they perpetrated the deed, and in that way. They
got on their horses afterward when they came out, and made their escape. They left

the town immediately, going in the direction, as report says, toward Union, in Greene
County most of them going in that direction.

Question. Had there been any knowledge or intimation in the town previous to that
tune of any intention against the life of Mr. Boyd ?

Answer. None that I had heard of.

Question. None whatever?
Answer. I never heard of any. I know this about Mr. Boyd : that he was considered

there a very disagreeable man. He was a man that it was disagreeable to have business

with, and many considered him a murderer himself. He had killed a young man there

by the name oi Brown. He had been convicted of the crime and sentenced to the

penitentiary for ten years, and his sentence was commuted to imprisonment for twelve
months in the county jail. I know that he was overbearing; I know that ho was an

incompetent officer
;
and I know that he was a very offensive man in every way.

Question. When had he been convicted of killing that man ?

Answer. That was before the war.

Question. How long before the war ?

Ansiver. I think from three to five years before the war.

Question. Had he remained in that community after his release from prison ?

Answer. No, sir
;
he left that community after he had been turned out of jail and

went, as I understood, to Arkansas. He remained there until 1868, when he came back
to our community, and occupied, by some means or other I do not know how the
offices of county solicitor and register in chancery.

Question. Was he appointed or elected to those offices ?

Answer. I do not recollect
;

it strikes me he was elected to the office of county
solicitor.

Question. Do not county solicitors obtain their offices by election ?

Answer. Yes, sir
; they are elected under the new constitution.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. That was before the new constitution ?

Answer. In 1868 ? I reckon not. I think they are elected. I do not know whether
he was elected or appointed ;

I am not certain about that
;
but I know that he held

both offices.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. What was his age at the time of his death ?

Answer. He looked to me to be a man of about thirty-five or forty years of age, or
somewhere about there.
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Question. That would make him, then, about nineteen or twenty at the time of the
commission of the offense which you speak of, which was three or four years before
the war ?

Answer. Yes, sir; he may have been older than that. He was a grown man when
that offeuse was committed.

Question. Had he been admitted to the bar at the time of his conviction I

Answer. No, sir
;
I think not.

Question. Was he admitted after his return to Alabama ?

Answer, I do not recollect when he ever was admitted to the bar. He occupied the
office of solicitor in some way or other got hold of it I don t know how.

Question. You say that these men who killed Boyd were reported to have ridden
away toward Union

;
were they reported to be citizens of Greene County ?

Ansiver. No, sir
; they were not citizens of Greene County, so far as report goes.

None of them could be found to be citizens of Greene County. The grand jury made
a very searching investigation of the matter, and summoned everybody that they
thought knew anything about it, and never could lind out anything about it.

Question. Are your solicitors or prosecuting officers elected for one county or for the
whole circuit ?

Answer. I think for one county. I know that Mr. Boyd was acting for one county.
Question. Then the discharge of his official duties as solicitor would not bring hiin

into contact with citizens of other counties?
Answer. No, sir.

Question. Then what connection had his murder with his disagreeable habits in con

ducting his business, if the persons who did it came from another county, in which he
did not discharge the duties of solicitor ?

Answer. I do not know where the persons who murdered him came from
;
I have no

idea. I do not know by whom he was murdered
;
but I do not think that he was mur

dered by citizens of Greene County, from the fact that the grand jury made a search

ing investigation of that case, and could find no citizen of Greene County to be con
nected with it. As they rendered in their report they traced these parties to a place
across Sipsy River; I believe the name of the place is Moore s Bridge, in Pickena

County.
Question. Then you give it as your belief that the murder had no connection with

the discharge of Mr. Boyd s official duties in Greene County ?

Answer. No, sir
;
I do not give that as my belief. I say that I do not know what was

the cause of his murder
;
that he was a very disagreeable man to transact business

with. There was an old man murdered or hung up there some time before, and Mr.

Boyd had made a good many threats about what he intended to do with the perpetra
tors of it. stating that he knew who they were

; and, among other things of public
notoriety there, he stated that he intended to keep the grand jury in session for six

months, if necessary, till they found out the perpetrators of the crime. He had a hat

hanging up in his room which he said was worn by one of the marauders on a certain
occasion I do not know whether on that occasion or not. He said he knew who it

belonged to. He made use of these remarks publicly.

Question. Do you know whether he gave the name of the person to whom the hat

belonged ?

Answer. No, sir
;
I do not know that he gave the name.

Question. Have you ever heard the names of the persons connected with that trans
action ?

Answer. No, sir
;
I never have heard.

Question. Do you know from any reliable source the name of anybody connected
with it I

Answer. No, sir
;
I do not know of a single soul connected with it. I know it was

an act which was disapproved of by our community.
Question. Taking, then, the facts as you state them, that Mr. Boyd was a disagreeable

man in the discharge of his duty and had made threats in regard to prosecutions for

that offense, and taking also the fact which you state here as your belief, that his

murder was not committed by citizens of Greene County, give us your own belief as to

the cause of his murder in that manner by the citizens of another county ?

Answer. Well, I do not know. My belief in regard to that is this : that on account
of these various threats that he had made of what he intended to do with certain

parties, and that he was cognizant of certain deeds that parties had done, I do not
know but what that had something to do with his murder

;
but as to having any fixed

opinion as to the cause of his murder, I cannot say that I have.

Question. If your belief is correct, that the persons who did murder him came from
another county, is it not your belief that they belonged to an organization which re

sponds in one county to the call of the members of that organization in another ?

Answer. I have never said I believed they came from another county ;
1 do not know

where they came from.
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Question. I understood you to say that you believed the murder was not committed
by citizens of Greene County ?

Answer. I do believe that. Nor do I know whether it was committed by citizens of
the State of Alabama. I will state this further: That after the court was over in

Greene County I went to Pickens to attend court. It was understood there that the

grand jury of Greene County had traced these parties into Pickens County. I stayed
with the foreman of the grand jury at the same house

;
saw him every day ;

and he
told me that he had examined every person on the line or track of the route, so far as

he could trace them through Pickens County, and that the last they could find of
them they were going on somewhere toward either Tennessee or Arkansas. That was
the report I had from him. I do not know whether to say they came from Pickens

County or not. I am only telling the report of this grand jury.

Question. Whether they came from the county of Pickens or any other county of

Alabama, or whether they came from the State of Tennessee or Arkansas, having come
as you stated, in an organized body, do you not believe that they were members of an

organization which would respond to thecall ofmembers of a similar organization in the

county of Greene ?

Answer. Well, sir, there is no organization of that sort in the county of Greene. I

do not know that, but I have never heard of it, and I do not believe there is one such

organization in our section of the country. There may be one at other places, but there
is no organization of disguised men that I have ever heard of in the county of Greene
or in that section of the country.

Question. I will put the question in another form. You have stated a fact which I

understood you to give as tending to show that these people did not belong to the

county of Greene. If, then, they belonged to a more remote county in the State,
or even to a portion of Arkansas or Tennessee, is it your belief that they went there to
murder Mr. Boyd, after having been informed by citizens of Greene County of the
reasons why he should be murdered ?

Answer. Well, sir, I do not know. My opinion about that is this : I have stated what
and who Mr. Boyd was. I do not know whether there is any organization there. I

have never seen one, or any member of one of them in my life.

Question. What is your belief about it ?

Ansiver. My belief is that there is none in the section of country in which I live.

Question. How, then, do you account for the appearance of these men in Greene County,
their going to a hotel, and murdering Boyd, if, as you state, they belonged neither to

the county of Greene nor Pickens ?

Answer. Well, I do not propose to account for that. I do not know how. It may be
that some man that was connected with them may have lived in Greene County, and it

may be that some man connected with it lived in Pickens or somewhere else.

Question. Have you any theory about it ?

Answer. No, sir
;
I have no theory. These are extraordinary men. They appear at

different places and at different times. I know of none, and I have seen none there,
and I have missed no young men.

Question. At what hour of the night, according to your information, was this murder
committed ?

Answer. About 11 or 12 o clock.

Question. At that season of the year March what is the usual hour in Eutaw for

people to go to bed ?

Answer. Well, sir, we have a town that is very much scattered, and the people all

start home soon, and very few of the citizens ever come to town after night. It is very
rarely that a house is open at that time of night, according to my experience.

Question. Was any effort made that night to arouse the citizens of the town and
pursue the murderers ?

Answer. None that I know of.

Question. Was any such effort made the next morning ?

Answer. Not that I know of.

Question. Did your sheriff offer a reward for the apprehension of the murderers ?

Ansiver. I never heard that ho did. I have forgotten it if he did.

Question. How soon after his death was Mr. Boyd buried?
Answer. I think he was buried the day after.

Question. The next day after his death ?

Answer. I think so.

Question. He was murdered at 11 o clock at night and buried the next day ?

Answer. I do not recollect. I did not go to the burial
;
and I do not recollect when

he was buried. I think he was buried a short time afterward.

Question. Was any action taken by the bar upon his death ?

Answer. No, wir
;
none at all.

Question. Did members of the bar attend his funeral!
Answer. I do uot know, sir

;
I did not.

Question. Did any of them?
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Answer. None that I know of.

Question. Was there not an impression that Mr. Boyd was murdered by the organiza
tion commonly known as the &quot;Ku-Klux,&quot; whatever may be its real name? Was not
that said at the time ?

Answer. Oh, yes, sir
;

it was said very frequently, and it is the common impression
that Mr. Boyd was killed by the Ku-Klux. That is engraved on his tombstone,

&quot; mur
dered by the Ku-Klux.&quot; It was put on there by Judge Miller, who had the tombstone
erected which is now at the head of his grave.

Question. Is there any organization known by that name existing in the county to

your knowledge ?

Answer. No, sir; none that I know of.,

Question. Is there in that county any organization which rides at night in disguise,
let its name be what it may ?

Answer. None that I have ever seen. I have never seen a man in disguise in our
county, either on horseback or off. I will make this remark, that I live about half a
mile from town, and stay at home pretty constantly, hardly ever going on the streets at

night ;
I generally stay at home at night. I have never seen men in disguise in my

life in our county.
Question. Have you no information upon which you can rely as to outrages having

been committed in the county by men in disguise ?

Answer. Yes, sir; I know of several persons there who think so. I know that they
say that Boyd was killed by men in disguise.

Question. Have you any doubt of it ?

Answer. No, sir
;
I have no doubt of it in the world. I believe it is so.

Question. Is there any other case in which you believe, as you do in the case of Boyd,
that a murder was committed by men in disguise?
Amnrr. Yes, sir; I believe that old man Sam Colvin was hung by men in disguise.
Question. Any others ?

A nsicer. None other that I know of. I defended old Sam for the crime that he com
mitted.

Question. Those two you say you believe to have been murdered?
Answer. I believe that they were murdered, and that they were murdered by disguised

men
;
I believe that from the information I get.

Question. Have any persons been whipped in your county by men in disguise?
Answer. None that I know of.

Question. Do you know of any convictions in the court of your county for the whip
ping of negroes by men in disguise ? Have there been any such convictions in that

county ?

Answer. None that I know of where the parties were in disguise. I know of a num
ber of prosecutions and convictions for whipping negroes.

Question. Cases of assault and battery ?

Answer. Yes, sir. I know of no case where any man has been prosecuted or convicted
for whipping a negro, in disguise. In fact I know of no man who has committed a
deed in a disguise in 1113 county who has ever been brought to justice.

Question. Mention has been made here of your presence at a meeting inEutaw, where
the riot or disturbance occurred in October last, and you have been subpenaed in

consequence of your name having been connected with that proceeding. Give to the

committee, as briefly and clearly as possible, your account of that occurrence. State in
the first place the date of it.

Answer. The riot at Eutaw occurred in October last. I was present on that occasion,
and saw what was going on, and know pretty much about it. I do not know
exactly where to commence. I must commence, I suppose, at the commencement of the

riot, or
&quot;rout,&quot;

as it was called. General Warner had about finished his speech
when I got to the place where he and Governor Parsons and Mr. Hays and others were
to speak. I wanted to hear Governor Parsons speak. I knew that ho had made several

good democratic speeches, and I never had heard him speak since that time
;
and I had

a curiosity to go round there and hear him speak. I went round. Just about the time
that he finished his speech I walked up to him. I knew him, as I thought, very well, and
I thought he knew me. I was in the legislature when he was provisional governor ofAla
bama. I approached him and told him there were several drunken men about there and
that we desired there should be no disturbances; that he and Warner had made their

speeches, and I thought it was nothing but due that if he had any control over Hays, who
was very obnoxious to the people of that county, and had made himself so deservedly,
ho should not let him speak if he had any influence with him, or else break up the
crowd and go home. Pie then turned around, without answering me at all, to speak to

General Warner, and I presume upon that subject. Just about that time, as he turned

around, Hays came upon the stand. I was standing with my back to him, and in

front of Governor Parsons. Almost in half a second, as soon as Governor Parsons
turned round to speak to General Warner, somebody fired a pistol. I do not know
who it was, but was informed afterward who it was, and I was told it was a negro,
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who had shot at me. I saw three witnesses who told me it was fired directly at me.
My back was turned. The ball went through my pants. After that there was a gen
eral tiring in the air by young men, and a general stampede among the negroes. I do
not know what became of Hays or Governor Parsons or General Warner. They went
off. I got up on the table after they went off. I thought it was all fun

;
I had no idea

anybody was shooting at anybody. I got on the table, and laughed extravagantly at
the way the negroes were flying and running about; they broke down the court-house

palings jumping over. My office, from the position I was occupying, was right in front.

The negroes rallied across the street, and iired back several pistols, right toward the

court-house, and then they broke and ran down the street.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. You were not aware at that time that the ball had penetrated your panta
loons !

Answer. No, sir
;
I was not aware of it until I got across the street.

Question. What part of your pantaloons was pierced by the ball?
Answer. Just about the

&quot;thigh,
about four inches from the crotch

;
it entered the back

part and went through.

By Mr. STEVENSON:

Question. Were you standing with Governor Parsons at that time ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
I had just finished telling him what I have told you. He had just

stooped down or bent his head over for the purpose, as I supposed, of telling General
Warner to prevent Hays from speaking.

Question. Was Warner right by him f

Answer. Yes, sir. Warner was right by him, sitting in a chair, leaning against the
wall. Then the firing commenced. Hays fell or was knocked off the stand

;
I do not

know how he got off.

By tbe CHAIRMAN :

Question. So far as your actual knowledge goes, you do not know who fired the first

shot ? You and General Warner and Governor Parsons were all standing together ?

Ansicer. So far as my actual knowledge is concerned, I am satisfied, from the direc
tion that the ball came, that it came from the negroes ;

it must have come from them
;

there were no white men in that direction. I do not think that a negro would have
fired at Governor Parsons. That is the inference I drew at the time.

Question. Was there not a crowd of persons in the same vicinity?
Answer. Oh, yes; there were a great many around me. When I walked out there to

speak to Governor Parsons I was surrounded by negroes ;
I was isolated almost from

my own people.
Question. Were there any white men around the outskirts of the crowd?
Ansicer. Yes, sir

;
there were several white men on the right hand of me; none on the

left that I saw.

Question. You say that Major Hays was obnoxious; was he obnoxious to his own
party or to the opposite party ?

Answer. Well, I do not think that Major Hays has got any party at all in Greene
County now.

Question. I am speaking of political parties.
Answer. I say that I know that he was obnoxious to the democratic party there, and

that embraces all the white men of Greene County except one or two.

Question. Did anybody at the meeting call for him to speak?
Ansicer. I never heard it. I believe I would have heard it if it had been said. I am

satisfied that if anybody called for him it was for burlesque I mean any white man.
The negroes may have called for him.

Question. He had not spoken yet?
Answer. No, sir

;
he mounted the stand just as I went to speak to Governor Parsons;

and before I could consummate what I intended to get Governor Parsons to help me
do, this whole fuss commenced right there.

Question. Were you, or was anybody, aware of the fact that it was Mr. Hays s inten
tion to excuse himself from speaking and adjourn the meeting ?

Answer. No, sir; I did not know it, and I do not think anybody knew it. The first

time 1 had any intimation of it was when I heard Mr. Hays say so last Monday. I
met him on that day on his return from this place, and he then said that he never
intended to speak on that occasion.

Question. So far as your information goes, was there any design on the part of any
one there to create or cause a disturbance on that day ?

Anawir. Well, sir, I do not know that there was anything more done on that occasion
than is usually done at elections, until that firing commenced. I asked Governor
Parsons myself OIK; or two questions; you may call that a disturbance. He had gone
on with his speech for some time, and got to where ho was attempting to justify
Cloud, the Superintendent of education. I was standing pretty close to him and very
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much interested in his speech. I remarked to him,
&quot;

Governor, do you intend to jus
tify the action of that man Cloud before this assemblage ?&quot; He went on and said,
&quot; So far as the report of the committee is concerned that was appointed to examine his

case, I do.&quot;

Question. It is the practice in your State for persons of the opposite party in a crowd
to interrogate a speaker on the stand ?

Answer. That is a very usual custom in our county.
Question. I understand you to say, then, that so far as you know, being a member of

the democratic party there and acting with them, there was no preconcerted design or

wish to bring about any disturbance f

Answer. None that I know of; and so far as my connection with this transaction is

concerned, I know there was no preconcerted design or wish or intention to bring
about a disturbance that day.

Question. If the same feeling existed on the part of those who controlled the other

meeting, is the disturbance which did ensue to be attributed to the accidental circum
stance of some individual beginning this firing?
Answer. What other meeting ?

Question. The republican meeting?
Answer. I do not understand.

Question. You, acting with the democratic party, say that, with your party, so far as

you know, there was no preconcerted wish or design to bring about a collision or dis

turbance ?

Answer. Yes. sir.

Question. If the same feeling actuated those who were conducting the republican
meeting, do you then attribute the disturbance which did arise to the unauthorized
act of some individual beginning the firing?

Answer. Well, I do not know what feeling existed among the radicals that came there

that day.
Question. Upon the assumption that the same feeling animated the leaders on both

sides that animated yourself, is the disturbance to be attributed to the unauthorized
act of some individual in commencing the firing?

Answer. If we had all gone there with a peaceable intention and had not done any
thing to disturb the peace, I presume^we would have gone home without having any
disturbance, unless it had been started by some unauthorized individual.

&quot;

t

Question. Wishing to get at the true origin of the difficulty, I want your view of the
matter.

Answer. My impression is that the difficulty started from the firing of a pistol by a

negro ;
and from the best evidence I can get, it was fired at me, under the conception,

somehow or other, that I was too close to the stand, or probably that I wanted to do

something improper ;
that my motives were not such as they really were.

Question. Did you at or about that time see anything of an effort to get upon tho
stand a negro man, who was a democrat, to speak to the negroes?

Answer. No, sir. I heard this negro man say afterward that he wanted to speak
mighty bad, or something of that sort

;
but I saw no effort of anybody to put him up.

Question. Mr. Jolly stated yesterday that a man named Reynolds was endeavoring to

get a negro man upon the stand which had been occupied by the republicans, to speak
to the negroes. Did you see anything of that at that time ?

Ansicer. No, sir; I did not see a negro man trying to get on the stand at that time.

Question. Before the time of the firing, had any disturbance whatever occurred more
than that which would be incident to the interruption of which you have spoken ?

Answer. None that I know of. What induced me to speak in the way that I did,
and to go Tip to Governor Parsons was, that I saw there were some men on the outskirts

of the crowd who were drunk, who did not know what they were doing ;
I knew and

believed that those men knew Hays, and did not want to hear him speak. I knew a

portion of the crowd was drunk, and it looked to me like it was getting a little inflam

matory. These other two men had spoken their speeches through, and I thought we
bad heard Hays enough, and I therefore went to Governor Parsons to try to get him
down.

Question. Were the men who you apprehended might create violence by reason of

being drunk, citizens of Greene County 1

Answer. I do not recollect
;
some of them were, of course.

Question. Were not some of those who were there citizens of Mississippi ?

Answer. Not that I know of.

Question. Were they all citizens of Alabama so far as you know ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
so far as I know, they were.

Question. Were those drunken men armed ?

Aimm: I do not know
;

I did not see their arms
;
I heard them cursing and swearing

on tho outskirts of the crowd.

Question. Had you anything to do with the calling of the democratic meeting ?

Answer. Yes, sir.
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Question. Were you aware at tho time you called it that you were calling it on the
same day that tho republican meeting was called for?

Answer. I do not know that I was
;
I do not recollect as to that

; but it seems to me
that the democratic meeting was called after wo had had some conference in the demo
cratic council, somehow or other

;
I do not know how that was

;
but I know one thing

for certain, whether it was called before or after, or at whatever time it was called, no
consideration was taken or no reference made to tho previous call for the radical

meeting.
Question. Do you not know that the democratic meeting was called after the adver

tisements for the republican meeting were up ?

Answer. I believe it was
;

I learned that afterward
;
but at that time I do not believe

I knew it. I do not know that I saAV the advertisements for the radical meeting.

By Mr. POOL :

Question. For what day of the week was it called ?

Answer. I do not know
;
I do not recollect that

;
but I recollect both meetings were

called for the same day.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Dare men whose sentiments are obnoxious to tho majority of the citizens of
Eutaw express those sentiments freely, without danger of personal violence ?

Answer. I think so
; they have done it, and they continue to do it. I think a man

can do it with great safety now.

Question. Then what was the reason of your desire for having Major Hays prevented
from speaking that day ?

Answer. Well, my object was this : Major Hays was particularly obnoxious to the

people there. I do not know but he could have spoken on that day ;
I did not know it

at the time, but I thought for the sake of harmony and peace and quiet he had better
not. I was afraid of some trouble from those drunken men. *I do not know whether
they were citizens of Eutaw or not

;
some of them may have been

;
but I think that

Major Hays could go there now and speak, and probably he could have spoken then,

yet I did not like to risk it.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. You thought that there would be more danger if he spoke than if he did
not?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
that was my position exactly.

Question. Is not the state of feeling there such that the sentiments of the two parties
are very obnoxious to each other ? Is there not a high state of political excitement on
the questions that divide the two political parties there?
Answer. Well, sir, there are no parties there except the negro party and the white

party. I do not think there are more than two or three radicals in the county, and we
never get up an excitement

;
we never have anything offensive against the negro.

The negroes are now beginning to learn who and what we are, and who their friends
are

;
and you cannot get up an excitement that I know of between the two parties.

You may get up an excitement with some man who is offensive to some other particu
lar individual one man belonging to one party and one to the other

;
but so far as the

two parties are concerned, I do not think you can get up an excitement.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Then any white man who takes the side of the negroes and advocates politi-
&quot;

cal opinions which are supposed to be acceptable to them, is, in your view, obnoxious
;

^

is he not ?

Ansiver. Well, sir, we take the side of the negro now ; they belong to the democratic

party now.
Question. Who?
Ansieer. The negroes in Greene County ;

we take their side now.
Question. When a white man undertakes to advocate what you term the radical side

in politics, is there not a concentrated effort to make him obnoxious ?

Amwer. Not that I know of; not if he does it in a decent, respectable way.
Question. Was there any other reason for Major Hays being obnoxious than his iden

tification with tho radical party there ?

Answer. Do you desire me to give you the history of Hays, and show why he is ob
noxious ? I prefer not to do it.

Question. I ask if there is any other reason for his being obnoxious than his identifi
cation with the republican party?
Answer. There arc a great many reasons why he has become particularly obnoxious

to our people personally, individually, politically, and every other way.
Question. Then there are other reasons?
Answer. Yes, sir

;
but unless you press mo, I would prefer not to state them.

Question. Was not the sentiment in that town on the subject of this particular riot
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BO much on one side th.it a f:jir or exhibition was held there to raise funds to defend
the men who were indicted for participation in the riot?
An nicer. Yes, sir

;
there was a fair held there by the ladies of the town. Some of the

brothers of the nice young ladies of the town were indicted. They were taken down io

Mobile, and it was necessary that they should summon several witnesses to show in
what way they were connected with the affair. Through the instrumentality of young
hulies of the town who were sisters of those men, a fair was gotten up, aiid the

expenses of those witnesses were defrayed in part in that way.
Question. How many negroes were wounded in that riot&quot;?

Answer. I only sa.\v one.

Question. According to the best of your information, how many were there?
Answer. I know of one that I saw

;
another one I saw the blood of. I think there

wore seven or eight; I do not think there were exceeding that.

Question. Was there any public movement to relieve the negroes who were wounded ?

Answer. The one that I saw, (and this was the first intimation I had that anybody
was shooting at a human being) was lying on the public square, with his thigh
broken.

Question. Was there any movement in the shape of a public meeting or fair to raise

money to relieve the sufferings of the wounded negroes?
Answer. Well, as to those who were wounded that I speak of, I do not think, with

the exception of the one who had his thigh broken, that they had need of anything
except, probably, to send for a physician to cut the ball out. As to the one who had
his thigh broken, I went to him and told some negroes to take him up, get a place to

put him in. and get a dray to carry him off, and send for a physician. I told the.

negroes 1 would pay the physician myself.
Queniion. There was no public expression of sentiment, either for the relief of the

negroes or of regret for the occurrence ?

Answer. No public expression that I know of in a form of a meeting. Everybody
regretted it though.

Question. Do you know of the existence of any secret political organization in the
State of Alabama ?

Answer. No, sir
;
I do not, except one.

Question. What is that ?

Answer. I know of the existence of the Loyal League.
Question. That is a secret political organization f

Answer. So far as I understand, it is. I never was in it.

Question. When was that organized ?

Answer. It was organized soon after the war. I suppose it has been in existence
from 1865 up to the present time.

Question. Does its organization still continue?
Answer. I think it continued until a \ery short time before the last election last

November.
Question. What is its purpose?
Answer. Its particular purpose is to fool and cajole the negroes, and make them vote

the radical ticket.

Question. How do you derive that information ?

Answer. I got it from negroes. We know it exists because we have seen negroes who
tell us they go to the meetings.

Question. Have you any information from any quarter of the existence of what is

popularly known as the Ku-Klux f

Answer. The only information I have received in regard to it was the crowd that
came in to murder Boyd ;

that is the only evidence I have ever seen or heard of in

regard to disguised men in that county.
Question. Were you ever approached by anybody with the request to become a mem

ber of any secret political organization?
Answer. No, sir.

Question. The White Brotherhood ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Constitutional Union Guards?
Answer. No, sir.

Question. Invisible Empire?
Answer. No, sir.

Question. Knights of the White Camelia?
Answer. No, sir.

Question. Nor any other similar political organization ?

Answer. No, sir; I know of no secret political organization in the State of Alabama.
I am certain there is none existing about my particular section.

Question. You are a member of the bar ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did yon read the proceedings of the investigation at Paytona ?

20
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Answer. No, sir; I think I have heard them repeated on the cars. I never read

them.

Qm Ktion. Have there not been for several years allegations of the existence of tho

Ku-Klux organization in Alabama?
.Ittmrcr. I know that a gre at many people there believe that an organization of that

sort exists.

Question. Have yon never felt interest enough in the matter to investigate the alle^d
evidence of its existence ?

Auxin r. fes, sir, I liave made inquiries for it ;
I have known others to make inquiries ;

and I never eonld find it; 1 never saw it, and never saw a man who belonged to it. 1

have had as much curiosity about it as anybody else.

Qitcxtitm. Having made that inquiry, do yon give it as the result of yonr investiga
tions in regard to secret political societies of all kinds in Alabama, that you are satis

fied of the existence of the Union League, and that there is no evidence to satisfy you
that this organi/atiou popularly known as Ku-Klux ever existed there?

Answer. None in that section of the country.

Question. I mean in the State at large.
Answer. 1 cannot speak for the other parts of the State.

Qi xti(ni. You can state your belief.

A M.XHVT. Well, I do not believe that it has existed in the State. I say this because I have
conversed with men from different sections of the State. There may have been mem
bers of that organization from other States who came into ours

;
but I do not believe

there ever was a Ku-Klux organization in the State of Alabama. That is my honest
belief.

Question. Or a secret political organization known by any name which is responsible
for these outrages committed by men in disguise?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
or a secret political organization of any kind. I know of no polit

ical organization in the State of Alabama, outside of the Loyal League, and the radical

party, and the democratic council.

Question. The proceedings of the democratic council are public?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. It conducts the business of the publicly recognized democratic party ?

Answer, Yes, sir.

By Mr. POLAND :

Question. Who was this negro who shot at you ?

Answer. I do not know. I have tried to find out his name. I think it was a negro
who formerly belonged to Chancellor Clark

;
but I do not know what his name is. I

can furnish the committee with his name at any time.

Question. You say three men told you they saw him ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

QiK-ntion. Did they not know him ?

Answer. One of them said he did, and the other two did not.

Question. One of them professed to know what his name was ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
he professed to know his name.

(Jiii Hllon. And the others could identify the man?
Answer. I suppose they could.

Question. From the information you obtained, yon believe he intended to shoot you ?

Answer. Well, he may have intended it
;
I do not know. The information I have got

about it is this : one of these men said positively that he shot directly at me, and the
others say that they saw him shoot. I am satisfied that he shot in my direction, and
shot toward me

;
but I know of no cause why he wanted to shoot me, unless, probably,

that it might have been owing to the fact that he supposed 1 was going to do some
thing to the crowd that was speaking on that occasion.

Question. You understand that the negro who shot was a radical or republican ?

Answer. I do not know whether he was or not.

Question. Did you ever attempt to have him prosecuted ?

Answer. No, sir.

Qitcxtion. Why not?
AitHwrr. Well, I think he was arrested and put in jail.

Question. For shooting at you ?

Attxurr. For engaging in the riot, I believe, or something of that sort. He was ar
rested anvhow, and put in jail by a man named Cockerell.

Question. Why did you not prosecute him for shooting at you ?

Answer. Because I was not perfectly satisfied as to the identity of the negro. I talked
to the negro myself, and was not satisfied as to his identity.

By Mr. STEVENSON :

Question. He denied it T

Answer. Of course he did.
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By Mr. POLAND :

Question. The reason you did not have him prosecuted was the difficulty of determin

ing the identity of the individual?
Answer. I am satisfied a negro from that place did it, but I was not satisfied as to

the identity of that particular negro.
*

Question-.&quot;How could there have been any difficulty in determining his identity if

three men saw him do it?

Answer. Well, sir, I do not know that he was the one. I was not satisfied in my own
mind about it.

Question. If the negro who .shot was the one you suppose the one who had belonged
to Chancellor Clark did not everybody in your town, black and white, know him ?

Answer. I do not know
;
he was not known to me

;
I did not know him.

Question. You did not take any measures to prosecute him ?

Answer. No. sir, I did not prosecute him
;
his case was presented to the grand jury.

I did not appear before the grand jury, and they ignored the prosecution.
Question. Did you bring his case before the grand jury ?

Answer. No, sir, I did not
;

it was brought before the grand jury by other parties.

Question. Was a complaint made against him before the grand jury for shooting at

you ?

Answer. I understood there was.

Question. Who made the complaint ?

Answer. A man named Luther D. Cockerell.

Question. To which party did he belong ?

Answer. He had belonged to the radical party, but at that particular time he belonged
to the democratic party.

Question. lie was the man who you understood made complaint before the grand jury
against this negro for shooting at you ?

AnNirer. Yes, sir. The complaint was made in this way : in our county parties are

put in jail on complaint made before a magistrate, and are kept there to await the de
cision of the grand jury.

Question. What was the complaint against this negro?
Answer. I suppose it was assault and attempt to kill, or attempt to murder. I never

saw the complaint in my life
;

I never paid any attention to it. . I went to see the negro
and talk to him about it. I asked him if he did it, and he denied having any desire

to do anything of the sort. He said he was not the man.
Question. He said he did not shoot at all?

Anxwer. Yes, sir; he said he did not have any pistol to shoot with.

(Jnexiion. Were you satisfied that that was so, or did you think he was lying about it ?

Answer. Well, I was satisfied of this, and nothing more: I was satisfied that I was
fired upon by a negro, and I was uncertain as to the identity of this one; I was uncer
tain as to his being the man who did it. That was the position I occupied, and I did
not care to prosecute the thing any further.

By Mr. VAN THUMP:

Question. Whatever difficulty existed in your mind at that time as to the identity of
the particular negro who fired the shot, you were satisfied it came from the negro
crowd ?

Answer. I know, sir, that it came from the negro crowd, and I know that my pants
were shot

;
I know, also, that it was the first pistol that was tired.

(Question. Are you satisfied that was the first pistol that was fired?

flnswer. It was the first I heard.

Question. That was just at the moment when you and Governor Parsons and General
Warner were standing together, and at the very moment when Hays either jumped off

the table or was thrown off?

Answer. Yes, sir; it was just about that time. General Warner was not standing;
he was sitting in a chair.

Question. If Mr. Hays or any other person has sworn that just at that moment some

persons who were stationed in the clerk s office commenced a volley of firing from the
windows of the office at the negroes, over your and Parsous s and Hays s head, he is mis

taken, is he not ?

Answer. If he says that the firing there was commenced before this negro fired, he is

mistaken.

Question. If he says that the commencement of the firing was out of the window of

the court-house, he is mistaken ?

Answer. That is a very clear mistake.

Question. I understand you to have said that during Governor Parsons s speech you
put certain questions to him ?

Answer. Yes, I did.

Question. Were you there most of the time that he spoke?
Answer. I was there nearly all the time he was speaking.
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. Were your questions to the go
Yes, sir; Governor Parsons calle

. He replied to you respectfully?

Question. Were your questions to the govemor put iu a respectful way?
r. Yes, sir; Governor Parsons called my name at the time.

ectfull?

Answer. Yes, sir; I naked him if he indorsed this man Cloud, and he said, so far as

the report of the oniinittee was concerned, he did. I said, &quot;That is not the question
1 asked you ; you are going around speaking and advocating .the cause of your party ;

say whether you indoix- the course of Cloud or not.&quot; He replied to me respectfully.
To ask questions in t^iat way is usual with us down there, and is not considered to be

discourteous.

QnmtioH. Is it a fact or not that at that time, or about the close of Governor Parsons s

speaking, then- was a general disturbance and hooting at him?
Anxinr. Well, 1 saw nobody there that had a disposition to treat Governor Parsons

in am other way than kindly ; certainly not while I was in front of him, and not

while l was in his presence. After ho went round the court-house and away from
where I was, I do not know what happened; but I never even, heard that he was
Heated discourteously while he was in town.

By Mr. POOL :

Qm^l ion. How many men were killed?
J//.s/m-. None that 1 have ever heard of yet.

QiiCNlioTi. How many died from wounds received on that occasion?

Answer. None. I do not believe that any one was seriously wounded, except the man
who had his thigh broken. I saw him about in four or five weeks after he was hurt.

The physician that I caused to be sent for attended him.

Question. Whence came the report that fifty-four men were wounded and three or

four men died from wounds received on that occasion ?

J//.VMYT. I do not know how that .came about; I suppose it came from the imagina
tion of some people; I don t know where it came from

;
I never could learn of that

many ;
I am satisfied that none of them died, and there were none killed

;
I know I

would have heard it if it had been the case.

By the CHAIRMAN :

(jiH xtioti. Did not the account published in the democratic paper give twenty-five or

thirty as the number who were wounded?
AIIHII-CI . I do not know. I hardly ever read that paper. I was not then a subscriber

to it, though I am now.

By Mr. POOL:

Question. Did Mr. Hays fire the first shot ?

JMXMVT. I do not know whether he did or not
;
I do not think he did; I am pretty

certain he did not. I think the first shot was fired by a negro from behind.

Qin tion. Did Mr. Hays order the negroes to fire ?

Answer. I never heard him.

QiifHliim. Were you not standing close by him?
Jy/.sirer. I was right close by him.

Question. Would you have heard him if he had given such an order ?

AnKinr. I was standing close by him. It does seem to me I have heard that Hays
did order the negroes to fire.

Qtd-xlion. Whence eanie the report so generally circulated that iu the first place Hays .

fired the first shot, and in the second place, that he ordered the negroes to fire?
Answer. I do not know.
({m-xi tim. Was not that published in the democratic paper of that place at the timts?
.liixnvr. I do not know whether it was or not. I know I have heard it said several

times that Hays fired the first shot, and that he told the negroes to commence firing.
] have heard all those sort of things. Hays was on a little table. I do not think I

was more than about two feet from the table, talking to Governor Parsons, and I never
saw 1 lays lire a pistol, nor did I hear him make use of any such remarks.

&amp;gt;

QurxtitHi. There may be some reasons why Mr. Hays might be unpopular with the
negroes; but do you know of anything, totally disconnected with politics, 05 with the

present relations of parties in the State, that should make Mr. Hays particularly ob
noxious to the democrats .

Jw**w. I know that Mr. Hays is not a man to be trusted by friend nor foe. I know
that he has deceived his nnt intimate- friends. I do not think that Hays is a truth
ful man on hardly any occasiou. I do not say this for the purposes of this trial

;
but

I know him; 1 knew him when we wore young men together, and I knew the degree
of confidence, the young men had in him then. He is a man of no mark a man of no
special force of character no marked character at all.

Qufxlioit. Did you hear of the shot that was fired from the window of the circuit
clerk s room ?

Aiixirer. No, sir
;
I heard several shots fired

; they were fired from the door.

Question. You know where the circuit clerk s window was ?
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Answer. Yes. sir : I know exactly. I was sitting on the

those men left. When the firing had commenced, and after some holding np of pistols
and firing generally about in the air, I jumped up and sat on the table just to see the

stampede generally. I was amusing myself looking at the stampede.
Question. Did you hear a shot fired from the window of the circuit clerk ?

Answer. No, sir, I did not. I suppose you mean just at that time!

Question. Just at the commencement of the affray 1

Answer. No, sir
;

I did not.

Question. Was the circuit clerk s window in front of you or behind yon ?

Ansiver. Behind me. Here is the circuit clerks window two windows (illustrating.)
The table was in between the two windows, and Avas I sitting on the table with my
face toward the street.

Question. When the shot was fired ?

Answer. Oh, no; when the first shot was fired I was standing right by Governor Par
sons.

Question. At that moment, when the first shot was fired, was the circuit clerk s win
dow in front of you or behind you ?

Answer. One of the windows was to my right ;
the other window was, you might

call it, diagonally behind me.

Question. Were you facing the crowd?
Answer. No, sir

; my left side was toward the crowd of negroes.
Question. The court-house was to your right ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And the crowd of negroes to your left?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And the stand was to your front ?

Answer. No
;
The stand where Hays was was about two feet from me, and my back

was to it
;
and the negroes were around behind, extending up to the door of the court

house.

Question. Then the stand was at your back, and distant about two feet from you ?

Anxwer. You call the table, the stand? Yes, sir; it was right at my back. I was a.

little in advance of the stand toward the negro crowd.

Question. But your back was to the stand ?

Anxtcer. Yes, sir
; my back was to the stand, and mv back to Hays when he was on

the sfand.

Question. Yon were about two feet from the stand?
Answer. Yes, sir; about two feet from the table they were speaking from.

(Juestion. You heard distinctly the report of the pistol; do you know from what di

rection it came?
-Inxicer. No, sir

; except that I knew it came from behind, and I knew very well that
it did not come out of the court-house. I knew it came from the crowd of negroes who
were collected in a row close by the door just this side of the door of the court-house.

They were thick all around there. I was satisfied that it came from there, not out of
the court-house. I speak of the first shot.

Question. Did the first shot come from beyond the table ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;

it came from beyond the table from ine.

Question. In your rear ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Where, did it strike ?

Answer. It struck just about two inches below the crotch of rny breeches
;
I suppose

about three inches.

Question. Between your legs ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir; it went between ray legs.

Question. Then it must have come directly from behind ?

Answer. It came from behind; the bullet hole showed so in the pants so far as we
could ascertain; and I know it came it oni behind because I was in no other position
that day when I could have received a shot.

Question. Then it must have passed under the table, or over the table ?

Answer. No. sir: it need not have done either. I was a little to the left of the table,
about two feet from the table, a little beyond it, between the table and the crowd of

negroes, two feet in advance of the table toward Governor Parsons, and about a foot and
a half or two feet tp the left of the table, toward the crowd.

Question. I understood you to say that the table was directly behind you ?

Answer. It was behind me, but not directly behind me
;

it was behind me so far as

seeing Hays s maneuvers was concerned.

Question. The fact that you were struck became known to you after the matter was
all over?

Answer. Yes, sir; I did not know that I was struck until I had walked across the
street and gotten over near my office.

Qtteation. How do you know, then, that you were struck on the first fire?
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Answer. That was the only firing that I was in range of; and the only one that could

possibly have done it was the first fire. I do not know of nuy other that could have
done it. I was in no position where I could have been hit afterward, or at any time
before.

Qmxtion. As soon as tin s firing was made was there a rush into the court-house on
the part of a company of white men who were there ?

Answer. No, sir
;
I did not hear of it. There were a good many people in the court

house door
;
and a good many came to the door soon after this firing was commenced.

The negroes were all round the court-house door, very thick.

Qtttffum. How long a time was there between the firing of the first shot, and the

general tiring from the court-house windows ?

.l//.v/r&amp;lt;r. Not long.

Qtn xtion. Was there general firing from the court-house windows ?

Answtr. There was firing from the court-house door
;
I did not notice any from the

windows.

Question. How many shots were fired from the court-house door ?

Answer. A good many I reckon eighteen or twenty. I saw men holding up their

hands and firing into the air. They were shooting over the heads of the negroes, and

hooting and hallooing as I thought, just to see the stampede. I had no idea anybody
was being shot.

By Mr. STEVENSON :

Question. There was hallooing?
Anxwer. Yes, sir.

By Mr. POOL :

Question. Did you see any negroes fall?

J//x?ra . Yes, sir
;
at every firing that was made about a dozen fell

; J knew that all

of them could not be struck
;
the yard was full of them.

Question. How many shots were fired altogether?
J.V.S-MVT. I cannot make any estimate. I reckon about fifty or sixty right there at

that time. The negroes went down town afterward, and there was shooting at the
railroad depot, or at least coming up the street from the railroad.

Question. Shooting by whom?
Answer. Well, the negroes, after they had fired back, left and went on down to the

depot.
Question. How far from the court-house ?

Answer. About half a mile. When they got down there, they rallied and they came
back under the charge of a yellow boy riding on horseback. Down there I heard some
more firing ;

I heard a great deal of firing down there. Just about that time the Fede
ral troops arrived

;
and they went down Prairie street.

Question. Was anybody hurt down at the depot ?

Answer. No, sir
; nobody that I know of. I heard several pistols fired down there.

The negroes rallied to the number of about two hundred, and came up the street.

Question. Is there among the white men in Greene County any effort or understand

ing by any means to intimidate the negroes and keep them from voting the republican
ticket ?

Answer. None in the world that I know of; and I do not think there is any. I have
not seen anything of it.

Question, llave you heard any arrangements of that sort talked of?
.liixwer. No, sir

;
I have never heard of such arrangements. I know that it is not so

BO far as the last election is concerned.

tjiKxt iun. In any election ?

A.ixirrr. I have never heard of it in any other election, because we have never taken
any active part in any election until the last; scarcely any.

(JiH xtiou. Then you do not know of any purpose or understanding on the part of
anybody to intimidate negroes, and prevent them from voting the republican ticket?

Auxin r. No. sir
;

1 have known persons to persuade them, and beg them not to do it

talking to them reasonably.
iJiH-xtion. I low many eases of whippings of negroes have you heard of withiu the last

E are .

.l,ixin-r. I do not know; I cannot answer that question. I have heard of them, but
I do not recollect a single one. I have heard of several being whipped.

(Jurxtion. As many as ten?
.///.star. I do not know; I have heard of several being whipped. I thought I could

call the names of several, but I cannot.

({ncxi itm. Have yon heard of negroes being whipped by men in disguise at night?
. iVsvnr. No, sir; I never heard of but t wo disguised operations in the county in my

life; those were t lie hanging of a man named 8am Colvin, and the killing of Boyd.
There may have been other cases. I have heard of several cases of parties coming to
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houses and whipping negroes. I thought I could mention some of the names, but I
cannot.

Question. You say the negroes in Greene County now belong to the democratic
party ?

Anauw. I say they voted the democratic ticket the last time, and I believe they will

again ;
for I have heard a great many of them express themselves.

Question. Do you believe they will vote the democratic ticket freely ?

Ansic-cr. Certainly.
Question. Of their own will and accord ?

Atinfircr. I know they do
;

1 know they did at the last election we held there. The
Federal troops were within about forty yards of the polls, with their arms buckled on,
and with stacked bayonets. The officer was there, and, according to the rules and
regulations of oar election laws, no one was allowed to go within twenty feet of the

polls except the, men who voted and the guard. The negroes walked up and put their
tickets in, and they were counted; and the vote of the county was counted out
democratic. I know of another little incident : About three months after that. I heard
it rung about in the papers, that Greene and Sumter Counties had been carried by
fraud, violence, intimidation, and all that sort of thing. I was persuaded by my friends
to come out for the oflice of mayor of the town of Em aw. I am looked upon as a pretty
extreme democrat there. I did so. About t weuty-iive or thirty of my best friends were
then absent in Mobile. I used no undue influence

;
in fact 1 had nobody to electioneer

forme; and that oftice had gone for the radical party by over three hundred. Iran
against Mr. Samuel W. Cockerell, the best and most respectable member of his party
in that county a good man so far as I know and I beat him three to one. My object
in running was simply to convince, the people that the negroes there had actually
turned democratic. We ran on party measures and party issues. That is a little cir

cumstance I mention for the purpose of showing that I believe the negroes there have
been truly convinced that the democratic party is the party that they ought to be
attached to. There are divers reasons I could give for it.

QitcxH&amp;lt;nt.
Do you speak of the counties of Greene and Sumter?

Anxictr. I cannot speak so much for Sumter as I can for Greene
;
but I believe it is

the same in Sumter.
Oticxliim. Is the case generally the same all over the State of Alabama?
A)iNiccr. Well, sir, it is all over the State, wherever the democratic party is organized

and gets proper men to take charge of them.

(Jtii-Htion. Yon mean take charge of the negroes ?

J/i.sHr;
1

. Yes, sir; by taking charge,&quot; I mean persuading them and asking them to

vote properly, and telling them what they ought to do. They havereceived advice from
divers parties for a long time, until they have found out that they have been deceived

;

they tell me so
;
and that they are going hereafter with their old masters their old

friends and old playmates. That is the sentiment that pervades the negroes in Greene
County. I have talked to all of them

;
I have made speeches to them.

(JucxIioH. &quot;What do you white men of Greene County think of the reconstruction

policy of Congress ;
do you favor it ?

AHHircr. Well, sir, I cannot say that we favor it. We have no opposition to it. The
people of Greene County, so far as the democrats are concerned, accept almost every
thing. They do not object to it. They swear by the constitution that was imposed
upon them by Congress some time ago : they take all the laws as they are passed, and
there is no disposition on their part to violate any of them

;
I cannot say that they

favor them. They abide by them, and they are willing to adhere to them
;
and so

far as they are concerned, they enforce them as laws of the country.
Question. Is it not your purpose to do all that you can to have some features of the

congressional policy changed ;
for instance, the provision allowing negroes to sit upon

juries, the universal voting of the negroes, and their holding office; I mean by legal
means !

AHUIW. Well, sir, it is not the sentiment of the democratic party of Greene County
to ever disturb the; political franchise that is allowed to negroes; I mean the right of

voting that is given to them, or their right to sit upon juries, or to hinder them in any
way from being regular citizens of the United States. Nobody there, that I know of,

is disposed to change any feature of the laws in that respect. It has been said (and it

has had a great deal of influence upon the negroes) that the object and purpose of the
democratic party was to put the negroes -back into slavery, and all that. 1 do not be
lieve that, there is a man in that section of the country who would do it if he had the

power to do it to-day. That is not the object of the democratic party of that section

of the country ;
it is not understood to be.

Qiu Hlion. You said that Mr. Jjoyd had been active in prosecuting some offenders, and
had said that he knewr the names of parties who had committed outrages; were those

outrages committed by men in disguise ?

Anxiccr. Not that I know of, except this: in the case of Sam Colviu, that I spoke of,

Mr. Boyd said, as I understood I never heard him say so
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Question. I want to know more particularly the nature of the cases. What were the

charges against the parties whom he was prosecuting ?

Answtr. He was not prosecuting any one. He intended to prosecute. He said he
would keep the grand jury in session six months unless he got a hill against them.

Question. What were those parties charged with ?

Answer. They were charged with the murder of a man named Sam Colvin.

Question. A colored man ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Were they alleged to he in disguise?
Answer Yes, sir

; they were alleged to he in disguise when they hung him.

(Question. There&quot; was another case in which there was a hat found. What was the

charge against the party to whom the hat was supposed to have belonged?
Answer. I do not know that I saw the hat myself; but I heard Boyd say, in the pres

ence of half a do/en persons,
&quot; I have a hat that belongs to one of the marauders

;
and

he thinks I do not know whose hat it is.&quot;

(JufsfxHi. Were they in disguise?
Answer. I do riot know. He made no charge as to who they were. That is all he

said. I do not know whose hat it was or where it came from.

Question. Was not the activity of Mr. Boyd directed against these raids by masked
men I Was not that what he had set his face against, and what he had avowed his

determination to prosecute and expose?
Answer. Well, sir, he was the attorney of the county, and it was his business to pros

ecute these men, and he ought to have done it if he did not. I only give these in
stances of his having used these expressions in public as tending to show what might
or might not have caused his death.

Question. I do not ask about tendencies
;
I ask whether the fact was not that he was

then actively engaged, and avowed his purpose io continue engaged, in the work of

exposing these disguised men who had been committing depredations in the vicinity ?

Answer. Well, sir, he made these remarks I state; you can draw your own inferences
as to the parties he was after. I do not know particularly that they were disguised men
any more than any other men. He was after other parties, I suppose; at least he ought
to have been. I cannot say that his attention was called particularly to disguised men
or to other parties.

(Question. I understood you to attribute his killing to those open expressions of his

and to his activity against offenses committed by disguised men ?

Answer. I did not attribute it to anything; I only stated what facts I knew in regard
to it, in order that you might draw your inferences. I do not know what Boyd s kill

ing arose from. I do not know whether it arose from the fact that he had been the
murderer of young Brown, and that some of young Brown s friends did it

;
or I do not

know that it arose from the fact that he was active in the prosecution of these men
;

I do not know what causes it arose from. I state all these facts in order that you may
draw your own inferences.

Question. Was it not a fact that the court was in session at the time he was killed ?

Answer. No, sir
;
I do not believe it was.

Question. Was it not court week ?

Answer. Oh, no
;

I reckon not. He was killed on the 31st day of March.

Question. Was your court in session at that time ?

Answer. No, sir, I do not think it was. I am satisfied it was not.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. When does your court sit ?

Answer. Our court sits in May.

By Mr. POOL :

Question. Was any grand jury in session at that time ?

Answer. Oh, no, sir
;
the grand jury only sits when the court is in session.

Question. What did Boyd mean by talking about keeping the grand jury in session
six months ?

Ansiccr. I [o could not do that. Wo only have a term of the circuit court there in our
county for two weeks at a liine. and he could not keep the grand jury in session any
more than two weeks. That was an ad captandum expression of his.

(JiH slion. I supposed you might have some peculiar law on the subject.
Ansn-er. No. sir; we have none.
(hu xtnm. Then his threat was that, at the next succeeding term of the court, ho meant

to do all these, things?
Ansirer. Well, sir. he meant to ferret them out, I suppose. I never heard those

threats my sell .

(jiH siion. At ( he next succeeding term of the court there was to be a grand jury ?

A n !!(( r. Yes, sir; at every term of the court there is a grand jury.
Qmstion. Boyd was killed then about a mouth before your regular session ?
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A newer. Yes, sir; he was killed about the 1st of April, and our court sits in May.
Question. Do you know whether Boyd had brought many witnesses before him, re

duced their statements to writing, and gone into an investigation, preparatory to a

prosecution at the succeeding term ?

Answer. Xo, sir; I do not. I do not see how he could have done it. He may have
summoned them before the grand jury. He had no right to call witnesses, unless he
called them as prosecuting attorney before the grand jury.

Question. Might he not have brought them before him in his office and privately
taken their statements ?

Answer. I know nothing in the world about that
;
he may have done it.

By Mr. BECK :

Question. You have been asked why the exaggerated report that at the Eutaw riot
three men were killed and fifty-four wounded was circulated afterward over the coun
try- I will ask you whether or not it was understood by the democratic party gener-
rally that the report was circulated in an exaggerated form for the purpose of exciting
the negroes against the democratic party and getting their votes against that party?

Answer. I do not know for what reason that report was circulated. I have heard
that something to that effect was published in a democratic paper; I Ylo not know
whether it was or not.

Question. I am not asking for your own knowledge. I ask whether you understood
that such was the fact ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;

it was generally understood about there that it was a fact that a
number of them were killed and great numbers of them wounded

;
and that report

was put out there and circulated largely.
Question. For what purpose, as you understood, was it so circulated?
Answer. I do not know for what purpose ;

but we understood it was published in all

the radical papers in the State, and a big fuss made over it. I do not know what was
the cause of it

;
but I suppose it was to have some effect on some of their doings.

Question. One word about Boyd s activity in carrying 011 prosecutions: .Snoddy had
been killed before ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Snoddy was a white man ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Some negroes had been tried and sent to jail as the parties who had killed
him :

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And they made their escape?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Had or had not Bovd failed to prosecute the negroes who had killed

Suoddy f

Anxwer. He had failed. He did not do it.

Question. But when Colvin, the man who was supposed to have been implicated in

killing Snoddy, was killed, Boyd was very active and made these declarations in respect
to arresting parties?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Was it generally believed in your community that, because of Boyd s failure

to prosecute the murderers of Snoddy, and his extreme activity to implicate parties in
the killing of Colviu, some parties, either kinsmen of Brown, or implicated in the kill

ing of Snoddy, killed Boyd from private motives?
Answer. I believe, myself, that that probably might have been the case.

Question. Was Boyd killed because of his politics in any way?
Anxwer. Xo, sir; I do not think he was, because he had no particular politics that I

knew of. He was not by any means a dangerous man in politics.

Question. Inquiry has been made about intimidation. Have negroes seeking to vote
the democratic ticket ever been. intimidated by the loyal leagues or by other negroes ?

State what you know on that subject.
Anxwir. During the time when we were voting on our constitution we tried on several

occasions to prevent the negroes from voting, and we tried to get those who did vote to

vote against the adoption of the constitution; and the Loyal League and those con
nected with it did intimidate those who were desirious to vote with the democratic

party tit that time. They wen; threatened; they were fined; they were supposed to

have been taken off privately and sometimes whipped by their comrades, for voting
the democratic ticket.

Question. According to your knowledge or information, was it generally the practice
for the negroes and the loyal leagues to intimidate, threaten, and even punish demo
cratic negroes ?

Answer. I am perfectly satisfied that the Loyal League maintained its ascendency
down therefor so long a time, from the simple reason of its intimidation and threats

over negroes who were at first induced to join them. As soon as they could get out of
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it as soon as they learned that they could violate the oath they took in joining it,

without being thrashed, or lined by their comrades they broke up the league.

^Kit-ition. Were inducements held out to negroes to vote the republican ticket, by
promises of land, mules, and other things? State what you know on that subject ?

J//.S/HT. I know that all sorts of inducements were brought to bear upon the negroes
to compel them to join tin; radical party.

Question. State anything you know in regard to promises of laud and mules.

.-JM.XMVT. I can tell you from what I know and have seen myself, and also from what
negroes have told me, that they have been promised lauds and mules forty acres of
laud and a mule on divers occasions. Many an old negro has come to me and asked
ine about that thing. I can illustrate it by one little thing that I saw on a visit once
to Gainesville, Sumter County. At a barbacue there I saw a man who was making a

speech to the negroes, telling them what good he had done for them
;
that he had

been to Washington City and had procured from one of the Departments here certain

pegs. I saw the pegs. He had about two dozen on his arm
; they were painted red and

blue. He said that those pegs he had obtained from here at a great expense to himself
;

That they had been made by the Government for the purpose ofstakiug out the negroes
forty acres. He told the negroes that all he wanted was to have the expenses paid to

him, which was about a dollar a peg. He told them that they could stick one peg down
at a corner, then walk so far one way and stick another down, then walk so far another

way and stick another down, till they had got the four pegs down ;
and that, when the

four pegs were down, the negroes forty acres would be included in that area
;
and all

he had to say to them was, that they could stick those pegs anywhere they pleased
on anybody s land they wanted to, but not to interfere with each other; and he would
advise them, iii selecting the forty acres, to take half woodland and half clear

;
that

nobody would dare to interfere with those pegs.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. What was the man s name ?

Answer. I do not know his name. This was some time ago. It has not been within
the last two years. He was there when the Government was collecting the confeder
ate cotton in Gainesville. He was not a citizen of our county. .

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. What effect would that have on the negroes ?

Answer. Well, sir, the negroes bought the pegs, and he made about two or three hun
dred dollars, I suppose, in less than two hours. I am satisfied of this, for I saw the

negroes buying from him
;
and the negroes were seen afterward knocking about there

with these pegs.

By Mr. COBURN :

Question. Did any of them set up their pegs?
Answer. I do not kuow whether they did or not.

Question. Did you hear whether that peg business was kept up long ?

Answer. They did not keep it up long. I just give that as one little instance for the

purpose of showing how easily the negroes were duped.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Was that a political meeting?
Answer. No, sir

;
it was a barbecue

;
it was not a political meeting. This man was

showing off on his own responsibility, I suppose.

By Mr. BECK :

Question. He was not an Alabama man ?

-lumper. No, sir
;
he was a man from up here somewhere. I cite that case for the pur

pose of showing the means that were resorted to to seduce and cajole that class of

people. .

(Jut xtion. Have you heard the fact stated by quite a number of negroes that the ne-

gr&amp;lt;&amp;gt;&quot;s
did vote the republican ticket with that sort of promises made to them as induce

ments to do it ?

.In mrer. Well, I am satisfied that they voted the republican ticket from no other rea
son than because they could not understand the political issues of the day at that time.
Men would take them in their loyal leagues, and would poison their minds against
their old masters and their old friends by telling them all sorts of tales.

Qticxtitni. My question is simply whether you have heard negroes say that they were
promised lands and mules?

. Yes, sir; I have.

Question. Have you ever been present at any speaking where you have heard white
men tell them so?

Answer. Well, sir, wo are not in the habit of going to their speakings. I do not be-
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lieve that I ever was at any speaking where that direct statement has been made.
Most of their speaking was done formerly at night in their Leagues.

Question. The disguises which on two occasions, as you understand, were assumed in
the county of Greene for the purpose of doing wrong, have been assumed, as you un
derstand, not as a part of any organization extending beyond that particular act, but
for the purpose of disguising the perpetrators of that individual outrage ;

is that the
way you understand it ?

Answer. That is the way I understand it to be. I do not understand it to be any
organization of that sort. It must be in that way.

Question. Those disguises have been assumed by parties as the means of concealing
themselves from detection?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Have you any idea that, if those men could be caught, they could escape
punishment by reason of any public sentiment favoring such proceedings ?

Answer. If they could be caught they would be punished ;
I know they would.

By the CHAIRMAN:

Question. I understood from you that a number of persons charged with participation
in the riot at Eutaw are under indictment in the United States court at Mobile?

Ansirei: Yes, sir.

Question. Have any indictments or charges been niade against any negroes, either in
the State courts or United States courts, for taking part in the riot on that occasion?

Answer. I do not think there have; I do not know that there have.

Question. Tin-owing out of consideration the question who is responsible for that riot
or who ought to be convicted, do you believe that, if the negroes are responsible, there
can be a fair trial against them, either in the State courts or the United States courts?
On the supposition that they are indicted in either the State or United States courts,
can they be tried there, and if guilty convicted, or if innocent acquitted?

Andrei: Yes, sir, certainly they can. I know that, if anything, our courts.there are
more lenient toward negroes than they are toward white men. I never have seen the
time yet that they did not have a perfectly fair trial.

Question. If, on the other hand, the persons are indicted in the United States courts,
do you believe, that the law can be executed that they can be convicted if guilty, and
acquitted if innocent?

Answer. The United States court sits in Mobile
;
and the law is bound to be carried

out.

Question. Then, in any point of view, whichever side may be in the wrong, you be
lieve the laws now in existence afford adequate means for convicting the guilty and
acquitting the innocent ?

Answer. I do; that is exactly what I mean.

Question. And you do not think that any further legislation is necessary to secure
that end as against offenses of this sort ?

Auxin 1

): I am satisfied that no further congressional legislation is necessary to carry
out those ends.

Question. You say that the negroes do not or cannot understand the issues which are

presented in the political canvass now ?

Answer. I did not say now; I said at the time I spoke of. Probably now they may
understand the issues, not perfectly, but better than they did formerly.

(Jiiexlion. You said they did not understand them at the time you spoke of?

A umm: No, sir; they were the dupes of everybody who undertook to deceive and

cajole them.

Question. Did not the negro understand that in the contest of the last few years with
reference to his freedom, the republican party had advocated his emancipation and his

freedom, and that the? democratic party had opposed it ?

Anmm: That is exactly what they understood that they were freed by the radical

party.
Question. They understood that ?

Answer. That was the only idea they had in the world.

Question. Then, when it came to the question of securing them their civil rights in

the courts to the same extent they are enjoyed by white persons, did they not imder-
stand that their enjoyment of civil rights had been advocated by the radical party and

opposed by the democratic party ?

Answer. Their rights before the courts?

Question. Yes, sir.

Answer. No. sir, the negro has always had, even when a slave

Question. lam not asking as to the fact whether they had any civil rights or not;
but did they not understand that, with reference to conferring upon them additional

civil rights in the courts, the democratic party had opposed the conferring of those

rights, and the radical party had favored it ?

Answer. They were taught to believe that the radical party had conferred upon them



316 CONDITION OF AFFAIRS IN THE SOUTHERN STATES.

the right of voting and the right to be educated like other people, and they were also

taught that the democratic party was inimical to those things. They were falsely

taught that the object and purpose of the democratic party was to put them back into

slavery.

QaMriiM. Did they not understand the fact that the radical party had advocated tho

conferring of civil rights upon them, and that the democratic party had opposed it?

.Inxtrcr. Yes. sir; they understood that; those were about the only propositions they
did understand : 1 hat is, they were taught to believe them, but they did not understand
how or in what manner it had been done.

Question. Did they not understand that when the fourteenth amendment was pro
posed, the republican party advocated a restriction upon representation unless suffrage
was conferred upon the negro, and that the democratic party for that reason opposed
the adoption of that amendment?

.litxinr. 1 do not believe they ever went further than I have said. I am satisfied

that they do not now understand what is the fourteenth amendment, and what is the
fifteenth. They may have heard of the matter, but they do not know what it means.

(Jut-xt ion. You think, then, that as to the fifteenth amendment they do nor, understand
that the democratic party opposed it, aud the republican party advocated it?

Answer. I do not think they understood those amendments. They had a general idea
that the radical party freed them, gave them the right to acquire an education, and the

right to vote; and that is just alfout as far as they could comprehend the politics of
the day.

Question, Is their change from one party to another in Sumter and Greene Counties,
because they have become convinced that that was a mistake?

Answer. They have changed because they have been convinced that there were

promises and other things which have not been carried out, and that the democratic

party does not deny them any of those rights. They are satisfied that the democratic

party does not deny any of those rights to them now, nor desire to cut short any of
those rights.

Question. Yon think that they remain of the opinion that the democratic party as a

party was in favor of continuing them in slavery, and the republican party took the

opposite ground, and yet, notwithstanding this, they have gone over to the democratic

party on account of these promises which you say have not been carried out?
Answer. No, sir

; my belief is that they are satisfied they were mistaken in the repre
sentations that were made to them that the democratic party intended to reenslave
them. We have sworn to them hundreds of times that we never intended any such

thing, and that the democratic party advocates now, and desires, that they shall be

educated, and does not desire to take from them the right of voting.
Question. I understood you to say that you have never heard any republican on tho

stand, at a political meeting there, make promises of the kind to which you have
referred.

Answer. No, sir
;
I never have

;
I never have heard one on the stand, except this fel- .

low with the pegs ;
and I mention him simply for the purpose of illustrating the idea.

Question. He, you understood, was a man who was making money out of a side show
at a barbecue ?

Answer. Not a show, it was a set speech.
Question. There was nothing political connected with it ?

Answer. No, sir.

By Mr. POLAND :

Question. When was that barbecue ?

Answer. About the first part of 1866, or the latter part of 1865. As nearly as I can
make it out, it was when the Government was collecting the confederate cotton.

Question. If it was in 1866, it was under the [government established by President
Johnson, was it not ?

Answer. I do not know.
Question. You had no government under the reconstruction acts until 1868 ? &amp;gt;

Jy/.v/or. Yes, sir, in 1868.

Qiu-iition. Then it was before the reconstruction acts?
Answer. Yes, sir, I believe it was.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Qm xtion. You have stated, in reply to a question of the chairman, that while a num
ber of white men have been indicted for this riot at Eutaw, no negro has been indicted.

Answer. None that 1 know of.

QucHthni. Does not that arise from the fact that it is impossible to identify individu
ally the negroes who wore concerned in that affair?
Answer. 1 think it does.

Qin-xtioii. You found it impossible to identify the negro who shot at you?
.hiNU er. Yes, sir; those who have mixed in crowds with negroes know that it is the

hardest thing in the world to identify negroes.
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Question. In a mixed crowd of furious negroes, firing, it would be impossible to iden
tify the individual who fired any particular shot ?

Answer. It would be very hard to do it.

Question. Is that the reason why no indictments have been found against negroes ?

Answer. I do not know that that is the reason.

Question. Would not that be a sufficient reason?
Answer. That would be a sufficient reason.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. Who moved in this affair to procure the indictments against the white
rioters ?

Ansii er. Well, we knew nothing in the world about it at least I did not until the
United States marshal came up there to arrest certain parties. The indictments were
found by the United States grand jury, which sat in Mobile, some two hundred miles
from us; and the first intimation we had of it was when these indictments came up
there, except in this one particular : this man Sam Brown, who was there, swore to a
warrant, and had the parties taken down, in the first instance, to Demopolis, and there
tried before a United States commissioner.

Question. Is it not understood that the indictments were procured by radicals?
Answer. Yes, sir

;
there is no doubt about that. I will tell you the way some ofthem

started. This man, Sam Brown, a radical, made an affidavit before the United States
commissioner at Deuiopolis, about twenty-eight miles from Eutaw, and had the parties
carried down there. Brown left, and the cause was continued before the United States
commissioner on account of the absence of witnesses. These parties were then put
under a bond of $2,000 to appear at Mobile on a certain day to be tried.

Question. Does not the fact that this prosecution was instigated by that party ac
count sufficiently for the arrest of the white men?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
that accounts for the arrest of the white men. I am an attorney

in the defense, and I know what the defense is
;
and I do not see any reason why the

parties should be indicted.

By Mr. STEVENSON :

Question. How many white men were engaged in that riot ?

Aimcer. I do not know. Then 1 were probably about one hundred and fifty white
men in town that day ;

there were three or four drunk. I do not know how many
were engaged in the riot.

Question. How many did you see firing?
Answer. Well, I didn t see any particular man firing. I heard, as I stated before,

about forty or fifty shots.

By Mr. VAX TRUMP :

Question. How many negroes were there ?

Answer. Between 1,000 and 1,500.

By Mr. STEVENSON :

QiiexHon. How many white men did you see engaged in the riot ?

Answer. Well, I did not see any white men engaged in it not one.

Question. Did you not see any white man fire a pistol ?

Answer. I saw white men standing in the court-house door shooting up ;
but I never

saw any white man shoot at a negro ;
and I did not suppose any of them were doing

it till after the thing was all over.

Question. Whom did you see shooting pistols?
Answer. I do not recollect any one. I was sitting on the table

;
and I do not recol

lect seeing a single man shoot or fire a pistol that day.
Question. You do

n/&amp;gt;t
recollect seeing anybody shoot a pistol?

Answer. No, sir; I do not recollect seeing a single man shoot a pistol that day.
Question. Do you mean to say that you did not see anybody shoot a pistol that day ?

Answer. I saw, sometimes, arms sticking out of the door and tiring from the door.

Question. Whom did you see standing in the door when you saw pistols fired from
there ?

Answer. I only saw arms sticking out. I was sitting on a table looking sideways.
While the shooting was going on, my attention was most particularly directed to see

ing the negroes run.

Question. And in the whole of that affair you cannot say you saw a single man fire?

Answer. No, sir, I cannot.

Question. Did you say you wei e president of the democratic meeting held on the
other side of the court-house ?

Answer. No, sir
;
I said I was present at that meeting.

Question. What was your position in the democratic party ?

Ansu-cr. I am secretary of the central council of the democratic party of that county
Question. You had been present at the democratic meeting ?
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Ansn-cr. Yes, sir, I had been at the democratic meeting, and some gentleman was
speaking at the time.

Ques ion. Von had noticed the crowd of democrats present ?

AnNiccr. Yes, sir.

Question. I understood you to say that, so far as you observed, no strangers were
there from other counties or States?
A it nicer. There may have been strangers there, but I did not see them; I did not

notice them
;
there may have been several there, but I did not see them.

Question. I understood you to say that most of the murderers of Boyd, the body of
the crowd, were traced to Pickens County ;

did you say that ?

AnKicer. No, sir; I said that the grand jury of Greene County made a report to that
etfeet.

Question. What did the grand jury find as to the remainder of the crowd T

Answer. The report of the grandjury was published; I say the grand jury traced

thMn
Question. All?
Answer. I do not know whether it was all, or half, or one-third

;
but the report of

the grand jury was that they traced them to Moore s Bridge, which crosses the Sipsy
River, leading into Pickens County.

Question. Did the report of the grand jury convey the impression that they all went
there, or only a part of them ?

Answer. My impression from the report of the grandjury was, that they all went
there

;
that none of them belonged to Greene County.

Question. You say that you defended old Sam Colvin ?

Answer. Yes, sir, I defended him in regard to his complicity in killing young
Snoddy.

Question. What is your impression as to where the men who hung old man Colvin
came from ?

Answer. I do not know where they came from.

Question. Is there any impression that they came from Pickens County ?

Answer. Not that I know of; I never have heard where they came from
;
I only

heard the old man was killed by disguised men.

Question. And Boyd was threatening to prosecute those men, and said he knew some
of them.

Answer. Yes, sir
;
as I understood, Boyd said he had no doubt who some of them were,

and that he intended to hold the grand jury in session six months, unless he had some
of them indicted.

Question. And it was while he was talking in that way that he was visited and lulled ?

Auxicer. Not while he was talking.
Question. I mean about that time ?

Aiiwer. These things are attributed as causes of his having come to his death.

(Question. It was during the time he was generally talking in this way, or shortly
afterward, that he was killed ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
it is supposed that those declarations made in public had something

to do with it.

Question. Was it soon after he had made them ?

Answer. It was afterward.

Question. Soon after?
Answer. It was a short time after; that is, it was reported to be a short time. I

never heard till after he was killed, when they were all assigning causes for it, that he
had made them.

Question. Do you not think it probable that the same men who hung Colvin killed

Boyd .

Answer. I have no idea who killed Boyd, and I have no idea who killed Sam Colvin.

Question. Do you not t*iink it probable that the same outlaws who killed Colvin killed

Boyd?
J;/.vrrr. I have no opinion on that subject.
(Question. Have you no impression ?

Ansirer. No, sir; no impression. If I knew who killed Boyd, I could probably draw
some conclusion as to who killed Colvin, or rather whether they were the same parties.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Qi fjtttion. How long after the riot at Eutaw did Brown make this affidavit at Demop-
olis?

/ nswer. It was during the term of court the 1st of May, or a short time afterward
;

no, it was the latter part flf the term of court. I recollect that these parties were car
ried down to Uemopolis during the session of court. It was Saturday of the last week-
of the court.

(
t

&amp;gt;u&amp;lt; *tion. You mean in May last ?

Answer. Yes, sir. I am not sure as to the time.
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Question. Was not that the time they were at Mobile, before the grand jury ?

Answer. Yes, sir
; May last was the time they were at Mobile, and the making of the

affidavit was about rive or six mouths before that.

Question. Then it would be in November last ?

Answer. When was the riot ?

Question. In October
;
and I want to ascertain how long after the riot Brown made

the affidavit before the commissioner at Deniopolis?
Ansm-r. A short time afterward, I think.

Question. You made the remark that after that firing from which, you suppose, the
ball passed through your pantaloons, you got oh the table, and were sitting there
amused at the efforts of the negroes to get away ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Was the firing of which you have spoken, as coming from the door of the
court-house, going on at that time?

Ansjrer. Well, a part of the time
; they had started it and stopped ;

about twelve or
fifteen shots had been fired.

Question. You did not consider that there was any very serious riot on the part of the

negroes to indict them for, if you looked upon the firing as an amusement?
Answer. Well, sir, I had no idea that there was anything like a riot. I just thought

that it was a general Stampede ;
that some drunken fellows had got up a fuss for the

purpose of scaring the negroes and seeing them run. I had no idea that any negro
was hurt, till afterward.

Question. Was it an amusing spectacle to you to see half a dozen men firing out of
the door toward that crowd ?

Answer. They were not firing toward the crowd
;
I never saw a- man shoot toward

the crowd ; the shots were tired up above
; they were tiring up in the air

;
I saw these

men s hands raised.

Question. What was the shooting for?

Ansirer. .lust to make the negroes run, and to scare them; I had no idea that the

object was anything but to get up a general stampede.
Question. Did you see none of the negroes fall as if wounded ?

Answer. I saw several of them full. Nearly every tiring some eight or ten or twelve
would fall and roll up against the side of the fence, until they got the fence pjled so

deep that it gave way and fell.

Question. Had you then discovered that this ball had passed through your panta
loons f

Answer. No, sir; I had not discovered that, and I had not discovered that the negro
of whom I have spoken was shot.

By Mr. BECK :

Question. Did not the legislature of Alabama in 1866, when composed of men who
have since become democrats- before any negroes were in it, and before any carpet

baggers had gone there, ratify the thirteenth amendment, declaring slavery abolished ?

Ausu er. Yes, sir.

Question. Then that amendment was ratified, and the negro was really freed in Ala
bama by a democratic legislature ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

(Question. Had not that legislature granted to negroes all the rights that white men
had, including the right to testify in the courts ?

Answer. Yes, sir, they had.

Question. Was that a democratic legislature ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. That was before you had any republican organization, or any negro voting,
or any carpet-baggers there ?

Answer. Yes, sir, and such is now the law of the State.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. That was after the dispatch sent by President Johnson to the legislature
of North Carolina and Florida, stating that they could not be admitted under his policy,
unless they ratilied the thirteenth amendment J

?

Answer. I do not know what induced the legislature to do it.

Question. I am not speaking of the inducement; was it not after that dispatch had
been made public that the thirteenth amendment was ratilied by the Alabama legisla
ture in 1866 ?

Answer. I think it was. I do not know what induced or influenced the minds of

representatives. I was a member of the legislature at that time, and I know the

thirteenth amendment was adopted unanimously, with the exception of about seven

teen votes in the house.
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WASHINGTON, D. C., June 23, 1871.

Hon. RICHARD BUSTEED, sworn and examined.

] ,v tin- CIIAIUMAN:

. You are the United States district judge in Alabama?
I am.

Qm-xtion. Does your district comprise the whole State ?

Answer. There are three districts in the State; I am the judge of each of the dis

tricts.

(jKi-niiini. 1 lease state the knowledge derived by you from your official position and

your residence there as a citizen, as to the execution of the laws and the security of

property, person, and life in that State.

Answer. Do you mean the laws of the nation or the laws of the State?

Question. Either, so far as they affect the security of person, property, and life.

Answer. Of my own personal knowledge, I know of no interruption to the execution

of the laws of the State or nation in the State of Alabama.
(uestion. 1 las there been anything to prevent the full and just administration of the

in tlie Federal courts in which you preside, either in civil or criminal cases.

Answer. Never, except in one instance, since I have been in the State of Alabama.

Question. What was that?

Answer. The attempt of the State auditor to disobey an injunction of the district

court of the United States in the middle district, issued to restrain the collection of a
tax.

Question. He refused to obey your injunction ?

Answer. He disobeyed the injunction under the direction and advice, as appeared
subsequently, of William H. Smith, who was then governor.

Question. Did you attach him ?

Answer. He was attached.

Question. Did you compel obedience to that order ?

Answer. I did.

Question. Then the law was executed ?

Answer. It was.

Question. Have you any knowledge of any combinations of any character in that
State which either prevent the execution of the laws or interfere with the personal
rights of any individual ?

Answer. I have no personal knowledge whatever on the subject.

Question. What knowledge have you, derived from your position as a public officer,

upon which you can place reliance sufficient to report the knowledge to this committee ?

Answer. A year or more ago, at Huntsville, in the northern district of the State, an
indictment was found in the district court of the United States against a number of

persons (I forget the exact number) for an outrage upon a colored man. That indict
ment is untried. At a recent term of the district court of the United States in the
middle district of Alabama, two indictments were found under the enforcement act
of 1870, for alleged combination of persons to harm individuals. In relation to those
two last cases I wish to say that the district attorney informed me that one of them
was very apparently not upon, political grounds in the least. It was the case of a

very outrageous libel published by one man against another, the person who was so

libeled meeting the person who had libeled him, together with another person, a negro,
and beating him. Those are the only official cases 1 know of. Those two cases are
also untried.

(Jin-Niton. In what county did that case happen for which the indictment was found
at Huntsvillc?

Answer. I forget whether it was in Madison County or in some other county of the
northern district.

Question. What was the character of the offense charged?
Answer. It was a very grave one. The ill usage of the negro was of a very aggra

vated character exceedingly aggravated.
Question. What was the nature of the treatment inflicted upon him ?

Answer. Beating him and assaulting him with knives. It was a very aggravated
case apparently.

(
t
hiextinn. \Yas it a case arising out of an altercation, or was it committed by persons

in disguise .

Answer. I do not recollect which it was. I have no knowledge of the case except as

judge of the district court, and from the communications made to me by the then dis
trict attorney of that district.

Question. Does your information enable you to say how that was ?

Answer. It does not now
;
I have no such recollection as enables me to speak of it at

this time.

Question. Have you such information as to the state of affairs in Northern Alabama
as will enable you to say whether there has been any interference with the rights of
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persons or property, or whether life has been taken, by combinations of individuals
going in disguise ?

Anxu cr. I have 110 such personal information as enables mo to state.

Question. Have you any such official information ?

Answer. None.

Question. Have you any information that you can give to the committee as bearing
on the subject which they have under investigation the execution of the laws in that
State, and the security of person, property, and life?

Anwcr. I have- nothing but an
opinion,&quot; based on my judicial action in the State, and

11 iy experience during my residence there.

Question. In what part of the State do you reside ?

Answer. In three parts ;
at Mobile, at Montgomery, and at Huutsville

Question. You preside in those places?
Answer. I reside there as well as preside.
Question. Have you three residences in the State?
Answer. I have, not any fixed residence; I have never been able to satisfy myself

that I reside in any one part of the State as against any other part.
Question. Do you think that either witnesses or jurors are interfered with or threat

ened in any manner for attendance on your court, or for the discharge of their duties
there?

Anxirer. Most certainly not.

Qut xtwn. Have you receuily held a court at Montgomery 1

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Who was the foreman of the grand jury there 1

Answer. A Mr. Perkins.

Question. Do you know him ?

Anxicer. Slightly.
Question. Is he a man of intelligence and respectability?
Anwr. He is a man of apparent intelligence ;

I know nothing of his character.

Question. Yon saw him in the, discharge of his duties at court?
AiiHU er. ~\ es, sir.

Quexl ion. Did he make any presentment as to the occurrence of these outrages com
mitted by persons in disguise .

Answer. When the grand jury was discharged for the term they presented their

report; it is hardly to be called a presentment, I think.

Question. It is not a presentment naming anybody ?

Annu er. No, sir.

(Juextitt. Did it find the general fact that outrages had been committed by persons
in disguise in the northern portion of the State, or any part of it ?

Answer. I think that upon reading it, yon -will find that they hardly found that as a
fact

;
it was arrived at rather intercut ially than as a fact, I think.

Qwxiiun. Did you charge the grand jury at the commencement of that term ?

Answer. I did.

Question. Did you charge that they were, required to find any information of this

kind, even although the law was distasteful to the people ?

Answer. I did. I charged them that the action of Congress in respect to the enforce
ment law and the Ku-Klux legislation was within the power of Congress, and that
however distasteful laws may be to people, they must be obeyed.

Qtrcxlion. Did yon see any indication in the public press of the State, that for tho

discharge of his duty as foreman of the grand jury under your charge, Perkins ought to
be the subject of a Ku-Klux outrage?
Answer. I think tho report the grand jury made was not warranted by the circum

stances as they existed.

Question. That is not the question. After the discharge by Perkins of his duty as
foreman of the grand jury under your charge, and the making of his report, did you see

any indication in any of the newspapers of the State that he would be a fit subject for
a Ku-Klux visitation?

Ansu-ei: No. sir. There were proceedings taken before me by the district attorney,
Mr. Minnis, growing out of an article in the Selma Times

;
and an application was

made for a bench warrant for the arrest of Mr. Sappold, the editor of the Times.

Question. Is the article of which you speak the one in which these sentences occur,
referring to Mr. Perkins and his associates f

&quot;Our opinion was then, and is now, that, if any hanging is ever to be done in this
section by Kn-Kluxes, that the men whose names were attached to that circular would
bo a judicious selection, and one eminently fit to be made. I5ut Mr. Perkins, esq.,

though he did not sign that card, goes to Montgomery, and in his official capacity as
foreman of the grand jury of a United States district court, says that in this district

there have- been frequent and outrageous violations of law. and by thus speaking, calls

for the enforcement of the infamous Ku-Klux bill ?
&quot;

Answer. I think that is the article.

21
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Question. The article from which I have just read appeared in the paper dated May
30, 1871. Was that about the time ?

*-lnxwer. 1 think it was. If I had my scrap-book here, I could tell you accurately.
Question. Did you look upon that as an incitement to outrage against the foreman of

the grand jury because of the discharge of what he deemed his duty, whether he was
mistaken in his view or not?

.-Inxwcr. My recollection of the article is, that the reference to the hanging by Ku-
Klux was referable to some other paper which Mr. Perkins had signed while a resident
of Selnia.

Question. State whether the article which I now hand you is the article to which you
refer. If so, it Avill be appended to your testimony ?

Answer. (After examining the article.) That is the article. [See pages 329, 330.]
Question. That appeared after Mr. Perkins had acted as foreman of the grand jury in

your court ?

An*irer. I believe it did.

Question. Did you look upon that as having no tendency to interfere with the admin
istration of justice in that court, or to incite to the commission of violence upon the
foreman of the grand jury for having discharged his duty ?

Answer. I did not so regard it.

Question. What was the party politics of Mr. Perkins
;
was he a democrat or a

republican ?

Answer. I really do not know.
Question. Have you any knowledge of the party character of the paper in which the

article referred to was published? &amp;gt;

Ansirer. I believe it to be a democratic paper ;
and that part of the article which

speaks about the hanging by Ku-Klux, refers to an act of Mr. Perkins which had
reference to the Selma people some document or other which had been published up
there.

Question. Is there any state of public sentiment in that part of Alabama which is

calculated to interfere with the execution of either of the acts of Congress you have
referred to the enforcement act of 1870, or the Ku-Klux law of 1871 ?

Answer. I think there is a very decided public sentiment against them both. I do
not think that public sentiment goes to the extent of any desire or attempt to inter
fere with the execution of those laws.

Question. Have you yet tried any cases nnder either of them ?

Answer. No, sir. I gave a construction to the sixth section of the act of 1870 upon
an application to me as a committing magistrate in the middle district. I gave such a
construction as gave effect to the law of Congress. I held that the law was intended
to embrace every combination of two or more persons to do any injury to any citizen
in any respect touching his life, his property, or his happiness. Subsequently, when I
was holding the circuit court with Mr. Justice Woods, at Mobile, the same question in
substance arose upon a motion to quash the indictments, if I recollect aright. Mr.
Justice Woods concurred with me in the view which I had previously taken of the
enforcement act

;
and he wrote and read the opinion of the court, on that subject. la

charging the grand jury in the middle district at Montgomery within a short time, I

reafiirmed the power of Congress to pass this legislation, but there have been no trials
of indictments found either under the enforcement act or under the Ku-Klux legisla
tion.

Question. We understood you as expressing the opinion that the facts did not justify
the finding of .the grand jury of which Perkins was foreman?
Answer. The presentment you mean ; I did think so.

Question. That presentment was that there were numerous outrages committed by
persons in disguise against citizens in the northern district of the State?
Answer. I think not. I have the presentment at my hotel.

Question.
There is a quotation from that presentment in the article already referred

.

Ansirer. Well, the article written editorially and the quotations will give you no
^

idea of the presentment itself.

Question. What was the general effect, of the report or presentment, whichever you
call it ?

Answer. It was rather an argument derived inferentially from what did not appear
before the grand jury than from what did appear before it. It was rather an argu
ment by inference than a statement of fact.

Question. Were you acquainted with the testimony given before the grand jury ?

Answer. I could not be, of course.

Question. That testimony was known only to them ?

Answer. I presume so.

Question. Your opinion is based upon your want of information ?

Answer. Upon this report.

Question. I speak of the existing state of affairs in that portion of the State. You
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said you Lad not information which would enable YOU to speak of the condition of

things there ?

Amii cr. I have no information that enables me to state whether there have been any
violations of law other than those which have been presented in the form of indict
ments in my own court.

Question. The grand jury spoke from testimony with which you were not acquainted !

Anstrer. I do not know about that.

Qnc^iion. You do not know upon what evidence they made their report ?

Ansu cr. My recollection of the report and its weakness is that it rather argues infer-
f ntially from the absence of witnesses than makes positive statements from the pres
ence of witnesses

;
that is my recollection.

Mr. VAX TKUMP :

Question. Was that patent on the face of the paper ?

Answer. That is my idea.

By the CHAIRMAN:

Question. Taking thai view, to what motive do you attribute this article suggesting
that these, persons would be the proper subjects of a Ku-Klux visitation ? What effect
do you think that would be likely to have upon a community in which it is alleged
there are bands of Ku-Klux ?

Anwr. For my &amp;lt;&amp;gt;wn part I pay very little respect to the vaporous and rabid writings
of political editors; 1 have very great contempt for them myself; they have no intlu-
, nce upon me : I cannot suppose they iniluencc other people very greatly.

Question. I am not asking for their influence upon you.
An nicer. I suppose they do not influence others. I judge others by myself. I sup

pose that gentlemen of education, intelligence, and courage disregard with great con-

teniptnonsiu ss such publications; I know I do.

Question. Have you any knowledge as to who compost; the class called Ku-Klux,
in that State, if such exist

;
arc they gentlemen of education and intelligence?

Ausitrr. I think they were, sir : 1 think that as a general thing they were
;
those

who did compose such organizations 1 have no doubt were gentlemen of education
and intelligence.

(Jitexlion. To what extent did those organizations exist, in your belief?
Ansicer. Well, my opinion on that point is the merest matter of belief: I believe

that they did exist to a very considerable extent in the northern district of the Slate
at one time.

Question. How long since?
Answer. Perhaps a year and a half ago.
Question. To what part of the State do you wish your remarks to apply ;

can vou name
the counties which compose the northern district?

Anstcer. You have me at a disadvantage; I cannot do it.

Question. You could with the map before you ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir. (Witness examines map.) I should name Lauderdale, Jackson,
Franklin. Lawrence, Morgan, Marion, Winstor. Blount, Madison, Calhoun, and there
may be others. I do not speak very familiarly about it.

Question. Those are the counties in which, according to your belief, the organization
did exist a year and a half ago?

Answer. On the assumption that they are within the northern judicial district, I

refer to those counties.

Question. Did the organization commit any violations of law in that portion of the
State?

Ansicer. Not to my personal knowledge.
Question. For what purpose did the organization exist, so far as your information

goes ?

Ansiccr, I do not think I can give a very accurate answer. I do not know.
(Question. What were the facts which impressed upon you the belief that the Ku-Klux

organization did exist?
Answer. The fact that I was so informed.

Question. And was composed of men of intelligence ?

Answer. The fact that I was so informed.

Question. From whom did you derive that information?
Ansiver. From a gentleman resident in Madison County, at Huntsville.

Question. Who was he?
Ansiver. I prefer not to give his name. I have no doubt he was entirely sincere in

giving me the information.

Question. Did he speak of it as information that was positive ?

Answer. He did.

Question. He had positive information of the existence of Ku-Klux?
Answer. He had.
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Question. Unless there is some reason of public policy why hi name should he with -

held, he is the very gentleman whose name we would like to have.
Answer. I cannot give his name unless I am compelled; and I trust I shall not he

compelled.
Question, Do you decline to give his name?
Answer. I hope you will not put mo in that attitude. I think the information was

confided to me confidentially, and unless there be some reason of public policy requir

ing it, I trust you will not compel me to answer. I believe what he said to be true.

Question. Do you believe he was a member of the organization himself?
Answer. I do &quot;not

;
I know he was not

;
but he was a southern gentleman, and a mau

whose opportunities of knowledge were very good.
Question* Have you any objections to stating what he said ?

Answer. Not the slightest. He merely stated that the Ku-Klux did exist in. the
northern district of the State, and that he had seen them.

By Mr. POOL :

Question. Did he state the purpose of the organization?
Answer. No, sir.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. That was the extent of the information, he gave you ?

Answer. That was the extent of it; and aside from that I have no personal knowl
edge on the subject of the existence of the Ku-Klux.

Question. Did he say how extensive the organization was ?
ft

AauMxr. No, sir.

Question. Did he state whether it existed in each of those counties T
Answer. No, sir, he did not state.

Question. Did he state how many members were in it ?

Ansu er. No, sir.

Question. Unless you have some other fact .bearing upon the general subject of inquiry,
which you deem it proper to communicate to the committee, I have no further ques
tions to ask.

Answer. I do not know of anything that I can on my own motion suggest to you
which would be desirable or useful.

i

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question., When were you appointed judge ?

Answer. In 1863.

Question. By whom ?

Answer. By President Lincoln.

Question. You have not been in the State of Alabama all the time since your appoint
ment I

Answer. I have not. I first held court in Alabama in November, 1865. I first went
into the State in July, 1865.

Question. Have you had any difficulty in executing the laws or the orders of the
court f
Anwver. Not the slightest, except in the case to which^ have referred.

Question. What is the demeanor of the lawyers, jurors, and suitors in the court?
Answer. Always respectful utterly so to the court. I choose to make a distinction

between the court and the person who fills the office of judge.
Question. Is it necessary to employ the United States troops to enforce any of the or

ders of the court ?

Answer. Not in the least.

Question. What, in your opinion, is the condition of Alabama as respects obedience to
the Government of the United States f
- Answer. I think that the people of that State are resolved upon obeying the laws of
the country. I think they are not disposed to approve any violations of public law.

Question. Do you know anything in regard to the riot at Eutaw, except as it comes
before you officially ?

Answer. Not except as it comes before me in my capacity as judge of the circuit court
at Mobile, and as I read it in the newspapers of the State.

Que*ti&amp;lt;i. There has been no trial yet ?
Ansu-cr. No, sir

;
those; cases were adjourned upon motion of the Government for the

term. The Government was not ready to try them when wo held circuit court last at
Mobile. That was, I think, in April of this year.

Question. What is the character of persons holding office in the State of Alabama
under the constitution of 1868 ?

Answer. Their general character for intelligence is not good, and their general char
acter for honesty is not good.

Question. Do they command the respect of the people of the State ?

Answer. They most certainly do not.
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Question. Which class of persons in the State supplies the greatest number of crimi

nals, the whites or the blacks ?

Answer. The black people. They are the most ignorant: and ignorance is apt to
furnish more criminals than knowledge.

Question. Do yon know anything of the financial condition of the State?
AiiNW-cr. I do not, except as I read it in the newspapers and in the reports of the

money-market.
Question. How does it appear from the reports of the money-market ?

Answer. The financial condition of the State of Alabama is very good indeed, much
&quot;better than it was.

(Jiiexfwn. Uetter than it was at what time ?

A twicer. It is better to day than it &quot;\va during the administration of William H. Smith
as its governor, .a great deal better.

Question. Do you know anything of the character of a nuui named Rev. Mr. Lakin ?

Anxicer. I know Mr. Lakin.

Qutxtion. What do yon know of him ?

A ti ftwet: lie has called upon me when I have gone to ITantsville to hold eonri
;
and

that is about all 1 know of him.

QiK xtivti. lie made a statement. here in reference to your court. He was speaking of

parties v*ho had been identified and indicts! before the United -States court at Hunts -

villo under the civil-rights bill. I will re:;d u part of his examination :

By Mr. STKTKXSOX :

&quot;

Qiu riivu. Have they been tried yet ?

..:!// s f- rr. &amp;gt;, o, sir. There never has been one of them tried in that court. I think
:liere were some thirty-throe indictments, us I learned from tJie foreman of the grand
.jury, aud lV-n one of his colleagues ; and seven of those indictments were for man
slaughter and. murder in the Urst degree.&quot;

Were- there Thirty-three- indictments in your court, and seven of them for man
slaughter and murder?

_K&amp;gt;!?;;rrr. Ub, no, sir; nothing of the kind,

Qaexliou. Then that statement is fatae -

Attxu-ii: Well, it is not the f;&amp;gt;ct.

ij&amp;gt;n*1i&amp;lt;-&amp;gt;&amp;gt;i.

He says tJtiY oi all (.hose thirty-three persons indited, bnt two had been ar

rested, although seven of them were murderers, and t.hat the Two arrested were ar

rested for illicit distilling. Is that statiiinent true ?

A nwcr. I should think not. 1 am mt the district attorney, an.d I am not the mar-
&amp;gt;haL I o;m only s])cuk from such knowledge as would nanirully come to inoas judge ;

I do not know anthin about it : but I d&amp;lt;&amp;gt; not think it can be. true.

IIy tli

QvcHlien. The question which h;),s beeu asked is whether .the facts stated are true :

:not whether it is true that Charlton stated them to Lakin.
Aite-ti-* i: I dt&amp;gt; not rhink the facts can possibly be as stated : I think if so they would

certainly have come to my knowledge.

L\v Mr. BL.VJU:

Question. If there hud been thirty-three indictments found in yo-ir court muVr tht

vivil-riglits bill, and .seven lor manslaughter and murder, is it not a very stviking fact,
which would come to your knowledge

&amp;gt;

Anxice): I think it certainly would have *;ome to my knowledge ;
it would hove been

very -extraordinary if it had not. The then district .attorney was a zealous, faithful offi

cer, and my relations with him were those of personal kindness and free intercourse.
(
t

&amp;gt;

&amp;lt;ie* flu it. .As this is an entirely new class of cnses. in v Inch the court before Lad no

jurisdiction, the finding .of so large a number -of indictments, .and for crimes so grave
.as manslaughter and murder, could not, under the circumstances, have escaped your
attention ?

AIIXH-C): I think not : I think it would have been inrpossible.

Qw^iion.. 1 read also from the iestimouy -of Mr. Lakin, tlie following :
&quot; BeforeJudge

Charlton reached his home in Sumniervilie he was clandestinely murdered, in Decatur,
in the night, seven buckshot entering his body.&quot; Do you know anything about that 5?

-iniiwet: I know .that ho was murdered
;
but ns I niMlerstand the i aot, it was ?M&amp;gt;t on

his return iromdoing duty as a grand juror. The court had adjourned. Judge C. uirl-

tou had been into an-other State: Jie took the train of cars for Decatur., and was going,
as I am informed, to the house of a Mr. Hinds in Decatar, when he was murdered in

ihe way described.

Qiwxtioii. Is it known for what he was mui-d(&amp;gt;red ?

Aitxw&amp;gt;:i: There art; two theories upon that subject. He was a very excellent foreman
of a grand jury, and appeared to be a very desirable, good citizen. Then; are two
liieories as f &amp;gt; the manner -of his death. There is .a theory that his acting upon the
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grand jury made him obnoxious to some persons ;
and there is a theory that he was

one of two duns in the neighborhood that were constantly at war one with another.

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

Question. What sort of clans?
Answer. I mean arising out of private family feuds.

By Mr. POOL :

Question. Was ho foreman of the grand jury of the United Statescourt at Huntsville ?

Answer. He was.

r,y Mr. BLAIR :

Question. The statement is :
&quot; Before Judge Charlton reached liis home in Summer-

ville he was clandestinely murdered in Decatur, in the night.&quot;

. If that statement is intended to convey the impression that his murder took

phi IT ui)ou his return from executing his duties as foreman of the grand jury, it is an.

error, as I am informed and believe. I have no personal knowledge on the subject.

Question. I read further from the testimony of Mr. Lakiu:

&quot; By Mr. POOL :

&quot;

Question. Have any of those parties who were indicted at that time been arrested at

all ? ^
&quot; Answer. No, sir. Their names OTe not on the marshal s books at all. There have

been no capiases issued, and consequently no arrests and no trial.

&quot; By Mr. BLAIR :

&quot;

Question. This was in the United States court ?
&quot; Answer. Yes, sir.

&quot;

By Mr. VAN TRUMP :

&quot;

Question. How long ago ?

&quot; Answer. A year ago last fall.
&quot;

Question. Do you know the reason why they have not been prosecuted ?
&quot; Answer. I think our courts in Alabama are a farce

;
not only a farce, but a mockery.

&quot;

Question. The United States courts ?
&quot; Answer. I think all of them put.together are.&quot;

The CHAIRMAN. It is proper to remark that Mi . Lakiu appeared afterward and made
an explanation of that part of the testimony.
Mr. BLAIR. What was his explanation ?

The CHAIRMAN. It is on page 153 of the testimony. I will read it :

&quot;

Question. You have expressed a wish to me to make an explanation of a statement.
which you gave iu your testimony yesterday regarding the courts of Alabama. You
may now go on and make whatever explanation yon wish on that subject.

Answer. I wish to say this : I intended, in what I said, no reflection upon the judges.
of the courts. I am not a lawyer ;

but oil mature reflection I am of the opinion that,
in le^al parlance, what is meant by the term court ^s. the presiding judge. I hart

no intention of casting any reflection upon the judges of the courts. I know most of
the judges in Alabama, and am very intimate with some of them. I regard them as
above suspicion, men of line legal abilities, and I know the earnest and persevering efforts.

they have made to bring criminals to justice. My remark was based upon this fact :

That in regard to all of the murders and outrages that I have known in Northern Ala
bama I have not known of one person brought to justice and punished. The judges,
have delivered very able and pointed charges to the grand juries, but somehow&quot; crimi
nals have slipped through the courts unwhipped of justice. When I said that our
courts were a farce I had no reference whatever to the judges; I simply meant that
there was a system of influences, or something of that sort, which has enabled crimi-

e&amp;lt;eupe
.in whipped of justice; that is my meaning exactly.&quot;

Mr. BLAIR. I was not present when lie made that explanation. I was struck by his
I M-.-; statement on the subject, and also by the statement to which I have drawn the&amp;gt;

attention of Judge Uasteed, in reference to the number of indictments in the United
Slates courts. I knew it was impossible that indictments, to that number under that
law and for such grave oiVonses could have been found without the judge knowing it.

Answer. The indictment in the northern district to which I have referred as untried
was postponed, by consent of the district attorney, at the last session of the court iu
Huntsville. which was also in April of this year. The court has always been ready to

tiy (he indictments.

By Mr. BLAIR:

Question. Do you know Senator Warner?
AUNIW. I do, slightly.

Question. Was he ever summoned to serve as a juror in your court t
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Answer. He was.

Question. Did ho cxcn.se himself from service ?

Answer. He did.

Question. What was the ground of his excuse ?

Answer. That lie was a member of the senate of the State of Ohio.

Question. When was that ?

Answer. My recollection of dates is exceedingly poor. I think it was in 18.67;

although I would be unwilling to state it with any degree of positiveness.
Question. Do you know of any indictments in the district courts of Alabama for tho

violation of the election law ?

Answer. I do not think any such indictment exists in the courts of the United Statea
there. The only cases I recollect, are those I have already referred to, the case at

Hnntsville, the two cases in which indictments were recently found by the grand jury
at Montgomery, and the cases growing out of the disturbance at Eutaw, which were
postponed at the circuit court in Mobile.

Qi K!h&amp;gt;n. At whose instance were those cases postponed ?

AiiNicer. At the instance of the defendants, but upon the necessities of the Government.
The Government was not ready to try them, and the court was of the opinion that
tli&amp;lt;- defendants ought not to be longer held; that they were entitled to either post
ponement or a trial.

By Mr. VAX THUMP :

(Jnexlion. You have a law in Alabama to that effect ?

AHsim: I do not know about the State law. At all events, the court was clearly of
the opinion that they must either be tried or their cases be postponed, for it was un
willing to hold the defendants there at the mere will of the Government for any pur
pose.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. To what time were these postponed?
Answer. Till the fall term of the circuit court at Mobile.

By Mr. STEYEXSOX :

Question. The Government wanted a postponement till a later day in the term ?

Anwr. It asked that.

Question. At the term spoken of, about a year ago, do you know how many informa
tions or presentments to the grand jury were made out I do not mean bills actually
jbnnd, l&amp;gt;ut cases presented to the grand jury.

Ansinr. 1 do not think there Were more than two; that is my recollection.

Question. 1 mean of all criminal cases.

Aiixu er. I speak of criminal cases arising under the enforcement act.

Question. I speak of all cases.

Answer. I do not know.

P.y Mr. BLAIR :

Que-stio;\ There could not be any other criminal cases except for violation of tho
revenue laws?

Anvwcr. Only violations of the revenue laws.

By Mr. STEYEXSOX :

Question. I tfyeak of all cases.

Answer. There were not many; I do not recollect the number.

By Mr. BLAIR:

Question. I wish to cnll your attention to a statement of -Mr. Lakin, referring dis

tinctly to this class of cases : &quot;Answer. It was reported that they were all indicted.
It was before the United States court under the civil-rights bill.&quot;

Answer. That statement is exceedingly wild nothing could be much wilder.

Question. What in your judgment is the condition of affairs in Alabama, as to the
execution of the laws generally, and as to tho protection of life, libertv, and property
in the State ?

Answer. I am of the opinion that life and property are just as safe to-day in Alabama
us they are in any of the other States of the Union. I think there has&quot; been a very
marked change in these respects since the inauguration of the present governor of the
State. While William 11. Smith was governor of the State, I complained with a great
deal of bitterness, in a long letter which I wrote to Senator Spencer, as to tho want of
protection to life and person; but I am of the opinion that life and property are as safe
in Alabama to-day as they are anywhere.

By Mr. POOL :

Question. Mr. Latin in his testimony says that lie is not a lawyer. He says, &quot;It was



328 CONDITION OF AFFAIRS IN THE SOUTHERN STATES.

reported that they were all indicted.&quot; He also says,
&quot; I think there were some thirty-

three indictments, as I learned from the foreman of the grand jury and from one of his

colleagues.&quot; Do you know whether the grand jury had as many as thirty-three of
tliis class of cases under investigation I

Answer. I have no idea that they had.

Qucxiioii. Did they have any under investigation?
Aitwer. They must have had, because there was one indictment found.

Question. Is it not possible that Mr. Lakin, being as he states, no lawyer, may have
mistaken an investigation before the grand jury for an indictment?
Anwar. I think not. Mr. Lakin is a preacher, and he is a man apparently of cer-

tiiinly ordinary intelligence and capacity.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. What is Mr. Lakiirs general character in the community ?

Anxicer. I do not know, sir. I concern myself very little with the general reputation
of any person; very little indeed; not at all. I resist with very great industry any
scandal. I have done so all my life, and propose to do so.

By Mr. VAX TRUMP :

Question. Is he not understood to be pretty wild in his imagination in regard to facts ?

Answer. Those statements read to me by Mr. Senator Blair are exceedingly wild. Mr.
Lakin has been before you, and you are all judges of human character. He is a man
that talks a great deal.

Mr. BLAIR. We want this testimony, not simply for our own information, but for the
information of others.

Answer. Ho is possibly a man who makes statements without as much attention to a
basis for them as might sometiineis be desired. I should judge that from the conver
sations he has had with me when he has called upon me at Huntsville.

By Mr. POOL :

Question. Why have not those indictments other, than for the Eutaw riot been tried ?

Answer. You refer to the one at Huntsville, and the other two at Montgomery ?

Question. Yes, sir.

Anwer. The one at Huntsville has not been k ied, because it was postponed by con-
scut of the United States district attorney and the persons appearing for the defense.
The two cases at Montgomery have not been tried because the indictments have just
been found

; they are not two months old. These indictments were found under the
construction I gave to the enforcement act of Congress.

Question. Did the grand jury in the publication to which you have referred that

report made to the court or whatever it may be called complain that they could not

get witnesses before them ?

Answer. I prefer to speak of that report with a copy of it before me. I do not think

my memory of its contents sufficiently accurate to enable me to speak of it.

Quest ion.&quot;Yon have that report at your hotel ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Have you any objections to furnishing it to the committee ?

Answer. No, sir. I could also furnish, if desired, the proceedings upon the application
of the district attorney for a bench warrant against the editor of the Selma newspaper
and the answer which was tiled to a rule nisi, which I granted instead of a bench war
rant, and the opinion of the court which I delivered upon the application itself.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Is the report of the grand jury a part of those proceedings or is it a sepa
rate paper .

Answer. I have it separately and can furnish it if you desire it.

By Mr. POOL :

I desire that the report should accompany this evidence. [See page 330.]

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. 1 !nVe any of these Ku-Klux outrages, so far as you have heard, been com
plained of since the change, of administration in the State government?

Axsirer. My impressions are that there have been some since. That is my general
recollection of the newspaper reports.

Qucxt niH. Have the. perpetrators of any of them been brought to justice?
Ansu-o: I do not know, sir.

(Question. Had any been before? ,

Ansiccr. I do not know.
Question. So far as regards that class of outrages, has there not existed under all

administrations the dilnVurty of finding out the guilty parties and identifying them?
Ansicer. I think that difficulty has existed.
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Question. Has it &quot;been removed
&quot;by any change of administration ?

Answer. I think the only remedy that has been found is the legislation of Congress
and the investing of the national courts with jurisdiction of the crimes committed by
combinations of persons.

Question. Up to this time has there been, so far as you know, any.conviction in either
the State or the Federal counts for -what is popularly known there as a Kn-Kiux
outrage ?

Answer. I do not know anything about the State courts at all. There have been,
none in the Federal courts.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. Have you a copy of your charge to the grand jury at Huntsvillc ?

Answer. I have it at my hotel.

Question. Please send us a copy that it may bo made a part of your testimony. [Wit
ness did not furnish the document.]

By Mr. POOL :

Question. Has the passage of the recent acts of Congress had a good effect in the
State of Alabama in suppressing this kind of lawlessness!

Answer. I do riot know. I do not think sufficient time has elapsed to determine that

question. My impressions are that the legislation of Congress in that respect is des
tined to effect a public good. I think it is destined to repress violence at the hands of

persons who might otherwise hope to escape by the leniency of a State administration.
I think it will have a good public effect so far as that violence and disorder jire con
cerned. I do not mean to express an opinion as to its political character or citect at all.

By Mr. STEVEXSOX :

Question. Do you know how many persons were included in the indictment found at
Huntsville?

Answer. I think some four or five; that is my recollection, although about that I

am not positive.

By the CHAIRMAN:

Question. You do not refer to the whole number of persons against whom indictments
were sent before the grand jury?
Ansn cr. I refer to the number of persons who were indicted by the grand jury.

By Mr. STEVENSON :

Question. I mean indictments under the civil-lights bill

JHK.TCT. That is the only indictment pending under the civil-rights bill
;
and I think

it is the only one existing under that bill in the district-

By the CIIA-IIUIAN:

Question. How many indictments altogether, of all classes, were before the grand
jury at that term ?

Answer. There were very few
; perhaps not half a dozen of all classes.

Question. I mean at the term during which Judge Charltou was foreman.
Answer. At that term there were not half a dozen.

By Mr. STEVEXSOX :

Question. Do you know how many persons those half dozen indictments involved?
Answer. The indictment under the civil-rights bill involved say half a dozen; and I

should think there was not more than one person embraced in each of the other

indictments
; they were indictments for violations of the revenue laws.

[From the Selma Times, May 30, 1671.]

J. L. PERKINS, Esq. The above gentleman, a resident of this county, and treasurer

of it, an ex-mayor of this city, has, by the grace of God and his general good luck,
been acting in the distinguished position of foreman of the United States district court,
now in session at Montgomery.
We have always felt disposed to consider the above-named Perkins, esq.,as rather an

amiable gentleman, who had been improperly iniluenced by older heads, or rather

longer ones, and in many instances his -proverbial amiability had been imposed upon
by inen less scrupulous and less honest than he. and who were using the aforesaid Per-

k ins, esq., as a &quot;cat s-paw&quot; to pull their own chestnuts from the lire. In the incen

diary document which was disseminated here just prior to our election, and to which
his name, was attached, we took occasion, as soon as wo saw the circular, to say tha

we did not believe that he had ever signed it, and that his name had been used with-
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out his knowledge or consent. Perkins, esq., come out in a card and denounced tlio

document
;
and we published it for him. Our opinion was then, and is now, that if

any hanging is ever to be done in this section by Ku-Kluxes, that the men whose names
were attached to that circular would be a judicious selection, and one eminently lit to

be made. I Jut Perkins, esq., though he didn t sign that card, goes to Montgomery, and,
in liis official capacity as foreman of the grand jury of a United States district court,

says (hat in
&quot;

this district there have been frequent and outrageous violations of the
law,&quot; and by thus speaking, calls for the enforcement of the infamous Ku-Klux bill.

[f Perkins, esij., thought, and had the evidence, that these outrageous violations of

law had been. &amp;gt;r were, transpiring in this district, why did he not, as foreman of the

grand jury, with the power of the United States to back him, force the attendance of

witnesses and make out a case against the offenders ? Why act the skulker and ask to

be discharged from the duties devolving upon him as a grand juror, and say in the
sain.* breath in which he charges these violations of law and order, that,

&quot;

believing
that ourselves are no longer required in the interest of the -Government, we ask to be

discharged ?&quot;

In Northern Alabama Judge Busteed, from the bench, commended the people for their

general good behavior and obedience even to distasteful statutes
;
but here in the mid

dle district, where order has been almost universal, it remains for an ex-mayor of the
central

city,&quot;
the treasurer of the county, to traduce us as** people, and to report

such violations of &quot;law and order&quot; as would justify a declaration of martial law, and
a suspension o/ the writ of habeas corpus under the enforcement bill. In the name of
the people, both white and black, of this county and district, we denounce, the report
of the grand jury of which Perkins, esq., was foreman, as a vile slander which cannot
be substantiated by the facts, as is evidenced by his asking to be discharged without

doing a single thing to. prove the truth of the presentments offered. Perkins, esq., you
made a mistake.

Report of grand jurors of middle district of Alabama.

To the Hon. RICHAHD BUSTEED :

The grand jurors of the middle district of Alabama beg leave to make their report.
We regret to be compelled, from the evidence brought before us, to say we are forced

to the conclusion that in some parts of this district there have been frequent and out

rageous violations of law. Without provocation, both white and colored persons have
been beaten, whipped, shot at, wounded, and some killed, while in the peaceable pur
suits of the rights secured to them by the Constitution and laws of the United States,

by persons in most instances disguised, and whom it has not been possible, from the
evidence before us, to identify, except in the eases reported by us. We deplore this

state of things, and wish thus publicly and officially to express Our disapprobation and
to denounce all who are engaged in them, and pledge ourselves to put a stop to them,
so far as in our power, and call upon all good citizens throughout the State to aid the
authorities to bring these criminals to justice. We owe it to ourselves, our citizens,
and to the fair fame of our State to do this.

We are happy, howevcr,-to state that we find nothing in the evidence before us to

implicate the great body of the people in these outrages, or to show that there is any or

ganized band of Ku-Klux (so called) throughout the district, but believe that the great
ina.-s of the. people are opposed to such an organization, which exists only in certain
localities in the counties of Macon, Coosa, and Tallapoosa, and these coniined to a few
persons.

Wit!) these views, and believing that our services are no longer required in the inter

est of the Government, we ask to be discharged.
J. L. PERKINS,

Foreman Grand Jury.

We object to the report on account of its generalities, preferring to specify the partic
ular occurrences.

BENJ. F. NOBLE.
WM. H. SMITH.

Resolved, That the thanks of this grand j ury are due, and hereby tendered to the Hon.
Richard Busteed, for his able, dignilied, and impartial charge to us, and for his gentle
manly bearing toward us, while, engaged in the discharge of our duties; and also to

the Hon. J. A. Minnis, district attorney, for his ability and courtesy while assisting and
advising us as to I he eases before us, and also to Hon. R. W. Healy, United States mar
shal, and other officers, for their politeness and care for our comfort.

J. L. PERKINS,
Foreman Grand Jury.
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WASHINGTON, D. C., June 23, 1871,

TURNER REAVIS, sworn and examined.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. In what part of Alabama do you reside ?

Annum: In Sumter County, about ten or twelve miles from the line between the
States of Mississippi and Alabama.

Question. How long have you lived there ?

Answer. Since July, 1838.

Question. What is your occupation ?

Answer. An attorney a practicing lawyer.
Question. Have you held any public position ill that county or State?
Answer. I was a circuit judge before the war.

Question. Do you hold any public position now, or are you practicing your profession ?

Answer. I am practicing my profession ;
I hold 110 public position. I resigned the

office of circuit judge, and have held no public position since, except that 1 was a
State senator during four years of the war.

Question. Do yon practice your profession throughout the circuit ?

Answer. Yes, sir; 1 practice it in every court in the circuit which is presided over by
Judge Smith

;
and 1 pmctico in several counties along the line in East Mississippi ;

also in Mobile and in Montgomery.
(Question. Give to the committee your view of the condition of affairs in that portion

of the, State so far as regards the execution of the laws and the safety of life, person,
and property.

Answer. Well, sir, I have been very well acquainted, for a good many years past, in
the counties of Choctaw, Ring-gold, Sumter, Greene, and Pickens. They compose the

judicial circuit now, and I am at this time pretty well acquainted with the state
of things there, and with the state, of public feeling. My impression is that there is

more respect for law and there is less crime, committed now, and more peace and quiet

among the people, both white and black, than there has been at anytime since the
close of the war. But there are occasional crimes committed yet, though they are not
so frequent as formerly.

Question. Is there any obstacle in your courts to the administration of justice between
man and man as affecting civil rights.

Answer. I think not.

(JueNiion. Is there anything which prevents the trial, conviction, and punishment of
criminal offenders .

Answer. I think not. We have mixed juries, white and black, and the bur practice
before them as if they were all white, and the verdicts are about as correct, generally,
as they were at any time before the war, both iu civil and criminal cases. The state.

of feeling toward the judge of that circuit was very strong against him at lirst, but
1 think now in fact I know he is treated both by the bar and the law-abiding citizens

generally, who compose the great mass of the people, with the respect, courtesy, and
kindness, which are not only due to him as a man, but to the station that he occupies.
In one county I have heard that he was not on one occasion treated with that courtesy
he was entitled to, though he was treated with perfect respect while on the bench. I

heard too that he was so unpopular with a small portion of the people of Choctaw
County that some desperate, lawless men had burned his mill and his gin-house during
this last spring. On one occasion 1 saw an attempt of some drunken, desperate young
men to commit violence upon him. lie was very calm and self-possessed. He was
unarmed and they were armed openly armed. 1 was with him

;
we were walking

from the court-house. He told them that they were taking advantage of him; that
he was not armed and they were; and he would not make any explanation; he would
not talk to them under those circumstances. They wanted him to make some expla
nation of some remark he had made on the public highway. He was perfectly calm,

and self-possessed, and he declined to do it. Through my own personal influence I

induced those young men to go away and let him alone. That was the, last of it.

That is the only personal disrespect that I ever saw manifested toward him, and I

know of no effort on any occasion to prevent him from holding court except the latter

part of April last, when he should have held a court in Sumter, and could not on
account of his being sick. I understood that while he was sick he received an anony
mous letter warning him not to cross the Choctaw line. He had to cross that line to

come to Sumter. 1^ myself, wrote to Judge Smith that I did not think there was any
thing in that

;
that that was from some criminal who did not want to be tried, and

that he (the judge) could go there and hold court with perfect safety, and that I would.

guarantee) for myself and the bar, and the people generally, that he should be treated
with perfect kindness and respect ;

but unfortunately he was too ill to hold court,

Those are the only occurrences since Judge Smith has been on the bench that indicate 1

any difficulty in the administration of justice there. I do not think there is any ditd-

cuitv.
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Question. Have you any knowledge of proceedings in either of those counties calling

upon him to resign his office ?

Answer. 1 have no personal knowledge of it. I saw resolutions printed in the county

paper requesting him to resign. I was not present at the meeting, and I had nothing
to do with it. If I had been there those resolutions would not have been passed, I

think.

By Mr. STEVENSON :

QittuHoH. That was in your own county ?

Aiii-ira: Yes, sir. I do not live at the county seat, but seventeen miles north of it.

Those resolutions were very decidedly condemned by at least 95 per cent, of the white

people &amp;lt;&amp;gt;l the county; and it wa well understood, I think, both by Judge Smith and the

people, that (hose resolutions were passed in the interest of a man who wanted the

place himself in case Judge Smith could be forced out of it. There was nothing threat

ening in the resolutions. They merely stated that he was in possession of an office

which belonged to another
;
that the result of the elections had condemned the office-

tions had not been passed. I advised him not to resign ;
and the members of the bar

unanimously concurred in a letter which I wrote him requesting him not to resign,
and assuring him of perfect safety if he should come and hold court, and of perfect
respect to him both on and off the bench. It has not been long since I saw him at one
of his courts in the circuit in Pickens County. During the term Judge Smith was
treated with perfect kindness and perfect respect both on the bench and off. He was
invited out to dine and sup with the best citizens of the place, and was treated in all

respects as a native southerner, and indeed he is so treated wherever he goes. But
there are a few desperate, bad men who write threatening letters and try to intimidate
the judge, because they are personally interested in the criminal docket, and perhaps
would act in the same way toward any other judge.

Question. /In the discharge of his official duties, have you seen anything either with

regard to his capacity, fidelity, or integrity which would justify a proceeding of that
kind asking him to resign ?

Answer. None whatever. When those resolutions were offered, some of the members
of the bar came to me and proposed that we should write a letter to Judge Smith con

demning, so far as we were concerned, and so far as the law-abiding men of our part of
the county were concerned, those resolutions, and desiring to be understood as repro
bating them in every respect. We finally concluded, however, that it would be better
to call upon Judge Smith, when he came to our county to hold court, and in a public
manner express our disapprobation of those resolutions, and our approbation of his
conduct as a judge. I have practiced before Judge Smith ever since he has been on
the bench, and he has been, I think, as good a judge, for the experience he has had as
a judge, as I ever knew. I think he is strictly impartial and honest; he is perfectly
gentlemanly and courteous

;
and not a man has ever said a word about him to his

prejudice in my presence, except that they call him a &quot;

carpet-bagger.&quot; That is the

only thing that can be alleged against him that they regard him as an intruder.

Question. So far, then, as the constitution of the court in that circuit is concerned,
does it present in itself any obstacle to every man having his rights properly adjudi
cated ?

Answer. I think that Judge Smith is as impartial and judicious in the administra
tion of his duty as a judge as any man I ever knew. I have a very kind regard for
him myself. When he first came there to hold court, the political feeling was very
strong against all that class of citizens WT

!IO are commonly called &quot;

carpet-baggers&quot; and
&quot;scalawags.&quot; I had never seen Judge Smith myself. I went round to members of the
bar on the day that court was to convene, and told them I thought it was our duty to
treat Judge Smith with proper respect, and we ought to go and call upon him and
assure him he would be treated with the respect that was due to the place he occupied.
Being one, of the older members myself, I proposed we should all call upon Judge
Sn;ii h and assure him of the treatment that was duo to him as a judge. I led the way
and all the members of the bar followed my example. There has never been the
slightest difficulty between him and any member of the bar, nor between him and any
suitor in court, except this unauthorized attempted assault which I mentioned awhile
ago.

Q.ti.-it Htn. Probably that is the case of which he gave us an account himself, where
young men came into the court-house armed.
Answer. That is the same gang.
Question. There is a class of cases alleged to have occurred through that region of

the State, commonly known as Ku-Klux crimes and offenses. If you have any knowl-
9 edge of them, state where they have been committed, and whether they have been tho

subject of judicial investigation in any case.
Anawcr. I know that great crimes have been committed secretly and by disguised
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men. I menu I know it by common report. I have no personal knowledge of any
Kn-Klnx organization, or any other secret organization in violation of law or for

political, purposes. I do, however, know that great crimes have been committed;
and when I heard that they had been committed I was told, at the same time, that

they were committed by Ku-Klux. I know that whenever one of these crimes has
been committed in the circuit in which I practice, Judge Smith has taken the matter
in hand, and in his charges to the grand jury and otherwise has done and said every
thing that he could do to bring the offenders to justice to ferret them out. But I am
not aware that any person concerned in any one of those crimes, so far as I have heard,
has ever been found out by the investigation of a grand jury, or in any other manner;
and I am pretty sure none&quot; of them have ever been brought&quot; to trial or to punishment.
Those crimes, however, have almost entirely ceased since the State election last year.

(Jitcsiion. When yon speak of criminals being effectually brought to justice, yon speak
of those cases which have actually been brought to trial ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

(Jneslioii. In this class of cases the difficulty exists in ascertaining who are the offend
ers and arresting them ?

Answer. Yes, sir, that is it. I can give you a case in point : Last year, or year before,
a young man by the name of Boyd was assassinated, in Greene County, by a band of
armed men. He was the register in chancery, and was county attorney for Greene
County. At the next term of the circuit court of that county, Judge Smith gave the

grand jury a very energetic and vigorous charge, and appointed a very energetic, vig
orous, and competent attorney in the place of Mr. Boyd. They had as good a grand
jury mixed grand jury as 1 ever saw sit in that county. We had the most intelli

gent negroes that there were in the county, and the most intelligent white men. The
grand jury remained in session during the whole term of the court two weeks and
the prosecuting attorney, who was a friend of mine, told me that he had witnesses
summoned from the vicinity of every bridge and ferry in the county ;

that he thought
he must have had nearly five hundred witnesses examined and cross-examined ; that
the grand jury and he did their utmost to get on the track of the perpetrators, and that

they could not get the slightest hint or clew toward linding out any one man.
(Juextion. Were; you in attendance at the Greene County court during that term ?

Answer. I was. There was a gentleman by the name of Minnis sent down there by
the governor, 1 think, to assist in the prosecution. Mr. Minnis staid in my room one
or two nights, and he told me he was satisiied nothing could be found out. I think I

know the secret of that murder. It was not for political considerations. A short time
before some negroes in that county had murdered and robbed a white man in a very
barbarous manner. They were arrested and confined in jail. By some means they
made their escape. They were arrested by some white men in the, neighborhood in

which they had committed this crime, and they were immediately killed, either by
hanging or shooting. Mr. Boyd, being the prosecuting attorney, indiscreetly, so far

as his own personal safety was concerned, remarked publicly, 011 the streets of
Eutaw. one day, that he knew the men who were concerned in the murder of those

negroes, and that he intended to indict them, and have them brought to justice, if he
had to summon every man in the county to accomplish that purpose ;

that he intended
to see that they were punished for the crime. It is supposed, and I have no doubt it

is true, that what Boyd said was communicated to the men concerned in the murder of
the negroes, and that they took his life for their own self-protection.

(jHCxtion. From the investigation which you made of that case during the time you
were in attendance at the court, have you any doubt of Boyd s murder having been
committed in pursuance of an organized conspiracy ?

Answer. That is not my opinion. My opinion about the Ku-Klux is, that there is no

organized clan or society. I think that there are bad men, lawless men, dissipated

men, who on particular occasions, either to avenge real or supposed injuries to them
selves or real or supposed crimes against society, undertake to band themselves to

gether (only a few of them) to administer lynch law. When they accomplish that pur
pose that is the last of it until a new occasion arises for a similar administration of

their code.

QuwtioH. I hat is your view of the general question. As to this particular instance,
was it not your impression that, whether for temporary or for permanent purposes,
this particular murder Avas the result of an organized conspiracy

Answer. Yes, sir; organized, I think, for the particular occasion. I do not think it

was the result of a general organization, but of a conspiracy to accomplish that par
ticular crime. I have no doubt about that.

(Question. From what you learn, were the persons who committed that crime disguised
in the same manner as persons who committed other secret crimes, whether for the

purpose of administering lynch law or not ?

Answer. I do not believe&quot; I have ever heard of a crime being committed by disguised

men, except that and one- other case. I have heard of crimes. One was committed
near my house; but my servants told me the men were not disguised on that occasion.
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I never understood, and never inquired, the particular disguise these men appeared
in who murdered lioyd.

VW*//(H. Living in that community, and having the opportunities which your pro
s uivcs you to learn of alleged occurrences of lawlessness, give us briefly your

view of thai organization or association, or whatever it may be, which is ordinarily
kno\\ n Ilinv by the name of Ku-Klux.

.-luxn-t r. I have staled all that I can say on that subject, and that is, that there are,
in perhaps all the counties I have named, a few bad, desperate, dissipated men, who
band themselves together, either to avenge real or supposed wrongs to themselves or

real or supposed crimes committed against society; and they accomplish what they

propose to do, either disguised or undisguised ;
and there the matter stops until a new

occasion arises, when perhaps an entirely different set of people, in a different neigh
borhood, will d:&amp;gt; precisely the same thing without any concert of action with any por
tion of liie people in other parts of the country. I mean by this that these men band
themselves together just as they used to do in old times to administer lynch law, and
thai the hand Oasts lor the time being only, not as a permanent organization. That
is my opinion.

Querfkm. To what extent have offenses been committed in that manner through the
counties you have named? How many persons have been victims of such proceed
ing^ .

JMMC&amp;lt;T. I know of but one person who has been assassinated in our county. He
was a negro who was formerly my slave. He was a favorite with me. He was a Baptist
preacher, and was greatly indulged ;

he had his own way. He was quite an old man.

By Mr. VAX THUMP:

Question. Give us his name
AHNIW. His name was Richard Burke. A short time previous to his death I was at

Livingston, the county seat, attending to business in the probate court. While I was
there the day arrived which had been appointed for the republicans to meet and make
their county nominations. On the evening before this day, my local law partner in

Livingston received a dispatch from my town, stating that a hundred armed negroes
had passed through Gainesville and were on the way to Livingston ;

that they had

stopped at Gainesville and obtained quantities of ammunition. That took us all by sur

prise ;
at least it took me by surprise. I had no idea that there was to be any assem

bling with arms. The wThite people did not meet there with arms, and I did not sup
pose the colored people would do so either. Very soon after that a dispatch was re

ceived from Captain Johnson, 1 think, who commanded a steamboat on the Tombigbee,
that in passing up the river to Demopolis he had seen groups of negroes on the banks
of the river all with guns who said they were going to Livingston to attend tho

meeting next day ;
that they had been ordered to attend with their arms. Very soon

at ! er that a dispatch was received there from Eutaw that Major Hays had engaged pas
sage for OIK; hundred negroes to Livingston the next day. Well that produced a great
deal of excitement there

;
and the citizens sent out messengers through the county to

&quot;

notify the white peOple that there was likely to be trouble the next day ; they scut out
the information that had been received by these telegrams. The result was that the
next morning the white people, old and young, came in with their pistols and double-
barreled guns ;

and the negroes came in from every direction with their guns and pis
tols. This old negro of whom I spoke was a leader

;
he was a member of the legisla

ture
;
and this meeting was for the purpose of nominating candidates for the county. -

Knowing him to be a man of influence I went to him and told him, Richard, this^
t hing will never do. You see how these people are excited. If the colored people come
here with arms, as the white men are here with arms, we shall have a difficulty. lam
authorized to assure; you that you may hold your meeting here and make as many
speeches as you please ;

and you will not only be permitted to do it, but you will be
protected in doing it.&quot; I said to him,

&quot; Go and tell your friends to go around town and
call a meeting.

&quot; I went to several of the prominent republicans and colored men, and
advised them to do the same thing. Some of them were ignorant people, and said

they&amp;gt;

had been ordered to do this by some white men
;
that they had received orders that

they were to go there with arms. What these negroes stated about tfeiug ordered to

go there with arms excited the white people a good deal.

By the CHAIRMAN:
(
t
&amp;gt;it&amp;lt;xtion. Did they name the white men who had directed them to come with arms?

&amp;lt; r. No, sir
;
I asked t hat

;
and they did not know or would not tell. The negroes,

however, did begin to go out and leave their arms
;
but in the mean time information

got t here, I do not know ho\v, that Major 1 lays would not be there, and there would bo
no speaking. The negroes t lien began to disperse. I went to the prominent white
republicans there, who were personal friends of mine, and told them I regretted they
should have had their meeting broken up ;

that that was not the design ;
that these

people only wanted to prevent the negroes from committing any outrage with their
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arms
;
and that if they wished to hold their meeting we would see that they should be

protected, and should have perfect peace and quietness. But in the mean time the
white republicans there became very much irritated and provoked, and they declined
to hold the meeting at all. When these negroes were advised to go and leave their
arms outside of the town, it was reported that this old negro who formerly belonged to

me, (Richard Burke,) advised them not to do it; saying that &quot;the white people were
there with arms, and that they (the negroes) had asmuch right to stay there with their
arms as the white people ;

that they must not give up their arms, nor leave them out
of town.&quot; I do not know that the old man ever said any such thing ;

but that was
the report. A few nights after that, when I was home, I heard rapid firing which ap
peared to be about a hundred yards off, and I supposed there was some&quot; trouble on
hand. My wife was very much frightened. I rose, and called up my servants to as
certain what the matter was, what the firing was about

;
and they said it was over at

Richard Burke s who lived about one hundred yards from me. There was a path lead

ing from my house to his. I asked them what the firing was for. They said a party
of men had gone there after another negro, who formerly belonged to me, whose name
was Ilayne Richardson, and who had refused to give up his arms at Livingston, and in
the scrimmage was shot by some persons whom I do not know not killed but wounded
pretty badly in the head. He said they were after Richardson, and that the firing was
at him

;
that lie jumped out of the window and ran away. I asked if anybody was

hurt, and was informed by the servants that there was not. I sent for Richardson s

wife and asked if any damage, had been done; she said no.&quot; I \vas very much grati
fied and went back to bed. Next morning when my servant came in, he informed me
that the old man, Richard Burke, was dead

;
had been killed about half way between

his house and mine, and that he was lying on the path leading between my douse and
his. I rose and went over as soon as I could, and was informed that he was lying there,
shot very badly in the head and elsewhere shot all to pieces ;

some colored friend of

his had been there before me and spread a cloth over him. I then called up one of rny
servants who was in the habit of staying over at Richardson s house, and asked him
what he knew about it. He said he was there when these men came; that he thought
there were about twenty men on horseback; that they came and hallooed; that he
went to the door, and they directed him to open it and raise a light. They asked him
if he had a lantern. He said he had; and he raised a light. They carried him out to
the gate, and put him under guard with his lantern, and they went in search of Hayne
Richardson, and old man Burke.

Question. Whom had they carried out to the gate?
Answer. My servant, who was holding the lantern. Only two or three got down to

go in search of the men they were after; and while he was there he raised his lantern,
so that he saw the face of ev.ery man distinctly; and lie said not one of them was dis

guised, and that, although he was very well acquainted in that part of the country, he
had never seen one of those men before. The citizens were very much excited. The
mayor of the town had an inquest called to examine everybody, white and black, that
was likely to know anything about it, except this man, Hayne Richardson, who had
concealed himself or fled from the State. He has never been there since. He was the

only person likely to know anything about it who was not examined as a witness; and
they got no clue whatever. I heard that about daylight the next morning a party of

three or four or five men were seen going in one direction, and as many in another
direction, and as many in another not as many as ten in any one company all going
in the direction of the Mississippi State line. That is all we have ever been able to

find out about that.

Question. How long was that after the meeting?
Answer. I do not think it was more than a week, if that much.

Question. Were they white men whom your servant saw ?

Answer. He said they were all white men.

Question. Had there been any act of violence committed or threatened against the
colored people before the time of that meeting, when they came there with their

arms ?

Answer. None whatever that I heard of. The state of feeling between the colored

people and the whites was entirely kind and friendly in that part of the county ;
arid

that circumstance made the fact that the negroes were assembling to hold their meet

ing with arms and ammunition the more surprising to the white people.

Question. When asked about bringing their arms, did they give any other reason for

it than the one you have already suggested that they had been ordered to bring
them ?

Answer. The only reason they gave me, and the only reason I heard of, was that they
were ordered to do it by white men.

Question. Did they say anything about how they proposed to use their arms, or

whether they proposed to used them at all ?

Ansiccr. They said they did not know anything about it; that they were ordered to

come there. Their language was,
&quot;

I was ordered to bring my arms to-day, and was
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ordered by a white mar
;&quot;

and tliey said that runners had been sent to them. Those
that came from about ray town told me that they received their message at church oil

the Sunday before at a colored meeting. s-
,

Question. Was it publicly announced to them in the church?
Amirn: It was a negro meeting ; they had a church of their own up there. They

said that at that meeting they received the message to come down.
lion. Did you understand whether it was announced in the church publicly pr

not .

;

Answer. I did not understand whether it was publicly announced or not. The im

pression left on my mind was that the announcement was not made to them at their

church publicly.

By Mr. VAN TKUMP :

Question. Do you know whether it was a white or a negro preacher who preached
that day to that congregation I

It was a colored man.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. They said that while they were there they got the notice ?

An nurr. Yes, sir.

Question. Did they actually make any attempt at violence on anybody with their

arms on that day ?

Answer. Not that I am aware of, unless this man, Hayne Richardson, attempted
violence at the time he was ordered to leave his arms in the country and when he re

fused to give them up. I think I understood that he undertook to use arms, and that

brought about a shot which struck him on the head and injured him seriously.

Question. Who directed him to leave his arms outside the town ?

Answer. I think it was a general understanding among the negroes themselves, after
the persuasion of the white people, that it was best for them to do so. I think they
yielded to white men whom they regarded as their friends, and who advised them to
leave their arms in the country.

Question. Was it colored men or white men whom Richardson resisted when they
wished him to leave his arms outside?

Answer. I eau only tell what I was informed.

Question. We understand that you have no personal knowledge of the matter.
Answer. After the negroes commenced leaving town, either to go home or to leave

their arms in the country, I heard one or two shots, and as soon as I heard those shois
I observed five or six young men on horseback, apparently very much excited, going
in the direction of these shots at full speed. It turned out, as I afterward heard,
that these shots were the mere discharge of the guns of some of the negroes for the

purpose of unloading ;
and I think it was these young men who brought on the diffi

culty with this man, Hayue Richardson. Who they were I do not know. I did not
know them when I saw them, and I do not know them now.

Question. Had there been any attempt at violence by the negroes against the whites
before that ?

Answer. I think not.

Question. Was there any on that day ?

Answer. None whatever. The only violence I heard of during the day was that
which occurred with this man, Hayue Richardson.

Question. The meeting then passed off with entire quiet on both sides3 with the ex

ception of that one little occurrence in connection with this one man ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Were there any local regulations of the town which prohibited the negroes
from bringing their arms into it, and which they disobeyed by doing so?

. !i:.&amp;lt;tcu . I think not.

(Question. Is it the practice of that country for men to go armed when they see proper
to do so ?

Answer. It is the practice of the country now for both whites and blacks to carry
side arms

;
but it is very rarely the case (in fact I never knew a case before) to go to ;i

political meeting, or any other public meeting, except for military purposes, with guns
and muskets and ritles. This is the only time I ever knew of it

;
and the excuse these

iii grors gave was Iliat they were ordered to do it.

(JiH Htioii. What was the date of that meeting ;
was it last fall ?

Answer. I cannot say.

Question. Was it during the political campaign of hist year ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;

it was some time previous to the election last year. I cannot re
member the month.

Question. Was it before or after the injecting at Eutaw 1

An Nicer . Before.

Question. How loug before ?
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Answer. I think it must have been a month or more before.

Question. Was Major Hays the only person announced to speak at that meeting?
Answer. No

;
I understood that Mr. Jones, of Marengo, was to meet him there?

Question. There was really no meeting held no speeches made ?

Answer. No
;
there were no speakers. I think, though, that the meeting would have

been held if it had not been for the excitement produced by both parties being there
with arms.

Question. You have given this statement as the reason for Burke being visited and
murdered. Is that the connection that the circumstances hold to each other in your
mind ?

Answer. That is the only reason I know of or have any suspicion of
;
that is the

reason I have heard assigned. Richard Burke was a quiet man. To be sure, he had
made himself obnoxious to a certain class of young men by having been a leader in the
Loyal League and by having acquired a great influence over people of his color.

Question. Was he a man of respectability and decency in his behavior as a colored
man

Answer. Very.
Question. As I gather from your statement he was firm in standing up for the rights

of himself and his colored associates?
Answer. Yes, sir: I think he was. lie was not extreme though. He was a moderate

man and would do almost anything that I advised him to do. He even consulted me
after lie became a member of the legislature, as to what course he ought to pursue,
what measures he ought to support, and what oppose; and I gave him the best advice
I know how assisted him all I could. He was very much attached to me. I had
owned him thirty years.

Question. Was the murder of Burke looked upon as having had any effect upon the
colored people in. intimidating them in that county ?

Answer. I am under the impression that it had in his immediate neighborhood; that
is. in the town of Gainesville and the surrounding country, where he was well known.
1 know that the negroes seemed to be profoundly dejected, some time after his death;
and someof the best of them came to consult me as to whether tliey ought not to emigrate
and go to Texas. They felt insecure. I advised them not to go. I said that those who
were doing well had better stay where they were; that if they conducted themselves
with propriety they would not be troubled. They took my advice and remain there
still.

(question. Had that fear any effect in preventing the presence of the negroes at the
election ?

Answer. I think not.

Question. You think they went to the election notwithstanding this ?

Answer. Well, I do not think there was a full turn out of the colored vote
;
but I do

not think the failure to turn out fully was the result of fear or intimidation. The
democrats in my county, and indeed in all those western counties, exerted themselves

tremendously to get the colored people to vote their ticket. They gave them barbecues
and made speeches, and got colored men who were democrats to go around with them
and make speeches. The hatchet seemed to be buried between the two races during
that canvass, and has remained buried ever since. The colored men argued this way,
in their public speeches:

&quot;

Well, my colored friends, we have supported the republican
ticket the last live years, and we are no better off now than we were before. In the
mean time we have been employed and taken care of by our old southern friends

; they
are the only friends we have had during these live years, although we have been sup-

prating the other party. I propose now that we shall support the democrats for five

years, and see what they will do for us.&quot; Well, these people, swayed to and fro by the

impulse of the moment, (they are nothing but grown-up children, a great many of

them,) would say, &quot;I will
go&quot;

and vote the democratic ticket.&quot; Others would say,

&quot;Well, I don t want to vote against my principles, but I don t want to vote against
my southern friends neither. I will stay at home.&quot; In that way a great many tailed

to come out. I made a little speech on&quot; the democratic side myself at one precinct
where there were about thirty white votes. I did not go there for that purpose ;

I

happened to be delayed at a railroad station. I was called upon by the colored people
themselves, and I made them a little address. About thirty white votes were cast at

that precinct and about one hundred and forty colored
; every colored vote was for the

democratic ticket, and every white vote too. A similar result occurred at several other

precincts in the county ; every colored man voted the democratic ticket.

Question. What
you&quot;

have just stated is the only reason you know for the colored

people staying away from the polls ?

Answer. I aiu perfectly sure that in my county there was no attempt at intimidation

by threats or anything else. The negroes were treated during the canvass, and indeed

have been ever since, with perfect kindness and justice, I think. A good many negroes
had become very much disgusted with what they* call the &quot;radicals.&quot; Some bad men
from the North&quot; and West had gone in and undertaken to make cotton and carry on

22
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farms. They had employed these negroes, under a promise of big wages and doing a

uroat many good things for them
;
but instead of paying the negroes their wages they

left without paying them one cent. The negroes sometimes lost as much as tAvo years
waives or a laru e portion of it. Those who were the sufferers in that w^ay became very
much disgusted with what they called the radical party ;

and then their influence on
others who had not been thus employed was very considerable. In that way the

republican party lost votes. In my county the republican majority would not bo less

than 1,500 it the negroes were all to vote for the republicans, yet the county was
carried for the democrats by 625.

(Question. Do you attribute that result in any manner to intimidation caused by this

occurrence or to actual threats made by anybody at the election
;
or do you attribute

it to the persuasive means to which you &quot;have adverted as being addressed to the

negro voters ?

Answer. I attribute it to persuasion and kindness entirely, and to disgust with the

treatment some of the negroes had received from men who were republicans. I am
sure that if any intimidation or improper means had been used to keep negroes from
the polls, I should certainly have heard of it.

Question. Is there in that section any such ostracism or terrorism resorted to as is

calculated to prevent, or has actually prevented, the free expression of political senti

ments by men of all classes of politics?
Answer. I think there is not now.
(
t
&amp;gt;ite*1ion. Has there been ?

Answer. There has been, as was illustrated at that Eutaw riot. There was an appar
ent determination that Major Hays should not address the people at that place. But
I certainly do not know of any opposition to any person, white or black, expressing his

views on any subject, publicly or privately, except in that instance; I mean since the

presidential canvass. There was some opposition made in my town to Major Hays and
Genera! Warner making public speeches there. There seemed to be a great deal of
excitement against what were called &quot;

carpet-baggers&quot; and &quot;

scalawags,&quot; and when
these gentlemen went there, there seemed to be a determination that they should not

speak. I used what little influence I had, however, to see that they got a peaceful and

quiet hearing; and everything went off smoothly and satisfactorily.

Question. On that occasion, in the presidential campaign, how was the determination
manifested ?

Answer. Just by words.

Question. By words only ?

Answer. Violent men on the street would say,
&quot; These men shan t speak here to-day.&quot;

I got up and addressed the crowd and told them those gentlemen had a right to speak
and must be heard if they wished to be, and should be heard

;
that this was a free

country, and they had as much right to speak as anybody ;
but if they would not for

any other reason* I asked them as a personal favor to me to listen to those gentlemen
patiently, quietly, and respectfully ;

and they did.

Question. That was in your county in 1868?
Answer. Yes, sir. The opposition on that occasion (I think it was in 1868) and the

opposition to Major Hays s speaking in Eutaw are the only instances I have heard of

opposition being made to any republican making a speech ;
and I have no doubt that

any man, whether republican or otherwise, can go through any county in the State of

Alabama, and speak without the slightest danger to himself personally, and, I think,
also without any disagreeable interruption.

Question. Is it your belief now, taking the counties with which you are most con
versantGreene County and Sumter that a republican meeting can be called, com
posed of colored men and any white republicans who may see proper to attend?

Answer. Just as freely as a democratic meeting.
Qifeslion. And be addressed without personal danger ?

AitNwcr. Just as much as a democratic meeting. I have no doubt of it. There is a
marked change in the feelings of the people during the last live years. They are be-

coming more; kindly disposed, and more content with things as they are
;
and there is

more disposition to acquiesce in the present state of things than there has ever been
before

;
and I think the bitterness toward republicans, whether natives of the State or

otherwise, is greatly diminished. To be sure, there are a few violent politicians who
hate a republican, no matter where he conies from who have no tolerance at all for
men of that party. But in everything I now say about the public feeling in my part
of thecountry, I speak of the great mass of the white men

;
there are exceptional cases,

of course, but those exceptional cases cannot control public sentiment or public action
M&amp;gt; as to prevent any public meeting or public demonstration that any republican,
white or black, may wish to make in a peaceful and quiet manner.

QncHtioit. Has this impression with reference to the insecurity of republicans in that
region grown in any manner out of the alleged fact (and we desire to know whether it

ie a fact) that these outrages cominittetl in secret have generally, if not universally,
been-couimitted upon the negroes and upon republicans ?
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Answer. I do riot think there is any insecurity for republicans in my part of the State,
any further than this : There are, as I have stated, extremely hitter politicians, and
there are desperate, had men, a few they are comparatively few and those few hate
republicans, whether natives of the State or otherwise. But I do not think that the

personal safety of any republican is, or is likely to be, imperiled in Alabama on ac
count of his politics. &quot;The feeling of the white people toward republican office-holders,
whether natives or not, is pretty strong still, but far less bitter thati it has been very
far. The people seem to consider that the native republicans are treacherous to their

section, and that those republicans who have emigrated there are intruders I mean
those who are holding offices. The impression is, that they are intruders into thc.se

offices, and taking what they ought not to have. But while the people feel they are intrud
ers, and do not deserve to occupy these places, I think that fully 95 per cent, of the

people treat these office-holders with the respect and courtesy that is due to the stations

they occupy, without regard to the individual
;
and in many cases they treat them cor

dially in a social point of view. I do not know any judge who has ever presided in the
circuit in which I live who has been treated with more cordiality, in a social point of
view, than Judge Smith

;
and yet there are bad men there who denounce him as a

u
carpet-bagger&quot; and intruder, and would be glad to get him out of the office.

Question. Is it the fact that where men have been murdered in secret, and by persons
in disguise, or where they have been whipped, the victims have been republicans?
Answer. I think that as to the majority of crimes that J have heard of being com

mitted, either upon white or black, the subjects of the crimes were republicans, but
not in all cases.

Question. May that fact have given rise to the apprehension of insecurity which many
persons say they have

; you think the feeling is not well founded
;
but may not that

fact account for it ?

Answer. I think so. If any republican in my part of the State feels any insecurity
of person or property, it is very natural he should attribute the feeling to the fact that

outrages have been committed upon people of his politics more than upon anybody
else. But, as I observed before, the class of crimes which have been eommifted in

secret has greatly diminished, if not ceased to exist. I have heard of no outrage com
mitted in secret for a long time.

Question. Is there a disposition on the part of your people to assist in enforcing the
law of Congress intended to suppress this class of outrages and wrongs ?

Answer. Well, sir, that law has been but recently passed, and I am not able to state

what public opinion is upon that subject. I think, though, that a jury either in the
State courts or the Federal courts, selected fairly and impartially, would convict, if

the evidence and the charge of the court should require it, however much it might go
against the grain to do it. That is my opinion. It is my opinion also, that it is not
the policy of the Government to prosecute that class of cases now.

By Mr. COBURN :

Question. Do you mean to say that you think it is not, or it ought not to be, the policy
of the Government ?

Answer. I think that the people think it is not the policy; and my own opinion
is

Question. You do not understand the question. Do the people think that it is not,
or that it ought not to be, the policy ?

Answer. I mean that it is impolitic to prosecute that class of cases.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. For what reason ?

Answer. In the first place, while the great mass of the southern people are loyal to

the Government, and feel determined to obey the laws of the Government to the
utmost of their ability, they do not feel affectionate toward the Government. They
act under a sense of duty more than a sense of love. They feel that they laid down
their arms at the close of the war in good faith and with a determination to be good
citizens afterward, if permitted ;

and they feel that, notwithstanding that, the Gov
ernment has treated them as rebels still and as enemies

;
and they regard this legisla

tion that you allude to as one of the evidences of unfriendliness on the part of the
Government toward the southern people. When I say it is impolitic in the Government
to enforce those laws even in a proper case I mean this: That I think it is the policy of

the Government to act toward the southern people in such a way as not only to secure

their respect and obedience and loyalty to the Government, but their affection. That
can only be done by the Government acting toward them with magnanimity, gener
osity, and kindness. To undertake to prosecute these offenses under these &quot; Ku-Klux
laws,&quot; I believe they call them, makes the people think it is an indication of unfriend
liness on the part of the Government, and it keeps the southern people irritated with
the idea that they are still treated as enemies and rebels, although they have ceased
to be so in fact, and ceased to have any purpose or desire ever to be so again. The
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heart of the southern people caimot be restored to the Government without gener
osity and kindness, and an abandonment of those extreme measures which some people
desire to see enforced against them.

Question. Is it the sentiment of the large majority of the people in your State that the

effort of the General Government to prosecute and punish offenders is the evidence of

unfriendly feeling toward the whole southern people?
Answer. Yes, sir

; .they look at the matter in this light : Congress makes these laws,
and makes certain acts criines, and then deprives the State courts of the jurisdiction of

those crimes, and drags citizens a long distance from home to a Federal court, where

they are perfect stangers, at heavy expense, and to the great neglect of their business.

Ir
t&amp;lt;&amp;lt;&amp;gt;eps

the southern people irritated. The United States is able to be generous and
magnanimous to these southern people, and the way to put down these crimes is not to

prosecute them, but it is to forgive them.

Question. Do you mean the Ku-Klux outrages ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
the very fact that you undertake to prosecute and persecute these

men. if there are any Ku-Kluxes, will make two where there is but one.

Question. Is your remedy, and the remedy of your people, to let them go on, forgiving
every offense they commit ?

Answer. O no, sir
;
I think that every great crime ought to be punished by some court

or other. But I think, as I stated before, that the legislation of Congress on this Ku-Klux
question is, so far as the southern people are concerned, impolitic. I do not think that
the hearts of the southern people can ever be brought back to the Government as long
as- such legislation stands on the statute-book and is enforced with the rigor with which
it is in the power of the Government to enforce it. I think it is the policy of the Gov
ernment to have the heart of the entire people not only loyalty upon principle, but

loyalty from love.

Question. Conceding, as I understand you do, that there are no cases in which men
have been brought to justice in the State courts for these secret crimes, what remedy
would you suggest for them ?

Anstoer. I have already stated all I can on that subject. In the circuit in which I

practice, I know as a fact that the officers of the court and the grand juries have used
their utmost exertions to ferret out these offenders without success. Whether peTjury is

committed by witnesses before the grand jury, I cannot tell. I suppose, if any perjuries
are committed, the same perjuries would be committed in the Federal courts that are com
mitted in the State courts

;
and -I do not think that the Federal courts would be likely to

ferret out these secret crimes more successfully than the State courts could. I think the
State courts more likely to ferret them out than the Federal courts, because, in the
State courts, the investigation takes place in the county in which the offense was com
mitted, and in which it is to be presumed there is some evidence to be found. There
are some prosecutions now pending in the circuit court of the United States at Mobile
for the Eutaw riot. I am defending one of those accused parties ;

and I know the state
of feeling in Greene County in reference to those prosecutions. I was not at Eutaw on *

the day of this unfortunate occurrence
;
but I am very well informed wtyat did occur

to General Warner, and Governor Parsons, and others who were present ; and, from my
knowledge of public sentiment in Greene County, I think that the Government would
make friends, I think that the republican party would make friends in the South, by
dropping those prosecutions. I think that the Government will make enemies by pur
suing them.

Question. In saying that, do you mean to convey the idea that those men are not
-,

guilty of any offense against the peace and security of the community?
Answer. Well, I do not know what the truth is about the facts. One side represents

the facts in one way, and the other in another. These men who are prosecuted, and their

friends, say, and declare that they will abundantly prove it, that this difficulty was
brought on by Major Hays and his friends. The other side say that it was brought on
by the democrats.

Question. I am not speaking of the guilt or innocence of any man, or any party ;
but &amp;gt;

taking it for granted that the peace was disturbed, that a public meeting was broken
up, and that men were wounded, do you think that th policy of the Government,
either State or Federal, ought to be to permit such an occurrence to pass with impu
nity. and not punish those who are guilty, whether democrats or republicans, white or
black ?

Well, sir, I think it is the policy of the Government not to prosecute these
cases. In the first place, this is a new offense, created by Congress not long ago. This
is tin- first prosecution I have heard of under that act of Congress ;

and I think that
really everything hss been accomplished now that the Government ought to desire to

mplish. It was not known before to any general extent that such a law existed.
IT was no .offense before this act of Congress; this prosecution has already made the
fact generally known that it is an offens.0 ;

and I think the prosecution thus far, if

stopped now, Avill be just as effectual in preventing a recurrence of a similar affair as
if these men were convicted. I think the moral effect of the prosecution would be just
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as good for the Government if it were stopped where it is as if these men were con
victed. I think the moral effect in favor of the Government would be far greater to

stop the prosecution than to succeed in conviction or be defeated on a trial.

Question. The object of this investigation being to ascertain as nearly as we can the
actual condition of things in your State as affecting personal safety and the execution
of the laws, if you have knowledge of any other general fact which will aid the com
mittee in their investigations, state it fully.

Answer. I do not know that I can state anything important except what I have al

ready stated, and what is fairly to be deduced from what I have said.

By Mr. VAN THUMP :

Question. In giving your deliberate opinion that it would be politic and wise in the
Government not to prosecute under this Ku-Klux law, I understand that your

1 main
underlying reason is that the State courts can exe: .ite the law better than the Federal
courts 1

Answer. That is one reason ; and then I think that it would show a. kindness and
generosity on the part of the Government that would be properly appreciated. I -think
it would make friends for the Government. I am a friend of the Government myself,
although I do not belong to the party which now controls it. That is my opinion as a

lawyer and a citizen.

Question. What, in your opinion, would bo the best and most effective mode for this
committee to ascertain the true Condition of affairs in the southern county by sitting
here as a committee, or by going there in person and looking into the matter f

Answer. Well, I should think that personal observation would be more satisfactory
than the examination of witnesses, whose opinions are probably very different. The
difficulty is, that if a committee similar to this, or this committee itself, were to go there,
it would hardly be able to stay long enough in any one place to form a correct judg
ment. I feel very sure that if this committee or any other committee were to remain
a sufficient length of time in my part of the State, they would certainly arrive at con
clusions similar to those that I have expressed here to-day.

Question. Would not the committee have just as much time to examine respecting
that particular locality there as here, except the time consumed in traveling back and
forth ?

Answer. I allude now to personal observation
;
I do not allude to the examination of

witnesses. I think you can examine witnesses Avith as much facility and effect here as

there. When I say that you could arrive at a more satisfactory conclusion there than

here, I refer to information obtained from your personal observation rather than the,

examination of witnesses.

By Mr. POOL :

Question. Why is Judge Smith obnoxious in Choctaw County?
Answer. For no other reason in the world than that I have stated, that he is regarded

as an interloper and an intruder into an office that rightfully belongs to a native south
erner. They find no fault with him as a- man, or as a judge. I never heard an un
kind word said about him in his judicial capacity, or as a citizen, further than that he
is a radical, and is an intruder into an office that a native southerner ought to fill. That
is everything.

By Mr. COBUHN:

Question. How long do your people regard it as necessary for a man to live in your
State before he has a right to hold an office or ought to hold an office ?

Answer. In speaking of the people of Choctaw Cowuty, I wish to be understood as

speaking only in reference to a, small portion. Judge Smith has a great many warm
friends in Choctaw County, and is very much respected there. He owns a very large
estate there.

Question. Is it or is it not the sentiment of the people of your county that.men from
other States have no right to hold offices, or ought not to hold them I

Answer. Well, I think the feeling is or has been (it is not so strong now as it has been

by a good deal) that our conquerors floated over, upon us, and absorbed all our offices

and all our means to the extent they were capable of doing ;
and it is not to be won

dered at that the feeling I have expressed should exist to some extent.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. The only surprise is that it does not exist to a greater extent ?

Answer. I think so.

By Mr. BECK :

Question. Is it not the fact that the imposition of a constitution upon you after you
had defeated it, and the imposition of officers upon you who had been fairly defeated
under the reconstruction act of Congress by your failure to vote, was one of the most
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serious complaints you had in regard to the manner in which those men got their

others .

Anxurr. Yes, sir
; certainly.

Question. Did not your people regard those who held those offices as men whom they
hail defeated in strict accordance with the law of Congress itselff

Anxurr. That was the feeling then. It has subsided to a great extent now. We
have made up our minds to stand anything.

Qiii Ntion. And did not the fact that those officers and that constitution were so im

posed upon you by Congress in violation of its own legislation produce bitterness both

against the constitution and the officers more than any other cause ?

Answer. That was the feeling at one time. I do not know the extent to which that

feeling is prevalent now.

Question. I am speaking of the time at which this feeling existed against those offi

cers .

Aitxwcr. The people of Alabama felt greatly outraged by the course that Congress
pursued in forcing that bogus State constitution upon us under which we are living
now .

Question. And also the officers?

Answer. And the officers elected under it.

Question. Both legislative and county officers?

Answer. The officers elected under it. I believe all the judicial officers now in the

State, except those who are holding offices by executive appointment, were elected

under that constitution.

Question. And the democratic party failed to vote altogether, assuming that they had
a right to abstain and thereby defeat those officers, and did so defeat them ? Was not

that the fact ?

Answer. That was the idea then.

Question. Therefore, were not those men who occupied those positions both in the

legislature and in the counties judges and others elected by Congress and not by the

people of Alabama ? Was not that the feeling?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And did not that cause them to be regarded as interlopers, so far as the

people were concerned ?

Answer. That had something to do with it.

Question. They considered the constitution illegal and all the offices under it improp
erly tilled ?

Answer. That was the feeling then; but, as I stated before, the feeling toward these
office-holders under that constitution is far less violent, very far less violent, than it

has been heretofore. We have got used to it and have determined to take things as

we find them, and do the best we can. We are prostrated in a pecuniary point of view,
and are trying more to restore our prosperity to some extent than we are to succeed in

politics. In answer to a question by the chairman as to cases of outrage in niy county,
I omitted to state one case. If it be desired, I will state it now.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. You can state it at the close of your examination. I wish now to put a

question in connection with the point of which you have just been speaking. Was it

the view of your people that, having defeated the constitution once by abstaining from

voting and preventing it from obtaining a majority of the registered voters, they still

had the right to go on preventing the organization of a State government under the
law of Congress by abstaining from voting?

Answer. 6 no, by no means. We supposed Congress had the right to let the State
back into the Union on such terms as it pleased. But we considered that that con
stitution was fairly defeated on the very basis of the congressional action in reference
to it, and that, having been defeated, it was a great wrong on the people for Congress
to force it upon them.

Question. Was not the very ground of abstaining from voting the opinion that Con
gress had no right to submit it at all ?

Anstrer. I do not know about that.

(Question. Was or was not that your view ?

Answer. I think not. I think that, so far as my information went then, the idea was
that if the conservatives would absent themselves from the polls, there woull not be
a sufficient vote cast to secure the adoption of the constitution.

Question. There would not be a majority of the registered voters ?

Answer. Yes, sir. Another thing was that a great many people, I believe, were not

qualified to vote then who have become qualified since.

Question. They were not registered, then, of course?
Anxirer. Of course not.

Question. AY&quot;as it your idea then that if another constitution was submitted, the peo
ple would still abstain from voting ?

Answer. No, sir.



ALABAMA 343

By Mr. BLAIR.

Question. Was it your objection to the constitution which was actually submitted
that influenced your people in abstaining from voting, not any objection to the power
of Congress in submitting it ?

Answer. That was my idea.

By Mr. VAX TRUMP :

Question. Had not the people of Alabama a very strong recollection that the policy
of the republican party before that time had been very different under a letter of Mr.
Lincoln ordering an election in Arkansas under the old constitution ? Was not that a
fact in the contemplation of the people ?

Ansicer. I do not recollect what the expression of public sentiment then was. I had
made up my own mind to submit to anything that happened ;

and I did not take as
much interest in^ it as a good many other people; and my information, therefore, is

not so good as that of some others.

By Mr. BECK :

Question. After you had defeated the State constitution and the officers nominatedunder
it, in strict conformity with the acts of Congress, as I believe, and as I

thinly nobody
denies, was it not supposed by you that Congress would take some steps to re-submit-
that constitution to a convention or some other body of men, so as to get it into some
modiiied form with the objectionable features stricken out ?

Answer. Of course.

Question. Did not Congress, in June, three or four months after you had defeated
that constitution and those officers, impose it and all the defeated officers upon you,
without giving you a chance to make any modification in the constitution or to defeat
those persons at the polls ?

Answer. I do not recollect the date
;

I know that we got the constitution.

Question. Do you not recollect that it was defeated in February and imposed upon
you in June ?

Answer. I do not recollect.

Question. Your State came in under the omnibus bill ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Without having any chance to vote upon your constitution at all, except
the vote by which you had defeated it, and without any chance to vote against the
officers so imposed ?

Answer. Yes, sir. We have ceased to grumble about that, though.

By Mr. STEVENSON :

Question. Do you recollect what was the vote for the constitution ? Was it not
about 80,000 ?

Ansii-er. I think it was somewhere between 80,000 and 90,000.

Question. Do you not recollect that there was a larger vote than any State or national
ticket has since received on either side ?

Answer. I cannot remember.
Question. How was it in your own judicial district and county? Did not Judge

Smith, for instance, receive a large majority of the regestered vote of the district?

Answer. Of course.

Question. Did not your county officers in Sumter, and the county officers in Greene,
and generally in those counties you have spoken of, receive a majority of the registered
vote f

Answer. I think so
;
that is my recollection.

By Mr. POOL :

Question. In your reply to Mr. Beck, a few moments ago, did you mean to say that

Congress elected Judge Smith ?

Answer. I did not.

Question. Did you mean to say that Congress elected the officers who are now holding
office in Alabama ?

Answer. I did not, except indirectly. Congress required the people to accept a con
stitution that they had repudiated, and to accept officers under it who were neces

sarily repudiated with the constitution. Congress is responsible to that extent. I do
not mean to say that Congress is responsible any further.

Question. You do not mean to be understood to say that Congress really elected those
officers ?

Answer. Of course not.

Question. Did you not say that you thought Congress had a right to re-admit the
State upon such terms as it pleased ?

Atmvcr. That was my opinion. I looked upon ourselves as a conquered people, at

the mercy of Congress and the General Government, and we had to submit to what
ever they required of us.
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Question. You looked on the proposition upon which you were about to vote as the

terms proposed by Congress for your acceptance ?

. Yes, sir.

Quextion. And you declined to vote upon it at all?

Answer. Yes, sir; we thought it a very objectionable constitution in many respects,

and wo took it for granted if that was rejected, Congress would give us another chance.

Question. That proposition being rejected by you, you supposed Congress had the

righi to make other terms in their discretion?

Answer. That was my opinion ;
I do not know whether it was a correct opinion or

not.

Question. Then do you deny the right of Congress to impose that constitution upon
you, notwithstanding the rejection of it?

Answer. Well, sir, I think they had the right by force of the power they possessed ;

but it seems to me that they put terms upon us that they did not propose to do in the

first instance. They had the right because they had the power.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. Do you think the power gave them the right?
Answer. It is the same thing to us.

By Mr. POOL :

Question. Did you think it improper for Congress to impose any terms that were not

entirely satisfactory to you?
Answer. Our idea was that Congress had no right to impose terms upon us that

would put us in a worse predicament than any other State in the Union. We sup
posed we had the right, if we were permitted to return to the Union at all, to return

on an equality with the other States. That was our idea, and I think that is our idea

still.

Question. Then you mean to say that Congress, under the right which you acknowl

edged it had, treated the people of Alabama worse than it did the people of the other

States?
Answer. That was the feeling, I think, of the southern people.

Question. That is all you mean to say I

Answer. That is all.

Question. Would you think that circumstance any reason why peaceable citizens in

Alabama should be taken from their homes and whipped by disguised men ?

Answer. By no means.

Question. Would you think that any palliation of the offense ?

Answer. By no means; and such is not the sense of 5 per cent, of the people of Ala
bama. I can truly say that 95 per cent, of the white men of Alabama are law abiding,
peaceable, loyal men, and all they want is just to be let alone, and have a fair chance
to recover from the disasters of the war. They hate crime, and will do as much in

their power to put down crime as Congress itself. I think the great error the north
ern people, and probably the republican, party in general, commit, is to hold the mass
of the southern people responsible for the outrages committed by a few desperate,

drunken, obscure individuals.

Question. Do you mean to say that the class of offenses known as Ku-Klux offenses

in your State are committed by a few bad men ?

Answer. That is my supposition ;
and I will tell you why I suppose so

;
and I will in

this connection make the statement I omitted: to make awhile ago. I think it was the

year before last that a party of disguised men went to the town of Livingston for

the purpose of lynching, perhaps of killing a man named Dr. Chotteau, who had ren
dered himself exceedingly obnoxious by efforts to incite the negroes to insurrection

against the whites. They failed to find him. He was anticipating an attack, and had
gotten a friend, named Cobleuz, to stay with him and guard him. When these dis

guised men went to the house, they broke open the door, and one of them struck a
match. As he did so, while in the door, he was shot down by a man standing opposite.
Thereupon the disguised men rushed in and shot Coblenz to death. This disguised
man shot by Coblenz was killed. It never was ascertained who the other disguised
men were

;
I mean those other than the man who was killed. They carried oli the

dead body, and it was afterward ascertained who the slain man was. He was one of
the most desperate and dissipated young men in that section of the country. And I

infer from that fact that his comrades and those engaged in those enterprises are of a
similar character. That is the reason I say that I think these crimes are committed by
desperate and drunken young men. This young man when shot was drunk, as was
reported.

Question. That is the statement which you wanted to make ?

Answer. Yes, sir. The Chairman told me to state all crimes I had heard of as com
mitted by men in disguise. I had heard of that, but omitted to state it.

Question. Were any of those men punished for coming to that house and breaking
into it ?
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Answer. Not by any judicial proceeding. They never were found ont. There was a
colored man who was also shot at by this crowd, and who wounded another of this

party. He was before the grand jury ;
and neither lie nor anybody else could give

any account of the men, because they were disguised, and they could not tell who they
were.

Question. Was there any rising up of the community to ferret them out or to track
them ?

Answer. There was an attempt to track them. They were tracked to the bank of the
Tonibigbee River, to a lauding leading from Sumter to Marengo County, and there they
were lost sight of.

Question. Was that in the direction of the Mississippi line?
Answer. No, sir

; the opposite direction.

Question. Over into another county?
Answer. Another county in Alabama.
Question. How do you account for the fact that those men, and one or two other

gangs of a similar character, seem to have come from either Mississippi or some distant
county, when these outrages were committed ?

Answer. Well, sir, I cannot account for it.

Question. In the case of Boyd, the men seem to have been tracked out of your county,
were they not f

Answer. I think, myself, that the men who killed Boyd were well acquainted Avith

every locality in Eutaw with every room in the hotel in which Boyd was slain.
I think that some Alabamian must have been concerned in it. Otherwise I do not see
how they could have understood so well the topography of the location. According
to my information, they guarded every gate and door; they knew precisely the room
Boyd was in

; they extended a gun to the landlord and his clerk, and threatened to
shoot them down unless they carried them straight to Boyd s room. The. landlord and
clerk were frightened almost to death. They told me about this themselves.

Question. Without going into the details of that particular case, is it not your opinion
that parties of this character mark their victims, and then send for friends irom another
county or State to come and execute their wishes&quot;?

Answer. Well, sir. I would come to that conclusion from circumstances. I do not see
how it can well turn out that these crimes can be committed by citizens of the county
in which the crime is committed, without there being some clue found out to detect
them. There is but one way to account for it

; and that is that these men who know
the tacts in regard to the crime deliberately swear ialselv.

Question. In court you mean ?

Answer. Yes. sir : before the grand jury. I take it for granted that a man who would
commit midnight murder would swear to a lie to avoid detection.

(Question. Is it not your opinion that when these bauds from, another county are sent
for, some men from the county where the crime is to be committed go with them as

guides
&amp;gt;

Anxwer. I have no information upon that subject. These men of course use every
means that they can to,keep themselves concealed. A short time ago some uieu who
had committed a homicide in Mississippi, and were imprisoned in the jail at Columbus,
Mississippi, were rescued by a party of masked men who passed through my town.
I was absent attending court. The information I had was that&amp;gt; they acted in such a
manner as to make it be believed that they were Alabamians. They really, however,
were men who came from the neighborhood where the homicide was &quot;committed.

They traveled all the way through Alabama till they got to Columbus, which is near
the Alabama line. They rescued their prisoners, took them out of jail, took them back
through Alabama, and disappeared. I mention this to show that these men act in such
a manner as to throw the public officers and the people in general oli their guard. It
is obvious that these men took that course to make it appear that Alabamiaus, not

Mississippians, rescued those men. I presume that they take all the necessary pre
cautions to keep themselves concealed, if they really go from one county to another
to commit a crime.

Question. Is justice evaded by that expedient ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
at any rate I do not know of any of these criminals being pun

ished. I never heard of one being found out. The only one I ever heard of being
found out was the one who was killed

;
and he probably would not have been found

out if he had not been killed.

Question. Is the fact that they send for confederates from different counties and even
different States, to conic and execute their wishes, calculated to prevent exposure and
detection ?

Answer. If it is a fact, it would be calculated to do it. I do not know whether it is

a fact or not.

Question. Have there been any whippings, in Sumter County, of colored men or

others, by disguised men ?

Answer. I believe not; at least I have no information of it.
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Question. Have there been in Greene?
Answer. I do not know of any whippings. I have told yon of the murder of Boyd. I

have not heard of any whippings in any of those counties I named as my judicial cir

cuit.

Question. No colored men ?

An ftwer. Not by disguised men. I have heard of their being whipped by their em
ployers ;

but that was in broad daylight.
Question. You have known colored men to be whipped by their employers?
Answer. Yes, sir, for disobedience.

Question. In what w:iy .

Answer. Just by knocking them down.

Question. Have you known many instances of that?
An*wei . No, sir; they are very rare. I have not heard of anything of the kind since

last summer.
Question. Have there been any prosecutions for that?
J twwer. I do not know as to that particular case. I have seen prosecutions before

interior magistrates justices of the peace, &c. for assaults and batteries committed
by white men and women on negroes ;

but they Avere slight offenses nothing serious.

Question. You said that perjury in the courts was, you thought, one reason why
those men have not been brought*to justice?

Answer. I did not say that
;
I said that I could not see how these offenses could be

committed by citizens of the counties in which they were committed and nobody know
anything about it

;
and that therefore the parties concerned in it must commit perjury

to keep it concealed.

Question. Is there a feeling of safety on the part of witnesses Avho would testify in

the courts about such things ?

Answer. I have no means o^ answering that question, because I don t know. I was
examined myself in relation to the case of Richard Burke. I felt no apprehension in

telling all I knew about it. I have never heard any witness express any apprehension :

but if there is a band of desperadoes called Ku-Klux, it is very natural to suppose that
a man would feel reluctant to testify against them. I don t know of any case in which
anybody has refrained from telling what he knew on that account, or aiiy other.

Question. I will put the question more directly : If you had inadvertently become
cognizant of the identity of any parties who had committed an outrage of this sort in

disguise the Boyd case or any other would you feel safe in coming into court and
telling the whole thing?
Answer. I do not think I would feel safe; but I would tell the truth about it.

Question. Of course you would tell the truth; but would you feel safe?
Anstcer. I would naturally feel that I was in danger, provided there was a clan of

this sort organized for the purpose of committing crime.

Question. Suppose you had seen and known some of the men who murdered
Boyd, would you have felt safe in disclosing the fact, and going into court and testify
ing to it?

Answer. I think I should, have had some apprehension of personal danger.
Question. I will put the question still more pointedly: If you had by any means

known any of the parties who committed the murder of Boyd, would you- have felt

your duty as a citizen strong enough to have overcome your fear, so as to make you
disclose the facts, and volunteer as a witness?
Answer. I believe I should, unless some very near personal friend had been concerned.

Question. You think, though, you would have done such a thing at your peril?
Answer. I do, provided there is any such organized clan as that. I do not know but

that I would have felt in peril if the party was formed for that purpose, and that alone,
without a view to the commission of any other offense thereafter

;
because Boyd lost

his life for saying that he knew, the men who committed one murder.

Question. Does not the fact that there is a successful evasion of these prosecutions
indicate to you that there must be some organization that the parties have accomplices,
and are well organized ?

Answer. Well, sir, I have never heard of any party of organized men exceeding sixty
in number. I heard last summer that on a certain occasion sixty armed men in dis

guise, and with theii horses disguised, appeared openly and publicly in a village of
Greene County railed Pleasant Ridge, and that they went through various cavalry
evolutions in perfect silence, and rode oiftin the direction of Mississippi. They did not

speak a word or do a thing. That is the largest, number I have ever known or ever
heard of, and I know no reason to believe 1liat there are as many aw that in any county
that I am acquainted with in Alabama, unless it be in Greene, and unless the men I

have just alluded to belonged to Greene. I do riot think, as I stated before, that there
is any permanent organization for political or other purposes called Ku-Klux, or any
thing else. I think that these, men baud themselves together as occasion requires, to
resent their own supposed or real wrongs, or to punish by lynch law some person who
has done something that they do not like.
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By Mr. COBURX :

Question. State how many of such meetings you have heard of.

Aiwcer. I never heard of but that one.

By Mr. POOL :

Question. State whether, before the war. repeated murders and other crimes were com
mitted, and the offenders evaded the law as they now do ?

Answer. A great many crimes were committed by disguised men before the war.
Lyuch-law had been in force in an aggravated form, and the parties, some of them,
never brought to justice ;

to be sure some were
;

it was very difficult though to do it

then almost as difficult as it is now. When you thought you had the man who com
mitted the offense, persons would generally swear him out of it, and get him clear.

Question. Is the resort to alibi common in such cases ?

Answer. Well, there have been no trials since the war to test that question.
Question. I mean in the few investigations there have been ?

Answer. I cannot tell
;
these investigations take place before grand juries, aud lean-

not tell what occurs there, as their investigations are all secret.

Question. The State courts, you say, have failed to bring to justice any of the perpe
trators of these acts ?

Answer. They have in my own part of the State, so far as I know
;
but I know that

vigorous efforts have been used by the officers of the. court and by the grand juries,

though, so far as my information goes, unsuccessfully.
Question. And you think the Federal courts would be as likely to fail?

Answer. I do, for the same reasons.

Question. You think the State courts better than the Fecleral courts, because they sit

in the county where the act was committed ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;

I think there would be more likelihood of the State court succeed

ing in ferreting out the offenders, because it is at the spot where the crime was com
mitted, while the Federal court may be several hundred miles distant.

Question. Are not the grand juries in the State courts taken from every county ?

Answer. Of course.

(Jutetion. In that way would it not be probable that some of the accomplices of the
offenders might be upon the grand jury

Answer. Of course they are just as likely to be as not.

Question. Is there the same danger of accomplices being on the grand jury of the Fed
eral court which sits elsewhere?

.Inxwer. There is not the same danger in that respect, because I believe that ordina

rily the grand juries of the Federal courts are picked up in the vicinity of the court.

Question. Then, in the Federal courts that danger would be escaped?
Answer. It seems to rue so.

Question. Would that apply in regard to the petit jury ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
it would apply in the State court, and in the Federal court also.

^

Question. Would the witnesses feel more or less reluctance or intimidation in testify

ing in the county where the crime was committed, or at a distance where the Federal
court was sitting ?

Answer. -If they felt intimidated at all, I think they would feel less intimidated in

the county of their residence than anywhere else, because they would have the pro
tection of their friends and relatives/ which they would not have at a court several

hundred miles away.
Question. You say you think there ought not to be any further prosecution of those

who committed the violence at Eutaw f

Answer. I stated that I thought it would be good policy for the Government to drop
those prosecutions, and for the reasons I gave.

Question. Have the State courts taken that matter in hand ? Have they prosecuted
anybody for connection with that affair?

Answtr. The State courts have no jurisdiction; they are precluded from jurisdiction

by the act of Congress itself.

Question. That is a mistake.
Answer. Xo, sir; the State courts are precluded; entire jurisdiction is conferred on

the district and circuit courts.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. That is not the view which has been taken of that act.

Answer. I know that is the case, because I argued a demurrer to the indictment in

Mobile
;
and that was one point that I made, that the act was unconstitutional, because

it absorbed the entire jurisdiction of crime in the Federal Government, and deprived
the States of jurisdiction.

Question. Did the judge sustain the point you made ?

Answer. O, no; he overruled the demurrer; the case stands for trial on a plea of
f&amp;gt; not guilty.&quot;
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By Mr. POOL :

Question. I understood you to say that the bare fact that the prpsecution of these
Eutaw rioters lias been undertaken ill the Federal courts would have a good effect in

the community .

Anxiccr. I stated that I thought the Government had already accomplished .by the

prosecution as much as it would accomplish by a trial and conviction, or an acquittal.
I will say now, in addition, that if the Government should fail in the prosecution, as I

think it will fail upon the merits, the moral effect will be not very favorable to the
Government ; it will not be favorable to the administration of law.

Question. Has the fact that this prosecution has been, undertaken made it more quiet
in that county ?

Answer. Well, sir, I do not know what effect the prosecution has had in that county ;

but I do not know of any secret or political crime having been committed in any &quot;of

the counties I have spoken of since the riot at Eutaw.

Question. State your opinion as to whether the fear of being carried to Mobile for

trial before the Federal court is likely to produce a repressing effect upon the disposi
tion to commit these outrages.
Answer. I hardly know how to answer that question. These outrages, when they

occur, are ordinarily carried out by men of no note or influence, either political or other
wise men who have very little to lose, if anything. I do not know that that fear
would have any restraining effect upon them.

Question. How do you know that they are men of no note or influence ? You cannot
tell who they are.

Answer. I know the men who are indicted at Mobile. Only one of the men indicted
there is a man of note and influence, and he is Colonel Jolly. The rest are all ob
scure young men.

By the CHAIRMAN : .

Question. Is Colonel Jolly a defendant in that indictment ?

Answer. Yes, sir. V

By Mr. STEVENSON :
,

Question. You mean J. J. Jolly, of Eutaw ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

By Mr. POOL :

Question. How many were wounded in the Eutaw riot ?

Answer. I was not there
;
I do not know

;
I have tried my best to find out; I have

inquired of Governor Parsons and General Warner and citizens of Eutaw, and I never
have certainly found out more than two men one white and one black. I am not
able to answej? the question. Colonel Jolly and Chancellor Clark and Major Pierce,
who were here the other day, ought to be able to answer the question. They were*

present.
Question. From the best of your information, do you think that as many as twenty

were wounded ?

Answer. I have heard so many reports about it that my opinion is worth -nothing. I

have heard as low down as two, and as high as forty.

Qjtestian. Have you heard names given ?

Answer. If I did, I do not remember any of them.

Question. Were any killed ?

Answer. My information is that there was not a man killed. I have heard that no
man was killed, and no man died from wounds received.

Question. Do you reside in that town ?

Answer. No, sir, twenty miles distant.

Question. Is it not a remarkable thing that there should be such a difference of

opinion and uncertainty as to whether, on a public occasion like that, there were twq
men wounded or forty or fifty wounded ?

Answer. Well, yes ;
it ought to be known, it seems to me. I saw what I am told was

a correct account of everything that occurred there in a newspaper published a week
after the unfortunate occurrence.

Question. Was it a democratic paper ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What did it state?
Ansiver. I do not remember now. I tried to get a copy to bring with me

;
I lost rny

copy. I understood, thoughj*th at some of the gentlemen from Eutaw brought a copy
with them.

Question. How many did that paper say were wounded ?

Answer. I do not remember.
Question. As many as twenty ?

Answer. I do not remember what the paper said about that. I saw Governor Par-
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sons at Meridian the next day. I was in Meridian when the unfortunate affair occur
red. He could not tell rne how many were wounded. General Warner could not tell

me. He said he saw one man fall. I have not seen any two persons who agreed as to
the number wounded

;
nor did all agree that there was nobody killed. I think the

opinion of General Warner and Governor Parsons is that there were one or two killed,

though citizens of Eutaw say it is not true. If any of the negroes had been killed, I
think it would certainly have been known. The negroes themselves, a great many
of them, would have told it. Major Hays would know; he was there. My opinion
about that is not worth a cent, because I do not know anything but what other people
told me

;
and they have not at all concurred in regard to the matter.

Question. Is it not a remarkable fact that there should be doubt as to whether forty
or only two were wounded on a particular occasion by gunshot wounds ?

.hiHicer. You must remember that there were a great many negroes there that day
probably a thousand

;
and they were from all parts of the county ;

and it was a very
exeiring occasion. The whites were excited, and, the blacks were excited, and both
sides were frightened. There was a general stampede. It is said there was nobody
left on the ground so badly wounded that he could not get away, and none was left

there dead. I think there are honest men enough in Eutaw to tell the truth about it.

I think they would tell if they knew any to have been killed. I think they would tell

me how many were wounded.&quot; It is not unnatural that there should bo a disagreement
as to the number wounded, when the negroes carried oft their wounded left nobody
on the Held.

Question. Did not the authorities make any investigations?
Ansicer. I am not able to answer about that. I do not reside in that county, and I

never inquired about that. I take it for granted though that they did.

(Question. Did you mean to say that the act of Congress prevents the State authorities
from taking cognizance of an assault and battery or a murder of that sort committed
within their borders?

.l.s;crr. I say that the act of Congress gives the United States courts exclusive juris
diction of all offenses committed under that act, by which a political meeting is in

terrupted or broken up or any crime committed during the continuance of the attempt
to break it up.

Question. You say. then, that if a murder was committed at a political meeting, the
State courts cannot take cognizance of it ?

Answer. I thinkmot, if it is committed in the execution of an attempt to break up a

political meeting.

By the CIIAUIMAX:

Question. Was not the indictment in the case in which you were counsel drawn under
the act of L-70, called the enforcement act not under tlio Ku-Klux act ?

Answer. Of course it was under the previous act. The Ku-Klux act has just been

passed. This Ku-Klux bill has nothing to do with the case pending in Mobile, and
nothing to do with the Eutaw riot. That was prosecuted under the act of lb?0.

By Mr. POOL :

Question. Have you ever known any democrat to be subjected to an outrage by a
band of disguised men at night ?

Answer. I think not.

(Juextion. If. then, these offenses are committed upon republicans only, why do you
think they have no political significance and are only sporadic?

Answer. I have no information except what I have told you on this Ku-Klux question.
I know of no such organization except to the extent I have mentioned. The crimes
committed all seem to have been committed, so far as my knowledge goes, either from

private revenge, or to punish some public offense by a proceeding in the nature of

lynch law. I cannot say that there have not been offenses committed on. democrats.
1 only say that I don t know of any. I believe I have only mentioned three cases in

which crime has been committed upon republicans.
Question. You say these outrages are frequently committed by men who are not in

disguise ?

.Inswer. I suppose so, because my servant told me, the night that old man Burke was
killed, that those men were not in disguise.

(Jue*!io&amp;gt;i.
If they are not in disguise, how do you account for the fact that there is

not some identification of them !

Answer. I eanuot tell, except upon the idea that the parties come from a. distance,

and are not known in the community where the crime is committed. After the murder
of Ivichard Burke, I saw a friend, residing at a distance of ten miles from the scene of

the homicide. He told me that he had that morning met a party of men in disguise,
armed with double-barreled guns, and that he did not know one of them

;
that they

were going in the direction of Mississippi.

Question. If these acts are committed for some private grudge or against some obnos



350 CONDITION OF AFFAIRS IN THE SOUTHERN STATES.

ions individuals, how do you account for the fact that they are committed by men who
are riot acquainted with the individuals, and who do not reside in that locality, but
come from ;i distance!

Antsu-cr. Well, I suppose if they do come from a distance, they are induced to come

by those who want the crime committed, without the probability of being detected as

being themselves concerned in it.

(jiicstion. Does not that impress your mind with the idea that there is an organiza
tion extending through several counties?
Anwcr. Well, sir, it would look that way. But it is impossible, it seems to me, that

it can amount to more than a handful of desperadoes.
OwxfioH. Why is it that a community of good men do not rise up and put down a

handful of desperadoes who are not even disguised ?

Answer. If the grand jury, with all the means at hand, and the court, with all its

machinery and all the energy of its officers, cannot ferret out these men, what can

private citizens do ?

(Juextion. You are a lawyer of a great deal of experience and knowledge of the com
mon law. Has not every private citizen a right to make hue-aud-cry, and to pursue
and even arrest the perpetrator of a capital felony ?

Answer. I think so.

Question. If a community were intent upon putting down these crimes, could not the
whole of them rise up, and any man, in the same manner as if he had a warrant, arrest

the offender, and have right and law upon his side ?

. Answer. Well, sir, these men, so far as my information goes, act with great celerity.

They accomplish what they undertake to do suddenly, disappear suddenly, and are ouju
of reach of pursuit suddenly, and, if pursued, according to my information as to those
who have been seen publicly, they are well armed and desperate men

;
and law-

abiding, peaceful citizens are not going to pursue that class of men, unless they are

required to do so by some public officer, authorized to summon them. I would not
do it myself.

Question. Suppose those outrages had been committed upon white democrats, would
it be otherwise as to the pursuit and effort to put them down ?

Answer. I do not believe it would, if committed by that class of people. If com
mitted by what they call Ku-Klux, there would be no more attempt to arrest them for

the murder of a democrat than the murder of a republican, because the personal danger
from those desperadoes would be just the same.

(Question. How is it that anxiety for personal security does not induce the community
to rise up and put down a roving band of assassins and outlaws?

Answer. You have to find them out before putting them down, and while you are

trying to find them out, you may become a victim yourself.

Question. Then the reason is the fear and dread that they have created in the com
munity ?

Answer. As I said awhile ago, there is an apprehension. I was asked, if I should*
see a murder committed, whether I would not feel some apprehension in going before
the grand jury or any public officer, and disclosing the fact. I answered, yes. The
same, sort of feeling exists in respect to any other attempt to bring these men to justice,
or ferret them out. You cannot bring them to justice till you ferret them out, and
how are- you to ferret them out ? If. as I have said, a grand jury cannot do it, the pri
vate citizen cannot do it. The whole community may rise up ;

but the very men who.
committed the crime maybe part of that community rising up; they may be the first to

cry,-
&quot;

Stop thief.&quot;

Question. Then you mean to say that those men have inspired such dread in the com
munity that citizens will not, in the discharge of their duty as private citizens, rise up
and put them down, without the interference of an officer?

Answer. I do not say that. I cannot say more on the question of personal apprehen
sion than I have stated already. I am satisfied that if the citizens knew that any
person had been concerned in a homicide, or any other secret crime in violation of

law&amp;gt;

they would take prompt and necessary steps to have the offender arrested and brought
to justice. But it is not to be expected that a man will be striking for au enemy in
the dark, when that enemy sees him, and he does not see the enemy.

Question. You say, then, that the community generally decline to go in pursuit of cap
ital felons ?

Answer. No; they simply do nothing, because they cannot do anything.
Qucxtion. And they make no effort ?

Answer. They go along as usual, and expect the law to take its course.

Question. You say the State courts and officers have failed to bring the offenders to

justice ?

Answer. Thus far.

Question. Is it not time that some other authority should ..intervene to try its hand ?

Attxwcr. Well, it seems to me that if anything ever could have been accomplished, it

is too late to do it now. I do not know of any offense committed secretly or claiides-
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finely since the last election in Alabama
;
and now that the thing has subsided, and

this bund dispersed, if they were ever congregated together, I cannot see the wisdom
of trying to rake np the past. If there were any crimes being committed in that way
now, there would be more reason for taking active steps to suppress them. I have
not heard of an offense of that kind being committed in Alabama since the last elec

tion
;
and I do not believe there is likely to be any unless it is in pursuit of private

revenge.
Question. Have these offenses betu directed principally against colored persons?
Answer. I do not know of any colored person having been secretly murdered, except

old man Richard Burke, and those two murderers who escaped from jail in Greene
County. I do not know of any white republican having been murdered or injured in
his person or property except Boyd, who lost his life, and Judge Smith, who lost his
mill and his cotton-gin.

Question. Do you know of a probate judge being fired at?
Answer. I heard that the probate judge of Choctaw County was fired at from behind

a pine tree, in broad daylight, and wounded in the arm. That is all I know about it.

1 know the judge very well.

Question. Do you know of an editor of a republican paper being attacked in the
streets of Eutaw ?

Answer. Yes, sir, I heard of that. I know him very AY ell, and know he was very
badly beaten. So I heard

;
I have not seen him since the occurrence.

Question. Has any one been prosecuted for that act ?

Answer. I think the person who beat him is under indictment in Greene circuit court.
There has been but one court held since the occurrence, and that was a mouth or two
ago. I think the man was indicted.

Question. Do you know of threats being made against the circuit clerk of Greene

County ?

Answer. I know him very well. I heard that he received an anonymous letter warn
ing him to leave the county, but he did not go in pursuance of that warning, and he
was not hurt. Some months afterward he voluntarily resigned. 1 do not think he

resigned through fear of personal injury. He did not give me to understand that, and
1 do not think Tie was in any personal danger.

By Mr. BLAIR:

Question. Senator Pool has asked you whether you intended to state that Congress
elected all the officers in Alabama. You answered in the negative. Now, was not
that practically the fact ?

Answer. I stated that Congress did not do that directly, but incidentally, in forcing
a constitution upon the people of Alabama which they had rejected, and along with
that constitution public officers who were elected under it, and who naturally fell

with the constitution when it was rejected by the people. Those officers are still hold

ing under that constitution and under that election.

Question. Then, practically, or in effect, the officers who were placed over you in Ala
bama were elected by Congress f

Answer. That is the practical result to us. I stated that before.

Question. That, as a matter of course, was a cause of great irritation to the people of

the State, was it not ?

Answer. It was at the time a cause of very great irritation. We thought we were

greatly wronged.
Question. The people of the State generally knew the fact to be that this constitu

tion, having been rejected according to the law of Congress, had come back here, and

Congress in the first instance defeated the effort to impose it upon the people, but some
three or four months afterward adopted it. You knew those facts in the State pretty
well ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. I presume that the action of Mr. Stevens in moving to recommit this con
stitution was very well understood?
Answer. Yes, sir; all those things are a matter of public history, which intelligent

people of the State very well understood.

Question. Mr. Stevens s action, and the action of Congress itself subsequently, in

imposing this constitution upon your people, and with it this whole batch of officers,

was regarded by the people of the State, as I understand you, as a great outrage .

Answer. We felt that way at the time
; but, as I have already stated, we do not feel

that irritation about it now, by a great deal, that we did at first, because we have
determined to submit to whatever happens, and do the best we can to build up or.r

material prosperity.
Question. The question was asked you whether the people believed Congress had the

right to impose a constitution upon them in that way ?

Answer. Well, the best-informed politicians in my part of the country did not think

Congress had the constitutional right. I never gave myself much concern about it.



352 CONDITION OF AFFAIRS IN THE SOUTHERN STATES.

lu the then state of things, I considered the power to do it the same as the right to do
it praet icallv i he same to tin- southern people; aud therefore there was no use of

drawing any distinctions between them.

By Mr. STEVENSON :

QiH xtioii. Von s])oke of a band of about sixty disguised men who appeared at Pleas

ant ludiie. Greene County.
Answer. I only spoke of them from rumor.

1 know that. Were those men spoken of as Ku-Klux ?

A*9Wr. I will state the way my information came. I met with some friend from
Greene Comity, who said to me, &quot;Did yon hear about those Ivu-Kliix? 7 Said I, &quot;What

Kn-Klux .

&quot;

Why,&quot; said he,
&quot;

sixty Kn-Klnx appeared in Pleasant Ridge the other

day about 1*2 o clock; and they went through various cavalry evolutions in very hand
some style. They were disguised, and their horses painted, so that it was impossible
to recogiii/e any of them. They never spoke a word either to themselves or any one
else ; and after going through their evolutions, they went off in the direction of Mis

sissippi.&quot;

(Juextion. Dirt they maneuver by signs?
Anvicer. Yes, sir.

By Mr. VAX TJIUMP :

Question. Did your* informant say he saw them?
Answer. No, sir.

By Mr. STEVENSON :

Question. When was that ?

Answer. I think about a year ago. I cannot recollect whether it was a year ago or

two years ago. I think, though, that it was a year ago, about this time. I never
heard of a disguised man in the county since.

By Mr. VAX TRUMP :

Qm-stion. Did you ever hear that circumstance spoken of since?
J,/.v/,-rr. No, sir; that was the only time I ever heard of it; and I have never heard

&amp;lt;ff any demonstration similar to that, or any other disguised men in Greene County,
either in the day or night.

By Mr. STEVENSON:

Question. You did not live in that county ?

Jj/.sfrtr. No, sir; I live iifteen or sixteen miles off, in another county.
Question. Who was it that spoke to you about it ?

Aiiwcr. I cannot remember.

Question. You said it was a friend of yours?
.l&amp;gt;:H-cr. I know it was a 1rieud, but I cannot remember his name.
(JneHtion. A white man ?

Answer. Yes, sir. .

Question. He had no doubt of the circumstance ?

Answer. He did not speak as though he had any.
OMCN//ON. Supposing that those men appeared and maneuvered in that way, how do

you account for their drill and maneuvers, unless they were a body of men* who had
been some, time together, and who had trained together?

Answer. Well, sir, there is only one way to account for it besides that, and that is

this: there were in Greene County a large number of soldiers from the confederate

army, both cavalry and infantry, a very large number, and it is not at all improbable
that the capacity to perform these military evolutions was obtained while in the con
federate army. If it was not, then of course they must have had some practice. But
it seems to me altogether incredible that they should have had practice anywhere in

Alabama, either in daylight or night-time, for a sufficient time to have become as

expert as they were represented to be on that day, without being seen before or since.

Qm-xfion. Their maneuvers were admirably done, as you understood /

;l)iNirc&amp;gt;: Well, that is not the exact idea
;
but they were well done.

(Jiiexiioii. Then you can only account for them by supposing that that number of well-
drilled cavalry soldiers with well-drilled cavalry horses, had got together speedily; you
think that that must have been the case, or else they must have been drilled together?

Anmrcr. Xeftj 1 think they must have known something about it. I cannot tell,

though, the correctness of the judgment of my informant as to whether they performed
well or not.

Question. Did you not hear of the parade of Ku-Klux in. Huutsville, Alabama, in

18681
Answer. I did not

;
I heard of it for the first time since I have been here.

Question. You speak of two elements of discord. You say that the great mass of the
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people in your regie,n of Alabama are quiet and well disposed; but there are a fevr
wild young men in each county .

Answer. I suppose they are such young men from the circumstance I mentioned a,

while ago, that the only one ever discovered (and he was killed) was a desperate, dis

sipated young man.
Question. And the other discordant element you named as being a few violent poli

ticians ?

Answer. Yes, sir; extreme politicians.

Question. Now, whether these men are the men who constitute these Ku-Klux or not,

you know that such characters do exist generally there?
Answer. Yes, sir

;
of course then- are extreme politicians in every part of the country.

Question. Is it not possible for those two elements combining to cause trouble at any
time to cause any prominent republican to be in danger of being injured?

Answer. I think not.

Question. Is it not possible for those two elements combining to disturb any political

meeting at any time, whenever they will?
Answer. To be sure. There is no necessity of a combination of that sort in order to

break up or disturb a public meeting. That can be done by an instantaneous arrange
ment among persons determined to accomplish it for mere deviltry or political pur
poses.

Question. Is not the state of society between the two races more or less inflammable
there f

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. So that, if a conflict occurs between a white man and a black man, there is

a tendency at once on the part of the white people to take the white man s side, and
perhaps on the side of the colored people to take the colored man s side ?

Answer. I think that would depend upon which was in the right. I mean that is the
state of feeling now. The state of feeling between the whites and the blacks is one of

entire friendship and kindness. They are more friendly and kind toward each other,
and have more confidence in each other now, and have had for the last six or eight
months, than they have had at any time since the close of the war. The employers
deal kindly and honorably with the employed, and the old attachments that existed
between muster and slave seem to some extent renewed. And I attribute that fact to

this circumstance : that the bad men who floated over among the negroes for selfish

purposes have been found out by the negroes, and have been driven out of the country
either by the force of public sentiment, or by having failed to accomplish in a pecuni
ary point cf view what they desired. That element which disturbed the negroes, and
produced alienation between the whites and the blacks, has pretty nearly ceased to

exist.

Question. You think that in the state of society existing there now, those two ele

ments of which you spoke would not have it in their power to cause general apprehen
sion ?

Answer. Do you mean these desperate young men and violent politicians?
Question. Yes, sir.

Answer. They are not numerous enough.

By Mr. BECK :

Question. Your informant did not himself see this parade of sixty Ku-Klux ?

Answer. I did not understand him to say so; and I do not know that I ever heard

any person say that he himself ever saw it.

(Question. You do not know whether the person who told you had seen it ?

Answer. No, sir, and I do not know that it is true. I pass through Pleasant Ridge
very frequently going to court, and I ani very well acquainted there

;
know some of

the citizens there, and they never told me anything about it; but it never occurred to*

me to inquire.

Question. You do not know whether the statement came originally from a white or a
black man ?

Answer. My informant was a white man.
Question. You do not know whether the persons who pretended to have seen it ever

did see it
;

in other words, you do not know whether it was not the story of the &quot; three
black crows&quot; over again ?

Answer. My informant may himself have been misinformed. Pleasant Ridge is only
about twenty miles from Eutaw, the county seat of Greene County ;

and although I

never made any inquiry on the subject, I never heard anything said about it in Greene

County. When my informant told me, I took it for granted that it was true; and I

inquired what the men turned out for. He said he did not know
;
that they appeared

to go through these evolutions just for display, and went off. Nobody was disturbed
either before, or at the time, or after they were reported to have appeared there.

Question. You do not know whether these cavalry men were a myth or a reality ?

Anstver. No, sir, I do not know. It may have been a mere frolic on the part of some

young men, to temporarily frighten the citizens.
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By Mr. STEVENSON :

Question. When your informant told yon, was it your impression that he had seen
them or not ?

Anxn-&amp;lt;-r. I think lie told me that he had been told so. I think he told meihat he was
told that this demonstration was made on the day before he was speaking.

By Mr. Bi:c K :

(Jmxlion. As to the conflicting reports made about the Eutaw riot, was it or was it .

:uot the evident interest of the republican party, during the canvass, to magnify that

affair into as grrnt an outrage as possible, by exaggerating the number of killed and
wounded, lor the purpose of exciting the negroes against the whites because of that

alleged wrong .

Answer. I do not know about that. I do not know that any misrepresentation of the

facts could have changed the result of the election in the slightest degree, to either

party.
Question. Is it your understanding, that combinations, wherever they have existed in

your region of country, to do a particular wrong, have been begun and ended by
the perpetrators for that special case, without connection with anybody else except the
men taking part in it ?

An nicer. Well, sir, all I can say about that is this: I would hear of a crime being
Committed secretly. The question would be asked,

&quot; Did you hear that the Ku-Klux
did so-and-so?&quot; I would reply, &quot;No, what is the matter?&quot; They then would say,
Certain men did so-and-so at a certain time, and then disappeared, and there was no

telling where they came from or where they went.&quot; That is the way I got my infor- .

notation. I gather from this, that the organization was for the purpose of the particu
lar occasion, and when that was accomplished, that was the end of it until a new
occasion arose for the commission of a new offense.

Qucxlion. It is your idea that disguises were worn by these men for the purpose of

preventing detection ?

Answer. I have heard of offenses being committed in disguise, and without disguise.
Question. When a disguise was worn, it was for the purpose of preventing the detect

ion of the perpetrators of the act ?

Answer. Of course.

Question. To give them greater security and means of escape ?

Answer. Of course-

By Mr. COBUKN :

Question. You said that in your opinion it would be the best policy not to prosecute
these criminals. Now, who would become more friendly to the Government by reason
of these prosecutions not being made ?

Answer. Among others, the very men prosecuted. I think that generosity on the

part of the Government toward those who may in reality be criminals would have a

mollifying effect, not only upon the accused themselves, but upon their friends. My
idea is, that you may break a man s heart with kindness, when you cannot do it with
a sledge-hammer.

Question. Why should the Government be more generous to men committing these
crimes than to men who commit ordinary crimes larceny, perjury, murder, &c. ?

Answer. Because these prosecutions lam alluding- to are for political crimes, and not

strictly crimes against morality. I think there is a difference between a merely polit- ^

ical crime and one which involves moral turpitude. The Government can forgive a

political crime, when it might not be proper to forgive a crime involving moral turpi
tude.

Question. Do you regard these outrages upon citizens which are pointed out in this

&quot;Ku-Klux law as political crimes?
Answer. No, .sir. I thought you alluded to the prosecution of these young men in .

Mobile, and the other prosecutions of that kind.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. Is it not regarded as a great stretch of power for the Federal Government
to assume jurisdiction of those cases?

Anximr. That is the opinion among lawyers. I do not know what the general opin
ion of the masses of the people is.

Question. Is not that one ground of irritation ?

Answer. That is the opinion among lawyers, but I do not know what the sentiment
of the people at large is.

By Mr. COBURN :

Question. Have you not in your testimony referred to this Ku-Klux law as being pe
culiarly odious much more so than the law passed to enforce the fifteenth amend-
ment ?
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Answer. I do think I did. I stated that the prosecutions which I thought it would
be politic for the Government to drop were prosecutions under the act of 1870, not
under the last act.

Question. Do you not regard the last act as odious, and as creating dissatisfaction?
Ansicer. I have not heard that act discussed among the people further than it ha?

been discussed by the newspapers. To tell you the truth. I have not read carefully the
whole of this last act. I have read enough of it, though, to come to this conclusion :

that it is impolitic, for the reason I stated awhile ago the people regard it as an
additional evidence that the Government regards the southern people as rebels and
enemies still, and holds them responsible for the acts of a few desperate, irresponsible
men.

Question. Are not these offenses against which this act is directed the offenses of in

dividuals and not of the community f

Answer. Certainly they are, so far as responsibility for them is concerned; but in a

political point of view, the whole southern people are held responsible for these crimes.

Question. Do you mean to say the southern people are responsible in a political point
of view for these crimes committed in violation of the Ku-Klux law ?

Answer. I say that the public sentiment of the northern people, and perhaps the
sentiment of Congress, is that the southern people are responsible for these crimes,
and are concerned in them; whereas, in point of fact, the men who commit them, if

they exist at all as an organization, are a mere handful of men of probably desperate
character.

Question. If the men who commit these outrages are a mere handful of desperate
characters, why is it that a large portion of that community are opposed to their prose
cution for these crimes, or to the punishment of these offenses?

Answer. I do not know of any evidence that a large portion of the southern people,
or of any community in the South, are opposed to the punishment of these men. I

stated awhile ago that in my part of the country, if any good citizen had the means
to bring any of those men to justice and punishment, he would do it, even although he

might ieel that he was imperiling his own safety. 1 repeat that statement now. &quot;&quot;I be
lieve it. You -cannot bring these men to justice till you find them out

;
and the com

munity, while going to hunt for these secret assassins, may be assassinated themselves
without any hope of detecting them at last. The people argue :

&quot; If the public offi

cials cannot ferret out* these men, with .all the appliances of the grand jury and the

courts, how is it possible for us citizens to do it ? And I think the argument is very
reasonable.

By Mr. COBUKN :

Question. What arc your politics?
Answer. In old times, before the war, I was a whig ;

since the war I have taken very
little interest in politics. When 1 have acted politically, I have acted with what is

called the democratic party. I undertake to be a moderate man in my opinions, and a
man who has all proper respect for the opinions of my adversaries.

WASHINGTON, D. C., June 30, 1871.

P. T. SAYEE sworn and examined.

The CHAIRMAN, (Mr. POLAND.) As this witness has been summoned at the instance

of the gentlemen composing the minority of the committee, I will permit them to begin
his examination.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. Where do you live at this time?
Answer. In Montgomery, Alabama.

Question. How long have you lived there?
A nswer. I went to Montgomery when I was a mere infant, and I have lived there

ever since, with the exception of some intervals in the meantime. I have been living
there now since 1852.

Question. I would like to have you give a succinct statement of the condition of affairs

in your State, with particular reference to the execution of the laws
; stating whether

they are properly executed or not, and the condition of the State generally in regard to

its tranquillity.
Answer. I have been a practicing lawyer in Alabama since 1843, and have been in

regular attendance upon the courts in that State ever since that period. Within what
time would you like my answer to your question to be confined ?

Question. We want to inquire more especially in regard to the present condition of

the State.
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Anm-cr. Well, sir, it is as quiet and peaceable a community as I ever knew in my life.

Question. There is no difficulty in the execution of the laws?
^ ! ii nicer. Not a particle. I never heard of a case of resistance to a process of the court

in That part of the State, not for a great many years. Occasionally, a long while ago,
there would be some drunken man who would offer some resistance, but it would
amount to nothing. I am satisfied that since the war I have not heard of anything of
the sort, and there has been no indictment found for any offense of that sort

;
in fact,

it is an offense almost unheard of in that State.

Quest ion. Is there any organized band of men in your State who commit crimes ?

Answer. Not to my knowledge, and so far as my opinion is concerned, I do not believe

there is. I have read in the newspapers of violence being occasionally done by men
who are said to be organized, and disguised, but I have never seen anything of the

sort, and I have never seen anybody who did, or if they had seen it, they did not com
municate it to me. I am satisfied there has been no political organization of that sort,

or any organization for the purpose of affecting politics. I was a member of the last

democratic State convention, at which there was an attendance, I suppose, of three or four
hundred delegates from all parts of the State, and the plan of the campaign and the

prospects of the party were thoroughly discussed by the individual members of the
convention. I was also a member of the executive committee of the State, and I

never heard from any member of the convention, and I never heard from any member
of the executive committee, I have never seen any communication to the executive
committee in which it was even suggested, that the election was to be affected in any
way by violence or intimidation. On the contrary, that committee issued an address
to the people of the State telling them and beseeching them not to have any violence
of any sort, shape, or fashion, saying that that was what we supposed our enemies
wanted, and that our object was to have peace and quiet in the election, for we were
satisfied that we could beat in a fair vote, and did not want to have any excuse for

any trouble. I am satisfied that was the opinion and desire of the people of the State.

And, forthemlore, that committee entered into an arrangement with the executive
committee of the republican party by which, in counties where the democrats had a.

majority of managers, a republican, or two republicans, were to be appointed to be

present at the polls, and to be present when the votes were counted
;
and in counties

where the republicans had a majority, the same privilege was to be given to democrats.
I think that agreement \vas carried out faithfully by both parties. I know that in

regard to the city of Wetumpka, which was under the control of the republicans, it

was telegraphed to Montgomery that the republican official there refused to carry out
that arrangement ;

and the chairman of the republican State committee telegraphed
to him that such an arrangement had been made and he must stand up to it, and he
did so.

( &quot;vtion. That was in Wetumpka?
A&amp;gt;;*ive.r. Yes, sir; about fourteen miles from Montgomery. I never heard of any

disturbance at all in Alabama during the last election.

Question. In your county?
Answer. In my county, and I did not hear of any disturbance on the day of election

in the State.

Question. What is the state of feeling between the whites and blacks in the State ?

Answer. I live in a very large negro county, one of the largest slaveholding counties
in the State before the war. I never saw the races get along more quietly und peace
ably. I myself plant in a neighborhood where there are a very large number of freed-

men employed, several thousand, I reckon, in a radius of a* very few miles. There
never has been any sort of difficulty at all there among them

;
no complaint of non

payment of wages, of violence, or murder, or anything of the sort. Most of the negroes
who are there were raised, and a large number of them were owned, by the people who
are now employing them

;
that is the condition of that whole section of country.

Question. Do you practice in any other county than the one in which you live .

Answer. I do not make a habit of going to other counties, but within the last year I

liave been in other counties; as a general rule, I confine my practice to ray own city.
I hare been in Ijullock, Elniore, and Dallas Counties.

Question. As a general thing the laws are respected there by both races?
Answer.

J&amp;gt;y
both races. I know very few white, men in Alabama, in my section of

the eoirotry, who belong to the radical party, the republican party, except those who
iffices.

Question. And there are very few negroes
Anwer. There are very few negroes who belong to the democratic party.
Qnesiiim. How does it happen that the parties divide upon that line?
J/J.SHV/-. My opinion about that is that it commenced with the establishment of the

I imeri s Ilareau
;
I do not think there would ever have been any division of that

sort but for that.

Question. Give us, as briefly and succinctly as you can, the process and management
of that Bureau.
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Ansica: Well, when the agents first came there, after the occupation of the country
by General Smith s army, I think it was, they established a Freedmen s Bureau. They
notified everybody that they must employ their freedmen, and that all their contracts
must be submitted to the inspection of the Freedmen s Bureau

;
that no man would be

allowed to employ freedmen unless their contracts were submitted to and approved
by That Bureau. Well, they listened to every sort of tale that any dissatisfied negro
might choose to tell; they would send out and arrest white men,, bring them in
under guard, try them and put them in jail. They got hold of plantations there, what
they call refuges for freedmen. It was announced that if the freedmeu got dissatisfied

they could enter there, and be fed and clothed, and taken care of. In that way a large
number of negroes were enticed away from plantations where they had been living,
and they flocked to these places. Hundreds of them died from neglect. The impres
sion was produced upon the negro that the white man who had been his master was
his enemy, and that these men were his peculiar friends

;
that they had nothing to

expect from and through their old masters. They then commenced the establishment
of these Loyal Leagues, into which they got almost every negro in the country. They
would send their agents all through there, from plantation to plantation, until I expect
there was hardly a negro in the whole country who did not belong to the League. In
that way a. want of confidence was produced between the negro and the white man,
and a feeling of confidence between the negro and the agents of this Bureau. It has
been a very troublesome thing to counteract that

;
but it has been so far counteracted

now that the negro has confidence in the white man in everything but politics ;
I do

not think he has much confidence in the white man about politics yet, but I think
that feeling is done away with to a great extent. They would tell all sorts of tales

before elections ; they would send regular orders to the League members on the plan
tations to go and vote. I have been told that order extended to negroes from fifteen

years and upwards. Negroes themselves have told me that they voted the republican
ticket for the reason that they were informed by these men that, if they did not do it,

they would be put back into slavery, and their wives made to work on the road. It

had such an effect that a gentleman in Montgomery told me that some of his own
former slaves came back to him after the election and said,

u Well, massa, what house
must I go into: I understand that the democrats have succeeded, and that we are
slaves again/

(Jucalibn. Give us an account of the manner in which this organization was used as

an instrument to electioneer for the republican party, and bring it into power?
-I HMO-. 1 once saw a copy of what was said to be a constitution of the organization

of the Loyal League. There was in that an oath which they all had to take, and in

which they swore that they would vote for the nominees of the League. That has been
the chief instrument by which that vote has been controlled. The negro has got the
idea into his head that if he does not vote that way some terrible punishment will be
visited upon him.

OiicKtioti. Do they assume to impose fines and other punishments upon the negro
members of the League, who vote in violation of the decrees of the League ?

Ansim: I cannot answer that question; I do not think I have ever heard anything
upon that subject.

Question. From the negroes themselves?
A)i*u m

cr. Xo, sir, I do not think I ever heard them say anything on that subject.

By Mr. BECK :

Qiu xlioii. Who were generally put forward as the nominees of the party under this

organization for the most important offices; citizens of your State, or men who came
there to get those offices

;
Bureau agents ?

AHsim: In the county in which I live, the senator from that county is a man who
has lived there a great many years, a man of means and property, and a man of good
sense. One of the representatives is a man by the name of Harmount : ho was an

agent of the Freedmeu s Bureau
;
I do not know where he came from. He lias been

living in the county ever since, and is apparently a decent man, a well-behaved man.
Another is a man who came from Austria, by the name of Stroback. I understood
that he was a sutler or something of that sort in the Federal Army. I further under
stood that he never has been naturalized; I do not know about the truth of that. He
was said to have been a gentleman in his own country; I do not know about that, but
he certainly is not one in Montgomery. He is a man of a great deal of sense, and I

think a dangerous man in any community situated as ours is. The others are three

negroes; two of whom I knew very well. One of them is named Holland Thompson ;

he is a very respectable negro.
(Question. You need not go into detail in regard to each county. How was it gener

ally throughout the State f

Answer. As a general rule throughout the State, that was the class of people they
nominated; negroes and men who had no interest in the country; that is the general
statement about it
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By Mr. BLAIIJ :

(
t

&amp;gt;H&amp;lt; *tioK. Many of whom were associated with the Bureau?
Answer. Yes, sir, a large number of them were creatures of that Bureau, made by it.

Mr. Buckley, a member of Congress here, was an agent of the Freedmen s Bureau, and
that is the way he got his office.

QticytioH. In reference to the constitutional convention that framed your constitu

tion whieh was afterwards rejected, I would ask how that convention was composed?
AHKH-CI-. Largely of people who never lived in the State, who had no interest in the

State. Counties were represented there by men who never were in the counties at all,

and I do not expect they have ever been in them to this day.

(JUicafton. The constitution which they formed was not acceptable to the people as ap
peared by their vote &quot;?

J//KIW. No, sir; it was very unacceptable to them.

(jHcxtion. In what respect was it unacceptable?
.J//.SH-I/-. in several respects; the disability part of the constitution was very objec

tionable to them. They objected to it, also, for the reason that it created offices which
never h:d had any existence in the State before, and for which they saw no occasion or

neeessity. We never had a lieutenant-governor in the State, never saw any use for

one. They also made an officer which they called, I think, the commissioner of indus
trial resomves : that office was a mere sinecure. They gave him a salary of $2,500 a

year, I think, with clerk hire, and the man had nothing to do except to draw his sal

ary. He cost the State five or six thousand dollars a year, and I do not suppose ho
ever did an hour s worth of work ; there was really nothing for him to do. Another

objection to the constitution was that it made the whole judiciary of the State of Ala
bama elective, from the supreme court down to a justice of the peace, the attorney-
genei-al, and all the solicitors. It changed the character of the solicitors by making
them elective in each county, instead of having a solicitor in each circuit, which was
the old plan, and one which worked very well. It abolished entirely any right to im
prison for debt. Under the old law we had no such thing really as imprisonment for

debt
;
but a man might be arrested upon a ca. sa., and upon an exhibit of property ho

was discharged. But under the constitution as it now stands a man may be worth a
million of dollars, and, unless a law passed at the last session of the legislature could
reach him, you could not collect a dollar from him. Another objection was that the

governor was authorized to appoint notaries public; I do not recollect the number of

them, but a very large number, who had the same jurisdiction that justices of the

peace had. In our State justices of the peace have jurisdiction of all claims under
one hundred dollars; and suits must be brought against the parties cither in the pre
cinct in which they live, or in the precinct in which the contracts were made. But
notaries public have jurisdiction all over the county, and they can bring a man forty
miles, away down from one corner of the county to another corner of the county, to
answer a little demand of $5. All these objections existed against the constitution.

Question. Was there anything on the subject of election laws embraced in this con
stitution &quot;t

Answer. No, sir
;
the election laws were passed by the legislature of 1868. Those

laws repealed the old election law, which existed anterior to that time, and, to my
mind, left it in a very singular condition. Under the registration law the books are

kept open all the time, and a man can go into the judge of probate s office at any time
and register ;

and there is nobody there to challenge him and ask him whether he is a

legal or an illegal voter, or anything of the sort. He takes a certain oath, it is true.

That registry is open on the day of election, and it is the duty of the officers of elec
tion to keep it within a certain distance of the polls, so that anybody can register who
chooses; and under 1he construction given to that law, after he registers there is no
punishment for illegal voting. A man may vote forty times, and there is no laWiu the
Mate whereby he may be punished.

By Mr. BUCK :

Question. No power to challenge his vote ?

JH.SHV/-. No, sir; it is an indictable offense to challenge a vote in the State of
Alabama.

By Mr. BLAIR:

(Jucxliint. After the constitution was submitted to the people and rejected according
to the act of Congress, and it was afterward by a subsequent act of Congress put in

operation in the State, and the officers elected under it, at the time of its failure
Mr. BKCK. Defeated under it.

Mr. BLAII:. Defeated under it, as a matter of course, because the constitution failed
;

after that, was it a sonree of annoyance and irritation to the entire people of the State
that they should have had officers put upon them in that way ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;

I think it has done more to produce a bad feeling than anything
that has occurred. I do not think that all the incidents of the war produced as
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bad an effect upon the minds of the people as the imposition by Congress of that con
stitution upon the people. They regarded themselves as having been entrapped. They
li:id been told that that constitution was not to be the constitution of the State, unless
it received a majority of the registered votes of the State. The people of the State did
not like the constitution, and they adopted the best means they knew to defeat it, and
that Avas by staying away from the polls.

Question. In strict accordance with the act of Congress I

Ansiccr. In strict accordance with the act of Congress. The people registered, and if

the constitution had not contained those features to which I have alluded, the people
would have voted.

Question. It was a constitution made by the agents of the Freedmeiv s Bureau, and
other aliens to the State, and imposed upon them in violation of the will of the people
of the State ?

Answer. Yes, sir. It is true they had to live under that constitution and to endure it
;

but they have never regarded it as a constitution made by the people of the State of
Alabama.

Question. What was the class of officers, the character of the men, generally brought
into office by the action of Congress?
Ansirei . Well, sir, I reckon a more ignorant set of men, and less qualified to discharge

the duties of their \arious offices, were never put upon any people anywhere.
(Question. What was the character of the legislation that followed after the accession

of those people to power ?

Ansu er. Well, there were a great many laws passed, the object of which was to sus

tain the party in power there, to build them up and to perpetuate their hold on power
This election law was one of them. And I recollect another law they passed, which is

in existence now. by which the judges of probate and at the time the law was passed,
I think, every OIK; in the State was a republican had the right to designate the pa
pers in which legal advertisements should be made. They always designated republi
can papers : and if there did not happen to be one in the* county in which the judge
of probate- lived, he would select one three or four counties off. Before that the
law was that the parties interested in the advertisements might select the paper in

which it should be published ;
the judge had nothing to do with it.

By Mr. BKCK :

Question. Are most of the advertisements those in which democrats alone are inter

ested ?

Attsu-er. I do not believe I have ever seen one in which a negro was interested at all.

Question. Thereby you helped to support their press 1

Anwer. Certainly ;
the people, opposed to them in politics, have supported their

press ever since they existed, and are doing it now. If it was not for that, not one
would exist in the State.

By Mr. BLAIR:

Question. A number of bills were passed by the legislature in aid of railroads. Was
it the belief of the people that those bills were corruptly passed ?

Ansu-er. Well, I do not suppose that many people entertained any doubt about the
fact that bribery was used to a very considerable extent in getting several bills passed

Through the legislature. The bill in aid of the Chattanooga Kailroad, one in aid of the

South and North road, and one in aid of the Mobile and Montgomery road, I have very
little doubt but what money was paid in each case.

(Jucstiox. Have you mentioned the bill giving two millions to the Alabama and Chat

tanooga Railroad?
Ansu-er. Yes, sir; my own opinion is that the other roads are just as guilty; I do

not think there is a particle of difference between them. There was a singular thing

happened in reference to one of those railroads; I do not recollect now which one it

was. The chairman of the committee to which the bill was referred reported one day
against its passage. In a very short time the bi~I was recommitted, and the very next

morning, without any new light having been thrown upon the subject, without any

thing having occurred in the meantime publicly to produce a change in the public
sentiment, that same chairman of the same committee reported the bill favorably.

Question. Did the action of Congress in imposing upon the Slate this constitution,

and these bad and incompetent officials, have any effect upon the political sentiment
of the State ?

Ansu-er. Y
T

es, sir
;
it had a very great effect upon the political sentiment of the State,

In 16b5, after the war, 1 have always believed that if the people of the South had been
treated as they supposed they would be, and as in their opinion they ought to have

been, the republican party could have controlled all of those States without any
trouble. The people there cared nothing for the democratic party ; they cared noth

ing particularly about the republican party : they were for the party that would give
them peace and quiet ;

that was all they wanted. And they would have gone for
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whatever party did that. Even as late as the election of General Grant, in 1868, thou
sands of men refrained from voting, for the reason that they believed he would be some

otfttecle, soinr breakwater, between the legislation of Congress and them. He had
startH. out with the motto, &quot;Let us have peace;&quot; and they thought we would be
much more likely to have it under him than under Mr. Seymour. I know of niy own
knowledge that a great many men entertained that opinion. A great many voted for

General Grant on that ground ;
a great many abstained from voting entirely for the

reason that they did not care to make any opposition to the election of General Grant
;

and a large number of gentlemen, who acted with the republican party as late as 1868.

have sinee that time abandoned it, audnow act with the democratic party.
(Question. By reason of these acts of Congress ?

Ansiccr. Yes, sir
; nothing else in the world.

By Mr. BECK :

Question. Can you give us any idea about the strength of the white republican vote
in Alabama now ?

Answer. My own opinion is that five thousand would cover them all.

Question. Was there at any time more than that ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
I think so. I merely judge from my own county ;

I know a great
many gentlemen there who used to act with the republican party, but who do not now.

By. Mr. BLAIR :

Question. That was particularly the case in the northern part of the State?
Answer. In the mountain regions, yes.

Question. There were a great many persons in the mountain regions inclined to act
with the republicans, were there not ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. In reference to the taxes and expenses of your State government, and of

your county organizations,4iow do they compare now with what they were previous
to the adoption of the constitution ?

.iitsiccr. Before the war, my recollection is that the tax upon real estate was 25 cents
&amp;lt;ni every hundred dollars worth, or one-quarter of one per cent.; and upon personal
property, outside of slaves, it was very small. Upon slaves it was very small; they
were taxed according to their age, so much between ten and fifteen, so much between
iifteen and twenty, so much between twenty and thirty, and so on up to sixty ; they
were taxed up to the age of sixty years. My recollection is that the highest tax on

any of them was not more than 50 cents. Since the war every species of property is

taxed, hogs, sheep, cattle, everything. I believe five hundred dollars worth of property
is exempt ;

that is all. The State tax is three-fourths of one per cent. The tax in

Montgomery County, in which I live and it is a county that ought not to have a dollar
of debt is three-fourths of one per cent.

Question. For county purposes?
Answer. Yes, sir. They raised in the county, for county purposes, .between $90,000

and 100.000
;
and for State purposes something over 100,000. Before the war I do

not suppose the expenses of Montgomery County ever exceeded $30,000 ;
but now

N Mj has been raised for several years. &quot;What they do with it I do not know. There
have been no public buildings put up, no public improvements going on, except an
occasional bridge across a creek. Where it goes I do not know.

Question. Is there accountability enforced upon these persons f

Answer. There is a law of the State requiring the judge of probate there to publish
so many times every year the receipts and expenditures of the county, and a statement
of how the money has been expended. But I have never seen a single publication of

that sort.

By Mr. BKCK :

(Question. lias any been made, so far as you are advised ?

Ansicer. My impression is that none has ever been made. I never saw anybody who
had .seen one, and I have made inquiries about it, because I had a great curiosity to
know what they did with the money.

By Mr. BLAIH:

Question. Something besides curiosity, had you not?
Answer. I had some interest, but still curiosity had a great deal to do with it.

(juextioii. As to the indebtedness of the State, is it ascertainablc
;
does anybody know

what it is?

Answer. No. sir; nobody knows exactly what the State debt is. The debt existing
anterior to tin- \var can be ascertained beyond all question, and I reckon is ascertained.
As to (he debt that has accumulated since the war, I reckon it is very difficult to find

out what it is. In the first place, we have issued a large number of notes which pass
as money ;

I do not know how many of them have been put out
;

it is possible that in

formation can be obtained. How many bonds have been issued I cannot tell
;
how
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many will be issued nobody can tell. I once made an estimate as to what I supposed
the liability of the State might be under existing laws, and with the works now in

progress, nnd for which charters have been obtained, and upon which they can com
mence work before the law ceases to have effect. I made an estimate that it might bo
forty millions of dollars.

Question. Does the law require that these railroad corporations shall have a certain
amount of bonafide stock before they can avail themselves of the benefit of the law ?

Antsira: That has always been my understanding of the law. I think our whole sys
tem of chartering corporations is exceedingly defective. It is very difficult to tell ex

actly what it does mean. It was evidently the object of the law that stock should be
subscribed. But they get their charters through and subscribe the stock, aud do not

pay a dollar of it in. In reference to this Alabama and Chattanooga Railroad, I am in
formed that not one dollar s worth of stock has ever been paid into that road.

Question. It was built entirely by the State subscription?
Answer. Entirely.
Question. That is, all that has been built of it?
Aitwer. All that has been built. I was told the other day, by a gentleman, that

there was about a hundred miles of the road well, you may travel over it with
a car, but it would not be called a railroad in this country.

By Mr. BI:CK:

Question. Has there been more stock issued to that company than the law contem
plated or allowed ?

AUNWCI: 1 have understood that several hundred thousand dollars worth of bonds
have been issued more than was authorized by law.

By Mr. BLAH; :

QiicHHon. That was done by the governor?
Answer. That was done by Governor Smith.

Question. What is his occupation at present ?

Anwcr. I think he has some connection with that road.

Question, lie is in the employment of that road f

AHNICCI: Yes, sir ; that is my understanding of his business now. His private secre

tary also is in the employment of that road.

Question. Are any other of the former officers of the State now employed by that
road ?

Anwer. Yes, sir; I heard that the old secretary of state is also in the employment of
that road.

Question. There has been a great deal of testimony before this committee in regard
to Ku-Klux outrages that are alleged- to have occurred in the State of Alabama. I

believe you have already answered the question asked you, whether you believed
there was such an organization within the State?
Anxim: I do not believe there is any such thing as an organization there. Men may

occasionally get together and commit depredations, and they would be called Ku-Klux
;

but that is the extent of the organization, an organization in the locality, and for a

special purpose ;
I am satislied that is all there is of it.

Question. Were you at the seat of government, in Montgomery, at the time of the
contest about the office of governor, and the inauguration of Governor Lindsay?
AHwer. Yes, sir; I was there.

Question. Was there any unusual collection of people in the town at that time any
thing more than usually occurs on such occasions ?

Answer. The legislature was in session, and I think that perhaps the grand lodge of

Masons were also there during the time of that excitement
;
and I am not certain

but what there, was a Methodist conference, or something of that sort, going on.

Question. It has been stated in the testimony of Mr. Parsons, Governor Parsons, of

your State, that there were large bodies of men from different parts of the State col

lected in Montgomery at the time, aud that they were armed.
Answer. That is not so.

Question. That they were in attendance upon the court in which Governor Lindsay
brought an action for the executive apartments, and for the books and papers of the
executive office; that the court before which he brought this action was crowded
with men from distant parts of the State, who were variously armed.

Annw(:r. I was in the court-house during that trial, and did not see a single, solitary

Aveapon there. There was a very good crowd in the court-house; it was a matter in

which everybody felt a great deal of interest. The bar was very well filled with

lawyers, and the outside of the, bar was very well filled by citizens of Montgomery,
and by strangers also it might have been.&quot; But there was not a very large crowd

there; there was no difficulty in getting into the court-house, or out of it. There was
no disturbance of any sort, shape, tn. fashion. And I never saw a weapon during that
whole excitement
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tum. Who was the judge who presided in the court 9

T, Jiunes Q. Smith.

Question. What was his politics ?

AMuaoer. He belonged to the republican party, and obtained his office under the elec

tion held upon the constitution.

Question. Do you know that any intimidation was used by the negroes of these

Leagues upon the other negroes to prevent them from voting the democratic ticket?
A usirer. Negroes have told me that they were afraid to let it be known that they

voted the democratic ticket. One negro I recollect in particular, he is a very sensible

man, told me that he was ;i negro and had to associate with the negroes ;
but that the

white people had always been his friends and were now his friends; that they had
given him employment, and ho was disposed to support them, for he thought they
could make laws which would suit him and them better than those who were strangers ;

that, so far as he was concerned, he wanted to vote the democratic ticket, but he had
to coueeal his political views, and if he so voted he had to keep his vote a secret, in

order to avoid social ostracism ;
that he was a negro and had to associate with negroes,

and that he did not want to lose that association. I have heard of negroes being
whipped for voting the democratic ticket.

Question. Did you ever hear of any one being arrested for doing that ?

Amm\ I do not recollect of hearing ofany one being arrested for it. But I recollect

distinctly of hearing of a negro being whipped at the last election.

Question. In your county and State elections was there any systematic plan adopted
by the Leagues to compel the negroes to vote the republican ticket?

AHtvm. I stated to you a little while ago that I heard orders were sent out and

arguments were used to induce negroes to vote.

Question. Was any plan adopted to ascertain the fact of how they did vote ?

Answer. My office is not very far from the court-house; and standing in my office

door, I can see everything that goes on there. On the pavement leading to the court

house, and within fifty steps of the gate through which they go to vote, I myself saw
a negro stop every negro who came along on the pavement, and take his ticket from
his hand. Sometimes he would give it back, and sometimes he would tear it up and
hand him another ticket. I recollect distinctly that General Clautoii and myself looked
at it together. He went over and asked the negro wThat he was doing, and I think
told him that he would not submit to that

;
that he must go away ;

that if the negroes
wanted to vote the democratic ticket they should do it. The negro left that place, and
I do not know where he went to from there. I recollect that circumstance distinctly.

Question. Was there much illegal voting in Montgomery County at the last election I

Answer. That is a mere matter of opinion. I saw a great many negroes vote who
it struck me were not competent voters, who were too young. And I understand that
a great many negroes from Lowndes County eanie up there and voted. It is some-

tiling we cannot prevent as long as the election law remains as it is. The right to

challenge I do not think would meet the difficulty. The only way to meet the difficulty
is to require registered voters to vote in the precinct in which they live.

Question. Are they privileged now to vote anywhere ?

Answer. To vote anywhere they please in the county ;
and the officers never consult

the register to ascertain whether the man who offers to vote has been registered or not.

He goes up and offers his vote and they take it. The number of voters in Montgomery
County is very large, I think, in proportion to the population.

Question. Larger than it should be f

Anxwer. Larger than it ought to be, I think.

Question. If there Avas any fraud committed in that election, it was more likely to

have been committed upon the republican side, as they had the control of the election

nlticers, did they not ?

Answer. Well, if they allowed it to be committed against them, they are not as smart
as 1 took them to be.

Question. Did they not have the appointment of nearly all the election officers in the
State ?

.inxivcr. Yes, sir, I think they did.

Question. And the designation of all the places of election ?

Anawer. Those places are designated by a commissioners7 court. They have a court
there called the. commissioners court, and the precincts are designated by them, and
are very rarely changed. In the county of Montgomery, at the last election, in one

place they held the election about three* miles from the precinct.
Question. Held the election there?
Anxurr. Yes, sir, about three miles from the precinct, in which there were about four

hundred majority for the republican candidate, and that return was counted.

QuexlioH. That, was at the last election?
Aiixwer. Yes, sir.

Qttt xlitni. And the vote was counted?
Answer. Yes, sir. I think, though, it was the result of the ignorance of the managers
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of the election in holding it there
;
I do not think they intended any wrong by it

; but
it certainly was held three miles from the place designated for that precinct, though a

protest, was made against it.

Question. Is it your opinion that the republicans ever had a majority in the State of
Alabama ?

Answer. 1^0, sir
;
I never had the idea that they had a majority there.

Question. Of the white as well as of the black vote?
Answer. Yes, sir; I have no doubt but what the democratic party always had ten

thousand majority in Alabama, and have it to-day.
Question. And that majority is particularly large in the northern part of the State?
Answer. Yes, sir. In the city of Mobile the democrats have a considerable majority ;

in Butler County, and in the southern tier of counties, Dale, Coffee, Coviugtou, Wash
ington, and Henry, the democrats have a majority.

By Mr. BECK :

Question. It has been testified to by several gentlemen here, and I want your opinion
on that subject, that a republican cannot safely express his political opinions in the
State of Alabama. What is your information and knowledge upon that subject ?

Answer. Well, sir, I have heard them express them very often, within less than a
hundred yards of where I used to live. I used to hear them very frequently making
speeches, night and day, attending their meetings, and carrying them on precisely as

they would here. I have never seen them interrupted in the slightest degree, and they
never have been interrupted there.

Question. Is it your opinion that any man can make a public canvass in the State of
Alabama there and speak there for the republican or democratic side, without any
interruption ?

AnKwer. I have no doubt but what he can make speeches from Tennessee to the Gulf
of Mexico, and never be interfered with at all, any more than they used to interfere

with them in the contests in former times between whigs and democrats.

Qncxiion. And they do speak freely, and have spoken freely, in all the canvasses?
Answer Yes, sir.

Question. Do they, from the general tone of their speeches, seem to indicate that they
arc afraid to give any offense by expressing their political sentiments?

Answer. No, sir, not in the .slightest degree. Some of them have made as inflamma

tory speeches, so I have heard; I never have heard one of them speak except at a

distance; I never went to one of their meetings; I have heard of them making
.some very inflammatory speeches, and I have never heard of one being interrupted.

(^ne^lion. It has been stated here that in the elections of Alabama the democrats
used a great deal of intimidation against the colored people, particularly in reference
to their votes. What is your information on that subject ?

Ansicer. I am satisfied the statement is incorrect. The white people south have
(lone very little as yet toward trying to influence the colored vote; they did not think
the time had come for it. They have been allowed to go and vote just precisely as

th-.-y pleased.

Question. The senate of your legislature, I believe, was put in at the time the consti

tution was forced upon you by Congress, and still holds over?
Answer. Yes, sir

;
and I think contrary to the constitution of the State.

Question. Is it a republican senate?
Answer. All but one; there is one democrat in it.

Question. You have spoken about the negroes not being safe if they voted the demo
cratic ticket. What have you heard upon the subject of promises being made to them,
either through the leagues or the agents of the bureau, or men professing to act by
authority, to the effect that laud or other property would be given to negroes who
would stand by and vote for them and the republican party?
Anuwer. There used to be talk two or three years ago about giving them forty acres

of laud and a mule
;
but I believe they have quit that. The negroes have given up

the idea now of getting the forty acres of land and the mule.

Question. Was it, according to your information, freely promised?
Answer. Yes. sir

;
no doubt about that.

Question. They made the negroes believe it ?

Aiixwer. Yes, sir; and negroes who used to belong to me have come to me and told
me about it, and wanted to know how they could get it

;
said that they had been told

all the time that they were to have it, and they wanted to know how they could get it.

Question. It was not regarded in your State as a myth, as a democratic falsehood, but
it was regarded as a promise actually made ?

Answer. So the negroes say.
Question. And it was generally believed by the people?
Answer. Yes, sir.

By the CHAIRMAN, (Mr. POLAND :)

Q-ticstion. You say that your people were very much dissatisfied with the various

provisions of your constitution?
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. Yes. sir.

Qiie*l n&amp;gt;ti. And were very much dissatisfied with the manner in which it was imposed

upon the State by Congress?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Have your people ever undertaken to resist its enforcement m any way, by

any force or violence ?

An*u-er. Not at all.

Quexlion. They have always quietly and properly submitted to it as a constitution?

. Anxicrr. Yes. sir.

Question. Awaiting your time to alter it in the proper constitutional way f

Anxirer. Yes, .sir.

(&amp;gt;n&amp;lt;-*tion. I lave the provisions of that constitution, or the manner in which it was
forced upon the people of the State of Alabama, ever been made a pretext for any
violence or unlawful act, by anybody, to your knowledge?

Atixtccr. I think not.

^ii rxlioii. You have spoken of various improper acts of the legislature that was first

;; entitled under your constitution. Have your people ever undertaken to resist the

enforcement of those laws by any violence?

iliixira-. No, sir.

QncxtioH. Has the impropriety of those laws ever been made a pretext for any acts

of violence whatever by anybody?
Anxirtr. Not that I have; ever heard of.

Question. You have spoken about the uusuitableness of various persons appointed to

ofti ce under that constitution. Have you ever undertaken to resist by force in any
way those officials

&amp;gt;

Answer. I do not know that I have ever heard of but one officerwho had any difficulty
I do not know whether that grew out of any political matter.

Question. You do not understand that, if there have been any acts of violence, they
are to be attributed to any of these causes ?

Aiixtcer. No, sir
;

I do not think they are, because I think the people of the State of

Alabama were determined to obey any law or constitution that was upon them.

Question. You have spoken about some railroad legislation that you think was im

properly and corruptly procured from the legislature. In the first place, let me ask

yon if those acts of the legislature were in any sense made a political question in the

legislature ;
was there a political division upon that subject?

A*wer. There was very little opportunity to have any political division on that.

Question. It was a largely republican legislature?
Anxieer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did not the democrats who were in the legislature, what few of them there
were, vote for those acts ?

Anxirer. I am not able to speak upon that subject.
o/rr.v/wH. Have yon ever examined in order to find out ?

Anxwcr. I have not examined.

Question. Do you understand that those railroad acts were passed-
Anxn-i-r. My impression is that the democratic senator voted for them.

Question. Did yon understand that they were in any sense opposed as political
measures, or that there was any political division upon them?

Ansicer. No, sir; I have not heard that there was.

(Jiieriion. Do you understand that that railroad legislation has ever been made the

pretext for any unlawful acts by anybody?
AiiHirer. No, sir.

&amp;lt;

t

&amp;gt; /ie.-&amp;lt; I ion. Then all these tilings about which you have been examined have not
furnished any foundation for any violations of law upon the part of anybody, so far as

you know ?

. I ji.sjrcr. Not that I have ever heard of.

^ iicstioii. You do not believe that they have?
Anxn-cr. No, sir; I do not.

(jncxtion. This examination so far has been quite aside from the duty that was
imposed upon this eommittee. We are required to ascertain, as well as we can, what
i- the present condition of your State; whet her the laws are enforced, and whether, if
crime is committed, it is properly punished; also what is the condition of the com
munity then iis to its pence and order. Have you heard of any acts of violence having
lieoi committed within your State during the last year or two any persons having been
killed .

AnKii-i r. 1 have heard of persons being killed.

({iicxlioii. Have you heard of persons being killed by bands of disguised men ?

Answer. Only what 1 have seen in the newspapers.
Question. Have you had such information upon that subject as to satisfy you that

has been the oaxf .

I saw an account of a man being killed in Greene County, I think it was;
the solicitor up there.
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Question. Mr. Boyd?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did you understand that he was killed by a party of disguised rnen ?

Answer. Yes, sir; that was the newspaper account of it.

Question. Well, you supposed that to be true ?

Answer. I supposed it Avas.

Question. Is that the only instance of the kind you have heard of in the State ?

Answer. I canuot call to mind any other now; I do not recollect any other.

Question. Is it not your opinion that there have been more persons killed in the same
way by bands of disguised men ?

Answer. I think I heard that some persons were killed up in the neighborhood of

Faytona; but I do not recollect whether it was by persons in disguise or not.

Question. Has it not been a matter of public notoriety in your State for the last year
or two, that in all parts of the State, at various times, bands of disguised men have
been riding abroad at night ;

has there been any such thing as that?
Answer. I do not think I have heard of it in &quot;all parts of the State. I have seen in

the newspapers that in certain portions of North Alabama things of that sort have
occurred.

Question. Have you not heard of these bauds appearing in a great many of your
counties ?

Answer. No, sir; I never heard of their appearing in nlany parts of the State.

Question. Can you tell now the number of counties where you have heard of such
occurrences ?

Answer. I heard of this instance in Greene County, and I heard of that case over in
the neighborhood of Paytona, I think it was; whether they were disguised or not I do
not recollect.

(Question. Do you mean to say it has not been well understood through the public
press, and in every way that would give the public general information, that bands of

disguised men have appeared in various sections of your State, and in a great many
places?

Answer. I have an indistinct recollection that I have seen in newspapers that men of
this sort have appeared in certain places in North Alabama; but I do uot think I have
ever heard of any in what we call South Alabama; if I have, I do not recollect it.

Question, lias there been any talk about such an institution as the Ku-Klux?
Answer. There has been talk about the institution of Ku-Klux for the last two or

three years: but there has been BO much talk about them, and nobody could ever fix

them or spot them, that it got to make the same impression upon my mind that the
old cry of wolf did in the fable.

Question. So much was said you did not believe any of it?

Answer. Yes. sir; there was no result.

Question. You heard of persons being killed?

Answer. I heard of Boyd, and of the case over there in Paytona; those were all the
cases.

Question. Have you heard of men being taken out of their houses by these bauds of

disguised men and whipped ?

Answei . I have heard of men being whipped occasionally.

Question. Have you not heard of their being whipped by disguised men?
Answer. 1 do not know that I have.

Question. You never heard of it?

Answer. I have heard of men being whipped, but I do not recollect whether it was

by disguised men.

Question. Do yon mean to say that you have not heard of men, and of a great many
men, especially colored men, being taken out and whipped by disguised men. Has not

that been current in the newspapers?
Answer. There may have been an occasional report of that sort, but I do not think

they have been very numerous.

Question. Well, do you believe, from all you have read and heard about it, that there

have been, in parts of your State, bands of men who went about at night in disguise?
Ansu cr. I believe this that men have joined themselves together for the purpose ofjoined themselves together for the purpose

doing some special piece of violence in some particular parts of the State; I have no
doubt but what that thing has occurred.

Question. Do you not think there have been a great many instances of that sort ?

Answer. Well, sir, I cannot say about that.

Question. I am not asking about a general concerted action throughout the State.

Aitxurr. I have heard of things of that sort in various parts of the State; more par
ticularly in North Alabama than anywhere else.

Question. Is that rather a modern thing in your State, or have you always had such

things ?

Answt r. No, sir; I do not think that in old times, when negroes were sometimes

whipped by people who were not authorized to whip them-
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Question. Did you ever hear of its being ddne by men in such large numbers, and in

disguise ?

Aimrer. No, sir; I never heard of anything of that sort being done by men in dis

guise before the war.

Question. How do you account for its appearance and its connection within the last

two or three years ?

Answer. I account for it in this way : bad men got into particular localities, and the

law was not adequate to get rid of them, and men chose to take the laws into their

own hands.

Question. What class of persons have been the objects of violence by these bands, either

killings or whippings; what classes of men have those acts been committed upon?
Ansiver. I have heard of some negroes being whipped; I think I have heard of some

white men, though I do not have any distinct recollection of them.

Question. Have those acts generally been confined to men of one particular party,
whether white or colored ?

Answer. My recollection is that the newspapers generally say that they are republicans.
Question. So far as you have heard about these acts, do they not seem to be devoted

entirely to members of the republican party ?

Answer. I think I have heard of some democrats being treated in the same way.
Question. Who?
Answer. I do not recollect any of their names.

Question. Do you feel pretty confident of that ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
I feel pretty confident that some democrats have been treated in

the same way.
Question. Give us an instance of that sort.

Answer. I cannot give you an instance, for it is an indistinct recollection.

Question. Are you pretty confident in that belief?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
I am pretty confident in the belief that I have heard of things of

that sort
;
and I am pretty confident in the belief that I have heard of negroes being

taken out and whipped by negroes.
Question. We would be glad to have you state some instances where a democrat has

been served in that way.
Answer. If I could recollect it, I would tell it with a great deal of pleasure.
Question. I have no doubt of that.

Answer. But I do not recollect the name of any of them.

Question. You do not think that has been as common as the other?
Answer. No, sir

;
I hardly think it has.

Question* You know nothing about the existence of any such organization?
Answer. Not a thing; no more than you do.

Question. Do you belong to any political organization yourself, other than being a .

member of the democratic party? I suppose you do belong to the democratic party?
Answer. I am a democrat.

Question. Do you belong to any inside association of the democratic party ?

Answer. No, sir; not of any sort, shape, or fashion. I never belonged to any secret

society in my life, except a college society at Princeton.

Question. Do you know of any such society?
Answer. No, sir. I mean by that that I do not belong to any club that is not as pub-

&quot;

lie as the party itself.

Question. Do you belong to any club or society ?

Answer. No society ;
but at every election we met together as a party to organize.

Question. As a caucus, &c.?
Answer. Yes, sir

; everything is public.
Question. And you do not belong to any society having a constitution and officers, or

anything of that sort?
Ansiver. Just the sort of societies to which I referred just now. For instance, thero^

are different wards in the city, and there will be a ward club, and there may be a

president and secretary of the club
;
but they are clubs simply for the purpose of pro

viding for political meetings.
Question. Is there such a thing as membership to it ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Is there any constitution about it ?

A nsu er. No constitution.

Question. Is there some way of distinguishing membership?
Answer. No, sir.

Question. You do not have such a thing as membership ?

Anxwer. No, sir; nothing at all of that sort.

Question. Merely ward meetings ?

Answer. That is all
; nothing else.

Question. Or a democratic caucus ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir
;
that is all.
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Question. Well, we have as bad as that in my town. Have you ever heard of any
body being arrested, prosecuted, and punished for any of these marauding offenses?

Answer. I have heard of several men being brought down to Montgomery, and being
tried before the United States commissioner there for alleged offenses of that sort.

Question. Where from?
Answer. My recollection is that, perhaps, some came from Coosa County, or Elmore

County I do not recollect which.

Question. How many cases of that sort do you know of in the United States court,
do you think ?

Answer. 1 think I heard there was one indictment in the United States court of that
sort against a party, found at the last term of the court.

Question. Do you know where the offense was committed?
Answer. Either in Elmore or Coosa County, or, perhaps, Talkipoosa I do not recol

lect which county but one of those three counties.

Question. Can you give us any idea of the number of cases you have known of arrests,
where there have been hearings before the United States commissioner, of such offenses?

Answer. I have heard of two or three cases brought before the United States commis
sioner .during the last two or three months, and I have understood also that they were
all discharged.

Question. Have you known of any conviction of anybody for this class of offenses.

Answer. No, sir; there never lias been in my county?
Question. How do you account for the fact that all, or at least a very large proportion

of this kind of offenses, have been against members of the republican party ?

Answer. I suppose they made themselves very obnoxious as individuals by some acts.

Question. You think it is because they had bad people in that party?
Answer. Well. I do not know

;
those men happened to be bad, or they might not have

been bad, I cannot tell anything about that; I suppose the people who committed the
violence upon them supposed them to be so.

Question. That is, they are bad people cleaning out bad people?
Answer. Yes

;
I thiitk it very likely it was mixed up a great deal in that way.

Question. You do not suppose that the people who band together to do these things
are of the lirst order of your population ?

Answer. I do not think that is at all the best evidence of their being so.

(Jitest ton. So far as you know, according to your judgment and belief, are they repub
licans ?

Answer. The people who commit this violence?

Question. Yes, the people who band themselves together in this way ?

Answer. I have heard of one or two instances where they were.

Question. Is it so generally?
Answer. No : I do not think they are generally republicans, nor do I know that they

are democrats.

Question. According to your idea, they devote themselves to the evil men in the repub
lican party ?

Anwer. To the men they suppose to be evil men.

Question. A word or two now about your election laws. Your law requires that every
man shall be registered in order to be entitled to vote ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Does every man, when he registers, have to take an oath, in which he
swears to his legal qualifications as a voter?

Answer. Yes, sir; I think that is the law.

Question. He has to swear to certain facts in reference to his age, residence, &c.,

which, if true, make him a legal voter?
Ansn cr. Yes, sir.

(Question. Is he liable under your law to be punished for perjury if he swears falsely
in taking that oath?

Answer. Yes, sir; I presume he is.

Question. Is it the same punishment that is prescribed for perjury in other cases?

Answer. The punishment is fixed by law
;

I do not recollect what it is, but I think it

is made a felony.

Question. You do not make any complaint but what the punishment provided by the

law is adequate ?

Answer. I do not know anything about that.

Question. If a man registers illegally takes a false oath in doing so he is liable to

indictment for perjury?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. You say there is nothing in the law to prevent a man from voting forty

times ?

Answer. I do not think there is. There was a law in the code to punish illegal voting,

but that was repealed by the general election law of 1868; that law repealed all elec

tion laws in existence prior to that time.
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Question. Did that law repeal your penal code ?

Answer. My recollection is, that the punishment for illegal voting was in the code
under the head of general election laws.

Question. Have you examined that ; are you sure about that ?

Answer. I think I did look at it once
;
I have not done so very recently, but that is my

recollection of it.

Question. Do you mean to say that there is now no law in your State that will pun
ish a inaii for voting twice at the same election ?

Answer. That is the conclusion to which the bar have come upon that subject. The
lawyers at Selnia examined that matter

;
I think we had a list of the names of fifty or

sixty illegal voters that were taken down there with the object of having them indicted.

Question. If you ever get that case in court, I think you will find your lawyers very
much mistaken. .

Answer. May be so
;
but that is their opinion now.

Question. You say that a man is liable to be indicted for challenging any man who
offers to vote ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Is it your judgment as a lawyer, that if a man should challenge another
who really was not entitled to vote, if that other man had, by taking a false oath, pro
cured himself to be registered, do you believe that when he offered to vote, if a man
should object to his voting, should challenge his vote, that man who thus challenges
would be liable to punishment ?

Ai&amp;gt;siccr. Well, sir, as that law stands upon the statute-book, I should dislike very
much to risk it

;
it is a very singular law.

Question. Do you believe that if a man who is entitled to vote, a legal voter, prop
erly registered, and one who has voted once at an election, should offer to vote again
at the same election, and a man should object to his voting because he had already
voted once, do you believe that roan would be liable to indictment for challenging
him ?

Answer. I should object very much to risking it myself.

Question. I ask your opinion as a lawyer, if that is the law in Alabama.
Answer. My opinion upon it is that the construction of the law is exceedingly doubt

ful. The best opinion to which I can come upon reading that law is that he would
be liable to indictment.

Question. For objecting to a man s voting the second time at the same election ?

Answer. Yes, sir; I think the object of the law was to prevent any challenging at

all, and that has been the way in which it has been observed in the State of Alabama.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Quest ion. And it was intended to facilitate fraud ?

By the CHAIRMAN, (Mr. POLAND :)

Question. The whole thing has arisen out of the misconstruction of your law. Here
are your acts of 1868

;
will you now turn to that portion of the act which you say

repealed your old election law ?

Answer. Section 34 of the act of 1868 provides :

&quot; That there shall be no challenging of electors offering to vote at any election hereafter
held in this State, and any registered voter offering to vote at any election in this State
shall be allowed to do so without question, challenge, or objection by any person ;

and
any person who questions, challenges, or objects, or who unlawfully hinders or delays
any person offering to vote, shall be guilty of a misdemeanor, and on conviction shall
be fined five hundred dollars, and on failure to pay the same shall be imprisoned in
the county jail for six months.&quot;

Question. Do you not think it would be necessary, in order to make a valid indictment
under that statute, to allege that the person who was challenged was a qualified voter ?

Answer. It says : &quot;There shall be no challenging of electors offering to vote at any
election hereafter, held in this State, and any registered voter offering to vote at any
election in this State shall be allowed to do so without question, challenge, or objection
by any person.&quot; According to my construction of this law, it prohibits any challenge
fit elections at all, that is, of any man who offers to vote, for it provides, &quot;Any person
who questions, challenges, or objects, or who unlawfully hinders or delays any person
offering to vote, shall be guilty of a misdemeanor.&quot; In that part of the section it is

not confined to registered electors, or anything of the sort, but to &quot;any person.&quot;

Question. Do you not believe that in order to make a good indictment under that
statute it would be necessary to allege that the person challenged was a person quali
fied by law to be an elector ?

Aiiwr. No, sir; I am not prepared to say that that is my construction of the law.
I should be very much afraid to risk it with our courts.

Question. I am going upon the theory that you have courts that will administer the
law as it is, and give correct and reasonable expositions of your statutes.
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Answer. It is possible that if the law could be administered in its real spirit your
construction of it might possibly be correct. But that is not the construction which
has been placed upon it in the State, and I do not believe that is the construction
which would be placed upon it in the courts.

Question. And the opinion of the profession in your State is that that act has repealed
all the penal provisions in your code in regard to double voting, illegal voting, at your
elections, &c. ?

Amicer. Ye.s, sir; I think you will find the section to which you refer in the general
election law of the State, and not in the penal code. You will find no prohibition in
the penal code, properly speaking, of illegal voting. That offense is under the election
law of the State, and we understand that whole article to be repealed by the law of
1868.

Question. There is a section repealing the provisions of the election laws, but I think
it is very clear that it repeals only the provisions about carrying on elections, not the

penal part.
Ansu cr. We understand it to repeal all previous laws.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. Have there been any prosecutions for fraudulent voting or for challenging
of voters ?

Answer. I am not certain
;
I have the impression in my mind, but I do not know that

it i.s sufficiently an impression to be of any weight, that there was an indictment iii

Selma for illegal voting, and that the party was acquitted upon that statute. It is

possible it might have been that they merely intended to do it, and upon an examina
tion of the law they found it would be useless to attempt it. I am not prepared to

say which of those things are true. But I know that in Selma a considerable number
of names were taken down with that object; Judge Bird, formerly upon the supreme
bench of the State, told me of it, and said that he, with many others in Selma, had
examined the law, and had come to the conclusion that an indictment would not lie

;

and a number of lawyers in Montgomery had examined it also, and that is the conclu
sion to which they came.

By the CHAIRMAN, (Mr. POLAND:)

Question. The house of your legislature is democratic?
A nwcr. Yes, sir.

Question. Has that legislature held a session ?

Anxn-tr. Yes, sir.

Qnextion. Have they undertaken to remedy the difficulty in your election law?
J&amp;gt;war. I do not know whether any bill was introduced or not. 1 know that thera

was a discussion as to whether it would be of any use to occupy the time of the legis
lature by presenting a bill of this sort, and they came to the conclusion that it would
bo useless, for the senate was largely republican and would not repeal the law.

Question. Would it not have been a pretty good piece of political strategy for any
man to introduce such a bill?

Anmtr. It might have been, but they did not do it.

Quoi ion. Because the senate would not pass it?

J iiwer. The house itself did not pass any bill. I do not think they introduced a bill

at all
; they thought they had better wait until they could get a democratic senate,

anil then they could alter the law.

Qtwtion. li the law is as loose as you think it is, the other side could have the same

advantage under it, if they were wicked enough to take it?

AMU-IT. They possibly might do it, if they had possession of the election precincts
and boxes.

Question. How does that make any difference ? If every man, by your law, is entitled

to vote as many times as he pleases, and nobody can object to it, how does that make

any difference ?

Answer. Illegal voting is chiefly confined to negroes. I do not know of any white

people who attempted to vote illegally in Alabama.

Question. Do you know any negro who attempted to vote more than once at a*a

election ?

Ansu-cr. I cannot say that I know them, but I have heard of them.

Question. If the law is so loose as to allow a colored man to vote twice at the same

election, without any punishment, it would equally allow a white man to vote twice

if he made the same attempt ?

By Mr. POOL :

Question. Is there not a special punishment, beyond the usual punishment for perjury,

provided for the case of a man who registers illegally ?

Answer. I really do not recollect what the punishment fixed by the statute is
;

I

think, though, the punishment is fixed by the statute.

Question. Is it not a penitentiary offense ?
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Answer! Yes, sir
; perjury is usually a penitentiary offense

;
it is made a felony, and

all felonies are punished by imprisonment in the penitentiary, or, if a murder, by
hanging.

Question. Can a man be an elector in Alabama until ho registers?
Answer. Not legally.

Question. The electors, then, are the registered voters?

Anmccr. Yes, sir; properly speaking they are all registered.

Question. Your law says,
&quot; There shall be no challenging of electors?&quot;

Answer. It says that in one part.

Question. I will come to the other part presently. It is the &quot;

challenging of electors &quot;

which is made indictable by that law?
Answer. Yes, sir, one part says so.

Question. Would it be unlawful to challenge a man who is not an elector ?

Answer. I think it would, upon my construction of that statute.

Question. What is that second part you spoke of that made it indictable to challenge
a man who is not an elector

;
what is the wording of it ?

Answer. It is as follows : &quot;And any person who questions, challenges, or objects, or
who unlawfully hinders or delays.&quot; The first part is, &quot;And any person who questions,

challenges, or objects
* * * * *

aiiy person offering to vote shall be guilty of a misde
meanor.&quot; It is true it also says, &quot;Who unlawfully hinders or delays any person offer

ing to vote,&quot; but the word &quot;

unlawfully&quot; applies only to &quot; hinders or delays,&quot; and does
not apply to the other portion of the sentence. An indictment might be framed on each
clause of that section, according to my idea; one would be for challenging or object
ing, and the other would be for unlawfully hindering or delaying.

Question. You do not think the connection between that and the &quot;

electors,&quot; and
&quot;registered voter,&quot;

in the part of the sentence immediately preceding, would have any
thing to do with the construction of the statute?

Answer. No, sir, I do not think it would.

Question. Is it not the rule in construing criminal statutes, first to construe them
strictly, and secondly in favor of the defendant ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And you do not think the first part of that second clause would relate back
to the preceding part of the section ?

Answer. No, sir. I think they are distinct and different offenses in the section, and
the language of the section applies to them in their different parts ;

I do not think the
word &quot;

unlawfully&quot; applies at all to &quot;

any person.&quot;

Question. If there is any doubt in the wording of a criminal statute as to what it

means, do not your courts say that they are obliged to construe that doubt for the
benefit of the defendant?

Answer. If there? is any real doubt, of course they would always construe the law in
favor of life and liberty ;

there is no doubt about that
;
that is the first rule of law.

Question. Is there not a real doubt about your construction of this statute ?

Answer. That would depend entirely upon how it struck different minds
;
what might

be a doubt in my mind might not be a doubt in the mind of somebody else. In defend

ing a party, I might come to the conclusion that there was a very great doubt, and
might argue it before the judge in that way ;

whereas the judge, not being interested
in the matter, might take a very different view of it.

Question. Are you not satisfied that the law Avas not intended to be so applied ?

Answer. I am inclined to think it was intended to be exactly as it reads.

Question. You have some doubt about it yourself?
Answer. I have not very much doubt about it.

Question. Do you believe that any sensible lawyer would doubt as to the correctness
of the construction which you place upon that statute?
Answer. I have seen a great many who did not have any doubt about it, and who

came to precisely that conclusion, and some very good lawyers, too.

By Mr. BECK :

Question. The practical effect is that men dare not challenge any one offering to vote
in Alabama ?

Answer. There is no doubt about that in the world
;
that is the practical effect of it.

By the CHAIRMAN, (Mr. POLAND :)

Question. I suppose republicans would be equally afraid to challenge democrats ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

By Mr. BECK :

Question. But up to this time the majority of those who control the elections have
been republicans ?

Answer. Yes, sir.
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By the CHAIRMAN, (Mr. POLAND:)
Question. What would that have to do with it ?

Answer. No man can object to a voter, but the judges themselves may refuse to allow
him to vote, if he has voted in three or four precincts before.

By Mr. POOL :

Question. Is not the challenge of a judge of election as criminal as the challenge of

anybody else f Can you account for this fact, that your people are so much afraid of this

lavr, which creates merely a misdemeanor, and they violate a much more important law
against going in disguise ;

is there not a very stringent law against persons going about
in disguise ?

Answer. Very stringent, indeed.

Question. Can you account for the fact that they are so much more afraid of a misde
meanor in the one case than they are of the penalty in the other ?

Answer. I cannot tell; they may trust to their disguises to prevent their being found
out; I most assuredly would not take the risk in any case.

Question. You do not pretend to say that the people of Alabama are much more law-

abiding than the people in other parts of the country ?

Answer. I suppose they are about the same as in other parts of the United States. I

do not think much more difference would be found if the statistics could be got at.

By Mr. COBURX :

Question. Speaking of the beginning of distrust between the two races in Alabama,
you say it commenced after the organization of the Freedmen s Bureau there, did you
not ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Were the negroes and whites in perfect accord and harmony before the or

ganization of the Freedmen s Bureau
Answer. 1 think they were; I never heard of any trouble between them.

Question. Did they agree politically before that?
Answer. I do not speak politically at all.

Question. Well, I want to know about that.

Anxwer. I do not think the negroes had any politics until the Freedmen s Bureau was
established there.

Question. Do you think the negroes would have acted with the democratic party, if

the Freedmen s Bureau had not been established there T

Answer. I think they would have acted with whatever party the whites acted with;
my own idea is that as many of the whites in 18(55 would have acted with the republi
can party as with the democratic party.

Question. Do you mean to say that the establishment of the Freedmen s Bureau made
white people turn democrats ?

Answer. It had a tendency to drive them off from the republican party, and for the

reason that the Freedmen s Bureau was supposed to be one of the means of that party
for the purpose of creating distrust between the negroes and the white people.

^ Question. Do you believe that ?

Answer. I do.

Question. Do yon believe the majority of the white people in Alabama after the war
intended to act with the republican party ?

Answer. I believe they would have acted with whichever party would have given
them the most peace and quiet.

Question. Do you suppose they believed the republican party, that had been fighting
them during the war. would do that ?

Answer. That they would have ascertained by experience.

Question. You spoke about the constitution of the Loyal League; when did you see

that?
Answer. I think I saw it during the last canvass.

Question. Did you have it in your possession?
Answer. I read it.

Question. How long did you have it in your possession ?

Answer. Just long enough to read it ?

Question. How long was that ?

Answer. A short time.

Question. Was it a day, or a half a day, or an hour, or half an hour
Answer. Not over an hour.

Question. Where was it ?

Answer. In my office.

Question. In Montgomery ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. You spoke of the oath and certain terrible punishments that were stated in

it, if a member voted against the republican party ;
did I understand you to say that *

Answer. I do not think I said anything about terrible punishments.
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Question. What was it you said ?

Answer. I think I said they were required by that oath to vote for the candidates
nominated by the league ;

and that I had heard that it was told to these negroes if

they did not do that, something terrible would happen to them. I did not say that

anything of that sort was in the book I read.

Question. In relation to your laws in connection with the collection of debts, you said

that if a man was worth a million of dollars you could not collect a dollar from him.
Is it possible that your laws are so arranged that you cannot collect debts in Alabama
from men who have plenty of property ?

Answer. I did not say that in reference to men who had plenty of property.
Question. You said a man might be worth a million of dollars, and you could not

collect a dollar from him.
Answer. I said that if he had it in money in his pocket, unless the law passed at the

last session of the legislature remedied that evil, there was no law by which you could

get it out of his pocket.
Question. You did not apply it to any other case ?

Ansicer. No, sir
;
if there is any visible property that the sheriff or the officers of the

law can get at, you can collect your money. I know a case precisely in point, where
there is a judgment against a man for fifteen or sixteen thousand dollars

;
he disposed

of all his visible property for the purpose of avoiding the payment of that debt. I

presume the man is worth to-day one hundred thousand dollars.

Question. Is not thart the case in many States ?

Answer. In most of the States, and it was so in our State, if an affidavit of the

proper kind was issued, a ca. sa. could be issued, and you could take his body, and make
him exhibit his property.

Question. You spoke of the unjust provisions in relation to taxation. What are your
provisions in regard to the system of taxation ?

Ansicer. I do not know that I spoke of any unjust system of taxation. I only spoke
as to the difference between the amount of taxation now and what we used to pay.

Question. In what is it unjust and unequal and improper.
Answer. I think the taxes are too high.
Question. That is it ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. You spoke of taxing various kinds of personal property not formerly taxed
;

is it improper and unjust to tax those articles of property now ?

Answer. No, sir, I do not think it is
;
I do not object to that at all

;
I only speak of

the amount of taxation.

Question. You confine your distinction to the amount of taxation ?

Answer. To the amount of it, and the use made of it after it is collected.

Question. You spoke of a law requiring the judge to make publication of the expen
ditures, and you said that you never had seen any such publication. Do you know
positively whether such publications are or are not made?

Answer. I do not think they are.

Question. Have you examined the papers of the various counties in Alabama with
reference to that?

Answer. I only spoke in reference to my own county.
Question. Have you examined all the papers in reference to your own county ?

Answer. I have been a pretty careful reader of the papers in my own county.
Question. Are you willing to swear that no such publication has been made in your

county ?

Answer. I am willing to swear that I have not seen it, and that I do not believe it

has been made.
Question. Has the judge been proceeded against for that ?

Answer. I do not know that he has.

Question. You stated that there were State notes in circulation as money ;
how many

dollars does that circulation amount to ?

Answer. I said, in reference to the question of State debt, that there was a large
number of those notes issued. No objection was made to their issuance that I know.

Question. What is their denomination and description ?

Answei . They are of different denominations.
Question. How small ?

Answer. I think they are as low as one dollar, and from that up to a hundred dollars
;

there may be some larger.
Question. Is that circulation at par or at a discount in the neighborhood of Mont

gomery?
Answer. There and in the surrounding country there, it passes as well as any other

money ;
oft at a distance it does not pass so well.

Question. You spoke of one hundred miles of railroad being made : what railroad is

that ?

Answei: I said that I had understood that about one hundred miles of the Chatta-
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nooga and Alabama Railroad was a mere temporary affair, and would not in this

country be considered a railroad at all.

Question. Did you ever see it ?

Answer. No. sir.

Question. All you know is from hearsay and rumor?
Answer. I have no doubt it is so.

Question. Have you ever seen Governor Lindsay s testimony about that?
Answer. I do not recollect that I have. I talked with Mr. Pollard about it, who is

the president of a railroad in that country.
Question. You spoke about temporary organizations for special purposes of these

Ku-Klux
;
how do these temporary organizations act, as far as you know ?

Answer. I only gave my opinion, not that I kuew anything about it
;
that my opinion

was that they were organized for a special purpose, to carry out some special scheme
of the men who made the organization.

Question. How many negroes in Alabama were in favor of voting the democratic
ticket

;
and how many were whipped for doing so ?

Answer. I cannot say how many wanted to do it
;
I heard of one being whipped ;

I do
not know that I heard of any other.

Question. Do you know of any number of negroes who were compelled to vote the

republican ticket in Alabama?
Answer. I do not.

Question. You say that at elections the election officers never consulted the registers,
but just allow everybody to vote

;
how do you know that .

Answer. I have seen people vote there and keep on voting, and I never saw anybody
look at a register.

Question. Do you mean to apply that to the whole State of Alabama ?

Answer. Only to my own personal observation.

Question. How extensive is that?
Answer. I do not know how extensive it is.

Question. How many places of election, and how many elections have you attended ?

Answer. All the elections in Montgomery County.
Question. How many voting places in Montgomery County ?

Answer. Fourteen at least, and I reckon twenty.
Question. Did you ever attend more than your own place of voting ?

Answer. I have noticed several precincts in Montgomery; there are several precincts
in the city.

Question. You said an election was held there away from the. precinct; what did you
mean by that ?

Answer. The commissioners court designated the spot where the election is to be
held in each precinct ;

some man s house, if there is no public place. I said that in

this case the election was really held three miles away from the place which the com
missioners court had fixed.

Question. What election was that, and where was it, in what township, or what city?
Answer. The election was held, as I am informed, at what is known as Evans s pre-

qinct.

Question. In what county ?

Answer. In Montgomery County ;
Mr. Evans lived about three miles from a place

known as Carter s Hill
;
I am informed that election was not held at Evans s, but at

Carter s Hill.

Question. Did the regular election officers attend at that place ?

Atmcei . Yes, sir; and I have already said that I did not think they intended to do

any wrong.
Question. Was that election contested ?

Ansiar. Objection was made to the vote being counted.

Question. In what respect was that election illegal?
Answer. From the fact that it was not held at the place designated.

Question. In that respect alone ?

Answer. In that alone.

Question. You say that the democrats have a considerable majority in Alabama; how
do you know that f

Answer. I said that was my opinion.
Question. It is mere opinion ?

Answer. It is my opinion from my general knowledge of the State.

Question. Are there more whites than negroes in Alabama?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. How many more ?

Answer. My recollection is that the registration shows there are about fifteen or six

teen thousand more.

Question. Do you draw the party line between the whites and negroes ?

Answer. There are some white people belonging to the republican party.
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Question . About how many ?

Answer. I have said that I thought about five thousand would cover all.

Question. Do you know personally whether a republican can make a speech in all

the counties of Alabama ?

Answer. No, sir ; I cannot say personally, because I have not been in all the counties.

Question. Do you not know it to be the fact that in certain counties in Alabama, or

in certain districts or precincts, not one colored man voted ?

Ansiver. No, sir
;
I do not know that.

Question. Do you not know that is the fact down in the southwestern part of Ala
bama?

Answer. No, sir, I do not.

Question. Do you not know that there are thousands of negroes in the State who
have never voted ?

Answer. If it is so, I never heard of it.

Question. In how many counties, of which you profess to have knowledge, do you
know that republicans can make speeches freely ?

Answer. I did not say they make speeches; but I have seen accounts of their making
speeches in Barbour, Bullock, Montgomery, Macoii, Elrnore, Coosa, Lowndes, Dallas,
and Pike, and I have heard of their making them in various other counties

;
I cannot

recollect them all.

Question. Do you not know that they have been interrupted in many places ?

Answer. I do not know that I have heard of any interruption, except in Greene

County.
Question. Did you ever hear a republican make a speech ?

Answer. I have been near enough to hear their voices, but not to distinguish what
they said.

Question. Did you ever inquire particularly into the fact whether republicans could
make speeches in those counties or not ?

Answer. I have made no particular inquiry, except that I have seen synopses of

speeches which they were said to have made
;
and in my own county I have heard

them make the speeches.
Question. You said something about promises having been made to negroes, of forty

acres of land and a mule
; were those promises made by republicans ?

Answer. That was the general understanding.
Question. Did you ever hear any such promises made ?

Answer. I have never heard republicans say anything about it.

Question. Do your democrats always tell the truth when they are electioneering ?

Answer. I think it very doubtful if all of them do.

Question. Do you think that anybody is ever deceived by their stories?

Ansiver. I think it very likely that some are.

By the CHAIRMAN, (Mr. POLAND :)

Question. One question about making republican speeches ; you think persons can
make republican speeches anywhere in your State without being disturbed ?

Answer. I think they can.

Question. Do you think that in any county in Alabama, a northern man, if he should

go down there, a carpet-bagger, as you call him, could make a speech, and insist upon.
the perfect equality of right between the negroes and the whites, and insist that the-j

negro had every constitutional and legal and civil right that the white man had, and
had the right to assert it

;
do you think he could make a speech of that sort in any

place in Alabama without being disturbed ?

Answer. I am under the impression that a man could make any speech of that sort
;

somebody might halloo out, as they used to do in old whig and democratic times, but
there would be no violence.

Question. They would not shoot pistols at him ?
&amp;gt;

Answer. I do not think they would
;
that is my opinion.

WASHINGTON, D. C., July 6, 1871.

EDMUND W. PETTUS sworn and examined.

The CHAIRMAN, (Mr. POLAND.) As this witness has been summoned by the minority
of the committee, he will be first examined by some member of the minority.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. Where do you live ?

Answer. I reside in Selma, in the State of Alabama.
, Question. How long have you resided in the State of Alabama ?
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lusher. I was born in Alabama, and have lived there ever since. I am now fifty

Q &amp;gt;&amp;lt;&quot;;}io&amp;gt;i. What public positions have you held in the State ?

A &amp;gt;

:

. (&amp;lt;/. 1 was solicitor of the seventh circuit for ten or twelve years, and I was a judge
of t:;c .same circuit for four years. Those are the only civil positions I ever held.

(&amp;gt;-&quot;c.-&amp;lt;tio)i. That was before the war.
Au sicw. Yes, sir.

^i.--itiuii.
State the general condition of airairs at this time in regard to the security

of life and property in the State, especially in the region with which you are most
familiar, and the manner in which the law is enforced.

Anmrer. At this time I believe the law is reasonably well enforced in the State of
Alabama, and that life and property are as safe there as they have ever been at any
time within my knowledge.

(^.H.ttiun. Do yon know of any secret organization in the State, political or otherwise,
whose purpose or practice is to violate the law, and uphold each other in the violation
of Ihe law ?

A)i*n ci . I have neverknown of any such organization myself. Do you desire I should
specie of what I know, or of what I have heard ?

Question. Give us any information that you have upon which you place reliance.
\o;i van speak not only from your own knowledge, but from information upon which
you rely.

Answer, There have been disorders of a very serious character in Alabama. After
t;:.

1 war the, floating bad population of both armies to some extent was there, and there
were great disorders; and 1 have no dou&amp;gt;&amp;gt;t, from information, that there were parties
combined together to commit disorders. But. so far as I know or am informed, I think
they were local organizations, for local purposes, and very bad purposes. There is also,

a^ I am informed, (and I have no douT&amp;gt;t of it from information,) a political organiza
tion of the colored people whieh is also to some extent engaged in the same sort of

purposes. I think, however, in its original formation if was designed for merely
political objects and has been perverted by bad men to the same bad purposes.

Qntxtion. Have any of these disturbances occurred in your immediate neighborhood
or in the section of country in which you practice?

A)&amp;gt;*u &amp;lt;r. No. sii-. 1 live, near the center of the State
;
and so far a si know there have

b&amp;lt;&quot;-n no violations of law by combinations except in two instances, and 1 think that

they were the result of immediate excitement: that they did not probably originate
from any preconcerted plan except an arrangement to act on the spur of the occasion

a combination to meet the emergency when it arose. There were two such occur
rences in my immediate vicinity.

Q&amp;gt;i&amp;gt;

.&amp;lt;jtion. What were those /

Anmrcr. The negroes had been very much exasperated by the killing of a negro po
liceman in Selma by a man jianied Wright, and also by the killing of a man named
Frank Diggs on the Meridian train a private assassination. This man Diggs was a

I/lack man who had something to do with the mail
;

I do not now remember his con
nection with it. lie was a popular man with the white people, and also with the-

negroes; he was a, well-behaved man and a man of good character. These occurrences

had produced very great excitement among the negroes in the neighborhood where L

live, and they manifested a hostility toward any one who should in any way commit

any wrong toward any one of their race. In other words, they were combined for tho

purpose of retaliation! In that state of feeling a young man named Uaxley and a colored

man named Alfred Granger, two journeymen brick-masons, quarreled and fought on the

streets in Selma those two alone. The colored man was killed. JJaxley was arrested

by the officers of the law and taken in the direction of the calaboose. Just before

they got to the calaboose the negroes in large numbers (I suppose there were some
four or live hundred when they first seized him) took him away from the officers, beat

him over the head, dragged him up sui l down the public streets by the heels and cut

his throat, and stabbed him in several places. The officers of the law did their best,

so far as I saw, to prevent it, without force; but in a mob of that kind the ordinary

police force is of no effect. AVe finally gathered an armed force, and went there. I

had charge of it myself. When they saw us coming, they drew off a short distance,

ready for a tight as it appeared ;
but we were merely intending to protect this man s

life if we could. There was a great deal of cursing and insult, just such as a mob
would heap on a party of men coining, as they considered, in hostility to thcm.^

But
there was 110 bloodshed. We got between them and the house where they had finally

carried this young man.
Question. You rescued the young man from them?
Answer. I cannot say that, because before we got to the spot the violence had ceased,

and the young man had been left for dead. He was not dead, however, and ultimately,

afrer being confined in jail for several months, he recovered.

Question. Was anything done to punish the rioters !

Auwcr. Yes, sir; &quot;some&quot; of them were arrested, and I think two of them have been

convicted two or three, I do not recollect which.
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Question. What was the other case of violence ?

Aiivicir. Well, there are numbers of cases of individual acts of violence; I was only

ppciiking of combinations; you asked as to persons combined together to violate the

la\v. The other case was one in my own county. I know nothing of it, however, per-

jsmiu-lly. My knowledge is obtained from direct information from the parties who saw

it, and from the proceedings in court.

Question. You have information upon which you rely?
Answer. Yes, sir; I have no doubt about the correctness of the information. That

was a case, as I understand, where a white man of somewhat trifling character, for

some, reason that I do not know, whipped a negro boy caught him and whipped with
a switch. It created a mob. The negroes assembled from the adjoining plantations,
took the white man down to the woods, tied him, gave him three or four hundred
lashes with hickories and turned him loose. Those are the only two instances in my
immediate section in which I have known or heard of violence being committed by
combinations. But there have been numerous acts of individual wrong there.

(Question. Both by whites and blacks ?

A nswer. Yes, sir
; by both.

Question. By whites upon blacks, and by blacks upon whites?
Answer. Oh, yes, sir; and without any regard to color. They all, so far as I now re

member, were mere individual transactions.

Question. In your judgment, is any political significance to be attached to these

breaches of the peace or violations of the law ?

Answer. So far as they relate to my immediate section, I do not believe they have

any political significance whatever, either as to the acts committed by black men or

the acts committed by white men, except that there is an antagonism of race which
has been the cause, as I think, of the two riots of which I have spoken.

Question. And this antagonism of race has been aggravated by the measures of the
Government?

Amiver. Yes, sir, aggravated very much by the measures of the Government, but

aggravated much more by the character of the men who have charge of our local gov
ernment.

Question. The State and county officers?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. State, if you please, the character of these persons and the manner in
which they have brought about this condition of affairs.

Answer. As to the character of the persons who have charge there, I never knew
anything of them prior to their coming, except those who were citizens of the State.

There are among them some few men of irreproachable character, so far as honesty is

concerned. Some of them, I have no doubt, are honest men. They came there, how
ever, or seemed to come, with the idea that we were an inferior race of people, not lit

to govern ourselves
;
and I think that some of these men honestly believe we are nunt

to be trusted in any matter of importance to the Government. I have no doubt that
that is their opinion. They have acted on it, and they have taught the negroes (who
are for the most part men of little information) to think the same thing of us. They have
bred suspicion and distrust. They have taught these negroes to believe that we were
their worst enemies

;
that we would put them back into slavery if WTC had a chance to

do so
;
that we would defraud them of their rights, civil and political, as well as their

individual rights of property ;
would swindle them in business transactions. That

has been the general character of the teachings of men among us (even those who are
considered men of honest character) who have come down there as political mission

aries, I might say. Added to those there are a number of very vicious men who have
made use of the negro population for the purpose of obtaining position, I presume, and
making money. They have gathered the negroes together in large numbers privately in
the night-time, and have talked to them in such a way as to create this kind of distrust.
Then there are very bad men among our own people who have joined in that thing.
In addition to that there are very bad men acting with the white people there, who
have given cause for that kind of sentiment towards the people generally ;

1 mean
a handle on which to build that kind of au accusation.

Question. But, notwithstanding the efforts of these bad men, the public opinion of
the State, as I understand you to say, has preserved a very fair condition of affairs
there?
Anxim . There were great disorders there just after the war, and for some time

there was not an orderly condition of society there. But for the last two or three
years society has been as orderly there as I have ever known it, with the exception of
some terrible outrages committed, as it appeared, by organized bands of men orgaii-
i/.cd, as I think, in local places extending sometimes over a county. That appeared
to be the condition of things, so far as I could learn it. With those exceptions I think
that during the last two or three years the law has been administered in Alabama as
well as it has ever been, I mean so far as regards the observance of peace and the
^reservation of property. I do not mean to say that the law has been well adminis-
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tered, except in that sense. I would not have the committee understand me to say
that the government had been conducted with that kind of propriety with which most
men think governments ought to he conducted.

Question. Do you refer to your State government?
Answer. I am speaking now entirely of the State government; I have no reference to

the General Government at all. I believe tha-t person and property are as safe in Ala
bama now as they have ever been.

Question. Was there a sense of injury and resentment felt among the people of your
State with reference to the act of Congress by which the present constitution was de
clared the constitution of your State, and officers inaugurated under it after its defeat

by the people, under the law prescribed by Congress ?

Answer. The chief cause of irritation in the State of Alabama has not been that alone.
The chief cause of irritation there is the principle which has run through the legisla
tion of the Government since the termination of the war, by which it is asserted or
claimed that we are an inferior, degraded people, and not fit to be trusted. When
Congress had that convention called which formed the present constitution of the
State of Alabama, there was no special opposition, so far as I saw, to the holding of
the convention. The convention, when held, adopted some provisions which were
very odious to our people, and they were very much opposed to its adoption as a whole.

They relied on the good faith of the Government of the United States to execute the
law as it had been made

;
and they concluded that the best plan for them to get rid of

that constitution was to stay away from the polls. In that way every man who did not
vote would be counted on our side. By a deliberate calculation we concluded that that
was the best plan. We relied 011 the good faith of the Government to carry out the
law as it had made it, and expected that another convention would be called to make an
other constitution, in which we hoped these obnoxious provisions would bo left out.
The adoption of that constitution by the Congress of the United States was considered

by us (I mean the people generally, outside of the colored people and the men who con
trolled them) a breach of faith in the first place, and an act of tyranny in the second.

Question. The white people of Alabama made no effort to elect officers under that
constitution?

Answer. No, sir. We agreed to abstain from voting, and also to abstain from tho
election of any officers, with the hope that the constitution would be defeated and
that thereby we would get rid of the obnoxious provisions in the constitution

;
that

Congress would simply order another constitution to be made by another convention.
That was our anticipation ;

and we relied on the act of Congress itself.

Question. Your constitution was formed by delegates, many of whom, as I understand,
were not citizens of your State?
Anm cr. That is my information ; and I have no doubt it is true. Tho delegates to

that convention embraced officers of the army of the United States, officers of the Freed-
inen s Bureau, and many persons who were not citizens of the State, or had only be
come such within a few days. The order under which the election was held prevented
a large class of the people of Alabama from voting. The election was held under 11

military order.

Question. In pursuance of the reconstruction acts ?

Answer. In pursuance of the reconstruction acts, and carried out by the military au
thorities.

Question. And by those acts a large portion of the people were disfranchised?

Answer. Yes, sir
; they were denied the right to vote. These things have irritated

the people considerably. But if you are seeking the source of our irritation and the

condition of affairs down there, it lies farther back than that. One of the main things
of which we complain and have always complained is the breach of the contract made;

by the soldiers in the field. I have what I call a contract an individual one with

ulyself made by General Sherman in the name of the Government of the United

States, in which I was required to conduct myself after that time in obedience to the

laws, and was promised that I should not be disturbed in any way if I did so. The
soldiers went home, and as a body have been as obedient to the laws of tho United

States (whether they believed them to be just or unjust) as any people I ever saw. I

speak of them as a body ;
some of them have been lawless. We have been denied the

benefits of that contract, which was made when we had arms in our hands.

Question. And you look upon that as perfidy ?

Answer. Well, I do not like to use so strong an expression as that towards the Gov
ernment of the United States at this time

;
but we look upon it as a direct breach of a

contract which we had made with the Government itself.

Question. And the subsequent acts of the Government enforcing upon you a lot of

officers whom you had repudiated, and an organic law for the State which had been

rejected by the people, have been regarded by you as in pursuance of the same policy?
Answer. &quot;Yes,

sir. After that contract had been ignored by the Government of the

United States these reconstruction measures followed
;
and the Congress of the United

States (I say it to the committee with the utmost deference) has seemed all the while
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to have acted on the idea that we were an inferior race of people, unworthy to be

trusted, and whether we were in the rebellion or out of the rebellion, not entitled to

the same rights that the same men would have if they would remove from Alabama to

New York, for instance. Our local place of habitation was made a degradation in the

eyes of the Government. That was the great trouble with us.
*

Question. Notwithstanding this dissatisfaction with the administration of the Gov
ernment of the United States, have the people of Alabama any hostility to the princi

ples of the Government ?

Answer. I do not think that the people of Alabama as a mass have any hostility to

the principles of the Government of the United States. But I would not have the com
mittee understand me to say that they have no hostility of feeling toward the Gov
eminent, as administered against them. It would be trifling with the committee to

say that we could live as we do and not feel unkindly towards the particular men
who have put these hardships upon us. It is impossible, in my judgment, that any
man of a fair degree of spirit should feel kindly toward any class of men, who, with

power in their hands, proclaim through official sources and without interruption that

they are a degraded people substantially that, either in words or in acts. Men will

not submit to be so considered, and at the same time feel kindly toward the men who
thus denounce them. There is that kind of hostility against the administration of the

Government as at present conducted.

Question. After the recent election in your State the last general election when the
democrats succeeded in electing their governor, there was a contest, I believe, and a

disposition on the part of the governor, who had been installed by Congress, to hold
on to his position ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
there was no contest, except by a curious proceeding instituted

in a chancery court. On behalf of two of the State officers Governor Smith and
the treasurer a bill was filed by which the officer designated by law for counting out
and announcing the vote was prohibited from discharging that duty, so far as these

particular officers were concerned
;
and then there was a proceeding instituted, under

the provisions of a statute we have in that State, to recover the property of the office.

Question. The books and papers?
Answer. Yes, sir

;
the books and papers. The great seal was the thing that the

suit was really for the emblem of authority. Those two proceedings were all that I

know of that you could call a contest. Governor Smith held the office after it had
been announced that Governor Lindsay had been elected. He held it by the bayonet,
though I will say that I have no idea in the world that there was any occasion for

military force
;
he could have held it just as well in person as he could by the bayonet.

Question. He called troops to his aid?
Answer. Yes, sir

;
there were troops stationed at the capitol keeping guard over the

different entrances on the second floor the floor containing the offices.

Question. The office of the governor ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
there was a guard stationed at the treasurer s door, and also at

the governor s room. He has two apartments about the size of this room, and both
doors of his room were guarded day and night, and no one was permitted to pass in

except by permission from the soldiers.

Question. Were you counsel in the case ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Employed on the part of Governor Lindsay ?

Aimcer. Yes, sir
;
I was engaged in the conduct of the case.

Question. Were you in the court-room on the day upon which that case was brought
before Judge Smith ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. It has been stated here by Governor Parsons that the room on that day was
filled with armed men from a distance, who, as he gave the impression, were present
for the purpose of overawing the officers of the law, and perhaps of proceeding to
violence in case the suit should fail

;
is that the fact or not ?

Answer. The trial was in the county court-house
;

it is a very large room, and there
were quite a number of persons there. I suppose the house was half full. There were
men there from a distance, but, so far as I know or have reason to believe, not a man
of them came there with any view to have anything to do with that business, except
those who were engaged in the case as counsel. There were two very large gatherings
in the town on independent matters, and without any reference to any political pro
ceedings at all. The Methodist conference was in session there at that time, and had
been before this proceeding was instituted, and the Grand Lodge of Masons, which em
braces the entire State of Alabama, was assembled there. But I know of no single
fact that induces me to believe that there was a single man there armed with any
reference to that contest. I have no doubt some men there were armed. I did not see

any arms. I had none myself; I mean I had none on my person. I had some in my
trunk. I usually carry a pistol in my trunk, but I hardly ever wear it on my person,
and I did not have it on my person then.



ALABAMA. 379

Question. Was there any such manifestation in the court-room, or anywhere else in
or about the town, as would justify such an inference as I have stated.

Answer. Well, I cannot say whether there was or not. There was great indignation ;

but I saw no demonstration of any act of violence; I heard of none
;
and my opinion

i.s that if any one drew the inference that there was danger of violence, it was merely
from the aggregation of people in the town from the two causes I have mentioned, and
the talk which would naturally arise in that gathering of people. I do not believe
there was any violence meditated.

Question. The judge before whom this proceeding was had was a political friend of
Governor Smith, the republican governor of Alabama ?

Answer. Well, he was elected as a republican, and was so considered at that time
;

but I cannot say that he was his friend, and I do not believe he was.
Question. I say his political fridhd.

Answer. Yes, sir
;
he belonged to the same political party at that time.

Question. Did he render any decision on the matter f

Answer. He rendered no final judgment, as we call it. He made several rulings in
reference to the matter, assuming jurisdiction of the subject; but he did not render
any final judgment in reference to it.

Question. That became unnecessary by the action of Governor Smith in surrendering
the office ?

Answer. Yes, sir. I knew Governor Smith well. Years ago, befpre the war, I held
courts where he practiced. Pie came into the court-room by order of the judge. He
asked me to meet him immediately after the adjournment of the court. I did so; and
he informed me that he wanted to resign, and get out of the trouble

;
that the proceed

ing had been instituted without his full approbation, although it was done in his name
and by his consent, and he believed he had a right to do it. According to his state
ment of it, it was a political movement. Pie expressed a desire then to retire from the

contest; and he said, among other things, that he desired to preserve harmony among
the people of the State of Alabama

;
that he was afraid the disputed authority two

men claiming to exercise the office of .governor would have a very bad effect on the

peace and good order of the community, and that he would retire for that reason. He
did retire and surrendered the office against the advice of his political counsel, as ]

have understood.

Question. What was the ground upon which he claimed to retain the office ?

Answer. Pie claimed to retain it on the ground that, as he charged, there were frauds
in the election.

Question. Did not his political friends hold possession of nearly all the voting places?
Answer. The Government was administered in all its departments almost entirely,

with a very few exceptions, by the republican party.

Question. The election law gave them the appointment of the managers of the elec

tion precincts throughout the State ?

Answer. Yes, sir. The managers, as we call them, are appointed by the judge of pro
bate, the sheriff, and the clerk of the circuit court, or any two of them.

Question. Those officers had been elected at the previous election, when the demo
crats made no contest, and therefore throughout the State the republicans predomi
nated in those positions f

Answer. O, yes, sir; they had, I suppose, nine-tenths of the officers of every sort.

Question. The election law enabled the managers of the election to commit great

frauds, if they were so disposed.
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Were there any well-grounded charges of such frauds having been com
mitted

;
and if so, in whose interest ?

Answer. Well, sir, there were, according to iny information, some remarkable frauds

of that sort in the city of Mobile. That, however, was a bungling affair, according to

accounts, and was detected. It was what they call &quot;stuffing the box&quot; putting in

more votes than were ever given. I do not myself know of any frauds on the part of

the managers. I have heard of such things. The frauds which I knew of being com
mitted (and they were very numerous) were what we call illegal voting shipping

large numbers of voters from one precinct or one county to another, and allowing a

large class of the population to vote who were not entitled to vote under the law.

Thovse frauds were very numerous.

Question. That could only have been done by the connivance of the managers of the

election?
Ansicer. Well, sir, I believe it was done in many instances where the managers in

tended to obey the law. But they had a very exalted opinion of the words of the law,
and did not like to interfere with this sacred thing of voting. I suppose it was thought

necessary to pass extremely stringent laws, for fear the white people should interfere

with the colored people voting; and in doing so the right to challenge a vote was de

stroyed. I think it was the general view of the managers of the election that they had
no option about the matter; that a man who was registered should vote. There were
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immense frauds of that sort. I saw numbers of them myself, and I heard, from what J

considered sufficient information, that there were numerous others in other localities.

Question. By whom were these frauds committed ?

Ansicer. By individuals acting, as I believe, under the pressure of bad political man- .

agers.
Question. By both parties? or if not, by which party?
Answer. Well, sir

;
I do not know of but one case where a man voted illegally on the

democratic side
;
but I have seen, I reckon, as many as one hundred boys vote at one

precinct, where it was palpable to any man that they were not twenty-one years of

age, and some of them as low as fifteen.

Question. Are there, within your knowledge, any other facts bearing upon the gen
eral condition of the State at present in regard to the execution of the law f

Answer. I have referred to very great outrages that have been perpetrated in our

State by persons who seemed to be combined together for the special objects that they
accomplished. There have been several things of that sort, according to my informa
tion and belief.

Question. Are these outrages committed by persons in disguise ?

Answer. Some of them are.

Question. Upon negroes ?

Answer. Yes, sir. Some on negroes and some on white men.

Question. Did you hear or know of any committed by negroes upon negroes ?

Answer. I have heard of one or two such instances
;
but I do not know anything of

the sort myself. I heard of two instances : one was in North Alabama. My informa
tion is that some five or six negro men put on disguises, and took another negro man
and gave him a terrible beating.

Question. In what county was that ?

Answer. My impression is that it was somewhere near Florence or Tuscumbia
;
those

two towns are six miles apart, and I do not remember which it was. A gentleman
from Florence, I think, informed me about it.

Question. Was any attempt made to make that appear as what is called a Ku-Klux
outrage ?

Ansiver. It was published in the papers at the time it occurred just as they pub
lish all such things. Every private feud there which results in blood is called a &quot; Ku-
Klux outrage,&quot; and attributed to our inherent bad nature as a people. There was ;i

recent case of that sort in Tallapoosa County, which, according to niy information,
was intended to manufacture a piece of testimony of that sort

;
but some negroes came

upon the man in the act. This man, who was a solicitor in Tallapoosa County,
whipped two negro girls, and whipped them very severely with switches. That was
reported as a Ku-Klux outrage also. But this man was caught by some negroes, as I

understood
;
and it proved to be a white man who was manufacturing public senti

ment in that way. But there have been other cases, a very considerable number of

them, where I have had no cause to believe that they were not genuine outrages per
petrated without any semblance of justification and without any excuse on the part of
the men engaged in them.

By Mr. BECK:

Question. You designate those as outrages by the lawless men of the country ?

Amwer. Yes, sir.

Question. If your last election for governor had been perfectly fair, would the demo
cratic majority in the State have been greater or less than it was officially reported ?

Answer. As a matter of opinion, I think the majority for Governor Lindsay would
have been a great deal larger, because his majority was reduced by the frauds that I

speak of the shipping of men from one point to another by rail, and the voting of
minors and other persons who had no citizenship in the county in which they voted.
Our law does not allow a man to vote out of his county.

Question. Whatever may be the true technical construction of the act, tell the com
mittee whether or not it is practically the fact that no one feels that he can, without
risk of punishment, challenge a voter, even though he may know that he is voting
illegally ?

Answer. Well, that has been the interpretation by the multitude, and it has been
acted on. That is, practically, the effect of the law. I do not mean to say that such is

its true construction, though it says so in so&quot; many words. I do not believe that any
court would hold that that was the true interpretation of the act. They would set
aside the words and arrive at the purpose. That is my judgment as to what the
courts would do.

Question. Yet the practical operation of the act has been that no man has dared to

challenge even when satisfied a man was voting illegally ?

Answer. I never saw it done except in one instance since the reconstruction acts were
first set on foot. I mean at one particular election. It was a local election in the
county of Perry the election for mayor and aldermen. I happened to be there at
court and I saw it done there. I know I was called on to advise the persons there
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whether it would be a violation of the law to challenge a man who was not a voter
I gave it as my opinion that if the man was not a voter, the one challenging him would
not be liable to any punishment ;

but that, if he was a voter, it did not make any
difference how honestly a man might challenge him, he could be indicted and pun
ished.

Question. That is the only case, so far as you know, where a man ever ventured to

challenge?
Answer. The only one I ever heard of.

Question. The letter of the law is against your construction ?

Answer. The letter of the law is directly against challenging any person oifering to
vote.

Question. And because you regard enlightened judges as able to look beyond the
mere letter of the law to its spirit and meaning, you believe that no court of high
integrity and comprehensive views would adopt the literal construction of the act ?

Answer. I rely on the rules of legal interpretation as settled by the courts.

Question. What is your knowledge or information in regard to negroes Avho have
belonged to your Leagues, or who have beeji taking an active part as republicans,
examining at the polls the ballots of negroes offering to vote, and especially of those

offering to vote the democratic ticket ?

Answer. Well, sir, there is a regular system, on that subject, so far as my observation

goes.
Question. Explain it to the committee.
Answer. The system is to make a door, either by men. or rails, or palings, through

which all the voters are required to go. Ordinarily, I have seen these elections con
ducted at court-houses, and they are inclosed. A crowd stands usually at the paling
fence, on both sides, and the voters, white and black, have to pass, because generally
there is but one place of entrance

;
and if there are two, they generally station two

men. Any white man is allowed to pass through without question, whether he belongs
to one party or the other. The colored man, when he conies to this point of entrance,
hands his vote, or it is taken, and it is inspected by another colored man stationed
there for that purpose. He inspects the vote, and the man passes on, or he changes the
ticket. That is the general system of voting in Alabama, so far as my observation goes,
in reference to the colored people. If the negro has a democratic ticket, it is objected
to by the man in command of the entrance

;
and sometimes I have seen controversies

on the subject, but never any difficulty. There has never been any mob, except in one

instance, and that did not grow exactly out of that kind of thing. But the vote is

inspected, and, so far as my observation goes, there is always an effort to change it, if

it does not suit the man in charge of the gate. Sometimes it is changed, and sometimes
it is not.

Question. This organization that is formed at the gate is generally composed of colored

men ?

Answer. Almost always.
Question. And republicans ?

Answer. 0, yes, sir.

Question. They are the active controllers of these secret League organizations, I sup
pose?

Answer. They are called League organizations. They are secret societies, meeting for

political purposes ; that is my information. And these men who stand at the gate are,

for the most part, bold men of that organization.
Question. Is not tins organization acting entirely in violation of law?
Answer. Well, sir, I cannot say that. The attempt to intimidate a voter is a breach of

the law, so far as they do that
;
but I do not know any law against a body of men

meeting secretly for political purposes.
Question. I mean when they stop the voter and take his ticket away from him?
Answer. Yes, sir

;
whenever that is done in a style which tends to intimidate the

voter, it is a direct breach of the law.

Question. Is it not done in such a way that the voter cannot very well resist, or does

not generally resist?

Answer. I have seen it resisted, but it is not generally done. My information is that

most of the negroes have belonged to that League in one form or another, and have been

sworn in some way to obey certain orders coming from certain sources
;
and that when

these orders are received, they do not question them at all, but obey them, as a general

thing, though I have seen this proceeding not only questioned, but disputed with decided

rudeness and indignation. I have seen it done by several colored men.

Question. Do you give it as your opinion that the great bulk of the intimidation that

has been practiced upon voters in the elections in Alabama has been by organized
bodies of the colored League upon their own race who seemed to be differing with them
in politics ?

Answer. It has been by the leading men the bold men of these secret organizations ;

the colored men, I mean. I do not believe a white.man would engage in that sort of
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business in Alabama in the presence of the multitude, hut these hold negroes are put
forward for that purpose; and really all the intimidation that I have ever seen, and all

that I have ever heard of being exercised, at the polls, has been by black men on black

men, for desiring to vote &quot;

against their race,&quot; as it is called.

Question. In other words, desiring to vote against the republican ticket?

Ansicer. Yes, sir; I have seen several acts of that sort myself and I have heard of

several others.

Question. Have you any knowledge or information that, to obtain the votes of the

colored race for the republican ticket, they have been promised property of any sort

provided they did so vote or have been threatened with being put back into slavery if

they did not f Do you know or have you heard of any coercion of that sort being used ?

If so, in what form ?

Answer, I never heard any promises made to these men that if they voted the repub
lican ticket they should have property. I have heard such things spoken of frequently,
and I have heard negroes speak of it

;
but I have no knowledge of any such promise.

Question. Have you heard it from negroes who themselves have said they knew of it ?

Answer. I cannot say that I have. I have heard negroes tell it as a fact
;
but I do

not remember that I ever heard a negro state that it was promised to him. The other

thing is very common to tell the negroes that they will be put back into slavery, and
that they will be denied the right to testify in the courts or to sit on juries, and denied
all

right&quot;
of holding office. But that has not been, as I understand it, in the way of a

threat; it has been the vile utterances of men for political effect the slander of a peo
ple by men who desired to accomplish a particular object. It was not in the nature of
a threat against the man; it was the mere political slander of an adversary, as I under
stood it.

Question. From all the information you have, did not those statements, on the one
side that they would be put back into slavery if the democratic party succeeded, and
that they would obtain land and mules and other things if the republican party suc

ceeded, influence very largely the colored vote in your State ?

Answer. I have no doubt it had its effeet and a very decided effect
;
but my opinion

is that as the negroes become enlightened and educated, familiar with public men and
public things, (and they are acquiring considerable information in that direction,)
such statements will not have the sort of influence they have had. In fact I am satisfied

there has been a great change in that direction already.
Question. Do you know enough about the negro to know that if he has been deceived

in any promise often enough to become convinced that a man will not keep faith with
him, he no longer trusts that man in anything? Is not that one of the characteristics
of the colored race ? _
Answer. Yes, sir; I think so especially about money or property. If they are prom

ised their pay, and do not get it, it is very difficult for the man who withholds it from
them ever to show a reason satisfactory to them way it was withheld. They look upon
such a proceeding as a great sin, and it frequently is.

Question. As a matter of fact, had not the people of Alabama, by a legislature in wThich
there were neither negroes nor &quot;

carpet-baggers,&quot; so called had they not, by the act
of their own people ratified the thirteenth amendment and given to the negroes the right
to testify in the courts in fact all civil rights ?

Answer. Yes, sir; they gave them all civil rights generally.
Question. Had not the legislature ratified the thirteenth amendment?
Answer. Yes, sir

;
under the government of the white race in Alabama, after the war,

they ratified the thirteenth amendment, and gave the negroes nearly all civil rights,
except the right to vote and hold office; not entirely, though.

By the CHAIRMAN, (Mr. POLAND:)
Question. I do not know that I precisely get your meaning in relation to the general

complaint of the white people of your State with regard to the United States Govern
ment. With what particular act or thing have they been dissatisfied?

Answer. I have stated what I consider a contract made between the individuals of
our army and the Government, acting through General Grant and General Sherman.

Question. At the time of the surrender .

Amwer. Yes, sir. There is in that parole, as it is called, a distinct promise on the
part of the Government of the United States that soldiers who retire to their homes,
and conduct themselves in obedience to the laws, as peaceable citizens, shall remain
there, and

&quot;

.shall not be disturbed by the authorities of the United States;&quot; that is the
language. If that means anything, it means that they shall enjoy the rights of prop
erty and person guaranteed by the laws of the laud to persons generally.

Question. Then you and your people generally consider that the disfranchisement
and disabilities which were imposed by the reconstruction measures were in violation
of that?
Answer. Undoubtedly.
Question. There never was any attempt by the Government of the United States to

interfere with the persons or property of individuals of that class?
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Answer. Well, sir, I cannot say that there was any attempt to interfere with persons
or property by the Government.

Question. Or by any law of the General Government?
Answer, No, sir, I do not know that there was any interference by any law of the

General Government, so far as the taking of a man s property is concerned,&quot; in the sense
of taking it from one individual

;
but in the sense of taking it from the community at

large, there has been the most direct and, we think, tyrannical taking of property by
the Government of the United States.

Question. Explain yourself a little more fully on that point.
Answer. I mean that no particular man s property has been seized and appropriated

to the Government, so far as I know, by an act of the Government. The officials have
done so, in great numbers of instances, but those we considered as violations .of law,
as disorders growing out of the war and the temporary power exercised by some men
unfit for their places; we do not attribute those acts &quot;to the Government at all. Our
cotton was taxed five cents a pound ;

the insurrectionary States were the only part of
the United States that raised any cotton; that was a taking of the property of the

country by what was counted a law of the land. It may have been a constitutional

power, exercised by the General Government
;
that is for the courts to determine

;
but

that it was fair or, in any sense, just, we cannot conceive, and we cannot conceive
that fair-minded men in any part of the country would so regard it.

Question. That was a law on the subject of taxation which applied to the whole
United States; it taxed cotton so much per pound, no matter where it was.

Answer. It will do to theorize in that way; a man who wants a reason for an unjust
act might justify it in that way ;

but men who look atjjthe facts cannot be blinded by
any such reason as that. It was a tax levied in the shape of a penalty by the General
Government on those they called &quot; rebels

;

&quot;

it cannot, as I conceive, be fairly inter

preted in any other way ;
it was a penalty.

Question. I will not take any time in debating about that, as I now get your idea;
but your people regarded also all the disabilities and disfrancbisements arising under
the reconstruction acts as in violation of the terms of surrender?

Anxwcr. Yes, sir, I think the people generally considered that to take away a man s

right to hold ofiice or to vote, without a trial, is not allowing him to remain at his

home &quot; undisturbed by the authorities of the United States-.&quot;

Question. And your people were dissatisfied with that: they thought it was wrong
in itself, and that was also a violation of the terms of surrender?

Answer. I cannot say that our people thought it was wrong in itself, because we
recognized, to the fullest extent, the right of the conquerors over the conquered; but
we did not think it was an act of good faith on the part of the Government of the
United States to make a promise to men with arms in their hands and violate it so

soon as they had surrendered those arms.

Question. &quot;So that the dissatisfaction grew out of the idea that the reconstruction

policy of the Government was violative of the terms of surrender?
Answer. Yes, sir; it showed a purpose to punish individuals for alleged crime with-

out any trial by law.

Question. You thought that if the thing were to be done at all, it ought not to bo
done in that way ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. This idea, you say, was, in your judgment, a greater ground of dissatisfac

tion than the course that Congress took in imposing the constitution on the State after

the people failed to ratify it according to the terms of the reconstruction acts 1

Answer. Yes, sir. I really believe that the great evil under which we are now suf

fering arises from the idea which is embraced in several, perhaps many, of the acts of

Congress that we are a degraded race.

Question. Was the granting of suffrage to the colored people satisfactory generally to

the white people of your State ?

Answer. The people were divided on that. They never came to any agreement by
which the colored men obtained any right to vote, and I do not know that they would
have done so. The white people were opposed to negroes indiscriminately having the

right to vote, though there were considerable divisions of opinion on that subject, and

very many were in favor of their having a right to vote of a qualified nature.

Question. A qualification founded on education, or property, or both. ?

Answer. Well, sir, both were spoken of; but there seemed to be no settled plan. We
were in a new condition of things, and opinion was being molded by circumstances.

Question. The great mass of the colored voters in your State vote the republican
ticket ?

Ansiccr. O, yes, sir; the mass of them.

Question. The great mass of them, you have no doubt, desire to vote in that way?
Answer. Yes, sir; I think that a very large majority of them desire to vote in that

way at this time.

Question. They try, I suppose, to influence and persuade every man of their race to

think as they do and to vote in the same way ?
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Answfr. They do
;
and these bold men of whom I speak try to force them to do it by

intimidation.

Question. They argue to them and endeavor to persuade them to do ft ?

Anxircr. O, yes, sir; and to frighten them.

Question. They argue to them that they are indebted to the republican party for

their freedom.
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And for the right of suffrage ?

. I Msteer. Yes, sir.

Question. And for all their civil rights ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. They argue to them that all these things were secured to them against the

wish of the democratic party ?

An&icer. Yes, sir.

Question. And it is urged that therefore they all ought to vote with the republican
party ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. They use all these arguments to show them that the republican party are

their friends politically, while the democrats are not ?

Answer. Yes, sir; those are arguments very commonly used.

Question. You have spoken of the advice that their leaders give them in those Leagues.
Have you ever known any republican leader in your State to argue to men that they
ought to do any violence to the white people or to deprive the white people of any
right that belongs to them ? Have you ever known any republican leader to advise
the colored people that they should do anything more than assert their rights, and to

argue to them that they ought to go with the republican party because they were their

friends politically ?

Answer. I have heard several speeches, the direct tendency of which, while they did
not profess to advise violence on the part of the negroes, was to produce acts of ag
gression on their part against the white people. I will explain that in this way: The
former masters of those wh o had been slaves were abused

;
the negroes were told of

their sufferings in slavery ; they were told,
&quot; All this property that you see here, these

lands, were cleared by you ; you made all these fences
; you dug all these ditches

;
and

you are the onen they belong to.&quot; That was the style of speaking. Such speakers
have told the negroes that it was the purpose of themselves, and they thought they
could induce the Government of the United States to carry it out, to have a division of
those lands. I have heard such things said by their leaders

;
I say their leaders, but

they are very insignificant men men whom you would never invite to your house if

you knew who they were; but still they are the controlling men who have charge of
these negroes in the special localities

;
and they base their speeches on the text of a

bill which was introduced into Congress by Mr. Stevens. I cannot remember the pro-
visions of the bill; but you, perhaps, will.

Question. The Stevens confiscation bill ?

Answer. Yes, sir. It proposed to divide up the lands in small parcels and appropriate
them. The negroes were taught to believe that this would be done

;
that all those im

mense farms would be hashed up into small pieces and divided among them, provided
they would support the republicans, and keep down these bad men called &quot;rebels&quot; and
&quot;secessionists.&quot;

Question. The result of all this argument was to get them to vote the republican
ticket ?

Answer. That was the primary object to get them to vote the Republican ticket, and
to vote for the special man who was making the point. But the direct effect was to

create a feeling of hostility in the mind of the negro against his neighbor, the white
man who owned the land.

Question. These were a set of reasons which they gave to the negroes to show them
why they should vote the republican ticket, instead of voting with the democrats ?

Answer. O, yes, sir
; they were reasons for voting the republican ticket, and denun

ciations of the men who owned land.

Question. They said to them in substance, &quot;These men were opposed to your being
free

; they were opposed to your having the suffrage ; they were opposed to your hav^

ing your civil rights as witnesses in court, &c.
;
and if they get into power they are of

the same opinion still, and will try to deprive you of all these things.&quot; That was the

style of reasoning adopted ;
and you say that they once argued about a division of

property which they were going to have, if possible.
Answer. I did not say

&quot;

once.&quot; I said I heard it.

Question. Is that the style of argument used now, or was it used on some former occa
sion ?

J;. K. ivr. I do not speak of that style of argument being used now. Some of the

speakers, quite a number of them, will talk now of the negroes being put back into

slavery, provided the democrats ever get power ; they make all such charges as that
;

but I have not heard lately about the division of lauds.
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By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. Have you heard promises of &quot;forty acres and two mules ?&quot;

Answer. Well, sir, I have heard of that story in the community generally ;
but I

never heard a speaker promise that iu so many words. I have heard a number say
that the lauds should be divided.

By the CHAIRMAN, (Mr. POLAND : )

Question. If there were promises of land, property, and things of that sort, I suppose
the argument pretty soon exhausted itself

Answer. No, sir
;
it lasted considerably longer than you &quot;have any idea of. Mr. Stevens s

bill was the basis of it; and really, some tolerably well informed white men thought
that it might go through.

Question. That was four or five years ago ?

Answer. Yes, sir
; but those reconstruction measures, you remember, grew in inten

sity all the time
;

if we did not obey the political orders we got, they put the screw a
little tighter ;

and we did not know but there might be actually a division of the laud,
though I must confess I never had any serious apprehension of it myself.

Question. You say that in various localities in your State there seemed to be organ
izations of men, (sometimes, at least, as extensive as a county,) who did lawless acts
and acts of violence f

Answer. Yes, sir
;
1 said there seemed to be some local organizations that did acts of

very great outrage.
Question. Well, sir. how extensive was that in your State ?

Answer. So far as I have any information, those acts were local matters.

(Question. Were these organizations spread over a good part of your State ?

Ansicer. I think not, sir. So far as my information goes there were acts of violence
committed by men in bands in the northern part of the State, and in the western part,
in two or three counties

;
and I heard of one such transaction in the interior of the

State, near Paytona.
Question. In your judgment, according to the information which you have on this

subject, Avhat class of men composed the bands that committed these outrages?
Answer. Well, sir

;
I have no reason to believe, that there were any that would bo

properly culled &quot;bands&quot; in our county ;
but there seemed to be, and I believe on my

information that there were, local organizations; and my impression is that at first

there were some substantial, good citizens in them
;
but like all other men who under

take to regulate society by mob-law, the better class of men discovered that they could
not control the bold and bad element associated with them, and they left the organi
zation in the hands of turbulent, bad men who, as was the case with the Regulators in

Texas, andt.he Vigilance Committee in California, used it, or their influence in it, for

extremely bad purpos.es.

Question. So far as you know or have information, did the modes of operation of these
bands seem to be much alike 1 Did they generally go out in considerable numbers,
and in disguise, and in the night time?
Ansu er. I cannot say that there was any general custom about it, because I have

only hear of some four or live instances of the whole thing.
Qttesliod As you have heard of these things, was the general description of them

inueh alike ?

Answer. I never heard any description of them except that they were disguised men
wearing masks and cloaks. That is about all I have heard of them.

Question. Against what class of persons were these evil doings generally directed?
Answer. Do you mean against persons of what color ?

Question. Were they generally directed against colored people, or white people?
Answer. I do not know that there was any distinction in that regard; so far as I have

heard, they have been exercised on both black and white people.

Question. Did there seem to be any choice of political parties? Did these men seem
to do violence to men of one party rather than the other

Answer. Well, sir, I think I have heard of more acts of violence being perpetrated
by disguised men on colored men, or white republicans, than on any other class of

people. But these outrages have been committed indiscriminately by colored men
on colored men, and by colored men on white men.

Question. Have not the latter classes of cases been very few and rare in comparison
with the whole number ?

Answer. No, sir; they have not been very few.

Question. You said you heard of two instances?
Answer. I said I knew of two instances.

Question. Have you heard of any more instances where men have gone out in dis

guise ?

Answer. Oh no, sir
;
not in disguise, but in bodies.

Question. I am speaking of these bands of disguised men who seein by common par
lance to have got the name of Ku-Klux bands.
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Answer. My impression is that that word &quot;

Ku-Klux&quot; was a word invented for polit
ical purposes. It does not belong, so far as I know, to any particular class of bad men,
but is a word that is uo\v used to signify the violation qf law by men in disguise.

Question. If you have studied the derivation of that word at all, and know how
it did originate, have you not understood that it is a term of designation which these

bands themselves have adopted ?

Answer. I never heard of such a thing in my life. I thought, and I still think, it is

a word which has sprung up and has been a term of reproach attempted to be fastened

by one party on another or a portion of another party.

Queswm. Do you mean to say that you think it is a sort of nickname which the

republicans have got up to cast odium on the democrats?
Answer. I do. That is my belief.

Question. You do not believe that all these repeated instances of outrage by this class

of men are an invention ?

Answer. I believe there have been a good many instances of a very great outrage.

Question. In the case of these outrages committed by these bands of men in disguise
in different portions of the State, have not their threats of mischief, so far as you have

heard, been generally directed against republicans, either white or Colored ?

Answer. I have already answered that the majority of outrages, so far as I know, in

my particular section of country, were perpetrated against black and white republi
cans.

Question. How do you account for that ? Have you any theory about it ?

Answer. I account for it from the fact that the white men of any community are

generally bolder men than the colored race, and that a bad set of white men would be
more likely to do that sort of violence than a bad set of black men, though they would
both, no doubt, be inclined to engage in the same business. It is the difference in the
boldness of the races.

Question. Do you think that these things have been designed to affect the vote of
the colored people in your State ?

Answer. I do not think that they have had any such purpose whatever. I believe

they are the manifestations of a bad system carried on by bad men for the purpose of

punishing what they call crimes.

Question. In a great many instances, have not these acts of violence been done

against people who were not charged with any crime ?

Answer. I do not remember any such case. I do not remember an instance in which
there was not some charge, real or pretended.

Question. Your idea tiien is that these proceedings are a mode those men have
adopted to take into their own hands the punishment of somebody who ought to be

punished for something ?

Answer. I have no doubt that it is just the same sort of an idea as that upon which
the Regulators in Texas and the Vigilance Committee in California acted. It is an
undertaking to administer the law by a mob.

Question. Have you heard of any instances where life has been taken by these dis

guised men ?

Ansiver. Several quite a number. I can name them, if you desire it. The facts

have not come within my own knowledge ;
but I have information on which I rely.

Question. State the instances that you remember with the particulars of each case.

Answer. There were, as I remember, five men one white man and four negroes
killed by a mob in the neighborhood of Cross Plains or Pay ton a, on the Selma, Rome
and Dalton Railroad. I do not remember the names of the colored men

;
the white

man was named Luke.

Question. About what time was that ?

Answer. I cannot state the time with accuracy ;
but it was in 1869 or 1870.

Question. State substantially what you understand to have been the facts of that
case.

Answer. I have heard that there was some firing on a congregration of people going
out of church one night, and that some colored men, charged with having something
to do with it, were arrested by the officers and put in the hands of the sheriff; and this

man, Luke, was charged with teaching that style of conduct to people where he lived.
I am inclined to think that Luke was also in charge of the sheriff on some allegation
or other. These men were taken by the mob and hung ; they were taken by force
from the sheriff in the night-time.

nucxtion. By a band of men in disguise?
J//.XM-CT. Yes, sir

; by a numbert)f men in disguise.
(Question. Did you understand in whose employment the white man was ?

Answer. I have understood he was in the employment of the Selma, Rome and Dal
ton Railroad, and was teaching school at or near Paytona.

Qiwiilion. A colored school ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Is that the substance of the case ?
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Answer. That is the general outline of what I have heard in reference to it.

Question. State another instance.
Antucer. You desire, as I understand, that I shall speak only of killings by disguised

men f

Question. Yes, sir.

Aiixim: There was a killing, as I am informed, of a young man named Boyd, at
Entaw, in Greene County, Alabama. by a. body of disguised men.

Question. He was the solicitor of Greene County /

J//.SMYT. Yes, sir; I think he was the county solicitor. I have been informed that
quite a number of persons galloped up to the hotel where he was boarding, and a por
tion of them dismounted, went into t!ie room where he was, took him out, and mur
dered him in a very brutal manner.

Question. \Vith what did you understand Boyd was charged?
AitHicc.r. I do not know what his killing was for. I have been informed that he was

the county solicitor, and that he was engaged in prosecuting some men for committing
some heinous offenses

;
that he had made threats about what he would do and boasts

of his being able to convict certain parties ; I do not know that they were ever named.
Question. Did you hear it charged that Mr. Boyd had done; anything except what

was his duty as an oliieer of the law, to prosecute people who had been guilty of crime?
Answer. O, yes, sir. I have heard that he was a man who sold the administration

of the law, as many others do there. They let a man oil when he will pay for it, and
prosecute him for vengeance when they are disposed to do so.

Question. That is a new feature in that case.

Answer. I do not know anything about the case except what I hear of ir. Mr. Boyd,
according to reputation, was a very bold, vindictive man.

(Jucsiion. Do you mean to have us understand that, according to what you have
heard, he was killed on account of misconduct in office ?

*.-liiN(i cr. (
&amp;gt;. no, sir; 1 do not. mean that. I mean to say that in my opinion Mr.

Boyd was killed in order to gratify the malice of his enemies, and to prevent the pros
ecution of individuals.

(Question. To prevent the bringing of other unlawful acts to punishment?
J;/.N(r&amp;lt;r. Yes, sir. I think from what I have heard that in all probability the motives

were combined that the object was both to gratify malice and to prevent prosecu
tions.

Question. He was prosecuting some men for acts of this same character, and prosecu
ting i hem vigorously and zealously. Did you hear any more than that, unless it was
that he \\ a.s so indiscreet as to talk about his purposes with reference to the enforce
ment of the law /

J&amp;gt;Mm\ 1 have heard generally that he was prosecuting certain parties with a great
deal of xeal and a great deal of bitterness.

(JufHtion. Parties who were charged with unlawful acts ?

Ansu-er. Yes, sir; charged with very heinous crimes.

Question. If you have stated the substance of that case, state another.
Anstrer. I do not remember any other special feature connected with that case. I

have heard persons, in speaking of it, connect Mr. Boyd with a killing many years ago.
] do not know of any connection which that has with his assassination, though I have
heard it mentioned as a probable cause. I have never been able to see any connection

myself. 1 reside at some distance fifty miles or more from the scene of that occur
rence;.

Qiuslion. These bauds of disguised men, on a great many occasions, whipped or beat,
or otherwise maltreated persons without killing them. Is riot that class of cases much
more numerous than cases of killing?

Ansiccr. No, sir
;
so far as my knowledge goes, it is not. I know of but few cases of

either sort where the acts were done by disguised men.

Question. 1 understand you to think that in all these cases the violence grew out of
some personal resentment, or it was committed with a view to punish, by mob-law,
somebody who was charged with some offense f

Answer. Yes, sir ;
or to gratify tlie malice of the particular individuals engaged in it.

Question. Have these transactions by bodies of disguised men grown at all out of the

feeling of dissatisfaction with the government of your State?
Answer. I suppose that has had something to do with them, or rather that these

wrongs which have been inflicted on the people of our section have been made a pre
text for the acts of bad men in administering, or attempting to administer, punish
ment. I suppose that has been to some extent a pretext.

Question. Do you think that that was the real purpose or motive, or was it merely

alleged as an excuse to cover up something else?

Answer. I think it was a mere excuse a mere subterfuge.

Question. You do not think that, in point of fact, any of those things were the occa

sion of these lawless acts ?

Answer. No, sir; I do not think they were the occasion
;
I think that probably they

.aggravated them by giving this pretence.
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Question. They alleged as an excuse something which they thought the white peo
ple would generally accept?

Answer. It was an attempt on their part, so far as I know, to get the countenance of

the better class of people to such acts of outrage. In other words, it was a cloak.

Question. Do you think that, in consequence of this pretext being set up, these acts

of violence have been looked upon with any more favor, or that there has been any less

disposition to prosecute them, and bring them to trial and punishment?
Answer. I do not believe it. I believe an honest citizen will discharge his duty with

out any regard to such things.

Question. As a general thing, have the acts done by these bands of men been punished
in any way ?

Answer. So far as I know, I do not remember a case
;
but my belief is, that the rea

son they have not been punished is because they could not be detected.

Question. Because the men went in disguise ?

Answer. Not only because they went in disguise, but that they took such precautions
as other criminals do to avoid detection.

Question. Do you not think that the failure to prosecute this class of offenses has been
to a considerable extent on account of the fear that this very organization created in

the community, so that men did not endeavor to bring the offenders to punishment for

fear of incurring the displeasure, and perhaps the violence of this class of men ?

Amicer. I do not so judge. I believe that the men who commit these outrages w-ould
be punished, with absolute certainty, if they could be discovered, and that it would be
done as effectually as it could be done to-day in Vermont.

Question. Do you think there has been as much vigilant endeavor on the part of re

spectable people of your State to ferret out and punish this class of offenses as ordinary
crime ?

Answer. I think so. I will say, however, that our officers who conduct the adminis
tration of the law are to some degree separated from the white people, as a general
thing, and it may be that there is not that kind of intercourse between the citizens
and the officers that there ought to be. When a man is known to sell public justice to
who ever pays the most for it, citizens desiring to have the law enforced will be slow
to go to him for that purpose ;

and there are instances in our State (and they are not
at all unfrequent) where that sort of thing has been done. It may be that citizens
have been, to some extent, remiss on that point ;

but so far as regards a desire to pun
ish these criminals, I have no doubt that it exists.

Question. When you speak of &quot;selling public justice,&quot; do you mean- the charge to

apply to prosecuting officers, solicitors, &c. ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
those are the men who mainly conduct that business.

Question. Do you intend your observation to apply to that class of officers ?

Answer. Yes, sir, that is what I mean.
Question. Are you willing to give us the names of any of them ?

Answer. I can state them if it is desired. You can get the names from the records
down there from indictments for the very thing itself.

Question. Have soine of them been indicted for corrupt practices in office ?

Answer. O, yes, sir
;
some of them have been indicted.

Question. And tried and convicted ?

Answer. I do not remember any instance where a man has been convicted ?

Question. Then you mean that there are allegations of that character against them ?

Answer. There are indictments quite a number indictments found by a grand jury.i
Question. In any cases of that class, have you yourself any personal knowledge in

reference to the facts ?

AnsiCer. Oh, yes, sir
;
I have personal knowledge of some of them; I do not know of

the bribe being given ;
but I have that sort of personal knowledge that a practicing

lawyer engaged in a court and familiar with the causes has, when he sees great criminals

go out of court without punishment, by the consent of the solicitor. That sort of know- .

ledge I have a large amount of it. *

Question. To what particular officer do you refer in that connection ?

Answer. Well, sir, the solicitor of my county.
Question. What is his name ?

Answer. Do you desire that I shall state it? I am perfectly willing to do so.

Question. State it.

Answer. Jasper N. Haney.
Question. We have no desire to cover up the rascality of anybody.
Answer. I have no desire to cover it up ;

but I did not wish to make public here, in a
place where it will be printed, the particular offenses of individuals who have not been
convicted.

Question. I intended to have you understand that if you felt, yourself, any delicacy
about it, I would not press the inquiry. So far as my own feeling and desire are con
cerned, I want every rascal of every party as publicly and generally known as possible.

Answer. Yes, sir; and if we had the law administered by you in that spirit in Ala-
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bam a, there would be no such thing there as these disorders. The bad men of both.

parties would be brought to trial.

Question. I wish to put an inquiry to you in reference to the Alabama election law.

By your law every man when he registers has to swear to all the particulars of his

qualifications as a voter?
Answer. Yes, sir

;
that is the registration oath, as we call it.

Question. And if he swears falsely, he is liable to be punished the same as for any
other perjury?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
of course he is liable to punishment for perjury.

(Question. I have had some controversy with some members of the Alabama bar in.

reference to that law. Some of them have testified that a man was just as liable to be

punished for challenging a person not a voter as for challenging one properly qualified.
Answer. I say the letter of the law is against the challenge in any shape, and that if

the man challenged happens to be a voter, the penalty will certainly be incurred. But
if he does not happen to be a voter, in my opinion, a judge acquainted with the correct

rules for interpreting statutes would not have him convicted.

Question. I am very glad to find one Alabama lawyer agreeing with me. We have
been told by some gentlemen of the bar from your State, that where a man has voted
once and offers to vote again, a man objecting to his voting a second time at that elec

tion will be liable to be punished under that law.

Answer. Well, sir, that is the letter of the law, and I think it is the spirit, too, if the

person challenging happens to make a mistake and the man has not voted before.

Q next ion. But if the man has already voted once he has exercised his right to the full

extent to which he is entitled by the law ?

Answer. Yes, sir. My opinion of the law is that if a man is not a voter or not entitled

to vote, the person challenging him could not, by a proper construction, be convicted;
but if the man who makes the challenge makes a mistake, however honestly and

fairly if the man whom he believes not entitled to vote is really qualified

Question. You think he challenges at his peril?
Answer. He does, undoubtedly, in my opinion.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. Suppose a challenge is offered, will not the judges of election rule that the

challenge shall not be received?
Answer. It has always been the practice, so far as I have known, not to challenge,

except in one particular instance. I have known a great many votes to be taken in

where the judges knew that the men voting were not qualified; and I believe it was
done honestly, in many instances, under the belief that the officers of the election were
bound to take the votes because the men were registered; and I do not know of any
machinery of the law by which they can try that question.

By the CHAIRMAN, (Mr. POLAND:)

Question. Except to contest the election ?

Answer. I mean, try the question of a man s right to vote.

Question. At the polls?
Answer. At the polls or otherwise.

Question. I think that is the true construction of your law; that it did not intend

that any man regularly registered should be prevented from voting. They rely upon
punishing him for false swearing in the registration, and leave the candidate to his

remedy by a contest ?

Answer. The law opens a very wide Held for frauds in elections and takes away
almost every one of the safeguards except the oath of the voter.

Question. Those gentlemen from your State who have thought that the election offi

cers or anybody else would not be entitled to prevent a man from voting twice have,
in your opinion, given the law too sweeping a construction ?

Answer. Well. 1 do not know of any means by which such a thing can be prevented

except at the same poll ;
because that is the only place at which any information can

be had by the managers as to the fact that the person has already voted. I presume
that if a man should offer to vote a second time at the same poll, the managers would

of course, if they knew it, have a right to reject his vote.

Question. The managers at another poll would have just the same right ?

Answer. I think not
;
because how can they get the information ?

Question. I mean if they had the information ?

Amwer. But they have*not got it; and the law provides no means by which they
can get it.

Mr. BLAIR. You are not allowed to challenge and assert the fact that a man haa

already voted.

Mr. POLAND. I do not think the prohibition of a challenge extends to that case.

Answer. I do not think it does; but still that is the practical working of the law.



390 CONDITION OF AFFAIRS IN THE SOUTHERN STATES.

By Mr. BECK :

Question. What would be the effect upon your people, as regards the restoration of

good feeling, if a general amnesty should be granted for all political offenses ?

. I believe that such a measure would tend to restore good feeling on the

part of the people of the South toward those who have charge of the Government
there. I believe it is absolutely impossible for the Government of the United States to

have us at the South good citizens without our full restoration to equality before the

law, with the whole people of the country, except so far as there may be punishment
for crimes of which parties are duly convicted. We never will wallingly submit to

degradation ;
and this is a source of constant irritation. I will say furthermore, that

as a general rule the people in the South, (when I say the people I speak of the white

people, because it has been the custom so to speak,) will submit to the Government of
the United States, and they have no idea, so far as I have ever heard, of questioning
its authority in any other way than by votes or in the courts. But they consider them
selves as wT

ronged in a manner directly contrary to the spirit of the Government by
being punished without ever having been convicted of any crime

;
and many of us are

punished really without having been guilty of any crime in the estimation of
the men who punish us. We are deprived of the privilege of selecting for ourselves
such rulers as we would like to choose

;
and in that way we are punished. I do not

think that individual acts of amnesty do any good. I believe they are really an in

jury to our people. The evil of which we complain is not the fact that any particular
man is deprived of any rights ;

it is the degradation attempted to be fastened upon us

by saying that we Lave not the same civil or political rights as people in other sections
of the country.

Question. I believe you illustrated the idea a while ago by saying that you complain
of the local degradation attached to you as citizens of Alabama, and which the same
individuals would not suffer if residing in the State of Vermont, for instance. Is that
the idea ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. In other words, you complain of a degradation being attached to the very
fact of residing in the State of Alabama ?

Answer. Yes, sir, and to citizenship there. We feel that we have been guilty of no
crime ; and that if we have been guilty of crime the general spirit of the Constitution
of the United States and of this Government is that no human being has any right to

punish that crime except through a conviction in a court of justice. We believe that
that is not only a principle of justice, but a correct principle of law.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. Is not that the very language of the Constitution ?

Answer. Well, you know the Constitution imposes this punishment; and in that way*
men quibble out of this great wrong.

By Mr. BECK :

Question. Have not your people been greatly irritated by individuals officers of the
Freedmen s Bureau andmen known as &quot;carpet-baggers&quot; coming down there and obtain

ing authority over you, not for the benefit of the United States, but to put money in

their own pockets, and assuming that the Government was backing them and author

izing them to oppress you for their individual benefit ?

Answer. I have no doubt that that class of men have done us a great injury, not

only by the direct wrongs they have inflicted on us, but also as having been the* occa
sion of our displays of undignified temper. I would like to refer to one very great mis

apprehension in reference to the situation of a man coming to Alabama from another
section of the country.

Question. Give us your view on that subject. ^

Answer. Individuals come to Alabama some of them honest men and well esteemed
where they came from; others of a very different character; a large proportion of

them, so far as I have had any personal knowledge or information, of the latter class r

neither of them, however, showing to the community in which thoy settle any indica
tion or evidence of their standing among their neighbors at home; and although a man
may conduct himself, for the time he is there, fairly and honestly and uprightly, no
man in the community knows by any correct information who he is; and ho is not
received into society. This has been made, a great charge against us, though I have
never seen any regulated society on earth that would receive any man into it unless he
showed in some way that ho was considered an honest man at home. It has been
assumed, so far as our social treatment of strangers and immigrants has been concerned,
that the fact of a man belonging to the conquering element ought to be a sufficient

voucher for his character; and such men have nor thought it necessary, as a general
thing, to produce any other voucher in the new home that they have selected for them
selves. Where a man has come to our country and conducted himself with propriety,
and has shown to the people by any evidence worthy of credence that he was an honest
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citi/en where lie came from, be lias been received, so far as I know, with a certain

degree of hospitality. It has not been as cordial as it would be toward one coming
from another direction

;
but it has certainly been respectful, courteous, and kind,

whether the- man was a republican or a democrat. I know numbers of gentlemen who
have come down there and held oliice high office. They were gentlemen at home and
they made it known there

5
and although they were decided republicans, they were

received in society almost as well as any of our citizens. We do not discountenance a
man merely because he is a republican ;

but there is a prejudice against that class of

people coming- there, because of the numerous vicious men who have settled among us.

and oppressed us under the forms of law. I could name several distinguished repub
lican gentlemen residing in Alabama, who were gentlemen at home, and are recognized
and treated as gentlemen there honest, direct men, attending to their own business,

discharging their official duties, and not prostituting their places for the purpose of

manufacturing political capital, as is done in numbers of other instances.

By Mr. POOL :

(jHCNtion. Were you in the confederate army ?

Anntco: Yes, sir; I Avas.

QiNiion. What position did you hold f

Anxii-cr. I went into the confederate army as a major of infantry, and I became a

brigadier general.

Question. You are yourself under disabilities?

Aitxwcr. Yes, sir ; I am under disability as a former solicitor and judge.
Client ton. If you Avere residing in Vermont, you Avould be under the same disabilities,

would you not -.

Answer. Yes, sir; so far as I am individually concerned, I would.

Question. What is it that the people of Alabama complain of as a local discrimina
tion which would not attach to them in another part of the Union ?

Answer. The local government of the State of Alabama is imposed on the people of

that particular locality Avithout their consent. They have never consented, either to

the form of government, or to the selection of those who hold the offices. In other

words, our government has been manufactured by Federal authority and without the

consent of the people.

Question. You consider that as the great source of irritation ?

Answer. O,no: I did not say that. I said that was one of the causes. The great
source of irritation is the degradation attempted to be heaped upon our people by the

authority of the Government.

Qnexfnm. You mean in that way ?

Answer. No. I do not mean in that way alone.

Question. In Avhat other Avays f

Answer. There are in the State of Alabama, in my opinion, as many as five thousand,

probably ten thousand men AV!U haAre no right to hold any office, State or Federal, in

the United States. We consider that as simply an act of tyranny contrary to the con

tract made on the part of the Government of the United States, and that it is done in

Avantonness and without any purpose other than to maintain that sort of excitement

which exists in the Northern States, for the purpose of enabling one particular political

party to control the Government. This is our belief.

Question. You would not have it understood that these five or ten thousand gentle
men Avho are disqualified to hold office are the people who are guilty of these outrages
committed by men in disguise ?

Answer. I never said anything of the sort. But I am satisfied that the men who are

disqualified, if they had not been disqualified, and if they could have had the control

of the government of Alabama, as they would have had in any fair political transac

tion, would haA:
e contrived a machinery by Avhich those things would have become

impossible : because they are not only honorable men, but they are men who are

anxious to preserve a spotless reputation; they not only do not want to be guilty of

crime, but they do not want to be suspected : they desire that there shall be no cause

of suspicion of their being guilty of such outrages. I think if the brain of the State

had been allowed to control it, (and when I say
&quot;

brain&quot; I mean these men who are

accustomed to control,) those disorders would have been very greatly mitigated, not

because those men encourage them, but because the State is now deprived of their ser

vices in the administration of the law.

Question. How could those men, if they had the power, detect the men who commit

crimes in disguise, any more than the men can who now have charge of affairs?

Answer. It is not for me to say how it could be done; but a linn officer, with the

means of en;tcthu; laws and providing legal machinery, conducted in all its detail s by
men experienced &quot;in such business, ought to be able so to provide that some of them

would be caught and punished, and thereby others deterred. That these crimes could

be prevented entirely, I do not believe.

QtKtiivit. You are not under the impression, then, that, as the government at present

exists in Alabama, life aiul property are entirely safe ?
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Answer. Of course they are not entirely safe. I do not consider them entirely safe in

any part of the United States.

Question. Do you consider them as safe in Alabama as they are in other parts of the

country ?

A H nicer. I do
;
I think they are probably safer than in many other parts of the

country.
Question. Safer than in some of the Northern States ?

Answer. I think so.

Question. Then, what good would it do to let those gentlemen now disfranchised take

charge of affairs, if life and property are already as safe in that State as they are else

where .

Answer. It would remove a disgrace. I Avas going to use too strong an expression ;

I must moderate it.

Question. I meant to ask what good it would do in enforcing the law and protecting
life and property ?

Answer. It would do good.
Question. How ?

Answer. The order which I speak of as prevailing there is the order of a community
who have upon them the necessity of individual protection the necessity of taking
care of their property in looking after these things. The administration of the law in

the courts is passably well conducted, except in reference to selling the administration
of the criminal law. That is one of the vices which I have seen there. It is a vice
which I understand prevails to a very great extent in other places possibly in this

city and in other cities.

Question. How many instances of that have you known in Alabama ?

Answer. How many instances have I known ?

Question. Or in reference to how many have you such information as you rely upon ?

Answer. Well, I think in six, or eight, or ten counties. It is not an unusual thing ;

it is common.
Question. Do those outrages, commonly denominated Ku-Klux outrages, exist more

extensively in those particular counties than elsewhere in the State?
Answer. I cannot say that they do. &quot;

Ku-Klux&quot; is a name given to offenses of every
kind committed in secret.

Question. By persons in disguise ?

Answer. Whether they are disguised or not
;
that makes no difference

;
and it makes

no difference whether the offense is committed by a negro or a white man, by a demo
crat on a republican, or by a republican on a democrat.

Question. My question was, whether those outrages are more frequent in the counties
where you say justice is sold, than in others.

Answer. I do not think that they are. m

Question. You are not able, then, to perceive that this selling of justice, in some five

or six counties, has had anything to do in making these outrages worse or more fre

quent ?

Answer. Well, sir, I am inclined to think that it may have been another pretext for

these outrages. People might say,
&quot; If the offenders were carried to court the solicitor

would let them off .&quot; That may have been another pretext ;
but I do not know that in.

the particular localities where these offenses have been committed, justice is more trifled:

with than in other places. What I mean by the safety of life and property in Ala*
bam a grows out of the firm will of the people to have the law administered, in contra
distinction to any special vigor of the courts or the officers in carrying it out.

Question. Have you ever heard of bands of disguised men in other States committing
offenses and not being detected ? ,

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. To any great extent ? I mean outside of the Southern States.

Answer. Yes,sir ; O, yes.
*

&amp;lt;Jut
ntion. In what localities?

Answer. Why, in Texas
;
before the war it was a very common thing, arid it was a

terrible- thing. It got so that a good man could scarcely live in certain sections of the
country.

Qiirxliim. That was a wild disorderly country before the war ?

Anmccr. No, sir; it was a very well-regulated community until this organization took
place.

Question. At what time did that organization take place in Texas ?

Anf&amp;lt;n-tr. Wrll, I do not recollect exactly ;
but the time I am speaking of must have

been about 1840 or 1847. It was shortly after tin; admission of Texas into the Union.

Question. You are a lawyer, and your reading has, of course, made you familiar witli
the jurisprudence of Great Britain, from which we derive our jurisprudence. Have
you ever heard that within the last hundred years there have been in various coun
ties of Great Britain bands of men who, in disguise, committed scourgings and mur
ders, and whom the authorities were not able to detect ?
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Answer. Great numbers of them.

Question. In England?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Have you overheard of them in the Northern States of this country ?

Answer. I do not recollect now that class of offenses in any of the Northern States,

except California, if that may be called one of the Northern States. In England, in

Ireland, and in parts of Scotland
The CHAIRMAN, (Mr. POLAND.) It seems to me that this line of examination is foreign

to the purpose of our inquiry.
Mr. POOL. I supposed the question was pointedly pertinent, and therefore I put it.

The CHAIRMAN, (Mr. POLAND.) To go back one hundred years, and inquire into the
condition of other civilized communities, seems to be making a comparison founded

upon general historical knowledge ;
and Congress, it seems to me, has not sent us out

upon such an inquiry.
Mr. POOL. Well, I will not press the question. But my idea was, that if this state of

affairs is extraordinary and of recent date, there must be some extraordinary cause,
and I wanted to get at it.

The CHAIRMAN, (Mr. POLAND.) I think the inquiry ought to be confined to the con
dition of things in the Southern States. Congress can make the historical comparison
as well as the witness or we can.

Mr. POOL. I will not press the inquiry.

Question. Did you ever know or hear of the Union Leagues of which you spoke going
in disguise and committing outrages ?

Answer. I have not; but I have heard of members of them doing it.

Question. In how many instances .

Anxiccr. I have told you of the one in North Alabama. I have heard of several others

\vhere negroes have reported that they were whipped for voting the democratic ticket,
and by order of the. League. I have heard of such things numbers of them. I do not
know of any such fact within my own knowledge.

(Jitcxtit))!. Do you know whether there have been any Leagues in Alabama since the

presidential election ?

Anxiccr. Ido not know that there have been any Leagues there since the presidential

election; but I do know that there have been large meetings of a secret character in

the same places where the Leagues were formerly held. I do not know of the existence

of the Leagues except as a matter of information. The League was a terril.de machine
where I lived, according to our understanding of it.

(Juextion. Yon spoke of the whipping of negro girls by a solicitor. Why did you think

that thai was for the purpose of manufacturing political capital?
Answer. Because he was represented to be a bold and bad fanatic, who was engaged

in that sort of work. That is why I attribute it to that cause.

Question. Was he disguised ?

Answer. They say that he was.

Question. Were any persons with him ?

Answer. No one was .with him.

Question. Then he did this act as a single individual?

Answer. A single individual.

Question. Have you ever heard of these disguised organizations carrying 011 their

operations by only one man?
Answer. Yes, sir&quot;;

I have heard of one case ; and it is one of the worst cases that I ever

heard of. I have no idea that there was any organization about it
;
but the killing of

Frank Diugs, the negro who was connected with the mail on the Selnia and Meridian

Railroad a man of good character, a man whom the white people trusted was done

by a man in disguise ;
and it is generally believed that it was simply the act of a ter

ribly ineaii and malicious boy whom this man had prosecuted.

Question. Was there any person acting in concert with him?
Answer. Nobody was seen

;
and I have no idea in the world that there was any oae

connected with him.

Question. Was it done in a crowd ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Had the boy a disguise on ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did he escape?
Answer, lie escaped.
Question. Did no man arrest him ? /

Anftu-er. No man could arrest him. He was on the wayside. It was at a place in the

woods where the cars stopped for a supply of wood. While the cars stopped there and

wooded, as I am informed, this man, Frank Diggs, was standing at his placu somewhere

about the mail-car. Some noise was made that attracted his attention. He stepped to

the door just as the cars were moving off , and a man stepped up in disguise within a

few yards of him, shot him, and ran off into the woods. That was about the whole of

that transaction.
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Question. Did any one suppose that that was a crime committed by an organization ?

Answer. O, yes, sir
;

it has been charged all over the country that it was a terrible
&quot; Ku-Klux outrage ;&quot;

and I will say that for the purpose of making political capital it

is the general habit to charge every such thing as a &quot; Ku-Klux outrage.&quot;

Question. Is it charged that it was done in pursuance of an order from an organiza
tion*?

A tourer. O, yes ;
that is the general charge made in our section of the country by

our enemies men who desire to slander us and make us appear as mean as they can.

An act like that the act of a bad, malicious, vindictive boy committing a murder is

charged on the Avhole community by our enemies, and I think fcimply for the purpose
of making political capital ;

for this very occurrence was charged in the newspapers of
the town where I live as being the result of a combination of the community to

deprive this man, Frank Diggs, of the office he held.

Question. Was the boy ever arrested ?

Anxwcr. No, sir.

Question. Has he ever been found out ?

Answer. He has never been found out. The one whom we supposed to be the crimi
nal has never been seen since. That is another reason why we believe him to be the
assassin.

Question. He has left the community ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
he ran off. He has been searched for very diligently ;

and I have
no doubt he has been indicted for the murder, though I do not know the fact. There
is no means of knowing in my State, legally, whether an indictment has been found or

not, until the party is arrested. The indictment is not a matter of record until the
arrest of the party.

Question. Of how many cases of outrage in the State of Alabama by men in disguise
have you any reliable information ? Can you approximate to the number ?

Answer. Well, sir, I should suppose twelve or fifteen.

Question. Twelve or fifteen in the whole State ?

Answer. Yes, sir, in the whole State, by various parties, white and black, all put
together. I am speaking of those I have any information about.

Question. You mean those you have heard of from reliable sources ?

Answer. Yes, sir
; upon such statements as I would give credence to ordinarily.

Question. Do you think that any act of the United Slates Government of which you
have complained has any connection whatever with those twelve or nfteen cases f

Answer. Well, sir, I would not like to take the responsibility of tracing them to any
act of the United States. I think they are the result of a terrible war that has left in

society at the South a very bad element, and has thrown in upon us an etpially vicious
element as a governing power. n

Question. Supposing the acts of the Government of the United States to have been
so obnoxious to the people there as you describe them to be, and that these bad ele

ments following the wrar existed in your midst, or came down among you, is not the
result of only some fifteen of these acts of violence rather insignificant f

Answer. I do not know that I understand the question.
Question. Taking in view the legislation of which you complain so bitterly, and the

fact that after a protracted and desperate war a crowd of lawless men was turned *

loose among you, and another crowd of vicious men came down there, is it not rather 1

an insignificant result that there should be only some fifteen of these outrages in the
whole State ?

Answer. I have no idea but that there have been a great many more cases
;
but I do

not know anything of them. But it does appear marvelous that order has been pre
served in my country as well as it has been. It has been preserved by force of the
stern will of the public. It is preserved in certain neighborhoods by the will of one.
man. I am satisfied it has been preserved in my county by the will of the people, and*
not by the law. My opinion is that law can never be efficiently administered in any
republican government except by the will of the people themselves.

Question. When you speak of the people, do you mean the white people, or both col
ored and white ?

Answer. 1 mean the governing people, no matter who they are, white or black.

Question. Do not all the people of Alabama now vote ?

Answer. Yes, sir
; they all have a right to vote. I mean to say there is no distinc

tion. Every citizen of a certain sort and within defined limits has the right to vote

substantially every citizen over twenty-one years of age, and who has not been con
victed of certain crimes.

(JueKtion. You mean that no man is disfranchised from the use of the ballot?
.Itixirn: Hxccpt for crime; that was not so by the constitution of oar State as

originally framed, and as Congress forced it upon us. It is so, in my opinion, by tho
will of the black people themselves; and the governing reason why it is so, is what I

have stated.

Question. Did not your legislature at its very first session take advantage of the
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provision of the constitution which allowed them to remove that disability
remove it ?

and

Answer, Yes, sir; they removed it.

Question. At once ?

Answer. Yes, sir; at the demand of the republican party, and it would, in mv
opinion, be done to-morrow throughout the United States, if the colored men in mv
State had control of the question.

Question. Do yon mean to say that the colored people of Alabama are in favor of
general amnesty ?

-Inswer. Without any doubt in the world. The reason why some men oppose it, is

simply for their own individual ends. The member of Congress from my district is a
colored man a man of brains and will; and he is very decidedly in favor of the
removal of disabilities, if lie could have his way; and I have no doubt he will try to
have it, because he is a man of will.

By the CHAIRMAN, (Mr. POLAND:)

(Question. He or somebody else carried a majority of the House with him.
Answer. Yes, sir; we have been laboring and toiling so long under these troubles

that I am afraid we are not so charitable as we ought to be, when action so decided in
one House is so little regarded in the other by members of the same political party. I
am afraid we are sometimes not so thankful as we ought to be for the favors we do get.

Question. Did the white people of Alabama, before the reconstruction policy of Con
gress went into eii ect there, allow the colored men to testify in the courts f I mean
was it done by the State before that time f

Answer. Yes, sir ; it was done by the iirst legislature which assembled after the war;
that body allowed the colored people to testify in courts of justice in all cases in
which a. colored man had any interest ; but (he right Avas qualified ;

it was not given
in the universal form in which it is enjoyed by white men.

Question. What was the restriction

Answer. There was no restriction : this was an enlargement, and the enlargement
was to the extent I speak of. By the law, as it existed before the war, a negro was not
a competent witness in a court of justice in any case in which he was to testify against
a white man. He was received as a witness where any man of his own color was on
trial.

Question. Yon mean in a State case?
Anxwer. Of course. The slaves had no civil suits in our courts then. The iirst legis

lature after the war provided that in all cases in which a negro was a party it should
be no objection to any witness that he was of mixed blood or a negro. In other words,
such persons were allowed to testify in cases in which black men had any interest.

(Question, Were they allowed to sit upon a jury under any circumstances?
Answer. It was not so ordered by the law. But they did sit upon the juries.

Question. Before reconstruction &quot;I

Answer. Yes, sir. They sat upon juries by order of the military.
Question. Was that before reconstruction f

Ansicer. It is hard to know where reconstruction began.
Qtw-fstion. Was it before the passage of the reconstruction acts?
Answer. It was before that.

Question. Did the white people of Alabama, when they had control of the State, allow

negroes to sit on juries at all?

Answer. They never did prior to the adoption of the present constitution of the
State.

Question. If they had control of the State now, do you suppose they would suffer

negroes to sit on juries ?

Answer. Without any doubt in the world, so far as I am advised.

Question. Do you think that they would allow them to testify in the courts without
restriction ?

Answer. I have no doubt of it without any restriction whatever.

Question. Would they allow them to vote at the ballot-box?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
I think they would allow them to vote. But there would be a hard

tight between those in favor of universal voting and those in favor of a qualified suf

frage. My opinion is that there would be an effort to impose some restrictions, but that

the imposition of restrictions would not ultimately be made; for this reason : It could
not be made except by a general law applying to all classes; and although I never
was a politician, or engaged in any political work myself, I have observed politicians

enough to know that it takes a man of very great nerve more than we ordinarily
find in this country to impose any property or educational qualification on white
voters : consequently, as the qualification would have to apply to white voters as well

sis black, it would not, in all probability, be made.

Question. Would they allow negroes to hold office ?

Answer. I have no doubt they would.

(Question. You think they would I
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Answer. Yes, sir; I think they would allow them to hold such offices as they could

get.
Question. Then what is the complaint of the people of Alabama in regard to the

reconstruction policyof Congress as it is now in force ?

si twicer. That the government was imposed on us without our consent.

Question. I am not speaking of the origin of the government. Leaving that out,
what is the objection to it now ?

Answer. Well, sir, we never leave that out. An American never can and never will

leave out of view the fact that a government is imposed on him entirely without his

consent, and that the officers under it are elected without his consent.

Question. Then you do not complain so much of the policy itself as of the manner
in which it was put upon you ?

Answer. The manner in which it was put upon us was the great thing, of course, so

far as ouf*objection is concerned. We think it was put upon us in utter defiance of any
rule of law. We submitted to the military. We never questioned a military order at

all
;
and we never complained to any great extent. But we do not believe that under

our form of government there is any human agency that can make a constitution for

a State other than the people of the State.

Question. Do you think that if that constitution were now withdrawn, and you were
allowed to fix up matters for yourselves, the white people of the State would allow

negroes to testify in the courts, to sit on juries, to vote at the ballot-box, and to hold
office?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
I believe all those privileges would be accorded to the negro ulti

mately. I have no idea that there will come a time during the present form of this

Government in which there will be any restriction on suffrage in any part of the United
States so far as it is now enjoyed. Republican governments never go backward into

any conservative restrictions. They go forward sometimes into the wildest forms of

democracy.
Question. Then the manner in which this constitution was imposed upon you is the

main cause of complaint?
Answer. I never said that.

Question. It was one of the main causes ?

Anwer. I have said it was one of the causes, and a very considerable cause.

Question. How long will it be before the people of Alabama will cease to complain of
that

Answer. As at present existing, never.

Question. I mean the manner in which the constitution was imposed ?

Answer. Never.

Question. Then there is no remedy for the evil effect which that act has, in your
judgment, produced ?

Answer. To some extent, there is a remedy. The only remedy I know, so far, is

either to send officers there and force us to obedience, or to restore to the State its equal
rights Avith the other States. The Constitution as it now exists is not the truth. We
are represented as a system of confederated equal States. It is not the truth in niy part
of the country. We are not equal, and we never shall be satisfied until we are equal.

Question. That is, you are not equal because your constitution was imposed upon
you without your consent ?

Answer. Yes, sir; it was imposed upon us without our consent. Not only that, but
we were deprived of the brain-power of the State in making our constitution.

Question. What, in your opinion, would be the remedy for the evil produced by that
state of feeling in Alabama ? How can this Government remedy it ? By submitting
the constitution again ?

Answer. O, no. We do not want to go back into anarchy. It has been represented
that we are in favor of tearing up that constitution by the roots, upsetting our gov
ernment, und declaring everything null and void from the beginning. But outside of
our supremo court, I have seen no indications of that spirit of tearing np things by
the routs. We wish to be accorded the right to have a constitution modeled according
to the, will of the people, allowing the present constitution and government to stand

just so long as the people do not choose to alter it recognizing it and submitting to

it, although we know, as a people, and know as lawyers, that it is not an enactment
in any const it at ional form. At least that is our opinion ;

and I have never seen a law
yer in my life who would give- an opinion to the contrary. I have seen politicians
who would speak otherwise; but I have never heard any lawyer, North or South, who,
giving his opinion as a lawyer, would say diflereiitly.

Question. Your present constitution provides that the vote for governor, as well as

perhaps some other State officers, may be canvassed as provided by law. When there
was a controversy between Governor Smith and Governor Lindsay, the vote was
counted by the legislature in violation of an injunction from some court ?

-: Yes, sir
;
but I imagine that the chairman of this committee would smile at

the idea of a court enjoining a legislature. It is a thing I have never read of in any
law book.
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Question. Who are the judges of your supreme court &quot;?

Answer. Judge E. Woolsey Peck-
Question. Was he ever ou the bench before ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
he was on the bench before. He is a man of very decided learning,and of very high character. He is an old and feeble man, but, as I believe, a man of

earnest purpose to do right. He is very bitter in some of his prejudices, but is -an
earnest, honest man.

Question. Has he great knowledge of the law ?

Answer. He has had great knowledge of law, but he is now, I should suppose, some
seventy years of age, and very feeble.

(Question. Was he on your supreme court before the war ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Was ho on the bench at all before the war?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Name another judge of your supreme court ?

Answer. Thomas M. Peters.

Question. What sort of a man is he ?

The CHAIRMAN, (Mr. POLAND.) What is the object of this line of examination ?

Mr. POOL. My object is to come to the point with regard to this injunction which I
understand was granted by -the supremo court, and I wish to inquire afterward as to
the reason why the legislature did not provide for canvassing this vote.

Answer. The supremo court never granted the injunction. It was issued by a judge
of the supreme court.

Question. Which judge?
Anaicer. Judge Saffold.

Question. I thought it was issued by the whole bench ?

Answer. O, no, sir; it never could have issued from the whole bench.

By the CHAIRMAN, (Mr. POLAND:)
Question. It was issued by Judge Saffold as chancellor?
Answer. Well, all the judges exercise the chancery power of granting an injunction

returnable in the chancery court.

Question. Each judge is a chancellor ?

Answer. Yes, sir; pro hac rice. That injunction was granted by a yonng man who
is on the supreme court bench a man of good brain, \vho was a niau &quot;of large fortune
before the war.

By Mr. POOL :

Question. Did not the question come before your supreme court at all ?

Answer. It never did.

Question. Can you tell why the legislature did not provide bylaw for the propei
canvassing of that vote, so that both parties might be heard ?

Answer. The constitution provides that in reference to certain officers, including the

governor, elections may be contested in such manner as is provided by law. The con
test is to be carried on in the legislature itself, in joint convention

;
and there is no

manner necessary to be prescribed by law, except mere rules. The contest could have
been made just as well in the present shape of the law, as it ever could after provision
had been made by law. The application could have been made to the legislature ;

the
documents could have been submitted

;
a joint convention could have been had, and

rules could have been prescribed. Nothing but rules have to be prescribed, because
the legislature, in this matter, is supreme ;

the joint convention of the legislature can
make the law as they go on. It is the legislative body that is the judge. The objection
that there was no form prescribed by law was simply aii excuse for a thing that was
attempted to be done illegally. That is all.

Question. I understand that the supreme court judge who granted the injunction
intended it to be temporary, until the legislature could provide by law, as the consti

tution required, for the canvassing of the vote. That is the suggestion which has
been made here.

Answer. Well, sir, 1 don t know what the judge meant ;
I only know that he enjoined

the legislature, or rather the president of the senate, from counting the votes
;
and that

was the excuse that the legislature had not provided the rules by which the contest

could be made when, in fact, the legislature was the court in which the contest was to

be tried. I never saw any foundation for any such excuse, and I do not believe in law
there is any foundation. I think that Congress^ when it has to try any such question,
can make the rules by which to try it, unless provision has been made in the matter

by superior authority.
Question. Do you know whether there is, in the State of Alabama, any organization

of men whose object is to resist the reconstruction policy of Congress, by influencing
the votes especially of colored men at the ballot-box; that is, by nullifying by local

violence the exercise of suffrage ?

Answer. I do not believe any such society exists or ever did exist in that State.

Question. Do you know of any secret political organization in that State at all, other

the than Union League f
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A nnwcr. I know of combinations of these men, of whom I have already spoken ;
I

know it from information : and I have no doubt they exist
;
but I do not believe they

have any political purposes. I believe the Union League had for its main object a

political purpose, and that it was prostituted to worse purposes.
Question. You do not believe there is any counter-organization of a political charac

ter in the State ?

Answer. There is a political organization of the democrats.

Question. I mean a secret political organization.
~l)i*wcr. No, sir; I have never heard of any such thing; I do not believe any such

thing ever existed.

Question. In any portion of the State of Alabama .

Answer. No, sir
;
in no portion of the State.

Question. You do not think that any outrage has been committed by men in disguise,
for the purpose of influencing voters, or intimidating them, prior to an election?

Answer. I do not believe it.

Qiu-sHon. You do not believe that it has been done, in any instance, in your State?
J//.SMYT. No, sir. I believe that acts of violence have been perpetrated by men, for

malicious purposes of their own, or for the purpose of executing what they pretended
was the law, on supposed criminals.

Question. Does this character of violence of which we .are speaking produce any
state of intimidation, which keeps men from voting, or makes them vote otherwise
than they would desire to vote?

Answer. I have never seen or known any indications of it. The condition of things
in West Alabama the great falling off of the vote there was much spoken of by the

republican press in our country, and also by the republican leaders. That was one
of the grounds alleged, I think, in the bill which Governor Smith filed for this injunc
tionthat there had been that sort of intimidation

;
but I never heard anything of it

;

and I inquired particularly in reference to that matter. I have no doubt that that
violence in Eutaw did have an effect both ways. It had an effect to lose the democrats
a portion of the negro vote

;
and it also had an effect toward intimidating the negroes ;

it must have had some such effect. I have no doubt it operated in both ways.
Question. The violence at Eutaw was by a mob

;
there was no disguise about that ?

Answer. No, sir
;
that was a mere mob on both sides; it was a mob lighting a mob.

Question. You have no information of any terrorism, or alarm on the part of the
colored men in any portion of the State that would be calculated to deter them from

exercising the elective franchise f

Answer. I know great numbers of instances where colored men have been deterred

by colored men. It is the common habit of the country for them to require men of

their own color to vote with them.

Question. But yoiknow of no instance of a condition of intimidation and terrorism

among the colored people on account of these disguised marauders ?

Answer. I do not know of any such thing, and I do not believe it exists in any part
of the State. I believe these bad combinations exist, but not for any such purpose.
I have not seen any indication of it at all.

Question. Is there among any class of the people there a general dread of these com
binations?

Answer. O, yes, sir.

Question. Is that dread confined principally to the colored people?
-liixwer. Yes, sir; it prevails principally among the colored people.

(Question. Does that dread extend to democrats ?

Anm-er. Yes, sir. There have been a good many cases of men being &quot;Ku-Kluxed,&quot;

as we call it, by the Kn-Klux. In other words, in all such organizations, as the history
of the world shows, bad men cannot carry on their purposes in combination without

falling out among themselves. No doubt there are instances of that sort of their com
mitting all sorts of depredations on themselves.

(Jucxtion. On each other ?

-inxwer. O, yes, sir; on each other.

(jncNtion. I lave yon heard of any instance of that kind ?

Anxw&amp;lt;r. I have heard that that was the case in one or two instances in West Ala
bama in Pickens and Sumter Counties. So far as the particular locality where I live

is concerned, I am satisfied that there never was any secret organization of any kind
since the war except the Loyal League. I mean any secret combination in the par
ticular locality. I am not speaking of the State now ; I am speaking of my county. I

am satisfied that such secret combinations never existed there
;
there never were any

manifestations of it.

Question. Did any individual ever admit to you, or intimate to you, so that you un
derstood it, that he was a member of any such organization f

Anwar. Never in the world. I never heard a man intimate any such thing.
Question. Do you believe that any good, respectable men men of standing and of

reputation men of substance have belonged within the last twelve months to any
such organization in your State ?
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Answer. Well, sir, I cannot say. I never have known any one of them. I cannot
draw the distinction in my mind. Whether they have been men of reputation or not,
they have been doing very bad acts

;
and for that reason I would hope that 110 man

of reputation was concerned
; but, as to whether there were or were not such men en

gaged in it, it would bo a matter of the veriest conjecture if I should undertake tc

speak upon that point.
Question. Have there been any public meetings of the white citizens of that country

to denounce these acts so as to bring public odium to bear against them !

A.uswer. Well, sir, they have been denounced in the meetings of the white people
then-. I do not remember any meetings called specially for that purpose, but I have
seen them denounced in the very strongest terms by public acts and public meetings.

Question. By resolutions passed ?

Answer. O, yes, sir; by resolutions passed.
Question. In what particular county ?

Answer. In Dallas County, I remember to have seen things of that sort. They did
not call these men by the name of Ku-Klux, which you use here

;
but they spoke of

lawless acts committed by combinations of men, and they denounced them in the most
unmeasured terms.

Question. Did they refer to these acts committed by disguised men?
A iimm . They did not refer to those specially, because, when men commit these terri

ble acts of outrage, we cannot see the distinction as to whether they are disguised or
not. I do not see any distinction upon that ground in the nature or the danger of the
crime.

Question. Are not crimes more dangerous when committed by an organization in c&s-

guise than when done by a single individual not disguised ?

Answer. O, yes ;
but where men combine together to commit these great outrages, I

&amp;lt;lo not know that the mere disguise; does any harm.
Question. Does not the disguise enable them to evade the law?
Answer. It helps them to do it

;
but they can and do provide other means of doing it.

They commit great crimes, and escape punishment by combination. The people of

Alabama, except this bad element, are just as much opposed to real criminals to the
men who have committed these very offenses of which we are speaking, whether they
be white people or black as any other community on earth. Of course, the men
themselves do not want to be punished.

Question. What course have the newspapers in your State pursued in regard to these
matters ? Have any class of newspapers offered any suggestions in palliation of these

outrages?
Anxicer. Yes, sir

;
some newspapers have offered suggestions in palliation.

Question. What were those suggestions ?

Answer. They gave various excuses. When one of these terrible outrages lias been
committed, I have seen a sort of palliation given on the ground of some offense that
the victim was supposed to have committed. For instance, I remember to have seen a

report of a man being hanged who had committed a rape; and the enormity of the

rape was paraded as some extenuation for hanging him.

(Jnestion. Have any other palliations been given, or have there been palliations in any
other cases than that ?

Anmrcr. Yes, sir.

Question. By the public press?
Answer. I am satisfied it has been done by some newspapers.
(juextion. State the character ef the palliating circumstances brought forward or

alleged.
Answer. They have been of the sort I have named, whenever I have seen any pallia

tion at all. I have seen a great many articles denouncing these things as being with
out the possibility of palliation, even if the facts alleged as excuses did exist.

Question. But you have seen in some cases palliations in newspapers ?

Answer. O, yes, certainly I have.

Question. You mentioned, as one of the palliating circumstances which had been

given, the fact that a crime was alleged to have been committed by the individual upon
whom the outrage was perpetrated ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Can you name any other palliation which has been offered.

Answer. I do not remember now any other.

Question. Did you ever see it urged in newspapers as a palliation that there were

Leagues in existence ?

Answer. I never heard that given as an excuse for any such crime.

Question. Did you ever hear mentioned, in any such connection as implied it was
intended as a palliation, the fact that there was corruption in your State government,
or that your county officers were not what they should be ?

Answer. I have seen such an attempt at justification or palliation a suggestion that
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if the alleged criminals had been brought before the courts they would have been
allowed to escape.

Question. Have you ever heard any action of the United States Government since the
-war urged as a palliation ?

Answer. I don t think I ever did.

Qm xtion. What is the politics of the papers that generally urge these palliations?
Answer. They are of both politics.

Qnention. Do they represent both parties?
Answer. Yes, sir; my experience is that with some exceptions the papers on both

sides excuse the crimes committed or supposed to have been committed by their mem
bers whenever they can have any political effect, whether the papers be democratic or

republican. There are a considerable number of exceptions to that rule, but that is

the general rule. Where a fact will tend to damage the party the party newspapers da
not want it to go out without some excuse. That applies generally, so far as I know,
to mere political organizations. There are, however, editors, and I hope a considerable

number of them, who elevate themselves above such things.

By Mr. COBURN :

Question. You said something about the people in your State being degraded and
treated as inferiors. How should they have been treated, in your opinion ? What
treatment would have satisfied them after the war was over ?

Answer. Well, sir, if the United States had treated the people of the Southern States

according to the contract made with them at the time they surrendered their arms, and
had made no distinctions in the law between men of different sections except on
account of the crimes of which they may have been convicted, I believe, candidly, that
there would not have been one particle of political murmur in my country ;

I believe
that we would scarcely have known the distinction between the democratic and the

republican party.
Question. Do you mean to suggest that no distinctions should have been applied to

the people of the South who had been in rebellion
;
that they should have been at once

admitted to all political rights and privileges without any conditions whatever ?

Answer. We thought that as you averred we were traitors, we ought to have been
tried for treason by a jury, or we ought to have been entirely exempted from any
punishment.

Question. And that there should have been no altered condition as to the political

rights of anybody in those States that had been in rebellion ?

Answer. I do not believe there ought to have been any. So far as slavery is con

cerned, it, of course, was abolished by the war.

Question. You said something about a contract. Do the people down there pretend
to say and believe that there was any contract made at the time to which you refer ?

li .sim . Without doubt there was a contract.

Question. Was that a contract ?

Answer. Undoubtedly.
Question. How long do you suppose your people could have carried on the war if they

had undertaken to continue it ?

Aitfftrcr. It could have been carried on, in all probability, for twenty years.
Question. After the surrender of Lee ?

^.-liiswer. Yes, sir.
&amp;gt;

Question. And the surrender of Johnston?
Anxwer. O, yes, sir. Johnston had an open country in his rear. The war could

have been carried on for years. Of course, it would have been a desultory, guerrilla
warfare.

Question. You do not understand the surrender to have been an unconditional sur
render ?

Answer. Of course if the United States mean anything by promises, it was not an*

unconditional surrender. If the word of the general commanding the army in the field,
sanctioned by the President, means anything, it was not an unconditional surrender.

Qiicxtioii. You consider ^the parole of a prisoner who is already captured as a part of
the condition of surrender ?

Answer. We were not captured. The parole was agreed upon before our arms were
surrendered.

. That is the point of law, then, that your people make in relation to that
matter ?

Answer. O, no
; they do not make it as a point of law

; they make it as a point of com
mon honesty in the dealing of a nation toward its people.

Question. You say that the people of Alabama have a hostility against the Govern
ment and against the administration. How far does that hostility go ? I want to
know the extent of it.

Answer. It goes to this extent : we feel that we are living under the condemnation
of the law, and that we are BO livir &amp;lt;* by the judgment of the legislative branch o^ the



ALABAMA. 401

Government, which has no power to pass such judgments. We have a feeling of very
great dislike toward that form of government.

Question. Then you mean to say that it is not a mere ordinary political difference f

Answer. O, no, sir; it is not a political difference. This question rises greatly above
any political question. It is not a political question.

Question. Then, if you do not consider it a political difference, how do you propose to
act in reference to that hostility to the Government ?

Answer. We do not propose to act at all, except to endure it as long as we can
;
that

is all.

Question. Do you mean to say that yon expect to endure it only up to the time when
you get power to overthrow and destroy it?

Answer. No, sir
;
I do not mean to say that, because I can see no possible contingency in

the future when there would be any sense in questioning the authority of the Govern
ment of the United States. Therefore I say there is no intention on the part of our

people to undertake to overthrow the authority of the United States.

Question. When you talk about the people of Alabama, do you mean all the people of
Alabama, or do you mean only the democratic party?

Answir. I mean the white people of Alabama, without distinction of party.
Qiiexlinn. When vou talk about the people of Alabama being degraded, &quot;and treated

as inferiors, you do not mean to say that the colored people have been degraded and
treated as inferiors ?

Anxwer. No, sir; I do not mean to say that. But there are a large number of colored
men in Alabama, who cannot honestly hold Federal officea, very large number. In
that sense they are degraded. It is not in what we suffer actually that \ve are degraded.
lr is the intention of the party to degrade us; that is tlie crime that we complain of.

(Question. Alter the Union men of the country had contended four years for the life of
the nation against every effort of a portion of the southern people, do you not think
there would naturally and reasonably be a distrust in their minds in relation to endow
ing at once with political rights the enemies whom they had been opposing?

Anxifer. 1 do not believe any such distrust exists.

Question. Do you not think it is in human nature to entertain such distrust?
Anxwer. I do not believe it exists. I believe it is a mere pretext for carrying on fhe

war alter the war has terminated, and that merely for party purposes. I do not believe

any educated, sensible man thinks there is a shadow of danger of any rebellion at the
South. 1 do not believe that one educated, intelligent man in any part of the United
States has any such belief.

Quenlion. But, aside from a rebellion, might it not be unsafe to intrust people under
those circumstances with full political power? Is not that a point which you
concede ?

Answer. Yes; it certainly would be unsafe politically, because we would make great

changes in that respect, and I hope we would make them for the better. It would be

unsafe to the party in power; there is no doubt about that; but I think it would be

perfectly safe to the Government.

Question. Might it not be unsafe to the Government to intrust political power in the

hands of men who had been attempting for four years, by every effort, to destroy that

Government ?

Answer. That question goes back to the point I was stating ;
and that is, that the

party in power undertake, through the legislative authority of the Government, to

pass judical sentence on the people of our country, to the effect that they are degraded,
and unworthy to be trusted; and we think they pass that sentence merely for political

purposes.
Question. You spoke of stringent laws passed, for fear of interference by democrats

with colored voters. Was there no such danger?
Answer. I cannot say that there was not; we never tried it; and I do not know

whether there was or not.

Question. Were there not at that time very many men who were violent and over

bearing in their treatment of the negroes?
Answer. I cannot say that there were very many ;

I know there were some.

Question. Would it not be natural for the white men who had been the masters

of these very colored men to treat them with more rudeness and violence, and a greater

disregard of their rights, than they would treat white men ?

Answer. No, sir
;

it would not have been natural at all.

Question. Not if they differed with them in political opinion?
Answer. No, sir; it would not be natural at all. The fact is, that where I live the

former masters of the negroes are more indulgent to them in respect to their mis

doings and their crimes than any other class of the community.
Question . What other class is not so indulgent ?

Answer. There are two classes.

Question. Tell me one of them.
Answer. Especially the northern men, who have come do^yn there without character,

20
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and obtained control of plantations. They are one class of men whom the negro
fears more than anybody else.

Question. Why does the negro fear them ?

Answer. Because of their cruelty and hardness.

Question. Will they not allow him his political rights?
Anxwer. O, yes; every one of them, because the negro votes for their party.

Question. Then the negroes are not afraid of those northern men interfering with
elections?

A**wer. O, no, sir.

Question. Then the law in reference to elections was not made to guard against
them ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Whom was that stringent law intended to guard against?
Answer. My opinion has been, on a fair judgment of the whole law, that it was

framed for the purpose of preventing the democrats from seeing into how the polls
were managed, and the votes counted, and to deprive them of the opportunity of

objecting to persons giving in their votes. The legislature no doubt thought there

would be attempts at intimidation on the part of the white people ;
that was one of

the reasons. But the main purpose, as it seemed to me, (and I think a fair judgment
of the law will sustain that conclusion,) was to prevent any sort of interference with
the, election, either for the purpose of intimidation, or for the purpose of investigation.

Question. You said that at the polls the republicans made some kind of passage-way
a chute or something of that kind through which voters had to pass to the polls ?

Answer. I said the negroes did that.

Question. Were they democratic negroes or republican negroes?
Answer. Republican negroes.
Question. Do you not know that such structures by which men pass to the polls are

very common all over the country?
Answer. No, sir

j

I never saw any such thing in my life before the introduction of the

republican party into Alabama.

Question. Where are these structures ?

Answer. They are around the polls. The thing I speak of is not a lane going up to

tVe polls. I have seen such a thing as that, to prevent men who are waiting with their

ballots from pressing forward, and getting ahead of one another. This is not anything
of that sort.

Question. How far is this from the polls ?

Antwer. I think the la\v requires that anything of this kind shall be forty feet or

forty steps away from the polls.

Question. Do you say that the law requires these chutes ?

Answer. O, no, sir
;
but it keeps them oft that distance.

Question. You describe this as a place voters have to go through. What is it ?

Answer. It is nothing but a gate. .

Question. Where is the gate f

Anmoer. I have generally seen it at the court-house fence.

Question. Cannot voters go around the gate ?

Anuwer. They are not allowed to do it.

Question. How are they prevented ?
^

Answer. By the assemblage of a multitude of negroes.
Question. Cannot a man get over the fence ?

Answer. He could, if ho chose to do so by force, or chose to make a personal point
of it.

Question. What force would prevent him from getting over the fence ?

Answer. He could demand his rights, and if anybody got in his way, tell them to

get out. ^

Question. Did you ever know a single instance in which a ticket was taken from a

negro, and he compelled to vote another ticket, contrary to his will ?

Answer. I never did
;
but I have seen many instances where the ticket was taken

from a negro voter and changed.
Question. Can these negro voters all read their tickets?
Answer. Not one-third of them.
Question. Do not the vast majority of those negroes ardently desire to vote the repub

lican ticket ?

Answer. I believe that a very large majority do desire to vote the republican ticket.

Question. How many desire ito vote the democratic ticket?
Answer. I cannot state that with any accuracy.
Question. Do you believe there are more than a very few ?

Answer. O, yes, there is a largo number in my section of tho country.
Question. What proportion?
Answer. A considerable portion. In my county we have from seven thousand to

eight thousand negro voters, and something Hke two thousand white voters. I give
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an approximation to the figures, with no particular accuracy. Well, I have seen as

many as one hundred at one little town vote the democratic ticket square out, pub
licly, and without, any sort of intimidation.

Question. What democratic ticket ; the ticket for President ?

Answer. O, no, it was a local election.

Qxcstio-n. But when it conies to general politics, are there many negroes who vote the
democratic ticket ?

An.xwer. I have no doulit that there will be a large number.
Question. How many do you call a large number ; one-fifth, one-tenth, or one-twen

tieth ? t

Answer. I think there will be fully one-tenth in my State probably considerably
more. As the negroes become educated and think for themselves, they&quot;

divide off be
tween political parties, just as white men do.

Question. You spoke of there being intimidation of black men by black men as to

voting. Have you not heard that in certain counties in your State black men are pre
vented from voting by the democrats ?

Answer. I never heard of such a thing.
Question. Have you not heard of it in the northwestern part of the State ?

Answer. I have never heard of any such thing in any shape or form, except perhaps
in reference to a county called Wiustoi-i.

Question. Where is Winston ?

Answer. In the northern middle part of the State. It is the third county from the
Tennessee line.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. It was not the democrats who prevented the negroes from voting there ?

Answer. I do not know who prevented them from voting ;
but the people there, as 1

understood, were unwilling that the negroes should live there, and would not let them
vote or do scarcely anything else.

Question. Do not the white people of that county vote the republican ticket?
Ansurr. My remembrance is that it is about equally divided, the republicans having

a small majority, and probably both parties uniting on this view.

By Mr. COBURN :

Question. Have you any knowledge with reference to the State of Alabama generally
which will justify you in making a certain and general statement as to this matter ?

Answer. What matter?

Question. Whether there are not manj? places in the State where the negroes are by
intimidation prevented almost entirely from voting ?

Answer. I do not believe in the existence of any such intimidation in any considera
ble part of the State. I have had no information of any such intimidation in any part
of the State, except in the county of Winston.

Question. You spoke about the tax of five cents a pound on cotton. Did you mean
to say that the Government has unjustly taken any other property than that? If so,

to what do you refer to slaves ?

Ansicer. (3, no, sir; slavery was abolished by the war.

Question. Did you mean to say that any other property was unjustly taken from them
than the five cents a pound on cotton ?

Aiiwcr. I do not think that the Government of the United States, so far as I now
recollect, has taken any other property by anything that appeared to be the intention

of the Government. Property has been taken in large quantities by officers of the

Government ;
but my impression is that they acted beyond the intention of the law and

without legal authority.

WASHINGTON, D. C., July 6, 1871.

Hon. JAMES L. PUGH sworn and examined.

The CHAIRMAN, (Mr. POLAND:) This witness, having been summoned at fhe request
of the Minority of the committee, will be first examined by some member of the HP-

nority.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. Where do you live ?

Answer. In Eufaula, Barbour County, Alabama.
Question. How long have you lived in Alabama ?

Answer. About forty-seven years ; thirty-seven years in the place where I now reside;
and the whole time within fifty miles of Eufaula.

Question. What public positions have you Leld in the State ?

Answer. Well, sir, I have been on two Presidential electoral tickets. In 1859 and
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I860 I represented that district in the Congress of the United States. I represented
the same district four years in the confederate congress. I have never held any State
office.

Question. I have asked these questions in order to ascertain your facilities for know
ing the present condition of the State with regard to the security of life and property,
and the enforcement of the law. Give the committee, if yon please, a statement in re

gard to that matter, us full as you may see proper.
Ansim . Well, sir, so far as my personal knowledge of facts and personal observation

are concerned, I am satislied that there are no people anywhere in the United States
who are more loyal to the -Government, and who favor more the full execution of the

laws, both State and Federal,
than the people where I reside. I never have heard of

any interference with freedom of speech. I have never heard of any outrage upon
the person and property of any individual, white or black, that could be traced to

any political causes, or to hostility between the races. I have practiced law where I

now live for thirty years. ] have mingled with the people socially, politically, and in

my profession ;
and I do not think I can. be mistaken when I say that they are law-

abiding and orderly as much so as any people anywhere. The republican candidates
and speakers have been through my part of the State in many elections. They have
always addressed the people in my town without any interruption, and without any
personal indignities, so far as I know or have heard. I have discussed these questions
with the candidates myself. In the last election Mr. Morse, who ran for the office of

attorney general, agreed with me upon terms of discussion. He gave me one hour and
a half to open, and he concluded without limit. There were two or three thousand

persons present ;
and I never saw people more orderly or respectful. I have been can

vassing that county and district for a good many years. I have been in many elections,
and I am perfectly satisfied that there have been fewer outbreaks, fewer

&quot;fights,
and

less bitterness manifested, less apprehension of trouble on election days, than there was
before the war. I do not think there can be found a witness who would establish any
facts that would interfere with the truth of that statement or the correctness of that

opinion.
Question. Do you practice law ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

(jncHiwn. In how many counties?
Answer. There are about six counties in my circuit.

Question. And what you say is applicable especially to those counties?
Answer. Yes, sir. There are two of the counties whose courts I have not been in

within two years. My practice is confined pretty much to my own county, and the

county below me on the Chattahoochee River. I go to the others occasionally, but I

have not attended court in Pike and Coffee Counties for two years. We have a city
court in Eufaula ;

and the judge of that court, in his charge to the grand jury, alluded
to the general lawlessness in the country, and said something which embraced the county
of Barbour. There was a general expression of surprise at it. The grand jury he

charged was composed of eighteen members. Six of them were white democrats
;

one of them a white republican a nephew of the judge himself; and eleven were
colored men who were republicans, selected by the republican officers in the county.
That grand jury was in session about eight or ten days, and they made a general
presentment at the conclusion of their labors. The substance of it was that they ha^l
made diligent examination of white and colored witnesses, and they had found no
offense that could be traced to any difference between the races, or to political causes
or differences.

Question. Does this judge reside in the county ?

-Inxirer. He lives in Barbour County. I think ho is a native of the county.
Question. And this was the report of the grand jury in the same court ?

Answer. Yes, sir. *

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Did you state when this term of court was?
Answer. I think it adjourned last Saturday week. The charge of the judge was

published, and also the presentment of the grand jury.

By Mr. BLAIU :

Question. Was this charge published elsewhere before its delivery?
Answer. No, sir

;
the first I saw of it was in the State Journal, at Montgomery.

Qmxtion. It was published then after its delivery?
Ansiccr. Yes, sir.

By Mr. BECK :

Question. Did the State Journal also publish the report of the grand jury ?

Ansiccr. Not that I have seen; I think the presentment was published in the two
papers at Eufaula, and I also saw an extract from the presentment in the Montgomery
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Advertiser
;
but I did not notice the journal to see whether it had pnhlished the pre

sentment.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. Is there in your part of the State, or any part of the State of whieh you
have information, any organization of persons in disguise for the purpose of violating
the laws?

J.s?(rr. None whatever, to my knowledge. I have knowledge of no fact that would
excite even a suspicion in my mind of the existence of such an organization; and I

never have had any human being approach me upon the subject, or give me any infor

mation, or make any remark from whieh I could infer that there was any such thing in

existence. I never have heard of any act or outrage by any such combination, disguised
or otherwise. I understand that in the town of Clayton, where the court-house of Bar-
hour County is located, a negro voted the democratic ticket in the last election: and
about ten or more negroes took him out in the night and beat him nearly to death.
Some white, men heard his cries, and went to his relief saved his life perhaps. Most
of those men. I think, were arrested and indicted : and they pleaded guilty. I was not
in court at the time; but there was no doubt about the fact. They were punished for

it. That is the only act of interference with the person of any voter or any one else

on account of his political acts or opinions.
Question. Did the negroes exercise intimidation generally over those of their own race

who desired to vote the democratic, ticket. ?

Anftu-cr. Well, sir, there is about one thousand two hundred negro majority in my coun

ty. The larger portion of the colored vote is at Eufaula. They carried that box in the last

election, I think, by about one thousand two hundred. I did not mix with them much, and
did not go to the polls, except to vote. I have not witnessed personally any terrorism

;

I have not heard of any myself. I have heard persons speak of it. 1 have heard it said that
the negroes were threatened with punishment, perhaps with death, for failing to stand

up to their side; that the democratic party were opposed to their voting, and if they
got in power they would takeaway their right to vote, and if they lost the power &amp;lt; ,t

voting, they might be put back into slavery. They would talk among each other in

that way, and threaten persons with punishment if they voted the democratic ticket.

Some negroes on my place have told me, that they in-tended to vote the democratic
ticket

;
but after the election they explained their failure to do so by saying that they

were frightened by these threats. I told them that I had no idea that those threats

would be executed&quot;; that they were in no danger at all. I am satisfied that where
then; are so many of them together, when they see the mass of black men going
that way, they fall in with each other naturally ;

and I doubt very much whether
these threats and this terrorism really had the eiiect of keeping them from voting the

democratic ticket.. I never put any confidence in their promises to vote the democratic

ticket, because I knew that when they were congregated in the way they are, and
when the inHuences were brought to bear upon them that I knew were operating upou
them, there would be very few that would vote the democratic ticket. I am satisfied

myself that they have gone in a body for the republican ticket on account of the infor

mation they had that the democratic party was opposed to their emancipation, opposed
to their exercise of suffrage, and opposed to their education. That has been the bur

den of the speeches made by the republican candidates to these people. !ow, when I

made the speech in the last election, to which Morse replied, I advocated universal

suffrage. Ever since the emancipation of the slave, I have been in favor of his voting,

as an&quot; unavoidable incident to his freedom. I was satisfied there would be less evil

attending universal suffrage than there would be in an attempt to restrict it, or

quality it, or classify it. I noticed that whenever the handbills of the candidates

were out calling the people together, the white people would go to the, democratic

meetings, and the black people would go to the republican meetings. Then; was a

good deal of surprise that the negroes all went to the republican meetings, and

would not attend the democratic meetings . I was satisfied that whenever you
call on a man to hear you prove tluit lie ought not to have a right to vote,

because he cannot read, or &quot;because lie has no property, or because he is black, or

because he has been a slave, the people who belong to that class will not hear you
make that proof. They Avill not consider the proposition. Whenever yor undertake

to qualify suffrage on the basis of property, or intelligence, or color, or former condition,

it is an attempt to degrade that class
;
and if you succeed in it you make them malcon

tent, and enemies to property and intelligence, and they become fit subjects for dem

agogues and mischief-makers. The only reason on earth why these negroes would not

was made of negro suffrage by a class of persons who were sent down there to control

it in the work of reconstruction. The manner in which that power was exercised by the
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negro excited the prejudices of the people against negro suffrage. It was seen that the

negro was i In &amp;gt;\\ n under ihe control of the Union Leagues and the Freeduien s Bureau,
aided by
to pass upon

the military power, and this, in my opinion, unfitted the people of the South

.pon that question wisely. I think myself that they have become convinced

ti .aY it was a mistake. There is no insurmountable difficulty in the way of the union

of the white and the black people of the South in politics, except that question of suf

frage. It 1 he right to vote is conceded to the negro, he will come to hear you prove to

him ho\v it ought to be exercised, whom lie ought to support for office, and. what meas
ures he ought to favor. Hut you close his ear to you whenever you call upon him to

hear you prove that he ought not to have the right to vote. He will follow anybody
carpet-bagger or demagogue, or anybody on earth who will concede to him that

n^Lt. I am sutisiied that this is the way in which the colored vote has been thrown
in a body for the republican party.

Quettio*. Was not the opposition of the democratic party to negro suffrage directed.

an much against the unconstitutional manner in. which it was conferred as against the

thing itself f

Antwer, Well, sir, as to the purpose for which the vote was given to the negro, my
idea was and I am satisfied it was the common opinion that the republican party
discovered through our press, and from the politicians who would speak at all, that.

the white vote of the South would not sanction their terms of reconstruction, and they
discovered, or thought they discovered, a purpose on the part of the white people of the
South to oppose their supremacy as a party ;

and the ballot was given to the negro
for the purpose of enforcing these terms of reconstruction, and for the purpose of recon-
*i met ing the State government in such a manner as to secure their ascendency. That

purpose for which the ballot was given, coupled with the disfrauchisement of the white
vote for the same reason, excited the opposition of the white people to the suffrage of
the negro universal suffrage. The opposition to it, had its beginning in the use that
was made of it when the negroes were first made voters, and when it was seen what
sort of men had control of them. The agencies that were, brought there and under whose
control they were put were seen. They were marched up like so many cattle and cast
their votes without knowing the names of their candidates, or anything whatever about
the matter. The ballots were printed and put in their hands

;
and they marched to

t .-;e polls and deposited them. I have no idea that there are a dozen of them now in

my county who can call the names of the candidates. There may be that many who
know Mr. Buckley, but the mass of them are remarkably ignorant. Of bourse they
have been in slavery all the time. They were not allowed to own property ; they wer
not allowed to read or write ; they were kept in a state of utter ignorance to make
them efficient as property. They came out of that state of ignorance, and when the
ballot wn.s given to them they knew no more about it than a ten-year-old child.

Question. Is there any hostility among the people of the State of Alabama to the.
institutions of our country f

Answer. None whatever, that I have ever heard expressed. I do not think there can
be found in my region of the State anybody who has any hostility to the Government.
The political feeling which is construed into hostility to the Government is a hostility
to the Federal administration of the reconstructed State governments by corrupt and
inefficient representatives.

(Jm. xtioii. U is, then, the maladministration of the Government, both State and&quot;

Federal, that is the ground of complaint f 1

.lnxiccr. Yen, sir; the class of men who have come clown there to administer the State
governments and till the State offices have produced the discontent and the manifestation
of political feeling which are construed into hostility to the Government. I have no idea
that, as a mass, the people of Alabama are any moro opposed to our form of government,
and to the Constitution of the United Stat.es to our political system generally than the
people of Massachusetts, or New York, or Ohio.

,&quot;&quot;*/
&quot;. The people, then, as I understand, simply dissent, and dissent strongly,*

from the measures of the administration, but take no exception to the Union fir to the
form of government .

.IIINU-O-. None whatever. In my part of the State, before the war, there were more
-iouists than in any other portion of Alabama. They were opposed to the Union

because they were satisfied the institution of shivery and the Union could not coexist.
Their feeling of opposition to the Union before the war was on account of the peril to
the institution of slavery in the Union. The destruction of the institution of slavery
has, in n y judgment, removed all feeling of opposition to a union of the States. I
never hear any one express any desire for a dissolution of the Union. 1 do not think
that there is a man of any consideration at all who ever thinks of such a thing for one
moment. The discontent that is manifested among the white people, is not against
p-maining in the Union or under the authority of the Government. I myself trace it

to the aggressive, unjust legislation of the republican party. We know there area
givnt many excuse* for this legislation. We know that there have, been men who have
given our people very bad counsel. Many newspapers and public speakers have given
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our people unwise counsel, and induced action that has furnished a justification for
this hostile legislation ;

and the great difficulty is that the people of the North do not
know the real facts do not understand the real sentiments and feelings of our people.

Question. If you know any facts or circumstances, or have any information bearing
upon the general question of the condition of the State in regard to the security of life

and property and the execution of the laws, please state such facts or such informa
tion.

Anftwci: Well, sir, I have been through the State but very little; my information is

limited
; but so far as I have been able to learn, and to form an opinion upon the sub

ject, I think that the mass of the people of Alabama are well disposed&quot; toward the
Government, willing that the laws shall be executed; and I do not think there is

any ground of apprehension at all. So far as the mass of our people are concerned,
they are just as orderly and law-abiding as the people in any other part of the United
States.

Question. If the disabilities now imposed upon a large number of the people of your
State were removed by Congress, and the State could thereby avail itself of the ser
vices of its ablest and best men, would not that remove a great deal of bitterness, and
would it not add to the efficiency of the State government in executing the law?
Answer. I have no doubt that that would be the case. The mass of our State officers

are generally incompetent ; and, so far as I have been able to learn, many of them are
dishonest and corrupt. If there is any failure to execute the laws, I am satisfied it is

not on account of any opposition from the people. It is to be traced to the inefficiency
of the State officers themselves.

Question. The county officers ?

Answer. The State and county officers. I have no knowledge at all of the people
having thrown any obstacle in the way of the execution of the laws. I do not know
of any fact that would induce me to believe that the people are not in favor of a rigid
enforcement of the laws. I know it is so in my part of the State.

Question. In regard to the State and county officers, what character of people have
they been ?

Answer, Well, sir, some of them came down from the North, and some of them lived
in the South before the war; but, taking them as a class, I do not think they would bo
permitted to remain in similar offices in any State of the North by either party.
There are some men down there who belong to the class they call &quot;

carpet-baggers&quot;.&quot;

In my town there is a postmaster who was sent there by the Freedmen s Bureau. He
taught a negro school in Eufaula about two years. He was then appointed postmas
ter. He is an efficient officer and an honest man. He behaves himself like a gentle
man, and is treated like a gentleman ; and I have no doubt that if there were a change
of parties, a large number of the business men in Eufaula would oppose his removal,
although he is an avowed republican. The sheriff of the county, a southern-born man,
is a pretty fair officer. But take them as a class, they are inefficient and not fit for the

positions they occupy.
Question. Most of the officers, State and county, obtained their positions at the time

of the election at which the constitution was rejected ?

Ansircr. Yes, sir
;
most of the offices are now filled by men who were voted for at the

same time that so many of our people failed to vote on the constitution.

Question. And they owe the fact of their being in office to the adoption of that con
stitution by Congress ?

Answer. Yes, sir. I will state as a fact that these offices were filled by these incom

petent men because nobody else would run for them at that time.

Question. The opposition&quot; relied upon the defeat of the constitution by the failure to

vote ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
that was the main object to be accomplished by failing to vote.

The non-action of the whites was intended to defeat the State constitution. They
thought that everything would fall with that constitution; that there could be no offi

ces until there was a constitution creating them.

Question. In addition to the character of the men who fill these offices, docs not the
fact that they were imposed upon the people of the State by Congress give rise to dis

content ?

Answer. The fact that these offices are filled by such men and the manner in which

they discharge their duties constitute the cause of the failure of the execution of the

laws, and one of the causes of discontent. But I do not know that the people stop to

consider the fact that Congress imposed the State constitution upon us. The popular
idea was that we were a conquered people ;

that we had no right to claim as a matter
of right any participation in making the terms of reconstruction in restoring our

relations to&quot; the Government. They considered this as the theory of our politics :

that the destruction of the confederate government and of the confederate State of

Alabama would leave us as a conquered people, living upon conquered territory, and I do
not think that we questioned at all the authority of the conquering power to make its

terms with us to define the terms upon which our relations to the Government should
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he established. We had not sufficient power to engage iu tlie work of reconstruction

w it h the view to carry out anything we desired. Our will could not be expressed in any
legislation that reconstructed us. All we expected was just to leave it to the conqueror
to define his own terms, and let him be as just and. reasonable as the circumstances

would justify. That was the disposition and expectation of our people at the close of

the war. President Johnson, a.s commander of the land and naval forces, as the repre
sentative of the military department of the Government, undertook to prescribe the

terms ofreconstruction. We accepted the terms readily aixl thought they were a finality.

1 have no doubt that if the law-making power of the Government had been called

together, and terms had been prescribed by all the departments of the Government, they
would have been just as readily accepted (if they had not affected the honor of our

people) as those prescribed by President Johnson. When Congress repudiated the set

tlement made by tfie executive department of the Government, that naturally and
almost inevitably threw our people to the support of the President and the settlement

made by him ;
and that necessity which rested upon us was the cause of the legislation

that we complained of afterward the harsh terms which were superadded to those

prescribed by President Johnson. I have no doubt oar people regarded the death of

Mr. Lincoln as a great calamity. I said when I heard it, and I think it was the general
impression, that if Mr. Lincoln had lived and had called Congress together, he would
have had it in his power to prescribe terms which would have been reasonable, and
which our people would have accepted. I think that the controversy between the
executive and legislative departments of the Government was the primary source of a

great deal of our troubles.

15y Mr. BECK:

(jMention. You have spoken of the incompetency and corruption of the men who have
been administering the State government of Alabama. Superadded to the causes you
have assigned in your examination by General Blair, was not the fact that those men
came to your State and assumed to control your negro population, and to hold and
administer the offices so as to put money into their own pockets to enrich themselves,
individually, and not to advance the interests of the Government to which they pre
tended to be loyal was not this one of the facts of which the people complained very
bitterly .

A nsicer. Certainly.
(jm-xtioii. Was it not a ground of complaint that the oppressions put upon you did

not go to aid the Government, but merely a set of plunderers ?

Answer. Yes, sir. The men who came there to represent us were strangers to us.

They knew nothing of our feelings or our interests; .and wo did not see how any man
Who had proper self-respect could come down there, and, under such circumstances,
become the Representative of our people in Congress. The manifest fact that these
adventurers came therefor personal gain, and the use that was made of their power,
contributed very largely to the opposition of our people to the party which these men
represent.

(^in-nt ion. In other words, if the means that were taken from you had been applied to

the general purposes of the Government, you would not have felt so indignant as you
did that your means should be taken for the benelit of private men wTho themselves .

had been perhaps mere camp-followers?
Anxii cr. That is the fact, sir. It seems to me that if any honest man will go down

there and see for himself what our people see, he can attach no blame to them for any
opposition they manifest for this class of people, or any feeling of hostility they have
for them. Many of these men pay no attention to the obligations of an oath. They
have enriched themselves suddenly by means that satisfy everybody that they must
have done it dishonestly. They have used the power of their positions to enrich them
selves, and to oppress and harass the people. ^

(h ntton. Have not that class of men. when complained of, been the men wTho have
raised the cry of &quot;disloyalty&quot; against you more than anybody else?

.-tnmccr. Yes, sir; that is one of the causes of complaint; that the republican party
will accept the siatements of these men who would not be believed as witnesses in any
of your courts, and who would not be, recognized as gentlemen in society anywhere, or
treated with any sort of respeet. The complaint is that the republican party accepts
the information which comes, from this source, and irakes it the basis of legislation
against our whole people.

(Jiu Hlion. Is it not known to your people that in very many instances those com
plaints arc made by those very men to cover up their own villainies ?

Anxinr. That i$ the general impression, that 1 he charges against us come from that
class of men almost entirely. I have no doubt that there have been individual in

stances of outrages upon persons. I have heard of it through the State, and Ihavevery
little doubt that there has been more or less of it. But what we complain of is that
the outrages of a class of men to whom we are just about as much opposed as we are to
thieves and plunderers the class of men who are known as Ku-Klux should betaken
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as evidence of the general sentiment of the people, and made the basis of hostile legisla
tion against our whole community. I never saw one of this class of men, and never saw
anybody who had seen one; but if there are any persons of that sort in the State they
are. regarded in that section as the very worst enemies of our people ;

and it would be
just as fair for us to take as the representatives of the whole mass of republicans at
he North the thieves and plunderers who have gone there to till our State offices, as

it is for republicans to take these Ku-Klux these obnoxious men whom you wr
ill find

everywhere in society as representatives of our people, and as being favored by our
people. This is the injustice that is done us. You might just as well say, because
there is arson, and burglary, and rape, and murder, by a dozen or more individuals,
that the whole people are burglars, murderers, &c., as to say, because there are
Ku-Klux down there, that the wrhole Southern people favor them, or that a large por
tion of them favor them.

Question. Is it not believed by your people that very many of those bad men now in

office, conscious that they cannot be reflected or kept in power any longer by the

popular will, are endeavoring to bring about this very state of feeling and this char
acter of legislation lor the purpose of continuing themselves in power by force against
the will of the people!

Answer. Yes, sir; that is the food that these men live upon : and I have no doubt in

my o\vn mind that they excite these things; that they contribute to it in every secret

way they can. I have no doubt 1 have no personal knowledge of the fact, but it is a

judgment I have formed that the main cause of these troubles is the presence in our

community of that class of men, and the toleration and protection that they receive
from this great republican party that has possession of the, Government.

Question. Is it not your opinion and the opinion of your people that those men, rather
than give up their offices and the chances they now have; to make money out of their

positions, by fair means and foul, v. ould prefer to see the Government overthrown,
rather than have it restored to peace and quiet, it they had to go out of office by that
restoration ?

Answer. Well, sir. I cannot say the extent to which they would go to keep their

places, but I have no more idea that these men care anything for the republican party
or its doctrines, except so far as they can use them for their own personal advantage,
than I have that they are honest men and Christians. I do not think that they go
there to benefit anybody but themselves: and they have done that successfully, for

most of them have made fortunes very suddenly.
(Jm xiion. Have they any means of making those fortunes legitimately out of the per

quisites of their offices?

Anwcr. They have no means of making money that I know of, excepting their offices.

(Jiit&amp;gt;lioi).
Is there any difficulty about any republican expressing -his sentiments in

your State, or speaking freely anything he pleases?
Answer. None whatever. I have no doubt there are places or communities where

these vicious, mischievous men are found. There are large negro majorities in certain

localities, and in some places these republicans who have come down there for that

purpose control this negro vote in a way that is highly offensive to the people. The
teachings of the negro under such circumstances are all wrong. They stir up his

worst passions, and excite his prejudices against the white race. In places of that
sort I suppose there is an amount of feeling excited that perhaps might break out in

some insult or some opposition to that sort of teaching by any public speaker. But
1 do not believe there is any place in the State where a gentlemen, a man who behaved
himself as a gentleman, and addressed himself to the legitimate principles of the re

publican party, the fair, legitimate differences between the two parties, could not be
heard with safety. But, for the reasons I have stated, there may be certain counties,
certain localities, where these mischievous men have produced such a state of feeling

among the whites and such opposition to the party that gives these men countenance
and protection, that they might meet with some insult or expression of hostility if they
were to attempt to make speeches of that sort.

Quciition. Are there not portions of your State where the great mass of the com
munity believe that under these teachings their property is insecure and liable to all

sorts of depredations, incendiary and otherwise?
Anau cr. Certainly. I have no doubt those teachings have had the effect to produce

outrages upon property and have incited the negroes to outrages that I have heard of

their committing in some counties of the State.

Question. Persons feeling that sense of insecurity feel very unkindly of course toward
men who they believe are teaching those doctrines?

Answer. Yes, sir.

(Juexfion. And this may subject such men to insult when it is believed that such

teachings are going on ?

Atiawcr. Yes, sir.

Qucsfon. I understood you to say that no man need be afraid of expressing anywhere
legitimate sentiments on the differences between the two parties ?
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Answer. None in any place or community that I know of. I Lave no idea that any
republican who would discuss such questions in a proper spirit and manner, however

emphatic, however vehement, however severe he might be in the announcement of his

convictions and principles, would meet with any opposition or interference in that sort

of freedom of speech.

Question. Is there any general feeling of opposition to lona fide settlers from the
Northern or Eastern States coming into Alabama, taking part and lot Avith your peo
ple taking their chances for official station along with the rest of you, but assuming
neither the power of the bayonet nor coercive power over the negro ?

Anxiier. Instead of there being any opposition, there is a desire that such people shall

come to the South. Our great want is population and capital ;
and I have no doubt

that the class of men that you speak of could come to Alabama with perfect impunity,
with perfect security to their persons and their property. I will give you an instance
in my own county : At the last term of the circuit court, which held about four weeks,
(it closed just a short time before I left home just before the city court met in Eu-
faula,) a republican named Cameron came there from New Jersey, bringing with him
three or four female members of his family. His son-in-law was an engineer on flie

Vicksburg and Brunswick Railroad. Mr. Cameron avowed himself a republican. He
remained at the hotel during the court, and he behaved himself like a gentleman ;

he
is a gentleman. He and the female members of his family were treated with the high
est respect. They eat at the hotel table with the bar and the judge ;

and they had
just as much attention as if they hadibeen democrats or people of respectability from

any quarter. His son-in-law purchased a residence in the town of Clayton, and Mr.
Cameron himself also bought a residence there. t

Qucstim. In other words, you seek to encourage that class of immigration ?

Answer. Yes, sir. I myself gave Mr. Cameron a letter to a prominent merchant in

Eufaula, telling him who Mr. Cameron was
;

that it was desirable such men should
come among us

;
that he would be an acquisition to our society. Mr. Cameron asked

me for this letter, that he might make Mr. Bray an agent to make investments for him
in real estate in Eufaula. I have no doubt in the world that any republican who
would come down there, if an honest man and a gentleman, and received as such in his
own society at home, would receive the same treatment in my community. JBut if a
man comes down there as a political adventurer, to stir up strife and to obtain office

by the votes of the ignorant black people, when no honest white man would counte
nance the proposition to put him in office, or to give him any place of trust or respon
sibility when we know that he is a man of that kind, and that he is mingling with
that sort of people merely to profit by it in the way I have stated, we must either

ignore the difference between honest men and thieves, or we must repudiate such men
when they come among us. Our people never can be so much degraded I hope I

never shall live to see them so much degraded as to receive these men socially, or
treat them with respect and as gentlemen. When this class of men complain of the
treatment they receive, we think it is too much that we should be punished because
we do not take such men by the hand.

WASHINGTON, D. C., July 7, 1871.

HON JAMES L. PUGH, (examination continued.)

By the CHAIRMAN, (Mr. POLAND :)

Question. I have understood you to say that the principal dissatisfaction of your peo
ple with the existing state of things grows out of your having so large a number of

;

incompetent or corrupt State and county officers.

Anaircr. Yes, sir; I think that is the main cause of the dissatisfaction and the com
plaint ;

that is the immediate cause of the irritation.

QifxHon. You say, also, that your people feel that these men are listened to by the

republican party aiid by Congress, and that the representations they make are regarded
as true, when, in fact, they are misrepresentations.

Aiixirer. That seems to be the fact, so far as we are, able to judge.
Question. You stated, also, that your people feel that those representations are made

the ground of unfriendly and unfavorable legislation by Congress.
Anniccr. Yes, sir.

Question. To what particular legislation did you refer ?

Answer. The special acts of Congress to which I had reference are the late bill known
as &quot; the Ku-Klux bill,&quot; and the act known as &quot; the enforcement law.&quot;

Question. The law passed a year ago?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Ku
itcHl-ion. What is the objection which your people entertain to what is called &quot;the

-Kluk bill?&quot; How do they feel that it is unfavorable or unfriendly to them ?
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Atwrer. For the reason that the law seems to be directed at the whole people of the
State. It is based upon the assumed existence of a general spirit of hostility to the
laws and to the execution of the laws; and we do not think the facts justify that inter
ference by Congress with the affairs of the State government.

Question. The law in terms applies to the whole country no more to the people of
the South than to those of the North.
Answer. Yes, sir

;
I am aware of that.

Question. And the substance of it is that it creates penalties and remedies against
acts of violence done by bodies of men in disguise. Now, why do your people complain
of that ?

Answer. We do not complain of any law that would punish these men. I have no
idea that such outrages meet with any countenance from our people. But the law
passed by Congress is evidence to us and to the world of the fact that we are supposed
to countenance these outrages and will not punish them through State laws and State
courts.

Question. Your people do not object to the punishment of acts of violence committed
by bodies of men in disguise ?

Answer. Not at all, sir. So far as the people with whom I mingle are* concerned, I
am satisfied that they regard the men who commit these outrages as their greatest
enemies; and I believe there is no class of men whom they desire to be punished with
more severity. But the objection is that Congress taking charge of the matter is

evidence that they believe that the people of the State, through State administration,
State courts, and State officers, will not put down these outrages ;

the countenance
these things are assumed to receive from the people is made the basis of congressional
legislation.

By Mr. COBURN :

Question. Have they that impression in regard to the enforcement act also?
Answer. Yes, sir; they have the same view in regard to the enforcement act.

By the CHAIRMAN, (Mr. POLAND :)

Qitestfon. Do the people of the South think that the enforcement act was speciaMy
aimed at the South and the people of the South?
Anwar. Yes, sir; that is the impression with us.

Question. Our New York friends insist that it was aimed at them.
Answer. Yes, sir; I have seen some complaint in that quarter that it was aimed at

them. As I stilted yesterday, I am satisfied that the people in both sections form
opinions in reference to each other which are founded upon a misunderstanding of the
facts and of the real feelings and sentiments of each other.

Question. I think the people of the South are entirely mistaken if they suppose that
what is called &quot; the enforcement bill&quot; was aimed at them. The Ku-Klux bill doubt
less originated from what is represented to have been the condition of things in some
parts of the South not universally. Do you not believe that in many portions of
the South there have been a great many acts of violence committed by bodies of dis

guised men ?

Anwar. Well, sir, from information I gather through the newspapers, I have no
doubt that .there have been combinations of that sort in some counties, and I have no
doubt that they have perpetrated great outrages, such as are shocking to the moral
sense of the community.

Question. And do you not also believe that these combinations have been so strong in

some places, and produced such a state of feeling as to make it exceedingly difficult,
if not impossible, to punish such things in the local courts, at least in some localities?

I do not mean to say throughout the whole South.
Answer. I really am not able to give any opinion that is worth anything upon that

subject. With the State offices filled by republicans, who have the authority to draw
grand and petit juries, and having mixed juries also, the judges being republicans, I

scarcely believe that there is a county in the State of Alabama where the white peo
ple would throw any obstacle in the way of the prosecution, conviction, and punish
ment of these men for such outrages. In some places in Alabama, the causes which I

have mentioned, the character of the men I have referred to, the wicked counsel they
give the negroes, and the effect which that sort of counsel is seen to have upon that

population in their ignorant condition, may produce a feeling against these men that
would be indifferent as to the punishment of any man who would remove them from
the community.

Question. I apprehend that is the very ground .upon which Congress felt it right to

pass the law in question not that it was universally true that acts of this kind could
not be punished, but that there were sections and localities where it was impossible to

put them down by local tribunals.
Answer. If you will allow me, I will state that the exclusion from the polls of a large

portion of the white people of the South, and their being made almost universally
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ineligible to office by the &quot;iron-clad oath,&quot; has had the effect upon the people of male-

ing them indifferent to the manner in which the State government is administered and
the laws executed. The effect of this congressional legislation has been to satisfy

them that they are distrusted as a people. All power in the election of officers and iii

the administration of the government has been taken from them by Congress; and
the impression has been mad$ npon their minds that it is not the will of Congress
that they should have anything to do with filling the offices, making the laws, or.

administering the government. The legislation of Congress seems to be founded upon
the idea of a general distrust of the white people; and the effect of it has been to

create this feeling of indifference. But that is not the case at this time; that is not

the present feeling.
Uncut ion. Those things are now all removed except the disability to hold office.

JNMnr. 1 know that
;
but I say the offices are uowr filled by men who could take

the &quot; iron-clad oath.&quot; At the time of the election, not one-tenth of the white people
of the Si n !h, who were competent, were eligible to these offices.. We complained that
we were punished for the maladministration of the State government, and the ineffi

cient execution of the laws by agents whom the republican party had selected to make
the laws and execute them.

(jiitxlion. You think that the removal of these things one by one by Congress is aid

ing in bringing about a better state of feeling ?

Jfw. Very much; it is contributing very largely to the reestablishment of good
feeling and general satisfaction.

Question. And if the remaining provision of that character, the constitutional disa

bility, were removed, you think it would still further aid in bringing about good feeling ?

jMKiar. My opinion upon that subject is of course worth nothing, because I am my
self one of the subjects of that disability ;

but it is very natural that the removal of
disabilities should have that effect. Our people at the close of the war were indiffer

ent about polities and about parties. They had no more affection, for the democratic

party than they had for the republican party. We at one time supposed that the dem
ocratic party favored such theories and

principles^
of government that they would

never support coercion, by the Federal Government,*of the people of a State for exer

cising the right of secession or resistance. Bui when they voted money and men, and
sent their regiments to destroy us, it had the effect of breaking loose all the party ties

that had ever been formed
;
and at the close of the war, I think our people were pre

pared to throw their political power auywrhere where they saw it would promote their

interests in the highest degree. While we were in a condition not to expect any favors
while wre were regarded as rebels yet we thought that when the conquering power

defined what punishment we should have, and when we had suffered that punishment,
we ought to have the right to claim that punishment as a satisfaction for any offense
we had been supposed to have committed. While we admit that on your theory, and
with your views and opinions, you regarding us as rebels, and as having made resist

ance to the authority of the Federal Government, there may have been justification
for the policy adopted with reference to us

; yet, as we were living under the same
Government, and belonged to the same race after our relations to the Government
were defined by your laws, and after those laws had been carried into execution, after
the terms of reconstruction prescribed had been all complied with, we thought it ought
to end there, and that we ought then to be treated as equals, especially the equals of
other people of our own State.

By Mr. COBURN :

Qitc-xtion. Has your legislature passed laws encouraging immigration into your State?
JM.SMVT. I do not remember any.
Question. You said that your people desired immigration. Now as there has been a

good deal said by various witnesses about the exclusiveness of the Southern people and
their discouragement of immigration, I desire you to state as accurately as you can
the. position of the people of your State in relation to immigration by citizens from the
Northern States?

. Well, I have heard enough to satisfy me that our people are very desirous
that the Northern people shall come, and settle among us, when they do so for the pur
pose of identifying themselves with our interests and our people, for the purpose of

becoming permanent citi/ens of the State when they do not come there as polit
ical adventairers, for political gain, but come with capital, intending to invest it,
and to become citizens of the State with proper feelings and intentions. I have no
doubt it would give great satisfaction for such people to come among us, whether they
were republicans or democrats. It makes no difference to us whether a man is a repub
lican or a democrat, if he is an honest man and behaves himself as such.

Qiit-Htinn. But your people., you sav, have an aversion to a new-comer mixing ir

politics?
.I//.S/W. Offensively, mischievously.
Qucxtion. What do you mean by

&quot;

offensively&quot; or &quot;mischievously?&quot;
Aumcr. I have heard a good many republican speeches which were respectful, which,
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discussed matters of difference in a proper way, which appealed to the people to adopt
the. policy of the republican party, because it was best for them and for the develop
ment of the country. I have heard .persons speak of those speeches afterward and
compliment them for fairness, and for exhibiting the right sort of spirit; they have
said they have no objection to speeches of that sort. But when a demagogue or a
mischievous man goes South in order to stir up the passions of the negro population,
and to grasp political power that he may harass, oppress, and rob the people, they do
not want that sort of freedom of speech, nor do they want men of that sort among
them.

Question. Do you think a man of that sort, who would make speeches odious to the

people, would be in danger as regards his personal safety?
Answer. Well, sir, if a man were to go there and make aii incendiary speech and ex

cite the passions of the negroes to acts of outrage and violence, I do not know that he
could do so with impunity.

Question. Suppose lie did not excite any one to acts of outrage and violence, but made
a bitter republican speech, would his personal safety be endangered?
Answer. I have no idea it would be. In times of high political excitement there are

always in the meetings of the people individuals who become excited from some cause
or other liquor or something else reckless men, who will offer an indignity to a
speaker. But that was done before the war as well as since.

By Mr. BLAIR:

Question. You spoke of a presentment made by a grand jury of your county ?

Answer. Yes, sir; I have cut from a Montgomery paper and have here an extract
from the general presentment of the grand jury that was charged by the judge of the

city court. The extract i.s as follows:
&quot; After a careful and diligent inquiry of those who have been before our body, with

out regard to race, color, or previous condition, from the different sections of the county,
we are with great pleasure enabled to report the total absence of any hostility between
the races, and cannot hear of tin; least disturbance on account of former condition or

present political opinions, but find all classes of law-abiding citizens living in peace,
quiet, and harmony. After the most careful and diligent investigation, we have been
unable to find anything resembling an organized baud of lawless persons.&quot;

By Mr. BECK :

Question. I understood you as saying that your people believe the Ku-Klux bill, so

called, to be a measure levelled at the people of the South more particularly ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. The chairman asked you whether or not its only effect was not to punish
men who commit outvuges in disguise. Do you not understand that it does a great
deal more than that by seizing upon whole communities in certain circumstances and
putting them under the power of the President, depriving them, in the particular dis

trict where outrages are committed, of the right of trial by jury and other rights
secured by the Constitution, whether the citizens generally have had any participation
in the outrages or not ? Do you not understand that it deprives whole communities
of their rights, because of the acts of a few bad men whom they cannot control ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;

it puts the whole people under the ban of military power for the
misconduct of a few individuals.

Question. The community generally being as much opposed to the acts of those indi

viduals as the men who framed the law ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And believing that measure to be aimed especially at the Southern States,

your people object to that character of legislation ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

WASHINGTON, D. C., July 7, 1871.

JOSEPH H. SPEED sworn and examined.

By the CHAIRMAN, (Mr. POLAND:)
Question. W7here do you reside ?

Answer. In Marion, Perry County, Alabama
Question. How long have you lived there ?

Answer. Since 1858.

Question. Where did you live previous to that time ?

Answer. I was born and educated in Virginia ;
lived for sorno time in North Carolina,

and then removed to Alabama,
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Question. You have always lived in the South ?

Anftn-cr. Yes, sir; I was never out of the South until after the war.

Question. What is your business?
I am now register and master of the chancery court of our district.

. What was formerly your business?

I was a teacher, up to the breaking out of the war; I*was teaching when
the war began.

Question. During the war were you connected with the rebellion?

.Inxirtr. I was an officer in the confederate army from nearly the beginning of the

war.

Question. Did you serve during the whole war?
Answer, I served until I was appointed by the governor of my State as agent for the

State at the Virginia Salt-Works. Salt became very scarce in the South; we had it

manufactured
;
and I was appointed by the governor of the State as special agent for

the State at those works, which were in Washington County, Southwestern Virginia.

QuixtioH. With what political party did you act before the war?
4JMI00K I was a whig, or acted with the party opposed to the democratic party

immediately before the war. I supported Bell and Everett in 1860. My first presi
dential vote was cast then. In the constitutional convention of Alabama, in 1867, I

was a member from my county. In that convention I opposed the disfranchisement of

my people. The convention, in the article on the elective franchise, adopted a pro
vision disfranchising from voting all who were disfranchised from holding office under
the fourteenth amendment. I opposed that proposition in convention, entered my
protest against it on the journal of the convention, and opposed the ratification of the
constitution before the people on that account.

Question. What have been your political connections since the war ?

Anwer. I have been affiliating with the republican party since that time. I should

say that the legislature of my State, which was republican, removed, at its first session

after the admission of the State, all disfranchisement. I should not have acted with
the republican party but for that. The legislature came to precisely the same ground
that I had occupied in the convention. From that day on, I have cooperated with the

republican party.

Question. Did you marry in. Virginia ?

An&cer. I married twice in Alabama, in the county where I reside.

Question. Do the relatives of your wife reside there ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
the relatives of both my wives.

Question. What we wish to ascertain is the condition of things in your vicinity, and
in your State so far as you know, in relation to the enforcement of the laws for the pro
tection of person and property. We wish to know whether the laws are so enforced
that person and property are protected, or whether there are acts of violence done to

person and property, and especially whether such acts are done by bodies of men in

disguise. Go on and state generally your views in relation to that question.
Answer. My county has been up to the present year perfectly peaceful.
Question. The county in which you live ?

Answer. Yes, sir. Our last State election was as orderly and quiet as any I ever saw
held. During the progress of the election I was sitting in company with some friends
who differed with me in politics, and we remarked that we had never witnessed a
more quiet election. I do not think there was any more disorder or any more noise

during that election than there is in this room at this time. That was in November,
1870 the last State election. I speak of my own county, the county in which I reside.

Question. What county ?

Amicer. Perry County just on the border of the cane-brake county. We held an
election for State senator in January; I will not be positive as to the day, but my
recollection is, it was about the 25th ofJanuary. There had been a resignation of our
State senator. For some little time previous, and perhaps just after, there were bodies
of men riding through the, streets of the town at night in disguise. I must say I did
not sec these men. I reside on the outskirts of the town, on my little farm of eighty
acres; my residence is not in the business part of the town. But there is no doubt at
all about those men having been there. I heard it spoken of by many persons who saw
them. There; was no violence done. I was informed by a man who was formerly my
slave (for I was a slaveholder) that the men rode in the direction of my house, and in
the direction of the houses of some other officers of the county. But they did not molest
us at all

;
and I did not know of the matter until the next day. They did no violence

at that time at all.

QtHxtioii. Was that previous to the election you spoke of?
Anmrer. It was a short time before perhaps one, or two, or three nights before. My

recollection is that they were in town two or three times just before the election, and
just after

;
I know they were there once or twice before the election.

Question. About how numerous a body ?

An*n cr. A body of twenty or twenty-live men on horseback, as I was informed. That
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was the first I knew of the appearance in our county of bodies of
disguised men what

we term &quot;Ku-Klnx.&quot; That was the first I knew of them from any reliable information.
There was a negro in jail in my county on a charge of murder. He has never been
tried. A body of disguised men came to the jail to take him out

; they did not say
what they wanted with him. The jailer, who was a man of some will and personal
courage, had his father-in-law with him, and they were armed one with a double-
barrel shot gun, and the.other with a Winchester rifle. They told the men in disguise,
speaking to them from the Avindow, that if they attempted to come in they would tire

on them and would be enabled to kill several of them before they could get in. The
men desisted from their attempt to take that negro.

Question, How large a body of men was that ?

Answer. There were about twenty-live not less than that number.
Question. In disguise ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
in disguise.

Question. The supposition was not that they wanted to rescue the negro, but that

they wanted to~take him out for some other purpose ?

Anstcei . They wanted to take him out to punish him. He had struck a white man
who had died from the blow.

(Question. Perhaps we may as well inquire as to the circumstances of that case. What
wei ij they, so far as you know ?

A nwer. I never had any conversation with the gentleman who was struck, and who
died from the blow. The negro man who gave the blow came to me, and I asked him
in regard to it, as well as others. The gentleman at whose house he lived came to me
also and told me iiie circumstances, as he understood them. They were detailed by this

negro man and by his wife. It appeared that they were walking on the street about
sundown, he and his wife. She was a washerwoman and had a basket of clothes, either
on her arm or on her head

;
as {hey passed, the basket touched a gentleman named

Stillings ;
the pavement was narrow, not much wider than this table, [about four feet.]

She and her husband stated that Mr. Stillings pushed her violently from the sidewalk
and struck her. The negro man remonstrated with him, and asked him why he did it

Mr. Stillings stooped to pick a brick from the pavement
Question, Did he say anything?
Answer. Yes, sir

;
he said that no negro should crowd him on the sidewalk. Per

haps he accompanied tin; remark with an oath, though I will not say as to the oath. When
he did that, the negro man jerked a paling from the fence and struck him on the side
of his neck and head, just below the base of his brain

;
he was insensible for some little

time, and was taken up and carried home. My recollection is that this occurred on

Friday or Saturday about night. On Monday Mr. Stillings was on the street; but he
afterward became worse and died from the results of the blow, after, I suppose, nearly
a month.

Question. Was this colored man arrested in the first place for the assault ?

AH mrer. Yes, sir, he was arrested, carried before, the mayor, and required to give
bonds in 100. The acting mayor, who was a democrat, fixed that amount of bail for
his appearance. The man appeared at the time designated.

(JucNlion. At that time it was supposed that the injury to Stillings was small?
Answer. It was supposed that it was not serious.

Question. But he did eventually, in about a month, die from that blow?
Answer. In several weeks, I think about a mouth.

Question. And then this colored man was arrested and put in jail?
Answer. Yes, sir, he was put in jail on a charge of murder.

Question. What time was that ?

AnHicer. I think it was in the month of March last that the striking occurred; that
is my recollection. These disguised men came to take the man from jail, during the
session of our circuit court, which began the latter part of March or the first of April.

Question. Then it was not very long after he was first confined on this charge of
murder 1

Aimc-er. These men came very soon after he was confined.

Question. The jailer made such resistance that they went away?
An nicer . Yes, sir. The jailer told them he would fire upon them if they endeavored

to break into the jail; that he would not surrender the keys.

Question. Was the colored man removed to some other place?
Answer. He was removed to Selina.

Question. Is he still in jail?
Answer. He is still in jail in Selma.

Question. Go on and state any other instances of the appearance of disguised men,
and what they have done in your county since they first appeared there last winter.
Answer. About May, a colored man by the name of Isaac Hall was taken out and

whipped.
&amp;lt;

t
&amp;gt;nation. Where did he live ?

Answer. In mv CDUiitv.
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Question. How far from your place?
Answer, Between iff ecu and twenty miles. I will state here in regard to all tho

whippings which I shall speak of, that, though I heard ofthem soon after their occurrence,

I
&amp;lt;^&amp;gt;t

more explicit information from the representative in the legislature from my
county, after 1 was summoned to appear here. When I received an order to come to

this place, it was just before the meeting of the board of regents of the State Uni

versity, of which 1 am a member.
&amp;lt;&amp;gt;in*!i&amp;lt;)&amp;gt;i. Were you required to attend that meeting?
J/i-sior. Yes, sir; it was my duty to attend there. It was a very important meeting

of the regents. While I was there I told this man, who is a colored man named Alex

ander Curtis, to get this information and give it to me.

Qmxlion. He is a representative in your legislature ?

Ansu tr. Yes, sir. He is a man of unusual intelligence for a colored man; and his

character for veracity and integrity is as good as that of any man I know of in the

county. I think that all persons of all parties would give him that character. He
and I talked over these cases. I have mentioned the first case, that of Isaac Hall, who
was taken out and whipped about the 1st of May. The cause for whiqh he was

whipped, as this colored representative in his examination found out, was that he was
an active republican.

Question. Was there any charge of misconduct against him?
Answer. None that I heard.

By Mr. BECK :

Question. Did this colored man pretend to know these facts himself, or did he gather
them second-hand ?

Anmcer. He was not present when the whippings occurred. He either saw the par
ties or persons who had seen the- parties who were whipped.

By the CHAIRMAN, (Mr. POLAND :)

Question. Yrou heard of these cases by report ?

Ansim: I heard of them immediately on their occurrence.

Question. And you sent this man to get the particulars about each of these cases?
Answer. Yes, sir

;
I got him to secure for me the particulars. There is no sort of

question it is just as certain as that I sit on this chair that those occurrences took

place.

Question. Was Hall severely beaten ?

Answer. Not severely, so far as I know. I do not know the extent of the beating. I pre
sume it was not very severe. The next case was that of Alfred Darling, a colored man,
who was beaten in February for the same cause

;
and he was very terribly beaten. In

this case I received information, also, from the senator from Hale County, which is just
west of the county of Perry, having been made from a portion of it. The senator from
Hale lives near the edge of Perry.

Question. And near this man who was beaten ?

Answer. Yes, sir. He told me he saw this mail Darling himself, and that he was very
terribly beaten.

Question. Why was that done ?

Anxn er. There was no charge against him so far as I know, and I have been unable to-

hear of any. I asked Mr. Johnson, the senator from Hale, who is a white man, and he^
said he knew of none.

Question. Did you understand from what you learned that these men who did this

act alleged any reason for doing if ?

Anwer. Nothing that I heard. I will say that as to the character of this man, Alfred

Darling, I inquired of persons who lived in his neighborhood white men who arc
democrats and they represented him to be a good man, as having a better character,
than colored men generally have.

(JiH xtion. And you never heard in any way of any allegation against him ?

Answer. I have heard no allegation against him. The next case is that of Monie
Hartley and her sou, who were shot about the middle of April.

(^nrxiifiii. Do \&amp;lt;&amp;gt;u mean that they were killed?
Anxinr. No, sir; they were both shot and wounded.
Question. How far from your place did that happen?
Anxirer. I think about fifteen miles.

(Jucxlum. Was this done by a body of disguised men?
Anwer. It was done by a body of men who are supposed to have been the same body

that were in Marion, my town. My information is, that it occurred the morning after
the appearance of these men in Marion. It occurred early in the morning.

(Question. Do you understand why this was done, whether there was any chargo
against these persons who were shot ?

Atixircr. There was no charge whatever, that I know or have heard-.

Question. Do you know anything as to the character of this woman and her son?
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Answer. Nothing at all.

Question. Not by report even ?

Answer. No, sir; not even by report. Tho circumstances, as I beard them detailed,
were tbat these men were passing along. They of course excited the curiosity of theso

negroes, who were standing in their yard looking at them.

Question. And the men fired upon them ?

Answer. And they were tired upon by the men.
Question. Can you mention any other case ?

Answer. The next case is that of a woman named Katie La Grone. She had been

living with a gentleman named Blackburn, but had left his employment. She was
whipped, and told by the men who whipped her disguised men that she must go
back to Mr. Blackburn s house. This occurred the last of May. 1 saw Mr. Blackburn
myself, and asked him in regard to it. He told me there was no doubt of the thing-

having been done.

Question. Do you understand that there was any allegation of misconduct or crimi

nality against this woman 1

Answer. Nothing, so far as I know, further than that she had left the employment of
this man. That was the cause, as I was informed, that was assigned for the punish
ment by the men who punished her.

Question. State any other case.

Ansu cr. There was another case which occurred either on the edge of my own county
or in Bibb County ;

I am not positive which. The person who was killed was at the-

house of his brother-in-law; and either he or his brother-in-law was named Great-
house. On the edge of Bibb or of Perry County there lived a white man who had em
ployed a colored man that had left the employ &quot;of another white man. A body of men.
in disguise visited this colored man and told him he must go back into the employment
of his former employer. He refused to do so. Afterward this colored man was whipped
by a body of men in disguise. The gentleman with whom he was then living was
very indignant at his being whipped because lie was in his employment. He stated to
the colored man, u If you desire to leave me and go back to your former employer, you
may go; but I shall not discharge you/ The negro refused to go. A body of dis

guised men came to the house. I must say that this case, I think, had no political

aspect at all. The house was a log house, and there were two men in it, the owner of the
house and his brother-in-law. The disguised men fired

;
and the two men in the house

lived upon them and wounded two of them very severely. The wounded men were car
ried off, however. It was seen by the blood next morning that two had been wounded.
When the men inside the house had discharged Their guns, one of the disguised men
on the outside knowing that their guns were empty, stepped up to the house, shot one
of t he persons in the house, and killed him

;
shot him just in the thorax. The informa-

tion in regard to this case was given to me by a State senator, Mr. Johnson, of Halo

County. It occurred not far from the place of his residence. Hale, Bibb, and Perry
are adjacent counties.

Q Kent ion. Can you state any other case ?

Answer. Those are the only cases that occurred in the immediate vicinity of my
county that you have not been informed about, I presume. There was the case of

George A. Clark, who was very severely treated in Sumter County, in the fall of 1870.

Shall 1 state what he told me 1

Question. Yes, sir.

Answer. This gentleman states that he is an Englishman, still a subject of Great
Britain

;
that he was teaching a negro school in Sumter

;
that a band of men took him

out, whipped him very severely terribly; shot him and hung him. They supposed,
he says, that he was dead. They let him down

;
he was insensible

;
he recovered,

however, crawled oil, made his escape and came to my county. I was the superintend
ent of education for my county at that time, and I gave him employment. He is now-

teaching a negro school in niy county. This occurred in the fall of 1870. Mr. Clark
can be had if he is desired.

Question. Why did these men treat him in this way ?

Answt-r. He stated that they did it because he was teaching a negro school.

Question. Did you understand from him that that was what they said to him?
Ansicer. Yes, sir; that was the cause assigned.
Question. Do you understand that there was no other charge against him?
Answer. None other that I know of. I got my information in regard to it from him

alone.

Question. Have you heard of the occurrence otherwise ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. But the particulars of it you obtained from him ?

Answer. Yes, sir. When 1 was in Tusealoosa to take part in reorganizing the uni

versity, Professor Whittield, a professor in the institution, gave me some letters which
I have here, which were addressed to students of the university. There were only a

very few students there. These letters had a string tied around them, and were hung
27
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upon this dagger, [witness produces a dagger,] which was stuck into one of the doors

of the university. This is the instrument given to me by Professor Whitliold, and
these are the letters [producing letters] which were addressed to the students, order

ing them to leave. One of these students was the son of Ex-Governor Smith.

\)u&amp;lt;
*t;on. LVad the letters.

Answer. They are as follows :

&quot; DAVID SMITH : You have received one notice from us, and this shall be our last.

You nor no other d d sou of a d d radical traitor shall stay at our university. Leave
here in less than ten days, for in that time we will visit the place and it will not be
well for you to be found out there. The State is ours and so shall our university be.

&quot; Written by the secretary by order of the Klan.&quot;

&quot; SEAVEY : You have received one notice from us to leave. This is the last. We
will be out in force in less than ten days, and it will not bo good for you to bo found
out there. We arc resolved it shall not be carried on under the present faculty. Some
tavc been wise enough to take our warning. Do the same.

&quot; The Klau.&quot;

&quot; CHARLES MUXCEL : You had better get back where you came from. We don t want
any d d Yank at our colleges. In less than ten days we will come to see if you obey
our warning. If not, look out for hell, for d 11 you, we will show you that you shall

not stav, you nor no one else, in that college. This is your first notice
;
let it be your

last.
&quot; The Klan by the secretary.&quot;

&quot; HARTON : They say you are of good democratic family. If you are, leave the

university and that quick. WT
e don t intend that the concern shall run any longer.

This is the second notice you have received
; you will get no other. In less than ten

days we intend to clean out the concern. We will have good southern men there or
none.

&quot;

By order of the K. K. K.&quot;

This Charles Muucel, to whom one of the letters was addressed, was a young man
from the State of New York, as I was informed by the faculty. The letters were inclosed
in one envelope, addressed

&quot;K. K. K.,
&quot; Students University.&quot;

Question. These letters were all left at the door at one time?
Answer. Yes, sir

; they were all tied together. The persons to whom they were ad
dressed were students of the university.

Question. And the letters were fastened to the door by this dagger ?

Ansivcr. Yes, sir.

QitcsHon. When was that ?

Answer. I cannot be positive as to the time.

Question. Was it recently ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
this year.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. Did those students leave ?

Answer. They left. They were smart enough for that.

By the CHAIRMAN, (MR. POLAND:)
Question. These young men have all gone ?

Anstcer. There were no students in the university when we went there to reorganize
the faculty in June.

Question. You have spoken of the election in your county in January, and have said *

that there were bodies of men riding about in your town two or three nights before
the election. Was there about that election anything peculiar, anything different
from what you had before?

/f//.sTir. I do not know that I understand what you moan by &quot;peculiar.&quot;

Question. Was there anything peculiar about the polls? Were there men there
armed ?

Aitxtm . Not at that election, so far as I know. The republican who was voted for
did not appear at all. I think he was afraid to come on the ground. The public
reeling at that election was very different from what it was at the fall election the
State election.

West
Question, What caused the difference? Give us your opinion about that matter.
Aimwcr. My opinion is just this: The counties of Greene and Sumter, in W_,_

Alabama, wen; strongly republican up to the last fall election. At that time, one of
those counties my recollection is it was Sumter gave 600 democrat!.&quot;, majority, when
there had been before that nearly 2,000 republican majority, though I will not be posi-
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live as to the number. The comity of Greene also gave a democratic majority,
although very much smaller than that given by Snmter. It had been one of the

largest republican counties in the State. My opinion is that the success of the course

pursued in Greene and Sumter, by which those counties were wrested from the

republicans and made to give democratic majorities, was seen in our county and that
it was the same spirit.

Question. What do you refer to? What had been done in those counties?
Anvwer. There had been a great deal of violence and intimidation there. It had

been perfectly horrible. Numbers of men had been killed in those counties, and ail of
them republicans.

Question. Did the appearance of these armed bodies of men in your county produce a
similar effect there ?

Answer. Upon the colored people?
Question. Yes, sir.

Answer. Yes, sir, it did. Many of the leading colored people told rue that they never
intended to vote, or to have anything to do again with an election in my county.

Question. Were they intimidated ?

Ansu-er. They were intimidated, unquestionably, not only with reference to that elec

tion, but as to future elections. At an election held early in March in my town a mu
nicipal election a number of armed men were around the polls, and they did what our
laws positively prohibit. Voters Avere challenged. Men who were registered by
democratic registrars were refused the privilege of voting ;

their votes were challenged,
which is contrary to the laws of our State. The registration was going on at the time
of the election

;
it had not been entirely completed, and I know of several men who

came with certificates of registration from a democratic registrar, who were challenged.
My father-in-law, as strong a democrat as there is in any State, (but I believe him to be
an honest man, and one who would do justice to all men,) was one of the registrars.

Negroes would go to these registrars, who would question them, and if, in their opinion,
they were entitled to registration, they would register them and give them certificates.

There were printed lists of those registered prior to that time. A number of men who
were sent with these certificates were refused the privilege of voting; their votes
were challenged, although our State law positively prohibits it.

Question. And they Averenot allowed to vote ?

Answer. They were not allowed to vote.

Question. Do you know whether, in consequence of this feeling which prevailed in,

your county, men staid away in any considerable numbers, and did not oiler to vote ?

An Nicer. This was a municipal election, not a county election. Men did stay away. I

know a very intelligent white man, a republican, who staid away on that account.
He told me so.

Question. You have stated various acts of violence committed in your county. In,

how many ca^es have the parties been prosecuted?
Ansicerl Not one that I know of. I can safely say that in my county (I do not know

how it may be in other places) I do not know of a single case in which there has beea
a prosecution. I think that none of the parties have been prosecuted. It is proper to

say that some of these cases have occurred since our court adjourned ;
I want to make

no erroneous impression. But those that occurred before the adjournment of our court

were not prosecuted.
Question. You have, I suppose, as we have elsewhere, a process of bringing a man

charged with crime before a magistrate?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Have there been any such proceedings ?

Answer. No steps of that kind&quot; have been taken, so far as I know.

Question. Do you know why nothing has been done in the way of prosecuting for

those offenses?
Answer. I suppose that, as these men were in disguise, it was not known who com

mitted the deeds. The prosecuting attorney for our county is a very able and very de

termined man, and I do not think he would hesitate to prosecute if he knew the

parties. I refer now to the cases of whippings. As to these challenges of votes, we
have had no court since that was done. 1 spoke with our county solicitor in reference

to that matter. I told him the law had been violated, and remarked,
&quot; I try to obey

the law myself, and think other men ought to do the same.&quot; He remarked that it was
useless to prosecute for challenging the votes.

Question. You have given us a statement of what has transpired in your county.
Has the condition of things in other parts of the State during the last year been simi

lar ? What information have you upon that point ?

Answer. From the best information I can obtain, there are several counties of the

State of Alabama in which during the last year there was very great intimidation and
violence. I do not believe that any candid man of any politics could say that there

was a fair expression of the political sentiments of the people of Greene and Sumter
Counties in the last election.
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(&amp;gt;in xtion. What prevented a fair expression of the popular sentiment?
AuNiccr. Tin* violence that had been perpetrated before the election.

Question. What sort of violence ?

im: The killing and whipping of persons by men in disguise. Citizens of Greene

County told me they knew colored men who had not slept in their houses for a month,
because they were afraid to sleep there. Mr. Hays, one of the Representatives in Con-

giv.-vs from our State, told mo he knew colored men who had not slept in their houses
for a month. I was elected to the board of education last fall. I wanted to canvass
Snintor and ( Jrcone in that election, and my friends told me that I could not do it

;
that

1 would endanger my life if I did. Up to that time I had had none of that feeling.

Up to October, 1870, I felt that there was no part of the American continent where I

could not express my sentiments freely.

Question. Was this thing confined to Greene and Smnter Counties ?
.

Answer. No, sir; there has been violence elsewhere. As I have been informed, (and
it M true beyond all question,) a large number of men have been killed in Tuscaloosa

County.

By Mr. POOL :

Question. Have any been whipped ?

Answer. Others have been whipped. The same thing has been done in Pickens

County. The violence in the four counties I have named has been greater than in any
other portion of the State in my section. We are, as you will find by reference to the

map, separated very much from Northern Alabama. Until very recently we have had
no railroad running through the State connecting the northern and southern portions.

My information is confined to those counties which are nearest to rue. All the counties
I have named are in the fourth congressional district the district that voted for me
as a member of the board pf education. The members of the board are elected by
congressional districts.

Question. By the people?
Answer. By the people in the congressional districts. The same counties that com

pose a congressional district elect a member of the board of education once in two
years.

By Mr. BECK :

Question. Who represents your district in Congress ?

Answer. Mr. Hays.

By the CHAIRMAN, (Mr. POLAND :)

Question. Was there a perceptible change in the votes of the counties you have
named in the last election 1

Answer. I suppose you have the records of the votes of these counties and of the
State here somewhere.

Question. I would like you to state generally the results of that election.

Answer. Sumter and Greene Counties were among the largest republican counties in
that congressional district. I say they were among the largest ; they were not the

largest. That district is in what is known as the &quot; Black Belt.&quot; My recollection is

that Greene gave about 2,500 majority for General Grant, and Surnter in the neighbor
hood of 2,000. Last year, Sumter gave a large democratic majority, and Greene a
democratic majority.

Question. Is it your belief that this change in the vote was produced by the terror
ami intimidation of which yon have spoken ?

Answer. I have no sort of doubt in the world that it was. I believe it as firmly as I
believe in the existence of my Maker.

Qwxtion. Do you believe that these acts of violence and this terrorism were gotten
up by these bodies of men for that purpose?
Answer. I believe that they were gotten up for the purpose of influencing the

elections.
/ OH. How was it in regard to the other counties you have named?

inswer. I have the same opinion in regard to them.
Question. Do you know whether the law has been enforced against any of these men.

in any of the counties you have named ?

Answer. So far as I know, or have been informed, not one man has been punished by
the State laws for these outrages.

Question. What is your belief as to the causes of the non-enforcement of the law
against them?

Answer. I think that in many eases it is &quot;because the men are in disguise. In the
county of Greene the solid I or was killed. Doubtless you have all heard of the atrocious

mation of Mr. Boyd at night by a body of men variously stated at from fifty to

:y-!ive. The opinion of citizens of Greene in regard to the killing, as given to
) -. that the cause of his death was that he was endeavoring to ferret out some
outrages which had been previously committed.
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By Mr. POOL :

Question. By disguised men ?

Answer. By disguised men. There is another theory in regard to the cause of his

assassination. I will state all that I have heard in regard to the matter. The other

theory, as given me by Chancellor Clarke and his sou, who are most excellent gentle
men of high intelligence and integrity, is, that Boyd himself, previous to the war, had
committed a homicide, and either suffered the penalty, or was acquitted ;

I do not know
which. He may have been tried and acquitted, or convicted and pardoned. Some
persons in Greene County think that the men who assassinated him were friends of the
man whom he had killed.

By the CHAIRMAN, (Mr. POLAND:)

Question. Do yoti believe that one cause of the failure to prosecute these men has been
the {ear of violence entertained by those whose duty it was to prosecute?

Answer. I do not think that the solicitor of my county has any fear of that sort.

QiKstion. How is it in these other counties?
Answer. I have no doubt that that is the case. I cannot state it as a fact ; but that

is my opinion. I will state that, perhaps, we have in my county the ablest solicitor in

the State, a man of very superior ability, and fearless in the discharge of his duty.
Question. Have you heard of these bodies of disguised men in other parts of the

State ?

A iimm: Yes, sir, I have. I have heard of them in several counties north of me, in

St. Clair and Walker.

Question. Have the results been similar ?

Answer. Yes, sir, they have produced similar results.

Question. Have you any knowledge or general judgment from the transactions as to

the extent of this organization ?
*

Answer. I have no knowledge except what I have gathered from the opinions of
others. I never myself saw a Ku-Klux.

Qncxtioii. From all the information that yon have in relation to the appearance and
conduct of these bauds of men, what is your judgment in regard to the generality of

an organization of that kind ?

Answer. I think these men were, last fall and winter, organized in the counties I have

spoken of, Greene, Sumter, Pickens, and Tuscaloosa; whether the organization is in

existence at this time I do not know. But I have no doubt at all that there was a

systematic organization of these men last year.
O nest ion. For what purpose? With what int&amp;lt;intent ?

Auxiccr. My opinion is that their intent was to influence the State election of 1870.

ijuesiion. Upon what class of men have these acts of violence, whippings, murders,
&c.. been committed ?

Answer. They are not committed by the best men by any means.

Q tention. I ask, upon what class of men are they committed ? Who are the victims

of them ?

Answer. They are most generally negroes ; negroes or white men who are republicans.

Question. Do these acts of violence seem, as a general rule, to be committed only
against republicans, either white or colored?

Answer. Yes, sir. as a general rule. The exceptions of which I spoke are the only
cases within my knowledge where the violence was committed upon any other than

republicans.
Question. That case you said yon thought had no political significance whatever?
Answer. In my opinion, it had not.

Question. How is it in regard to the expression of opinion in portions of your State

by republicans ?

&quot;Answer. Well, as I have stated, up to last fall, I felt I could go in any part of Southern
Alabama, or anywhere else in the State, or in the Union, and express my sentiments

without let or hinderanee. But I believe that last fall it would have cost a republican
his life to have gone alone and without protection to some portions of Greene, Sumter,

Tuscaloosa, and Piekens Counties, and made republican speeches. That is my honest
belief.

Question. Do you know anything* of recent transactions of the character we are now
inquiring about ?

Answer. My country has been more quiet since the winter; all of our State, I think,
has been more quiet ;

I think there has been more quiet in our section of the State

during this last spring than for some months previous.

Question. Have you any theory as to how that has been produced ?

Ansu-cr. I think it may be attributable partly to two causes. One, I think, is that

there is no political excitement now, no election pending in the immediate future
;

and. in the second place, I think it is possible, and even probable, that the passugo by
Congress of the bill -under which there was an effort made to give protection to I reo

thought and free speech in the South may have had its influence.
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Question . And this state of greater security is general, so far as you know?
Answer. Through my section of the State it is; and so far as I know throughout tha

Question. This feeling of apparent hostility, of which you speak, is it against any
body who votes the republican ticket, or is it only against the colored people who vote

tin:: ticket?
Answer. It is against anybody who is actively a republican.

Question. Is there any special hostility to negro suffrage to negroes exercising the

right to voi&quot; .

Answer. Yes, sir; the democratic party of my State, and, so far as I have been ablo

to get information, elsewhere, are very much opposed to negro suffrage.

By Mr. BECK : *

Question. Has anybody been killed in your county by disguised men ?

Answer. Nobody that I know of.

Question. Nobody that you have heard of?

Atmcer. Nobody that I have heard of. I think I can safely say that nobody has been
killed in ray county, unless the killing of Greathouse occurred in Perry County. It

was on the edge of either Perry or Bibb.

Question. He was a democrat ?

Answer. That was my information. That case was not political in its aspect. It was,
as I understood, a difficulty growing out of the hiring of a negro.

Question. You yourself never saw a disguised man ?

Answer. I never saw a Ku-Klux. I have seen disguised men, but never saw such aa

you allude to a Ku-Klux in disguise.

Q - estion. You never saw any of these bands of men going about in the night ?

Answer. Never any of the disguised men that you speak of.

Question. And the information you have as to many of the cases you have given
comes directly or indirectly from the parties who were chastised ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And they all, of course, deny that there was any reason for it ?

Answer. There was no reason given.
Question. Is it not almost certain that the persons who had been chastised, no matter

what was the cause, would assert that there was -no reason? Is not that the ordinary
course of things when a statement comes from such a source?

Answer. That might be true
;
but the laws of our State do not permit a body of men

to go out and chastise such persons as they may select. If individuals violate the

laws, there are laws to punish them for such violation.

Question. There is certainly no dispute about that
;
but the person who is chastised

i sure to say that he has been guilty of no offense, is he not ? (

Answer. Well, I do not know, sir.

Question. Suppose a person were whipped illegally and wrongfully, because he had
burned a barn or a dwelling-house in the night-time, and it could not be proved upon
him

;
would that be as great an outrage as if he had been whipped when he had done

no such thing ?

Answer. Of course not.

Question. Do you think the outrage would be equally great ?

An&oer. I do not; I have no doubt that a man who would burn a barn or commit a*

theft or anything of that sort would say he had committed no offense if whipped
for it.

Question. Several cases you mentioned were cases of violence upon women whip
ping them, &c.?

Answer. There was one case where a woman was shot she and her son
;
and one

woman was whipped.
Question. Do you suppose that those women were mixed up with politics ?

Annwcr. No, sir; not at all.

Question. Then you think that the men who did those whippings did them either
from pure wantonness

. 1 M.sffvr. One woman was shot and another whipped. In the case of the whipping, the
cause given by the parties who whipped the woman was, as I understood, that she had
left- the employment of Mr. Blackburn and gone away from him. She was whipped,
a:i&amp;lt;l went back.

There was no politics in that?
. None at all.

ion. As to the ease of the other woman, what was said about that?
Ans-tnr. My understanding was that a party of disguised men were riding along, and

they shot at and hit this woman and her child.

Question. That was an accident, you think?
. r. No. sir: I do not think so.

Qucatiou. You think they just shot at her because they could shoot?
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Answer. I suppose so. It was a piece of wantonness, I think. If I had thought it

was an accident, I should have said so at first. I am a southern man, and I say noth

ing against my people unless I feel compelled to say it.

Question. Those letters to the boys at the university, were they never traced to any
source ?

Answer. None that I know of. Xo effort was made, so far as I know, to trace them
to any source. They are all evidently written by the same person, I think. The cir

cumstances were just as I have detailed them. They were found hanging to a dagger,
which was stuck in one of the doors of the university. There was a string tied round
the letters, and they were hung on the dagger.

Question. Did any disguised men over come to that university?
Answer. None that I know of.

Question. You never heard of any being there?
Answer. I never heard of any.
Question. Those three boys all left?

Answer. There were four. I do not know whether they all left at once; they all left,

however.

Question. Does it not strike yon that a boy who wanted to get away from school might,
as a very ready means of getting away, give himself notice in that manner, and get off

on the strength of it ?

Answer. It may be so, but I have no idea that it is true in this case none in the world.
If you had lived in that country, and knew what has been said about the university,
and what has been done in regard to it, you would think as I do in reference to this
matter.

Question. But no disguised men ever came tlnrc?
Answer. Not that I know or have heard of. The university is situated at Tuscaloosa,

some forty or fifty miles from where I reside.

Queslio-n. You got information from Mr. Hays about the condition of things in his
district /

Answer. Mr. Hays told me in the canvass of last fall that it would not be safe for mo
to go into Greene or Sumter County to make a speech. He told me there was no fair

expression of opinion in Greene and Sumter Counties in the last election, nor in Piekens
and Tuscaloosa.

Question. Do yon not know that Mr. Hays himself is perhaps as odious personally as

any other man in his district, and do yon not know that he made speeches?
Answer. lie did not make any speeches in the last election in Greene and Sumter

Counties. I do not kno\v that he attempted to make but one speech in Greene, and
then he was mobbed.

Question. Where was that ?

Answer. At Eutaw.
Question. Do you know that he attempted to make a speech there?
Answer. I heard Governor Smith say so.

Question. Did he tell you that he attempted to make a speech ?

Answer. Not that ho attempted to make a speech, but that he got on the table and
was pulled down. He was going to adjourn the meeting, I think he said. Governor
Parsons and Senator Warner had spoken.

Question. Your last general election was last fall?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
there has been none since that time.

Question. And at that time the condition of affairs in your section of the country was
perfectly quiet ?

Answer. Not in my country; but in my county at that time it was perfectly quiet,
and the election was perfectly fair. Sumter and Greene are in my region of country.

Question. Have the whites or the blacks the majority in your county ?

Answer. The majority of blacks is very large.

Question. Are the officials in your county republicans?
Answer. Most of them are not now. There were republicans elected. The probate

judge, the sheriff, and the circuit clerk (those are all I now recollect) resigned and
went away this year ; or, rather, the sheriff went away last year.

Question. When were they elected ?

Answer. In 18158.

Question. Had their terms of office expired ?

Answer. No, sir; those men left. They sold their offices. The probate judge sold his

for several thousand dollars. The first sheriff went off without selling Ms office at all.

His successor sold his office for Si,000 or $1,500. The circuit clerk sold his office for

some amount which I do not know. When I say they sold their offices, I mean they
sold the fees upon their books and their unexpired terms of office. The probate, judge
had a large amount of fees upon his books, not as much, however,.by a considerable

amount, as he received for his office.

Question. Is such a proceeding as that in accordance with the laws of Alabama ?

Answer. A democratic governor appointed their successors. I am not a lawyer.
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By the CHAIRMAN, (Mr. POLAND :)

Quc.-Hon. The republicans sold and democrats bought ?

Answer. Yes, sir: a democratic governor appointed the men, who bought the offices,

who were; democra;-.

By Mr. Bi:&amp;lt; K :

Question. Is sneli a proceeding in accordance with the laws of Alabama?
Answer. I. do not think it is. It certainly is not in accordance with my views of

Question. A mini lias no right to sell an office ?

Answer. I do not think so
; but, as I told you, I am no lawyer.

()ix1i&amp;lt;t. Is that a fair sample of the character of men who have generally been hold

ing office in Alabama .

Answer. The three men who sold their offices were good officers. Judge Williams.

the probate judge, was a most excellent and efficient officer. A more honorable man I

do not know anywhere. The circuit clerk was by common acceptation acknowledged
to be the best circuit clerk we ever had in our county. The lirst sheriff under the new
regime was not an efficient officer, because he was a dissipated man. His successor, who
was a republican, resigned, and Governor Smith, just before going out of office,

appointed a successor, which gave rise to the vacancy I have spoken of in the senatorship,
the senator being appointed sheriff. His successor, Mr. Wynian, -was a clever man and
a good officer. lie told me that the office was not as profitable an office as he expected,
and he sold it. He sold, for $1,000 or $1,500, I think, his office and the fees upon his

books. Those fees, however, were not as large as the amount paid in any instance.

Question. What became of those men ?

Answer. They have gone north.

Question. Where?
Answer. One has gone to Missouri, one to Ohio, and one to Wisconsin.

Question. They were not citizens of your State except temporarily ?

Answer. They \\iere not citizens of our State till after the war.

Qucxlion. Were they not Freedmen s Bureau agents and officials who came down
there I

Answer. I do not think that either of them was a Freedmen s Bureau agent. I believe

they were all Union soldiers, and most of them officers, who had been stationed in our

country.
Question. And elected while so stationed there?
Answer. 0, no. The two Williamses the sheriff and the probate judge rented land

and farmed for some t-ime before they were elected. Mr. Wynian, who was State sena
tor I do not know what he did. I did not know him till he was elected.

Quesfion. Did not the great bulk of the men who got into office in your State in 1868

belong to the class known as &quot;

carpet-baggers,&quot; men who came there for no other pur
pose than to get office, and who generally got it?

Answer. I will give you my ideas about that. In 1868 a large number ofmen who were
incompetent and unworthy to hold office were elected. There is no question about that.

Among that number of incompetents there were both &quot;

carpet-baggers
&quot; and natives;

perhaps a majority of the incompetents were what you call &quot;

carpet-baggers.&quot; But many
of the officers who were elected at that time were as efficient as any officers who ever
served any State. There were many who were otherwise. It would be useless for me to
undertake to explain how that grew up. It grew out of a variety of causes. Wo
might talk an hour upon that point. In the first place, the republicans had not as large
;; class of men to select from as I wish they had had. I believe that if we had had all

our people to select from, we would have obtained as a general thing a better class of
officers. I have no question about that at all. Sonic of the men who were elected in
1808 were unprincipled men as much so as any that ever disgraced any country..
Others were mm of us much honor, integrity, and ability as ever filled office in any*
State. I believe that if there had bem no disfranchisement if in the reconstruction
of our State we, had had all the people to select from, it would have been greatly
better for us and greatly better for the State. Fewer bad officers would have been
elected.

By Mr. BI.AIU:

Question. You have not all to select from even now?
Aumcn: No, sir; unfortunately we have not.

B Mr. BECK:
Was it not a matter of very serious complaint with the great mass of your

thai large numbers of men who were not of you at all, who had not come among
you to become !&amp;gt;&amp;lt;&amp;gt;na

n&amp;lt;&amp;gt;( riti/ens, together with the race that had been enfranchised by
f Congress the negroes. 1 mean should have attempted to put upon you a con-

Htilution disfranchising so much of the intelligence of the State?
Answer. It hud a bad elleet : there is no doubt about that; and, as I told you, it had

this effect upon me that I opposed the constitution.
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Question. That was one of the reasons you opposed it ?

Answer. That was the reason why I did oppose it.

Question. You entered your protest against it?

Answer . Yes, sir; 1 had my protest entered on the journal of the convention.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. It disfranchised you ?

Answer. No, sir ;
I had not been in office before the war. I was not disfranchised by

the fourteenth amendment.

By Mr. BECK :

Question. What would be the affect of general amnesty upon your community?
Answer. Most salutary.
Question. In what regard?
Answer. In every respect in which a country can be benefited. I think general am

nesty would benefit our country, and particularly our section. I think it would
remove a great deal of the hard feeling now existing; and I am honest in the belief
that it would greatly aid in suppressing these disorders, which are terrible, and which
I look upon with the deepest regret, for I am a southern man, and have as much pride
in my country as any man.

Question. You think that these disorders largely grow out of the distinctions that
are now kept up?

Answer. I will explain howl think these disorders grew up. In the first place, I

believe that great bitterness was engendered among the white people by the disfran-
clrisemciit of their representative men

;
and I think that that bitterness was greater

toward the negro after his enfranchisement than it would have been if there had been
no disfranehisemeut of the whites. 1 think that this was the commencement of the
trouble. The. beginning of bitterness in our country was the disfranchisement of the

&quot;whites; and out of that grew, in a great measure, their opposition to this movement
of reconstruction. This, coupled with negro suffrage, was the origin of the difficulty.
The white people in our country, though they may accept what is known as the &quot;new

departure, are at heart unalterably opposed, in my opinion, to negro suffrage. This
alone has carried me into the republican &quot;party,

for I believe that suffrage is necessary
for the negroes for their protection under our form of government.

Question. And you think that a full restoration of all rights to all your people would
have a beneficial effect?

Answer. I think it would have a most salutary influence.

Question. You think that the people would more cheerfully acquiesce in the new
order of things, and that a great many of the existing troubles would be removed?
Answer. The troubles in the south are very great. I do not know that the removal

of political disabilities would now correct them entirely.

Question. Is it not your opinion that the measure would have a tendency in that
direction .

Answer. Yes, sir
;
the tendency would be in that direction; it would have a most

salutary effect.

Question. It would aid in correcting the existing troubles?

Anxurr. Yes, sir. I have been, as all my party friends know, an earnest advocate,
ever since the war. for the removal of all dislVanchisement from the southern people.
I, myself, was in the confederate army. &quot;While I was a Union man before the war and
did not favor secession, still, when it came to a fight between my section and another,
I went with my section

;
and I did it honestly and heartily, as 1 have before stated.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. Was not that the case with the great body of the southern people ? Were
they not Union men at heart

Answer. I think the majority of the people of my State were Union men. They were
not allowed to vote, you recollect, upon the question of the secession of the State. It

was never submitted to the people at all. If it had been, and if we could have
had a fair canvass, (I do not know that a fair canvass could have been had,) I

believe a majority of the people of Alabama would have voted against secession.

But the leaders of that movement were bold men
; they did not submit the question

to the people ;
::nd if i had been submitted, I do not believe there would have been a

free expression of opinion.

By the CHAIRMAN, (Mr. POLAND:)

Question. 1 would like to inquire a little further in regard to your university, and
the state of things in connection with it.

Answer. Under our new constitution, the educational interests of the State are

intrusted to a board of education, consisting of two members from each congressional
district. Those members are elected for four years, one from each district being chosen
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us v, ell state, by way of explanation, that the lands given by the United States were
sold, and the money placed in the treasury of the State; but it was used; and the

money 1or tlie support of this university is now raised by direct taxation upon the

people. The trust fund for the benefit of the university is gone. It was lost in the

bunking operations of the State years ago.

By Mr. COBUEN :

Question. How long ago?
Answer. A good many years ago before I Avent into the State.

By the CHAIRMAN, (Mr. POLAND :)

Question, Before the war ?

Answer. Long before the war. The State went into a banking system, and lost all

the trust-funds it had the public school fund, and the university fund.

By Mr. COBUKX :

Question. And the interest is now supplied by direct taxation ?

Answer. Not the full amount of the interest. After the loss to the State, the legisla
ture passed an act providing that the State should give $18,000 a year to the univer

sity, paying that much in lieu of this other money ;
but it was not half as much as

the annual interest on the university fund would have been if it had been preserved.
The university is now maintained in that way. Our public schools are maintained in

the same way by direct taxation upon the people, to replace moneys that should have
accrued by the annual interest on a trust-fund, which trust-fund has been lost lost

long before the war. In 1868 that university went into the hands of this board of

regents. Several members of the board were most unsuitable men for their positions ;

they have not managed the university wisely or well. The opposition to republican
ism has been, perhaps, as strong and bitter hi Tuscaloosa County as in any county of
the State

;
intolerance and proscription have, perhaps, in no part of the State been

stronger. There was a great opposition to the university under the regime under
which it was then conducted. The professors told me that students, when they came
there, were visited by persons of Tuscaloosa, and begged not to go to the university.
Some, after having been sent there by their parents, were persuaded to go back, and
did not matriculate. There has not been given to the university for its assistance and
success that aid and encouragement which are usually given to an institution of thafc

kind by the town in which it is located.

Question. Has this feeling of opposition to the success of the university under its

present management assumed a party character?
Answer. Yes, sir, it had assumed that character. But let me do justice to all, and say

that the board of regents who lirst organized the university after the war did not act

wisely or discreetly. They selected some very improper men, and men whom no people
ought to have been satisfied with, (there is no doubt in the world about that,) though
they selected also some good men ;

for instance, Mr. Tutwiler, who was selected by this
old board of regents to the presidency, is a gentleman of high character and standing .

in my State. He did not, however, accept the presidency.
&quot;

^

By Mr. COBUKX :

Question. Is there any opposition there to the education of the colored people in free
schools ?

Aimccr. The men who were formerly slave-holders, arc, in our section, the most
intelligent men of the community. I want you to understand that in saying this, I

pay no compliment to the system of slave-holding, because I now think the same about;
that as you do, though I did not before the war, as I then held slaves. The slave
holders of our country are the most intelligent men, because, as a class, they have had
the means of acquiring intelligence. They, as a general thing, arc not opposed to the
education of the negro. The uneducated white man, and the man who in his sphere
of lift; is brought nearer to competition with the negro that class of men are, in my
opinion, opposed to the education of the negro.

Qiirxt mii. Does that assume a party shape t

Auxtccr. Yes, sir
;

it assumes a party shape, because in my county there are not more
than a do/en white republicans. There have been no negro school-houses burned in my
roflnty, so far as I know or believe. The educational inn-rests of the county were in

my hands; 1 was superintendent of education until about the 1st of April, 1H71, and I
found no obstruction whatever to the establishment of schools. I found lukewarm-
ness in some places, but no positive opposiiion. My county is one of the most intelli

gent i:i the Stale of Alabama. I doubt whether there is one in flu- .State that is more
&amp;gt;n. In iiiy town, by my own request, two gentlemen who are democrats were appointed
commissioners of our normal colored schoo.1. They take an active interest in the institu
tion. Both of them were formerly slave-holders. They are men of high education and
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egence. I have heard that in the more northern counties, where education aiuui^
the whites is not so general as in iny county, (in my county the whites are nearly all

educated, all who were there before the war,) there is opposition to negro schools
;
and

I have, .seen in the newspapers accounts of the burning of negro school-houses in flat
section of the State. But there is nothing of that sort in my county. This Mr. Clark,
of whom I spoke, told me that he was whipped, and shot aiid wounded, and stretched
up by a rope, .simply because he was a teacher of a negro school. That happened in
Sumter County.

By the CHAIRMAN, (Mr. POLAND:)
Question. Among the uneducated class of whites, which is pretty numerous, I suppose,

in your State, there is opposition to the education of the negroes?
Ansirer. I think that among them there is opposition to the education of the negroes.
Question. As to the feeling of opposition to the university, which you say has

assumed a party form, did that grow out of the incompeteucy and unsuitableucss of
some portion of the regents, or did it grow out of the fact that the institution was
under republican auspices?
Answer. I think the feeling was attributable to both causes.

Question. How is it with the board of regents now?
Answer. Just two-thirds of our board of regents are republicans. But I do not think

that the present board of regents are influenced by political affiliations or political
bias in their action in regard to the educational interests of the State. I believe that
the people of the State, irrespective of party, will bear me out in saying that no politi
cal complexion is given to our action, either as a board of education or as regents.

Question. Does the fact that there is a majority of republicans in the board enter

strongly into the feeling of opposition of which you have spoken ?

Answer. No, sir
;

I think not. I was in Tusealoosa at the time of the reorganization
of the university ;

but I saw no opposition at all. In fact, citizens ofTuscaloosa, most
of whom art; democrats, were exceedingly anxious that the plan proposed by the repub
licans should be adopted. The regents were not all present, and one republican went
over to the democrats in the action then taken, and defeated our plan. The plan of

reorganization proposed by myself was sustained, I think, almost universally, by tho
alumni of the institution, who were there in large numbers, (brought there by the in

terest wliioh they took in the institution,) and by citizens of Tuscaloosa. There was
embraced in the faculty which I proposed, Mr. Whitfield, a native of the county of

Tuscaloosa, ami a republican the gentleman who gave me that instrument and thoso

letters, which I have already laid before the committee. There was some opposition to

him
;
but some of the best men in the town were anxious to see him in the university,

although he is a republican.
Question. Is he a southern or a northern man?
Answer. He is a southern man

;
I think ho is a native of Tuscaloosa County. He is

a man of very decided ability. In politics he is a republican.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. You said that at the first organization of the university there werfe some

appointments of improper and incompetent officers ?

Answer There were.

Question. Who were those officers?

Ansicer. I would not like to mention the names of the gentlemen. I will make this

general remark, that some members of the iirst board of education were unsuitable

persons, and that they made unsuitable selections for the faculty of the university in

some instances.

Question. Was a man by the name of Lakiii one of the professors ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
I think he was. I do not know Mr. Lakin

j
I never saw him

;
I

think he was elected president ;
that is my present recollection.

Question. Do you think he was a proper selection ?

Answer. 1 do not know him at all
;
I never saw him.

Question. From his reputation, what do you think on that point?
Answer. Well, sir, in my county you cannot tell from the newspapers what a man s

reputation is, or what it deserves to be. I have known elibrts to be made to blacken
the reputation of some of the best men in the world. If I knew Mr. Lakin, and

thought him incompetent, I would unhesitatingly say so. I do not know him. 1 do
not want to say anything which may give this matter a party complexion if I can
avoid it. The fact that the democratic press of our State assails a man is no evidence

that he is not a good man a gentleman, a scholar, a Christian, and everything that

a man ought to be. That is as true as the Sermon on the Mount.

Question. And if the republican press of your State lauds a man to the skies, is that

a proof of an eminent gentleman and a Christian ?

Answer. No, sir ; I do not think the laudation or abuse of the political press of my
State, on either side, is decisive of a man s character. It is a very difficult matter for

a man not residing in our community to appreciate the exact state of aliairs that wo
liave in the South.
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WASHINGTON, D. C., July 11, 1871.

Hon. PETER M. DOX sworn and examined.

Tht- Cii.vir.MAX, (Mr. POLAND.) This witness having been summoned at the request
of the minority of the committee, ho will be first examined by some gentleman of the

minority.

By Mr. BKCK:

Question. How !&amp;lt;&quot; have yon resided in Alabama, and what is your official position ?

irer. I reside in Iluntsville, Alabama
;
I have resided there since 1834-5

; my
business is that of a tanner

; my official position is that of a Representative in Congress.

(Itiastion. You now hold that position?
Ansim: Yes, sir

;
I was a member of the last Congress, and am also also a member

of the present Congress, representing the tifth congressional district of Alabama, the

Mountain district, the Union district.

-. /OH. Tell the committee what is the present condition of the State of Alabama,

especially that portion of it with which yon are personally acquainted, as to the pro
tection and security of life and property there.

Ausiccr. Do you refer to my own county the county of Madison?
Oucftilon. We expect you to tell what you know personally from your experience in

your district, and what you know concerning the remainder of the State from such
information as you rely upon as true.

AIIXIW. I believe that life, liberty, (including all the privileges that the word im

plies.) and property are as secure to-day in my district as in any part of the country ;

I believe that the counties composing that district are as quiet and as peaceable to-day
as the old county of Ontario, New York, in which I was reared.

Question. State what counties compose your district..

Answer. Madison, (in which I reside,) Jackson, Marshall, DeKalb, Etowah, Cleburne,

Cherokee, St. Clair, and Calhouu. I say that these counties are, to-day, peaceable, quiet,
and orderly ;

I say it advisedly, after conferring with men who have resided there for

many years thirty or forty years. At the same time I must say that there have been

outrages committed within that district, within the last three or four years outrages
which no man who would conserve law and order can tolerate or approve. There was
an outrage committed in my district last year at Cross Plains

;
I think it ,was a great

outrage. .

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. In what county ?

Answer. In the county of Calhoun. It was an outrage not unprovoked. I recollect

that in my last election several men were killed. I can name them. Ben. Suodgrass
was killed almost under mye.ye; Bob. Thompson was killed last year; Ragland was
killed in my district, or in one of the adjoining countief ;

a man by the name of Douglass
w;:s killed last January in Jackson County ;

one negro was killed and one wounded
;

a white man by the name of Gate was killed. These I look upon as great outrages; but

they have had nothing to do with politics. They have been dovetailed and worked up
as political murders

;
but these men who were killed were all democrats, except one.

Ben. Snodgrass was killed by a republican; Gate was a democrat; the negroes were
democrats; one of them was killed and the other wounded. I have seen some speeches
in which the killing ofthese negroes has been sandwiched between other outrages, as

apolitical outrage; but there is no truth in it at all. Bob. Thompson was a personal
and political friend of mine; he was killed by Douglass s friends. Douglass was a

personal and political friend of mine. I look upon these outrages as deplorable. But
lias been nothing of that kind for many months

;
I have remarked the contrast

between the condition of that people to-day and what it was a year or so ago. As for

the Cross Plains outrage

By Mr. BECK:
Is that the same as the Paytona affair ?

i . Yes. sir
;
that is the Paytona affair.

o-n. Let us hear something about that .

. I know nothing about it personally, of course. I got my information from
Mr. John Tucker, the president pf the Rome, Dalton and Selma Railroad, from whose
workshops went the. men who were killed there, a white, man and four or live black
men. I was in New York last year when that thing happened. I went down to my
district for the canvass, and reached then- about a month afler the affair happened.
(.ovcrnor Parsons was there: he was acting as prosecutor. Judge, Peters was at

P.iyt 011:1 inquiring into it. I will give the whole history of it as Mr. Tucker gave it to
me, or as I 1 hink he would testify if he were summoned here. He is a man of character
and truthfulness,

,&amp;lt;n,. You believe the, statement you are about to make?
I do. Mr. John Tucker told me in my room in this city when he was giving
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me an account of this matter, that ho could live as peaceably in Alabama as he could
anywhere. Referring to this outrage, which was an exceptional outrage, he said it was
nor unprovoked or inexcusable. About night, one Saturday, a man rode into the town
of Cross Plains, and went into the post office either to deliver a letter or to write one.
He handed the reins of his horse, to a colored boy who Was there, saying,

- Hold my
horse till I come out.&quot; The boy took charge of his horse. When the man came out of
the office he found his horse gone. He was a man who did not live in Cross Plains,
but some, distance away. I do not know whether he was a stranger or not

;
Mr.

Tucker
_(

1 id not tell inc. The man asked the boy where his horse was. The boy said,
&quot;A train of cars came along and the horse jerked away from me; I could not
hold him.&quot; The man said,

&quot; That horse would not get frightened at a train of cars.
He slapped the boy in the face treated him improperly. Thereupon the boy took up
a brickbat or stone, (&quot;rock&quot; they call it down there,) and struck this man in the face
with the stone, bruising him very considerably. Several persons saw this, and they
cuffed gild thrashed the negro for doing it; they thought there had not b -en sufficient

provocation for the throwing of the brickbat. Thereupon the boy went uown to Pay-

could not be whipped at Cross Plains with impunity. Thirty or forty of them, ino:

or less I do not know how many ; 1 understood Tucker to say thirty or forty wei
up there and &quot; made night hideous. They threatened to burn the town; they fire

oif their guns; and they raised Old Scratch generally. They kept it up pretty muc
all night. They then retired and went to Paytoua, and did not appear ag;r i till tl

provocation for the throwing of the brickbat. Thereupon the boy .._ , _. _
,,

tona, a mile, perhaps, or more; from Cross Plains, and told a white man
b&amp;gt;

the name of
Luke, and others, about the affair. Luke told those fellows who were down there to
arm themselves and come up and burn the town, and show those people that this boy
could not be whipped at Cross Plains with impunity. Thirty or forty of them, more

-went
fired

much
appear ago

;
&amp;lt; till the

next day in 1 ho evening, about the time church was dismissed. At that time tucy ca^. .

back to Cross Plains, armed. They lired their guns off, not killing anybouy, but&quot; in the
direction of a congregation as it wus coming; out of church, there being women and
children there. By this time the people of Cross Plains were pretty well exasperated,
as Mr. Tucker says, and they seized three or four of these men. They were told that
this white man, Luke, or whatever his name was, had instigated the negroes; the/
sei/ed him also and put him in the hands of the sheritf. Then some of the people, not

waiting the slow process of the law, very wrongfully and outrageously executed Luke
and the three or four other men who were the ringleaders, believing that those negroes
were seriously purposed to destroy their town and slaughter the people. That is Mr.
John Tucker s statement to me, and it is corroborated by the statements of other per
sons down there. I have heard the same statement from different sources.

Qitcxfioti. Was it generally believed by flic people there that Luke had given the

negroes that advice to burn the town of Cross Plains, and that they had come there
for that purpose?

Ansircr. They did believe it, according to Mr. Tucker s statement. I have in my
pocket a letter from a man of character, General Burke, in which he says that Luke
had made himself particularly obnoxious. He was a sort of miscegenationist. I will

remark right here that if there are any people on the face of the eafrh who abhor mis

cegenation it is the mountain people the smaller planters in that, country the men
who live on their places of one hundred or two hundred acres. Burke writes and I

have heard it from other sources that this man affiliated or fraternized with the

negroes socially. I want to say right here to the committee, (and, in doing so, 1 state

my honest opinion, formed after observation and close scrutiny,) that any man, what
ever his politics, who goes to Alabama with the motives which should prompt a man
in going from one State to another, will bo treated kindly wr

ill be received in a

friendly way, no matter what may be his politics. But, of course, if he receives col

ored men and women at his house, he cannot expect to be treated or received as a
social equal by the white people; for 1 should not invite any man to my house (and I

suppose every member of this committee would act in the same way) if, when I

returned the call with my wife and daughters, they might be placed by the side of

probably worthless black men or women. That is about the fact of the matter with
reference to the refusal to recogni/-e some people socially. I know a good many repub
licans in the town of Huntsville to-day, who are treated kindly. Mr. Figgers, the
editor of ihe Huntsvillo Advocate, is treated as kindly as anybody, Mr. Bradley, a

leading republican, Mr. Ben. Jolly, another republican, and a great many others whom
1 could name, are treated kindly without any regard to their politics.

(JuenUoH. It has been stated here that it is not safe for republicans to advocate their

principles in Alabama by making public speeches in behalf of the republican cause.

What is your knowledge and information upon that subject ?

Answer. 1 have heard republican speeches made repeatedly without anybody inter

fering. Kick Davis has made as decidedly republican speeches as 1 ever heard any
man make, in my life. I have heard such speeches frequently from my competitors in

the canvass, who were republicans; and they had brought no part of the audience, so

far as the white people were concerned. My district is a white man s district
; yet I

have divided my time at public meetings with my competitors, so far as they wished to
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fake it. and they have been treated courteously. Yet I knew all the time that I was fur

nishing rhc avdieBOd. I do not want to be understood as saying that a man who is a

republican is ;&amp;gt;s acceptable there and is treated a.s kindly aa one whose .sentiments

are in accord with those of the mass of the people; and I do not know that the ease is

dilien nt. any \vhcre.

. Can a republican speak his sentiments without personal danger to himself?

. I think so: 1 have no doubt about it. Why, who has been hurt ? I have
heard of anybody being hurt there because he was a republican, or because he &amp;gt;

addressed audiences as a republican.
(
(

/&amp;lt;f.,/io. Did your opponents make an active canvass?
i r. Yes. sir. My iirst opponent was Judge Haralsonj a circuit judge of that dis

trict a man of great personal popularity. It is true that although he made republican

speeches, yet he assailed me because of my Unionism
;
he assailed me because I did not

fight at Shiloh when he did. I do not know but that may have made his reception
more easy. But he was very decided in his republicanism.

Question. Who was your last opponent ?

Answer. A man by the name of Standtfee. As a man he was not to be compared with

Haralson, who is a map of a great deal of character and capacity.

Question. Other republicans have also spokeu in your district?

Answer. O, yes.

Question. And there has been no case where any man has been hurt for speaking his

sentiments ?

Answer. I have never known men to be hurt for speaking their opinions. I have
heard men denounced on either side. I have been denounced pretty sharply. Old
Lakin. for instance, denounced me pretty sharply in a long speech.

QucfiHon. Tell us all you know about Lakin.
A n nicer. I do not know him personally. I never spoke to him in my life. I have met

him once or twice.

Question. What is his general character among your people? Let us have all you
know about him from any information on which you rely?
Answer. All I know about him from information is that he is a man who is very reck

less in his statements, a man exceedingly careless in his utterances. We saw only the
brief abstract of his testimony as given by telegraph, but I do not think any people
were ever so much astonished as the republicans of Huntsville were when they read
that abstract. Mr. James Ware, who is, I believe, a republican, (at any rate he is chief

clerk in the office of the probate judge, a republican,) and Mr. Gill told me they never
were before so astonished as they were at Lakin s statement that he had not been

kindly treated there. It seems that recently, during the last spring, there was a report
(so Mr. Ware told me) that Mr. Lakiu had been killed : and simultaneously with the

reception of that report ho appeared in the probate judge s office.
&quot;Why.&quot;

said Mr. .

Ware to Mr. Lakiu, &quot; I am very much surprised and gratified to see you; we heard you
were killed.&quot;

&quot;

Killed!&quot; said Mr. Lakin,
&quot; who would kill me? I never have been

treated more courteously and kindly anywhere than I have been while traveling all

over this district.&quot; Arid so he recently told Mr. Day, the clerk of the United States
district court. He told Mr. Reed, a republican, (so Mr. Reed informed me,) that he had
been shot at somewhere on the mountains, at least he thought he was shot at

;
he heard

the report of a gun and thought he heard the whistle of the ball passing his head, and
*

he was rather inclined to think the fellow intended to kill him. Mr. Reed told him &quot;&amp;gt;

&quot;They shoot a great deal straighter than that here; when they want to kill anybody
they are generally apt to do it.&quot; This was before we had seen the telegraphic report
of Mr. Lakin s testimony. Reed told me, however, just what he would swear to

;
and

I think his remark was that he had a very powerful imagination, would fancy things
and believe to some extent what ho fancied. I should like very much to have some of
those men brought up here, as they know more of Mr. Lakiu than I do. I have never

spoken to him in my life, and have seen him only twice according to my recollection.
&quot;*

QiteNi nni. \Yhat is his general character, as you have heard it from his neighbors
there, a.s a man of truth and veracity ?

Ann we.r. 1 have not gone about making any inquiries directly as to the truthfulness
or veracity of the, man, so far as regards whether he would intentionally tell an untruth.
But as lo his statements I have not seen anybody of either party who says he can bo
depended 115 &amp;gt;on. I asked Mr. Figgers, the editor of a republican newspaper at Huntsville,
&quot;Is Mr. Lakin an honest man?&quot; He said he thought he was honest, but that he was
a terrible fanatic. Another man came to me and told mo that there was a colored
minister (whose name I think was Hamer) of the colored Methodist church South, who
was trying to reorganize that church. This man who spoke to me was a freeclman, a
Methodist, a man of character, a merchant there; and he stated that Mr. Lakin had
driven this colored minister off; that Mr. Lakin had addressed the colored people, tell

ing them there was a &quot;wolf in the fold;&quot; and the man had notice a short time after
iroui several of his colored brethren that he must leave; that it would not be safe for
Lim to remain.



ALABAMA. 431

I wHl mention another rantter: I have heard that in 1868, a man (I suppose he can
testify to tliis himself if necessary) sent to his sister a firkin of butter. Her name was
Mrs. Mary Spilltnan. There happened to be in Huntsville a Rev. Mr. Spillman, who
was of the same school ecclesiastically as Mr. Lakin. Mr. Lakiu s family got that tub
of butter. A letter had been placed on top of the butter before the head was put on
the tub, and this hitter was addressed by the man to his sister, telling her that he sent
her that butter. He wrote 1

, it from some, place in Tennessee, where he then was tempor
arily doing business. Her husband was a mechanic and in reduced circumstances.
The man who sent the butter came to visit his family some time afterward, and he
asked his sister how she liked the butter. She said she had never received it.

&quot; That
is very surprising,&quot; said he,

&quot;

it must be at the express office still.&quot; He went to the
express office and found it was not there, but that Mr. Lakiu s daughter, or Lakin him
selfI think it was Lakiu s daughter had gotten it and receipted for it. They imme
diately went to Lakin s house and inquired about the butter. At first Mr. Lakin did
not recollect anything about it, as I understood this young man to say. His name is

Gill Ishain Gill. The young man said,
&quot;

Yes, you must have gotten it. Here is your
receipt.&quot; Then Lakin acknowledged that he &quot;had received it, but said he thought it

was intended for the Rev. Mr. Spillman; and Mr. Spillman not being there, he knew
that if it was intended for him he would have no objections to their having it; and so

they had taken it. Well,&quot; said Mr. Gill, didn t you see that letter on the top of the
butter f Mr. Lakin said that he had seen it, but that it was signed,

&quot; Your brother,&quot;
and that the clergy and members of the church are very apt to subscribe their names
as &quot;

brother.&quot; Gill then threatened him and told him ho must pay for the butter. He
did pay for it at the rate of iifty cents per pound, when it was only worth twenty-five.
He did that in order to compromise the matter. That is the statement of Gill, who is

a man of character
;
and the expressman, whose name is Jarvis, says the same thing.

Question. Mr. Lakin had that loose sort of a way of doing things ?

Answer. There was something plausible about his explanation ;
but at the same time

a very conscientious man would not do that sort of thing. I do not think 1 could ever
work my conscience up to such elasticity that I could appropriate things in that

way.
Question. Mr. Lakin has given some marvelous accounts about babies being born

with all sorts of marks of the Ku-Klux about them. Have you seen anybody who has
seen any of those monstrosities &quot;?

Answer. I saw something in a paper about a monster of some sort that had been born
down in Blount County not in my district. Whether it was in the shape of a Ku-Klux
I don t know. I never saw a Ku-Klux in my life. I never knew but one man that 1

thought was a Ku-Klux. I do not believe that there has been any such organization
as the Ku-Klux in my neighborhood for two years past. I am satisfied there has not
been. I am convinced, however, that there were Ku-Klux organizations two years
ago, and they did some things which were very wrong. I always condemned and de
nounced them on the stum]) during my canvass, and everywhere else, as 1 do every
other sort of irresponsible, lawless action. I never saw but one man that I thought
was a Ku-Klux. I will state the circumstances : My wife, who is a very religious lady,
taught her negroes before the war before slavery was abolished. There were very
few of my family negroes who could not read and write. My mother-iii-law and my
wife would teach them. About the time it was reported the Ku-Klux were about, it

was said that my wife was teaching her negroes. She always did teach them. A man
at that time came to me and said that we must stop. Of course I was indignant. I

said, &quot;What business is it of yours what we do here?&quot; This was, I suppose, three

years ago in 1867 or 18G8. The man replied that Elijah Fitch had been notified that
lie must not do this thing, and that I would be notified too. I remarked to him,

&quot; If

you come with your Ku-Klux to my house, I will pull your masks oil your faces and
the sheets off your horses at the peril of my life.&quot; I went and told my neighbors of the

affair, and there was a general denunciation of that man and of everything of that
kind. I think that incident smashed up, so far as that little locality was concerned,
any Ku-Kluxing. That is the true way of meeting such things.

Question. Within the last two years have there been in your region of Alabama any
bands of disguised men committing outrages?
Answer. We have had thefts around there. Everybody who commits airy offense dis

guises himself in some way. Night itself is a mask. 1 have heard of robberies being
committed by disguised men sometimes negroes disguised sometimes white men dis

guised worthless scoundrels who undertake to commit depredations, but whose acts
are not political in any sense.

Question. Do you understand that the men committing these acts have been in any
way connected with any organization apart from those who were immediately con
cerned in the outrages, and vvho disguised themselves to avoid detection f

Answer. Not so far as I am advised or believe. I will state my theory about the Ku-
Klux organization. Of course I know no Ku-Klux

;
I never consciously saw one in

my life. My theory of the original organization of the Ku-Klux is this: At the close
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of the war the colored people had just been made free, and, I will say here, that I never
knew any people 1o behave better than tlie colored people did under the circumstances.
Their behavior far exceeded my anticipations. But after the war the colored men
moved in armed hands throughout the country. I have seen parties of ten or fifteen

pa-s my house. At night they would pass, talking not only loudly but almost menac
ingly. Women and children were alarmed. I have known colored men to stand right
in front of my house and shoot in the direction of the house at a mocking bird in a
tn-r. These men were all connected with what was called the Union Leagues or Loyal

iies, and they were all armed. They would ride night and day in parties of ten and
fifteen. Such things were suggestive of apprehension and alarm, especially to the
women. I have heard thesfe parties, when passing my house at night, denounce me in

-trong terms. 1 was not alarmed. Iain not easily alarmed at threats of that

sort, but my wile \vas very much alarmed.

Question. Were those denunciations of you evidently intended for your ear ?

JN.VHYT. Yes, sir. For instance, they would say,
&quot; Here lives the damnedest meanest

man that ever AV;;S
;
he won t let us go into his orchard and take peaches ;

we ll iix

him.&quot; That was the sort of talk. I was not at all alarmed. I considered it a mere
bnrtumfulmen. I have myself gone and disarmed four or five of them without any
trouble, just by a determined bearing and letting them know that I Avas not to be in

timidated. Well, the Ku-Klux organization, in its beginning, was a- mere local police,

improvised for the purpose of correcting that sort of thing. It went further afterward.
In 1868, in Huntsville, there was a large meeting of the republicans, colored people,
and it was said (I was not there

;
I live eight miles from Huntsville) that the Ku-Klux

went into town, and at the very apprehension of them, without seeing them or without
being interfered with, those fellows at the meeting began to fire, and they killed one
another indiscriminately; some seven or eight were killed by the firing among them
selves. The Ku-Klux had nothing to do with the killing; they were away off in
another place. But they were terrible-looking follows. I have heard people say that
fhey never saw persons who could drink so much water

;
that one of them could drink

a whole bucket of water. In other words, they touched upon the superstition of the
colored people by making it appear that they were the spirits of the confederate dead.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. This man Lakin gives an account of the meeting to wrhich 3*011 refer the
one held at Huntsville in 1868. He represents the Ku-Klux as having attacked the

negroes while they were holding their meeting.
Ansicer. Well, sir, he is mistaken about it, or misrepresents the facts, if my informa

tion is correct.

Question. You wrere not in town at the time f

Answer. No, sir
;
but I was there the next day. The received opinion does not agree

with Mr. Lakin s statement. I have no doubt that the Ku-Klux coming in there
*

caused the rumpus, but it Avas not a necessary result, according to what I have heard.
1 had no personal observation or knowledge of that meeting.

Qu&stion. Mr. Lakin refers to that meeting at some length, and describes it in this

way: &quot;At about 10 o clock about one hundred and fifty disguised men rode into the

public square, from the southeast corner, and made a circle around the square. They
were followed by numerous persons on foot, undisguised.&quot; He then says that they -

were picketed all around and commenced firing upon the crowd.
-,

Anaicer. He is mistaken, or misrepresents the facts, or else I am grossly misinformed
about them. I think the firing was by parties in the meeting, or on the outside, not

disguised. There was a panic, and I think the firing and the killing were the result of
that panic. There was a man named Cox who was shot, and also a Judge Thurlow.
The killing resulted from a careless, indiscriminate, Avild kind of shooting, consequent
upon a panic there.

Question. Mr. Lakin also says:
&quot; The military Avere ordered out for the protection of*

the people. Four Ku-Kluxes, or persons, Avere arrested with their disguises in their

saddle-hags, and with all their arms. General Ruger disarmed them, and handed them
over to the civil authorities, taking charge of their disguises and arms. The civil
authorities let them loose; they Avere rearmed by persons unknown to me, and went to
the livery stables and forced the men there to give up their horses, and then they dis

appeared.&quot;

Anxirn: 1 never heard of that.

Question. Ls it likely that such a- thing would have occurred there without coming to

your knowledge .

l/ Nuvr. J should think not. It seems to me that I would have heard the names of
the men who were arrested. Ruger I knew very well. I was in constant intercourse
Avit h him. J cannot undertake to contradict Mr. Lakin s statement, but I never heard
that statement of the matter before. 1 did not live in iUmtsvillo at the time.

Qtumiion. He, say.; himself, upon cross-examination, that the Ku-Klux did not fire at
all; that the, persons undisguised on the streets did the firing.

Aimivcr. That is so.

Question. And that the Ku-Klux were there as a reserve or a defense.
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Answer, i cannot speak as to that. I reckon they were there, not in connect]on with
-mybody, but that they came in on their own account. I heard that they went around
the square, but that at the time of the firing they were some distance away. When Mr.
Lakiu says that the firing was by persons not belonging to the Ku-Klux, he is right.

Question. But he intimates very strongly, or in fact says distinctly, that though the
Ku-Klux did not do the firing, they had confederates in the crowd who did the firing,
and that the- Ku-Klux were therje as a reserve.

Amwer. Does he mean confederates directly in reference to that firing .

(juesiion. Yes, directly in reference to that transaction.

Answer. Well, I believe it to have been an improvised thii:;y. There is with the peo-
|.!o down there an unfortunate habit of carrying anus. Almost everybody carries
.a-nis ; I do not know anybody but myself that never has dime so. I say that it is the
most unnecessary thing on the face of the earth. I have seldom known anybody killed
\ n a personal rencounter where it was not fioiu an apprehension, generally an unfounded
one, that the person committing the deed was going to be hurt. I never carry arms.
I travel all over the country, meeting everybody, and hesitate not to express my
pinions ais a Union man. I did it before the war and during the war, and I never had
any trouble. But unfortunately almost everybody down there carries weapons. Hence
what would be a mere fist-fight in the Stale of Vermont becomes a pretty serious
business down there where men carry aims. Everyman who knows the southern

people knows that that sort of thing is carried too far. These homicides to which I

refer are the result of that very improper practice which the southern people have of

carrying arms on their persons! A young man. a particular friend of mine, named
James K. Folk Wright, was killed by the sou of the radical sheriff of Madison County.
Me and the sheriff were both iutoxieatad : and. by the way. liquor helps a good deal in

causing these troubles. 1 think if we could get rid of the bad liquor and the carrying
&quot;f lire-arms, we would avoid a great many of these homicides. Vv right was a young
man for whom I had a great attachment. During the war I got him out of prison
sometime before the general order for the release of prisoners. He was a great friend

of mine, and I was very much shocked and grieved at his death. He got into a per-
ional difficulty with tins sheriff. They came to blows, and Wright, who was an active

young man, had the sheriff down. The, sheriff s sou saw his father in that situation
;

and down there I believe they consider it a legitimate business for a man, when his

lather is down, to kill the fellow who is on top of him. The sheriff s son, at any rate,
did kill Wright ;

and it was considered a justifiable homicide. W
T

right was a magnificent
young fellow, lie had the unfortunate habit of &quot;

spreeing&quot; occasionally; but in other

respects he was a remarkaLly fine young man, and his death, I think, was a great loss.

;&amp;gt;ut nothing was done in that case. That is one of five or six cases of homicide that

have occurred in my \ieinity and under my observation within the last two o?* threw

years.

P.y Mr. BECK :

Question. You spoke of a Mr.
J&amp;gt;;&amp;gt;y ;

1 ,-ectbat Mr. Lakiu, in his testimony, on page 154,

when asked who was the prosecutor of that county, said that Mr. Day was; now, 1

understood yon to speak of Mr. Day as the clerk of the court.

Anwar. Mr. Day has never been the prosecutor. He is the clerk of the United States

district court. The gentleman to \vlioin I refer is Captain Day or Major Day, a highly

respectable gentleman, who fought all through the war on the side of the Union. He
says Mr. Lakiu told him that he had been treated with great courtesy and kindness.
&quot;

Question. In the testimony Mr. Lakiu is asked,
&quot; Who is the prosecutor of that county f

7

And he answers,
&quot; Mr. Day.&quot;

Answer. L. W. Day is the clerk of the United States district court. The prosecutor
of that county is Captain William Wr

hedou.

Question. Has there ever been a prosecutor in that county named Day?
Answer. Not according to my recollection

;
and I think I would know it if there had

been such an officer, because 1 was a lawyer myself twenty-five years ago, and I am
.-somewhat observant of these things. Last year, when I was in the county of Cherokee,
where I had heard there were Ku-Klux, Mr. Lakin held a four days meeting at a littlo

place called Galesville. He was a sort of presiding elder of the conference running all

through those counties. At Galesville, as I had heard before, there were some boys,
from sixteen to twenty, sowing their wild oats, who would disguise themselves, and
when they found a white man living openly with a negro woman, or anything of that

kind, would intimate to him that they would thrash him. That sort of Ku-Kluxing
did go on there. Mr. Lakiu was there. Ho was known to be a man who fraternized

vrith the negroes. This was a white settlement
;
there were very few negroes there.

1 recollect that he left there before I got through withmy appointments in that vicinity,

and that he went off alone undisturbed. Some one asked about Mr. Lakiu
;
said 1,

Stop this Ku-Kluxing, above all things ;
if you will Kn-Klux, don t Ku-Klux while I

am around here
;
but 1 advise you to stop it altogether.&quot; Mr. Lakiu is himself a living

-refutation of the statement that a raau cannot live safely in that community and do

very much as he pleases.

28
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By Mr. BLALR :

Qutstion. You say that Lukin Lad the reputation of fraternizing with the negroes t

Answci . I inonn that lie would seat them at the table with him men and women.
That is the reputation ho had. I do not know that it went any further than that

;
but

at the same time it savored very much of what folks down there do not like.

Question. You mean it savored of promiscuous intercourse ?

Anttnr. I do not mean to say it amounted to that; ?do not know it
;
I only say that

there was that sort of social equality going on and carried much further than ahohtion
ever went. The truth is that if a white man goes down there from the North, with
such ideas as to his associations, he is not going to he received socially by respectable
white people. I am a Union man, and in favor of freedom aud everythingof that kind,
hut no man should ccrne to niy house unless I would go to his; and I would not Visit

any man s house where, if I took my wile with nic, I might expect her to bo placed
side by side with a worthless negro, introduced there perhaps simply because he was
a negro. Distinctions of color in these days, as I have observed down there, are some
times rather strong in the wrong direction.

Question. What is Lakin s reputation in the community ?

Answer. I think he has emphasized his character a good deal by his testimony, as the

telegraph abstracts it more than he did in any other way. His character was that of
an iutermeddler; a man who was doing a good many things which were offensive to

the common sentiment of the best people there
;
not those who are lawless. I have

never seen him but once or twice
; twice, I think. I have a great many personal friends

among the republicans there
;
some of them vote for me. But Mr. Lakin never could

be a friend of mine. From my knowledge of his character, I should not permit my
self to be introduced to him. At the same time, as I know nothing of him from my
own knowledge, it is possible I may do him injustice. But the impression which has
been made upon my mind in regard to him is such that I would riot be introduced to

him.

Question. You have stated his general reputation and associations in that community?
Answer. Yes, sir. There are others who know him a great deal better than I do

men of his own party, men who vote as he votes. I can name therr, and you may cito

them if you choose. 1 would name Mr. James Ware, Mr. Figgers, editor of the Hunts-
ville Advocate, Mr. John Heed, Mr. Day. These gentlemen know a great deal more
about him than I do. They have talked with him; I have not.

Question. Mr. Lakin went there, as I understand, as a minister, or elder of the Metho
dist Episcopal Church North. Was there not some feeling between that church and
the Methodist Episcopal Church South ?

Answer. Yes, sir. The colored Methodist Episcopal Church South, which was organ
ized before he came there, was broken up by him and others working with him. A
colored minister named Ilamer, who was endeavoring to get together the colored mem
bers of the Methodist Church South, was, as I have been told, denounced by Mr. Lakin
as a &quot;

wolf;&quot; and afterward, in* consequence of that sort of instigation from him, Mr.
Harrier was notified that he must leave, for he would not be safe there. He did leave*

Question. There were excesses practiced by Loih of these parties in their church zeal

against each other?
A-itswcr. I know very little about it. I have lived out of Huntsville a good while. 1

have heard, without giving much attention to it, that there was a great deal of that
BOrt cf disturbance; threatening, wrangling, quarreling. But I have not witnessed

any of it, and cannot testify to it Ironi any knowledge 1 have on the subject. 1 oulj
know that. 1 have heard that this man Hainer was driven off at the instigation of Mr.
Lakin.

By Mr. BECK :

Qitexiimt. lias there been in your part of Alabama any difficulty about the negro
voting the democratic ticket? Has there been any interference by people of his own
color, if no attempted to do so?

Answer. The only intimidation I over heard of in late elections was the menaces em
ployed to prevent colored people Ironi voiing the democratic ticket. There were two
treedmeII who voted for me in my first election. One of them, Preston Pope, a most
intelligent man, who was my foreman, came to mo after the election and told me that
he had left town before aunrioe and not returned until after dark, because they inti
mated to him that he must not vote; i.iui if lie did, tne personal consequences to him
self,would lie serious. That thing has happened very frequently. You have heard of

*

repeating&quot; at elections. One ot Jen-.. (.: (emeus * boys voted six times iu the last elec
tion unchallenged, and the votes \vi-iv roan tod.

Qtu-HtioH. Why did you not ehalienge under wneh eire.uniHtanecs?
AIMW. We have no right to chulionge; the law does not allow it. No one except

the officers and those voting aivailmvr.il tu eoine within thirty feet of the polls, i have
(been told,

&quot;

Mr..Dox, you are too closi,
; yon are within thirty feet;&quot; aud I have been

iordered away. I have said to the slieri.*
,

* k Got your tape-line and lot us sou.&quot; \Yo can-
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not challenge anybody, either on the registry or iu the election. The law will not
allow it. How are yon going to convict them f These follows arc advised that thev
can &quot; vote early and often.&quot; I have never been so shocked in my life as I have been at
the &quot;

repeating
&quot; at elections down there. I do not know but that some of onr folks do

it also. After Jere. Clemeus s boy had voted six times, Nick Davis, a staunch repub
lican, got un and made a speech, and told them that such things would have to be pun
ished

;
that they were going a great deal too far. Others voted two or three times. I

have Home-times been humiliated to see how the people down there have been subju
-

ound
gated. At my ji -st election I absolutely had to bow under a bayonet in order to get

to the little shed where my vote was to be cast. A fellow was standin there
nket and a bay
strict, were perm
to put in my vet;

with :i, junket and a bayonet, and colored men who came from Limestone County, not
in my district, were permitted to vote at the front door, while I had to go to the back

Qw-r oa. &quot;You s.ny ii is vrry common. tucovJing to your recollection, for negroes voting
or }M---v.&quot;t

;
:&amp;gt;.r hi vote the democrat^ lidcet to be threatened or maltreated f

Answer. I have heard of it a great many times. 1 provided for manumitting my
negroes in l&quot;&amp;gt;7 or 1^ jS, or before the, war, and so did my wife. Most of the negroes
were hers

;
I had but f.;nr or live. We manumitted them and provided for their sup

port. Yet recently, when I C.-VMO to be a candidate before the people, those negroes
were told if they voted f-&amp;gt;r me I would endeavor to put them buck into slavery! The
negroes \viil naiurally fuliow ;nd go \vith their old friends and masters if they are r.ot
intimidated. it will IK- HO cne of these days, and properly so, because they want that
sort of guidance and direction. 1 ncvt*r havo s^n ;&amp;gt;, man who would re-enslave tlio

negroes, tiiough HOMO tb;&amp;gt; ,s
ir&amp;gt;:iy

talk t!iat way. And I find very few in these days who
would take from the negroes the right. t;&amp;gt; vot.\ Mr. Davis nuido a foolish, ridiculous

speech do\vu in Ge/M-gi i the oih:.T day; b-it I have nr&amp;gt;n soot), any man but one (and
ho wan a fool of a fellow) who approved that sort of thing.

Question. Do yon know whether the negroes in your region of Alabama were induced
to vote the republican ticket by promises of hind and other property, provided they
did so, and by threats to be put- back into shivaiy if they did not?

Aiixur.r. Negro voters h:\ve told me that such promises had been made to them, and
that they were, threatened that they vrould be put into slavery again. But I did not

place, a great deal of trust in that. They told me so themselves, several of them did.

Qnexiion. What effect has been produced upon your people in the way of causing dis

content, by your elecrien laws, by the way your constitution was imposed upon you
auvl officers appointed alter the people had defeated that constitution, and by the gen
eral management of your political affairs f

Answer. Those things have had a very bad effect
;
but I hold the white people respon

sible to a large extent for that. Our people were in favor of voting at the election upon
the adoption ofthe constitution

;
but Ex-Governor Parsons came down there as an embas-

eador from .Mr. Johnson, (at any rate he was so considered,) and advised that we should
not vote. The course which he advised was Very much against my wishes. I was not in

Montgomery at the time
;
we are almost as far practically from that place as from Wash

ing! on. But Judge Richard Walker was scut down as our representative ;
and he came

back and said that it was underthe inilueneo and by the counsel of Governor Parsons that
the non-voting policy was adopted very much to our disgust. But for that we would
have had two-thirds of the officers of the State. Of course, the men who were chosen,
under the circumstances, were in nine cases out of ten men entirely incapable of filling
oftico properly. The probate judge of Madison County (I do not know how far he has

accomplished himself in the business by this time) was a common jack-plane carpenter
from Oregon. The sheriff could not make a return of process that anybody could read.

1 had a photograph of one of his returns which I would have beeu glad to show to this

commit tee. Those are, specimens of the officers we have had all through that State, so far

as my observation is concerned. There were, of course, exceptions. Judge; Haralson is a
roan of capacity ;

but he was a circuit judge before that election. I do not hesitate to

nay I said it in a speech in Congress last year that there is not a town or county in

Now York or New England that would for a moment permit th;&amp;gt; kind of men who are

occupying ofaces down there to hold a:iy responsible public position.

By Mr. BLAIII :

Question. Do you attribute the present quiet and peaceful condition of affairs in your
State, as contrasted with that prevailing a few years ago;

to the fact that the people
are reclaiming the power of the Government?
Answer. Yes, sir. Although Governor Lindsay is not the greatest governor in the

world, I think the fact that we have obtained control of the State administration lias

had a most favorable effect. Wo feel as if we had something to do with making a,ud

administering the laws by which we are, governed.
QHcwt.ioH. And some security under tl^eni ?

Answer. Yes, sir . and security under them. I think the change in the political con

trol of the State has contributed very much to this result. I have never seen anything
to kjutiafy mo that the people were not secure there at any time. Dissatisfaction exists,
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of course, The condition of the community has been that of a subjugated people.
Tin&quot; people of Ireland have been enslaved, as they regard it, but they have not been
subordinated to an inferior rn&amp;lt;:, manipulated by a debased instrumentality corrupt,
bad men, who have no homes, or, if they had, were driven from them. Such a condi

tion of aifairs is appalling.

(Jucxtion. The portion of country in which you live the northern part of Alabama

was, to a great extent, for the Union ?

Ansim: Yes. .sir; two-thirds of it.

Question. Before the war and during the war?
Answer. Yes, sir; and they are for the Union now.

Question. How are those men classed politically who were Union men at the out-

lnvak of the fwar and during the war ?

Anwr. They are democrats.

&amp;lt;,&amp;gt;m.*tion.
The great body of them ?

Answer. Yes, sir; the great body of them are democrats. My county Madison
wa-v before the war, the largest slaveholding county in the district, the only one that

really was a slaveholding county. The white and the black vote in my county is very
nearly equal. According to my recollection I received in my county 2,000 white votes
and 100 black votes, wlrile my competitor received about 2.000 black votes and per
haps 150 white votes.

i)nexlion. Before the war the majority of white people in your county were Union
men .

JwsHvr. Yes, sir; decidedly. They elected Jere. Clemens to the convention of 1861

as an opponent of secession. .

Question. And it may be said, without any kind of doubt, that the whole of North
Alabama was, by a large majority, for the Union?
Anwer. Yes, sir; decidedly. ,

Question. And not only before the war and at the outbreak of the war, but during
actual hostilities ?

Answer. I cannot say but that during actual hostilities many of them were forced

or pressed into aiding the rebellion in some way ;
but I have never seen a man there

who did not receive with seeming approval my denunciations of secession and the spirit
of secession.

Question. Do you not know it to be a fact that the Federal Government enlisted

large bodies of men in your part of the country ?

Antncer. Y
r

es, I know it did
;
not exactly in my section, however. It was in thosft

counties south of Tuscumbia. There were some enlisted in my region. But you cannot sit

down and talk to a man there without finding him denouncing secession. But for the
unfortunate effort to implicate Jefferson Davis in the assassination of Mr. Lincoln, I

believe he would have been in as absolute obscurity almost as it is possible for any .

man to be
;
I believe that all that he has got of the martyr s stamp or impress was

gotten by him in that way.
Question. Those men who went into our service from that section and are there now,

how are they classed politically? Do you know any of them personally?
Answer. I know very few of them. All I know is that I was elected by more than

6,000 majority ;
and I scarcely know where any white man can be found there who

does not vote with the democrats. The other northern district of the State, from &quot;

which Mr. Sloss was elected the Tuscumbia district would have given Mr. Slossi

10,000 majority if proper effort had been made. Those two districts together are, if

rightly worked, good for 18,000 democratic majority, provided the negroes are not too

much intimidated for the purpose of making them vote against the democracy. Those
mountain counties the white men s counties are for the Union; there is no doubt
about that.

Question. Do you know anything about Winston County ?

Anxwer. That is away down in Mr. Sloss s district, and I know very little of it
;

it is*

a remote county.
Question. It has been stated that that is the only comity in your State which gives a

white majority for the republicans.
Answer. Is anybody certain of that ? I suppose it may have given such a majority

once or twice
;
but it was because the .county was not attended to at all, I mean in any

leoii iinatu way. I think that Winston to-day is a democratic county.

By Mr. BECK :

&amp;lt;Hon. Speaking of the discontent among your people, growing out of the manner
in \vhich the constitution was imposed, the sort of officers forced upon you, and their

mismanagement of State affairs, does this discontent amount to discontent toward the
Government of the United States, or toward the administration of it by the party who
are in power?
A miccr. I do not hesitate to say that the day after the surrender at Appomattox, covor-

iii an nbHolu te surrender of everything like Recession, the abolishment of slavery was a*
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thoroughly . -\peeted by the people of the South as anything was ever expected by
(hem

;
and I believe tliat the discontents and dissatisfactions have resulted, not so

much pel h:; ps from the actual pressure or persecu tion, as from an apprehension that the \

are to bo constantly interfered with
;
that legislation of the General Government in

reference to our a ffairs is to be repeated again and again. We do not know where AVO

stand. Our minds are in an unsettled condition. As a, Union man I carue out for uni
versal amnesty when the war ended. I saw around me there men as capable as any
in the country of filling the highest positions; I knew that those men had surren
dered all hostility to the Government; I thought that the people ought to have an op
portunity to fleet to office men of their own choice. I believe that if upon the close

of the war the policy of universal amnesty had been adopted, as an accompaniment
i&amp;lt; the abolition of slavery, and the repeal of all ordinances of secession and laws eon-

.MMjucut upon those ordinances, the South would to-day be fifteen or twenty years iu

advance of \\h:it it is, with respect to the restoration of peace, prosperity, and &amp;lt;ioneral

contentment..

(Question. Yv hat would be, no\v the e fleet of univer.-,al amnesty among your people ?

.lntc&amp;lt;r. What would be the effect of universal amnesty among the people of Ala
bama to-day . Yv hy, sir. do yon know the extent to which people there are excluded
from office .

.!;/&amp;gt;;rn-. I think I do.

Question. Do yon know ih:it cvei-\ commissioner of highways, every constable, every
man of those wiio have had the control of the local affairs of communities, is excluded
from public position? Yv hy, sir, if the disfranchisemeut were applied only to large
classes of active rebels and removed from these cross-roads men, justices of the peace,
commissioners of highways, and men of that class, the effect would be wonderful. I

have, very great doubts whether but for the exclusion of these smaller men from office

the republican party would not have had the ascendency there, particularly in our
,-eetion of country, where there is such a strong Union sentiment.

IJy Mr. rL.vn::

&amp;lt;/&amp;lt;&amp;lt;&amp;gt;,

si io/i. The people regard the policy as one of proscription?
A)i8ii (-r. Yes, sir; they so regard it. We do nor care anything about Mr. Jefferson

Davis s proscription. 15ut here is, perhaps, Mr. Thompson, who has held the office of

constable, and Mr. Johnson, who has been overseer of highways, and other men of that

class, who cannot hold oiiice, because they took an oath to support the Constitution of

the United State*, and perhaps gave clothing or horses to their sons when they were

conscripted into The confederate service. Sometimes I feel very much, as if I would

pledge myself to resign my office if the general amnesty policy were adopted, so as to

give the people in my district a chance to elect somebody whom they may prefer. I

ft el now ;&amp;gt;s if it were a sort of &quot;Hobsou s choice with them, though they have given
me a big majority. If I should ever have another chance, I would liko to run against
one of those- confederates. It would be a good test.

IJuesfioK. Under th &amp;gt; present system in the South, almost all rhe men of ability are

excluded fr^:n cilice .

Answer. Y&amp;lt; ;.. sir.

(Jucft iiti. Anil the State is denied the henelit of its best talent f

Ansiccr. Yes, sir.

{ui K ion. Anil of coarse much of the disorder is due to that fact?

^Itifiici ) . Very naturally and logically.

(Jaex io):. Discs not the dissatisfaction extend beyond those who are themselves

excluded ? Does it not extend to the community generally f

AtiMca: ( Yrtuinly ; it aiiVcts not only the men who are excluded, but the community
generally, tor instance, by this policy 1 am prevented from voting, perhaps, for the

man of my choice a man who stands by me and whose counsel and aid I want. I am
not allowed to vote tor the man of my choice the man whom 1 would really prefer to

represent mo..

&amp;lt;&amp;gt;iir*/,

:

&amp;lt;&amp;gt;N. \\ has been stated in some of the testimony here that if the class of men
who w&amp;gt;-ve under disal-iiities were disposed to do so. they could produce perfect quiet,
break up this Ku-lvlux business, antl put an end to these dist-nrbance^. What is your

opinion c;s that point .

A !i.-:c&amp;lt; ,-. 1 never yet heard one leading m::n of that country who did. not denounce
Ku-tClnxism. Those men have (&amp;gt;or,e all that poor human nature could be expected to

do uuder the circumstances. They are proscribed and excluded from office. The

|;e,o}&amp;gt;le
there are subjugated. For instance, when Busteed iirst came there to hold the

United States district court, one would have thought, from the. apprehensions ex-

presse/1, that an earthquake- or something very terriuc had come
;
and ho did hold the

people up very sharply. We did not know hardly what we pnight not expect. For

instance, if a, man smoked acigar anywhere within the neighborhood of his court-room,
ho v/oald order that cigar to be put out. A man who in the court-room would put a

chow of tobacco in his mouth would be ordered to take it, out. and told that he must
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not spit on the lloor. Il a man would sit in one chair and lean over upon another,
Jud jce 1 ; steed would or.k-r him to sit up straight. The judge, however, as I under

stood, trot over that. I have not been in his court myself for a long time. Once when
I was in l;h court-room I closed my eyes, as I sometimes do when I am thinking, and
his lacquey told inol must not sleep in the court-room. I was not in the view of the

court cither; I was hidden by a bench, as it were. I got up and left the court-room,
and have uot been there since.* Such things may seem amusing, but they are a little

humiliating. Judge Busteed told Judge Humphries the Judge Humphries now in

this city that he must not be playing his gymnastics in his court; that he must go
round when ho wanted to get out of the bar. That may have been all very well.

There was a good deal of laxity there, and Judge Busteed s course has improved the
manners of the bar considerably ;

I will give him credit for that.

By the CHAIRMAN, (Mr. POLAND :)

(Question. I want to inquire somewhat in regard to this Mr. Lakiu. You are aware,
I suppose, of the occasion of the split in the Methodist Church of the United States t

Anmccr. Yes. sir.

Question. The Methodist church in the Southern States went off from the general
organization, and established a separate organization the Methodist Church South?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And the ground of this division was the subject of slavery wholly, ^as
it uot I

Answer. So I regarded it, and so it was accepted, I believe.

.-fi ioH. There was no question, of doctrine or theological opinion that divided them
at all I

An#iccr. Not as I understand it.

Question. You understand that the Methodist Church South held precisely the same
religious faith in all respects as the Methodists of the North, except upon this subject
of slavery ?

Anwer. Yes, sir.

Question. Do you know how Mr. Lakin came to go South ?

Ansicer. No, sir
;
I know very little ofMr. Lakin. I have heard that a Colonel Shirk,

n republican, who came from Peru, Illinois, as I understand, said that Mr. Lakin had
been suspended, not deposed, but suspended by reason of some act, which was not

exactly ecclesiastical or becoming a clergyman, and that ho came South, not under
any cloud so far as I have ever heard, but probably by the advice of his ecclesiastical

superiors. That is the impression I got from my informant.

Question. Did you understand that he had got out of ministerial employment at the
North?

rer. Yes, sir; I understood he was at the Five Points Mission, in New York.
this thing was done, whatever it was, which disturbed his ecclesiastical relations

somewhat. He then went to Peru, Illinois. There, as I learned from my informant,
(who is named Van Valkcuburg, and who obtained his information from Colonel Shirk,
a gentleman living in Peru,) his relations to the church were not as close as a minister
in good standing would desire to have them.

Question. Do you not know, or have you not understood, that Mr. Lakin was sent
down into Alabama by the Methodist Conference of the North that he went to Alabama
under the authority of the Methodist Church North that they sent him there ?

.--. My wife is a Methodist
;
but I am not very-

Hon. Have you not heard that that was the fact ?

Answer. No, sir
;
but I do not doubt that he went there with some authority fromsome

body.
Question. Do you not understand that he was sent down into Alabama by the Meth

odist Conference, the ecclesiastical authority of the Methodist Church North, for the
very purpose of furthering the interests of that church, and attaching the Methodists in
Alabama to the Methodist Church North, and that he went clothed with proper ecclesi
astical authority for that purpose from the Methodist Church North?

Amircr. Well, I have no information on the subject. I suppose he went down thero
authoii/. (I by somebody, authorized perhaps by some responsible ecclesiastical division
of the church. I do uot know anything to the contrary.

(,&amp;gt;

/..*,;.,:. What you stated before rather seemed to imply that he was a refugee ?

Ansirrr. I did not mean to intimate that he was a refugee. I stated that this gentle
man i n-i.i iVru, Illinois, u republican, told my informant that Mr. Lakin was, at ono

in ecclesiastical, not disgrace, but suspension, by reason ofsomething he had done.

[r.

j.Mirr of tin-

&amp;lt;r. 1 do not know.

lie CHAIKMAN, (Mr. POLAND:)
Question. Do yon not understand that when b&amp;gt; went to Alabama he went under die

authority of the Methodist Church North ?
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Answer. 1 have rot any doubt about it.

Question. Then he was*not a refugee, and he did not go down there to escape ecclesi-

.vstieal censure or punishment?
Aiivu-cr. J do not know that ho did. If I made any suggestion in that direction at

.ill, it was 1o this efi ceJ. : sometimes ;\ minister may do acts which will impair his use
fulness where lie has been living; evidence of reformation may be given by him, and
it may be suggested to Ir.i;:

Question.
r

l he purpose of my inquiry is to ascertain from you whether you did not

know, from information or oitjerwi.se, that he went down there accredited by the eecle-

.iatical authority of the Methodist Church North?
Answer. I do not know anything to the contrary, and I think he probably did.

(JitcslK Tt. Do you not understand that to have been the manner and reason of his go
ing to that State that lie went there clothed with such authority as could be given to

him by the ecclesiastical authorities of his church f

Answer. I have no ivasou to doubt it.

Question. You have been inquired of concerning the character of Mr. Lakin, whether
lie did not sustain a bad character. Now, what do you know, or what have you heard,

against the character of Mr. Lakin as a Christian minister f

Answer. Well, my impressions of Mr. Lakiu s character as a Christian minister have
been I know nothing personally about him

Question. State any information that you have?
Answer. My information is this: I saw that it was stated by him that ho could not

be safe down there; that he was not treated right

Question. I want you to lay aside his testimony ;
1 do not want yon to refer to that.

I want you to fix your attention on his character as a man while ho was there before-

he testiiieJ. Have you any information that Mr. Lakiii ever committed an act or

did a thing that was derogatory to his character as a Christian minister?

Answer. Knowing Mr. Lakin as little as I do, the impressions made upon my mind
.us to his character, from what I have heard of him, have not been favorable to him. at

all.

Question. I want yon to be specif;*-.

Ans-wtr. \ want to be specific.

Question. What act did you ever hear of Mr. Lakiu committing that was derogatory
no his character as a Christian minister

Anwtr. I cannot say ihat I have heard of any specific act derogatory to his charac

ter as a ( In istian minister. The general habit and practice of the man is fraternization

with colored people. It would depend altogether upon a man s stand-point whether
that wort id be regarded as favorable to his character. Then he told marvelous stories

bi Miig -hot at
;

I am not talking about his testimony, but about what I heard

gave Ills testimony.
Qtietii&amp;lt;&quot;t.

You understand that !iis mission in Alabama was to attach, so far as ho

rould, l.i:.- Methodist people in Alabama to the Methodist Church North? They did

not call it the &quot; Methodist Chun !i North,&quot; but the &quot;Methodist Episcopal Church.&quot;

Answer. \Yoll, I suppose hU mission in Alabama, whether ho was assigned specifically

to thai minion or no;, was to bring iulothc ecclesiastical fold of the Methodist Church,

the colored people: \ would not say Methodists generally.

Question. Very likely it w; s expected Ihat much the largest number of those whom
he would i-.ct to attach themselves to the Northern branch of the Methodist Church,

would b:&amp;gt; colored people, but do you understand that his etiorts were more directed to

getting tiie i
&amp;gt;o}

evatum of the colored than the white Methodists ?
&quot;*

Ansu t r. Yes, Mr; that is i.iy impression, distinct and emphatic.
(, fcr.s/; &quot;; . That ho was not t o aUrnipt to secure the white Methodists of the 8orii!i ot

alii
&amp;lt;s to his mission.
e. did organize a very considerable number of churches

clo\vn th&amp;lt; re t

Annn &amp;lt; r. Yes, sir.

(Justin}!. Do you underhand that they were exclusively colored?

Answer. No, sir, I do not
;
but where the colored settlements were, they were, I

reckon, nearly so; 1 cannot say they were exclusively colored.

Question. There were more or less white Methodists in Alabama?
Aimccr. Yes, sir; in what are called the white counties.

QucHiioa. Then do you understand that his special purpose, was to secure colored

people to attach themselves to the Northern church f

Answer. That is my impression.
Question. It is

true&quot;,
I suppose, that the great majority of those whom ho succeeded in.

detaching from the Methodist Churclx Funtil, and attaching to tho Methodist Church
North* were colored people?

k

Answer. 1 think so.

(J-ufKtion. Would you not naturally expect that if a man went down upon a mission
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of that sort, his business and his relations would be among those people whom he wa
endeavoring to convert and bring under the influence of tho dcnommatioii or organiz
ation to which he belonged ?

Ansicer. Certainly. My impression has been, xthut there was associated with. Mr.

Lakin s ecclesiastical mission a political mission. .

Question. Do you understand that he was sent there by any political party ?

Awncer. No, sir; I do not know that he was
;
but it might be difficult to separate the

two functions.

Question. You have said that tho great charge against him was, that he fraternized

with the colored people 1 What do you mean by that ?

Answer. Well, social equality ; receiving them on equal terms at his own table and
otherwise.

(Question. Considering his mission and purpose, was there not hardly anybody else

that he could fraternize with ?

Answer. A missionary to the colored people might fraternize with the white people.

Question. If he went there for the purpose of detaching them from the Methodist
Church South, and to attach them to the Methodist Church North, would he have been

acceptable to the white people ?

Answer. I do not think he would.

Question. The white Methodists of the South continued, as a general thing, to main
tain their relation to the Methodist Church South ?

Answer. Yes, generally.
Question. Do you think they would have fraternized with, and fellowshipped, a man

who had gone there for the purpose of detaching Methodists from the Southern

church, and attaching them to the Northern church F
Answer. I do not think that any mission, looking simply to ecclesiastical effort,

would deprive a man of social position.
Question. Do you believe that the white Methodists of Alabama, who continued to

maintain their relations with the Methodist Church South, would have received and
fellowshipped him as a Christian minister when he was there for a purpose that they
regarded as hostile to their church organization ?

Answer. Of course not, if you put it in that way ; but, at the same time, a man might
go down there for the purpose of acting as a missionary among the blacks

Question. I am supposing that he was there for the purpose of detaching Methodists
from the Southern branch of the church, and attaching them to the Northern branch.
Now would any white Methodist, who retained his relation to the Southern church,
tiave fellowshipped him as a Christian minister, under those circumstances ?

Answer. I think not.

Question. Then he had nobody else to fraternize with except the colored people ?

Answer. Oh, yes; he had others to fraternize with. They are not all Methodists
3own there. There are a great many men who do not belong to any church.

Question. Would southern white people, no matter what church they belonged to, fra
ternize with a Christian minister who had come down there for the purpose of detach

ing Methodistsfrom the southern branch of the church and attaching them to the north
ern branch ?

Answer. Southern white people, as everybody knows, who knows anything of them,
will not visit socially, as equals, men who fraternize with the blacks and treat them
as social equals. _

(Question. I want to lay that matter out of the question. If the very purpose and
mission which Mr. Lakin was there to carry out (not saying whether it was right or

wrong) was to detach a portion of the Methodists from the southern church, and attach
them to the northern church, would not that fact have created unfriendly relations
between him and the white people generally of all denominations ?

Anviver. Well, it naturally and probably would have had that influence.

ljutstion When you use the phrase &quot;fraternizing with the blacks&quot; do you mean to

Imply that there was anything criminal or in any respect immoral in Mr. Lakiu s re
lation to the colored people ?

Anstcer. I never heard any such thing ; or, if I have heard it, it made no impression
upon me.

(Question. From the position that ho occupied down there, was he not necessarily
thrown into relations with tho black people, and mainly with the black people only ?

Answer. No, sir; I do not think he was, except perhaps in tho county of Madison and
a portion of Marshall.

Question. There has been a great deal said about Mr. Lakin, and as yon come from
the vicinity where he resides, I want to get a full exposition of this whole thing. J

want you to state whether you have heard of any act or thing done by Mr. Lakiu, while
he lived in Alabama, that was in the slightest degree derogatory to his character a a
Christian minister!

Answer. Independently of his testimony and all such things ?

Question. Yes, sir.
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1 have not. It is due to truth to say that I have not. I have heard imputed
to him this thing- or that, but I have not heard anything which I can einphasize^whieh,
1 can fix upon.

Question. Do you not In-Hove that this alleged -bad character of Mr. Lakiii, about
which inquiry has been made by other members of the committee, has grown out of
the purpose lor which he went there, and the necessary relation which he occupied to
the black people in order to carry out tliat purpose ?

Anmcr. No, sir; not entirely. As 1 have said before, I have heard these reports
and these rumors, which seemed to he well founded, of a disturbance of his occlesiasti-
ral relations in the North.

(Juexiion. That did not a fleet him down (here, I suppose?
Anntrcr. It might have affected him down there.

(Juextiun. I am talking of what he did in Alabama?
Annicei . O, [ do not know anything of that sort.

Qitenthn. These were things whieh you heard of as having taken place iu the North,
a considerable time ago ?

Anwar. 1 do not recollect that I ever saw Mr. Lakin but twice. I never spoke to
him or interchanged a word with him. I have heard one thing and another, as I may
hearsneh things of any man. whieh 1 did not emphasize, and which did not make any
impression upon me.

(Question. One republican down tls-re i&amp;lt;&amp;gt;ld you he was a fanatic ?

Anwcr. Yes, sir.

fyuytion. What diil you underMand him to mean by that?
Antsircr. A man who was extreme in his views, ami extreme in his statements and

acts, and disposed to exaggemle. The man w lio said this, said at the same time that
he thought Mr. Lakiu meant to be honest.

Qn-estUtn. You understood, then, that he was an earnest, zealous, proselyting man
*

Anitwer. No, sir; I will not go so far as that. The phrase &quot;earnest, zealous, proselyt
ing man,&quot;

does not meet and lill the whole idea of a fanatic.

Question. You understood that to be included in the description, did you not; that
he was down there prosecuting this work, which he was sent to do, and prosecuting it

with zeal and energy ?

^Inxictr. 1 did not infer anything of that .^ut. Mr. Figgers and myself were referring
to his testimony,
*

Question. 1 want for a moment to lay that aside. I want to ascertain how he stood
in your community before he came here as a witness. Did you understand from what
you heard and from what everybody said about him that he was a man who was prose
cuting with zeal and earnestness this labor he was sent there to perform to detach
a portion of the Methodists from the southern church, and attach them to the
northern church f

Answer. Yes, sir; I had no other impression as to his character. I do not know that
it ever occurred to me that ho was doing the work with zeal and earnestness; but as
the question is asked me now, nay idea is that he was that sort of a man. I suppose.
he was a laborious man.

Question. And you say you m-ver heard him accused of any dishonorable or immoral
act?

Ansictr. 3&amp;gt;isM&amp;gt;ciated from his testimony, I never have, except as I told you iu regard
to what occurred at the North.

Question. If there was anything wrong about his course in the North, the northern

people will know about that. I am talking about his residence and acts in Alabama.
Anm-er. There is nothing of that kind that I can put my finger on now. I am not

the kind of a witness to bo informed with reference to what other men do. Other mex
attend to their business, and I attend to mine.

Question. You say that at one time a story got abroad that Mr. Lakin was killed*

Anmcer. Y es, sir.

Question. Do you happen to know how that story originated, or what set that minor

going f

Answer. No, sir.

Question. You never heard?
Answer. I never heard.

Question. Did you never hear that somebody iired into his house &quot;i

.Answer. I heard that a shot was iired into his house in 1868; that a portion o 1

&quot;

th-
buckshot went into the ceiling.

Question. Was not that the very time that the story arose ?

Answer. O. no
;
it was last spring that the story came out that he was killed,

Question. Are you sure of that ?

An&uxr. YVs, sir, positive; for I was very particular in inquiring about it.

Question. You do remember that somebody iired into the house f

Jlnmoer. I have heard since, and I do not know but I heard at the time, that somebody
fired into his house in 1868.
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Question. You did not regard that as a particularly friendly demonstration, I suppose?
Answer. Of course not. I have had that thing pretty nearly happen to myself, and I

ilid not consider it very friendly. But the fact that, according to the description, a

portion of the shot went into the upper sash, and the other portion into the upper
^lass of the lower sash, lodging in the ceiling, was rather indicative that there was no
intention of committing murder.

Question. Did you hear any of the circumstances of that affair?

,
Answer. 1 heard what I have .just mentioned : that is all.

Question. Did you hear anything as to who did the shooting, and Where they were
seen ?

Ansiccr. 1 heard one man say that it was done by a negro. I did not attach any
importance to that.

Question. Did you understand him to assert that as a fact which lie knew ?

Ansicer. I Bay I did not attach any importance to it particularly.

Question. Some charge all these Ku-Klux outrages on the negroes. /
Answer. I did not know that.

Question. Did you understand that this gentleman was simply asserting his judgment,
or stating a fact which he himself knew if

Answer. I reckon it was his judgment.
Question. He did not profess to have knowledge of the facts ?

Answer. No, sir
;
the gentleman who made that remark was Colonel Benjamin Jolly.

Question. Does he live in Huntsville ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. You say that Mr. Lakm had told that he had been shot at some time when
lie was traveling on the road ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And some people thought that he imagined it ?

Answer. Yes, sir
; my informant, who was informed by Mr. Lakin that he had been

shot at, told Mr. Lakin, &quot;I do not think that any man intended to shoot you, under
the circumstances.&quot;

Question. Did this man tell vou that Mr. Lakin said that the shot went through his

beard ?

Answer. No, sir, not at all.

Question. If the shot did go through his beard, would you not think it some indica
tion that some person did intend to injure him ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
that would bo coming rather close. My informant did not tell me

a,nv such tiling : ho understood that Mr. Lakin had said he heard the whistle of the
ball.

Question. If the shot went through his beard, you would not think him liable to a

charge of drawing on his imagination if he said that somebody intended to shoot him T

Answer. No, I would not.

Question. In 18G8 you were not living in Huntsville ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. But you learned that at that time a considerable body of armed, disguised
men one hundred and fifty or so appeared in the city of Huntsville ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. On a night when there was a republican meeting?
Ansicer. Yes, sir

; a night or evening. I do not recollect that the meeting was t

uight. These men appeared on the day of a republican meeting.
Question. That statement about the appearance of these men you supposed to be

true?
Answer. I have not any doubt about it at all.

Question. And there was some shooting on that occasion, and several persons killed T

Ansioer. Yes, sir.

Question. \Vere the persons who were killed upon that occasion republicans ?

Answer. I do not know. One man who was shot through the head or face was I
know a democrat.

Question. What was his name?
Answer. Cox.

Question. There was also, 1 believe, a Judge Thurlow shot ?

Anxwr. Judge Ttmrlow, from Athens, was killed. I suppose he was a republican. I

did not know him personally. Cox I did know personally.
Question. Was not Judge Thurlow there tp address the meeting ?

. I do not know. I reside eight miles from Huntsville.

Question. Did you not understand so ?

Anwcr. 1 understood he was a republican, and a participant in the meeting as a
republican.

Question. But you understood that that was a sort of indiscriminate firing that wa
got up in consequence of the panic ?

Answer. Yes. sir
;
that was the impression made on my mind at the time, and is what

I Btill think.
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Question. Had you over any settled idea as to the purpose with which that body of
ram c-in.io there how they happened to come into liuatsvillo the very night that this

republican meeting was being held there ?

Ansicer. The men who made up the meeting were mostly armed
;
and these men

went there perhaps for the purpose of intimidating that meeting to some extent. I
think that must have been it. That is my inference.

Question. You would hardly expect then that a body of republicans went there for
That purpose ?

Answer. O, no, sir, not republicans ; though I do not know whether they wore men
of any politics. They may have been red-hot secessionists.

Question. At that time in 18G8 were these bodies of disguised men pretty frequent
and general throughout the county did you hear of them everywhere f

An-twer. No, sir. 1 heard of their appearing probably two or three times in Ilunts-
ville. I heard of their appearing upon tho borders of Tennessee. They were not
general at oil ; they appeared in particular localities.

Question. Did you not hear of them at various places all about the State?
Answer. Yes, feir.

Question. And in other Stat-en

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. The matter became one t ( universal comment everywhere f

Answer. Well, sir, it was talked about. I do not want it understood that I was ever

impressed with tho idea that there VMS a general organization running through tho
State.

Question. I am merely asking whether they did not appear in localities all about the

country ?

Anxu-er. Yes, sir
;
I would hear of them at Pulaski, Tennessee, at Huntsville, Alaba

ma
; occasionly at Athens and Morrisville.

Quwthm. You have given us a theory as to the origin of tho Ku-Klux the motives
which prompted them. Your theory is that the slaves, immediately after their libera

tion, wero intoxicated with their freedom, hardly knew what to do with themselves,
Mud were going about. in bands talking wild things; that there was alarm in conse-

queuciLjnnTTnjrtES \viiife people, and that this organization, so far as it went, whether
it was local or otherwise, was a sort of volunteer police force, to check or prevent any
excesses that tii; colored people might be disposed to commit. That is your idea of
the origin of the organization ?

An:s&amp;gt;i-; ;. Yes, sir, that is my idea. I do not know whether you are aware of it, but
Senator Pool knows that we had always before the war a sort of local neighborhood
police. ;:,.t&amp;lt;! it strikes :;ie that this thing wn-x suggested by that.

r.v Mr. POOL:
W(&amp;lt;

s
&amp;gt; &amp;lt;&amp;gt;? . You reifr vo the paiioi

Atwic&amp;lt; &amp;gt;: Yes, si]-.

15y the CHAIRMAN, (iVTr. POI-AXD C,

Qiufl ion. Your idea, then is not that this organization was made up ofthe dissolute, tho
vicious, the abandoned, and the wicked the ragamuffins, as some have expressed it?

Jiiin- -a: No. 1 think that whatever elements of that character there may be in it

have gone into it latterly. Since tho election of 18G8 I have not heard of there being
bands of Ku-Klux.

Question. According to your idea, this organization in its original purpose w.is an

organization in tho interest of peace, order, and quiet?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. To afford protection against any outbreak by tho colored people if the.ro

should be any trouble of that kind .

Aiixtrcr. Yes, sir.

Question. But you say you think that subs; -(jueiidy it&amp;gt; wont quite beyond that?
Answer. Yes, sir; I think it did.

Question. Will you give us your iuea of th&amp;lt;; extent to v;hieh it did go ;
how far its

puiposo wrt$ enlarged or changed?
Answer. Well, sir, ifc was in one sense antagonizing the colored people, so far as regards

keeping them from doing acts that would amount to outrage, or anything of that
sort. When these meetings were held men attended them armed; and the colored

people being almost all of them, armed, there were naturally at times meetings which
were occasions of excitement. It was naturally thought that these men, coming
together in largo bodies, might bo induced or provoked to commit outrages; and theso
bauds called Ku-Klux, with a, view of averting anything that might follow from that
sort of thing, went there, and no doubt intimidated or disturbed these meetings. The
motive, I suppose, (this ia only an inference,) was a mixed one. My theory about the

origin of the thing is, I have no doubt, correct
j

bub the organization was, per
haps, perverted to a considerable extent, from its original purpose. I never saw u Ku-
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Klux, or a Kn-Klux band of any kind, knowing them to be such; I never talked with

any man who admitted to me that ho had been a Ku-Klux.

Question. You understand that in your State, and about in various localities through
your country, these armed bands occasionally killed a man ?

Answer. Oh, no
;
not all through the country; that is carrying it further than I had

dreamed of. I supposed it was a very narrow, limited thing. I have heard of it in

particular localities.

Question, When I say all about the country, I do not mean in every town and county
of the Southern Shi

Answer. The cases were exceptional rather than general.

Question. li;i\&amp;lt;
;,

&amp;lt;r.i not heard of them in North Carolina, South Carolina, and

Georgia ?

Answer. Yes, Mr.

Question. And in Mississippi
Answer. Yes, sir

;
in two or three .counties in Mississippi, and three or four in Ala

bama.
Question. So far as you heard of these bands operating at all. did you not hear of

their going about and killing men ?

Answer. 1 have heard frequently of their whipping men.

Question. Have you not heard of their killing a great many men?
Answer. My general impression is that I did hear of their killing people. That is the,

impression upon my mind, though I cannot now fix upon any one who was killed by
them.

Question. Did you ever happen to hear of their killing the solicitor of Greene County .

Answer. Mr. Boyd ?

Question. Yes, Mr. Boyd.
Answer. Yes, sir, I heard of that. 1 do not know that they were Ku-Klux who killed

him.

Question. Well, it was a body of disguised men ?

Ansiver. I havo heard, whether it was true or not, that Boyd had .been convicted of

y, serious offense.

Question. Fifteen years before ?

Answer. I do not know whether it was fifteen years before.

Question. We have all the particulars of that from other witnesses. I want to ascer
tain whether you did not hear of this body of disguised men going about in the night
and frequently killing deople?

Answer. No, sir, not frequently. I heard of Boyd being killed.

Question. We have hundreds of instances proved where they did it ?

Answer. They did it
;
there is no doubt about that

;
but I cannot designate the

places or the men.
Question. Was it not still more common to hear of these armed men going about at

night and whipping somebody, with great severity ?

Answer. I have heard of that in some counties in North Alabama. In DeKalb county,
in my district, a verdict of $1,000 was recovered the other day against some parties for

whipping a man.
Question. When they got to doing that, did you think they went beyond the original

ideaf
Answer. Altogether.
Question. When this organization began to whip people, and to kill people, do you

not think it had assumed a sort of political character I

Answer. It had assumed such a character that everybody cried out, &quot;stop these out

rages.&quot;

Question. All respectable, good people ?

Answer. All respectable, good people in my neighborhood did; and then the organ
izations were disbanded so far as my locality was concerned.

Question. You think that in your region the organization has entirely ceased ?

Answer. I think there has been no such thing as a band of Ku-klnx anywhere there
for nearly three years. I think I should have heard it if there had been. I am not

altogether unobservant of what is going on in my district, though I am a good deal of
the time away from there.

Question. Yon have spoken of the apprehension under which, according to your idea,
this Ku-Klux organization was first formed. Do you think there ever was any well-

grounded apprehension anywhere that an armed police force was necessary to keep
the colored people in check ?

Answer. That question addressed to different men would receive different answers.
Question. Well, I put the question to you.
Answer. I believe that any man who isuot easily intimidated can disarm adozen colored

people; but when the colored people us&amp;lt;3 menacing language, ride over the country
in squads, with arms in their hands, firing offtheir guns day and night, and on all days
of the week, there are very few persons that would not feel some apprehension, espe-
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rially in the condition of the country as it was a lew years ago, and in. view of the late
condition of the negroes as slaves, and their recent acquirement of freedom.

Question. They did not quite know what to do with themselves as freemen ?

Answer. They acted, not perhaps strangely but in a way to alarm people. Let me
4ive you a little illustration : In 18G6 or 1867, I could not get my colored servant
woman to milk my co\v when it rained

;
she would not do it; she thought that thing

was &quot;

played out,&quot;
and that I must go and milk the cow myself. And, when there

would be a guest at my house I could not get my servant to black his boots as the
custom had been

;
I had to black them myself. Most of the menial service I performed

at that time myself, because I had to do so.

Question. The colored people had got enlarged ideas of what it meant to be free ?

Answer. Yes, sir
; very large ideas.

Question. Was it about that time that they entertained the notion that they were-

going to have some land given to them, that there was to be a division .of the land?
Anxicer. They were told &quot; That is not your master s land, but your land

; your work
made it what ii is

;
he would not have had any land if it had not been for

you.&quot; That
was the sort of talk that wa* indulged in..

(Question. They had sense enough to get over that idea very soon, I suppose
&quot;

.

Answer. I will say for them that, as a race just emancipated, they are behaving
remarkably well.

Question. They soon got over those enlarged notions of what it was to be free ?

Anmvcr. Washington City exhibits more of what I would call insubordination among
the negroes than you can see almost anywhere else. For instance, you will not lind a,

colored man who will give his place to a white lady in a car; at least I never see that.
A great deal of what one sees in Washington City we do not see in my country. There
the negroes are respectful, and behave themselves astonishingly well.

Question. 1 think they do here.

Aiu&amp;gt;nw. Well, 1 do not think they do here compared with the conduct of the negroes
iuuong us. We arc a little in advance in that respect.

l&amp;gt;y
Mr. POOL:

Question. I want to learn :i little more about that I aytona afl air. Did the colored

people make any effort to burn the town on that occasion ?

An*)w. 1 said they threatened to burn it.

(
t

&amp;gt;motion. Did they make any effort to do it when they went into town ?

Answer. Not that I ever heard of. Mr. Tucker was my informant, and lie did not
.-rate th.-it. Phey swore they would burn the town.

Question. Did they commit any act of violence upon any individual ?

J.M.sjm 1

. Not so far as I heard. Mr. Tucker s statement to me was, (I am not pretend
ing to state anything of my own knowledge on this point,) that they went there and
swore they would burn the town, and made night hideous with their yells and menaces.
That was his statement.

Question. Did they commit any violence upon any person in town or anywhere else?

Answer. Not that 1 know of. lie did not state to me that they did.

Question. Did they commit any trespass upon any property in town ?

Anwrr. He did not mention that they did.

Question. When did they leave town f

Answer. They loft the town next morning, but they returned again on the evening
of Sunday.

Question. Did they commit any acts of violence when they returned on Sunday
evening ?

Answer. They tired off their guns in the direction of a congregation coming from

church, and alarmed the women and children very much.

Question. Was anybody hurt ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Did they retire again ?

Answer. Do you mean the blacks ?

Question. Yes, sir.

Answer. I suppose they did. Probably the men who lived in that little place were so

exasperated that they may have seized the leaders at once and dispersed the othem. J

am not advised as to that.

Question. You say that Luke was executed ?

Answer. Luke, and I think four negroes.
Question. How were they executed if

Ansicer. They were executed, as I understand, by the citizens of the plaoe.

Question. Were they hanged f ^
Answer. I suppose they were either hanged or shot

;
I never* inquired particularly

about that.

Question. Were they arrested before that ?

Ansicer. They were arrested and were taken out of the hands of the officer.
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Question. Were they arrested by legal authority ?

Anmw. They were arrested by citizens and placed in the hands of the officer. That
is my information.

Question. But they were taken from the hands of the officer, and four of them exe
cuted ?

Aimcer. Yes, sir.

Question. Were any more of them shot or wounded ?

Answer. None that I heard of.

Question. You say that Luke \vas obnoxious to the people ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Had he ever committed any act of violence on any one, or was he charged
with any such act ?

Answer. Mr. Tucker told mo that Luke had interested himself very much in seducing
servants lYoui.the employ of the planters, and had made himself offensively obnoxious
in that way.

Question. Ho had not committed any act of violence upon person or property so far as

you heard ?

Answer. No, sir; General Burke, a republican there, says he was constantly preach
ing his doctrine of fraternization with the negro, and miscegenation; and, as Burke

Bays, that doctrine is very offensive among those mountaineers.

Question. Was Luke a white man ?

Anxwer. Yes, sir; he was a Canadian.

Question, la there any serious apprehension of miscegenation among the people in the
South?
Annicer. I do not think there is, generally speaking; there is not in my neighbor

hood. There have been rapes committed there. In DeKalb County, the year before

last, a woman was ravished by two or three negroes; and it seemed to arouse a terrible

feeling of excitement. Of course the crime is horrible under any circumstances
;
but

it is especially terrible when committed in that way. Those people were greatly
excited and exasperated. Of course under such circumstances they would be likely to

commit outrages and go further than they should. Cases of that kind may have
induced the doing of a great many wrong acts acts wrong in themselves, but having
strong provocation to their commission.

Queulton. Do you think that this Ku-Klux organization was gotten up for the purpose
of preventing miscegenation f

Answer. O, no; not necessarily. I had not thought of that; but when men who
constitute a large majority of the population ride about night and day in a menacing
manner, shouting and screaming, it is very natural for a female to have apprehensions
of some sort of outrage. Iain not speaking particularly of miscegenation. Miscege-

*

nation, 1 suppose, is a voluntary sort of business rather than anything that is done
by the use of muskets, pistols, or anything of that sort.

Question. You think there is nothing in the conduct of the negroes for the last two
or three years which would justify the forming of these extraordinarv organizations
called the Ku-Klux?

Aiimrer. Not in my locality; I only speak of that. If I am truly advised (and I think
I am without any doubt) there has been no such thing as a Ku-Klux there for the last-)

two years, or lor more than two years.
Question. Did you say that even Mr. Lakin was received down there with courtesy

and kindness 1

Anmcer. lie said so; he said he was received with courtesy. He told republicans so
;

and they said they were very much surprised at his testimony as reported by telegraph.
Question. Do you mean that In*, said so here in his testimony?
Anmccr. lie said there, that he had been received with uniform courtesy ;

and those to
whom he had used this expression were very much surprised at his testimony in which
he said the contrary.

QiKntion. Had he been received there with courtesy and kindness?
Aimn-er. How do I know! I do not know whether he has been or not. I have heard

of instances two or three years ago where he was not. lie was received with courtesy
uud kindness HO far as my observation went. He stated to Mr. James Ware and Mr.
(Jill, and Mr. Day, that he had been treated generally with courtesy.

QuwUon. Did be state to Mr. Day that he had generally been treated with courtesy,
or was he speaking of a particular occasion ?

AiiMim: He said that he hud generally been treated with courtesy in traveling tho
ciistriet that made up his circuit.

Qnex:ion. Did he say that to Mr. Day ?

Autiircr. He said it to Mr. Ware anil Mr. Gill; and as I understood Mr. Day to say,
to him also.

Vacation. And you say tho community was very much surprised at tho statement ho
was reported to have mado in his testimony ?

A twicer. 1 did not say tho community ;
I said that these gentlemen to whom he had
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expressed himself as having been treated with courtesy were very much surprised to
find tl:at lie had testified to the contrary.

Question. Do you yourself believe that ho had been received generally with courtesy
and kindness?

Answer. I have no knowli &amp;lt;!^&quot; to the contrary. I suppose he did not ask for the
court;-sv of some, men. I never saw the man but twice.

QnvsHon. Is it your .judgment that, he told the truth when lie said he had not been
received with courtesy and kindness by the white people?
Answer. My judgment is that he did not tell the truth when he said he had been

treated discourteously or unkindly; that he had been threatened, or anything of that
sort. I do not think he ever received such treatment. I have no doubt that tricks
were played on him some time ago; but I have heard of nothing of that kind recently.

Question. You think then that in the main he was received with courtesy and kindness *

Attwer. 1 take his statements as given to these gentlemen ; they are the only informa
tion I have on the subject. I never asked anybody in regard to the matter.

Question. You rely I think. more on the statement which was made not upon oath.
to these gentlemen, than you do on the statement made upon oath before this com
mittee ?

Answer. There was no motive for him to tell these gentlemen anything but the truth.
I do not knew what he did tell the committee. Did he say that he was not safe?

Question. I understood you to say that it was so reported.
Anawcr. It was so reported in the telegraphic abstract of his testimony; and thes

gentlemen were surprised to see that statement.

Question. You say it was reported that he was at the Five Points mission in Now
York and got into some trouble with his church?
Anxwtr. Yes, sir.

Qtu uHon. Tlu:t he went thence to Pern, Illinois ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question, And that there he had trouble again ?

Answer. No, I did nt-t say he had trouble there
;.
the same trouble followed him there,

Question. And i hence lu&amp;gt; \va.s transferred to the southern country, and these reports
followed him there .

-

Answer. Yes, ^ir.

Qxc:i!i-aii. You seem to be- pretty positive that he has been iu the habit of fraternis

ing with negroes and having them at his table?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Quention. To an extent which I believe you said savored of miscegenation?
AHX-.&amp;gt;rt-r. O, no; 1 did not say that; 1 said it looked towards social equality. I do

not impute miscegenation to him.

Question. Is it likely that a man who carried to Alabama such a reputation as ho
e. enis by your statement to have acquired at the Five Points, New York, and to have
carried with him to Peru, Illinois a man who had gone to Alabama for the purpose of

detaching a portion of the southern Methodists from their church connection, and con
Bjcting them with another church organization a man, too, who fraternized \nth tho

negroes and had them at his own table, and to an extent that looked toward social, ffjnf: i

ity is it likely that such a man would bts received there with courtesy avid ki i hus.-,

Answer. Not where that thing was practiced.
Qucaiion. Was it not general
Anuwcr. There are very few negroes in the southern counties of his district

;
I think his.

associates there were principally whites. North Alabama, except in the valleys, has
very lew negroes.

Question. Before Mr. Lakiu appeared here to testify, did you hear that he was reckless
in his statements?
Auwcr. I have heard since this testimony came out, and talking with men with whom

he was in the habit of conferring, that he was reckless in giving his testimony.
Question. Had you ever heard recklessness in his statements attributed to him before?
Answer. I never heard anything of him, except knowing that he was there as a min

ister. I was born and reared in the North, and whatever people may think about men
who come down to the South, I am for letting everybody go his owu way, provided
that lie does not trespass on my rights, or those of my neighbors.

Question. Did you ever hear anything of Mr. Lakiu s &quot;powerful imagination&quot; beforo
ho came before this committee to testify ?

Anxwcr. No, sir.

Question. You have, only heard of these things einco ?

Answer. Yes, sir; my attention has not been called to him very much except in thia

connection.

Q&amp;gt;i(stio)i.
You say you think he is honest ?

Anftwer. No
;

I said that Mr. Figgers said he thought ho was honest, but a fanatic.

Question. Do you think that he has the reputation among those who know Iain in
Alabama, of being an honest man?
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An*wu: 1 really rannot wry well ;ni,^ver that question. I cannot say that he has
the reputation now of being an honest man among those who know him in Ala
bama. As I have told you, men who were his personal friends have been astonished at
the report of his testimony, because it is so contradictory of his previous statements.

Question. Contradictory in any other particular than on this question of his having
been received witli courtesy and kindness f

Answer. IS
T
o

;
but 1 referred also, you will recollect, to the case about the butter.

Question. I asked whether they said the report of his testimony was contradictory to

his previous statements upon any other point than this question of his having been re

ceived with courtesy and kindness?
Answer. I do not recollect as to that.

Question. If that is the only thing in his testimony at which they were surprised,.and
which seemed to them to contradict *

Answer. They only saw a brief abstract of his testimony. They were very much sur

prised that he should have made a general statement that he was not safe in Alabama,
and could not obtain kind and courteous treatment.

Question. The supposed contradiction between his testimony here and his previous
statement, that he was received with courtesy and kindness, is what has gotten up
this talk ia regard to his testimony, is it ?

Question. It is his testimony, so far as they are advised of it, that they are talking
about.

Question. Are they advised of it any further than you have stated ?

Answer. They are not advised of it further than by the abstract which has been pub
lished in the papers, and which has not been denied.

Question. Did you ever hear about the transaction in connection with the tub of
)vutter until after he had given his testimony here f

Answer. I may have heard of it when I was informed that he was coming here to

give his testimony. I do not recollect whether I heard it after he gave his testimony
or after we were advised that he was c*oming to give his testimony.

Question. But you had never heard it except in connection witiu his appearance as a

witness before this committee ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Why was such a thing as that started in regard to him as soon as it was
known that he had been summoned to appear before this committee?
Answer. It may have been started after he had given his testimony ; my mind is not

k-ar as to that. If he had made statements here which people did not believe to be

rue, that would naturally suggest to them to tell anything they knew that was not
&amp;gt;.ivorable to him. It came out in that way.

Question. But I understand you to say that the only statement upon which a point .

was made was simply the statement that he had not been received with proper courtesy
uud kindness by the people of Alabama ?

Answer. O, no
;
I referred to his testimony generally. Major Ware told me that lie

was very much surprised at the testimony of Mr. Lakin that he could not travel safely,
was not treated courteously, and all that : because last spring when it was reported

would kill me
;
I have been treated with uniform courtesy and kindness.&quot;

Question. Do you suppose that Mr. Lakin was guilty of dishonesty, (and if the

Charge was true it really bordered on larceny,) in connection with that butter trans
action ?

Answer. Well it strikes me so, particularly as, in order to settle the matter, he paid
twice as much as the butter was worth. I only state the transaction as it was related-
to me.

Question. If Mr. Lakin s conduct had been such as the story would imply, it would
have been in the nature of felony, would it not ?

Answer. 1 think that I would hardly look an honest man in the face if I had done
anything of that kind.

Question. In law the offense would partake of the nature of a felony ?

Answer. Well, I suppose it would be a felonious taking; it would squint (hat way, I

rhink. I hardly know how a lawyer would detine it.

Question. To whom was it stated he had paid this double price ?

Ansiccr. To Isham Gill.

Question. Who is he f

Answer. A young merchant there, 26* or 27 years of age.
Question. What did he have to do with the transaction ?

Ansicer. The butter was sent to his sister.

Question. And it was supposed that Mr. Lakin paid that double price in order to set
tle the matter I

Answer. Yes, sir; that is the information given to me.
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Question. Did you understand that in consideration of that settlement Mr. Gill was
to .say no more about it?

Answer. That was what I understood. He did say no more about it at that time.
Question. If it became publicly known that the double price was paid, it must have

become known through Mr. Gill?
Answer. Of course, unless it became known through Jarvis, the express man, who,

I think, was present.
QucsHvn. What do you think of a man who would compound a felony in that way

by receiving money in order to hush up an offense and say nothing about it? Is not
that also a crime?

Answer. It is so by statute in some States.

Question. What do you think of the transaction morally?
Answer. Well, it is not necessary to ask me that question. If a man had taken my

butter under those circumstances, I think I would have had him arrested
;

I do not
think I should have taken fifty cents a pound to settle the matter.

(Question. What would you think of a man who would go and make a public parade
of the lac: that he had, in consideration of money, compounded a felony in that way,
and agreed to keep silent on the subject?

Answer. Well, I think it savors a little of blackmailing, in one sense, though, per
haps, it hardly goes to that extent. 1 think it may be possible that Mr. Gill thought
some little penalty ought, to be paid for that breach of trust, as, I suppose, you may
cail it.

Question. Especially if he was himself the recipient of the penalty ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Do you really believe, from all you have heard, that there was anything
dishonest on the part of Mr. Lakiu in that transaction?
Answer. I do not know that I would convict Mr. Lakin of positive felony on the facts

as they appear; there is a plausibility, to some extent,jabout his statement; but I
should not care about his getting my butter after that.

Question. If a stranger in the community had made an honest mistake in a. matter of
that kind, would you think it kind or fair treatment to make him pay a double price
in that way ?

Answer. No, sir. I cannot imagine that a man who was honest in a transaction of
that sort would have paid it.

Question. Is the fact that Mr. Lakin paid this double price supported by the state
ment of anybody other than the man who received the money, and the man who was
a party to its reception ?

Ansiccr. Both Mr. Gill and the expressman stated it.

Question. Gill is the man who received the money, and the expressman who was
standing by was a party to the transaction ?

Answer. The expressman was there; he had no interest in the matter, so far as I

know.
Question. But he had an interest in the good order of the community, and the proper

observance of the laws.
Answer. Everybody has that sort of an interest.

Question. Upon the statements of those two men the proof as to paying this double

price depends ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. You did not have that transaction in your mind when you said you could
not advert to any specific act of Mr. Lakin s which was inconsistent with the character
of a Christian minister?

Answer. It did not occur to me at that time.

By the CHAIRMAN, (Mr. POLAND:)
Question. When did you understand that transaction to have happened.?
Answer. I think it was in 1868; that is my recollection, but I am not positive about it.

By Mr. TOOL :

Question. That was when Mr. Lakiu was an entire stranger in the community?
Answer. O, no, sir.

Question. When did he go there?
Answer. He was there before that; I don t know precisely when he went there. As

I have before stated, I live in the country ;
he may have been there some months

before I knew of his being there.

Question. But you heard nothing of this butter business until after he came before
this committee?

Answer. It was after he was summoned before the committee, and I think probably
after he gave his testimony.

Question. Does the fact that the matter slumbered so long from 1868 until now
impress your mind with the idea that the statement is a slander?
Answer. No, it does not; I do not think the young man is capable of that.
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should bo compensated.
HJ. I understood you to say that the letter which accompanied the butter

signed with the young man s name, but simply signed
&quot;

your brother?&quot;

. It was signed
&quot;

your brother, Lsham Gill.&quot;

Question. You mean the young man who took the double price for the butter?

Ansu-er. Yes, sir. I think that if he erred, he did it ignorantly, and without any
consciousness of doing anything wrong. I do not approve of anything of that sort;

but he had been put to a great deal of inconvenience, and may have thought it right
that he should be compensated.

Question.
was not si&amp;lt;

Answir. o
Que-xlion. You said that a man went to your house and notified you that the teaching

of negroes must be stopped ?

Answer. The man did not come to my house. He told me that my wife s teaching of

negroes must be stopped. That was in 1867 or 1868, I think. Larkin White was the

mail s name. Ho is dead now. He told me that he understood my wife was teaching
her negroes, and said he supposed I did not know that for that cause Elijah Fitch was
advised that he would be handled pretty roughly. Fitch had been teaching the

negroes.
Question. By whom had Fitch been so advised ?

.

Answer. I inferred it was some of those irresponsible lawless men about there.

Question. Do you mean the Ku-Klux ?

Answer. Well, it may have been. It was a foolish idea in some of the Southern
States at that time that the negroes must not be taught.

Question. Do you not think that the man referred to the Ku-Klux when he said they
had given that notice ?

Answer. My impression was that he did refef to men in disguise, because I said that I

would pull their masks off their faces if they came visiting me.

Question. At what time was that ?

Answer. I think it was in 1867 or 1868.

Question. But I understood you to say that at that time these Ku-Klux were not law
less and bad men ?

Answer. I said there had been no Ku-Klux there since 1868.

Question. About that time you think the organization started ?

Answer. The first organization was before that.

Question. Before 1868 ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
I think so.

Question. Before 1867 t

Answer. I cannot say that it was before 1867
;

it did not last a great while any how.

Question. Do you think you would be safe in undertaking to pull the disguise off the
faces of disguised men or off their horses 1

Answer. 1 generally find that if a man comes to assail me in my rights of person or

property, I can walk right up to him and say,
&quot; Desist

;&quot;

and I will take pains to do so.

I do not know whether it would have been safe or not
;
for I think it was in view of

possible peril that I said I would do it
;
and I think I would have redeemed that

promise. I think that if there was an attempt to visit in that way a servant of mine,
black or white, living with me and necessarily under my protection, I would resist it

at every hazard.

Question. Would you advise your black servants to fire on men of that kind ?

Answer. I would advise them to resist at every hazard, and to insist on the recogni
tion of their rights.

Question. Do you think that would be the proper course to be pursued generally by
the negroes in the Southern States ?

Answer. I do not know that it would
;
I am only talking about myself. I have not

been assailed very often
;
I do not know that I have over been with impunity ;

I

believe that when assaults are made upon the rights of men, black or white, if they
would resist and defend themselves repel the assailants at whatever peril if this
were the uniform policy it would check a great deal of lawlessness.

Question. And lawlesness ought to be checked ?

Answer. Certainly it should.

Qiu xlion. Then, in your judgment, that would be a proper ctmrse to be pursued by
the colored men in the South when assailed by Ku-Klux f

Answer. Of course
;

I would advise them to take the same course which I would
take myself. I cannot conceive that men could come to my house and intimidate me
in that way. They might do so

;
we cannot always tell what we would do in certain

supposed emergencies ;
it is possible they might come and perhaps intimidate me in

such a way that I would succumb and go with them and bo treated by them as they
chose

;
but I cannot conceive that such a tiling would be likely to happen to me.

Question. You would not consider a submissive demeanor the best one to be pursued,
by either black or white ?

An-swcr. No. sir.

Question. You spoke something of robberies committed by these disguised men ?

Aftmoer. Thieves and rascals have assumed disguises, as they are very apt to do.
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Question. Perhaps they have taken their hint from the Ku-Klux.
Anawei\ Yes; they have gotten it in that way possibly; at any rate these men who

are not Ku-Klux occasionally commit robberies in disguise.
Question. You mean they are not Ku-Klux in the true sense of the term ?

Answer. Not in the original sense of the term.

Question. They are what might be called bogus Ku-Klux?
Answer. Well, I would call them scamps running round and committing depredations.

I may illustrate the point in this way : After the war men in Federal uniform com
mitted a great many robberies. They had purchased the clothing of soldiers; it was a
sort of shelter to them in which to commit crime. In the same way men who commit
robberies may desire them to appear to have been committed by Ku-Klux.

Question. But in addition to the robberies you have heard of, (which you attribute
to bogus Ku-Klux, as they might be termed,) you have heard occasionally, at least, of
men being killed by them ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And you have heard of a great many cases of men being taken from theii
Louses at night and scourged by them ?

Answer. I have heard of several, I have named a number. One was the case of Mr.

Gate, in Jackson county. Old Mr. Harker, a soldier of the war of 1812, I think, was
whipped. Two negro men Ned Larkin and his brother were killed. But the men
killed in these cases were democrats, black and white; and they were killed too. as I

am advised, by republicans. Of the homicides which have occurred under my obser
vation in the State of Alabama. I am satisfied that in a large proportion of cases the
victims have been democrats.

Question. You mean immediately upon the close of the war?
Answer. No, I mean within the last two or three years. I have not heard of any

homicides in my neighborhood or vicinity since last January.
Question. How were those homicides generally committed in an open rencounter in

the day time ?

Answer. Not all of them but some. Polk Wright was killed by the son of the sheriff.

Question. That was not a Ku-Klux outrage, of course?
Answer. That was not a Ku-Klux outrage ;

but Wright was a very active democratic

partisan for a young man. Cate was killed by men in disguise. Governor Lindsay
oliered a reward for the apprehension of the men, naming them. That case grew out
of some difficulty in connection with a loose woman. The two negroes I have men
tioned were killed by men in disguise, &quot;who are supposed to have been worthless,

trilling fellows, (this is my most recent and authentic information,) who were anxious
to get rid of those negroes, so that they might work the land on which the negroes
were working.

Question. With those exceptions, have you known any case where a member of the
democratic party has been killed by what you would call a genuine Ku-Klux organ
ization ?

Answer. O, no
;

I have never known any genuine Ku-Klux organization. Some of

the men who were injured in the affair at Huntsville in 1868, were democrats
;
but the

Ku-Klux had nothing to do with the firing there, as I am advised.

Question. You believe that the organization generally denominated Ku-Klux proper
have committed whippings, scourgings, and now and then a murder, within the last

two years, do you not f

Answer. I ani not advised of any such Ku-Klux organization proper.

Question. Have there been no scourgings by persons in disguise in your district ?

Answer. There may have been scourgings ;
I have heard of whippings, perhaps in

Cherokee County, possibly in De Kalb, and perhaps in Etowah.

Question. Do you mean cases where persons were taken from their houses and whipped
by men in disguise ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did you over know a democrat to be so treated ?

Answer. I never heard what the politics of these men were; I do not think they were

whipped because they were republicans. It may have been on account of their associ

ations in some way, as I have suggested several times in my testimony hero.

Question. I understood you to say that you thought the original organization of the

Ku-Klux was for a designated purpose, and that there were at the start some good
men in it men who entered with good intentions.

Answer. I think it is very likely. My theory is that the organization originated as a
sort of police for protection.

Question. A sort of substitute for the old patrol system of slave times I

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. That patrol system was for the purpose of controlling the negroes and keep
ing them in their places.

Answer. This was a substitute for that, so far as to prevent anything like outrage on
the part of the negroes. I do not mean to be understood as saying that the two organ
izations were entirely identical in their purpose.
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Question. The patrol was authorized by law ?

Answer. I know th:jt that was authorized by law.

Question. I understood you to say that latterly, as you thought, bad men have gone
into this Ku-Klux business.

Answer. I say that latterly scamps, thieves, and robbers have assumed disguises

assimilating those of the Ku-Klux, and perhaps like them, and under that cover or

mask have committed their offenses.

Question. The offenses by disguised men are still continued?
Auxicer. O, outrages are committed everywhere.
Question. Do you mean by disguised men?
JWNHVV. Yes, by disguised men.

Question. You hear of that still going on?
Ansiccr. Not by Ku-Klux organizations by disguised men in small numbers three

or four together.
Question. Why do you suppose that the original Ku-Klux organization of which you

spoke has been disbanded .

Answer. Because it ia the general impression the accepted view of the whole intelli

gent portion of the country where I reside
;
and everybody has urged that it should be

disbanded. I do not suppose there is an intelligent man in rny town who will not
make the same statement. That is the common impression and belief.

Question. Have you not heard of transactions of this kind by disguised men in other
localities distant from your place of residence, in the State of Alabama and outside
of it?

Answer. I heard the other day of outrages committed by disguised men in Mississippi,
and some time ago I heard of them as committed at a distance in Alabama, but not

recently, and not as a Ku-Klux organization. I think that all men who commit crime
are very apt to assume a disguise of some form. Night itself is a disguise; and these

outrages are generally committed at night.
Question. Before the war was it common in Alabama for bands of men with disguises

upon their persons and their horses to go through the country committing crimes. Did
you ever hear of such a thing before the war?

Answer. No; I do not remember that I ever did.

Question. From what you said in regard to tearing the disguises from their horses, I

infer that according to your information they disguise not only themselves but their

horses.
Answer. The horses were covered with sheets

;
that was the description I had of

them
;
I do not know how they are in your section

;
I never saw one.

Question. You said that you believed the negroes might be disarmed very easily by
the white men

;
that one white man could disarm ten or a dozen negroes.

Answer. One white man of determination.

Question. I mean, of course, a man of sufficient determination and capacity. Now has
it been the habit of these organizations to disarm the negroes?
Answer. Not all

;
I never heard of it.

Question. You spoke of disarming some negroes yourself on one occasion?
Answer. Two or three.

Question. Why did you think it necessary to do that ?

Answer. They were threatening to shoot one another. They were drunk and playing
cards, and one of them said the other had cheated him. I did not want any shooting
on my premises.

Question. You were acting in the interest of peace among them?
Answer. I always act in that interest except where war seems much more apt to be

effective. They were making a great noise? in front ofmy house on the street, and one
was threatening to shoot the other. There was no assault upon myself.

Question. You spoke of that Himtsville affair in 1868, in which a great many persons
were killed and wounded. Did I understand you to say that the negroes in their alarm,

got to shooting one another?
Auxicer. From what I heard I think they shot wildly; it was a sort of wild firing.

Question. How many of them were killed .

Anxwer. I lo not remember.
Ou&amp;lt; .ition. As many as twenty ?

Anmccr. My impression is that not so many were killed.

Question. Five or six ?

Answer. Perhaps live or six killed and wounded. I do not know that that many were
killed.

Question. You heard of but one white man being hurt on that occasion?
Answer. 1 heard of one white man being killed and another shot.

Qucntion. You spoke of Judge Thnrlow being killed
;
he was a white man ?

Answer. He was a white man, and there was another by the name of Cox, who was
Bhot through the face.

Question. Are those the only white men whom you heard of as being injured on that
occasion ?
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Answer. I do not recollect .any others.

Question. The principal injury was upon the negroes?
Answer. My impression is there were more white men killed and wounded than

negroes. 1 do not know that any negroes were killed. There may have been some. I

am not positive about that.

Question. Did you hear of any democrats being killed ?

Answer. No ; Cox was one, but he was not killed.

Question. Did you hear of any democrats being wounded except Cox 1

Answer. I do not recollect that I did.

Question. We have heard in the evidence given before ns that the members of thia
Kn-Klux organization in some localities have made a pretense that they were the

spirits of the confederate dead ghosts. What do you know as to that ?

Answer. When they were lirst started they worked upon the superstition of the negroes.
When they first came out some fellows said, I heard, that they wore the spirits of the
confederate dead, and that they could drink a bucket of water without any trouble.

They made manifestations of that sort writh the motiye of impressing very decidedly
the negro mind.

Question. And they said they had risen from the graves at Gettysburg?
Answer. I did not hear that. They said, as I understood, that they were the spirits

of the confederate dead. But that is rather an antediluvian story. Such things get
old very quickly. I recollect hearing that some of these men appeared at a pic-nic in

Tennessee above our boundary line, that they came there looking immensely tall (of
course artificially so) and drinking great quantities of w.atcr, making the impression
upon the African that they were the spirits of the confederate dead.

Question. Did I understand you to say that you cannot challenge the registry of a
voter in Alabama I

Answer. As I understand, you cannot.

Question. Is there any law against bringing testimony to show to the registering
officers that a man is not entitled to register ?

Anmcer. I never heard of one being challenged, and we accept it as a fact that no

challenge can be made.

Question. Is not the law against challenging expressly confined to voting?
Answer. I know that we cannot challenge voting, and nay impression is the same with

regard to the registry.
Question. Does not a man when he registers have to swear that he is a qualified voter?

AHtu cr. Yes. sir; I think he docs. That is my recollection. When I registered I

think I took that oath.

Question. Is not the penalty for falsely taking that oath confinement in the peniten

tiary?
Answer. I do not recollect. I must confess I am not advised that there is any penalty

which is available connected either with registration or voting.

Question. As to availability that might depend on the sentiment of the community;
but as to the law itself, does it not provide a penalty ?

Answer. I cannot speak positively about that. My impression is that there is no

practical restraint ;
that there is a general laxity in reference to the matter, and that

the law itself permits it. I know that practically the voting there is without chal

lenge, and I think there is no challenge at the registration. If a person applying to b.e

registered takes the required oath, I think that is the end of it.

Question. Do you know of any association of gentlemen in your district for the pur
pose of furthering political ends, in which they are bound by some obligation one to

another ?

Answer. I never heard of such a thing.

Question. Do you know of no association of men for political ends or others, having a

regular constitution, rules, officers, &c. &amp;lt;

Answer. I never heard of it.

Question. Do you think that none such exists in your county ?

Answer. I think it could not exist without my knowing it. It is barely possible that

there is such a thing : but I think if there had been I would have heard of it. I know
that nobody would ever suggest to me the forming of such an association. You mean
a secret association.

Question. I am not introducing that element into the question.
Answer. Well. I do not recollect any such association

;
I never heard of any, and 1 do

not know that any ever existed.

Question. Do you think that any such association exists in any part of Alabama?
J /;&amp;gt;&amp;lt; ,&quot;. So far as I am advised I do not think it does.

Question. I understand you to say that you think person and property are secure at

this time in Alabama ?

Aniiwer. Yes, sir
;
so far as uiy county and district and locality are concerned.

Question. And you think the laws are pretty well executed, as much so as in other

places
^
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Anxwer. I do not know about their being executed with our officers. There is peace,
order, quiet.

Question. Security?
Anxwer. I think so. I have advised hundreds of republicans who have written to

me on the subject that they can corne therewith perfect safety, be secure in their

property and their persons, and socially bo treated kindly.
Question. But that was not entirely so in 1868?

. Yes, I think it was so in 1888. For instance, a Mr. Fry, a decided republi
can who had been a leading man in Snringfield, Ohio, came therewith others, and they
were all welcomed and received cordially. The best assurances I have had on this

subject have been from republican witnesses.

Question. Was that the case before 1888?
Answer. I think it was. I wrote a letter addressed to Mr. Hillhouse and other

gentlemen who thought of investing money there; and I published it oveT my own
signature. It was written in 1866, and I would now reaffirm the statements I then
made. I invited those gentleman to come down to our section, assuring them that any
man who would come to our country with the motives which should prompt any man
in removing from one section to another, with the view of bettering his condition or

fortune, would be treated kindly.
Question. I was not speaking so much of safety to those who are generally denomi

nated &quot;

carpet-baggers
&quot; as the general run of the people of the community.

Answer. I say they are safe.

Question. Safe in person and property ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And you say there is peace and quiet there ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
I think so

;
as much so as in Ontario County, New York, where I

was reared.

Question. Suppose that those persons who are now under disabilities were relieved,
what, in your opinion, would be the effect ?

Answer. I think it would have a happy effect.

Question. Why happy, if you now have peace, quiet..and security without any such
measure?

Answer. When I say we have peace and security I do not mean to say that the people
are satisfied with not being able to select freely their own officers. We may have
peace and security, while a large portion of the people are disfranchised. Would you
infer that because of the existing disfranchisement we have peace ?

Question. Not at all.

.-hi nicer. Your question is suggestive of that. These men who are disfranchised have
friends in the community ; they are able men and men of influence

;
men who are con

suited with.

Question. You think that if they were relieved they would probably be elected to

office, and have the control of affairs placed in their hands ?

Anxtver. Those who are qualified would be apt to be chosen to office, as they were be
fore. They ought to occupy office, because they are the best qualified men.

Question. Other men fill the offices now ?

Answer. Very indifferently, a great many of them.
Question. But still, under their administration, you have peace and perfect security

of person and property ?

Answer. We have, despite their inefficiency ;
but there is not satisfaction by any

means in the community.
Question. I suppose not, to the men who are under disability, and their friends.
Answer. Almost everybody is the friend of the men who arc disfranchised. I am not

satisfied with the present condition of things, and I am not laboring under disabilities.

f^ncstioii. Uid you mean to say that your county commissioners of highways before
the war took an oath to support the Constitution of the United States f

v

Answer. Yes, sir; and constables, too.

Question. Constables did, I know.
Answer. The commissioner of highways is a higher office than constable.
Qucxlion. And you say that the great majority of the men of ability (I think you said

all, but I suppose you did not mean it) are under disability in your section of the
country ?

Answer. Most of them.
Question. No man is under disability unless he held office before the war?
.lii.iirer. Well, almost every man who has reached middle age has held an office of some

kind at some time in his life. There are young men there who did not hold office.

Question. You said a large majority of your people were Union men before and during
the war.

Answer. The large majority of them were Union men before the Avar; and as to the
people of North Alabama generally (I am not speaking particularly of my own county)
1 think that a large majority of them never did any act hostile to the Uuiom unless
they were forced to do it.

i
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Question. If they maintained their loyalty to the Government how came they to be
under disabilities f

Answer. There was such a thing as being forced or pressed into the aid of the rebel
lion. I was a Union man all the way through ;

but I do not undertake to say that if
I had remained in the South during the war I would not have committed some acts
which would have been regarded, aud properly regarded^as disloyal. But I would not
stay there; when our flag came down I went away. Daring the war I was not under
that sort of pressure to which those who remained there were subjected. I would not
allow myself to be put under that pressure. No one can say that he would not have
been obliged under those circumstances to aid the rebellion in some way.

Question. Yon think that many men who are now under disability were really loyal
men at heart during the war, but were constrained by circumstances to do acts tend

ing to aid the rebellion ?

Answer. Yes, sir. Take the men of the middle class the men whoso interests were
always in the line of peace who were not politically ambitious. I think the war was
made by the politicians of the South. 1 do not believe the masses ever went went into
it heartily. The recognition of leadership was carried to a much greater extent there
than I have seen it carried in any other portion of the country. The men whom the
southern people sent lo Congress were continued in service for years; their opinions
were regarded as of great weight. People would ask &quot;What does our Representative
or our Senator think about this ?

&quot; and then they would follow him. In my opinion the
southern people were led into the rebellion more by this habit of following leaders
than by any hearty concurrence in the disunion movement.

Question. Then you think that a great many men who are under disabilities were
loyal at heart during the war, but were constrained by circumstances to become im
plicated in the rebellion ?

Anwcr. Yes, sir. Their sons, for instance, may have gone into the confederate ser

vice, were perhaps conscripted ;
and they helped them.

Question. Do not men of that class especially feel that a great wrong was done them
by being placed under disabilities by the Government after the close of the war?
Anxuw. Yes, sir, they do. I think that the, disfranchisement of such men was th

most impolitic thing the Government could have done; I mean in the interests of peace
and contentment, without reference to party.

Question. In order to be under disabilities a man must have held some office before
the war. Now were not the worst and most violent of the secessionists and war men
among those who were not under disabilities at all, because they had held 110 office

before the war ?

Aitmcer. Yes, sir. that is so in some instances.

Question. Is not that a great cause of complaint among the men who were Union men
before the war, and as far as possible during the war that they are under disabilities,
while men who were active secessionists are not?
Anxwo: I have not heard that suggested. I do not think anybody finds fault be

cause other men are not under disabilities. The complaint with the people is that
those to whom they are attached are not relieved of their disabilities. I think the gen
eral opinion then; is that all should be relieved.

Question. Do not the colored men themselves favor a general amnesty?
Anxn-tr. I am inclined to think they do. The colored people are very much disposed

to favor those who they think are their old friends. I think they look upon the south
ern, whites as their old friends; for really those are the men to whom they go when
they are hungry, and naked, and sick.

Question. The&quot; negroes then manifest liberality of sentiment in this regard?
Ansicer. I think they do when left to themselves. I cannot say advisedly, of course,

that such is their opinion ;
but it is the impression made on my mind as to the disposi

tion of the colored men.

Question. Do you think that the passage of a general amnesty bill by Congress would

produce a happy effect upon the public sentiment, and make the people better satisfied ?

Answer. I think so: 1 have not a doubt about it; it is a question upon which I do
not think it necessary to reason.

Question. Do you not speak rather strongly in regard to Judge Busteed s proceedings
in court ? Do you mean to say he would actually order a chew of tobacco out of a

man s mouth &quot;.

AnNicer. A man would be told that he must not spit or chew in the court-room.

Question. And I understand you to say that he would not allow a man to sit in a

chair in any other than an upright posture ?

Amicer. A man would not be allowed to recline upon another chair. But that mat
ter is not very important ; I do not know that it has anything to do with the Ku-Klux.
I was merely saying that Judge Busteed, coming down there a perfect stranger, assumed

judicial airs which 1 do not think the chief justice of Vermont would assume.

Question. Is Judge Busteed especially stringent in the enforcement of the laws ?

Anawer. I presume he is, so far as he understands them.
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Question. Is lie stringent in the enforcement of the criminal law?
Answer. He is so far as I know. I have nothing to do with his court

;
I ain no law

yer ;
I am a fanner

;
I want that to be understood.

Question. If this Ku-Klux organization was formed for the purpose of making the

negroes more quiet and peaceable, and preventing any collision between them and the
white race, is it not your opinion that it was very badly conceived ?

Answer. 1 never did and never can approve of lawless, irresponsible bauds of men;
I never can justify them under any circumstances. If there were an. utter incapacity
on the part of men in position to maintain order and conserve the public peace, there

might be some justification for regulating things by improvising volunteer bodies of

men.
Question. But such a state of things does not exist in your country now ?

Answer. Not now.

Question. When the reports of these outrages, such as taking colored men from their

houses at night, and whipping them, are circulated among the colored people, are they
not calculated to make them more turbulent to make them unfriendly towards the

whites, and more likely to commit violations of the public peace ?

Answer. I do not know but that it would be so, if it were the common practice. I

think that where one colored man is actually taken out in that way without any rea

son, there are probably ten taken out on account of some offense, real or imputed, com
mitted by them, which has made them obnoxious, and subjected them to that sort of
treatment. Of co.urse, with the debris of slavery, there remains something of the old
notion that whipping a negro will sometimes avail when other things will not. I

would infer that those things are simply relics of the former practices in slave times.

Of course, everything of that kind is growing less every day.
Question. You have very little personal- acquaintance with the condition of things in

Alabama outside of your district ?

Answer. Very little, indeed. I am a home man. I confine myself generally to the
duties of my position and business. I have never been in Montgomery but once, and
then I was a member of the convention of 1865.

Question. Was there not a judicial investigation of some notoriety that took place in

regard to that Paytona affair ?

Answer. The judge sat for some days, I understand, with attorneys on both sides. I

was not in that section of the country at that time.

Question. Did you give any attention to the progress of that investigation?
Answer. I did not. At that time I was in the State of New York, i.&amp;lt;4 my old home.

Question. Do you know whether one of the order of Ku-Klux made a confession upon
that trial, and disclosed the organization in the State f

Answer. No, sir.

Question. You have not read the testimony ?

Answer. No, sir, I have not seen it at all.

Question. Do you know anything about the condition of Sumtcr County, Alabama ?

Answer. No, sir. Samuel *Hale, a republican, a brother of John P. Hale, of New
Hampshire, wrote from Livingston, the county seat of Sumter, a letter to a gentleman
in New Hampshire. That letter, I am informed, is a most truthful portrayal of the -

existing condition of things and the inducing causes. So far as I am advised of his.,

views, I concur in them fully. I wish he could be examined here, for I believe from
all I have heard of him that he is a very honest, intelligent man, and he has lived
more than thirty years in that section. He is a man who speaks advisedly and honestly,
and he has none of the old-fashioned southern prejudices.

Question. Have you observed the public prints in your State, and the course they
have pursued in treating of these Ku-Klux outrages in various parts of the State?

Answer. I only take the newspapers of my district, though I see perhaps one or two&amp;gt;

others
; and, so far as I have observed, those newspapers have condemned these outrages

very distinctly and emphatically.
Question. Have; they put forward any apologies or excuses for them ?

Answer. Not that I have seen not recently, at any rate.

Question. Have they not generally denied the existence of these outrages?
Answer. No, sir; so far as my observation goes they have not. All the papers 1 am

in the habit of looking at have generally published cases of outrage when they have
occurred. I am not speaking of Ku-Klux outrages particularly, where men go in

disguise.

Question. I speak especially of that class of outrages.
Ansioer. I do not know about them. I must coniess I have not seen or heard of Ku-

Klux outrages recently in my district; nor has rny attention been called to them by
anything published in the papers that I take. I of course read more closely the
papers of my district than any others.

Question. You have, not then seen any disposition manifested by the public prints to
make excuses and apologies for these outrages?

Answer. Not recently. My impression is that some three or four years ago there was
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a disposition, not to wink at these things, but to treat them as a matter of levity. It

strikes me as a very improper subject on which to display levity. A man may smile
at a practical joke, but I do not see how any one can treat as a matter of levity outrages
committed by lawless bands.

Question. Have you ever seen these outrages treated in that way by the republican
papers. Have they not made a serious matter of them, making no apologies for them,
but denouncing them from the start ?

Answer. Well, I have not observed them
;
I suppose they have denounced them. In

what I have said I have only given my impression. I do not state that the democratic

papers have justified them in any case, but they may sometimes have treated them
with levity.

Question. And offered apologies and excuses for them ?

Answer. I do not know as to that
; they may have done it

; perhaps they did, in

some instances
;
but it has not been by any means general, latterly.

Question. Have you noticed in the republican papers any such levity, apologies, or
excuses ? Did they not make it a serious matter, and denounce it from the start ?

Answer. I do not know that I have ever seen more than one or two republican papers
iu my State. The Huntsville Advocate, a republican paper, condemned them uni

formly.
Question. Did you ever see them excused or treated with levity in republican papers?
Answer. O, no&quot;;

and I have never seen any apologies or excuses in other papers. I

have only a general impression that in some cases they have been laughed at or treated
with levity not treated properly.

Question. Have you noticed any difference between the manner in which the repub
lican papers have treated these outrages and the manner in which the democratic

papers have treated them ?

Answer. Formerly I did, I think.

Question. You did notice a difference ?

Answer. That is my impression. Well, the Huntsville Advocate has denounced
them, and the Democrat did the same.

Question. How can you account for this difference, upon a party liue, as to the
manner in which the papers of your State have treated these outrages?

Answer. I do not account for it. except in this way: I suppose the manner in which
the outrages were treated depended somewhat on the nature of the outrages, and the

persons upon whom they were committed. The outrages were very apt to be com
mitted by white men. I am not speaking of anything like murder, any severe or ter

rible outrage, but the lighter outrages.
Question. You mean such as scourgings?
Answer. I cannot speak positively, but I do not know that my attention has ever

been called to a particular case of scourging. I have heard of cases where horses

whose owners were offensive have had their tails cropped.

Question. Horses belonging to republicans f

Answer. I suppose so; I do not know that I ever heard of any other. Yes, I did

hear of another case, about the same time, where the owner of the horse was a demo
crat.

Question. Was that case afterward ?

Answer. About the same time. I have only heard of it.

Question. If you observed a difference in the treatment of these outrages in the

editorials of the newspapers, which of course have a great effect in manufacturing
and directing public opinion, and if that difference was one of party lines, did it not

occur to you that there might be some political aspect in the whole thing ?

Answer. I do not know
;
I cannot say that I have seen a difference among the papers

which I have read. While the Ku-Klux organization was in existence, and it being
assumed it was a political band, it would be very natural for men conducting demo
cratic papers, especially those not controlled by the most enlarged views, to smile and

say,
i; Served them right/ or something of that sort

;
and the reverse would be the case

with the papers on the other side.

Question. You do not mean to say that your democratic editors are of that class of

men who would treat with levity outrages upon the persons or property of citizens ?

Answer. I am not speaking of outrages of a serious character. The truth is, my
observation has not reached the cases which probably have been brought to your notice,
or very few of them. I never saw a black man who had been visited and whipped.
I do not know one anywhere in my neighborhood.

Question. If these bauds of men in disguise go at night whipping and otherwise out

raging people, and now and then commit a murder, it is certainly your belief that they

ought to be suppressed?
Answer. Certainly ;

and that they ought to be suppressed by efficient law, efficiently

administered. 1 think there would be in any properly-administered State government
the efficiency needed to suppress them.

Question. Have you ever heard of a man s being convicted in the State courts of Ala

bama for the perpetration of a Ku-Klux outrage*
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Answer. I do not think I have ever heard of anybody being convicted for any Ku-Khvi
outrage.

Question. You have not heard of any mail being convicted for putting on a disguise
and trespassing upon the person or property of another in the State of Alabama?

.In *u-er. No, sir.

Question. But such things have taken place, without doubt ?

Answer. Such things have taken place there notoriously; but not recently, as I am
in! vised.

. Has not the recent act of Congress, passed for the purpose of suppressing
ihings in Alabama and in other States, where perhaps they are more prevalent,
denounced in your State?

Answer. I do not think the present act of Congress, so far as Alabama is concerned, is

going to change our condition at all.

Question. But have not your newspapers denounced the act?
^IHHIIW. Oh, yes.

Question. Is there generally any difference as to the manner in which the republican
and the democratic papers speak of that act?

Answer. The democratic papers do not approve of it. I do not approve of it myself.
If I had an opportunity to express myself, I should be apt to denounce it.

Question. The democratic papers denounce it?

Answer. I suppose so. At the same time I have felt as little concern about that law
as almost anybody, because we have been under just that sort of pressure for a num
ber of years past.

Quexhon. But the democratic papers denounce the law, while the republican -papers
sustain it ?

Answer. I reckon so. They are very apt to follow the behests of their leaders and
rulers.

By Mr. COBURX:

Question. You spoke about your disarming some Ku-Klux?
Answer. I did not speak ofhaving disarmed Ku-Klux

;
but when it was intimated to me

that probably I would be advised by some of these men that my wife must stop teach

ing our negroes, I said that before I would allow that sort ofthing before I would tolerate
such a trespass upon my rights of domicile or family I would, at the peril of my life,

pull the masks from the faces of such men if they should come. It was one way of

expressing my determination to resist anything of that sort.

Question. You did not, then, disarm any Ku-Klux ?

Answer. Oh, no
; they never came near me. I spoke of disarming some negroes who,

one Sunday, got into a quarrel and threatened one another very seriously.
Question. In relation to Mr. Lakin s testimony, I want to ask you whether you reafl

the testimony as reported by the regular reporter of the committee, or merely a news
paper report?

Answer. I was referring to the abstract which has been printed in the newspapers.
It has not been contradicted.

Question. Did I understand you to contradict generally Mr. Lakin s statements as given
in that abstract, or merely to refer to your impressions ?

Answer. I only referred to his own statements contradicting what he had said here-r-
his statements to a number of persons in Huntsville.

Question. In what paper was the abstract to which you refer published ?

Answer. All the papers, I believe. I think I saw it in the Nashville Banner; and I

do not know but that it was copied into the Huntsville papers. Perhaps I saw it also
in the Cincinnati Commercial.

Question. Was the statement the same in all the papers ?

Answer. It was the Associated Press telegraphic report. That is my recollection of k.

(Question. You said that Mr. Lakin was an intermeddler, doing offensive things. Now,
what are we to understand by

&quot;

intermeddling?&quot;
Answer. I mentioned as an illustration the case of the colored minister Hamer, who

came to Alabama to organize his church. I have been told that it was Mr. Lakin s
iiilluence that compelled him to leave; that he went away in consequence of intimida
tion and threats.

(Jitextion. When Mr. Hamer went there, to what place did he go ?

Answer. To Huntsville. The colored people had held church in a building there. It

may have been that the congregation all went over under the seductive eloquence
of Mr. Lakin; but at any rate the organization was disbanded

;
the southern colored

church there was broken up by his influence, and the building taken possession of.

(fiitxiion. Was there any violence done?
. [ utiwcr. Han:er was threatened with violence, as I was informed. I do not state any

thing about the matter from personal knowledge.
Question. You said you were at a four days meeting held by Mr. Lakin.
Answer. I did not say I was there. I said he held a four days meeting in a part ol

my district.
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Question. And you were there ?

Answer. I could hear them singing and preaching
Question. From your residence ?

Answer. No; from where I was sojourning.
Question. Did you say you spoke to some Ku-Klux or r ouie boys who were threatening

to Ku-Klux somebody ?

Answer. They did not threaten to Ku-Klux anybody. I had heard there had been
sonic Ku-Kluxing, sonic whipping, either of white men who lived in concubinage with
black women, or vice versa. 1 did not know whether these boys were Ku-Klux. They
were young fellows and pretty wild, such material as I inferred made up the Ku-Klux
latterly at any rate. I said I hoped nothing of that kind would occur. Some stories
about Mr. Lakin had preceded his coming there, and I said I hoped nothing of that
kind would ever occur.

Question. How many of those young men were there ?

Answer. Haifa do/en, or two or three, just as I casually met them.
Question. Did you say this at different times ?

Answer. No, sir; just once, perhaps. I know that I must have made that remark,
because my competitor stopped me in one of my speeches, and wanted to know if I had
said that I hoped they would not Ku-Klux him till he got out of the county. I never
had stated any such thing. If anybody had threatened to Ku-Klux him, I would have
told them not to do it

;
I would not have permitted it under any circumstances.

Question. You spoke of being obliged to vote at a back window, when black men.
voted at the front door; did you want to vote at the front door, or try to do so?

Answer. I did not undertake to vote at the front window
;

I saw that the black men s

votes were being received there, and I was told that my vote would be received at tho
other place ;

so I put my vote in at the back window.
Question. Was it not just as convenient for you to vote there as at any other place?
Answer. No, sir; I had to go behind the house, as it were, in order to vote there.

Question. What was the inconvenience of going round?
Answer. The inconvenience was that it was a discrimination very largely, as I thought,

:

.ii favor of niy
&quot; colored brethren,&quot; and obliging me to go further around than I wanted

;o go just at that time.

Question. How far was it back to where you voted?
Answer. Well, the distance was not so important; but you will understand there was

a discrimination made, and the colored man was allowed greater privileges than tho
white

;
it was a freer suffrage to him in one sense than it was to us.

Question. Do you mean to say that the colored men voted at one poll trnd the white
men at another f

Answer. No, sir; they both voted at the same poll, but the receptacle for the black
men s votes was the front window, while the white men s votes were received at the
back window.

(Question. Were there two sets of election officers?

Answer. No, sir; the sheriff in charge of the election, I believe, received the votes and
handed them to the inspector. He could receive a vote at one window, and then turn
round and go to the other window.

Question. Walking clear across the house?
Answer. In a little country precinct, the people do not vote very rapidly. I do not

think that more than iifty or sixty votes were received there.

Question. This was not at a court-house ?

Answer. No
;

it was at a shed addition to a country store.

Question. You said, I believe, that the people at the North would not tolerate for a

moment local officers such as you have down there ?

Answer. I said that they would not tolerate such persons as, with rare exceptions, were
chosen at that election by the failure of the white people to vote.

Question. Do you think they would resist by violence the action of officers of that-

kind ?

Answer. I believe that in the county of Ontario, New York, they would not tolerate

at all such officers as we have had
;
a sheriff, for instance, who could not make a return

of process intelligibly.

Question. Do you think the people of the North would resist violently the action of

such officers ?

Answit . I think that such an officer as that sheriff would be turned out in someway
I have a very good opinion of you, sir, and I rather incline to think that you would re

sist that kind of thing.
Question. You said something about promises of mules and lands by the republicans

Do the democrats always tell the truth when they are making political speeches ?

Answer. If you put that to me personally, I will say that, so far as they are repre
sented by me, they do.

Question. I do not mean to put the question personally, of course.

Answer. No
;

I think democrats are fallible
;
I think they do make mistakes.
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Question. Well, if any such thing was said, do you not regard it as being a mere elec

tioneering dodge .

Answer. Yes, sir
;
but it had its influence on the colored people.

Question. A serious influent * .

Answer. Yes, sir, a serious influence. The colored man was disappointed. There was,
beyond doubt, that kind of talk. You recollect this man Callis, who was here in Con
gress once, and who was in some way implicated, I believe, in the sale of cadetsJvips ;

at least there? was an intimation of that. Such a man would tell those fellows that

forty acres and a mule would be gained by taking a particular course politically. I do
not know that lie did say anything of that kind, but it would be very characteristic

of him. It was gnu-rally received as something promised ;
and it was not altogether

without plausibility. Why do you discriminate in your legislation against the South,
and tie up the public lands there so that they cannot be bought as they can in other
sections? Why have you adopted as to the South the restriction of eighty acres?
What was that for? Mr. Wendell Phillips came out in a very elaborate article, in
which lie suggested that negroes should not only have their eighty acres or forty acres,
whichever it was, but a cottage, all furnished to hand!

Question . When did he say that ?

Answer. Last year. I saw it published over his signature in the Anti-Slavery
Standard.

Question. Do you think it had a bad effect in your section of the country ?

Anxn-er. It had a good effect on some of the voters for me. I read it pretty
effectively.

Question. Do you think it had any effect in making the Ku-Klux more virulent, or in

stirring up the black men ?

Answer. No
;
I think the black man is behaving himself now very wrell.

Question. You said something about a Colonel Shirk, of Peru ?

Answer. I only mentioned his name from recollection. There was a Captain Shirk in
the Navy ;

and perhaps my recollection may be confused as to the name. I will try to

get the correct name.

Question. What was he doing down there ? What office did he hold ?

Answer. He held no office
;
he was a mere visitor.

Question. Did he profess to know Mr. Lakin ?

Answer. Yes, sir, I believe he did. He did not to me, for I never saw the man.
Question. Do you know how long he was there ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. You said something about a Mr. Van Valkenburg ?

Answer. He is my informant.

Question. Was he from Peru ?

Answer. No, sir
;
I do not know but he may be from Indiana.

Question. Is not the town of Peru in Indiana ?

Answer. I think it is in Illinois.

Question. There is a Peru in Indiana.
Answer. I did not know it.

Question. I think Mr. Lakin said he was from Peru, Indiana.
Answer. Well, I may be mistaken upon that point.
Question. Where is Mr. Van Valkenburg now ?

Answer. In Huutsville. His name is John Van Valkenburg.
Question. What did he say !

Anxwir. He said that Mr. Shirk, or this gentleman, whatever his name was, who camo
from Peru, said that Mr. Lakin was under a cloud of-some sort ecclesiastically; that
he rau for some office school commissioner or something of that kind and owing to
his Ih iug under this cloud he got hardly any votes. ;

Question. I understood you to say that Mr. Lakin s mission, as you thought, was
political as well as religious, and that it was difficult to separate the two. Do you
Think that was the case .

Answer. 1 think that his mission was very much mixed. I do not see why, as a min
ister, he should have selected a man like myself for cojnment in a political speech to
his congregation, especially as I had been a Union man all the way through. I only
heard this incident recently.

You spoke, about southern men not fraternizing or associating on terms of
equality with men who associate freely with the colored people?
icr)-. Who associate as equals with the colored people socially.
-Niion. Have not certain white men down there been the fathers of colored

children .

Answer. I have heard of that frequently.
Question. Do the people there repudiate, socially, white men who have become the

fathers of colored children ?

Answer. I do not know that they do. That is a different thing. The man who does
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that commits an offense admittedly and against bis own standards of morality ;
he does

not assert that the thing is proper ;
it is done by stealth.

Question. Has such a thing put men under the ban, socially, in your region ?

Answer. Oh, no
;
North or South it has not done that, so far as I have heard.

Question. Is it not a fact, and has it not been a fact, that many of the most influential
and respectable men in the South are reputed to be the fathers of colored children ?

Answer. I think that imputation is a great deal broader than justice or truth would
warrant. I know that it is imputed to them. There are cases, very likely, of young
men who at indiscreet ages have committed such acts

; and, of* course, there are
instances of men who are lax in that respect all through life.

Question. You think it is a fact that such men have become fathers of colored children ?

Answer. I think that white men down there are the fathers of children by colored
women.

Question. Respectable men men of influence?
Answer. Yes, sir

;
but it has not been practically avowed and justified ;

it is not done
in pursuance of an accepted theory.

Question. I am merely inquiring as to the test of respectability in that community.
You said it was disreputable there for a man to associate with negroes.

Answer. I said that the southern people never could be expected to extend social

equality to men who come down there and have colored men and women at their
tables.

&quot;

By Mr. BLAH; :

Question. As to northern men who go down South on visits, are they not as lax with
the colored women as southerners ?

Answer. I reckon so.

By Mr. COBUKX :

Question. Do white men who have such intercourse with colored women lose their

respectability ?

Answer. There is such a thing as being respectable in theory and yet committing
sin. There is such a thing (and I know you will agree with me perfectly) as offending
in act. yet beiug right in theory. I. for one, say a man who is sound in theory is more
to be trusted than a man who simply happens not to sin, but has no correct theories of

right. I want a man to have right theories, even if he has not right practices.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. I want you to give us some idea of the rate of taxation in your State as

compared with what it formerly was.
Answer. On that subject I desire to refer to information which I have here from an

authentic source, and which I know to be correct, because it has been verified by my
examination. In 1858 the total State tax of Madison County, (the county in which I

live,) from all sources, was $23,417 63. In 1870 the total State tax of Madison County
was not less than $65,000. made up as follows :

Tax on real estate $51,445 30

Tax on personal property 8,471 75
Tax on licenses, polls, insurance, &,c., estimated at 5,082 95

The estimate of taxes for polls, insurance, &c., is a low one, and the probability is

that the aggregate will in fact fall but little below $70,000. The total State tax on
land in Madison County in 1858 was $7,213 10

;
in 1870, it was $51,445 30 a difference

of $44,232 -20. In other words, the total tax paid on laud in our county in 1870 was
more than seven times what it was in 1858. And before the war we had over thirteen

thousand slaves in the county, worth not less than $8,000,000 a sum fully equal to the
value of all the taxable property now in the county. My taxes last year were three

times as great as the year previous ;
in other words, they were trebled I will not say

within one year, but within two years.

Question. Has there been a similar increase, as a rule, in all the counties of your
State ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
that is my impression. This great increase of taxation is the com

mon complaint. But the taxes now, I am informed, are less.

Question. Since the new State government has been elected ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;

so I understood.

Question. You have enumerated simply the State tax in your county. What is the

county tax
;
has that been increased in a similar proportion!

Answer. It is very large ;
I have not a statement of that. Men from Montgomery

would be much better informed upon this subject of taxation than myself.

Question. As you are a tax-payer there you must know something about the rate of

taxation for county purposes whether it has increased in the same proportion,
Answer. The county taxes have increased very much ;

but I do not know whether the

increase has been in the same proportion.
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By the CHAIRMAN, (Mr. POLAND :)

Question. Has this increased taxation in your State furnished in any form the occa
sion for any acts of violence ?

Answer. Well, it is among the causes of complaint. It might be associated with acts

of violence. I have never heard acts of violence attributed to that cause.

Question. In any case of the unlawful violation of person or property in your State,
lias the excuse for it, so far as you know, been the increase of taxation?

Answer. I have never heard of it.

WASHINGTON, D. C., July 17, 1871.

WILLIAM H. FORNEY sworn and examined.

The CHAIRMAN*, (Mr. POLAND.) As this witness has been called by you, Mr. Blair,

you will please commence his examination.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. State where you reside, how long you have resided there, and any official

position which you may occupy at the present time.

Answer. I am from Alabama, the town of Jacksonville, in the county of Calhoun
;

I

have resided therefor over thirty-live years. I do not hold any official position at this

time, but I am engaged in the practice of the law, arid practice in five or six counties.

Question. In that circuit ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
I practice in all in that circuit and one county more.

Question. Among the objects that this committee has in view, one is to ascertain as
far as possible the condition of affairs in the Southern States in respect to the protec
tion and security of life and property, and the enforcement of the laws generally.
Please to state as far as you have any information or knowledge upon that subject.

Answer. As I have stated, I am frequently in some five or six counties, .*iud attend
the courts regularly. I am satisfied that any person who visits that country is safe in

his person, aiid that the law is rigidly enforced there
;
I might say that all are safe in

their persons and property.
Question. What are those counties in which you practice?
Answer. Cleburne, Calhoun, Cherokee, Etowah, and St. Clair in my circuit

;
and then

I practice in De Kalb and Talladega, but not so much as in these other counties
;
these

are the counties composing the twelfth judicial circuit.

Question. Is there any secret organization of disguised persons whoso purpose is to .

resist the law ?

Answer. There is no organization there to resist the law. In my county bauds of

disguised men have appeared on several occasions, in numbers ranging from five or six
to probably as high as fifty ; they appear in disguise ;

but I do not believe that they
are organized for the purpose of resisting the law

;
it is merely to take 1 ho law in their

own hands, and chastise parties; it is more in the nature of a patrol. With the excep
tion of one case, I never knew them to do anything outside of whipping parties ;

and &quot;

those that they whipped were offensive to the people from the fact that they regarded i

them as drones in society, and thieves, rascals, persons who paid no attention to or took
no interest in the care of their families

; persons who visited bawdy houses, and rather

kept that kind of people. Those places have been visited and the people chastised.

NYgroes who made their living entirely by thieving have frequently been whipped.
This organization does not seem to pay any respect to persons. Wherever a man of that
character appears, whether white or black, they would whip him; but they do nothing,
more than to whip him. &quot;*

Question. It had no political consequence?
Answer. None in the world. The last one they gave an order to was a democrat. I

do not think the parties who compose the organization know much about politics, and
they do not care much about politics. I do not think the politicians of the country
have anything to do with it; leading politicians of tho country arc opposed to it.

Question. We have had here the testimony of Mr. Parsons in reference to a case of
violence that occurred in Calhoun, at Cross Plains; tho occurrence took place in 1870,
and there was subsequently an inquiry by one of the judges of the State?

.litxu-tr. Yes, sir, that is the one I alluded to as the exceptional case where there was
violence done.

Question. I wish you would give us an account of that case, and what connection
you had with it.

Answer. I was an attorney for some eight or ten young men who were arrested upon
a warrant issued by Judge Peters. Judge Peters was selected by the governor of the
State to investigate that, mutter thoroughly ;

he is one of the associate justices of the
supreme court. The justices ot

1

the supreme court have jurisdiction all over the entire
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State; the circuit judges have jurisdiction only in their respective circuits. It was
thought necessary to have a judge whose jurisdiction extended over the State, in order
to bring up witnesses from any portion of the State. That was the excuse given for

selecting a judge of the supreme court. The investigation commenced in August, and
lasted two months

; during that investigation I suppose one hundred and. twenty or
one hundred and thirty witnesses were examined, and at least seven hundred or eight
hundred foolscap pages of testimony were written down. Governor Parsons repre
sented the State

;
he is regarded as one of the first lawyers in the State. I was there

present all the time. The evidence tended to establish this fact, that on the 10th of
July

By the CHAIRMAN, (Mr. POLAND:)

Question. In what year?
Answer. The evening of the 10th of July, 1870

;
a difficulty occurred between a young

white man, who is about seventeen years of age, of the name of Patrick Craig, and a
negro boy, about some trivial boyish matter

; they got into a difficulty aud had a tight.
There were a great many white persons and colored persons around, but no one partici
pated in the light. About the time it was all over the southern train came up, and
the firemen on the southern train, black men, made some demonstration to take part in
the light. That was resisted by the white men around there, but nothing grew out of
it. It was a small matter, nothing serious; I do not suppose the white boy or the
negro was very seriously injured; they got up near a wood-pile and threw some billets
of wood at each other. No one paid any attention to it. The boy ran oif towards
Paytona; that is a depot of the Selma Railroad, and is about three-quarters of a mile
from Cross Plains. At Paytona there is a large number of employds belonging to the
railroad, mostly negroes. I suppose there would bo one hundred and fifty negroes
theie, probably of all ages and sexes, aud perhaps fifty men. Nothing more was
thought about the matter until about 9 o clock at night. There is a negro there by
the name of Oliver Duke, who was regarded in that country as a democratic negro,
and not very popular with his color on that account. Near the village of Cross Plains
is a little place called Tobetown, but really a part of the town

;
it takes its name from

the chief negro who lives there. I suppose there are five or six cabins there, all occu

pied by colored people. This Oliver Duke came from that place, very much fright
ened; he met a daguerreau artist there, who was out hunting for his family phy
sician, and said to him that he had seen a number of armed negroes in Tobetown,
and he was satisfied they were bent on devilment, that they intended to do some mis
chief that night. He then went on to the hotel wThere he was staying, and told the
same to his employer. This daguerrean artist went to the church and communicated
it to some persons outside there. As soon as the congregation was dismissed, of course
it was rumored around that the negroes had congregated in Tobetown, with a view
of making an assault. The women became very much frightened, and a great many
of them remained in church; some few started on home, not believing there was any
thing in it. This boy, Patrick Craig, who had had the difficulty the evening before,
in company with two boys of the name of Keith, and another friend, took a back alley
that goes to the house of Mrs. Keith, and there they found a shot-gun and two or three

pistols, and with them came out into the street. About the time they got into the
middle of the street, the congregation from the church was passing along, but there
were no negroes then in sight. In a moment eight or ten or fifteen negro men came
out from behind a blacksmith s shop, and a negro called out, Here they are,&quot;

and
fired his pistol into the crowd. Then another one fired, the wadding falling among
the women

;
there were men, women, and children going along together. Of course,

there was a panic then. One of the boys hallooed out,
&quot;

Charge them,&quot; aud rushed

through the crowd of church-going people and tired his pistol. From that they had a
skirmish

;
I suppose there were twenty or thirty shots iired. The negroes retreated

aud went in the direction of Payton a. After getting about two huudred or three

hundred yards they rallied, got into a parley, and discussed whether they should
return. They were rather boisterous; some were for returning and lighting it

out, cursing some of the others for being cowards. After holding a council of war
they resolved to go down to Paytona and get seventy-five well-armed men &quot;-

that was the expression the witnesses say they used&quot; and return, and whip out
and burn up the damned town.&quot; That was said in the presence of a man by the name
of Stevenson

;
he was a carpenter, and had the reputation of being an honest and

industrious man. He went to the village, and there he found the people in consider

able stir, but not armed. He announced what the negroes had decided upon, that

they would go to Paytona, return with seventy-five armed negroes, whip out the

town, and burn it up. As soon as that was announced, of course they commenced to

organize. It was then determined by the people that they would organize merely for

defense. After that was agreed upon they found there were some twenty -live or thirty

congregated, people from different parts of the village. The town is named Cross
Plains because of the crossing there of two public roads. Some one said they should
select some old man that would keep the youths of the town from doing any mischLf.
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They called upon an old man by the name of Johnson, who is a merchant there, a very
respectable citizen, probably as much so as any man in the village. He declined on
account of his age. Finally they succeeded in selecting Major A. D. Bailey, who is the

principal of the male academy there. Bailey agreed to assume command of the force

upon condition that till would obey him. Well, it was understood that they would,
and that they should act entirely upon the defensive, that they should not leave the

village. He assumed command, and sent out and posted his pickets. After remaining
there some length of time and hearing nothing from the enemy, he sent out some scouts

;

they returned and reported all quiet. After the thing had calmed down and become quiet

tlu-y sent a party of young men up to Tobetown, to ascertain who the negroes were
who were in the place. From a negro-woman living there they got the names of about
ten who were up there that night. They took a list of the names, and about 2 o clock,
as the northern train w.as going towards Paytoua, Major Bailey thought it best to go
on the train and go down the road, in order that no one of those ten whose names
were on the list should escape. Ho took eight or ten men, and stationed them along,
and gave them directions to let no one get on the train whose name had been furnished
them. It turned out that no person ot any kind attempted to get on the train that

night. After the train left, one of the employes, of the attach6s, of the railroad, came
to Major Bailey and told him that there was a wounded negro in one of the cabins.

Bailey went there with his friends and found out that the negro had been wounded
with squirrel shot. The negro finally admitted that he was with the party who had
made the attack on the town there, and Bailey then told him that he must go \vith

them. It was then getting about 4 o clock in the morning, I suppose. Bailey told the

negro that he would not be hurt, but they wanted him up there, as he was one of the

party that was in the attack
; and, in addition to that, they wanted to get information

as to who really were the other persons. The citizens had met and had sent a runner
to Jacksonville, where the sheriif resided, with a request for him to come up in the

morning and have the matter investigated. About the time Bailey was sending off

this wounded negro some of the boys of his party came to him and told him that there
were a number of negroes advancing upon them. He ran out and halted them

;
he

could hear the click of their pistols. Bailey announced to them that they must not
advance any further, and they made no further attempt to advance. Soon thereafter
two other negroes came from another direction; they were ordered to halt, but before

doing so they clicked their pistols and snapped. A boy by the name of Keith, I think,
shot at them, and hit a negro, who turned out to be a negro by the name of Jacob
Moore. They took him and carried him back to the village, Bailey stopping those who
were approaching and giving orders to his men uot to fire, that there must be no

shooting. He brought up the rear, driving his own party ahead, and hallooing
to the negroes near by, some five or six as it was reported, not to come any fur-

ther. They did so, and there the matter ended. During the night they had sent
runners in various directions, asking the people to come in and protect them. One
man had gone I suppose ten or fifteen miles, and by daybreak he had come back with

twenty white men. Runners were sent in other directions, and by sunrise the next

morning I suppose there were from fifty to seventy-five persons from the country who
had come in armed. They believed there had been an attack on the town, and they
thought it was necessary for them to come in and protect the people. The bailiff of
the beat and the

justice&quot;
of the. peace were sent for

; regular affidavits and warrants^
were issued. The party there returned to Paytona for the purpose of arresting the

negroes whose names had been furnished them. A white boy by the name of Keith
said that there was a white man in the crowd, that he thought he had seen him. When
they got to Paytona, as they were passing along by the house of a white man by the
name of William C. Luke, a Canadian, who was teaching school there, this white boy
pointed him out as the man that he thought he saw the night previous. They had no;
win-rant for him, but they told him of the fact, and he said he was willing to go with
them and have the matter investigated ;

and he went on to the village ;
I suppose a

great many negroes were carried up as witnesses, and some ten or twelve as prisoners.
They had an investigation before Justice Neighbors; a large number of people had con

gregated to hear it. The investigation ended a little before sundown, and they
.uljourned over until the next morning. The sheriff was directed by the justice to get
a sufficient guard to hold the prisoners until next morning. Some believed that they
might be rescued from them

;
that the negroes would rescue them that night. The

sheriff summoned some eight or ten persons for that purpose. About night-fall it wras
announced that one of the negroes who was considered as a party engaged in the affair

of tin- night before, was down at Paytona; and the deputy sheriff ordered some young
men to go down there and arrest him. In doing so, when they got near Paytona, they
discovered a little negro boy running down to a place called the tank

; they overtook
him and asked him where he was going ;

he said he was going to tell Jim Hughes, the

negro they were after, to leave. They asked him who told him to do that; and he
said that William Hall told him so. By that time they came to William Hall s house,
and the white men arrested him.
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By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. Was he a negro?
Answer. Yes, sir

;
a negro. They delivered him to the sheriff, arid said, &quot;This is riot

one of the party that we were sent for, &quot;but he gave information to Jim Hughes, the

party wo were after, to leave, and we thought he ought to be taken up for doing that
;&quot;

the deputy sheriff said, &quot;Put him upon the stand with the balance,&quot; and they did so.

That night, about 12 o clock, some disguised men came into the town and took off Wil
liam C. Luke, the three colored men, and William Hall, carried them out some distance
from the town, and hung them. After that, the governor sent Judge Peters to ascer
tain who the parties were. Governor Smith was there, and General Crawford, was
there, with a squadron of cavalry and a company of soldiers, to see that the matter
should be thoroughly investigated.

Question. In this attack by the negroes upon the congregation that came out of the
church was there anything serious ?

Answer. No one was hit ; I noticed where I could see some of the shot on the opposite
side of the street from where they were. After examining all sides, both parties, the

impression made upon my mind at the time was that eight or ten negroes had gone up
into that town with a view of getting into a difficulty with Craig and his friends

;
that

in passing down the street it was a bright mooushiny night they saw Craig and re

cognized him, and made that reckless assault by firing over the men, women, and
children passing along the street.

Question. Their intention being to attack this boy Craig ?

Answer. To attack him and his accomplices, there is no doubt about that
;
and iu

doing so, they fired over the people. The impression made upon the citizens of Cross
Plains was that they had fired right into the crowd. I am satisfied they never would
have been hung if the people had known it was a mere fight between the colored men
and the white boys. But that day, in the investigation, there were no attorneys there;
Mr. Luke, the &quot;white man, examined the witnesses. The impression was still left upon
the minds of the people, for I know it reached me, that the negroes had made a reckless

assault, a murderous attack, upon white people returning from the church.

Question. Women and children?
Answer. Yes, sir

; men, women, and children. And no doubt the persons who were
there that day just resolved that they would take the law in their own hands and hang
them

; they believed that in doing so they were protecting themselves in their persons
and property ;

that this was an outrage, and it was looked upon as a murderous attack,
uncalled for and reckless

;
and that that land of conduct should be met in the same

way ;
and so they hung them. I do not suppose that any person in the village, or, at

least, I will say that nineteen-twenticths of them honestly believed it was an attack

upon the people promiscuously, and not intended merely for those boys.
Question. In the proceeding which was had before one of the judges of the supreme

court, did he make any finding or come to any conclusion in reference to it ?

Answer. Yes, sir. We commenced on three or four at first, and by the time we closed

I think they had nine arrested for murder.

Question. Xine citizens of the town ?

Answer. Yes, sir. Most of the persons they arrested were there that night, were pre
sent when the disguised men carried off these persons ;

three or four of them were

guards. Governor Parsons took up the idea that they were parliceps criminis ; he

thought that all the guards were particeps criminis. Judge Peters discharged five and
admitted the balance to bail for a very small amount, which was enough to show that

he did not believe that they had anything to do with it. But during this investigation
it was shown that some of them had probably whipped negroes ;

that was really proved
011 them

;
that they had been seen in disguise, and had chastised some negroes. I never

was able to ascertain whether the judge bound them over, although they drew up the

bond, to answer to the indictment in regard to William C. Luke and others
;

I think
he bound them over to answer to some of the other charges, for in writing up his

opinion he embraced some eight or nine offenses they had been guilty of. The grand
jury afterwards ignored the bill, except against one man.

Question. Was he ever tried ?

Answer. No, sir
;
he is represented as being in Georgia. There was only one witness

who testified relative to him, and upon inquiry it was found out that he was in the

State of Georgia at the time, and could prove that he was, and they made no attempt
to arrest him.

(Question. Upon whose testimony was this bill found ?

Answer. This bill was found.upon the testimony of Lewis M. Force, who cauiedown
there during the investigation for the purpose, as he said, of getting some troops to

have a man, who had been arrested for a rape upon his daughter, removed from the

county of Cherokee to the county of Calhoun, as they regarded the Calhoun jail as the

safer one. Being examined, he said that this Georgian, by the name of Johnson, had
told him that he did it. We made inquiries about Force, and found out that he was a

man of no standing ;
that he told this great tale upon Johnson, and that he left Georgia

30
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after shooting Johnson, had gone into Johnson s town and shot him; Johnson was then

in a dangerous condition. Ho did not testify against any parties who were on trial.

By Mr. BECK:

Question. That Force himself had shot Johnson ?

Anstcer. Yes, sir
;
I suppose, as that is mentioned, I had better explain how Force

came to shoot Johnson. Force was anxious to arrest a party by the name of West,
whom he accused of having committed a rape upon his daughter.

By Mr. POOL :

Question. Was West a white man ?

Answer, Yes, sir. Force called upon Johnson to assist him
;
Johnson represented to

him that he belonged to the Ku-Klux Klan, and that he would aid to arrest him if ho

would pay him: Force agreed to pay so much to any person who would arrest this

man West, probably $100 or $150. West. I think, had been arrested and had escaped,
and he wanted to rcarrest him; this is what I learned from Force, and from an investi

gation into the matter to see whether the State of Alabama should make a requisition
for Johnson. Johnson and Force met several nights ;

Johnson was to get this man to

a particular place, and Force was to be there and seize him. Well, they met on two or

three nights, and of course Johnson did not bring him up, but would always make
some excuse. Finally, Force says that he agreed to join the organization ;

he said that

Johnson then told him about the nature of the organization ;
that he himself belonged

to it
;
that there was headquarters in Atlanta, with a largo number of men in Georgia,

and with headquarters in Alabama
;
he pretended to say that they had signs so that

they could recognize each other, but he did not give them
;
Force agreed to join, and

as Johnson did not have the power to initiate, he was to meet at Alpine, in the State of

Georgia, and take the oath that was required. Johnson then told him that he must go
out on a raid with him

;
so they got some sheets to cover themselves with, and went

out on a Ku-Klux. raid I think there were Force, Johnson, and another person and

whipped two or three negroes in the night, according to Force s statement. Force said

that he got enough of it
;
that they had traveled&quot; him all around

;
that all had got

drunk
;
he was asked how much they drank, and I think he said they got a quart at

three different places ; and that about daybreak they got through with their tramp ;

he then said he declined to take their oath; that ho went up to Alpine, but
never took the oath at all. He afterward, through the assistance of Johnson, I think,

got on the track of this man West, who had started into the northern portion of Ala

bama, and West was arrested, brought back, and lodged in jail in Cherokee County.
Johnson, I understand, called ori Force for his pay, and by some means or other got

possession of a mule belonging to Force, and went with it to Alpine, in Georgia ;
Force

followed him, coming up with Johnson at Alpine, shot him down in the street with a
double-barreled shot-gun, and then left and came down to Paytona, where the troops
were, and sa.w Governor Parsons, and told him all that had occurred. Governor Par
sons then put him upon the stand as a witness. I noticed him there some two weeks,
and had some suspicion that he would probably be made a witnesss. I inquired of one
of my clients if they had been talking to Force,*and one fellow said he had

;
I told them

that there was danger in Force, and that they must not talk before him or give him
any excuse to say anything about them. He had some friends to write up in the section
of country where Force resided, near Alpine, in Georgia, and we ascertained that he
was a man not entitled to any credit. When he was placed on the stand ho gave no
evidence against our men

;
I never cross-examined him, for I looked upon it as nothing.&quot;

I did not believe at that time that Judge Peters regarded what he said as anything ;

because if they had believed that this man Johnson had shot one of the negroes, as
Force said he told him, tfoat he was present, saw tiie men shot and hung, and was a

party to it, they had a squadron of cavalry there, and the governor of Alabama could

easily have made a requisition upon the governor of Georgia, and have Johnson
brought there. But there was nothing of that sort done, no one, as I conceived, havr

ing any confidence in the statement of Force. They sent this squadron of cavalry into

Randolph County and brought witnesses from there, while Johnson was not over

thirty miles from there, and the governor of Georgia was within less than ninety
miles, and the governor of Alabama was there, and could have made the requisition,
and the troops could have enforced it.

Question. No one gave any credit to Force s statement 1

?

Amirer. I do not think any one did

Question. I understand you to say that Force testified directly and pointedly to thO
fact that Johnson was at Cross Plains at the time of this riot, and had himself killed
one of the negroes.

Answer. Yes, sir
; Force pointedly testified that Johnson told him that he was present

at Cross Plains when Luke and the negroes were hung, and that he gave one of I/hem
a &quot; damned good load through the head.&quot; Now, one c.f the negroes was shot. Johnson
had gotten into a diihculty up there, and came down to Cross Plains on a drunken
spree three days afterward, and of course knew exactly what had been done

;
and
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somebody said that lie probably got one of the bats of the negroes, and went back to

Georgia and made this big talk. It was proved before Judge Peters, and Governor
Parsons, and all

;
that testimony was thrown before the grand jury, and Force was

carried before the grand jury. And I have understood that they found a bill against
him, but I do not know that.

Question. Found a bill against Johnson?
Answer. Yes, sir, upon Force s testimony; but there has never been anything done

with it.

Question. Force made disclosures in his testimony, or purported to do so, as to the

organization of the Ku-Klux Klan, did he not?
Answer. Yes, sir. I do not recollect all he said

;
one thing was that the organization

was to have something to do with the elections
;
he said to try and control the elec

tions
;
but I am not clear about that.

Question. And he undertook to divulge the secrets of the organization throughout ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
he undertook to show that there was an organization in the State

of Alabama numbering thousands, and an organization in the State of Georgia number
ing thousands, and that their object was of a political nature, to keep the negro in

subjection ; just a great, long-winded tale.

Question. Was there any proof elicited before the examining judge as to the charac
ter of this man, or did you content yourself with just ascertaining his character f

Answer. Force in giving his testimony did not testify against the men I represented ;

I was not representing the Ku-Klux organization, only men who professed to be inno
cent

;
we were not defending the organization, and he did not give any testimony

against the men I represented. I did not cross-examine him, and did not introduce

any testimony to show what kind of man he was, for I did not conceive it necessary.
I must confess I saw the investigation was rather taking a political turn, and I did
not feel disposed to go into that. We probably would have done so, as I belong to the

opposite side, but we did not for a long time
;
I saw what Governor Parsons was up to;

I discovered that.

Question. His object was to implicate
Anwcr. Governor Parsons s object was, as I conceived of course he wanted to find

out who were engaged in hanging those men, but at the same time he wanted to show
to the North that there was a secret organization down there, having for its object to

control the negro vote, or to prevent them from voting. In other words, he wanted to

get up something, as I conceived, for the northern mind to feed on
;
to have somrthing

to keep up the excitement. My courts were going on, and the fact is, I did not have
time to go into it. As an evidence of that, at the end of each week, I proposed that
the investigation should stop, and we would enter into a bond for any amount his
honor might indicate for our appearance at court. Governor Parsons invariably de
clined, and insisted that the investigation should go on.

Question. Xobody placed the slightest reliance upon the evidence of this man Force?
Answer. Xo, sir

;
I do not think Judge Peters did. Judge Peters was sent there for

the purpose of investigating this matter, and bringing to justice the men who had
committed that outrage. He was assisted by the sheriff of the county and by General
Crawford s troops ;

he had a squadron of cavalry and a company of infantry. If IK-

had believed that this man Johnson had been a party to it, why, of course it was his

duty to see that the necessary requisition was made upon the governor of Georgia, 01
to have sent this cavalry up there and brought Johnson down, for he was not more
than five or six miles across the line.

Question. There was no direct evidence implicating any of the persons on trial iu

the crime ?

Answer. None in the world yes, there was this negro, Oliver Duke, who testi

fied that he was in the hotel^ and that the leader of the Klan was riding a chestnut-
sorrel horse with a white face

;
that he gave a loud war-whoop, and said, &quot;Nowfoi

Paytona,&quot; or something of that sort
;
I do not know that that was it. He said he be

lieved the man who gave that whoop was a man by the name of Estes, I do not re
member his given name ;

he was one of the parties on trial.

Question. He was one of the parties under arrest ?

Answer. Yes : well, we showed that when they returned they went by the hotel uudei
whip and spur.

Question. That no such scene as the negro described
Answer. That his halting in front of the hotel and hallooing did not take place.

Well, I have got it into my head that he was going to swear,
&quot; Now for Paytona ;&quot;

but
I do not know whether he did or not. At any rate, he said he recognized Estes s horse,
and that he knew the loud, shrill halloo of Estes, and that he believed the man in front,
one of the parties on the trial, was Estes. To offset that we showed that when they
returned from the hanging they went by the hotel at a fast gallop.

Question. The result was that no bill was found against any of these parties?
Answer. None against any of them.
Question. And none against any other party, unless against this man Johnson, on

the testimony of Force f
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Answer. He was the only party implicated directly.

Question. And notwithstanding that, no effort was made to secure his person, or to

bring him to trial ?

Answer, None at all.

By Mr. BECK :

Question. Just there, a moment
;
how long before the time Force testified was it that

ho had shot Johnson ?

Answer. It probably might have been three weeks before that
;
but I think he came

down immediately after ho shot Johnson, and represented, as it was supposed that it

v. -;i., necessary for him to have protection, that he did not know but they would go for

him for shooting Johnson.

(Question. Did he suppose at the time he left there that he had killed Johnson T

Answer. Yes, sir
;
he no doubt thought he had killed Johnson.

Question. And he reported that to the troops ?

Ai!wer. I do not think he told them anything about his shooting Johnson
;
he came

down there and reported to the commander of the troops that he wanted troops to ar

rest West, the man who had been guilty of a rape upon his daughter, and against
whom a true bill had been found

;
he wanted to carry him from one jail to the other

;

that can be done by making an affidavit that the jaifis insecure.

Question. He came down there and got into communication with Governor Parsons ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What I want to get at is this, whether or not Force, after shooting John-
sou and believing that he had killed him, thinking that a dead man could tell no tales,
came on down and manufactured this story on Johnson : and told it to magnify him
self?

Answer. It was rumored when he got down there that Johnson was not expected to
live

;
and he went to Governor Parsons and, of course, told him these tales.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. You say you did not attempt to show his character in court, because it was
unnecessary to save your clients?

Answer. Of course.

Question. Pid you not provide yourself with testimony in regard to his character?
.. -H-er. Yes, sir; I had a letter written to where he resided for the purpose of ascer

taining who he was, fearing that he would testify to something against my men
;
and

I was informed by one of my clients, whose name was Keith, and who feared he would
say something about him, as he had been in conversation with him, that he could get
plenty of witnesses to prove that he was a man of no standing in the community, and
that his testimony was entitled to no weight. But as he testified nothing in regard to

our men, of course we did not care about assailing his character.

Question. Simply because it was unnecessary?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. If it had been necessary, his character, as you understand, was assailable 1

Answer. Yes, sir. Since that I have also understood from other men besides my cli

ent that he is a man of no standing in the community at all.

Question. Do you know anything in reference to whether there is any opposition
among the negroes to any of their race voting the democratic ticket ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. How is that opposition evinced? .

Answer. Where I live the white population is about three to one; in the town itself

it is about equal. There are a few negroes in our section of the country who seem in-

cliued to vote the democratic ticket, but they do not announce it publicly. They will
come to us and say that they want to vote that ticket, but that they do not want to
have it known, that they are afraid of those of their color. I only know of one demo
cratic negro in the county getting into difficulty ;

I think they whipped him there
;
but

that was a fair fight, that is about all. They are afraid of each other about that
;
there

is no doubt about it. In our county, in the last election, I think that we got probably
from twenty-five to seventy-five colored men to vote with the democratic party, upon
the ground that they were tired with the way things were going on, that their expecta
tion.s had not been realized. Then, in addition to that, there was quite a number who
did not vote at all. It was something novel and new to them at first, and they were
prompt to vote

; they would order them to go up to the village and vote, and they
would go in there, three or four hundred of them

; nearly all in the county would center
there to vote

; they would obey the orders of their chiefs promptly. But we have haU
a great many elections, and they do not reap any results, they do not gather any fruit
from it, and now they do not attend the elections as well as they formerly did, and they
do not attend public meetings as they did formerly.

By the CHAIRMAN, (Mr. POLAND :)

Question. How far is Jacksonville, where you live, from Cross Plains ?

Answer. It is thirteen miles.
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Question. All that you know in reference to this transaction is what was elicited upon
the investigation ?

Ansico: Certainly, and I endeavored to state that, that the evidence tended to show
what I stated.

Question. The first connection you had with the matter in any way was when these
men were brought hefore Judge Peters ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir; I was out of the county when it occurred.

Question. You were not there at the time they had these men up hefore the magis
trate ?

Answer. No, sir
;
I saw the testimony hefore the magistrate.

Question. How long after the transaction was it hefore the hearing of the case hefore

Judge Peters?
Answer. Something over a month

; Judge Peters got there about a month afterward,
but the investigation did not take place until probably five weeks after the transaction
occurred.

Question. This quarrel originated between Craig, a white man, and a colored man ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What was the quarrel about ?

Answer. There are two versions of it
;
that really did not come up before our investi

gation; we did not go quite that far back, but I made inquiry about it. One of the
versions was that Craig had come to town and requested the negro to hold his horse ;

the negro refused, and Craig cursed him
;
then the negro said something, and they got

into a difficulty in that way ;
I do not think that was true, though. I inquired of some

other men, and they said that Craig was a little intoxicated
;
that the negroes had

been in the habit of congregating upon the platform of the depot, and Craig went up
there, and swinging around, rubbed up against this negro ;

the negro stood&quot; firm, and
then Craig gave him a shove and pushed him off the platform, and they got into a

light in that way.
Question. You think that Craig was the aggressor ?

Answer. Yes, sir; I think he was; there are two versions: one was that Craig
requested him to hold his horse, and the other was that he pushed him off the platform
of the depot ; perhaps both versions are true.

Question. In this investigation before Judge Peters they did not undertake to go into
the merits of the quarrel out of which this difficulty grew ?

Ansim: Xo, sir; we were then after a different matter, to ascertain who did the
murder.

Question. What time of the day was it that this affray took place between Craig and
the colored man :

Answer. I would say that it was about 4 o clock.

Question. In. the afternoon ?

Answer. Well, in July, according to the time the train comes in, it would be nearer
6 o clock, just before sundown; if the schedule had not been changed it must have
been just before sundown, for I was up there, and remember getting there just before
sundown.

Question. After the difficulty this colored boy went on down to Paytona?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. This meeting you have spoken of in the church was in the evening,
was it ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir
;
we call it night.

Question. That is, it &amp;gt;as after dark?
Answer. Yes, sir

;
after candle-light, and probably about 9 o clock. We use the word

night&quot; at the South for that time; &quot;evening&quot;
is between 12 o clock and sundown;

after sundown it is night with us.

Question. As the people came out from the church and were scattered along in the
street this firing took place ?

Ansicer. The firing occurred, I suppose, three hundred yards from the church.

Question. The people were going home?
Answer. Yes, sir

;
some few remained in the church.

Question. They had become alarmed by this time ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir, and remained at the church,; others that were not alarmed passed
along. Craig and his party were at church, and they took a back street and got up to
where the arms were; and as they got out in front of the house of Mrs. Keith, ilu ir

mother, which I suppose is seventy-five yards from the crossing of the two roads that
makes the place called Cross Plains, they could not see any negroes at all ; but at that
instant the congregation came along, fifteen or twenty men, women, and children, such
as would probably attend service at night, probably some as young as ten years ; the
other party came from the other direction out from behind a blacksmith s shop, and
the leader hallooed out, Here they are, and fi;vd: a majority of the witnesses seemed
to testify in that way. The people believed that they fired into them as they passed,
along ;

but after thorough investigation of the matter I became satisfied that Ihev
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fired at these boys ;
but at the same time those men who hung them believed the othei

way.
Question. They did not hit anybody?
Anmcer. No, sir

j
I think some lady said that the wadding went against one of their

dresses.

Question. About how many of those colored men fired, did it appear ;
about how many

shots were discharged by the negroes?
Answer. I asked that question, and it was represented by men who had been in the

army that there must have been twenty or thirty shots on both sides; they repre
sented it as a slight skirmish. Of course it was but a minute that it all took place.

&amp;lt;&amp;gt;;n *t\on. The street was pretty full of people going along from church?
Amwer. It was represented that there were some fifteen or twenty persons.

Question. From the evidence you got about it, how large a proportion of those shots

that were fired seemed to have been tired by the negroes?
.Inxwer. The whites said that they had a double-barreled shot-gun loaded with

squirrel shot, I think, one single-barreled pistol, and probably one of those repeaters
that had four or five shots; all theirs together would not amount to more than eight
or ten shots.

Qtiextion. You think that quite a majority of the shots that were fired were fired by
the colored people?

Anxwer. Yes, sir; I think they were better armed at the time.

Qm-xiion. Who had the arms on the side of the whites; this Craig, &c. ?

Answer. No, sir; they were at Mrs. Keith s, who was the mother of the two boys by
the name of Keith, one of whom was arrested. When they heard that the negroes
would probably attack them they said, &quot;We have two shot-guns and some pistols;&quot;

and Craig and the two Keiths and some other boy, I do not know who, went there
and each one got something ;

one had a shot-gun, one a pistol, &c.

Question. Craig was one of the party that got the arms ?

A;&amp;gt;xwer. Yes, sir, he went with the others; he did not have any arms himself, but
went to the house and got them.

Question. Did the colored men who appeared there appear to be all armed ?

A nsicer. They were represented to be so.

Question. And quite a majority of the shots were fired by them, apparently?
Answer. I cannot say

&quot;

quite a majority ;&quot;

because it was represented that there were
twenty or thirty shots, and there must have been at least ten shots fired by the whites.

Question. And among the people who were in the street nobody was hit or hurt?
Answei . No, sir; they soon scattered.

Question. At the first of the firing they were all in the street ?

A nsicer. Yes, sir, at the first of the firing ;
but as soon as the second or third shot was

fired they scattered, and one of the Keith boys hallooed, &quot;charge.&quot;

Question. You still think they believe that the negroes intended to fire into this
crowd f

Answer. There is no doubt but what the people believed it there the next day, and
some of them believe it still.

Question. One of the party was wounded ?

Answer. Yes, sir, with squirrel shot.

Question. That was done by Craig or one of the Keith boys?
Answer. Yes, sir, there is no doubt about that. As these boys charged them, the

negroes ran through an alley between two stores, and the principal portion of the firing
occurred in the rear of the stores.

Question. Did the negroes shoot there ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. That was after the first discharge?
Answer. Yes, sir

;
the white boys charged them and they gave way and went back

to the rear of the stores. I remember seeing the marks of the shot behind there. The
boys followed until they exhausted their ammunition, and the negroes ran through -a

field and got down by this man Stevenson s house. ^

, Question. There were only three or four in the Keith party ?

Answer. Just four.

Question. There were more of the negroes?
Answer. It was represented that there were at least ten, some thought there wero

fifteen; there might have been some along not armed; I am inclined to think there
were.

Question. What had this white man who was hung to do witli the affair ? &amp;gt;

Ax surer. I do not think that Luke had anything to do with it, judging from the inves
tigation. One of the Keith boys proved there on the investigation, and he also testified

next
the

Luke
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Question. He readily assented to go up with them?
Answ tr. Yes, sir.

Question. He said that he was not there with the negroes ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir.

Question. You do not understand he was there ?

Answer. I do not believe he was; but I believe Luke knew what they thought of

doing. It came out on the investigation that Luke said, &quot;I told you not to go ;&quot;
but

wo could not get all the facts out. They were very particular not to say anything
against Mr. Luke. But one said something that made me infer that Luke knew they
were going up there to get into a difficulty.

Question. But so far as you have any testimony in regard to his declarations at all,

they were to advise them not to go ?

Answer. Yes, sir. I think he knew they were going.
Question. You say he knew they were going, because one of the colored men testified

that he advised them not to go ?

Answer. Yes, sir; he did.

Question. There was no evidence tending to show that he advised them to go ?

Ansiver. No, sir. The only thing he could be blamed for was that ho did not commu
nicate to some person tho fact that they were going. After knowing they were going
up there for the purpose of making an assault upon other parties, he should have com
municated that fact, and have had it stopped.

Question. How many persons did they have under guard that night that Luke was
taken out and hanged ?

Answer. There were live.

Question. They had five persons under guard ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And tho whole five were taken out and hung ?

Answer.
^ O, yes ; they just swung them all up.

Question. How many persons were there guarding them?
Ansicer. It seems that there were generally four or live, and they had different reliefs.

The sheriff represented that he had summoned some seven or eight.
Question. To act as guards ?

&quot;

Ansicer. To act as guards; and each guard would get some one to relieve him. 1

suppose some fifteen or twenty persons stood guard there during the night, and they
were lying about on the benches.

Question. Where were those persons kept in the building?
Answer. Near tho crossing, in the center of the town, on what is called a porch, or a

platform, as wo call it, of a building. In our houses there, as you enter, there is an
open porch, as wo call it.

Question. They were on this porch, or piazza?
Answer. Yes, sir. It was a new house, and they were put there, and they were all

lying down, and the guard was around on this little platform.
Question. What time of tho night did it appear that this baud of men came there?
Answer. At 12 o clock or after; not before 12, I think.

Question. Was this band of men disguised who came there and took away these five

men ?

Answer. They were represented as being disguised with rather a grotesque costume.

Question. Did it seem to bo a disguise that was improvised for the occasion ?

Answer. No, sir
;

it seemed to be a disguise that they had used previously ;
there was

some uniformity about it; some of them were represented as having tremendous high-
crowned hats, and caps and masks

;
some of them had on a yellow t^ga, and others

had on white ones.

Question. It was perfectly apparent, from the description of this body of men and the

disguise they nad on, that it was not a disguise that a .parcel of men would get up in a
few minutes, without previous preparation ?

Answer. No, sir. I am satisfied that in that section of the State there is an organi
zation of some sort, and that they have these disguises. But I do not think any one
klan that night organized for the purpose of doing this

;
but from the number of per

sons who wore there I think it was rather agreed upon that day that these men should
be hung. I do not think any one klan said they would do it, (if there is more than one
klan in that valley,) but they just agreed among themselves that they would do it, and
they just got their disguises and came there t-hat night and hung them.

Question. You think those disguises were all in existence before ?

Answer. Yes, sir; I think it very likely that they were.

Question. To what place did they take these men ?

Answer. They took them about three-quarters of a mile from where they were *not
over three-quarters of a mile.

Question. Did these guards make any resistance ?

Answer. I think one did; that he stood up pretty square to them ;
this Major Bailey

made a speech to them and told them not to do it.
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Question. Was Bailey present ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
ho was tried afterwards.

Question. Did there seem to be any lona fide attempt by anybody to protect those

persons ?

Answer. No, sir; I do not think there was, because they were all afraid
;
I think that

the guard were very much frightened, and some of them ran.

Intention. Did not those persons who were guarding them there generally seem to bo

willing to be overcome?
A tiswer. The testimony did not show that. The testimony showed that the first thing

the guard knew, they had some live or six guns and pistols; although there were

quite a number of persons there they had only enough guns to prevent the prisoners
from escaping.

Question. Enough to enable them to guard the persons securely ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
and as one fellow would go oft he would hand his pistol over to

another. The testimony showed that when these men all came up they ordered the

guard not to move
;
one fellow commenced resisting, and they put a pistol to his head

;

and that is a persuader that generally makes men change opinions.
Question. Was this body of men mounted on horses ?

Answer. They were all on foot then, but afterward they went through the town on
horseback, some eight or ten of them.

Question. They seemed to be provided with horses?
Answer. O, the evidence tended to show that they were seen some six or seven

miles from there coming in.

Question. Were seen coming in toward the town ?

Ansiccr. Yes, sir
;
I remember that they were said to have been seen in one place

three miles oft
,
and in another place six miles off.

Question. The same party or different men ?

Answer. Different bodies
;
all congregating at this point.

Question. Coming from different directions f

Answer. They all seemed to be coming rather north of the place ;
there is no testimony

going to show that any came except from the north.

Question. They did not all come on the same road?
Answer. No, sir

; they came on different roads, because there was another negro
hanged in the adjoining county that night, one of the party who had done some of the

shooting the evening before; some came from that direction, and that was five

miles off.

Question. This other negro they hung was supposed to be one of the same party that
had done the shooting the night before ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
there is no doubt he was one

;
and he was making his escape and

they had caught him.

Question. He had not been arrested ?

Answer. They had arrested him and were bringing him there, probably some five or
six miles from the place.

Question. They had arrested him ?

Answer. Yes, sir; they followed him to the Georgia line, and I think ho resisted and
they shot him.

Question. The party in pursuit of him shot him ?

Answer. Yes, sir
; they had a warrant, and they brought him down to within about

five miles of this place, when night overtook them.

Question. Did you have any testimony about any conversation on the part of the men
who took these men out and hung them ?

Answer. Nothing was said; they just moved right up; everything was done by signs.
There is evidence there tending to show that they were not provided with rope, be
cause they made one of the mei^hants give them a rope, and they cut it up and put a
piece around each one s neck, and led him off. I think probably the piece of rope gave
out for the fifth man, and that was the reason they shot him.

Question. They did not have rope enough to hang them all ?

Answer. I think not, or they got him to a limb and the rope was too short
;

it was all

quickly done.

Question. How far did they take them ?

Answer. About a half or three-quarters of a mile.

Question. They took them outside of the town ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Was any witness produced on the trial who was present at the time they
were hung ?

Answei . No, sir.

Question. The last that any witness saw of them was when they were marched off?
Atmcer. Yes, sir. One fellow followed them yip pretty close and kept getting near to

them, but the rear-guard soon drove him bafck. I do not suppose any person was
within three hundred yards of the place where they were hung. The evidence shows
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that one man followed them for a while, and the rear-guard told him that if he did not
return they would shoot him.

Question. After these men were taken .out and hung, the thing rested quiet from that

time until Judge Peters came there a month afterward ?

Answer. No, sir
;
the citizens of Cross Plains the next day held a meeting denouncing

it, and selected an old citizen there as a special messenger to go to Montgomery and
inform Governor Smith of it

; they copied their resolutions and sent them down to

him, and Governor Smith was notified of the true state of affairs within three days
afterward.

Question. How much of a town is this Cross Plains ?

Answer. I suppose two hundred and fifty inhabitants would cover all.

Question. How largo a place is Paytona?
Answer. That is governed entirely by the number of employes there.

Question. It is a mere railroad station ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. They have shops there ?

Answer. They do not have regular shops there
; they intend to have some.

Question. There are no people there except those employed on the railroad ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
at that time they were engaged in making brick, and the superin

tendent testified that there were about fifty men there.

Question. During the investigation before Judge Peters, this witness Force appeared
there ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
t\vo or three weeks after the investigation commenced, perhaps.

Question. Hi came there for the purpose of having this man West
Answer. Having West removed.

Question. West had been arrested and was committed to jail in another county ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And Force thought he was not secure there in the jail, and he came down
in order to have him transferred to the jail in your county ?

Answer. Yes, sir
; alleging that there was danger that the Ku-Klux would take hirt

out of the jail in Cberokee County.
Question. Is Cherokee County an adjoining county to your county ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;

it is about thirty miles between the court-houses of Cherokee and
Calhoun Counties.

Question. Does Force live in Cherokee County?
Ansu-cr. He lives in the northern portion of the county, or in Dado County, Georgia,

adjoining Cherokee County ;
I am inclined to think that he does live in that county.

Question. This offense upon his daughter had been committed in Alabama ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
she was going from his house over to some neighbor s house. I am

inclined to think that Force lives on the Alabama side of the line.

Question. Was West a resident of that county ?

Answer. I think so
;

it is out there in the wilds of Walker and Dade and Cherokee
Counties.

Question. While Force was there at Paytona he was put on the stand as a witness and
testified about the transaction you were investigating ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And ho swore that Johnson told him that he was there and helped do it ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. That was all the evidence against Johnson?
Answer. That was all

;
he swore that Johnson was there and shot one of them.

Question. He meant that he shot this man that you say was shot at the time the hang
ing took place ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Force testified that Johnson told him so ?

Answer. Yes, sir, and that Johnson also told him he was a Ku-Klux.

Question. This matter about the Ku-Klux with Johnson, and his participation in a
Ku-Klux operation, was while he was in negotiation with Johnson to help him to have
West arrested ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Was it true that West had run over into Georgia ?

Answer. Yes, sir ;
I understood West had been arrested and made his escape. I sup

pose West was guilty of some improprieties ;
he has not been tried yet ;

he had his
trial removed to Cleburue County.

Question. Still another county I

Answer. Yes, sir
;
I have understood he has removed his trial, which is pretty good

evidence that he was afraid to stand his trial in Cherokee.

Question. Ho had been arrested and escaped over into Georgia ?

Answer. So I understand; I think that it was in Georgia that they were trying to

catch him.

Question. He had been once arrested in Alabama?
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Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And had escaped and got into Georgia ?

A nswer. Yes, sir.

Question. And this man Force was over there making an effort to rearrest him ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;

it is all in the same neighborhood.
Question. Where did Johnson live ?

Answer. Right there in Georgia; one lived on one side of the line and one on the
other.

Question. Johnson lived in the same neighborhood with Force, one on one side of the

line, and one on the other f

Answer. Yes, sir
; probably five or six miles apart.

Question. And Force claimed that while he was over there in Georgia, having this

negotiation with Johnson, to aid him in arresting West, Johnson told him about being
over in Alabama, shooting one of these colored men ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Was Johnson mentioned in the report that the judge made about it
;
did he

say anything about Johnson ?

Ansiver. No, sir, because he was not on trial.

Question. He was not arrested; was not before him?
Answer. No, sir.

Question. He could not have been very well brought before him if he was in another
State?

Answer. O, yes, by a requisition from the governor of Alabama on the governor of

Georgia. The troops were there within twenty-five miles, and could have gone there

and got him. One governor is bound, when a requisition is made upon him by another

governor, to give up the man. And here were the forces of the United States there

ready to carry it out.

Question. It is not very common for a governor to issue a requisition until there has
been a full investigation f

Answer. It must be shown that the man had escaped from one State into the other.

Question. This shooting of Johnson by Force was not until after the hanging of these

five men ?

Answer. The killing of the five men was before Johnson and Force had met to hunt

up West
;
that is my recollection.

Question. So that this shooting of Johnson by Force was not until some days after

the hanging ?

Answer. I suppose it was a month after.

Question. How long was it after Force had shot Johnson before he was a witness in

the investigation before Judge Peters ?

Answer. My impression is that Force left Georgia immediately after he shot Johnson,
and came down there to where the troops were

;
and then I think he remained there

some time before they got him on the stand
;
he remained there and probably was

around the place some three or four weeks.

Question. How long do you think it was after he came there before he testified ?

Answer. I would say two weeks.

Question. He knew when he testified that Johnson was not dead ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
he knew Johnson was not dead

;
but the rumor was that John

son was in a dangerous condition.

Question. Force knew that Johnson was still alive ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
we kept hearing about Johnson, and I suppose he could get the

same information we did
;

it was only twenty-five or thirty miles off. I have no doubt
he knew Johnson was not dead. In fact, I suppose he was better advised about his

condition than I was.

Question. In his testimony there he told this story about the Ku-Klux ?

Answer . Yes, sir.

Question. Did ho profess to know anything about the Ku-Klux order in Alabama
except what he learned from Johnson ?

Answer. That is all.

Question. What he told was information that ho got from Johnson?
Ansicer. Yes, sir

;
and I think he wanted it understood that he had never taken the

oath. All the information he had he got from Johnson, and his initiation consisted

simply in traveling through the country that night, drinking whisky, making negroes
dance a little, and whipping some of them.

Question. And according to his account of it ho did not like the business?
Answci . No, sir

;
he said he had no use for it

;
it was different from what he sup

posed it was.

Question. He did not see that it was a very profitable business ?

Answer. No, sir
;

it was not a very profitable business.

Question. How long is it since you first heard of these disguised bands about yoiir

county ?
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Answer. I think it is an offshoot from Tennessee ;
that it got into North Alabama,

and finally found its way down into our section of the country, I reckon, in 1868; the
latter part of 1868. There was one witness who testified on that subject there

; my
recollection is that he said it was in the spring of 1868 that he first saw some disguised
bands there.

Question. In your county ?

Answer. No, sir
;
in some of the northern counties.

Question. Who was that witness?
AiiKwer. I think that was a witness by the name of Wilson.

Question. Is he a resident of your county ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
on the line between Cherokee and Calhouu Counties. I think he

said he first heard of it in North Alabama.

By Mr. POOL :

Question. How far do you live from Paytoua ?

Answer. Thirteen miles. I do not remember hearing of it let me see I heard of

disguised men in our county in 1868
;
I do not remember whether they were there or

not in 1867.

By the CHAIRMAN, (Mr. POLAND :)

Question. Do you think it was in the last of 1868 ?

Answer. That was the last of 1868
;
I remember one instance no, I expect that that

was about the first of 1869 probably. They got after a man by the name of Crook
;

that was about the first I knew of their being about there
;
but they did him no harm,

just frightened him.

Question. Did they go in the night and visit him ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. They did not do any actual violence to him ?

^Inswer. No, sir; they frightened him by putting a rope around his neck.

Question. What had he been doing ?

Answer. I do not know
; they had no excuse that I am aware of. He had been elected

clerk of our county that is, he was elected when the people did not vote
;
his name

was run and he got what votes there were.

Question. Ho got all the votes ?

Answer. He was the only man who was voted for. He was removing then to our
town.

Question. To enter upon the duties of his office ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
and they passed along by the house where he was staying ;

I never
knew what they did, except that I understood they carried him out and put a rope
around his neck. He had some five or six men arrested for it

;
I defended those men,

and they were bound over to court without any examination.

Question. Why did they have this pleasant little entertainment with this gentleman ?

Answer. I do not know
;

I have no idea. I could give you my belief about it.

Question. What is that ?

A nmcer. That he had become obnoxious to them from the fact that he was a large slave

holder, and had joined the party for the purpose of getting back some property that

they supposed he had sold.

By Mr. POOL :

Question. Joined what party?
Answer. Joined the Union League for the purpose, as they supposed, of getting back

some property ; they had got that idea into their heads
;
I do not know about it my

self. I suppose ho was obnoxious to them on that account
;
I cannot think of any

other reason.

By the CHAIRMAN, (Mr. POLAND :)

Question. They did not think he had any right to do that ?

Answer. They did not think he should join that party for the purpose of getting
back his land/ The idea had got out in the country that by joining the Union League,
your land would not be taken away from you ;

that you thereby became loyal ;
that a

man who joined that party would not have his laud confiscated.

Question. His land had not been confiscated ?

Answer. No, sir; he had sold one or two large tracts of land for confederate money,
and they believed that he had joined it for the purpose of becoming loyal and thereby
getting his laud back. That is my theory ;

I do not know of any other thing they
had against him ; I do not know of anything he had done.

Question. Was he a respectable man ?

Answer. He had stood very well in the community ; belonged to a very good family,
about as good a family as we had down there

;
he is our clerk now, and nobody has

interrupted him since.

Question. And these gentlemen took that pleasant way to- give him to understand
that they did not approve of his course ?
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Answer. I do not know
;
he never told me.

Question. That is your judgment ?

Answer. They wished simply to let him know, I suppose, that there vr *re such per
sons about, and he must trim his sails accordingly, and do nothing that &quot;would inter

fere with them. I cannot imagine what they had against the mail.

Qncxtion. Among their early efforts in the community, what otherthings did they do ?

Anmcer. I do not remember of their doing anything, except that I remember a
white woman called on me one day, and informed me that some disguised men had
come to her house and given her notice to leave

;
had told her that if she did not

leave by a certain time they would make her leave. She was a woman of bad repute
in that section of the country, and had two or three girls around her.

Question. She was an unchaste woman, you mean ?

Answer. Yes, sir. I told her that I did not suppose they would interfere with her,
but if she could get a house somewhere else she had better get it and go out of that
one. She represented that there were some seven or eight who had come there and

given her that notice. I heard of their going to another place, where there was an
old gentleman, and attempting to make him dance, or they wanted to make him
dance; he was a democrat

; they did not do anything to him.

Question. What gave them such a desire to see him dance ?

Answer. I have no idea
;
he is a large, tall man, but he did not dance and they let

him alone. Then I heard of their being at a negro cabin there, and chasing a negro ;

I do rot think they got him ;
and then I have heard of their being in different other

parts of the county.
Question. Did you ever hear of their whipping anybody ?

Answer. No, sir. I heard of their going down to another place, and as they rushed
into the house the negro got hold of an. ax and rather got the better of the fight, and
they disappeared. In our section of the country they have appeared at two or three

places some twenty or thirty miles from each other, but I thick it was nothing more
than patrols there

; they did not do much : they would go along through the country
there, and now and then go to the cabins. and inquire for the negroes. They would
stop at a cabin and say, &quot;We have nothing against you, but where is so and so?&quot;

They would be told that he had gone. They would then say,
&quot; Tell him if he does not

work better we will be after him.&quot; I did hear of their whipping one in the lower part
of the county ; that was because he was cohabiting with a white woman there

;
I

think they gave him notice to leave.

Question. Was he married to her ?

Answer. No, sir
; living adulterously, not cohabiting publicly.

Question. They suspected that they Avere so living?
Answer. Yes, sir; they suspected that; and that he was stealing from them and

feeding her.

Question. They seem to have a nice sense of morality, these gentlemen who wear
this peculiar dress ?

Answer. They seemed to be opposed to thieving ;
if any person was guilty ofthieving,

they seemed to be opposed to it. They seemed to have a disposition against bad
women and bawdy houses

; they also seemed to be opposed to negroes who would visit

these houses where white women were. They would be able, from the number of

them, I suppose, to find out whether they went there or not, and they would generally
get after the negro and order the white woman to leave. Then, if they found where
there was a man who had been whipping his wife and treating her badly, they would
visit him, and give him warning to cease doing so. Where a man failed to provide
for his family, and was drinking a good deal, I have heard of their visiting such men ;

probably some of them would be on the democratic side and vote the democratic
ticket.

Question. You have mentioned this tall man whom they undertook to make dance
;

you say he is a democrat. Do yon know any other case where they undertook to

administer this wholesome justice to a man who is a democrat ?

Answer. That man they wanted to make dance, they were not going to do anything
to him

;
it was merely sport.

Question. That was*a little waggery on their part f

Answer. They merely wanted simply to exhibit themselves to him.

Question. What is your idea of the necessity of this organization ?

Ansii cr: I do not think there is any necessity at all.

(Question. There is no necessity for it ?

Answer. Not now.-

Question. How about it then?
Ansico-. I never thought there was any necessity for it; I was always opposed to the

thing; I thought it was wrong.
Qiu^lmn. You have laws in your State against adultery and against stealing?
Anawer. Yes, sir.

Qmslion. Have you any difficulty in enforcing these laws?
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Answer. None in the world, in the way of enforcing law.

Question. You have no difficulty in enforcing the law against the class of persons
these men administer justice upon?

Answer. No, sir. I think that possibly these organizations might have originated
with some men with a view of protecting themselves and their persons and property.
There are a great many people who believed, at one time, that probably there would
lie negro militia in the country, and I think a great many of them probably joined
themselves to this order to protect themselves against a thing of that sort; I would
not be surprised if that did not have something to do with it.

Question. You never had any State militiu ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. They thought it would be well enough to get ready in advance ?

Answer. It was rumored around there that that was one reason; but I do not think

any of the old citizens went into it for any other purpose than as a patrol to keep
down this little thieving and robbing throughout the country, where you cannot

exactly reach the parties with the law.

Question. Have you any idea about the class of persons that composed this organiza
tion ?

Answer. I have understood that in 1868 and, 1869 it was composed of the better class,
but that they disbanded. I have understood that since that time it is nothing but

boys within the last twelve months.

Question. They use the old manner of disguise ?

Ans-wer. Yes, sir
;
the boys get around now and frighten negroes and scare persons.

That is a kind of rumor that is Heating through the country ;
how we got it I do not

know. There was an attempt, so we heard, to organize pretty extensively two or

three years ago.

Question. When it first started ?

Answer. Yes, sir, when it first started
;
but I do not know that even at that time the

organization extended generally throughout the State. I do not think they ever had
headquarters at any one particular point in the State.

Question. The organizations were local?

Answer. Yes, sir, and made no reports to any other organization. I think it was con
fined entirely to precincts and beats.

Question. You think its object really was to be a kind of voluntary police to repress

thieving, &c. ?

Answer. I do. I will state to you another reason why I think it originated. Imme
diately after the surrender, and when the Bureau was established through our country,
it was right difficult for some men to realize the fact that their slaves did not belong
to them. A colored man would work for them, but when the negro would say some
thing they did not like, probably the white man would slap him as usual. The negro
would report that to the officer of the Bureau, and he would immediately have the man
seized, carry him up there, and the matter would undergo an investigation ; probably
they would send for him some fifteen or twenty miles. Now the class of negroes that
did that were generally very bad, lazy, indolent ones. I am inclined to think that a

good many persons thought they would baud together and be a kind of patrol for that
class. I think that was about the original cause of the patrol, where the Bureau-men
would invariably, or nearly invariably, believe the colored man, when you probably
never could tell the real truth, or how the thing originated. I know that in my
county tin; Bureau-men, or military men, would have some of the best citizens taken

up on some tale of a negro; they would scud for them probably some fifteen or twenty
miles. The negro would perhaps say that he had not settled with him for his work;
that would have to undergo a regular settlement. Sometimes this officer would make
a man pay something, and again they would discharge him. I think that this thing
was started pretty much to frighten that class of negroes.

Question. Did this thing originate in your region Avhilc the Bureau was in operation ?

Answer. No, sir. We have had the military all along down there for a good while in
our immediate section of the country. We did not have so much Bureau

;
we really had

military officers there with a company of troops. To show you how the military did
in 1867 that Avas before this present constitution

Question. You did not have this organization there then?
Answer. No

;
but I will show you why I suppose they would band together.

Question. As I understand, you did not have this organization at all until after that?
Answer. I do not know when it commenced

;
I only told you that I never heard of it

until 1868. We had heard of the Tennessee Ku-Klux for a long time.

Question. Do you suppose it existed in your region of country to any considerable
extent before you heard of it?

Answer. I suppose I would have soon heard of their appearing in disguise, I reckon.

Question. Did you hear of these bauds of disguised laen at all after the Bureau system
had been given up ?

Answer. I do not remember when I first did hear of disguised bands down there, but



478 CONDITION OF AFFAIRS IN THE SOUTHERN STATES.

I would say it was after the spring of 1868, which would throw it probably into the

fall, and it might have been in 186i&amp;gt;.

Question. Has that thing assumed a party form in any way in your country ;
I do

not mean that these organizations were formed for party purposes, but has there been
a difference between the two parties as to the manner of looking at this thing called
the Ku-Klux

;
has one side spoken about it differently from the other f

Aiixwer. In my county and in that section of the State there are very few white

republicans.
Jiifxlion. There are some ?

Answer. Yes, sir; there are some, and they look upon this organiza&on as rather

against them than the other side, while the leading democrats do not regard it as a

part of any organization to which they belong, or in which they take sides; at the
same time well, in other words, a democrat does not think they are going to interfere

with him unless he does something very bad. But some of the republicans there would
be afraid that they would do something to them. I am satisfied they would do nothing
either to a democrat or a republican, no matter where he comes from, if he goes there
and attends to his business.

Question. The truth is that the republicans have been a good deal more afraid of this

thing than the democrats have ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
and made a great deal of fuss about it.

Question. They have made a great deal of fuss about it and talked against it?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. How about the democrats ?

Answer. They have talked about it for the last one or two years said they did not like

it
;
but before that time they did not talk about it

; they would laugh at it.

Question. They tried to belittle it, or did they speak as if they were in favor of it ?

Answer. I do not know that I heard any one announce that he was in favor of it.

Question. They pretended to think it was not a thing to be dreaded so much as the

republicans claimed?
Answer. Well, the democrats thought then, and they believe it now, that this organi

zation was gotten up simply for the purpose of keeping negroes from stealing and
keeping bad men

Question. The republicans have always been making a great clamor and noise and
talk about this Ku-Klux, have they not ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
that is true.

Question. And the democrats have not ?

Ansiver. Not until recently ; they have not said much about it. Within the last twelve

months, I think, they speak out pretty generally. The editors of the papers come out
and oppose it.

Question. Do you think that the republicans believed really that it was nothing more
than a kind of voluntary police, made up of good people to put down thieving and
immorality of one sort and another ?

Answer. No, sir
; they were satisfied that that was done, but at the same time a great

many of the republicans believed well, they were afraid if they did anything Miern-

selves
;
if a republican in that section of the country did anything to excite the negroes

there in any way, that they would get after them
; they were a little shy of them.

Question. The &quot;republicans down there have always claimed that it had a political
look and a political effect ?

Answer. Well, I suppose they have
;
I would judge so from the fact that when any- .

thing occurs there they generally would send it to the North for the purpose of exciting
the people.

Question. What made them think so?
Answer. Because, I suppose, they were visited by them now and then.

Question. Do you mean that they were visited for anything they had done that was
wrong ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Have you not some republicans down there that are decent people ? *

Answer. A few, very few.

Question. Have they not talked against the Ku-Klux ?

Answer. No, sir
;
the decent portion have never said much any way about it.

Question. Have they had any fear of it ?

Answer. No, sir; they are opposed to it.

Question. There are some republicans down there as much opposed to stealing, adult

ery, and those things as anybody ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
there are very few white republicans among us.

Question. You have some white republicans who do not beSeve in stealing or in

adultery ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Have they been in favor of this institution?
Answer. No, sir

;
I think they have been opposed to it.



ALABAMA. 479

Question. Why ?

Answer. I do not know, more than I am opposed to it, from the fact that we do not need
the organization.

Question. You do not think there is any good in it ?

Answer. No, sir
;
but I think this, that a great many people who did not look to

where it would run honestly Believed that it was a pretty good thing. When you
start any organization of this sort in disguise you do not know where it will run, be
cause it gives bad men a chance to do a great many things.

Question. What is the general feeling of the colored people I mean the respectable
colored people, not the vicious

; you have a great many who are honest people ?

Answer. Yes, sir; and they work freely.

Question. What do they think of these Ku-Klux organizations ?

Answer. Those who work well and attend closely to their business are not afraid of

them, because they have never been molested.

Question. Are they in favor of it?

Answer. No, sir; I do not suppose they are. But here is the trouble: they are begin
ning to do it themselves

; they are appearing in disguise and whipping each other.

Question. Do you know any baud of that sort ?

Answer. No, sir
;
but it would not be a large thing, four or five of them.

Question. It was not a large organization ?

Answer. No, sir
; only a little band of them.

Question. If they want to do a piece of mischief, they liud this a good and safe way
of doing it ? .

Answer. Yes, sir. We defended some of them last winter, and kept them out of the

penitentiary, upon the plea that it was not shown that it was a part of any organiza
tion or band, and the statute requires that that should be shown.

Question. What is the proportion of white and colored people in your county ?

Answer. I should say the proportion is about three to four.

Question. You have not any fear of being overpowered by the colored people ?

Answer. O, Lord! no; we belong to the white belt.

Question. You have felt no special fear in regard to them ?

Answer. No, sir; not in the least.

By Mr. POOL :

Question. I understood you to say* that the laws were very rigidly enforced in your
section of the country ?

. They are now.

Question. Has that been the case for the last two years ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
wherever the criminal could be found, the law was rigidly enforced.

Ever since lfc68, since we were organized under the new constitution, we have had a
very good judge, and he has discharged his duty. Some of our ministerial officers are
not particularly good, but the judge has discharged his duty, and the law has been
well enforced all through that section of the country.

Question. Have you ever known one of the Ku-Klux outragers to b,e punished?
Answer. No, sir; because I have never known a case where they have proved it on

them
; they have never been able out there to make the proof that would be satisfac

tory to convince them that the party accused was guilty. I have been there and heard
the cases investigated.

Question. How many cases have been investigated ?

Answer. The Paytoua affair and the Crook case were investigated in our county. I
fceard one in Talladega County. The parties proved an alibi, which showed a question
!)f doubt. The jury was charged to give the benefit of the doubt to the defendants,
and they were compelled to acquit them.

Question. They proved alibis/
Answer. Yes, sir.

^Question. Is it not a part of the Ku-Klux organization that they shall swear for one
another ?

Answer. I do not know : I do not pretend to know anything upon that subject.
Question. Have you never heard that charged ?

Answer. I never did, except that I believe Force said that was a part of the obliga
tion, to swear for each other.

Question. Have you ever known a Ku-Klux outrage upon a democrat?
Answer. Only one.

Question. What was that?
Answer. I do not know that there was an outrage then. It was reported that they

whipped a democrat there, and then it was reported that they only gave him notice
that he must do better

;
whether they whipped him, or not, I do not know.

Question. What was his name?
Answer. His name was Khnball.

Question. What was the matter with him?
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Answer. Well, the Ku-Klux supposed he was drinking too much, and not supplying
his family as he ought to

;
and they gave notice to his neighbors there not to let him

pass by to go to town to get whisky. That is reported around there
;
I do not,know

whether it is true or not.

Qut-ftHon. Do you suppose they really did him any damage at all ?

Answer. Well, I do not know
;

I have hardly any opinion upon the subject ;
I did

not give the matter much investigation; it was said there about town that they had
visited him.

Question. Was it spoken of as being a little remarkable ?

Answer. No, sir; nothing uncommon. I have never heard of their doing any dam
age to a prominent man of the republican party.

Question. Have you ever heard of their committing any outrage upon any democrat,
except in that particular case, about which you say you are in doubt ?

Answer. I cannot remember.

Question. Have you an idea that any republican belongs to this organization ?

Answer. I do not know that they do.

Question. You are satisfied that it is composed entirely of democrats ?

Answer. I think they would vote the democratic ticket
;
I do not think any promi

nent democrat in the State belongs to it
; they are merely young men and young farm

ers there, who live in the thickly settled neighborhoods.
Question. How can you say that you suppose it is composed of young men, when you

say you do not know &quot;any
members of it ?

Answer. I do not think an old man would get on his horse, and ride from his house
ten miles and back, for the purpose of telling a negro to leave the community, who
had been doing some outrage on a white man.

Question. But a middle-aged man might do it ?

Answer. Yes
;
I suppose a man from thirty-five down would do it.

Question. You have not identified any of these people ?

Answer. I never have. .

Question. How can you say the organization is composed of young men?
Answer. I can tell that from their actions

;
their acts and conduct are those of boys.

Question. You would not consider it a boyish freak to hang five negroes in one
night ?

Answer. No
;
but I am inclined to think that it was done more by them than by auv

one else. I do not think men of age would do it
;
I think it is more of a boyish matter

than anything else. Grown men and old men will look at the consequences; boys rarely
ever do.

Question. The boys carry it on without the knowledge of their parents and of older
men?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And conceal their disguises ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
noi proclaiming them at all.

Question. You say the organization is composed entirely of democrats ?

Answer. I say it is composed of men who will vote file democratic ticket, because the
whites there are not divided as much in politics as they were in olden times, when
there were whigs and democrats.

Question. And the outrages have been universally against republicans except in the

single instance you mention ?

Answer. That is the only one I know of, and I do not know that anything was done
to him. It was reported that there was

;
some say there was, and some say there was&quot;

not. I say against negroes and republicans; the negro does not understand politics,
but he is controlled by the republican party at this time.

Question. Some of the negroes vote the democratic ticket ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
I suppose some fifty to seventy-five in our county do.

Question. Did you ever know a negro who voted the democratic ticket to be visited

by the Ku-Klux ?

Answer. No, sir
;
I have never heard of it, though it is a recent thing that they have

\ oted with us.

Question. Can you tell why thieving and adultery and drinking, &c., are punished
when republicans do them, and are not when democrats do them ?

Answer. They would punish them, when democrats are guilty of them, as qnickly as
when the others are.

Question. Have not some democrats in your country been guilty of larceny, adultery,,
and of not providing properly for their families ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Have any of those who have been thus guilty been visited by the Ku-
Klux ?

Answer. I am inclined to think so.

Question. To what extent?
Answer. Since you have called my attention to it, I cannot tell whether they were
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democrats or republicans. I do not know of any republicans being visited by them and,

whipped. 1 cannot
&amp;gt;say

that they were republicans visited any more than that I could

say that they were democrats. I would say that it was that character of cases that

they visited.
*

You would hear of a party of Ku-Klux appearing, and you would then

hear that they had gone to bawdy houses, or to some man s house and given him some

warning; I could not tell what his politics were; but 1 am satisfied, they would punish
a democrat as well as a republican.

Question. Have you not heard it charged in your county, by the republicans, that

only republicans were visited by the Ku-Klux?
Answer. Yes, sir; I think I have heard that charged.
Question. Has it not generally been spoken of by republicans in that way ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Have you ever heard that denied by the democrats ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Have those who denied it given any instance to prove that their denial

was correct ?

Answer. I suppose they could. I cannot call any to mind now at this time. I have
not got any memorandum of these cases; but there is the impression in the country
that they do not discriminate as to the color or person, or political status at all.

Question. You said there; was some other witness in the Paytona trial who said some

thing about the Ku-Klux; what witness was that besides Mr. Force?
Answer. I said that a man by the name of Wilson commenced telling when he first

heard of the organization; I believe his name was D*B. Wilson. 1 think he said he
first heard of it up in North Alabama. He did not tell anything about how it was
organ i/ed, or what were their intentions. Governor Parsons regarded him as one of

the Ku-Klux. and was examining him as one. I only meant to say that Wilson told
of the time he had heard of them in North Alabama.

Question. You say this tiring into the crowd from the church was at the Cross
Roads?

Answer. It was about a hundred yards from there to the Cross Roads.

Question. Had not Craig and his crowd got to the Cross Roads before the firing com
menced ?

Answer. Craig and hisx-rowd had left the church, had passed the Cross Roads, had
got two pistols and a gun, or probably three pistols, and had returned toward the
Cross Roads, getting I suppose within fifty yards of the Cross Roads, and probably fifty

yards from the house, supposing the house to be about one hundred yards from the
Cross Roads, when the church people were passing along the street. The colored men
then came from the opposite direction from the church, or rather from the east of the
church

; Craig and his party had come from the west.

(Jnextion. Did the negroes see Craig and his party .
;

Ans &amp;lt;/ . No, sir, not until they had got out from behind the blacksmith s shop ;
then

.they could see them, for it was a bright moonshiny night.
Question. You say that about twenty people coming from the church were between

the negroes and Craig and his party ?

Answer. Yes, sir; scattered along promiscuously, probably for twenty or thirty
yards.

1

(Jtustion. It was not a dense crowd of persons?
Answer. No, sir.

Question. Do you believe that the negroes intended to fire into the crowd of church

people ?

Ansu er. I do not believe they intended to shoot them, but that they fired at Craig
and his men : the people, however, thought they intended to tire at them.

Question. Why ?

^Insu er. Because it was immediately reported there that a bullet had passed through
some lady s clothing, and another said that a piece; of wadding had fallen by her.
Yon know ho\v these,- things commence; they spread immediately, and it gets worse
and worse the, further it goes.

Question. Craig and his party had also fired ?

Answer. They rushed through the crowd of people and fired; not until then.

Question. You do not mean to say that the negroes fired into the crowd of church
people ?

Answer. I mean to say that they fired over the crowd, or there might have been a
vacant place for them to lire through. But I mean to say that the people of that sec
tion of the country believed the next day that the negroes intended to fire upoti those
coining from the church; and if they had not believed it there would have been no
hanging.

Question. How could they account for the fact that nobody was hurt, if the negroes
had tired into the crowd ?

*

Answer. I do not know.
Question. They believed the negroes had fired into the crowd?

31
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Answer. Yes, sir. It is estimated that in battle it takes about seven hundred shots

to kill one man.

Qia-xtion. Do you think that the people of Paytoua believed that the negroes fired

into that crowd and hurt nobody?
Arntn-ci: I do not think the people do now, after this thorough investigation; but&quot;

the next day they were sincere in the belief that the negroes had fired into the crowd
of people there.

Q lCHlion. In all that Paytona affair, how many negroes were hurt besides the five

v ho were hung?
Answer. One other, Jacob Moore.

Question. Was any white man hurt ?

AHHICO: No, sir.

Question. No white man was hurt ?

Anxim: Xo. sir; one of those who was hung had been shot the night before.

Question. You say you think that the crowd of Ku-Klux, who went down and hung
these men, believed that they were acting in self-defense?

Answer. No, sir, I did not say so. I say they thought it was their duty, for their

future protection, that those men should be hung; they believed it was for their

future protection, from the fact that if it was not cheeked at that time another occur-

Tence of the kind might take place, and they did not know but it would come on them.

They believed honestly that it was an unprovoked, murderous assault on the people,
ami that it should bonnet in a summary manner.

Question. They thought it was a murderous assault, when no one was hurt ?

Answer. Yes
;
and a man is just as guilty if he fires into a crowd promiscuously that

way, and should be punished as severely, even if he did not hit any one, as if he had
shot one through the head; and, of course, by the laws of the country he would be

hung. But if we had investigated the case afterward, there would be great difficulty
in determining what to arrest them for.

Question. Before those negroes were hung you had an investigation ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did not that investigation disclose the truth?
Ansiccr. It was not done in a very scientific way ;

there was no one there to repre
sent the negroes and show how it really was. That investigation still tended to show
that they had fired into the crowd without any cause or provocation whatever, and

apparently with the intention of committing murder. And now I will say, further,
that a great many persons in that section of country still believe that it was a mur
derous attack upon the people, who were returning from the church. But I give it as

my opinion, rather as an apology for the negroes and their conduct that night, that

they only intended to shoot at Craig and his party.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. Would it not have been equally murderous to shoot at them ?

Answer. Of course it would; but they would have had the excuse that they were irri

tated by the conduct of Craig the evening before. If they had shot Craig down
standing in the street, of course they should have been hung for it just as much as

for shooting anybody else.

By Mr. POOL :

Question. You said that the judge did not rely upon what Force had testified to ?

Answer. I said that I did not believe he did.

Qtif-xtion. Was not that want of reliance principally because it Avas only testimony
in regard to the declarations of Johnson, and he supposed those declarations were
themselves braggadocio,? You sav that Johnson had been down there and got some
body s hat ?

Answer. I say I understood Johnson came down there two or three days after the

hanging, and was knocking around there, and probably had got hold of the hat of one
of the men who had been hung.

Question. And that he talked big about it?
Ansicer. Not there

;
he might have talked to Force.

Question. Have you any doubt that he made these braggadocio declarations to Force?
Anmm: I am inclined to think, from what 1 can hear of Johnson, who is rather a

fast youth, that he undoubtedly boasted to Force that ho was a Ku-Klux; very likely
he did.

Question. You think it. very likely that Force told the truth about that?
Answer. I do not think he told the truth as to what they did up there that night: 1

think he had SODK- ^rounds to base his statement upon, hut I believe he enlarged very
considerably upon them, for the purpose of making Mr. Parsons and those military
men believe he actually knew something about it.

Question. Knew something about what?
Ansicer. Something about the Ku-Klux organization.
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Question. I am not speaking of that. Do you not believe that Johnson made that

bragging to him ?

Answer. No, sir
;

I do not believe Johnson \vonld be fool enough to tell that to Force,
or to any one. lie is represented as a man &quot;of some sense. &quot;What I mean is, that he had
made some declarations to Force about his belonging to the Ku-Klux, and what he
could do as a Ku-Klux

;
I think that very likely.

Question. You think Governor Parsous s main object was to excite the northern mind
by getting out such things upon the Ku-Klux ?

^Answer
&quot;&quot;No,

sir : I do not know that that was his main object. I think Governor
Parsons is opposed to such organizations in the country ;

J think that he desires to

see the laws of the country enforced, and to see peace and order prevail; I believe

that. But at the same time, while he was trying to ascertain who these offenders

were, he was making preparations to have other things mixed up with it for northern

consumption.
Question. That is your judgment about it?

Answer. That is my honest conviction, from all I could see.

Question. Were, any of the men who committed the crime for which the parties were

being tried in the Ku-Klux disguise when it was being committed I

Answer. The evidence, tended to show that, and there is no doubt of it.

Question. You said there was some uniformity in their disguise t

Answer. Yes, sir; from the evidence, it seemed that the disguises were a little dif

ferent, as though they belonged to different bands.

Question. &quot;Was not the crime committed by a band of disguised men?
Answer. From the testimony, they seemed to understand each other.

Question. They had signs by which to understand each other?
Answer. There seemed to be whistles used that night.
Question. &quot;Was it not natural that an attorney should inquire into such an organiza

tion as that, in making that investigation. ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Then why did you think his purpose was to excite the northern mind?
Answer. From the fact that he extended it almost too long, and he had a great many

things brought in that were outside of that particular case, and wanted to show that
there was an organization that had existed down there for some time, a thing which
had nothing to do with this investigation.

Question. You have been a lawyer for a great while?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Is it not common when a defendant is on trial to show that he has a good
character ?

Ansirer. Yes, sir.

Question. And is it not common to try and show that before that he had been guilty
of crimes ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. &quot;Was Governor Parsons showing what was done before that time?
Answer. Yes, sir; but they were not trying the organization, only men who were ac

cused of the murder of Mr. Luke. They should have confined themselves to ascertainr

ing whether those men did the murder, and he should then have made an inquiry
whether they belonged to the Ku-Klux Klan.

Question. The first inquiry was into the existence of the Klaii ?

Answer. The evidence was clear that Luke and the others had been hung by men in

disguise. Mr. Parsons should have shown that these parties belonged to the Ku-
Klux.

Question. Not to that particular klau, but to some other klan?
Answf-r. Yes, sir.

Question. Was it not important to show that some other klan existed ?

Answer. Yes, sir; but 1 do not think it was necessary for him to show that the Klan
had whipped a certain negro at this place, and another at that place; had visited this
house and that house

;
that is the part 1 think was gotten up for northern consump

tion.

Question. Was it not all true ?

Answer. I do not know whether it is true or not. One of the witnesses who testified

to a great deal of it, to show his character now, upon cross-examination admitted that
lie had written on to the North for counterfeit money ;

he admitted on the stand that
he was guilty of that. That was the character of a witness proving these various out

rages there.

Question. Did you not yourself know that these various outrages were committed
outside of what the witness said ?

Answer. I know it from rumor.

Question. Is it not generally understood in the community, and not denied?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Why conceal them from northern men, or anybody else?
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Avswer. We never attempted to conceal it
;
but we want northern people to under

stand what these outrages are for. The northern people have got up the idea that n&amp;gt;

republican man can come from the North down here, or that if he docs this Kian
wwuld mob him. We say that these disguised men are nothing but patrols in the

country, for the purpose of whipping out bad men, whom northern men undoubtedly
would Ku-Klux. for it seems they get up some little disturbances themselves some
times. We think this investigation was carried on as it was for the purpose of trying
to show that there was a grand political organization down there, gotten up for

improper purposes to carry elections. That is what I mean wheu I say that this

investigation was carried on for northern consumption.
QuertUm. You have that evidence printed ?

Answer. No, sir.

Qinxthii. Was it not printed?
Answer. It was copied and brought to Washington ;

I understood Mr. Parsons had it

copied and brought to Washington.
Question. Did Governor Parsons inquire of the witnesses whether this organization

was political?
Answer. I understood Force pretended to say it was political.

Question. Did Force say anything in regard to that organization that was not true?
I mean did he make it out any worse than you understand it to be?
Answer. I do not understand it to be an organization to control votes.

Question. Did he tell of any greater outrages committed by them than fhey have
really perpetrated, or did he tell of as many even ?

Answer. I think he told only about the night he was out, and whipped some negroes.
I think Force tried to make this impression, and his testimony was no doubt put down
for that purpose, and that I say was intended for northern consumption; he said he
learned from Johnson that this was an organization of a political character, intended
to control the negro vote. 1 think that is a. wrong impression to go North, because I

do not believe the organization is intended to be of a political character at all, or to

interfere with tin; negroes in their votes. But now the republicans down there charge
the organization with having that for its object, and they have endeavored to get
pieces written for the papers, which have been copied in our republican papers, and
sent North for the purpose of producing the same impression among northern republi
cans, so that those kind of bills that have been passed, similar to the one last spring,
and the enforcement act and aH that, might be passed by Congress. We look upon
that as done purely for our special benefit, intended really for the South, and for our

oppression.
Question. Intended to operate where the evil existed?
Answer. Exactly ;

I suppose it does.

Question. It is only because the evil existed in the South that you supposed it was
intended for the South ?

Answer. Well, we have different notions down there about these things.
Question. As a matter of law, can a requisition issue from one governor to another,

before a bill of indictment has been brought in by the grand jury? Must there not
be some proceeding in a court of record ?

Answer. I suppose it would be necessary; but in a case of this sort, I think the

governor of Georgia would have authorized the military to go there and take the man.
Question. Would you have had the governor of Alabama issue a requisition in an

informal way, not basing it upon what was absolutely required by the law ?

- Answer. No, sir
;
I would not. But, as I understand, the next week afterward thero.

was a true bill found against Johnson, and yet no requisition has ever been made.
Governor Smith gave his personal attention to this matter when he was up there

;
one

of the associate justices of the supreme court remained there two months
;
of course

they ought to have had the thing carried out if they believed in it. The bill has, no
doubt, been found against the man

;
the county has discharged its duty as far as that

is concerned
;
but no requisition was made that I ever heard of.

Question. When was the bill found?
Answer. The next week after. *

Question. By the grand jury ?

Answer. Yes, sir; so I have understood. I .have never read the bill, and n requisi-
eition has been mad*-.

Question. What was the reason Luke and those other men were not put in jail that

night ?

Answer. I do not know
;
I think the justice said ho wanted to examine them further:

wanted some other testimony. Luke and some of the citizens of Cross Plains, about
1U o clock at night, understood that there was some danger of disguised men coming^
there and taking them away. They called upon the superintendent of the railroad
thero to have t hem sent down

;
but the superintendent did not think it was necessary ;

a,s far as the citixeiis were concerned they tried to get them sent down
;
that came out

iu the investigation there.
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Question. You say tLcre was sonic notice or apprehension of an intention on the part
of the Ku-Klux to take these persons ami hang them ?

Answer. A rumor to that effect got out before 12 o clock.

Question. Was any effort made on the part of the citizens to prevent it ?

Answer. None that I know. There was the sheriff of the county there, a republican,
his deputy, and a guard there. Why it was not done I do not know. It was like a

great many things ; probably they did not believe it
;
I do not know that I would have

believed it if I had been there.

Question. Suppose these persons had been put in jail, could not the men have guarded
that jail successfully against the Ku-Klux?
A itswo: Yes, sir.

Question. They would have been safer in jail ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir; I think so.

Question. You say you do not believe any one klan agreed upon the murder of these
men /

Answer. No, sir; I do not think so
;
if there is any such thing as a klan there, I do

not think that klan organized for this purpose; I think it was rather an agreement
among some men there that it should be done.

Question. You do not think there was any regular meeting of the klan and voting
upon it f

An Hirer. No, sir
;
I do not think so.

Question. Why not .

Answer. From the fact that there is testimony tending to show that some came
from one direction four or live miles off, and some from another direction live or six
miles off, and that there were citizens there from various parts of the county, north
and northeast. Knowing the topography of the country there as I do, I think if there
is a klan up there, there should be one about three miles in a northeast direction, and
if there is any other klan it should be some distance still further up in another section.

Now, it would seem that the men came from one direction that wasdifferei* from
where I would suppose one of these klans was, judging from the topography of the

country, and the number of people in the different valleys there; and then some came
from another direction.

Question. You suppose the party contained members of several klans?
Answer. If there is such a thing as different klans there. I would say the business

there that night was done by persons of different klans. I think the evidence shows
that there were different kinds of disguises.

Question. And they met at a given place ?

Answer. They met at 12 o clock.

Question. Does not that show a concert between the klans?
Answer. I do not know

;
it showed a concert between the men who committed the

,act, but I do not know that it would be a concert between the klans.

Question. Did not the whole evidence satisfy you that there were klans in that

county ?

A)tswer. The evidence satisfied me that there were bands of disguised men in some
two or three parts of the country.

Question. And that there were some variations ki their disguises ?

Answer. The evidence tended to show that some appeared in yellow gowns and some
in red gowns ;

1 do not know whether that testimony would be reliable or not. I be
lieve that some of the testimony tended to show that some of them had black dis

guises ;
I am not certain about that. 1 think that in three different parts of our county

there were organizations of disguised men, according to the evidence.

Question. Organizations that existed there
Aiixicer. I do not know whether they exist there now or not. That affair itself got to

be such a big affair that the people commenced talking about it.

Question. Why do you say that naturally a klaii would have been about three miles
from town ?

Answer. Because there is a valley there, and it would be about the center where the
cross-roads would meet

;
that is the only reason. There is a little place there called

Ladiga, and then there is another place further up the valley, called Andersonville or

Spring Garden. There, would be probably a klan along in that section of the country ;

I suppose a klau. ought to take in an area of ten miles, or live miles; that is about
v. hat we used to have in the old patrol time.

Question. You have no knowledge of their dividing that county up into sections ?

Answer. No, sir
;
I do not know anything more about the organization; never be

longed to it. never was invited to join any such thing ;
and for that reason I am sort of

inclined to think it was not political.

Question. You think this particular outrage was not agreed upon by any camp ?

Answer. I do not think it was
;

I think it was fixed up that day.
Question. So far as your information reaches, is it the practice of these klaiis to agree

beforehand upon outrages to be committed ?
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Answer. I have understood how I got it, aud from whom, I do not know
;
but it is

like we lind out a great many things, and it does not make much impression upon your
mind as to who told you I have understood that they meet and decide that a certain

man shall be whipped, and then they appoint some man, I have understood, who is

called the Grand Hawk of the night, who is captain over eight or nine men, and they
go out aud whip the fellow.

Question. In pursuance of the order of the camp ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did you ever hear that they sent their orders from one camp to another to

be executed ,

Answer. 1 have heard such things, but I do not know about them. I think there is

more talk about it than what there really is
;

I do not think there is an organization of

that general ch;i meter which it has been endeavored to show that there is
;
and even

what there is in our section of the country is dying away gradually ;
the leading demo

crat ie papers are speaking out boldly against it, and have been for the last year. The
leading citizens are crying out against it; they have got tired of it and want it

stopped.
OtMvtioft. Was it supposed that West was in any way connected with the Ku-Klux ?

Answer. I do not suppose he is. If there is anything in the Ku-Klux organization,
he has removed his ease from a county where some disguised men have appeared, to a

republican county where there are no disguised men. If he is a member of the Klau,
I should have supposed he would have kept his case within his klauship ;

but lie has
removed it to a county that was strongly republican for a good while, until recently ;

it has changed over now
Question. Did not he make the removal after Mr. Force disclosed the fact that he had

been out on a raid ?

Anmver. He moved for a change of venue at the last spring court. He had to swear
oft Calhoun county; that was the nearest county; or probably it might have been

agreed between the solicitors that it should go there
;
but if the affidavit was regularly

made he would have to swear off Calhoun County.
Question. Provided the State insisted ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And under your laws, by agreement, he might jump a county?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. You did not appear for Mr. West ?

Answer. No, sir, I did not.

Question. You say that he might possibly have been guilty of some impropriety ?

Answer. I think very likely he-was guilty of something; I do not think there was
anything done

;
it was only an attempt. I judge so from the fact that he would not

have changed his venue if there had not been some impropriety. That is generally
pretty good evidence that a man is seeking for time when he changes his venue.

Question. You think this organization was formed under the apprehension that there
was going to be negro militia ?

Answer. I wish to be understood this way : from what I could gather two years ago,
there was a pretty strong organization to be formed

; probably three years ago, I be
lieve it was three

;
but it never was carried out; I think they disbanded when General

Grant was elected
;
that was what I have heard since this investigation has com

menced, the investigation of this committee. I have heard citizens speaking of it. a

great deal. I have heard men in the streets of my town speak about it, and say that
three or four years ago they were organized along through there, but they were dis-*

banded about the time General Grant was elected. Men joined it for different pur
poses, having different objects and motives in view. One man would say that there
was going to be negro militia, and he would go into it for self-protection. Another
man would say that there was some danger in the Union League, and they wanted to
offset that. Now all of these things have been discussed even since your investigation
has commenced.

Question. Have there not been some recent outrages in that country? ^
Answer. I do not think there has been anything of a serious nature for some time. I

heard since I was summoned that eight or nine Ku-Klux had passed through our town
within Ihe last three weeks, but what they had done I do not know. The Paytona
affair has r.-itlier quieted things in our country.

Question. You think that another object, and perhaps the main object, was to go after
those negroes who reported these, men to the Freedmen s Bureau for slapping them when
they had dit iieult ies . ^

Anwcr. What I mean by that is, that class of negroes who will not work, who will
not &amp;lt;lo their duty, who would go about and steal

;
and if they hired out to work would

not dis(!iarge their duly, or tall oitt with their employers, and then go up and tell a.

great, long tale before the Bureau or before our present justices of the, peace, and have
them arrested. They probably wanted uu organization ready for that class of men.

(Jucxtion. So as to keep them from giving information \
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Ansnrr. To keep them from telling lies and swearing lies, not from giving the right
kind of information. I do not think that this Ku-Klux organization, or patrols, or

whatever yon may call it, intended to interfere with the right class of people, either

white or black.

Question. Yon think the organization was directed principally against the negroes ?

Anxictr. Because they were the class where there was more idleness and more thiev

ing and more drones.

Question. It was principally directed against the negroes, and it was entirely com
posed of white men and members of the democratic party f

Answer. I think it was entirely composed of members of the democratic party, of

white men
;
that it was intended principally for the negroes who failed to work, who

were guilty of various little petty larcenies; and for any white man, whether republi
can or democrat, who became rather a nuisance to society.

Question. And they struck Mr. Crook?
Answer. They frightened Mr. Crook

; they never hurt him.

Question. They put a rope around his neck ?

Anairo . Yes, sir.

Question. They took him out of his house ?

Answer. No, sir; he had started to move, I think, in the fall of 1868.

Question. 1 understood you to use this language : That they did it to let him know
they were out ?&quot;

Answer. Well, I say this, that he became obnoxious to those men, from the fact that
he, had been a southern man and a secessionist, had voted the secession ticket, as they
supposed, and I expect is true, for his brother was a member of the secession conven

tion, and he himself was a large slaveholder. At the close of the war he joined the

Union League, as they supposed, for improper purposes. And then he had suffered him
self to be run by the negroes for clerk of the county, and they rather thought that ho

ought not to do that; that he ought to have left that for some other person.
Question. Did they not take him out of the house and put a rope around his neck?
Answer. Yes, but not out of his house; they took him out of the house where he was

stopping.
Qut-stion. I)id they swing him up?
Anwer. O. no, not that I ever heard.

Question. Did they permit him to dress himself before they carried him out of the
house ?

Answer. I do not remember about that
;
I am rather inclined to think that they did

not.

Question. Was he a man of character, connected with good families?

Answer. Yes, sir; he was connected with good families in the county.
Question. His only offense was that ho was elected by the republicans of the county

to the clerkship of the county, and the charges made against him as to joining the

republican party ?

Anftwer. And his affiliating rather too much with the negroes.
Question. To secure his election

J

Answer. 1 do not know for what.

Question. You say it was for the purpose of letting him know they were out, and that
he must trim his sails accordingly ;

what do you mean by that?
Answer. I suppose it was that he should not do anything in his office outskle of what

he legally ought to.

Question. Did you understand that they meant that he must stop leading the re

publicans, and organizing them ?

Answer. Of course I was only giving my opinion, for I do not know what their

object Wivs. I was saying I could not see why they did it, unless it was to prevent his

mixing up too much with the Union League down there. We did not know so much
about republicans then

;
it was rather the Union League. The Union League was

rather regarded as an organization against the southern people, for the purpose of

having lands conliscated and being in opposition to real southern men. They did not
believe that a man whose property had consisted so largely in slaves who had been

emancipated, should have thrown himself immediately into the arms of the people who
had freed our negroes; that he ought not to have joined that party, and ought not to

have run for office, because the people down there thought it was rather forced upon us..

Question. Was it not the fact that a southern man who had been a large slave-owner,
and had high connections, and was himself a man of character, intelligence, and stand

ing, would 1)0 a most efficient leader in the republican party ?

Answer. He is not that character of man who would make a prominent leader.

Question. Was not his name and acts there of considerable service to the party ?

Answer. No, sir, I do not think they were
;
he was a very good farmer, and attended

closely to his business, and was one who made his slaves work close up ;
ho got all

the lahor out of them that he could possibly get.

Question. He was a resolute, energetic man ?

Answer. Yes, sir.
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Question. A man of sense ?

Answer. Yes, sir; good, practical farming sense.

Question. llo\v many cases do you know of where negroes have disguised themselves
iu your county, and gone out and attacked some of their own color

;
more tha-u one ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Qur-stion. How many times have they done that?
Answer. I am trying to recollect. 1 know of two cases where I have appeared for

negroes on two different occasions, where it was said that they appeared in disguise ;

and at the last term of the court there were three

Question. Do you mean two separate cases?
Anwer. Yes, sir. At the last &quot;term of the court there three were indicted under the

statute against Ku-Klux, but we got them otf. You see it is a penitentiary offense
;
wo

got them off on that. We got a new trial, and they found them guilty of assault and

battery, and lined them live hundred dollars.

Question. There was no difficulty in identifying these negroes?
Answer. There was some, but still the proof was sufficient; the negroes swore right

out that they were the oues.

Question. There was no great difficulty in identifying them ?

Answer. There was difficulty.

Question. Did they identify them?
Answer. The negro that was whipped identified them.

Question. Were they in disguise ?

Amicer. Yes, sir.

Question. How is it that you can identify negroes when they commit these offenses

in disguise, and you cannot identify white men that do so ?

Attsicer. No white man identified them. A negro swears right plump out that it is

so
;
he will swear almost anything to carry his point. They so swore in this case. I

do not know whether the negroes were guilty or not. I arn rather inclined to think

they were, although I defended them.

Question. I am asking how the negroes could identify their own color who went in

disguise and whipped them, and do not identify white men who did so?
Answer. I suppose the white men prepared a better disguise. The negroes did not

do it up so artistically as the others.

Question. Have you ever known of disguised bands of negroes committing an outrage
upou white men in your country ?

Answer. I cannot call to mind any.
Question. Have you ever heard of any such ?

Answer. I have heard where they were not in disguise giving our people a pretty
good thrashing.

Question. You mean in an open fight?
Answer. Yes, sir

;
a fair open fight, and we never interrupted them for it.

Question. You said you had known of one instance where a negro who had voted the
democratic ticket got into a fight about it, and wa-s whipped ?

Amwer. That was in our town.

Question. Have you known of any other instance than that?
Answer. That is the only one. A blacksmith there is always coming to me and saying

they were going to whip him for something of that sort.

Question. You say you think there were from fifty to seventy-five negroes in your
county who voted the democratic ticket f

A-nswer. That is, at the last election
;
so I haye understood.

Question. Have you ever known a negro to attack and abuse a white man for voting
the democratic ticket ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Did you ever know them to make any effort to keep white men from voting
the democratic ticket?

Amiver. No, sir
;

I never heard of any case of that sort in the State of Alabama.
Question. Do you believe that a negro in your county who votes the democratic

ticket is safer from these attacks than one who votes the republican ticket?
Answer. No, he is not safer, where both work well and behave themselves. If ho

votes the democratic; ticket and turns out to be thieving and committing depredations
of that sort, I think they would come down upon him more severely probably, because

they would think his motive for voting the democratic ticket was rather a bad one.

Question. JJut suppose they thought his motive in voting the democratic ticket was a

good one &quot;?

Ansivcr. Then, if he committed a theft, if he killed hogs, stole chickens, or stole corn,

they would punish him; no doubt about that.

Question. Is there any difficulty in convicting negroes before the courts for doing
thet*e things .

A twicer. We have got a great many of them clear upon technicalities. I am satisfied

the ue&amp;lt;m) has a fail
1

trial.
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Question. There is no indisposition to convict him ?

Answer. No, sir. The people there have given them fair trials, and have acquitted
a great many who ought to have been found guilty ;

but I do not know that they have
ever found one guilty who was innocent. The negro has a fair showing in our section
of the country.

Question. Have you negroes upon your juries ?

Answer. The clerks and sheriffs and judges of probate are republicans ; they have ap
pointed negroes upon our juries, but the judge invariably discharges them

;
he does

not believe that they are competent.
Question, They do not sit upon juries in your county ?

Ansu vr. In our county they never have, but they have in the county/below in Ttil-

ladega.
Question. Is your judge a republican ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. He sets them aside upon the ground that they are incompetent ?

Answer. Yes. sir.

Question. You have no difficulty in convicting a negro for these little petty thefts, if

guilty f

Answer, None in the world.

. Question. Then what can be the necessity for this extreme mode of proceeding against
them for these little thefts f

Answer. Norn-, only that I suppose these men who belong to this organization do
not wish to take the trouble of having the matter investigated in court when they can
attend to it so easily.

Question. Is there not danger of their punishing an innocent man sometimes?
Answer. O. yes, and they ought not to do it.

Question. Do you believe they have ever punished an innocent man ?

Answer. I have never heard of their punishing an innocent man.
Question. Do you know that all they have punished have been punished for crimes

they have been guilty of ?

Answer. The punishments have not been great in our section of the country.
Question. Have, there been many thefts, &c. ?

Answer. Ye-s, sir
;
but they do not punish for every theft. I want you to understand

that these Ku-Klux are not in all parts of the county, or all over the county, only in
certain different neighborhoods. Probably iu the two counties next to us, I Lave
never heard of the, klans being there ; it is only now and then they spring up.

Question. They select whom they will punish for offenses
; they do not punish all ?

Avsirer. I hear of now and then one.

Question. Is there not u general terror of the Ku-Klux among the colored people
there ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Do you know whether colored people have slept out of their Louses on
account of them .

Answer. No, sir
;
I do not think that is so.

Question. Is there not a great deal of clamor among the white people about the
negroes voting and getting control of the State by being allowed to vote ?

Answer. No, sir
;
there is not much said alumt that subject. I think that upon prin

ciple a majority of the white people of the State are opposed to negroes voting; they
think the ballot is unsafe in their Lands, from the fact that they are incompetent, and
do not know what they are voting for; they think that their persons and property are
unsafe in the hands of ignorant men who have the ballot

;
a great many believe that.

Question. Do not the negroes understand very well that these bauds are made up of
democrats ?

Answer. I do not think the negroes understand that. They just call them all Ku-
Klux

; they do not know what party they belong to
; they do not know much about

democracy.
Question. You think these operations Lad no effect in keeping the negroes from

voting at the last election f

Answer. Not in our section; I am satisfied it did not
;
I do not think a negro was

kept from the polls.

By Mr. COBURX :

Question. Do yon consider Marion and Fayette Counties in the district you have
been testifying about f

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Your testimony would not apply to any outrage committed over in Marion
and Fayette Counties f

Answer. No, sir
; my testimony is confined to the northeast portion of the State

adjoining Georgia.
(Question. You Lave mentioned tlie patrol several times

;
that is an institution pecu

liar to the South ?
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Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Give us a description of what the patrol used to be.

Answer. Before the war ?

i
t
&amp;gt;iic*tioii. Yes.

J/.sinr. I .et ore the war they were men selected by the justices of the peace in pre-
einrts, \\hose duty V was to visit negro quarters and chastise, not to exceed thirty-
nine lashes, any negro caught off the premises of his master without a permission in

writing; probably after a time it got down to fifteen lashes
;
and they went from one

house to another.
. What time did they perform that duty?
Ar night invariably.

Question. Ho\v many were there in a locality or neighborhood ?

Answer. Probably there would bo two companies, six in each company, with a cap
tain, confined to a precinct of say ten miles square ; hardly that, say six miles.

Question. Were they paid ?

jH.sMvr. No, sir; they were not paid.

Question. Was it a voluntary system ?

Ansu-cr. No, sir; the justice had the right to appoint any one.

(Question. That duty was compulsory ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. How often did they go around ?

Answer. Well, in some sections of the country they would go around once a week,
then sometimes they would not go more than once a month

;
I think they were required

probably to go around once a month.

Question. You have said that these Ku-Klux were perhaps the successors of the

patrols .

Answer. Yes, sir : that is what I believe.

Qu&ition. No\v as fo 1he manner in which these Ku-Klux operate; do they inflict

punishment in the same way ?

Answer. Yes. sir. It seems to me that the whipping has been confined principally to

colored men, but now and then they whip a white man, but these white men are

invariably the scum of society. It is no use to call them republicans or .democrats.

They are hardly much; just the mere scum of society, and would perhaps vote the
democratic ticket as soon as the republican ticket. They pick out such a man as that
and give him a genteel thrashing.

Question. With what do they whip them?
Answer. I do not know

;
I suppose just with a switch or a leather strap.

Question. Who prescribes the punishment, and indicates what it shall be ?

Answer. I do not know. There seems to be one man along who does the whipping.
Question. Did the evidence in the investigation show that they had any rules by

which they operated ?

Answer. The evidence in the Paytona investigation showed that they traveled
around near this place, Ladiga, up and down the creek, and visited some four or five

houses there, Avithiu probably two years; that they had taken out a white boy and

whipped him, and I think one other baud whipped a negro.
Question. I am not asking for instances of outrages ?

Answer. Do you want to know how it wras done ?

Question. I am asking whether they have any regulations or rules ?

Answer. I do not know about that.

Question. Have they any officers?

Answer. I do not know, only that I heard that there was an officer called the officer

of the night, or something in that way, who seemed to control them just the same as
the captain of the patrol of the night.

Question. Did the evidence show that they had passwords, grips and signs?
Answer. Force said they had. The evidence there by the various witnesses showed

that they were controlled by means of a whistle.

Question. You said something about rules; that they had rules to whip and not to&quot;

murder
;
do you not think they have rules of that kind ? 1

Answer. No, sir
;

I do not think I said any such thing. I think their object was more
to whip than to murder.

Question. Did they ever murder?
Ansicer. Only in that instance.

Qm-xtinn. Do you not know, as a matter of fact, that tfiey have committed various
murders ?

Answer. Only, in that instance, in that Paytoua affair.
*

Question. Have you not heard that over in Fayetto County, within the last three

weeks, they have murdered three colored women?
Answer. No, sir, I never heard of that in my life.

(Jiu siion. Have you not heard that in various states of the Union they have mur
dered more than one hundred people ?
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Answer. I have hoard through the newspapers that they have murdered people ;
but

1 do not believe all that I see in the papers.
Question. Do you not believe, as much as you believe in the existence of anything you

have not seen, that there have been divers murders committed by the organization in

the Southern States ?

Answer. I am inclined to think that there have been, but I have no reliable informa
tion about it

;
but there being so much in the papers, some of it I suppose must be

true
;
but I do not know of any in the State of Alabama except this Paytoua affair.

Question. Do you not believe there have been a great many other murders in Ala
bama ?

Answer. I know there have been a great many men killed there.

Question. By disguised bands?
Answer. I think there have been some others, besides those hung at Paytoua,

murdered by disguised men.

Question. You siy you limit your testimony to the community in which you live?
Answer. I wish that to be understood, to have aU that I have said confined to the

section of country in which I reside, to five or six Counties. I do not pretend to know
what occurs in Fayette, Winston, and Morgan, and all those counties over there.

Question. There is some testimony about the number of Klaus in your county. I do
not know whether you said that the evidence disclosed the number of Klaus ?

Answer. No, sir, 1 do not know. Force once said that there was a large number, but
I do not pretend to know. I do not think he knows, nor Johnson, the man from whom
he received his information.

Question. You said the purpose of these Klans was to keep the negroes from swearing
to lies ?

Answer. If you understood the negro character

(Question. What is the presumption down there as to the negro swearing?
Answer. The presumption is that the negroes cannot tell the truth; it is almost im

possible for them to tell the truth
;
as to swearing, they have no great regard for au

oath, with a few exceptions. When they have become a little intelligent, have been
raised as body-servants, probably then they have some pride about them, and know
the nature of au oath

;
but the grent mass of the negroes down South really do not

know the nature of an oath, and do not care.

Question. You think that is a more effectual way of making them tell the truth than
to punish them in court according to law ?

Answer. What I mean is that the Ku-Klux will bo such a terror to the negro that he
will not do anything that is bad.

Question. And in addition to that, he regards that as a prompt and speedy way of

punishment, and it will have more effect than to wait the slow process of the law ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
he knows what that means

;
but as for lying in jail six mouths, he

would not care much about that.

Question. That is a remedy for perjury, thieving, and all that sort of thing?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Another difficulty complained of in that section of the country is in regard
to collecting taxes, and in regard to frauds upon the revenue. Did this Klaii ever assist

the Government in that matter?
Answer. Not that ever I heard of.

Question. You never heard of that ?

Answer. No, sir
;

I never heard of it.

Question. Did they ever assist the Government in protecting the mail routes ?

Answer. No, sir; hut the democratic party down there have been very anxious to

give the Government all the assistance they could, because there has been a great
deal of thieving going on, and they have suffered

;
the democratic party is right for the

Government there. If the democratic party is the Klaii down there, they have given
the Government all the assistance in their power.

Question. You have said something about a white man and a negro getting into a

controversy about some matter, and that if the negro was forward and saucy, the white
mun would slap him I

Answer. Yes sir, they might do that.

Question. Suppose the negro did the slapping ?

Answer. If he did he would just get scissors
;
he would not be punished before the

court, but he would be pitched into at once outside of the court.

(Question. They would not tolerate anything of that kind?
Answer. If a negro there should come up and slap a white man, I suppose the white

man and his friends would give it to him
; though, if he were brought into court and

convicted of it, there would not be much of a punishment for him.

Question. There is a great deal of dread on the part of some people of the country of

negro equality. Do you apprehend that the negroes in that part of the country will
ever become socially the equal of the white people ?

Answer. No, ; ir : that is a matter the people will regulate for themselves.
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Question. Do you think there is any danger at all of that ?

Answer. No, I do not.

Question. Do you think there is any danger of the negroes mixing much with the
whites by marriage ?

Answer
) No, sir; there will have to be considerable revolution in our country before

that is done, even with the lower class of whites, or with any class.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. Even without the Ku-Klux?
Answer. Yes, sir, or with them. That class of people who reside in the South and have

never owned negroes are more bitterly opposed to social equality than slaveholders.

They hate the negro worse, aud the negro hates them worse
;
the negro calls them poor

white trash.

By Mr. COBURN :

Question. Do the negroes assert anything like superiority or even equality socially
with the white people down there ?

Answer. Not in our section of the country they do not
;
I do not know about it in the

lower part of the State. On account of their n ambers there they may claim some rights
there. In our section of the country the negroes have behaved remarkably well. There
is no difficulty between whites or blacks unless one or the other is drunk. When
white men get drunk sometimes they do something to the negro, and then the negro
asserts his rights, aud he is frequently protected by white men when imposed upon by
white men. But in my section of the State, so far as the negro is concerned, he has
behaved himself remarkably well.

Question. Is there such an order in existence down there as the White Brotherhood or
the Pale Faces ?

Answer. I have never heard of it until this present congressional committee mefc.

Question. Did this Ku-Klux business start until the negro had the right of suffrage
allowed him ?

Answer. Well, sir, I do not know.
Question. He had the right of suffrage given him in 1867, under the reconstruction

acts?
Answer. Yes, sir, and in our State the first time he cast a vote was in February, 1868.

1 do not know when the Ku-Klux commenced in Alabama. We heard of it often in
Tennessee

;
it existed there a long time before it found its way into Alabama. After it

had got down there, I think a great many joined it on account of the novelty of the thing;
they heard a great many stories about its grotesque paraphernalia, and a great many
went into it out of curiosity. I am satisfied that at this time it is dying out.

WASHINGTON, D. C., August 3, 1871.

SAMUEL F. RICE sworn and examined.

The CHAIRMAN, (Mr. POOL.) As this witness is from your State, Mr. Buckley, and
as you are doubtless more conversant than myself with the matters about which he
is to testify, you had better open his examination.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. Please state where you reside f

Answer. In Montgomery, Alabama.
Question. How long have you lived there ?

Answer. Since the early part of January, 1852.

Question. State what public positions, if any, you have held in the State of Alabama ?

. Answer. I have been several times a member of the legislature of the State, having
been first a member of the House for several sessions, and afterwards a member of the
Senate. I was also the public printer of the State at one time. Afterwards I was
judge aud chiefjustice of the supreme court of the State.

Question. State; how long you have practiced law in Alabama?
Answer. 1 have been a practicing lawyer since I first went to Alabama, which was

in the spring of 1838.

Question. You practice in the State courts and in the United States courts?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Is your practice confined to any particular judicial district?
Answer. No, sir; I practice in a large number of counties of the State. My regular

practice is now in the counties adjacent to Montgomery. Formerly, before I moved
to Montgomery, I resided fourteen years in the upper country, at Talladega; and at
that time my practise was in that region of the State.

Question. Then you have a general acquaintance all over the State ?
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Awwcr. Yes, sir, a very general acquaintance.
Question. Your practice brings you into intercourse with people from all quarters of

the State ?

Answer. It does.

Question. From the knowledge which you have thus gained, please state to the com
mittee the condition of your State so far as regards the execution of the laws and the

safety of property and person.
The CHAIRMAN, (Mr. POOL.) It may he well to inform you, Judge Rice, that in this

examination we do not confine a witness, as the courts do, to the statement of facts

within his own personal knowledge. You are at liberty to state any matters which
you have learned from information upon which you rely.

Answer. In the region of the State in which I practice at the present time, where
cases are actually instituted in the courts, the administration of the law is respectable,
to say the least. But it is also proper to say that there are cases in some portions of
the State of which I have heard in which I am satisfied the law cannot be adminis
tered.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. To what kind of cases do you refer?
Answer. Cases connected with and growing out of political and party differences

the struggles of each of the contending parties in that State for the control of its gov
ernment.

Question. Have you heard of any cases of whipping or other outrage committed by
men in disguise ?

Answer. Yes, sir, I have heard of such cases frequently. I have no personal knowl
edge of any such cases, but I have often heard of them.

Question. In various parts of the State, but not in your immediate region?
-Inswer. Not in my immediate region. The nearest county to Montgomery in which

I have heard of the commission of outrages of that sort is Coosa County, or the upper
part of Elmore County.

Question. Are cases of that class difficult to be adjudicated?
Answer. From niy understanding and belief an alibi has been proved in every case

of That kind that I have heard of where there has been an attempt to bring the accused

party to justice; in the courts or before any judicial ofiicer.

Question. Is there not also difficulty in identifying the parties when the outrages are
committed by disguised men?
Answer. Yes, sir; I understand that such a difficulty exists; but even when that

difficulty is surmounted an alibi is generally established.

Question. During how long a period have you heard of cases of that sort ? How far

back do these rumors run?
Answer. About two years back, I think. Two years, Is hould say, would embrace it.

Question. Have you known any cases of that kind to be brought into the State courts
and the perpetrators of such outrages punished by the, State authorities ?

^In-iicer. I have not known of any case where they have been punished.
Question. Is there not a law in the State of Alabama giving an injured person tho

right to sue and recover from the county damages for such outrages; and have there
been recoveries from the counties ?

Answer. &quot;Where suits have been instituted against the counties under the State law,
there have been a few recoveries. But the individual offenders have not been pun
ished.

Question. Please give us the title and date of the law under which recoveries from
the counties have been had?

Answer. The act was approved May 28, 1SG8. Its title is &quot;An act to suppress mur
der, lynching, and assault and batteries.&quot;

By the CIIAIKMAX, (Mr. POOL:)

Question. Please read so much of the law as relates to such cases as we are now con

sidering.
Answer. The first section of that law provides: &quot;That, whenever in any county of

this State any person shall be assassinated or murdered by any outlaw, or person or

persons in disguise, or mob, or for past or present party affiliation or political opinion,
the widow or husband of such person so murdered or assassinated, the next of kin of
such person, shall be entitled to recover of tho county in which such murder or assassin
ation occurred the sum of $3,000 as damages for such murder or assassination, to be
distributed among them according to the laws of Alabama regulating the distribution
of the estates of intestate decedents.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. Taking into consideration tho tone of public sentiment prevailing in Ala

bama, can persons go into all parts of the State and express or advocate their political

opinions with freedom and personal security ?
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Answer. In much the larger portion of the State I think any person would be safe in

doing so; but there are portions of the State in which, in my judgment, that would
not be the case.

Question. Can you name some portions of the State where you have learned of trouble

existing
Answer. From the best information I have, my undoubting belief is that during the

last election there were counties in Western Alabama in which a man would not have
been &amp;gt;ife in advocating political opinions distasteful to a portion of the people. On
one occasion when I was speaking (and I know that my remarks were within the

legitimate range of discussion) my own personal safety was threatened
;
there was an

open proposition to take me from the stand where I was making a public speech; and
the man who made the proposition got hold of my leg for the purpose of putting the

proposition into execution. That was at Troy, in the eounty of Pike.

Question. Did that occur last fall?

Answer. Yes, sir; in the last campaign.
Question. Were there any demonstrations of violence ?

Answer. A lawyer named McCaskle took hold of him. McCaskle was the first

one I noticed. He is a democratic lawyer, with whom I am acquainted, and a

personal friend. General Clantou, who was present at the time, and who pro
pounded the question the answer to which induced this proposition, was on my
right, and this man who made the proposition was on my left. General Clantoii

came around very soon and took part with others in controlling this man who made
the assault. The question which General Clanton put to me was whether I would vole
for that negro who was a candidate on the republican ticket for the office of secretary
of state. I answered that, believing him to be qualified, and knowing he had been

fairly nominated, and professing myself to be a republican, I should feel bound to

vote for him
;
that it would be hypocrisy on my part, when I believed he was qualified

and fairly nominated, to refuse to vote ibr him because he was a negro; and that of
course I should vote for him. When I said that, this man said, &quot;Let us take him off

the stand
;&quot;

and he caught me by the leg.
There were other interruptions of a marked character during the same discussion,

all of which General Clantou saw and heard. lie and I were engaged in a discussion
at the time, he speaking on the democratic side and I on the republican side. You,
yourself, [addressing Mr. Buckley,] made a short speech on the same occasion. While
I was speaking a man, who I understood lived in Troy and was a livery-stable keeper,
came along with a bell, which I understood was used as a tavern bell, and was obtained

by him from the hotel. He came up the sidewalk, ringing the bell as if he were an
auctioneer. I thought I understood what the purpose was; and when he got within
some ten or fifteen feet of where I was I remarked in a good-natured way that I had
not come there to interrupt or interfere with any legitimate business

;
and I asked the

crowd to excuse me from making any further remarks in the discussion till this

auctioneer got through with giving his notice as to the time and place where his
auction would occur. Upon that, some persons whom I did not know took hold of him
and carried him otf.

Question. Did he come up into the audience with the bell?

Answer. He came up within ten or twelve feet of where I was and among the people
who were listening. He rang the bell till he got within that distance. There were
other interruptions cumng/and rude, insulting remarks, such as &quot;damned radical/

7

&quot;damned
liar,&quot;

and other things of that sort; remarks made so that they could be
heard by the speaker and by others. I staid all night at the hotel in that town, and,&quot;

as you recollect, [addressing Mr. Buckley,] I was in the room which you occupied at
the hotel. A citizen of the town had come in, and we were talking, (I suppose it was
10 o clock at night,) when near the window by which you were sitting a volley of

brickbats, or rocks, or other missiles came heavily against the house. I noticed that
the citizen who was in there at the time, after staying a while, drew out a pistol, looked
at it, cocked it, and left the room, carrying it in his hand cocked.

(Jid ntion. Do you think he felt he was in personal danger? ^ ^

Answer. I have no doubt he felt so, from his action and from his remarks also
;
for he

came into the room late and evidently did not wish it known to the people there that
he had been in the room. That was the impression made on my mind.

By the CHAIRMAN, (Mr. POOL:)
Question. Was he a republican ?

AiiHiccr. No, sir; he was a democrat, AS I understood, but was impressed very favor-*

ably toward the republican doctrines by what he heard of the speeches that day. I

never had seen him before.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. Did he not state to you that he was a Douglas elector in 1860 ?

Answer. A Douglas man, as I uiiderotood. I can state further, that while I was there,
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several of the colored people, when they came into my room, told ine privately that

they were afraid to express their opinions, and were even afraid to vote
;
that they did

Hot*think they would go to the election
;
that they thought the hazard would he too

great. I know nothing further about that than what they told rne.

Question. Do you know of any instances of a similar character occurring in any other

part of the State.

Answer. During the same campaign, at Tuskegee, in Macon County, I was speaking
on one occasion to a pretty considerable crowd ; &quot;the court-house was nearly full. All

the white people were near to me, and the colored people in the further part of the

court-house. The different races were pretty well separated the colored people to

themselves and the whites to themselves the latter being in front. While I was

speaking, there were several interruptions by sounds and noises difficult to describe,
but expressive of indignation and contempt.

;
and that too when I had said nothing

that could justly be considered offensive. It is proper to say that I was careful in my
speeches throughout the campaign, to avoid adding to the irritation which I knew ex
isted. I recollect that iu a portion of my remarks I tried to persuade the people that
unwise resistance was generally hurtful to those who made it, though their course

might be right and what they resisted might be wrong. The sounds which occurred
several times during the speaking were calculated to interfere very much with any
speaker. When 1 would be looking in one direction the sounds would be in another.

They all came from the white portion of the crowd.
At another place, Opelika, in Lee County, there were a great many interruptions.

I may state that at Troy there was no interruption whatever of General Clanton, so

far as 1 know, and I am satislied there was none
;
he was heard respectfully by every

portion of the, crowd.

Question. Did you make a speech during the campaign at Tuseumbia?
Answer. I did make a speech at that place. It is the residence of Governor Lindsay,

the present governor of our State, who was then a candidate. Governor Smith, Gen
eral Warner, and myself were advertised to speak there on a certain day of the circuit

court. The day was a line one, the court was in session, and a good many people were
in town. I commenced my speech in the court-house as sooti as the court adjourned.
What struck me was the exceedingly small crowd present, and the fact that there was
not a colored person in the audience;

;
not one came into the court-house. I have no

idea that there were as many as fifty persons present, and those who were there were
mainly lawyers, together with the judge, and some few personal acquaintances and
friends that 1 had there. A crowd, white and colored, was in the street, but did not
come in. Then; was no violence

;
no interruption was offered

;
the surprising fact

was that the people appeared to stay away entirely.

Question. Did yon learn what excuse was given for their staying away?
Anxicer. Well. I jocosely remarked to a democrat, whom I had known for many

years, that they seemed to have their brother democrats up in that country under
pretty good contivl, when they would not even hear a republican speech, lie said
that that was the right way to do it. I asked some of the colored men how it hap
pened that republican speakers, after being advertised to speak in that town, should
not be able to get a solitary one of the colored race present to hear the speaking*.

They said they were very anxious to attend, but were afraid; that they believed it

was not safe for them to do so.

The next town al which we spoke was Florence, a town some six or eight miles, I

believe, across the Tennessee River. At the speaking in Florence I sa.w several of the
colored people whom 1 had met in Tuscumbia the uay before. They attended the

meeting at Florence, but said they were afraid to attend that at Tuscumbia.

Question. Did you ever before make a republican speech in that State when there
was no colored person present f

Answer. No, sir
;

I never saw such a thing as that anywhere. I never knew an
instance where, if colored people were near by and knew there was to be republican
speaking, there was not a single one in attendance.

Question. Do you know of any difficulties having occurred in public speaking in the
western part of the State ?

Answer. Only from information
;
I have no personal knowledge. I heard Governor

Smith s account of disturbances there, and the accounts of several others, whom I be
lieve to be truthful men.

Question. Do you refer to the riot at Eutaw ?

Ansicer. I refer to the disturbances at Eutaw and also at Livingston. The occur
rence at Livingston, Sumter County, was the day before the outbreak at Eutaw.

Question. Did you hear that the United States district attorney attempted to speak
at Brundidge and could not ?

Answer. I heard him speak of that himself. My recollection of his account of it is,
that when he arrived there they gave him to understand that he had better not speak ;

he undertook to argue and reason with them, and there was a division among those
who were opposing his speaking. Finally, as I think he states, one of them, said to
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him that he could speak, but the idea was implied that he would do so at his peril.
1YoMi all the indications he was satisfied that his speaking would lead to violent

results; and he did not speak because of the impression made upon him by the crowd
that he could not be heard without endangering the public peace and creating dis

turbance.

Question. I invite your attention to a question and answer in the testimony of General
James H. Clanton :

&quot;

Question. Is there freedom of speech in your State at present to all persons of all

political parties?
&quot; Answer. No, sir

;
there is freedom of speech for republicans, white and black, and for

white democrats
;
but there is none for colored democrats.&quot;

Have you heard of any democrats being interfered with in any way, either for voting
the democratic ticket or for making democratic speeches?
Anm ir. I heard that several years ago, while the United States military forces were

in our State, (Jem-nil Crittcnden, I think, being in command, there was a public meet

ing at which a colored man from Tennessee made a speech that resulted in a disturb

ance on the part of the colored people. I heard of that
;
I was not there. That is the

only case of the kind I ever heard of.

Question. In what year was that?
.litxtccr. 1 really cannot tix the year. It was at least two or three years ago. I am

satisfied it was while General Crittenden was in command of the military. .

By Mr. BLAIR:

Question. Was the colored man making a democratic speech ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
a colored man from Tennessee, whose name, I think, was Williams.

That is what I heard
;
I was not present.

Question. He attempted to make a democratic speech ?

Answer. Yes, sir. That was several years ago. I know of several colored men about

Montgomery who are democrats, and 1 have never known of their being interrupted or
interfered with at all. I know there is one there now in the service of some officers at
the State-house. Caesar Shorter, I think, is the name they call him

;
I believe he used

to belong to Governor Shorter. He has been known among democrats and republicans,
white and colored, as a democrat. Levi Floyd is another colored democrat. He was
a while at the State-house. I have myself heard him make democratic speeches with
out interruption, The instance I have mentioned as occurring several years ago is the

only case of the kind I ever heard of. I know several colored men who are. well
known to be democrats, and I have never known or heard of any interference with
them. I meet them often, and I see the colored people meet with them. I do not see
that the treatment extended to them differs from, the treatment extended to colored

people who are republicans.

Bp Mr. BUCHLEY:

Question. What effect do you think the riot at Eutaw last fall had on the republican
vote of that county ?

Ansiver. What I may say on that point is, of course, only a matter of opinion ;
but I

do not entertain a doubt about the effect which that riot had. I base my opinion upon
what I heard as occurring there, as well as on a comparison of the results of the elec
tion in that part of the State with the results in my own portion of the State.

Question. Compared, for instance, with the county of Lowndes?
Answer. Yes, sir, or Montgomery. I know there was no portion of the State in which

the contest on the part of the democrats was, within legitimate bounds, conducted
with more energy and ability than it was in and around Montgomery. The central
democratic committee had Montgomery as their headquarters. General Clanton, a

very efficient, energetic, and influential man, resides there. He was indefatigable in
his efforts. No man, I think, ever acquitted himself with more credit in laboring for an
organization of that kind than he did. He is a man of extensive acquaintance a man
having a great number of personal friends. By him and by all the other leading demo
crats of that region every legitimate political agency for securing success was brought
into requisition. No extraordinary violence or outrage was resorted to so far as I know.
The result in Montgomery, as well as in Lowndes, Bullock, and Barbour large coun-
ties was eminently favorably to the republicans in spite of the powerful efforts which
had been made by the ablest democrats in the State to make an impression upon the

republican voters.

Question. In those counties you increased the republican vote ?

Answer. We either held our own or increased our vote. But in Western Alabama,
where. I feel certain that the democrats, if they confined themselves within legitimate
bounds, had not advantages equal to those of the democrats in the portion of the
State when 1 I reside, there was an immense, an extraordinary, an unprecedented fall

ing off in the republican vote, which, so for as I know, cannot be accounted for except
by attributing it to intimidation resulting from the demonstrations nirwle in that part
of the State, at Eutaw and Livingston, and other demonstrations of violence and out
rage toward those who adhered lirmly to the republican party.
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Question. Then I infer you do not agree with Governor Lindsay in this statement
which appears in his testimony :

&quot;Now, I am positively informed, and so believe, that the riot at Eutaw injured us
in Greene County not fewer that live hundred votes.&quot;

He says again :

&quot;I am satisfied that the majority for the democratic ticket in Greene County would
have been five hundred more had the riot not occurred. 7

Answer. I think that any opinion of that kind is utterly incredible and irrational; I

do not think it has a particle of ground, either in fact or in reason.

Question. What do you think would have been the result of the last State election
had every one felt free to vote as he desired ?

Answer. I think there would have been a large republican majority in the State. I

am perfectly convinced that a large majority of the legal voters of Alabama were then,
and are now, of the republican faith.

Question. Were you in Montgomery at the time Governor Smith filed a bill to obtain
an injunction staying a declaration of the result of the election for governor until the

legislature could provide by law for a contest ?

Answer. No, sir
;
I was not there when the bill was filed

;
I was attending court either

in Barbour or Russell County. I got home a few days after the bill had been framed,
and after it had been submitted to a circuit judge for an injunction. He had refused
the injunction ;

and then the bill had been handed to a supreme court judge. Under
our law it could not go to a supreme court judge until it had first been presented to a
circuit judge or chancellor, and refused by him. The bill was in the hands of the

supreme court judge when I got home. At that time Governor Smith stated to me that
he had commenced a suit, and asked me if I would take part with his other counsel,
White and Parsons, in the management of the case for him.

Question. Did you become one of the counsel ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;

1 was employed under those circumstances. The bill was imme
diately sent for, before it had been acted on by the judge. Governor Smith said he
wished to know my opinion whether it was good in law, and could be sustained. I

examined the bill carefully, and had not a doubt then upon investigation, nor have I

ever had. nor have I now. about the right of Governor Smith to the injunction applied
for and obtained in the case.

Question. Was the injunction against the siipreme legislative authority of the State

government, as has been stated here several times in evidence, or was it against a min
isterial officer performing a ministerial duty ?

Answer. There has been a total misrepresentation of the bill and the principle on
which it rested. The bill was not for an injunction upon the legislature. Nothing of
the sort was sought or asked for; no idea of that kind was entertained by those who
framed or sustained the bill. That bill, as filed by Governor Smith, assorted in sub
stance that he was, and had been for some time past, the governor of the State: that
he had been a candidate for reelection : that Robert Lindsay was the opposing candi
date, and that William II. Smith had, in fact, been reflected, but that by force, fraud,
intimidation, and other unlawful means, the returns of the election, as made by
the returning officers to the secretary of State, showed a small majority in favor of

Lindsay, and against Governor Smith, whereas, in truth and in fact, Governor Smith
had been reelected, and but for this fraud, intimidation, and unlawful violence the
returns would have shown thsfct lie was reelected. He stated further iu his bill that

Lindsay was insolvent. The bill was framed upon the idea of invoking an injunction
to prevent irreparable injury to one who was in possession of property and claimed
title to it,

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. Do you consider that office property down there 1

Answer. An office is a public trust
; but, although it is a public trust, it is clearly the

private property of the incumbent. The authorities for this position arc found in

Warmock vs. Ilolloway, 2 Alabama Reports. An office is as much private property as
a hat or a coat or any other property.

Question. What bearing had Lindsay s insolvency upon the question ?

Answer. I will state the bearing which it had upon the question. In many cases you
are not entitled to an injunction, (which is a preventive remedy,) unless you show that

irreparable injury will result to you in the absence of an injunction. The injunction
is to prevent the irreparable injury. Now, Governor Smith in filing that bill says in

substance : &quot;1 am in possession of the office rightfully and legally ;
I am reelected to

it lawfully and properly ; but, by fraud, intimidation, and violence, the returns of the
election have been made to bear a complexion against me by a small majority.&quot; He
says, further, that under a provision of the constitution of the State a ministerial dnty
is assigned to the presiding officer of the senate in reference to these returns made to
the secretary of state

;
that is, to open and publish them in the presence of the majority

of both branches of the general assemblv. Now, the theory of the bill was this : If this

32
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ministerial duty, assigned*by the constitution to the presiding officer of the senate

that is, the opening and publishing of these returns is performed by him, it will be
entered upon the journals of the two houses, and there will bo a prlma facie right or

title in favor of Lindsay, which will enable him to get temporary possession of this

office. This will certainly be so, because, under the circumstances, there can be no
contest of the election of governor except before a joint convention of the two houses,
and that cannot be had until after a law has been passed providing for it

;
and no law

of that kind has ever been passed. Governor Smith s bill stated substantially,
&quot; I have

no remedy at law to make a contest. I lose the temporary possession of this office, to

which I am lawfully entitled, if this ministerial duty assigned by the constitution to

this officer is allowed to be performed by him
;
he will dispossess me temporarily of the

office, the salary of which is $4,000 a year. This insolvent claimant will pocket the

salary for the time he holds possession*; and though I may afterward establish my title

to the office with perfect clearness, I never can get out of the pocket of this insolvent
the money which he will have drawn in the mean time, during his possession of the

office. To that extent I shall be irreparably injured.&quot; On that theory Governor Smith
culled upon the chancellor to say,

&quot; Hold things as they are; prevent the performance
of this ministerial duty until the legislature shall pass a law, as the constitution,

requires them to do, prescribing the manner of conducting the contest of an election

for governor.&quot;

Question. Do you not think that if Governor Smith had established his right to that

office, his right would have related back to the time when his other official term

expired, and that he would have been entitled to his salary, no matter whether it had
been drawn by Lindsay or not ?

Answer. The view which your question implies is partly right and partly wrong. I

know that the right of Governor Smith, when established, would have related back to
the beginning of the official term

;
but if, in the mean time, Lindsay had been in the

office and drawn the salary according to law, Governor Smith could not have drawn
it from the treasury again. Hence, his only chance ilnder the law of the land to obtain
the salary for that portion of the official term, would be for Governor Smith to sue

Lindsay for the recovery of money had and received.

Question. Then the practice in your State is different from what it is anywhere else.

A successful contestant for a seat in Congress draws pay from the beginning of the
official term.

Answer. That results from the exercise by the legislature of its legislative power. A
legislative body has, in such a matter, a discretion, which cannot be claimed by a court
of justice. The legislature of Alabama, I admit, might have passed, if they had chosen
to do so, an act giving Governor Smith his salary for the time for which Lindsay had
pocketed the money while he held possession of the office. I admit, the legislature
might have done so.

By the CHAIRMAN, (Mr. POOL :)

Question. Would not that have resulted in a loss to the State?
Answer. That would have involved a loss to the State. Lindsay and Smith would

both have been paid for one and the same period of time. But, mark you, Governor
Smith, if he established his right to the office, had a fixed legal right to the salary,
which did not depend on whether the legislature passed an act allowing it to him or
not. - ^

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. As a matter of law, if he established his right, that right related back to a
certain date?

Ansicer. Certainly.
Question. He was entitled then, as a matter of law, to the salary for the whole term

;

and if in the mean time the proper paying officer of the State had allowed Lindsay to.
draw his salary, was not that officer, if any one, responsible for paying the wrong man ?

Answer. No, sir
;
the law is directly the reverse. If the returns had been opened and

published, and Lindsay had been entered on the journals as elected, and afterward had
drawn upon the proper officer for his salary, and that proper officer had refused to pay
it, Lindsay could, by mandamus, have compelled him to pay it.

Mr. BLAIR. I know he could.
WITNESS. If the officer had paid him, with or without a mandamus, Lindsay s receipt

for the salary would have been a complete discharge of the State officer who paid it,
and a complete discharge of the liability of the State, whether to Smith or anybody
else. I desire to say again that the injunction was not against the legislature, but was
against the presiding officer of the Senate, to prevent him from performing the minis
terial duty assigned to him by section 3 of article 5 of the State constitution, which
reads as follows :

&quot;The returns of every election for the officers named in the preceding section shall
be sealed up and transmitted to the seat of government by the returning officers,
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directed to the presiding officer of the senate, who, during the first week of the session,

shall open and publish the same in the presence of a majority of the members of the

general assembly. The person having the highest number of votes shall be declared

duly elected
;
but if two or more shall be the highest aud equal in votes for the same

office, one of them shall be chosen by the joint vote of both houses. Contested elections

for executive offices shall be determined by both houses of the general assembly in such

manner as shall be prescribed by law.&quot;

Now, this injunction of Governor Smith was simply to restrain the presiding officer

of the senate from performing this ministerial duty of opening and publishing the

returns in the presence of the two houses. The object was by the injunction to hold

things in the condition in which they were before the opening and publishing of the

returns, until a law could bo passed which never had been the law required by that

section prescribing the manner in which the contest for an executive office should be

carried on. We have no law of that kind
;
that part of the constitution is not self-

executing, and it has not been executed by the legislature, as is shown in the bill.

The injunction was granted at the instance of one in possession of property private

property. Although an office is a public trust, yet it is the private property of the

incumbent, as much so as any other property which is capable of ownership, and it can
be protected precisely to the same extent and by the same rules of law by which the

possessor of any other kind of property may protect it from irreparable injury.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. Have you authorities in support of that position?
Anmvcr. There are authorities in abundance

;
and if I had had any idea that I was to be

examined on this point I would have brought them here.

The CHAIRMAN, (Mr. POOL.) There is no authority to the contrary. The principle
is laid down in Blackstone.
WITNESS. No

;
there are no opposing authorities. If this had been any other kind

of property than a public office there never would have been any misconception about

it, unless it might have grown out of that blinding effect which party prejudice pro
duces sometimes on the best of us.

The bill of Governor Smith was not designed to try the title to the office, but simply
to protect Governor Smith s possession and enjoyment of the office against irreparable

injury until the title to the office could be legally tried. In the case of Warmock vs.

Holloway, 2 Alabama Reports, it is declared (I quote the decision from memory) that
&quot;An office is as much a species of property as anything that is capable of being
owned; and conflicting. claims thereto are dctermmable by the same rules and upon
the same principles as any other contests about rights to any other property.&quot;

By Mr. BLAIR:

Question. You have said that this bill alleged, among other things, that the election

was carried by fraud. Was any evidence of fraud offered before the court?
Answer . An application for an injunction in our State is always ex partc. No evi

dence whatever is adduced, except that the bill for the injunction is sworn to. After
the injunction is granted

Question. The prayer of the bill was to enjoin the presiding officer of the senate
Answer. From opening and publishing the returns until the further order of the

chancery court. It was a temporary injunction.
Question. Then what did you propose to do?
Answer. It was proposed to hold things precisely as they were, Smith in possession,

until a law should be, passed by the legislature prescribing the manner in which the
contest should be conducted, and to force Lindsay either to make the contest, or to

have some step taken in reference to the chancery suit that would bring it to a hearing
or trial. As to the proof, it is open always to the defendant in an injunction suit to

move, either in vacation or in term time, for the dissolution of the injunction, upon
giving ten dtoys notice, and filing an answer.

By the CHAIRMAN, (Mr. POOL:)

Question. U| on a. motion to dissolve an injunction, facts are alleged controverting
the allegations of the original bill ?

Answer. A motion to dissolve can be made on the answer alone.

Question. But a motion to dissolve is made on an answer controverting the allega
tions of the original bill, and that is the proper stage for proof?
Answer. The defendant, if he denies all the allegations of the bill outright, is

entitled to a dissolution of the injunction before any proof is taken. After giving ten

days notice he can move to dissolve for want of equity or for want of jurisdiction,
or upon the denials in his own ausAver.

Question. Did Governor Lindsay file an answer to the allegations of the bill ?

Answer. No, sir. Governor Lindsay was not made a party to that bill, and it was
not necessary

Question. Did any one file an answer denying the allegations of the bill?
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Answer. No, sir. The presiding officer of the senate was the sole party defendant,
and he never filed any answer.
This prayer for an injunction was made and granted. Now what was done ? While

that injunction was in full force, the friends of Governor Lindsay, as it was said, and
I believe it to be true, procured a circuit judge, J. Q. Smith, who was then holding the

regular term of the circuit court at Selraa, to leave his court there* and come to

Montgomery, where there were one or two or more circuit judges ;
and when he came

to Montgomery they instituted a summary proceeding authorized by our statute.

By Mr. BLAIR:

Question. But prior to that had not the vote been declared ?

Answer. I Avill answer that question directly. Here is the statute under which that

proceeding was instituted :

&quot;In all cases in which it is not otherwise expressly provided, when any office is

vacated, except by the death of the incumbent, all books, papers, property, and money
belonging and appertaining to such office must, on demand, be delivered over to his

qualified successor
;
and every person violating this section is guilty of a misdemeanor,

and on conviction thereof must be lined not less than two hundred dollars.

&quot;If any person refuses or neglects, after demand made, to deliver over any books,
paper, or property as required in the preceding section, his successor may make
complaint thereof to the judge of the circuit, or judge of

,probate of the county in

which the person refusing resides
;
and if such judge is satisfied by the oath of the

complainant, and such other evidence as may be offered, that any such books, paper,
or property are withheld, he must grant an order requiring the person so refusing to

show cause before him, on a day and at a place named iu such order, why he should
not be compelled to deliver the same.&quot;

As I am informed and believe, the friends of Governor Lindsay procured J. Q. Smith,
circuit judge, to leave the court he was holding at Selrna, and come to Montgomery \

where there was at least one circuit judge, if not more, at the time
;
and before him

Governor Lindsay instituted the proceeding.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. Was Montgomery in Judge Smith s circuit?

Answer. Yes, sir. He was a judge of the circuit in which Montgomery is; but he
was at the time holding court in another county. After he came to Montgomery, a

proceeding was instituted under the statute I have just read, in the name of Lindsay,
to recover from Smith the books, papers, and paraphernalia of the office of governor.
The notice was given to Governor Smith in the forenoon of a particular day ;

and the
trial was set for that afternoon about 3 o clock. When we went into that trial I

objected to the jurisdiction of Judge J. Q. Smith over this case, upon the plain words
of the statute, which are these :

&quot; If any person refuses or neglects after demand made to deliver over any books,

papers, or property as required iu the preceding section, his successor may make com
plaint thereof to the judge of the circuit or the judge of probate of the county in

which the person refusing resides.&quot;

The complaint of Lindsay alleged that he was the qualified successor of Governor
Smith

;
that he had made a demand upon him for the books, papers, and paraphernalia

of the office of governor; that Smith had refused to deliver the same. The bill did&quot;

not allege that Governor Smith lived in that county. The fact was notorious to Judge
J. Q. Smith, as it was to all other parties concerned, that William II . Smith, the gov
ernor, did not then reside, and never had resided, in Montgomery County ; but, iu fact,

resided in a distinct comity, called Randolph. The jurisdiction is confined, as will be
Been by reference to the statute, to the judge of the circuit in which the person
refusing resides.

By Mr. BLAIR : *

Question. Had not Governor Smith resided in Montgomery during all the time he was

governor ?

Answer. There was no law requiring the governor to reside at the capital ;
he was

there frequently ;
but he retained his family residence uninterruptedly in Randolph

County ;
his family remained there, and he had no residence in Montgomery.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. Is Randolph in another judicial circuit?

Answer. Yes, sir; another one entirely ;
neither the one in which Smith was holding

, court, nor the one for which he was elected. In that respect there was a plain and

palpable usurpation of jurisdiction.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. Could the case be appealed?
Answer. I suppose it could

;
I will not say

&quot;

appealed ;
it was rovisable.
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Question. Was any attempt ever made to revise the action of Judge Smith ?

Answer. No, sir; it was never finally decided before him; but he overruled promptly
the objection to the jurisdiction. He heard us on that question, but promptly, after
we were through, decided that he had jurisdiction ;

and he required the personal
presence of Governor Smith in court. He said he would not hear an application for
continuance or any other application till Governor Smith was present; and he allowed
thirty minutes for me to get Governor Smith there. I went to the capitol, and in

thirty minutes Governor Smith came down.

By the CHAIRMAN, (Mr. POOL :)

Question. Did the judge have a right to require the personal presence of a party in
such a proceeding as that?

Answer. None in the world. It was purely a civil proceeding; and no judge has the

right to require personal presence in a purely civil suit except it be a proceeding for

contempt. But he required the personal attendance of the governor; and the gov
ernor came. From these rulings of the judge and other plain indications, Governor
Smith and his counsel were perfectly satisfied that the case was prejudged, and that
J-. Q. Smith would decide it against Governor Smith, no matter what might be the proof
or the law. In that state of things, without my knowledge, the subject of a compro
mise or settlement grew up between Governor Smith and General Pettus, who was one
of Governor Lindsay s lawyers. That negotiation resulted in a compromise.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. What was the compromise?
Answer. The compromise was that Governor Smith yielded, upon the ground dis

tinctly declared, that, although he was satisfied he was fairly and lawfully reflected,
his continuance of the litigation and the contest in the palpable excitement that sur
rounded the whole matter xvould. tend to disturb the public peace : and the detriment
to the material interests of the people of the State would be infinitely greater than
the possession of the office itself by any particular man could possibly compensate.

Question. So he agreed to give it np ?

Answer. He agreed to give it up for the reasons declared ?

Question. When one man gives up all that the other claims, do you call that a com
promise ?

Answer. They all called it a compromise a settlement and compromise.
Question. Do you call it a compromise?
Answer. I do.

Question. When there is a controversy about a certain thing, and one of the parties
gets all that there is iu controversy, and the other loses all that there is in contro
versy, do you call that a compromise?

Anmcer. I do not think that was the case here. I do not think that one party
obtained all. I think that Governor Smith got all the credit that patriotic action can
secure to a man when, out of regard for the public peace, he yields a claim that he
honestly believes to be a good one. Governor Smith believed his claim to be good,
and so did I

;
but he was satisfied that by insisting on his strict legal rights he would

involve his State in calamities and troubles, from the violence and lawlessness of the
opposing party, which would more than counterbalance any benefit that could come
from his holding the office.

Question. I have no doubt that he got the credit of preserving the peace, but I do
not believe he got all the credit you claim for him.
Answer. General Pettus and Judge Brooks, counsel for Governor Lindsay, published

a card in the Montgomery papers in which they gave Governor Smith great credit for
his patriotic action.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. Have you stated all that you wish to state in this connection ?

Answer. I wish to state in this connection that before this summary proceeding under
the statute

^yas instituted by Lindsay before Judge J. Q. Smith, and while the injunc
tion was in full force, in plain and palpable violation of that injunction, the presiding
officer, in the absence of the senate, after the senate had adjourned for the day, pro
ceeded to open and count the returns in the presence of the house of representatives ;

his opening and publishing tnose returns was entered upon the journals ef the house,
but not on the journals of the senate

;
and it was npou a count of that kind that Gov

ernor Lindsay claimed the right which he asserted in this summary proceeding under
the statute.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. That was a senate which had held over ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
the same one that we have still

;
the senate which has been recog

nized by the democratic party as a good senate.
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By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. It has been stated here in evidence that the fourteenth amendment to the
Constitution together with the reconstruction acts, embracing what is usually termed
the reconstruction policy of Congress, has caused great dissatisfaction in the Southern
States. I wish you would state to the committee your view upon that subject ?

Answer. I think the dissatisfaction and discontent in Alabama are, to say the least,
older than the fourteenth amendment, or the reconstruction .measures of Congress.
The dissatisfaction and discontent in the Southern States existed at the beginning of
the war

;
and to do justice to this matter you must go back to that period. In my

judgment the prevailing belief in Alabama at the beginning of the war was that the

republican party, by the election of 1860, had acquired power to carry out their scheme
of injury and wrong to the southern people and their property, and that they were
determined to do so^if the Southern States remained in the Union. It Avas believed
that the purpose of the republican party, among other things, was to put the colored
race upon the ground of civil and political equality with the white race. I believed
that myself, and it was upon that belief that I and others who were for secession

advocated that measure. That belief continued throughout the war. When the war
ended, and the negroes were set free, that measure was far from diminishing the dis

content and dissatisfaction
;

its tendency was rather to increase it. We, in the South,
looked upon the republican party as our enemies, even after the war closed. Their

triumph stripped us of our property, mortified our pride, destroyed our favorite con
struction of the Constitution, and embittered us generally. Our passions, under all

these irritating causes, unfitted us to perceive the inevitable, and to avail ourselves of
it and utilize it. This was the condition of the people of Alabama generally at the
time the reconstruction measures and the fourteenth amendment were proposed ;

and
in the tumult of the passions which then prevailed among the people of Alabama, the
fourteenth amendment as well as the reconstruction policy of Congress, was opposed
in every way that wo considered it lawful to oppose them. When the constitution
now in force in Alabama was proposed to the people for ratification at the election in

February, 1869, I, in common with most of the white people of Alabama, under the
considerations and passions already alluded to, did all that we could to defeat it.

By Mr. BLAIR:

Question. You did defeat it, did you not I

Answer. We did defeat it, according to the laA&quot; of Congress which was in force at the
time of that election. My own belief at that time, as well as that of the people gener
ally, was, that if Congress was determined, after we had so defeated it, to put it upon
tis as the constitution of the State, no opposition we could make to it by actually vot

ing against it at the election would avail.

Question. Do you believe that under the Constitution of the United States Congress
had any authority to impose that constitution upon you ?

Answer. I will answer that question directly when I get to that point. Hence the
white people generally declined to vote at that election. Before June, 1868, I had be
come perfectly convinced that Congress was determined to impose that constitution

upon us. I then did all that I could to calm my passions and survey the situation as

it was
;
and in that way I came deliberately to the conclusion that Congress was de

termined to carry out its views in these respects, and that, as it had the power to do

so, any further insisting by us upon our view of the matter would be calamitous to the
southern people themselves, and highly injurious to the country at large. One side or

the other I thought must necessarily yield, and I deemed it my duty as one conquered
to yield, in the hope and belief that the greatest good would result from it to the
South and the whole country. I announced these views in substance in .the demo
cratic convention held at Montgomery in June, 1868, of which convention I was a

member, and I advocated the nomination by the democrats of Chief Justice Chase for
the presidency, in which proposition I was sustained by the judgment of that wise and
patriotic man, Governor Fitzpatrick, of Alabama, who was also a member of the same
convention. The convention, however, by an overwhelming majority, decided ad

versely to these views of myself and Governor Fitzpatrick ;
aiid the debate in that

convention on the part of those who opposed the views we advocated showed that the

passions and hates which had existed at the beginning of the war and at its close were
unabated in that State. Having been a member of that convention, and having there

publicly advised against the course which was afterwards taken, I felt bound by a

pledge which* I had made in the convention to abide its action, and continue to act
with the democratic organization during that campaign.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Qiuxtion. Did you canvass the State in that presidential election ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. On the democratic side ?

Answer. Yes, sir. I canvassed the State, and was active, earnest, and zealous ia the
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attempt to bring success to the democratic nominees in that campaign. We failed.

Shortly afterwards I published a letter setting forth my views calmly and deliberately
to the people ;

and in that letter I evinced that my future action would no longer be
controlled by the democratic leaders. It was then that I took what is called now &quot;the

new departure;&quot; and for doing so at that time I was assailed by the democratic leaders
and editors in Alabama with a bitterness never surpassed. Several, however, of the
newspapers which then assailed me so bitterly have very recently taken &quot; the new
departure.&quot;

Question. Is it not the negro suffrage feature of the reconstruction policy of Congress
which is one great cause of dissatisfaction ?

Answer. That is my belief; I have no doubt of it
;
and I can give reasons satisfactory

to my own mind for that opinion.
Question. Please state the reasons.
Answer. In the democratic convention at Montgomery in June, 1868, when I openly

advocated the nomination by the democrats of Chief &quot;justice Chase, he was assailed
with great bitterness by the speakers representing the majority in that convention,
and mainly because of his views as to negro suffrage and negro rights. It was not
even claimed or pretended that Chief Justice Chase had any connection with the
fourteenth amendment, or with the reconstruction measures of Congress. But the
main ground of assault upon him was, that he was one of the chief men in bringing
about negro suffrage.

Question. It has also been stated here in evidence by General Clanton, I believe, and
by Governor Lindsay, that the failure on the part of the Government to carry out in

good faith the terms of the surrender was a source of great dissatisfaction. Do you con
cur with them in that view ?

Answer. I have heard that mentioned among other causes
;
but I look upon it as

insignificant in its influence compared to these other matters.

Question. To what extent do you think the present troubles of the Southern States

grow out of antagonism of race ?

Ansiw. I attribute the troubles of the South to the continued indulgence of the

passions that I call the &quot; war passions; passions engendered during the war and since
the war. The leaders will not let the people get cool

; they will not let them reason.
I think that with all calm and considerate men at the South, men who have become
cool, the antagonism of race, if there be such a thing, is not a matter that will give
us any trouble in the future. My own opinion is that with our passions conquered,
and iu the exercise of our calm judgment, and an ordinary amount of patriotism, there
is really no antagonism between the races that will produce any evil consequences in

the South.

Question. What has been the conduct of the colored people since their enfranchise
ment ?

Answer. In general, it has been good, beyond any expectation which I think any
reasonable man could have indulged.

Question. You live in the black belt &quot; of the State, I believe f

Answer. I do. I think that the southern people, including myself, made a great mis
take in not cultivating, immediately upon the close of the war, that same kindly feel

ing which had ever theretofore existed between the whites and the blacks in the South.

Question. Was that kindly feeling kept up during the war ?

Answer. Without abatement.

Question. Do you think, if the course which you indicate had been pursued, that

same kindly feeling would have been continued, and would still exist i

Answer. In my opinion nothing but the indulgence of passion to an inordinate extent

could have prevented the continuance of that kindly feeling, except perhaps for a

very brief period, immediately following the setting free of the colored people.

Question. What effect has the position assumed by the democratic party of the South
in opposition to the enfranchisement of the colored people, had upon that class if

Answer. It has had the effect to unite them almost solidly against the democratic

party. They really fear, judging from all I hear from them, that democratic success

would produce great injury to them, and would very seriously impair the enjoyment
of their rights.

Question. Do they look upon opposition to their exercise of the elective franchise as

threatening one of their rights ?

Answer. Of course they so regard it.

Question. I desire to ask some questions as to the manner of conducting* elections in

your State. It has been asserted that there is no security in the State of Alabama

against illegal voting. Is that your construction of the law!
Answer. We have a statute which does by its letter prohibit the challenging of

voters
;
but I believe all thinking men understand that act to be subject to a reason

able construction, and that the spirit of it really amounts to nothing more than tbi* :

Thar where a challenge is made, it is made simply at the peril of the challenger. If it

turns out that the party challenged is not entitled to vote, the person challenging him
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is perfectly free from either civil or criminal liability ;
but if it turns out that the per

son challenged is a legally-entitled voter, then, under the true construction of the law,
as I think, the party challenging, having interfered improperly with the exercise of a

legal right, incurs a penalty for doing so. That is the construction which, as a judge,
I should feel bound to put on the law. and the construction which I think prevails
among those with whom I have conversed on the subject. I hear on both sides allega
tions of illegal voting, and from the information I get, I think there is and has been

illegal voting on both sides. My own belief, from all the information I have had, is

that the republicans were the losers in the last election by illegal voting; that there
was more of it on the democratic side than there was on the other side.

Question. Were the electors in that State registered?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Under your law are persons registering required to take an oath ?

Answer. They are required to take an oath, and am subject to penalties for illegal

registration. The registration law is a good one
;
and there is a good and a safe law

about contesting elections. If the law of Alabama is observed no man can be preju
diced except temporarily by illegal voting. The mode of contesting elections is well

provided for, and it is ample, except as to elections for executive officers. It is only
with reference to these officers, so far as I know, that ample provision is not made by
law for contesting the elections.

Question. Do you know Judge Bustecd of the United States district court ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Does he live in your State ?

Ansiver. Well, he says he does. I do not think he is there much.
Question*. He has stated here that the State auditor made an attempt to disobey an

injunction of the district court of the United States for the middle district of Alabama.
Do you know anything about that case t

Answer. Yes, sir
;
I was employed in that suit by the governor on the part of the

defense. It was a suit commenced by the Southern Express Company against the
auditor of the State, and some others of the revenue officers of the State, to prevent
the collection of the taxes imposed upon the express company by the revenue law of
Alabama. The allegations in the bill are in substance that the law is not a proper one,
is violative of the constitution, and that the assessment itself, as made, was illegal.
But there is no special ground of equity stated or pretended in the bill, independent of
these alleged illegalities. For instance, it is not pretended that irreparable injury
will result to the company from the collection of the tax

;
nor is it pretended that there

will be a multiplicity of suits if the taxes are paid by the company. In an opinion of
the Supreme Court of the United States, delivered by Judge Davis at the last term a
unanimous decision of the court in a tase from Kansas it was decided that there was
not a particle of equity in such a bill as that which was filed in Judge Busteed s court

by the Southern Express Company. These grounds were set forth in behalf of the
revenue officers, who were the defendants. During the pendency of the suit the
auditor was brought up on a charge of having violated the injunction. Judge Goldth-
waite. who was elected by the democrats at the last session to the Senate, was my
partner at that time. We both agreed that if there was a contempt by Reynolds, the
State auditor, it was the most eminently technical contempt for which any man had
ever been held accountable, and that certainly there was no intention of committing a

contempt. The- answer to the proceeding for contempt disclaimed utterly any such
intention. If there was a technical contempt, it resulted from a mere difference of

opinion in regard to the construction of the resrenue law. The counsel for Reynolds
concurredin his construction of it

;
the judge adopted a different construction. There

was no intent to show any contempt to the United States court or its process, or any
of its constituted authorities. That was plainly shown. And the Supremo Court of

the United States, in the decision to which I have referred, has decided that there is

riot a particle of equity in such a bill. Judge Busteed, in this case, lined Reynolds
$1,000 for contempt, and put him in jail for several days. In addition to this he took
occasion in the course of his opinion to make a statement which is utterly false, and
for which he has been sued in an action for libel by Reynolds. This action for libel

has been before a jury once, and the verdict was prevented by tampering with one of
The jurors, by a man who was well known as Judge Busteed s friend, for which inter

ference the judge of that court put Judge Busteed s friend in jail, and also the juror.

Question. 1 would like to ask you now a few questions in regard to political disabili

ties. Were you a member of the republican convention which met at Selina last

summer !

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did that convention take any action in regard to the removal of political
disabilities ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;

it unanimously passed a very strong resolution in favor of the
removal of such disabilities

;
and 1 know that the general view of the republicans of

Alabama is in accordance with that resolution. There are very few republicans of
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Alabama who are not earnest advocates of universal amnesty. I have advocated it

ever since I acted with the republicans ;
and it has been a matter of very great regret

to me that Congress has not passed a general law removing all such disabilities. I
think the republicans have been very much injured by the failure to pass such a law.

Question. I wish to invite your attention to a part of the testimony of Governor
Lindsay :

;

Question, Arc not even the colored people of Alabama in favor of the general
removal of political disabilities by Congress?

&quot;Answer. Yes, sir.
&quot;

Question. Is that the case with most of the white republicans ?
&quot; Answer. I do not think it is.

;

Has the senate of Alabama ever taken any action on this subject ?

Answer. Yes, sir. The senate of Alabama, which is still republican, has passed a res
olution more than once in. favor of universal amnesty, and has memorialized Congress
on the subject.

Question. A great deal has been said in the testimony of other witnesses in regard to
taxation in the State of Alabama. Do you know whether any money was drawn from
the State treasury several months after the surrender ior services rendered by State
officials before the surrender during the war?

Answer. I have seen that statement in a public document.

Question. Who received the money?
Answer. I do not recollect all of them. Governor Watts was one who received

money in that way. The names of the parties are stated in the report which I saw. I

have never heard the statement denied.

Question. In what report did you sec it?

Answer. I think it was in Chisolnrs report, as comptroller.

By the CHAIRMAN, (Mr. POOL:)

Question. An official report ?

Answer. Yes, sir. That report contains a statement showing the name of each inaa
who received money in that way, and the amount received. Governor Smith had the
document along with him in the campaign last summer.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. For what was this money paid ?

Answer. For services rendered the State during the war. Governor Watta was gov
ernor during the war, and got pay, I think, for that. He had not drawn his salary, I

believe, in confederate money; and after the close of the war, and before the recon
struction of the State, he drew his salary in good money. That is what the report
states. Judge A. J. Walker, chief justice of the supreme court, is another whom I

recollect as having drawn pay under those circumstances.

Question. Do you remember how much money was paid in that way?
Answer. No, sir

;
I do not recollect. I did not charge my mind with the amount

j
but

it is considerable.

Question. Do you remember how payment was stopped?
Answer. I think Chisolni stopped it

;
that is niy understanding. He was auditor or

comptroller at that time.

Question. Do you know whether there wras any order issued from any source to stop
payment ?

Answer. I have understood there was
;
but I am not certain about it.

By the CHAIRMAN. (Mr. POOL:)

Question. Do you mean to say that those officers had drawn their pay before the close

of the war in confederate money?
Answer. No, sir; I say they had not drawn their pay during the war; but after the

close of the war they took greenbacks. They could have got their pay in confederate

money during the war, but did not do so. The fact has been stated publicly, and I

never heard it denied. There are, leading democrats involved in the matter. That is

what called my attention to it.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. Are you acquainted with Judge Luther R. Smith?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Have you tried cases before him?
Answer. I have never tried any cases before him

;
I have conversed a good deal with

him; I have conversed considerably with lawyers who have tried cases before him
He is u judge in the western part of the State,In which I do not practice. I have not
had any law business there since 1866.

Question. It has been stated here that some resolutions have been passed requesting
him to resign on account of iucompeteucy. D&amp;lt;- y^u regard him as incompetent?
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Answer. I think he is one of the best circuit judges in the State one of the most
competent. I have no doubt 011 that point.

Question. He is not an active politician?
Answer. I do not know as to that; h.e lives in a different circuit from mine.

Question. Did you ever know him to take any part in politics?
Answer. He was the presiding officer of the Selina convention

;
I know of no other

instance in which he has taken part in politics.

Question. He was chosen presiding officer of that convention on account of his

superior qualifications?
Answer. Undoubtedly that was the cause

;
and he made one of the best presiding

officers I ever saw. His ability in that line is remarkable.

By the CHAIRMAN, (Mr. POOL :)

Question. Why was he requested to resign?
Answer. I have no personal knowledge in the matter; but I have no idea that if ho

were a democrat any such request would ever have been made. I think it is purely
because he is a republican. I know of no other cause.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. In the testimony taken by the committee some charges have been made
against Governor Parsons on the ground that he left the democratic party and joined
the republican party for some mercenary purpose. I would like you to state your own
reason for abandoning the democratic party and joining the republican party.

Answer. I know for myself that I never took any step or did any act more regret
fully than I did that of leaving the democratic party and determining to act with the

republican party. I knew the state of public feeling; I had had all those passions
myself; I knew what an utter contempt I had entertained for the republicans ;

and it

was the hardest struggle of my life to get myself cool enough and calm enough to look
at these great questions which have been disturbing the country, through republican
spectacles that is, to fully appreciate the view the republicans take of such questions
to survey the matter from their standpoint; for I ana satisfied if you want to do jus
tice to any man s position, you must look at the question not merely in your own view,
but so far as possible in his. It did not occur to me until after a long time that the

republicans could be actuated in the course they were pursuing by anything else than
hate toward the people of the South. That I knew to be the prevailing view among
the white people of Alabama

;
and I knew that any man who would quit the demo

crats and take part with the republicans would be, no matter what his motives or
what manner of man he might be, hated and despised by a large portion of our white

people. I do not know that any man could take a more unpopular and ungracious
step, one more dangerous to all his prospects. I took the step under the absolute con
viction that it was best for the southern people themselves, whom I love better than I

do any other people, that I and all others who had any influence with them should
take the republican side and should try to calm the people down and bring about

peace in the country. I did not see any other way to peace ;
I do not believe there is

^

any other. In my own opinion we cannot, as a State, attain peace and prosperity
&quot;

while one-half of the people of the State are continually struggling to deny to the
other the right of suffrage.

Judging Governor Parsons by myself, I should say that nothing but an imperative
conviction of patriotic duty could have induced him to make the change he did. I do
not see how he could have promised himself any gain by it. I know that when I quit the

democrats, and concluded to act with the republicans, I considered it as equivalent to

resignation for all time of anything in the way of political promotion. I know that i

personally I have suffered greatly by it in the breaking of social ties, &c. Even my
law partnership with Judge Goldthwaite was broken up in the storm which prevailed
at the time of the suit between Governor Smith and Governor Lindsay. Judge Gold
tliwaite was a candidate for the Senate

;
and he became perfectly convinced that he

could not obtain the votes of the democratic members of the legislature if he remained
a partner of mine. No business connection between any two men was ever more,
pleasant than ours, as he himself said at the time that he desired to dissolve the part-

1*

nership. I know that no two men ever got along better together in business. There
was never anything to disturb our relations, personal or professional. I will state fur-

.ther that I have no bitterness toward any of the democrats not even those who have .

ireated me the worst
;
and for this reason : At the close of the war, and for some time

afterward, in the frame of mind in which I then was, I would have justified myself to

-the full in all those things which they are doing now, and which I now condemn. My
.own conviction was that people who had treated us as the northern people had, did in&amp;gt;t

-deserve much to live anyhow, and that if they did live they ought to have hot times,

especially if they tried to live in the South. I am satisfied that these democrats are

good men, men whom anybody, knowing them well, would like; but their passions
.have been long indulged about this accumulation of wrongs as they view them

;
and
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when a man has been, as I have been, in the same condition of mind, and understands
the feelings that are driving them on, he cannot but feel that he ought not to be bitter
toward them. Hence I have been enabled to practice forbearance when they were
abusing and maligning me, and offering to me insult and outrage which I could not
otherwise have borne.

By the CHAIRMAN, (Mr. POOL:)

Qu-estion. Do you know Governor Parsons well ?

Answer, I have known him for thirty years. We have had a good deal of business
with each other, and I have had much communication with him.

Question. Is he a man of purity of character?
Answer. Well, sir, I do not think any one in Alabama would have any doubt about

that. I should unhesitatingly say he is a man of good character.

Question. Wo have had as witnesses here men of eminence who have stated other
wise.
Answer. I think the general idea concerning Governor Parsons is that he is a very

ambitious man
;
I think so myself; but when you ask me as to his general character,

whether it is good or bad, I cannot have any hesitatdon in saying that his character
is undoubtedly good. He has been abused very largely about his political course. Ho
has been on different sides politically as I have myself; and any man who changes
his political position in times of high excitement will always makes enemies; that is

very certain.

Qwstion. It has been charged before this committee that he changed his politics from
mercenary motives from considerations connected with some claims that he had against
the Government ?

A ninccr. Well, I have no knowledge about his having any claims, and I know of no
fact or circumstance that would iuduc3 me to come to any such conclusion, or would
justify that conclusion.

Question. Before he turned republican, did he always maintain before the people of
Alabama a character for honor and purity ?

Answer. His character has been uniformly good. I wish the committee to understand
that I have heard a great many hard things said about him in political contests, but I

do not esteem such things a-s furnishing a just standard by which to form an opinion
as to a man s character, for many of the men whom I have heard speak of him harshly
and bitterly at one time have exalted and magnified him at another. I know what
tin- law means by a character, and in that view I have no hesitation in saying that
Governor Parsons s character is a good one.

Question. Is it not a part of the tactics and principles of democratic politicians in

Alabama to abuse and malign, inordinately, any man who is a republican f

Answer. The practice in that respect is unexampled ;
I have never known anything

To equal it. I have resided in Alabama for thirty-three years, and have been connected
somehow or other with politics ever since, sometimes quite actively. I was born and
raised a democrat, and one of the first things that I did when I went to Alabama was
to buyout a whig paper, giving about ten prices fqr it; and I was for a while an

exceeding fierce little editor in a country town. As whigs and democrats people used
to abuse each other very fiercely in speeches and newspapers, but such things scarcely
ever affected our social relations. It was an unusual thing for social relations to be
disturbed by the severe and apparently angry political controversies carried on through
the newspapers and on the hustings. But in these latter days, since the war, I notice
what I never noticed before, that the estimate of a man is more controlled by his poli
tics than by anything else.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. What is the reason of that ?

Answer. I have thought much about it, and I think it is caused by this long continued

indulgence of passions, accompanied by a conviction that the southern people are the
most grossly wronged and outraged people on the face of the earth. That is the honest
belief of the white people generally. It is this feeling, doubtless, that makes them so

bitter, especially towards a man like myself. I was a nullifier
;
a States-rights man

out and out. I entertained extreme Southern views until I became a republican. At
one time I acted with the know-nothings, but I advocated southern rights just as

strongly in the know-nothing organization as anywhere else. Now, I think I may say
without vanity that I have as many personal friends in Alabama as any man there.
In fact, I think my safety and protection in being a republican, and taking the promi
nent pa*t which I have taken since leaving the democrats, is attributable in a large
measure to the personal friendship entertained toward me by democrats, my old political
brethren. Mr. Pugli and General Pettus, who, I understand, have been before you, are
friends of mine, and our personal relations have continued undisturbed. They are

leading men; men of mind and comprehension. They are strong partisans ;
at least

General Pettus is a strong partisan. Mr. Pugh is not so strong, because he has been
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pretty much of a republican in his real views, though he has acted with the democrats
all the time

;
and it is interesting to hear him explain why he does so. But I tell you

that any man born and raised in the South, who acts with republicans, has a hard road
before him.

Question. Does not that arise from the conviction that such a course is an abandon
ment of a conquered people in the hour of their distress ?

Answer. I think in a great measure it is attributable to that
;
I think that is the

view of the southern people ;
and kiioAviog this, I have borne things which I never

could have borne otherwise. I will say that for some time after the war closed I was
as bitter as any of them*.

Question. I suppose the people of the South are like all other people ; they can believe
in the sincerity of the motives with which men turn from the stronger side to the

weaker; but when the change is connected with some personal gain or advantage it is

very hard for them to believe it sincere?

Answer. I have no doubt about that. It is remarkable how much the southern

people do misunderstand a great many of the northern people. I understand them
now because I have got over my former feelings ;

but before I became cool I rated a
northern man very low

;
and any southern man who would take part with him I would

rate the same way, or, if anything, a little worse. I think the mass of the southern

people are in that condition yet.

Question. You assume that you are the cool man, and that everybody else is blinded

by passion ?

Answer. Of course I do
;
I think I am right in the assumption.

Question. You are like the one juryman who complained of the obstinacy of his eleven

fellow-jurymen ?

Ansiver. I may be that way. It hardly enters the heads of the southern people that
the northern view of this question may be conscientiously entertained.

Question. Do you think that putting all the talent and ability of the South under

political disabilities is an outrage on your section ?

Answer. I did think so
;
and I will not say that I justify it now. On the contrary, I

think the republicans committed a great mistake in adopting that measure. It is my
opinion that they were the losers by it. I am satisfied of that fact. I know that the

imposition of disabilities has been largely used to the disadvantage of the republican
party. I was one of those disabled.

Question. You have had your disabilities removed ?

Ansiver. Not by my request ;
and it was done a long time after I was a republican.

Question. You were understood to be on their side before you were relieved ?

Answer. Yes, sir; that is true
;
but I want this understood : Several of my republi

can friends proposed to me to apply for or request a removal of my disabilities, but I

declined to do so. I was determined that if I went to my grave with the disabilities

on rue, it would not swerve me from following those convictions which I knew, through
great tribulation, tended to the best interests of the country.

Question. People are not supposed to be operated upon altogether by that which

applies personally to themselves
;
but a patriotic citizen of your State who sees an

overbearing conqueror forbidding the people to use the best talent in the State for

their government, and who unites himself with the party which does that thing,
which places these disabilities upon his State, can hardly expect that his course will

be readily appreciated by his fellow-citizens ?

Ansioer. I went to the republicans with my disabilities on me.

Question. And that party placed those disabilities upon you and your people, and .

refuses to relieve them ?

Ansiver. Well, it is irritating. My opinion is that anything the republicans do which
can be used by the able men we have down South, on the democratic side, to keep up
excitement and passion, helps the democrats and hurts the republicans. If the
southern people could become cool if these irritating influences could be removed
I think there would be a decided change; and I want to see such a change.

Question. The trouble is that the republican party does not want to encounter here
in Congress the ablest men of the South ? i

Answer. I reckon that is not the cause
;

for those men can do more against the

republican party down there than they could do here. The democrats have as able]
men who are not under disfranchisement as any who are disqualified in that way.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. Have not a good many democrats of your State been relieved?
,
Has not

Judge Goldthwaite been relieved ?

Answe) . Yes, sir.

Question. And Governor Lindsay has been relieved ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And Mr. Welborn ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
a great many of them, have been relieved a considerable proper-
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tion of them. Speaking accurately, the class of men under political disabilities in

Alabama is not very numerous compared with the whole population.
Question. Has not the republican party in fact advocated for two or three years back

a general removal of political disabilities &quot;?

Answer. The legislature of Alabama at its very first session, when both branches were

overwhelmingly republican, removed every particle of proscription and disfranchise-

ment that there was in the State constitution. That action was one of the softening

things which helped them along. When I saw them doing that when I thought over
the matter, I could not but feel that there was more good in this party than I had
ever before conceived.

By the CHAIRMAN, (Mr. POOL:)

Question. Are slanders .against private character gotten up and indulged in to a con
siderable extent in Alabama against men who are republicans ?

Aimcer. To a very large extent unprecedented, in my opinion.
Question. Are there any other persecutions of such men in the way of business or

social proscription ?

Answer. I believe it, fully ;
from what I have heard I am satisfied of it.

Question. To what extent ?

Answer. It is difficult to use an expression that would show the extent. I should

say a considerable extent. Every one can form a reasonable conjecture about the matter
from the facts I have already stated the contempt and disgust which the democrats

generally feel toward the republicans. When, in the Bourse
of business, wo find we

feel a contempt and disgust toward one man engaged in business and have no such

feeling toward another man right beside him, we are almost sure to go to the man
toward whom we have no such feeling.

Question. Have any prosecutions of a malicious character been gotten up in the
courts against republicans ?

Answer. Well, sir, I cannot say from my own knowledge; but I believe that men of
the republican party have been &quot;prosecuted for offenses in cases where they would not
have been prosecuted if they had been democrats. I can mention the case of the

probate judge of Elmore County Judge Dennis. He has been prosecuted for an
assault on a democrat named Young, with intent to commit murder. The case came
on for trial at the last term of the circuit court of Autauga County, to which the case
had been carried by a change of venue. I understand that every member of the jury
was a democrat.

Question. Do you mean the grand jury?
Answer. No, sir; the petit jury that tried the case. I appeared as one of the attor

neys for Dennis; and Governor Watts was with me. On the other side were General
Clantou and his partner. Dennis was found guilty of an assault with intent to com
mit murder. It is pretty well known, by people in Alabama, that a conviction for that
sort of an offense renders Judge Dennis ineligible to his office. The jury found him
guilty; but they afterward brought in to the judge a statement that, in consequence
of the great and grievous provocation, they recommended to the judge to be as lenient
with him as possible. Now, every one who understands the nature of that offense an
assault with intent to murder knows that when an act is done from passion, stirred

suddenly by a great provocation, the man is relieved altogether of the guilt of an
assault with intent to murder. Under our statute the intent to commit murder is an
essential element of the offense. The judge so charged; yet the jury found the
defendant guilty. But, on the statement submitted by the jury, the judge granted
him a new trial; for the statement could not be reconciled with the verdict.

Question. You mean to say that this statement, made by the jury subsequently to the

verdict, showed that they knew the man was not in law guilty of the offense ?

Answer. I do not say they knew it, because they are very reputable men ;
but upon

the facts stated in their recommendation the law entitled the defendant to an acquittal.

Question. And the judge so charged them ?

Answer. The judge told them that to make out the offense of an assault with intent

to commit murder, it was essential that it should be proved as a matter of fact that

ithe specific intent,, to commit murder existed in the mind of the defendant when he
fired the pistol. The jury were out a long time a day or two

;
and finally they brought

in a verdict, and followed it up with that statement.&quot;

Question. Who requested Judge Luther R. Smith to resign?
Answer. I think I saw in a newspaper that it was requested by a meeting of the

people in the county where he lived; the request may have been made, for aught T

know, from other sources.

Question. What reason did they give for that request?
Answer. I forget about that. I read the statement in a newspaper.
Question. Was it a democratic meeting?
Answer. I do not think it professed to be a democratic meeting ;

but I have no doubt,
myself, that those who took part in it were all democrats.
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By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. You do not know it ?

Answer. No, sir
;
I do not know it. I know, however, that Judge Smith stands very

high with the republicans ;
I do not know any man who has a better standing with

them ; and I therefore do not believe you could get up a meeting of republicans any
where in the State who would request hiin to resign.

By the CHAIRMAN, (Mr. POOL :)

Question. Is the judge a man of such character and attainments and qualifications for

the office he holds as to entitle him to high standing with everybody f

Answer. That is my belief.

Question. Judge Busteed has been a witness before this committee. How does Judge
Busteed stand ?

Answer. Until he gave out recently certain indications that he was about to become
a democrat, I think he had the worst standing of any officer I know with the people
generally, and the bar generally, in the middle part of the State where I live. I do
not conceive it possible that a judge could have had a worse character than he had. I

see that now the democratic papers are beginning to speak more kindly of him. So
with Judge J. Q. Smith, the circuit judge whom I have mentioned. He was counted a

republican until very recently. When he held court in Mobile a few months ago the
democratic papers stated that he had given notice that his connection with the repub
licans had ceased ;

and I notice that the democratic papers are now speaking
quite kindly of him

;
but untifrtheu his character was detestable and odious with the

democrats.

Question. Judge Busteed is the United States district judge of your State ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What was said of him ?

Answer. Everything that is criminal in a judge was charged upon him. It was not

only stated that he wras hectoring and tyrannical and one-sided in his proceedings in

court, but that he was venal and corrupt ;
that he shared the spoils of large cases in

which, according, to the common belief, the people were plundered of their property
through his court.

Question. Was that generally said of him by the democrats ?

Answer. I never heard any democrat speak in his favor till recently. .

Question. Had they impressed the people with the belief that such was his character?
Answer. Yes, sir. I do not think there was any difference of opinion on that subject,

among the democratic lawyers, and those best acquainted with Judge Busteed.

Question. You say that since he has given out indications that he is about to become
a democrat there is a change in the manner in which he is spoken of?

Answer. I have not noticed anything except what I have seen in the newspapers. I
do not think that our partisan newspapers would undertake to talk that way on their

own authority.
Question. What course do the democratic papers pursue towards him now ?

.

Answer. They speak of him as quite a discreet, well-behaved jAdge. At the last term
of Judge Busteed s court at Montgomery, the district attorney presented a copy of the
Selma Times, and asked that a writ be issued to the editor of that paper to show cause

why he published a very severe article reflecting upon the grand jury, especially
its foreman. The editor, on being served with the writ, came before the court, and
Judge Busteed discharged him, with an opinion which was published with high com
mendation by the Advertiser, at Montgomery.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. A democratic paper ?

Answer. A leading democratic paper. I have seen other articles of the same kind in

papers of that class. The Mobile Register, I observed, published an article speaking
pretty well of J. Q. Smith.

By the CHAIRMAN, (Mr. POOL:)

Question. What had they charged J. Q. Smith with when he was a republican ?

Answer. He was the United States district attorney for some time while Judge Busteed
was presiding there, directly after the war

;
and they said he had levied very heavy

contributions upon our people, contrary to the intent and spirit of the law, and often
its letter. They said he was a most gorging man.

Question. Corrupt ?

.hi Nicer. Corrupt and uucouscieutious : and he was removed from office, as I under
stood, on that charge.

Question. You say that now, since he has indicated that he has become a democrat,
the tone of those papers has changed toward him ?

Answer. Yes, sir. They commenced softening toward him when he came up from
i Selma and took charge of that proceeding to make Governor Smith hand over the
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papers and books of his office to Governor Lindsay. It is since&quot;then that he has held
court in Mobile

;
and I saw a statement in the papers that he had given some kind of

a formal announcement that his connection with the republican party had ceased. I

do not know whether it is true.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. How do the radical papers speak of you since you, went over to their side ?

Ansiccr. Pretty well.

Question. They now begin to find out that you are a clever fellow ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question? They did not discover it before ?

Answer. Well, they were not very severe upon rne before, except politically. I am
not now speaking of political opposition. I draw a distinction between political and
personal opposition. I was very severe and abusive toward them, and it struck me that
there was a striking contrast between their handling of me and my handling of them.
They treated me much better than I treated them when I was fighting them as hard
as I could.

By the CHAIRMAN, (Mr. POOL:)

Question. What has been the course of the republicans toward the democrats? Has it

be-on of the same abusive character?
Ansivcr. O, no

;
there is a marked difference, as any one can see by reading the

newspapers.
Question. How is it outside of the newspapers?
Answer. The newspapers afford a pretty fair indication of the difference outside of

the newspapers.
Question. Is one party more abusive toward the other than was the case before the

war ?

Answer. I think that if there is any difference the republican papers are less bitter
than they were then. The leading paper at Montgomery especially would have been
counted extraordinarily mild toward its political opponents before the war if it had
been no more severe in its tone than it is now. It is a paper of unusual fairness and
liberality toward its political opponents.

Question. You see a marked difference, then, in that respect in the manner in which
the leading men of the two parties act ?

Answer. Yes. sir; that is the result of my observation and judgment.
Question. Do you find that republicans attack the private character of leading demo

crats f

Ansirer. Not in a single instance that I know of, except upon facts too plain to be
doubted or refuted.

Question. They do not engage in petty slander and gossip ?

Ansu-er. No, sir: they do not. There are three republican papers in the State that I

see frequently one published at Mobile, one at Huntsvillc, and one at Montgomery.
I have already remarked that I consider the paper published at Montgomery as remark
ably fair and just toward its political opponents in times of party excitement. I can

say the same of the Iluutsville paper.
Question. Did you notice that fact when you were an earnest and zealous democrat ?

Answer. When I was a democrat it was conducted by a different man.
Question. 1 am inquiring as to the general tone of the republican papers ?

Answer. I noticed then that the republican papers, when I was making all the war
that I could against the republicans, were nothing like as bitter toward mo as I was
toward them.

Question. You were once chief justice of Alabama?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. When ?

Answer. I went on the bench of the supreme court in the beginning of 1355; I had
not been on the bench long before I became chief justice, which office I continued to
hold until I resigned it in the early part of the year 1859.

Question. You were elected to that bench by the democrats of the State ?

Answer. Yes. sir. I was born and raised a democrat, and gave my first vote for Van
Buren.

Question. Why was the presence of Governor Smith required in court on the occa
sion to which you have referred ?

Ansiccr. I know of no reason, and none was assigned by the judge. I made the point
before him that he had no right to require the personal appearance of Governor Smith.
I will state how the question came up. The time allowed Governor Smith to answer
was unprecedentedly short : I think that Governor Smith told me it was near 11 o clock
in the forenoon when notice was served on him that that afternoon at 3 o clock he must
appear and answer to this statutory proceeding.

Question. Did you call the judge s attention to the i;ivt that he had no right to

require the personal presence of Governor Smith ?
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Anvioer. I did. The paper served on us was not a copy of the complaint ;
it was

merely the summons. No copy of the complaint was furnished to us. The governor
called my attention to the summons as soon as it was served. We sent the sheriff of
the county to the judge to get a copy of the complaint, so that we might prepare our
answer. The sheriff saAV the judge, who stated, as the sheriff reported to us, that

Judge Brooks, one of the counsel for Lindsay, had the complaint in his possession.
We did not know what was in it.

Question. They had not even served you with a copy of the complaint ?

Answer. No, sir; and neither myself nor Governor Smith ever saw a copy of it till

after the hour for the hearing arrived, when Judge Smith went on the bench, called
the sheriff to him, and handed to him from the bench a copy of the compliant. The
sheriff served it on me there. I got up and asked for a continuance, stating the facts
I have stated to you. I said,

&quot; Your honor knows that the sheriff was after you to get
a copy of the complaint and did not get it, but you -referred him to Judge Brooks.

Judge Brooks says we did not get it from him
;
and we have had no opportunity to see

the complaint. We now obtain it for the first time. I ask for a continuance.&quot; He
said he would not grant it, but would allow me thirty minutes to have the governor
personally present in court. I stated that he had no right to require the governor s

presence in court. He said he would not allow us time, but would go right ahead with
the case unless I would have the governor there in court in thirty minutes. I went to
the capitol, and he came down with me. We, of course, had no answer prepared. A
demurrer was partly written ont. I stated my objections to the jurisdiction on the face of
the complaint, while my associate was preparing the demurrer ;

and while he was arguing
the demurrer, I Avrote the answer. I am satisfied that, if we had not taken up time in

that way by speaking, we would have had no opportunity to file either an answer or
a demurrer.

Question. You had to consume the time of the court by speaking, in order to get time
to prepare a demurrer and an answer ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did you ever know a court to require the personal appearance of a defend
ant in a civil suit except on an action for contempt ?

Answer. No, sir; neither before nor since.

Question. Was there any allegation of contempt in this case ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. What reason did the judge give for insisting on the personal presence of
Governor Smith ?

Answer. He did not give any. I wanted to know the reason, but could not find

out any.
Question. Was there a high state of excitement there at that time ?

Answer. It was terrible. It was the highest state of excitement I ever saw in my life.

Question. Which party manifested excitement ?

Answer. Well, the democrats, of course.

Question. Was there any excitement among the republicans?
Answer. There was that excitement whioh is the result of a ki*&amp;gt;wledge and an inspec

tion of excitement on the other side. When I went into the court-house at the time
of the hearing I went alone

;
the other counsel for Governor Smith were not along

when I first went in. There was a large crowd in the court-house
;
and of course there

were some republicans, but the largest part of the crowd that I knew were democrats.
And I noticed one thing that I never noticed before, a crowd of men nearly all of them

young men occupied at the first session of the court, the part of the court-house nearly
behind me. Then at the session after the expiration of the thirty minutes, I noticed
that they were there again ;

and they remained there. They were strangers to me. I

did not know a solitary one of them.

Question. How many of them were there ?

Answer. 1 should suppose there were not less than thirty ; they were apparently in

a compact body.
Question. You saw this compact body of strange young men ?

Answer. Yes, sir. Every one of them was a stranger to me. That is what arrested

my attention.

Question. They occupied that portion of the court-room just behind you?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And when you went into the court-room after the expiration of the thirty
minutes recess, you observed the same thing?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. The same body of men?
Answer. Yes, sir

;
the same faces.

Question. And they occupied places behind you ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Were they armed ?

Answer. I do not know
;

I did not see any arms.
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Question. Have yon learned since where they caniefrom ?

Answer. No, sir.&quot; I afterwards asked several persons whether they noticed it. Some
did and some did not. Those who said they noticed it, said that the young men were
strangers to them.

Question. Is it your impression that those people belonged to any organization that
had come to take part in that controversy ?

Answer. Well, it certainly was a very remarkable thing.
Question. What was the impression in the community ?

Answer, I do not know. I did not talk with enough to get the impression of the

community. My own impression was that they were there from the interest they felt

or intended to take in that particular case.

Question. Were there manifestations of threatened violence?
Answer. No other than that these young men were evidently in a position to do what

they might have desired. I had my own idea about it
;
but that was all. I had

nothing to go upon but the remarkable fact of a collection of young men of that num
ber all huddled together in one particular, place in the court-house, with not a single
luce that I had ever seen before, so far as I know or believe, and that they should have
maintained that position steadily.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. Have you been living in that county a long time?
Austcer. 1 removed there in 1852, and have been living there ever since

By the CHAIRMAN, (Mr. POOL:)

Question. You know generally the citizens of that community ?

Answer. I know them well.

Question. You thiuk that these men did not belong there?

Answer. lam satisfied that they did not live in that community.
(question. Were there manifestations of threatened violence generally about the city

in connection with this matter?
Answer. For several days the governor had the military, and the sheriff and hia

posse, guarding his office at the capitol.

By Mr. BUCKLEY:

Question. Did the military go at the request of the sheriff as the sheriff s posse?
Answer. Yes, sir. I understood the sheriff took them down himself. There was an

apprehension that possession would be taken of the governor s office by force or

violence.

finest ion. From the manifestations you saw do you thiuk the apprehension was well
founded I

An*ia:r. My own opinion, as I stated it to the governor, was that there were very
good grounds for apprehending violence. I founded this opinion on the appearance
siiul dememior of men and the presence of strangers, a good many of them young men,
who were not there on any business that I could imagine. There was, perhaps, a

meeting of the Masonic lodge or some other public assemblage in Montgomery at that
time. But 1 belong to the Masons myself; and I am pretty well convinced that those

men did not come there to attend to that business

By the CIIAIKMAX, (Mr. POOL.)

Qticsllo-n. You mean that the manifestations you saw were not connected with any
public assemblage at Montgomery at that time ?

Answer. I think they were not. I saw things there that did not have any appropriate
connection v/ith any of those public assemblages; and those men I never saw after

that case was compromised.
Question. Was it under these circumstances, while these men occupied seats behind

yon, that the personal presence of Governor Smith in the court was peremptorily de
manded by the judge /

Answer. Yes, sir. They were there when that demand was made in that way.
(Question. Did the governor appear in court?
.Insim-. Yes, sir. i went to the capitol and told the governor to come down and face

the music.

(Question. He was brought into court ?

An nicer, I went in with him.

Question. Do you believe that the governor was under any apprehensions of personal
violence; during this contest f

Answer. I think he was.

Question. Do you think those apprehensions were well founded?
Anuwcr. I thought that he had grounds for apprehending violence. I am satisfied he

had.

Question. Suppose he had continued the contest, and had held on to the office by
virtue of the injunction?
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Answer. My belief is that if there had been a decision in that suit in favor of Gov
ernor Smith, or if he had held on to the office, there would have been violence. That
is only my belief; and I may be mistaken.

Question. You drew that conclusion from what you saw and heard on the occasion ?

Answer. Yes, sir. More from what.I observed than from what I heard. I noticed
the movements of men. I noticed that men, between whom and myself there had
never been the slightest unkindness, went by me in the street without noticing me, or
would scowl at me, swelled, as it were, with rage or other passion. As I have already
stated, I did not commence that suit

;
I was not in Montgomery when it was com

menced. When I arrived in Montgomery I had no more knowledge of its having been
commenced, or of tho contents of the bill, than any gentleman of this committee.

Question. All that the governor asked was a fair contest and hearing ?

Answer. His appeal was to the law in the regular, usual, and, in my opinion, justifia
ble form.

Question. Was that refused to him?
Answer. He filed his bill for an injunction
Question. I mean was it practically refused? Had he any opportunity for contest ?

Answer. No, sir; and he could have no opportunity for contesting the election until

the legislature had passed a law on the subject. I have heard the idea suggested that
und^r the constitutional provision which has been read a contest for the office of gov
ernor is properly triable before a joint convention of the two houses, and that all they
have to do is to make rules as they go along. But any man who will read the provision
of our constitution will see that that construction is entirely untenable, for the words
are,

&quot; in such manner as may be prescribed by law.&quot; A law cannot be passed by a joint
convention. Under our constitution a law must bo passed by the two houses, each act

ing separately and for itself; and then it must go to the governor for his approval or

disapproval. No law can be passed in Alabama unless it is sent to the governor, with
an opportunity on his part to approve or disapprove it.

Question. Did Governor Smith abandon that contest and resign the office to Mr. Lind

say under the pressure of these manifestations of violence and to secure the public
peace?

Answer. I am satisfied that the manifestation of violence had sonic cffcot on him
;

that, in connection with the firm conviction that his continuance in the assertion of his

rights, though in a lawful and peaceful manner, would result in violence and in great
injury to the material interests of the State, induced the course which he took.

Question. Do you think the views which operated upon Governor Smith in abandoning
the contest were well founded in fact ?

Answer. In every particular. I think he was right as to the apprehension of violence,
and that he was right in his apprehension as to the exceedingly damaging consequences
to the business interests of the State if he should continue the contest.

Question. Do you believe that Judge J. Q. Smith s unauthorized order for his presence
in court was made with the intent to intimidate him?
Answer. I think that Judge J. Q. Smith required the governor to come into court in

order that when he gave judgment against him he might order him committed to cus-

tody until other people could go to the capitol, get possession of the governor s rooms,
and* turn them over to Mr. Lindsay ;

in that way preventing Governor Smith from

appealing to the revising power in time to prevent his actual dispossession before he
could make out the necessary papers and invoke the revisory action of another tri

bunal.

Question. Would the judge have had any lawful power to imprison Governor Smith ? .

Answer. In such a case the judge is authorized in a certain contingency to issue a war-^
rant. One section of the statute to which I have already referred provides that

&quot; If the person complained against does not make such affidavit, and it appears that

any such books, papers, or property are withheld, the officer before whom the proceed
ings are had must, by warrant, commit the person so withholding to the jail of the

county, there to remain until he delivers such books, papers, and property, or is other
wise discharged by law.&quot;

My idea was that the judge intended to decide the case against Governor Smith, and;
at the time he .announced his decision to have a warrant prepared to put him in imme
diate custody, and send him to jail under that warrant, while others would go to the

capitol and take possession of the office, thus depriving Governor Smith of the oppor
tunity to supersede the effect of the decision until the revising tribunal, tho supreme
court, should pass upon the question.

Question. That is, depriving Governor Smith of the opportunity of appealing, of suing
out a certiorari or writ of error ?

Answer. We had prepared a certiorari, and the judge to whom we proposed to apply
for the writ was in the city of Montgomery ;

but I told the governor, and I think he

agreed with me in the opinion, &quot;You see this case is going against you, and my opinion
is that before we can get to the judge to obtain a certiorari the warrant will -be signed,
and you will be sent off to

jail.&quot;
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Question. You think, then, that Judge Smith was lending himself to this effort to get
violent possession of the office ?

Answer. He was an enemy of Governor Smith before.

Question, &quot;Was he a personal enemy of Governor Smith ?

Ansicer. That is my understanding. Governor Smith had taken part, it was under
stood, in recommending the removal of Judge J. Q. Smith from the office of district

attorney, for his improper conduct in that office.

Question. Was that the same J. Q. Smith ?

Answer. The very same. He had been district attorney, and Governor Smith had used
his whole official influence to get him removed.

Question. Do you think there is another judge in Alabama who would have lent him
self to such a proceeding as Judge Smith did on that occasion ?

Answer. I do not.

Question. You say he was holding court in a distant part of the circuit, and they sent
for him and brought him there ?

Answer. He was holding court at Selma, forty or fifty miles distant. I do not say
they sent for him. The principal lawyers who managed the case Judge Pettns, Judge
Brooks, and General John T. Moore were Selma lawyers, who Avero attending Judge
J. Q. Smith s court where he was then holding it. These lawyers came up about the
time Judge J. Q. Smith did, and Judge Brooks was the

ve&amp;gt;y
man who had the complaint

in his possession. When Governor Smith was served with the summons he sent to

Judge J. Q. Smith to obtain the complaint, and was answered that Judge Brooks had
it. Those three gentlemen lived in Sehna, but there were some Montgomery lawyers
associated with them.

Question. Judge J. Q. Smith was not the judge who really had jurisdiction of the case ?

Ansicer. My interpretation of the law and I do not think it can bo doubted by any
one who reads the statute is that such a proceeding must be instituted in the county
where the person refusing to deliver over the books and papers resides

;
in other words,

it was necessary, in my opinion, that the case should have been brought before the

judge of the circuit in which was the county in which Governor Smith resided. It was
not alleged in the complaint that he resided anywhere.

Question. There was not enough on the face of the papers to give the judge jurisdic
tion ?

Answer. You know that the established rule in regard to summary proceedings un
known to the common law and authorized by statute is that every fact essential to the

jurisdiction of the court must appear upon the lace of tho papers.
Question. And there was nothing on the face of the papers authorizing Judge Smith

to take jurisdiction of the case ?

Answer. No, sir; he had no more jurisdiction upon the complaint on which he acted
than a private citizen would have had.

Question. Did you bring it to the attention of the judge as a matter of fact that Gov
ernor Smith did not reside in that county ?

Ansicer. I stated it to him distinctly; he knew it as well as I did. All the lawyers
knew that Governor Smith never pretended to reside in Montgomery at all

;
he was a

well-known citizen of Randolph.
Question. You say that the speaker of the senate, while the injunction was in full

force, proceeded to disregard it, to act in violation of it ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
and under the circumstances I stated. On the day fixed for the

opening of the returns before the two houses the then president of the senate, who was
named Barr, went with the Senate into the hall of the house, and there opened and
counted the returns for lieutenant governor, and declared that election. He declared
E. H. Moran elected lieutenant governor. He also opened and counted the returns for
the office of the secretary of state. Mr. Parker was declared elected to that office. He
also opened the returns for the office of superintendent of education and declared the
election of Mr. Hodgson to that office. But he had been enjoined beforehand not to

open the returns for the election of governor and State treasurer. He obeyed the in

junction, stating in the presence of both houses that the injunction had been served on
him and that he felt bound to obey it. After the returns of the other officers had been

opened, and when he had made that statement, he retired with the senate to the senate

chamber, and the senate thereupon instantly adjourned. After the senate had adjourned,
E. H. Moran, who had been declared lieutenant governor, and who by the constitutioa
became presiding officer of the senate, went into the hall of the house and took the

speaker s stand.

Question. Without being sworn in ?

Answer. He was sworn in by a circuit judge, not in the presence of the two bodies.
As soon as he was sworn in he went into the hall of the hquse, took the speaker s chair,
and sent for the returns in the office of the secretary of state. They were brought up,
and he opened them there in the presence of the house, after the adjournment of the
senate, and declared Lindsay elected governor. In my opinion, there never was a
more lawless proceeding.
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Question. Was he not sworn to obey the constitution of the State?
Answer. I suppose he was.

Question. He was required to take such an oath before entering upon the office ?

Answer. Yes, sir; that oath is prescribed by the constitution.

Question. Does not the constitution of your State expressly declare that the counting
of the votes shall take place in the presence of a majority of the general assembly ?

Ansircr. Yes, sir
;
the constitution provides that the returns shall be opened and pub

lished &quot;in the presence of .a majority of the members of the general assembly.&quot;

Question. And there was not such a majority present ?

Answer. I do not say that there was not a majority of the members, because sixty-
seven constituted a majority of the members of both houses ; but you will notice that

although the provision speaks of &quot; a majority of the members,&quot; ifc says,
&quot; a majority of

the members of the general assembly.&quot; What is the &quot;

general assembly ?&quot; The gen
eral assembly of Alabama is a majority of each house

;
it takes the two houses to make

the general assembly. The house by itself is no general assembly; the senate by Itself

is no general assembly. The constitution declares that nothing less than a majority
of either shall constitute a quorum to do business. The senate consists of thirty-three
members, and the house of one hundred

;
and it takes an actual majority of the senate

and an actual majority of the house to constitute a general assembly. So that the

provision I have read means the same as if the language were,
&quot; in the presence of a

majority of the members of each house.&quot; It could not mean anything less. This pro
ceeding on the part of the lieutenant governor was taken after the actual adjourn
ment of one of tke houses.

Question. The general assembly, then, was not in session ?

Answer. No, sir
; only the house was in session

;
the general assembly was not iu

session.

Question. Did this counting take place in the senate chamber ?

Answer. No, sir
;
the lieutenant governor went to the hall of the house. By the con

stitution he is made the presiding officer of the senate, and under the constitution ha
has no rightsas suchofficer, except when he goes with the senate, and as its presiding
officer.

Question. After the senate adjourned he went into the house ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
he went into the house, and up to the speaker s table.

Question. Do you suppose that this swift proceeding of his was because he feared that
an injunction might be served upon him if he delayed f

Answer. I think it was likely ;
1 think it arose probably in part from that, but more

from the fact that they were determined to put Lindsay in office as governor, law or
no law. I do not think they had any idea of obeying any injunction or any law that
stood in the way of carrying out their purpose.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. Would the senate, constituted as it was, have had a right, by remaining
out, to defeat the inauguration of a governor fairly elected ?

Ansu-er. I do not think they would ;
I think there would have been a remedy in case

of their refusal.

Question. What would have been the remedy?
Answer. The remedy, I presume, would have been for the house, in the first place, to

have invited the senate to come
;
in case the senate would not come, then the house,

when they found the senate in session, the presiding officer of the senate being on
their side, could just have marched into the senate chamber. The constitution does
not say whether the returns shall be opened in one chamber or the other

;
the language

is,
&quot; In the presence of a majority of the members of the general assembly.&quot; If the

senate would not come over to the hall of the house, what was to hinder the house
from saying, &quot;We will go over to the senate. We have a man friendly to us as pre

siding officer of that body ;
and as soon as both houses are present, he will open the

returns and announce the result.&quot;

Question. Suppose the senators had been sharp enough to anticipate that trick, and
hud adjourned and left their chamber?

Answer. If it had come to a question of sharpness, it looks to me as if the one hun
dred members of the house, situated as the house were, ought to have been sharp
enough to accomplish their purpose. The house meets on one side of the capitol, and
the senate on the other

;
the only entrance is on the same floor

;
the two houses being

separated by a rotunda that is not much larger than this room. If it had conic to a

trial of tactics of that sort, there would have been no difficulty iu the house cornering
the senate and keeping them cornered until the thing had been done. If I had belonged
to the democratic side, that is the way I would have done it.

Question. Suppose that the senate, as* a body, had adjourned absolutely. It would then
have made no difference whether the members of the senate were there or in Washing
ton, or anywhere else ?

Answer. That is not supposable. Under our constitution neither house cau, without
the consent of the other, adjourn for longer than three days.
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Question. What I say is, suppose that the senate had heard that the members of the
house were coming, arid had adjourned, the mere presence of the members of the sen
ate after the body had adjourned would not have been sufficient ?

Answer. In answer to that, I would ask you, how could the senate hear it? The
house, with a strong democratic majority, could have passed a motion to adjourn as

quickly as I could snap my fingers.

By the CHAIRMAN, (Mr. POOL:)

Question. There was no manifestation on the part of the senate of a disposition to do
anything to circumvent the law in that matter ?

Answer. No, sir. The senate and its presiding officer, until the newly elected lieu
tenant governor came in, acted in strict obeTlience to the injunction, and as law-abid

ing citizens
;
there was 110 secrecy about their proceedings; they went in and partici

pated in counting the votes for all the officers except those two with reference to whom
the injunction had been served. The president of the senate announced to the two
houses that an injunction had been served on him, notifying him not to open the
returns for governor and State treasurer, that he would obey the injunction, and decline
to count those votes. Having opened and counted the returns of the other officers, he
retired.

Question. Was there any need of that hot haste evinced by the lieutenant governor ?

Could it subserve any purpose except to evade the decision of the court I

Answer. It could serve no purpose, so far as I know, but to break the force of the

injunction. There was no need of the hot haste and irregular manner in which the
lieutenant governor and the house proceeded. The pretense was, that it was the last

day of the week. The constitution declares that the returns shall be opened and pub
lished &quot;

during the first week of the session.&quot; This was Saturday, and they said they
had to do it on that day. But, as every lawyer knows, the designation of the first

week of the session is merely directory. If it*had been done the second or the third
week of the session, it would have been just as good.

Question. Under all the rules of construction practiced by the courts, is it not held
that such provisions in a constitution or law are merely directory ?

Answer. Of course, the power does not depart because the time has elapsed. The
courts have made a distinction between what is directory and what is obligatory ;

and
I take it that any lawyer of ordinary sense would admit that the opening and publish
ing of the returns would have been just as valid the second week of the session as the
first.

Question. Under all these circumstances, is Governor Lindsay now governor of the
State of Alabama under even the forms of lawT ?

Answer. Well, sir, he is governor by the process I have spoken of the palpable,
plain, defiant breach of the injunction ;

and I understand all the decisions on this sub

ject to declare that an act done contrary to an injunction is an unlawful act and void.
I re-collect one case upon the subject, which I hunted up in 5 Muulbrd s Reports. And
the injunction is just as binding upon other parties who have notice as it is upon those
who are actually parties to the bill.

Question. Is, then, Governor Lindsay governor of the State under even the forms of

law; were not the forms of law violated in the publication of the votes, &c. ?

Answer. If you mean to ask me whether he is governor dcjure, I satjf that of course I

do not consider any man governor dcjure who has obtained an essential part of his title

to the office by a breach of an injunction.
Question. The counting of the votes was not under the forms of law ?

Answer. No, sir, it was not.

Question. And the announcement of the election was not under the forms of law ?

Answer. No, sir; it was against law.

Question. And against the form prescribed in the constitution ?

Answer. Certainly.
Question. I put to you, then, the question whether, under the forms of law, Mr. Lind

say is the governor of Alabama?
Answer. 1 think not

;
and in saying so I refer to the facts which I have stated.

Question. I understood you to say that the retiring speaker of the senate announced
in the presence of the lieutenant governor elect that such an injunction had be-ii

served ?

Answer. He did.

Question. That brought the existence of such an injunction to the attention of the
lieutenant governor ?

Answer. O, no doubt he knew of it.

Question. Was not, then, the incoming lieutenant governor as much bound by that

injunction as the officer who was going out ?

Answer. I understand all the authorities to be that way.
Question. The lieutenant governor was the successor in office of Mr. Barr, the pre

siding officer of the senate ?
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Answer. Yes, sir
;
and ho had actual notice of the injunction. Barr was not enjoined

as an individual, but as the presiding officer of the senate. The injunction, when made
known to the lieutenant governor, was as binding on him as on his predecessor, Barr.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. What is the result, under your law, if any person served with an injunction
disobeys it ?

Answer. It is a contempt, and he is put in jail and fined.

Question. Vfhy did they not put this man in jail ?

Answer. Had there been an honest judge left in the State that would have been done,
if the ca&quot;se had not been compromised between Governor Smith and Mr. Lindsay.
There was never a plainer contempt on the face of the earth.

By the CHAIRMAN, (Mi:. POOL :)

Question. Then Governor Lindsay is governor of the State not only against the forms
of law, but he was made governorIn direct disobedience of an injunction of one of your
supreme court judges ;

Answer. Yes, sir. ,
:

..

Question. The officer who made the count and declared him elected governor was vio

lating the injunction ?

Answer. He was.

Question. Was Lindsay elected governor upon a fair count of the votes?
Answer. From the best information I have I do not believe he was. From the best

information I have been able to obtain I believe that Governor Smith was legally
elected.

Question. Now, I ask this further question : was Governor Smith, by the action of the
lieutenant governor in opening and publishing the returns at that time, denied any
opportunity of contesting the election?

Answer, It was not by the simple action of the presiding officer that the opportunity
to contest was cut oft . It was by the failure of the general assembly to pass a law pre
scribing the manner in which a contest should be made.

Question. But if they should pass such a law now there could be no such contest ?

Answer. Yes, sir; I take it that Governor Smith could contest even now if the neces

sary law were passed.
Question. For the time being he was cut off from any opportunity to contest?
Answer. He was.

Question. And by the means of the opening and publication of the returns at that
time foe primafacie case was given to Governor Lindsay?

Ansicer. Yes, sir.

Question. You say that even now a contest might be made if the legislature would
pass the necessary act ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Has the legislature passed an act upon the subject of contests in such cases ?

Answer. No, sir, it has not.

Question. The passions and hates of which you spoke as having been engendered at

the commencement of the war and subsisting at its termination have not yet abated
in Alabama ?

Answer. With too many people I am satisfied they are not abated at all; with a

large n umber I think they are diminished in force. I think that these &quot; new departure
&quot;

men I mean the latest edition of- the &quot; new departure&quot; are cooler. I do not think

they could or would countenance this &quot;new departure&quot; if it were not that their pas
sions are becoming cooler.

Question. You think that this cooling of their passions has not been until since the
u new departure ?

&quot;

Answtr. I think not.

Question. You have heard of Ku-Klux outrages in different parts of the State out

rages by men in disguise ?

Answer. I have heard of them in several portions of the State, not in many parts.
I do not^think that this Ku-Klux organization, or this lawless organization, whatever
name you may call it, exists in many counties of the State

;
but it does in a few. A

large part of the State, I believe, is free from it, and can get along very well.

Question. Do you suppose that organization is political in its character ?

A nswer. I have no idea that it is anything else than political.

Question. Does it operate in the interest of the democratic party ?

Answer. Always, so far as I have heard.

Question. You believe it was through the instrumentality of that organization that

Lindsay s vote was large enough for him and his friends to make this demonstration
of which you have spoken?

Answer. Yes, sir.
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Question. Do you think that the organization grew out of the passion and hate of
which you spoke ?

Answer. I have no doubt of it. I will say further that from the best information I

have, there are in the organization respectable, clever men, men who, aside from this,
would be counted as first-class men anywhere. What I mean to say is, that I am satis

fied the organization is not confined to any low order of people. I believe that good
men men in every other respect free from objection belong to it.

Question. Do you think the object of that organization is to annul practically that
feature of the reconstruction policy which gives to the colored men the free exercise

of the right of suffrage ?

Answer. I think so.

Question. Do you think that is the main object ?

Answer. I think that is certainly one of their leading objects. You may group the
whole matter. I think, by saying that the object is to deprive the republican party not

oiijy of political rule, but of any force or respectability in the State.

Question. Have the operations of this organization practically annulled, in some
localities of the State, the free exercise of the right of suffrage by colored nieu ?

Answer. From what I have heard colored men say, I am satisfied that a good many
of them have absolutely abstained from the exercise of the right because they were
afraid of the violence threatened by such organizations.

Question. They are afraid of this Ku-Klux organization ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. If there is any other fact you desire to state in regard to this organization,
or any other matter connected with this subject, state it in a general way.

Answer. Nothing else occurs to me.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. Do you think there is any way for the two races to live peaceably together
in Alabama except upon the basis of complete civil and political equality in the eyes
of the law ?

Answer. No, sir, I do not
;
and I believe it is the interest of both races that we

should live in that way. I think we shall be mutual helps to each other. One remark
I may as well make in this connection : You asked me a while ago about taxes. I have
heard a great deal said about the republican legislature, its extravagance, corruptions,
and all that. My belief about that matter is that if you oifset against that charge all

that the republican administration of the State of Alabama has accomplished, you
will find that these benefits to the State will much more than counterbalance every
thing that can be said on the other side.

Question. Do you, in that remark, refer to the prospective liabilities of the State
incurred by indorsement of railroad bonds, &c. ?

A nswcr. Yes. sir. Alabama is naturally one of the richest, if not the very richest, State
in the Union, according to all the testimony of men who profess to be thoroughly ac

quainted with minerals and the value of minerals. Before the republicans had povfer
in Alabama we had nothing like a system of railroads. We had but a small number
of railroads, comparatively speaking, and nothing like a railroad system in other

words, nothing which contributed toward the development of the mineral wealth of
the State, which is not far from the territorial center of the State. The republicans,
when they entered upon the State administration in the summer of 1868, found no

money in the treasury, as I understand and believe. All they had to go on was the
credit of the State. State bonds at that time were very greatly depreciated. The
white people of the State were generally arrayed against the republicans ;

and I believe
a good many of the white people did not believe the republicans could run the govern
ment

; they believed that the State credit would depreciate still more on the accession
of a republican administration. Yet, going into power in the State, without money
and with nothing but this depreciated State credit, the republicans have caused an
unprecedented amount of railroad to be constructed. The railroad system which has
been inaugurated is one of the most perfect and complete to be found in any State in

the Union. One of the main trunk lines has been completed the Stanton road from

Chattanooga, Tennessee, through the heart of the mineral region of our State, and
through one of its richest agricultural regions, to Meridian. The other main trunk line

is to extend from Montgomery to Decatur, through the mountains, which abound in

coal and other minerals, which heretofore have been useless, and would always have
remained so without railroads. These two grand trunk lines cross each other near the
heart of the mineral region of the State. One is already completed: the completion ot

the other is insured within less than a year, according to the best authorities.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. Are you connected with either of those roads ?

Answer. I have a small amount of interest in the one which is not completed the
South and North Alabama Railroad. My interest in the road is very small incon
siderable.
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Question. I suppose the whole amount owned by private stockholders is inconsider
able

;
I presume the State aid really constructed the road ?

Answer. I am a stockholder to the extent of only a few shares in this South and North
Alabama Railroad. I would be willing to relinquish any day my interest as a stock
holder. The stock will never be worth anything to me

;
but the road is valuable for

State development. With this system of railroads, which will shortly be completed,
the State will be in a far better condition for paying the increased liabilities which it

is claimed have been created, than it would have been to pay the old debt in the unde
veloped condition of the State.

Question. What was the old debt ?

Answer. Three, or
four,^or

five millions.

Question. If all these roads entitled to State aid are constructed, will it not amount
to over forty millions ?

Answer. From thirty to forty millions, as I understand.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. Is not the interest of the State in those roads secured?
Answer. The State has a first-mortgage lien on the property of all the roads aided

;
that

is the reason why I say I do not count the stock as worth anything to the stockholder.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. Did you ever hear of an instance in which one of these first mortgages
against a railroad has been enforced in any State of this Union?
Answer. I think they have enforced them in Tennessee to the whole extent of the

property ;
but I understand that in the case of the Tennessee roads there was a loss to

the State, because the roads were destroyed during the war, and because of the depre
ciation of confederate money. I have heard Tennessee railroad men say that had the

confederacy succeeded and confederate money turned out to be valuable, the railroads
would have been richer than they ever were. But the roads turned pretty much every
thing they had into confederate money ; they had piles of that when the war clcsed

;

but that, of course, had become valueless. Besides that the roads were damaged by
the army. In that way Ihe State of Tennessee lost, when otherwise it would not have
done so. There is, in my judgment, no reasonable probability that in any contingency
which can occur the State of Alabama can possibly lose, in the way of liabilities

assumed to aid railroads, anything tha-t will at all bo entitled to offset the lasting gains
that will be acquired by the development of our wealth and power resulting from these

enterprises. Alabama without railroads would have been in an awfully bad condition
to pay even the comparatively little debt that before existed.

Question. Of course Alabama was not entirely without railroads ?

Answer. .Not entirely ;
but she had nothing like a railroad system. There was not a

particle of railroad at the right place in the mineral region. The roads which had
been built had been constructed on other considerations than State development.
Governor Lindsay has now actually taken possession of one road under a first mort

gage ;
so that you will have in Alabama, if you have never had anywhere before, a case

of enforcing a first mortgage against a railroad by taking actual possession on the part
of the State.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. Did not all the democratic members of the legislature vote for the Stanton
bill

;
was not that bill supported irrespective of party ?

Answer. There was but one democrat in the senate
;
and he was a strong advocate

of it.

Question. Who drew that bill?

AtiKit cr. One of the leading democrats in the State my successor in the office of chief

justice A. J. Walker. The bill had very strong democratic backing. WT

alker was
chiefjustice after I left the bench until he was pushed out by reconstruction.

By Mr. BLAIR:

Question. A question was asked you with regard to the administration of justice in*

your State, and you said there was a class of cases in which politics mingled, and in

which it was difficult to administer justice.
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question, Has not that always been the case?
Answer. I think that to some extent it has always been the case.

Question. Everywhere in the world, so far as you have heard f

Ansicer. Well, wherever I have been I think it has been so.

Question. There is a great deal of human nature in mankind?
Answer. There is more of that sort of human nature now, because there is more vio

lence novr than ever before.
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Question. The political convictions of men are like all other convictions, and always
have a great influence, of course, in governing their determinations and actions ?

Answer. Yes, sir; that is my judgment, from what I have observed.

Question. You said that in the last canvass in your State the democrats in your sec

tion had their able men, and addressed themselves, by every legitimate means, to the

people, and yet failed to make any impression ;
that the radicals rather increased their

vote ?

Answer. I said that was the case in certain parts.

Question. Did not the radicals in that section of the State have the advantage of your
conversion and that of Governor Parsons to aid them ?

Answer. Yes; but they had that advantage, I should suppose, generally throughout
the State

;
for it was known everywhere.

Question. But that was the particular portion of the State in which you and Governor
Parsons resided, and therefore the one in which you had most influence?

Answer. I resided at Montgomery, and Governor Parsons some distance above Mont
gomery.

Question. But in the same region of country f

Answer. My speeches were printed and pretty generally circulated. I think the

republicans had the benefit throughout the State of the accession of Governor Parsons
and myself.

Question. Generally, a man s influence amounts to something more in his immediate

neighborhood?
Answer. Very often it does.

Question. Did any others who had formerly acted with the democrats in that imme
diate region of country connect themselves with the republican party at that time &quot;?

Answer. I do not recollect any other prominent men.

Question. That was a new departure
&quot;

for you ?

Answer. Yes, sir; it was entirely new to me.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. The election was all quiet about Montgomery?
Antsiccr. Yes, sir; there was nothing more than the ordinary political excitement. It

was an election which excited great interest.

Question. The falling off in the republican vote was where the disturbances existed ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

By Mr. BLAIR :

QKf.sfioM. Although the statute, in so many words, declares a punishment for chal

lenging The vote of any person, yet still, as a legal proposition, you think that is only
intended to prohibit the challenging of any person legally qualified to vote ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; and I do it upon the &quot;principle of the old case found in the books.
A statute was passed against drawing blood in the streets of a certain city. The stat

ute said, in so many words, that whoever drew blood in the streets of that city should
suller a certain penalty. A man fainted in the street, and a doctor, passing by, pulled
out. his lancet, and, to save the man s life, bled him. It was hold by all the judges that,

although the case was, within the letter of the statute, a violation of the law, it was
not within the spirit of the provision, and therefore was not punishable under the
statute. I think that the same rule of construction would apply in this case.

Question. Practically, how does that prohibition operate ?

Answer. What I would say on that subject would be mere conjecture. I believe I

would not myself hesitate to challenge a man who I thought was not entitled to vote.

Question. Would you not have hesitated if you had supposed you would be made an

object of persecution? Suppose your own son had offered to vote, and you knew he
was not twenty-one years of age, would you not have hesitated to challenge him if you
knew you would be the object of legal persecution under this statute, the language of

which is directly inhibitory ?

Answer. Whether I would challenge in such a case would depend on the mood I was
in. If I was in quite a pacific mood, I would not have challenged probably, but would
have refrained in order to have peace. If I was at all stirred. I would have challenged
and taken the consequences.

Question. Do people generally want to borrow trouble in that way ?

Answer. Xo, sir; I think not.

Question. Does not such a law as that operate to defeat the right of challenge?
Answer. I think it checks it.

Question. Do you not believe it was so intended ?

Answer. I do not know. If my construction of it is right, then of course it was not

Construing the act fairly as a judge ought to do, I should say that the real intent and
meaning of the legislature was to prevent harassment of voters by challenges. Some
times at elections, when there is a great crowd of voters at a certain box. there is a

strong temptation for partisans to make challenges for mere delay. Under the old
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system a voter challenged was subjected to an examination, sometimes a hundred
questions being put him

;
and while time was thus being consumed nobody could vote.

The case of the man challenged must be settled before any more votes could be received.
Under that system it was in any man s power to exhaust the time allowed for voting
by foolish and ridiculous inquiries, pretended to have a bearing on the right of the
voter challenged. I have seen some of the most laughable things of that kind

; they
were on my side and I stood them well. For instance, an old bald-headed man, and
with all his remaining hair gray, would be asked, in a very earnest manner, whether
ho did not know that he was under twenty-one years of age. The object of such
trifling was, of course, to take up time, and to&quot; keep out as many votes as, possible.

Question. Such proceedings as that, occurring in old times, were regarded as highly
humorous ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. At this day they give occasion for a Ku-Klux law ?

Answer. Yes, sir; hut I think, judging by the ordinary rules which ought to be fol

lowed in construing the action of public bodies, the conclusion ought to be drawn that
the intention of this law was to prevent the harassment of men really entitled to vote.

Question. Since that law was passed have you ever known a man to be challenged 1

Answer. I have never seen one challenged ;
I have been very little about the polls.

Question. Have you ever heard of any ?

Answer. I do not recollect of having heard of such a case. I do not say there have
not been challenges.

Question. You have never heard of any ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. You have never heard any one say that there has been such a thing ?

Answer. I do not think so.

Question. Do you not know that the practical eifect of that law is to defeat the right
of challenging anybody ?

Answer. The most I can say is that I think its tendency is to check the exercise of
the right of challenge.

Question. And to check the exercise of the right of challenge in that way is to break
down one of the safeguards of a fair election ?

Answer. Yes, sir. The right to challenge is one of the safeguards. Of course, this

law takes away from it its full value
;
but I think it operates in favor of one party in

one locality and another in another. Where the democrats have full swing, they pile
in their illegal votes; and if the republicans have the control at another place they put
in theirs.

Question. Is it not the fact that in every election which has occurred up to this time,
since reconstruction, the radicals throughout the State have had the appointment
of all the managers of election f

Answer. No, sir, that is not the fact. I will take Russell County as an illustration.

That county has a democratic sheriff and a democratic circuit clerk, The probate
judge is a republican. In that county, I believe, from all the information I have, Gov
ernor Smith had about fourteen hundred majority at the last election. It was the duty
of the returning officers in that county, under the provisions of the coustitutiou,to
make a return of that election to the secretary of state. They never made any retuni.
Tin republicans had a very large majority in that county, but, by the failure td make
a return, Governor Smith lost the advantage of that majority. His majority in that

single county was nearly equal to the majority reported in favor of Lindsay in the whole
State.

Question. You have not answered the question I asked. My question was whether,
under the previous election, the radicals did not have control of the managers of the
last election throughout the State. You have answered that question by mentioning
an isolated case.

Answer. I mentioned a case in which they did not, and I believe there were other,

Biich cases.

Question. How many others ?

Answer. I do not know how many ;
I have no means of arriving at actual knowledge ;

but I am satisfied there are counties in Alabama where a majority of the rueii who
appoint the managers are democrats. I grant you that in most of the counties the

republicans have the majority.
Question. Do you not know the fact to be that at the election in 1863, when these

officers were elected, the democrats abstained entirely from voting?
Answer. Yes, sir

;
but I know there have been a great many changes in the officers

since then.

Question. Do you mean they have changed their politics?
Answei: No, sir; I mean the officers are changed. Some of them have changed their

politics, I understand, but many of the men who were elected at the election in Febru

ary, 1868, have gone out of office, aud others have taken their places.

^Question. Had that change occurred prior to the last election ?
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Answer. Yes, sir, prior to the last election.

Question. Have there been sncli changes as to any of the officers who had the selec
tion of managers of the election ?

Answer . I think so; that is my belief; I have no doubt about it.

Question. Have the terms of their offices expired ?

Answer. Those who were voted for in February, 1868, have gone out of office by death,
resignation, or otherwise, and before the last election others had been put in their places,
some of whom were democrats. I know that Governor Smith appointed democrats in
several instances. In the very county of Russell, of which I have spoken, the assess

or, who is a democrat, was appointed by Governor Smith.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. Do you remember how it was in Greene County ?

Answer. Yes, sir, I heard how it was in Greene County. In Tuscaloosa County, also,
I understand there is a- democratic sheriff, who was appointed by Governor Smith. He
was not, however, an extreme partisan by any means..

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. Do you say that the officers in Greene County are democratic ?

Answer. I have heard that the sheriff or some other officer there appointed by Gov
ernor Smith was a democrat. I do not profess to have any personal knowledge on the

subject. As to Russell County, I have such knowledge. I know the circuit clerk, the

probate judge, and the sheriff in that county. Ware is sheriff, Faulkner circuit clerk,
and Appleby probate judge.

Question. &quot;At the general election in 1868 the democrats abstained entirely from

voting?
Answer. I do not say that they abstained entirely.

Question. Well, to a very great extent ?

Answer. Doctor Worthy was elected senator at that very election.

Question. One democratic senator was elected out of how many?
A nswer. Thirty-three.
Question. But to a very great extent the democrats did abstain from casting their

votes for anybody at that election ?

Answer. Yes, sir; that was the policy adopted and urged upon them.

Question. And at the elections which were held throughout tiie State at that time
radicals were elected in about the same proportion as in the senate, where there was
one democrat to thirty-two republicans ?

Answer. I should think so.

Question. In that state of affairs, where the republicans had the management of the

polls by thirty-two to one throughout the State, how can you undertake to say that
The democrats perpetrated more frauds in the election than the republicans that more
fraudulent votes were cast by the democrats ?

Answer. I do not put it so strongly as you do. I do not say that they did, I say that

my belief is that they did, and I will tell you the grounds of niy belief. I think that
a great many officers who were called republicans were influenced in one way or an
other some

1

by intimidation, and some by other means to play into the hands of the
democrats. I have heard of things of that sort, and I believe there is ground to be
lieve them.

Question. Did you never hear of anything of that sort on the other side? Would
the radicals never tamper with such matters ?

Answer. I do not pretend to say they would not if they had a chance; as to that, I

think they would. But I say that between the election of February, 1868, and the last

election, changes in the officers were effected in one way or another, and in that way I

think the democrats had, as managers of elections, secured a good many more men
who were either openly or covertly on their side than the public at large, especially at
this distance, have any conception of. That is my belief.

Question. Is it not a fact with which you are conversant, as are all other southern
men, that there is much greater difficulty in recognizing negroes than whites ?

Answer. Yes. sir, that} is so.

Question. And that frequently negroes can practice fraud upon the election officers

by passing themselves off under different names, where a white man would be instantly
detected !

Answer. I think there is a striking difference in that respect.

Question. Very striking ?

Ansiccr. I think so.

Question. That difficulty of identifying negroes has been testified to by most gentle
men from the South, whose attention has been called to it.

Answer. I think it is obviously the fact.

Question. Does not that give the radicals, who control these negroes, a much greater
facility for fraud?
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Answer. It does
;
there is no doubt about that.

Question. And do not the negroes, who are themselves ignorant of their rights in
these matters, very frequently duplicatp their votes over and over again ?

Answer. I do cot know. I hear that the democrats say that they do.

Question. You hear that allegation ?

Answer. I do.

Question. Is it not reasonable to suppose that a class of persons who cannot appreciate
the villainy of such a transaction would be easily induced to do it I ,

Answer. Yes; I think it is very likely there has been illegal voting of that sort. I
believe there has been, though I have no knowledge of it.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. Are not voters required to be registered before they vote
;
and do not the

election officers keep a record of the names of the Electors, and compare the names with
those ou the registration list ?

Answer. That is what they ought to do.

Question. The law provides for it f

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Has it not been the custom in your county and other counties to divide
the managers of the elections politically ?

Atiswer. There was an agreement on that subject between the two executive com
mittees before the last election. The chairman of the two State committees came to
an agreement to that effect. My recollection is (and I do not think I can be mistaken
on that point) that the arrangement was to this effect : That in counties where the
democrats had the majority, at least one republican should be appointed among the
officers of the election at each precinct, and where the republicans had control, at
least one democrat was to be appointed.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. It has been testified here that that agreement was totally disregarded
throughout the State.

Answer. I know of no disregard of it myself. I supposed that it had been regarded.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. Did not that agreement extend in the same manner to the counting of the
votes after the ballots had been cast ?

Aiixicer. Yes, sir
;

it is my recollection that it extended to the counting of the votes
;

that each party was to be repesented.

By the CHAIRMAN, (Mr. POOL :)

Question. Did you ever hear that the arrangement had been disregarded ?

Answer. I do not recollect of hearing before that it had been disregarded. From the
character of the chairman of the republican executive committee, I am satisfied he
would not disregard it, or countenance the disregard of it. I refer to General Healy,
United States marshal. He is an officer who conducts himself in such a way, I believe,

as to give satisfaction to the democrats generally.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Question. You have stated here several times that though you agreed with the demo
crats for a long time, you now attribute your course at that time to passion and vio

lence, which passion and violence you &quot;seem to think have taken possession of the

democratic party ?

Answer. No. sir
;
I did not put it that way ;

I put it with more accuracy. I stated ^

that I was born and raised a democrat
;
I believed in the faith of that party in its

strongest State-rights version. That was when I was cool. But, as I said, when the
war commenced there were evoked passions which existed during the war and con
tinued to exist at its close. I said that my passions, instead of being abated by the
results of the war, were strengthened. My hatred for the republicans, and for the

objects which I supposed they had in view, was increased. The passions which I spoke -

of as cooling were those passions which I had after the war not connected with the
&quot;*

democratic faith at all when I first embraced it, nor for many years afterwards in fact,
not until since the war. My deliberate view years before the war, and at the com
mencement of the war, was that the democratic doctrines were correct

;
that the demo

cratic party adopted the true interpretation of the Constitution
;
and if I had had niy

way I would have made that instrument read that way so clearly that nobody could
have misunderstood it. But I was disappointed by the war in having those doctrines

overturned. That increased my passions. Under the political doctrines which I had

opposed an important -part of the property of the southern people was destroyed.
The more these things happened the madder I became. It took a long time for me
to cool these passions and to perceive even that which was inevitable. If I had been
cooler I should have changed my political course earlier after the close of the war.
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Question. There are many men in this country who believed just the reverse of what
you believed in regard to the power of the Government to make war to suppress the

rebellion, who devoted all their energies to the maintenance of the Government during
the war, and who have since abandoned the republican party because of its subsequent
usurpations ; who, so far from concurring with you in joining the republican party
after it lias committed what southern people consider so many and such gross outrages,
have, after going through the war on the side of the Union and giving their utmost,
efforts to suppress the rebellion, abandoned the republican party because of its usur

pations since the Avar?
An^icer. Yes, sir.

Question. Yet you think it is only necessary for a man to get
&quot;

cool&quot; to see that the

republican party is the best thing in the world?
Answer. Yes, sir

;
that is my opinion. I know there are gentlemen such as you speak

of : and I have considered what you suggest in making up my judgment. I accord
such men full credit for the honesty of their views, while I differ with them decidedly.
1 think myself that the republican party can improve its practices; but at the same
time I have no idea that in the State of Alabama, with the two races not very unequal
in numbers, we can get along at all as we ought to unless we allow civil and political
equality between the races. The democrats have not been able until lately to show
any toleration toward men holding this view. I am delighted to see this &quot; new depart
ure. I Avisli it had begun earlier, and had been backed more strongly, if the move
ment is really made in good faith.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. What do you think is the duty of the Government toward the colored
men ?

Ait.yirtr. My opinion is that the Government is bound to maintain the rights Avhich,
as I understand, it has pledged to give to these colored people. I do not pretend
to .-.ay that the Government ought to have come under such a pledge; but when
I look back at the course of events, I think that the party that had the rule of the

country on the Union side during the war became under obligations to the colored peo
ple, which they ought not to be reproached for redeeming in good faith. What I mean to

say i.s that I do not think it would have been exactly right for the GoAreruuieut in the hour
of emergency, Avheu it was said the life of the nation was at stake, to inA oke the aid of
the colored people and procure it by promises of doing something for them, and then
*;i I ll* 3 wards fail to carry out those promises.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Q&amp;gt;-
*tion. Did the Government in fact procure the aid of the colored people ? During

the war were there not many more colored people in the South aiding the rebellion
than helping the Union &quot;

Anw i r. Well, 1 do not know of any colored men helping the confederate side, except
in the way of carrying on the business in which they were always employed before

agricultural occupations.
Question. Do you not know that the negroes built most of the fortifications in the

South ?

Answer. No, sir; I recollect they did build sonic in Alabama
;
but those did not do

any good.

By the CHAIRMAN, (Mr. POOL:)

Qvexiion. They did it under coercion ?

A^.xwer. O, yes, sir; they did not do it A oluutarily.

By Mr. BLAIR :

Q&amp;gt;n~
*iion. Did not a great many white men aid the rebellion under coercion?

Answer. Do you mean in the Confederate States&quot;?

Question. Yes, sir.

Ati^u cr. I do not think a great many of them did.; some did, no doubt. In Alabama
the contest in regard to secession was a close one

;
we had a hard time to get secession

through.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. Did you ever get it through ?

Answer. We got it through the coivvcntiou. Though that first step was attended
with great difticulty, yet after the Avar commenced I think the people Avere pretty
strongly in favor of whipping out the northern soldiers. It was a very fashionable idea
that we could do it and Avould do it. But you see we did not succeed. I think the

general idea was that we could establish a government of our own in the South : and I

believe that but a comparatively small portion of our people needed any coercion.
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HUNTSVILLE, ALABAMA, Ociofor G, 1T1.

JOHN A. MTNNIS sworn and examined.

By the CHAIRMAN, (Mi;. PRATT):

Question. Judge Minnis, what is your place of residence ?

Answer. Montgomery, Alabama.

Quistion. How long have you resided there ?

Answer. I think about two years.

Question. Where did you go from when you went to Montgomery ?

-InxH ti . I moved from Greenville, Alabama, forty miles below.

Question. Are you a native of the South &amp;lt;

Answer. Yes, sir
;

I was born and raised in North Carolina.

Question. How long have you lived in the State of Alabama f

Anwer. Since the fall of
J866.

Quest ion. In what State; did you live immediately previous to that ?

Answer. I moved from North Carolina to Tennessee in 1838, and lived there in Ten
nessee until 1866.

Question. I will ask you to state what official position you now hold F

Anwar, District attorney of the United States for the northern district of Alabama,
winch embraces the middle district.

Question. How long have you held that office ?

Answer. Now nearly a year; not quite a year.

Question. How many terms of court have you attended since your appointment ?

Answer. I have attended two at Montgomery and one at this place.

Question. Judge Minnis, this committee is instructed by resolution of Congress to

inquire into the condition of the late insurrectionary States, so far as regards the exe
cution of the laws and the safety of the lives and property of citizens of the United
States. I will ask you to state now, from your knowledge and from the information
received from others, what disturbances have existed iji the northern part of Alabama
since you became- acquainted with that part of the State.

Answer. My first experience with that was really in Middle Alabama.

Question. Well, you may extend your answer to Middle Alabama as well as Northern
Alabama.

Answer. My first experience with disturbances arose about the time of reconstruction
and the adoption of the constitution. I then lived at Greenville. There was a good
tleal of hostility to those measures, and when it was announced who were the officers

that, were to bo elected, or proposed to be elected, under that reconstruction, there was
a great deal of hostility to them. After the constitution was adopted, Judge Gardner,
who was elected probate judge, undertook to go into his office in Greenville, and there
were a great many violent demonstrations. At the time the first one occurred I was
not at home : 1 was oif at court. They went ill and besmeared his office all over.

They got in there in some way, and besides doing that they injured his books and
papers.

Question. Where did that occur?
Answer. That was in Greenville. A few days after that I heard a fuss on the street

just below my office, and I ran down to see what it was. It was Gardner, trying to get
into his store and two men trying to drag him out. I went to them and began to per
suade them to desist from such demonstrations. That did not seem to do any good.
Finally I just ca tight hold of them and told them they should not do it. At that time
I was not known as a republican at all. I had not really taken any part in politics.
That got me into a controversy, and I was very much denounced for my action in that

particular. It got me into the papers. He was frequently whipped, or attempted to
be whipped, by persons falling aboard of him, and he was finally attempted to be
assassinated ;

was shot through his window. There was a great deal of indignity
offered him. I do not know of any other officer being whipped, but indignity \vus
offered to all of them, and jc was almost impossible at that time to enforce the law
there. I thought a great deal of it, though, was owing to the inefficiency of the sheriff.

Question. Was this in the year 1868?
Answer. It was in the year 18G3. I do not know to give particular instances, but
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there was a great deal of that. Since that time that county, I think, has become
quiet, and .is, perhaps, as orderly as any county in the State. They have got over that.

By Mr. BECK :

Question. Will you name the county?
Answer. Butler County. I think it is quiet and the law is well enforced. They have

a most excellent sheriff, whose politics is scarcely known at all, a man I was trying to

get Governor Smith to appoint for some time before he was appointed. His name is

Perdue. I do not think they now have any more difficulties. I have not heard whether
he was re-elected or was a candidate. There are portions of that county in which I do
not think yet the negroes have ever felt free to vote, particularly in the Monterey dis

trict. I suppose there are from one to two hundred negroes in that district. From
my knowledge of them, I am satisfied that nearly or all of them are republicans, and
theiv has never been a republican vote by them given in the precinct ;

and there are
other precincts in the same county of the same sort. Some of them have gone to ad

joining precincts and voted.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. What proportion does the colored bear to the white population ?

Answer. Perhaps there was a majority negroes. It is the next strongest colored pre
cinct to Greenville precinct ;

it is the richest portion of the county. I have heard, but
have no well-attested evidence of the fact, of various outrages there being committed
on the black population. I have no evidence of it to establish it, and do not propose
to speak of cases unless I have such evidence.

Question. Do the colored people there refrain from attending the polls in that pre
cinct on account of intimidation and menaces ?

Answer. I think so; though I think that lately, since the general* election, there has
been a better feeling even down there. I think there is an improvement generally
there, from my knowledge. I think men are very much moderated, and there is a
much better feeling.

Question. Proceed with your statement.
Answer. I then moved to Montgomery. The only thing I can relate which I knew

particularly there, except just what I saw in the papers and heard in reference to out-
r.- .gi s, was when I was, by direction of Governor Smith, sent up to Eutaw to investi

gate the matter of the killing of Boyd. I spent three weeks there.

Question. Do you speak of the riot that occurred there ?

Answer. No, sir; I speak of the killing of the register in chancery and county solicitor,
that occurred in 1869. I went up there to investigate that matter, and spent first one
sveek and afterwards two weeks. When I first went there I made no concealment of

my business, for I have never gone in any other character than openly. I thought the

people met me rather sourly, of course
;
but I met an old acquaintance, a gentleman

who knew me very well, and he took me around and introduced me to a great many
men, and told them he was satisfied that I would do what was right ;

and after that I

had no trouble myself with any of the citizens at all. I investigated that matter.

Question. Eutaw is in Greene County ?

Answer. Yes, *ir. When I went there, the solicitor having been killed, Luther Smith,
the judge, proposed to appoint rne the solicitor, knowing my business, but I declined,
and told him to harve a lawyer appointed who lived in that county ;

and Mr. Snedecor,
a democrat and a very clever man, was appointed, and I in connection with him investi

gated that matter. I myself talked with all the negroes I could get to see from that

region where the difficulty was supposed to have originated. It is a place called Union,
where there had been a good deal of difficulty, and negroes had been killed, and some
white men killed, too. Upon that examination and that was the first trace that satis

fied me beyond all controversy that there was a regular organization I became sat

isfied that there was not a man living in that county that had had anything to do with
that killing ;

but I have no doubt that it was prompted by some men in the county ;

but so far as I have any trace as to any man in the county, outside of Union beat, I

never had any evidence that any one had anything to do with it. I am equally satis

fied that the crowd that came down was organized outside of the county, and every
man in the county, if there were any such, that belonged to or sympathized with that,

order, was at home, and, if brought up, would have been able to prove it. We proved
by two witnesses that just that crowd was seen crossing into the county, from rather a,

northern direction, that night just at dark; and they were seen to pass out of the

county just at daylight next morning.
Question. How much of a crowd was that ?

AitMver. Thirty or forty was the number at which it was estimated, according to the

testimony.
Question. Were the parties disguised ?

Answer. They were, with black loose gowns, with something that covered their faces,

something like quills that made them look like long, big teeth, and made a peculiar sort of
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noise. They came in by two roads, as the proof showed. One party came by one way
and one by another way, and they met there and at once sent out sentinels.

Question. Did they come on foot or horseback ?

Answer. On horseback.

Question. Were the horses disguised ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. In what manner ?

Answer. I believe they had black hung over them.

Question. Were the men armed ?

Answer. Yes, sir, with guns and with pistols. One witness said with sabres. They
were seen by, perhaps, twenty men.

Question. What did this gang proceed to do ?

Answer. They placed out sentinels as they came in, guarding the diiferent roads.

They went up and took Boyd out of his room, and he was shot. They had ropes with

them, that were seen by some parties, and I think they probably intended to hang him,
but he made some resistance, and in that resistance he was shot by some one of the

Sarty.
After the first shot there was an intermission of a minute or two, as those who

card it stated, and then there was quite a number of shots tired. He was found shot

by eight or ten balls, and was dead when found. I was told by men who saw it, and
men of the highest credibility, that there was scarcely a word spoken by them, and
the sentinels were sent out and brought in by a mere wave of the hand.

Question. How was it ascertained that Boyd resisted ?

Answer. That was ascertained by some persons who were in the room under him,
who had not gone to bed, and who heard scuffling.

Question. Was Boyd lodging at a public house ?

Answer. Yes, sir
; he was staying at the tavern. I talked with the landlord who was

there, but not immediately there at the moment
;
he was across the street playing bil

liards.

Question. How was he assassinated, shot &quot;?

Answer. Yes, sir, shot.

Question What was his offense ?

Answer. There are different opinions. I have my own hypothesis about it.. Some-

years before the war Boyd, when quite a boy, was going to school at Union. Ho was
a nephew of old Judge Miller, the keeper of customs at Mobile. While there Miller s

sou and a man named Brown got into a light, and Boyd got into the difficulty ia some
way and shot one Brown, who was killed. He was arrested and tried for it, and con
victed of murder in the second degree ;

sentenced to the penitentiary ten years, and his

punishment was commuted by the governor to one year in the county jail.

By Mr. BECK :

Question. Was that the verdict of the jury or the commutation ?

Answer. It was the commutation. He was convicted and served one year.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Did he serve his term ?

Answer. Yes, sir, in the jail. He had been, upon conviction, sentenced to the peni
tentiary.

Question. How long was this homicide previous to the murder of Boyd ?

Answer. I do not know. It was two or three years before the war. He and his

mother then went to Mississippi. After the war was over he came back and was ap
pointed county solicitor and register in chancery. As county solicitor, after there had
been some negroes killed and a white man murdered up in that same neighborhood ef

Union, he had put on foot an investigation. The general impression was that this

white man that was killed had been killed by some negroes. One of them was an
old bachelor who was pretty wealthy. He (Boyd) told some parties that he had evi
dence showing that he was killed by white men* for purposes of robbery. Mr. Snede-
cor himself told me that Mr. Boyd had made that statement to him, and he had said to

parties that he would investigate that matter if it took all summer. Then I think
there was a good deal of political bitterness, he being a republican ; and, as I think, the
main body of the Klan, or whatever it was in that county, was in the same region
where that matter took place, and were, I think, relatives of this same man, or con
nected with him

; and I think that that tended to make the hatred against him inoro
intense on the part of the Klan, and his being a republican also made them dislike him

;

and I think they thought that he had too much information for their safety. These
three causes, I suppose, determined his fate.

Question. Was there any indictment preferred by the grand jury for the murder of

Boyd ?

Amiverr. No, sir; the parties could not bo identified so as to get the grand jury to
indict. i

Question. And never have been to this day ?

Answer. Never have been to this day.

34 A
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. Question. What county was it supposed that this band proceeded from ?

Answer. I think myself that there were likely some from Tuscaloosa, some from
Pickens, and some citizens there

;
at least those I have seen since or talked with about

it have thought it likely that some of them were in from Mississippi ; that they were
from across in that region.

Question. How far distant were those points from that from which it was supposed that
these disguised men had come I

Answer. It was sixteen or eighteen miles where we had the last trace of them, I think.
That is my best recollection now. As to what point they camo from, they were going
up and coming from the direction of those two counties which adjoin. These two
counties join, as I understand it, and, as it were, corner on Greene County. They were

coming from that direction, and going in that direction.

Question. What eiforts, if any, were made by the citizens of Eutaw to bring the men
who had committed this outrage to justice?
Answer. I do not think, from what I can hear, that they made any at all. The

sheriff himself was out on the ground very soon after it occurred. The thing that
struck me as most remarkable in investigating that affair, was that in the course of an
hour or two after Boyd was shot a coroner s inquest was held; men in the town got up
immediately and a coroner s inquest was held over him, and it was reported I do not
remember the exact language of the report that he was killed by some persons un
known. All that was done immediately, and although the sheriff was upon the ground
and quite a number of men saw this, no pursuit was made at all nor any effort to
ascertain where the parties had gone. The matter of finding where they had gone,
and their movements, was ascertained by myself and Mr. Snedecor sending for the
witnesses wherever we could hear of them.

Question. Was Mr. Boyd obnoxious in that community?
Answer. There were very contradictory statements upon that subject. A great many

said, and it was published there in the paper, that he was exceedingly obnoxious in

his office as county solicitor and register in chancery. Perhaps the most of the citizens
I talked Avith would give that account of it. I talked with Chancellor Clarke and
Major Webb, the two oldest and perhaps ablest lawyers there. They both told me
that they did not regard Boyd as a bad man, and, so far as his official character,

particularly as register in chancery, was concerned for lawyers of that standing had
very little to do with him as county solictor they regarded him as one of the best
and most accommodating they had ever known.

Question. What was the general sentiment among the leading citizens of that town ?

Did they deplore the occurrence or otherwise ?

Answer. Well, it is hard to tell. They all expressed themselves that way to me.
All the good citizens did. While I think that Boyd was very obnoxious to them, and
while I do not think that they felt like taking any active part in hunting up those
who did this act, I think they would have much preferred that the thing had not
taken place, for various reasons.

Question. State those reasons.
Answer. One was the effect it would have upon their community, the character it&quot;

would give the country abroad. I think those better citizens were really opposed to
it. Those around the towYi were opposed to that sort of conduct upon general princi-

Eles.
They did not think that was the way to do. They thought that was going too

ir. While I think that perhaps a great many of them would not have cared much if

Boyd had got a whipping, they were not satisfied with this thing, and would not have

encouraged going to that extent. I speak now of those citizens that I met right around
the town. V

Question. This occurred in 1869?
Answer. I think it was in 1869. I am not certain now.

Question. Have you stated all that you desire to state in regard to that occurrence?
Answer. That is about all I know in regard to it. There were a great many incidents

;hat occurred there that it would take a* great deal of time to state.

Question. Proceed with your general statement as to any other disturbances that have,
occurred. *

Answer. After that, while I saw a great many things in the papers, yet until I made
the canvass with Mr. Buckley in a part of our district

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. Last year?
Answer. Yes, sir.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. The canvass of the fall of 1870?
Answer. Yes, sir. I don t know anything that came under my personal knowledge

except very frequent remarks of an insulting character that I do not care to say any
thing about.
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Question. You say you accompanied Mr. Buckley in his canvass in the fall of 1870? .

Answer. Yes, sir; I made some speeches elsewhere and made a canvass in 1870 in
the second congressional district.

Question. What counties are comprised in it?

Ansiccr. I canvassed with him a portion of Montgomery County as we went through.
From that we went through Pike- and Dale, Coffee, Geneva, and Henry. In none of
these counties hud we the slightest difficulty except in Pike.

Question. Kou may state what occurred in Pike County.
Answer. At Orion we made speeches. The crowd we were addressing- were princi

pally colored men. There were a few white men who stood over in a porch opposite to
where we were speaking. Mr. Buckley made his speech, and the only disturbance

during it was that they were hallooing over insulting language, and things of that
sort. I had made my speech under the same circumstances. The white men, of

course, in their remarks were very insulting, but nothing else, until just as I was
closing. I had got through my argument and was addressing myself to the personncl
of Governor Smith, when a man rode up on horseback and told me I must stop, waving
a big stick, saying that that town belonged to the citizens and they would not allow
that to go any further. I just stopped a moment and spoke to him calmly, telling him
I was nearly through ;

that I proposed to finish soon : that I had about concluded my
argument, and would have closed in live minutes if he had not interrupted me. He
seemed to persist. Mr. Buckley, sitting in a buggy close by, spoke to him. Whilst we
were in that, some men came up and led the man off. When we went to start off

they hallooed to me to know where I would stay, and said they wanted to lock their

stables, and things of that sort. That was all the disturbance at that place. A day
or two afterward we met at Brundridge, and there was at Brundridge a very consid
erable negro vote t do not remember how much which it was understood had
never voted. When we got there, we iirst drove up in a buggy where some men were
in front of a store, and asked if they would tell us where we could get our horse fed.

They said they could not. We then drove out into a grove and hitched our horse and
came back, and Mr. Buckley told them what we had come, for. They said they did
not propose to have any speaking of that sor

1

: there. There was a number of them.
We saw u few negroes standing^ around, looking off and shy. Mr. Buckley reasoned
with these men for some time, but they persisted in it.

By Mr. BECK :

QucvUov. Was that still in Pike County ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
that is in Pike County.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. Had notice of the meeting been sent forward ?

Answer. Yes, sir. I will make a digression there, before going further. A notice of
the meeting had been sent forward, and I know it had reached there, for in passing
through Pikesville I had an interview with Senator Worthy.

Question. Passing through Troy, you mean?
Answer. Yes. sir

; passing through Troy. Iliad an interview with Senator Worthy
before we got to this place. He told me they had sent for him to come there and an
swer us

;
that court was going on and he could not go, and that there would be nobody

to go, and that the determination was that they would not attend the meeting at all.

He did not tell mo there would be any violence done, but he told me they were very
hostile, or very much opposed to that speaking; but that if I was along by myself, I

being a southern man, he thought they would hear me, but being with Mr. Buckley I

would not get any attendance. Then to resume where I left off, Mr. Buckley insisted

on it that they should hear him
;
that he would not say anything to insult them

;
that

he wanted to talk to them about matters to their own interest. They persisted in it
;

and my recollection is that a doctor, whose name I forget now, who had a little drug
store there, made a remark something like this : that he knew we had the right to

speak, and they did not propose to interfere with us, but that nobody would- go to

hear us ; that he would like to see the man that would go to hear us speak ;
he wantoti

to put him 011 his son-of-a-bitch book
;&quot;

and pausing a moment at that, he then re

marked that no man could live ren days in that community who would go and hear us

speak. Mr. Buckley then came to me and asked me what we should do. I told him,
rather laughingly, that I had always found that there was luck in leisure, and we would
stand around awhile and see what would come of it. After awhile we started to get a
our buggy, and some men came up two or three of them and said they wanted to hear
us. Then some of the negroes came up and insisted that we should hold a meeting and

speak. They had a consultation but the crowd insisted that we should not, saying
that we had the right and that nobody would violate that right; but that nobody
should hear us. Some came to me and seemed to want to hear the speaking. I told

them that I had never before gone to a place where I could not speak, and was not

afraid to speak there
; yet as my purpose was to allay excitement, and not to create it,
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I feared that if we undertook to make speeches and did make speeches, those who
went to hear us would, when we left, bring themselves into such bad repute and bring
such indignation on themselves that it would leave the neighborhood worse than wo
found it, and that I would not speak. So I left without speaking.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. How large was the crowd ?

Answer. Fifteen or twenty. I met a negro, after leaving there, on a wagon, and he
told me that the negroes had been notified not to go to that meeting ;

that they
wanted to come to the speaking and to vote the republican ticket, but they could not
do it unless they slipped off to Troy.

Question. Did that speech of the doctor seem to meet the approbation of those peo
ple ?

Answer. Yes, sir. There was one old man who seemed to have a different sentiment,
but some of them rather suspected him and threw out some rather insulting language.
With two or three exceptions the voice was all that way. There was one particu
larly, a mechanic there, who said that he worked for his living, and he did not intend
to have speeches made to negroes, or that there never had been speeches made there
to the negroes and never should be.

Question. Did you notice whether this crowd was armed ?

Answer. No, sir
;
I did not.

Question. You made no speech, nor did Mr. Buckley ?

Answer. No, sir
; except in the way of talking to them as I have said. Those were

the only two points where we were disturbed. In Henry, Dale, Coffee, and Geneva
we were treated not only respectfully but kindly.

Question. What was the character of the audiences
;
were there many white men

present ?

Answer. Yes, sir
; generally there was a large majority, nearly all, white men. There

are but few negroes in that country after you get out of Pike. At one place I had a
considerable negro audience. Colonel Oates and myself made speeches together, and it

all went off very well. Colonel Oates is himself a man as fair and reasonable as any
body, and he wquld not have any disturbance, or anything of that sort, where he could
have helped it.

By Mr. BECK :

Question. You were discussing politics with him ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
he was on the opposite side. He is a man I would as soon discuss

a question with as any other; a very able man, but a fair man. At the same time
Oates was in favor of reconstruction/though he is a democrat.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. From your knowledge of the tone of public sentiment in this State, do you
think a republican can express and advocate his political opinions with freedom and
personal safety throughout the State ?

Answer. I think there are some places where he could not
;
I think there are a great

many where he could.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. At what places do you think he would not be safe in expressing his

opinion ?

Answer. I think there is some danger in almost any place in that county of Pike.
^

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. How is it in Western Alabama ?

Answer. I think in most portions of Butler County he would be safe. I doubt
whether he would bo safe in Monterey. I do not think such a thing has ever been

done, and I do not think it would be safe. Then, there are portions of Western Ala

bama, and a great many places in Western Alabama, too, where I do not think he would*
be entirely sate, though I have never tried it myself, and only speak from information
derived from others. So far as my personal knowledge is concerned, I have never had
any difficulty myself, except in the places I spoke of, where I have attempted to make
a speech.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Does that end the general statement you wish to make, Judge ?

Answer. That ends the general statement up to the time that I became district at

torney. I was appointed district attorney soon after that canvass.

Question. After the canvass of 1870 ?

Answer. Yes, sir
; just after that I was appointed.

Question. State whether in your official capacity, since your appointment as district
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attorney, you have had occasion to examine into these alleged outrages to ascertain
whether they have actually occurred.

Answer. The first difficulty that was brought to my notice in my official capacity
was uu outrage in Coosa County, in Socopotoy precinct.

Question. When did that occur ?

Answer. That occurred this year, I think. It was in the last of last year or some
time in the first of this year, hut I think it was this year.

By Mr. BECK :

Question. That is in Central Alabama ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Proceed and tell the particulars.
Answer. There came down to me a colored man named Henry Giles, and also one

named Wiley Williams. Wiley Williams had been very badly whipped. I saw the
wounds

; they were then fresh. Another man had been shot. He was not able to
come down. He afterward came down and I saw his wounds. Upon their affidavit I
issued a warrant against a colored boy whom they believed vas along with the party,
though not behi able to certainly identify any man. Upon that I had a very thorough
examination before a commissioner.

Question. Do you speak now of the Williams case ?

Answer. I do.

Question. State all the particulars that yon ascertained upon that examination.
Answer. The proof showed very clearly that a crowd of disguised men had gone into

the neighborhood and whipped, I think, about nine or ten, and shot one pretty badly,
and shot at several others as they ran

;
and at the same time had burned a church.

Question. The colored people s church ?

Answer. A colored church. The proofs so show. The man who saw them when they
went to the church and burned it said that it was these disguised men. They went
to one place where there was a quilting, and there they whipped Wiley Williams.
They asked him how he voted in the last election. He told them that he did not know

;

he could not read. They asked him how he intended to vote. He asked them if he told
them would they whip him. They said they would not. He then told them he had
intended to vote radical, and they then took him out and gave him a very severe

whipping. I know he was whipped severely, for I saw the marks upon him.
Question. Did this occur in daylight or in the night-time ?

Answer. In the night about li or L2 o clock. They went to an old man by the name
of Jerry Webb.

Question. The same night?
Answer. The same night. They took him out and told him that they were the spirits

of confederate soldiers just from hell, and they had come to run every damned radical
out of the country, and for him to give notice to the negroes that they must not too

many work for one man
;
that they must scatter out so that all could have some that

is, some of their labor. They hit him two or three licks, but only one that hurt. TliQy
laid him down and marked off his grave, and told him they were corning back again.
That same night, as I before said, they shot one negro who attempted to run, and they
shot at several others.

Question . Did they visit any other houses besides this where the quilting was, and
Jerry Webb s ?

Answer. Yes, sir, they visited several others, and altogether whipped nine or ten

negroes, all of whom I afterward had as witnesses.

Question. How large was this band ?

Answer. Thirty or forty, they said. I afterward investigated that same thing before
the grand jury, but on neither of the trials was I able to satisfy the grand jury or the
commissioner of the identity of the persons who did it. I thought myself that I had

?
roved one case, but they did not think so. In the investigation before the grand jury
sent up and stiininoued two white men from the neighborhood, one by the name of

Maxwell Allen or John Maxwell, I don t know which the largest laud-holder there,
and a man for whom a large portion of these negroes worked. I examined Maxwell
very closely as to the character of these negroes. He told me it was good ; that there
was no cause for that outrage that he knew of, except what was alleged at the time.
Maxwell s opinion was that really one of the motives was to alarm the negroes who
were wr

orkiug at one man s so that they could themselves, some of them, hire the

negroes for little or nothing. That was Maxwell s notion. WT
heu this negro complained

to me, before I took out the warrant I went myself and saw General Clanton, the Gen
eral James H. Clanton lately killed. I saw him and told him what w7as going on, and
said that I believed he could do perhaps more than anybody else with his democratic
friends up there to stop this. I told him these negroes said they would even put
up with what they had received if they were let alone and allowed to go home.
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Claiiton wrote a letter up there, and started the negro up with it. The negro started
to go up there, but came back and told mo it would not do at all. I met Clanton again
on the street and told him about the negro. I believe he knew the negro, who used to

belong to some prominent man up there. While we were talking wo saw Crawford, one
of the wealthiest men in that county, and called him over, and I stated to him that I

wanted to get him to use his iurJueuce to stop that thing ;
that that was all I

wanted to do. Crawford said that was about four miles and a half from his neighbor
hood, and that things were going on there very badly, but that he could do no good in

trying to stop it. That astonished me, and I asked him why. He said that they
threatened him and his negroes, and that his negroes were getting so alarmed that he
was afraid he would not be able to keep them on his farm

;
that on account of his trying

to protect his negroes they had become so prejudiced against him that he thought any
proposition of his would do more harm than good.

Question. At what time did you make that request of General Clauton ?

Answer. Soon after this occurred. It was last spring.
Question. About what month ?

Answer. In March, I think.

Question. Did yon make as full a statement of the facts to General Clanton as they
had come to your knowledge, as you have made to the committee to-day ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir
;

I took the negro to him and showed liim to him. at my office, and
wo talked it all over. General Clantou wrote this sort of a letter: &quot;1 cannot believe
that honorable men will be engaged in such business

;
but if they are, I advise you by

all manner of means to see that it is stopped.&quot; That was the tenor of his letter which
ho sent by the negro.

Question. Did you express to General Clauton at that time your conviction that this
was a part of the Ku-Klux organization ?

Answer. I told him I thought it was.

Question. What opinion did he express ?

Answer. He never would agree with me that it was. I have had a great many inter

views with General Clanton on the subject. He always said that he could not be
lieve it.

Question. How could he explain it ?

Ansicer. Sometimes he thought it was by bad boys ;
sometimes one thing and some

times another.

Question. You say you took Williams to him ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir
;
1 took Giles and Williams both to him.

Question. Did he examine Williams and Giles?
Answer. He examined them as to what they said about it. He did not examine to

see whether they had been whipped. Giles had not been whipped ;
he got away with

out being whipped.
Question. Was there any pretext for whipping Williams, except his politics ?

Answer. That was all, as I learned from them. That was alleged ;
and npon a most

thorough examination of Mr. Maxwell, who was a prominent democrat, for whom they
worked, he stated to me and to the grand jury that they were men of good character
and behaved themselves.

&quot;

Question. Do I understand you to say that this crowd that whipped Jerry Webb
told him that they were going to run every radical out of the country ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir, that is what Webb swore to.

Question. Do yon say that Webb is a truthful man ?

Answer. I have Allen Maxwell s word for it
;
he said he was a truthful and good man ;

it was either Allen or John Maxwell
;
he lives there yet, a man of fifty years and

upwards.
Question. What effect did these whippings have upon the negroes in the neighbor

hood as to intimidation ?

Answer. As to any voting, there has been no voting there since, unless it has been in the
late county elections. It had the effect to make them afraid to stay at home or do

anything, and I learn that half or over half of them are lying out every night for

fear of being set upon again.
Question. You say that these marauders said they were spirits of confederate dead ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
so the witness swore.

Question. Did he describe the disguises 1

Answer. Yes, sir
;
the disguises of the men and their horses. These men and their

horses were disguised in white gowns, and the horses were covered with white sheets.

They wore something over them, a long cap that just left their eyes out
;
I do not

know exactly how, but they were all in white.

Question. And armed \

Answer. All armed.

Question. To this day, I understand you, there has been no identification of this

baud ?

Ansiver. No identification. I think myself I know one of them from the proof. I
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think probably the captain was identified, but whilst it was satisfactory to my mind it

was not satisfactory to the grand jury or the commissioner.

Question. Are you done with your statement ?

Answer. No, sir; I am done with that case.

Question. Will you proceed to any other case you have investigated ?

Answer. The next case I investigated before a commissioner was a case in Macon
County.

By Mr. BECK :

Question. By
&quot;

commissioner,&quot; you mean United States commissioner.

Answer. Yes, sir. When I speak of commissioner I mean United States commis
sioner. A negro named Aaron Lassiter, from Macon, came down four or five days after

the whipping and showed mo decided signs, satisfying me that he was whipped, and

satisfying others in my office. He swore to the identification, I think, of live men.
^
I

issued a warrant and had them brought down before United States Commissioner Pat

rick, and they were tried.

By the CHAIUMAX :

Question. What did the proof show ?

Answer. The proof of Lassiter and his wife showed that these men came to his house
about 12 or 1 o clock.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. At night ?

Answer. At night. That they were men he was at work for, that he had worked

with, and he knew well. When they first called him he thought they were joking, but

they took him out and gave him a very considerable whipping. From his testimony I

should say, if they are the guilty parties at all that is if they belonged to the Ku-
Klux I do not think they were operating in the regular Ku-Klux costume. They
were disguised, but according to his description of the disguise I think they simply
had Federal overcoats turned wrong side out, and temporary paper caps on.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. How numerous were they ?

AtfSwer. Either five or six. They, in their defense, proved an nlibi.as the United
States commissioner thought, and they were discharged. That was before the last

term of the district court down there. At the last term of the district court I pre
sented that case to the grand jury, and they found a bill against all of them except
one. That is still pending in the district court.

Question. What was the pretext of these men for inflicting that whipping ?

Answer. The pretext alleged for whipping him was, as he swore and it was the

only motive I could get at from examining everybody I could find that he had been

working for one of these men two years, and, as the negro said, he thought he was not
o ettiug the pay he ought to have

;
he had this year rented a little place and was culti

vating it for himself. That this man sent for him to go and do some work for him, he

being at that time working for a negro in the neighborhood in order to get the negro s

horses to work his farm. When they came they told him they would learn him how to

work for a negro instead of a white man. In that same case the negro swore that

these white men had made him vote the democratic ticket, by drawing a pistol on him
when he wanted to vote the republican ticket. General Clanton himself put the ques
tion that brought that out. I had not asked the witness anything at all about his

politics.

Question. What was the name of the man for whom Lassiter had been working ?

Ansiver. His name is Cash
;
I forget his given name; he is a man of property that

lives up on the railroad.

Question. Did the proof show that these other men that associated with him were
from that neighborhood ?

Answer. One of them was a man driving his wagon to his mill
;
the other had worked

at his mill
;
two others were relations of his

;
one named Walker and the other s name

I forget, but he was living in the neighborhood also.

Question. How far did they take him from his house ?

Answer. About fifty or one hundred yards, I think
;
so near that his wife heard it all.

Question. Do you recollect how many stripes they inflicted on him ?

Answer. I do not remember
;
I saw distinct signs, myself, of three or four ; I think

he said they whipped him with a sort of stick; I think his testimony was thirty or

forty lashes, and they then told him that if he told it they would kill him, and made
him promise never to tell it.

Question, Does he still live in that neighborhood ?

Ansicer. He is now living close by Montgomery ;
he went down there and is there

unless he has left there since.
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Question. What was his motive in leaving that neighborhood ?

Answer. He was afraid to live there ; I advised him to leave. Four of these men
are under indictment all but one. The one whom he stated held the horses while

they whipped him was not indicted.

Question. Are you through with that case ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Proceed to the next case.

Answer. The case which I believe was next in order was a case in which a colored
man came up from the lower part of Montgomery, down toward the Pike region, and
made an affidavit ; he had been whipped ;

there is no question about that
;

1 saw the
marks

;
he made an affidavit against some four or five

; five, I think
;
two of them I

know are named Crenshaw
;
the others names I forget ; they were arrested and brought

tip before the commissioner.

Question. You may proceed .to state what the evidence was ?

Answer. He swore that these men were disguised, but that he recognized them. He
said he recognized them, and he proved their identity; that they carno one night about
12 o clock and took him out and gave him a very severe whipping. That ho was whip
ped there is no mistake, for I saw the marks of the stripes soon after the whipping.
He said that they alleged that the cause of their whipping him was that he had been
too intimate with a white girl in the neighborhood who was a sort of an idiot. He
swore to that and to the whipping. They really made no defense, but demurred, as

they said, to the testimony, and stated that they had whipped him because he had se

duced that girl.

Question. They stated this on their defense ?

Answer. They did not make their defense. They merely stated it while they were

trying this case. I asked the man if he was guilty of that charge. I cross-examined
him closely to find out whether he was guilty. He stated to mo solemnly and swon;
that he never had any such idea. I do not know whether I would have troubled the
courts with the case if I had been right well satisfied of his guilt.

Question. &quot;The defendant, you say, offered no proof ?

Answer. None. They are now under bond to apear at the next court.

By Mr. BECK :

Question. How many of them ?

jtmawer. Four or five.

Question. Were they disguised ?

Answer. Yes, sir. He swore that they were disguised. My recollection is that he
swore that they were disguised by wearing some clothes of an unusual sort

;
that they

were not in the regular Ku-Klux garb, but they were disguised and he knew them and
knew their horses. He went back after the trial was over to within six miles of the

place to live. He left that immediate neighborhood. A day or two after his wife came
up in great trouble and told me that they had come and taken him off, and she did not
know what they had done with him. I inquired, but could not get any information,
and I went to the sheriff and told him he had better go down and see about it. He said

he would. In the mean time- the man came up and came to my office, and told me that

they came and arrested him upon a warrant, charging him with having raped that
white girl, and took him down to a little place called Dublin for trial

;
that they had

a trial and bound him over to court, and not being able to give bail they started him
to jail with a white man and a colored man. In coming along up the white man who
had him in charge advised him that he had better leave the country. He answered that
he could not do it

; said,
&quot; if I attempted it you would hurt me.&quot; &quot;The white man said

he would not. He said &quot; when \ve get up apiece in the woods you ask me to get off and,

try it.&quot; The man did so. He took off, and looked back after he had gone a little dis

tance and saw that they did not make for him, and came off and came to Montgomery
where I was. They advised him to leave the country. He wanted to go up to Cham
bers County above Opelika, in the upper country. He is now somewhere near West
Point. That is the last I knew of him.

Question. Do you recollect his name T

Answer. I have forgotten at this time.

Question. State whether you made any inquiry as to his character for truthfulness
and respectability ?

Answer. I do not think that I have investigated that, for I have not had an op
portunity.

Question. You say he pointedly denied the charge made against him of seducing the

white girl ?

Answer. Yes, sir, he positively denied it. I could state that it created some doubt in

my mind from the fact of their not making any proof; and secondly, because, as I have
heard since, they took him up on a different charge. The one charge was rape; the

other seduction.
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By Mr. BUCKLEY:

Question. Do you think if ho had been proven guilty of a rape in the trial at Dublin

they would have let him escape ?

Answer. I do not think that if they had thought him guilty they would have let him
escape. I understand, however, that the girl did go before a justice of the peace and
swear that he had raped her.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Was she an imbecile ?

Answer. I uly know what ho and his wife told me. They said she was not. They
said she was in the family-way, and if this thing was true they said that it will soon

develop itself. He and his wife declared there was no such thing.

By Mr. BUCKLEY:

Question. Do you think that the public sentiment of the citizens of Montgomery
county, especially, would have tolerated a man who was carrying a prisoner to jail

charged with that crime, and allowing him to leave if guilty ?

Answer. I do not think it would. It I had been satisfied that the man was guilty of*

seduction, I do not think I would have prosecuted ;
but his being so positive in declar

ing that lie was not guilty, aud their not attempting any proof, and it turning out
afterward that there was another otfenso alleged, made me willing to prosecute, and
to see what was the proof.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. He was arrested actually on a warrant ?

Answer. Yes, sir, he was; and taken before a justice of the peace, and committed to

jail.

Question. Did he identify this man who accompanied him with a colored man to the

jail as one of the party that iullicted the whipping?
Answer. No, sir; and what astonished me more than all, was that this man who let

him loose was a man I had some slight acquaintance with, aud who was not extreme
in politics, Jasper Wilson, by name, whom you know, Mr. Buckley. I had staid with
him. He was, the constable that let this man get away. Now, that astonished me, for

Wilson is a gtfod man, at least he has that character and appearance. He treated us,

very kindly.
Question. Aside from this affidavit which the girl was induced to make, has any

evidence come to your knowledge to show that this colored man was guilty of the thing
imputed to him ?

Answer. I have heard nothing else outside of that, except just what I heard them say
about the seduction when it was on trial. The next case I had was the case of a man
named Smith Watley, from Coosa County.

Question. A colored man?
Answer. Yes, sir; that occurred at a comparatively recent period; two or three

months ago. He came down. He was very badly whipped, and the wounds were very
fresh when I first saw him. He made an -affidavit that about thirty disguised men
came tb his house and took him out aud gave him that whipping in the night, perhaps
about midnight or after. They were disguised in white, with white caps, the regular
white Ku-Klux disguise, and whipped him as they alleged, because he had said that if

ever the Ku-Klux came to his house he would hurt them. He identified, I think, five

men. They were arrested aud brought down and had a trial before the commissioner,
and were discharged upon the defense of an alibi.

Question. All five of them ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; all five of them. In addition to his own testimony, there was the

testimony of his wife and brother-in-law, and an old colored man that livod with him.

Strengthening that was a white man, who swore that he saw what looked like it might
have been some thirty or more passing like a streak of white in the night, passing his

house and going to Watley s house, about half a mile farther, on that night; that the

way he came to see them was, the dogs kept up a tremendous howling and barking,
and he got up and looked out, and saw them going down the road. That was the tes

timony of a white man, whose name I do not remember now. I have a memorandum
of it at home.

Question. How far did they take him from his house ?

Answer. A short distance
;
I think only across the fence.

Question. Do you recollect how many blows were iullicted ?

Answer. I think he said they hit him about fifty or sixty. He was pretty badly
whipped.

Question. Did these five men that he identified live in that neighborhood ?

Answer. They lived five or six or eight or ten miles from there. They did not live in

the immediate neighborhood.
Question. They proved that they were at home that night ?
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Answer. At home, or some other place. One of them, Doctor Leonard, proved by a
man that lived with him that ho was at home

;
that he went home about 11 o clock and

laid down on his bed, having lit his lamp. A man who slept in the room said he was
awake during the night, and read there by his lamp all night.

Question. Did the commissioner discharge him ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
that was his proof of an alibi. The others proved alibis, but of

different characters
;
men that went to bed with them in the same house, and knew

that they could not have got out without their knowing it, or other proof.

Question. Do you recollect of their making any threats to this colored man if he should
tell on them ?

Answer. He swore that they said if he ever told on them they would kill him. They
have all been sworn to that, in all cases that I have ever had.

Question. Has he left that neighborhood ?

Answer. He has been back a few times, looking after his business, but ve$y quietly.
He is spending his time at Montgomery, and, I reckon, is there now. He is afraid to

go back to live.

Question. You say his statement was verified by the testimony of his wife and
brother ?

Answer. His brother-in-law, not his brother, and an old man who was living in one
end of the same house, a colored man.

Question. You say his person exhibited abundant proof of the truth of his statement?
Answer. Yes, sir. There was no doubt about his being whipped.
Question. Does that finish all that you wish to state?
Answer. There is one other case that I will mention, that I know of by certain evi

dence having occurred in Coosa County. It was an examination before a grand jury
of a white man. I think his name is Lafayette Thomas. I had heard of the transac

tion, as of a great many others, and I had heard that he knew something about it. I

sent for him, and he proved that some time last year I do not remember the exact
date there was an old colored man of about seventy, a blacksmith, who lived on his

place, against whom he knew nothing except that the old negro was a little quarrelsome
among the negroes. I forget the old man s name, but this man Thomas stated that

.one night, some time late in the night, twenty or thirty persons it is my recollection of
the number as he gave it of disguised men, with white gowns and

cq&amp;lt;ps,
rode up to

his house and inquired for this old negro and other parties. He said that he told them
where this old negro lived, which was a short distance from his house, on his place.
That they went off in that direction, and some time afterward the old negro sent for

him, and when he got down there the old negro was very badly whipped, and these
men were around there. He said that they left, and thq|

T were so disguised that ho
did not know any of them. I had heard that the old negro had died from this out

rage, but he said that was a mistake
;
that the negro got up again, and was able for a

time to work in the blacksmith-shop, and he had seen him there at work
;
but he had

died since. The negro is now dead.

Question. Did he make this statement under oath ?

Answer. Yes, sir; he stated that under oath. In addition, he said that some time
before that, while he (Thomas) was from home, he had a corn-crib burned, and at first

there was some suspicion that this old negro might have had some hand in it. I asked
him if he afterward became satisfied whether the old negro had or had not done it.

He said he had become perfectly satisfied that the old negro had nothing to do with it

whatever; that it was done by a white man, who had since run away from the

county.
Question. Did Mr. Thomas, in his statement, give you the pretext for the whipping

of this negro f

Answer. He said he had heard no pretext, but he suspected that the burning of his

crib might h,:ive had something to do with it. I asked him particularly as to the
character of the old negro. He said that ho knew nothing against his character, ex

cept that he was regarded as old, and childish, and quarrelsome.
Question. You say ho was very badly whipped ?

Answer. Yes, sir; he said he was very badly whipped.
Question. By twenty or thirty persons .

Answer. Yes, sir. He went down there, and these men were scattered around there,
and soon they went off.

Question. Did he describe them as disguised after the manner of Ku-Klux ?

Answer. Yes, sir, with gowns. I asked what the negro wanted with him. He said

that when he got down there the negro said,
&quot;

Massa, these men have whipped me, and
made me acknowledge that I burned your crib, but I did not do it, and I wanted to

bring you here and tell you that I did not do it. I said that to keep from being
whipped.&quot;

Question. Were these injuries supposed to have contributed to the old man s death ?

Ansiver. I have no knowledge of that. The first account I had was that they hud
whipped him, and he had died a few days afterward

;
but when T examined Thomas,
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he said the negro got up so as to be able to work, for he had seen him at work a montn
afterward in the shop, arid afterward I understood that he was dead. I do not know
of what he died.

Question. When did that occur ?

Answer. That occurred some time last year.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. The other cases you mentioned I think you stated occurred this year ?

Answer. Yes, sir, all the others.

By the CHAIRMAN:

Question. If you are through with Coosa County, give any other cases that came to

your knowledge.
Answer. One case came to my knowledge that I was investigating before the grand

jury in Macon County.
Question. Will you give us the particulars of that?
Answer. Lust year, 1 do not remember what time in the year, they had a difficulty

there at a negro political meeting, and that seemed to be among themselves so far as

any facts that I could get. One or two of the negroes were shot. Alston was shot in

his house afterward by, or supposed to be by, negroes. A few nights after that, or some
short time after, the negroes were holding a religious meeting in a church, and I think

myself the proof developed that those who attacked it thought that they were holding
a political meeting probably. A crowd of disguised men came up in the night it was
a night meeting and fired into the church, as the proof developed. I had one of the
men who was shot brought before the grand jury. They killed one I am not certain,

but more and wounded two or three.

Question. Did you investigate the particulars of that case, and ascertain whether
these disguised men were white or black ?

Answer. They were in disguise, and nobody could identify them either as colored
or anything else.

Question. What was the character of the disguise ?

Answer. As well as I remember it was something of this Ku-Klux disguise which
they had on. I never was able to ascertain who did it, nor has anybody ever been
punished for it. I investigated that before the last grand jury, but I could not identify
them. I have got some witnesses since, from whom, I think, probably I may get hold
of some of the parties.

Question. How long after the political meeting did this religious meeting occur ?

Answer. It was a short time
;

I do not remember how long.

Question. Did the evidenfe show that there was a connection between the two?
Answer. No, sir

; except the negroes had just met thereto hold a religious meeting,
and it was shot into, and that it was done by a crowd of disguised men. It produced
such confusion, and running, and scattering that nobody could tell much about it.

Question. Does that finish all that you know in regard to that transaction ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. Will you now pass from that section of the State or county?
Answer. I believe so. I have heard accounts given to me of a great many other things,

but 1 have not had sworn statements about them.

Question. Then, with the permission of the chairman, I will ask a few questions before

you leave that particular section. In your investigation of these cases, before the
United States commissioner, did you find it difficult to identify parties ?

Answer. Extremely difficult, and the only parties I ever had identified were the

parties I have given.
Question. This difficulty grows out of the fact that these outrages are committed in

the night and by men in disguise ?

Answer. Yes, sir*

Question. You have spoken several times of parties proving an alibi. Is that the

general form of defense in the cases you have tried ?

Answer. I have never tried a case yet where that defense was not made, except the
case I spoke of where that colored man was whipped, and they made no defense at all.

Question. But in all other cases the alibi was resorted to f

Answer. Yes, sir. In every other case, I believe, the alibi is the defense.

Question. You spoke of a question of labor and remarked that a witness had said
that he heard these disguised men declare that the colored men must scatter out. To
what extent does that effort to control the labor extend, in your opinion f

Answer. Two cases I have given ;
then from what I learned from Mr. Crawford in a

long conversation I had with him all of which I have not given it seems to me to be

pretty prevalent in that region of country particularly.
Question. In all the cases you have examined, have you found any case in which

persons belonging to the democratic party have been whipped or scourged?
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Answer. In no instance do I remember any such case that I have examined myself.
We have got a case pending in the district court that was not got up by me, although
I presented the bill. He was bound over at the instance of other parties. That is the
ease against Mulligan and a colored man. A man named Smith was whipped by Mulli

gan. Both, as I understand it, are democrats. That was a personal matter as I un
derstand it. Old man Mulligan and Smith had had some transactions about which
they were likely to go to law, and Smith published upon Mulligan a very severe pub
lication, and, if untrue, a very severe libel, and Mulligan, as the allegation was, way
laid him on the road, with a colored man, and gave him a very severe drubbing. For
that Smith employed lawyers to prosecute, and they saw proper to bring it into the
United States court. An indictment has been found. There is no pretense in that
case that there is anything like Ktt-Kluxing in it. They just waylaid the man on the

road, and he has indicted them for confederating and banding together. They are all

democrats, and there is no pretense of their being Ku-Klux. Therefore I did%iot speak
of the case. That is the only case I know of anybody being whipped or mistreated by
any of these bands except republicans.

Question. Have you ever heard of any man being convicted by the State courts for

putting on a disguise and trespassing on the person or property of a citizen of the
State ?

Answer. I do not think that such a conviction has yet been had in this State, and so

far as I know there are very few such indictments in the State. Over hero in Lime
stone they have got some of them in jail, but in that region of which you ask, no
indictment has been found.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Now resume the narrative you were giving of the cases you have examined ?

Answer. The next case I examined was a case I was called up here to examine in

Hnntsville. The witnesses in that case 1 presume you will have before you. The
colored man is here

;
the white man, Goodloe, may not be here.

Question. Do you refer to the case of Henderson ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
that is a case in which the allegation is that a band of disguised

men took Henderson out in the night-time and attempted to drown him, and probably
thought they had drowned him. He swore that he recognized three of these men
Holseapple, Malone, and Lindsay. There were five men in the party, of whom he re

cognized only three. I investigated that case here. They proved an alibi.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. Will you state the time when this occurred ? o

Answer. It occurred a little over a month ago. It was right fresh when I came up
here.

&quot;

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Was it in Madison County ?

Answer. No, sir
;
this occurrence took place in Colbert County, and they were brought

here. It was investigated. Now as to whether or not that thing was Vlone, the evi
dence was this. He swears it was done, because he had got into a difficulty with them
about his labor, and one of them having threatened him he had him bound over. This

party alleged that his going to law was the cause of this affair. Henderson says they
tied him

;
but he will give you a detailed statement. I will only say that he testified

that they tied him, and threw him into the river. I will not take time to go over it.

In the investigation, while I could see no marks on his person, as in the cases of the .

parties whipped, Mr. Goodloe, a white man, who saw him next morning, took the track
which the negro said he had traveled

;
where he said they had taken him

;
where they

had a little tire
;
where he got on the horse at the corner of a fence

;
where they took

him to the river and put him in; and where he crawled out; and the prints of his

arms showed where he crawled out ; where he was on a stump, &c., all that was cor
roborative of Henderson s statement before the commissioner. Mr. Goodloe also swore
that when Henderson came in the next morning he had on his arms marks where skin
was slipped off as an abrasure made in coming out of the water. His eyes were blood

shot, as a man nearly strangled. In that case the three parties that he identified were

discharged upon proof of an alibi.

Question. Is Mr. Goodloe a man of good character and standing ?

Answer. A man of as good character and standing as any I reckon in North Alabama,
and one of the most wealthy before the war.

Question. You heard his statement ?

Answer. Yes, sir; and I think I never heard a thing better corroborated in my life.

Question. As we shall have Henderson before us, probably, you may pass from that
case.

Answer. Yes, sir, I will. The next I had knowledge of, but which I did not examine,
except that I talked with the witnesses whom you will have here, is a case that occurred
over in Limestone County.
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Question. You refer to what case ?

Answer. The case of Weir. One man is in jail here now for that. I will say that, in

that county I think there are six or seven men indicted under the State Ku-Klux
law, who are now in jail in addition to those here in jail. I was telegraphed to go over
and hold a conference there. I went over and held a conference with the men there.

Judge Spauldiug, the United States commissioner, a republican ; Judge Common, the

probate judge, a republican ;
Daniel Coleinan, the county solicitor, a democrat, and

then with all the leading democrats about town. Most of the white men are democrats.
Some of them were in favor of my commencing an immediate prosecution. The State

was prosecuting. Some of them, perhaps, thought differently. I conferred with them
freely, and seeing the vigor with which the State was prosecuting, I believed if there

was anything in appearance, that if they ever tried a man and proved him guilty, they
would be very apt to convict him, and I came to the conclusion, for the present, to leave
it in the hands of the State.

Question. You speak now of Weir s case ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
and I advised both of the parties and Colemau that if they could

convict under the State law of Alabama, which is quite as severe as any law of Con
gress, that I thought the effect of it would be better even than to convict under the

United States law. I said I would not interfere with the United States law until they
showed what they could do, as I thought that would have a better impression.

Question. Do you recollect the act passed by your legislature, entitled &quot; An act for

the suppression of secret organizations of men disguising themselves for the purpose
of committing crimes and outrages,&quot; approved December 26, 1868 ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
in which it is provided that the mere having on of disguises is evi

dence of intent, and punishing the offense with twenty years imprisonment in the

penitentiary. As I did not intend to stay up here, I authorized Dan Coleman to use

my name and the laws of the United States in any of these cases that he thought
proper.

Question. Before we pass from this matter, I wish to call your attention to the pre
amble of this act to which I have just referred, and read it to you and inquire of you
how far the recitals are, within your knowledge and information, true :

&quot; Whereas there is in the; possession of this general assembly ample and undoubted
evidence of a secret organization in many parts of this State, of men who, under the

cover of masks and other grotesque disguises, armed with knives, revolvers, and other

deadly weapons, do issue from the places of their rendezvous, in bands of greater or less

number, on foot or mounted on horses in like manner disguised, generally in the late

hours of the night, to commit violence and outrages upon peaceable and law-abiding
citizens, robbing and murdering them upon the highway, and entering their houses, tear

ing them from their homes and the embrace of their families, and \\ ith violent threats and
insults inilictiug upon them the most cruel and inhuman treatment

;
and whereas this or

ganization has become a wide-spread and alarming evil in this Commonwealth, disturb

ing the public peace, ruining the happiness and prosperity of the people, and in many
places overriding the civil authorities, defying all law and justice, or evading detec

tion by the darkness of the night and with their hideous costumes : Therefore,
&quot; SECTION 1. Be it enacted,&quot; $c.

My inquiry relates to the time of the passage of this law, the preamble of which I

have read, and which was approved December 26, 1868.

Answer. I think when that act was passed there was no doubt about it, and I think
to some extent, the same thing yet ;

but I do not think it is as bad now as it was then.

I think things are growing better.

(Question. You may resume your narrative.

Answer. I have said all I believe that I wanted to say about Limestone. I left that

case under the charge of the citizens and State authorities.

By Mr. BECK :

Question. You have not given us any idea of what that Limestone difficulty was
about.

Answer. I can give very shortly just about what that was. There has been a bad
state of things in that county for a good while. They have got seven or eight men in

jail there, indicted under this Ku-Klux law. The particulars of their cases I know
nothing about. It is for this late transaction that Moore is brought here and in jail.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. Was Moore tried before the commissioner here ?

Answer. No, sir; he waived examination. Ho is indicted under the State law, and
was bound over by the probate judge Judge Common. An old man by the name of

Weir has lived in that county for a great many years, He was a strong Union man
before, during, and has been since, the war. He was a justice of the peace before the

war. During Patton s administration he was not a justice. Whim Smith came in

he was again appointed justice of the peace. He is a farmer, and owns a little farm
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over there, and is also a mechanic. So far as I could learn from anybody he was a
man who had always sustained a fair character and reputation.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Is he a white man ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
as a mechanic he had engaged to work for a man named Blair and

this man Moore, and probably by their contract they were to pay him in corn. They
were running a distillery, for which there iS a warrant out now on the ground that it

is illicit. As he stated to me he never could get his corn when he would send for it,

but they were always ready to send him whisky. They being men of more power
and means than he was, he could do nothing. He fell upon the plan to have his wife

go to them and tell them not to let him have any more whisky. They asked him
about that and he said what his wife said was right. Then they had some difficulty
about that. He moved his tools away from that shop to his own shop. One of them
sent for him to come down to that shop to do a job of work. Ho told them he would
do it if they would send it up to his shop ;

but he could not go there to do it. They
got into a controversy about that. This was in March. Finally they charged that he
had advised a couple of negroes to take a couple of mules and leave. He said it was
not true

;
that the negroes had complained to him that they would not pay for them.

He said that they came to him for advice, and he had advised them if they could not

get their pay from these people to go and work for those who would pay them. They
brought up the negroes, one or both of them, and the negroes corroborated these other
men in their statement wh.ich they then made

;
but they say now that they were made

to do it. Upon that these parties took him out and gave him a severe whipping,
lynched him. That was in March. They were not in disguise then, and he knew all

these men. He had thought to just leave the country. Some of-the citizens, however,
advised him against it. Finally he went and indicted them under the State law for

lynching. He became afraid to stay there then and went off into Mississippi. Court
wras approaching. It was about last Sunday two weeks ago when this last thing occur
red. One week from that time that is, the Monday following the time when they
took him out the probate court was to be held, when these parties were to be tried.

He had come back home and was at work, with the sheriff, across the river from where
these parties lived. On Sunday lie came home and his wife told him she did not think
he was safe

;
she had seen so many men moving about. Within about ten minutes

after he got there, and just as he was going for his coat to go out, he was surrounded

by five men in disguise. They took him out a piece ;
tied him

;
blindfolded him, and

started off with him. They got some distance I do not know exactly how far and
they put a rope around his neck and put it up over a limb. He thinks they intended
to hang him, and probably would have done it, but when they put him up the rope
broke. They then tied the rope and started and drew him up again, but did not draw
him off his feet, and finally let him down. He was blindfolded at this time, but he
could hear the men coming in and going out all the time. He thinks there were fifteen

or sixteen men coming in and going out. The reason they did not hang him seems to

be that they had heard in town of his being carried off, and the sheriff and the county
solicitor got up squads ;

eacli one got up a seperate squad and started out after these

parties.

Question. Were they citizens of the place that he heard going back and forth ?

Answer. He could not tell who they were; but the presumption is that they were
members of their Klan. He thinks they were putting out sentinels to hear and see.

They finally took him to the river. On Monday they took him to the river.

By Mr. BECK :

Question. Took him to the river in the day-time ?

Answer. Yes, sir. They took him there and ducked him a great many times until he
was nearly dead. Finally, they took him out. When they took him to the river they
took off his blindfold. Then they tied about twenty pounds of rock to his neck and

dragged him through the river until he was nearly choked and drowned, and took him
out on the bank; and they, no doubt having heard that ho was being searched for,
told him they had concluded to spare his life upon one condition : that was, that

they would keep him a prisoner until after the trial which was to be had, while he
was to write back to his wife and daughter that he was out on a spree, that nobody
was hurling or intended to hurt him, that ho would be at home in good time, and
they must not go to court. After court, they said, they would release him, and then
he was to always tell this tale, and if he ever told what they really had done with him,
they would be certain to come and kill him. Meantime, the citizens were close after

them, and they took him out in some swamp and kept him chained all night. Finally,
on Tuesday, they turned him loose perhaps Moore and another man alone were with him.

They turned him looose upon a solemn promise never to divulgf
1 these things, and take

his family and go right off. He went home intending to do so, thinking himself unsafe
;

but meantime the citizens found it out, and went there and would not allow him to go
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away, but took him to town ami said the thing must bo prosecutor! ;
that it had gone too

far. Iii the mean time, Johnson and Gibson, two men prosecuted, have run off from the
country, and Moore is here in jail. Now, if I was to give my opinion as to how mueh
politics has to do with the original thing, I would say this, from what 1 have talked
there. I do not believe that the original lynching was done from political feeling, but
I believe that republicans being in bad odor, and the popular prejudice so strong
against them, these men who lynched him presumed upon lynching a republican when
they would not have lynched a democrat.

Question. They did it to get his labor f

Answer. That is my hypothesis.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. He was appointed a justice of the peace by Governor Smith?
Answer. Yes, sir. He was out during Pattou s administration.

Question. A democratic administration?
Answer. Yes, sir; and Smith appointed him under the reconstruction, ^understand

that he was an original Union man and always a republican, but he is a man who says
but little. Judge Common is a republican ;

Dan Coleman is a democrat
; Lentz, the

sheriff of the county, is a republican.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Proceed with your narrative.
Answer. The next case that occurred here was a colored man I ought to remember

his name but I do not who came from Walker County. He swore out a warrant against
some six or seven men that he said he recognized in a disguised crowd some time during
the last month or so. that had come to his house and taken him out. I think ho said
there were in the crowd a good many more. They took him out and whipped him, as
he alleges them to have said, because of his probable intention to move up from there
into this valley. It was to prevent him from doing that, and was on account of his

talking about it. His statement is, that he has a brother living up here in the valley ;

that he received a letter down there in Walker County, advising that he could do bet
ter up here

;
that he got some of the neighbors to read the letter, and when this party

came in disguise and took him out he says they were in the white disguise, 1 be
lieve

Question. Answering to the description of the Ku Klnx disguise?
Answer. Yes, sir.; something of that description. They took him out and asked him

about his moving up here
; they told him they would learn him how to do that or

something of the sort and gave him a severe whipping, and then said, Now go to
work and we will nofc do it any more.&quot; lie says that at the same time there was a
colored woman living with him and his wife. They asked what was she going to do:
she said she would remain with him and his wife. &quot;They also whipped her. He iden
tified six or seven in that crowd seven, I think. The warrant was issued here. As I

was going down to Fayette I took the warrant with me and the marshal went along
and he arrested six of them. This morning their friends came up here and waived an
examination and gave bond.

Question. What is that man s name ?

Answer. I cannot remember it; I can get it at the clerk s office. He is now down at

Decatur.

Question. Did he state how large the crowd was ?

Answer. He did
;
there were several more men than those whom ho recognized : he

only recognized six, but I do not remember the whole number that he said. That is

all I know of that transaction.

Question. How severely was he whipped ?

Answer. He said very severely thirty-nine or forty lashes, I think.

Question. How as to the young woman?
Answer. Ho said she was whipped pretty badly. It was for this reason of leaving.

He said to me that in that neighborhood and region of country colored persons were
not permitted to, and could not, enjoy any more privileges than before the war

;
that

they had never dared to vote or exercise any of their privileges, and for that reason
he wanted to go away. I am pretty well satisfied myself that that allegation is true

in a great measure at least, from along interview which I had with Judge William S.

Mudd, judge of that circuit. I talked with him a good deal, and his general statement
corroborated the statement of the negro as to the general condition of negroes in that

region.
Question. Where does Judge Mudd live ?

Ansivcr. At Ely ton, in Jefferson County ;
the railroad runs from there to Montgomery.

I had a report sent to me from the military headquarters at Louisville, made, by a lieu

tenant who had been examining matters at Fayetteviile, in Fayette County, and my
attention was called to it

; also, some instructions from the Department of Justice that
that was a point that needed some attention, and proposing to send some troops if
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necessary. The information they had got from that county I had not got it before
was that the civil process could not be executed by the sheriff; upon that, I wrote to
the sheriffsome time before I left Montgomery, desiring to hear from him before I left.

I got his answer after I got here it was forwarded to this place in answer to
several questions I had asked him, and at the same time proposing to meet me on the
10th of last mouth at Decatur. I went down there and met him

;
had an interview

with him
;
and from his statement to me, and other things coupled with that, I dis

patched General Terry and he sent me a squad of sixteen or seventeen mounted men
;

with them and the marshal here I went down into that county.
Question. Did you institute any investigation there?
Answer. I had a very considerable investigation, which I will try to give you, as

succinctly as I can to give the idea. I learned that on or about the 31st of October,
1870, by some means or other, they had ascertained, or rather had got such statements
against a man by the name of R. G. Davis that he made a confession, and they took
him before the probate judge, and he swore to some several parties belonging to one
company ate they call them there which was known as Captain Stewart s company,
stating that they had been out on a raid, whipping and scaring negroes. A warrant
was issued for several parties and placed in the hands of the sheriff by the probate
judge for their arrest. At or about the same time he had several capiases against
several parties for outrages that were committed just before that. Along in or about
the same time two negroes had been killed over there somewhere, and nobody could
ascertain who had done it. The sheriff summoned a posse and arrested these men
under this warrant. He arrested some men under a capias, and arrested some men
without a warrant, who admitted that they belonged to a Klan, and who, it was sup
posed, had something to do with that murder. The parties arrested under the warrant,
although one term of the grand jury, I know, has passed since, seem never to have
been presented by the grand jury. Davis was in the county up to the meeting of the
last court, but when I sent out a warrant for him to arrest him he could not be found.

Question. Had he never been recognized to appear as a witness ?

Answer. I believe he was the judge told me so but, from some cause, he did not

appear. The parties arrested under the capiases had been discharged, most of them
because witnesses could not be got.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. What was the trouble in getting witnesses?
Answer. That these parties would not allow it. At, I think, the last court, probabfy,

before this, two disguised men, while court was sitting, rode through the court-house

yard. Judge Mudd himself saw them, and ordered the sheriff to go out and arrest
them. It waa either the last court before or just before that. The sheriff came in and
reported that he could not do it. They were considerably cheered as they rode through.
The judge called up the petit jury I think it was in the midst of a trial and discharged
them. He called up the grand&quot;jury and commenced addressing them preparatory to
their discharge, and was going to adjourn court, when two of the lawyers Mr. Jones
and Mr. Terry went in and prevailed upon him not to do it, saying that he would not
be disturbed any more

;
and he probably was not disturbed further. At the court

before that, I learn from the judge, as well as other parties, that there had been

dropped on the street a letter, addressed perhaps to the court and grand jury, and, it

may be, the sheriff, saying, &quot;Go slow&quot; I believe that was all that was written on it

with a coffin at the bottom, in the middle, a rope on each side of it, and the words,
&quot; Go slow,&quot; signed &quot;K. K. K.&quot; They had got to such au extent in that county, which
was perhaps preceding this

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Before you pass from the occurrence you have just been testifying about,
will you state the time when this occurred the dropping of the letter and the riding
of the Ku-Klux through the court-house yard ?

Answer. I suppose the dropping of the letter was about twelve months ago, and the

riding of the Ku-Klux through the court-house yard about six months ago. Last

February there was a convention held for the nomination of county superintendent of
education. A man by the name of Peters D. F. Peters, I think was nominated. At
that convention men came in in their disguises, went into the court-house, and, as I
am told, citizens without disguises went in with them and held a convention.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. A political convention ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;

for the purpose of nominating this candidate for office. Peters
was nominated, and, I think, elected.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Was ho their candidate T

Answer. He was the candidate of that convention.
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Question. Was he the candidate of the Ku-Klux?
Answer. These Ku-Klux gentlemen went in there disguise*! and held a convention,

Question. How many men went in without disguises 1

Answer. I can t tell. I learned of some of them. Mr. J. PI. Terry, a lawyer there,
was one. They said lie presided over the convention. A man named J. S. Clifton was
;iven to me as one. 13oth are summoned to appear before the grand jury. Some time
before that, the date of which I could not get, these disguised men, or some disguisad
men, gave notice that they were going to hold a meeting in town and invited the citi

zens to participate. That meeting was held at night. They came in disguised, got the
court-house keys and went in there and held a meeting. I am informed that some of
the citizens went in and were in that meeting. Mr. McDonnell, a democrat and one
c :f the largest farmers there, who works a great many negroes, I talked with, and ho
told me that he staid there that day and until they met that night in order to see
what was done. He said that when he went to the court-house to go in, he was told
that he could go in if he could give the sign, or if he would take an oath. That bluffed
him off, and he turned away and used an expression, perhaps,

&quot;

I will see you all in
Lell before I will do

it,&quot;
and went off.

Question, In that meeting with the disguised men, were some of the citizens undis

guised ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. When was this meeting ?

Answer. Some time prior to February, 1371. The sheriff, it seems, had very much
enraged them on account of these raids he had made, which I have spoken of before

they call them raids, arresting these parties so much so that the prejudice against
him was extremely high at the time and at the court before the one when I was out
there, about twelve mouths ago. He was then at the town

;
he lived just out of town

,i, piece, but was then sleeping in a hotel at Fayetteville ;
and this same Mr. Terry went

;iu the night and wakened him up and told him he had better leave, that they had de
termined to kill him that night. He got up and went out and remained out all night
in the rain. There wrero circumstances of that character, and threats against him
were strong and the danger so great that he disposed of his farm near town. He did
not resign his office of sheriff, but went over sixteen miles from where he had lived,

leaving a deputy named Talliaferro Scott. Scott, as I heard him swear in court in
cases that we tried, held the office about a month, and some thirty disguised men came
to him and told him he mast turn over his papers to Treadway, the sheriff, and let him
execute his papers himself. Treadway was not there, but ho went to the office and
turned them over to the cleric. This man McCounell and Treadway lived on the same
road near each other, and both of them were sworn ia thess cases. They said that
the time Treadway was there, after the excitement got up, it was almost a con
stant thing for a crowd of disguised men to be passing along the road, shooting guns
and threatening. They knew that Treadway frequently did not sleep in his house at
Jill until he got away. After Scott resigned, Treadway went down to try to make an
arrangement to get another deputy, and proposed to Mr. Ennis to take the place. Mr.
Euuis was one of his securities. His business was in such a condition that he was
i&amp;gt;ot willing to give it up and wanted it wound up. Ennis went around and talked
with the citizens, with some other parties, and finally agreed to try it. He has been

holding it since. He told me he had not had any trouble in executing any process,
such as he had had, but ho had had none against this Klan, for these outrages.

Question. Is Ennis a republican or democrat ?

Answer. A republican. While Treadway was down, at that time, having Ennis ap
pointed, there was a man whose name I now forget, who had been arrested and who
Was understood to belong to one of these Klans. Ho had given security. Ho had been

arrested, not for Ku-Kluxiug, but for assault and battery, or something of the sort. The
security of the man Scott had arrested, brought him up to Treadway to deliver him up,
and Treadway refused to take him on the ground that he could not eiifcly hold him

;

that his life was threatened whenever he attempted to execute the office. Now, out of
all these transactions, when I got down there I found no iudictmeut against one of
these parties, not a single indictment there that I heard of except one for anything
growing out of ku-kluxing, and that one was dismissed by the solicitor while I was there
because he could not get the testimony. At the same time the sheriff and his posse
was indicted in some ten or twelve or more cases.

Question. What for?

Answer. That is what I am going to give now. He was indicted for a voluntary
escape in refusing to take this man that the security offered to give up. I tried that

case, and upon that trial I brought out all the particulars I have been telling you in

relation to those threats against him, and the demonstrations of the Ku-Klux. The court

permitted me even to ask the opinion of some of the witnesses whether he could have
done it, and the proof was such that he was acquitted by the jury on the ground that
bo could not do it

;
that he could not hold the man safely and execute his office.

Another indictment that was tried was for a voluntary escape of a man, whoso namel

35 A
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forget, but who was a desperate man. He had been indicted, I believe, for snooting
his pistol on the road. The indictment was pending. Treadway did not have the

capias, bat it was understood down there in the neighborhood that Treadway was
going down to arrest him, to get this posse and arrest him. The neighbors thought
there would be difficulty. One of the neighbors, named Sam Appliug, told Treadway
that he would advise him to go down and see this man and talk to him, arid the sheriff

went with Appling to his house, and talked to him, telling him that he wanted peace
in the country ;

that he wanted to have no difficulty, and reasoning with him until

lie got him pacified ; advising him to come up and give his bond. The man promised
to do it, but instead of that he went off to Mississippi afterward, and he has since
been killed. For that transaction the sheriff has been indicted for voluntary escape.
He was tried and acquitted upon the ground that it was the only course which ho
could have pursued ;

that if he had taken the capias along he could not have arrested

the man. He had, while making up this posse, arrested one man. The court would
not let me prove what I am about to state. I will have to state it particularly. He
arrested him without a warrant. We set up as a defense that this man, if not guilty of
a felony, was yet pointed out by the circumstances so much as to justify the sheriff in

making the arrest. The circumstances were these: Two negroes had been killed

shortly before in that county. Nobody could find out who had done it, but this man
having admitted that he was a Ku-Klux, it would authorize the sheriff to arrest him
as being connected with that murder. The court held that unless -I could prove that
the Ku-Klux had killed the man, that was not competent testimony. I differed from
the court upon that, but notwithstanding that, I brought in such proof that he was
acquitted. The jury believed that he had probable cause to make the arrest, and he
was acquitted. In another case he had a warrant. The prisoner swore that the sheriff

put his pistol against him and said,
&quot;

Now, give up.&quot;
For that the sheriffwas indicted

for assault and battery. He was acquitted on that charge. These are the only ones on
which he was tried. There is an indictment yet pending against him upon a charge of a

challenge to fight a duel. That was not tried this court, because the witnesses were
some of those parties of the Ku-Klux against whom the/e were warrants, and who had
run off to Mississippi, and the solicitor continued the case.

Question. Are the prosecuting witnesses, on these indictments, persons supposed to be
connected with the Ku-Klux organization ?

Answer. Nearly every one of them.

Question. Is the county solicitor a republican or democrat?
Answer. A democrat.

Question. Resume your narrative.
Answer. Two of the witnesses I remember distinctly who swore against him in one

of these trials the trial for assault and battery are the two men I brought up here,
who were bound over by the commissioner down there.

Question. Let me inquire in relation to the solicitor in the prosecution of these cases.

After the facts were developed, as you have stated them, did he make any effort to ob
tain a conviction on these indictments ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
he argued them all.

Question. Argued them to the jury ?

Answer. Yes, sir
; although I told him that I thought it would be to the credit of his

county to have a nolle prosequi in all these cases, and the court would have allowed
him to do so, but he refused to do it.

Question. The sheriff is a decided republican ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Proceed with your narative.
Avu er. The case of a challenge to fight a duel was where he had arrested this man

Mosely, for whom I had a warrant. When he arrested him, Mosely remarked,
&quot; You

have your crowd around me now and I can t fight you all
;
but you have taken the

advantage of me
;&quot;

and the sheriff answered,
&quot; I have just arrested you, but I am not-

afraid of you, and I am willing to fight you anywhere and any w.ay you see proper.&quot;

For that he was indicted for challenging to fight a duel. Treadway said this man
was one who had been shooting into his house, and lie was somewhat enraged against
him. In that case the parties bad some of them left the country, and the solicitor con
tinued the case, although the court intimated that lie might nol. pros. Then there was
an indictment against one of his guard. In making these arrests at an old man s house;

named Marshall, they found two of these Ku-Klux disguises. The sheriff directed this

guard, whose name- \vas Larrimora, to fake these disguises. They -have since been sent
off to the military. For that act, this man Larriraora was indicted for petit larceny,
for stealing two dusters. That case was not tried, because they did not have the wit
nesses there.

Qtit vtioti. They were, Ku-Klux disguises .

Answer. Yes, sir. They \\ere described as a white smock, buttoned down to the

knees, with big loose sleeves, and a cap over the head; the eyes and all that painted,
and with something like teeth, and whalebone running up and making long horns.
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Larrimora still stands there indicted for petit larceny in stealing two dusters. Another
indictment against one of his guard was this: The sheriff hadsome of the best citizens
down there with him. E. P. Jones, a lawyer, who defended in this case, was one of
the guard. The sheriff directed them, wherever they saw any arms, to take them.
In one house there was a pistol, and he directed one of the guard to take it, and he
did it. The witness admitted that he got it back two days afterwards in as good order
as it was when taken. Still that guard was indicted for petit larceny in stealing that

pistol. Another one of his guard was indicted for petit larceny for stealing a gun un
der similar circumstances, just taking it away. These are the indictments I remember.
I got hold of two of the men who were in that warrant and had them arrested; in
i act, I issued the warrant for all of them. I got two of them Oliver Godfrey and
John Ilumber had them arrested and took them before Judge B. W. Wilson, who is

United States commissioner. The others were reported as having left. I could not
get Roberts, who had made this affidavit, as being one of the parries, but they were
hound over upon very clear proof of their admission. They admitted that they had
belonged to the company after they found that Roberts had made the admission, and
that they had gone out with this crowd and whipped the negroes. I remember partic
ularly that John liusr.ber, in iiis admission, said he had joined the company upon being
told that the object was to protect the women and children iu the country from the
insults of the negroes, and to protect them from bad white me 1

, and ke-p the negroes
out of office, lie said that that was what he was told was the. object, and when ho
found that they were going to do other things he went house tluit night, after having
committed the raid for whieh this warrant was taken out, and told his lather that he
would not go any more.

By Mr. BUCKLEY:

Question. That he would not go with these men ?

Anwar. Yes. sir.

Question. Were tli: y disguised ?

Answer. Yes, sir; they admitted that they were in disguise. Many of the disguises
were found. Godfrey had merely admitted that he was along.

Question. What time was that !

Anawer. This warrant was taken out the jTth of October. 1S70. and this thing occurred
a short time before. He afterwards said it was on the night of the 20th.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. How long had these men been connected with this organization ?

Answer. That I never learned. I then managed to get an affidavit against men in

another company.

By Mr. BUCK LI:Y :

Question. A company of disguised men ?

Answer. Yes, sir. From the best I can learn there were four companies in that county
in the habit of going out in disguise.

By the CHAIILMAX :

Quetilion. In Fayette County ?

Answer. Yes. sir. The company of Captain Stewart, of Captain Marshall, and of

Captain Hyde, and another company of which I forget the name of the captain.

Question. How extensive were these companies ?

Answer. I never could learn. I think it was supposed, and. from the best informa
tion I could learn, I judge that there were about two hundred in the whole county in

:;11 these companies. Jvow, the only men I could catch, that I could get affidavits

against, were those two i have spoken of. When I first got to Fayette I was
;

: i;out a day in advance of the marshal and his squad of mounted soldiers. I imme
diately conferred with some men. My object was to get out warrants against the most

guilty men in the. county, i .ir there had been murders committed there, and have them
ready when they came, but I found it almost impossible to get any men to come for

ward as prosecutors. They were willing to tell me. but they had the alarm upon them
and 1 could not tell them that the military were coming to protect them in ic. Finally
I got a man named Allen Whitiey. A circumstance had taken place in that county, as
I had learned from various quarters, and I have not hear:l it contradicted by anybody :

Some few months ago an old man named Cole, living between Fayettevillc and
Tuscaloosa, and who is now dead, was from home. He worked several negroes.
Some thirty disguised men went to his house in his absence, shot at, probably
whipped some, and ran off the negro men and ravished the negro women. That
was understood to be by Captain Hyde s company. Nobody in particular knew
who did it, but it was the general understanding that it was done by his com
pany. 1 was very anxious to get hold of some of these men. I had sent out
to get one of the old negroes who were there, and the man they were lodging
with promised to bring them; but he never did. i have subpoenas for them to appear
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before the grand jury. I got hold of Whitley and found that lie saw a crowd of dis

guised men that night very near by, and recognized some of them, but he would not/

make au affidavit. But I asked him to walk in with me before the probate judge, who
is a commissioner, and I commenced to ask him in this way. He stated it and I wrot^
it down

;
I asked him if he recognized anybody, and he gave me three names. I held

it up and made him swear to it, and the commissioner issued the warrant, and I sent
out for them, but they were gone and I did not catch them. His slutcitieut was thia :

that on the night that was done he was camping in company with another wagoner
named Alvin Smith, within half a mile of Colo s house

;
that early in the night a crowd

of about thirty disguised men passed his camp in the direction of old man Cole s; that
late in the night this same crowd came back from the direction of old man Cole s, and
as they came back they stopped about half an hour at that camp, and seemed to bo

fooling around with each other. And while they were thus engaged ho recognized
clearly three of the men. He recognized Lucian Jenkins, Harrison Hyde, and William

Thompson.
Question. Was Ilydo the captain of that company?
Answer. That is the general understanding. I do not know that anybody known

positively that ho is. That was the first day I could get a warrant. It was about tlu

time the soldiers came iu. I sent out and had his house watched that night, but ha
had left that evening, 1 learned.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. As these men were about the camp did this wagoner hear them state whoro
they had been ?

Answer. I did not ask him. I was only asking enough to get a warrant, because I

knew I could have easily got the negroes, and they could have proved all that. I have
never heard this transaction contradicted. It seems to be generally understood down
theflc that that did occur. I understand that some of them ravished an old woman
seventy years of age.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. When was this occurrence ?

Answer. Within the last three or four months.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. You spoke in this connection a little while ago of a couple of colored men
who were killed. Will you state a little more about that ?

Amiver. The lost ones killed. There have been, as I understand, three, some say as

many as forty, killed within the last two years. I remember very well from hearing
Judge Mudd make this statement that that was a very heavy per cent, of them, act

nearly all the negroes have left the county. Perhaps there are only fifty in the county.
Out of that fifty two were killed since the last court. They wore killed just abovo
town

;
that was proved in court. A negro man and woman wore arrested somewhere

up in the northern part of the county, aud placed with a man named llogan, a special
deputy, perhaps, to bring them to jail. They had been convicted of petit larceny
before a justice of the peace, aud bound over; it was some small offense. The man
brought them down to within a few miles of town and stopped, and came into
town and got sonic whisky and went back. Where they had them was, I think, some
where in the neighborhood of Captain Marshall s company s operations. He got hia

whisky and went back from town, and it is reported since that the negroes were taken
out of his hands by disguised men. The negroes were found within two or three days,
one shot, and the other hung. The jury of inquest held over them reported that they
were killed by some persons unknown/ They have never yet been able to ascertain
who did it. That was within, three or four miles of town.

Question. Were these facts brought out before you ?

Amiver. Yes, sir. I examined that case in defending the sheriff for arresting a man
who admitted that ho was a Ku-Klus. It being presumed that these Ku-Klux had
done this, the sheriff had arrested one of them for it. In defending him on the charge
of assault and battery, I brought out all this, and had the man who held the inquest,
this man Connell, examined before the court aud jury.

Question. You have spoken several times of Judge Mudd. State to the committee who
ho is.

Answer. Well, Judge Mudd is judge of that circuit. I think ho was judge before the

war, and ever since the war. I believe he has been elected judge, lie is a man who
stands remarkably high. I really hardly know what his politics are. He is very much
opposed to all these things, and is a most excellent judge, a man of learning and great.

ability.

Question. He has had that reputation through the State for years ?

Anzwer. Yes, sir.

[At half after 1 o clock the committee took a recess until 3 o clock, wlxui the exami
nation of the witness, John A. Minnis, was resumed as follows :]
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1-y lU CHAIRMAN :

Question. When we adjourned you were making some statement in relation to the
extent of the Ku-Klux organization in Fayette County. Have you any further facts to
acid ?

Answer. There are two or three other cases that I will speak of, there.

Question. Proceed with yonr statement.
Answer. I learned while there iVoin a party I deemed very reliable, but was unable

to get the witnesses, as thi-y had moved from that county to another county, where I
have sent a subpoena for them, that a man by the name ot Wooley, who then lived in
that county, had, some tiino during this year. beer, whipped by ;i crowd of disguised
men, and his wife had bee : ravished.

By Mr. BUCKLEY:

Question. A white mail.
Answer. Yes, sir; a. \vLil i:.;.;i.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. When did you understand *J:at that lured?
Answer. This year. The violence upon her was scyear. The violence upon her was so great that they became alarmed,

thinking that she would die, or was dead, and they themselves sent for a physician, who
gave her some medicine. The name of the physician I have not now. I had it, and
sent for him and fur Woolcy and. his wife.

Question. Did yon loani whether they cemrr.lt.tr niher violence upon h-/r poison ?

Answer. I did no 1
.

Question. How many were there in the ba:,JI ;;

Answer. Some fifteen or twenty.
Question. Were they disguised like Ku-Kln:-: ;

Answer. Yes, sir
;
and in consequence of that, and iho lour ei his safety, IK; luid

moved to Rome county &quot;below there. I learned also tl;ut two men, very recently a

couple of months before court ?..;. lor, hnd bfe:i whipped by a disguised
band of men

;
I think live or six.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. Were they whiiv. :,n u :

Answer. Yes, sir; and
th&amp;lt;\v iv:.ogi;.&amp;lt;

-.1 rhr iuc/.. They were uot at court. I did not
i-foe them. I also sent suupronus for thorr.. That transaction seemed to be very little

understood by everybody, and a good many were talking about them. For what pur
pose or pretext that was don; 1

, I could not learn, nor do I know for certain what were
their politics. I also le.irned f/om a man right in the neighborhood, and in his connec

tion, that an old man namt:d Tidwell had been pretty badly whipped by a crowd of

somo fifteen oi twenty, pt-rl: ar..-- : I do not, remember how many. He was u repub
lican.

By tho CIIAIK:,IAN:

Question. When were those iatttT outrages committed ?

Answer. They were all within this year. These latter outrages were perhaps sonic-

time this last spring.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. Did you hear what were the causes assigned or the pretext of these last

whippings ?

Answer. 1 do not think I did hear any cause assigned for it. I also learned that just
before court there was a negro man, not very far from Fayetteville, that had been pretty

badly whipped. Ho was close by there and I sent out for him two or three times. I

finally got the negro who kept my horse to go out and get him. He came back and
told me tho man was afraid to come

;
that we would be leaving p. ft or a while, and he

would be sure to bo killed if he came; so I dul not sec him.

By the CHAIRMAN:

Question. Did you learn tho particulars of his whipping &quot;.

Answer. No, sir
;

I only learned that ho was whipped. I heard a great deal more
about negroes being whipped in that county, and perhaps tho particulars, but I do not
remember now, except one of the last transactions, aside from this last negro that I

spoke of. A crowd of disguised men how many they did not know went to tho

plantations of the probate judge and United States commissioner, B. W. Wilson, and
this man McConnell that I spoke of they lived out on the same road, not far apart
a few weeks before court, and shot at the negroes, and perhaps undertook to catch some
of them and run the negroes off. I am not sure that they whipped any, but they took
one and started. McConnell and Wilson got a crowd ancl pursued, and relieved one
that they apparently intended to b.ang. There VTPIT fifteen or twenty of them, I think,
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in that crowd. They were also disguised. That transaction I had from Wilson and
McConuell. On my return I stopped and got dinner with an old man named Turner, on
the Byler road from Decatur to Tuscaloosa. I found out that the man was a democrat,
and he told me that his brother-in-law down in Walker County had very recently been
taken out and whipped by a disguised baud of men. Ho gave me the witnesses who
knew it, and he seemed to be solicitous that ths party should bo prosecuted. The man
was named Davis. His wife had been a Widow Bonner. It was her brother-in-law
who was whipped, whose name was Davis.

By Mr. BUCXLFA :

Question. Did you hear any complaint about the conduct of the colored people living
in Fayette County?
Answer. Well, I heard no particular complaint made by anybody of those who were

living there. As to those on the McCounell and Bird Wilson places that were whipped,
these were men of the highest standing, and they did not seem to know what it was
for. They had no complaint to make of their negroes, and knew of none. As to this

other negro that I heard was whipped, if I heard any cause assigned for it, I do not
remember it. Most generally there is some allegation of something or other, as I have

given in most of the cases as far as I heard it, giving the causes which I learned as

the allegation for which they were whipped. I always, when I put on foot a prosecu
tion, tried to get that so as to lix my indictment to meet the case. I get the negroes
account of what was done. I heard a great deal more of negroes being whipped, and
there is no doubt of it. I will make this statement from my knowledge of the parties,
derived as much from Judge Mudd as anybody else through his circuit. There is, no

doubt, a, very violent prejudice exists against &quot;negroes with white men generally, and

especially against their exercising any of the privileges that they consider belonging
to white men, and among that class of men who never held any negroes that preju
dice is very violent. The few men who have not given in to that prejudice are men
who owned negroes before the war who have large farms now, and who want their

labor. They are the more cultivated men. These men I find occasionally, in both par
ties, taking a more active part for the negroes than any other men. That man McCon-
nell, for instance, who is a very warm democrat, is as zealous in defending their rights
as any man I came across.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. What proportion does this class bear to the entire white population?
Answer. A very small proportion. From what I could learn, when the registration

first took place in Fayette County, there were, perhaps, two hundred negro voters.

They say that now there is probably not more than something like fifty negroes, or not
much more, in the whole county. They have gone below to the negro regions, some to

Mississippi and some to other places.

Question. I understand you to say that about forty have been killed outright ?

Answer. That was the estimate they gave me, that about forty had been killed alto

gether, and two since the last court, six months ago.
Question. The facts you have detailed were obtained by you, I understand, in your

official capacity, while you were in Fayette County, and during a stay of three weeks ?

Answer. I only staid in Fayette one week during court.

Question. And while there^your purpose was io learn the exact truth, with a view of

/enforcing the law against criminals ?

Answer. Yes, sir. I learned them in that way, and in engaging in the law-suits against
the sheriff, which involved this question, and others of that sort.

Question. Do you wish to make any statement in reference to any other counties ?

Answer. I have nothing particular. I would make one statement to show what was
the original state of affairs. As I went down to that county, I staid all night with a
man by the name of Reason Young, who lives about eight miles below Decatur, in

Moultou Valley. He was one of the wealthiest men in all that country before the war,
and is still wealthy. Talking about this thing, he told me lie had never seen the Ku-
Klux but once, and that was in 1869, when some thirty or forty came to his house one

night and waked him up. They were all disguised ia the same sort of disguise that
we have been describing heretofore, and told him that they wanted supper, which he

got for them. They told him they had come down from the moon to see to the regula
tion of things in this hemisphere, and asked him a good many things ;

if anything
was going wrong. He told them nothing that he knew of. They said that was all

right, to get them supper. They got their supper, and while about there they learned
from some quarter of some person making complaint against an old negro, a black
smith. He did not know what that complaint was. He said they took the man out, and
beat him nearly to death. That was the only time he ever saw them, and that was
in 1869. He is a democrat. There is another case that occurred here since I returned
home. The probate, judge of Marshall County canio to mo yesterday Mr. Lask and
told me tbat a crowd of disguised, men a very short time ago had gone out on tbo
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mountain and whipped two women. From all I could learn of him they were probably
base women white women. He said that he had issued a warrant for them

;
that the

sheriff had not executed it, but he thought he would do it
;
that Judge Wycth, a lawyer

1 know very well, a reliable man. a democrat, had told him that it was likely that the
laws of Congress had superseded the laws of the legislature, and had advised him to
come and see me on the subject. I advised him that, in my opinion, they had not, and
if he thought the State authorities would go ou and prosecute, and they could protect
themselves by this prosecution, I preferred that he do so. After conferring with him
some time, and sending word to my old friend Wyeth and others, urging them to pros
ecute, I concluded not to prosecute, but to let the State court try its hand, which I

prefer doing in every case, as I think it would do more good if the State authorities
would vigilantly prosecute. I have had several complaints brought to my ears of things
that have occurred around in this vicinity, but none to enable me to state certainly the
facts.

Question. Have you anything further to add ?

Answer. I do not believe that I have.

Qurxtion. If you have finished your statement of violations of law by bodies of men
banded together and generally disguised, I desire to ask certain general questions.
Are your State laws effectual to punish such alleged misdemeanors as those Union men
who were maltreated were charged with ?

Answer. I think the laws themselves would be effectual if they were enforced, but I
do not believe they can be enforced in many places, especially in cases of outrages
against negroes, and I do not know as it is much better as to Avhite Union men,

Question. What is the difficulty in the way of enforcing the State laws ?

Answer. In the first place, in many cases you cannot get the testimony.
Question. I am speaking now not of persons who have committed these outrages,

but of the persons upon whom outrages were committed, and I ask, if the offenses with
which they were charged were true in fact, is there any difficulty under your State
laws in punishing the Union men thus accused ?

Answer. I do not think there is in the main. I do not know but there may be some
points of defect in the law : but I think in the main they are on one side as on the
other side, and if the laws were enforced they are sufficient.

(Question. Are you familiar witli the speeches and conversation of democratic politi
cians in the South . and, if so, state whether, in speaking of these Ku-Klux operations,
they deny, justify, or excuse them.

Anxwer. In most eases, and in most of the speeches I have heard, and in the papers,
I have noticed

Questio)i. I will come to the papers directly.
Answer. In most of the speeches I have heard they attempt to and do virtually deny

the existence of such an order. They insist that it does not exist. If I understand
their position, it is generally that whatever outrages are committed are not so exten
sive as represented, and that they are done by a few bad men, and do not proceed from

any organization. They deny the existence of such an organization. Then when cases,
I have heard, are brought before them, of which there could be 110 sort of doubt, they
have, as a general thing, I think, had a good deal to say about the causes which led to

it and the hardships ;
and, while they would not justify such conduct, yet say that

there was a good deal of excuse for it.

Question. What is the tenor of the democratic press on the same subject ?

Arnica: I think that has been worse than the speeches, as a general rule. I thiuk.it
has been more so.

Question. Have yon read any violent articles upholding these Ku-Klux outrages when
committed upon radicals !

Answer. I do not remember any recently ; not so much so as years back. A year or
two back there were a great many. I have not been in the habit of reading a great
many democratic papers. I did not read them, except when something of the sort was
brought to my attention. I have been a pretty constant reader of the Advertiser. 1

have read some articles in that within the last year that I thought very bitter; in fact,
he and I had some controversy on that subject.

Question. Is not -the scope of the editorials and reading matter of the democratic press
throughout the late insurrectionary States, as a general rule, inflammatory and hostile

to the General Government and &quot;those who administer it, and to the reconstruction
measures f

Answer. I think that in Alabama it was very much so up to a year or two back.
Since that time there has been some modification, particularly in some of the leading
papers. I think they are not nearly so bitter, many of them, as they were.

Question. Do you recollect about how many democratic papers are published in this

State .

Answer. Xo, sir. I know that the Eutaw paper, about the time of Boyd s murder,
was extremely bitter.

Question. Do you know a paper in this State or Mississippi called &quot; The Ku-Klux?&quot;
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Answer. No, sir
;

I have never seen it.

Question-. Do southern papers, as a general rule, accept the li ne\v departure,&quot; as it is

called by tho northern democracy ?

Answer. I am inclined to think that a- majority of the people in Alabama do, though
there is a difference of opinion on that subject. My opinion is that a majority of them
do, but I am inclined to think that a majority of the papers do not.

Question. Is tho majority of southern white men opposed to even a qualified negro
suffrage ? I refer now to the southern democracy.

Answer. I scarcely know how to answer that. I do not know among politicians any
man that pretends to discuss politics any democrat of that kind in this State who
will openly and directly oppose negro suffrage. I think among this class of men of
whom I speak that are so bitter to negroes they would not only be opposed to his hav
ing the right of suffrage but almost any rights at all. But the politicians, so far as I

havo heard them express an opinion, seem to accept that, for the present at least, as a ,

settled thing.
Question. Explain what you mean by

&quot; the present.&quot;

Ansiver. I mean that that is their expression ; they say that. Occasionally they say,
&quot; We accept it but we will not be bound.&quot; There is such a contrariety of opinion being
expressed upon that subject that I can scarcely form an opinion.

Question. Is not the fifteenth amendment more odious than all the other reconstruc
tion measures combined to the Alabama democracy ?

Answer. 1 think it was at tho time it was adopted.
Question. Are tho democrats making hearty effort to educate the freedmen in view of

tha fact that they may now vote and hold office, or do they stand aloof and render uu-

Avilling aid in the expectation or hope that this franchise will bo withdrawn from tho
colored race?
Answer. I have not had my attention drawn to that enough to say. In Montgomery,

where I have associated and am better acquainted and in this place, I have heard no
objection to their education. I have heard many say that they wished they were,

all educated
;
but I think that out in the country there is more opposition to it. When

reconstruction first took place, in most portions ofthe State where 1 was, it was danger
ous to talk about even attempting to educate tho negro at all. It was so in Butler

County They would hardly allow such a man as a teacher to go there. If ho did he
could not get board in a white man s house. But in that county and where I have lived
in Montgomery there has been a great change, and there has been no particular ob

struction, to my knowledge, there in the way of their education.

Question. Do they pay this school-tax willingly ?

Answer. I do not think I have heard any more complaint of that than any other tax,

Question. What is you opinion as to the power of the courts to enforce the law in

Fayetto County without tho presence of military authority ?

Answer. I do not believe, until this recent court when it went there, that it could
have been done at all. I had several men sworn, even some democrats, who swore
that the sheriff could not execute his office

;
but I havo great hopes that a better stato

of things in the future will prevail. I talked with a good many democrats there, lead- ,

ing men of the county. They all assured mo that they would become active in enforc

ing the law, to obviate all necessity for outside influence hereafter. I am satisfied that
the result of that court, the sheriff being acquitted in those cases, a few men arrested
and taken away, the law talked about as to their liability and various other things,
that it will leave the county in a better condition, or we shall hear of very desperate
deeds being done hereafter. But I hope it will be better hereafter.

Question. In your opinion, will the convictions which, have taken place in North
Carolina in the Federal courts, under the Ku-Klux act, so-called, have tho effect of

preventing like offenses in the future ?

Ansiver. My opinion is that that will have a salutary effect. My opinion is that tho

prosecutions I have put on foot myself in Middle Alabama, even where the parties
were acquitted, had a good effect. After these parties had been acquitted, in two or

three trials, and had gone home to this county of Coosa, a young lawyer a democrat
came down from Rockford in Coosa, and I had a long talk with him. He told mo ho
-was well satisfied that the thing was existing there, and had been doing a good deal
of mischief, and he was equally satisfied that the prosecutions, although these parties
Lad been discharged, had done good ;

that they had been so alarmed, and I had got so
near upon them in the various proofs I had got, and in addition to that the expense
was so considerable upon them, they being poor men, or men in moderate circum

stances, that he believed tho thing was broken up, and they would abandon it
;

that they knew it would not pay, and that ho hoped I would not have occasion to

prosecute anybody in that county for anything done afterwards. Since that time I havo
not hcard.of anything of the kind being committed.

Question. If you have not already stated, and I do not remember whether you have,

you may state now how many convictions have been had in the State courts against
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these white men, banded together under this organisation called the Ku-Klux Klan, for

any offense committed upon Union men, white or black ?

Answer, I do not think 1 have heard as yet of any. I do not remember a caso now.
It is a fact that it is very hard in tbc best of our counties to convict a white man for

any violence done to a colored man, though they do that some-tunas; but in cases

growing out of anything like a Ku-Klux organization, or men in disguise, I have
hoard of no convictions in this State as yet. If I have heard of any it has escaped my
recollection.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

(,\&amp;lt;u&amp;gt;!ion.
I have, Mr. Chairman, a communication written on the 6th day of July last.

I would like to ask the witness if ho knows of two cases mentioned here, and I will
read from this letter, and ask the question. The writer says,

u Some four or live weeks
since, a negro woman was found senseless, with her little &quot;child in tho woods, who had
been then; a day and night. She was removed to the, house, came to her senses for a

while, and before her death told who it was that beat her. 1 had an inquest held over
her body, and the jury found, from the little evidence they could get, who some of tho

parties were. A warrant was issued. The parties have- never been arrested, and it is-

waid they have gone into an a ijoining connty.&quot; Did you hear of that ?

Answer. That was in Fayetio. I he,v&amp;lt;l of that case&quot;, and the men who did it, I un
derstood, went to an adjoining county for a while. There was thought to bo a good
deal of neglect in not getting the:;;. Vv i .-;i I was clown there la:;t week 1 understood

p

that they had gone to Mississippi.

Question.
&quot; Some shoit tur-o alter this another negro woman, asl have- been informed,

was shot down in t ho Held when pleading for her lite. The party vho done it was
.known, and went otr without lK-ing in any manner interrupted, and it is said that ho
is in Mississippi. I&amp;gt;id you hear anything of that case?
Answer. It 1 did, I do not remember it now ; there has been so much of that.

Question. &quot;Some two weeks since, I h:;vo been informed, a party of disguised, men
went to Mr. Colo s, on the,

]&amp;gt;yler
roa !. and whipped tho freedmen and women living on

his place.
7

Answer. That i.-&amp;gt;, tu&quot; ease I have, detai^v.l. My information is that they whipped the
men and tied and ravished the/ women.

Question, lie says in tl.o r.&amp;lt;-:-;t sentence, &quot;raping three women ?
&quot;

^Inswcr. Yes, sir.

Oucst io) . I have also h&amp;lt; a;\l of several white- men b-. ir.g taken out at night and

whipped.
&quot;

Answer. That, I suppose, was Fowler and Tidwcll.

Question.
&quot; On last Sunday night eight or ten disguised men camo to my place and

beat with pistols two fivedinen. Their intention was either to kill or greatly abuse

them, as they told them before that day they would do so if they would not leave my
place.

A&amp;gt;tsw&amp;lt;r. That was cither Colonel MeConnell or Wilson.

Quention.
&quot;

1 had two of them arrested, who were recognized by the negroes, but one
of them proved by some one that at a&amp;gt; certain time on that night ho was somewhere
else. No attention was paid to th-&amp;gt; colored testimony, and they were discharged.&quot;

This was on the writer s place. 1 do not know whether he objects to his name being
used or not.

Answer. I think that was on Judge Wilson s place. Such a transaction as that did

occur there. I do not think he would care if his name was used.

Question. It was Judge Wilson, the commissioner.
Answer, lie would not care, for they are as hostile to him as they can be now.

Question. Did yon hear anything about the collector of internal revenue having to

resign his position there ?

Ansicrr. Yes, sir; I heard of it, but I do not remember the particulars. Ho was
raised down there and had to resign, and they have appointed another from a different

portion. When I was down there I heard a very well-authenticated account of a ne

gro being killed in an adjoining county Sanford but it was done by men not in dis

guise, and so I have not spoken of it. I understand that two men had some dispute
about some fruit. One of them was in hauling it out, and the man ordered the negro
to get out, and he jumped oil

1

the wagon and started to ran, and he then shot him. He
had not been prosecuted. I heard of a white man being killed under quite as bad
circumstances probably, but I &amp;lt;1H not speak of these things.

By Mr. BEOK :

Question. Yon stated, iu the &quot;Oi-giimiiig
of your testimony, that the troubles in Ala

bama began at the t ;.?i;e of the reconstruction acts and the adoption of tho constitu-

cs particularly drawn to theirs.Answ. That is tho time iny attention was particularly drawn

Qurfttii i . Li anything serious existed before that time, rou had r.ct observed it ?
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Answer. I had heard a great deal of negroes being killed and whipped, and all that
sort of thing, but I do not know that I had any personal cognizance of anything of the
kind. I heard a great deal of that sort of thing, but the bitterness, as I now remem
ber, to which my attention was drawn, commenced about the time of reconstruction.

Question. Had or not, growing out of the reconstruction and the constitution of Ala

bama, particularly the mode of its adoption, a great deal of bitterness and feeling
grown up among the people of this State !

Answer. I think a very great deal.

Question. Did they not believe that Congress had imposed a constitution upon them,
after they had defeated it in the mode prescribed by Congress itself, by abstaining from

voting, so that a majority of the registered votes was not cast at all 1

Answer. That was their allegation and their hypothesis, but not mine.

Question. It was with the great mass of the people ?

Answer. Yes, sir
; they called it a usurpation, and I heard a great many say they

never would submit to it, and there was a great deal of bitterness.

Question. Pretty universally among the white people of the State ?

Answer. Yes, sir. I lived at that time at Greenville, and there was a great deal of

hostility to that constitution. I knew of some, and I heard of a great many others
white men who lived there who notified their negroes that if they voted at all, they
must leave

;
that they could not live on their places. There was hostility enough to

go to almost any measure to defeat it.

Question. Is it not a fact, while Congress did by its own act provide that unless a

majority of the registered vote was cast on the adoption or rejection of the constitu

tion, it should be rejected, and yet, while a majority did not vote, Congress did impose
it on these people ?

Answer. My recollection is I have not the thing before me to read it that that
states it a little too strong. My recollection is that the provision was that it should be
the constitution if adopted in that way. It is not my recollection that they said it

should not be the constitution unless it was adopted in that way.
Question. Did not the act itself provide that unless a majority of the registered vote

was cast for it, it should not stand ?

Answer. I do not remember that.

Question. Is it not a fact that radical members of Congress first rejected it, and that
Mr. Stevens himself spoke of it as improper legislation for these people?

Ansiver. I have not it before me. I recollect there was something of the sort and
much discussion, but I cannot recollect the particulars.

Question. But that state of things created great feeling in the State ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Were not all the officials, the judges, attorneys, members of the legislature,
and senators, elected and imposed upon the people of this State at the same time when
the constitution was adopted, and when the democrats did not vote at all f

Answer. In some few places the democrats voted. In a great many places they did
not vote at all.

Question. Is it not a fact that there was but one democratic member of the senate ?

Answer. There was but one place where a democrat was elected.

Question. It was unanimously radical, with one exception ?

Answer. With one exception. It is true that a majority of the registered voters did
not vote. A majority of the registered voters did not, as shown by the records made
by the military authorities. The records show that a great deal better than I can by
stating it.

Question. At any rate, you had a constitution imposed upon you under these circum

stances, and officials elected to fill all your offices, and who were recognized by Con-1

gress as duly elected ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And the fact that that imposition was put upon you caused bitter feeling ?

Answer. That caused bitter feeling with those that opposed it. I think at that time,

however, that the great mass of the white people of Alabama would have opposed, as

bitterly as it was in human nature to oppose that they would have put all the bitter-;
ness into it that human nature would have admitted, in any form or shape that it could*
have been presented, any government that would have allowed the negroes the right
of suffrage, or the privileges that belong to a citizen. I think the bitterness would
have been just as strong in any manner in which that question could have been pre
sented, and they would have been as much opposed to the Government, whether they
voted or not.

Question. Would they not, but for their understanding of the act of Congress, have
opposed with equal bitterness the election of all the members of the legislature and
the officials who were imposed upon them ?

Answer. A great many of them would have been quite as bitterly opposed to them
I will not say all of them.
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Question. Was not the fact tli.it Judge Gardner was put upon the people in that way
one of the grounds of their opposing his taking his place ?

&quot;

^

Answer. That was one of the grounds alleged, and what made the thing particularly
bitter in that county was that the man he displaced was a popular one, a, warm southern
man, and they were very hostile to Gardner and his friends for taking his place, as they
would have been to any other man who advocated the doctrines which Gardner did
that is, the right of the negroes to citizenship, and to vote particularly.

Question. You have spoken of some precincts in a county where negroes could not
vote with safety. Is it not the law of Alabama that persons, no matter in what pre
cinct they reside, have the right to vote at the county-seat of their county?

Answer. Such is the law, although I believe the last democratic house tried to re
peal it.

Question. I hope they will .succeed next time.
Answer. I hope they will not. That is a difference of opinion ;

but it is bad enough
as it is.

Question. They can vote now in a dozen precincts in a day ?

Answer. I do not think they can, because there is a list of their names by which
they will be detected.

Question. By your election laws can anybody challenge a vote for its being cast ille

gally ?

Answer. No, sir; no man has the right to challenge.
Question. Although the man may be seen to vote half a dozen times a day ?

Answer. You could not challenge, but you may appear and have the vote stricken
off.

Question. But you may see him vote ten times a day, and you cannot challenge him?
Answer. No, sir

;
but you may have his vote thrown out if it is illegally cast.

Question. Were not all your present judges, and sheriffs, and attorneys, and other

officers, except such as have died or have resigned since, elected at the election when
the democrats did not vote at all f

Answer. I think they were
;

all that were elected under that original election were.
Question. And their terms have not yet expired ?

Answer. Yes, sir. A great many of them have been appointed or elected since.

Qucfitlon. So that the organization of your courts has been under republican aus

pices?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And you have had a republican governor until lately .
;

Answer. Yes, sir; until the last general election.

Question. Under that organization have not a great majority nearly all of your
judges, and sheriffs, and other officials been members of the republican party in Ala
bama ?

Answer. A large majority of them were.

Question. Who selects your jurors and your grand jurors ?

Answer. They are selected by the probate judge, and the sheriff, and the circuit-

court clerk.

Question. These were officers elected in a great majority of cases at that time of
which you have just spoken ?

Answer. Yes. sir.

Question. Is it not a fact that, for any defect in the selection of jurors and grand
jurors, the responsibility must necessarily be on the officials who selected them ?

Answer. I think the just responsibility is upon the men who selected them.

Question. As to the Eutaw difficulty you have spoken of, I believe yon have stated it

as it has been stated before, except one fact. Was there not a man named Snoddy who
had been killed before that time, and the murderers of whom the people thought that

Boyd did not try to prosecute 1

Answer. There was, perhaps, some complaint of that sort. A man by. the name of

Snoddy was killed, and two negro boys, charged with it, were taken up, tried, and put
in jail. It was said that upon that trial before the justice of the peace as a court of

inquiry, Mr. Boyd did not appear in the prosecution. Mr. Boyd stated that the
reason lie did not appear was because the parties had employed able counsel to repre
sent the State, and there was no necessity for his appearing. That isathiugtbat very
often occurs with us. It lias occurred with me in this office ; when able counsel were

employed 1 have not appeared. I have heard some complaint of that in reference to

him, but I think that ft w:is a very small item of the account.

Question. He had killed Brown T
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Were not Brov/n s friends not only numerous but inilueutial in the upper
part of that county ?

Answer. They were numerous and influential in the region of Union, and that very
region in which I think the great body of Ku-Klux in that county resided.
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Question. And many persons at least thought that the old enmity growing out of the

killing of Brown had a great deal to do with it ?

Anaiver. A great many thought so, and I have no doubt it had some. I think the
three causes I have given all combined to produce his killing perhaps four causes.

Question. Have you a registration law ia Alabama?
Answer. Yes, sir

;
we have.

Question. You have mentioned now a number of cases
;
the case of Henry Williams,

in Coosa County, was one, a case reported to you by him ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; reported to me by Wiley Williams and Henry Giles.

Question. Is not substantially all the information you have about that case derived
from them ?

Answer. It is derived from hearing them swear upon three different trials. I had
three trials of that case, and upon an average I had about eight witnesses, and the

knowledge I have is derived from these witnesses. Their character and credit and tho
fact that they wero whipped were sustained. That wras sustained by Mr. Maxwell, one
of the most respectable white men in that connty. Also the fact that the church was
burne&amp;lt;l. Mr. Maxwell said on his oath that ho believed that it was done as they said.

Question. In tho Macon County case, Lassiter was tried before the United States com
missioner?

An&iver. Yes, sir.

Question. An appointee of the General Government and a republican, I presume?
Answer. It is not exactly certain what he is. He was originally a republican. I am

not sure now but that he claims to be more of a democrat than a republican.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Qiiestion. Appointed by whom ?

Answer. He was appointed by Judge Busteed. I understand that he was originally
a republican. I think he hardly now professes to be a republican, though I do not
think he dabbles at all in politics.

By Mr. BECX :

Question. He acquitted the men charged ?

Ansiccr. Yes, sir. 9

Question. The next case was the case in Pike, of the man who had committed a rape ?

Answer. That was down in tho county adjoining Pike County. It was in Mont
gomery, down near the Pike County line.

Question. There was no polities mixed up either in that or the two former cases, so far
as you were aware ?

Answer. There was no politics mixed up in it, nor was there, that I knotv of, in tho
Aaron Lassiter case. In that case tho only politics introduced was, that General Clan-
ton asked Lassiter how he had voted, and ho said that at tho last election ho voted the
democratic ticket. I asked him why, and he said because this man Cash drew his pistol
on him and made him vote it. In the first case, Williams was whipped. Giles was not*

whipped. Another negro was shot at. Webb was hit a few licks, and his grave marked
out. That was all done that night. The negro stated that these men who did it stated

they wero confederate soldiers from hell who had come from hell to whip out every
damned radical.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Were these the men who burned the church V

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. State whether the church thus burned belonged to tho organization known
as the Methodist Episcopal Church, North, or the Methodist Episcopal Church, South.

Answer. I believe it was a Baptist church. That was on the same night and the
same transaction.

By Mr. BECK :

Question. In the case of the rape there was no politics in that ?

Answer. None that I heard of. The girl, I understand, made affidavit that this negro
was guilty. I understand that she went before the committing justice of the peace
and swore that he was guilty.

Question. Did you ever hear that she was coerced or induced, by improper influence,
.o go there and make that affidavit ?

Answer. I never heard how she came to do it except from tlii? negroes, and that is

perhaps guess-work. I believe his wife has told me since that the girl gaid to her that

they made her do it.

Question. That is, the wife of the man whipped told you so ?

Ansu-cr. Yes, sir.

Question. With that exception, you never heard that she was coerced ?

Answer. With that exception, 1 know nothing about how it was done.



ALABAMA SUB-COMMITTEE, 557

Question. I ask because you were asked by tlie chairman A question assuming that
:he girl was induced to make the affidavit.
Answer. I never heard anything on that subject except from tho wife of the man who

vras whipped.
Question. In that class of cases of persons who had complaints to make, knowing you

to boa United States official, they came to foa with their complaints because ofvour
position?
Answer. All those willing to pro^eente do, but there are very few, as I find, who arc

willing to prosecute. 1 find it exceedingly difficult to get them to make tho affida
vit. They are willing to tell me if I will promise to say nothing about it, but not
-.rilling to prosecute.

Question, A good deal has been said by you and others about the alibi being relied
upon as a defense. Do you know how a man can very well defend himself otherwise
against positive proof, even if that is false, of an accuser, when a crime is said to be
clone in the night and privately, than by an alibi ~?

Answer. I do not think a man could well do so, where there is positive proof. Ho
must cither discredit the proof, or prove an alibi.

Question. I suppose that, when a person makes oath that this is so, the defendant is

rc-dnced to one of these two things .

Answer. I do not see well how he could do otherwise. While I arn myself not pre
judiced against a man who makes a lona

jid&amp;lt; defense of an alibi, I think it is entitled to

consideration; yet, in the investigations 1 have gone into, I am satisfied that iu vari
ous cases they have been made up.

Question. You spoke of th&quot; liunisviile case, the linul-Tson case. Was riot the do-
fjnso an alibi f

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And Henderson hims-eh -.\v;uv positively to the facts?
Anawer. Yes, sir; and, from circumstances that have come to my knowledge since,

a.s well as the manner of their swearing then, I am perfectly satisfied in my own mind
that the best alibi proven, which was llolseapple s, was proven by a man who was
v/ith him when the deed was committed, and who was o:ie of tho men whom tho

ne^ro did not recogni/.e.

Question. Was not the te-timo .iy all written down
Answer. Yes, sir.

*

(Juestion. By whom ?

Answer. By some young man; t .;e clerk. 1 forget who. It v. us all written down
;*.nd read to them very carefully. 1 had that done.

Question. Is it not true that seven white men Marion Mathews, Robert Lindsay,
Neal Gannon, Mr. Rutherford, Alexander Maloue, M. A. Campbell, and A. Horton, and
two negroes, one named J nines Carter and the other William Mathews, all testified

that this negro, Henderson, was a man of notoriously bud character, and unworthy of
belief on oath f

Answer. iSome of them testif.-d ;h::i. .-trong y, and so.-n-.1 of them :i different lan

guage,
Question. I do not give the words.
Answer. 1 speak also of the substance. There was a number that discredited him.

Mr. Calvin Goodloe, wilh whom he worked, was the- only other witness I had who
gave him credit. Upon the examination, when 1 asked -[ em if they had ever heard of
his being sworn, they had never heard of it, and did not know much of his truthful

ness.

Question. That testimony can all be obtained her- :;i tlie hands of Mr. Day, the

clerk 1

Ansa-er. Yes, sir. I will say, too, in that connection, that I do not think I ever had

any witness yet, who was a colored man, but what some white witness has been found
to discredit him. As that was noon a mere preliminary examination, and not upon
:ho final trial, though some of these negroes have s-tid that they could credit them

selves, I have never yet brought them u\, because we had not come to the final trial.

Question. In the case of Henderson, you did not sustain him against these charges,

except by the testimony of Goodloe ?

Answer. Except by Goodloe, for he was the only white witness 1 had here. I had no

time to send out for Henderson s witnesses, and 1 do not know whether ho could have

sustained himself or not.

Question. There was no politic^ charged iu that ?

Answer. No, sir
;
none.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. In connection with that Henderson case, I will ask how many of these

v/itnesses, who discredited Henderson, appeared by the testimony, or from all the. circuin-

biances surrounding the case, their neighborhood, &e., to have participated iu this

outrage?
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Answer. I could riot tell about that. They were strangers to me. Most of these
men had known Henderson but a little while. He had lived over in another region of

country, and had been but a short time in this neighborhood. Perhaps one of
these witnesses knew him in this neighborhood; but he had not been long in Alabama.

Question. None of them had heard him testify before ?

Answer. No; none of them.

By Mr. BECK :

Question. You were asked if they participated in this particular outrage.
Answer. I arn going to say, one of these witnesses and I say this here, because I do

not expect it to go out until I get a hearing in this case one of these witnesses, from
the circumstances, from my knowledge derived since, and from what occurred there,
I am satisfied, was one of the men who were along when the thing was done. I can

give the reasons why I believe so. This witness testified, as you may see if you get
hold of the testimony, that he was with Mr. Holseapple that night, watching his mill,
to try to catch a thief. This witness, Lindsay, a brother of the defendant, lived about
a, mile from the mill, Holseapple about three-quarters of a mile. He swore that he
was with Holseapple there all night ;

that they made a pallet down, and were awake
pretty much all night ;

also that he went to the livery-stable and hired a horse
;
and

he described the horse. He states that nobody was watching him and Holseapple, or
saw them there

;
and that when he went home next morning he told nobody. Now,

the horse, as he describes him, is precisely the character of horse as described by the

negro as ridden by one of the men who did the thing, and I learn from the marshal
that that horse is perhaps the only horse of that character in the neighborhood.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. How was he described ?

Answer. A large pacing horse. Now, then, the fact of his hiring the horse from a

livery-stable to go a mile; and I learn since, that when he was arrested, Holseapple
stated to the marshal,

&quot;

I could not have been there that night, for I was at home that

night with my wife. I have not slept from her for two years ;
I can prove it by her.&quot;

Taking these things together, I have come to the conclusion that in all probability
Lindsay was one of the parties. I may be wrong ;

but I intend to investigate it
;
and

J have not spoken of this to anybody before
;
but I have taken steps to have the man

who hired him the horse brought.

By Mr. BECK :

Question. How about the other eight witnesses
;
were they there ?

Answer. No, sir
;
I do not know that they were.

Question. Did the negro himself pretend that they were?
Answer. The negro only pretended that there were five, and ho identified three. I

will say; as to discrediting witnesses, I believe in these cases if you will ask a great
many men for there is a great deal of prejudice when these things conie up that they
will tell you they would not believe any negro. I have found witnesses to say so.

Question. Judge Miunis, when you spoke about the want of faith which you have in
an alibi sworn to by white men
Answer. I did not say anything of want of faith. I think it is a good and meritori

ous defense when well made.
Question. Is it your experience that intelligent white men are bigger liars than ne

groes, as a class ?

Answer. I do not believe they are
;
but I believe (and it is my experience) that men

who go into these bands, and if guilty, (for they are guilty or not,) are ready to swear
to anything to swear one another out.

Question. But are white men who do not belong to these bands not more truthful
thau negroes as a race ?

Answer. I would take it as a general rule to have more confidence in a white man not

belonging to these bauds than in a negro equally intelligent; because my experience
is that negroes are not well educated; and even t-.iosc, somewhat intelligent have a

rapacity for enlarging too much when they even intend to teli you the truth. I am
inclined to think that I would give more credit to the white man, if I had equal confi
dence in both.

(Jncstion. If I recollect aright, as to the Limestone case, you. say that grew out of a

private, &amp;lt;ji;;

J /&amp;lt;;rrr. Yes, sir; I think the immediate cause was a private quarrel. My opinion
K and several democrats that I have talked with from there agree with me in

it&amp;gt;
that

the only tiling in which politics had to do with that, and probably many others, was
that the notorious prejudice against him as a r&quot;|mb!ie;in, and against republicanism,
made them feel a greater license to whip him than anybody else, for they did not feel
in as much danger; that is what I understood.

QucxlwH. This county of Fayette, I believe, you found the worst of the counties you
lave spoken of or know of now
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Answer. That is the worst county, so far as acts have come to my knowledge; quite

Question. Does that adjoin Mississippi ?

Ansiccr. No, sir
;
there is one county lies between it and Mississippi Mai-ion and

Sandford come in between.

Question. It is a short distance to the line ?

Answer. Not a great ways.
Question. And there are conveniences for escape from one State to the other ?
Answer. Yes, sir, though Marion County, that lies between it and Mississippi, seems

to have been as quiet as any county in the State.

Question. When they escape into Mississippi, have you any means of getting them
back until they are arrested in that State ?

Answer. No, sir; the means I have is, after I have got them indicted in the United
States court. I send a capias over into Mississippi.

Question. But the State courts have no power?
Answer. No, sir

;
no power without making a demand on the governor.

Question. And that is after they are arrested ?

Answer: You could do it upon a warrant
; you could make a demand upon your O-QV-

ernor and he upon their governor, and he would deliver him upon a warrant but it
would have to lie upon a warrant.

Question. In the cases in Fayette, of which you have spoken, Wooley s, Fowler s, and
Tidwell s cases, you did not hear the facts from the parties themselves?

Ansiccr. &amp;gt;,ot from the parties upon whom the violence was committed.
Question. It was from

p&amp;lt;

rson:.-; upon wlio:;: YOU relied, but not from the parties them
selves ?

Atixim . Yes, sir. There vrere other rasos only from rumor, but these were cases
in -which I believe tiie information reliable, and, from everything 1 could learn, nobody
there seemed to dispute that they had occurred.

Question. Still, the fact remains that you did not hear them from the parties them
selves ?

Answer. I did not in those particular cases.

Question. Is the judge himself a republican or a democrat ?

Answer. I never asked him, and it is hard for me to tell. My impression is this : I
think he voted for Governor Smith, and I think he voted the balance of the democratic
ticket

;
he is a conservative man in politics, and eminently a good jurist, and I think

ho is trying to enforce the law.

Question. Is the probate judge a republican ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Is the sheriff a republican ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Were the men who selected the jurors and grand jurors republicans or
democrats ?

Answer. The clerk of the court was a democrat.

Question. But two out of three were republicans ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And it was that jury that found the indictments against the sheriff?

Answer. Yes, sir. I was not there to see how they were selected, but I suppose so.

Question. You have stated that the law provides that these men should have the
selection of the jury ?

si twicer. Yes, sir.

Question. xVnd two out of the three men wLo selected them were republicans ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Is it not true that a very large number of the young men in Fayette, Win
ston, and Walker Counties joined the Federal Army, and fought in it through the war ?

Answer. I do not know so well about any others as Fayette, not having been iu

them, but in Fayette County I understand that a great many young men joined the
Federal Army and fought through the war; I also learned, in talking to them and

others, to old men particularly, that in their opinion and they had counted the men
if an election could bu held without intimidation, openly, they would be able at any

time to carry that county ; they had carried it in the sheriff s election. Most of these

men that were in the Federal Army are now republicans, and some few who were
confederates. The sheriff was a captain in the confederate army, and a few who were
in the Federal Army are democrats. I asked them,

&quot; If you have such a power, why
do you not put this thing down f

;

They said,
&quot; To do that we must do as they do

disguise and kill.&quot; The sheriff said,
&quot; When I gather my posse, I could command the

posse, and I could depend upon them
;
but as soon as I get home, I meet my wife cry

ing, saying that they have been there shooting into the house. WThen we scatter to

our houses, we do not know at what time we are to be shot down
;
and living with our

lives in our hands iu this way, we have become disheartened, and do not know what to

do.&quot; That is the hypothesis they gave me for this thing. Another thing : one of the
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prejudices against the sheriff, which was much proclaimed, was, that the po.^so was
composed largely of those meii who had been in the Federal Army. I heard a dis

tinction of names and parties there that I never had heard befuro. Those men sup
posed to be Ku-Klux and those sympatizing with them called those who had been in the
Federal Army &quot;Mossy backs.&quot; It was of them that his posse was largely composed.
I learned from all parties, that one cause of so much excitement against the sheriff

was, that he had summoned a posse of &quot;

Mossy backs,&quot; men who were in the Federal

Army,
&quot; to arrest us who were in the confederate army.&quot; That is why he was more

objectionable to them than any other man, as I learned.

Question. The chairman, in his last general question to you, put it in this form : that

they were seeking to murder off Union men. Is there any such distinction now in

Alabama of recognized political parties, as Union and disunion parties, openly recog
nized ?

Answer. I cannot say that I know of any party which recognizes itself as a disunion

party. And I would say that if any man &quot;publicly was called upon to declare that ho
was a disunion man, if he had any political aspirations, I do not think that he would
say it. I do know that there are men, oven in this city, that I have talked with since
I have been here, intelligent men, who have told me that they would yet be for disunion
if it could be had

; that, iu their opinion, the South and the North would be better in

separate governments.
Question. Is there any such organized party ?

Ansiver. There is not, that I know of.

Question. Therefore, in the designation of Union men, what do you understand that
to mean ?

Answer. RepublicansVery often speak of themselves as Union men, perhaps with a
view of creating that distinction, but I do not think it is recognized by the other side.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. You have a class of men, who denominate themselves Union men, scattered
over the State?

Ansvwr. Yes, sir
; scattering men, but not such an organization as a party ; they belong

to one or other of the parties ;
there are a great many men I know who have been

voting all the time with the democratic party, who call themselves Union men. and do
not like to be called anything else

;
there are eomc of these who were old-line whigs,

and they do not like to be called democrats, and yet they mostly vote with the demo
cratic party.

By Mr. BECK :

Question. You have been asked whether or not the fifteenth amendment was uflt the

great ground of complaint here. Was not the fourteenth amendment quite as much
complained of, with its disqualifying clause ?

Answer. I will say now what 1 did not think of in speaking of the other. The feature
in the fourteenth amendment, disqualifying or rendering men ineligible, was very
odious, and I do not know but it has done as much to keep up the irritation as any on

thing connected with the whole of the reconstruction. I myself believe that, while it

was imposed, I think, for the very best motives, and was well at the time, it ought to

Lave been repealed, or the disabilities removed
;
and I Lave thought so for years.

Question. What would be the effect of the removal?
Answer. The removal of these disabilities, iu my opinion, would Lave a very salutary

effect.

Question. How? I want Congress to understand your views upon that.

Answer. In the first place, then, as every man is allowed to vote, it is not good to keep*
men out of oflice, for there are always as lad men who are eligible to office as any who
are not eligible.

Question. You think an idea can always find a representative?
Amwr. Yes, tdr, find a representative. In the uiscue&ions I met on the subject, the

most difficult thing in the whole republican programme I Lave found to meet, is that

disqualification for office There are some men in this State, who are disqualified, who
are very good men. Young men, seeing their lathers disqualified, find it a source of

very great irritation, and one that appeals very much to the passions as well as to the

reason, if to- the reason at all. Take the case of a youug man. Ho tays,
u Here is the

negro I used to own, eligible to any office
;
and here is my lather, an intelligent man,,

who is ineligible to any office.&quot; 1 think it would do a great deal of good to remove
such disabilities, and that it could do no possible harm. Aside from that feature in

the fourteenth amendment, I think the fifteenth amendment was the most odious of
all the reconstruction measures. I am candid iu saying that if I had my will on the

subject of ineligibility, I should just wipe it out clean; 1 do not care whether a man
was educated at West Point or where, or what oflice he had held before the war.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Qw&ti&n. Ls not that the position of the republican party of Alabama- T
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Answer. That is the position of the republican party of Alabama, so far as I know.
^ Question. Did they so declare in their convention last year ?

Answer. They did
; and, with a very few exceptions, it is the desire and wish of the

whole party of this State.

By Mr. BECK :

Question. Has there not been a good deal of difficulty, if a negro did happen to want
to vote the democratic ticket, for him to maintain social position with his colored
brethren f Did he not run a risk ?

A-nsicer. I have heard that said, and have heard negroes speaking in bitter terms of
a negro who would forsake his own class. I have never heard, however, of any par
ticular case where one has been ostracised or injured. I know some in Montgomery
who voted the democratic ticket. I never knew one to be injured^ I have always
instructed them, when I have heard of any such thing, never to think of doinr suoh as

thing.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. You say that in a majority of the counties the democrats, in 1868, abstained
from voting at the election held for the ratification of the new constitution, and the
election of officers under that constitution I

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. I ask you to state whether they were not so counseled by Andrew Johnson,
then President of the United States; and was it not the general understanding that
that was their best policy ?

An nicer. While 1 do not remember now of seeing anything directly from him, I may
have clone so, but I have forgotten it; my recollection is, however, that that was the
n uderstandiug, and probably as coming from Governor Parsons.

By Mr. BECK :

Question. Which Governor Parsons ?

Answer. Lewis E. Parsons. I think, myself, it was a bad policy.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. You have been asked by Mr. Beck whether your election law allows any
challenge of voters at. the polls, and you have answered that it did not. I will ask you
to .state in this connection what abuses of the power of challenge would exist, in all

probability, if it were allowed.

Anxiver. &quot;in the lirst place, I think that as at that time men resort to extraordinary
means, as I know they have done, to carry an election, it

woul&amp;lt;] give an advantage to

those challenging negro votes, for it is always harder for a negro to show his age, &c..
and it would defeat the whole vote being cast. But there is another feature which is

still worse. You go into a neighborhood where there are a great many negroes, and
with bands of disguised men, or otherwise, whip these negroes, so as to keep them in

an humbled and inferior condition, a great many of these whippings being trace

able to the politics, and the negroes will be scared and intimidated. Now, let your
negro be challenged as to his vote by one of those men, and he would instantly
turn and run, and you would as effectually prevent the casting of their vote in

this way as by whipping them directly for it.

Question. Do southern democrats claim that such men as Davis, Toombs. Stephens,
and others, who had violated their oaths to support the Constitution of the United

States, and who had, as leaders, endeavored for four years to destroy the Union, should

be trusted to hold office again under the Constitution upon a repetition of the oath

they had once violated 1

Answer. I cannot say what southern democrats hold and how far they would trust

them with office, but I say myself I believe these men are no worse than others who
went voluntarily into the war, and that they ought to be trusted with office if their

constituency would elect them.

Question. Do you think such men could be trusted to enforce the obnoxious clause of

the fourteenth amendment and the entire fifteenth amendment?
Amu-er. I do not know whether they could or not. If their constituency sent them

there for the purpose, I do not know whether they would or not; but their constitu

ency on &quot;lit to have the right to vote for them; and if they had a good constituency
who did not think them safe, they would not trust them; and if they did put one of

these men up, I hope our Government will not be in such a fix that these men could do

it any harm, for if so, we would be in a bad fix, indeed.

Question. Do not these men now denounce the fifteenth amendment as unconstitu

tional, revolutionary, and void?
Limcer. I think that Toombs, Davis, and Stephens do. That may be tie feeling of

a great many democrats. As I have stated my opinion very strong on the other hand,

I will state that I myself feel, atleast, some fear that a great many democrats who are

30 A
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apparently favoring this now departure are not in good faith about it. I have my
own doubts about that.

(

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. Do you think there is any other way for the two races in Alabama, being
nearly equally divided here in numbers, to live in a peaceful way except upon the basis

of complete civil and political equality ?

Anxicer. My opinion is this, that, in a republican government, democratic in princi

ple, every man who is a citizen upon the fundamental principles of government has a

rig-lit to the privileges of the Government, and the fullest privileges. I do not believe

that is merely a privilege, but a right. If they are citizens, they are entitled to and
must enjoy all these rights of citizens, or you challenge the fundamental principles of

your Government, or you must separate the two races. I think one of these three

propositions must follow.

MONTGOMERY, ALABAMA, October 20, 1871.

JOHN A. MINNIS recalled, testified as follows :

By the CHAIRMAN: - * T

Question. You arc the district attorney for Alabama, are you not ?

Answer. I am for the middle and northern districts.

Question. Are you acquainted with the district judge, Richard Busteed?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. I will ask you to state to the committee whether you had any conversation
with Judge Busteed before his going to Washington, when ho gave his testimony before
the committee on the 23d of June, 1871.

Answer. I was with him at court at Huutsville and at a court here, and had frequent
conversations with him, and had some just before he left. At the court at Huutsville
there was no grand jury until I got there, on Monday. It was ordered on Tuesday,
and I presented no cases there except one post-office case. That was bound over. They
were not prepared, not knowing whether there would be a grand jury or not. When
we came down here, there were some cases bound over of the same character, and there
had been some complaint made to me about outrages. I had several letters, and in

getting him to order the grand jury I showed him all these and the reasons for it. I

had a good deal of talk with him, first and Jast, about the situation of the country.
Question. I will ask you to state to the committee what opinion he expressed, if any,

relative to the existence of the Ku-Klux Klau in the State of Alabama, and what opin
ion he expressed of the indebtedness of the Federal officers to his personal influence for

not being interfered with by that organization ?

Answer. A day or two, probably the day before he left, (my office was then in this,

room,) he came in here. I think myself and General Healy, and he, were present, and
in conversation that question came up, particularly as to the legislation necessary upon
it by Congress. He drew up a rough draught and asked me to copy it, giving what he

thought, or the legislation that he would recommend upon the subject. He asked me to

copy it, and he wanted me and General Healy to indorse it
; this, I think, was just

before his leaving, after having held the November term, 1870, which runs into 1871
;
I

think as late as March.

Question. General Healy was United States marshal? *

Anstver. United States marshal. It was either at the time he gave it to me to copy,
or after I had copied it, and it was in this room that we were talking upon the subject.
At that time wro had heard of a great deal in West Alabama, and the subject we
were talking about was, that it was approaching nearer here, or perhaps into Perry, or
some other county nearer than it had been before. His plan, which he wanted us to

recommend, and which we did recommend, was to give the United States courts a
much more extended jurisdiction over almost every species of offenses than has been
done by any of the bills, but it did not have in it the military ieaturo. That was his

plan. In talking about that, and in view of some very alarming things we had just
heard from West Alabama, I perhaps remarked to him, I don t know that we would
even be safe here, but for the protection of the United States court.&quot; He seemed to, as

I thought, agree to that proposition; he made this remark, rather hitting himself on
his breast or tapping himself, Boys, do not say but for the United States court/ you
would not be safe here

;
but for me, you would not be safe here.&quot; That was his expres

sion, as I remember it, at any rate that was the idea.

Question. What was the nature of the disturbance which was the subject of the con
versation in reference to West Alabama ?

Answer. I cau t remember just what it was
;
we had so many accounts of startling

affairs.
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Question. Were they Ku-Klux disturbances ?

Answer. They were said to be committed by men in disguise
ab Ut the exi^ence of these disturbances b that

Answer. I do not think I ever heard him express any doubt about it, as I remember
except m his charges-I mean privately; but in his charges to the -rand jury he
generally complimented them upou the peaceable condition of the country He would
compliment the country and the grand jury upon the peaceable condition of th o

Question. But his private conversations were of a different character ?
Anmoer. I never heard him express a doubt about the existence of the organizationor the disturbances, as I remember I will not be certain that I have repeated hisexact language, but I have given the idea,

Question. Does Judge Busteed reside in this State?
Amwer. Well, I think not. In all the business I have with him to o-et any certifi

cates, & c., I have to send to New York, except it be right iu court time. If he has beenhere since court, I do not know it; or if he was here before, except durin^ the courts

eourt
y tlm CaUUOt U W remember iL He miSht have beeu nore at some bankrupt

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. Where do you address him ?

Answer. I always address my letters to him at Jamaica, New York.
Question. Was it in Judge Busteed s court that J. L. Perkins, foreman of the rand

jury, made the report which is found upon page 330 of the printed testimouv relating
to the condition of affairs in the State of Alabama?
Anmrer. Yes, sir. It was a grand jury which I had been attending myself. The

report was made to him. I knew nothing about any sort of report that they were
going to make. I did not know that they had drawn it up. The first I knew of it-

Judge Busteed called me to the bench when they had made it, and said,
&quot; You on &quot;lit

to look at it.&quot; He said,
&quot; That will sustain you in everything you said.&quot;

Question. Judge Busteed said that to you f
Answer. When that report was made&quot;, the first I knew that such a thing was even

considered, or that there was a report of that character, was when they came in with
their bills, and I was done and presented the report to Judge Busteed. He motioned me
up to the bench, and said to me,

&quot; That is a very important paper to us. It sustains
you in everything you have said.&quot; I understood that to be in reference to a contro
versy I had had in some of the papers iu relation to whether there was such a thin&quot;

1 or
not,

Question. At what term of the court was that report made ?

Answer. It was at the May term, I think. I do not remember that it was in May,
but it was the May term.

Question. Of this present year ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. As I desire to have that report incorporated in your testimony, I will ask
you to look at the report I now show you, and state whether that is the one printed
on page 330 of the testimony taken before this committee in relation to the State of
Alabama.

Answer. I cannot say that that is an exact copy, not having the original now to com
pare them, but from my recollection it is the substance of it. I recollect it very well,
and I reckon this is a literal copy. I would think so.

The report is as follows :

&quot;Report of grand jurors of middle district of Alabama.

.&quot; To the Hon. RICHARD BUSTEED :

4&amp;lt; The grand jurors of the middle district of Alabama beg leave to make their report.
&quot; We regret to be compelled, from the evidence brought before us, to say we are forced

to the conclusion that in some parts of this district there have been frequent and out

rageous violations of law. Without provocation, both white and colored persons have
been beaten, whipped, shot at, wounded, and some killed, while in the peaceable pur
suits of the rights secured to them by the Constitution and laws of the United States,

by persons in most instances disguised, and whom it has not been possible, from the
evidence before us, to identify, except iu the cases reported by us. We deplore this

state of things, and wish thus &quot;publicly and officially to express our disapprobation and
to denounce all who are engaged in them, and pledge ourselves to put a stop to them,
so tar as in our power, and call upon all good citizens throughout the State to aid the

authorities to bring these criminals to justice. We owe it to ourselves, our citizens,
and to the fair fame of our State to do this.

&quot; We are happy, however, to state that we find nothing in the evidence before us to

implicate the great body of the people in these outrages, or to show that there is any or-
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gani/.ed band of Ku-Klux (so called) throughout the district, but believe that the great
mass of the people are opposed to such au or^aui/ation, which exists only in certain

localities in the counties of Macon, Coosa, and Tallapoosa, and these confined to a few

persons.
&quot; With these views, and believing that our services are no longer required in the

interest of the Government, we ask to be discharged.
&quot;J. L. PERKINS,

&quot;Foreman Grand Jury.

&quot;We object to the report on account of its generalities, preferring to specify the par
ticular occurrences.

&quot; BENJ. F. NOBLE.
&quot;WM. H. SMITH.

&quot;

Rewired, That the thanks of this grand jury are due, and hereby tendered to, the
Hon. Richard Busteed, for his able, digniiied, and impartial charge to us, and for hia

gentlemanly bearing toward us, while engaged in the discharge of our duties
;
and

aboTp the &quot;Hon. J. A. Miunis, district attorney, for his ability and courtesy while

assisting and advising us as to the cases before us
;
and also to the Hon. R. W. Healy,

United States marshal, and other officers, for their politeness and tare for our com
fort.

&quot;

J. L. PERKINS,
11 Foreman Grand Jury.&quot;]

By Mr. BLAIK :

Question. Judge, in regard to the claim of Judge Busteed to have afforded protection
to the United States court, do you not think that was a little pleasant gasconade of his ?

Answer. Well, I thought, when he put his hand on his breast and said,
&quot; My boys,&quot;

that that was
;
but in regard to his views of the protection afforded by the court and

of the necessity for that protection, I could not form such au opinion from the fact

that we were at that time, and had been discussing a recommendation of his which he
said he wanted to make to Congress and which he wanted us to indorse, which, if I

recollect aright, gave pretty much au entire concurrent jurisdiction with the State
courts in all cases of personal rights. That was the substance really of what he drew
up as a plan of his own. As I understood him, he was opposed to calling in the mili

tary, and was in favor of very much strengthening the civil authorities of the United

States, and that, as I understood from him, was what he would ask or what he would
use his influence to have Congress pass. It was very much the same idea that I had
heard from Alex. White in this State, and I think their views corresponded very much,
although his bill would have been a little stronger than I would hav;e giveo. I had

signed a recommendation, and General Healey did, too, I think, indorsing his proposition.
Question. Are not the judges of the State court quite equal to Judge Busteed in legal

lore ?

Answer. Well, I do not think myself that we have any judges, in the State courts at

least, who are superior to Judge Busteed in point of discrimination and real ability.
I think very likely we have judges in the State courts that are, I may say, more
learned, or equal to him, at least, in learning.

Question. It does not require any very great acumen in a judge to sit in criminal
eases ?

Answer. No, sir
;

it does not require any great learning. ^

Question. The laws are simple ?

Answer. The laws are simple and plain. It is more from an adaptation to that par
ticular thing than it is to any great legal learning, I think; and I think we have some
very good judges. I think Judge Mudd is one.

Question. Now, when you have good judges all over the State, and in every county
of the State, armed with the same authority that Judge Busteed has or would have
under that law, with courts sitting oftener, do you think there is any sort of necessity &amp;gt;

for giving a jurisdiction to the courts of the United States beyond a desire to draw to
the General Government itself additional powers ?

Ansicer. My opinion is that, so far as the enforcement of the fourteenth and fifteenth

amendments in the State of Alabama is concerned, it was necessary that the United
States should have the jurisdiction to afford anything like adequate protection, for this
reason : While I believe that in Alabama we have good judges, fully able and fully

willing, and having every disposition to enforce law, I do not believe that in many
localities, trying offenses right where they are committed, parties could bo convicted;
and while I think to some extent the same difficulty would exist by bringing it into
the United States courts, yet yon would have a chance of getting more disinterested

jurors, not affected to the same extent with the prejudices that prevail against the

punishment of certain offenses.

Question. Then you would break down the old theory that has come to us from o.ur
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English ancestors of having a trial by a jury of the vicinage, and drag ever} man
accused across the State, compelling him to bring his witnesses and incur expenses,and to be put on his defense for every petty charge you could trump up against him ?
Answer. I myself would not desire to do it for every petty offense. I think that system has its evils, but in my opinion, as I before stated, if these offenses are punished

at all in many localities, it will have to be done in that way ;
as to whether rt is better

to let the offenses go unpunished, or to punish them under those disadvantages, is a
question that can be considered

;
but I still think that they will not be punished unless

they are punished in that way. I would not be willing to support a law that would
carry it to the extent that I thought Judge Busteed did. I do myself, though, approve
and indorse the acts of Congress to the extent that they have been passed. I do
believe that the punishment of that class of offenses is of sufficient importance to

justify at least that much inroad at present. I would not be willing to go any further,
and hope there will not be any necessity for it. I will say further, to show both my
opinion and the feelings on that subject in one of the counties I allude to Limestone

County,^
in North Alabama when I was at Huntsville, they telegraphed me to come

there. There had been a good many outrages in that county. I found the county
solicitor, who was a very warm democrat, but bent upon prosecution. I found, as I

believe, the people in that county determined to put it down; democrats as active as

anybody else. Although even some democrats thought I had better take warrants for
the United States, I declined to do so, and reasoned with them that I believed that
inasmuch as there was a disposition to execute the laws, and, as I believed, in good
faith to put these things down, I thought they could do it if they would try, and it

would have a better influence to do it through the local authorities than to have it

done in the United States court. Therefore, for the time, at least, I declined to put on
foot any prosecution, and left with the county solicitor, who was a warm democrat, as
J stated, authority, if he thought best, to prosecute in the United States courts in my
name, after consulting with the best citizens there. He was authorized in my name
to do it. and I left it in their own hands.

Question. In i,our recommendation, in conjunction with Judge Busteed, to extend the

range of your authority, do you not think there was something that is inherent in the
constitution of officials to extend their power and authority?

Anxwcr. I think there is something of that in some; in others I have found that they
would even prefer not to have any more cast upon them than was necessary. Judge
Busteed is, in my opinion, a man who is tolerably fond of authority.

Question. In tins case, so far as you are concerned, being district attorney, it would
add to your emoluments?

AiiHii-cr. I suppose it would.

QtUKtion. Therefore your own judgment in matters affecting the power of your office,

its importance, and the augmentation of its emoluments, is not altogether to be trusted
as impartial?

Answer. I would say that, in signing that paper, I never thought about that question.
I do nor think it entered into my mind. I did it because I thought myself that some

legislation was necessary. That was before this last bill was passed, I think. Upon
reflection, I think it was at the November term. I will make that correction. It was
at the November term instead of the May term. The way I got into that difficulty is

this: the November term did not sit until January or February; it ran on, and was

postponed, until some time in the spring ;
it was before I went on to Washington, and

} left there before, this last bill passed.

Question. Then you were even in advance of Congress in the desire to augment your
authority ?

Answer. I was going on to make this statement, that I was and am in favor of the

bills as passed, as I have said. I signed that recommendation of Judge Busteed, be

lieving that some legislation was necessary, and as that seemed to be his opinion, I was

willing to recommend it, and did sign it without any alteration, although I would not

Lave gone myself to the extent he did.

Question . Mine was a general question, and was one I would like you to answer

whether you do not feel that officials in your position, in making such recommendation

tending to the augmentation of their, own power and dignity and emoluments, are to

be distrusted by a people who want to preserve their freedom ?

Answer. I will say that in my own recommendation I never thought about the effect

ir would have on my office. As a general rule, acting upon such recommendations

myself I think that I should make a reasonable allowance for anything of that sort.

As to how much weight it would have with me in view of that, would depend, perhaps,

something upon the man. Some men it would influence, perhaps, considerably; some

l&amp;lt;

jss : others not at all.

Question. It is true that some persons are exempt from these infirmities, and perhaps

you are but, as a -eneral thing, a people that want to preserve their liberties should

guard against the^ugraentation of power in the hands of officials, and distrust them.

Is tbat not a true proposition ?
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Answer. I do not think that men who are in power are any more to be distrusted than
men who want to get in power. I think the people should well look to both, to guard
their rights. I believe very much in the old adage, that &quot; Eternal vigilance is the price
of liberty.&quot;

Question. That is a good democratic motto, but people who simply want to get into

power are not dangerous, for the reason that they have not yet got it, while those who
nave the power and want more, are most to be distrusted, are they not ?

Answer. Well, I do not know which to say is the most general rule
;
but men who

are out of power and very anxious to get in^ are equally as much to be distrusted as
men in power. Men who are in power have already shown, to some extent, or for some
time, the manner in which they are going to exercise that power ;

but men out of

power are very apt to promise a great deal, and, I think, very ofteu are more to be dis
trusted than those wrho are in power.

Question. It is probably a natural thing for those who are in power to hold that

position, but I cannot see, judge, and I would like you to explain to me, how those who
have no power can^be dangerous to the liberties of the people.

Answer. As long as they are out of power, of course they are not dangerous, except as
to the doctrines they may teach or the ideas they may inculcate

;
but their anxiety to

get into power may cause them to take positions and entertain views which, if they
succeed in getting into power, would even make them more dangerous than those who
are in power.

Question. Especially if, after they get into power, they made such recommendations
as you do?

Answer. I do not think that the recommendation I made was particularly dangerous,
while, at the same time, I do think that the better policy would not have gone to that
extent, nor did I expect Congress to pass any law that would go to that extent.

Question. I do not know to what extent they would go .

Ansicer. Whatever danger there might be in extending the jurisdiction of the United
States courts in deciding upon the rights of persons, there is not in that the danger to

public liberty that there is in a Kn-Klux Klaii.

Question. Have not from all time those who plead for powrer and the increase of power
in their own hands, made the same excuse?
Anww. Yes, sir, I think they have

;
and I think, on the other hand, that in all time

those \vho want to commit depredations have found fault with the law.

Question. You never have heard, then, in your reading, of persons who found fault
with excessive authority, who were other than people who wanted to commit wrong?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. You have heard of such ?

Answer, I have heard of such things, and I have heard of such things as men wanting
to have even stronger authority than I have thought of, who, I believed, did not want
to deprive anybody of any liberty. I have heard on both sides of men entertaining
very extreme opinions, both good and bad men.

Question. I shall not pursue the topic further, as I find it impossible to convince an
official or make him distrust authority.

Answer. I think I am as distrustful of authority as a man ought to be, and, at tho
same time, I. am fully impressed with the fact that while we talk so much about
liberty, there is no liberty without law.

Question. There ought to be a good deal of liberty under the immense quantity of
laws the radicals have passed. ^

Answer. That might be true, but in some portions of Alabama there is very little

liberty under the laws which the Ku-Klux have passed for us.

1&amp;gt;\ Mr. BUCKLEY:

Question. You desire to make some statement supplementary to your testimony here
tofore given ?

Answer. Yes, sir. A question was put to me by Mr. Beck, calling my attention to a&amp;gt;

point which I did not answer fully, and I have prepared a more extended and careful
answer, which I now submit.
Mr. BLAIR. Read it, and let us see what it is. [The witness reads the paper here

inafter given.]
Mr. BLAIR. I make this objection to that paper : It is a written essay, and if this is

r.Mvivod, I shall have some essays written by the best men in this State, and have
them introduced and read before the committee, for I know I can find twenty gentle
men in this State who can produce essays fully equal to that in aiif point of view.
That is not what Congress wants. It is not what we are sent here to get. We are

supposed to be able to discuss these questions ourselves just as well &quot;as this gen
tleman, and if that paper is admitted, I shall most assuredly write to several gentle
men whom I kno\v, and have them called before us to read essays.
The CHAIRMAN. This case is different from the case you put, in that Judge Minnis

was a witness before the committee at Huntsville, and a &quot;question was there put to
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him by Judge Beck, representing the minority, which he did not answer fully. Ho
dc.Mi-ed to give a more extended one, and it seemed but fair to allow it. I did not know
what the character of his answer would be, and I thought it would be fair to allow
him to make a supplementary statement, inasmuch as he stated that he had not made
a lull answer.

Mr. BLAIR. I am not in favor of gratifying any gentleman who wants to occupy so
much space in this immense book, and I give you fair notice that I shall ask to bo
heard through one or more written essays by some of the strongest men in the State.
These lucubrations are not what Congress wants, and I think it is very unreasonable
to expect that we shall give this essay publication. It is very good, but not equal to
ten thousand such things as you Senators get otf there every week during the session
of Congress you, on your side. It does not touch anything but abstract principles;
it does not deal with anything else.

The CHAIRMAN. I would put the admission of this answer on the ground that the
witness came forward and stated that he had not answered the question which Judge
Beck put at Iluntsville as fully as he desired to do. Without knowing what answer
he would make, I recalled him. His answer is certainly responsive to the question,
and if the questions are proper, the answers are proper.
Mr. BLAH;. The questions were never put in view of such an answer as that. It

was in reference to certain laws of this State, which the witness answers in a very
few words, and then goes otf into a discussion of the reorganization of this State by
Congress. I do not think that his answer develops any facts. It is simply a long-

essay on a subject which has been discussed in Congress and all over the country for

four or live years, and I think he has thrown no new light upon it.

Mr. BUCKLEY. So much of this answer as pertains to the law readmitting Alabama,
I think is unquestionably pertinent, inasmuch as there was a discussion between Judge
Beck and Judge Minnis on that subject when the question was up, and when the

answer, which the witness deems incomplete?, was made. Aside from that, I am not

particular, myself, as to the incorporation of this answer.
Tin.- CHAIRMAN. 1 fed inclined to admit the answer, on the ground that the witness

desired to make a more full response, and I believe that we cannot well control the

right of the witness to make an explanation. If the witness is allowed to answer the

question at all. we cannot well limit the length of his answer, and 1 do not see that

we can refuse this as evidence. *

The paper above referred to and read by the witness, John A. Minnis, is as follows:

In answer to the following question of Mr. Beck: &quot; Had or not, growing out of the

reconstruction, and the constitution of Alabama, particularly the mode of its adoption,
a great deal of bitterness and feeling grown up among the people of the State?&quot; I de

sire to make this further and more deliberately considered answer:

In my opinion, at the close of the war it was generally in the South and I shall

speak particularly of Alabama expected that the negroes, as a result of the war, would
be set free, especially in view of the rejection of the Sherman-Johnson treaty, and hence no

very serious opposition was made to the thirteenthamendment. But it was equally gene

rally believed, expected, desired, and intended to hold the negroes, as a race, a subordi

nate class of laborers, in a sort of peonage, without any of the rights, privileges, and

immunities of citizens; and in this condition it was believed by many, and I think

pretty generally, that they would be more valuable to the white people than they
were as slaves.

*

Many believed, and I have no doubt honestly, that this would be best

for both white and black
;
such opinion prevails even yet with some in Alabama. This,

as I think, was, as to the iieirro race, the animus of the Johnson restoration plan. The

fourteenth amendment, without the third section, made the negroes citizens, effectu-

uallv changed this whole status of his situation, and, as I think, aroused all the preju

dices and hostility of the southern people, that could well be aroused
;
and I never

thought it would have been adopted by the white people of Alabama without the

thircfsection. The third section, however, disqualifying a large class of white men,

and many of them the best men in the State, to hold office, while at the time when it

was adopted in Alabama negroes were eligible to office, greatly intensified the bitter

ness and in my opinion, in the minds of some who otherwise might have been induced

to sustain the Government in its reconstruction policy, created such a prejudice that

tliev became indifferent or opposed to it. The reconstruction measures ot Congress

people, and every prejudice and passion was appealed to to bring them into

odium and contempt, and defeat, if possible, their operation. \\ hen the convention

was called, and a State constitution trained and submitted to die people lor

their ratification, under the reconstruction acts, it was determined by the demo

cratic party, constituting the great body of the white people, not to vote,
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as the surest means of defeating it under section 5 of the supplementary act passed
23d March, 1867. In my opinion, they believed, from the result of the election for the
ratification of the constitution, that they had defeated it, and that afterward, when
Congress admitted the State of Alabama under this constitution, they regarded it as
a violation of the plighted faith of Congress ;

and while hostility and opposition to the

principles of the newly constructed State were already as strong as human, nature was
capable of entertaining, this greatly added fuel to the smothered lire of opposition,
and it broke out in volcanic flames of denunciation, that appealed to all the prejudices
of race, passions of hate, that it was possible to be entertained by a brave and chival
rous people. The whole reconstruction policy was denounced as a tyrannical usurpa
tion, the government as a usurped negro government, and every officer as a mean,
tyrannical usurper a Government that placed negroes over and made white men sub

ject to negro rule. This led to a bitterness, to social and business ostracism and pro
scription, to outrages of person, to whippings, lynchings, murders, and assassinations
of persons who favored the Government, find especially to negroes who set up to enjoy
the rights thus conferred, the one-half of which, in my opinion, never has and
probably never will be told, a great deal of which was done by disguised bauds ; and
while, in my opinion, a comparatively few were actually engaged in these acts, such
were the hostility and hatred of the great mass that they felt but little disposition to

actively intervene to prevent similar outrages or to punish those who did commit.
The question of reconstruction and of the admission of Alabama under that constitu
tion being political questions, the hostility to the Government being a political hostil

ity, and that political hostility being the prime cause of these outrages, in my opinion,
these outrages were committed for political causes, and mainly to punish political of
fenses and to produce political results. Having detailed, as I did and others have done,
outrages by disguised bauds, the very question I am now answering presupposes the
&quot;

bitterness andfeeling grown up among the people of this State&quot; led to these outrages. In

my opinion, this view is the very best that can be taken as an excuse to those who
actually perpetrated these outrages; to those who encouraged or sympathized with it;
to those who excused it : or to those who stood by and sa\v it going on, without aid

ing in its suppression ;
that is. honestly regarding all who favored the equal civil and

political rights of the negroes and the reconstructed government of Alabama as politi
cal or public enemies, they were doing the public service in destroying their influence
or putting them out of the way Those wrho opposed the acts, still regarding them as

public enemies*, did not feel called on actively to interfere for their protection.
In answer to the following question of Mr. Beck :

&quot;

Is it not a fact while Congress
did by its own act provide that unless a majority of the registered votes was cast on
the adoption or rejection of the constitution, it should be rejected, and yet while a ma
jority did not vote, Congress did impose it on the people ?&quot; I thought, when the question
was asked, it was stated too stroug. Upon examination of these acts I am still of the
same opinion. I know that in putting the proposition to the people, ib is generally
stated that way, which in my opinion has to some extent misled the people. The pro
vision of section 5, already referred to, upon this point, is, that if, according to the re

turns, the constitution shall be ratified by a majority of the votes of the registered elect
ors cast at said election,

&quot; at least one-half of all the registered voters voting upon the ques
tion of such ratification,&quot; &quot;the president of the convention shall transmit a copy of the

same, duly certified, to the President of the United States,&quot; and then,
&quot; and if it shall

moreover appear to Congress that the election was one at which all the registered and
qualified electors in the State had an opportunity to vote freely, and without restraint,

fear, or the influence of fraud, and if Congress shall be satisfied that such constitution
meets the approval of a majority of all the qualified electors of the State, and if the
constitution shall be declared by Congress to be in conformity with the provisions of
the act to which this is supplementary,&quot; &c., Senators and Representatives shall be ad

mitted, &c. There is no affirmative declaration that it shall not be, and while I admit
the rule of construction that the &quot;

expression of one thing is the suppression of an

other,&quot; still, most clearly, the only faith of Congress pledged to the people of Alaba
ma was that if they adopted a constitution iu the manner and form and in compliance
with said act, she should be admitted to representation in Congress, and, of course, to
all the rights and privileges of any other State in the Union. Without referring to the

facts, and the dispute as to whether in truth and fact the constitution was ratiiied
H&amp;gt;y

a majority of votes, and that a majority of the legal registered electors did vote, as is

contended by sonic, take it for granted they did not, then Congress, without violat

ing plighted faith to Alabama, might have refused her representation in Congress and
rejected her constitution

;
ami then Alabama would have stood just whe,ro she would

if no convention had been called. Upon the right and power of Congress to reconstruct,

Alabama, having refused the terms tendered her by Congress, would stand as though
none had been offered. Now, if Congress had the right to reconstruct : suppose the re

construction acts had never been passed, and a convention had been called, a constitu
tion had been made just us the Alabama constitution was: suppose that it had not
been submitted at all to the vote of the people, and Congress had accepted and
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recognized it as the, coustitntion of Alabama, and constituting the government of
Alabama

;
now. if Congress had the right to reconstruct at all, can any man say this

would not have been the dcfacto and do jure government of Alabama ? In my opinion
they could not. Then, in my opinion, Congress had the power to accept Alabama
under that constitution. Was it good policy in Congress to do it ? The great
body of the white people, constituting the democratic party, had showed by their action
they were unwilling to any State government that would be in harmony with tho
National Government in its principles and policy. Congress owed it to those in
Alabama who were in favor of and loyal to the National Government, its principlesand policy, to give them a civil government; Congress was by its fidelity to the na
tion bound to give Alabama a civil government founded upon the principles of our Gov
ernment, this constitution conforming to these principles ;

in my opinion Congress.,under all the circumstances, in admitting or reconstructing Alabama with her present
constitution, pursued fcljo very best policy that could possibly have been pursued ;

that it was best for the nation at large, and the very best that could have been done
for the people of the State. And while I admit by the non-voting policy of the dem
ocrats of the State, and by their denunciation of every man who would dare to hold

ptlice
under this reconstructed State government, many incompetent, and bad men got

into office
; still, in my opinion, the great obstacle to the complete success of recon

struction in Alabama lias been tho bitterness, hates, proscriptions, and outrages I have
already spoken of, and that, in spite of all this opposition, reconstruction has suc
ceeded in Alabama; that tho State government has succeeded beyond all reasonable
expectation. According to democratic testimony, that iwsons and property arc as u dl
protected in Alabama as in any Stale in the Union, reconstruction in Alabama has been
a complete success. 1 am sorry to be compelled to differ to some extent in this, but I
am glad to be able to say, in my opinion, in spite of the hatreds and hostilities, and
even most determined opposition, even to personal violence.it has, in my opinion, been
a very great success, and that, with these ceasing, it will be a complete success. In
my opinion, in most portions of the State there? has been a very great improvement
the bitterness I do not think so great. It is hard to keep men of good impulses always
mad. No man .can deny that there are good, intelligent, and honest men in both
parties; such men, living in the- same communities, having business, official and pri
vate transactions, engaging in the same enterprises, public and private,- will naturally
in time heal up the animosities of political hate and strife. In the presidential election
in 1-5O?

, the democratic [tarty of Alabama was somewhat, as I think, sanguine of suc
cess, and the opinion seemed pretty generally to prevail that, if successful, the whole
reconstruction policy of Congress would be set aside as. null and void; this, in my
opinion, had the eiiect, if not to create hate, to make them more disposed to

gratify and indulge it. The election of President Grant, and especially his car

rying Alabama, I think had quite a contrary effect, and for some time they seemed
very quiet. Jn the elections in the fall of 1670, and preceding the elections, while
in some portions of the State it was peaceable, in others it seemed to me worse than
ever: in the general conducting of the canvass there was a great deal of bitterness.

The act of Congress to enforce the fifteenth amendment, and the last to enforce the four
teenth amendment, wi h the, prosecutions under them; especially the late convictions in

North Carolina, and the developments in some other States, have had, in my opinion,
a most salutory effect

;
these disguised bands begin to learn they are not entirely

safe; that they can and will be brought to punishment ;
I know in Alabama, in some

localities, such is certainly the case, and the results in the late State elections, in my
opinion, have had a tremendous iniluence. showing most clearly that the principles
and policy of the Government will be sustained by the people of the nation. It was

hoped by the democrats in the South that the President and Congress would not be
sustained by the people ;

I think it is now pretty generally believed that tho elections

in these States show pretty clearly that the people of tho nation are determined to sus

tain the congressional policy oi reconstruction, with the fourteenth and lifteenth

amendments as a part of that policy. The fourteenth amendment makes negroes
citizens, and by its very terms creates in all a direct citizenship of the United

States, and, in my opinion, makes the allegiance of every citizen, white or colored,

paramount to any State citizenship, and &quot;hence in future explodes whatever was
in the secession idea, that the only citizenship of the United States was derived

through the State, and heneo a man loyal to his State could not commit treason

against the United States. The fifteenth amendment conferring the right of suffrage

up
giv
tions
im
eli .-ct. In my op ,

__.. _.
L ..

effect. Democrats are not so sanguine of setting aside what they used to confidently
denounce as usurpations ; and while, in my opinion, as already stated, that this hatred

and bad feeling originated in political causes, and was actuated by a political animus,
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still, I believe in most regions it is daily growing less political and more personal ; and,
in my opinion, in about the same ratio, whatever of good intention was ever in it, is

leaving it, and in about the same ratio good men are more openly corning out opposing
and denouncing it. I have lately met prominent and decided democrats, who have
goii&amp;lt;e

so far as to say, while they at one time denounced the Ku-Klux acts of Congress
and the State legislature, they now believe they are good laws, and the only laws
that could meet the present exigency; that they are for putting down all disguised
binds, by the civil law of the State; by the civil law of the United States; and that if

there is not power enough in these, they are themselves in favor of martial law. The
clearly shown determined policy of the President, to put down these bands, and to

protect the people from the highest to the most humble, and the clearly expressed
determination of the people of the nation to sustain him, have, in my opinion, had a
most beneficial effect. It gives encouragement to all good men in the State to aid
to put them down, destroys all hope in any for success from such a quarter; it is a
terror to the bands themselves, as they see, if they continue, sooner or later they are
sure to be caught and punished. As I have before stated, I do most sincerely believe
an early removal of all political disabilities would have a good effect upon the grow
ing disposition to put down and cease all disturbances. I would stop here, but that
some might think there is some inconsistency in my opinion as to the hatreds, hostili

ties, and outrages, and my opinion as to the removal of disabilities. In my opinion,
the whole reconstruction of Congress, including the fourteenth and fifteenth amend
ments, and the acts that have been passed under them and for their enforcement, is

right in principle, and the best policy that could have been adopted; and, with the

exception of this disability clause, should remain, which I believe was made for the
beat purposes and from the purest motives, the safety and security of the Government,
(was probably right at the time.) The southern people generally regard it as created
to punish and humiliate, and, in my opinion, is now only irritating without doing any
good. I am of opinion that no people on the face of the earth that ever attempted by
revolution and force of arms to break up, disintegrate, and destroy their Government
and failed, in the whole world s history, was ever so generously treated, was so gener
ally, and with so little punishment, and so soon, restored to all the rights, privileges,
and immunities of* the Government, as has been the people of the seceding States by
the National Government. It is my opinion that no race or class of people, in the
whole history of the world, kept in the condition as were the slaves of the South, that
ever showed the same fidelity to those who enslaved them as did the negroes of the
South during the war; and that being suddenly, in their uneducated state, set free,
and conferred upon them all the rights, privileges, and immunities of citizens, that
have conducted themselves orderly, law-abiding, and worthy of the privileges conferred,
beyond all the parallel in the history of the world. While in rny opinion the treat
ment of the seceded States by the National Government has been liberal beyond any
former precedent, and at the same time there has .been in these States much political
hatred and animosity that led to the outrages of which I have spoken, in my opin
ion, taking the situation of the South, her institutions, habits of her people, her civili-

z.ition, the fixed opinions of her people, honestly entertained upon the subject of slav

ery, and for which they are not alone to blame. Slavery was introduced principally,
if not altogether, among thorn by the civilization of European nations and the North
ern States, and whatever may have been the criticisms upon the opinion of the court
delivered by Chief Justice Tanoy in the Dred Scot case, still it is a fact, proven by the

practice of those nations, that, at the time slavery was introduced, the civilized nations .

r
&quot;j,,i:

fleil the negroys as having no rights that white men were bound to respect. The
institution had, from climate, soil, production, and the habits of the people, interwoven
i: ;;]{ into our industries, and into our very civilization. The rigors and hardships of

slavery, as a general rule, by the humanity of Southern masters, had been greatly
ameliorated. In the present century, the civilization of the world arrayed itself

against slavery. Much had been said and written upon the subject pro and cow. The
p -ople. of the South, for years before the war, in my opinion, pretty generally believed
i i its moral and legal right, ami in its beneficial policy, and that it was secured by^
th Constitution of the country this last, I believe, admitted by all. When abolition
was advocated in the free States, its advocates met no favor

; indeed, abolition was as
much a term of reproach in the free as in the slave States. If slavery was wrong, (as
I believe it was; in my opinion it was against natural rlyht 1 had been educated to

taink differently,) it was a wrong for which not only the South, but the North, with the
civilized world, was accountable; and if the South, where, it was valuable, and inter

woven into all its civilization and the habits of the people, stuck to it, when in the North
and other countries, where it was unprofitable, inconsistent with their habits and civili-

ation, were opposed to it, in my opinion, she did just what they would have done under
similar circumstances, entertaining similar opinions. The rights of the .States and the

power of the Federal Government had, from the organization of the Government, ques
tions of dispute : the southern view that all citizenship was through the State, and hence
the paramount allegiance of the citizen was due to tne State, and as a State could iiot
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commit treason, therefore, no man going with his State, even to takino- up arms against
Federal Government, could be guilty of treason, (and which, in mv opinion, made

alwolntcly necessary something like the fourteenth amendment,) and other ideas and

!, , *p l( - J- 1 &amp;lt;* ! J *- i- I LI I 1.1 t OU V

superior to all constitutions and laws that is, the great right of self-preservation and
Belt-protection, which, in my opinion, applies with equal force to governments as to
persons, and it was, I think, the idea of the eminent authors of the Federalist, when it,

was stated, in discussing the Constitution, no government could he presumed to intend
or embody in itseli its own destruction. The abolitionists of the North, while confined
o philosophers and a few preachers, were not regarded in the South of much import
ance, but when a great political party was organized upon hostility to slavery; and
v.-hen that party succeeded in getting- into power, the great majority &quot;of the South be-
eved it doomed slavery, in the Union, to destruction/ Some intelligent men thought

differently, and stuck to the Union until the war commenced. Those men, as a &amp;lt;^n-

eral rule, in my opinion, since the war, and slavery has been abolished, have been the
most bitter in their opposition. In my opinion, the success of the republicans was the
ultimate destruction of slavery in the Union. lint for the war, its abolition would have
been more gradual, and taken some time. Revolutions never go backward until their
er.ds are accomplished. The accomplishing of the abolition of slavery would have
come sooner or later In my opinion, if such had been fully felt ami believed in the
Smith, there would have been very little Union sentiment there. Looking at it as the
Hunthern people did, educated as they were, believing as they honestly did, and en
couraged as 1 know they were by many leading democrats North, in my opinion, it was
natural that they should attempt to withdraw, and set up a government for them
selves, where they could protect this institution. I believe any other high-toned,
chivalrous, and brave people, under similar circumstances, entertaining similar opin
ions, would have done the same thing. .In my opinion it was most fortunate for the
people of the- South that they were not successful

;
had they have been, in my opinion,

we would, ere this, have been split into different governments, and revolution after
revolution, to have ended in monarchy. Y\ hen the war was over, the Southern people
had no idea, while- they expected slavery to be abolished, that their slaves were to be
nride their political equals; and when this was done, and a constitution, as they con
sidered, forced upon them, that they considered they had defeated. My opinion that
ihe great mass felt, as 1 believe any other good, brave, and chivalrous &quot;people feeling
and believing as they did would have felt: believing, as I do, that this bitterness and
hostility was for political causes; that the great mass of the people are as good as

any other people; I am of opinion that when once they see that the people of the
nation are determined to sustain the reconstruction policy of Congress and President
(.-.runt; that the present stains is to be the lixed status of the Government; when they
abandon the idea, which, in my opinion, had its origin more in passion than reason,
or overthrowing or disregarding as null and void the reconstruction fourteenth and
iiiteenth amendments, and the congressional legislation under them, they will accept
the situation reason assume its throne. They will see, as some of them are begin
ning to see. the necessity of putting down all disguised bands, and that the time will

soon come when the name of a disguised Ku-Klux will be more odious than ever was
the -name of &quot;carpet-bagger&quot; or &quot;scalawag,&quot;

and that under the Constitution as it is,

with its amendments a perpetual, indissoluble Union, a National Government, with
the powers of a government to protect itself and its most humble citizens we will, in

my opinion, enjoy a peace and security and grow to a prosperity and greatness wo
have scarcely ever dreamed of in our wildest visions. This is founded on my lixed

opinion that these outrage s grow out of political causes, political passions, and hates,
and that when these hates and passions subside, whatever is personal and done by bad
men, all good men, uniting in good and serious earnestness, will soon be able to put
irdown. If I was of opinion, &quot;or could be made to believe, all the outrages that are

known to have been committed was from mere personal hate, malice, and pure wicked
ness of heart, and that whole communities, standing by, either sympathizing or looking
Oii indifferently, and in many instances inflaming the minds of the people against vic

tims, instead of seeking to punish the perpetrators; in that view I should not and could

liut entertain the opinion or hope of good from such a people actuated by such pass
&quot;

&amp;gt;ns.

1 v. uiihl a.&amp;gt; soon expect the leopard to change his spots, or the Ethiopean his skin ?/ as

t&amp;lt; see such a community amend its ways.

To I m committee :

The above well and deliberately considered opinions I have written down under the

sol -mnities of my oath, and, through Mr. Buckley, present them to your consideration

and for your disposal.
J. A. MINNIS.
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HUNTSVILLE, ALABAMA, October 6, 1871.

GEORGE TAYLOR (colored) sworn and examined.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Where do you live now ?

Answer. I stay .about three miles from hero now, down on the pike, at Greenbury
Smith s place, a colored man.

Question.. Are you single or married ?

Answer. I am a married man.

Question. Where did you live before you came here?
Answer. Since the surrender?

Question. Were you in the Union Army during the war?
Answer. No, sir, I never was in the Army. I refugeed from Stevenson, and went

from there to Talladega, and I staid there until after the war. Then I came back
from there up here to Stevenson.

Question. Where you had lived before ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. How long did you stay at Stevenson ?

Ansu er. About two years.

Question. What time did you leave there, with reference to the election of General
Grant ?

Answer. It was before that.

Question. How long before ?

Answer. I think it has been about two years ago.
Question. It was three years this fall since General Grant was elected.

Answer. I knew when the election was running, and, according to my recollection,
I was down in Cherokee, in Colbert-County. I moved from Huntsville down there. I

Lad stai(Wiere before that. Then I staid there until the election was over.

Question. What is your age ?

Answer. I am about twenty-seven or twenty-eight, I reckon.

Question. Were 1

you a slave before the war ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Have you ever seen the Ku-Klux ?

Answer. Yes, sir; I have seen them.

Question. Where did you see them ?

Answer. I was then in Cherokee, Colbert County.
Question. Was that before or after General Grant s election ?

Answer. That was after.

Question. How many did you see together?
Answer. When I saw them when they interfered with me there were twelve men
Question. Were they on foot or on horseback?
Answer. On foot.

Question. Had they disguises on ? /
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Tell how they were disguised ?

Answer. I will tell you. I sat up until about 2 o clock in the night, and laid down,
and they came to my door about 3 o clock, I reckon. They rapped at my door. I was
asleep and thought I heard some person. In opening the door they made a noise that
awakened me, and they were right at the bed when I waked up. They being there in
that way, and I not knowing who they were, I was excited, and I drew back and struck

one, and they got around the bed, (my wife was also in it,) and they gathered me and
took me out of doors. They rapped and struck me with a pistol a t inu: or two on the
head, and the blood commenced running down. They took me about thirty or fifty

y;mU right opposite the house. The first move was to lay me down on the Lack, but

they could not hold me that way and whip me, and they laid me down on the face, and
bat on my head and on my arms and on my feet, and they whipped me. I think they
all whipped; they took it, around and around. After they got through whipping me,
they took SOUK; sharp instrument and stuck it into me all about over inc. I could not
move. They did not allow me to even groan. I held my breath to save myself a few
minutes. They said they believed I was dead, and took me up and shook me and
rubbed the hand over my face. After they did that, they passed a law

;
twelve of

them got around me; they put pistols all around my head, and told me I would have
to leave that place by Sunday night, but another, the captain, said, &quot;No, give him
until Tuesday,&quot; and that if I did not leave by Tuesday night I would go up. So I

left there, and all I had I lost principally. I was making a crop there, living with
a gentleman named George Duncan. He, was asleep when they came, he said, and did
not know anything about, it. My wife went down to see him and he carne up, and by
that time they were gone,. I left there and came up here to limit sville, and staid hero
four or live weeks, and then went off across that mountain, (southward,) across Flint

River, and attended meeting there
;
and then I moved back here two or three weeks
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before Christmas. Then I staid out at Mr. Tom Macaulay s, and made a crop there
last year. Then I moved down on the pike to Greenbury Smith s place.

Question. Have you been back to where you were whipped?
Answer. I never have been back there.

(Question. Did you have any property?
Answer. I had a bargain for two horses and had commenced paying for it, and bought

my meat and sugar and coffee, and had several things in my house which amounted
to a heap. But they took me off in an excitement, and I did not hardly have my mind
for two or three weeks, they beat me so beating me about the head so that I hardlyknew anything.

Question. Did you wait until Sunday night?
Answer. I staid until Tuesday evening. That was done Saturday night, and they

gave me from Saturday night until Monday night to stay, and I had to leave Tuesday.
1 left then. I left my wii c there, and she came up here afterward. Then a party of
them run a garnishee or an attachment on what I had down there, and made me pay
$1-2 or $1:3 on it, and my losses, according to my judgment, were over $500 what I had
In-fore me and all that I lost by leaving.

Question. Did you have a crop in the ground ungathered?
Answer. 1 had made arrangements with this gentleman. I had two mules and sixty

acres of land, and my provisions to last all the year, and never got it. I had bargained
with him for a horse which was my horse.

Question. How much had you paid on the horse ?

Answer. I do not know how much. I was going to work it out.

Question. Had you worked some, on it?

Answer. I had commenced cutting wood, and so on; you know how it is when a
colored man buys anything.

Question. Had you paid for your groceries or provisions ?

Answer. Yes. sir. *

(Jitexlion. Did you see any appearance of horses about where you were whipped ?

Answer. No, sir
;
these men did not have any horses

;
if they had, they were back in.

the woods: but I didn t see any.
Qutstion. Were you and your wife in the cabin by yourselves?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. How far was it to your nearest neighbor?
Answer. About as far as to that house across the street there.

(Question. Did you know any of those men ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Neither by their sizes, nor voices, nor general appearance ?

Answer. I could not say that I knew any of them. I might have known them, but

they took me in an excitement, and in the night and disguised j
that would disturb a

man s mind so he could not tell.

Question. You say you set up late that night ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Were you expecting the Ku-Klux ?

Answer. I went over to the place to town.

Question. What place ?

Answer. Cherokee, and went into a gentleman s store. His name is Dean. They
were talking secrets. Two other white gentlemen were there, and ho stepped back
where I was, and says,

&quot; How dare you stand here and listen to white gentlemen talk
;

you black impudent sou of a bitch, walk out of my house or I ll blow your brains out
iu a mi 11 lite.&quot; That was Saturday night. I cannot say it was him or them that
came to my house.

Question What reason did they give for whipping you at the time ?

Answer. They didn t give any reason at all at the time. I asked them
;
some came

to me, and I said,
&quot; What did you abuse me for ?&quot; They said,

&quot;

It s none of your busi

ness.&quot; But before the presidential election came on, I was preaching down in that set

tlement, and the land-holders with black ones on their laud there told the black on as

not to keep my company, for they thought I was a northern spy in there preaching
Union

;
and if 1 didn t vote for them,Jthey intended to put me up, and they didn t think

I was raised in the southern part any how. They asked me if i was. I told them tluit

I was that I was never in the northern part intuy life. I voted a southern ticket at

that time when the election came off to save my life.

Question. A democratic ticket?
Answer. Yes, sir ; the democratic ticket. I voted for them. I thought they wouldn t

interfere with me. They didn t interfere with me
;
but it seemed after I voted with

them they were not satisfied.

Question. You were a preacher, you say?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Of what church ?

Answer. 1 belong to the Methodist Episcopal Church.
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Question. The Methodist Episcopal Church North, or South ?

Answer. The Methodist Episcopal Church, North. Parson Lakin, perhaps you know
him, is the main elder of the church here in Huntsville.

Question. Was that church organized under his direction ?

Answer. Yes, sir. [
.

Question. And you were a preacher in it ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. You say these white men told the negroes not to go and hear you preach,
as you were a northern spy ?

Answer. Yes, sir. They did this thing against me, and I didn t know it until the col
ored people told me about it, and they advised me to leave that country; hut I had
married there aud behaved myself, and never knew anything about politics any more
than I heard men say ;

but never took up time with politics.

Question. Did you ever preach politics in the pulpit ?

Answer. No, sir; never.

Question. You have kept your political sentiments to yourself?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Had you given any offense, so far as you know, to the white people?
Answer. No, sir

;
I behaved myself and never gave any offense at all. They seemed

to think much of me.

Question. Were you industrious during week days ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
I worked and labored hard. These facts can bo proven now.

Question. Were you married and living with your wife at the time ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Describe as well as you can the false faces and clothes that these Ku-Klux
had on.

Answer. They had on something like an old-fashioned hunting-shirt, as they have
them in this southern part. They had a belt around them, and were buttoned plumb
up here, and had a black gown that came all around

;
some had black gowns and some

other colors. They were of different colors.

Question. What did they have over their heads ?

Answer. It seemed to me like a cloth
;

it had marks made over it for eye-brows, and
holes cut for eyes, and a place for the nose, and they were tied around the neck and
back of the head below, in some way, and under the chin. That is the way they were
fixed.

Question. Had they horns ?

Answer. Some of them had something like horns. They were not all disguised alike.

One had on one kind of thing, and another had another thing. Some had on something
that stuck away out in front like a sheep s head, and some stuck away up high.

Question. Where did they say they came from ?

Answer. They said they were just out of the ujoon. They had some kind of whistle

blowing.
Question. Did they make any threats or require you to leave the country ?

Answer. Yes, sir; when they whipped me they told me I had to leave the country,
and if I didn t they would put me up. The gentleman I was living with, Mr. George
Duncan, as fine a man as I ever lived with in my life, wanted me to stay there. Next

morning I went down and showed him. I was bloody from my head down to my wai.st,
as bloody as if I was in a slaughter-house.

Question. Did they require you to strip ?

Answer. No sir, I had gone to bed aud had my clothes off; only my drawers aud shirt

on.

Question. How many lashes did they strike you ?

Answer. I can t say, except from the time they took; I reckon it was three hundred
or four hundred laslirs. It was very severe. I could not sit or lie down for a long time.
It cut into my backbone so deep that it is still affected. My back was sore for two
or three mouths.

By Mr. BECK :

Question. How long had you lived with this man George Duncan ?

Answer. I staid there I reckon about a year, not quite a year. I married the saaio

year I moved there. I married and \\ent up there along in March, I think, and at

tended garden ft&amp;gt;r him.

Question. This whipping took place the winter afterward ?

Answer. It took place directly after Christmas, a week or two weeks after Christmas.

Question. The time of the whipping was about two weeks after Christmas ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. There was no crop in the ground then ?

Aimrtr. No, sir
; only we were making preparations. I had two mules that were to

tend sixty acres, and he was to give me half of what I made, he to furnish the place
and everything, and the stock, and to feed the stock. I gave him half.
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Question. Your loss was what you think you could have rnadc if you had been per
mitted to carry out your contract ?

Answer. Yes, sir. I worked night and day, and had two or three hundred cords of
wood cut that I got a dollar a cord for

;
I had men hired to cut the timber laps alreadydown

;
I was making two or three dollars a day.

(Question. Can you read or write f

Answer. I can read a little, but not writing, sir.

(Jueslion. When did you turn preacher, and how did you manage to get along with
preaching !

Answer. A man can read enough to understand the Scriptures and preach, but when
it comes to writing, it is a di Hereut thing.

(Question. Could you read a book like that ? [showing the witness the volume of printed
Alabama testimony taken by the committee.]

Answer. I do not suppose I could. It depends on what a man studies. If a man
studies the Scriptures, it comes more natural and easy to him to read it; but you know
more about that than 1 do, for you are a scholar.

(Question. I only wanted to know whether you could read and write, and the extent
of your abilities in that way, you being a preacher.

Answer. I can read a little, but not to read such books.

Question. How long have you been preaching?
Answer. Ever since I was young. 1 professed religion when I was twelve or thirteen

years old, and went to preaching while I was young.
Question. While you were still a slave?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. You have been preaching ever since?
Answer. Yes, sir, trying to do so. and to do what was right.

Question. Have you had a particular congregation ?

Answer. No, sir. I did not have none of my own
;
are you speaking of slavery times?

Question. Xo, when yon were whipped ?

Answer. Xo, 1 was under preachers in charge, and was sent to preach here and there.

They sent me, according to the system of our church, to this place and that, to Tuscum-
bia, and across Tennessee River. Xow I am a local preacher, a minister of the gospel;
but I was not at that time.

Question. You were.just preaching about wherever they sent you ?

Answer. Yes, sir. Like a man was on a circuit : I was acting in the circuit preacher s

place. The church was not organized then a it is now, because the country was torn

up so.

Question. You have not been disturbed since you came up here?
Answer. Xo, sir. no person has interfered with me since I have been here.

(Question. That was the January after the President was elected f

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. January, 1809 ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Was there much opposition there among the white people to the organiza
tion of the Methodist Episcopal Church, North ?

Answer. Yes, sir, a good deal
;
and I expect until now there is, because Parson Lakin,

who is the elder of our church, preached down at Tuscumbia. That was the head
church there. The old Southern Methodist Church, or white people that used to own
the people in slavery, would not have anything to do with the Methodist Episcopal
Church. They didn t recognize it, and didn t want any black people to join it; be

cause, they said, that was the church that was started for a Union society to elect Mr.

Grant.

Question. That that was a society organized for political purposes to elect General

Grant ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did you ever hear such doctrine advanced in the church ?

Answer. Xo, sir.

Question. How did those whites down there like Mr. Lakin ?

Answer. They didn t like him. I was talking to him
;

I saw him down there at the

same time, and I reported to him, as I was telling you here, how I was treated down
there for preaching, and he then sont me to Mr. Wager, the captain.

By Mr. BECK :

Question. You made an affidavit containing the whole of the facts ?

Answer. Yes, sir. I went to hi inland he directed me to come to Captain Bone here,

and he told me he would carry the application on to Washington City himself.

Question. Is that it ? [Indicating the affidavit as printed in the appendix to the tes

timony of Rev. A. S. Lakin, page 148.]
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Anmrer. To come to the truth of the business I am not scholar enough to read all

kinds of books
;

I could not read a book like that. I can read the Bible. I don t want
to come belbre wise men and make a fool of myself.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Do you desire to have your affidavit that you then made incorporated with

your evidence here ?

Answer. Yes. sir.

Question. Who drew that affidavit for you to sign and swear to ?

Answer. This gentleman I spoke to, Mr. Wager. Parson Lakin directed me there,
and Mr. Wager directed me to Captain Bone here.

[The affidavit above refered to is as follows :]

STATE or ALABAMA, Madison County, ss :

On this 29th day of May, A. D. 1871, personally appeared before me, James H. Bone,
clerk of the circuit court in and for the county and State aforesaid, George Taylor,
resident of Madison County, late of Colbert County, State of Alabama, who, being duly
sworn, deposes and says that in January, 18G9, he was living with Mr. George Duncan,
near Cherokee, Colbert County, Alabama, where he had lived ten years before; about
the middle of the month, about 2 o clock at night, he was aroused from sleep by some
persons breaking down the door of his house

;
after the door was broken down some

six men, dressed in disguise, their heads covered with a white cloth sack, and their
bodies with black gowns ;

these men came to my bed where I was, and took me up and
carried me out of .the house from my wife

; they took me about fifty or sixty yards, and
laid me down on my back, but I fought them so they turned me on my face and
stretched my arms and legs out, a man holding each. When I came out of the house
I saw some more of these men. I counted twelve in all. While in this position these
man whipped ine&amp;gt;

first one and then another, relieving each other. They hit me about
five hundred times. They also struck me on the head with a pistol two or three times.

They told me not to move or grunt or halloo
;
and I held my breath, and did not move

when they hit me. When they shook me and I did not move, they stuck mo with some
sharp instrument in back, legs, and rump ;

all over these parts they stuck their knives.
Then they raised me up, and one said,

&quot; tie is dead.&quot; He then rubbed his hands over my
face. I could not hold my breath any longer. And then they all pointed their pistols
at my head, and said, &quot;You must leave this county by Monday night.&quot; One of them said
he could uot getaway; he cannot get ready by Monday night. Then they said they
Avould give me until Tuesday. This occurred on a Saturday night, and if I was found
there after that I would go up. On Tuesday night I left, leaving everything, and lost

my labor.

GEORGE -f

8

TAYLOR.
mark.

Witness :

JOHN H. WAGER.

Sworn to and subscribed before me this 29th day of May, 1871 ; and I hereby certify
that the foregoing affidavit was carefully read over by me to the affiant before he

signed and made oath to the same.
JAMES H. BONE, Cleric.

HUNTSVILLE, ALABAMA, October 7, 1871.

WILLIAM HENDERSON (colored) sworn and examined.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. How old are you ?

Answer. I don t know, sir.

Question. Where are you living now?
Answer. I am living here in town, out at Mr. Davis s grove.
Question. Where did you live last August ?

Answer. At Mr. Calvin Goodloe s.

Question. WT
hat county was that in?

Ansivcr. Colbert.

Question. Were you working upon Mr. Goodloe s place ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Were you married ?

Anaiccr. Yes, sir.

Question. Living with your wife ?

Answer. Yes, sir.
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Question. Were you visited at that time by any Ku-Klux?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Go 011 and tell the committee all the particulars.
Ansioer. Mr. Goodloe and me sat up that night, on the loth of August, until about 11
clock at night, talking about one thing and another. He is the man I was workiu&quot;

for
;

I went home and laid down. I shut ray door and latched it on the inside. There
was a gimlet-hole bored through, and a string came outside that was fastened to the
latch. My wife was not at home. She was a mile and a half off. My wife s bi^vst
boy was with me.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. What is his name ?

Answer. Mack Henderson. It was about 12 oclock when I went to sleep that night.When I woke up, there were four men standing, two in the door, and one on each side
of me. They hallooed, Strike a light, strike a light.&quot; I shook my little boy for him
to get up. I looked up and saw them. There was a window 011 each side of my house.
There was good starlight, but no moonshine. The stars didn t give a mighty good li^ht.
There was a window each side, with the windows closed down, but no shutters. I
looked and saw that they were disguised men.

Question. Was a light struck ?

Anviver. Yes, sir; my boy struck a light in a minute, when he was told. It was a
cedar light.

Question. What did they say ?

Answer. They told me to get up. I got up after the light was made. They ordered
me to put on my clothes. 1 put on my clothes. They said they wanted me to go and
bhow them all the houses on the place.

Question. On Mr. Goodloe s place ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What did they say they wanted you to show the houses for ?

Answer. There was Cater Thompson had killed a man a little before that, three
weeks or a month before, and they were hunting him, as they told me.

Question. Was Cater Thompson a colored man
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. They said they were hunting him ?

Answer. Yes, sir. After they got out of niy door, I made an attempt to go to the houses
where people were living on the place. We went right through Mr. Goodloe s yard. They
halted me then, and didn t want to go that way. but around by the quarters. That was
half a mile. I told them I didn t know Cater Thompson when I saw him. They said,
&amp;lt;; No difference; come and show us the houses.&quot; I went; on with them until we got
about half-way from Mr. Goodloe s house to his quarters, due west from his house.
The railroad was in the south. When we got about half-way from Mr. Goodloe s house
to the quarters, they said they didn t want to go that way. I told them that was the

way to the quarters. They said they didn t want to go that way. I said. &quot;There s no
use in my going. I don t know that man when I see him.&quot; They said I must go.

They went on to the quarters. Eight on the railroad they halted, and asked me if I

knew that place. I told them I did. They said they had better not go any further,
and one reached down and picked up a rope, and another picked up a bottle of whisky,
and one said, We ll have to tie you. We re afraid you ll run off and not show us.&quot; I

told them I wouldn t. They said they would tie me, and they tied me. One said,
&quot; Tie

him tight ;
he s a mighty stout nigger.&quot; They tied my hands, and tied the rope around

my right leg and behind me. When they got about half a mile further, the rope was cut-

ting my arms, and I begged them to slacken it a littl; . They said no, they wouldn t
;

they wouldn t hurt me; to come along peaceably. They wanted to go to Whit New-
sonie s place, to find John Atkinson s house; they believed he was there.

Question. Who f

Answer. This Cater Thompson. I went with them to John Atkinson s house, and I

showed where it was. They said, &quot;O. we don t want John Atkinson s; we want you;
we want to put you on the&quot;other side of the river to keep you from appearing at the

next court
;
that s all we want to keep you from appearing at the next court.&quot; We

went 011 a piece, two hundred or three hundred yards further, and says he,
&quot; Who told

you to have us brought up in court, anyhow ?&quot; I told him nobody. He says,
&quot; You re

a God-damned liar,
7 and punched me with a gun. He says,

&quot; Didn t Mr. .Whit Dean
tell you to carry us to court F I said,

&quot;

No, sir.&quot; Then t\vo of them drew a gun on

me. cocked, and says,
&quot; Didn t Whit Dean tell you?&quot;

Then I says,
&quot;

Yes, sir, lie did.&quot;

Says he,
&quot; Who else told you f&quot; I said, Nobody.&quot; Then Billy Malone for, mind you,

1 knew two of these men then Billy Malone says,
&quot; Didn t Calvin Goodie tell you F

Says I,
&quot;

No, sir.&quot; Then lie turned in and punched me in the back with a gun again,
and says,

&quot; Didn t he tell you .&quot; Says I,
&quot;

No, sir, he didn t.&quot; We went on. He says,
&quot;

Everything I ask you, you call Dean and Goodloe God-damned black sons of bitches :

do you heaH&quot; I said,
&quot;

Yes, sir.&quot; He kept asking me questions to make me say Whit

37 A
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Dean was a God-damned black son of a bitch. When they got to the horses, they
asked me,

&quot; Did Mr. Dean tell yon the first time to carry them to court ? Did he tell

you what to do?&quot; I said, &quot;No.&quot; He says,
&quot; You told mo so.&quot; I said,

&quot; You looked
like you were going to kill me.&quot; He says,

&quot; Didn t he tell you so f I said,
&quot;

Yes.&quot;

They went on, good two miles from where they took me, to where the horses were.
When they got to the horses, they had made up a little brash lire with sticks in the
bushes. When they carried me up there, they halted and took a drink all of them.
Mr. Billy Malone is as large a man as you are, I reckon, [Mr. Pratt, the chairman,]
and a young man, too. Mr. Duce Lindsay flung the curtain up from his face and
drank. After they drank, and I kept looking at Billy Malone so, for I had lived with
him for twelve months, and I knew his size and voice and face, and kept looking at his

face, and Mr. Holseapple walked np and jerked me by the back of the collar and kept
me from looking at Malone, and he went and mumbled to Mr. Malone, and he pulled
the veil over his face again. They went on half a mile north of there, and they said it

was getting too nigli day, and they tried to make me get up on the fence and get on
the horse behind them. Then we were on the straight Newport road to the river. I

was so tied by the hands and legs that I could not get up, and one of them, Mr. Duce
Lindsay, walked up and caught me by the arm and pulled me up on the fence so I

could get on the horse. I got on the horse and put him in a right smart gait, pacing
and loping. When I got half way my hat dropped oiF, this very hat that I have hero
now. This place was in the hat then that the puppy had torn that very day playing
with it. My hat, when I got half way to the river, which was a mile and a half,

dropped off, and one of them got down and got it. There were two men I didn t know.
I never saw their faces. One of them got down and got my hat. Ho was right behind
Mr. Billy Malone, on a gray horse, which I am content was Mr. Frank Rankin s gray
horse. Mr. Duce Lindsay was riding Mr. Holseapple s horse, and Mr. Holseapple was
riding a big bay, a sort of high-tailed horse, a natural pacing horse. That night I

didn t know the horse at the time. I knew him, too, but I couldn t make him out. 1 knew
the horse very well, though. There was one pony in the crowd I didn t know. There
were four horses and live men. It was a sort of light, roauish, mustang-looking pony.
When we got half-way to the river my hat dropped off, and the one right behind, Mr.

Maloue, got it. When we got to the river, Billy Malone, and Holseapple, and this

other mail had rode on, and got a skiff, to carry me across, as they said
;
when we got

there, they were standing right before the Newport store-door, and in about ten steps
of it. When they dismounted horses, they told me to get down. I said,

&quot;

Gentlemen,
I can t get down ; please help me down.&quot; One of them ran up, and catched me by the

collar, and pulled me off. That was Mr. Duce Lindsay. Then Mr. Billy Malone was
sitting right in front of me, again, by the fence, holding the two horses. He is as

large a man as you [Mr. Pratt] are
;
there isn t any other such a man as he is in that

settlement. There is as big men, but not like him. I knew him by his size, and face,
and voice. I stood there looking at .him, and Mr. Holseapple walked up, and catched me
by the arm, and told me to \valk down by the river bank. He walked on before, ami
told them to follow him. Wo were standing upon the river bank

;
the water had fallen

down about twenty-live feet. We marched down to the edge of the water, and took up
the river about one hundred and twenty or one hundred and thirty yards, I reckon

;

it may be more. There wo came to where Mulberry Creek runs in the river, and the skiff

was iii the mouth of Mulberry Creek. They bailed the water out of the skiff. Mr. Holse

apple went in first, and called in Mr. Dvice Lindsay, and then told me to get in. After I got
in, he told this other gentleman that I didn t know, that I hadn t seen the face of, to come
in by me. That left me in the bow of the skiff. When wo got about half-way across, Mr.

Holseapple says, &quot;God damn it, I am not going to carry this nigger across here. It si

too nigh day ;
1 can t get back home. I can t carry the damned nigger across.&quot; Says

he, to me,
&quot; Get out.&quot; I says, &quot;I can t get out; if you will untie me I can.&quot; He says,

&quot;

Fling him out.&quot; This one I didn t know says,
&quot;

Fling him out
;
shall I fling him out f

He says,
&quot;

Yes.&quot; He put my feet on the bow, and turned me over backward, as I was
begging him to untie me. The last I remember he was holding me under water with
one of the canoe paddles. I commenced struggling under water, and when I found.

myself, I had got one hand untied, and had come up to the top with one hand untied. *

I staid on the top a little while, and then I had got so full of water and so near tired

out, I couldn t hardly swim, and I went down again. As I went down again, I struggled
and got out the other hand. Then, when I got to the top again, I staid. I looked and
saw the men fastening the skiff at the bank, and I came out until I got to water up
about here, [the eyes.] I took a cramp in one hip and thigh. I aimed to swim
and did swim until I got to where the water struck me around the waist before I

stopped. Then I stopped and untied the cotton plow-line from my leg. The day was
then all open good almost. Then I went on almost to the bank. I had got so worn out
and was cramped in one leg, and I had to lie down in the water, and then I crawled
out on ihe bank through the mud and water. I could not walk to save my life. Then
[ laid down, and flung up water and one thing and another, until I got so 1 could walk.
[ went up again a little further, and threw up again oil a stump, and got so I could do
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pretty well. I thought they might bo lying in the woods, and I pulled out home,
watching to get to Mr. Goodloe s without being caught ;

and I went through Mr. Ha
ley s field, and Mr. Oat s plantation, and Barton s, and by that time I was into Mr.
Goodloe s land, the man I lived with. When I was coming to him, he motioned to me
to come into the garden. The way I went to his house I came into the garden first.

He motioned to me and came to me very peert, and he asked me if I had been after the
doctor. I told him, &quot;No, sir; I couldn t go after no doctor.&quot; Says he, &quot;Why?&quot; I

says,
&quot; The Ku-Klux came last night and took me.&quot; He walked off and came back, and

said.
&quot;

Henderson, don t you tell me no crooked tales
; you know no Ku-Klux could have

taken you off last niglit without my knowing it
;
some one would have told me.&quot; Old

man Lewis and me did live under one roof. I told him they did do it. He asked me
which way they carried mo

;
which way they went with me. I told him which way

they went. He asked me did they have horses. I told him where their horses were.
He asked me whore they came into the river. I told him. He went to my little boy
and asked him. The boy said that the men came in there

;
that ho never saw but four.

There was but four in the house, but one stood out of doors, and that made five. Then
he asked uncle Lewis did he see them. He said lie heard them talking and knocking
at the door, but didn t know what it meant. Then he got on his horse and took the
road I told him the men went to find them

;
to find the track of them, and see if there

was any signs. He got down to the river where they carried me, and Mr. Goodloe lost

his powder-gourd, and he sent me after it the next day. I came home then, and staid

there two days after that was done. Then I came up here.

Quexliou. This, you say, was the 15th of August last?

Anxiccr. Yes, sir.

Question. You may describe the disguise of these men that you saw iu your cabin.

How were they dressed?
Answer. They had on some kind of black overcoat that came down nearly to the

heels, and around the tail of it a white stripe. The cape and coat both had white

stripes up and down the front, and a white stripe around the wrist of the coat. They
had on hats, and veils under the hats, that came down over the face and down on the

shoulders behind.

By Mr. BUCKLEY:

Question. Were there any places for their eyes?
Answer. No, sir

; they hail ou veils.

By the CHAIRMAN:

Question. Were they common hats?
Answer. Yes. sir.

Question. There were five in all, you say, four inside of the cabin and one outside ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. How many of these five did you know?
Ansivcr. I didn t know any one except by the size in the house. I never saw any

one s face in the house. I didn t know any one there except by the size and walk.

That was Mr. William Malone. I knew him by his walk. He has a walk different

from any man I ever saw, and he is a man as big as you [Mr. Pratt] are. I knew him.

in the house.

By Mr. BUCKLFA* :

Question. Did you see any of their faces ?

Answer. Not in the house.

Question. But after you left the house, did you ?

Anmcr. Yes, sir. And then, as I was telling you about Mr. William Malone punching

me, I knew his voice, for he spoke in his natural voice then, and I was then certain.

After he took the drink I saw his face. Then I was not much scared, because I knew
the principal part of the men, and I saw Mr. Duco Lindsay s face. I rode w : th him

with the veil over his face talking with him.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. You are well acquainted with them ?

Answer. Yes, sir. I lived with Mr. Malouo last year, and I traded at Mr. Duce Lind-

sav s store.

^Question. When they told you they wanted to put you on the other side oi the river

to keep you from appearing at court, what did they refer to &quot;?

Answer. It was to keep me from appearing at court against Mr. William Malone.

Question. What was William Malone accused of?

Answer. Of taking a crop from me.

question. Had you sued William Malone?
Anmrr. I didn t say sue him. He had threatened mo to kill me. I was afraid to go

anywhere and nobody would hire me, because he wanted me to work for him this year,

and I would not do it. He claimed me to live with &quot;him,
because I had promised. .
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thought if I would promise to stay with him this year, he would give me my
crop. I found he would not do it, and I wouldn t stay with him. He told me he would
have me killed, and have the Ku-Klux to do it. He said if I didn t live with him, he
would have me killed

;
I shouldn t live in this country.

(Question. Had you threatened him ?

Answer. No, sir. I went to Squire Bell to have a settlement with him, and after he
would not do it and threatened me, I asked for a peace-warrant, but instead of that

Squire Bell issued a warrant for us to settle, and ho took away all of my crop at the
last settlement. Then he issued a peace-warrant for me, and they came and made a
settlement to Mr. Malone s advantage, and I took an appeal to the court, and he was
going to kill mo before it came up in the court.

(&amp;gt;ne*tion. He told you he would not kill you himself, but have the Ku-Klux to do it?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. You are sure you saw him there that night ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. You knew him by his voice and size ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. You saw his face also when he was drinking ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And they were very anxious to know who advised you to appear at court

against this Malone ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
and Mr. Holseapple, who was the captain, told ine.

By Mr. BECK :

Question. Who was what?
Answer. Who was captain of them Ku-Klux. He told meat that time,

&quot;

I knew that

they did it, and whenever I get the right facts of it, God damn them, I ll kill them
;
I

knew that Whit Dean told you and Calvin Goodloe told you to do this thing, for by
God you haven t got sense enough to do it. I knew they did, and whenever I get the

right track of it, I ll kill theni3 God damn them.&quot;

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. And they finally made you confess that he did tell you to do it?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. But that was not true ?

Answer. It was not. I knew this thing, for when I staid at Kuoxville and Nashville

I was in the court-house almost all the time that I staid there, and I knew that if there

was any eifect of law, I could get justice -and so I went for it.

Question. Now you may give the names of those white men whom you saw that niglit
.as far as you knew them. Who was the captain ?

Answer. Mr. Holseapple.

Question. What is his first name ?

Answer. James Holseapple.
Question. Did he appear to be the captain ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
he was called captain, and gave orders.

Question. Who else ?

Answer. Mr. William Malone; Mr. Duce Lindsay. Those are the only men I knew to

make myself satisfied.

Question. Only those three you knew positively ?

Answer. That s all.

Question. Did you see their faces ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
I saw their faces and knew them, and called them

;
when I came

back, the first man I saw was Mr. Goodloe, and I told him the men and the horses;
and the horse I swore to, Duce s brother Bob camo up here and swore he had hired it

the same night, and that he was with Captain Holseapple watching a mill that night.

Question. How far from your cabin were the horses hitched ?

Ancsivcr. About two miles, if not farther. I will be qualified it was two miles.

Question. W
T
erc the horses disguised ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. How far was it from where the horses were hitched to the river?

Answer. About three miles and a half.

Question. What river do you speak of?
Answer. The Tennessee River. It was about two miles to the river, but to where

they carried mo was about three miles and* a half.

Question. How far was that from your cabin ?

Answer. About two miles
;

it was called over that.

Question. They took you a roundabout way I

Answer. Yes, sir
; they took me due south, and the river was due north, and they

took me due west about two miles and due north about one-half a mile, and due east

three miles, and then I had to tuln north about half a mile.
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Question. You say your bands were tied behind you?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Witb a rope ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
witb a plow-line.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. Were tbere any marks of tbe rope on your bands or wrists?
Answer. Yes, sir. I showed tbem to Mr. Goodloe tbe next morning. Tbere were

knots on botb my wrists as big as iny finger, and after they got well there staid a blackmark on my arm for weeks.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. You say there were five men and four horses?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. How did tbe fifth man travel ?

Answer, lie rode behind about half way to the river, and then he walked but be-
fore we got to the river all walked.

Question. You rode behind Malone ?

Anau cr. No, sir
;
behind Duco Lindsay.

Question. Were your legs tied when you were riding the horse?
Answer. No, sir; only one leg. My bauds were tied, and the rope came around and

tied one leg.

Question. What did they say they were taking you across the river for ?

Answer, To keep me from appearing in court against Mr. Malone.
Question. Was court then near at hand &amp;gt;

Answer. I don t know exactly at what time court was, but it was some time in this
last month past.

Question. Could you tell which one it was that pushed and held you down with that
oar /

Answer. No, sir.

Question. How far were you across the river at the time they threw you out of the
skiff?

Answer. I didn t expose I was quite hall-way. I thought I was half-way, but I don t

expose it was. After I went back next day and saw the river I didn t think I could
have been half way.

Question. How wide is tbe river at that place ?

Answer. About 1,HOO yards from one edge to the other.

(Question. How deep was the water at the place where you were thrown out of the
ski lit ?

Answer. I don t know
;

I can t say; but I knew this, it was a great deal deeper than
I was high.

Question. It was over your head?
Answer. Yes, sir, a great deal.

Question. You say they refused to untie your bauds to give you a chance?.
Answer. Yes, sir.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. Were your feet tied when you were thrown into the water?
Answer. Yes, sir

; they tied both together after they got to the river.

By the CIIAIKMAX :

Question. Before they put you in the skiff?

Answer. Yes, sir. They didn t tie them plumb up together; I could work them a
little in this way, [illustrating.] One leg was already tied. The rope was a long plow-
line, and one man walked behind and held it like driving an ox or anything of the

kind, and when we got down there he tied both legs.

Question. Had you had any trouble with any of these men except Malone?
Answer. None, only when I had them bound when I had Mr. Maloue and Mr. Wil

liam Newsome under a thousand-dollar bond, because they had made threats. At the
time Mr. Duce Lindsay and Bob Lindsay and William Newsome and William Malone
were going to whip me one day at Cherokee, and Mr. Duce Lindsay said, You can t

whip that nigger; he s not going to let you whip him;&quot; and he says, &quot;I ll bet you a

thousand dollars I ll go in there and hold a pistol over him, and you may whip him as

much as you please.&quot; He says, If it is a thousand dollars, put in all you will toward

it, because I ll do it.&quot; Then 1 said,
&quot; Mr. Dean, don t let them do it

;
I want to go home

with the express.&quot; I had come for express.

By Mr. BUCKLEY:

Question. Is Mr. Dean a merchant?
^Liiswer. Yes, sir. I bad to get some express, and the train was ten or twelve min

utes late, and I was waiting and I said, Mr. Dean, don t let them abuse me. If ihey
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go to abuse me I might run off and leave the express-wagon.&quot; He says, &quot;They shan t

whip you ; you were sent for express.&quot; When they found he was trying to protect me
they didn t say anything more to me. When I drove across to the depot Mr. William
Malone was sitting there. I was waiting for the train. He rode across to where I was
and said was I done with that suit. I said, &quot;I am not doing nothing about it now.&quot;

He says,
&quot; You went to Mr. Rather Mayer and Burns Mayer,&quot; which they had taken the

case iii hand. I had taken an appeal to get my crop.

Question. Were they lawyers I

Answer. Yes, sir; they were up here to defend Mr. Malone and them Ku-Klux. I

went for them, but after they got here I suppose they gave them $500, and they took
their case in hand. He says to me,

&quot; You ve a lawyer ;
I ve heard you give that case

in hand to Rather Mayer and Burns Mayer to attend to, and I m going to kill
you.&quot;

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Who said this to you ?

Answer. Billy Malone. Says he,
&quot; I m going to kill you. If it was not for these two

women sitting there, I come to do it now.&quot; There was two women there. &quot; But I ll

meet you at another time. I ll meet you in some of these roads, and I ll kill you, nig
ger. You ve got to drop that suit or I ll drop your life.&quot; 1 went up afterwards and
had them bound over to keep the peace. He went to Mr. Burns Mayer and Rather

Mayer and submitted the ease to them and offered a five-hundred-dollar bond
;
and

when he was there I stepped into Burns Mayer s office, and he was in there offering his

five-hundred-dollar bond, and he went down and plead guilty and offered his bond, and
they asked me if it was satisfactory, and I told them it was not, and they put him
under a thousand-dollar bond. That was all that passed.

Question. How many did you have bound over to court Billy Malone and who ?

Answer. Billy Newsonie.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. Before whom or by whom were they bound over what squire ?

Answer. Green, I believe his name is, of Tuscuuibia.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. How long was this before the 15th of August, when you were Ku-Kluxed i

Answer. It was the 15th of August when I was Ku-Kluxed.

Question. How long was it before the 15th of August that you had Newsoino and
Malone bound over ?

Answer. Well, sir, it was about a month and a half, I reckon.

Question. Had you ever had any trouble with Duco Lindsay ?

Answer. None, only they wanted to help Maloue to whip me.

Question. Did you know Lindsay?
Answer. Yes, sir. You see I trade with them, and he and Mr. Malone had taken all

my crop, and I could not see what it was for. After I had traded with him they had
taken my crop and threatened me. That evening I was settled with to make me say
I was satisfied; and Mr. Bob Lindsay came up and swore I said I was satisfied; and
he drove his wagon up there, and they took my crop and hauled it away. I didn t like

that, and therefore they were going to whip me at Cherokee the first time they met me
there.

Question. How long did you stay in that neighborhood after you were thrown into
the river ?

Answer. Two days.
Question. Have you ever been back there since ?

Ansiver. No, sir.

Question. Have any of these men ever been taken up for Ku-Kluxing you ?

Answer. Yes, sir; they have been taken up and have been up here and tried.

Question. Before the United States commissioner?
Answer. Yes, sir; Captain Day.
Question. Are they bound over to court ?

Answer. No, sir; he relieved two of them in here that day and that night ;
some time

in the night he relieved the other one
;
he told me the next morning he had.

By Mr. BECK :

Question. Who were those who were tried before Captain Day and acquitted ?

AuKH-cr. M r. Ilolscapple, Mr. William Malone, and Duce Lindsay were the three men
who were tried here

;
and they hadn t acquitted Mr. llolseapple that evening ; they

had acquitted two, and in the night, some time that night, they acquitted him.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Was there any other witness against them except you?
Answer. Yes, sir

;
Mr. Calvin Goodloe and my boy .Mack, now going on thirteen years

old. 1 had several witnesses subpoenaed, but they didn t but two of them come up.
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Question. It was tried here in Himtsville ?

Answer. Yes. sir
; right here.

Question. When was it ?

Answer, I don t know exactly.
Question. How long after you were thrown into the river?
Answer. Five or six days.
Question. Do you know whether Mr. Goodloe went after you were Ku-Kluxed to the

places you described, where you had been on the road, and where you crawled our of
the river?
Answer. Yes, sir; he went down there with his shot-gun, hunting something on the

way, and he loaded his gun right by a tree and left his powder-gourd there, and he
sent me for it afterward, and therefore I know he went.

Question. Were these men who Ku-Kluxed you all white men ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
but I think, though, when it comes to be testified, that a black man

brought them to my house and showed them how to get into it. I have learned that
since court was over, and it can be pretty well proved.

Question. Some enemy of yours ?

Answer. I didn t think he was; me and him was just the same as two brothers when
he staid down there. I don t know whether they forced him to do it or how it was
done.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. How far was it from the river back to Mr. Goodloe s house, the way you
went, across the iields ami plantations ?

Answer. About two miles and a half or three-quarters.
Question. Yon got back about what time in the morning?
Answer. About half an hour by sun. The sun was not half an hour high.

By the CHAIRMAN :

(Question. Arc yon sure that some one in the skill attempted to keep you down with
a paddle after yon were thrown into the river ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

By Mr. BECK :

Question. Henderson, what became of the other two men after you got to the river?
Answer. They staid where their horses were. The horses were&quot; up on the bank, and

the other two men staid there with the horses.

Question. Malone, Lindsay, and another man got in with you?
Answer. No, sir, Malone and a man, I don t, know who, staid there with the horses,

and Mr. Lindsay and Mr. Holseapple went in with me, and another man I didn t know.
Question. Holseapple, Lindsay, and a man you did not know went out in the boat

into the river ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. Did you get out on the same side of the river on which you went in?
Answer. Yes, sir, about thirty or forty yards above where I went in. They carried

me up the river a good piece, right beside the river bank, before they struck out across.

Question. They took you, as you lirst thought, about half way, now you think not

quite half way?
Answer. I don t think it could have been half way, because I have swum the river

there too often. I lived a quarter of a mile up the river from there the year before that.
1 had often swum it before, and the way I swum and was worried and almost broke

down, it couldn t have been half way.
Question. When you came to the top of the water had the men got back to the

shore ?

Answer. When I came to the top of the water, the lirst sight I can t tell you, because
I was near strangled to get my breath, and couldn t look, and I didn t stay at the top of
the water but a little time and went to the bottom that time, and when I rose again
I was loose in both hands and in the act of swimming, and I looked then particularly,
and they were at the bank, landing, and I wanted to go to the bank, and looked and
was afeared to make a show or they would see mo and shoot me. I just staid on the

top and swum lightly. I didn t know but they would look, because I could see any
thing on the water up or down. The light was good. I just staid under the shade of

a tree, and the water would wash me out a little, and I kept as easy as I could so they
could not see me. They were going away from the bank in a trot, like as if they were in

a hurry to get away, and I found they were not noticing me and I put for the bank, and
before I could get there I took a cramp. I don t know whether I made any fuss or not,
but nobody paid any attention. I had to get down in the water, and came down on

one leg and crawled. I couldn t get along any way but to crawl. The cramp was in

one leg.

Question. Did the shade of the trees reach over to where you were in the water?
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Answer. Not when they flung mo out, but I swam to the shade. They were very tall

trees, and the moonlight was so it flung the shade out into the river, and that was
where I got to when I saw the shade of the trees.

&amp;lt;Juentio)t.
When you were flung out, if you had been in the middle you would have

&quot;been 900 yards from the shore?
Answer. I reckon I would. I know it was 1,800 yards from bank to bank.

Question. Then the middle, of course, was 900 yaixjs from either bank?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Is William Malouo a farmer ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Had you lived with him all last year ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Who had you lived with before that year?
Answer. Mr. Campbell.
Question. What is his first name ?

Answer*. Dick. He is right on the river, where I told you I lived on the river.

Question. Was he a witness in this trial ?

Answer. Yes, sir, for Mr. Maione.
Question. Did he swear on that trial that you were a very bad negro?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Who had you lived with before that ?

Answer. I lived with Mr. Sleighton, on the railroad, right at Cherokee, and staid

principally at Mr. Whit Dean s.

Question. How long hud you known Mr. A. Hortoii ?

Answer. About four months.

Question. Was he too a witness?
Answer. Yes, sir, for Mr. Malone.

Question. Mr. Aleck Maloue
;
how long have you known him ?

Answer. I never kiiowed him.

Question. Mr. Rutherford.
AnawtT. I never knowed him.

Question. Did you know Marion Matthews?
Answer. I lived by him this year up to August.
Question. Robert Lindsay, how long have you known him ?

Answer. About two years.

Question. Neill Gannon, how long have you known him?
Answer. Never knew him until I saw him in court.

Question. James Carter, colored; how long have you known him ?

Answer. About fourteen months.

Question. William Matthews, colored
;
how long have you known him ?

Answer. About two mouths.

Question. Did not these seven white men I have named and the two colored men all

swear before United States Commissioner Day that you were a very bad man and
unworthy of belief on oath ?

Ansu cr. Yes, sir.

Question. Did you bring anybody to prove that you were a man worthy of belief on

oath, except Mr. Goodloe ?

Aniocer. No, sir; but why? Because I didn t come with that intention. I came with
the intention of what was before me, and I can prove that one of the main witnesses

you had on your account just now, right here in town now, will do away with his own i

testimony. That is Matthews, which gave the greatest testimony against me in court.

He does away with it. He is right here in town now.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. Give his full name ?

Anxu-er. William Matthews, a colored man.

By Mr. BECK :

Question. Did not those men you arrested, Malone, Lindsay, and Holseapple, prove
the commissioner that they were somewhere else that night?

Aitxtrer. Yes, sir, all of them proved that they were somewhere else.

Question. And the United States commissioner believed that and discharged them ?

Answer. He believed them and discharged all but Holseapple, and some time in the

night he discharged Mr. Holseapple; but I swore to the men I knowed and the horses
I knowed, jind the man Mr. Holseapple proved the alibi by, I had

(

sworn before that
that horse was in the band, and still he swore he was with Mr. Holseapple and he had
that horse.

. In other words that man contradicted you ?

O, yes, sir, in other -words he did.
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Question. What magistrate was it who made tlio settlement between you and Mr
Malone i

Answer. Bell.

Question. What is his first name ?

Answer. William Bell, I believe.

Question. Where does he live ?

Answer. Cherokee, Alabama.
Question. Was he the man you yourself selected to make the settlement ?
Answer. No, sir.

Question. Who selected him ?

Answer. Mr. Malone and him, I suppose, had made that up. When I first went to
him I went to him to make a settlement, but he would not do it for two or three weeks

;and afterwards I went to him for a peace-warrant, and instead of that he sent a
written notice for a settlement, and I knew I had to go, but the written notice was no
account for that settlement.

Question. You had first applied for him to make a settlement for you andMaloue, and
he had refused ?

Answer. Yes, sir. lint three weeks before that I asked Mr. Goodloe to ask him, and
Mr.Goodloe had asked him, and Mr. Malone made threats, and I asked him for a peace-
warrant, Mild instead of it he sent a notice for a settlement, and I came aud asked him
what he gave it for. He said I know better what you want than you do yourself:
you go and do as I tell you.&quot;

Question. Then Mr. Bell did make the settlement with Mr. Maloiie and you ?

Ansirer. Yes, sir.

Qni.-ntioii. In that settlement they brought you in debt?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. After taking what crop you had?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Were you dissatisfied with that ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What crop did you have?
Answer. I made crops on the halves. I made three bales of cotton and twelve loads

of corn, and eight of them loads of corn were with a forty-bushel wagon a wagon
that held forty bushels. Then there were four other loads with a two-horse wagon
that held iifteen bushels.

Question. How many loads of corn were there ?

Answer. Twelve in all.

Question. In what way did they bring you in debt? What did they say you had
got when Mr. Bell made that settlement for you ?

Answer. It was an account Mr. Maloue brought up for meat I knew nothing about.
In the lirst place, that year I made a contract with him for meat. He said lie would
not make a contract with me for meat, and I must look out and get the best I could.
What meat he did let me have he brought some three or four accounts I didn t know
about

;
and the woman I had hired, which is my wife now, he was to pay her out of

the crop, but I was to see that she did good work, and he was to pay her out of the

crop $60. I brought her down, and he contested. Ho will say to-day she is as good a
hand as ever worked on a farm. He didn t give me anything, but went to Cherokee,
to Duce Lindsay, that I was trading with, and said to him to not let me have any
thing; that he didn t believe the crop would turn out right. I hadn t bought only a
skillet and a few little things of house furniture, and some meat, only $30 or $40 worth.

Still, I staid at Mr. Malone s house and waited on him, and drove his spring-wagon, and
attended to his horses and hogs. I was the only black man there. 1 had to make my
crop, and I tended for him the whole year round. Then he brought out a suit of
clothes he had had two years. He said he courted in them. He asked me to buy
them. I said I had no money. He said,

&quot; You take them; I want you to look nice.

You drive the carriage for me; I don t want you to look dirty around me. You take
them. You ll be satisfied with the price,&quot;

When settlement day came he charged me
$40 for the coat and pants and vest, after he had worn them two years, and been
married in them. I didn t agree to it

;
aud he had some four or five charges of meat

that he couldn t give no account of, and he said the women got them. The women
didn t give no account of the meat, and 1 wasn t willing to pay for it. That s the way
my crop went, and I was not satisfied.

Question. How many ;tl-res of land did you work ?

Answer. Thirteen of corn, and about fifteen*of cotton; but six of the cotton w^asnot

good land, and didn t bring much.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. You made three bags?
Answer. Yes, sir.
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By Mr. BECK :

Question. Three bales ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
bales or bags.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. How many acres of cotton?
Answer. It was called fifteen acres. .

By Mr. BECK :

Question. Did Mr. Bell, in that settlement with Mr. Malone, agree to it as a correct
settlement ?

Answer. I did not ask him what he agreed to. I told him I was not satisfied, and I

asked could not I take an appeal. He said I could. I asked what was the security
the bond. He said $100. I told him it was too heavy : I would see about it. He told
me that any time between then and fall I could bring it in with witnesses.

Question. You had then put it into the hands of lawyers ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Had you brought suit ?

Answer. No, sir. Mr. Moore had wrote down to him for the papers three or four times
in the two mouths, or two and a half, and Mr. Bell had never sent them up to Mr.

Moore, that I had put the business in the hands of. I went to him and asked him how
it was, and he said Mr. Bell had sent him word he wouldn t send them

;
that he had

made such an ugly settlement, such a ragged settlement, that he couldn t send them
up, and lie wouldn t send them.

Question. So you think Mr. Bell was trying to cheat you too ?

Answer. I don t think I had justice.

Question. What do you think of Mr. Bell s conduct ?

Answer. I don t know anything about Mr. Bell, but I say I didn t have justice, in this

way : I knew that things I was charged with I didn t get, and it beat me dead, and I

was not satisfied with it.

Question. In the mean time you had bound over Malone and somebody else Lindsay ?

Answer. Newsome. That was after that.

Question. You bound them over to keep the peace ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What connection had Newsome with it ?

Answer. I suppose like many other men
;
Malone is a white man, and, to tell you

the truth, Malouo and Newsome both knew I would not let Maloiie whip me, and he
took halves with him because he was a white man, 1 reckon.

Question. You had no suit pending in court at the time you were Ku-Kluxed ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
for my crop.

Question. I ask you had Mr. Moore brought suit for your crop ?

Answer. No, sir
;
he hadn t brought it then. He couldn t get the papers from Mr.

Bell.

Question. Then you had no suit peuding when you were Ku-Kluxed ?

Answer. No, sir
;
but Mr. Moore was wanting the papers, and sent to Mr. Bell for the

papers to get it straight against we commenced.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

(Question. I understand you to say that you had one trial before Squire Bell, and did
not fix up the papers for the appeal ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
that s the way of it.

By Mr. BECK:

Question. Up to the time when you were Ku-Kluxed, the papers had not been fixed

up, and there was no appeal pending at that time ?

.tnxicer. No, sir.

Question. What did you understand them to menu by your not appearing in court ?

Answer. Because I contended for niy papers. They knew if there was any justice I
\v:;s bound to have the papers, and I would go on and get my rights.

Question. Had you applied to Mr. Bell yourself for the papers?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. After you spoke to Mr. Moore ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What excuse did he make for not giving them to you ?

Answer, lie said he had no time to fool with no papers. He said Mr. Moore had
written to him a time or two for papers, and it was best for me to go on and let them
papers alone that he knew what was best for me and for me to drop it at that.

Qui-ntiuH. You said something about learning a good deal of law by being about tho
court-house at Knoxville and Nashville; what were you doing there ?

Answer. I was staying there.
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Question. How long ago ?

Answer. I went there in 1866, at Nashville.
Question. What were you doing there ?

Answer. I was living there, just as I am doing here.
Question. Were you working there?
Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. At what business?
Answer. Part of the time I was driving a dray for a colored man there. The other

part of the time I got in with a fellow there, that was staying around in there sweep
ing and sprinkling, cleaning off yards, awhile

;
and then I took a trip to Nashville, and

staid there.

Question. How long ?

Answer. I staid at Nashville a little over twelve mouths.
Question. What were you doing at Nashville 1

Answer. I staid at Dr. Briggs s store and office. Dr. Briggskept both store and office.
Question. \\ as lie around the court-house f

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Was he a lawyer?
Answer. No, sir; bat I think he was trying to sort of half-way study it, from the

action he would make when a case was on hand. More than that, I learned not so
much from him. but where he staid one of the best lawyers staid, aud almost every
morning when lie went to court lie would carry me with him.

Question. What was his name ?

Answer. Fields.

Question. Is he a lawyer there now ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Do you know his first name ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. What white man did you live with in Kuoxville ?

Answer. I didn t live with no white man
;
Hived with a blackmail. The black man

had rented a lot and I staid with him and drove a dray. I forget the man he got the
lot of.

Question. Did you work for any white man at all in Knoxville ?

Answer. Not regularly ;
I would do a day, or two, or three days job for a man first

one and then another.

Question. What white man did you work for mostly ?

Answer. I didn t work much for any white man
;

I don t remember who all I worked
for

;
a man would want a lot of wood cut or his yard cleaned.

Question. After you came back from Nashville where did you goto ?

Answer. I went down herein about a mile of Pride s Station to cut cord-wood.
Question. In what county ?

Answer. I don t know in what county it is now
; it used to be Franklin County; I

don t know whether it is Colbert now or Franklin.

Question. Who did you work for ?

Answer. Jim Pride and a man named Davis, cutting cord-wood.

Question. How long did you work there?
Answer. I don t know

;
about live months.

Question. Alter that where did you go ?

Answer. 1 then went right to Pride s Station, working for Hy Gyer.

By the CiiAimiAX :

Question. What is his full name ?

Answer. That s all I ever heard him called, Hy Gyer.

By Mr. BECK :

Question. From there where did you go?
Anstii-r. From there I went to James Tanner s father; he hired me, but he did not

have anything to do.

Question. What was the old gentleman s first name ?

^insn ir. I don t know.
Question. Was that in the same county ?

Answer. Yes. sir
;

it was close to Osboro. Anyhow, this same old man Horton I

didn t stay with James Tanner but a little while until I went with him.

Question. That is the man. you say who gave you a bad character?
Ans d\r. Yes. sir.

Question. After you left James Hortou s where did you go ?

Ansn-cr. I struck in the blacksmith shop at Osboro for a man named John Harrison.

I was in about a mile of his house.

Question. Then where did you go after that?
Anaw&amp;lt;.r. Then the Ku-Klux got so bad they came there one night at the old man s,
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and pulled my ears, and got after ino about a girl there named Emina, that one of the
Ku-Klux owned, so said, and me and her was about to marry, and they got after me to

keep me from marrying her, and I came to luka oil the railroad, and I worked there
for Mr. Sleighton, that I told you about awhile ago.

Question. Where did you go from there ?

Answer. M. A. Campbell s.

Question Another witness against you?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. How long did you work for him ?

Answer. About seven months. I worked for him seven months, but I didn t hire for

him more than a mouth and a half. I dug wells
;
I dug him a couple of wells while I

was there.

Question. He was one who swore to your bad character ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Where did you go after you left him ?

Answer. To William Malone s, the man that Ku-Kluxed me.

Question. And then to Mr. Goodloe s ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Where does Mr. Malone live
;
what is his post-office ?

Answer. Cherokee, Colbert County.
Question. Is Mr. Duce Lindsay s post-office there, too ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Qucxiion. And James Holseapple s ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Were any of those three men oil trial sworn before the commissioner the
other day ?

Answer. Any of them sworn? no, sir.

Question. Did Captain Day have the testimony all written down ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
I suppose he did.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Henderson, you may give the names of those witnesses who testified that

you were a bad negro and unworthy of credit, whom you never knew before.

Answer. I don t know the names myself. If you will call the names of those at
luka

By Mr. BECK :

Question. Malone, Matthews, Robert Lindsay, Neill Gannon
Answer. That s one I didn t know.
Question. Mr. Rutherford ?

Answer. That s another I didn t know.
Question. Aleck Malone?
Answer. That s another I didn t know. ,

Question. James Carter, colored, William Matthews ,

Answer. That s another I didn t know
; I had seen him a few times, but never worked

with him or had any business with him until since the trial.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Three of these men you had never seen before?
Answer. Yes, sir ;

four.

Question. Matthews you had seen before ?
-&amp;gt;

Answer. Yes, sir
;
I had seen him

;
but if I ever saw the others before I never knew it.

Question. You say these three men arrested and on trial, Holseapple, Malone, and
Duee Lindsay, were all acquitted upon proving an alibi ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Where did they prove that they were that night?
Answer. Mr. William Maloue proved by his father and a colored man on the place that

he was with him. The colored man swore that he was with him that night and next

morning all day at home. His father proved that his child was sick, and he heard him r.ll

night walking his room and talking all night. Holseapple proved, by Robert Lindsay,
that he was at his mill, watching for somebody to steal his corn, and that he hired this
horse that I knew myself. Those two proved that they were in the mill all night ; nobody
knew tlicm and they could swear

;
that was Holseapple and Robert Lindsay ;

one of
them rode that horse I swore to. Mr. Duce Lindsay proved, by those two men that I

never saw nor knew anything about, that he staid in his room all night in his store.

Question. Are you certain that you saw Holseapple, Maloue, and Duce Lindsay that

night that you were Ku-Kluxed .

Answer. Yes, sir; I am pretty certain of it; and my boy, twelve years old, going on
thirteen, knew Mr. Holseapple by 1 he linn; the light was made, but 1 didn t know, be
cause I didn t aim to look for him. The boy aimed to run out of doors

;
Mr. Holseapple

hadn t his disguise on
;
he had his veil up, and he caught him and shoved him back,
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ami he says,
&quot; Mr. Holseapple, you let me

alone,&quot; and Mr. Holscapplo wouldn t let him
go out

;
lie knew him well enough.

Question. What was your share of the corn and cotton crop raised on Mr. Malone s

place worth?
Answer. I don t know what it was worth.
Question. You say yon were entitled to one-half of three bales of cotton?
-Inswer. Yes, sir.

Question. And eight loads of corn, of forty bushels each ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And four small wagon-loads ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
thirteen or fifteen bushels were counted, but I will say thirteen.

By Mr. BUCKLEY:

Question. Did you have any fodder?
Answer. Yes, sir

;
but he divided the fodder with me when it was pulled and stacked.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. What was that 372 bushels of corn worth?
Answer. He offered me sixty cents a bushel, and said that was what corn was selling

at
;
he offered me that in the settlement.

Question. That made your corn, if it was worth 60 cents a bushel, amount to $223 20 ?

Jnsicer. Besides that, I can bring four or live witnesses to prove that his fattening
hogs eat up about three acres of my best bottom corn, and he never paid me a cent.

Question. What was cotton worth per pound ?

Answer. Sixteen and three-quarters, he said; two bales were sold, and the last bale,
which was a yellow bale, sold for twelve and a half.

Question. How many pounds did those bales contain ?

Answer. Five hundred and upward ;
both the two white bales weighed over five

hundred one twenty-odd and the other thirty-odd and the other didn t weigh five

hundred quite.

Question. Now, how much were yon justly indebted to Malone ?

Answer. 1 can just tell you exactly what 1 got from Mr. Maloue
;
I got one middling of

meat that weighed thirty-one pounds ;
I got two shoulders that weighed thirteen pounds

apiece; I got another shoulder that weighed thirteen pounds; I got seventy-three
pounds of bacon from him

;
I got fifty pounds of beef from him; I got twenty pounds

of beef from him. and this suit of clothes.

Question. Was that all the meat you got from him?
^.Inxu er. Yes. sir, except six pounds of bacon just before I left home.

Question. What was this bacon worth per pound?
.-Ins wet: Sonic of it 1(1 cents

;
the first three pieces I got were pork; I got that at 16

cents
;
the other was 22 cents.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. Do you mean pickled pork or unsmoked bulk meat ?

Answer. It was unsmoked
;
that is, the first middling and two shoulders were.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. That was worth how much a pound ?

Answer. Unsmoked meat was worth 1G cents, and the bacon 22 cents.

Question. What was the beef worth?
Answer. Eight cents.

Question. l)id you get any breadstuffs ?

Answer. 1 gave him corn for meal.

Question. So that he had no account against you for breadstuffs ?

Answer. Xo, sir.

Question. Had he any other account against you except for those clothes?

Answer. The old clothes and one pair of shoes
;
but he brought twice as much meat

as that against me, and he swears that this woman of mine got it, and she swears she

didn t get it.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Oiicyi ion. Out of this meat that you foot up, how many did you feed?

Answer. This woman and three little children
;
but mind, I got three gallons of milk,

mvsclf, every day ;
I got more meat than this, and I got from old Mrs. Maloue eight

milch cows, and my wife milked them, and she was entitled to what milk she could use,

and in that way I lived light.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Is that coat you have on the one you got from Malone ?

Answer. No, sir
;
that was a square-tailed coat, and it was not nigh as good a coat as

this has been.
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Question. What were those clothes worth?
Answer. He charged me $40.

Question. What were they worth ?

Answer. They were worth about eighteen or twenty dollars when I got them from
him.

Question. You say ho had worn them two years ?

Answer. Yes, sir; just to say what they really were worth, they were worth eighteen
to twenty dollars

; they had been fine, very fine clothes, but the good of them was
vrorn out.

Question. You got a pair of shoes also ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Does that embrace all that you got from him?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Do you know how much those items all footed up ?

Answer. No, sir
;
I never knew how they did foot up.

Question. How much did you claim that he was indebted to you on a fair settlement ?

Answw. I couldn t make a claim, because I couldn t count it and figure it up. I tried

to get Squire Bell to figure it up as I would count it, and he would never do anything
except to put it all together, and he bothered me, and I never got it straight.

Question. How much did ho bring you in debt?
Answer. I think it was $2 37-J.

Question. Did Malone swear to his account 1

Answer. We had had three settlements, and every time he would add on a little more
and a little more, until he got the whole crop ;

the last time he just took every bit of

my crop and it made us even at the last settlement, and then when Squire Bell got it,

he made it a little more
;
he made it $2 37 more.

By Mr. BECK :

Question. Mr. Minnis, the district attorney of the United States, was here attending
to your case ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Before, Captain Day he examined your witnesses and attended to your case ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Is he not a good lawyer ?

Answer. I don t know anything about him.

Question. You made the complaint to him, and he had the men arrested and brought
here ?

Ansicer. I made the complaint to Mr. Day.
Question. Judge Minuis appeared here for you ?

Answer. Yes, sir, he appeared here.

HUNTSVILLE, ALABAMA, Octoler 7, 1871.

LIONEL W. DAY sworn and examined.

The CHAIRMAN : As Mr. Beck had this witness summoned, he will please examine
him.

By Mr. BECK : j

Question. Give us, as briefly at you can, your present position and your past; tell us
where you came from, and how long you have lived here

;
where you were during the

war, and what position you occupy now.
Answer. I was in the Federal Army during the war from the State of Illinois

;
served

in the Federal Army until nearly the close of the war, and, after its close, I came South
with a view of remaining here. After my arrival here, I was appointed clerk of the
United States district court for this district the northern district of Alabama which
position I still occupy.

Question. Appointed by whom f

Ansicer. By Judge Busteed.

Question. Were you appointed a commissioner of the United States also ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
the clerk is ex-ofiicio commissioner.

Question. As commissioner of the United States district court for this district, had you
a case presented charging disguised men with the maltreatment of a colored man
named Henderson, in Colbert County, within the last few months ?

Answer. Affidavit was made by William Henderson, a colored man, before me in Au
gust, I think it was in July or August ;

I have not my docket of dates before me
charging Holseapple, Lindsay, and Malone, three young men of Lawrence County, I

think
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By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Colbert, was it not ?

Answer. It may have been Colbert
; they lie close together. It was near Barton

Station or Cherokee with having taken him from his house in August, and, as he re
cited in his affidavit, after having tied him and having made various professions as to
what they desired to do with him, they finally took him to the Tennessee River, and
put him in a

skill&quot;,
for the alleged purpose of taking him across, but having reached the

middle of the river, he alleges that they threw him out in that bound condition into
the middle of the river, and afterward returned to the bank. He testiiied that be
tween the

y&amp;gt;oint
at which he was seized and the river he was tied with a rope, with his

hands behind bim, and the end of the rope then made fast to his legs, and that that
was his condition when he was thrown into the river. He claimed to have then sunk
to the bottom, and having released one of his hands, he came up ;

went down again and
got hold of a rock in the bottom of the river, and, in his struggle, released both of his
hands

; finally got into shoal water and waded ashore, where, after recovering from his

partially drowned condition, lie returned to Mr. Goodloe s place. He stated that the

parties were in disguise, but that after they got into the boat which was when it was
very nearly daylight in the morning of the 16th of August he saw the face of one, and
perhaps the faces of two

;
I am not clear as to that now. He swore positively to one.

lie said that there was no moon
;
that the only light he had to identify by sight was

by star-light ;
but his testimony was direct and positive as to the identity of the

persons.
Qm-xtion. Are you giving now the abstract of his evidence before you as you recol

lect it f

Anxirer. Yes, sir
;
and I think that those facts are substantially embraced in the affi

davit. I can file a copy very easily if the committee desire it.

By Mr. BECK :

Qticxlion. These men you arrested on that affidavit ?

An mrcr. Yes, sir.

Qurxlion. And they were brought before you as United States commissioner for a

hearing ?

Anxiccr. Yes, sir, for preliminary examination.

Question. Have yon the evidence taken in that trial; and if so, will yon lile it with
this committee ?

An.-iircr. I have the evidence and will file it. This is the original, [presenting a

document,] and I identify it with the initials of my name, and make it a part of my
deposition. [The document referred to and containing the testimony given in the case

of the People r. Holseapple, Malone, and Lindsay, will be found at the end of the testi

mony of this witness.]

Question, Assuming that evidence to have been given there, state what was the re

sult of that investigation.
Anxu-cr. The parties charged were acquitted upon a direct and substantial proof

of an alibi.

Question. Had the character of the prosecutor, as proven, a good deal to do with
it also ?

A)inwcr. The character of the prosecutor was proven to be a very bad one by all the
witnesses who testified in that particular, both white and colored. The prosecution
offered no evidence, after the character of the prosecuting witness had been assailed, to

relieve his character, but left the testimony of the defense wholly uuiuipeached and
miassailed.

Qiiailion. Was any time asked to obtain further testimony in regard to the character

of the prosecutor f

Answer. Xonc whatever. Xo application was made. Xo reference, in fact, was made
to it by the prosecution.

Question. The evidence you have just furnished will give us the full history of the

case as it appeared before you, will it?

Answer. I am not certain but an attempt may have been made by cross-examina

tion
;
but I am not certain that it was. I think my best impression is that it was. I

think that it did not go further than a mere cross-examination of the parties who were

impeaching the veracity of the prosecuting witness. The evidence, though, that I file

here as a part of my deposition, embraces the whole statement, and gives the history
as fully as I could by any statement I could make.

Question. And no further statement by you would elucidate it further?

Answer. Xoue whatever.

Question. As you are here, I will ask yon to tell us as briefly as you can, but fully,

from your position as United States commissioner, and the opportunities you have of

ascertaining the feeling of the people in this section of Alabama, what is their general

disposition as to the maintenance of law and order and obeying the laws.

Answer. I think it is very good. I think this is like all communities, and 1 have been
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n many in the United States. I think the same general characteristics prevail here
that exist in other communities that I have known. I know of no general difference.

There have boon difficulties arising out of horse-thieving, personal violence offered to

parties without reference to their political status, as I am informed and believe, and in

some cases homicides have resulted from the efforts of the citizens, acting in behalf of

order, to prevent that lawlessness. For instance, in Limestone, my information, which
is popular information, ami from conversation with the citizens of that place and the

prosecuting officers of the county, is that they have had several homicides there ; but
I think the large majority have resulted from acts of a posse of citizens in their at

tempts to disperse a band of men whose organization was based upon a desire for

thieving and plunder ;
and these thieves and plunderers occupy the same relation to

the community that that class of men do in any community that I have ever been in.

I know of no difference. They were bad men doing bad things, and the good citizens

of the country have been active and vigilant, and they have succeeded, or I have no
doubt will succeed, in restoring perfect order in Limestone County. That is my be
lief.

Question. In this county how is it?

Answer. This county is exceedingly quiet ;
there is no disturbance here of any kind

that I know of, more than the little affrays resulting from the collisions of men, ordina

rily occurring.
Question. Will you tell the committee whether in your opinion the great mass of the

people of Northern Alabama are law-abiding and disposed to observe the laws?
Answer. I believe they are. From my position and antecedents, I can have no pre

dilections in favor of this or. any other southern community, any other than a kind
and friendly intercourse with the good men of the country has given me, and I believe

the population of North Alabama, with a very few exceptions that I have specified,
are as .much disposed to obey the law as any community that have been in the vicinage
of war and destruction, such as have been seen in the South, and I think, perhaps,
more so than many communities of the country ;

much more so, because North Ala
bama has been the scene of a great deal of war and bloodshed, and was the home of

several partisan companies, and large numbers of these men are now among the
best conservators of law in the country to my personal knowledge.

Question. What do you mean by partisan companies?
Answer. I mean those companies, independent organizations during the late war;

North Alabama, as you are aware, was occupied by the contending armies alternately
several times, and the tendency was to leave men behind, the result of which was the

organization of partisan companies. That is my understanding ol the history of
affairs in this county. Many of these men are here yet, and many of them I know, and
they are like all the quiet law-abiding citizens that you find in any community in the
land. I know of no difference

; they have the same interests at stake that men have
everywhere for the support of law and order. They exercise the same vigilance that
men do everywhere, and protect their own interests.

Question. Was there not a good deal of difference in political opinion when the war
broke out in Northern Alabama, some for the side of the Union, and others, the side of
the confederacy ?

Answer. The information I have on that subject is from persons who were residents

here, and from the general traditions of the land in that particular, as I was not here.

My understanding is that there was in Madison County, I think, about five or six to

one, opposed to the secession movement.
Question. Madison is the county in which Huntsville is situated ? )

Answer. Yes, sir, and in all the mountain counties of which this district is composed,
territorially, at least, there was a most decisive and aggressive Union sentiment, and
there was a strong disposition, which never found its way into organization, but was a
very strong feeling, to organize all North Alabama above the line of the mountains, and
fight it out at the foot of the mountains of North Alabama.

&quot;

Question. That mountain range being south of North Alabama?
Answer. Yes, sir

;
that sentiment prevailed in North Alabama at that time. There&quot;

were largo numbers of Union men there at that time, and every man acquainted with
the political history of Alabama is well aware ot the fact that the prevailing sentiment
of North Alabama was violently Union.

Question. What do you know about these Federal soldiers, residing in the counties of

Walker, Winston, and Fayette, in Northwestern Alabama I

Annu-cr. Those counties lie in the northwestern quarter of the State. I was ap
pointed adjutant of a regiment called the First Alabama Cavalry, and the bulk of the
soldiers composing that regiment were drawn from the counties .of Walker. Winston, and
Fayette, in North Alabama the mountain counties. There were soldiers from the
other portions of the South

;
some from Tennessee, and some from Georgia, and some

from Mississippi ;
but the large majority of thorn came from these counties down there,

and were enlisted directly from their homes. They were opposed to the war in the
start. I think the number enlisted in the command, first and last, was twenty-seven
hundred.
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Question. In these three counties ?

Answer. Yes; that was the general territory from which the regiment drew its
force. I think the number was twenty-seven hundred, hut I am not positive ;

that is

iny recollection of it now.
Question. Were they mostly young men?
Atmvcr. Yes, sir

;
the large majority were men ranging from eighteen to thirty-five

years.
Question. What was generally their condition as to property; were they poor or rich

men or otherwise ?

Answer. I think the majority of the men were poor. They lived in a mountain coun
try. The country there is very poor, and the hulk of them were poor men.

Question. Tell us how your courts administer the law, so far as you have observed,
when persons who are fairly proven guilty are brought before them. Is there auy
trouble in procuring a conviction for any offense, where the case is fairly made out
against the party arraigned, in this region of Alabama ?

Answer. No, sir
;
I think not. There is this: I think, perhaps, there may be an in

disposition to convict men in some cases in which homicides result from personal en
counters, where the, mere color of aggression can be given to the assailant, or the man
who loses his life

;
but that, 1 think, is common to manv communities in the South and

West.

Question. Was it not always so ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;

I think it was. I have seen it manifested in the Northwest, and I
think it exists in the South. A killing frequently finds palliation in the minds of a jury
from sonic colorable offense, perhaps not dangerous, which is oliered to the party
charged.

Question. I call your attention particularly to that class of cases where men have
been violently, secretly, aud wantonly injuring persons in their lives, their liberty, and
their property ; doing it either under the guise of night, or in any other clandestine

way. Would men of that sort, when brought before your courts, be punished ?

Answer. 1 do not think there is any doubt but what they would. I think at present
the great danger would be that they would be treated with perhaps more severity than

they might merit in many cases.

Question. Is the general sentiment of most of your people here opposed to all that
class of conduct Ku-Klux organizations and redress of that character ?

Answer! 1 think so; most decidedly opposed to it-, and opposed to all secret organi
zations which have a tendency to disturb the order of the community or the security
of property and the protection of labor. I think all organizations that disturb these

interests are most decidedly frowned upon.
Question. Is the condemnation of all that class of offenses shared in alike by men of

all political parties ?

Answer. I think it is
;
I think it is shared by all men in the country who have those

interests at stake all the good citizens who have the interests of labor and property
aud personal protection at stake and who do not rely upon their reckless character to

protect them.

(Question. Have you in this general region of country many men who have, since the

war, come from the northern and western States, and settled here .

Answer. Yes, sir
;
wo have a lai ge number of them.

Question. How are they generally treated, by their neighbors, and how do they feel

in reference to their safety and security here ?

Answer. I think they are well treated
;
I do not remember of a case of violence

offered to a northern man in this community. If one has occurred within my knowl

edge, it has escaped me, and there are a number of them here.

Question. Are you personally acquainted with them 1

Anmvr. Yes, sir
;
1 know the majority of northern men here. I do not think there is

a sense of insecurity felt by these men on grounds of nativity or politics or anything
of the sort.

Question. Have you heard these men speak of this subject at all yourself in your

general conversations ?

Ansu-er. Yes, sir ;
I have heard it remarked upon. I have heard men say, in regard

to them, that they had 110 apprehension of personal danger ou account of their being
northern men : I do not think there is auy general apprehension of that kind.

Question. Tell the committee whether or not it is safe in this general region of Ala

bama for a man who is a republican in politics to express his sentiments without per

sonal danger to himself. Can a republican express- his views of politics without run

ning the risk of personal danger ?

Answer. I do not think he is in any danger whatever.

Question. Do they do it?

-Imivcr. Certainly. Street discussions are as common here as they would be in any

place so far as 1 know. I do not remember of any disturbance of a public meeting

38 B
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that was being addressed by republicans. The only demonstration of violence I have
ever seen here was in a democratic mass-meeting.

Question. Was that among themselves, or how was it?

Answer. It was an affray that was occasioned by perhaps some address made to the

speaker on the stand through misapprehension ;
that was the only disturbance I have

ever known here.

Question. Political discussions are freely held by both parties?
Aiisiwr. Yes, sir, as much so as anywhere in the world. Public gatherings for poli

tical speaking and communication are as free in Northern Alabama, so far as my knowl
edge goes, and I have seen considerable of it here in town, as in any place I have ever
been in in my life, and I have seen a great deal of it. I have attended many public
gatherings.

Question. When these disguised men undertake their marauding expeditious at night,
is it your information that they have political or personal purposes, so far as they have
been brought before you ?

Answer. I think it is personal, undoubtedly, sir; undoubtedly personal.
Question. And not political?
Anmi cr. No, sir, I think not. I think there are very few men who regard it as polit

ical now. In nearly every case in which violence has been offered by disguised men,
their motive may be explained upon the grounds of personal animosity ;

in nearly every
case that has come under my observation, or within my hearing, that has been the
fact.

Question. We have had a witness before us in Washington, and perhaps you may
know him, as he figured largely in this region of country a Methodist minister by the
name of A. L. Lakin

Answer. A. S. Lakin.

Question. Who spoke of a great deal of very bad treatment to himself during the
four years that he resided here. Do you know him?

Answer. Yes, sir. I know him well.

Question. Have you had any conversation with him that would indicate the extent
of maltreatment that ho had received? and, if so, tell us when and what they were.
Answer. There is but once in my life that I recollect of having a conversation of that

character with Mr. Lakin, and it arose under peculiar circumstances that amused me,
and caused me to remember it, I suppose.

Question. Give us the date of that conversation, if you can.
Answer. I should think it was, perhaps, twelve months ago. I was on the street

here, and some one told me that Mr. Lakin had been killed
;
that he had been shot in

the mountains. I expressed surprise at that, and started down the street, after a con
versation with a friend. I left him, and had not gone twenty steps until I came across
Mr. Lakin, walking on the street. I shook hands with him, and expressed my sur

prise at meeting him, and repeated to him what I had just heard. He seemed to be
amused at the report, and said to me,

&quot; My dear sir, I have never been treated with more
uniform kindness, courtesy, and hospitality than I have on my last trip through the*

mountains;
7 and he then repeated the fact that a community, I think in Jones s Cove

some community there that he alleged had been hostile to him before that had treated

him with personal consideration on his last trip. The reason why I remember this

casual conversation was the peculiar circumstances under which it occurred, and the
contrast that his statement presented in regard to himself and the fact I had just
heard of him.

Qucslion. Did he speak to you in any way of the general treatment of this commu-j
nity toward him ?

Answer. Not of this community in this county. He referred to his general treatment
in his circuit. I think his circuit embraces quite an area of country of North Alabama

lying east of here Marshall, Cherokee, and De Kalb Counties. I think that is the

fact. I understood him to have returned from a trip through these counties. I know
very little of him.

Question. Apart from your own knowledge, wbat was the general estimate of him

through this community, so far as you heard others speak of him ?

Answer. The general reputation of Mr. Lakin here, was, that he was equally as zealous

in his efforts at political conversion as he was ia his efforts as a minister of the gospel,
and the popular understanding, whether true or not, was that Mr. Lakin organized po
litical clubs or leagues, or whatever they may have been called, on his circuit, and that

he made it a part of his duty and business to do that. That was the popular under

standing as I have heard it
;
whether true or not, I do not know. In this town I have

never heard him make a political speech, but I have understood from men, in whose

integrity I have faith, that ho was in the habit of. making political speeches, and de

voting considerable attention to it, and taking deep interest in it. I believe that to be
true.

Question. With regard to the general character of his statements, how was he re-
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to the tm
e
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re ai largC numbers of men ber wll do not beli^re that Mr. Lakiu

Question, Speaking from what you have heard, what was his general character in
that regard ;

was it good or bad, as regards that ?

Anaifer. It is bad. The general character Mr. Lakin bears here, for confinino- himself
absolutely to the truth in all that he says, is not good. Any facts upon which that
opinion is based I am not aware of, but that is his general reputation.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. How long have you lived in Huntsvillc ?

Answer. I have lived in Huntsville since about the 1st of February 1886.
Question. Continuously ?

Answer. Yes, sir; continuously, except on
Question. Did you marry hero ?

Answer. No, sir; I am not a married man.
Question. What was your employment before you were appointed clerk of the dis

trict court in Huntsville /

Answer. 1 came here as clerk of the court.

Question. You have held this office ever since ?

Answer. Yes, sir; ever since I have been here.

Question. Have you followed any other business than that ?

Answer. No, sir. I was in partnership with Captain Fullerton in the practice of law,but the duties of my office confined me principally to the office. I had some practice
but not much.

Question. In the investigation which was had on the complaint of William Hender
son, I will ask you whether Calvin Goodloe was examined as a witness?
Answer. Y es. .sir.

Question. Was Goodloe the man with whom Henderson had been living, or upon
whose farm he had been working, for some time previously?
Answer. It was in proof that he was.

Question. What was Goodloe s standing as a man of character and truth ?

Answer. I think it was very good, sir; as good as that of any man in the country, so
far as I know.

Question. I will ask you to state whether Goodloe, upon that examination before you,
did not testify that Henderson had had no difficulty with any one, to his knowledge 1

Answer. 1 think he did, sir. That is in the testimony. My recollection is, though,
that he testified about that fact.

Question. Did he not further testify that he considered his character as good as any
negro s!
Answer. I think he said he had the average character, but I have heard it alleged

that Mr. Goodloe did not think they had souls, and that characters were not essentially
connected with the negro s existence; that character was not necessarily connected
with a negro s existence. He is reported to have said that.

Question. Do you know that he held such sentiments ?

Answe) . 1 have heard it alleged.
Question. Who alleged it ?

Answer. Mr. Davis.

Question. What Davis?
Answer. Mr. Nicholas Davis. I think he alleged it in connection with that sfcite-

meut of Mr. Goodloe s. It may have been jocular.
Question. Was Mr. Davis a lawyer in the case ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. What part did he play in that trial ?

Answer. I do not think he played any whatever.

Question. Did he make the remark loud enough for Mr. Goodloe to hear it ?

Answer. I do not think he was present. I think Mr. Davis made the statement iu

connection, perhaps, with somebody else.

Question. For the purpose of influencing your judgment in this case ?

Answer. No, sir. It was after the decision was rendered.

Quasi ion. I will ask whether Mr. Goodloe did not state in express terms that, from all

he had heard spoken of this man Henderson, his general character was good !?

Anmccr. He may have said it.

Question. Just look at the evidence which you have produced here, and say whether
he did say so in so many terms, right at tiie conclusion of his testimony.

Answer. [Referring to the record of Goodloe s evidence, which will be found in the

paper given at the end of the testimony of this witness.] I find on reference to the

testimony, that he says :
&quot; His character is as good as th.e average negroes of the

county. I can t say as to his general character. 7
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Question . I will ask you to state wbetl^er the last two lines of his testimony do not
read as follows :

&quot; From all I have heard speak of him, his general character is
good.&quot;

Answer. He says: &quot;From all I have heard speak of him, his general character is

good.&quot;
That is in answer to an interrogatory of Colonel Minnis, district attorney. It

escaped my notice.

Question. That was upon cross-examination?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did not Mr. Goodloe, upon his examination in chief, state as follows :
&quot; I

know of no difficulty that ho (referring to Henderson) had with any one. In his dispo
sition I consider him an ordinary man, and an obedient one. I consider his character
as good as any negro s?&quot;

Answer. He did.

Question. You say that was his testimony in chief?
Answer. That was his testimony as reported.
Question. How, then, did you state, as you have done in your examination by Mr.

Beck, that all the evidence went to show that Henderson was a bad man, and unworthy
of belief?

Answer. Every witness who was asked in regard to his integrity, and his character
for integrity and veracity, by the defense, testified to that fact, and if Mr. Goodloe was
inquired of in regard to his character for integrity, I do not recollect it. The testi

mony will show. My recollection, though, is that ho was not.

Question. Do you deny that Mr. Goodloe testified as I have read to you?
Answer. O, no, sir.

Question. Has he not subscribed his statement that is here ?

Answer. I think he has. I do not remember now that Mr. Goodloe was inquired of
for his character for veracity. If he was, I do not now recollect it.

Question. When he stated that he considered his character as good as any negro s,

did you not consider that that involved his character for veracity ?

Answer. If a lawyer was inquired of in regard to the character of a man, as to his

veracity, I suppose he would express himself so, and inasmuch as that proof does not
involve the matter of veracity, I would not attempt to draw conclusions, for I do not
know. He may have meant that, and may not. He might easily have been inquired of
in regard to veracity.

Question. When Mr. Goodloe testified in direct terms that, from all he had heard speak
of this man Henderson, his general character was good, did it not necessarily result

that he considered his character for veracity good?
Answer. Well, sir, I would not attempt to say, for I do not know. He has said in

another place that his character was as good as any negro, and what he may have
meant by that, I cannot attempt to say. The testimony is as easily construed by one
as by another. It was reported ;

it was heard by mo as commissioner, and reported
just as it is before the committee here.

Question. You say Mr. Goodloe is a first-class man ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And this man Henderson had been working for him a good while ?

Answer. Yes, sir; several mouths, I think.

Question. Mr. Goodloe had every opportunity of knowing what was the man s char
acter ?

Answer. He had the ordinary opportunities that a planter has of knowing the char
acter of a negro on his place. WT

hat his experience with him was, I do not know.
Question. Did all the witnesses that testified against Henderson s character for trutii

and veracity profess to be well acquainted with his character ?

Answer. I think so, but I am no positive. It strikes me that there was one party
who testified to having had a very brief acquaintance with him, but I do not now recol

lect his name.

Question. Henderson testified before us that three or four of these witnesses he had
never known before, who testified against his character. What do you know in rela^

tion to that ?

Ansiver. I do not know anything about it. Some of the parties had lived quite a
distance from Mr. Goodloe, but some of them testified, I think, that William had
lived in their neighborhood, if I recollect aright.

Question. I will ask you whether the testimony of Mr. Goodloe did not very strongly
corroborate Mr. Henderson as to the fact of his having been thrown into the river and

having crawled out?
Answer. I think it did.

Question. Had you any doubt in your mind, after listening to the evidence, that Hen
derson had been maltreated in the manner in which lie had himself described?

Answer. I had very little doubt that he had been the subject of some violence, but
to what extent it was right difficult to tell. He appears to have returned in a battered
and dilapidated condition in the morning, and gave evidence of having been through
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some difficulty, and Mr. Mathews testifies thatJie charged him, from his condition, with
having been drunk, and Mr. Goodloe testifies to numbers of marks on his hands.

Question. On his wrists ?

Answer. Yes, sir, on his wrists. I think he refers also to having gone to the spotwhere Henderson came out of the river, and having seen the marks.
Question. Did he not testify of having seen the tracks of Henderson and of the

horses ?

Answer. Yes, sir, I think so.

Question. Did he not testify that he found the skiff and the signs that corroborated
Henderson s statement ?

Answer. Yes, sir, I think so, as far as they went, in relation to the fact of violence
having been done.

Question. Then you had no doubt Henderson had been maltreated, but you doubted
whether the evidence justified you in holding the men who were arrested I
Answer. Yes, sir, that was the fact. I had no doubt but ho had been in difficulty of

some sort, and I thought it was altogether probable that the general features of it
the occurrence leaving out the parties charged, were essentially true as he stated.

Question. Did he, in the testimony before you, speak of the disguise these men had
on?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. You had no doubt, then, Mr. Day, that this was a fair Ku-Klux case, had
you ?

Anmm: Well, I think that disguised men offered this negro violence.

Question. Your answer is that you think that disguised men offered this man Hender
son violence?

Answer. I think so, sir. I think it is a candid and fair conclusion to draw from the
testimony.

Question. Were the disguises such as the Ku-Klux organization are understood to
wear f

Answer. My understanding. is that they were not.

Question. Wherein was the difference?
Answer. I will have to refer to the testimony, which, I believe, recites the fact that

the only disguise they had was a mere veil hanging over the face
;
that he did not

. claim any disguise of the body. The testimony in that particular is, however, before

you.
Question. Please refresh your recollection by looking at Henderson s testimony.
Answer. [Having examined the testimony.] Henderson testifies that he saw Mr. Dnce

Lindsay. He says,
&quot; I knew him by a veil in his hat, and it turned back over his

head from over his face, and the veil came down from the face to the shoulders behind.&quot;

Question. Is that all he says in relation to the disguise ?

Answer. I will examine further. He says :
&quot;

They had on black and white trimmings
around the tail, and the cape came down about half-way, and had white trimming
around it. All were dressed the same way, and white trimming around the wrist.&quot;

Question. Did he give any further description of the disguise?
Answer. He says :

&quot;

They had on black overcoats, and with the trimming around the

tail, and a cape that came down about one-half of the way, and white trimmings
around it, and all were dressed in the same way, (white,) and white trimmings around
the wrist.&quot; He does not describe that as a disguise particularly, but he states that it

was uniform and a dress.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. Does that correspond to the usual form of Ku-Klux disguises worn, in your
opinion ?

Answer. I never saw them but once, or perhaps twice, and they were all dressed in

white at that time. I saw them on the streets.

Question. These disguises differed from the ones you saw in what particular ? The
others were all white ?

Answer. These dresses as described here differ from any of the costumes I have ever
seen.

Question. Do you understand that the costume worn is uniform always, or do they
vary ?

Answer. I do not know. I have never seen it but once, and perhaps twice, and tney
were in white then.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Is there a general correspondence in his description of the uniform of these

men with those worn by the Ku-Klux ?

Answer. Not that I am aware of.

Question. Wherein is the difference?
Answer. The only persons I have ever seen who were recognized as Ku-Klux was a
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body of men who passed across the square in Huntsville
j perhaps I saw it twice

;
I am

not positive.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. How long ago ?

Answer. That was in the last of 1866 or first of 1867, 1 think. These persons were all

dressed in white, loose robes, or what resembled a robe that covered anil disguised
them completely, and they had some disguise about the head that covered the face and
eyes, with a peculiar hat or cap, of a description which I have now forgotten, but it

concealed the whole upper part of the person, features and all. The rest were dis

guised in different ways, but with a covering that screened them from view.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Does not the description given by Henderson of the men who maltreated

him, show that their persons were disguised down to their knees, and that their faces
were disguised ?

Ansivcr. Ho says their faces, if I remember aright, were disguised, but he describes the

covering of the persons as an overcoat. How far that would be a disguise I cannot say,

although he describes a peculiar trimming which makes it a uniform, if I recollect

aright, a border to the cape or coat.

Question. I understand you to say, Mr. Day, that there is a general indisposition in
the courts to convict persons of homicides?

Answer. I stated, giving at the same time the peculiarities of the indisposition, I

think.

Question. I think you said that you saw no difference in the administration of crim
inal justice, where homicides were committed, between the South and the Northwest 1

?

Answer. I stated, or intended to state this : that I thought there was a disposi
tion on the part of juries to palliate offenses where a colorable aggressive act might be

imputed to the party whose life was taken in the Northwest and in the South, and that,

therefore, it was more difficult to punish homicides that were, under the law, murder.
I believe that to be true. I believe the fault to be in the juries.

Question. Did I understand you to mean that the administration of criminal law in

the South is as certain as it is in the Northwest ?

Answer. Hardly as certain, I think.

Question. I understood you to say that there was no trouble in convicting men, banded
together for the purpose of committing crime, in tire courts of North Alabama.

Ansivcr. I say that I do not think there would be any trouble. I do not know that
I have known a case to be tried and the issue directly made.

Question. Do you refer now to the State courts ?

Answer. Yes, sir, and the Federal, too, as to their disposition to punish these offenses.

Question. Have you ever, within your experience, known of the conviction of any man
who was charged with being a member of the Ku-Klux organization, and with having
committed a specific crime f

Answer. No, sir, I do not think that, since the laws passed making that an offense;

charges of that character have been made against them as Ku-Klux.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. Do you mean the State laws or United States laws ?

Answer. The State laws. I do not now remember a case. I do not think one has
come within my knowledge, though it might have occurred. ^

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. You have been pretty well acquainted with the condition of things in thia

portion of Alabama as to peace, quiet, and order since 1868 ?

Answer. Yes, sir. I have had the ordinary means of observation that all citizens

have.

Question. I will ask you to state whether you believe that, as far back as December,
11

1868. there existed a &quot; secret organization, in many portions of this State, of men who,
under the cover of masks and other grotesque disguises, armed with knives, revolvers,
and other deadly weapons, issued from the place of their rendezvous, in bands of greater
or less number, on foot or mounted on horses, in like manner disguised, in the late hours
of the night, and committed violence and outrage upon peaceable and law-abiding citi

zens, robbing and murdering them upon the highway, and entering their houses, tear

ing them from their homes and the embrace of their families, and with violence, threats,
and insults, inflicting on them the most cruel and inhuman treatment.&quot; Do you be
lieve that that state of things existed in Northern Alabama in December, 1868 ?

Ansiver. No, sir : I do not. The&amp;lt;grounds of my disbelief it may bo proper to state. I

know a number of men whom I believe to have been members of that organization, or
vhom I believe to have been cognizant of the general facts connected with the orga.ni-

ztitiou, and from my general conversation with them, as men whom I was meeting daily,
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J have been led to believe that the organization did not exist as late as December, 1868.

I do not know that to be true, but that is my belief. It is very probable that the opin
ion is not entitled to great weight in that particular, but rny opinion is that, as an. or

ganization, it did not exist as late as that. I may not be correct, however.

Question. Yon do believe it existed prior to that time iu Northern Alabama?
AHmm . I think there was an organization existing during the year 1867, and, per

haps, embodying a portion of the years before and after that.

Qucxtioii. Do you think that organization existed about the time of the presidential
election in 1808?
Answer. When was that election ?

(jHexlion. That election was in November, 1868.

Answer. Yes. sir.

Question. Did you see a sample of that organization in the streets of Huntsville at

that time .

Answer. I saw a portion of that organization I think it was in the summer some
time. I cannot iix the. date, for that escaped my mind, but I saw a body of men I be

lieve to be a portion of that organization.
Question. Where ?

Answer. Passing the streets of Huntsville.

(Jttesiion. What errand were they bound on ?

Answer. I do not know. They came into town and rode out again.

Question. Were they armed?
Answer. Yes, sir

;
with pistols and shot-guns.

Qncxlion. Did you sec them the night of the raid committed by them about that time ?

Answer. No, sir; not that I know of.

Question . Did you see a body of Ku-Klux here about the time of the presidential elec

tion, or Avhen a political meeting was held in this court-house, when Senator Spencer,

Judge Thurlow, and others were expected to speak here ?

AHKicer. I saw a body of disguised men ride into town that night and turn about and

ride out again.
Question. The night that Judge Thurlow was shot?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. AY ere they disguised?
Answer. YVs, sir.

Question. Were their horses disguised?
Answer. I think they weir.

Question. Were they armed ?

AnxiL-er. I think they were. I know that some of them were
;
1 saw the pistols in

their hands.
Ouestion. Do you believe they belonged to the Ku-Klux organization?
Answer. It w-is my opinion at the time, and I have seen no reason to change it.

Question. That was a very short time before the passage of this act ot December 26,

Answer. It was some months before. The exact date I cannot fix. In fact, I have

no means of ascertaining the date.

Oneslion. I will ask you now to look at the law of Alabama, approved December 26,

1868 entitled &quot; in act for the suppression of secret organizations ot men disguising

themselves for the purpose of committing crimes and outrages,&quot; and to read the pream

ble of the act, preliminary to a question which 1 want to ask you.

Aimccr. [Examining the act submitted.] I have re.ad it.

()He.8tio. Having read it, I now repeat the question whether you believe that, at the

time the act was passed containing this preamble, the facts recited in the preamble

My belief is that there was no organization called the Ku-Klux Klan at that

time It is a men; belief from impressions I got.

Question. At what time do you say this Ku-Klux organization dissolved itself or was

cannot assign dates to it, but I think it was dissolved in the summer of

uestion. But I understand you to admit that, in the summer of 1868, you saw a band

of Ku-Klux come into the town ?

IMSHVT Ye&amp;lt;* sir: that is inv recollection.

OuwtZn. 1 understand yo.rto say, further, that in November some time about the

time of the Presidential election, you saw another band ot Ku-Klux ,

Amwcr. I do not know that it was about the time oi the presidential elect

about the time of a political meeting.
Oucstion. Was it at the same time of the riot

&quot;

Answer It, was at the time Judge Thurlow was killed.
.

gISSoi. Do you call the transactions of that evening a simple homicide or a riot ?

I would like to get your idea of it.
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Answer. I think that the conduct of the parties was riotous.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. Did not that riot, as you term it, at which Judge Thnrlow was shot, occur
ou the Saturday night preceding the Presidential election of 1868?
Answer. I cannot tell really the dates a matter that escaped my mind. I do not re

member what the date was. If it did occur at that time, of course my testimony refers
to that date.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Now, having in view this riot or riotous proceeding, as you have denoi
nated it, the entrance of this band of Ku-Klux into the town at the time Jud^e Th

mii-

Thur-
low was killed, I repeat tho question, whether you think the Ku-Klux organization
had an existence in this county at that time.

Answer. I do not think it had as a general organization. Whether tho subdivisions
of the organization, or whatever it may have been styled, maintained their local form
or not I do not know. What I have stated are my opinions only.

Question. You may give the grounds of your opinion.
Answer. It was from general rumor, general understanding. Nothing more.

Question. Perhaps you got your understanding from the Ku-Klux themselves 1

Answer. I do not know that I did.

Question. Do you know that you did not ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Did you know who the members of the Ku-Klux organization were ?

Answer. No, sir; I did not.

Question. You were then liable to be imposed upon as to that fact ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
I presume I was. I might be the subject of imposition iu various

forms, undoubtedly, if men sought to effect a purpose of that kind.

Question. Are you acquainted with any person whom you know to have belonged to
the Ku-Klux organization ?

Answer. No, sir
;
not whom I knew to bo a member of the Ku-Klux.

Question. They practiced disguise in their sentiments and conversation as much as in
their costumes, did they not ?

Answer. I presume they did, sir. I have never, in a conversation with anyone, heard
him say that he was a Ku-Klux, and I could only form my opinion as to who were by
the general character and standing of the men, and from the general character at the
time of this organization. I supposed that it embraced a large portion of the young
men of the country. That was my opinion and understanding.

Question. If this organization, known-as tho Ku-Klux, ceased to exist, it must have
been at a particular time; when was that time?
Answer I really, sir, am unable to lix it. I have stated to you my general bolief in re

gard to the matter. In that I may be erroneous. I think that the belief I have- stated
was generally shared in the community. That was my understanding. It was the

general belief in the community at the time this Ku-Klux company rode into town in

November, when Judge Thurlow was killed. I do not remember about the especial
time, but my recollection is that there was a general belief that the organization was
disbanded in the early fall of 1868.

Question. Why disbanded at that time?
Answer. I really am unable to give the reasons of the organization or disorganization.
Question. Disbanded before the election ?

Answer. I think so, sir. That Is my recollection.

Question. Did your informants give you no reason why it was thus disbanded ?

Answer. I do not remember that I had any especial informant. My information was
framed from the general tenor of conversation I heard at the time in regard to these

matters

Question. Did you not hear that there were great disturbances, riots, and violence at

various voting places in tho fall of 1868, in this and in other States ? ^

Answer. My general recollection is that there were. I could not attempt to iix them.

Question. You remember the riot at New Orleans, I suppose ?

Answer. Yes, sir; I have forgotten the dat-e.

(Question. Likewise serious riots in Mississippi?
Ansicer. I think there were. Perhaps it was in Jackson. I have a general recol

lection of it. I remember the general fact, acquiring my information, I suppose, from

reading the newspapers of the country that there was a great deal of disturbance of a
riotous character at the time.

Question. Still, you think these disturbances had no connection with the Ku-Klux
organizations .

Ansiccr. I have no reason for thinking they had. I do not believe they had.

Question. You think the organization had been disbanded before ?

Answer. I think so, sir.
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Question. You think it did not exist as an instrument to influence results in the elec
tion of that year ?

Answer. I do not believe there was an organization in the fall, at the time the
presidential election occurred

;
but I do not know, sir.

Question. You do not believe there were any combinations existing at that time for
the purpose of preventing Union men from voting ?

Answer. Well, I cannot say as to that time
;
I do not know anything about it. I do

not know in regard to that, sir
;
and if there were organizations of that sort, I know

nothing of them. I have no means of information on that subject.
Question. Did you read the republican newspapers about that period ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Were they not full of charges of the existence of such organizations ?

Answer. I think there were many charges of that sort, and are yet.
Question. Were they generally denied by the democratic papers ?

Answer. I think they were, generally.
Question. You believed the democratic papers rather than the republican ?

Answer. In the first place, I should prefer to have a man or a party proven guilty of
so grave a thing before I would accept the mere assertion of guilt, and whatever opin
ion I entertained would be one that would be framed as I would frame any opinou in
reference to a general fact that might exist in the country ;

and I should not be apt
to accept the truth of an allegation of that sort until I had &quot;some evidence to show it to
be true.

Question. Do I understand you to say you discredit the newspaper statements

purporting to give, accounts of riots here and there ? You do not believe them until

you have veriiied them by some satisfactory evidence ?

Answer. I do not say that. What you understood, I do not know. That is not my
assertion at all.

Question. I do not know that I understood your answer. I want to know whether

you discredited the statements of the republican press in the fall of 1868, charging the

existence of combinations of men to intimidate and overawe the Union men in the

Southern States and prevent them from voting.
Answer. I cannot say that I attach either credit or discredit to that. Those charges,

or charges of a like; character, are frequently here made through the southern country

to-day, aud I do not believe that they exist, and I might perhaps have regarded these

allegations as being more probable at that time in consequence, perhaps, of local organ
izations or cliques that were more violent in their purposes than years afterward

when communities have receded further from the violent times of the war. .But the

charges are made to-day as they were then, and where some of them may be true to

day I do not pretend to say I do not believe the general fact as charged to-day, and

I, perhaps, would attach as much credit in the one case as in the other.

Question. When you read the account of the great riot in New York, in 1863, did you
credit that ?

Answer. I think that was generally conceded by all parties.

Question. But you did not verify it by your own observation ?

Answer. I did not.

Question. You relied wholly on the newspaper account ?

Answer. I did.

Question. If you were to read in a newspaper to-day of a riot in Illinois, you would

credit the statement, would you not ?

Answer. I probably would.

question. Do I still understand you to say that you discredit the statements of which

the newspapers were full, in 1868, of riots at various points in the Southern States,

antecedent to or about the time of the, election ?

Answer. All that I say in that particular is this: that the allegations of a violent

and I believe unscrupulous partisan press as exists in the country to-day, I am not

inclined to give credit to without some further evidence of the guilt and felony that

thdy profess to charge upon their opponents. That is all I desire to say.

Question. When you refer to the uuscrupulousness of the press, do you refer to the

republican press?
inificer. I refer to whatever press is unscrupulous, but I think there is very much in

both probably But I make the statement general in reference to allegations in

reference to the credit I would give to charges in the newspapers against men, ot

violence or of felony.

Question. Then you think the men who enacted this law in December, 1868, were

misinformed and wholly mistaken in relation to the condition of tniugs hero in Ala-

-Inswer. I have stated my belief that there was no general organization, no organi

zation of what was popularly known as the Ku-Klux Klan at that time. Whatever

of a local character there may have been, I do not know, because I think violence in

disguise has been committed since.
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Question. Perhaps this organization I have been speaking of as the Ku-Klux organi
zation has changed its name, or gone by some other name since that time. What is

the fact ?

Ans-wer. I have heard no change of name imputed to it.

Question. Have you ever heard of this secret organization being denominated by
any other name than Ku-Klux ?

Answer. I have not, sir.

Question. Have you ever heard of the Invisible Circle in this State ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Of the Knights of the White Camelia?
Answer. I do not remember of ever having heard the words before.

Question. Of the Constitutional Union Guards?
Answer. I do not remember it.

Question. You never heard of an organization of that name ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Did you ever hear of an organization known as the White Brotherhood ?

Answer. Not that I remember of, sir.

Question. About what was the number of disguised men that rode into town at the
time Judge Thurlow was killed ?

Answer. Well, sir
;

I should think there were from one hundred to one hundred and
fifty. It is quite difficult to judge of a body of mounted men.

Question. Were their horses disguised ?

Answer. I think they were.

Question. Were the costumes or uniform of the men similar ?

Answer. I think they were. They were all white.

Question. Did they seem to have a leader ?

Answer. I saw no evidences of a leader. I heard, some one afterward alleging the
fact that he heard an order given.

Question. Did they seem to obey one leader ?

Answer. They were merely marching across the street when I saw them. One man
was riding in front. There was no occasion for the issuing of orders. Whether any
one had authority to issue them or not, I cannot say. I presume that there was.

Question. What do you think of this, body of men
;
were they part of a secret organ

ization ?

Answer. That was my opinion, that they were a secret body of men organ
ized together.

Question. For what purpose did you believe they were banded together ?

Answer. I had very li ttle idea at that time, and I think there was very little known of
their purpose ;

but I think the general understanding, the popular understanding of
their purpose, was that it was to prevent disorder and violence.

Question. Did you understand that their purpose was to supersede the ordinary func
tion of the courts to prevent disorder and violence ?

Answer. My understanding was, that men might commit such offenses as would re-

suit in punishment by that organization, especially if these offenses were not taken

cognizance of by the courts.

Question. But you have represented the condition of things here in the courts as alto

gether lovely, and that there was no difficulty at all in obtaining redress in the courts
of justice. Why, then, was there necessity for an organization outside of the courts to
administer justice ?

Amivcr. I do not know that I have spoken of the courts of 1867 and 1868 at all.

Question. I am speaking now of the fall of 1868, when Judge Thurlow was murdered,
J

and when this band, whether Ku-Klux or by whatever name they should be styled,

appeared in the streets of this city. Were your courts.in organization and in full ope
ration at that time ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
I think they were.

Question. Was there any trouble in redressing grievances in these courts ?

Answer. How it was outside of this immediate section of the country I do not know,
but our courts in this county were not doing much at that time

; very little.

Question. Was justice administered by these bauds of disguised men generally at the
time ?

Answer. I do not think it was. I do not remember of any particular case. There
were killings. I do not remember any in this immediate country here, but general re

ports in these particulars ; so far as their efforts went to supersede courts of justice,
I do not remember any special attempt of the kind. I speak of the general impression
in the country in regard to this organization, and I do not know that I can substantiate
that impression by any instance. I am giving you the general impression of the coun

try as fairly as I can remember it.

Question. I understand you to express the opinion that this organization, whatever
t was, was organized for the purpose of administering justice in that class of cases of
which the court did not take cognizance. Am I right in that ?
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Answer. I meant to say it was understood that offenses might arise in \yhich, if the
courts ofjustice failed through indisposition or inability to reach them, it might result
iii the punishment of these men by this organization. &quot;That was the general opinion.

Question. Will you tell mo what offenses existed in the community that the powers
of the courts were ineffectual to reach or correct?

Answer. As an illustration of what I mean, I would say that a killing might occur in
which in the popular mind there might be a positive belief of the guiltW the party, but

owing to the difficulty of making proof, parties could not be punished for it. I believe
that these parties might bo punished by this organization under that state of facts.

Question. It is your opinion, then, that the functions of this organization were limited
to cases of homicide where evidence would be insufficient to convict in a court of jus
tice ?

Answer. I think not, sir. I use that merely as an illustration.

Question. What other offenses were included in the jurisdiction of this Ku-Klux or

ganization ?

Answer. I think there were many disorders
;
I think that theft, and arson, and many

violences common to communities might have been punished by these men.
Question. Were not theft and arson punished in your court ? Was there any diffi

culty in punishing such offenders ?

Answer. I reckon not, if they could have been caught and the proof made.
Question. Then, where the necessity for this organization ?

Answer. It is difficult to give illustrations of those particular and peculiar cases in
which popular opinion assigned to these men a hand in punishment ;

but I simply
give these cases as illustrative of what I believe was the popular impression as to the

organization at the time. I simply desire to illustrate by these expressions what I un
derstood to be the purpose of the organization at that time.

Question. I suppose this Ku-Klux organization gave a man a fair trial and a fair

opportunity to prove his innocence ?

Answer. I really do not know. I have not the means of knowing what the machinery
of the organization was, or its method of administration.

Question. You have no information on that subject?
Answer. No information on that subject ;

in fact, I was not a Ku-Klux, and am en

deavoring to state, in response to your questions, as fairly as I can, what the popular
impression was in regard to that ojganization, as I understood it at the time.

Question. Was it the popular impression that this Ku-Klux organization meted out

justice generally?
Answer. Well, I think that that opinion depended very much upon whether the party

rendering it sympathized with them or did not sympathize with them.

Question. That is to say, hi,s punishment depended upon the fact that he either sym
pathized with them or did not?

Answer. No, sir. I meant to say that the general opinion as to whether they would
do justice or would not do justice depended upon the fact as to whether the sympathies
of the party rendering the opinion were with the Ku-Klux organization ;

in other

words, those who were enemies of the organization charged them with acts of violence
and injustice, and those who were friendly to the organization, or personal constituents
of it, would hold the other opinion. That was my general understanding.

Question. You. conversed with both friends and enemies of this organization ?

Answer. I have both heard men express sympathy and men express animosity.
Question. Had you any reason to believe that those who expressed themselves in a

friendly manner toward the objects of this organization belonged to it themselves?
Answer. No, sir; I had no means of knowing. I never had any means of knowing

any individual who was a member of the organization.
Question. Did these friends of the Ku-Klux proceedings or those who sought to justify

the Ku-Klux ever inform you as to the plan upon which they proceed when about to

lynch a man ?
&quot;

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Did you understand that they ever had anything like a trial, either with
the accused present or in hia absence?
Answer. No, sir

;
I never understood it was carried to that extent.

Question. Did you ever know mistakes made by the Ku-Klux organization in the

punishment they inflicted ?

Answer. Well, I think the whole organization is a mistake, so far as that is concerned,
and if you refer to any case where they undertook to administer individual judgment,
I, from my own stand-point, think that every attempt of this kind to vindicate order
or punish offenses was an offense in itself corresponding in violence to that of an indi

vidual doing the same thing. *

Question. Did you ever hear of any case of men being punished on account of obnox
ious sentiments by this Ku-Klux order ?

Answer. I do not remember any individual case. I remember the frequent allega
tions through the press of occurrences of that character, but any individual case I do
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not recall now, and I do not think any have been alleged here, although they may
have been. I speak only from indistinct recollection.

Ottes/toii.^Did you ever hear any cases of men being Kn-Kluxed because they were
influential, leading republicans or radicals, as they are called here?

Answer. I do not remember any case in this county.
Question. You never heard of any ?

Anxwcr. I remember only the allegations of the press in that particular, which have
been frequent very frequent.

Question. You distrusted the correctness of the statements you read in the news
papers ?

Answer. Well, I thought it might be true and might not. I treated it as I would
any allegations, sir. It might be true and might not.

(At 1.30 p. in. the committee took a recess until half past 2 o clock, when the exam
ination of the witness, Lionel W. Day, was resumed, as follows :)

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. With which party do you affiliate at this time ?

Answer. I have voted but once in the State of Alabama
;
I then voted for the demo

cratic nominee.

Question. When was that ?

Answer. That was in the last State election, -last fall.

Question. Have you ever been a delegate to any democratic convention?
Answer. Yes, sir

;
I was a delegate to a convention holden at Gadsden before the

last congressional election, before the election of Judge Dox, at which convention ho
was nominated.

Question. Did you compete with Mr. Dox at that convention for the nomination to

Congress ?

Answer. I did not.

Question Was your name presented to the convention ?

Answer. It was not.

Question. You had no aspirations that way ?

Answer. My name was mentioned by some gentlemen from Huntsville, but never
used or considered in competition with&quot;Judge Dox.

Question. Was your name presented with your approbation ?

Answer. It was not presented at all to the convention.

Question. You were not an aspirant, I understand you ?

Answer. I stated this in regard to that matter, that I was not an aspirant and did not
desire the nomination. It was suggested by some parties that my nomination perhaps
would be a proper and advantageous one politically, and I stated to whoever named
it to me that I was utterly indifferent as to whether I was nominated or not. But I

did not desire the position, and never have.

Question. How has it happened that you have never voted during your five years
residence in Alabama ?

Answer. I never have registered.
.Question. When did you register ?

Answer. That is of record in the probate judge s office. When was the election here
last for Representative?
Mr. BUCKLEY. In November last.

The WITNESS. I think perhaps I might have registered in October. My reason for

registering especially was, I had personal friends in the county canvass for whom I

desired to vote, and to whom, for personal reasons, I desired to render aid.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Did you vote the entire democratic ticket ?

Answer. I think I did.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. Did you have objection to registering before that date ?

Answer. I had had some doubts as to the construction of the oath embodied in the
constitution of the State.

Question. You mean the oath in which a person promises not to interfere with the

political rights of other persons ?

Answei . Yes, sir. I had doubts of this character, as to whether it bound a man abso
lutely to the pursuit of that political faith; whether he thought the necessities of the
times required him to change compelled him to change his opinions as to the ques
tion of negro suffrage. That was my doubt in the matter. I hesitated over that. I

finally came to this conclusion : that the oath was a part of the constitution of the

State, and it bound the citizens in its observance only so long as it was a constitution
of the State, and that he had the right, if he saw fit, to oppose the policy upholding
this negro suffrage, if ho saw fit, alter taking that oath. That was my couclusiori,

fiually.
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By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Are you opposed to negro suffrage?
Answer. Well,&quot; sir, I am in doubt as to whether negro suffrage is a greater disadvan

tage to the country at large than the former system of white suffrage, which was uni

versal; but as suffrage stands in the political organization of this State to-day, I can
not say that I am opposed to it. I am opposed to it only in this sense, that I am op
posed to universal suffrage under any state of facts.

Question. How would you limit it?

Answer. I would limit it by an educational and property qualification. That is my
private view.

Question. You would combine both ?

Ansivcr. Yes, sir. I would represent intelligence and property both in the elective

franchises of the country.
Question. Would you have white suffrage qualified in the same manner?
Answer. Yes, sir. I believe that impartial suffrage is the correct theory.
Question. What do you mean by impartial ?

Answer. Impartial so far as race and color are concerned.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. Would yon deprive white men that have exercised the elective franchise
at a former period of their life of their franchise now ?

Answer. I would not agitate, if I could, the deprivation of any white man s right
to vote, but I do not believe that the foundation of universal suffrage for a govern
ment is a safe one.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. How much property do you think a man should own to be qualified to

vote ?

Answer. Well, so far as that is concerned, I would simply make his interest sufficient

to make him conservative of the material interests of the country.
Question. You would have him a land-holder ?

Answer. No, sir; I do not think I would. I do not think it is considered material by
those who agitate the question of property representation that the electors should be
holders of the soil.

Question. I would be glad to have your opinion as to how much property a man
should own before he should exercise the privileges of voting.

Answer. I believe in some States there have existed property qualifications. What
the variety of judgment has been, as determined by the statute of these States, I do not
now remember.

Question. I am asking for your own opinion.
Answer. Well, I am not prepared to specify any amount that I know of. I should

think that such an interest in the property of the country as would require conserva
tism in maintaining order and peace in the community, from motives of personal
interest, would answer the ends of that theory. I can hardly specify an amount.

Question. You spoke of having voted last fall with the democratic party ;
are you

in the confidence of that party in this community ?

Answer. Well, sir; I consider I have the confidence of the honest men iu this commu
nity.

Question. Of the democratic party ?

Answer. Yes, sir; of the democratic party, and I think, perhaps, of the republicans
personally, but not in a political sense /

Question. Not in a political sense ?

Answer. Not in a political sense, I presume^ of the republican men of the community;
probably not, because they know my conservative tendency, and it would be unnatural
that there should be a bestowal of confidence under that state of facts. I would not
seek it, and would not desire it.

Question. What are the present views of the democratic party in this part of the
State of Alabama in relation to negro suffrage ?

Answer. Well, sir, I think that if the question of negro suffrage were submitted to

the determination of those democrats that control public sentiment in Madison County
to-day, it would not be disturbed. I have a very decided belief that it would not. I

have heard many of them express their opinions to that effect.

Question. Do you think that there is a hearty acquiescence in the fifteenth amend
ment to the Constitution of the United States on the part of the democratic party in,

this county ?

Answer. I think that there is this acquiescence: that which is yielded by men who
desire to obey the ascertained and settled laws of the land in regard to suffrage or any
thing else, and 1 think that the general belief in this community is, that negro suffrage
is incorporated into the organic law of the land, that the franchise cannot be diverted
from the colored race without revolutionary efforts, and that they do not desire any
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disturbance of the sort, and will not labor to that end under that state of facts. I be
lieve that is the overwhelming sentiment, not only in Madison County, but throughout
the Tennessee Valley, which embraces the preponderance of intelligence and numbers
in these northern counties.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. Are these views advocated by the democratic press in this county ?

Answer. I think there is a division. The Hnntsville Democrat, I believe, is not in

favor of an avowed acquiescence.
Question. Is it &quot;new departure in its tendencies f

Answer. No, sir
;

it is not. It is not in favor of an acquiescence with the theory of
the &quot;new departure/ for this reason : that he conceives that such acquiescence would
commit the democratic party to the theories of the republican party, which he op
poses ;

that it would so far commit it that it would not only be an indorsement of the
status of affairs now, but would place the democratic party in the position of advo
cating those measures de novo, provided they did not now exist.

Question. Is not that the leading organ of your party here ?

Answer. The Huntsville Democrat ?

Question. Yes, sir.

Answer. Well, the Huntsville Independent has lately been sold out, I believe
;

I
think that Mr. Clay represents a very decided minority on that issue.

Question. Does not his paper have the largest circulation in the county ?

Answer. I do not know the figures. I can ascertain, if necessary.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Is there a general recognition by the democratic party in this part of Ala
bama of the reconstruction measures as constitutional and valid t

Answer. I do not think there is any question about it. I do not think any question
is made on it. I hear of none.

Question. When did the change occur in the views of the democratic party in this

part of the State ?

Answer. I understand the political view in this country to be this : that while they
believe that the measures of Congress for the reconstruction of the Southern States
were, in many respects, unconstitutional

;
while the amendments were adopted with a

certain degree of arbitrary force by the Congress, determining what was a State and
what was not, at pleasure, yet these acts have-passed into law, and being recognized
by the political department of the Government as a part of the Constitution of the
United States, that they are in fact a part of the Constitution, and they can only be
set aside by the employment of the same means that were used in their institution.

That, J think, is the general sentiment of the democrats who are leading in this county
11QW.

Question. Were the views of General Blair, as expressed in his letter to Colonel Brod-

head, in July, 1868, upon the eve of the democratic convention at New York, generally!
approved by the democratic party here ?

Answer. 1 think they were generally regarded as telling the truth in spirit. The
technicalities of the case may have changed their aspect. They came with an issue of

party. I think they were generally regarded, however, as being revolutionary in

their tendencies.

Question. Did he not in that letter declare his opinion to be that these reconstruction
measures were unconstitutional, revolutionary, and void ?

Answer. I think he did. ,

- 1

Question. You say there was a general acquiescence by the democratic party in this

part of the country in that statement?
Answer. I think men generally believed that these measures were the result of parti

sanship and were outside of the Constitution, and I think they quoted Mr. Stevens as

authority on the subject generally .

Question. When did the views of the democratic party undergo a change on that

subject?
Answer. I think they underwent a change when the fifteenth amendment had

ripened these measures into the form of organic law. When they found it had passed
into an irrepealable form except by revolutionary means, they determined to submit to

it, although it embodied sentiments they would not have regarded as binding except as

part of the Constitution.

Question. Are the democrats here in favor of what is known as the &quot; new departure ?&quot;

Answer. In this county at the last election but one for the legislature, the majority
for the republicans was three hundred, I think. In the last election the member advo

cating the &quot; new departure&quot; was elected by nine hundred majority, leading his ticket
I think one hundred votes.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. When was that election ?
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Last fall.

Question. Was not that before &quot; new departure&quot; came up?
Answer. O, no, sir.

By the CHAIRMAN:

Question. Did not that &quot; new departure&quot; movement occur in the spring of the present
year ?

Answer. The &quot;new departure
&quot; has been advocated in this part of the country by the

gentleman to whom I refer who was elected to the legislature, to my certain knowl
edge, since a year ago last winter; for several of the editorials I read before they were

published.
Question. The same movement as advocated by Mr. Vallandighain ?

Answer. Yes, sir. The prominence given to it by his advocacy did not make it an

original proposition with him. It was held before he took hold oi it.

Question. I understand you to say that the democratic party iu this portion of Ala
bama is at this time heartily in favor of this &quot; new departure

&quot; movement ?

Answer. By heartily, I am unable to say what the question means; but I think that
the nominees on that platform will be elected. I think that that was the sentiment

throughout the State, and I am quite certain from those iu the confidence of Governor
Lindsay that he is in favor of the &quot; new departure,&quot; and opposed to any further agita
tion of the question of negro suffrage, lie assigns the reason given by the bulk of
those who favor the &quot; new departure,&quot; that it is the organic law, and it would be revo

lutionary to attempt to overnirn it.

Question. Are the democratic party hero at this time in favor of the fifteenth amend
ment as a finality not to be disturbed ?

Answer. I have no doubt in my mind but what they are.

Question. You arc of opinion that if the democratic party were installed iu power, NO
effort would be made to repeal that part of the Constitution ?

Answer. I am most decidedly of that opinion.

Question. I understand you to say that men coming from the northern and western
States are well treated here without exception f

Answer. I do not remember whether I have stated anything in regard to exceptions.
I stated this: that I knew of no eases in which they had been interfered with.

Question. Then there are no exceptions to the civil treatment of men coming from
the, northern and western States 1

Answer. None that I know of.

Question. About how many residents have you in this county of .Madison, from the
northern and western States, who came since the war ?

Answer. I cannot state positively, although I heard some gentleman who professed
to state, and whose name I have forgotten, though it came to me with some air of

authority, that there were between eighty and one hundred men in the county who had
come here.

Question. Do those men generally affiliate with the republican or democratic party?
Answer. I think there is a division. My impression is that perhaps a majority of

them afhliate with the republican party.

Question. Are they bold and outspoken in the expression of their opinions ?

Answer. I think they are aggressive.

Question. What do you mean by aggressive?
Answer. That they are inclined to assert them with a certain air of obtrusion.

Question. Obtrusion? Has not every man in this country the right to express his

opinion on all questions at all times and places?
Answer. Yes, sir; and I use the word &quot;obtrusion

&quot; in the sense of opposition to the

repression of their sentiments. T think that men in this county they have had a ma
jority here have been excessively bold and outspoken, free and undisguised in the
assertion and averment of their political sentiments. I have yet to know of one man,
if my memory serves me aright, who has been interfered with.

Question. Why then do you say this expression has been obtrusive ?

Answer. I have stated why. I used it iu opposition to repression, as you seemed to

inquire whether men have been compelled to repress their political sentiments. I

say they have been bold obtrusive.

Question. You do not mean offensively obtrusive ?

Answer. O, no, sir
;
not at all.

Question. What means have you of knowing that there is no sense of insecurity felt

by northern men in this community ?

Answer. I know large numbers of them, and I know of no case of complaint, and the
northern population here are very ready to complain of any want of notice or atten

tion, and Tare sensitive upon the subject of their relation with the people here, and for
that reason I think tlu\t, if that state of facts suggested in the question had existed,
I should have known it. That is substantially my reason.

Question. Are northern men treated upon terms of social equality hero ?
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Ansivcr. Well, I reckon that they follow the rule of humanity everywhere ; they find

their level. I have seen no divergence from the rule. A man who is a gentleman
will receive the civilities of a gentleman. A man who is not, will assign himself to his

proper relations. I think that is the rule here, as in all other communities I have been
ii). It is a mere question of social gravitation.

Question. You think, then, that no distinction is made in this community in a man s

treatment on account of the place of his nativity ?

Answer. I think this, that a man who comes here from the North is subject to a
closer scrutiny, in regard to his character and standing generally, than, perhaps, lie

might be under other facts; and I think further, that that disposition on the part
of this community here I cannot speak for any other southern community to investi

gate closely the character of men who appear here, has been stimulated by the fact

that many men have tloated in that have been left behind by the Army, whose con
duct has reasonably and properly put such communities upon their inquiry as to their

character, and would put northern communities, nuder the same state of facts, upon
the same inquiry.

Question. Is the same investigation made as to a man s antecedents when he moves
here from the Southern States ?

Answer. I should thiuk probably not; not as severe, perhaps, although I do not re
member of any case

;
no case has ever been called to my knowledge. There is no class

from which to form an opinion.
Question. Why should there be a distinction in this respect?
Answer. I suppose it grows out of this fact, that the sections have been divided by

war, and that has left animosity behind that would necessarily create a certain bar be
tween men, especially in their social relations, although I do not think it does in their
business relations. Add to that the fact that a great many men have been left behind by
the Army, as every man with an experience in southern communities knows, to whom
credit would not be attached in northern communities, and to whom position, official

or otherwise, would not be assigned, as it is in many cases in southern communities
;

therefore I think it a reasonable suspicion on the part of the southern communities.

Question. Do I understand you to say that there is a feeling of animosity growing out
of the war still existing in this community against northern men?

Answer. You understand me to say simply what is patent to every man acquainted
with the facts, that men cannot associate together ordinarily, cannot meet together
as strangers, who have undergone those social and political divisions that have been
brought&quot; about by the war, upon the same relations that they would if those divisions
did not exist. That is what I mean to say. I think that statement is true of all

communities.

Question. I am speaking of this community, and asking you the plain, direct ques
tion, whether, in your opinion, there is any animosity lingering here against men as
northern men, and because they were identified with the movement of the Govern
ment to suppress the rebellion ?

Answer. Well, I think it raises such a presumption against a man before he is known,
*

and before he recommends himself by his personal conduct a^ a gentleman, as would
deprive him of the voluntary personal association of many persons in the commun
ity. I think the case could be considered as against him until by his personal associa
tion ho had recommended himself as a good citizen.

Question. Does it commend a northern man to greater favor in this community if he

joins the democratic party ?

Answer. Well, it would commend him to their favor, because there is a majority of j

nine hundred in the county and six or seven thousand in the district. It would com
mend him to the political favor of the numerical majority on account of the political

affiliation, evidently ; and, inasmuch as the bulk of the gentlemen in this community
of the well-meaning and substantial citizens of this country are conservatives or

democratic in their sentiments and tendencies, it would probably collect around him a

society that would be much larger and more agreeable than the other class of affilia- .

tions suggested.
*

Question. Suppose two northern men were to come here of opposite politics one a

republican and the other a democrat and sock to enter into business, would the dem
ocrat secure more favor than the republican, on account of his political affiliations ?

Answer. I think it would bo the reverse, sir, because the republican merchants are
few in the country; they are a little behind in numbers, and they would be apt to
draw around them the trade of those who sympathize with them in political matters.
I know men of both parties who have come hero and gone into trade, and I do not
know now that there are any facts in their experience, under my observation, to enable
me to give an opinion. I know men of both political creeds have come here and suc
ceeded.

Question. Both succeeded equally well?
Answer. Yes, sir, I think so. I know Mr. Vandeventer, here, a gentleman reliable in
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every respect, has been patronized by every cue, and has been successful. He is a man
of means, and is a republican. I know others who are conservatives.

Qucation.. Do they talk politics ?

Answer. Mr. Vaudeveuter, a republican, has been a member of the board of comity
commissioners, for, I think, some years. I do not remember the date of his appoint
ment, but I have associated him with the board for a long time. He is a northern
man.

Question. With which party did yon vote before coming South ?

Answer. I voted but once before coming South. I then voted for Mr. Lincoln at his
last election.

Question. You say you have known of no demonstrations of violence except in a
democratic meeting ?

Answer. I do not remember any.
Question. When did that occur ?

Answer. That was the 3d of August, in 1888.

Question. Are you acquainted with the counties of Limestone, Blount, Colbert, Fay-
ette, Coosa, Jackson, Morgan, Winston, and St. Clair?
Answer. I have a general acquaintance through these counties

; some, I think, in
Coosa County. I do not remember any particular individual, that I know, whom I

recollect now, but I might be able to do so. I believe in all the other counties I have
acquaintances.

Question. Did you ever hear of the Patoua disturbance in St. Clair County?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did you hear of Luke and four colored men being killed in that county f

Answer. Yes, .sir.

Question. That was last fall, was it not ?

Answer. I think it was last fall, or winter; I should think later.

Question. You think it was later than that ?

Answer. Yes, sir, I think so. It occurred then. I should say at about that time, but
the date I do not recall.

Question. Did you understand that these men were killed by a band of Ku-Klux ?

Answer. I think 1 did. My recollection is, that that was the statement I heard.

Question. Did you understand that they were banded together for that particular
purpose, or that they were a part of the Ku-Klux organization?

Answer. My understanding was one derived in the main, if not wholly, from one of
the leading republicans of this district, who was a brigadier general in the Federal

Army, and is no\v a Federal office-holder, and. I presume, was in the main correct, for lie

is a man of high integrity and character
; and, if I remember aright, the substantial fea

tures of it, as lie related it to me, were that the contest grew out of a personal difficulty
between a negro and a white man, in which the white man, I think, slapped the negro
for allowing his horse to escape, which he had been holding at the door as he went into
the store; that that slapping provoked a vast amount of ill-feeling; that the negroes
assembled in a body and fired upon the congregation coining from the church, com
posed of men. women, and children, and that afterward these men, in disguise, went
and took these parties out and hung them. That is substantially what I remember to
have learned of the transaction.

Question. Did you understand that anybody coming from the church was injured by
the firing ?

Answer. I do not remember, but I think not.

Question. These men were disguised and armed, were they?
Answer. That is my recollection of it.

Question. About how large a number ?

Answer. I have forgotten. I do not remember that I ever heard.

Question. Were they disguised after the manner of the Ku-Klux ?

Answer. I do not know what the disguise was. My information of the particulars of
the disguise, perhaps, was gained from newspaper reports, and perhaps from the party
to whom 1 have referred as my relator, but my general idea was that their faces were
concealed so that they could not be identified.

Question. Have you heard of any recent disturbances in Limestone County ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
I have heard them reported here disturbances of various charac

ters there.

Question. Have you heard of punishment being inflicted by men banded together in

disguise ?

Answer. I think it is alleged that a party in the control of Captain Sam Moore, as
he is called, did some violence by attempting to drown or hang a man by the name
of Weir. I think they are said to have been in disguise. I am not certain, but that
is my recollection.

Question. Is that the only instance you remember in Limestone County?
Answer. Of whipping in disguise ?

39 A



610 CONDITION OF AFFAIRS IN THE SOUTHERN STATES.

Question. Yes, sir.

Answer. That is the only one I now recollect.

Question. \Vithin a year past ?

Answer. Yes, sir; the only case in which I remember to have heard it alleged that

disguised men accomplished anything. I think there was a popular statement here,
and I reckon it was true, that a body of men in disguise went to the jail in Limestone
County one night, to liberate some one there, and the citizens came out and organized
and repelled them. They didn t effect the object of their visit.

Question. Are these the only instances you recall?

Answer. They are.

Question. Have you heawl of any like instances in Blount ?

Answer. No, sir; I do not remember any cases in Blount.

Question. Or in Colbert County ?

Answer. I believe this Holseapple case was from Colbert. I only remember the one
case

;
the case charged by Henderson, about which I have testified.

Question. I will ask the same question as to Coosa ?

Answer. I do not remember any as to Coosa.

Question. Any in Fayette County ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
there are allegations in regard to the whipping of a negro by the

name of William Bryant, by certain disguised parties there. I think he alleges that

they were disguised, but I am not certain of it. I will look at the complaint, and can
correct that if desired.

Question. Is William Bryant s case the only one brought to your notice as occurring
in Fayette County ?

Answer. The only one brought to my official notice.

Question. Have you heard of any other case ?

Answer. I am informed by Judge Miimis, the district attorney, who has lately re
turned from Fayette, that a man by the name of Humber, and one named Gregory, I

think, were lately arrested for some alleged violence in disguise, but the character of
it I do not know. He did not tell me. He merely said that they had given bond for

an appearance at the next term of the court; that they waived examination before

Judge Williams, the commissioner.

Question. Have you heard of any disturbance in Morgan County ?

Answer. Yes, sir; there was a sort of a vendetta existing there between two parties
in Morgan County, in which, I understand, the parties went regularly into camp, and
had a complete organization. I understood, also, that they were not divided upon any
political grounds, but it was the result of local animosities and differences; that there
were men engaged in the interests of both parties indifferent as to their politics. That
was the report and the general understanding I have of it. I know that General Craw
ford sent troops there, and I think it resulted in the disbanding of the organization.

Question. How large were they reported to be?
Answer. I think there were thirty or forty men in it. assembled without disguise in

the hilly countries.

Question. What was the subject of their hostility ?

Answer. I do not know that I am able to state. I think it grew out of the killing of
a man by the, name of Fenelon Raglen. My impression is that Raglen s killing was
alleged to have grown out of a difficulty in a settlement in the probate court, but I

am indistinct in my memory. I have it connected with that statement.

Question. Did one of the parties seek to take the life of the man, and the other to

protect it?

Answer. Raglen was shot while sitting at supper, through the windows of his house.
I think he was supping with his family. That is my recollection. It was some time

ago ;
I suppose a year and a half. Ho was killed while in that position. I do not think

there was any popular attachment of a political motive to the act, for I think Raglen
was a democrat.

Question. What, then, did these two bodies of men assemble for ?

Answer. I am not absolutely certain as to what they assembled for, but I suppose it

grew out of allegations of hostility, and threats made by the friends of Raglon against
other parties, and my impression is now that the name of Ku-Klux and Anti-Ku-Klux
was attached to these parties. It just occurs to me. My impression further is that
the Auti-Ku-Klux party assumed, or were charged with assuming that name, in order
to throw odium upon their opponents, and secure popular favor and the support of the

troops. That was alleged. Whether true or not, 1 am not able to state.

Question. Judge Charlton, in that county, was killed .

Answer. He was killed in Decatur; assassinated by a.mau concealed, as generally
understood.

Question. What was Judge Charlton shot for ?

Answo . The purposes of the parties or their motive I do not think were very defi

nitely settled.

Question. Was lie a democrat or a republican ?
&quot;
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Answer. I think he was a republican.
Question. Prominent?
Answer. Yes, sir; he was foreman of the last Federal grand jury here, and I think

was quite prominent. I think that Mr. Charlton was a very strong advocate of Mr.
Houston s election to the United States Senate a democrat.

By Mr. BUCKLEY:

Question. Houston used to be an old Union man ?

Answer. Yes, sir, up to the close of the war. Charlton, T think, was generally under
stood to be a republican and an avowed man. He was killed in the night. I think ho
was killed at 3 o clock, as he got off the Nashville train, as lie got off in the vicinage,
if not the immediate presence, of quite a number of passengers and rneu.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Did you understand what the motive of his assassins was?
Ansicer. I must reflect on that a moment.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. Do you mean 3 o clock in the night, or was he killed in the daytime?
Answer. Three o clock in the night-time. I have forgotten now, but I have a vague

impression as to the understanding, that they assigned to him some motive in the kill

ing of Raglen, or some advisory relation to that, but what it dictinctly was, I am unable
to recall. It is a vague impression in my mind now. It was connected with that in
some way. It was a matter in which I took no interest.

By the CIIAIIJMAN:

Question. Had his politics anything to do with his taking off ?

Answer. I am not able to say. I can only state what I have just repeated the im
pression that I have of some connection Charlton was supposed to have had in the dif

ficulty of Kaglen whether direct or advisory, and whether correct or not, I cannot bay.
Question. Had Judge Charlton rendered himself offensive to the democratic party on

account of his prominence in politics?
Answer. Not that I know of not especially so. Charlton, I think, wras generally

kindly considered, regarded as a kind gentleman and a good citizen. That was my
understanding of him. I have heard democrats in this town express that opinion of

Charlton, as being a very kind, good man.
Question. Did you ever hear it assigned as a motive for whipping colored men that it

was to induce them to vote the democratic ticket or abstain from voting the radical
ticket?
Answer. Do you refer to this country this general scope of country in this vicinity ?

Question. Yes, sir.

Answer. I do not remember that I ever did. The bulk of the charges that I have
heard made by negroes in that particular was that they desired to get them off of their

places after they had made a crop. They would allege something of that sort that they
were not fairly treated in settlement; that their accounts were not fairly rendered

;

that persons indebted to them were seellhig to intimidate them, to drive them away,
in order that the account might be closed by the absence of the negro.

Question. You have heard of no instance where colored men were whipped for the
reason that they voted the radical ticket ?

Answer. I do not remember any case. I do not think any cases have occurred.

Question. 1 will ask you again to classify the offenses which these men banded to

gether in disguise ordinarily punished.
Answer. Without attempting to classify, I will give one or two incidents of that

character that I now recall, without giving the names or dates, for I have forgotten
them. I remember them as incidents occurring nothing more. A man, I think in
Lawrence County, was charged with cruelty to his wife

;
it was alleged to be a trifling

case. He was charged with whipping and maltreating his wife, and a body of men,
who I think were in disguise, went there and took him out and gave him a whipping
on his bare back, and admonished him to more proper customs in his domestic habits,
and turned him loose. In another case, in the northern portion of this county, in which
I think men were in disguise, a man was tried in this court-room for murder and arson.
I think his name was Smith. He was defended with a great deal of ability, and ac

quitted, and the popular belief in the country where he lived, which was in the north
ern edge of this county, was that he was the party who committed the murder and
arson. After his acquittal and return home they hung him by the neck.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. Until he was dead ?

Ausii cr. Until he was dead.

Question. When ?
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Answer. I think that was two years ago, as well as I can remember. I am very
faulty, though, in dates.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. I understood you to state, this forenoon, that one class of offenses which
these disguised bodies of men sought to punish was petty thefts. Did I understand
you correctly ?

Answer. I think you misunderstood me. I may have suggested that by way of illus

tration of the general statement I made. It was not my purpose to specify any class
of offenses they were specially organized to punish, but to illustrate my meaning by
giving instances of offenses which they were alleged to have punished.

Question. You have heard of no cases where a man was lynched on account of being
charged with stealing f

-liiswer. I do not recall any.
Question. You state that you never conversed with Mr. Lakin but once. Did I un

derstand you correctly?
Awiver. You did not.

Question. You said,
&quot; I know Mr. Lakin, and conversed with him once twelve mouths

ago.&quot;
Were you well acquainted with Mr. Lakin ?

Answer. Well, sir, I met him when he was in town I reckon every day. He was in

my office advising with me on two or three occasions, asking my advice as an attorney in

regard to some church matters, involving the rights of the &quot;church .to property con
veyed by deed, and that sort of thing. I had that sort of acquaintance with him.

Question. Did he spend much of his time in town ?

Answer. Well, I shojild think he spent one-third or one-half of his time here prqb-
ably loss.

Question. Do you know that he ever organized a political league or club on his cir

cuit?

Answer. I do not. I do not of my own knowledge.
Question. Do you know that he ever made a political speech ?

Answer. I never have heard him make one.

Question. Do you know of any immoral conduct 011 the part of Mr. Lakiii ?

Answer. You inquire for my personal knowledge ?

Question. Yes, sir.

Answer. I do not.

Question. Did you ever detect him in an untruth?
Answer. Not unless the statement he made to me in regard to his treatment in the

mountains was not true. I understand it to be in direct conflict with his testimony.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. Before his testimony was given, and leaving it out of view, did you ever
detect him in an untruth?
Answer. No, sir

;
never.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Until he gave his testimony before the investigating committee at Wash
ington, was Mr. Lakin ever the subject of conversation to any considerable extent in
this community ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
Mr. Lakin had considerable notoriety here. I think he was a pre

siding elder of, perhaps, a missionary church, or the Methodist Church North. My
understanding is that he occupied relations as some sort of an embassador to the church

South, or the Southern communities. He may have been a missionary, for ought I

know. In -that particular, his repeated political acts were the subject of general com
ment, and were said to have been attended with very considerable ability. In other

words, he is said to have made a first-class stump-speech.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. You never heard it ?

Answer. No, sir.

By the CHAIRMAN:

Question. Where was it alleged that he made a political speech ?

Answer. I think I heard a gentleman say he made one in the Baptist Church one or

two.

(Jiu stion. In this town ?

Answer. Yes, sir. I think I was told of it the night of the gentleman s return from
the speech. It was told me by a republican.

Question. When should that speech have been made I

Answer. I am not positive, but I think it was last fall.

Question. Did your informant tell you that he had heard the speech ?
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Answer. I think he did.

Question. Who was your informant ?

Ansuw. I think it was Mr. Nicholas Davis; and the information was communicated
to me in the course of a casual conversation. I was living at his house.

Question. Was it at a political meeting of the republican party ?

Answer. I think it was, sir, of members of the republican party.

Question. What other political speech was he reported to have made ?

Answer. I have understood that Mr. Lakiii was in the habit of delivering political ad
dresses to Union Leagues and clubs organized outside of the town

;
but whether this

statement was true or not I am not able to say. That was the general understanding
I had of what he did politically outside of the town.

Question. Was his demeanor in this community, so far as you observed, that of an

orderly, good, law-abiding citizen ?

Answer. It was, sir.

Question. Did you ever hear any charges against his morality as a man?
Answer. I have never heard of any as occurring in this town.

Question. WT
ere the men who expressed these opinions unfavorable to Mr. Lakiii dem

ocrats ?

Answer. I think they were, sir. I cannot recall all of the individual cases of expres
sion I have heard. Some may have been republicans; one I know was a republican
thab now occurs to me.

Question. I will ask you to state whether his mission South for the purpose of estab

lishing Methodist churches, or detaching members from the Methodist Episcopal
Church South was ollensive or gave offense.

Ansu C) . 1 think if provoked the usual antagonism that exists between rival churches.
That is my impression of it. I understand he was very successful, and built up largo

congregations. I think it provoked the ordinary animosity, which is pretty severe,
that arises from successful rivalry in church attains.

Question, lie was recognized as a man of very considerable ability in his profes
sion ?

Answer. I think he Avas.

Question. You hold your commission as clerk of the district court from Judge Bus-

teed, do you ?

Answer. I do, sir.

Question. This, then, is held, as I understand it, at the pleasure of the court ?

Answer. At the pleasure so recited in the order of appointment.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. Did 1 understand you, Mr. Day, as stating that you were appointed clerk
of the court before you came here f

Answer. 1 so stated.

Question. When you tirst came to the State, after the war, did you come directly to

Huutavillef
Answer. No, sir

;
I came to Montgomery.

Question. How long- were you in Montgomery ?

Answer. Seven or eight months, I think. I think I got to Montgomery in August. I

came to Selma iirst. 1 was seeking a location to go into practice. I had just got my
license, and was seeking a location. I went to Selma, and from there went to Mont
gomery, and remained from the middle or last of August until the iirst of February,

Question. How were you employed in Montgomery during that time ?

Ansu i.r. I was in the post-office in Montgomery.
Question. Under Mr. Bibb t

Answer. Yes, sir
;
under Mr. Bibb for two or three months or longer ;

I have forgot
ten the dates. I was there for several mouths.

Question. You were appointed, while there, clerk to the court, and then came here ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Appointed by Judge Busteed, as you have said ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. You were here, then, during the presidential election of 1868 ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Where were you the night of the raid, as you termed that riot in 1868 ?

Answer. I termed it a riot, I think
;
not a raid. I was, a portion of the time, on the

square. I was informed by a young man in the town, with whom I was acquainted,
that it was altogether probable that these men would offer violence to his father, who
was a leading democrat Mr. Joseph C. Bradley.

Question. What men had you reference to f

Answer. These disguised men. He asked me to go down, selecting some out of his
democratic and many republican friends.

Question. You say that his father was a leading democrat ?
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Answer. A leading republican.
Question. He is, within your personal knowledge, I presume, a leading republican?
Answer. I desire to be so understood.

Question Were yon on the square at the time these disguised men rode in ?

Answer. I was on the square and walked through the column
;
and at the request of

Mr. Bradley, as he feared violence to his father as a leading republican, I went down
to his house with him and with two little boys in the yard. We took our position,

armed, to defend him against the assaults of these Ku-Klux.

Question. Mr. Bradley, you say, was a leading republican I

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And a leading citizen of the place ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
I think he has lived here for a good many years.

Question. A man of very high character ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
of leading character.

Question. Why should he have apprehensions ?

Answer. Well, sir, I cannot attempt to explain the motives that enter into the mind
of any man.

Question. You went down ?

Answer. I went down. The result was, so far as I know, that they did not come
within a hundred yards of his house. They turned around and marched out without

any demonstration.

Question. Are you aware that on that night there was a republican meeting going on
in this building, [court-house] ?

Answer. Yes, sir. I do not think I saw the meeting, but I was informed of the fact,
and understood that to be the case.

Question. Did you understand that Judge Thurlow came here from Athens, Limestone

County, and addressed them ?

Answer. No, sir. I knew he was here. I knew him very well, and had seen him the

day before his death. I did not know his purpose here.

Question. You knew he was shot that night ?

Answer. Yes, sir; I went to the hotel and saw him after he was wounded. I do not
think I saw the tiring after I had gone down to Colonel Bradley s; but I saw the
riotous demonstrations, and they came from the parties who had then come from the
court-house. As far as I could see, the violent demonstrations came from these, and I

was informed by parties along the north side of the square that nine-tenths of the
shots came from this court-yard, and were fired at the corner opposite. I know one
man who was shot through the head on that corner, and it was alleged by parties, I

think directly to me, that Judge Thurlow was standing at the northeast corner of the
court-house yard by the gate, and the supposition at the time generally was that he
was shot accidentally by some one firing from the inside outwards.

Question. Do you think there was any connection between the republican meeting
and the appearance of the Ku-Klux, one hundred and fifty strong, in the town ?

Ansiver. I do not know. I heard it said, whether it was general belief or not I am
not prepared to say, that there were some negroes who had said that no Ku-Klux could
ever pass through this town again without being shot

;
that these Ku-Klux had heard

of it, and that they came in and rode through the town for the purpose of giving them
an opportunity to shoot at them if they wanted to.

Question. Did not General Crawford, commanding the United States troops at that
time or before, give orders to his men to fire without hesitation upon any man riding
in disguise here ?

Answer. I do not remember, but I do not think that General Crawford was in coin-
7

maud here at that time. It was General Hayden, I think.

Question. Do you know whether such an orde.r was given to the troops ?

Answer. I think it was. It is a vague impression. I think I heard it stated that
orders were given to fire, but whether it was to be without challenge or assault, or not,
I am not able to say. I have forgotten.

Question. You spoke iu the opening of your testimony about a posse in Limestone;
County. Did you have reference to a sheriff s posse ?

Aimvcr. I was informed by the present solicitor of the county, and also acting as the

representative of the United States attorney there, that he requested the sheriff to act
as the leader of a posse, and the sheriff demurring to that proposition, the solicitor pro
posed to head the posse and go himself; but afterwards tin- slu-rift went.

Question. Have you ever heard of any bauds of disguised men in that county of
Limestone ?

Ansiver. I think I have several times, but I do not remember of hearing of any par
ticular cases of violence, except the one iu which they came there and proposed to
effect an escape.

Question. Did you ever hear that there were two parties of disguised men, and that

they fell out about the stealing of horses, and that the two parties were arrayed against
each other ?
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Answer. I do not remember of hearing that they were disguised men, and I do not
know that I heard that they were both interested in horse-stealing. My impression is

that one party was in the interest of theft.

Question. And the other was not ?

Answer. Yes, sir; that is my opinion.
Question. And that was the cause of the division between them?
Answer. Yes, sir; that is; my impression.
Question. And neither acted with the sheriff or under his control?
Answer. I think not; neither of these Klaus. Some killing I understand to have

occurred under the direction of the posse : the killing of thieves a mau named
Barber, who was charged with horse-stealing and also with murder.

Question. Did yon ever hear that Mr. Lakiu s house was shot into here on the night
of the 10th of October, 18Go ?

Answer. Yes, sir. I heard a load of shot was fired through his window, and passed
through the room and struck the opposite wall.

Question. In the night-time I

Answer. I think it was. That is my recollection.

Question. Do you know whether the shot came from men in disguise or not?
Answer. I do not. I do not think it did. I never heard it alleged that it came from

men disguised.

Question. You never heard Mr. Lakin himself make a political speech?
Answer. No, sir, I do not remember of having heard him. I never attended but one

political meeting in my life, I think.

(Question. Did you ever know or see any act of Mr. Lakin derogatory to the character
of a Christian minister ?

Answer. I did not.

Question. You have known him for some time ?

Answer. Yes, sit*.

(Question. 1 iind on page 4:59 in the testimony given by Mr. Dox, before a portion of
this committee at Washington, the following question, and answer which I will read:
*

Question by the chairman, (Mr. Poland.) What act did you ever hear of Mr. Lakin
committing derogatory to his character as a Christian minister? Answer. I cannot

say that 1 have heard of any speciiic act derogatory to his character as a Christian min
ister.&quot; Do yon concur in that opinion with Mr. Dox?

Answer. 1 do not. You ask me in one ease what I know; in the other what I have
heard. I cannot answer both questions from the same standpoint.

Question. Have you heard, from sources that you can rely upon, that he is not a min
ister in good standing.

1

Answer. A minister in good standing with his church ?

Question. Yes, sir.

Answer, 1 have not.

By Mr. BECK :

Question. The question is whether you ever heard of Mr. Lakiu committing any act
that was derogatory to his character as a Christian minister?

Answer. 1 asked if he meant in good standing with his church. I did not wish to

drag in anything that was not in the question.

By Mr. BUCKLEY .

Question. I ask for your personal knowledge.
Answer. You ask me in the one ease what I know and in the other what I hear. I

have heard things derogatory to him.

Question. Did you ever hear anything derogatory to his standing as a Christian min
ister before he gave testimony in Washington ?

Answer. What is the date of his examination?

Question. June 13, 1671.

Ansicer. I do not recall anything. I think I heard it alleged before that time, bu- I

am not certain about it, that he had been guilty of gross impropriety in seduction and
that sort of tiling, with some families confided to his charge in some northern country,
but I cannot say positively that it was before that time, for I do not remember it. I

heard that as I ordinarily hear such matters. I afterward heard it repeated sever il

times, and heard it amplified.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Where should that have occurred?
Answer. I think it was in New York.

Question. In the city 1

Answer. In the State of New York or New Jersey. It was given to me; I heard Hie
details of it.
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By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. When was it given to you ?

Answer. I have just stated that I could not tell exactly.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Do you think it was before the 13th of June last ?

Answer. My impressiou is that it was, but I cannot say certainly ;
I cannot fix the

time.

Question. Who was your informant ?

Answer. I heard a party of gentlemen; I heard it repeated by Colonel Lowe for one.
It was repeated in the course of a street conversation, and I have heard it mentioned
by several parties; I do not recall their names now. It occurred as these things do.
I did not remember it.

By Mr. BECK :

Question. Do you recollect a man by the name of Van Valkenburg speaking to you
about it ?

Answer. He was in a party, I recollect now, when this subject came up Colonel
John Van Valkeuburg, a gentleman from Indiana, x

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Did these gentlemen speak from any personal knowledge they had ?

Answer. No, sir, I think not.

Question. Did they tell you how they derived their information ?

Answer. I think it was stated, but I have forgotten now what it was. It was a
matter about which I knew very little, and cared much less, and it passed very idly.

Question. Did Van Valkenburg know Lakin ?

Answer. He knew him here, I think.

Question. Did he know him in Indiana ?

Answer. He did not know him that I am aware of. I do not know that I heard any
assertion in that particular.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. On page 125 in Mr. La-kin s testimony he says,
&quot; My orders from the bishop,

and through him to the preachers, were not to mingle in the political arena, but to

devote themselves entirely and exclusively to the work of the Christian ministry.&quot; Do
you think Mr. Lakin ever neglected that order or violated it, to yonr own personal
knowledge?

Answer. Do I think, of my own personal knowledge ? I do not know it of my own
personal knowledge, but I believe he did, if there is any credence to be given to a gen
eral and repeated assertion in the community as to a man s conduct.

. By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Did you ever hear that he preached politics from the pulpit ?

Answer. I have heard it asserted
;
but that charge is a very common and a very old

one, and I attach very little importance to that.

Question. You did not regard that charge as reliable ?

Answer. I thought, even if reliable, it was minor in its character compared with tho
other allegations popularly assigned to him or acts-political.

Question. Would you give any credit to it against the positive denial of Mr. Lakinj
under oath V

Answer. If the question were clearly put to him as to&quot; what was meant by preaching
politics, I do not think I would.

Question. You think you would believe him rather than this rumor ?

Answer. I think I would. I should be inclined to believe almost any man under that
state of facts.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. Having met him frequently and lived together with him some time in this

place, do you yourself regard Mr. Lakin as an honest man ?

Answer. I have had some pretty lengthy conversations with him of a social character.
I do not think that he disliked me at all, from the fact that on several occasions ho
has remained in my office for some time after the business that brought him there was
settled, and I cannot say that I would regard Mr. Lakin as a man of moral turpitude.
I think him a zealot.

Question. I asked if you thought he was honest.
Answer. I think Mr. Lakin is a zealot

;
and I think that matters that conflict with

his views would.receivo great exaggeration in his estimation of them when compared
with the estimate of an opponent to his views.

Question. You think he would state his own views strongly ?
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Answer. Yes, sir; I think he is zealous and a man of strong personal feeling, and
would probably, in his own interest, overdo things.

Question. You do not mean to say he is dishonest?
Answer. I did not say that, sir. I am not prepared to say he is or is not dishonest,

for I have no evidence before me upon which to act.

Question. You have heard, have you not, of disguised men riding through this and

adjoining counties taking men out at night from their families and whipping and

scourging them.
Answer. I have heard of these things as a general fact.

Question. Have yon heard frequently of such things in this and adjoining counties
since you have lived here?

Answer. I have an idea that I have heard of perhaps five or six cases somewhere
along there.

Question. In this comity ?

Answer. No, sir
;

I do not recall one case in this county.
Question. Have you ever heard of men being punished for such offenses in the courts?
Answer. I heard it alleged once Did you say in the courts?

Question. In the courts.

Answer. I do not remember any cases of it, either in the State or United States
court. I do not remember any case of it. I remember of having heard it alleged as a
matter of general understanding my informant I cannot recall now that some par
ties had assumed to exercise violence toward persons to gratify their private malice,
and that the Ku-Klux had shot them for it. I heard that alleged; that is the only
punishment of that class of offenses that I heard of, and that is only a statement.

Question. Have you any doubt in your mind that such an organization did exist ?

Answer. I believe it as I believe anything learned from popular credence; more
through a want of denial than otherwise.

Question. I think you have stated in your testimony previously that, when this Ku-
Klux organization originated and existed here, there was some pretext for it, because
the courts were not doing much, especially the county courts. Now, I wish to ask you
if you know of any ollense punished by such an organization that could not have been

punished in the ordinary way ?

Answer. In the preliminary portion of the question, I think you misrepresent me.

Question. I have no intention of doing so.

Ansu cr. No, of course; but I desire to say that you put language in my mouth I do
not think I uttered.

Question. Nor the idea?
Answer. Nor the idea either. I do not think you will find it in my testimony. I have

not said that they were organized to supplant the courts because the courts were inef

ficient. What I intended to say was, that the organization, as I understood it, grew
out of apprehensions of rapine and violence from negroes and partisan opponents, and
that the motive in the organization of the thing was one of self-protection and for the

punishment, probably as a consequence of that organization, of those who should be

guilty of these offenses.

Question. Then it was not alleged at that time that the courts were inefficient, was it ?

Answer. I cannot say whether it was alleged or not. I believe they were inefficient.

Question. At what time ?

Answer. Well, two or three years after the war.

Question. Who was your circuit judge here then?
Answer. William J. Harolson.

Question. Appointed by whom after the war?
Answer. I think he was elected after the war.

Question. Not after the reconstruction acts?
Answer. O, no; I think he was appointed by Governor Parsons that is my recollec

tion and afterward elected.

Question. Was Judge Harolson judge here before the war?
Ans icer. I think so. I was not here, but this is my recollection or information.

Question. Is he not regarded as an able and efficient judge?
Answer. Well, I should prefer the opinions of persons who have a much wider prac

tice before him than I.

Question. Is he not spoken of as a man of great respectability ?

Answer. I think he is a kind-hearted, amiable gentleman.
Question. Appointed by a democratic governor?
Answer. I think he was.

Question. Afterward elected in 1S6S ?

Answer. Yes, sir; uijder the organic act of Congress.
Question. Who was your county judge at that time?
Answer. Judge- James II. Scruggs, I think.

Question, lie was the predecessor of the present incumbent?
Answer. Yes. sir.
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Question. Was there any distrust as to his court executing the law ?

Answer. I think not.

Question. He is a democrat in politics, is he not?
Answer. Yes, sir

;
he is a democrat in politics. I think there was no especial distrust

as to executing the laws, if the offenses were brought before him and the communities
bestirred themselves in efforts to apprehend those who had banded. I do not know
what the general sentiment was in regard to Scruggs s court. It was only a court of lim
ited jurisdiction and cut very little figure in criminal affairs, and I do not suppose there
was any discussion about it, or very little.

Question. At what time was this congressional convention of which you were a mem
ber held ?

Answer. I think it was in May or June, 1870. It was held a few months preceding
the last election in this State ?

Question. You were a delegate from this county ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did you ever hear it suggested that the reason your name was not brought
forward was because you were a member of the Federal Army?
Answer. No, sir; I never did. I was so indifferent as to suggestions affecting my

nomination that I do not suppose that I would have remembered if I had heard it, for
I was utterly indifferent as to the consequences of it, and repeatedly stated so.

By Mr. BECK :

Question. As to this riotous demonstration that occurred at the time or some time pre
ceding the last November election, were any of the shots fired during that demonstra
tion by the Ku-Klnx ?

Answer. I do not think there was a shot fired or a demonstration made by the dis

guised men.
Question. Did they pass away from the court-house square before that shooting took

place ?

Answer. That is my understanding of it, and, I think, I came on the square imme
diately after that

;
I was there before it was stated to me that they had gotten one

block from the square a shot was fired, and then it was alleged that a shot was fired

down the street that they passed out on, down the street by which they left the

square; I did not see this
;
I so understood it.

Question. It was not understood by anybody that they took any part in the shooting ?

Answer. O, no, sir
; they did nothing.

Question. You speak of the large majority being fired by persons who came out of
the court-house. Did you mean by persons who had beeu in the audience listening to
the speaking ;?

Answer. I do not know where they had been; I saw a large number of persons in the

court-yard, principally negroes, and I saw a negro who was killed, which I omitted to
state in my direct examination a negro who was killed on the opposite side of the

square by a shot from the court-yard ;
I saw him within five minutes after ho died

;

they took him up stairs
;
I saw him Jhero dead; a man was shot through the head; I

saw the marks of a number of shots how many I do not remember now that struck
in the wall from the court-house

;
I saw these shot-marks.

Question. They must have come from the court-house ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
the impression showed that on the wall; and there is no doubt

that all the citizens cognizant of this matter agree about the majority or nearly all of
the shots coming from the court-house yard.

Question. Was it believed that Judge what was his name ?

Answer. Judge Thurlow, judge of the probate court of Limestone County.
Question. That he was killed by a shot from the court-house yard?
Answer. Yes, sir

;
that was stated to me the night that he was killed accidentally ;

I

afterwards heard it stated that it was surmised that he was killed by a white man in
the court-house yard ;

the man s name I never heard any one attempt to tell; it was a

bright moon-light night and persons could be seen distinctly across the square; I could
see very readily the general relations of the parties.

Question. I will repeat the question put to you by Mr. Buckley. What act, if any,
did you ever hear of Mr. Lakin committing that was derogatory to his character as a
Christian minister or gentleman ? Do you recollect of hearing anything connected
with a transaction here in this town in regard to a lot of butter improperly seized by
him ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Do you recollect of an indictment pending against him in one of the courts
here /

Answer. I am not aware of it.

Qucation. What court of yours was that abolished ?

Answer. The county court, organized by an act of the legislature with a large juris-
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diction, and providing for the olectioa or appointment of a new judge, which was
afterwards abolished.

Question. Had that court criminal jurisdiction?
Answer. It had.

Question. Did you know that there was an indictment for perjury or some other

offense of that character then pending against Mr. Lakiu, and that the court was abol

ished without authority to remove criminal cases therein pending f

Answer. I know that the court was abolished without authorizing the transfer of tho

docket to any other jurisdiction, but the acfc of Lakin s indictment I did not know
anything of. If I heard it I have forgotten it.

Question. Do you recollect seeing an article from the Patterson, New Jersey, Guar

dian, charging him with seduction, rape, and almost all sorts of vile offenses ?

Answer. I saw an article copied in one of the Huutsville papers, the Democrat, I

think, in which it was alleged that he, after leading a very dissolute and erratic life

as a lumberman, had attended a Methodist revival and became converted to the Chris

tian faith, joined tho Methodist Church and became an exhorter, and from that, I

think, was licensed to preach; that he was thrown into the society of a member of tho

church who had three daughters; that he was stopping at their house enjoying the

hospitality of this man, and that the old gentleman and his wife were called away,
and these young ladies were left, with many admonitions, with Mr. L:ikiu, and he re

mained there until the old folks return
;
anil in the due course of time these three young

ladies were found to be pregnant, and that they charged Mr. Lakin with being their

seducer. I afterwards heard it stated that he had seduced a young lady who was his

niece.

Question. Was not that afterwards, in Pern, Illinois ?

Answer. I heard it so alleged. I do not know anything about it.

Question. Was not the iirst article from the Paterson, New Jersey, Guardian ?

Answer. I think so; copied into the Iluntsville paper. lam quite certain it was in

the Paterson, New Jersey, paper.
Question. Do you know whether The fact in reference to the seduction of his niece in

Peru, Illinois, has been traced by Mr. Van Valkeuburg, and is now known to be true?

Answer. I did hear it said that it was true. I think I heard it stated by Colonel
A^an Valkenburg.

Question. Were not these statements about him made in the community believed by
a great many people ?

Answer. Yes, sir; the statements in regard to his immoral conduct were and are be

lieved by a great many people, and the statements in regard to his alleged political
course were, I think, generally conceded. I do not think there is any denial of it. If

there is any, I am not aware of it. I do not remember to have interrogated any re

publican oil the subject. I have heard one allege it with a great deal of conlidence

Mr. Lowe.
Question. The gentleman whose name you give is a lawyer in this town ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Do you recollect hearing him say anything about an indictment against
Mr. Lakin in this court that was abolished ?

Answer. No, sir
;
I do not.

Question. Do you recollect whether the provisions of that law abolishing the court

not only failed to allow a transfer of cases then pending, but also provided that men
who had been previously indicted should not be re-indicted I

Answer. I do not remember that feature of the law. It may be true.

Question. And that he escaped under that?
Answer. That may be true.

Question. Where is he now ?

Answer. He is away from here; I do not know where. I do not think it is known
here, generally, where he is. It was ascertained here after he had given his testimony
to his treatment here, and it was a popular belief, that he gave it as a farewell kick at

this people, and did not intend to return.

Question. So it is, he has not returned, so far as you know ?

Ansiver. He has not.

Question. You were asked by the chairman a good deal about northern men and their

treatment. I will ask you whether or not a good deal of distrust did not arise in the
niiudsof the people of Alabama in regard to the reception of these northern men by
the fact that largo numbers of them known as carpet-baggers came here about tho

time the State was reorganized or just before, and immediately obtained the most lu

crative offices in the State. Is not that true ?

Answer. I cannot say in regard to the time of their coming here. I think the bulk
of them were men who were left here by the Army. I think the majority of the offices

in the State were held by these men; and I think it was a motive with many in

both their geographical and political status. I think they remained for that purpose
a largo number of them.
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Question. Did not that fact make the people of the State look with suspicion more
than they otherwise would upon men whom they feared came for that purpose ?

Ansivcr. Most undoubtedly it put the people of this country upon their inquiry as to
the class of men who were coming around them, and very justly so, I think.

Question. Do you not know that Mr. Warner, the Senator from Alabama, was elected to

the senate from this State within six weeks after his term of office in Ohio had expired ?

Answer. That is my understanding of it, and the general understanding ;
after about

six weeks from the change of his domicile, or before the change of that, and after the

change of mere residence. %
,

Question. Did cases of that sort create a great deal of feeling and prejudice, that men
should seize the highest offices in the State who were lately domiciled ?

Answer. I think the people exercise the feeling common to all men, that would have
been exercised in any northern community, of much more vigilance toward men coming
into an adopted country and occupying places of trust and honor, whether they were

good men or not. I think there was a general feeling of uneasiness and distrust, in

some cases that amounted to personal animosity, in others, personal aversion; and I

think it was undoubtedly true, as I think every northern man in this State will testify,
that there was a general feeling of aversion and animosity, according to the character
of the men toward whom the sentiment was directed, for holding in a conquered
country, by imposition of the strong hand of the conqueror, the high places of profit
in the administration of the local laws. I think that was the local sentiment among
the intelligent and educated men who control sentiment. That was the opinion. I

think the bulk of northern men in this State, of every political sentiment, will agree
with me in that statement. I state that feeling as a mere fact that I have observed.

Question. Is it not true that very many agents of the Bureau, by means of their in

fluence over the colored population, had themselves placed in positions that the peo
ple, if all black and white had been free to select, would not have intrusted them with ?

Answer. I think so. I think that the member of Congress from this district, General
John B. Callis, who was an agent of the Freedmen s Bureau, secured the influence and
political hold that enabled him to be elected to that position by means of using his
Freedmen s Bureau agency to secure it. The natural feeling of the community conse

quent upon an act of that character resulted. I think that is part of the political

history of this community.
Question. In that connection, and as to that same gentleman, is it not further true

that Colonel John B. Callis, after he had secured an election to Congress, in 1868, at

the time democrats did not vote, as you remember
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. After Congress refused to admit Alabama, left the State and went with his

regiment to Mississippi, and was in command of his regiment, at Jackson, Mississippi,
when Congress put Alabama in, and he left his regiment and went to Congress, and
took his seat from Alabama? Do you recollect that fact?

Answer. I think that General Callis was away from here, subject to military orders,
but where he was I do not remember. I remember that General Eurke, of whom I

have testified before, who was his rival for the position in Congress, had him ordered

away from here for some sort of political misconduct or subterfuge he was indulging
in in his position in the Bureau. General Burke was recognized as a republican. I re

member there was a repetition of the order perhaps peremptorily. General Thomas,
I think, ordered him away.

Question. After his election?

Answer. I am not certain. It was about that time, but whether after or not, I can
not say. I remember it in connection only with the fact that General Burke was his

rival in that congressional race. I cannot say whether it was before or after his elec

tion.

Question. Do you recollect that, jvfter Alabama applied for admission by virtue of
the vote in February, Congress at first refused to admit her, but afterward you were
admitted in June, under what was called the omnibus bill?

Answer. Yes, sir. I do not remember the dates.

Question. During the interval after the election in February, and before the admis
sion of Alabama, was not General Callis away from here?
Answer. I do not know. I think he was. I have very little doubt on that subject.

Callis was away, and I think he was away under military orders. He was still an
officer of the Federal Army.

Question. Had he not domiciled in this State at all?

Answer. I do not think he ever was a citizen of this State.

Question. Yet ho got one of the highest positions ?

Answer. I do not think he ever claimed it.

Question. His own testimony before Congress was that he was in General Gillein s

army when the news came that Alabama was admitted, and came and took his seat,
and took his pay; but the general fact of the large number of men coming and seizing
the offices did create a prejudice, and made men suspicious of all who came ?
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Ansn cr. Yes, sir
;
I have no doubt of that &quot;whatever. I think it created the same

effect here that it would in any Northern State, except that it was less violent in its

character among the southern people than it would have been among the stubborn
races of the North, if they had been conquered and subjected to the same task. I have
no donbt of it. I think it would have been borne with much less patience there, whether
right or wrong, than it was borne here.

Question. Is it or not true that after a northern man comes here, and it is known that
he is going to cast his fortunes with these people and take his chances with them, that
he is well received?

Answer. I think so, sir. I have found no trouble myself. I have made it a rule of my
life to seek no favors of communities, and ask for no social civilities of the world, and I

have had every courtesy extended to me that I desired in any country. I can speak
for myself and others I have seen. I think the rule prevails as ageneral thing. While I

seldom accept of kindnesses of people, I think it is generally offered.

Question. Your general information is that a Ku-Klux organization, so called, did
exist here up to and about the summer of 1868 ?

Answer. I share the popular belief that there was such an organization.
Question. Was it or not true that up to the time of the admission of the State under

the constitution to which I have referred, in June, 1868, you had been almost without
civil government for a year or two, and under military rule?

Answer. The condition of the country, so far as the administration of either criminal
or civil law was concerned, was exceedingly lax.

Question. Men seldom thought of redressing grievances by appealing to the courts,
or collecting their debts by the judgment of a court?

Answer. I think that was the general feeh ng.
Question. You had no organization of the State government until June, 18G8, hud

you I .

Answer. None except the provisional or military.
Question. You had no organized civil State government ; you were under military

control ?

Answer. None, except the provisional government.

By Mr. BTCKLEY :

Question. Was Governor Patton appointed governor?
Answer. Yes, sir. I made that exception.
Question. Was not this indisposition to go into the courts under his administration?
Answer. Yes, sir; generally it was from the lassitude and exhaustion of the war.

By Mr. BECK :

Question. I want the condition of the country. You were, under military rule
; your

governor appointed by the President, and your military officers were officers of the
Army, and your people, did not elect anybody ?

Answer. No, sir. There was no expression of the public voice.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. Was not Governor Patton elected by the people of this State governor in
the iall of 1808, and did he not hold his office for over two years up to the ^!5th of

July, 1868 a man that lives immediately in an adjoining comity to you ?

Answer. I am not certain about it that this is the fact. It is a matter of history.
Question. That is the fact

;
a democratic governor at that.

Answer. I am not fresh on that.

By Mr. BECK :

Question. Did not the act of Congress of March 3, 1867, known as the first reconstruc
tion act, and its amendment of March 0,1867, and amendment of July, 1867, provide
that all your civil governments should be merely provisional, and that the military
commanders should take charge of you until you were reconstructed?

Answer. I believe that is the law.

Question. And under those acts of Congress you remained until your constitution, and
that was declared adopted in June, 1868 ?

Ansurr. June, 1868.

Question. They voted on it in March or February?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Declared adopted in a way that gave dissatisfaction?
Answer. Yes, sir; they not only thought, but I understood they had the direct alle

gation or protest of General Terry, then commanding the department, declaring- that
the people had not adopted that government, and that that provision requiring at least
one-half of the registered vote to be cast had not been complied with; they had not
been cast that the democratic party had defeated it by staying away from the polls,
demonstrating that they could have defeated it if they had gone about it, which made
his position doubly strong. The records, I believe, show that General Terry entered
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an affirmative protest, or assertion at least, to the effect that it had not been adopted
under the congressional law. Therefore, the people, after abstaining from voting, and
allowing, under the provisions of that act, the republicans not only to adopt the con
stitution by the act of Congress, but to put in office these men they had voted for when
the people could have defeated them, felt that they were the subjects of usurpation ;

that they had been the subjects of congressional government, and they had no gov
ernment of their own.

Question. They felt that they were under Congress and not under their own volition ?

Answer. Yes, sir; that was the general feeling.

Question. During this four years, before your courts were organized, and about the
time they were organized, under that form, was about the time the Ku-Klux were called

into existence here?
Answer. Yes, sir; that is my understanding.
Question. Is it your understanding, further, that later in 1868, after the government

got into operation in a civil form fairly, those organizations were disbanded ?

Answer. Yes, sir; that is my understanding from the popular belief, but I have no

personal means of information. I have heard it alleged by a resident of East Tennes
see, a man of some intelligence and apparent truth, that he was cognizant of the first

organization of that order in that country, and he stated, or professed to state, the
circumstances under which the organization, in its incipieucy, grew.

Question. What were the circumstances, as you understood them?
Answer. He stated he had been a confederate soldier and lived in East Tennessee

;

that on the return of the Federal and confederate soldiers to their homes in East Ten
nessee there was a very bitter feeling, of a local, internecine character, growing up be
tween them, and resulting, in many cases, in violence; that the Federal soldiers far

outnumbered the confederates, and had, with much violence, run them off and whipped
them, and shot them, as was also alleged in other places some portions of Kentucky,
in a part of Missouri, and portions of these States, (by the way, some of the men of

my old command were sent away) and that the organization of the Union League sug
gested to their opponents to organize a secret club of their own for the purpose of self-

defense; that the style and name of the organization was taken from a social or civic

organization which was started at Pulaski, Tennessee, about which I ,have no doubt,
for I recollect of hearing, as I came on the train I think it was in 1866, as near as I

can remember from Nashville, a young man there describing the first appearance of
this organization. That was the first I ever heard of it. Its object was civic and
charitable, and related, in some of its features, to an amusement. This individual, rny
relator from East Tennessee, stated that the organization in its form and name was
taken from this other organization in Pulaski. Whether there is any truth in it I do not

know, but I heard it with considerable curiosity, and it appeared plausible and natural
that it should have grown up in that way.

Question. Whatever its origin, was it not the fact that, at the time when the civil

governments were in a demoralized condition, when the negro element was thrown for

ward for the first time, mostly ignorant, and being used by such men as Colonel Callis,
and others, for political purposes, there were cases of murders, rapes, arsons, and other
like things being perpetrated in such a way that the civil courts could not reach them,
and men were afraid, or pretended to be afraid ?

Answer. There was a general sense of insecurity here, and a feeling that that portion
of the community which had been anti-federal, or confederate in its sentiments, was
under a ban, and I have no doubt that this organization grew out of the traditions and
associations of those men indulging in a common sympathy, and feeling a common
sense of danger. I think that Avas the cause of it, judging from ordinary human mo
tives.

Question. You think it was disbanded about 1868 in this State ?

Answer. I think so.

Question. Is it your judgment that bands of bad men committing depredations sinco
used these disguises simply to protect themselves in committing these outrages ?

Answer. I am as certain as 1 am of any fact of which I have no positive knowledge,
as certain as any decided opinion can make a man, that that is the, fact. I think that
the opinion I utter is shared by a very large majority of the law-abiding and orderly men.

Question. Public sentiment is against these lawless marauders now, by whatever
names they call themselves ?

Answer. I think so. The editor of the Huntsville Democrat, Mr. Clay, has always
denounced them since their organization. I do not think he has ever rcferred to it ex

cept in terms of condemnation and disapprobation. I think uniformly so. I have been

interrogated as to the fact whether his paper was not a leading democratic organ at

present. He has always been a leading democrat in the country, and, I believe, was an

original secessionist, and is opposed to the &quot; new departure.&quot; He has uniformly op
posed that organization.

Question. Of course you have bad men among you like all other people ?

Answer. Yes, sir; many of them. They are many who are poor and dissolute and
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irresponsible, and in communities they have organized together, I have no doubt, in a
sort of voluntary local association for purposes of theft, and to gratify their personal
animosities. I think that is true.

Question. You think they have done so, using this garb or disguise as a means of con
cealment f

Answer. I have no doubt of it.

Question. By the way, speaking of this thing, our distinguished Senator has asked

you about violences and offenses. Do you remember the band of men operating in the
riots that occurred at Seymour and New Albany, Indiana ?

Answer. I remember the newspaper reports of them.

Question. Were they about as bad as those around hero?
Answer. They were very much of the same character; the result of lawlessness.

Question. You never thought of charging the good people of Indiana with that as a

part of a system ?

Answer. No, sir; I think it would be unjust to make it the basis of an opinion or a

political act.

Question. A word about this church property. Do you know enough about the Meth
odist Church in its divisions to know whether or not this portion of the country was
given up in a voluntary split to the Methodist Church South ?

Answer. In the division in the war f

Question. No; before the war.
Answer. O, yes, sir; that is a matter of history. This was embraced in the territory

of the Methodist Episcopal Church South.

Question. Were the churches and property owned by the Methodist Church after the

war, up to the visit of Mr. Lakiu, owned generally by the Methodist Church South ?

Aimwcr. I think they were altogether, for there was no Methodist Church North here.

Question. Was the object of Mr. Lakiu to get a majority of the congregation to de
tach themselves from the church South, and attach themselves to the church North,
thereby putting themselves under the jurisdiction of the Northern Methodist Church f

^liiHH (T. My understanding is that the purpose was either to detach or create organ
izations for the purpose of uniting them with the northern church.

Question. And placing them under the jurisdiction of the notherii church?
.Inswer. Yes, sir.

(Question. So far as he could detach congregations, do yon know whether it was the

purpose to carry the property along with them ?

Answer. I have an indistinct recollection of hearing something of the sort said about
some effort to secure the property control of a church. I do riot know what it was; I

have heard many things of the kind asserted about getting control of church property.
I believe suits have grown out of that.

Question. In Virginia ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
and in Mississippi there was a case, but the circumstances of this

case I do not now recall, and I could not designate with accuracy. I have a. general rec

ollection of an effort made to get the property control of a church, but what church
I do not remember now

;
it may have been in the line of his duty.

Question. The persons who belonged to the Methodist Church South, and by the origi
nal voluntary division still owning the property, of course, strongly objected to remov
ing their church property to the jurisdiction of another church if

Answer. 1 presume so
;
that was the general fact, I believe. There was a feeling

growing out of that, and I know the animosity between the two churches was quite
bitter

;
there was a good deal of feeling about it, but it was a matter in which I was not

interested, and I gave it no attention, and can testify with no directness or accuracy.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. You spoke of the order of the commandant of this post to fire at men
caught with their disguises on. Do you recollect when that order was promulgated f

A nswer. No, sir
;

I have a recollection of hearing of an order to that effect; I never
saw it : but whether that, order directed them to tire without challenge, or attempt to

arrest or not, I do not know.

Question. A point now upon which I wish to make inquiry is, whether that order had,
ill your opinion, any effect in repressing these organizations of armed disguised men f

Answer. I do not think the order was issued until after the entry of this Klan into

town, but I should presume that it would have that effect; whether it did or not I

cannot say.

Question. Which entry of the disguised men in this town do you mean
;
in the sum

mer or fair?

Answer. The one that occurred on the night of the riot.

Question. In the fall of lrf(&amp;gt;ri ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. It is your conviction that that order did have that effect to repress these

practices of men banding together and disguising themselves ?
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Answer. I have stated that that would be the natural effect, and it probably did. I

would state that within or about the time though I am not positive as to the dates
the soldiers did arrest three men, either in town or out of it somewhere, and conlined
them in the jail. There was no shooting done and the men disappeared ;

I do not
know where they went to.

Question, You have expressed the opinion, Mr. Day, that this Ku-Klux Klan, in ita

drigiual organization, embraced the poor, dissolute, and irresponsible men in the com
munity. Do I understand you correctly ?

Ansiver. No, sir
; you do not.

Question. And that they were for the purposes of theft, &c. ?

Answer. No, sir
;
I do not wish to be understood in that way.

Question. PL.-ase correct my misunderstanding.
Answer. I have stated that bands of disguised persons, whenever now seen in the

country, I believe to be men who are poor, dissolute, and irresponsible, and that their

organization finds its only power of cohesion in a disposition to steal and to gratify per
sonal malice.

Question. Upon what facts within your knowledge does this opinion rest ?

Answer. It rests upon the only case I have seen in which these men have indulged in

violence, and upon my general belief, and that general belief which is shared with the

good men of the country, many of whom I believe to have been associated with
the original organization, but who left that organization and now frown upon it and
condemn it.

Question. How do you know who left that organization ;
I understood you to say this

forenoon that you never heard a man admit that he was a member ?

Answer. I did.

Question. How do you know who left it ?

Answer. I do not know.
Question. How do you know whether the original organization embraced good or

bad men ?

Answer. I do not know it.

Question. How do you know it did not exist for the purpose of plunder?
Ans-wcr. I do not know it and have not asserted it. I have said this, and I now re

peat it, although I think I have been very explicit and clear on that point, and I can
not conceive how I could be misunderstood, that I have shared and entertained only
what I consider the popular and general belief in regard to the constituents, purposes,
and fate of that organization ;

that I draw my inference from a general belief, and
from the expression of concurrence or non-concurrence that 1 hear from the good men
of the country, as to its existence or non-existence and purposes.

Question. Did you ever hear that that organization, among other objects, sought to
influence the results of elections ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did you believe that to be true which was imputed to that order ?

Answer. No, sir
;
I did not believe it was organized for that purpose, but I think

that organization in existence anywhere would have that effect
;
but I believe, and my

recollection is, that there were no elections taking place when that organization com
menced, and the possibility or probability of them was, perhaps, indefinite and un
certain.

Question. Is it your opinion that this Ku-Klux Klan ever scourged or otherwise mal
treated Union men because of their opinion or for the purpose of deterring them from

voting in accordance witli their opinions ?

Answer. I think, probably, that that may have been the case, for partisanship ran

very high in this country, and it would be very probable that a body of men affiliating
in secret, of a common political faith, would be sti mnlated to the exercise of violence,
under that state of facts, toward their opponents ;

but I have never known of a case

of that sort.

Question. Did you ever hear of a case of that kind ?

Ansiver. I have heard only the popular allegation contained in the newspapers ;
none

that I recall now.

Question. I understood you to express rather an unfavorable opinion this forenoon as

to the truth of newspaper articles.

Answer. I think I assigned my reason. I believe this a reason that is common to all

men who rely upon a given amount of evidence to produce convictions on their minds.

Question. That leads me, to inquire of you in reference to the article in the Patterson

Guardian in reference to Mr. Lakin. Why did you credit that article, when you ex

pressed a general disbelief of newspaper accouuis .

Answer. If I might be informed of the fact that I did credit it, or had such an idea, I

would give a direct answer.

Question. Do you say you did not credit it?

Answer. I would make the same answer I made to the interrogatories touching my
belief as to the general current of newspaper reports of a partisan character. I think
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I neither attached credit nor discredit. I heard it as a general allegation against Mr.
Lakiu. I have never seen it denied, and know nothing more of it than I saw in that

statement.

Question. Did yon ever read the original paper in which this article was said to have
been published ?

Answer. I think I saw the paper, but I do not think I read it. I think Mr. Clay took

the paper out of his pocket, and was reading it to some one himself. 1 did not read
the article.

Question. About when was that article published?
Answer. I think within four or five months past. That is my impression of it, thougli

my memory of dates is inaccurate.

Question. Was it before Mr. Lakin gave his testimony, on the 13th of June last?

Answer. I think it was since; in fact, I am pretty clear upon that point.

Question. Do you know anything about the responsibility of the editor of that paper
the Patterson Guardian?

Answer. I do not.

Question. Do you know whether he is a man of truth ?

Answer. I know nothing whatever of him.

Question. Did not the fact that Mr. Lakin had given testimony before the committee
of investigation relating to the political condition of Alabama create a very strong
sentiment against him in this community ?

Answer. Yes, sir, it did; a most decided and emphatic one, and it was based upon the
belief that Mr. Lakin knew he had misrepresented the population of which he spoke.
That is undoubtedly the foundation of the decided feeling against him.

Question. That he had done injustice to the State, and he knew it?

Answer. Yes, sir; that is the general belief.

Question. When you speak of the general belief; do you mean that republicans shared
that opinion ?

Answer. I mean the general belief, as far as I am acquainted with it.

Question. Have you ever heard a republican, in this community or out of this com
munity, express the opinion that Mr. Lakin, in whole or in detail, was not truthful?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What republican ?

Answer. Mr. Davis, a man that was a republican, and, I reckon, is yet Nicholas
Davis.

By Mr. BUCKLEY:

Question. Is he a republican now ?

Answ cr. I reckon so
;
I do not know exactly. He has always been rather shaky.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question, You say he is rather shaky?
Answer. I do not think he has much faith in the tenets of the creed.

Question. Did he vote with that party last fall ?

Answer. I think so
;
I do not know.

Question. Is he trusted with the party now?
Answer. I doubt whether he ever was very extensively trusted by them.

Question. Do I understand that ho had not the confidence of that party?
Ansu-er. You may understand this : that they were, as he alleges, guilty of ill faith

and excesses, utterly outside of the platform on which they professed to stand. My
understanding is that he professes to stand on the platform and declines to defend
the usurpations and violences of which he thought that party guilty through their

congressional action, but he stands squarely on the republican platform as that party
writes it out and asks the people to vote, leaving out of sight the inner springs of mo
tive and action and the outer evidence of conduct. But he stood on the platform it

self.

Question. And voted with the party ?

Answer. On recollection, I am quite positive that he voted for Governor Smith last
fall.

Question. How does he stand to-day?
Answer. Well, I have heard him within the last week give his opinion of the demo

cratic party, and I think that a more zealous republican hearing that would indorse it

and take him by the hand. In other words, he abused the party about as far as the

English language would do it. I think, however, he favors the &quot; new departure&quot; idea.

Question. Then I understand you that he indorses the republican platform, but con
demns the action of the party?
Answer. He condemns many of their acts, such as the congressional acts, local organ

ization, and their action putting upon the people officers not elected. I think he is op
posed to that

;
but I think Mr. Davis was the first of one, or two, or three men to or

ganize a republican nucleus in this State.

40 A
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Question. I ask whether he is now, at heart, in co-operation with the republican
party ?

Answer. I do not think he is in hearty co-operation with that party. That is my
belief. I think his opinion is that there are many rascals in control that he cannot
affiliate with

;
in fact he so expressed himself. I desire to quote as nearly as I can his

idea.

Question. Besides Mr. Davis3 what other republican have you heard express an opinion
against Mr. Lakin?

Answer. I do not think any one. I do not remember any one.

Question. Have you heard any republican say that his statement was not true ?

Ansiver. I do not remember any republican. If I have, it has escaped my mind.

Question. Then, if I understand you correctly, with the exception of Mr. Davis, the
unfavorable opinion of Mr. Lakin as a man of character and truth is confined wholly
to the democratic party ?

Ansiccr. With the exception I make, as far as my knowledge goes, it is. In fact I

believe there are very few white members of the republican party in this county. Their
numbers are quite limited. I think that if they united upon the expression of an opin
ion it would hardly create a public sentiment.

Question. Did I not understand you to say awhile ago that one hundred and fifty men
had settled in this vicinity and that the majority of them voted the republican ticket?

Answer. I have forgotten the number I assigned. It was along between one hundred
and one hundred and fifty, and it is my belief that the majority of them vote with the

republican party.
Question. Of the old resident white population, what proportion vote the republican

ticket ?

Answer. I have forgotten the white voting population of this county. I think the

aggregate vote now is in the neighborhood of five thousand, or a very little under it,

and I should think as a mere matter of opinion it may be rnaccurate, however that
there might be from fifty to seventy and perhaps one hundred white men republicans.
My best belief is, though, that that is an overestimate, but I may be inaccurate. I

merely state my impression.
Question. Did I understand you to say that Mr. Van Valkeuburg located the resi

dence of Mr. Lakin at Peru, Illinois, and that it was there that he became acquainted
with his character ?

Answer. No
;
I did not intend to say that, and I do not think I did. If that inference

is in there, it comes from the connection of the answer with the question. What I

understood Mr. Van Valkenburg to say was this : after the allegation of his seduction
of his niece by some one in the party where Mr. Van Valkenburg was, he
stated that he had the information from there it was from Indiana, and it was
so, or all right. I do not remember his words, but his statement was affirmative in
its character, and I took it that he referred to this alleged seduction

;
but whether it

was at Peru, Illinois, or Peru, Indiana, I do not know. My opinion, or rather my
supposition, was that it was Peru, Indiana, if there was such a place, because I lived
within eighteen or twenty miles of Peru, Illinois, and never heard of Lakin.
The QIIAIRMAN. I live within eighteen miles of Peru, Indiana, and have heard of Mr.

Lakin.

Question. Is Mr. Van Valkenburg a very strong, decided democrat ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. He came from Pern, Indiana ?

Answer. I do not know
;
I believe so.

Question. Have you ever heard him speak in very bitter terms of the administration?
Answer. No, sir

;
I do not remember that I ever heard him speak of the administra

tion at all
;
I do not remember that I ever had a personal political conversation with

Colonel Van Valkenburg; I have heard him speaking of political matters.

Question. WT
as he an officer of the Union Army ?

Answer. I understood so.

Question. What was his rank ?

Answer. A colonel of infantry.
Question. Did you ever hear that ho was dismissed from the service ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
I saw the allegations against him, and also his vindication, in

letters from, I think, nearly every officer of the army of the Potomac, embracing a

large number of them.

Question. Do you recollect what the cause of his dismissal was?
Ansiver. My recollection is that it was alleged defection to the Federal cause, as it

then stood
;

I think he was opposed to negro emancipation ;
that is my recollection of

the allegation a defection of that character
;
and I saw a long list of letters written

to him by officers of the army of the Potomac that were highly commendatory of his
character as an officer, and a most triumphant and circumstantial vindication of his
character generally.

Question. I am not bringing his character into question at all. I simply alluded to
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tlie fact to ascertain whether it lias intensified his bitterness against the republican
party.

Answer. I am unable to say, sir. You inquire of a fact, and I state all I know
of it.

Question. Has Mr. Lakin s family removed from here ?

Answer. I do not know, sir. My impression is that he has a married daughter, tho
wife of Mr. Rains.

Question. Do I understand you to express the deliberate opinion that the people
of the South possess the virtue of patience under grievances ill a higher degree than
the people of the North ?

Answer. I think this : that there is more stubbornness and tenacity and persistence
in the character of the northern population than there is in that of the southern popu
lation. I do not know that patience or impatience would necessarily enter into it

when it was a mere matter of power and resistance.. I state it from tbat stand-point.
Question. Did you ever hear it alleged that these hideous disguises adopted by tho

Ku-Klux Klan were assumed for the purpose of operating upon the superstitious fears
of the negroes ?

Ansivcr. Yes, sir; I think I have.

Question. Is it your opinion that they were adopted for that purpose ?

Answer. Well, I do not know. It would have tbat effect, I think. Whether that was
the governing purpose in assuming them, or not, I cannot say, but I believe tho first

Organization of which I spoke, and which, I have no doubt, was the first organization
which was called Ku-Klux, adopted that garb, but I do not think it had any reference
to negroes at that time.

Question. I understood you to say in answer to a question put by Mr. Beck that this

organization sprang up when the negro was first thrown fonvardln political matters
;

am I correct ?

Answer. I do not remember of saying so.

Question. You made some response as to when the negro element was first thrown
forward, in answer to a question put by Mr. Beck. Do you recollect your statement ?

Answer. I think it was organized about that time, and perhaps a little before. I be
lieve it was organized before the negro element was thrown forward in a political
sense, and I have recited what I think is true in regard to tho defensive or proper
character of tbe organization in its iucipieucy. I do not know that I connected it with
the negro element.

Question. You have spoken of General Warner, a late Senator from this State. I ask

you to state whether yqu know or have heard anything derogatory to the character of
General Warner for competency and fidelity in the position which he held?

Answer. Do you refer to his personal characteristics for honesty and humanity, or
his political character?

Question. I will have the inquiry relate to his personal as well as his public character.
Answer. I recollect of nothing that I ever heard alleged against Warner s personal

character; I do not remember anything.
Question. Was he not eminently faithful to the interests of Alabama while he was in

Congress ?

Answer. I know of nothing that he ever did to injure the State to injure it from his

stand-point nothing that involved any turpitude, and I do not remember anything
special that he ever did for it. I never watched his course with any solicitude or in

terest. I did not know him personally. I regarded him as a clever gentleman.
Question. How long had he resided in point of fact in tho State of Alabama before

his election ?

Answer. When was the election ? I have forgotten the date.
Mr. BUCKLEY. July, 1868.

The WITNESS. I do not know how long Warner had resided here. I saw him at

Montgomery in the winter of 1866. He was then just arrived from Ohio, and was
talking of buying a plantation. How far he became a resident or became domiciled
in the State at that time I do not know.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. Is it not a fact that he had made one crop of cotton at that time ?

Answer. I do not know. I have very little information about him myself.
Question. What time did Mr. Lakin come here, to this State, to the best of your

recollection ?

Answer. I am not certain about it. My impression is that I first saw him here some
time perhaps in the latter part of 1867. I may be wrong ;

I have no data from which
I could determine the fact.

Question. Do you know at what time he was indicted, if indicted at all, in the court
of which you have spoken ?

Answer. I have no knowledge whatever of the indictment
;
if I have heard of it I

have forgotten it
;
but I have no recollection of having heard it.
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Question. To what court had you reference at the time in speaking of the abolition
of a court ?

Answer. I referred to the newly created city court with enlarged criminaljurisdiction.
Question. That was abolished at what time ?

Answer. I have forgotten the date
; it was nearly two years ago, I think.

Question. I hold in my hand the acts of the. Alabama legislature for 1868. Hero is
&quot; An act to repeal an act to establish the city court of Huutsville, approved August 5,
1863.&quot; Is this the act you had reference to I

Answer. Yes, sir.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Is that the act you referred to as abolishing your civil court ?

Answer. I think it is
;
the court was created here and held perhaps two sessions and

was abolished.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. It was created, then, under the administration of Governor Patton ?

Answer. I think, perhaps, it was the legislature succeeding Governor Patton.

Question. But it was abolished by the succeeding legislature ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;

it was abolished by the same legislature that created it, I think.

By Mr. BECK :

Question. The act approved August 5, 1868, repealed an act of January 26, 1867, to
establish a city court of Huntsville ?

Answer. What is the interim of time ?

Question. From January, 1867, to the 5th of August, 1868.

Answer. Then it was not exceeding three terms
;
I could easily inform myself on that

subject.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. I notice on page 434, in the testimony given by Mr. Dox before the com
mittee, that he refers to several republicans, naming you among the rest. In that, I

suppose, he was mistaken, was he not ?

Answer. What was the date of his statement ?

Question. It was given July 11, 1871.

Answer. Mr. Dox was mistaken in assigning my political affiliation to the republican
party.

Question. I will read you his statement. Referring to Mr. Lakin, he -says :
&quot; There

are others who know him a great deal better than I do men of his own party, men
who vote as he votes. I can name them, and you may cite them if you choose. I

would name Mr. James Ware, Mr. Figures, editor of the Huntsville Advocate, Mr.
John Reed, Mr. Day.&quot;

By the CHAIRMAN:

Question. Is there any other gentleman of your name here that he could have
referred to ?

Answer. No, sir
j
not that I am aware of.

The following is the record of the evidence in the trial of Holseapple, Lindsay, and

Maloue, before United States Commissioner Day, at Huntsville, Alabama, September 1,

1871, referred to in the testimony of Lionel W. Day, page 590.

UNITED STATES )
vs. V Trial September 1, 1871.

HOLSEAPPLE, LINDSAY, MALONE. )

WM. HENDERSON :

Question. What is your name?
Answer. William Henderson.

Question. Where do you live?
Answer. With C. Goodloe.

Question. In what county?
Answer. Colbert County.
Question. How long have you been living there?
Answer. Moved there two weeks after Christmas.
Question. Men came to your house disguised ;

how many?
Answer. On Tuesday night, the 15th day of August, I had been talking to Mr. Good-
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loe until 11 o clock at night, and then went to bed. Four men came to my room and
woke me up and told me to strike a light. I shook Mack, my boy ;

woke him up in

stead of getting up myself. He got up and made a light, and they then told me to get
Tip and put on my clothes; that they wanted me to go and show them where Cater

Thompson was. I told them I did not know where he was and did not know him when
I saw him. At that time I had a gun in the south corner of the house. One man was

standing between me and the gun. I aimed to get at it and he shoved me back. Two
of the men had pistols and two of them shot-guns, which they presented at me and told

me to go out of the door
;
and as I turned around to go out of the door I saw Mr. Duce

Lindsay, who put his hand on my shoulder; did not hurt me. I knew him by a veil

on his iiat being turned back over his hat from over his face. The veil came down over
the face

1

and the shoulders behind. Am well acquainted with him and knew it was him.

Question. How were they dressed?
Answer. They had on black overcoats and white trimmings around the tail, and a cape

came down about half way and white trimming around it. All were dressed the same
way. There was white trimming around the waist. Said they wanted me to go with
him to William Milam s house, and I started out of the door. They then said they did
not want to go there

;
that they wanted to go to the quarter. I went on with them

until we got half of the way, when they turired ami went out to the railroad due east.

&quot;YVe went down against the quarter on the railroad and halted at a little crossing. Mr.
Duce Lindsay, the same man that helped me all the way down by the shoulder, reached
down and picked up a line at the end of the bridge. Another one I did not know
picked up a bottle of whisky and then tied me, saying they Avere afraid that I would
run away and not show them where the house was. After they (five along and four in

the house) got me tied they wanted mo to go to John Atkison s to see if Cater Thomp
son was there. When we got against the house they said that they did not want John
Atkison

;
that they only wanted to take me on the other side of the river to keep me.

from appearing against thorn at. court any more. Kight there Mr. William Ma-lone
walked up and jabbed me with a shot-gun and asked me why I went to go to Tuscum-
bia to have them bound over to keep the peace. (Had William Maloue and William
Newsoui bound over to keep the peace before Mr. Green, justice of the peace. Minnis
admits it was under State authority.) Mr. Malone asked me then didn t Mr. Dean tell

me to go to Tuscumbia ? 1 replied &quot;No,&quot;
when he again jabbed me with his gun, and

asked me again did he not tell me to go. To keep him from hurting nie, I said &quot;

Yes,
sir.&quot; He then asked me if Mr. Goodloe didn t. Mr. Dean never told rue anything about
it. Went on then until we got to the horses, hitched in the woods, half a mile. Was
then tired

;
halted

;
had a little fire made up. The little switches they had with them

had lire on- the end, and Mr. Duce Lindsay stooped down, struck a match to the lire,

and lit his pipe, and they passed the bottle of whisky around, and then I saw Mr. Ma-
lone s face, as he flung the veil from over his face as 1 was looking. They got the horses
and put me on before them. They then came to the Newport and Cherokee road. Mr.
Duce Lindsay mounted Mr. Holseapple s horse and took me up behind him, and Mr.

Holseapple and William Malone went on to get a skiff by the time the others got there, and
then there were only four horses; two doubled on the gray horse behind me, and I

replied to Mr. Duce Lindsay didn t call his name as I was afraid to let him know I

knew him &quot; Please not to hurt me.&quot; He raised the veil from over his face, and com
menced telling me what I had done to him. and how much I had cost him. A few

steps after I dropped my hat ill the trotting of the horse. Mr. William Maloue and
another a little behind, I did not know, stopped and got it

;
he galloped on by me with

niy hat in his hand. When I got to the river before Newport Door, there they halted
and told rue to get down, and was then tied with my hands behind me; same rope
came down and was tied around my knees just so. I could not walk fast. One that I

did not know helped me on the fence, and held me until I could get on the horse,
after getting into Newport road, about seven or ten panels from the corner, and
then one pushed ine on the fence. I could use my feet enough to climb on
them to please help me down

;
I could not; one of them marched up and dragged me

the corner of the fence to get on the horse. Got to Newport and begged one of
off the horse by the collar; do not know the one. Holseapple, who they called

captain, said,
&quot; Follow me,&quot; and went down to the water and went up the river about

one hundred and seventy-five yards, then they came to Mulberry Creek and there was
a skiff

; they bailed the water out of it and Holseapple went in first and called in Mr.
Duce Lindsay; others I did not know were out guarding me and they ordered
him to briug me in the bow of the skiff and I went in. They told me to sit down
and told him to come and get by me next to them and turned the skiff out into
the river and went up about one hundred yards. Says Mr. Holseapple, &quot;This is

up high enough; we will go across.&quot; WT
ent across, as I thought, about half way.

They were going to carry me across when they first put me in to keep from

appearing in court. Mr. Holseapple says,
&quot; I want to learn you (we were about half

way across) how to bring responsible white men up before court.&quot; Says I, Gentle

men, please don t kill me; put me on the other side and I will leave the country.&quot;
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Dnce Lindsay says,
&quot;

Yes, I want you to leave and go to Illinois where all your other
nation is.&quot; Mr. Holseapple says,

&quot;

Fling that damned nigger out of here*; I am not

going to carry him farther.&quot; I was then tied, and one man I did not know, that was
sitting next to me, says,

&quot; Get out.&quot; I said,
&quot; I can t get out

; please untie me.&quot; Bolse-

apple says,
&quot;

Fling him out, fling him
out,&quot;

and I was sitting with my feet in the
boat my back foremost, as I was going across, and he put his feet right under my legs
and keeled me over backwards

;
in that time he said,

&quot; Drown him or let him wade
out

;
if he can wade out of here let him

go.&quot; As I struck the water one was holding
me under with the oar-paddle ;

I knew nothing then until my right hand became untied
;

it didn t come untied
;
I drew it out of the loop, and after so long a time I came to the

top and got my wind a little and tried to swim and I sunk, and when I found myself
again I had hold of a rock under the water

;
turned loose from the rock and tried to

go to the top; was struggling or drowning, as I thought, all the time; as I tried to
come to the top in the^uext struggle, my other hand came out

;
I came to the top then

and commenced to swim
;
I looked at the mouth of the creek and saw them trying to

fasten the skiff
;
I went on the bank

;
tried to swim without making any noise

; during
that time they left, and just as I got in water waist-deep I took a cramp in my hip,
and I had then to get on one knee and my hands and crawl out

;
where I got out tl.e

water was only a foot deep, miry and muddy ;
I sat down and untied the string from

around my legs, and then crawled clean out of the water on to firm ground ;
slidi d

out
;
after I got out, was so full of water I could not walk

;
I laid down and happened

to bo across a root; I flung up water enough so I could walk a little
;
I went up the

river about a quarter of a mile, laid over across a stump and flung right smart more
of water ; struck right out across to Widow Haley s farm, and I met one of John Otis s

boys and another one, a young man, looked about grown ;
asked me what made me so

wet
;
I said to him,

&quot; I started across the river and fell in
;

&quot; I told him that because I

was afraid these men would find out that I was out and get after me again, and I

wanted to leave there
;
I went on then to Mr. Brown s and asked him if I might go

across his field home, and a white man told me I could
;
I went right across the field

home, and as I got to the barn, within two hundred yards of Mr. Goodloe s yard. I

met Marion Matthews
;
he says,

&quot; What in the world makes you so wet and muddy ?
;

Says I,
&quot; Please don t tell if I tell you ;

the Ku-Klux had me and I want to get away frcm
here before they have me

again.&quot; I did not want them to know but Avhat I was
drowned until I got away from the country ;

I go on then down to the yard, looked in

his garden and saw Mr. Goodloe
;
the suii may have been half an hour high, and I

motioned to him, as he told me that night to go for a doctor for his daughter, and ho
came pretty briskly to me, and says, &quot;What in the world is the matter; had I been
after the doctor as be told me?&quot; I told him I had not; that the Ku-Klux came- last

night and took me away ;
and after a little bit he came back, and asked me what route

they had carried me, and I told him as near as I could; I told him the route and what
they done as far as they carried me from his house; next day morning he sent mo
down the river and told me to go where I came out at and get a powder-gourd he

thought he lost down there
;
I staid in the neighborhood two days ;

staid at home
until I took train

; Friday did not get to train in time
;
laid at a neighbor s house for

evening train and came down here to Huntsville.

Question. How do you know Holseapple ?

Answer. I knew his voice at first, and after they got in the river in the skiff I saw
his face. I knew his build.

Cross-examination :

On Tuesday, the 15th day of August, was at home all day, working. On Tuesday
night they took me out

;
was not in Newport that day. The day after I got out of the

river, in the morning, Wednesday, when I went down to see about trot-line. After I

got out of river I kept concealed for two days. Saw John Oats; was not down theie

on Tuesday, but working at Goodloe s all day. Starlight night when I was taken out;
don t know the time of night. Mr. Goodloe told me to get up in the morning and go
for the doctor

;
went Wednesday morning to Dr. Cross

;
saw four men in the room

;

did not know them then; saw Mr. Duce Lindsay; swear it was him
;
had a cedar light

in the lire-place; can swear that I recognized his features that night; and swear that

ho was in my house that night; recogni/ed Mr. Malone when they took the drink; the
m.v.rh was lit, and lasted long enough to burii out; swear that it was Mr. Malone; I

imagined it was Mr. Holseapplo until we got to the river
;
did not have any light ;

I am
certain it was him; I saw his face without a light, and recognized his features

;
had his

Imt on. River is about 800 or 900 yards wide. First taken out, they went west two

miles, if not two and a half; walked that from my cabin to the horses
;
went duo north

half a mile; turned back east, and went three miles on to Newport. The first two
miles were walked very slowly; next half a mile slow; turned east three miles; rode

it; came to Newport. I told Goodloe that theylcarricd me to the river; did not tell

him the route they carried me. After 1 got in Newport road it was three miles. After

we got in the road awhile, Mr. Malone and Mr. Holseapple went by me to got the skill ;
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before they went after the skiff they picked up my hat; it was midway to the river
;

was in the boat when I saw Holseapple s face; did not know him before, only by &quot;his

build and voice. Knew that day was breaking when they put me out in the river;
sunk when I was thrown in

;
when I came up I seen nothing; the second time I saw

them at the bank trying to fasten the skiff; done that while I was under water, near
three miles from Mr. Goodloe s; near half an hour by the sun when I got there. Saw
Mr. Maloue s face at the lire, saw Dnee Lindsay s face in the house, and Holseapple s

just before they threw me out
;
saw one little fellow s face

;
did not know him

; reeog-
nixed Mr. Holseapple s horse and a gray horse, (I think belonged to Mr. Raukin,) a big-

bay, and roauish pony; could identify none but Mr. Holseapple s horse. First saw
Marion Matthews about two hundred yards from Mr. Goodloe s gate; I said please don t

tell, the Ku-Klnx had me last night; I know I did not tell him that I would find out
before night ;

I don t know whether I told him that or not ; and from my feelings
toward the three defendants before this transaction I thought there was peace between
us when they were bound over. I did have a conversation wih James Carter

;
I did

not tell him that I would stump up something against them that would cost them
$1,000 apiece. Did not say before William Matthews that if they were all my way of

thinking that I would kill out all the whites and take their land. Had not got to the
horses when he punched me with the gun; had not seen Malone s face when ho

punched me
;
knew him only by his walk and build

;
knew him, as he was the only

large man in the crowd. Tied me with a plow-line; was tied with my hands behind
me, and my legs.were tied. In conversation on the road with Matthews and Carter I

made no threats. Was not, at Newport on Tuesday before 1 was put in tin; river. Went
to the river only one time the time I went after the powder-gourd ;

I went to see about
the line. This was after I was put in the river. I made a crop with Mr. Malone

;
ho

took it all
;
when I tried to get it he threatened me. Had no suit with Ilolseapplo;

was a witness. Mr. Lindsay was one of the men who was going to help Mr. Malone.

WM. + HENDERSON.
mark.

Witness : JAMES M. EDGAR.

MARK HENDERSON : Uncle Henderson is my father; he is my mother s husband. T

live with him. Some men came one night; been three weeks to-day, live men came.
I was asleep when they came

; they told Uncle Henderson to make up. a light ;
Uncle

Henderson woke me up, and I made up a light. Three of them came into the house
and two stood in the door. Knew Holseapple; saw his face; had on a straw hat; am
well acquainted with him

;
he did nothing. I started out of the door, and he. told mo

to go back. They took William Henderson out of the house. I staid in Lewis s house
the balance of the night ;

the houses adjoined. I saw William Henderson 8 o clock
the next day; went after Dr. Cross. William Henderson came after me

;
do not know

what he wanted
;
I got back home before he saw me. I don t know where William

Henderson wa.s the day before the night they took him out.

Cross-examined :

Never told anybody what I would swear before I came here. Uncle Jim Carter
asked me a while ago, but I did not tell him. Henderson told me this morning to tell

nothing, only what I had seen and heard. Three men came in
; Holseapple stood at

the door; I saw his face; had a small piece of a veil over his face; I looked through
the veil and saw his face

;
am certain only three men came in

;
did not look in the faces

of the rest. Mr. Holse. ipple had on a straw hat; wore a little straw hat about thero;
he spoke to me, and I knew his voice

;
could see his features through the veil. No one

in Lewis s house but himself aud wife
;
I staid all night. Don t know where Hender

son was the dav before. I wasn t there.
his

MARK X HENDERSON.
mark.

Witness : JAMES M. EDGAR.

MARION MATTHEWS: Know William Henderson
;
has been living with Mr. Goodloo.

Live on same place. Saw William Henderson the next morning after being put in the

river, some time directly afterward. Sun up. He looked as if he had been running
through the dew, was bare-headed, pants looked muddy. Did not ask him any ques
tions until after he spoke to me. He stood a moment before he spoke. I said,

&quot; What
the devil do you want ?

&quot; He said, &quot;Don t tell anybody that you saw me this morning.&quot;
I told him,

&quot;

I thought he had been on one of his big drunks.&quot; He told me the Ku-Klnx
had broken in his house and taken him out and threw him in the river. Don t recol
lect of seeing him on the evening after. I saw him in the morning. He went down
near Mr. Goodloe s back gate. Saw him motion, then saw him in the yaru talking.
Shortly after he called nie out of the house and wanted my horse, to go to Dr. CIM.-SS.

He then commenced talking about the Ku-Klux. He said he would iind out by to-mor-
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row evening who it was. Don t recollect of seeing him any more that day. Don t

recollect whether it was the next day, I saw him knocking about home.

Cross-examination :

It was a little after sun up when I saw him the next morning. He said nothing more
in conversation. He did not say he didn t know who done it. He only said he would
iind out by to-morrow evening. Saw him no more that day, but saw him a day or two
after. From the first to the next conversation it was an hour and a half. I saw him
in Goodloe s garden, Tuesday morning.

CALVIN GOODLOE : Lives in Colbert County, District Northern Alabama. I know a
colored man named William Henderson that has lived at my house si nee February 10th,
or about then. I saw him Tuesday night, about dusk, and saw him after 11 o clock.

The last time I saw him he was with me a half an hour. His house is forty steps from
mine

;
his wife was hired to me as a cook two weeks before I discharged her. Tuesday

morning he came to me and said his wife had come back. I told him to go on with her
where she wanted to go. Told me his wife had gone to Cross s

;
about 10 or 11 o clock

he came and said he had changed his mind
;
he was sober that night when we parted.

I heard nothing of a disturbance. I heard a noise or knocking at his house, and sup
posed he was picking up his wife s things. I saw him the m-xt morning a little before
sunrise. I saw him northwest of rny house, near the gate. I was in the garden ;

as I

came out of the garden he came in the gate and called mo
;
said he had not been to

the doctor s. He asked if I did not see the men that took him off. I told him if

he had been taken off and drowned he could get evidence enough. I told him to keep
himself secreted. I got on my horse and went to the river and saw some evidence of

the tracks around the boat, and evidence where he had puked some peach-peelings and
a good deal of water. Saw a great many tracks on the railroad. Saw some tracks at
the gin-house, and went to the place that they put him on a horse, and found there had
been three or four horses hitched there, and found evidence of his being put on a horse.

The river is low and you can see 6 or 8 feet in it. I saw marks coming up the banks as
if some one had been dragged ;

traces of persons hands and the tracks of where some
person had laid down

;
the signs were that he had thrown up a great deal of water.

There was little dust on one of the rails. The top rail had been removed
;
there was a

shoe track there ;
I noticed his appearance when he came to me that morning ;

ho was very
wet and looked badly, as if he had been on a big drunk. I noticed when I came back that
he had been tied

;
there was a mark the one-third of a plow-line on his flesh of the

left hand, and a mark on the right arm. I think he worked in my garden Tuesday.
I saw him about 7.30 a. m. Tuesday. I saw him next about 7 o clock same day; came
to tell me he would go away. I was not at home on Tuesday, some men working at

my house whom I do consider my family. I went to town on Thursday. When I went
to the river on Wednesday I took my gun. I lost my gourd, and sent him to the river
to see if he could find it

;
he could not find it

;
do not know whether he went to the

river. Knew him since January 17
;
saw him before an acquaintance ;

do not know
him to have had any difficulties. I know ho went to a justice of the peace and asked
him in regard to having a settlement between himself and Mr. Malone. I know of no
difficulties he had with any one in his disposition. I consider him an ordinary man,
and an obedient one. I consider his character as good as any nigger s.

Cross-examination :

I know nothing about his being put in a river only from what he told me. After I
heard the knocking on Tuesday, and before I went to sleep the clock struck 2. Think
that day would break at 4.30 a. m. Ho told mo of the evidences of his route. Three-

quarters of a mile from Newsome s well to the railroad
;
from my house to where the

horses were was one and three-quarter miles or two miles
;
to the Newport road, be

tween a half and one rnile. The river at the place where I saw the boat was 800 yards
wide

;
to the middle 400 yards. It would take a man to row a skiff from the middle

of the river back to where I saw it, five minutes. Fresh tracks from Newsome s was
going northeast. His character is good as the average of niggers of the country. Can
not say as to his general character, do not know it. From my house to the river, to
travel the road he said he did, would be seven miles. Never saw him take a drink.

Colonel MINNIS :

Were any tracks barefooted ?

I measured it at the river and found it the samo track as his
;
from all I have heard

speak of him his general character is good.
J. C. GOODLOE.

DEFENSE.

ROBERT LINDSAY : I am a brother of one of the defendants
;
no relation to the

others. On the 15th day August I was at home
;
on the night of the 15th August I
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was at Holseapple s mill
;
staid all night ;

Mr. Holseapple staid with me that night ;

slept together ;
I slept but very little

;
I was on a pallet ;

he told me some one was

stealing his corn, and wanted me to go up and stay at his mill, and see if we could not
catch the thief; went to bed about 10 o clock, and slept together; it was a little

before daybreak when we got up. Mr. Holseapple s mill was between five and six

miles from Newport. Mr. H. could not have been absent without my knowing it
;
he

scarcely moved but what he woke me up. I know William Henderson; I know his

general character to be bad. I know Mr. Holseapple s character is as good as any
man s in Colbert County. Henderson s character for truth and veracity is very bad,
and would not believe him on oath. I slept two nights at Mr. Holseapple s mill, with
him

;
the nights of the 15th and 16th. The reason I left the mill before daylight is

that it might not be known that we were sleeping there, as we wanted to catch the

thief.

Cross-examination :

I slept at the mill other nights; went to the mill and left home between 8 and 9

o clock, just after the 8 o clock train passed Cherokee; about 10 o clock when I laid

down
;
about a long mile from where I lived

;
I have staid about live nights altogether;

cannot tell the dates of the other nights ; no one at the mill that night but Holse

apple and myself; we both started from the mill together. I rode a black horse to the
mill. I have known Henderson since four years ago ;

was drunk when I first saw him
;

do not know him to have ever been indicted. He had a case against Win. Malone, and
one at Tuscumbia. Know him to have a difficulty with Mr. Horton and Mr. Wood tin,

about lies being told
;
his character is* bad, as every one considers him a very mean nig

ger. Mr. John Campbell caught him stealing; saw my brother that night; he was
at home when I got there. I went in and went to bed

;
had not slept much all night ;

one room to the mill.

RALTEN : Was after daybreak when I got home. I could not say that he was there
when I got there.

COMMISSIONER : I fix the date of my sleeping at the mill by Mr. Holseapple s bringing
some fruit-jars and told me to send them up to his place on his wagon. My books
show the date of the 15th to be the purchase of those jars ;

and that night I hired a

livery-horse and went up there. I am certain it is the same night of the day of the.

purchase of those jars that I slept at the mill.

E. M. LINDSAY.

GEORGE RUTHERFORD : Live in Colbert County, twelve miles south of Cherokee;
know Mr. Duce Lindsay. On the 15th of the last August I was at Mr. D. Lindsay s;
staid there the night of the 15th; slept with Duce Lindsay in the side room by the

counting-room ;
went to bed between 9 and 10 o clock

; slept with him in the same
bed; it was about day-light when I woke him up ;

I was awake once during the night
and Mr. Lindsay was in bed then

;
do not know how far from there to Newport. Mr.

Neal Garmin slept there that night; was staying at Mr. Lindsay s ever since the 5th

August; slept with him every night up to the time he came to Huntsville, except on

Saturday nights. I slept in&quot; same bed when he came to Huntsville. I am not ac

quainted with Henderson; his character in the neighborhood where I live is a bad

reputation. I do not think he has a good character as a truthful and a responsible
man. I am certain that I slept there on the 15th. Mr. Holseapple and Mr. Malone
have not been acquainted with them long. Mr. Lindsay has as good a character as

any man within my knowledge in that county. Mr. Holseapple s and Mr. Malone s

characters are the same, as good as any man. I do not think 1 would believe Hender
son on oath, from a knowledge of his general character

;
his reputation is bad, from

good authority. Mr. Garmin slept in an adjoining room; had slept there three or four

nights.

Cross-examination :

I live twelve miles from Cherokee
;
live in Colbert County ;

went there on the 5th
;

am working there. I slept every night, except Saturday nights, in the same bed with
him up to and after the 15th. Do not know what time I woke up. Went to sleep again
and did not wake up until about daylight. Had no horse there. I was not out myself
that night. Heard of Henderson s character before this affair. Ho lived at Allsborough
awhile with Mr. Harris. I was not acquainted with him then. It was some two years
ago. I heard Mr. Harris and others, I do not remember, speak of his character. Mr.

Woodfiu, for another
;
Robert Woodfin.

GEORGE S. RUTHERFORD.

NEAL GARVOX : I live in luka, Mississippi. Have been in Colbert off and on since

August 10. Worked there on the night of the 15th. I slept in Mr. Lindsay s back
room. Mr. Duce Lindsay and Mr. Rutherford slept in side room. The door was open
all night. Went to bed^ between 9 and 10 o clock, as near as I can remember. Mr.
Duce Lindsay went to his room and pulled off his clothes. I got up next morning at
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good daylight, and ho was there then. I was going out of the window when they
were putting on their clothes. Do not know how far it is to Newport. Do not know
Henderson. Know nothing of his character. Knew Mr. Lindsay and Holseapplo four

years. I have not known any harm or anything wrong about any of them. They are

just as respectable as any men in Colbert County. I saw Mr. Duce Lindsay and Mr.
Rutherford putting on their clothes on the morning of the 16th. I saw them through
the door as I went to the window.

his

NEAL + GARVON.
mark.

Witness : JAMES M. EDGAR.

ALEXANDER MALONE: Live in Colbert County; am the father of William Malone
;

and have known Mr. Holseapple and Mr. Lindsay for several years. Their character
is as good as any man in Colbert County. From my knowledge of William Henderson,
I would not believe him on oath. William Malone lives in the same house with me.
On the night of the loth August William Malone was at home. Generally go to bed at
8 or 9 o clock at night. His little boy was very unwell at that time, and he and his

wife were frequently up during that night. I heard them talking. There was a hall

between our rooms
;
do not remember it particularly that night. His child was in such

a condition that it required attention during the night. From Lindsay s store to New
port it is little over six miles; from my house, Newport, two and a half miles; to

Calvin Goodloe s, three miles. I am satisfied that it was before and about and after

the 15th his child was sick and required attentftm. He would have to come into the
hall to pass from his room. The bolt makes a great deal of noise, and has waked me
up frequently.

Cross-examination :

Have no particular recollection that night about going to bed. Hall between my
room and his. There are windows in the room that went outside. I have known Hen
derson since January or February twelve months ago. He came to my house to work,
and worked until Christinas. Had a difficulty with my son in getting to a settlement.
Henderson is a bad character. Often heard men speak of his character.

ALEX. MALONE.

JAMES CARTER : I live at Mr. Maloue s Mr. William and Samuel Malone s. Lived
there nearly two years. Was in Mr. Malone s yard on the 15th August. Remember
the night when Henderson was taken out. Went to bed between 9 and 10 o clock.
Got up half an hour before day. Was up two or three times. Heard the dogs barking
and making a good deal of noise. I have charge of the horses. Had them locked up
during the night of the 15th

;
had the key in my pocket. Saw Mr. Malone about

midnight; saw a light in his room
;
saw him in the room, waiting on his child, about

midnight; saw him when I got up ;
he was still there. His child was still sick

;
sick

afterward. I worked on the road once with Henderson. He spoke of some men being
great enemies of his, and he was going to have spite out of them. Ho mentioned Mr.
Malone s name as one. Henderson s character is not very good, from the way he has
acted with me and others. He is a man that don t like to see others do well. He
stands well with some of his own people, and with others he don t. Heard him talked
about a great deal.

Cross-examination :

Live at William Malone s
;
have had no difficulty with Henderson, except some

cross words once. I have heard him having difficulty down below &quot; Fossick Square
&quot;

with some men. I have no prejudice against him ;
never carried a pistol for him or any

other man. Remember particularly that on Tuesday night was up at midnight ;
the

dogs kept up such a barking in the lot that I thought that there was something going
on. I found a strange dog was what they were barking at. Ho came to my room and
asked for the key to get his horse, as he was going to town. I learnt on Sunday that

night was the 15th August. I am always asking questions in regard to the day of the
month. I got up on Monday morning an hour to day. Did not tell Mr. Henderson
that Mr. Malone had given mo a bottle of whisky to raise a fuss with him

;
did not tell

it to him working on the road. Did not tell him that ho had given Jack Dement and
Charles Hamilton some cigars before Mr. Newsom s.

his

JAMES + CARTER.
marie.

Witness : JAMES M. EDGAR.

WILLIAM MATIIEWS : Live in Colbert County ;
live at Mr. Newsom s. Know William

Henderson
;
had a conversation on the road

;
heard him say if he could get a party

of men like himself and kill out all the God damned white men and yellow nig
gers, the State would be better than it is. Albert Goodloe was there. Henderson has
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got no character with either white or black. From my knowledge of his general
character, I would believe nothing he would say.

Cross-examination :

Albert Goodloe, and Smith, Frank Taylor, (white man,) he worked at Mr. Rankius s.

These are all I know heard the expression. Think there were twenty-five or thirty men
that heard that; can t remember the names of any others; Joe Greenhill was not
there

;
Wash. Newsom was not there

;
Frank Davis was there working in the party ;

it was spoken on Wednesday, the same day that Henderson and Smith had made up
ii plot to strike me with a pick. I worked with the white men. This was between
Mr. Holseapple s and Mr. Newsoin s places. I was passing by on a horse at the time,
carrying it to the overseer of the road, who was up at the head of the men.

bis

WM. 4- MATHEWS.
mark.

Witness: JAMES M. EDGAR.

MARION MATHEWS : I do know William Henderson s character. Do not think he
is under good character. Would not believe him on oath.

Cross-examination :

I don t know as I could name any particular persons that spoke of his character : it

was his conduct his chat principally what he said about other people. I have heard
it said through the county that he was a bad man. Heard Mr. Campbell say so.

From what I have seen myself, I would not believe him. Have heard him speaking of
Mr. Goodloe in rough ways. I am acquainted with the character of defendants;
their character is remarkably good as good as any man in Colbert County.

M. F. MATHEWS.
Mr. WOODFIN: Live in Colbert County; know defendants; know them to have a

remarkably good character. I have seen Henderson
;
his character among the negroes

was very bad, especially on my place and Mr. Alexander s place ; they came to us and
requested us not to allow him on the place, as he was a villainous liar; would not be
lieve him under oath. I live two miles from Allsborough. His character here among
white and black is very bad.

Cross-examination :

Never had him employed ;
ho came out to my place some five or six times, until the

negroes requested me to make him quit coming there. He tried to hire to me; he was
then living at Mr. Harris s

;
he said Mr. Han is was giving him $12 ;

I ottered him the
same

;
Harris told me that he said that he was ottered 15.

ROBERT WOODFIN.
Mr. HORTON: Live in Colbert County, and am not acquainted with Holseapple

and Maloue, but know Mr. Lindsay for many years; his character is good. I know
Henderson; known him from 1609^; his general character is bad among both black
and white

;
would not believe him on oath.

Cross-examination :

He lived at my house
;
ho lived with me

;
he staid there about four months, or a

little longer ;
run off every two or three days ;

tried to do him some good ;
when he

left the neighborhood for good I never heard of him until I met him on the railroad.
his

AZARANA + HOETOX.
mark.

Witness : JAMES M. EDGAR.

M. A. CAMPBELL : I live in Colbert County, in the Northens, six miles from Cherokee
;

know the defendants; know their general character; it is remarkably good; know
William Henderson two years last April ;

know his general character
;

it is remarkably
bad; would not believe him on oath^

Cross-examination :

I live four miles from where he did live
;
think Henderson came to our house in April

or May a year ago; never heard of his being sworn in court; he seemed to have a
falling out with all the blacks

;
to row a skiff from the middle of the river to the bank,

and fasten it, would probably take ten or fifteen minutes, suppose the river to be half
a mile wide.

M. A. CAMPBELL.
DOCTOR DEMENT:

Question. How long would it take a man to drown under water?
Answer. A minute or a minute and a half; I think it would be impossible to stay

under water ten minutes and struggle out.
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HUNTSVILLE, ALABAMA, October 9, 1871.

JOHN CALVIN GOODLOE sworn and examined.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. State your place of residence ?

Answer. Colbert County, Alabama. My post-office is Barton, Alabama.
Question. Are you acquainted with a colored man of the name of William Henderson?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did he ever live upon your place ?

Answer. He did.

Question. At what time ?

Answer. From the 9th of February to the 13th of August, 1871.

Question. You may state what was his character for truth and veracity.
Answer. I have testified, as I am willing to testify now, that he was an ordinary

negro of common character neither remarkable for veracity, nor did he have
well, he never told me a lie in his life, that I know of. I took him to be a negro of

ordinary character.

By Mr. BECK :

Question. Your testimony (referring to the record attached to the testimony of L. W.
Day, on trial of Holseapple, Malone, and Lindsay) was :

&quot; His character is as good as

ordinary negroes. From all I have heard speak of him, I consider his character like

that of any other negro.&quot;

Ansicer. That is it.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. How is his general moral character ?

Answer. It was average. It was not bad, so far as I know.
Question. Was he an industrious man ?

Answer. He was a very industrious man to labor one of the best hands I had
hired. That was his character in that neighborhood.

Question. State whether you are acquainted with M. A. Campbell, sometimes called

Dick Campbell.
Ansicer. Yes, sir

;
I know Dick Campbell very well. He lives within six miles of me.

Question. State whether you refer to the same Campbell who was called against
Henderson to prove his bad character on the examination held before Mr. Day, the
commissioner.
Answer. The same Campbell.
Question. What have you heard Mr. Campbell say in relation to Henderson s charac

ter as a moral man, or as a negro ?

Ansicer. I heard Campbell make this remark : &quot;You have got Henderson ?&quot; I said,

&quot;Yes,
I have hired Henderson.&quot; He said, &quot;He will make one of the best hands you

ever had. He is one of the best hands I ever had on my place, but he is a great
rascal,&quot; or

&quot; he is a great runabout.&quot; That was the word.

Question. What do you know in relation to any outrage being committed on Hender
son about the 15th of August, 1871, by a band of disguised men ?

Answer. I know nothing of a disguised band doing anything to Henderson. I am
satisfied from the circumstances and evidence that I saw that Henderson was Ku-
Kluxed, or dealt very roughly with, but I did not see who did it. I do not know
whether they were disguised or not. I did not see the party. I only saw the signs of
the damage.

Question. I will ask you to state to the sub-committee whether you saw Henderson
upon the morning succeeding the time when it was alleged that he was Ku-Kluxed.

Answer. Mr. Chairman, if you will let me state the circumstances connected with it,

I think it would be more satisfactory to the committee.

Question. Very well, proceed in your own way.
Answer. There is a good deal to make you understand it, that would, perhaps^ bo useless,

but I will start at Tuesday morning, on the 15th. Henderson came to me and told me
that his wife had come to my house to work*. I told him to take his wife and go away ;

that she was annoying me. I was in the act of moving off, going to Tuscumbia, on horse

back, and I came back. He told me he would take my advice
;
that his wife had given

considerable trouble, and would go to Eastport, Mississippi, and go out of the State. I told
him I would settle with him in the morning it was late then. He went off, as I thought,
to fix up before going away. I cam6 out on my porch about 11 o clock

;
the clock had

struck before I left the room. It was a warm night. Henderson came up to the door,
and said: &quot;

Master, if you are willing, I will not go away; Patience has got ine away
from several homes, and this is the best homo I ever had

;
I will go to Doctor Cross, and

get her to come and get her things and go away.&quot; I told him she could stay, but I said
to him,

&quot; You are in danger of being Ku-Kluxed.&quot; Some of these parties, accused
since of Ku-Kluxing him, had threatened his life, he stated, and he had had them
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bound over to keep the peace. I told him I thought he had better go away, but he

might stay. He was a good hand ami got very reasonable wages. He came after crop
season commenced. I said,

&quot; You take the Nellie mule and go to Doctor Cross, and toll

him to come and see my little child, and bring your wife. You can ride the mule.&quot;

He went off to his room. At 4 o clock in the morning I waked up ; sent out a little

boy to see if Henderson had made for the Doctor s. He reported that he had been gone
a long time. It occurred to me that Henderson had taken my mule and had her
hitched out all night. I sent to know when he went. The old man where he lived

said,
&quot; two or three hours

ago.&quot;
I did not think anything more about it until nearly

sunrise, when Henderson came in near where I was working in my garden. He came
up back of the garden. He was entering the yard, and was attracted to the garden by
me, and motioned me to come out. I thought he had some message from the doctor.

As soon as I got up to him, I saw that ho was perfectly wet and looked very badly as

though he had been badly drunk or drowned. I asked him where the doctor was.
He said &quot; Don t you know the men carried me away last night?&quot; I told him u

No.&quot;

He appeared astonished. Without saying a word more, I called a little boy, and told

him to take my horse and go for the doctor, and tell him during the day to call there.

Then I returned to Henderson, and said,
&quot; Don t you tell me no cock and bull story. If

you have been thrown into the river, give me the evidence. I know the place, and I will

sec.&quot; He said ho could do it. That was a very dusty time of the year. He told me I

could sec his tracks from his house in my yard down to the corner of the orchard.
Ho said they started west there, and concluded to go to the railroad south to where
they stopped for a palaver, and he said I could see the tracks there. He said
there were five men, he being the sixth

;
that on the road to the river I could see the

tracks though there wa^s much travel on it. He told mo that at a quarter on

my place, at Ragin s house, where they drank whisky, they spilled it, and cursed
about the spilling. He said, if I went on to Newsorne s well, I could see the

sign again, and after I had passed his gin-house I could see the tracks to the south
west corner of Ncwsome s field, where the four horses were hitched

;
that they

had two horses that dunged while he was there, and they had built a little lire as big
as this, (he showing by his hands, as if holding it in his hands.) He said that four got
on the horses there, and one walked behind holding the rope that ho was tied with, and
went to the Newport road. He said that on the first corner of the fence, on the New-
some side, where the briars give out they stopped and pushed him on the fence, cross

ing it. lie said that if I would go on to the river, I could see where they put him in a

boat, not a dug-out, but made of plank ;
that they poled him up the river with a

long stick that had bark on it and that was crooked
; that, about one hundred yards

above the mouth of the creek that entered into the river, I could see where he came out

by a log on the bank and puked. He also stated who saw him coming home, a Mr.
Brown. I got my breakfast soon after, and without saying to him that I was going, I

went to the river in the first place and saw tracks. I could tell his track, for he was
barefooted. I could see his track where he came out of the water for ten feet under
the water. I could see the print of his fingers and his knees in the mud as he came out
on all-fours. I saw where he fell down on the bank. There was the impression of the
cloth seams of his breeches. I could see where he had moved a little up the bank and
puked. There was the evidence there on the ground. He had thrown up considerable
amount of watermelon seeds and peach-peelings. I followed his track homeward and
around. I found the tracks at the well, at the corner of the orchard, found the horse

tracks, the hitching-places, the dung, the little fire, the place where they put him on
the fence, and had moved the top rails in doing so. I saw the dust on the rails, which
looked like a barefooted person had stepped on the fence, and at the river, at the mouth
of the creek, there was a crooked pole with bark on it. I then came home and told him
to get away as soon as he could, for I knew he would be killed if he did not, as these
men had been satisfied that they had finished him.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. Did you see any marks of the rope on his person?
Answer. Yes, sir

;
there was an indentation in his left arm, showing that a third or

half of the rope had been buried in it
;
and he was a bony negro too. He said his hands

were tied behind him, but he thought he got loose through his hands. The mark on
his right arm and wrist looked as if it was made by rolling as if it had been made by
the rope rolling. There is no doubt, in my mind, of his having been put in the river.
The signs of which he had told me were found exactly as he stated. I never saw any
thing so completely perfect in my life. I asked him how he had come to notice things
so particularly, and he said they had, when they called him, asked him to go out and
hunt Cater, who had killed a man, and they made out they were trying to find him;
that they afterward said, when they got him down there, that they were going to put
him across the river, but not hurt him. He said he did not then think that they would
hurt him

;
that he thought about it all the time, and noticed them particularly. He

said they drank
;
that they had vails over their faces, and they put up their vails fre-
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qucntly to drink
;
and that they lighted their cigars in his presence with lucifer

matches. He did not state then, but when I came back he told me, who they were. I

did not think to ask him at iirst who they were. I am satisfied I heard them when
they took him oil . It was between 1 and 2 o clock. I heard them knocking there,
but I thought that it was him fixing up his wife s plnnder. It did not attract my at

tention. I learned afterward, from the old man who was there, that they did make a
noise.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. How many of the parties did he identify ?

Answer. Three positively.

Question. Who were they ?

Answer. James Holseapple, William L. Malone, and C. C. Lindsay commonly called

Duce Lindsay.
Question. Did these persons live in that neighborhood ?

Answer. Yes, sir; near Cherokee.

Question. Had he had any trouble with William Maloiie ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
he had caused William Malone to go before the justice of the peace

to make a settlement with him for his last year s work, and William Malone had threat
ened him, so he stated, and he had William Malone bound over to keep the peace.

Question. Did he describe what they did with him when they took him into the skiff

in the river ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. State to the committee all that he said on that subject.
Answer. He said that one went into the skiff iirst. They made him get in second.

There was one behind and two before him three in the skiff; that they poled up two
or three hundred yards and then out. It was in the night, and it looked to be pretty
nearly half-way across, when one said, &quot;I am tired of pulling the skiff; let this

damned nigger wade across; it is shallow;
&quot; and with that the captain told them to

heave him out, and they heaved him out, with his hands tied behind him and the rope
on his left leg.

Question. Did he say anything about a paddle being put on him ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. You may state what he said.

Answer. He said he commenced begging them not to throw him out, but one of them
threw him out, and put a paddle on his neck and sunk him; that he went down, and
when he rose he could not see them ; that he heard them talking, and saw them on
the bank.

Question. Who did he say was the captain of the party ?

Answer. I do not remember. I think the captain was one he did not swear to posi
tively did not identify. I do not know that I asked him that question I do not re

member.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. Is the water deep there ?

Answer. Yes, sir. The men who took him out knew when they took him to the deep
channel. The steamboat channel is out about two hundred yards or more. In the
middle he could have waded

;
in fact, he could have waded out by himself within the

width of this house if he had known the way; but there is a bar about two hundred
and fifty yards from the mouth of that creek, and there is deep water. It is twenty
feet deep in places.

By the CHAIRMAN:

Question. Was it that deep in the place he describes as where he was thrown in ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
ten or twenty feet deep, I would say. It is where we fish with the

trot-line, which you know, Mr. Beck, is always in deep water.

Question. Did you ever tell Mr. Day, the commissioner, that negroes had no souls?
Answer. Not to my recollection. I do not remember it. I have seen some that I

thought had very little, and some I thought had more than some white men I have

had, a great deal.

Question. Did you ever make that remark to any one unless in jest?
Answer. Never in my life. It is not my belief, if it is so reported as expressed by me.

Question. I will ask you to state if you are acquainted with a colored man named
Jordan Wright ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What, if anything, do you know of your own knowledge, or from knowledge
derived from others, in relation to his having been whipped in December or January
last ?

Anmccr. Well, I know Jordan Wright. He was raised by me. Ho taught a school
at Cherokee last fall and winter, and I know from general report that he was whipped
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by men in disguise and made to leave the country. That is what everybody says, and
what his brother told me. I have never seen the negro since.

Question. How many Avere said to have been in the baud ?

Answer. His brother told me there were twelve or thirteen, and another negro, who
went to his house, told me there were seven.

Question. What was Jordan Wright s alleged offense for which ho was whipped?
Answer . The alleged offense was that he taught school, I think, and they did not

want him to teach a school. Some boys had hid the key to his school-house, and he

reported to the school commissioner that they had locked up his school-house, and he
could not get in. They reported he was impudent in doing this. He told me that was
all he had said. The superintendent had told him to go back, and when ho got back
he found they had put the key in the door. That is the only difficulty I ever heard of.

Question. What sort of a colored man is he ?

Answer. A very respectable colored man
;
as much so as any I know. He was raised

right in my neighborhood.
Question. In what neighborhood did this occur ?

Answer. Thirteen miles west of Tuscuinbia, on Limestone Road, in Colbert County.

By Mr. BECK :

Question. What was the date ?

Answer. Last winter, about Christmas.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. You say he left that neighborhood, and has not been back to your knowl
edge f

Answer. He left, but he has been back,. He disappeared until recently. Ho is now
iu Tuscuinbia, at his brother s, near my place. He has been working on an island. I
asked his brother why he went there, lie said he did not want to be seen, and he
went there to work. His mother lives there. The impression was that he had gone
to Mississippi, or somewhere else.

Question. Do you know, of your own knowledge, or are you informed, of any other
violences committed by men banded together within the last two years, in your section
of the country f

Answer. I think not. I know of none as disguised men, or men banded together at

night. I cannot think of any.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. I believe you have planting interests?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What effect upon the labor of your community do these outrages have ?

Answer. It has had, in my honest opinion, a good effect in my immediate locality,
because the negroes have behaved better there than anywhere I have ever heard of,
or better than could be expected. I have thought they were intimidated by this

thing at the start, and that was, perhaps, one of the causes of it. The status of the

negro in my neighborhood, in my opinion, is better than it is anywhere else. They are

working well and are treated well, and are not afraid of anybody, I think. I do not
think they are afraid of being Ku-Kluxed.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Do they generally vote at elections?
Answer. Yes, sir. They have not voted in the last two elections much. I went to

the election on purpose to see. I went for a motive; I wanted a friend elected, and I
went in order to try to get some votes for him. I attended that precinct, and the ne

groes did not vote, but they told me, when I tried to get them to vote, that it was not
from intimidation that they did not vote; that they were not afraid, but they did
not know what they were voting. Some of my o\vii negroes told me so. I owned a
good many before the war. I wanted them to vote for a man for sheriff, and I thought
they were afraid wheu they would not do it, but they said they were not

; they did not
understand what they were- voting for. If the negroes are intimidated by the Ku-
Klux there now, they do not express it. I think the hanging of three negroes in Tus-
cumbia, three years ago. had the effect to intimidate them; but in Tuscumbia, now,
they vote to a man.

Question. Would not such cases as William Henderson s and Jordan Wright s naturally
intimidate them ?

Answer. No, sir. I think they looked upon that as a personal difficulty between these
men and Henderson. I think the negroes so looked upon it.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. To settle that personal trouble Henderson resorted to law ?

Answer. Yes, sir.
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Question. And had these parties bound over?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Before whom?
Amiccr. Before Squire Green, of Tuscumbia, and one of them went up voluntarily,

without any evidence, and submitted and gave bond. He said he was guilty, and had
been wrong, and submitted a bond, so I understood. I was not there.

By the CHAIRMAN :

Question. Do you know of any cases of conviction and punishment for outrages by
men banded together and disguised in this secteon of country ?

Answer. I do not, in my section.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. You have heard, have you not, of other cases in this section of the State,
where disguised men have taken out parties and whipped them at night ?

Answer. I have heard of one case recently that occurred in Limestone County, the

only case I can think of now.

Question. What case ?

Answer. It is a case in which a man named Sam Moore was put in jail here.

By Mr. BECK :

Question. Weir s case ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
I know Weir, when I see him.

By Mr. BUCKLEY :

Question. Speaking of your schools in that section of the State, do not the planters
there generally favor schools for freedmen ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And who is it that opposes these schools ?

Answer. A rabble of trilling men.
Question. What kind of men ?

Answer. Poor whites, the negroes call them. They thought the negroes would get on
an equality with them if they went to school. The intelligent men have built school-
houses several times, and encouraged them.

Question. The planters find it to their interest ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
and if it was not to their interest, they would not throw obstacles

in their way ;
the community there want schools, negro schools particularly ;

that is,

the good part of the population do.

Question. Have you heard of any other schools being broken up ?

Answer. No, sir. There is a trifling negro there, with not as much sense as a ram,
teaching a school, and he is unmolested

;
a negro that gets drunk and runs about, and

is generally trifling. On .account of this outrage the people have turned the other .

way. As to Ku-Kluxes going about, pretending to be Ku-Klux, in my own opinion
there is no Ku-Klux.

Question. Do you think that an organization of that kind did exist in this portion of
the State ?

Answer. I think it did, three years ago, and the best people of the country were
in it.

Question. You think it has been disbanded ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
for two years or more.

Question. And bad men use that to rob and commit depredations?
Answer. Yes, sir; to gratify personal grievances and spite.

Question. You have no difficulty in executing the law here?
Answer. No, sir. In my opinion, as to Ku-Kluxing, a very sorry class of people get

into it, and they will swear a lie to prove anything they want to.

Question. You think they are bound together by an oath ?

Answer. Yes, sir; but I do not know about their oath myself. The people are as*

much disposed to enforce the law in North Alabama as in Massachusetts, in my opin
ion; that is, the bone and sinew of the country.

Question. But there is a difficulty in identifying parties who commit crime in the

night and in disguise ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
and would be if there was never a Ku-Klux.

By Mr. BECK :

Question. Have you been connected with the court as foreman of the grand jury
lately ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What was your experience in the investigation before the grand jury, as to

the condition of your county ?

Answer. I have been foreman of a grand jury twice, four courts back, and the




